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IIISTORY OF SAN DIEQO COUNTY.

GENERAL HISTORY.

THE TERRITORY.

fOUTHERNMOST of the California conn-

ties is that of San Diego, lying between

the 34th degree of north latitude and the

line of the Mexican border. Eastward lies the

Territory of Arizona, and on the west it is

bounded by the beneficent Pacific Ocean and a

6 mall portion of Los Angeles County. Diagon-

ally from northwest to southeast, it is traversed

by the mountain ranges of San Bernardino,

San Jacinto, and Chocolate. That section

which is northwest of the San Jacinto range is

known as the Colorado desert, being hot, arid,

sterile. The rest of the country is of diversi-

fied topography; there are low mountain ranges,

softly rolling land, and beautiful smiling valleys,

where fruits and flowers reply like a benediction

upon the head of labor, and whose climate is

ethereal balm.

San Diego County is larger than either of

the States of Vermont, New Hampshire, Massa-

chusetts, Rhode Island, Delaware, Connecticut,

New Jersey, or Maryland; and it is nearly as

extensive as the combined territory of Massa-

chusetts, Connecticut and Rhode Island.

Draining this wide territory of more than

9,580,000 acres, run to the western ocean, as

determined by the general southwesterly slope

toward the Pacific, the rivers Tia J nana, Sweet-
water, San Diego, San Bernardino, San Luis
Rey and Santa Margarita.

Comprised within these limits are great di-

versities of climate; from the heights where
winter's cold is piercing, to the equable, ever-

springlike air of the bay and oceanside regions,

and the sheltered warmth of the valleys. The
pine from its mountain perch looks greeting to

the palm of the seaboard. The hardy apple of

the cooler uplands finds its way to where it lies

against the tropical cheek of its not distant

neighbor, the orange of the vales.

The mountains have long stood jealous guard
over a wealth of mineral treasure, that they

now begin to yield up to him who comes with

the 'Open, Sesame!" of Science. From the

bowels of the earth have long poured thermal

waters, that heal or soothe man's maladies. The
sea gives stores, and the earth, and the sun,

and the breezes nurture. And men, if their

hearts be open, realize that here indeed are

signs that God made man in his own image,

and that he cares for and watches over him, and

holds him " as in the hollow of his hand." To
recite, briefly, unworthily, and incompletely,

how man came into his own and won this rich

heritage, is the province of the present writer.



HISTORY OF SAN DIEGO COUNTY.

EARLY EXPLORATIONS.

Of all the territory comprised in the limits

of the present great State of California, the

part now known as San Diego County is that

first seen ly the eaily Spanish explorers. First

among these came Francisco de Ulloa, who in

1539 tailed up the California gulf to the mouth

of the Colorado river.

In 1538 General Francisco Vasquez de Cor-

onado was appointed Governor of Nneva Galicia.

He was of a progressive bent, and for some

time he left his province in charge ot a lieu-

tenant, or acting-governor, while he devoted

himself to exploration. Tired by the apocry-

phal tales of Fray Marcos de Niza, he raised a

small army that in 1540 set out northward for

the conquest of Cibola and its seven marvelous

cities. His expedition was successful insomuch

as that he reached the great cities of the In-

dians, however disappointing may have been

the conditions he found there. The history of

the enterprise is of interest in the present vol-

ume only because in connection with it was

sent out, in May, 1540, Hernando de Alarcon,

with two vessels, to co-operate with the army.

Alarcon ascended the Colorado, apparently

about to the mouth of the Gila, and found, it

is claimed, several harbors not discovered by

Ulloa. He found that the natives were igno-

rant of most of the names quoted by Niza as

characteristic of that region, this prompting the

suspicion that the good friar had drawn largely

on his imagination for his account. The peo-

ple told Alarcon also many marvelous tales of

things to be seen inland. The river was by

these explorers christened the Buen Guia (Good

Guide).

Two years later, June, 1542, Juan Rodriguez

Cabrillo, a Portuguese in the service of Spain,

and a navigator of some repute, sailed from

Natividad with two vessels of Alvarado's former

fleet, and acting under vice-regal instructions

took his frail craft northward along the Pacific

coast. On September 28, 1542, he discovered

" a landlocked and very good harbor," which he

named San Miguel, and which has since come

to be called San Diego. He recorded the lati-

tude as 34° 20' north, an error of 1° 37' 2",

due, no doubt, to the imperfection of his in-

struments. Cabrillo paid the first tribute to

the excellence of San Diego's harbor, by record-

ing that on the day after his arrival he sent a

boat " farther into the port, which was large,"

and while it was anchored, "a very great gale

blew from the southwest; but, the port being

good, they felt nothing." Cabrillo remained at

the good port six days. It seems that the In-

dians hereabouts, though shy, were savage and

bloodthirsty, as they attacked and slightly

wounded several of the Spaniards out fishing.

After a time, they ventured to approach the

strangers, and by signs told of men in the in-

terior who wore beards, rode horses, and carried

fire-arms. This was probably in reference to the

party by sea of Ulloa, or that of Alarcon, or

the land expedition of Coronado. Cabrillo spent

a month in explorations of the coast and islands,

up to Point Concepcion, making observations as

to the latitude of various points, and taking

notes of the characteristics of the country and

its inhabitants. In November, he returned to

the Santa Barbara channel islands, and here he

died, from the effects of a broken arm, aggra-

vated by exposure incurred on the voyage.

Up to the year 1597 there are accounts of voy-

ages to Upper California, claimed to have been

made by Lorenzo Maldonado and Juan de Fuca;

but these narratives bear internal evidence of

being, at least in detail, pure fabrications.

In 1594, Viceroy Velasco contracted with

Sebastian Vizcaino to re-explore and occupy

for the Spanish crown the Islas Californias

(Californian Isles); and in 1597, Vizcaino ac-

cordingly sailed from Acapulco. He failed in

his attempt to colonize the peninsula. Never-

theless, he was assigned as commander of an-

other expedition which sailed from Acapulco

May 5, 1602. Such explorations as they made

along the peninsula coast brought them to San

Miguel, which he re-named San Diego, on No-
vember 10; they left again on November 20,

several men having died and several bein^
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disabled from the ravages of scurvy. They

proceeded on northward and beyond Cape Men-

docino, the two vessels locating a Cape Blanco,

in latitude 42° one, and 43° the other. They

reached Acapulco again on March 21 of the

following year, having lost on the voyage forty-

eight men by death.

THE NAME SAN DIEGO.

It is perhaps proper and reasonable to ex-

plain, in this connection, the origin of the name

San Diego. Many have supposed that from the

name of the first mission came that of the bay,

the port, the city, the county. This belief is

erroneous; for, whereas the mission was not

founded or named until 1769, the bay was thus

called, as has been said already, 167 years earlier,

namely, in 1602, for the following reason: Viz-

caino, when he arrived, proceeding to survey

the bay, either began or finished that enterprise

on November 12, the day assigned in the cal-

endar of the Roman Catholic Church to the

saint called in Spanish San Diego de Alcala, in

honor of whom the bay was re-named aceord-

ingl}'. The English meaning of this is simply

" St. James." The Spanish for James is either

Iago, Jago. or Diego, the prefix Santo or San

signifying Saint or Holy. The contraction San-

tiago is now given, indifferently with Diego, as

a baptismal name, although the two are by no

means interchangeable. A boy or man called

Santiago is named for one particular St. James,

and he who responds to Diego is called for an-

other light of the old church—namely, San

Diego de Alcala, the patron saint of the city

and section in question.

In 1605, Governor Juan de Ofiate brought a

party of soldiers down the Colorado, from the

Gravel canon, as far as the head of the gulf,

having come from Chihuahua up the Rio

Grande, into the New Mexico, and across the

Northern Arizona, of the present day. Like his

predecessors, he saw only the desert side of San

Diego, and the natives along the river, whose

accounts seemed to support the theory that the

gulf was connected by a strait with the Pacific.

ESTABLISHMENT OF THE MISSIONS.

In 1700 there reached San Diego territory

one of most notable characters in the religious

history of America: this was Eusebius Kiihn,

whose German family name is usually mis-

written by the Spanish authorities as Kino,

Quino, Caino, etc., Kino being the most common
form. His career reads like some wonderful

romance. He had come northward in indirect

consequence of his devoted labors in behalf of

the Indians of the Pimeria, and he was asked by

the Colorado Yurnas to visit their country. Ac-

cordingly he crossed the Gila, and followed its

north bank down to the junction, to the chief

rancheria of the Tumas, which he called San

Dionisio, and where he preached to " crowds of

gentiles, many of whom, of especially large

stature, came from across the Colorado by

swimming." Kino spoke of the lands there-

abouts as Alta (that is Upper) California, and

that was probably the first application of that

distinctive term, as in contrast with La Baja

(Lower) California. It ha6 already been seen

(section on Lower California) how prominent a

part Father Kino bore in the establishment of

the missions in the peninsula, where alone cen-

tered the Christianizing of "the Californias," up

to 1767-'68, the date of expulsion of the Jesuits

from La Baja and the other Spanish possessions.

On November 30, 1767, Don Gaspar de Por-

told, the Governor of La Baja California under

the new regime, landed near San Jose del Cabo,

and immediately set about enforcing the decree

of expulsion of the Jesuits, and taking invoice,

so to speak, of the mission and garrison property.

These possessions he found to comprise some

$7,000 in. cash, and goods tj the value of some-

thing like $60,000 besides, probably the mis-

sion cattle, vestments, plate, etc.

About the middle of the year 1768, Don Jose

de Galvez, the Visitador-general, arrived in La

Baja, and at once set about the institution of

many and radical reforms of the existing sys-

tem of administration. He also took action in

the matter of extending the dominion of the

Spanish crown to the northward, an undertaking
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which he deemed of the utmost importance.

The result of careful investigation was to de-

cide that the most practicable plan was the

sending of two expeditions by land, and two by

water, to start separately, join forces at San

Miguel (San Diego), and thence proceed to

Monterey. Six months or more were given to

careful preparations, and the gathering of re-

cruits and collecting of supplies. Besides tem-

poral conquest, and the prevention of Russian

encroachments from the north, the enterprise

was to comprehend a spiritual aspect, the con-

version of the heathen; and Father Junipero

Serra, the president of the mission forces, was

invited to confer upon the theme with Galvez. It

hardly needs to say that the padres, disap-

pointed and displeased with the situation on the

peninsular, and full of hope in a project whose

execution they had long desired but hardly

dared to hope for, the padres entered with en-

thusiasm into the plans of Galvez.

On January 9, 1769, sailed the San Carlos

under Vicente Vila, carrying sixty-two persons,

among them Lieutenant Fages, later Governor

of California. She was followed on February

15 by the San Antonio, Juan Perez com-

mander, who carried, besides her crew, Padres

Gomez and Bizcayno. On March 24, set out

from San Fernando Velicata the first land ex-

pedition, commanded by Rivera, and with it

came Father Crespi. There was a command of

twenty-five men from the presidio of Loreto,

and forty two natives, in this party. Finally, on

May 15, Governor Portola set forth, accom-

panied by Father Serra, and escorted by ten or

eleven soldiers, and another band of Californian

Indians.

The executive ability of Father Serra had se-

cured six friars for work in the northern field;

one of these, Father Campa, was left in charge

of San Fernando Velicata, the only mission

which the Franciscans founded on the penin-

sula. This was established mainly for a species

of way-station, to facilitate communication with

San Diego. It was ceremoniously founded only

the day previous to the starting of Portola and

Serra, and it became in time quite prosperous

From the old missions were taken supplies, with

which to equip the new ones, of church para-

phernalia, food, seeds, grain, livestock, tools, etc.,

to be repaid when the new establishments should

attain to prosperity. A third ^wywe&ote, the

San Jose newly built, was despatched later, but

she soon put back, disabled, was sent after with

supplies the next year, and never heard from

after.

For upwards of a century and a half, since

Vizcaino's day, in 1603, no white man had set

foot on the coast of Alta California, when in

April, 1769, the San Antonio anchored in the

bay, after a prosperous voyage of twenty-four

days from Cape San Lucas. She had gone as

far north as one of the Santa Barbara channel

islands, returning to the one objective point of

San Diego. Nothing was seen of the rest of

the expedition, but the captain's orders were to

stay for twenty days, without taking the risk

of landing, unless strengthened by the crew

of the other vessel. The second ship not ap-

pearing the others became im patient and alarmed

,

and preparations were already making to sail at

the expiration of the appointed limit, when

on the eighteenth day the San Carlos appeared,

with her complement of sixty-two souls. She

had been less fortunate than her convoy, and had

most of her people disabled from scurvy. She,

too, had voyaged too far northward, and she had

been out 110 days, when she anchored on

April 29.

The sick were taken ashore, and for two weeks

the nursing of the scourge-stricken and the burial

of the dead gave the able more than enough to

do, without dreaming of pushing Monterey-

wards, or exploring their surroundings. Of

some ninety sailors, soldiers, and artisans, far

less than one-third the number survived. It

would appear that, if any of the friars or offi-

cers were attacked, they recovered. To their

aid arrived on May 14 Rivera y Moncado with

his division, fii'ty-one days out from Velicata,

121 leagues distant. Several of the Indians in

the company had died en route, and many had
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deserted, but on the whole, the journey had

been uneventful, save the suffering and privation,

as it seems that the provisions of the party,

through waste or otherwise, ran short.

This reinforcement facilitated preparation for

permanent settlement. The location chosen was

a spot called by the natives Cosoy, the site of the

present old town, some four miles north of San

Diego proper. Here were built rude huts and

a corral for the live stock, and a fortified camp;

then all able hands engaged in nursing the sick

and unloading the cargo.

In the last days of June and the first of July,

Portola's division arrived, in somewhat strag-

gling order. All but twelve of the neophytes

had deserted. Their trip had been compara-

tively easy, the chief suffering being that of

Padre Junipero, from his lame foot, whose

pangs, however, were borne with the gentleness

and fortitude characteristic of his nature.

The four contingents thus reunited, on the

next day, Sunday, offered to their patron San

Jose a thanksgiving mass, celebrated with all

the solemnities within their compass. Of the

219 souls who had started on this expedition,

only 126 remained, but seventy-eight of these

being of Spanish blood.

Promptly enough, measures were taken for

the carrying out of the original project. On
July 9, Perez sailed southward in the San An-

tonio, to obtain supplies for the colony, and

crews to replace those who had died from the

two vessels. Five days after his departure, Por-

tola set out for Monterey. He left at San Diego

some forty souls. The concerns of the sick im-

mediately after arrival, the occupations of set

tlement, and the preparations for departure of

Portola and Perez, had militated against the

prompt formal establishment of a mission. But

now Padre Serra at once proceeded to atone for

this delay. On Sunday, July 16, he formally

and officially raised and blessed the cross, dedi-

cating this, the first of the long chain of Cali-

fornia missions, to San Diego de Alcala, for

whom, long before, the bay had been named

by Vizcayno. More huts were now built at the

little settlement, and one of them was dedicated

as a church. Thus did a lonely little band of

earnest men, few and weak, but devoted, on the

strange, forbidding shores of that circling bay,

then far remote from contact of civilization, lay

the foundations of the future great common-

wealth, great, rich, advanced, liberal, and pro-

gressive, of the State of the California of to-day.

Those pioneers found the conditions of their

life and their surroundings far from easy or de-

lightful. The natives were abusive and thievish;

indeed, they presently became so bold that, on

August 15, their attempt to rob the sick of their

bedding led to a conflict with them in defense

of the property. In this affray, Padre Viz-

cayno, a blacksmith, a soldier, and a California

Indian were wounded, and a Spanish boy was

killed. The Indians received therein a salutary

lesson, and their behavior was somewhat im-

proved. It is chronicled, however, that no-

where else in the northwest did the natives so

long prove refractory to conversion. For more

than a year, not a single neophyte was entered.

Meanwhile, death so ravaged the mission as to

leave, by the beginning of the new year, only

some twenty persons at San Diego. Portola re-

turned on January 24, 1770, to find no advance

in mission work save the construction of a pal-

isade and a few hnts of tnle. He was discour-

aged and despondent from the result of his

northward journey, and he counseled abandon-

ment of the mission. The friars were greatly

dismayed by this proposition, and Serra and

Crespi determined to remain, at all hazards,

trusting to Providence for maintenance. Cap-

tain Vila supported the padres. On February

11, Rivera was sent with Padre Vizcaino and a

detachment to reach Velicata and obtain sup-

plies, if possible. He arrived there duly and

at once set about collecting supplies, in con-

junction with Father Palou, the acting president.

Meanwhile the situation at San Diego was

gloomy. Abandonment of the ground seemed

certain, and good Father Junipero's heart bled

at the prospect. Full of devout faith, he in-

stituted a novena, a nine-days course of prayer,
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for the intercession of the expedition's patron,

St. Joseph, to close on the special day of the 6aint,

March 19. And lo! at the very last moment,

as his hope died out on that day, as the sun

sank below the horizon, far away at sea, a sail

appeared. The visible sign of support was

given. The San Antonio had returned, convey-

ing supplies in abundance, and bringing in-

structions from Galvez and the viceroy to

persevere in the undertaking.

Portola's fainting faith revived, and his energy

was restored. He at once made ready to return

to the north. Vila with seventeen Europeans

and ten Lower Californians, remained at San

Diego, whither returned in July Eivera with

his ample supplies, his live-stock and his soldiers.

Matters at San Diego now moved on for a time

in quiet, but up to the end of 1770 there is no

record of a single conversion.

The chronicle for 1771 is little important:

—

a few baptisms, the disablement by scurvy

and retirement of Padres Gomez and Parron,

two instances of desertion by two groups of

soldiers, brought back to the mission and sub-

mission by intervention of the padres; and

the departure, in August of the party 'who, a

month later, founded San Gabriel Mission

—

such were the events. On Auguut 6, 1771,

Padres Cambou and Somera left San Diego

with ten soldiers, four muleteers, and a supply-

train, with four soldiers who were to be sent

back. They followed the old route northward,

with the aim to establish a new mission. The

spot they chose, near the river now known as

San Gabriel, but then called San Miguel, was fer-

tile well watered, and at that time well wooded.

The natives, at first hostile, succumbed to the

supernatural beauty of a painting of the Virgin.

Offering their personal ornaments in tribute be-

fore her, they signified their desire for peace, and

their willingness to pay her tribute of possessions

and labor. Cheerfully aiding in the work, by bring-

ing timbers, and helpingintheconstructionof the

stockade and the wooden houses roofed with

tule, they also brought continually offerings of

acorns and of pine nuts. Numerous as were

their hordes, they all continued fiiendly, until

exasperated by the abuses of the rough soldiery,

when they attacked the aggressors, who killed

one of their chieftains. The Indians fled, and

it was by very slow degrees indeed that they

were induced to resume friendly relations and

to frequent again the mission.

At this time trouble was already fermenting

at San Diego between Fajes, the military com-

mander, and the friars. This disagreement grew

into open rupture The friars accused Fajes of

unduly abusing his authority and hampering

their labors, while he claimed that the fathers

wished to extend their spiritual dominion over

temporal matters. Be this as it may, in Octo-

ber, 1772, Serra sailed for Mexico to compass

the removal of the obnoxious commandant, to

secure certain desirable changes in the system

of mission management, and to take the meas-

ure of the new viceroy, Bucareli.

In the spring of this year, a conference held

in Mexico between the principals of the two

orders, had resulted in the ceding to the Domin-

icans of all the peninsular missions, the Fran-

ciscans to control those of Alta, or Upper

California. When the Franciscan friars were

assigned, Palou, the retiring president, had him-

self included among those destined for the latter

service, and in July he started for the north

from Velicata, with supplies for San Diego. At
once he set about preparing a report which had

been ordered sent to Mexico, on the condition

of the Monterey (i. e. Alta California) Missions.

This system comprised at the end of 1773, fifth

year of Spanish occupation, five missions and a

presidio; namely, San Diego de Alcala, in lat-

itude 32° 43' ; San Gabriel Archangel, 34° 10'
;

San Luis Obispo de Tolosa, 35° 38'; San An-

tonio de Padua, 36° 30' ; San Carlos Borromeo;

and the presidio San Carlos de Monterey. At
the close of the period stated, the baptisms

chronicled here were eighty-three, a figure far

below that of the younger northern missions.

There were hereabouts, within a radius of ten

leagues, eleven rancherias, or Indian towns,

whose people lived on grass, seeds, fish and rab-
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hits. At this mission only had there heen un-

provoked attacks made by the natives. Slight

progress had been made here in agriculture. A
small vegetable garden had been moderately

productive. Grain was sown in the river bot-

tom, and the crop all destroyed by a freshet.

The next year, planting was done so far away

from the water that drouth destroyed ail but a

few bushels, kept for seed. Next, the river

dried tip, and even in the rainy season pools

must be dug for the watering of cattle and

other uses. Pasturage was line, and the flocks

had flourished. San Diego and San Gabriel had

jointly 63 horses, 79 mules, 102 swine and 161

goats and sheep. It may not be amiss here to

describe briefly conditions, material and other-

wise, existing at San Diego, in common with

the other missions. At each one, save San Luis,

there was near by a rancheria, its little huts be-

ing made of tule, grass, boughs, or some such

rude material. The mission architecture at

that time was wooden stockades or palisading,

for which adobe walls were substituted later.

A line of high, strong posts, set close together

in the ground, enclosed a rectangular space, in

which stood the church and dwellings, in most

instances also with stockade walls. The quarters

of the soldier were distinct from the mission

buildings, within a separate palisade, and the

soldiers who married native women had each a

separate house. At first the roofs were of mud,

supported by vigas—horizontal beams; but this

proving permeable to the winter rains, tule roofs

were substituted. The timber used was pine

and cypress. At San Diego, adobes—sun-dried

bricks—were used in the construction of the

friars' houses, besides wood and tules—rushes.

There had been laid the foundations of a church

ninety feet long, stone had been collected, and

4,000 adobes made; but the work had been sus-

pended because of the non-arrival of the sup-

ply-ships.

The subjective conditions were still somewhat

primitive. The rancherias were at war with

one another, and the inland ones being barred

out from the sea with its fish resources, they

were very often in a state of famine. At San

Carlos, converts could not be kept at the mis-

sion for this reason. At San Diego "a canoe

and net are needed, that the christianized na-

tives may be taught improved methods of

fishing." At San Gabriel, there was much in-

ternecine warfare, and distress for food was

frequent. Also, the soldiers' lawless conduct

gave much trouble, yet the natives were rapidly

yielding allegiance, and they were very numer-

ous. At San Luis also the population was very

large and kindly disposed also; yet it was diffi-

cult to attract them to mission life, they be-

ing better off for food than the Spaniards,

thanks to their resources of seeds, fish, rabbits,

and deer. At San Antonio, too, food was

abundant, and the natives bestowed on the

padres stores of seeds, pine-nuts, acorns, rab-

bits, and squirrels. They were willing, how-

ever, to domesticate themselves at the missions,

as soon as the fathers should be ready for them.

Many of the savages attended regularly the teach-

ing of the doctri?ia, and sometimes they would

come even from distant rancherias, attracted

by the music, and by trifling gifts. Generally

they would work when the padres could reward

them with food; but this was not always so

easy a matter. Such, briefly stated, was the con-

dition of the missions at the close of the first

epoch of California history. Their futura

maintenance seemed now established, the King

of Spain having issued lately an edict direct-

ing that they should be continued, instructing

the viceroy to aid and sustain "by all possi-

ble means" the establishments old and new of

the province of California, and indicating a cer-

tain sum—$33,000 per annum—to be devoted

to that purpose.

THE REMOVAL OF THE MISSION. THE PRESIDIO

PERIOD. FOUNDING OF SAN JUAN

CAPISTRANO.

The history of San Diego at this period might

almost be reduced to a chronicle recording almost

continual dissensions between various members

of the existing political organization, or else
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between the military and the clergy. Never-

theless, there was zeal and co-operation enough

to make no little material progress in divers

directions. One of the most important features

was the removal of the mission from its original

site, which was not considered a desirable one

since the drying up of the river. The first sug-

gestion to this purpose was made in 1773 by

Fages, who desired the rancheria containing the

neophytes and many of the gentiles to be located

at a distance from the stockade, in order that

the Indians might not have the advantage af-

forded by the shelter of the huts, should they

become hostile. Padre Serra opposed the move,

but Padre Jaume, the minister, favored it, for

the considerations of agriculture. The matter

was referred by the viceroy to Rivera y Mon-

cada, the commandant, and the change was

effected in August, 1774. The new site was a

point called by the natives Vipaguay, about two

leagues up the valley northeastward from Cosoy.

By the end of the year, the buildings here in-

cluded a church 57 x 18 feet, built of wood and

roofed with tules; and a dwelling, storehouse,

and smithy of adobes. The mission buildings

here were better than those at Cosoy, which

were given up to the use of the presidio, all

except two rooms, of which one was reserved

for the use of visiting friars, and the other for

the reception and temporary storage of mission

supplies brought up by ship. On September

26 of this year Ortega reached San Diego with

the troops and families recruited by Rivera;

and not a little trouble they gave him by their

refractory conduct, chiefly in connection with

the food question. Father Palou sent back from

San Diego mules to bring up from Velicata sup-

plies and part of the church property left there;

but, as has been seen, the contumacy of Barri

prevented their removal for about a year, or un-

til some time in 1775. Serra's second annual

report for 1774, was mostly statistical, and

showed the year to have been fairly prosperous,

with no disaster. Agricultural matters had

thriven, and the seed sown had produced forty-

fold, yielding more than a thousand fanegas (a

fanega is about three bushels), of which "ster-

ile" San Diego had produced but thirty! This

mission also came last in the matter of new

neophytes, showing a list of ninety-seven only,

while some of the others had more than '200.

Father Junipero when he arrived in Mexico

had found the new viceroy, Bucareli, well dis-

posed toward the California colonies, and many

of the points of the president's memorial were

acted upon. Fajes was removed from the gov-

ernorship, and in his stead was appointed Cap-

tain Rivera y Moncada, instead of Ortega, who
would have been chosen by Father Serra. Or-

tega was given brevet rank as lieutenant, and

put in command at San Diego, now to be a

regular presidio.

Father Junipero, President Serra, arrived at

San Diego March 13, 1774, on the return voy-

age from Mexico. On August 4, Fajes, the

deposed governor, sailed from the same port.

San Diego did not become a regular presidio

until the new reglamento went into effect in

1774, although the stockade was in one sense,

practically, a presidio, having two bronze can-

non there mounted, one pointing toward the

harbor, and the other toward the rancheria.

The records show little of note in the history

of San Diego for some months. The letters of

Ortega to Rivera complained of a lack of arms

and servants at the presidio; supplies were

brought by land and by water, and hostile In-

dians gave some little trouble on the lrontier.

At the mission, removed, it will be remembered,

some six miles up the valley, affairs were bright

and promising. A well had been dug, new land

was prepared for planting, and new buildings

were erected. Moreover, on October 3, sixty

converts had received the rite of baptism. But

a heavy blow was impending. So satisfactory,

however, were the apparent conditions that, in

1775, Father Lasuen, with a force gathered

from the other missions was at a point between

San Diego and San Gabriel, for the purpose of

establishing the new mission of San Juan Cap-

istrano. The natives there were well disposed,

the buildings were under way, and all ap-
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peared in favorable condition, when there ar-

rived, on November 7, tidings of a disaster at

San Diego, that called the whole company back

to that presidio, abandoning the work in hand,

and burying the bells designed for the mission,

to guard against their possible destruction.

At the Mission San Diego, on the night of No-

vember 4, the inhabitants of Spanish blood, eleven

in number, had had a rude awakening a little

after midnight. The buildings were ablaze, and

they were surrounded by a multitude of fiercely

yelling savages. At the iirst alarm, the two

ministers, Padres Luis Jauine and Vicente Fus-

ter, accompanied by two lads, "the son and the

nephew of Ortega, rushed forth from the build-

ing. Padre Jaume turned toward the Indians

with the accustomed salutation, "Amad a Dios,

hijos" (Love God, my children), and then he was

seen no more by his companions, who ran to

join the soldiers at the barracks, which they

succeeded in reaching. Jose Manuel Arroyo,

the blacksmith from the presidio, had come to

make a visit to his confrere of the mission, and

the two were sleeping in the smithy. Arroyo,

who was ill, was the first to awake, and seizing

a sword, he too rushed out of doors, but im-

mediately staggered back into the shop, crying

to the other, "Comrade! they have killed me!"
and fell dead instantly. Romero, being awakened

by that dread cry, sprang from his bed, canght

up a musket, and, shielding himself as be^t he

could, he killed one of the assailants at the first

shot, and then, favored by the resulting con-

fusion, escaped to join the soldiers. The car-

penter, Jose Urselino, had already made his way
thither; but not without having received two

arrow-wounds, which a few days later proved

fatal. The mission guard consisted of three

soldiers—Alejo Antonio Gonzalez, Juan Alva-

rez and Joaquin Armento, under Corporal Juan

Estevau Rocha. There was a fourth man in

the guard, but he was ill at the presidio. There

was no sentinel posted, and the soldiers were

aroused by the sounds of the attack. Being re-

enforced by the surviving friar, Padre Fuster,

and by the blacksmith and the wounded car-

penter, the guard defended themselves for a

time, but were soon driven from the barracks,

which were of wood, by the progress of the

flames. They accordingly fell back to a room
of the friars' dwelling, where Padre Fuster

sought in vain for his priestly companion. This

shelter was also soon rendered untenable by the

fire. Thence they ran to a small enclosure of

adobe, where they made a last despairing stand.

The opening through which poured a dreadful

shower of arrows, they barricaded as best they

could with two boxes and a copper kettle. By
this time, all of the little party were wounded,

two of the soldiers and the carpenter being dis-

abled. The wounded exerted themselves to the

utmost to ward off the fatal missiles. There
was a sack containing fifty pounds of gunpow-
der, and the burning brands showered upon
them, with the sticks and stones, menaced a

dreadful calamity from this source, and Father

Fuster covered it with his cloak and threw

himself upon it, that his body might be inter-

posed between it and a spark of fire. All the

while he continued to pray unceasingly, as men
can pray only in such an extremity of peril;

and fasts, masses, and novenas were offered, in

promise for preservation. It was these prayers,

the fathers declared, rather than their human
exertions for defense, that saved them. They
asserted that after the utterance of these vows
no one was touched by an arrow. The black-

smith and one of the men kept reloading the

muskets, while Corporal Rocha discharged them
with effective accuracy into the horde of sav-

ages, and the astute old soldier, with wily tac-

tics, at the same time kept shouting so many
orders that the Indians doubtless thought their

prey had found reinforcements, and they slunk

away when the slow-coming dawn at last ren-

dered them clearer targets for sharpshooting.

The white survivors, more dead than alive,

crept out of their shelter, and with the neo-

phytes and the Lower Californians sought for

Father Jaume. All too soon they found him
in the dry bed of the creek, stripped and muti-

lated, beaten with stones and clubs and pierced
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by eighteen arrows. Besides Father Jauine

and the smith Arroyo, the carpenter, Urselino,

died from his wounds a few days later. The

mission defenders felt much alarm for the presi-

dio, as they were told the Indians had sent a

party to attack there also; but the garrison,

consisting at the time of fifteen men, was found

unharmed and ignorant of the hostilities. Had

the presidio been attacked it would have been

utterly destroyed, in all probability, as Ortega's

absence left a garrison of only a corporal and

ten soldiers, of whom two were in the stocks

and fuiir on the sick list. The few men avail-

able hastened to the mission, and returned with

the lacerated body of Padre Jaume and the

charred remains of the smith. The few cattle

left were driven down to the presidio, and a

few neophytes who came creeping out from

their retreat were left to fight the fire and save

what little might be saved.

Two days later the dead were buried and

funeral rites performed in their behalf. On
the morning of the 8th the San Juan party re-

turned. On the 9th the wounded carpenter

died, and on the 10th he was buried. The in-

vestigations which were at once instituted

showed that the uprising had been instigated

by two brothers, apostate neophytes, who had

absconded from the mission, probably because a

charge of theft was pending against them, and they

had visited all Indians for many leagues around,

inciting them to revolt and kill the Spaniards,

on the ground that these would convert all the

rancherias, in support of which they cited the

recent baptism of sixty persons. Some of the

rancherias refused to join the plot, hut mostly

they entered into it, and some 800 to 1,000 as-

sailants had been mustered. These were di-

vided into two bodies, for simultaneous attacks

on mission and presidio. The mission build-

ings had been fired prematurely; and this had

caused the retreat of the other party, through

tear of detection before beginning their assault.

The silence of the neophytes had been secured,

either by threats and force, or else, as the Span-

iards inclined to believe, by complicity.

The lesson taught by this calamity did not

fail to bear good fruit for the mission. The old

huts of tule were destroyed, and the families

and stores were removed to the friars' dwelling,

which was roofed with earth. Letters asking

for aid were sent to Rivera at Monterey, and

to Anza, who was approaching from the region

of the Colorado, and they both arrived early in

the following year. Father Serra did not fail to

argue from the disaster the need of increased mis-

sion guards, although he wrote also to the guard-

ian that the missionaries were not frightened or

disheartened. On January 11, 1776, Lieuten-

ant-Colonel Juan Bautista de Anza, who had

been sent at Government expense with a large

train of colonists for California, arrived at San

Diego, having deflected his course northward

in order to come hither, on hearing of the in-

surrection of the Indians, whom Rivera, meet-

ing him at San Gabriel, had requested him to

punish. Ortega and his little command had

been, natually enough, in constant fear of

further warfare on the part of the Indians; but

such danger as had existed in that direction was

dissipated by the arrival of re-enforcements.

Indeed, so readily were the insurgents subdued,

and so effectively were they punished, that very

soon Anza was chaffing to carry out his com-

mission, particularly as supplies for his immi-

grants ran short at San Gabriel. Accordingly,

after some preliminary disputations, he left for

Monterey on February 12.

In May, 1776, Rivera visited San Diego, but

rather with a view to punishing the Indians,

than to rebuilding the destroyed mission. On
July 11 arrived Father Junipero, the president,

who, backed by the judgment of the viceroy, set

to work to Jconciliate the natives, and restore

the mission buildings. Fired by the enthusiasm

of the padre, Captain Choquet of the San An-

tonio, proffered the work of sailors and his own

labors; and Rivera, with some reluctance, fur-

nished six men. Work was vigorously prose-

cuted for two weeks, and the mission would

have been finished in a fortnight but for a false

alarm of attack from the Indians, which caused
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the force to be withdrawn, at the instance of

Rivera. The arrival of troops for the protection

of tiie missions on September 29 facilitated

the resumption of the work, and before the end

of October the corps were installed in their

new quarters, so that Father Junipero, with a

mind at ease, could journey northward to found

the mission of San Juan Capistrano, on the site

whence the workers had been called the preced-

ing year by the attack on San Diego. The sit-

uation chosen was near a small bay, sheltered

from all but south winds, with good anchorage,

which for a long time served as a port for the

mission cargoes. The native name for this

place was Sajirit. The bells that had been

buried were dug up and chimed, and on No-

vember 1 was formally founded another mission

nnder the jurisdiction of the San Diego station,

and one which became very prosperous.

In 1777 there were divers troubles with the

Indians, consequent upon misbehavior of the

soldiers, and these led to the first public execu-

tion in California—that of four native chiefs,

whom Ortega, in April of that year, somewhat

arbitrarily, not to say illegally, sentenced to be

shot at San Diego for conspiring against the

missions.

An event, notable from the ecclesiastical

standpoint, was the issuing by Father Juan

Domingo de Arricivita, commissary and prefect

of the American colleges, of the "faculty to

confirm " to President Junipero Serra. Up to

this time the Californians had been unable to

enjoy the rite of confirmation, as no bishop had

visited the country, nor was one ever seen here

until the province had such a prelate of its own,

in 1841.

In 1779 two Indian alcaldes and as many
regidores were chosen from among the neo-

phytes at San Diego, as well as at San Carlos.

In 1780 was completed at San Diego a new
adobe church, ninety feet long by seventeen

wide and high, strengthened and roofed with

pine timbers.

In the beginning of 1781 went into effect the

new regulation or ordinance for the government

of California, its chief aim being to bring the

establishments here, as nearly as might be,

under the system governing the other interior

provinces.

Late in 1781 Lieutenant Jose de Zuniga took

command at San Diego. He remained in charge

until October, 1793, and was very popular,

trusted by the magnates, churchly and secular,

and efficient in controlling the Indians. He
was succeeded by Lieutenant Antonio Grajera,

whose official record during his term of six

years was good, while his private life and in-

temperance caused great scandal. He was fol-

lowed by Lieutenant Jose Font, who was the

incumbent till his departure in 1803 with a

volunteer company.

The white population at this time was about

250, some 160 living at the presidio, the rest at

the pueblo and missions San Diego, San Gabriel

and San Juan Capistrano. For several years a

fort had been projected at Point Guijarros, but

it had not been built in 1797. San Diego had

little contact with, or knowledge of, the outside

world. Wars and rumors of wars were talked

of, but with a sense of remoteness and uncer-

tainty that must have been at once a comfort

and an annoyance. Jn the winter of 1793, San

Diego was visited by the English navigator

Vancouver, whose ships were the first foreign

vessels that ever entered that harbor. He was

received with courtesy by Grajera and Zuniga,

but Arrillaga's severe enforcement of the vice-

roy's exclusive policy caused him to be denied

many privileges which he desired, in conse-

quence of which he afterward wrote very bit-

terly of his treatment at San Diego.

In the winter of 1793 Vancouver anchored

near by, but was shown scant courtesy, because

of Arrillaga's enforcement of the viceroy's ex-

clusive policy. Five years later arrived four

sailors from Boston, who had been left on the

coast below. Until they could be shipped to

San Bias, they were put to earn their bread in

the sweat of their brow at the presidio. These

were the pioneers of their race at San Diego.

The fifth of the establishments of the southern
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district was founded on June 13, 1798, at a

spot called by the Indians Tacayme. There

were present President Lasuen, Padres Santiago

and Peyri, Captain Grajera, the soldiers of the

guard, a few neophytes from San Juan, and a

vast concourse of gentiles. In addition to the

usual solemnities, this occasion was marked by

the baptism of fifty-four children. Such was

the beginning of San Luis Rey de Francia

(Saint Louis, King of France), so called in dis-

tinction from the northern mission of San Luis

Obispo. This church here, still existing, is

6aid to have been the handsomest of all the

mission churches. Also the mission became

one of the most prosperous. Before the close

of 1800 there had been 371 baptisms. At that

date the mission owned 617 horses, mules and

cattle, and 1,600 sheep, and the agricultural

products for the year were 2,000 bushels of

wheat, 120 of barley, and six of maize.

At the end of this decade San Diego had

passed from a minor rank to that of the most

populous of the California missions. The list

of neophytes had swelled from 856 to 1,523,

with 1,320 baptisms and 628 deaths. Only

Santa Clara had surpassed this in baptisms for

that period. The greatest number enrolled was

551, in 1797. The mission cattle had increased

from 1,730 to 6,960, and small stock from 2,100

to 6,000. The average yearly yield of grain

was now 1,600 bushels.

It is an interesting fact, as significant of the

beginning of intercourse with Americans, that

in August, 1800, the American ship Betsy, Cap-

tain Charles Winship, touched at San Diego

and took on wood and water. This was fol-

lowed in June, 1801, by the American ship En-

terprise, Ezequiel Hubbell, master, carrying ten

guns and twenty-one men. Orders were re-

ceived from Mexico directing that Anglo-Amer-

icans should be treated "with great circumspec-

tion and prudence." This and the following

year were very uneventful to the Californian

colonies.

The utter disregard of American and English

traders for Spanish commercial and custom-

house regulations led to several breezy encoun-

ters with the authorities. On February 26.

1803, the Alexander, Captain John Brown, de-

manded permission to remain for a time in the

harbor, to recruit his men from the scurvy. He
was granted eight days, and very briskly he im-

proved his opportunities for contraband trade

for otter-skins, until the night of March 3,

when Commandant Rodriguez had seized and

stored in the government warehouse 491 skins,

taken from the vessel. Brown was then ordered

to leave, and he did so. The Lelia Byrd anchored

in San Diego harbor on March 17, having come

up along the southern Pacific coatt, trading and

buying otter-skins. She was owned by William

Shaler, her master, and Richard J. Cleveland

second in command, and their errand was to ob-

tain on easy terms the otter-skins confiscated

from Brown. Disappointed in this aim, the

Americans, who had been civilly treated by

Rodriguez, made a nocturnal visit ashore, to try

to buy skins against his directions, and the mate

and one boat's crew were captured. Cleveland,

the next morning, rescued his men at the pis-

tol's point, and the vessel ran for the open sea,

past the fort's battery, keeping the most dan-

gerous positions filled by the guard that Rodri-

guez had placed on the vessel. In advocating

and exalting the course taken by the command-

ers in these transactions, not a few American

writers have let their race feeling triumph over

their judgment, seeming to forget that our

compatriots were violating lawful regulations,

and thus exposing themselves to all the severity

of treatment accorded smugglers the world

over.

In 1803, San Diego, with all the other mis-

sions, suffered a great loss in the death, on June

26, of Padre Lasueu, whom the records show

to have been a man of pure life, of kind and

courteous habits, of lovely personal character

and piety, yet gifted with great firmness of

will; in short, an ideal Father, far in advance

of his times.

In 1804 a royal order effected the political

division of this region into two distinct pro-
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vinces, whose names were officially fixed as An-

tigua (Old) and Nueva (New) California, Arrill-

aga to continue until further notice as governor

of the latter-named section. In January, 1804,

San Diego was visited by another American

ship, the O'Cain, under Captain Joseph O'Cain,

who had been mate on the Enterprise when she

touched in 1801. Having no passport, the

O'Cain was refused provisions. The scrupulous

administration of Manuel Rodriguez from 1803

to 1810; the rivalry and quarrels of Lieuten-

ants Euiz and de la Guerra, and the death of

the veteran Lieutenant Grijalva, are matters to

be studied in detail in works of greater space

than the present volume. On May 25, 1803,

the old church was somewhat damaged by an

earthquake; in 1804 the remains of Fathers

Figuer and Mariner, and the martyred Luis

Jaume, were removed to a grave between the

altars of the new church. It is probable that

this decade witnessed the completion of an ex-

tensive system of dam and aqueduct, con-

structed under direction of the Fathers, the

remnants of which, particularly the dam, were

visible up to a few jears since. The gain in

neophyte population during this period was but

five per cent., as against seventy-five per cent,

in the preceding decade, while the death rate

largely increased. Still San Diego remained

the largest of the missions, and was fairly pros-

perous, though nearly one-half its cattle was

lost. The average yearly grain crop was now

2,300 bushels. Between 1801 and 1808 the

olives from the mission orchards were made

into oil at San Diego.

In 1812 Mexico was in the throes of her war

of independence from Spanish rule. The com-

mandant of San Diego wrote to Arrillaga that

he had, on learning the news, strengthened the

defences of the port, but that the people re-

mained loyal, in spite of incendiary documents

sent among them. California was affected mainly

by the consequent cutting off of supplies. In

1818 occurred "the invasion of the insurgents,"

or pirates, from Buenos Ayres, under lead of the

nrivateer Bouchard. At the first note of warn-

ing instructions were issued to the command-
ants to send to the interior all articles of value,

those of San Diego being destined to Pala,

where, at the presidio, stores of provisions were

ordered gathered. At the news of Bouchard's

approach to San Juan Capistrano, Commandant
Ruiz at once sent from San Diego an officer

with thirty men; and he, sub-Lieutenant Santi-

ago Arguello, assisted the friars to finish re-

moving valuables and property from the mis-

sion, and remained to help defend it. For this

good service he was later repaid by the friars

with bitter reproaches and accusations of neglect

of duty.

In 1817, the traveler, Captain James Smith
Wilcox, brought down to San Diego the portion

of cloth allotted to that settlement by the powers
at Monterey, and he was also allowed to take a

cargo of grain from San Diego to Loreto. Thus
trade was gradually increasing.

The records of San Diego down to 1830 pre-

sent little of interest, treating mostly of the

various officials, their genealogy and peculiari-

ties. The port was at this time formally opened

to foreign trade, and vessels frequently entered.

Improvements material were of slow increase;

in 1830 there were but thirteen dwelling houses

in the settlement, now known as Old Town. A
wharf was ordered built in 1828. Governor

Echandia made this presidio, for personal rea-

sons, his residence, though it was not the official

capital. Agricultural matters were now about

at their zenith. In 1829 was raised the first

American flag at San Diego, not from political

motives, but as the signal of a few homesick

sailors, left there to cure hides, who wanted

company.

In 1829 also occurred the romantic elope-

ment of Henry D. Fitch with Josefa Carrillo,

one year after the advent of the Pattie party, of

some notoriety.

During this period there is a notable paucity

of detail in the records, naturally more notable

after secularization in 1834, after which there

were no more regular mission statistics.

In 1821 there were only Ave houses on the
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present site of Old Town, at the foot of Presidio

Hill, namely: the old "Fitch House;" a small

hense on the land known as " Rose's Garden,"

which befonged to one Francisco Ruiz, a retired

captain; a building on the corner of Washing-

ton and Juan streets, which belonged to Dofia

Maria Reyes Ybanes, who was the maternal

head of the Estudillo family, this building being

occupied a long time after by Don Jose Maria

Estudillo's horses; a two-story house on Juan

street, nearly opposite that last mentioned, be-

longing to Rafaela Serrano; and a small house

on the Plaza, owned by Juan Maria Marron the

elder. Up to the year 1825 the whole civilized

population, with very few exceptions, lived

within the presidio enclosure, or under the pro-

tection of its guns. But about this time there

began a display of somewhat more confidence

in building beyond those limits. In 1824 the

"Pico House" was built on Juan street, and at

some time between then and 1830 Juan Rodri-

guez built a house next to the site where stood

.the Franklin House in later times; also the

house of Jose Antonio Estudillo, which the

Estudillo family have continued to occupy down

to present days; the house of Don Juan Ban-

dini; a portion of the building afterwards

known as the Seeley House; the house of Dona

Tomasa Alvarado; the "French Bakery," and

the house of Rosario Aguilar.

In 1830 the population of the district, ex-

clusive of Indians, was 550; for the next de-

cade no statistics exist in this respect, save the

note that in 1840 the resident foreigners, that

is to say, not Mexicans nor Spanish, were ten, of

whom three had families. The Spanish and

Mexican population by this time had much

diminished, owing to Indian depredations and

the scattering of the military forces. The ex-

neophyte population would appear to have been

some 2,250.

San Diego mission, together with five others,

was secularized in 1834, Joaquin Ortega be-

coming its major domo in April. By November

the Indian pueblo of San Pascual was in ex-

istence, having thirty-four families. At San

Luis Rey, Pio Pico was appointed major domo
early in the summer. The inventory at San

Juan Capistrano showed that the assets were

$44,036 more than the liabilities. At San

Gabriel there is no record of a major domo.

In September, 1834, anchored at San Diego

the brig Natalia, bearing many colonists of the

Hijar- Padre's expedition. This was a colonizing

organization, fostered by Gomez Farias, then

vice-president of Mexico, whose purpose was

to build up in the province of California a

stronghold for the liberal party. But President

Santa Ana, seeing in this movement a menace

to his own most conservative designs, despatched

a courier to the local officials of California, in-

structing them to withhold from the new-comers

those powers demanded for them by the vouch-

ers of Gomez Farias. Thus the colonists found

themselves in a strange and thinly populated

country, themselves discreditably repudiated and

left without resources, owing to the confiscation

of their effects by some of the over-zealous of

the local officials. They would seem, however,

to have been made very welcome during their

short staj' at San Diego. There were many
progressive and practical-minded men among
these people, who immediately set about main-

taining themselves and their families by inde-

pendent effort, and to them are due many im-

proved methods and features in the community.

Their descendants are among the most re-

spected families of present times in Southern

California.

OKGANIZATION OF THE PUEBLO.

Civil government, as distinct from military

rule, began when the pueblo of San Diego was

organized on January 1, 1835, installing the

officers elected by the people on December 21,

1834. The following is a list of the officers of

this the first ayuntainiento, or town council:

Alcalde, Juan Maria Osuna; First Regidor,

Juan Bautista Alvarado; second regidor, Juan

Maria Marron; sindic, Henry D. Fitch. At
this the first municipal election in San Diego,

the whole number of votes cast was thirteen.
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Don Pio Pico, afterwards Governor of Califor-

nia, under Mexican rule, was the opposing can-

didate for alcalde.

It was not till ten years later that the town

lands were surveyed and mapped by Captain

Fitch, and the Mexican government then

granted to the municipality a tract that com-

prised 47,000 acres. When California became

subject to the United States government (July

7, 1846), the pueblo organization was continued

and the city's title to the pueblo lands was

guaranteed by the treaty of 1848 with Mexico,

and the United States Board of Land Commis-

sioners confirmed it in 1853.

In 1836 San Diego was visited by the ship

Alert, on board of which came Richard Henry

Dana, then a youthful collegian, whose " Two
Years Before the Mast," not only graphic and

picturesque, but also accurate within its lim-

itations, is very deservedly still a standard au-

thority on the conditions in California in those

days. This epoch witnessed many local ebulli-

tions in the caldron of local politics in Califor-

nia due partly to sectional, aiid partly to

personal, jealousies, and San Diego was very

far from being the point of least agitation, but

finally fell into line under Carrillo, and shared

in the uproar of his incumbency.

By 1839 the presidial establishment was ut-

terly disorganized, one man constituting the

military force in that year at San Diego; and

eight that at San Luis. These, however, in

September left the i-ervice, to save themselves

from starving. The presidio buildings, aban-

doned during the decade, were in ruins before

1840, much of their material probably having

been employed in the little town, of thirty or

forty houses. In January, 1840, the remains

at the fort were sold for $40; a part of the

guns appear to have been removed at this time.

There are no statistics for this decade as to pop-

ulation, but it diminished greatly, and probably

numbered not over 150 in 1840. In this year

there were ten foreigners (i. e. not native nor

Mexican), three of whom had families. As to

the native population there are no statistics

after secularization, but it would seem to have

dropped from 5,200 in 1830 to 2,250 in 1840.

A number of private citizens at this time occu-

pied ranchos, most of which were at some time

abandoned because of raids by Indians. The

townspeople were still pasturing their 6tock and

raising crops, as before, on lands considered as

community property, mostly in the Soledad

valley. There was no right in the land claimed,

but by usage the tiller of a certain piece in one

year was regarded as having the first choice of

it the following season. The town lots were as-

signed at first by the Commandant; and it is

said that the first written title from the alcalde

was issued in 1838.

There were still some 800 neophytes nomi-

nally under control of the priests at Mission

San Diego, though but fifty were at the mission

proper. The population at Mission San Luis

Key had gained somewhat during the earlier

lustrum of this decade or prior to secularization

in 1834. In 1840 there were some 1,000 ex-

neophytes at the mission and local pueblos and

ranchos.

An ex-neophyte pueblo, Las Flores, was

formed here in 1833, with a small population.

After secularization the Indians were able to

retain partial control of the rich mission ranchos,

Santa Margarita, Pala, Santa Ysabel, Temecula

and San Jacinto, but only till the end of the decade.

In 1841, the first Bishop of California, Fra

Francisco Garcia Diego, arrived at San Diego,

which had been appointed as his residence,

though he presently removed to Santa Barbara.

In 1846 Colonel J. J. Warner obtained from

the Mexican government a valuable grant of

land adjoining the San Luis Rey Mission, and

skirting the old through wagon road to Yuma
from San Diego. The tract contained six

square leagues, or 36,000 acres.

In December, 1846, the Pauma Indians mas-

sacred, for some cause which has not been sat-

isfactorily explained, some eleven or twelve

Californians, in consequence of which a cam-

paign was instituted against the Indians the

next month.
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THE WAR WITH MEXICO.

When war broke out in 1846 between the

United States and Mexico, many of those Mex-

icans who were natives of California espoused

with the utmost enthusiasm and ardor the cause

of their countrymen. On the other hand, there

was a very respectable contingent who sided

with the Americans, and rendered them every

possible assistance. Among these were not a

few of San Diego's best-known and most prom-

inent native families, including such people as

the Bandinis and Arguellos. Many of their

compatriots made cause of reproach and accusa-

tion of disloyalty in this partizanship with the

Americans. But the reasons these citizens had for

accepting the situation, and urging others to do,

were certainly logical enough. Their arguments

rested on the long neglect that Mexico had dis-

played toward California, and the consequent

obscurity and misfortune of that province; on

the separation from Mexico, which was inevit-

able and a question of time only; on the impos-

sibility of resisting the American forces; and the

necessity of self-preservation; and on the pros-

perity which California was sure to enjoy in the

future, under a government so strong, so liberal,

and so fraternal as as that the United States.

On July 29, 1846, John C. Fremont reached

San Diego with his battalion in the Cyane, took

possession, and raised the American flag with-

out known opposition; and after a week spent

in procuring horses, which were very scarce, he

marched northward with the rest of the battal-

ion, some 120 strong, on August 8. Accord-

ing to some, he left a garrison of forty men at

San Diego, while others aver that not until the

middle of September had the place a guard,

which was then composed of a dozen men under

Ezekiel Merritt.

When Stockton, who had been operating

from Los Angeles, sailed again for the north

from San Pedro, early in September, 1846, lie

lelt a garrison under Lieutenant A. H. Gilles-

pie, as commandant of the southern depart-

ment, instructing him to maintain martial law,

and enforce the observation of Stockton's

proclamation of August 17. This proclamation

merely announced that the country now be-

longed to the United States, and that as soon as

practicable it would be governed in the same

manner as the other territories of that nation.

Meanwhile the government would be by mili-

tary law, the people, however, being invited to

choose their local civ'l officers if the then in-

cumbents declined to continue in service. Pro-

per provision was therein made, moreover, for

the protection of life and property, and for the

punishment of evil-doers. With Gillespie was

left a garrison of fifty men at Los Angeles. It

appears that no garrison was left at San Diego,

but a few men were sent down thither later on,

and various citizens accepted office under the

new regime. Pedro C. Carrillo was among
these, he accepting Stockton's appointment as

Collector of Customs. Miguel de Pedrorena

accepted, as a temporary* arrangement, the office

of justice of the peace.

When Gillespie was left by Commodore
Stockton as military commandant of the south-

ern department, with headquarters at Los An-

geles, he was under instructions to maintain

military rule with as much leniency and as little

friction as possible, being authorized to grant at

discretion exemption from burdensome restric-

tions in the cases of orderly and well-disposed

citizens. This was not a man qualified by

nature and training to treat with the elements

at hand. The Los Angeles people were quiet

enough, with no disposition to revolt against

the new administration. But there was in the

town, on the other hand, an element of the

population, both foreign and native Mexican, of

lawless snd turbulent instincts and antecedents.

The new commandant not only had not the force

needful for the controling and subduing of this

class, but he was ako lacking in the tact and

perception necessary to distinguish between

these people and the native Mexican families of

the better class, who were of a vastly different

order. Because the Mexicans, all unarmed and

unprepared as they were for a military contest,

had had the prudence to yield a quiet submis-
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sion to disciplined and superior forces, the new
local rulers, principal and subordinates, deemed

them of an inferior race and cowardly, and

were iucliued to treat them with as much arbi-

trariness as they would have shown in dealing

with barbarians or children. From the first

Gillespie directed the enforcing of regulations

and measures needlessly and foolishly oppress-

ive, interfering in the most petty and individual

matters, displaying absurd suspicions, and by

his objectionable personal bearing and manners

offending the people of a race notable for its

suavity of manner, its forms of courtesy, and

its strict observance of all the conventionalities.

Thus it was that within a brief period he had

angered and estranged many good citizens, con-

tent enough with the change of government,

who under tactful and judicious treatment would

have become fully Americanized in due time.

The people became excited and made demonstra-

tions which Gillespie was only too ready to give

an exaggerated importance, and punish accord-

ingly. Then certain Mexicans with ambitions

of leadership made this their opportunity, and

other parties of outlaw antecedents joined their

efforts to the general uprising. At last the

garrison, weakened by the absence of the de-

tachment sent to San Diego, was attacked by a

small force, on September 23, and although the

assailants were repulsed, they very soon in-

creased their forces, which were duly divided

into bands, under regular leadership. Captain

Jose Maria Flores was chosen to act as general

commander, Jose Antonio Pico was second in

command, with rank of major-general, and

Captain Andres Pico, as chief of squadron, held

the third place. The new organization went

into camp, and in its turn issued a proclamation

reciting the wrongs that had been suffered, and

avowing intention to avenge them. A messen-

ger was promptly despatched to carry the news

of the situation to Monterey and San Francisco,

but before the result of his journey could be

known, Gillespie had submitted to abandon the

field, and embarked with his people on the Van-

dalia.
2

The account of this revolt is here pertinent,

as leading up to the subsequent movements at

San Diego, whither, it will be remembered, Gil-

lespie had sent, at the request of Henry D.

Fitch, a dozen men under Ezequiel Merritt.

Immediately after the retreat of Gillespie from

Los Angeles, Francisco Rico marched toward

San Diego with fifty men. On his approach,

Bid well left San Luis Pey and joined forces

with Merritt. Then they all, together with a

few Mexican citizens, very hastily embarked on

the Stonington, a whaler that was at anchor in

the harbor. They took with them some cannon

which had been dug up at the old fort, and

there the valiant invaders remained for some

twenty days, under the dreadful menace of a few

Californian horsemen, who now and then ap-

peared on the hills in hostile demonstration,

Pico having been recalled while on the way

thither. Bidwell, in a boat with four men,

went up to San Pedro for supplies, the trip

being long and perilous. The word he carried

caused reinforcements to be sent to San Diego,

which was accordingly then reoccupied by the

Americans. The California Mexicans opposed

to them pursued here, as elsewhere, the tactics

of their almost unweaponed and ammunition-

less condition, namely, driving off livestock,

cutting off supplies, and otherwise harassing

the foe, besides reporting to the center of oper-

ations their movements and stimulating the

patriotism of the other sons of the country.

On October 8 took place the action at the

Dominguez Paucho, the details of which are

not entirely germane to the present work.

Stockton left Monterey on October 19, and

on the 23d he arrived at San Pedro, and early in

November he went down to Sati Diego with

the Congress, finding the town in a state of

siege, and the inhabitants, women and children,

in lamentable straits. He remained about

a month, recruiting, gathering horses, and

strengthening the defenses. The men had all

left the town, and the non-combatants were

thrown upon the Americans for food and pro-

tection. No beef could be had, nor horses for
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the transportation of the guns and ammuition,

and the Calitbrnians were masters of the sur-

rounding section. A portion of Stockton's re-

port ran as follows: "On the afternoon of our

arrival, the enemy, irritated I suppose by the

loss of his animals, came down in considerable

force, and made an attack; they were, however,

soon driven back with the loss of two men and

horses killed and four wounded. These skir-

mishes or running fights are of almost daily

occurrence; since we have been here (up to No-

vember 23) we have lost as yet but one man

killed and one wounded." While thus engaged,

an Indian was sent to ascertain the camping place

of the main body of the insurgents; and he

brought back the news that a force of some

fifty strong was encamped at San Bernardo,

about thirty miles from San Diego. On Decem-

ber 3, a messenger brought news of the ap-

proach of a body of soldiery under General

Kearny, who desired Stockton to open com-

munications with him, and inform him of the

conditions in California. Captain Gillespie ac-

cordingly left San Diego that evening with a

force he had in readiness, and taking with him

a deserter from the Calitbrnians, who was to

guide General Kearny to the camp of the in-

surgents.

On November 22, Captain Andres Pico had

been sent southward to cut off the retreat of a

party of Americans reported to have started

toward Santa Ysabel from San Diego; but the

Americans had returned before his arrival. He
still remained in the south, making his head-

quarters at San Luis Rey and Santa Margarita,

and co-operated with Captain Cota, in keeping

supplies from reachiug the enemy, while await-

ing the approach of stores with the main force

to resist Stockton's expected advance. His force

numbered not more, but probably less, than

eighty. Nothing is known in detail of his

movements until December 5, when he was en-

camped at the Indian pueblo of San Pascual,

with the purpose to cut off the retreat of Gil-

lespie, who they knew had left San Diego two

days previous. Pico had no idea of meeting

any Americans except those with Gillespie,

whom he supposed to have gone out to procure

cattle and horses. Before night on the 5th, the

Indians brought in reports that a large force

was approaching not far away; but little heed

was taken of these tidings, which did not seem to

tally with the facts known to Pico. After a

night in which several alarms were experienced,

at early dawn was announced the near approach

of the Americans, and the Californians were

barely mounted when the enemy was riding

down the hill, charging at full speed upon them.

Kearny's command broke camp at Santa

Maria at two o'clock on the morning of the 6th,

and inarched nine miles before daybreak. Kear-

ny's men numbered 160, and their order of

march was as follows: First rode an advanced

guard of twelve dragoons, mounted on the best

horses, and commanded by Captain Johnston;

close behind followed General Kearny with

Lieutenants Emory and Warner of the engi-

neers, with four or five of their men; then

Captain Moore and Lieutenant Hammond with

about fifty dragoons, mostly mounted on mules;

these were succeeded by Captains Gillespie and

Gibson with twenty volunteers of the Califor-

nia battalion; next followed Lieutenant David-

son in charge of the two howitzers, drawn by

mules, and with him a few dragoons to manage

the guns; last of all came fifty to sixty men

under Major Swords, protecting the baggage,

and in turn protecte 1 by the field-piece brought

by Gillespie. They were all badly demoralized

by the fatigues of a long journey, and the long

night's cold and rain. As they came in sight

of the enemy's camp at the Indian village, in

the cold gray light of early morning, they

awakened, however, to something like animation,

when the General ordered a charge, and Captain

Johnston with his men dashed down the hill at

a gallop. The Californians stood firm, and

discharged the very few firearms in their pos-

session, and then received the charging dragoons

upon their lances. Captain Johnston fell life-

less, with a musket-ball in his head, and a dra-

goon fell also, badly wrfcnded. Then there was
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a hand to hand fight, a scene of great confusion,

from whicli the Americans presently fell back

just far enough to meet Kearny's main force;

at sight of which Pico's men in their turn fled,

pursued by the gallant Captain Moore, with all

that were at hand of his own force and Gilles-

pie's, many of the men being kept back by the

condition of their animals. It is difficult to

say what were Don Andres Pico's motives and

tactics; but, after running about a half mile,

he suddenly wheeled his column and rushed

back to meet the pursuers. Skillful horsemen

were his men, and very expert lancers; and,

whatever the result, it is much to say for the

valor of the Americans that they stood their

ground against such fearful and unfamiliar

warfare. For not over ten minutes the combat

raged most fiercely; then, as the howitzers were

brought up, the Californians made off again.

After them plunged, mad with fright, the mules

drawing one of the cannon, so that Pico's men
captured the gun, and killed the gunner. So

ended the battle of San Pascual, which it has

seemed well to record thus somewhat at length,

since it was the most famous, the most impor-

tant, and the most deadly that has occurred in

the history of California.

The following is the account of the engage-

ment, as related by Major W. H. Emory:

"When within a mile of the enemy, whose

force was unknown," he says, "his fires shone

brightly. The General (Kearny) and his party

were in advance, preceded only by the advance

guard of twelve men under Captain Johnston.

He ordered a trot, then a charge, and 6oon we

found ourselves engaged in a hand-to-hand

conflict with a largely superior force. As day

dawned the smoke cleared away, and we com-

menced collecting our dead and wounded. We
found eighteen of our officers and men were

killed on the field, and thirteen wounded, one

of whom (Sergeant Cox) died three days later.

Among the killed were Captains Moore and

Johnston, and Lieutenant Hammond, of the

First
- Dragoons. The General, Captain Gibson,

Lieutenant Warner and Mr. Robideau were

badly wounded. A large body of horsemen

were seen in our rear, and fears were entertained

lest Major Swords and the baggage should fall

into their hands. The General directed me to

take a party of men and go back for Major
Swords and his party. We met at the foot of

the first hill. Returning, I scoured the village

to look for the dead and wounded. The first

object that met my eye was the manly figure of

Captain Johnston. He was perfectly lifeless, a

ball having passed through the center of his

head. Captain Johnston and one dragoon were

the only persons either killed or wounded on

our side by fire-arms. (The others had been

lanced and cut.) When night closed in, the

bodies of the dead were buried under a willow

to the east of our camp, with no other accom-

paniment than the howling of myriads of

wolves. Thus were put to rest together and

forever a band of brave and heroic men. The
long march of 2,000 miles had brought our

little band to know each other well. Com-
munity of hardships, danger and privations had

produced relations of mutual regard, which

caused their loss to sink deeply into our memo-
ries."

The relative mortality of officers here was

notably great. Johnston fell, as has been seen,

the first victim, shot in the first charge. Moore
fell early in the second charge, after a desperate

resistance, with a lance thrust through his

body. It is said that it was in trying to save

Moore that Hammond received the wound
which caused his death in a few hours. Gil-

lespie, for all his skillful swordsmanship and his

brave fighting, was unhorsed and left for dead,

with three lance wounds in his body. Lieuten-

ant Warner received three wounds also; Lieu-

tenant Gibson was slightly wounded, and

Robideau, the guide, more seriously. General

Kearny had two wounds. As to the losses of

the native forces, there is no little conflict of

testimony. Pico, when the surgeon of the

Americans offered to attend his wounded, an-

swered that he had none. There was one made
prisoner by the Americans, who declared that
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one of his countrymen had been killed, and

twelve wounded, one of them fatally. The

Americans camped on the held, burying the

dead and caring for the wounded.

Kearny's army was still considerably harassed

by the Californians on the way to San Diego,

where they were hospitably received late on De-

cember 12, and where they remained until De-

cember 29, when the American force, in all 600

strong, marched under command of Kearny for

Los Angeles.

California's share in the war with Mexico

ended in January, 1847.

annals, 1846-1889.

When international matters settled into tran-

quillity, there were still items of excitement for

the drowsy little pueblo. In the early part of

1847 the Indian campaign was on; then the

town was garrisoned by the Americans, who
supplied new social elements. January 29.

1847, the famous "Mormon Battalion" arrived

at San Diego, leaving again February 1. By
August 2 the re-enlisted corps returned here,

where they seem to have ingratiated themselves

with the community, probably by their labors

as mechanics.

PROGRESS OF SAN DIEGO.

Shortly after the close of the war with Mexico,

Major (afterward General) W. H. Emory, who
had reached San Diego December 12, 1846, re-

corded his impressions as follows; "The town

consists of a few adobe houses, two or three of

which only have plank floors. It is situated at

the foot of a high hill, on a sand flat two miles

wide, reaching from the head of San Diego Bay
to False Bay. A high promontory, of nearly

the same width, runs into the sea four or five

miles, and is connected by the flat with the

main land. The road to the hide houses leads

on the east side of this promontory, and abreast

of them the frigate Congress and the sloop

Portsmouth are at anchor." Again Major Em-
ory says: "San Diego is, all things considered,

perhaps one of the best harbors on the coast

from Callao to Puget Sound, with a single ex-

ception, that of San Francisco. In the opinion

of some intelligent navy officers it is preferable

even to this. The harbor of San Francisco has

more water, but that of San Diego has a more

uniform climate, better anchorage, and perfect

security from winds in any direction."

Even at that early day this gentleman saw,

and he was the first person to speak of, the im-

portance of this harbor as a terminus of a trans-

continental railway from the Mississippi, by

way of the Gila river.

In 1849 San Diego, with the rest of Califor-

nia, thrilled to the excitement of the gold dis-

coveries, and not a few of the leading citizens

of to-day were attracted to California at that

period.

On March 18, 1850, Alcalde Sutherland

granted to William Heath Davis, Jose A.

Aguirre, Andrew B. Grey, Miguel de Pedro-

rena, Thomas D. Johns and William C. Ferrell,

"for a new port," the tract known as New San

Diego, which comprised 160 acres, and for

which the grantees paid $2,304. It was stipu-

lated that a new wharf should be built there

within eighteen months, and William Heath

Davis, by August, 1851, had completed a fine,

substantial one, 1,300 feet long. It was used

by the Government for several years. An at-

tempt was made at once to colonize the new

site. The first building put up there was

erected by William Heath Davis, for a private

residence. It was still standing in December,

1887, being known as the San Diego Hotel.

Several others of the first houses built are still

standing. About the same time the barracks

were built for a depot of military supplies, the

troops being quartered at the old mission.

Under the Mexican administration, California

had been politically divided into districts, each

of which was under the local jurisdiction of a

prefect, a sub-prefect, and a judge of first in-

stance. Under the State constitution, adopted

after California became a possession of the United

States, provision was made for the continuance

of these existing conditions "until the entering
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into office of the new officers to l>e appointed

under this constitution." On February 18,

1850, an act was passed dividing the State into

twenty-eight counties, of which San Diego was

the first created.

On March 2, 1850, was passed an act pro-

viding for the holding of the first county elec-

tions, and making it the duty of each prefect

in the State to designate immediately a suitable

number of election precincts in each county of

his district, and to give notice of the same, and

of the election to be held. Accordingly Don

Jose Antonio Estudillo, the then prefect of San

Diego, divided the new county into election pre-

cincts, and, there being no newspaper printed

there at the time, posted notices that an election

would be held on April 1, 1850. A copy of the

poll-lists and original returns of the two pre-

cincts of San Diego bear the names of many
men of note, including that of General Samuel

P. Heintzelman, whose services during the civil

war were conspicuous. The following is a list

of the county officials then chosen: District

Attorney, William C. Ferrell; County Judge,

John Hays; County Clerk. Richard Ru-t;

County Attorney, Thomas W. Sutherland; Coun-

ty Surveyor, Henry Clayton; Sheriff, Agostin

Harazthy; Recorder, Henry C. Matsell; As-

sessor, Jose Antonio Estudillo; Coroner, John

Brown; Treasurer, Juan Bandini. The first

county assessment roll shows the value of tax-

able property in 1850 as follows: Ranch lands,

$255,281; ten stores with capital of $65,395;

six vineyards, whose value was not stated;

eighty-eight houses, worth $104,302; 6,789

head of cattle, worth $92,280; total, $517,258.

The assessment roll for the city of San Diego

for 1850 gave values as follows: Old Town,

$264,210; New Town, $80,050; Middle Town,

$30,000; total value, $375,160. The aggregate

population of San Diego County in 1850 was

798, as given in the seventh United States

census. The population of the city in that year

was estimated at 650.

The year 1851 was remarkable in San Diego

as inaugurating journalism there, since on May

29, 1851, J. Judson Ames established the

Herald, at first a very small sheet, which how-

ever grew yearly. Lieutenant Derby's connec-

tion with this sheet, and the humor of his

administration, are widely known, and the con-

tributions he then supplied to the Herald were

afterwards collected and published in the form

of a book called "Phcenixiana,"—from his pen

name, "Phojnix,"—which is to this day very

popular.

In 1851 that favorite pioneer, Colonel J. J.

Warner, who had removed his family some years

previously to his valuable estate, ever since

known as " Warner's ranch," was warned that

an attack upon his place was impending from

the Calmilla tribe of Indians, several hundred

of whom lived in villages near by. While he

discredited the reports, he took the precaution

to send his family under safe escort to San

Diego. Early on the second morning after

their departure he was awakened by the cries of

the Indians, who had surrounded the house.

As was customary at the Mexican ranchos, there

stood here several horses, saddled and ready for

instant mounting, and loaded weapons were also

at hand in profusion. Colonel Warner hastened

to the rear house-door to look for the horses,

and was greeted by a shower of arrows from

some 200 Indians there assembled; all of his

horses were gone save one, and that was just

being untethered by an Indian. A moment

later, and a shot from the splendid marksman

effectually put a stop to the marauder's move-

ments, and two of his comrades who renewed

the attempt to take away the horse fell like-

wise. These three fatal shots threw the Indians

into a panic. During their temporary retreat

to the shelter of some outbuildings, Colonel

Warner decided to try to escape. His Mexican

servant was already killed, but there was in the

house a mulatto boy, the servant of an army

officer at San Diego. This boy, who was a help-

less cripple from rheumatism, had been sent to

the rancho to benefit by the water of the neigh-

boring hot springs, whose curative .properties

were already noted. Resolved to save the lad



HISTORY OF SAN DIEGO COUNTY.

entrusted to his care, Colonel Warner placed

the boy upon the single horse, hung thereon his

pistols and two rifles, and mounted in front of

the hoy. He was away before the Indians could

interfere with him, and so dashed on till he

reached a village of friendly Indians, where his

herdsmen were quartered. Thence he sent the

hoy on with an escort, of the loyal Indians, and

when the herdsmen had gathered in the stock,

the master took a number of his own people

and rode back to the rancho, where the Cal-

millas were improving the opportunity by ap-

propriating the stock of merchandise, worth

some §0,000.

At this time, most of the large ranchos car-

ried a very considerable stock of general mer-

chandise, for purposes of trade with its employes

and dependents, with neighbors and travelers;

and these effects at "Warner's" the Cahuillas

were plundering. To Colonel Warner's small

escort they opposed a show of great hostility,

and the men fled without capitulation. Being

left single-handed Colonel Warner was under

the necessity of abandoning the field, and he

accordingly rode away to San Diego. A con-

siderable military escort under Major, afterward

General, Heintzelman, attended the family on

their return to the rancho, which was their

home for thirteen years, until 1857.

As far back as 1854, a transcontinental rail-

road was projected to terminate at San Diego,

and in the years following, one or two other lines

were proposed; but, owing to the uneasy con-

ditions politically throughout the United States,

and the feeling of prospective insecurity, little

was done beyond the organization of a company,

and the survey of the route between the port

and the confluence of the Gila and Colorado

rivers, in the first instance. A notable spirit

of enterprise was then developed, however, and

the project would probably have been success-

fully prosecuted, but for the breaking out of the

civil war, and its premonitory indications.

In a freshet in 1825—there had been one be-

fore, in 1811—San Diego river, which had dis-

charged into False bay, had changed its channel.

and broke through into the harbor. There were

other floods in the winter of 1839-'40, and in

1855. During this year, Lieutenant Derby

completed the dam which was to turn the river

back into False bay, this being his mission to

San Diego. Two years after, it was swept away

by another great freshet, and this was followed

by another flood in 1862. After the destruction

of the Derby dam the citizens constantly en-

deavored to prevail upon the Government to

renew the good work; but no appropriation

could be obtained from Congress until nearly

twenty years after. It now discharges once

more into False bay.

The first overland mail was carried on horse-

back, from San Diego to San Antonio, Texas.

It left San Diego August 9, 1857, and was

thirty-four days en route.

From 1859 to 1867 San Diego history had

almost no salient points, or occurrences of es-

pecial interest. The winter of 1861-'62 was

marked by unusually heavy rains, the fall being

nearly thirty inches, as against an average fall

of nine inches.

Even the civil war passed with little effect

upon this point beyond the transportation of the

troops to the East by steamer, and the filling of

their places by volunteer forces.

On April 6, 1867, Alonzo Erastus Horton

arrived at San Diego. He had attended, a short

time previously, a private literary gathering in

San Francisco, where San Diego, its climate and

harbor, was a topic of discussion. Mr. Horton

was greatly impressed by the accounts of this

section, and decided to visit it. The city, such

as it was, at that time was situated at Old Town,

a Government barracks, officers' quarters, the

remains of the William Heath Davis wharf,

and a very few other constructions, being the

only signs of human habitation at " New Town."

Nevertheless, Mr. Horton's practical judgment

and keen foresight led him to believe that this

point was the site of an important city of the

future; that powerful advantages were to be

derived from locating the city directly on the

bay shore; and that it would be an excellent
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speculation to purchase the pueblo lands, then

considered worthless, that skirted the edge of

the bay east of "New Town." First, he began

to agitate an election of city trustees, and the

candidates were nominated and elected without

opposition. Then he caused to be surveyed 880

acres which he desired to purchase. His will-

ingness to buy was made known to the pueblo

authorities, and they advertised the property as

to be offered for sale at public auction. The

day of the sale found but one bidder, Mr. Hor-

ton, who accordingly bid in the whole tract at

$26 an acre. This tract is now the main por-

tion of the city of San Diego. Mr. Hortcn had

his new possession platted under the classifi-

cation of "Horton's Addition" and went to San

Francisco to put it on sale. It can not be said

that his success was at first notable. Old im-

pressions were strong. That mad wag, Lieiu

tenant Derby, had laughed a really good thing

into disrepute, as is often done by people who

laugh, particularly if on piper, with any degree

of cleverness. The term "Sandy Ague," and

many sly allusions to the spot as the favorite

habitat of the lively flea, the luxurious horned

toad, and the business-like rattlesnake, still

rankled, deeply and darkly. Moreover, people

of guilty consciences had uncomfortable feelings

as to the supposed loftiness of the temperature!

But "Father" Horton was full of faith and sin-

gleness of purpose, and he never allowed him-

self to be discouraged. He held to his property

steadfastly, and worked for it earnestly. During

the infancy of the new city, he was ready to

give land to every one who would add to its

value by putting improvements upon it, but

was more than once disappointed by faithless

promises. To one man he gave a fine block of

land, on which to build a hotel, but the hotel

was never erected. To another, who now occu-

pies a high position in the federal service, he

gave another block which he bought back from

the recipient, two jears after, for $4,000. He
gave one block for the site of a flouring mill,

and to the county he deeded the block whereon

stands the court-house. In all he gave away

fourteen whole blocks, and detached lots with-

out number, including that on which stands

the Methodist church, on the corner of Fourth

and D streets, now valued at $60,000, and to

each of the other religious denominations as

well he gave lots for church edifices. By val-

uation according to present prices, the real estate

Mr. Horton has given away is worth at least

$1,000,000. Beside this, he expended at various

times over $700,000 of his own capital in im-

provements and development of the city. He
built the Horton House, for many years the

largest and finest hotel in San Diego, extending

along all one side of the plaza. He it was who

built the first wharf—since the Davis wharf had

fallen into decay—which he afterward sold to

the Pacific Mail Steamship Company, they in

turn selling to the Pacific Coast Steamship

Company, the present owners. Indeed, for

three years, this gentleman carried the whole

town, it may be said, upon his own shoulders,

paying the salaries of the officials, and the run-

ning expenses of the corporation. Always ready

was he to help the needy and deserving, and

when all other employment failed he would

always contrive to find work for married men, by

which they could support their families. For

a long time, this energy, this earnestness and

singleness of purpose, this devotion, were but

scantily rewarded. Mr. Horton's returns for

the year 1867 were but $3,000; in two years

they had increased to $85,000. It now began

to appear as if the projected Memphis & El

Paso Railway would shortly become a fait

accompli, and railroad meetings were the order

of the day.

Among other notable events of the year 1869

was the visit of the venerable statesman and

patriot, William H. Seward. He reached San

Diego on September 18 of that year, and was

received with fitting honors. Two well-known

citizens, Don Miguel de Pedrorena and Fran-

cisco P. Foster, accepted an invitation to join

Mr. Seward's party and accompany him to Mex-

ico. In Mr. Seward's company came various

distinguished men, among them General W. S.
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Rosecrans, Colonel Thomas S. Sedgwick, Gen-

eral M. C. Hunter, of Louisiana, and Congress-

man Hoots, of Arkansas.

It was during this period, too, that the

hrothers Frank and Warren Kimball bought

the 27,000-acre Rancho de la Nacion, and laid

out upon it, some four miles from San Diego,

the town of National City, which, after sharing

lor some years the prosperities and the reverses

of the parent city, was ultimately to prove a

most potent factor in the institution of a con-

dition of affairs which should serve to establish

both on a stable and permanent basis of ad-

vancement.

Many new-comers arrived on every steamer

from the north, not a few of those who were at-

tracted by the bright, hopeful prospects of that

period being among the "old residents" of the

present. The town grew rapidly until it was a

little city of 1,200 or 1,500. But that flatter-

ing hope proved delusive, there was another

total collapse, and the town having no internal

resources nor tributary elements, became utterly

stagnated.

In 1870 the population of San Diego County

was 4,951, of which one-half was in the city.

The total value of all kinds of property in the

county was $1,722,837, two-thirds of which was

in the city. There were 1,790 houses in the

county, of which 915, or more than one-half,

were in the city. The statistics of production

of that period showed the whole number of

fruit trees in the county, of all kinds what-

soever, to be 223; the total number of grape-

vines, 1,487; the number of acres planted to

grain, including wheat, barley and corn, 3,126.

The Chamber of Commerce of San Diego

was organized in March, 1870.

In 1871 the Texas Pacific Railroad was or-

ganized, it was voted a handsome subsidy, ten

miles of the line were graded, hopefulness and

enthusiasm flourished, and so many strangers

poured in that the population reached about

4,000. Many handsome edifices were built, in-

cluding the present court-house, and the county

seat was removed from Old Town to New Town,

most of the American settlers and not a few of

the Mexican residents of Old Town accompany-

ing it.

Again, in 1872, San Diego was visited by

some of the most eminent Americans of the

age. On August 18 of that year the United

States steamer Hassler arrived from the coast

of South America, conveying Professor Louis

Agassiz and wife, Dr. Thomas Hill, ex-president

of Harvard College, and various other people

notable in the scientific world, who belonged to

the Hassler expedition. Six days later, Colonel

Thomas A. Scott, escorting a large party of

celebrated men, arrived, on a visit connected

with the project of the Texas & Pacific Rail-

way. Among the "railroad men" were: Gen-

eral G. M. Dodge, W. T. Walters, of Baltimore,

John McManus, of Reading, and Hon. John S.

Harris. Then there were: Senator John Sher-

man, of Ohio; Governor J. W. Throckmorton,

of Texas; Colonel John W. Forney, of Phila-

delphia; Colonel George Williamson, of Louisi-

ana; W. H. Rinehart, the sculptor; Governor

R. C. McCormick, of Arizona, and ex-Senator

Cole. On the night of the 26th there was held

an enthusiastic railroad meeting, at which most

of these eminent men were present; and San

Diego still prides herself upon the eulogies then

pronounced upon her elements and her future

by some of the most notable among these gen-

tlemen, the justice and accuracy of whose pre-

vision has been more than sustained by the

history of the years succeeding.

The lands in 1853 confirmed to the pueblo

comprised eleven square leagues, or 32,000

acres. There were persons who later claimed

that the quantity of land of the city should be

reduced to four square leagues, and on their ap-

peals the matter was brought before the Depart-

ment of the Interior. These disputes were finally

settled January 31, 1872, by the decision of the

Secretary of the Interior, who sustained the city's

title to the full amount of eleven square leagues.

On February 23, 1872, the State Legislature

finally passed an act, introduced in the Senate

by Mr. McCoy, whereby all prior conveyances
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of lands by the municipal powers of San Diego

were legalized, ratified and confirmed.

In 1873 there passed Congress a bill which

created San Diego a "port of entry." Prior to

thai time this had been a " port of delivery "only.

It was precisely this period which witnessed

the development of many of Mr. Horton's prac-

tical improvements, including Horton's Hall,

Horton's Bank, the Horton House, the wharf,

and many other buildings. It is to be remarked

that most of these erections hold their own with

the edifices recently constructed, so it is readily

to be seen that they must have been very large

for the city as it was at that time, and some of

them were even extravagant. For instance, the

building now occupied by the Hamiltons was

built for a city market, and it would have been

adequate for the pnrpose for a city ten times

as large as San Diego then was. It was during

this time of prosperity that the first telegraph

line was built.

But the financial crash of 1873 came, and the

Texas Pacific failed to come to San Diego, be-

cause of the impossibility of borrowing capital.

The population of San Diego declined to about

2,500, and that of National City to a few scores.

Dozens of houses stood vacant, dozens (to make

a moderate computation) of men were out of

employment, and ere many months the streets

of both towns were almost deserted.

By the season of 1875-'76, the " winter vis-

irot " had appeared at San Diego, attracted by

climatic charms. His clan arrived in such

numbers as to stimulate to a considerable ex-

tent business in the line of hotels and boarding

houses. His stay, however, was usually brief,

and his interest superficial. He saw no sub-

stantial or enduring attractions in the section.

San Diego appeared to have no resources, no

back country; and the apparent scarcity of

water seemed to preclude future development.

Moreover, the existing conditions were very

primitive and inconvenient, and the lack of easy

postal facilities and ready and comfortable trans-

portation were grave drawbacks.

In 1876 it was attempted to have the bonds

of the Texas Pacific guaranteed by Congress,

but the measure was defeated by pressure from

the eastern and northwestern sections. How-
ever, the movement did not stir San Diego from

the lethargy into which she had fallen.

In 1879 there was a slight, brief agitation

caused by the rumor of a prospective railway,

which proved Unfounded.

In 1881 one of the founders of National

City, who had worked untiringly for the section,

proposed to endeavor to induce the Atchison,

Topeka & Santa Fe Railway to build to San

Diego; and. although his suggestion elicited

but skepticism and ridicule from his fellow-cit-

izens, he loyally and determinedly persisted,

went East at his own expense, talked, urged,

argued, refused to accept rebuff or discourage-

ment, and—at last succeeded. Capital conde-

scended to listen to one inducement—the offer

of 17,000 acres of the best land on the bay,

from the splendid National Ranch. Two direc-

tors of the road came out to investigate; they

saw, and found it good. Several thousands of

acres more were offered by other parties. The

California Southern was organized, and in 1882

it was finished toColton,San Bernardino County,

from National City, which terminus grew to a

population of about 1,000, while San Diego had

gained some 15,000 inhabitants.

The hopeful expectations from this road were

doomed to disappointment. It had no direct

eastern connection, and there was much opposi-

tion from other sections, so that travel over it was

practically nil. As a climax, the winter of 1882

-'83 was a very dry one, and the crops failed

on all the unirrigated lowlands. By the autumn,

National City had lost half its population, and

San Diego lost more than its recent increase.

Finally, early in 1884, most of the railroad

in Temecula Canon and Santa Margarita was

washed out by a flood, having been built too

low by Eastern engineers who did not under-

stand the requirements of the Pacific coast cli-

mate. It took something like nine months to

replace the road and restore traffic, and even

then very dull times still continued.
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Early in 1885 work was begun on the exten-

sion of the California Southern to Barstow, and

it was then understood that San Diego was to

be the Pacific terminus of the Santa Fe system.

Almost coincident with this movement was

the beginning of work on an extensive water

system and the consequent development of agri-

cultural wealth.

The growth of San Diego had now begun in

earnest. From a probable 5,000 inhabitants in

1885, it increased to at least 30,000 by the close

of 1887.

The history of San Diego for 1888 and 1889

is hereinafter set forth.

POINTS THROUGHOUT THE COUNTY

ABOUND THE BAY. THE HAKBOR.

San Diego bay is a land-locked sheet of water,

twelve miles long and from one to two miles

wide, with abundance of deep water for thou-

sands of vessels, and miles of good wharfage

front, quite safe and sheltered. It is formed by:

on the west, the long, high promontory called

Point Loma, which extends out from the main

land about eight miles, like a gigantic finger

pointing southward; on the north, the land

rises in gradual slopes, sweeping from west to

east like a crescent, and from the east curving

southward, to where begins "the sandspit " that

encloses the bay on the south as it runs, a nar-

row ribbon of sand, that leaves between its

point, widened into Coronado beach, a narrow

but excellent channel, whose bar has twenty-

three feet of water at low tide, the water being

so smooth that the largest ships can enter, even

in the roughest weather and sail all the way up

the channel to a wharf or an anchorage, with-

out a harbor-pilot or a steam-tug. During the

great storm of February, 1878, when the wind

reached the highest point ever registered by the

signal service at San Diego, the Hassler, a large

steamer of the United States coast survey, lay

directly upon the bar during the whole storm,

taking soundings and surveying the harbor.

During the same storm, the coast-line steamer

Orizaba dared not put in at any stopping-place

between San Diego and San Francisco; and

even at the latter-named port she had to lie off

outside three days before venturing to cross the

bar. The report of the United States coast sur-

vey furnishes abundant and incontestable proof

of the superiority of San Diego's harbor.

Surrounding the bay for miles and miles

stretch gentle slopes and pine mesa land, suit-

able for farms, for detached villa homes, or for

town sites, and the bay coast and adjoining

ocean coast are both already thickly dotted with

links in the chain of growing cities. Next to

San Diego, southeasterly, toward the boundary

line of the Mexican republic, and at present

next in importance also, lies

NATIONAL CITY.

This is one of the most enterprising towns

On the coast, and it is destined to attain great

commercial importance in the near future. Its

position is at the extreme northwestern corner

of the Rancho de la Nacion, which comprises a

part of the San Diego Land and Town Com-
pany's great tract. This is the terminus of the

great Santa Fe Railway, which corporation has

located its principal machine and car shops,

yard, etc., here, besides a pier or wharf, extend-

ing into the bay 2,300 feet. The terminal

grounds at National are the largest in the

United States, comprising 225 acres, on which

thirty tracks have already been laid. The com-

pany owns six miles of bay water front, its

round-house accommodates forty eight locomo-

tive.-, and it has erected here the other build-

ings suitable and necessary to a transcontinental

line terminus.

The city lies some four miles distant from

San Diego, with which it is connected by the

California Southern, which has its machine and

car-shops, yard, wharf, etc., here, and by the

National City & Otay Railroad, of which George

J. Lockie is superintendent; this is a stand-

ard-gauge steam motor line. This city owes

its birth to the foresight and enterprise of the

Kimball Brothers. Some twelve years since
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these gentlemen noted the " superior quality "

of the lands of the old "Rancho de la Nacion,"

or Nation's Farm of the Spanish regime; the

freedom of the track from gullies, gravel, etc.;

also the Sue water front, with deep water, and

the great reaches of tine lands sloping gently

upward into fertile mesa or table lands. Fore-

seeing the prosperous future for which this

section was so eminently fitted by its natural

characteristics, they purchased the rancho,

which comprised some 27,000 acres, and on the

tract laid out National City, building a wharf

and a number of edifices, and making many

sales of land. Indeed, so great was the imme-

diate prosperity of the new city that a foolish

jealousy sprung up lest this should prove a

formidable rival of San Diego. It is pleasant

to note that this unworthy sentiment, whose in-

dulgence for some years injured both places,

has been slain by the prosperity, and still more,

by the vicissitudes, which they have passed

through together.

It has already been seen how the Kimball

Brothers gave 17,000 acres of their best land to

bring the Atchison, Topeka & Santa Fe Railway

to San Diego, and what a wise investment the

offer proved to be. During the building of the

California Southern, National City grew until

her population numbered 1,000 people. But

the speedily ensuing stagnation caused it to

lose at least one-half this, and it almost seemed

that a majority of the buildings were vacant.

But, with the extension in 1885 of the Cali-

fornia Southern to Barstow, National City felt

the impulse of improved times, and entered

upon a new, and this time an assured, epoch of

prosperity. The present population is some-

thing over 1,500, refined for the most part, and

among the most progressive ami enterprising of

California's citizens. The city has a postofhce,

with daily mail service, express and telegraph

offices, telephone service, a grange hall, a horti-

cultural hall, and Episcopalian and Congrega-

tional church edifices, the latter having a fine

pipe organ. There are also other flourishing

congregations. There is a two-story public

school building of fine proportions, well planned

for graded classes. There is a fine hotel of

fifty rooms, each of which has hot and cold

water laid on, the house surrounded by porches

commanding a grand view, and by a tine large

yard rilled with tropical flowers. Besides the

usual conveniences of bath-room, bar and

billiard room, etc., this hotel has connected

with it a livery stable, and a bureau for sup-

plying guns, fishing tackle, etc.

Among the industries of National City are

the following: An olive-oil factory where are

practiced the processes of crushing, drying and

pickling this rich and nutritious berry. In

1888 this mill turned out 210 cases of oil, or

420 dozens of bottles. It will be an important

factor in commerce and prosperity, as nursery-

men report 30,000 to 40,000 olive trees to have

been planted in the county during 1889; be-

sides this the increasing product of the trees

already in bearing will result in establishing an

industry of large proportions. This mill has

no near competitor, and there are in the State

but two others of considerable magnitnde,

namely, at Santa Barbara and Los Gatos. Then

there is the West Coast Parlor Match Company,
with a capital stock of $15,000, of which $10,-

000 has been paid in. This is the only match

factory on the coast producing parlor matches.

There is a reduction works, which has kept a

five-stamp mill running most of the time during

1889, reducing ores shipped thither from vari-

ous points. There is the Commercial Company,

conducting the largest business of its kind south

of San Francisco. Throughout the dull season

this firm has been kept busy shipping to various

points on the coast, as well as into the interior

and Arizona, its manufactures, consisting of

agricultural implements, wagons, buggies, water

pipe and wire goods. During 1889 there has

been established a feed and barley crushing

mill. There has also been established a tree-

wash manufactory, producing preparations to

aid fruit-growers in the extermination of fruit

pests. There is the Pawnee Medicine Company,

which is constantly filling large orders and doing
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an extensive business. The Bank of National

City, which is now in the third year of its ex-

istence, had recently added a savings bank

department for school children and other de-

positors. There is a large lumber yard, a plan-

ing mill of the latest and most improved system,

several drug stores, and several stores for the

sale of dry goods, groceries or general merchan-

dise. Another enterprise of the year 1889 is

the organization of a fire department, consisting

of two hose companies with 2,100 feet of three-

inch hose, and a hook and ladder company, all

well manned with efficient officers and men.

Hydrants are so distributed that alPportions of

National City can readily be reached'for water

supplies in case of fire.

There are in National district four commodi-

ous school-houses, including that recently built

at Chula Vista. These accommodate the 300

children recorded for the year's attendance, who

are under the charge of a popular and scholarly

principal and seven experienced assistant teach-

ers. National City has the only free kinder-

garten in the county. It was founded in 1888

by Mrs. Frank A. Kimball, who largely sup-

ports it, financially and otherwise. It has a

principal and three assistant teachers, and sixty

children have been under their charge during

the past year. A Town Improvement Society

has been organized for the purpose of fostering

home adornment, and encouraging the beautify-

ing of the city by planting trees along the

streets. There is something really remarkable

in the class of residences to be seen in this

little city and its environs. No matter how

small and modest the home, the owner of eacli

seems to have been fired with a spirit of einula

tion which prompts him to aim at equaling, in

beauty and attractiveness, the more imposing

dwellings of his wealthy neighbors. The care-

fully tended orchards, the scrupulously kept

gardens, the trees, fruit-bearing and ornamental,

the cheerful flower-beds, the innumerable bits

of beautifying effort, often modest, but always

tasty, convey an impression of thrift and pros-

perity about all the homes of this section.

Partly within the city's limits is the beauti-

ful Paradise valley, which adds to the other

conveniences and luxuries a Sanitarium and In-

valid's Home. Many important enterprises are

being developed by the San Diego Land and

Town Company, which is a corporation com-

posed almost entirely of directors and stock-

holders of the Atchison, Topeka & Santa Fe

Railway. Among their other improvements is

the National City & Otay Railroad, the motor

line already mentioned, which runs one branch

to the Sweetwater dam and the little town of

La Presa, and another to Chula Vista, Otay

City, Oneonta, and Tia Juana, on the Mexican

border, making a standard-gauge line thirty

miles long. Another splendid achievement is

the Sweetwater dam across the Sweetwater river.

This is the greatest structure of the kind in the

United States, and there are in the world but

four or five of greater height. This was begun

by the company already mentioned, November

17, 1886, and it was completed April 7, 1888.

It is built in a rocky canon at the outlet of a

fine natural reservoir, of a heavy granite rock,

containing some mineral which makes its weight

about twenty per cent, greater than New Hamp-

shire granite, the rock being laid in Portland

cement. The dimensions are: length at base,

76 feet; length at top, 396 feet; thickness at

base, 46 feet: thickness at top, 12 feet; height

from bed-rock, 90 feet; height from river bed,

80 feet. The reservoir covers 700 acres, and it

will hold 6,000,000,000 gallons of water. The

water is conveyed from the dam through

wronght-iron pipes to the surrounding lands,

and it supplies, at low rates, National City for

household and irrigation purposes. Not less

than sixty-five miles of wrought-iron pipe has

been laid already. Adjoining National City

lies a tract of 5,000 acres of beautiful mesa

land, with a rising 6lope toward Otay and Tia

Juana on the east, which is known as

CHULA VISTA.

This name (being the Spanish for "Lovely

View") could hardly be more aptly applied
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than to this tract, commanding a view of the

bay, the sea, the distant Coronado islands, the

city of San Diego and its surrounding satellite

towns, National City as well, and behind all, as

a splendid background to the wide scope of

ocean, beach, valley and plateau land, the great

majestic mountains. It is now some three

years since Colonel W. G. Dickinson outlined

his scheme for the subdivision of what is now
known as Chula Vista, a scheme which contem-

plated a subnrban town of fruit farms, ranging

in area from two and a half to ten acres each,

whose owners, as a condition of purchase, would

be required to build houses upon their tracts to

cost not less than a certain sum, eventually

fixed at $2,000. In due time this scheme was

worked out and the lands placed upon the

market.

This tract is six miles from San Diego.

Although it was put upon the market too late

to participate in the boom, Chula Vista has

progressed remarkably. Many miles of avenues

have been graded and set to trees, and water

has been put upon the entire tract.

A. Barber's place, on Third avenue, is a five-

acre tract, whose improvement was begun less

than two years ago. It is set to a variety of

fruits, both citrus and deciduous. Its product-

iveness is attested by the fact that the trees

have this year yielded all the fruit Mr. Barber's

family could use. Numerous illustrations were

seen on these grounds of the ambition of the

young trees to bear fruit. A lemon tree, less

than two years in the ground, has over 100

lemons on it. Mr. Barber decorated the lapels

of each of the visitors' coats with a handsome

boutonniere.

At Mrs. E. L. Williams' place, on Second

avenue, another example of rapid progress is

seen. This is a five-acre place, upon which are

over 400 trees, chiefly orange and lemon, in the

proportion of about two of the former to one of

the latter. The trees show a remarkable growth,

especially the lemon trees, which have distanced

the orange by nearly one-half. The land at Chula

Vista is evidently especially good for lemons.

Two years hence some of these avenues will

be nothing short of lovely. Their grades are

good and they extend from National a distance

of some eight miles.

More than fifty fine residences have been

built at Chula Vista, and twenty others are

under contract.

Some of these improved places are worthy of

note, as illustrating the quality of the soil when
supplied with water and cultivated with in-

dustry.

Colonel Dickinson's place, a little farther

north, occupies one of the most commanding
sites about the bay of San Diego, and is one of

the best improved. The house is a fine piece

of architecture, its interior arrangement and

finish being conspicuously convenient and at-

tractive. There is a blue-grass lawn in front

that is so thickly matted that one cannot part

the blades with the hand so as to expose the

ground without the greatest effort, and which

feels as soft and velvety under the feet as a

Brussels carpet. At another part of the grounds

a circle of fountains play into a reservoir, in

which sport a number of beautiful gold fishes.

There is also a sixteen-acre Eureka lemon

orchard, set out in July, 1889, by Professor W.
A. Henry, of the Madison, Wisconsin, Uni-

versity.

Mr. J. M. Johnson is making somewhat of a

nursery of his place and is not afraid lo experi-

ment. He shows some orange buds a month
old, set in sprigs sprung from seeds planted last

March. He believes he can hasten production

by budding in this way. One of his curiosities

is a three-toot growth of orange from a seed

planted last March. Mr. Johnson's local pride

will not permit him to admit the possibility of

such a growth anywhere else than at Chula

Vista.

On National avenue, is the place of J. L.

Griffin. This is a pioneer place, and antedates

Chula Vista. It is a seven-year-old improve-

ment, and is noteworthy for this, that it effect-

ually disproves the assertion so often heard that

citrus fruits can't be grown near salt water.



BISTORT OF SAN DIEOO COUNTT.

Mr. Griffin's place is less than a mile from the

bay, yet one can see there as fine oranges and

lemons as ever were grown, the trees fairly

groaning under their burden of fruit, and both

trees and fruit bright and clean from every

species of scale or smut. And the windward

sides of the trees are just as full of fruit and

just as clean as the leeward. Mr. Griffin has a

lemon tree from which he has picked from Jan-

uary to January 1,302 lemons by actual count.

This tree is now very full of fruit. He has 200

apricot trees, from which he sold this year eight

and one-half tons at $70 per ton. This was an

"off year" for apricots. Mr. Griffin's place

contains ten acres and he has repeatedly been

offered $10,000 for it, and one would-be pur-

chaser not long ago was willing to raise this

offer $2,000.

It is to be noted, too, that in achieving these

results, Mr. Griffin had to rely upon a wind-

mill for his water supply, whereas now an

abundant supply can be had from the company's

pipes.

Chula Vista is fast realizing the ambition of

its projectors, in spite of dull times. Two years

hence it will be a beautiful and thrifty place,

and not many years will be required to make it

one of the prettiest and most productive places

in Southern California. There is no idleness

in this prophecy. The groundwork of it has

already been realized, and all the conditions of

soil and water and climate are there to carry it

to a perfect fulfillment. One cannot look upon

Chula Vista's progress without feeling a revival

of faith in the destiny of the bay region.

From a point on the northern verge of Chula

Vista a view is had of almost the entire Sweet-

water valley below the dam. From this point

the advantages of irrigation are apparent in

the numerous gardens and orchards that are be-

ing made all along the course of the stream.

It is from this source that strawberries find

their way to the San Diego market during every

month of the year.

Six miles below Chula Vista lies the Otay

valley, with its nucleus,

OTAY.

Otay proper embraces the mesa and valley of

the Otay, deriving its name from this level

mesa tract, six miles in width and twelve miles

long, which signifies in the Indian dialect,

" Wide, level knoll." This section of mesa

and valley land is situated twelve miles south

of the capital town of San Diego County, the

principal port of the great southwest and the

future gateway to the commerce of the world.

The valley of the Otay slopes gently to the

bay. It is skirted by the river and abrupt rise

of the level mesa on the south and is four

miles from the Mexican border. The valley

embraces a large tract of fruit and garden lands

that are easily watered by means of shallow

wells or by irrigation systems, which naturally

abound in the mountain range on the east, where

the waters of the Otay, Cottonwood and Tia

Juana rivers take their rise, affording an abun-

dance of water that can be easily developed and

which, doubtless, will soon be utilized and

brought on to the vast area of mesa and valley

lands of the Otay and Tia Juana.

Windmills are now used to a great extent for

supplying water in the valley, and quantities of

grapes, guavas, oranges and figs are now mar-

keted, and the vegetable gardens are yielding

great profits by their ceaseless production the

whole year round. Potatoes are dug here for

the San Diego market, which find a ready sale

at from two to three cents a pound. Here

during the past season 90,000 gallons of wine

were made, and up the valley adjoining the

6,000 acres belonging, to the Land & Town

Company, now used for a sheep pasture, 150

tons of wool were clipped and shipped from

Otay.

This season 3,000 tons of hay have been ex-

ported from here by rail, besides great quanti-

ties of grain, milk and eggs. The valley and

the mesa are being occupied very fast.

The town site of Otay is beautifully located,

ensconced between the mountains and the sea,

connected with San Diego by the National City

& Otay Railroad, joining the beautiful Chula
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Vista tract on the north, now supplied with

water from the San Diego Land & Town Com-
pany's pipe-line, which crosses through their

5,000-aere tract from the Sweetwater dam.

Three miles to the west of the town beats the

ocean. The location is just far enough from the

water to have the wind shorn of its sharpness,

making it the most even, all-the-year-round cli-

mate on the face of the globe; invalids afflicted

with various diseases soon find a speedy recov-

ery, and the old renew their youth. The town

is progressing and fast settling up with a happy

and industrious population. Over forty houses,

many of them fine villa homes, having been

built during the past year. The watch factory,

filling the great necessity of giving employ-

ment in the most favored clime, is a colossal

enterprise. The building is of brick, three

stories in height, 38x100 feet; the works will

employ from 300 to 400 workmen, capable of

turning out 250 watches per day. A syndicate

of capitalists has been formed, comprising the

leading men of wealth. Among the number

are F. A. Kimball, E. W. Morse and other bank-

ers, who have now taken stock in the factory,

and the business of watchmaking, now and

well under way, will be pushed speedily for-

ward.

In no part of the State is there richer garden

land than in the Otay and Tia Juana valleys,

and nothing grows or is raised in California

which does not thrive and grow to perfection

here. On the fertile mesa anJ valleys are raised

with profit the finest hay, wheat and barley, and

all the cereals produced throughout the country;

the orange and corn thrive side by side. It is

the natural home of the orange, the lemon, the

fig, olive, guava, walnut and vines of all varie-

ties. The apple does well here, and the small

fruits, such as strawberries, blackberries, etc.,

grow to perfection. Parties engaged in diversi-

fied farming find the soil adapted to all its

branches, yielding asteady and perpetual income.

A branch of the motor line runs from Otay to

Oneonta, where there is a good hotel, and whence

btnges convey the traveler who desires to tread

the soil of Mexico in this direction to the bound-

ary line and the division monument.

Somewhat north of east of the Otay mesa,

than which it is further from the coast, and

eighteen or twenty miles from San Diego, lies

the Janal Rancho, containing some 6,000 acres,

whose elevation is 400 to 800 feet. Some six

miles yet further eastward, at an elevation of

some 550 feet, is the Jamul Rancho of some

5,000 acres. This is bounded on the eastward

by a tall, rocky range, from 3,000 to 4,000 feet

high, which, like other ridges, harbors many

mountain parks and valleys. The Janal is sep-

arated from Mexico by the blue range of the San

Ysidro; the soil of this and the Janal is either

a fine red granite or a brown adobe of extraor-

dinary richness, which, together with the situa-

tion, is uncommonly favorable for vine and fruit

growing. The orange, in particular, reaches

perfection in the Jamul valley, one of whose in-

habitants has taken, for his oranges, at district,

county and State exhibitions, premiums attest-

ing the superiority of his wares over every other

orange-producing section in California.

North of these valleys and east of the National

Ranch, there is a series of plains and valleys,

nearly all Government land, which are occupied

by bee-keepers and stock-raisers. These are

called the Jamacha plains, Lee's valley, Lyon's

valley, Lawson's valley, Corte Madera, Cotton-

wood valley, Pine valley, Guatay valley, Laguna

and Mataqueqnat. There is a very fine fruit

orchard and farm, with an apiary, the prop-

erty of Mr. B. S. Sheckler, in the Cotton-

wood valley, which is one of the most pictur-

esque spots in the county. This section com-

prises a very extensive area of fine country,

most of which will be brought under cultiva-

tion ere long, producing grain and the decidu-

ous fruits, which are raised to some extent

already. Dairy farming also will become a very

profitable enterprise in these mountain valleys.

The rainfall in this section is abundant and

never-failing. The thickly-wooded mountains

abound in game, and they are a favorite resort

of hunters and camping parties.
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THE POTEERO.

This is the center of a large area of country

near the boundary line, of which the principal

industries are fanning, bee-keeping and ttock-

raisiug, including much attention to hogs. A
good deal of grain and hay is raised, and some

of the bacon cured hereabouts is sent to market.

The honey product is considerable. There is

good land for raising fruit, especially apples,

but very little attention has been given as yet

to this matter. A large portion of the land of

this section is Government land, and it is there-

lore likely to be settled quite speedily. Land

is sold for $10 to $25 per acre. The population

of this section is about 400; it has a postoffice

with tri-weekly service, a school-house and four

stores.

TIA JUANA.

Four miles beyond Otay, five miles from the

coast, and sixteen from San Diego, is the Tia

Juana valley, in which is situated the village of

Tia Juana, on the boundary line partly in the

United States and partly in Mexico, a custom-

house being maintained on the Mexician side,

where also, three miles farther down, are the

celebrated hot sulphur springs. Strong indica-

tions warrant belief in the existence of similar

springs on the American side. Both these val-

leys abound in rich farms and orchards. Lands

range from $50 to $100 per acre within their

limits.

The voting precinct embracing the Otay and

Tia Juana valleys is called Monument. Each

of these settlements has its own church, school-

house and other features of progress.

To return to National City: No part of San

Diego County produces more richly: all the

citrus fruits, all varieties of grapes, notably the

raisin grape, many deciduous fruits and all of

the berries reach about as near a 6tate of perfec-

tion as fruits may, and the products of the sec-

tion have repeatedly taken first premiums at

county, district, and State fairs. Some six miles

beyond National, at the lower end of the bay,

is South San Diego; rounding the curve a nar-

row strip runs northward for several miles, coin-
|

pletely shutting out the sea beyond the harbor.

Opposite the city of San Diego, this unique

peninsula broadens into a tract of land, which,

if it had been square, would measure a mile

and a half on each side. This is

COEONADO BEACU,

Which is one mile across the bay, from San

Diego. Connected with this by a very nar-

row isthmus is another island-like tract, the

estuary between them being called Spanish

Bight. The history of Coronado Beach has

been phenomenal. In 1886 there was not the

semblance cf a human habitation on the penin-

sula, and although streets and avenues had been

mapped out earlier, not a house was built until

after January 1, 1887. Now there are hundreds

of houses for dwelling and, business purposes,

three hotels, fine drives, nurseries, landscape

gardens, foundries, lumber and planing mills,

fruit-packing establishments, works for bitum-

inous and asphalt paving, and boat and ship-

building establishments. It is estimated that

the sales made on this peninsula have amounted

to between fifteen and twenty millions of dollars,

and have well repaid the original outlay of

something like a million and a half of dollars,

expended in preparing the place for occupation.

A large steam ferry connects Coronado Beach

with San Diego, plying half-hourly. The soil

here is a very rich loam, with a large admix-

ture of disintegrated granite, underlaid by a

stratum of decomposed shells. It is pronounced

equal in fertility to the finest sea-island cotton

soil on the Atlantic coast, and specially adapted

to the development of rare tropical trees, shrubs

and fruits, whose propagation in the United

States has always failed hitherto. The water,

which is piped to South San Diego, Coronado

Heights and Coronado Beach, comes from a

series of living springs in the Otay valley, and

it is considered a most important feature among

the general attractions. Besides being very

soft, pure and pleasant to the taste, chemical

analysis shows it to be highly medicinal, being

peculiarly adapted for, and beneficial in, all
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kidney diseases. It is held to be quite equal to

the famous water from the celebrated Waukesha

Spring of Wisconsin. The supply is over

5,000,000 gallons per daj-, and this can be

doubled if necessary. A table which compares

the mean temperature at Coronado with that at

the health resorts of Naples, Mentone, Rome,

Nice and Florence, shows that the wititer tem-

perature of Coronado is 7.9° higher than at

these most favored foreign resorts, and that the

summer temperature is 10° lower, thus making

an average of 8° in favor of Coronado as an all-

the-year-round resort. The enormous Hotel

del Coronado is almost indescribable, particu-

larly within restricted limits. To say that it is

the largest and finest hotel in the world; that

it cost $1,000,000; that it has its own steam

motor road to convey guests and visitors from

the ferry landing; that twenty acres of hand-

somely decorated grounds surround it; that its

interior court is a quadrangle of 250 x 150 feet,

full of statuary, fountains, and choice exotic

plants; that the length of its surrounding ve-

randah is considerably over one and a half miles;

that its apartments are, in many cases, of al-

most incredible dimensions; that the finishings

and fittings are all of the most convenient, com-

fortable and luxurious; that the house has its

own system of water- works, of sewage and elec-

tric bell and light plant, and its own large

bathing and boating establishments, and its

band of musicians; that its culinary department

is complete and perfectly appointed, and the

service exquisite as to quantity, quality, variety

and style,—when all these things are said, they

have only begun to shadow forth the fairy-land-

like charmof the marvelous Hotel del Coronado.

Following the cnrve of the coast around north-

ward from San Diego, to the quarter where Point

Loma joins the mainland, and the territory wi-

dens and slopes more gently away from the bay

toward the city, there lies, five miles back from the

shore, the historic

OLD TOWN.

It has already been seen how important a part

in the history of San Diego has been played by

this portion thereof, officially designated in the

postoffice department as " North San Diego,"

and the incidents of its founding and earlier ex-

istence have been related. Up to 1868 this was

the town, the county seat and business center,

and many old citizens there be who still cling

to it as a place of residence, whether for its su-

perior charms of climate and quiet, or for the

sake of old associations. Prior to 1868 the

shipping did not come farther up the bay than

La Plaza, where the custom-house was, as also

the landing and the coaling station of the Pacific

Mail Steamship Company.

This point is now a suburb and the First Ward
of the city proper, from which it lies some three

miles northwest, a beautiful mesa called Middle

Town lying between. This mesa commands a

magnificent view, and will no doubt be a fa-

vorite dwelling-site, becoming, like Old Town,

continuous with San Diego, when the comple-

tion of the electric street railway, now far ad-

vanced, shall facilitate communication. Then
also will there be a revival of activity from the

temporary decaj into which Old Town fell, with

the building of " New" San Diego on the bay

shore, and the transfer of the court-house and

public buildings thither. The population is

now about 1,000, and there is a postoffice, hotel,

store, a fine large public school-house, a Roman
Catholic church, which was dedicated Septem-

ber 29, 1851, and, not least of interest to the

romantic, a small chapel which is credibly said

to be the scene of Ramona's marriage to

Alessandro, in Mrs. Jackson's popular novel.

Through the lower part of Old Town runs the

California Southern Railway, after skirting the

Middletown shore of the bay; and there it

crosses the former bed of the river, now once

more diverted into False bay.

At the foot of the promontory, Point Loma,

nestle a good many houses dotted along the

shore, one aggregation of them being termed

ROSEVILLE,

soon to be reached by the steam motor connect-

ing San Diego and Old Town. Roseville boasts
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the only factory for making wire gauze in Cali-

fornia.

On the fine land beyond Old Town there has

been laid out a fine tract of villa sites, lying

about midway between Old Town and the sub-

urb called

PACIFIC BEACn,

which is in the hands of a company who declare

that their beautiful new colony shall rival Cor-

onado itself. To that purpose they have already

a stupendous hotel, a fine college, electric lights,

street railroads, bathing houses and many other

improvements which are under way, supported

by good taste and capital. On the western

slope and the northern side of Point Loma is

Ocean Beach, a new and pleasant watering

place.

MISSION VALLEY.

This valley is situated three miles from the

business center of San Diego. It is traversed

by the San Diego river, and it may be reached

either by way of Old Town, which lies at the

mouth of the valley, or by the road up the mesa

and new grade, which enters some two miles

farther up. The valley is about six miles long,

and one-half mile to one mile wide. The ruins

of the ancient mission church, with its attend-

ant old olive orchard, are near the eastern ter-

minus. This valley was well chosen by the

Franciscan Fathers, for it contains some of the

most productive land in the present San Diego

County. On the higher benches grow fruits,

vegetables and cereals, while the lower, more

sandy portions are well adapted for the cultiva-

tion of alfalfa and other grasses. Good water,

which may be found even during the dry season,

at three to ten feet depth, abundantly under-

lies the whole surface. The larger portion of

the valley, comprising the western end, belongs

to the old Pueblo grant, and thus within the

corporate limits of San Diego city. This valley

land sells for $75 to $150 per acre.

THE INTERIOR.

Along the coast of San Diego County, as of

most of the seaboard counties of Southern Cali-

fornia, there slopes away from the shore a long

line of plateau land, more or less rolling, and also

more or less diversified by valleys, ravines, creeks

or rivers, and low hill-ranges. This platean, or

mesa, as it is generally called from the Spanish

term for it, meaning a table, often looks sterile,

when it is really good land, which only needs

cultivation to yield prolificacy. Its climate,

too, is fine, and the prospect of scenery usually

noble.

In no other way can the modern history of

San Diego County be so thoroughly understood,

as by passing in review the relative phases of

development of "the back country," whose

sudden and rapid settling-up has been phenom-

enal, taking into consideration the fact that only

during the last few years may this section be

said to have had a history. Before that it was

all blank pages, and literally as well as figura-

tively untilled ground.

In going from San Diego to the interior, a

belt of the above mentioned mesa land, some

twelve miles wide, is traversed. Then it falls

off suddenly some 250 feet, into the broad, rich

valley called El Cajon, which is a part of the

old El Cajon Rancbo, the pioneer of the back

country to be opened to settlement, this having

occurred in 1869, when some few settlers went

up thither from San Diego. About the same

time the Julian mines were discovered, many
miners came in, and a little town was started.

Then some settlers took up certain of the little

fruitful valleys round about, and many took up

Government land adjacent to the large ranches,

or climbed up among the foothills, or even

higher. Some of these were impelled thither

by considerations of health and climate; some

by the restlessness which is a residuum in the

character of the ex-miner; some were seeking

enrichment in the goldeu stores laid up in the

bee hive. But, whoever, and whysoever, they

appeared so steadily and so constantly that the

back country more than kept pace with the city

in growth, so that from a few hundreds in 1868,

the American outside population in 1884 had

swelled to some 12,000, almost five times that
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of the city. A steady increase of growth con-

tinues, and the incoming elements are of the

classes most desirable for the tin.i building up

of the country.

EL CAJON VALLEY.

The largest and most beautiful valley in San

Diego County is the El Cajon, and, if not the

best, it is certainly equal to any. The total

area is about 20,000 acres, which is all or near-

ly all valley lands of the very best quality. It

is situated about fifteen miles east of San Diego.

The Cuyamaca Railroad, lately constructed,

passes through the entire valley from west to

east, four stations being established within its

limits.

El Cajon has become famous for its fine

raisins, and might have been equally famous

for its fine oranges, had not the orange industry

been abandoned by some of the earliest horti-

culturists for the raisin grape, all because the

young trees were injured the second winter

after being planted, by the unprecedented cold

wave that swept over the State in the winter of

1881-'82, and which proved so destructive to the

orange groves of Riverside and other localities,

now celebrated for their citrus fruits—trees sev-

eral inches in diameter being frozen to the

ground in some places. Not a few of the men

who planted quite extensively in the spring of

1879 were congratulating themselves on the

prospects of success, when the cold wave put a

stop to their enthusiasm. Had they continued

in their efforts to grow the orange, as did

the horticulturists of Riverside, equal success

would have been achieved. Instead, however,

the young trees were dug up and thrown away.

A few escaped this wholesale destruction, which

grew up neglected and are now, ten years after,

well loaded witli choice golden fruit. Tiie lack

of railroad transportation, doubtless, had some-

thing to do with the abandonment of orange

culture, as, at that time, the California Southern

was not completed to San Diego. It was

argued that the growing of fruits which could

not be placed on the Eastern market would not

pay. It was different with raisins. They

would keep and bear long transportation and

were profitable. El Cajon raisins were soon

discovered to be unsurpassed and acquired a

reputation which they have well maintained

against all competition. The growing of or-

anges in the valley did not, however, stop.

The valley contains a large area of splendid

orange land along the slopes of the hills encir-

cling it—a strip, in brief, twenty miles in length

by an average width of a half mile—land that

lies above the frost line and below the flume,

hence admirably adapted for irrigation, and

orange culture, and which can be purchased at

prices ranging from $50 to $150 per acre.

El Cajon Rancho was opened to settlement in

1869, and some few settlers from San Diego

located there and took up bee-keeping and farm-

ing, the latter mostly in the line of wheat-

raising, which has continued the chief industry

of El Cajon until very recently.

The Cajon Rancho has a total area of 57,000

acres. The valley is in the hands of two land

companies, controlling some 15,000 acres of

valley land, and about as much more mesa and

hill land, especially adapted to vine-growing.

The soil here, ranging from bright red to choco-

late color, is a red marl, containing calcareous

matter, and it is composed of a succession of

deposits of sea water. It has been shown that

soil taken from the bottoms of wells here pro-

duces richer vegetable growth than the top soil,

proving that roots which strike down for water

have more than sufficient nourishment. The

water 6upply is abundant, whether from wells

five to twenty-live feet deep, which can be suc-

cessfully sunk in any part of the valley, from

the river, or from the aqueduct of the San

Diego Flume Company. This is a magnificent

enterprise that consumed nearly three years'

time in its construction and $1,500,000, and

has brought pure mountain water in abundance.

This great flume, which is planned to carry

5,000 inches of water when completed, forms a

semi-circle at the upper edge of the orange land

mentioned, on the east side of the valley, just
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where it should he to irrigate the groves and

vineyards. A sufficient quantity is now running

down its forty miles of length to irrigate the

20,000 acres contained in the valley, on the

hasis of one inch to twenty acres. It was com-

pleted only a year ago, and little has heen done

as yet to utilize the water for irrigation, but

enough to demonstrate its great future value.

The subject of forming an irrigation district is

now heiDg agitated.

Eesides the orange, the lemon and the grape,

there are successfully growing in El Cajon val-

ley tbe iollowing kinds of citrus and deciduous

fruits, viz.: the lime, citron, guava, apple, apri-

cot, pear, peach, prune, plum, persimmon,

pomegranate, quince, fig, olive, English walnut,

almond, pecan, mulberry; and in small fruits,

the strawberry, blackberry, raspberry—a list

that might indeed be extended, but surely long

enough and good enough is it to satisfy any

one; a list, too, indicating the wonderful adapt-

ability of soil and climate to grow the fruits of

all latitudes in one locijlity.

But the principal feature of El Cajon valley

is the raisin industry. There are over 3,000

acres planted to the Muscat or raisin grape. A
number of the vineyards are young and some

are not even in bearing, yet the yield last sea-

son, packed and marketed, was nearly sixty car-

loads. The raisins were shipped to the Eastern

cities mostly, and brought the highest prices.

Those of the Boston ranch— a ranch containing

500 acres of vineyard—were shipped to Boston,

of course, and the parties who handled them

wrote the general manager that they opened up

fine and uniform, and were equal to those of the

oldest packers of Fresno. The parties who did

the principal packing in the valley have testi-

mony as to the quality of raisins shipped by

them respectively, to the principal Eastern

cities, of like purport. In fact, they were pro-

nounced equal to the best Spanish goods. El

Cajon raisins are certainly all right.

Another profitable crop is the hay crop.

Many hundreds of acres are annually sown to

wheat, barley and oats for that purpose, and the

yield is sometimes prodigious. One gentleman

cut last year four tons of oat hay, Texas Red

variety, from a single acre, and the year pre-

vious four and one-half tons per acre of wheat

hay. The land was fertilized but not irrigated.

The average for the valley is about one and a

half tons. The entire crop secured last year

was over 3,000 tons. The hills at this time are

covered with a luxuriant growth of wild oats,

valuable for pasturage as well as beautiful to

the eye. In May and June many tons of fine

hay will be made from it.

To show the rapid rate at which improvements

are progressing, it is worth while to mention

some of the newer establishments of the valley,

ignoring the older, and locally better known

places, such as those of Major Levi Chase, the

late George A. Cowles, Mrs. Hill, J. M. Asher

and others, and regarding only S. M. Marshall,

one of the proprietors of the big 800-acre vine-

yard, who planted last season 3,000 orange and

lemon trees, some of which have made between

live and six feet growth. Besides at his ranch,

he has also at his home in another part of the

valley, a lovely place. To show the extent of

his planting it may be stated that he took a

large fruit catalogue and ordered from it every

variety of fruit and ornamental trees and shrubs,

that he might prove what is best adapted to the

locality, as well as most beautiful. Mr. Marshall

commenced his improvements only last Feb-

ruary, and has expended a great deal of money

upon them. It is really incredible that so much
can be done in so short a time. He has built

an elegant residence that cost at least $10,000,

besides a large barn and other valuable build-

ings. The house stands upon high, sloping

ground from which a fine view of valley and

mountain is obtained. A beautiful lawn con-

taining choice shrubbery is kept fresh and green

by water from the flume, located on the heignts

just above, when needed. Mr. Marshall knows

the value of water, and will use it extensively

for irrigation. His orange grove embraces all

the varieties, and is not only the making of one

of the finest but largest in the State, as it is his
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intention to enlarge it from year to year. In

addition to orchard planting lie is engaged in

the nursery business on quite an extensive scale.

He already has 50,000 young orange and lemon

trees and some 20,000 olive trees, besides other

kinds. Mr. Marshall is an enthusiastic horticul-

turist and is having fine success. Upon a knoll

commanding a magnificent view stands the ele-

gant residence, which cost $10,000, of Mr. J. T.

Gordon, surrounded with a lawn dotted with

roses and choice shrubbery. Upon the upper

slope of the land lies the orange groves—over

1,200 trees of budded varieties, and nearly 1,000

sweet seedlings, over 2,000 trees now in the

second year, which have made marvelous growth

and are quite full of beautiful fruit.

Au orchard of 3,100 trees of deciduous fruits

of every variety grown in the valley is located

upon the lower land, Many kinds are already

in bearing. This splendid orchard embraces

500 Bartlett pears, 500 soft-shelled English

walnuts, 500 olives, 400 prunes and 500 peaches.

Mr. Gordon has also 1,000 guavas in bearing and

125 acres of vineyard, mostly in bearing.

A substantial stone reservoir, capacity 130,000

gallons, stands high upon the hills, close by the

flume, from which it is supplied with water.

Pipes conduct the same to all parts of the

grounds, and to the house where eighty perma-

nent sprays are used to irrigate the lawn and

trees around it. The whole place is so well

cared for that it looks to be four instead of two

years old.

There are many other places worthy of special

description, but the space allotted will not per-

mit of more than a brief mention. Mr. W. II.

Ferry, who owns more than 1,000 acres of rich

valley land near Lakeside, on the north side of

the San Diego river, has planted within the last

two years very largely of fruit and ornamental

trees, among which are 1,200 fig-trees now be-

ginning to bear. He has a fine place. Mr.

Barrett also has a valuable ranch containing a

large bearing vineyard and an orchard of many
kinds of choice fruits. He will use steam ap-

paratus for pumping water for irrigation, having

recently purchased an engine for that purpose

while on a visit East. Mr. William Peel's

large ranch in the central part of the valley

shows good management as well as fine artistic

taste in landscape gardening. It is one of the

newest but most promising places. The ranches

of Judge Richards and Dr. Gray, lying imme-

diately opposite each other, in the upper part

of the valley, attract much attention. That of

Judge Richards contains over 200 acres, all in

a high state of cultivation. Dr. Gray's resi-

dence and grounds are very handsome and the

place, is in every way a lovely one. In the

lower or western end of the valley are also some

fine places. The Fanita ranch of 10,000 acres,

owned by H. P. McCoon, is mostly devoted to

cattle raising, but a good many acres near the

extensive buildings on the place are planted to

fruit and ornamental trees and vines. It is aprof-

itable stock ranch. Dr. S. Worcester, Mr. Mason

and others in that part of the valley have excellent

fruit ranches; the orange trees of the latter are

as fine as any and of choice varieties. A monu-

ment of the past stands in this end of the valley

—the old Mission dam—built more than a hun-

dred years ago. Its masonry is still of the most

substantial character and a large part of it has

withstood the floods of the years gone by, stand-

ing to this day as built by the Mission Fathers.

THE VILLAGE OF EL CAJON,

Where the business of the valley is mostly done,

contains one general store, and one combined

drug and grocery store, postoffice, blacksmith

and wagon shops, one church edifice (Presbyte-

rian), Rev. H. I. Stern, pastor; a free reading

room, under the auspices of the King's Daugh-

ters, two good hotels, a barber shop, livery

stable, a meat market, a shoe shop and a number

of private residences.

EL CAJON HEIGHTS,

The railroad station, three-quarters of a mile

distant from El Cajon, was commenced on the

completion of the Cuyamaca Railroad, only last

spring It contains about one dozen 1
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hotel building, now under construction, the

laixre packing-house of the El Cajou Vineyard

Company, and a lumber yard. A neat depot

building was erected a few months ago and a

telegraph office established.

At the extreme east end of the valley is the

present terminus of the railroad. It has a splen-

did $50,000 hotel, which is well managed, and

which has its own gas plant and several quite

metropolitan features, with a lovely little pool,

called Linda Lake, close by, two general stores,

postoffice, blacksmith shop, lumber yard and

livery stable. There are but few residences at

Lakeside, but the situation is most beautiful

and when times become better is sure to attract

attention and improve rapidly. The other

stations on the road, Hawley and Cowles, are at

present flag stations merely. El Cajon valley

has a bright future. As already stated, this has

long been the largest wheat-producing valley in

the county, owing to the exceptionally tine

crops yielded in good years and its accessibility

to market and export. Even in dry years, it

is now thought, the occasional failure of the

wheat crop could have been averted by thorough

plowing and cultivation, in place of the super-

ficial treatment then given. Experience has

proved, however, that more profitable than

wheat here is fruit and raisin growing.

This region is shut in, girdled in, as it were,

by high, rugged hills, which do not indicate

that there is much of interest beyond them.

Yet in all directions among the hills there are

valleys and mesas, or soft slopes that lead up to

other hills yet higher. For instance, six miles

beyond El Cajon, and 1,200 feet higher, or

1,600 feet above the sea, a winding mountain

road reaches the old Spanish grant of

SANTA MARIA.

This valley, some thirty miles northeast of

San Diego, has a population of over 500. The
postoffice of the section is " Nuero." This val-

ley contains some 15,000 acres of fine plain and

slope with hills smooth and rolling and hills

high, sharp, and rocky. The inhabitants are

widely scattered over this superior farming

country. In 1886^ a tract of several thousand

acres of this grant was purchased by capitalists,

who laid off the site of Ramona, now a thriving

colony, with extensive improvements, including

an edifice for a branch of the University of

Southern California, a hotel, etc.

Vineyards and orchards are now being exten-

sively planted in this valley. As yet, sheep

and stock raising are still strong interests. The

grain crop never fails. In the driest year the

county has ever known, $22,000 worth of

wheat was harvested from 1,500 acres in this

valley. Sugar-cane is planted for feed for stock,

and is found to be the most profitable that can

be grown for cows and other stock. The water

supply is abundant for all purposes. Land here

sells for $10 to $75 per acre.

VALLE DE LAS VIEJAS.

This valley, whose postoffice is "Viejas," ad-

joins El Cajon on the northeast, and is con-

sidered one of the county's best grain-growing

sections. It is about thirty-five miles east of

San Diego. The population is about 300. Bee-

keeping is a prominent interest. Horses, cattle,

and hogs are among the productions. The soil

and climate are well adapted to vine and fruit

growing, but comparatively little has been done

in that direction, its development being of very

recent beginning. Lands bring $10 to $50 per

acre.

SAN VICENTE.

This rancho lies southeast of Santa Maria,

between that valley and las Viejas. It con-

tains some 4,000 acres of fine plow land, is a

fine tract, and susceptible of profitable develop-

ment. The character of the country here is

different from the lower levels, bearing more

timber, although the great groves of live oaks

that once abounded on these hills and slopes

have disappeared for the most part. There are

also numerous springs in the larger ravines, and

indications of a copious rainfall. And, indeed,
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this valley is in the second rain belt, where the

winter rains are always amply sufficient fur full

crops. The population is titty or sixty. The

chief interests are beekeeping and stock-raising.

Lands sell for $5 to $25 per acre.

This, the largest settlement in the mountain

region of San Diego County, was named from

an early settler, M. S. Julian, near whose 160-

acre claim of Government land gold quartz

mines were discovered in February, 1870, caus-

ing a rush to the district. Other discoveries

succeeded; a number of mines were opened up

and quartz mills erected; a town site was laid

out, and, with the ingress of a large population,

it was soon well built over. For several years,

much gold was taken out, and the community

prospered. New and very rich mines were

presently discovered in the San Felipe canon,

some three miles east of Julian, and there was

organized another mining district called Banner,

most of whose business has ever been trans-

acted at Julian. About the same time, about

eight miles southeast of Julian, was discovered

a third mine, called the Stonewall, which in

its turn gave its name to another mining dis-

trict. This mine, after yielding large returns

for a time, lay unworked for several years, and

about 1884 or 1885 it was again operated by a

company, who in turn sold it to Governor R.

W. Waterman, an experienced mining man who,

after working it in .a thorough manner and very

successfully, has just sold it for a large figure.

But a cloud arose and soon overshadowed the

fond hopes of the miner with only a prospect

and no capital. The Cuyamaca grant claimed

the land on which the mines were located, and

commenced suit for possession of the same.

This so disheartened the miners that when the

Arizona excitement broke out they left their

claims and a lawsuit for new fields, and in a very

short time only a few remained. Some of those

abandoned the mines and turned their attention

to stock-raising, with only the faithful few left

to fight the owners of the great Cuyamaca grant.

For five long years the faithful few stuck to the

mines and fought the grant, and they were suc-

cessful in the end. The mines produced the

coin to secure for their claimants a title. Since

that time this district has added to the wealth

of the nation $5,000,000 in gold, and to-day

her development is only in its infancy. Men of

business methods, with brains and capital, are

coming in, and the dawn of a new and pros-

perous era is here.

There are sixty-four mining locations in this

district, according to the Recorder's books, and

many of them are being prospected. A dozen

good mines are now working in the camp.

There are four quartz mills and a fifth now build-

ing. There are to-day 300 men working the

mines of this district. Several good sales have

been made lately, and more are under way;

$6,000,000 of St. Louis capital is headed this

way and the syndicate has already got a good

hold on some of the best mines in the district.

The sum of $200,000 has been expanded in

mining improvements this year in this district,

and next year will see a much larger develop-

ment than ever before.

But these are not the only mineral resources

of this section. A few miles east of Julian, and

on the line of the proposed railroad, is a deposit

of lime and cement, covering 100 acres of

ground. Here in time will be established an

immense plant for the manufacture of these

staple articles.

There are also at hand ledges of marble fifty

feet in width, and large quarries will be put in

operation as soon as transportation by rail can

be had.

Moreover, iron and copper ore of a good qual-

ity are known to exist, but in what quantity is

yet to be determined. These things and many

more are awaiting capital for development,

which will find its way up here as soon as the

Cuyamaca Railroad is completed, which will

carry them to a market.

Although most of the inhabitants had desert-

ed for the feverish excitement of mining the

original pursuit of farming, a few still kept to
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their farm-holdings and derived a good revenue

from the sale of supplies to the miners. And
when the mining interests declined, these ear

lier wise ones received heavy reinforcements,

stimulated by the example of their success, and

by attachment to their mountain homes. It was

tbe old story of early California experience over

again; they who came for gold remained for

grain, and found it the richer bonanza.

Great quantities of Government land were

tiled upon, and again immigration set toward

Julian, this time with staying purpose, as

evinced by the large and steadily increasing num-
ber of farms and orchards in that section, whose

interests of fruit and grain growing, stock-rais-

ing and bee-keeping far surpass those of the

three or four mines still working. Julian is

distant from San Diego forty-three and one-

third miles in direct line, and sixty miles by the

route; it may be reached in two ways, of which

I he longer, via El Cajon and Lakeside, is the

easier and more practicable. There is a steady

ascent from El Cajon, bringing the traveler to

an altitude of a little over 4,000 feet. The
country round about is partly plateau, with

long, rolling sweeps of hills, dropping down
by easy grades; partly mountain country so ab-

rupt as to fall nearly 1,000 feet in three miles.

On some of the mountain tops there is con.

siderable level land, where are raised many hogs

and cattle. The three peaks of the Cuyamaca
Mountain, the highest ot which readies 6,750

feet altitude, is a prominent landmark as far as

San Diego, and very striking, especially when
covered with snow in winter. The Julian coun-

try has many characteristics of the climate of

the Eastern States, with a much greater rain-

fall and winter snows, often quite heavy. The
water supply is abundant. The San Felipe is a

large stream, and constant, from which some of

the quartz mills took their power in past years.

At the southern end of the Cuyamacas rises the

San Diego river, joined here by four large trib-

utaries. A large laguna, lake or pond, has al-

ways existed in front of the Stonewall mine, at

5,350 feet altitude. Through the draining of

its outlet by the San Diego Flume Company,

this has become a lake nearly three miles long,

and one mile wide, on an average. Moreover,

the whole section abounds in living springs and

small streams. The mountains still contain

considerable qaantities of oak and pine timber,

but the furnaces of the quartz mills have made

great inroads on the former forests.

Grapes and deciduous fruits are here grown in

large quantities and of superlative flavor. The

apple and pear orchard of Chester Gunn is the

it in the county.

is on the desert side of the divide, and 1,500

feet lower than J ulian, although only four miles

away. It is a mining camp, and but few have

turned their attention to fruits, but enough has

been done by John liyan to give an idea of the

possibilities of the great San Felipe valley,

which is only a mile away. This valley con-

tains 10,000 acres, with water enough to irrigate

it all. No one can estimate the wealth it will

be made to produce as soon as a railroad shall

be built here.

Julian, Banner and Spencer have good school

-

houses. The population of Julian and its out-

lying dependencies is 2,500 to 3,000. These

settlements have telephone communication with

one another and with San Diego, with which

city they will soon have railroad communica-

tion. Julian has a postoth"ce and tri-weekly

mail service, a public hall,. and the necessary

complement of stores and shops. There is still

good Government laud in the mountains, al-

though it is being taken up with great rapidity.

Other than Government land can be had for $10

to $50 per acre, according to situation, quan-

tity, etc.

In this section there are such varieties of al-

titude as to affect very noticeably the wooding

of the region, which pretty well covers the 20,-

000 acres of tillable land hereabouts. There is

an oak much like the Eastern red oak, which

grows a t a height of 3,500 feet, and a new, a

mountain variety of the live oak, which resem-
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bles the Eastern white oak. An occasional pine

is here seen, and presently the " bull "-pines be-

come abundant, to give way to tall specimens

of the silver fir, the cedar, and regular pines

often six feet in diameter.

There are within a radius of fifteen miles,

taking Julian as the center, 16,000 head of

horses and cattle, and about 10,000 head of

sheep, which make their own living winter and

summer. The stock are of a good grade, many

of the cattle being milk stock.

The survey of the Cuyamaca Railroad runs

through the heart of this district, Santa Ysabel,

Warner's ranch and San Felipe, and when it is

completed San Diego city need not send out of

the county for her produce. In all the sub-

districts named above, except the last, no irri-

gating is required or practiced, although plenty

of water is at hand. Every kind of fruit and

other products are grown except citrus fruits.

But a few miles to the eastward the country

slopes suddenly to the Colorado desert, 5,000

feet below, a waste of sand, sterile, level, vast,

fiery and awful; a region so entirely different

from the rest of its political division, that its

classification therewith is purely formal, and

this is not taken into account at all in treating

of San Diego County proper.

THE CUYAMACA DISTRICT.

The Cuyamaca district comprises a series of

plateaus, rising gradually from the eastern

sides of Santa Maria and Escondido valleys, and

extending back into the mountains some twenty

miles, and attaining an altitude of from 2,500

to 4,400 feet, culminating at Julian and Mesa

Grande, the latter name meaning " big plateau."

The surrounding peaks of Palomar, Volcan

and the Cuyamaca mountains rise some 2,000

feet higher, and are densely covered with ever-

green forests of pine, cedar, iir and oak, aggre-

gating 50,000 acres of timber. Several of these

plateaus are nearly surrounded by neighboring

hills and are therefore called valleys. They

contain shady groves of California live-oak, and

lazy streams move peacefully along their path

to the sea. The ocean is from thirty to forty

miles away, and scores of miles of its silvery

surface ,'eral of its islands may

from many points on this slope. Some points

in Mexico are also visible, and, with a good glass,

the light-house on Point Loma.

With this general view of the climate and

scenery of the "backbone of the back country,"

let us take a cursory glance at each of the sub-

districts which form the Cuyamaca.

Located about thirty-five miles northeast of

San Diego, Ballena is a flourishing agricultural

settlement, on some of the best farming lands

in the county. The principal interests are

grain-growing (hay also being raised in abund-

ance), cattle-raising and bee-keeping.

The orange is found to do moderately well in

some of the most sheltered canons, while the

tig is one of the standard productions. The

raisin grape does exceedingly well, and the out-

put, though small as yet, is increasing each

year. No disease has ever appeared among the

vines. It has been but a few years that the

farmers have paid any attention to fruit-grow-

ing, but the excellence of their apples, pears,

peaches and plums has caused such a demand

for their fruits that they now have over 6,000

fruit-trees and 20,000 grape-vines growing.

The immediate Ballena valley contains, with

its slopes, some 2,000 acres, and it is the center

of a settlement over 6,000 acres. This tract

lies 2,500 feet above the sea. There is always

sufficient rainfall for the crops, which have

never failed since the first settlement. Land

prices are quoted at $15 to $50 per acre. The

population is some 400. There is a postofHce

with tri-weekly mail service, a public school-

house with two departments, a hotel, a church

and a blacksmith shop. There is room in this

valley for the settlement of fifty more families.

SAN JACINTO VALLEY.

Mountain region also, but in quite another

section than that of Julian, being in the ex-
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treme northern part of the county, and also in

its highest portion, is San Jacinto. The alti-

tude of the valley averages 1,400 feet above the

sea-level. This region resembles the mountain-

ous parts of Los Angeles and San Bernardino

counties, rather than the general corresponding

portion of San Diego.

It is some fifty miles from the sea coast, and

is consequently free from the dense fogs which

are so frequently blown inland. It is protected

by the high mountain wall on the east, and

northeast from the desert winds and sand

storms.

The extensive valley has a length, east and

west, of thirty miles, and a width of fifteen

miles. The main valley contains something

like 100,000 acres, while with its tributary val-

leys there are perhaps 300,000 acres of highly

fertile and easily tillable prairie land.

Until quite recently the sole occupants of this

vast territory were the Spanish and Mexican

shepherds, herders and the native Indians. Vast

tracts of land were granted by the Mexican

government to those who had served them in a

military capacity.

San Jacinto Viejo, for example, a tract of

some 36,000 acres, was granted to Senor Estu-

dillo. In making his selection Senor Estudillo

ran his lines in such a manner as to include the

choicest land, with abundant water privileges.

Many miles of the San Jacinto River are in-

cluded in the grant, as is the beautiful Diamond

valley. Angles were run out here and there to

include flowing springs.

This grant has been subdivided again and

again, and is now held by many owners. It in-

cludes the towns of San Jacinto, South San

Jacinto, Valle Vista and Hemet, all of which

have made a good start toward prosperous

growth. It includes the Fairview, Hemet,

Hemet-Estudillo, San Jacinto Land Asso-

ciation, Byrne and other tracts. Most of

these have been subdivided into farm lots of

ten, twenty and forty acres each. Many of these

are sold to individuals who have improved them

or intend to do so.

There is a large tract of this land in which

artesian flow of water is obtained at a depth of

from 50 to 2000 feet.

A branch of the Santa Fe penetrates this re-

gion, and has the reputation of being one of the

best paying pieces of road in the entire system.

At its terminus is

THE THRIVING TOWN OF SAN JACINTO,

situated in the artesian belt, surrounded by

natural groves of Cottonwood timber. The rap-

idly growing little town and its immediate en-

virons has a population of some 1,500, being

the second in size and importance in the coun-

ty, after National City. This is the old tract

of San Jacinto Viejo, of -which a number of

capitalists purchased 18,000 acres of land here,

and proceeded to lay out San Jacinto. The

town was incorporated April 9, 1888, compris-

ing sections 25, 26, 27, 34, 35 and 36, except

one-fourth of the two last named, which are in-

side the city limits, being called South San Jan-

cinto.

The town has a bank of $100,000 capital, a

$5,000 school-house, three good churches, with

another now building, three large storage ware-

houses, some twenty-five good two- story brick

buildings, with many of one-story. Here is

published the San Jacinto Register. Among
the professional men are three physicians and

two dentists. There are three large general

merchandise establishments, two grocery stores,

two drug stores, two each in the hardware and

the furniture line, two blacksmith shops, two

livery stables, two meat markets, two carriage

shops, four shoe stores or shops, three real

estate offices, one millinery store, one billiard

room, one harness shop and one bakery.

In South San Jacinto there are some 250

inhabitants. Here stands the old adobe build-

ing that first served San Jacinto as a hotel and

store, close by a large brick block of recent

construction, containing the present good mod-

ern hotel—a notable contrast between the old

and the new. There are here six religions con-

gregations and three Sunday-schools, a G. A. R.
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post, and a court, of the Independent Order of

Foresters.

The future of San Jacinto is assured through

its situation as the shipping point for a large

agricultural tract, having tributary some 200,-

000 acres of choice land adapted to grain cult-

ure and diversified fruit crops. The mountains

near by abound in timber for lumber and fuel

purposes, large forests of pine, hemlock, sugar-

pine and tamarack existing in the San Jacinto

and the Toemitch Mountains to the eastward,

where two saw-mills are kept busy sawing out

lumber the year round. These mountains also

contain a fine deposit of marble, and although

it has been used hitherto only for burning into

lime, of which it produces the finest quality, it

is admirably adapted for building purposes.

. While it is probable that a large proportion

of these immense plains will continue to be cul-

tivated as grain fields, yet many thousand acres

will in the near future be turned into the more

profitable fruit farms.

Already many orchards of deciduous fruits,

nuts, olives and vines are planted and are doing

well without irrigation, but they require, for

perfect development of the best fruit, some

irrigation.

Surface water is plentiful at a depth of seven

to thirty feet, and besides the eighty-three arte-

sian wells irrigating several thousand acres, one

alone yielding 1,500,000 gallons per diem, ex-

tensive irrigation enterprises are on foot, engi-

neered by two water companies. One proposes

to build at the mouth of a Hemet valley gorge,

at an elevation of 4,375 feet above the sea, a

granite dam seventy feet through at its founda-

tion. This structure, which is to cost $130,-

000 to $140,000, will create a lake three miles

long, covering 600 acres, with an average depth

of sixty-five feet, and containing the enormous

volume of 6,000,000,000 of gallons of water,

which will thence be conducted in twenty-two-

inch iron pipes to the tracts in question. Then

there is the San Jacinto Land, Flume and Irri-

gation Company, a stock company with $50,000

capital, which has been recently organized and is

constructing works for the purpose of supplying

water to thousands of acres of this mesa land.

Their base of operations is the "cienega " or

swamp, which begins at a point on the river

some four miles above San Jacinto. Here has

been located 5,000 miner's inches of water here-

tofore unappropriated. From time immemorial

the old Spanish settlers, during the seasons of

drouth, when the river for miles both above

and below was dry, at this "cienega" water al-

ways came to the surface, and there was no

time but thousands of head of stock could be

watered there. The wet place or "cienega " in

the river is about one-fourth mile in length and

extends entirely across the river, a distance of

some 800 feet wide. During the season of low-

est water, workmen were engaged. Mr. Griffin

engaged workmen to go into the river here and

with a pile driver drive a number of wells with

a view to ascertaining the cause of the water's

rise at this point, and also to find the character

of the bottom, if any. Some thirty wells were

driven down through the sand and gravel and a

fine solid clay bottom found at an average depth

of fourteen feet; immediately below this point

the clay drops off suddenly, and the water sinks

and is seen no more. To this cienega, with its

"upside-down river," a subterranean stream 800

feet wide, pouring over the hard pan of clay,

and so tilling the superincumbent stratum of

sand and gravel that water always lies on the

surface,—to this vast source of supply is to be

run a tunnel 1,584 feet long, whose end will

rest on the clay bottom, tifteen feet below the

surface, completely draining the great basin,

and diverting its flood into the flumes of the

company, for which to reach the mesa will be

required over 500,000 feet of lumber. There

is already completed one mile of ditching, and

the work is to be pushed with great vigor.

There are also in this vicinity numerous min-

eral springs, at one of which a bathing-house

has been erected.

VALLE VISTA

Is situated five miles southeast of San Jacinto.

It is the town of the Fairview tract, formerly
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known as Florida. It contains a fine three-

story brick hotel, costing $10,000 and con-

structed, so far as bricks, lime and lumber go,

entirely of the products of its own vicinity.

Valle Vista also contains a brick block in

which is located the postoffice and a general store.

Some twenty-five tasteful cottages are grouped

around these. The streets are beautifully laid

out, graded and ornamented with trees and

shrubbery. The grounds about the hotel are

especially beautiful with fiowers and semi-

tropical plants. At this writing, December 28,

roses are in bloom there.

The Fairview Land and Water Company

originally owned about 3,000 acres of laud,

upon which water was piped from San Jacinto

Kiver, twenty-five miles of pipe being laid at a

cost of $60,000, making this tract at the present

time the best watered land in the valley.

The land is subdivided into twenty and forty-

acre tracts. About one-half of these have been

6old. Many orange orchards have been set out,

and it has been demonstrated beyond a doubt

that oranges will do well here.

Among surroundings for which nature has

done so much lie the lands of the Hemet Land

Company. These comprise about 10.000 acres,

nearly level, with merely enough slope to favor

irrigation, a mesa or table-land, with an eleva-

tion of from 1,600 to 1,000 feet above the 6ea.

The soil is all that could be desired, as the

abundant native grasses indicate. There is ab-

solutely nothing grown in California which will

not flourish here. Alfalfa grows throughout

the winter, and with water seven crops a year

can be raised.

SANTA YSABEL.

Northeastward again, and still upward, among

hills and valleys, forty-five miles from San Die-

go, and 3,000 feet above the sea, lies the valley

of Santa Ysabel, the center of the rancho of

that name, which contains nearly 18,000 acres,

of which this central valley, with its slopes and

branches, comprises some 4,000 acres. A living

stream of considerable volume, the Santa Ysabel

creek, flows through the rancho the year round.

There are small streams in nearly every gulch,

and springs on every hand, with every indica-

tion of a heavy rainfall. The very best feed

years here are in the coast " bad " years. The

main valley and all the surrounding hills are

superlative stock range, and among the line of

timber on the rolling hills is rich range of

grass and wild oats. This rancho was lately

sold to Erackett & Co., Sonoma County farmers,

who have stocked it with fine young cattle, and

are carrying on an extensive dairy business,

their cheese and "gilt-edged" butter finding a

ready market.

The Santa Ysabel ranch lias three large

dairies on it, and milk 500 cows. This year

they have sold sixty tons of the best butter to

be found in the country. Here is the home of

Shiloh, the now celebrated sire, with an endless

progeny at his heels. He may be seen any day

within two miles of Julian, at the ranch of his

owner, James Madison.

Yet, although such might seem to be the

only industries, there are large portions of the

rancho, not needed for the dairy-farming enter-

prise, which are peculiarly adapted to fruit-

growing. This region is very beautiful as

landscape. On the banks of the stream already

cited an Indian village has existed for more

than a century. Its inhabitants have a Roman
Catholic chapel, and a school maintained by the

United States government.

MKSA liKAXDE.

A long grade winds steadily upward to the

section known as Mesa Grande, an extensive

range of mountain country, most of whose top

is level land, whence the name. This tract

comprises some 6,000 acres of splendid plow

land, on which are a number, steadily in-

creasing, of fine farms and orchards. This is

3,500 to 4,500 feet above the sea. The climate

and the appearance of the country here are very

much more akin to those of the eastern United

States than those even of Ballena, and entirely

dissimilar to the land thirty miles to the west-

ward. Here again are plenty of springs and



BISTORT OF SAN DIEGO COUNTY.

running brooks, and a scarcity of rain is un-

known. In fact, the land sometimes has to be

drained of the superabundant moisture, the

rainfall sometimes going above sixty-six inches,

the highest in the county. In 1877, the famous

"dry year" in this State, the rainfall here, at an

elevation of 3,500 feet, was twenty-four and a

half inches. Until very recently almost the

only interests were cattle and hog-raising and

bee-keeping; a good deal of choice butter, bacon

and lard are made on the mesa, finding ready

sale at Julian and in the surrounding country.

Of late this has been found to be a remarkably

fine fruit-growing section, the grape being suc-

cessfully grown, and the deciduous fruits ar-

riving very near horticultural perfection. The

cherries are of particularly choice quality. In

this section there is a very rich gold quartz

mine, the Shenandoah, from which large re-

turns have been extracted. Owing to certain

legal complications, this mine has of late been

lying idle, but work will no doubt be resumed

on it shortly.

Spencer valley contains about 1,000 acres of

first-class fruit land. There are now about

1,000 apple and other fruit trees in bearing,

and 3,000 more in orchard. All kinds of de-

ciduous fruits and berries do well here. The

almond and olive also do well. The valley is

already covered with marks of enterprise and

prosperity. A large nursery, postoffice, good

school, and homes for many are to be found

here.

TEMECOLA.

The Temecula country, so called from an In-

dian word meaning "the valley of joy," is sit

uated about the center of the northern half of

San Diego County. The Menifee mountains

bound it on the north, the Bladen hills on the

east, the Palomar range on the south, and the

Santa Rosa coast range on the west. This ter-

ritory contains more than 100 square miles of

valley and undulating plains. The general ele-

vation is about 1,000 feet. The drainage is by

the way of the Temecula canon, through the

Santa Margarita rancho, to the sea. The view

from any elevated situation hereabouts is grand,

the vast sweep of vision comprising the snow-

capped San Jacinto mountains, the timbered

belt of the Palomar, and the evergreen range of

the Santa Rosa hills, the only evergreen range

on the line of the California Southern Railway.

The Temecula rancho is divided into three sev-

eral tracts, known as the Little Temecula, the

Pujol, and the Murrietta portion.

Included in this district are the celebrated

Temecula Hot Sulphur Springs, whose tempera-

ture ranges from 120° to 160°. A fine bathing es-

tablishment has been erected at these springs, and

further extensive improvements are projected.

The settlement or business center called

Temecula is a railroad station on the California

Southern, seventy-live miles north of San Diego.

The population is about 600. There are two

hotels, postoffice with daily mail, a public school-

house, two stores, blacksmith and wagon shop,

and telegraph office. A large and important

section surrounds Temecula as a central point.

The Temecula Rancho is bounded westerly by

the high slopes of the Santa Rosa; it extends

from where the Santa Margarita river enters the

canon skirted by the railroad, some ten miles

along the line of that road. It contains about

10,000 acres of arable land, mostly red mesa or

granite alluvium, at from 1,100 to 1,500 feet

above the sea, twenty-five miles distant. Ad-

joining this is the Little Temecula, a small grant

of some 2,000 acres of plow land, with the same

general features. Water is to be had four to

twelve feet below the surface, and it is claimed

that farming lands require little or no irrigation,

the average annual rainfall being over eighteen

inches. Large tracts have been subdivided by

organized companies, a town site is laid out, and

extensive improvements are in hand. The soil

is adapted to a diversified agriculture; fruit and

vine growing will be largely undertaken in the

future. The present principal products are cat-

tle sheep, wool, grain and hay.

BEAR VALLEY.

This is a very productive section, about forty

miles north of San Diego. Its postoffice is
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"Valley Center." The population is about 1,000.

The district is ten miles long, eight wide, with

more than 15,000 acres under cultivation. This

comprises farming land as fine as any on the

Pacific coast, and crops have never failed here.

There is much mesa and sloping land, and the

average elevation is 1,500 feet. The rainfall here

is more than three times as heavy as on the

seacoast. Most kinds of fruits thrive here.

The productions are hogs, fine stock, bacon,

grain and honey. The central settlement con-

tains a brick church, a school-house, store, San

Diego Central Railway, blacksmith shop, etc.

Southeast of Bear valley is situated the Gue-

jito Eancho, a fine tract some thirty-five miles

from the sea, and about 2,200 feet above it, and

comprising rolling mesa and valley land, whose

soil is red granite. This tract comprises some

13,000 acres, recently sold to San Diego capi-

talists. Lands in the Bear valley section sell for

$15 to $50 the acre, the variations depending

upon the usual causes.

This is the location of one of the old auxil-

iary missions. It is situated in the upper San

Luis valley, some seventeen miles from the

coast, and about fifty miles north of San Diego.

There is still a large Indian settlement here,

and the Indians still keep many of the oldtime

feasts, with many picturesque and curious ob-

servances. The old mission church still stands,

and in it are still held the services of the

Roman Catholic faith. Moreover, good crops

are still yielded by the olive trees planted eighty

years ago by the Franciscan fathers. The pop-

ulation is about 600. There is a mail route,

having tri-weekly mail service, to Teme'cula,

where connection is made with the California

Southern Railway. This is the center of a veiy

rich section whose rainfall is abundant, and the

water supply unfailing. There is here a very large

area of some of the finest vine and fruit lands in

Southern California. The Agua Tibia (tepid

water) orchard, so named from a tine and cele-

brated warm sulphur spring on the estate near

the farm house, is the most extensive in the

county. Its former owner was Major Lee H.

Utt, who sold it to a company of Eastern capi-

talists, who have purchased much land here-

abouts for colony purposes. All the finest

varieties of the grape grow here, as well as nuts,

and fruits citrus and deciduous. Frost has never

been known here, and the climate and soil are

especially adapted to the production of the

choicest grade of orange. Alfalfa is very suc-

cessfullj grown, and there is a great deal of

fine stock raised. Bee-keeping is also a strong

industry, Pala boasting extensive apiaries. The

lands here bring $10 to $75 per acre, subject to

the usual qualifications.

FALL BKOOK.

The settlement known as the Fall Brook

country is on mesa land south of the river San

Luis Rey, and beyond the line of the rancho

Santa Margarita. It is some twelve miles from

the sea, on the western slope of the Coast

Range mountains. The average of level is 800 feet

above the sea, and some 400 feet above the line of

the California Southern Railway, from which.it

is out of sight, being so much higher, and a mile

or two distant. This section comprises some-

thing like 100 square miles, extending from

eight to ten miles east and west, and from ten

to twelve miles north and south, this limit em-

bracing about 75,000 acres of the very best qual-

ity of land, entirely adapted to the growth of

grain, fruit, and vegetables. Topographically,

the district consists of a succession of hills,

valleys, and gently undulating plateaus, free

from rock or stone, and susceptible of the high-

est cultivation. The soil is of granite formation,

a dark loam in the valleys, red or chocolate on

the slopes and hills. Water is to be had in

abundance from surface wells 4 to 100 feet

deep. Its quality is soft and tine. Soon after

passing Fall Brook, the line of the California

Southern plunges into the famous Temecula

canon, with its highly picturesque scenery and

its remarkably skillful feats of railroad engi-

neering. This canon, from the extreme near
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Fall Brook to the Temecula end is fourteen

miles long. The most important settlement in

this community is the nucleus also called Fall

Brook, a thriving center of some 600 population.

It has a postoffice with daily mail, a Methodist

and a Baptist church, costing respectively

$3,000 and $5,000, a good public school-house

with two departments, two large hotels, of

which the Frances Willard cost some $20,000;

a newspaper, a steam grist-mill, a lumberyard,

livery-stable, five stores, a millinery and a jew-

eler's shop, a watch-mender, blacksmith and

wagon shop, and a barber shop. A cannery is

to be built very shortly. During the past season,

5,159 acres were planted to grain; 627 acres,

largely planted during the past year, are set to

fruits. There are over 8,000 orange and lemon

trees, and about 9,000 olive trees; many hun-

dreds of acres are to be set to olives during the

coming seaeon. The largest bearing olive or-

chard at Fall Brook yielded its owners at the

rate of $500 per acre last year, the trees therein

being nine years old. There are in this section

nearly 65,000 grape vines, most of which are

too young to bear a full crop, many being still

too young to bear at all, although there has

been some raisin packing done for two seasons

past. The most promising industries seem to

be lemon and olive culture. Land can be

bought here at from $10 to $100 per acre, much
of that sold at the latter price being in a con-

dition of substantial improvement, and con-

venient to town and railroad facilities.

This tract takes its name from Colonel J. J.

Warner, the picturesque and well-known pio-

neer of Los Angeles, who owned it under the

Mexican rule, and back to about 1836. This

was the scene of a savage attack by Indians,

wherein nine men were killed, November 21,

1851. It embraces the two Mexican grants of

San Jose del Valle, and Valle de San Jose, com-

prising in all some 26,600 acres. It has been

for some years in the possession of ex-Governor

John G. Downey, and is now in litigation. This

rancho is well watered, having springs in the

mountains, small springs flowing through the

valley, and numerous lagunas, or ponds, large

and small, which attract game in large quanti-

ties. The altitude of the valley is about 3,000

feet, and snow falls occasionally in winter.

Good farming land is abundant, but there is

little tilling of the soil, the rancho being almost

exclusively devoted to cattle and sheep-raising.

The annual wool-clip of Warner's ranch is larger

than that of any other single section of the

county.

The voting precinct of this extensive valley

is called Agua Caliente, the township having a

population of about 100, and being named from

the celebrated hot sulphur springs on the

rancho, about sixty miles distant from San

Diego. The remarkable curative properties of

these springs were current in the most remote

traditions of the Indians, and the white men
have resorted to them ever since the settlement

of the country. The springs rise along the

edge of a little stream of pure cold water, whose

source is in the Agua Caliente mountains. The

temperature varies at different points, but the

hottest of the springs ranges from 120° to 124°

F., being hotter in the earlier part of the day,

and cooling somewhat in the afternoon. The

water is used for both drinking and bathing,

being very soft and particularly effective and

luxurious for the latter purpose. Physicians

and analysts who have investigated the proper-

ties of these springs, and their effect in special

cases, regard them as of extreme potency and

value. The water possesses powerful alterative

qualities, and they are very beneficial in chronic

rheumatic diseases, in certain forms of kidney

diseases, and in some cases of dyspepsia. These

hot springs are in the possession of a commun-

ity of Mission Indians, whose village has stood

upon that site from time immemorial. They

have built along the stream side small bathing

houses, rude but cleanly kept, to whose tubs

the hot spring water is led by small wooden

flumes. They have also small adobe houses to

let to parties desiring to protract their stay.
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Agua Caliente is a favorite spot of resort for

summer campers, on account of the springs,

and the picturesque surrounding mountain

scenery. For a number of years the Govern-

ment has maintained here a Government school,

under the constant charge of Miss Flora Walsh,

whose success with her pupils has been re-

markable.

At the eastern outlet of the valley is the pass

known as "Warner's Pass," through the moun-

tains to the Colorado desert. It has been men-

tioned, in several reports of surveys for trans-

continental railways, as a feasible pass for the

entrance into California of an overland rail-

road; and it will probably be used ere long for

that purpose.

OAK GROVE.

Continuing westward from Warner's Ranch

fifteen miles is encountered Oak Grove, a sta

tion between Temecula and Julian. This is a

voting precint with about fifty in population.

This is a fine farming and stock-raising country,

and, like a great part of the Palomar country,

it is Government land, occupied under the

homestead and pre-emption laws.

This is another voting precinct, six miles

west of Oak Grove, also having a population of

perhaps fifty. There are good farming locations

also in this section, which, like the preceding,

with proper facilities for transportation may

become of considerable importance. The present

industry is the raising of cattle, sheep and

hogs.

THE PALOMAR.

This, the "pigeon nest" or "dove cote," is

thus named from the immense flocks of wild

pigeons formerly found in the range. They are

still to be seen on and near its summit, but

they are rapidly diminishing in numbers. The

whole range is also sometimes called, like the

postoffice and voting precinct, " Smith's Moun-

tain," from a rancher of that name who was

murdered some years ago in his cabin on the

mountain. This mountain's long, high back

runs away to Temecula, and forms the eastern

wall of the upper San Luis valley. It is one of

the most conspicuous ranges in the county,

rising to an altitude of 5,800 feet above the sea

level, and extending from Warner's ranch to

the Temecula valley, its trend being northwest

and southeast. At its southeastern end the San

Luis Rey river flows from its sources on War-

ner's ranch, and the Santa Ysabel flows through

a narrow gorge between its base and that of the

northern end of the Mesa Grande, the river

being swelled as it runs toward the s-ea by the

many creeks and small streams that flow into

it from the western slope of the mountain. Its

top and sides bear a great deal of timber, con-

sisting of pine and oak, silver fir and cedar.

On its summit there is a great deal of level

farming land, and large openings of rich meadow

land among its beautiful groves; while numer-

ous small, fertile valleys, all well watered, are

found on its sides, but chiefly on the western

slope, descending to the San Luis Rey river.

It is well watered, abounding in living springs

and small streams of pure, cold water. While

the summit is subject to heavy snow-falls in

winter, there is a belt lying along the western

slope where frost is almost unknown, and which

is peculiarly well adapted to the growth of the

olive, the vine and the citrus fruits, and more-

over most of the deciduous fruits and the vege-

tables. This belt includes the Agua Tibia,

whose oranges are excelled by no others; the

Cuca, a Mexican grant about 2,500 feet above

the sea level, containing only some 600 or 800

acres of arable land, which is, however, of very

superior quality; and in this belt lies also Pau-

ma, which is about 1,500 feet above the level of

the sea, from which it is some twenty-four miles

distant. This is an old Mexican grant. It is

now the property of the Roman Catholic bishop

of southern California, from whom Mrs. Helen

Hunt Jackson, acting in her capacity of Indian

Commissioner, tried to purchase it for the bene-

fit of a remnant of the tribes of the Mission In-

dians. An Indian village stands on the banks

of that tributary of the San Luis Rey river
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called the Paunia creek, whose waters the In-

dians use for irrigating purposes. The land is

admirably adapted for fruit and vine growing.

The Pauma creek is a large stream, and a con-

stant one. This is one of the finest and best-

watered ranchos in the valley.

Twenty-two miles northeast from San Diego

and twelve miles from the Pacific Ocean, shel-

tered from the sea winds and banked round

against the inflow of the frosty air currents de-

scending seaward from the high interior alti-

tudes, lies Poway valley. In the old mission

records it is alluded to as " Paguay," and known

as a resort of the herds of the padres. This

title also appears in documents of the depart-

mental government at Monterey. Being an In-

dian name, it obviously existed only as a sound

prior to the Spanish occupation, when it must

have been given its first written expression.

The early pages of the present county records

afford curious illustration of how assessors and

other county officials, ignoring the Spanish or-

thography, had recourse to various spellings to

indicate the recognized pronunciation, among
which the present form of "Poway" has finally

been adopted by general usage.

Signifying the " meeting of the valleys," the

name, like most of aboriginal derivations, is

peculiarly appropriate. A cluster of valleys, as

a rule a little exceeding one-half mile in width,

opens upon a central expanse of about a mile

square. These valleys are concealed one from

another by the direction of those intruding

headlands which alone prevent their union in

one extended plain.

The neighborhood embraces about 60,000

acres of line tillable land, having an average

elevation of 500 feet, above which the immedi-

ate surrounding elevations mostly rise 300 feet

higher. Added to this may be estimated at

least an equal extent of land adapted to pas-

turage.

Only a fortunate combination of circum-

stances prevented Poway being caught in tha

strangling loop of a Mexican grant, which, like

a lariat, was thrown about and held in relent-

less bondage nearly every considerable tract of

tillable land in San Diego County. Remaining

a part of the Government domain, the valley

was occupied as a stock range by Philip Cross-

waithe in 1858, and by his successors confined

to this use for the following ten years, when

other settlers began to gather in and dispute the

supremacy of hoof and horn. The turbulence

which followed is a part of the traditional his-

tory of the county, but it subsided with the

drifting out of the contentious element and the

succession of families of intelligent, home and

order-loving people. The predomination of this

latter class in the present population of about

400 persons seldom fails to impress the careful

observer, and has exerted a marked influence in

the general social, moral and educational de-

velopment so much resembling that of the best

Eastern communities. It is a valley without a

saloon, but with a Good Templars' organization

of over fifty members, which has maintained its

weekly meetings without omission, except from

stress of weather, during its entire existence of

over eleven years, and built itself a commodious

lodge hall at a cost of some $800, which, with

the complete finishing, will soon be increased

to $1,000. Three church societies, Methodist

Episcopal, Congregational and Baptist, with

resident pastors, sustain regular services and

secure an attendance of over one-third the peo-

ple residingwithin the area of convenient access.

The Methodist Episcopal Church, costing $2,-

500, is noticeable as one of the most tasteful

structures in the county's settlements. An ex-

cellent school, whose numbers will soon require

graded departments, is well maintained.

In material advancement Poway is not merely

a land of promise. A large area of muscat vine-

yards contribute their quota of raisins to the

output of California, of a quality commanding

the highest market rates in San Francisco and

winning the first premiums in the recent coun-

ty fair at Escondido. Her peach orchards

have acquired a reputation for the superiority
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of their products, which affords their owners

a ready password and profitable exit to and

from the fruit stores and households of San

Diego. Over 2,000 olive trees are in orchard

and a large extent of miscellaneous fruits dis-

tributed over the entire known range, except

cherries, currants and gooseberries, whose suc-

cessful culture is confined to interior regions of

higher altitude. The wine interest has no com-

mercial representation here. The nursery busi-

ness for some years established at this point

is of importance and rapidly growing. The

demand for the home-grown stock of the Poway

valley nurseries has kept fully abreast of the

ability of its proprietors to increase. Recent

arrangements for its ample further extension

will greatly augment its future stock. It is

intended to make this nursery the main source

of supply for the coming planting of the large

surrounding country so readily accessible by the

roads radiating from this natural trade center.

Nearly the entire area of Poway is excel-

lently suited to the production of oranges and

lemons, and some favored nooks, as notably

the Havermale place, are so nearly frostless as

to allow the cultivation of the more tender

lime. Its soil closely resembles that of Red-

lands in San Bernardino County, while its min-

imum temperature in periods of greatest cold,

is shown to be two degrees higher than that of

Riverside at the same dates. The absence of

irrigating and railroad facilities chiefly accounts

for the limited planting of citrus fruits now ap-

parent but it has been of sufficient extent and

duration to prove the flattering possibilities of

the future. Present prospects warrant confi-

dence that these possibilities will soon receive

a stimulus which will result in their assuming

the tangible form of accomplished facts. Situ-

ated upon the announced routes of both Pamo

and the San Luis Rey water companies in their

approach to the extensive table lands of the ex-

Mission and to San Diego, Poway may be con-

gratulated upon its prospect of an early and

abundant water supply under the most favor-

able conditions.

With its average annual rainfall of nearly

fifteen inches and copious wells of excellent

water at easy depth, it is less dependent upon

such facilities than many other localities, yet

its residents are not indifferent to the advant-

ages of a liberal resource of this character at

ready command, and important plans are already

matured awaiting its possession.

Surveys of both the California Central and

Southern Pacific railroads extend through this

place, and it is on the projected route of the

Poway, Elsinore & San Diego Railroad. Early

transportation facilities, however, are more

promisingly foreshadowed in the survey now

being made via Poway to Escondido in the in-

terest of the Pacific Beach Railroad and in the

application of Governor Murray for terminal

facilities in San Diego for a proposed line whose

preferred route is indicated by his previous at-

tempt to purchase the Pacific Beach Railroad.

Should this result in the not improbable con-

nection with the Utah coal fields, the ability to

procure cheap fuel may be looked upon as likely

to lead to theestablishmentof smelting works at

this point for the reduction of the deposit of fine

iron ore known to exist on the edgeof the valley.

In common with many other localities

Poway developed a town site during the ex-

citement of the now much disparaged boom.

But, unlike many other such attempts, this one,

known as Piermont, answers a natural demand

and has demonstrated its natural right to an

existence and a name, by its concentration and

control of the business facilities of the com-

munity in whose geographical center it is

located. Telephone and postofiice with mail by

daily stage lines between San Diego and Escon-

dido afford ready communication with the out-

side world. A general and drug store, large and

well equipped hotel, the Terrace, of admirable

location, public hall, livery stable and blacksmith

shop, furnish customary conveniences

WINCHESTER.

On September 27, 1886, the ground was

surveyed for a town site at the only station
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on the Santa Fe line between Perris and

San Jacinto, from which towns it its almost

equidistant. This is Winchester, lying in

Pleasant valley, and it was first known under

the name of Rock House, from an old building

near by. The present town contains some 200

inhabitants, industrious, intelligent, and godly

citizens. As the name of the valley would in-

dicate, this is a desirable locality for a town.

Winchester is a shipping point for wheat and

barley; 200,000 sacks of grain were shipped

thence during 1889. There is a nice church

building, and the fund is voted for building a

school-house. A fine brick business block has

just been finished, and the town boasts two

warehouses. There is also a hotel, a store, a

blacksmith shop, a tin shop, a feed stable, and

a wagon shop. Two physicians are among the

residents. Good water is found in abundance

twelve to sixteen feet below the surface.

This little town, on the line of the California

Southern, is ten miles west of Winchester. It is

a railway station, with postoffice, daily mail, two

stores, blacksmith and wagon shop, and a pho-

tograph gallery, to a population of some 400.

There is a good public school, and a fine, re-

cently-erected school-house, which cost $1,800.

Farther west on the California Southern is

A promising new town, sixteen miles south-

east of Riverside, and about the same distance

from San Jacinto, almost west, which was

first settled in 1882, and soon began to pros-

per. In 1883 the California Southern Railroad

was completed past this point, and in 1888 the

San Jacinto Branch Railway. The altitude is

1,300 feet. Perris valley is some twenty miles

long, by five to seven miles wide; this is an al-

most level valley, with abundant water to be

had by boring five to forty feet. It is highly

arable, and yields heavily wheat and barley.

The lower end of the valley is called Menifee;

and Spring and Pleasant and several other large

valleys extend south and southeastward. To the

westward are several good gold mines, includ-

ing the Good Hope, the Virginia, and several

other deposits of mineral wealth, $175,000

having been taken from the Good Hope by a

former owner. Perris proper contains only some

250 inhabitants, but the district i6 thickly set-

tled with an agricultural population; some of

these farmers plow furrows a mile and a quarter

long, on the tracts they obtained from the Gov-

ernment less than seven years since, and there

is a notable general disposition to beautify

their homes by planting about them pretty

gardens; and this may safely be called a refined

and intelligent community. The town has a

fine, large, brick school- house, two good church

buildings, two hotels, a very large general sup-

ply store, a good grocery and provision store, a

hardware store, and a good physician, a drug-

store, two milling establishments, two black-

smith shops, two livery and feed stables, a meat

market, and a saloon. The owners of the large

steam barley rolling-mill are considered the

heaviest buyers and shippers of grain in San

Diego County. There are also a brickyard and

lumber and stockyard, and two large warehouses.

Running jet farther southward on the branch

line toward Oceanside, after Jl.lSSllli Canon Sid-

ing some miles, is found the remarkable little

town of

MUKEIETTA.

The Murrietta portion of the Temecula Ran-

cho contains about 15,000 acres, some 14,000

of which were purchased from J. Murrietta by

a corporation known as the Temecula Land &
Water Company. Of this tract, about 5,000

acres consists of valley land, about 6,000 acres

of mesa or plateau land, and abont 4,000 acres

of mountain or high land. The company pro-

ceeded to subdivide their tract, and placed it on

the market during the autumn of 1884. This

section is twenty miles from the coast, seventy-

five miles from San Diego and ninety miles

from Los Angeles. The California Southern

Railway had been completed since 1881, but

its trains passed through the valley without
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stopping, until the town site of Murrietta was

laid out. Lands were sold readily, and the fu-

ture of the town was soon firmly established.

The town site was named after its former owner,

J. Murrietta, who had resided upon the land

since 1875. Its elevation is 1,090 feet. Its

good water, cheap fuel, fine soil, and healthful

climate make it a model colony.

The present water supply in the Murrietta

valley is obtained from surface wells, five to

twenty feet deep. The water is absolutely free

from impurities, and is sufficient in quantity

for all present practical purposes. If at any

future time a greater supply should be required

a great abundance of pure mountain water can

be obtained from the Santa Rosa mountains,

just west, bordering the valley, whence it can

be brought at a nominal cost through a system

of reservoirs in the foothills, and piped down

to every garden, grove, lawn and fountain in

the valley, and that with a power sufficient to

raise it to the housetops. Hot water also can

be piped from the celebrated Temecula Hot

Springs, three and a half miles distant, to every

house in the lower valley. Artesian water can

be obtained, if desired, at a depth of 200 to

300 feet; one artesian well in the town site,

sunk to the depth of 152 feet, furnishes a lim-

ited supply of pure, good water; but as the

water has never been needed, no others have

been put down. The rainfall for the past five

years in the Murrietta valley has been twenty-

two inches every season, and the colonists have

relied upon this water supply. The climate

here is perhaps different from that of all other

parts of Southern California. It has four well-

defined seasons,—spring, summer, autumn and

winter. The average temperature in summer is

82°, and the average winter temperature 33°.

During the summer months, the atmosphere is

tempered by the sea-breeze, to such an extent

that but little discomfort is felt during the

most extreme hot weather; while during the

winter, the few cold days and nights with slight

frost and ice gives rest to plant life and energy

to the human constitution. No flagging spirit

is caused here by climatic forces, but on the

contrary, energy and activity are inspired by

every change of season. The soil is adapted to

fruit and vine culture and diversified agricult-

ure, a large quantity of cereals and general

produce being shipped from the Murietta sta-

tion. The output tor 1889 amounted to over

100 car-loads of grain (wheat and barley), 200

car-loads of wheat, barley and alfalfa hay; and

several car-loads of hogs, poultry, eggs, honey,

various sorts of vegetables, wool and hides.

The fruit yield from the young orchards coming

into bearing was more than was needed for

home consumption, and it will be an item of

export for the future.

Apples, pears, quinces, peaches, nectarines,

apricots, prunes, plums and cherries are grown,

all of excellent quality. All deciduous trees

set out at two to three years old bear the second

year thereafter. Those set out in 1885 have all

borne a profitable crop in 1889. Orange trees

on the mesa are thriving, as also English wal-

nuts in orchards lately planted.

The population of the town and neighbor-

hood is about 800, and it is rapidly increasing.

The society is excellent, being intelligent and

cultured. Among the material evidences of

prosperity are: a first-class hotel, with a good

table and excellent service; railroad station,

express and telegraph offices; a good school-

house, a good church building, a drug store,

jewelry store and barber shop, saddle and har-

ness shop, blacksmith shop and several stores

which supply the greater portion of the Teme-

cula country with general merchandise, this

being the business center. There are also

many tine residences, and there is published a

weekly newspaper, the Valley Union. This

locality, like most others of Southern California,

has suffered from the reaction following the

'• boom times," which, in 1887, sent the prices

of land in the valley up to balloon figures. The

feeling of the more substantial portion of the

community was always adverse to this extrava-

gant speculation, and attempted to keep the

prices down to a practical basis, and land values
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at present are actually lower than at any time

during the history of the colony, lands suitable

for raising fruits, vines or alfalfa being pur-

chasable at from $7 to $50 per acre, and good

orange land at proportionate figures. The present

residents of the valley are now mostly out of

debt, and even "forehanded," being self-sup-

porting, prosperous and happy.

ELSINOEK.

This colony lies on the line of the California

Southern Railway, eighty-seven and a half miles

from San Diego, twenty miles south of River-

side, thirty-seven miles south of San Bernardino,

and ninety miles east of Los Angeles. It is on

the old Laguna rancho, so named from the lake

or lagoon around which lie the 10,000 acres of

the tract, being the largest lake in the county,

and live by two miles in area.

This ranch was bought, subdivided and placed

upon the market in 1884, by Graham, Collier

& Heald, .long before the "boom" days of

lSSV-^S^nd became an established progressive

community. The early settlers were calm, con-

servative-minded men, and established them-

selves here upon testimonials of the soil itself,

the rich, moist land near the lake, and the

warm, sandy soil of the higher mesa, being

adapted to every variety of fruits and vegeta

bles; and to-day the fruit-producing qualities of

the soil and climate are no longer an experi-

ment, and each year adds to the acreage thus

planted. The citizens of the colony have lately

organized an irrigation district, under the

Wright act, which adds greater inducement and

stimulus to the fruit prodncer.

Aside from the store of wealth in the tillable

soil, the bills and mountains around add to their

service of shelter and protection to the valley,

an abundant store of mineral wealth in mines

of coal, clay, asbestos, lime, rock, etc., furnish-

ing labor to large forces of men, and establish-

ing a permanent basis of trade between mechanic,

merchant and farmer, while the fame-deserving

hot mineral springs and the salubrious climate

attract many of those transient tourists and in-

valids upon whom many other places have been

wholly dependent, and contribute their quota to

the general prosperity of the town and colony.

To-day Elsinore has established herself as the

leading town and colony of northern San Diego

County, and by far the most important railway

station between the city of San Diego and River-

side. The shipments are often as much as two

cars a day of hay, coal, tire-clay and manufac-

tured sewer-pipe and pottery-ware, fire-bricks,

building blocks, etc, and always tar exceed the

receipts or incoming freight.

The town of Elsinore is situated one and one-

half miles from the railroad station, in an alcove

on the shore of the lake by the same name,

which precludes a view of the town from the

station, but elegant and comfortable hacks are

provided by the hotels, and are in waiting at

each train.

The town has just passed its first anniversary

as an incorporated city of the sixth class, having

in the time made many municipal improve-

ments in the streets and parks, tending to the

comfort and welfare of its citizens.

The town supports two banks, three hotels

and two elegant and well- arranged bath houses,

two drug stores, one hardware, two grocery,

two dry-goods and one large general store, be-

sides a plumber, two milliners, meat shops,

blacksmith shops and other industries demanded

by the community. The city has a well regu-

lated water system, supplying pure mountain

water.

There are in the town of Elsinore two schools

and one large school building, five church or-

ganizations, and two elegant brick church build-

ings, and others in contemplation. As before

stated, Elsinore colony and city are growing

communities, some of the most substantial im-

provements above named having been made

within the last year, and that speaks volumes

for any community in southern California.

There are within the radius of the Elsinore

colony three other schools and two churches,

and four other towns or trade centers, the most

important of which are Wildoinar and Terra
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Cotta City, these each having a postoffice and

trading facilities. At the latter place are

located extensive sewer-pipe works, three miles

to the northwest of Elsinore City. This valley

is easily reached by rail from San Diego, San

Bernardino or Los Angeles, being on the direct

line of railroad between the two former cities,

with a daily train service.

The Chaney coal mine near Elsinore is be-

ginning to attract much attention. It is owned

by Madison Chaney, the original discoverer,

D. M. Graham, of South Pasadena, and William

Collier, of San Diego.

Before the discovery of this coal, not a single

joint of salt-glazed, vitrified sewer-pipe was man-

ufactured on this coast. To-day large factories

are in operation, deriving their clay also from

this locality. The works at Elsinore are operated

by coal from this mine, and their steam power

is by far the cheapest in Southern California.

This coal is also used in the kilns for burning

the ware, with the addition of some stronger

coal at the last to fix the glazing. Millions of

tons of fire-clay are found with the coal, and

will prove an important element. It is now

used in the manufacture of sewer-pipe at Elsi-

nore and Los Angeles, being the material from

which is made the fire-brick lining the kilns at

both places. It is also used for making fire-

proof paint and boiler covering, by the J. D.

II off Asbestos Company of San Diego. The coal

vein is from four and a-half to seven feet thick,

and the mine can furnish 150 tons daily, with

development of more if required. While not

of the best quality, this is good coal, and it is

expected the grade will improve with develop-

ment. It is used in the Good Hope mine, and

in the railway shops at San Bernardino.

Another important and valuable mineral re-

source of this district is the asbestos industry,

which is being developed by the John D. II off

Asbestos Company of San Diego. No better

illustration of its value to the county could be

supplied than the work that is now being done

by the company at Governor Waterman's mines

at Julian. In the first place the raw material

was taken from its natural location, near Elsi-

nore, was brought to the works of the company

at Pacific Beach, and having been converted

into the manufactured article, is now being ap-

plied to its various uses at the mines mentioned,

in each instance giving employment to many

men, and keeping the money within the county.

The huge boilers and steam pipes is being

made for that purpose, every building is being

painted with the asbestos paint and, indeed,

wherever an opportunity offers itself to utilize

the products of the company, no matter in what

form it may be, advantage is taken of it. The

principal uses to which the asbestos is put are in

the manufacture of house and roof paints, boiler

and steam-pipe covering, fire-proof roofing and

asbestos stone lining cement. In all the com-

pany has ten asbestos locations, namely: The

King, Elsinore, Jumbo, Kate M., and Joseph

mines at or near Elsinore, and the Murray mines

and extensions, comprising five locations, on the

Colorado desert. The construction of the branch

line from the Elsinore mines to that of the Cal-

ifornia Southern Railroad, will, of course,

greatly facilitate the operations of the company

in transhipping the raw material to their

factory. The only long-fibre asbestos mine son

the continent west of the Rocky mountains, is

located in the Elsinore district. Its value, of

course, cannot be accurately determined, but

many tempting offers have been made for it.

It is owned by this company. Some very tine

specimens of this long-fibre asbestos are on ex-

hibition in the offices of the company on Fifth

street, where a very interesting cabinet of San

Diego County mineral specimens is also to be

seen. The albestos at the Elsinore locations is

very plentiful, and is now being taken out in

open cuts, but it is the intention of the com-

pany, this spring, to sink experimental shafts

on the desert locations for the purpose of ascer-

taining the extent of the deposits.

Besides the elements already named, there

are here no less than 183 mineral springs,

ranging from almost boiling heat to icy cold-

ness, and varying as much in their elements as
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in their temperature. Their medicinal proper-

ties are already becoming famous, and for the

invalids who seek to profit by their virtues the

managers of the colony lands have caused the

construction of a large, comfortable bathing-

house and other conveniences. Elsinore has

shown something of her agricultural potential-

ities by her exhibits at county displays of prod-

ucts, and by the section's yield during the year

of 1889, which produced 2,000 centals of wheat,

3,000 centals of barley, 60 tons of dried and

12,000 pounds of canned fruits. The water

supply is abundant; besides that available for

irrigation from wells and from the San Jacinto

river, a great increase may be had by means of

tunnels through the high hills across the lake.

In 1885, the same parties who had laid out

Elsinore, founded, five miles further southeast-

ward, on the line of the California Southern

Railway, the village of Wildoinar. This is a

beautiful and thriving village, well-watered,

and on soil admirably adapted for citrus fruit-

growing.. It has a good school, and good

churches, the Presbyterian and the Society of

Friends owning church buildings. There is a

mail twice daily, a blacksmith and wagonmaker,

and three stores carrying general merchandise.

The people are industrious and sober.

ENCINITAS AND VICINITY.

The section of San Diego County known as

Encinitas contains about 25,000 acres of land

and lies twenty-eight miles north of San Diego,

bounded on the south by the San Dieguito

river, on the north by the Agua Hedionda

Ranch, on the east by a rocky range of hills

that form the western boundaries of the San

Marcos and Escondido valleys, and on the west

by the majestic Pacific, from off whose bosom

the never ceasing mild, yet invigorating breezes

blow.

The name Encinitas (little oaks) is derived

from the Los Encinitas Rancho, now the property

of the Kimball Brothers, but during the Span-

ish regime the home of one of those famous

and hospitable Spanish pioneers, who have al-

most passed away into the dim past. The writer

has been told that in early days the ranch house

grounds made one of the loveliest spots in the

county, with its orange and banana groves, and

that many love tales and reminiscences of the

place still linger in the minds of the old Span-

ish sefioras.

But that romantic age did not long withstand

the money-making era that has displaced nearly

all those old seats of Spanish occupation.

In 1881 the building of the California South-

ern Railroad aroused attention to this hitherto

neglected section, and attracted home-seekers,

and before 1884 all the available government

land was taken up by an enterprising class of

people, who amid many difficulties soon began

changing the brush jungle into cultivated fields

and orchards.

In 1883 a small town site was laid out on the

banks of the ocean, the Cottonwood creek

running through it, which contains an abundant

water supply, and the nucleus of our present

town was started, the first on the line of the

railroad. A postoffice was soon established, and

this was followed by an express and telegraph

office along with other accessories of civilization,

until now the town contains about eighty build-

ings and a population of 150 people, two hotels,

three general stores, drug store, livery stables,

blacksmith shop, weekly newspaper, etc., but

no saloons.

Contrary to most southern California settle-

ments, the surrounding country is ahead of the

town, and quite a number of auxiliary settle-

ments have sprung up around Encinitas, having

postoffices and stores of their own. Merle, Mer-

rigan and Olivenhain may be classed among

these, Encinitas being their railroad shipping

point.

The settlement of Merle is about two years

old, and has made a splendid growth and de-

velopment within that time, a number of gen-

tlemen of wealth and culture having located

there and are building nice homes.
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It will not be amiss to say that the Merle

Horticultural Society of this district is the

proud possessor of the Los Angeles District

Fair bine ribbon for the "best table beets," and

that nearly all of the first and second prizes for

the best "corn display" at the late Escondido

Fair were proudly borne away by this section.

Olivenhain was settled about five years ago

by a German colony, but internal dissensions

and wrangles kept development back for a time.

Now some thirty families have prosperous and

happy homes in the fertile valley of the San

Elijo, where they farm for profit.

The soil is principally a heavy, sandy loam,

very fertile, easily cultivated, bountiful in its

returns, and when properly cultivated, very re

tentive of moisture. Fully two-thirds of the

area of this district is perfectly frostless, and is

adapted to the cultivation of the lemon, olive

or fig.

The climate is as near perfection as it is pos-

sible to find, averaging sixty-five degrees the

year round. Records kept for the past nine

years show the lowest temperature in the town

to be thirty- nine degrees, and the highest

ninety-eight degrees, and that for only an hour

or two during an east or desert wind. In the

valleys and wet lowlands the temperature falls

lower and rises higher.

The principal crops raised have been beans,

corn, wheat, barley, sorghum and hay. Thirty

bushels of wheat to the acre is the average

yield, and thirty-two bushels the best. Fortv

bushels of barley to the acre is the common
yield, with clean, bright grains that will yield

120 pounds to the sack. Corn is the staple

among the cereals, and ninety bushels to the

acre is no uncommon yield, while 103 bushels

is the best record this year. Sorghum has been

tested somewhat, and has proved a success, the

syrup being of fine flavor and finding a ready

sale at remunerative prices; the yield is about

100 gallons to the acre, at an average price of

75 cents per gallon, or $75 per acre.

Vegetables all do well, but market gardening

has nut been tried to any great extent. Decidu-

ous fruits do well, particularly tigs and apples.

The citrus fruits have not yet been well tested,

but there is a considerable area of the district

well adapted to the orange. Grapes flourish, as

do also berries, particularly the strawberry.

All of the crops, trees and vines mentioned,

except berries, have been grown without irriga-

tion, but our people are keenly alive to the

necessity of having an ample supply of water,

and are anxiously awaiting the completion of

the Pamo or San Luis Key reservoirs.

AGUA I1EDI0NDA.

This rancho, slightly north of east of Escon-

dido, is the property of Robert Kelly, who, de-

voting it to stock-raising, has it entirely under

fence. This tract contains good vineyard land,

and may soon be brought into cultivation.

ESCONDIDO.

This, " the Hidden valley," was formerly

known as the Wolfskill Ranch, or Rincon del

Diablo—" the Devil's Corner." It is a part of

the San Marcos region, and comprises 13,000

acres, well adapted to the culture .of grain,

alfalfa, citrus and deciduous fruits and grapes.

The soil is deep and rich, and mostly of the de-

composed granite variety, so desirable for

orchard land.

In 1885 Escondido was purchased by a syn-

dicate of San Diego capitalists, who at once

instituted an admirable class of enterprises.

They laid off a town site, villa tracts, and

small holdings for orchards, farms and vine-

yards. They built a $25,000 hotel, and a

$10,000 school-house; the University of South-

ern California erected a $50,000 college; there

are fine brick churches, one of which cost $7,-

500; a large brick bank block, with a public

hall containing a good stage; a number of bus-

iness houses, carrying large stocks; water- works

and street railway. No saloons exist in this

model colony town, owing to a cTause in the

deed of conveyance which forbids the sale of

liquors on the grounds purchased. A great

flume is in process of construction. There is
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telephone connection with San Diego and other

points.

The Central Railroad, to connect with the

California Southern at Oeeanside, running from

San Diego via El Cajon, Poway and Escondido,

was begun over two years since. The popula-

tion is 800 to 1,000 and constantly increasing.

In the near vicinity are many points of histor-

ical interest. The enterprise displayed in its

founding, its location, its salubrious climate,

and its resources, make Escondido a point with

an assured future.

During the past season Escondido exported

eighty tons of raisins, graded as A .No. 1 in the

New York markets. They netted to their pro-

ducers from $65 to $108 per acre on unirrigated

land. Among other shipments from Escon-

dido the past season were 720,000 pounds of

honey; 650,000 pounds of wheat; 11,000 sacks

of oats; 8,722 sacks of barley; 625 sacks of

corn, and 515 cords of wood.

OCEANSIDE.

Only some four years old, Oeeanside has

made most remarkable growth. It lies on the

coast, at the mouth of the San Luis Key river,

forty miles northwest of San Diego, and some

four miles from the old Mission of San Luis

Rey. Here is the junction of the Santa Ana
branch of the California Southern Railway, and

here the terminus of the San Diego Central,

via El Cajon, Poway and Escondido, and it is

on the surveyed line of the extension of the

Southern Pacific. Behind it stretches the great

and rich San Luis Rey valley, whose fertile

fruit and farming country promise a large

future interior trade, already so far toward real-

ization that various San Diego merchants have

found it profitable to establish there branch

business houses.

Oeeanside is the natural southern port and

outlet for San Bernardino, Riverside, San Jacin-

to, and the rest of the immediate country to

the northwaid. It is also the natural outlet

for the tine valley traversed by the Escondido

branch of the railway, which embraces Buena,

San Marcos, and Escondido. It is the western

outlet for the San Luis Rey valley, containing

20,000 acres of the richest land in California;

a section rapidly filling up with thrifty people,

who contribute largely to commerce. More-

over, to Oeeanside is tributary all the country

southward, as far as Encinitas.

The Oeeanside postoffice is the distributing

office for Escondido and all the country tribu-

tary to that point, and hence it has become quite

an important item in the postoffice service. Mr.

Weitzel, the postmaster, had to report for the

year ending September 30, 1889, a money-order

business of $13,000, besides a good business in

stamps, box rents, etc.

The original town site was on section 22, being

a sheep range occupied in 1862 by A. J. Myers,

to whom a patent was issued in 1883. The site

now embraces three additional sections—23, 26

and 27.

A city charter was adopted in July, 1888.

The inhabitants are between 600 and 700, and

they are for the most part of a high order of

worth, and moreover very enterprising and ag-

gressive in a business sense. Large neighboring

tracts are being opened up and piped to water

by the San Luis Rey Water Company, which

is one of the most notable institutions of the

city. This organization is opening up a vast

field of back country territory, making to bloom

land hitherto regarded as almost worthless, and

greatly increasing the value of land already un-

der cultivation, by piping water to hundreds of

thousands of acres. Besides this, the company

purposes to furnish power for manufacturing

purposes, utilizing for electric currents the

power of their immense sluice-ways, through

which the water falls for hundreds of feet;

and thence they will convey the power to

factories, grist-mills, canning-houses, etc. Hy-

draulic engineers say that this company will

have 65,000 horse-power available. And whereas

by the cost of fuel it now costs about $100

for every horse-power used of mechanical pow-

er, the new enterprise will be enabled to furnish

power at one-fourth that rate. This little sea-
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side city already has various robust and flour-

ishing manufactories, and industries which

would be creditable to any long established set-

tlement.

The Russ Lumber and Mill Company has

done business here since Oceanside started. It

has furnished lumber for nearly every house in

the city.

It carries a full line of all kinds of lumber,

including sash, blinds, mouldings, etc. Since

the boom, trade has been mainly with the sur-

rounding towns and ranches tributary to Ocean-

side. The country trade increases every year.

The Oceanside Mill Company is an institu-

tion of which the city may well be proud. It

manufactures sash, blinds, doors, boxes, etc.;

carries a fnll line of wood working machinery,

and does all kinds of wood- work for house fur-

nishing. It does a large business in bee ma-

terial, including hives, boxes, etc. At one time

this jear the mill ran for two months on this

branch of the business alone. Here tanks are

manufactured for all the surrounding country,

from Oceanside to Smith Mountain. In con-

nection with the planing-mill, there is a grist-

mill department, where feed of all kinds is

ground; also corn-meal and graham flour.

Feed and corn-meal are shipped to San Diego

and other places by the car-load. Custom work

is done for people in Fallbrook, Escondido, En-

cinitas and other points.

In the grist-mill business there is a competi-

tor in the Carter & Martin Milling Company.

This firm has lately put in operation a new

steam engine. They roll barley and crack corn

to order. They also manufacture corn-meal and

graham flour. They have an extensive trade

from all the surrounding country, and ship by

the ton to many points on the railroad. They

are also contractors and bnilders, and manufac-

ture mouldings, brackets, etc.

The Oceanside Fish Company are keeping

their city prominently before the people of Los

Angeles and San Bernardino. They began a

few months ago, in a small way, to experiment

at catching and selling Ash. In both depart-

ments they have been successful. They catch

anywhere from 500 to 2,500 pounds at a haul.

One firm in Los Angeles offers to take all they

can catch at 5 cents per pound. It is impossi-

ble for them to supply half of the orders they

receive from Los Angeles and San Bernardino.

To help supply the demand for Oceanside

fish, a Chinese company has been organized.

They have bnilt their own boat and manufac-

tured their own nets, and propose, from the

wealth of the ocean,' to contribute to the wealth

of Oceanside. There are millions of dollars in

the fishing business on the Pacific coast, be-

cause it is possible to fish twelve months in the

year here, and only seven on the Atlantic coast.

The Bank of Oceanside has contributed its

full share to the prosperity of the city. The

bank building itself would do credit to a city of

50,000 inhabitants. The cashier, E. S. Payne,

is a gentleman of large experience, and people

in the city or country who do business with

him, invariably return. D. Ii. Home, presi-

dent, and the directors are among the most pro-

gressive and reliable men of the community.

The business done by the banking institutions

of a city is always an index of its prosperity or

adversity. As the Bank of Oceanside has taken

in and paid out over its counters the past year

over $1,000,000, it is very fair evidence that

Oceenside is not dead. This institution makes

collections from any part of the Union, and

transfers money to all parts of the United

States and foreign countries.

The two nurseries of the city draw people

from all the surrounding towns for trees, plants

and shrubs. They have never been able to

supply more than half the demand there is for

nursery stock.

There are three stores for groceries and gen-

eral merchandise. They all report business

good and growing better. The summer visitors,

the hotel and railroad business and the in-

creasing number of thrifty ranchers in the

country about Oceanside all contribute to make

the store business a success.

The dry-goods store reports that business
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has been good all through the year, but very

much increased in volume towards its close.

The same firm established in June, 1889, what

is known as the Oceanside Warehouse, an in-

stitution which is a great benefit to all this sec-

tion. They handled this season 80,000 sacks of

grain. They have sold 3,000 sacks of White

Australian seed wheat to the farmers in this

vicinity. They state that the Oceanside wharf

will undoubtedly be finished by August 1, and

when this is done they propose to ship their

grain direct from here to San Francisco, thus

saving $2 per ton on freight. The material

necessary to complete the wharf is here, and the

stockholders propose to cany the work forward

as rapidly as possible.

Among the other business enterprises of this

most enterprising little city may be mentioned

two excellent hotels and one or two restaurants.

One of the hotel buildings cost nearly $70,000.

There are two drug-stores, two livery stables, a

millinery house, two boot and 6hoe shops, two

blacksmiths, a hardware store, a harness shop, a

furniture and undertaking establishment, a bak-

ery, a barber shop and various other enterprises,

including three real-estate agents, who report

three times as many purchasers for acre prop-

erty as there were a year since. Oceanside has

three skillful medical practitioners, three good

lawyers, and a flourishing newspaper. The
schools are well organized and ably administered.

The churches in Oceanside are well repre-

sented. There are six organized religious bodies

:

Christian, Congregational, Baptist, Episcopal,

Holiness and Methodist. The Episcopal and

Methodist have no church building as yet, but

they are planning to build in the near future.

The attendance upon religious services during

the past year has been better than in any other

year during the history of the city.

SAN DIEGO—POKT AND CITY.

The city of San Diego is situated in a position

at once beautiful and commanding, on the north-

eastern shore of the bay of the same name, in

latitude 32° 42' 37" north, longitude 117° 9'

west. It is 480 miles southeast of San Fran-

cisco. The remarkably advantageous position it

occupies insures almost constant regularity of

movement of the winds, and delightful equa-

bility of temperature. The city is situated

upon a plateau formed by the foot hills, gently

sloping southwestward toward the bay and shore.

Northeastward and southeastward lie the slopes

and peaks of the Coast liange and the Lower
California chain of mountains; to the south-

ward stretches the open Pacific ocean, mild and

kindly, it being divided from the inlet waters

of the bay by a long, narrow strip of land

called the "sandspit" or the "peninsula,"

which broadens considerably at its western ter-

mination, forming a natural breakwater, whose

protection makes this bay perhaps the most per-

fect and safe harbor on the whole western coast.

It is farther protected by the western extension,

also peninsular, of the mainland, which forms

the western boundary of the entrance to the

bay and breaks the force of the prevailing wind,

from the Pacific. Very naturally, great consid-

eration and importance attach to the bay as a

harbor, since there are but two truly landlocked

harbors on the whole coast line of California, a

reach of over 700 miles. The harbor of San

Francisco, while larger, is less safe for shipping

and less easy of access than that of San Diego,

so named by Sebastian Vizcaino in 1602. The

following is a portion of a report on the bay of

San Diego, made by Prof. George Davidson, of

the United States Coast' Survey: "Next to

that of San Francisco, no harbor on the Pacific

coast of the United States approximates in ex-

cellence the bay of San Diego. The bottom is

uniformly good; no rocks have been discovered

in the bay or approaches: the position of the

bay with relation to the coast, and of the bar in

relation to Point Loma, is such that there is

much less swell on this bar than on any other

bar on the Pacific coast. There is less rain, fog,

and thick haze, and more clear weather, in this

vicinity than at all points to the northward, and

the entrance is less difficult to make and enter
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on that account. Large vessels can go about

seven miles (geographical) up the bay, with an

average width of channel of 800 yards betweeen

the four fathom lines at low water. This indi-

cates sufficient capacity to accommodate a large

commerce."

Again, in 1878, Commodore C. P. Patterson,

Superintendent United States Coast Survey, at

Washington, transmitted to the chairman of a

Congresssonal committee the result of the last

survey of San Diego harbor in that year. He

says:

« The depth over the bar (at low water) is

twenty-two feet. The bar remains in a remark-

ably permanent state. The distance across the

bar, from a depth of twenty-seven feet to the

same depth inside, is 285 yards, so that the re-

moval of about 60,000 yards of material would

give a channel of 300 feet wide and 28^ feet

deep over the bar at mean low water. I have

crossed this bar at all hours, both day and

night, with steamers of from 1,000 to 3,000

tons burden, during all seasons, without any

detention whatever. As will be seen from the

dimensions given, ample accommodations can

be had in this harbor for a very large commerce.

There is no safer harbor on the Pacific coast for

entering or leaving, or for lying off wharves.

It is the only landlocked harbor south of San

Francisco and north of San Quentin, Lower

California, a stretch of 600 miles of coast, and,

from a national point of view, its importance is

so great that its preservation demands national

protection, and justifies national expenditure.

Fortunately, these expenditures need not be

great, if the stable regimen of the harbor be

preserved.

The climate of San Diego is indeed so mild,

so benevolent, and so equable, as to thoroughly

justify the pride of the inhabitants in that re-

gard. It is interesting work to scan a recapit-

ulation of the climate register, as seen in the

United States Signal Station. This statement

covers a decade, or 3,653 days, from 1876 to

1885, inclusive. During these ten years there

were 3,533 days on which the mercury did not

rise above 80°. Of the remaining 120 days

when the mercury did rise higher, 8 fell in the

year 1876; 12 in 1877; 10 in 1878; 19 in 1879;

9 in 1880; 7 in 1881; 4 in 1882; 23 in 1883;

13 in 1884; 15 in 1885. Of the total number

of 3,653 days there were only 41 days in which

the mercury rose higher than 85°; on 22 days

on which it rose above 90°, on 4 days on which

it rose above 95°, and only 1 day on which it

rose to over 100°. The highest temperature

recorded during the whole period of ten years

was 101°, on September 23, 1883. During

these ten years there were never more than two

days in any one month on which the mercury

rose as high as 85°, except June. 1877, during

which there were 4 days; September, 1878,

when there were 5 days; June, 1879, which had

3 such days; September, 1879, having 4 such;

October, 1879, when 6 such days befell; and

September, 1883, which had -I- days up to the

85° limit.

It may be remarked, en passant, that the

year 1879 was an uncommonly hot season

throughout southern California, owing to mete-

orological conditions whose stress was aggravated

by the heat sent out from extensive forest and

mountain fires. On not one day during the ten

years did any unusual warmth continue for

more than a few hours, the highest minimum

for any day being oidy 70°, on five of the 3,653

days. During all this period there was no

night when sleep under a blanket would pro-

duce discomfort, but rather the contrary.

During the same ten years, or 3,653 days, there

were 3,560 days on which the mercury did not

fall below 40°. Of the remaining ninety-three

days there were only six on which the tempera-

ture fell below 35°, and only two on which it

registered as low as 32°. There was no day of

lower temperature than 32°. On no day did

the mercury remain below 40° for more than

one or two hours, and this was reached in the

period between midnight and daylight, which is

always the coldest part of the twenty-four hours.

The lowest maximum of any day was 52°, which

was reached on 4 of the 3,653 days in this period.
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This absence of extremes of heat and cold,

and of excess of either moisture or dryness;

this even, moderate warmth; the regular daily

motion of wind, and almost constant atmos-

pheric humidity of the desirable mean, can but

make the climate not only delightful, but health-

ful in the extreme.

To return to the period already observed, to

determine the movements of the air, which have

so much to do with the salubrity of a section:

During the ten years under review there was

not recorded one day as a "calm " day; while

there were days of calmness at the taking of

some of the observations, there were none which

had not some movement of aerial strata or cur-

rents, preventing stagnation, and renovating and

purifying the air breathed. Every day four ob-

servations were taken—at the hours of 7 a. m.,

12: 20 p. m., 2 p. m. and 9 p. m. These aggre-

gate 14,612 observations, in the ten years. Of

these, 1,730 showed north wind, 3,252 northwest,

3,280 west, 1,614 southwest, 1,044 south, 458

southeast, 846 east, 1,510 northeast, 878 calm.

Now, the westerly winds, blowing from off the

ocean, are the prevailing winds, and, notwith-

standing their source, they are called the "dry"

winds, because they do not bring rain; the

damp or rain winds blow from the east, south-

east, and south.

The Signal Service tables classify winds hav-

ing a velocity of 1 to 2 miles per hour as light;

of 3 to 5 as gentle; of 6 to 14 as fresh; of 15

to 29 as brisk; of 30 to 40 as high; of 41 to 60

as a gale; of 61 to 80 as a storm; of 81 to 150

as a hurricane. Keeping in view this table, the

mildness of the San Diego breezes may be

judged from the following two facts: During

the 14,612 observations taken ranging through

ten years, as already stated, only 878 occurring

at a windless moment, the daily average

velocity for the whole period was only 139

miles, or less than six miles per hour. The

highest daily velocity was 423 miles, or less

than 18 miles per hour. The least daily veloc-

ity was 17 miles, or only three-fourths of a mile

per hour.

The mean per cent, of relative humidity for

each month in the year at San Diego for fifteen

years is as follows: January, 71.2; February,

74.3; March, 73.5; April, 72.4; May, 73;

June, 73; July, 70.4; August, 71.7; Septem-

ber, 67.4; October, 71.5; November, 66.4;

December, 67.2. The average number of clear,

fair and cloudy days during the year, for fifteen

years at San Diego, is: Clear, 184; fair, 136;

cloudy, 45. The average number of days on

which rain fell was thirty-four. The average

depth of rainfall is between nine and ten inches.

There are few " rainy days " so depressing

to the invalid, and so inconvenient to the per-

son of business; for a large proportion of the

rain comes down in the night-time; then,

too, the character of the soil and the natural

slope of the land are such that the surface of

the ground dries in a few hours after even the

heaviest rain. This comparatively small rain-

fall, which adds no little comfort and charm to

life in San Diego, must not be understood to

indicate the rainfall for the section at large.

For, going back from the coast, the rainfall is

found to increase in volume, so that at a distance

of forty miles from the coast the occurrence of

a dry year is as rare as it is anywhere else in

California. Even within twenty miles of the

city the rainfall averages over fifty per cent more

than in town.

COMPARATIVE WEATHER.

The following table shows the temperature of

the past two years by months:

Month. Max.

January 74.0

February 76.0

March 82.2

April 930

M«y 70.0

June 76.2

July 77.2

August 82.0

September 82.0

October 82.0

November 75.2

December 73.0

33.0
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Month.

January. .

.

February.

.

March ... .

April

May
June

July

August

September.

October

November.

December.

.78.0

.85.0

.80.0

.85.0

.80.0

.72.0

.84.0

.89.0

.91.0

.80.0

.68.7

30.0

37.0

45.0

47.0

50.0

56.0

59.0

02.0

54.0

52

46.0

41.8

51.6

54.6

60.0

60.6

64.0

07.6

70.8

70.2

65.0

57.5

The average mean temperature for the differ-

ent months of the year has remained practically

the same for a decade or more.

The rainfall for December, 1889. was some-

thing abnormal and unprecedented. Two storms

during the month gave each over two and

one-half inches of rainfall. The total rainfall

during the month was 7.65 inches, and there

were eighteen days on which rain fell. The

highest temperature reached was 68.7 degrees

on the 5th, the lowest 41.8 degrees on the 30th,

the average mean temperature being 57.5.

There were eight clear days, seven fair days,

and sixteen cloudy days.

To speak of the rainfall during the month of

December it is proper to say that the rainfall

during the twenty-four hours ending at 5 o'clock

on the morning of the 15th, amounted to 2.31

inches, which has been exceeded only three

imes in the history of the signal office here.

The heaviest rains during any twenty-four

hours of previous years is given below:

1S71.

1872.

1873.

1874.
1875.

1876
1877.

1878.
1879.

,.0.49

..1.12

..2.52

..1.35

..0.95

..1.53

..1.09

..1.11

..2.75

.129

1881
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terns, hotels, etc., winch, while they are the

property of individuals or private corporations,

yet constitute a notable and important element

in the comfort, convenience and general pros-

perity of the community. As far as possible

this plan will be followed in the description of

San Diego under its present aspect and in the

outlining of its future prospect and outlook;

and any deviation therefrom will be due to the

ramifications of the subject, and the subjects

may be treated in inverse order.

THE WHAKVES—WHERE THEY ABE, WHAT THEY

COST AND WHAT THEY CAN ACCOMMODATE.

San Diego is provided with ample wharves.

The wharf of the Spreckels Brothers Company
is 3,500 feet long. Its width gradually be-

comes greater as it runs out from the shore,

commencing with fifty feet and terminating

with seventy-five feet at the twenty-six-foot

water line. It will accommodate eight of the

largest vessels afloat. It was built at a cost of

over $90,000. The coal bunkers on the wharf

have a capacity of 15
;
000 gross tons. They

are 650 feet long, 30 feet wide, and 30 feet in

depth. The machinery is of the most modern

and best improved type, and in point of efficiency

second to none in America. The warehouse is

150 by 100 feet, but this will soon be increased

to double its present size. The wharf is situated

at the foot of G street. A track is being built

to connect with the Santa Fe, so that cars can

be loaded directly from ships.

The Santa Fe wharf, situated at the junction

of H and Atlantic streets, has two spurs, one

2,500 feet long, the other 800 feet in length.

In breadth this wharf varies from twenty-five

feet to seventy-rive feet, and can accommodate

eight deep-sea vessels and six coasters. The
estimated cost of this wharf is $80,000. The
track of the California Southern extends u poll

this wharf, and vessels are unloaded directly into

the cars.

The Pacific Coast Steamship Company's

wharf is at the foot of Fifth street. It was

one of the first wharves built in San Diego,

but has been entirely rebuilt, at a cost of some-

thing over $30,000. It is 2,000 feet long and

has accommodation for four deep-sea vessels

and four coasters. There is also a railway track

on this wharf, which greatly facilitates the

transhipment of freight from vessels to cars.

The Pacific Dock Company's wharf (generally

known as Jorres' wharf) was this year rebuilt, at

a cost of $35,000. It is 2,216 feet long, has a

twenty-four-foot driveway and an eight-foot

walk. It can accommodate four deep-sea ves-

sels and has room for eight coasters at its

twenty foot water line. The wharf is situated

at the foot of F street.

The Rubs Lumber and Mill Company's wharf

is situated at the foot of I street, and is 600

feet long; that of the San Diego Lumber Com-
pany, foot of Sixth street, 1,200 feet lonjr, with

a "T" fifty feet by seventy- five feet. The two

wharves are intended for coasters only, and

were built at an aggregate cost of $36,000.

The Carlson & Higgins (Commercial) wharf

is situated at the foot of H street, is 940 feet

long, 35 feet wide, with a 580-foot T. It will

furnish accommodations for six deep-water ves-

sels and six coasters. The estimated cost is

$40,000.

The San Diego Wharf and Storage Company's

wharf, at the foot of Twenty-eighth street, is

1,400 feet long, from 76 to 140 feet wide, and

cost $20,000.

In addition to these there are two excellent

wharves at Coronado and two at Roseville. The

San Diego & Eastern Terminal Railway Com-
pany and Crippin & Jennings have wharves

now in course of construction at Roseville. The

projected wharf of the San Diego Land and

Town Company, at the foot of Twenty-sixth

street, will be one of the most complete in the

city. It is to be 950 feet long, 660 feet wide,

and will extend the entire block to Twenty-

seventh street. It is to have three slips at the

end and will furnish dockage room for nine

deep-sea vessels, besides accommodation for a

large number of coasters. There will be a track

for the California Southern, and also one for the
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National City & Otay road, built thereon. The

estimated cost is put at $60,000. The railroad

company also has a fine wharf at National City.

The depth for all these wharves enumerated

above for deep-sea vessels are at the twenty-six-

foot water line, mean low tide.

There is a projected wharf also at the foot of

Ninth street, for which a franchise was granted

to William A. Bailey. It will be 2,795 feet

long and seventy-five feet wide.

MUNICIPAL CHARACTERISTICS AND INSTITUTIONS.

Most of the streets of San Diego are upon an

inclined plane. The slope is not great enough

to fatigue a walker, but yet it is sufficient to

lend a pleasing variety and perspective to the

vision, and to throw the city in elevation to the

eye of him who sees it from the ocean or the

bay. The nomenclature of the streets is pleas-

ing, practical and convenient. From the water

front back to the outskirts they are called

numerically, First street, Second, etc.; starting

from a given point the southward streets are

named alphabetically, A, B, C, etc. Their con-

tinuations to the northward of the point stated

have arboreal names, as Ash, Beech, Cedar, etc.,

each one of which begins with the letter as-

signed to its complementary portion. Thus the

geography of the streets is readily learned, and

intelligent movement through them is greatly

facilitated. While a great deal has been done

in the matter of putting down suitable pave-

ments, there is, naturally, much to be yet com-

pleted in this respect. The lack of adequate

pavements is, however, partially compensated

by the quick-drying porosity of the soil, already

cited. No doubt the year 1890 will witness a

great advance in the direction of proper gutter-

ing and paving.

The sewer system which was adopted some

two years since is that known as the Waring

system, in use in Memphis and various other

large eastern cities. For the purpose of its con-

struction, the city contracted a bonded indebted-

ness of $400,000, the bonds bearing interest at

five per cent., payable annually. They may

run till 1907, or they may be redeemed sooner,

at the option of the city. The bonds were

negotiated without difficulty, during the most

enthusiastic period of San Diego's late phenom-

enal prosperity, and great anticipations existed

as to the successful and satisfactory operation

of the system. It appears, however, that it has

not proved altogether satisfactory. But the

engineer, Colonel George E. Waring, Jr., who

contracted for its construction, avers that the

defects are incidental, not constitutional, so to

speak, and due to causes which may readily be

removed, when, he declares, the present sewer

system will be found complete, good, effective,

and satisfactory to the citizens.

San Diego's water supply for domestic pur-

poses comes from wells sunk in the gravel bed

of the San Diego river. The watershed of the

valley where these wells are sunk is nearly 300

square miles. The wells are at from 2,000 to

4,000 feet above sea level. For six months of

the year the water runs on the surface, while

during the remainder of the year the gravel

bed of the river, which has a slight fall, and is

between seven and eight miles long, is fully

charged with pure mountain water, which gives

a constant supply to the wells. These are thir-

teen in number, sunk in a line across the lower

end of the valley. They average an inside di-

ameter of twenty-eight feet, and are fourteen

or fifteen feet below the water level of the

summer months. The wells are all connected

with the pumps by pipes of cast iron. There

are four covered reservoirs with a total capacity

4,206,000 gallons, and a standpipe thirty-six

inches in diameter, 136 feet high, its top being

401 feet above tide. It is supplied from the

large pumps at the main station, and has press-

ure enough to reach the highest parts of the

city. The pump mains run to the standpipe

and the Old Town reservoir. They can be

used independently, if so desired. The com-

pany has over 296,680 feet, or about sixty

miles, of pipe lines, at an approximate cost of

$800,000. Connected with this system are

185 fire hydrants, for which the city pays $100
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per year each. Everything that can be done in

the way of plant, apparatus, protection, etc., is

done to preserve the purity and sweetness of

the water. The reservoirs are covered, and

they have cemented walls, with proper facilities

for draining and cleansing. According to the

engineer's record, some 30,000,000 of gallons

were pumped by this company during each

month of the year 1888. It can to-day supply

6,600,000 gallons every twenty-four hours. If

the above were not sufficient—and the supply

even now would meet the wants of 100,000

souls population—there are other water re-

sources. The Sweetwater reservoir, which sup-

plies National City, covers an area of 700 acres

of land, and contains about 6,000,000,000 gal-

lons of water, a portion of which could very

readily be diverted to San Diego. The San Diego

Flume Company has a large reservoir in the

Cnyamaca mountains, about fifty miles from

San Diego, with a capacity of 4,000,000,000.

This water is conducted to a point near the city

by means of a large flume, and thence into the

city through a thirty-inch iron pipe. The

Flume Company furnish water for irrigating

purposes along their line. Their source of

supply could easily furnish water enough to

irrigate 100,000 acres.

There are, moreover, the San Luis Key and

the Pamo Water Companies, neither of whose

systems is yet completed. But when they be-

gin to operate, they will double the present

water supply of the city.

The lighting system of San Diego is under

the auspices of the San Diego Gas and Elec-

tric Light Company, successor to the San

Diego Gas Company, and the Coronado Electric

Light Company, whose respective plants it has

absorbed. The coal gas works are what is

called a ten-inch plant, being thoroughly

equipped with all the machinery, etc., necessary

for efficiency and safety. The gas-holder has

a capacity of about 50.000 cubic feet. The

estimated capacity of the coal-gas plant is

about 250,000 feet daily. The water-gas plant

has a capacity of 150,000 feet daily, making a

total of 400,000 feet every twenty-four hours.

The company has in use twelve miles of street

mains, and some 600 meter connections. The
electric light works has a ground area of 100

feet by 85 feet. The power is one 250-horse-

power Corliss engine, and one Buckeye high-

speed engine, all the necessary Brush-light

machines, dynamos, etc. There is a system of

about twenty-live miles of poles and wires.

The city street lighting is excellently performed

by means of ten towers, each one having six

2,000-candle-power lamps. There is, moreover,

the Electric Light Company, with a capital of

$3,000, over four miles of wire and all needful

equipments, which is doing a steadily increas-

ing business.

The Point Loma lighthouse, which marks

the entrance to San Diego harbor and which is,

with one single exception, at a higher altitude

from sea level than any other in the world, will

soon go into disuse and be superseded by two

others, one to be placed near the base of the

promontory, the other at Ballast Point. This

change will make the entrance to the bay as

absolutely safe by night as it is by day. Dur-

ing the last 6ix months of 1889, several con-

tracts have been let for the work in question,

which covers the lighthouses themselves as well

as the dwellings for the use of the keepers.

The first contract calls for the construction at

Point Loma of two dwellings, of Ave rooms

each, for the light keepers. The buildings are

to be of wood with brick foundations and are

to be finished in brass and bronze, after the

style of Government lighthouse finishing.

Each building will be supplied with a large

water tank, twelve feet in diameter by ten in

height. The total cost of the two buildings

will not exceed $7,500.

The second contract embraces in its condi-

tions the construction at Ballast Point of two

buildings similar to those at Point Loma, with

the addition to one of a light tower, to be fitted

with the regulation stationary light. The total

cost of these buildings, to be constructed by a

San Dieo-o firm, will be $8,500. Besides these
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there is to be placed at the outer entrance to

the harbor, built by a Jersey City firm, an iron

light-house, with a light of the revolving pat-

tern, like that in use at San Pedro. Its total

cost is estimated at $13,000, and it is to be

completed by April 1, 1890.

THE COUET HOUSE.

The San Diego court-house, which is now

being rebuilt, will have a total length, including

the wings, of 106£ feet. The main building,

which includes the jail, has a width of 110 feet,

while the wings are 57£ feet wide. It will be

126 feet from base to dome. The cost of the

new building, not counting the value of the

material used from the old building, will reach

about $150,000. There will be three court-

rooms, each measuring 63| feet long and 33£

i'eet wid3, and these will, when completed, be

among the finest, if not the finest, in the State.

The style of the architecture is Italian renais-

sance, and the building when completed will be

by far the handsomest in the city. At present

work is temporarily stopped, owing to litigation

between the Board of Supervisors and the con-

tractor, but this delay is brought about by the

powers that be, in order that the specifications

in the contract may be strictly enforced and

perfect workmanship and material put into the

new building.

THE PUBLIC LIBRARY.

The Free Reading-Room Association was or-

ganized March 1, 1872, the first officers being:

Charles S Hamilton, President; George W.
Marston, Vice-President; R. C. Grierson, Secre-

tary; E. W. Morse, Treasurer.

The San Diego Public Library was first

opened July 15, 1882. Bryant Howard was

the first President; E. W. Ilendrick, Secretary;

G. N. Hitchcock, Treasurer, and G. W. Marston

and Dr. R. M. Powers, Trustees. The Con-

solidated Bank, then the Commercial Bank, do-

nated free use for six months of the room then

used; Judge Alfred Cowles presented the library

with forty volumes of standard works, and other

public-spirited ladies and gentlemen tendered

gifts of books and money.

The institution has been under the successive

management of four different librarians, the

present incumbent being Miss Lu Younkin, to

whose energy is due in no small measure its

present condition of usefulness. During the

year 1889 this institution has been installed in

new and commodious quarters in the Consoli-

dated Bank building. The quarters are com-

fortably furnished. a,nd well lighted and heated.

There are reading-rooms for ladies and gentle-

men, and in this department alone the record

shows the use of 4,717 books during the latter

seven months of the year, since these rooms

have been opened. One of the features of im-

provement under this arrangement is the pres-

ence of attendants to issue the books, instead of

the old system by which the patrons were

allowed access to the shelves for that purpose,

which was most conducive to the loss of books,

now stopped almost entirely. The following

table shows the extent of the "use of the library

during the past two years. The notable de-

crease in May, 1889, was due to the temporary

closing of the library during the process of re-

moval:
NUMBER OF BOOKS DRAWN.
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THE SAN DIEGO CHAMBER OF COMMERCE

was organized on the 20th day of January,

1870, by David Feleenlield, E. W. Morse,

Aaron Pauly, A. E. Horton, G. W. B. McDon-

ald, J. W. Gale, D. Choate and Joseph Nash,

who assembled at the rooms of the first named

gentleman upon his invitation, on the day above

named "to take some practical steps to unite

the business men of this city for the better pro-

motion of the public interest; to aid in the de-

velopment of our back country and make

known its resources; to give reliable infor-

mation of the commercial advantages of our

harbor, and of our natural position as an over-

land railroad terminus on the Pacific coast."

Aaron Pauly was elected President, G. W. B.

McDonald, Vice-President, and David Felsen-

held, Secretary. The membership in a few

weeks embraced nearly every business man and

capitalist in the city, and the organization,

from the very beginning has been faithful to the

purposes set forth by its founders. " It has taken

a leading part in the railroad negotiations of

the past twenty years; it largely promoted the

construction of the first important highway to

Arizona, the Fort Yuma wagon road, which for

several years, until the building of the South-

ern Pacific Railroad, was the only avenue for

freight and passenger traffic between California

and southern Arizona; it has published nu-

merous reports and pamphlets of information,

which have rendered most valuable service in

advertising throughout the world the singular

salubrity and rare equability of our climate, the

various and prolific resources of our soil; the

peculiar advantages of our location as a trans-

continental railway terminus, and of our harbor

as the natural seaport of southern California,

and of the certainty of our development as a

great commercial and 'manufacturing city; it

has maintained correspondence with the repre-

sentatives of our State in Congress, and with

the departments of the Government upon all

matters relating to harbor and other public im-

provements, commercial development, mail facil-

ities, public land surveys, etc., in this section;

and it has constantly promoted the develop-

ment of our back country by the encourage-

ment of exhibitions in the cities of California

and the Eastern States as well as at home, and

more recently by aiding the establishment of

horticultural societies throughout the county,

in correspondence with the chamber, and by

the maintenance of a permanent exhibit at its

rooms in this city of the varied productions of

our soil. It has from the first relied upon the

voluntary contributions of the citizens of San

Diego for the means to carry on its work, and

it confidently appeals to their public spirit to

enable it to continue and increase its usefulness."

The presidents of the Chamber of Commerce
have been Aaron Pauly, 1870; G. W. B. Mc-
Donald (deceased), 1871-72; J. S. Gordon,

1873-'74; W. W. Stewart, 1875-'76; James M.
Pierce (deceased), 1877-78; Charles S. Hamilton,

1879; George W. Hazzard, 1880-'81; S. Levi,

1882; A. Wentscher, 1883; George W. Mars-

ton, 1884; D. Cave, 1885; J. II. Simpson,

1886; G. G. Bradt, 1887; J. A. McKae, 1888;

Douglas Guun, 1889; John C. Fisher, 1889;

John Kastle, 1890.

The Annex has pledged its support to home
products and industries when they are equal in

quality and price to the imported articles; also

to encourage the starting of manufactories, the

building of a market-house, procuring cheaper

water, improving public parks and effective ad-

vertising are branches of its work.

The Annex has obtained from the city a grant

of ten acres, out of a large park reservation, to

beautify for a public park. A water company

has also given free water for their park, and a

San Francisco gentleman has promised a $7,000

bronze statue.

The Annex offered a prize of a handsome,

hand-painted, silk banner to that horticultural

society or district maintaining the best exhibit

at the Chamber of Commerce for a stated time.

The efforts of the chamber, thus seconded by

the Annex, resulted in the formation of new

horticultural districts, and created a healthy

rivalry among all the districts to win the banner.



tilSTORY OF SAN DIEGO COUNTY.

cnuECHES.

On Sunday, November 8, 1868, the Rev.

Sidney Wilbur, who had very lately arrived in

San Diego, celebrated the service of the Epis-

copal Church in the barracks, where the services

were held for some time after. It appears that

he organized a parish early in 1869, but the

precise date is not obtainable. The church

building was erected in 1871.

The Methodist Episcopal Church was organ-

ized in January, 1869. For some time its serv-

ices were held in a hall over Julian's store on

Filth street, and later they were held in Dun-

ham's Hall. The first pastor of this congregation

was Rev. D. A. Dryden, who reached San

Diego in October, 1869. Immediately he set

about the enterprise of erecting a church edi-

fice, and his parishioners co-operated with him

so zealously' that within four months from the

inception of the work the church was built

and paid for. The pastor made with his own

hands the pulpit and its chair. The church

was dedicated, on Sunday, February 13, 1870.

On June 5, 1869, the first Baptist Church in

San Diego was organized. W. S. Gregg and

Jacob Allen were chosen to serve as deacons,

and E. W. S. Cole as clerk. The Baptists had

the honor of building the first church ediiice

in the new city. It was begun in August, 1869,

and bv October 3 of that year it was opened

for worship, Rev. Morse preaching the first

Protestant sermon ever heard under a church

roof in San Diego County. The building was

not dedicated until a later period. Rev. O. F.

Weston was its first pastor.

The First Presbyterian Church was organized

with thirteen members on June 7, 1869. Charles

Russell Clarke, David Lamb and Samuel Merrill

were elected elders. The church building was

erected in 1871, being dedicated on Sunday,

June 8 of that year. Rev. J. S. McDonald was

the first pastor.

The Roman Catholic Church at "New Town"

occasionally enjoyed the celebration of services

in Rosario Hall on F street, but it was not until

1875 that their tine church edifice was com-

pleted, since which time services have been reg-

ularly held there. It stands on the mesa in the

western part of the city. Rev. Father Ubach

is the incumbent.

First German Methodist Episcopal Church

is located at the corner of II and Thir-

teenth streets, the Rev. L. E. Schneider, pastor.

The society was organized in February, 1887,

with a membership of two, under the leadership

of Rev. L. C. Pfeffenberger, holding its meet-

ings Sunday afternoons in Keener Chapel. This

was the home of the society for one year; at

the end of that period the present edifice was

erected, and on April 4, 1888, the first services

were held therein.

The membership had now increased to fifty.

During the fall of 1889 the present pastor took

charge, immediately succeeding the Rev. Mr.

Pfeffenberger.

At the present time the membership is

seventy-five, with an average attendance at the

various church services of 100, and a Sunday-

school attendance of seventy-five.

The church property, valued at $12,000, is

owned by the society, and is free from debt.

The Coronado Methodist Episcopal Church,

located at Coronado Beach, was organized in

1888, with a membership of twenty. The

present membership is forty.

The average attendance is 150 at the various

services. Rev. A. Inwood is pastor.

The Scandinavian Methodist Episcopal Church

was organized in 1880. Owing to depression

in business of late, many of the members of

this church have left the city, and the society

is thus somewhat crippled. The Rev. A. Peter-

son is the present pastor. Membership twenty-

five, with an attendance of forty at the Sunday

services.

The Central Methodist Episcopal Church is

located at Harrison avenue and Twenty-sixth

street, Rev. D. H. Gillan, pastor. The church

was established January 12, 1887, with a mem-
bership of twelve, under the direction of Rev.

J. I. Foote. At present the membership is 150,

with an average attendance of 300.
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The society owns property valued at $10,000.

The African Methodist Episcopal Church was

established in 1888 with a membership of nine,

which has since increased to tweuty-three. The

present attendance numbers eighty-five. Rev.

W. E. De Claybrook is the pastor.

The Middletown Methodist Episcopal Church

society was organised in 1887, and at present

worships in a hall, corner of Ash and Front

streets^ San Diego. Services are on Sunday,

conducted by Rev. W. Pittenger, of National

City, Present membership, twenty.

The National City Methodist Episcopal

Church, located in National City, was organ

ized in 1882. and in 1887 moved into its

present edifice. Membership, forty. Rev. W.
Pittenger, pastor.

Keener Chapel Methodist Episcopal Church,

South> was organized under the Rev-. J. W. Allen

in October, 1882, and held its first service in

Hubbell's Hall. Afterward a hall on Fifth

6treet, known as the old Masonic Hall, was rented

and used by the then small congregation until

the completion of the presort house of worship,

in May, 1884, and dedicated as Keener Chapel.

This church is located on very valuable prop-

erty, corner of D and Seventh streets, the gift

of Bishop Keener, of New Orleans, for whom
the edifice is named.

The church membership is seventy-five, with

an attendance at its services of 100.

Property valued at $30,000 is controlled by

the society.

Rev. James Hesley is the pastor.

The New Jerusalem Church was organized

in 1883, at a private residence, with a member-

ship of thirteen. Prior to this organization

regular meetings had been held for three years

by the promoters of the society.

From 1883 to 1890 services were held regu-

larly Sundays, and, to suit the convenience of

the members, from house to house.

In January, 1890, the Rev. Mr. Savory was

called as the first pastor of the church, and the

meetings of the society were then held for the

first time in public at Keener Chapel.

Mr. Savory is still the pastor, and church

services are conducted every Sunday. The

church membership is fourteen, with an attend-

ance of about twenty-five.

The Unitarian Church is located at the corner

of Tenth and F. Rev. P>. F. McDaniel, pastor.

The church was organized March 4, 1877. The

Rev. David Cronyer was the first pastor of the

church and officiated from the date of the or-

ganization up to January, 1887, when the

present pastor succeeded him. The society

after its organization held services in Horton

Ha'.l, up to the year 1883, when they moved to

quarters on Tenth and F. In 1888 the present

edifice was built, at a cost of $14,000, a fine build-

ing with a seating capacity of 600. There are

150 families in the society and an average at-

tendance at the Sunday services of about 250.

The Church of the Immaculate Conception

is located in the Old Town of San Diego. The

organization of this church dates back to the

year 1774-. At that time meetings were held

in the chapel attached to Fort Stockton, and

they continued to be held there until the year

1840. Shortly after this date the buildings of

the fort went to decay and the chureh held its

meetings in the house of Jose Maria Estudillo,

at the corner of the plaza, a building still in ex-

istence. This house was used as a chapel up to

the year 1858, when a wealthy Spaniard named

Jose Antonio Aguirre, purchased it and donated

it to the Roman Catholic congregation to be

used as a parish church, and it has been so

used up to the present day. This church is

under the direction and management of St.

Joseph's Roman Catholic Church, and under

the ministration of Rev. Father Ubach. The

present membership is some 200.

St. Peter's Mission Hall is located at Coro-

nado Beach. This mission was organized July,

1887, with twenty members, under the direction

of Rev. H. B. Restarick and is a mission of St.

Paul's Protestant Fpiscopal Church of San

Diego. Services were first held in the Hotel

Josephine, afterward in a store room on

Orange street, neatly fitted up as a chapel,
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where they are at present conducted. The or-

ganization receives some aid from the diocese.

At present there are fifty-two communicants in

the church. The Rev. Mr. Brown succeeded

Mr. Restarick after the organization of the

mission.

St. Mark's Episcopal Church, located at

South San Diego with Rev. W. F. Chase in

charge, is a mission of St. Paul's in San Diego,

and was organized in March, 1889, under the

direction of Rev. H. B. Restarick. Average

attendence fifty.

St. James' Mission, located at Logan avenue

and Twenty-fourth street, with Rev. S. H.
llderton in charge, is a mission of St. Paul's and

was organized in July, 1888, by the Rev. H. B.

Restarick. The attendance on the different

services is about forty, there being thirty com-

municants. The work of the mission is divided

up among the assistants of St. Paul's church.

St. Matthew's Church, located at National

City, with Rev. J. R. Cowie rector, was organ-

ized in July, 1886, by Rev. H. B. Restarick of

San Diego, with ten communicants; they Dum-

ber at present forty-one. The property owned

by the church is valued at $7,200.

The Jewish synagogue is a building at the

corner of Beech and Second streets, and is in

charge of Max Moses, Rabbi. The society was

organized in 1885, with a membership of forty,

M. Schiller being President and Dr. Frit

er Rabbi. At this time the society worshiped

in the building of the Unitarians at Tenth and

F streets. In October, 1889, they moved into

their present quarters. The congregation now
numbers eighty and M. Schiller is still the pre-

siding officer; in January, 1890, the present

rabbi was settled in charge of the synagogue.

Services are held Friday evenings at eight and

Saturday mornings at eleven. The Sunday-

school connected with the synagogue numbers

fifty scholars.

The First Congregational Church is located

at the corner of JS'inth and F streets, and is at

present without a pastor. The society was or-

ganized in August, 1886, in the rooms of the

Young Men's Christian Association, under the

direction of Rev. J. H. liarwood, D. D., and

the membership in October of the same year

numbered seventy-six. In February, 1887, the

society moved into their present Tabernacle,

remaining under the charge of Rev. Dr. Har-

wood until February, 1888, when Rev. J. B.

Silcox succeeded to the |iastorate. The present

membership is 200. The church conducts and

supports a small mission school, with a mem-
bership of thirty at Middletown.

The Second Congregational Church, located at

Twenty-sixth street and Kearny avenue, with

Rev. F. B. Perkins as pastor, was organized

February 9, 1888, by Rev. A. B. White, with sev-

enteen constituent members; the present pastor

succeeded Mr. White the following year. Pres-

ent membership forty-two.

Congregational Chinese Mission School. This

school is situated at No. 639 Thirteenth street,

under the auspices of the First Congregational

Church; it was organized in 1886, by Rev. W.

C. Pond. The mission owns a lot and com-

modious school-house on the site above noted.

For three years Mrs. M. A. McKeuzie was in

charge of the school. Miss M. E. Elliott suc-

ceeded her and now directs the institution.

Classes for study in English are held on differ-

ent evenings during the week and religious

services Sunday evenings. Thirty members

are in attendance.

Seventh Day Adventist. Elder W. M. Hea-

ley is in charge of this church, which is located

at Eighteenth and G streets. The society was

organized January 21, 1888, with a membership

of ten and at once moved into their present

building. The property is valued at $5,000 and

the society has it under its own management and

control. The present membership
£
is seventy.

The First United Presbyterian Church is

situated at Nineteenth and G streets, Rev. R.

G. Wallace being its pastor. The society or-

ganized in 1888, with a membership of twenty,

and worshiped in the court-house on I) street

for a short time. The building now used for

worship was erected in 1889, but it is still in
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an unfinished condition, owing to the very

large decrease in membership caused by the

exodus from the city of a number of families of

the church, the great depression in business

and the consequent lack of employment being

directly responsible for this.

The average attendance at the Sunday services

is about forty.

The Presbyterian Chinese Mission, organized

in 1888, and located on Eighth street, between

D and E, is connected with the First Presby-

terian Church, and supported by it, and at

present in charge of Mrs. McKenzie.

There is an attendance at the present time of

about twenty pupils.

The Presbyterian School for Chinese Chil-

dren, organized in 1888, is located on Third

street, between K and L, connected with the

First Presbyterian Church, and supported by it,

and now in charge of Miss Johnson.

There are about fifteen pupils in the school

in regular attendance at present.

In both of these Chinese institutions sessions

are held during the day. In the Mission is

conducted on Sunday evenings a gospel service,

with a large number in attendance.

The National City Presbyterian Church was

organized March 18, 1886, at National City.

Pastor, Rev. Mr. Long. The church member-

ship numbers forty, and there is an attendance

of about 100.

The Pacific Beach Presbyterian Church is

located at Pacific Beach, Rev. R. Dodd, pastor.

The church was orgamzec 1888, and its

membership at the present time numbers thirty.

The congregations on Sunday number about

ti'ty.

El Cajon Presbyterian Church was organized

in 1883, by Rev. Dr. Dodge, and is located in

the valley of the Cajon—the only Protestant

church in the valley. The society owns its fine

edifice, which is free from debt. There is a

membership of fifty, and an attendance of 100.

There is no pastor here at present.

The Coronado Presbyterian Church was or-

ganized March 18, 1888, at Coronado Beach,

under the direction of Rev. H. L. Hoyt. At

present there is no pastor.

Present membership, forty-five, with an at-

tendance of sixty.

The Cumberland Presbyterian Church was

organized in 1887, Rev. L. Clay, pastor. Present

attendance, fifty; membership, twenty.

The National City Baptist Mission is located

at National City, with Rev. J. F. Childs in

charge. It was organized in 1889, with a mem-

bership of thirty. The present attendance does

not exceed this number.

The Grand Avenue Baptist Church is located

on Grand avenue, between Twenty-ninth and

Thirtieth streets, and is a mission of the First

Baptist Church.

It was organized in February, 1889, with a

membership of thirty. Clifford Hubbell, super-

intendent.

The congregation Worshiped at first in a

store-room on Olive avenue, and on the comple-

tion of its own house of worship, in August,

1889, moved into its present quarters.

The present attendance is eighty. The super-

intendent is W. R. Guy.

The Coronado Baptist Mission, located at

Coronado Beach, has Rev. J. F. Childs for pas-

tor. It was opened September, 1888, with a

membership of twenty, being a mission of the

First Baptist Church of San Diego. The con-

gregation at present worship in a school-house.

Present attendance, thirty-five.

The Old Town Baptist Mission is located in

the Old Town of San Diego, and under the

direction of Mrs. L. Crego. The mission was

organized in 1888 with a membership of twenty-

five, under the auspices of the First Baptist

Church of San Diego, and in charge of H. S.

Hanson.

The congregation worship in a chapel of their

own, erected in 1888, and number about thirty

-

five. It is a fact of some importance that this

is the only Protestant religious organization in

the town, and the only one that was ever in ex-

istence there.

The Chollas Valley Baptist Mission, located
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in Chollas valley, was organized November,

1887, as a mission of the First Baptist Church

of San Diego, with a membership of twenty.

The present house ot worship is a school-

house, near the cemetery. Attendance at the

Sunday services numbers thirty. C. B. Allen

is the superintendent.

The Second Baptist (Colored), organized in

1888, has Rev. W. E. Sykes as pastor.

The present membership is tifty-five, with an

attendance of about seventy-five.

The Central Christian Church is located on

Thirteenth street, near F. The elder in charge

is A. B. Markle. It was organized October,

1886, with a membership of thirty-five, under

the eldership of G. R. Hand. The present edi-

fice was erected in 1888; previous to that time

meetings were held in the Louis Opera House.

The present membership is 180, with an attend-

ance of seventy-five to 150. The society con-

trols property worth $5,000.

The Lutheran Chinch was organized in 1888,

with a membership of thirty-two. Services are

held in the old Methodist Church on Third

street, under the direction of Rev. E. R. Wag-
ner.

The society is a flourishing one, with a mem-
bership of 125, and an attendance of about 100.

The Sunday-school connected with the church

is an unusually large one, there being 166

scholars enrolled.

The Theosophical Society has three branches

in the city, known as Point Loma Lodge, Gna-

tama Branch and Upasana Branch.

The Point Loma Lodge is the pioneer branch

and was established in 1887. Meetings are

held at No. 643 Sixth street every Sunday af-

ternoon and led by Thomas Docking, M. D.,

the president of the branch. The membership

of this branch is five, and there is an attendance

of twelve at the Sunday meetings.

The Cuatama Branch is an offshoot of the

Point Loma Lodge and composed mainly of its

disaffected members. It was organized in 1889,

with G. H. Stebbins as president. Meetings

are held at Ash and Second streets every Sun-

day, being open to the public only on alternate

Sundays. This branch has twelve members.

The Upasana Branch is the largest in the

city, having a charter membership of nineteen.

It was organized in 1890, with the aid of Bar-

tram Keightly, private secretary to Madam
Blavatsky. The meetings of this branch are

held in the Winona House, and are always open

to the public. Sidney Thomas is the president.

THE BENCH AND BAK.

The organization of the bench of San Diego

County took place September 2, 1850, when the

First Judicial Court convened, the Hon. O. S.

Witherby, Judge, presiding; Richard Rust,

Clerk.

This court was in session, as also were the

Court of Sessions and Probate Court, which

convened October 14, 1850, until January 6,

1880, when the Superior Court was established

;

this court up to the present date has absorbed

the work of the earlier courts and is able to ac-

complish all the work.

In the early history of the courts Los An-

geles and San Diego counties comprised the

First Judicial District; San Bernardino County

then being a part of Los Angeles County. The

first judge also was appointed by the Legisla-

ture and not elected by the people as is the

present custom. Judge Witherby, the first

presiding judge, has related some very interest-

ing experiences of his early years on the bench;

at that time, the only means of traveling long

distances in this section was in the saddle. The

judge was obliged to travel three times a year to

Los Angeles to hold court, and the round trip

occupied about seven days,—a very lonely jour-

ney, the country being but sparsely settled, not

more than half a dozen houses being seen during

an entire day.

During this period there were about 150

voters in San Diego County; any man of the

proper age was permitted to vote without re-

gard to nationality. Judge Benjamin Hayes

was the first judge elected by the people and he



B1BT0BT OF SAN DIEGO COUNTY.

ini mediately succeeded Judge Witherby, Jan-

uary 20, 1853.

There seem to have been few acts of lawless-

ness of especial interest to note during the

early history of this court; but two criminal

executions, sanctioned by the court, have oc-

curred in the hi-tory of this county and district

up to the present day. One was for murder;

the other (in 1850) for stealing. In the latter

case the criminal was tried under Judge John

Hayes in 1850, in the Court of Sessions. The

charge was that said criminal (an American)

broke into a store and stole some property.

The law at that time providing that a man

convicted of stealing should be hung, the court

had no alternative in the matter and was obliged

to pronounce the sentence of death.

Below are named the judges of all courts in

this district, from the organization of the bench

to the present day:

FIRST JUDICIAL DISTRICT COURT.

JODGE. APPOINTED.

O. S. Witherby September 7, 1850

Benjamin Hayes January 20, 1853

Bablo de la Guerra January 11, 1864

Murray Morrison July 13, 1868

Horace C. Rolfe April 8, 1872

W. T. McNealey January 12, 1874

superior court—January 6, 1880.

JUDGE. APPOINTED.

W. T. McNealey, holding over.

John D. Works October 4, 1886

Edwin Barker August 29, 1887

John R. Aitkin December 19, 1888

George Buterbaugh April 3, 1889

W. L. Bierce April 3, 1889

THE court of sessions and probate COURT.

JUDGE. APPOINTED.

John Hayes October 14, 1850

C. S. Couts, presiding March 29, 1854

D. H. liogers March 29, 1854

John Curry March 29, 1854

D. B. Kurtz, presiding .... November 19, 1854

JUDGE. APPOINTED.

H. C. Ladd November 19, 1854

C. G. Saunders November 19, 1854

W. H. Noyes, presiding October 1, 1860

A. B. Smith October 1, 1860

D. H. Hollister, presiding June 10, 1861

W. H. Noyes June 10, 1861

P. W. Huddlestou June 10, 1861

J ulio O'Suna March 7, 1864

Thomas H. Bush November 4, 1867

Moses A. Luce January 3, 1876,

to December 31, 1880, when the Superior Court

was established; during the present year (1889),

the new law giving to San Diego three Judges

and three Superior Courts, has gone into effect.

MUNICIPAL OFFICERS AND CITY AND COUNTY SCHOOL

BOARDS.

City Officers—
Mayor Douglas Gunn
City Attorney James B. Goodwin

City Clerk William M. Gassaway

City Auditor and Assessor G. W. Jorres

Treasurer and Tax Collector J. M. Dodge
City Engineer T. M. Shaw-

Police Judge M.S. Kawson

Health Officer Dr. D. Goehenaner

Chief of Boliee James Coyne

Sewer Inspector I. T. Goldthwait

Street Superintendent Amos Bettingill

Blumbing Inspector J. H. Bonder

City Justice T. J. Hays

The Board of Aldermen comprises nine

members, elected at large, and a "Board of

Delegates," consisting of two elected from

each of the nine wards.

The Board of Bublic Works is composed of

four members.

The police commissioners are four in num-

ber, besides the Mayor, president ex officio.

There are three fire commissioners, and seven

members of the City Board of Health.

The amount paid out monthly to maintain

the city government is, in round figures,

$5,000.
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Count y Officers--

W. W. Bowers Senator Fortieth District

Nestor A. Young. .Assemblyman " "

"W. D. Hamilton County Clerk

S. A. McDowell Sheriff

Ely Haight Recorder and Auditor

S. Statler . Treasurer

H. W. Weineke Tax Collector

J. M. Asher Assessor

H. C. Sangrehr Surveyor

O. J. Wellsworth, | n . .

,

T , „ ,
' V Constables

Jose (Jota,
j

W A Sloan,
j Justices of the Peace

T. J. Hays,
\

SUPERIOR COURT.

Department No. 1

—

John It. Aitken Judge

J. W. Girvin Clerk

F. K. Gallagher Reporter

Department No. 2

—

George Puterbaugh Judge

S. C. Foltz Clerk

F. Meakin Reporter

Department No. 3

—

W. L. Pierce Judge

J. McNulty Clerk

W. W. Whitson Reporter

J. S. Callen Court Commissioner

BOARD OF SUPERVISORS.

J. S. Buck First District

J. H. Woolman Second District

Chester Gunn Third District

J. M. Woods Fourth Dist., and Chairman

A. J. Stice Fifth District

E. H. Miller, Deputy County Clerk and ex

officio Clerk of Board.

SCHOOLS.

The present fine educational system in Cali-

fornia grew from small beginnings. The chil-

dren of Spanish blood came of ignorant parents,

mostly low-caste soldiers, who themselves could

neither read nor write. Officers taught their

own children, and sometimes women would

gather their own and the little ones of their

neighbors into a 6ort of dame's school, which

not infrequently inclnded an ambitious soldier.

In 1793 a royal order commanded that a school

be established in each pueblo, apparently for

the instruction of the Indians. Governor Borica

began to stir in the matter, and sought out

available teachers. At San Jose a retired ser-

geant, Manuel Vargas, had opened the first

school in the public granary. Willi character-

istic enterprise, the citizens of San Diego con-

tributed $250 per year to induce him to

transfer his enterprise thither, and by Septem-

ber, 1796, he was established there, having

twenty-two pupils. The doctrina cristiana was

ordered to be taught first, then reading and

writing. The paper for copies was supplied by

the officials, and when it had served that purpose

it was collected for wrapping cartridges. Borica

was an ardent patron of these early educational

efforts.

Don Pio Pico remembers having been a pu-

pil in a class taught in 1813 by one Jose An-

tonio Carrillo, and having covered many sheets

of paper with the name " Senor Don Felix

Maria Callejas." Also there was a school in

1818. In 1829 there was a school, with eighteen

pupils, taught for a time by Padre Menendez,

who received from $15 to $20 per month from

the municipal funds. During this decade, edu-

cational matters were greatly fostered by Gov-

ernor Sola, who contributed largely to their

support from his private purse.

In 1868 a public school was taught in the

barracks. Shortly thereafter, the trustees of the

school district acquired the land which is now

occupied by the present school buildings. The

people residing in the eastern part of the town

organized a separate district, and built a school-

house.

The first private school was the academy of

Professor Oliver, established in 1869. In 1873

this gentleman sold the school building to Miss

S. M. Gunn, who removed it to another site,

improved it to such an extent that it was sub-

stantially a new building, and in it established
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the San Diego Academy. Later, in 1873, Rev.

D. F. McFarlaad opened a private seminary,

which suspended in 1875; and still later, in

1873, Mrs. O. W. Gates established the Point

Loma Seminary.

San Diego i.s now behind none in educational

facilities. The new charter assures to the city

a judicious and well managed school system,

aud a progressive board of education insures

its carrying out. Some idea of the recent growth

of the schools may be gained from the follow-

ing figures: On September 18, 1888, there

were 1,639 pupils and 37 teachers. On March

8, 1889, there were 1,847 pupils. During the

month of December, 1889, there were enrolled

2,215 pupils, and a constant corps of 61 ex-

perienced teachers. Handsome new school-

houses have replaced the poor and inadequate

buildings of a year ago, and others are projected.

During the past year have been erected the

Sherman Heights building, which cost $25,000,

and the B street building, costing $26,750.

They each contain four basement rooms, eight

session-rooms, a large assembly-room, a princi-

pal's office, closets, store-rooms, and laboratories.

The halls are very large and airy, the ventilation

perfect, and the architectural effects very pleas-

ing. Another building is to be erected shortly,

of the same size as these, which will favorably

bear comparison with other school edifices

wherever. There are also two other large build-

ings, the Kuss aud the Middletown school, of

eight to ten session-rooms each; and there is

the Coronado school with five rooms, the East

with five, the Sherman with four, the North

with two, and five suburban schools of one

room each. The enrollment for December in

all the schools was 2,215. The number of

teachers employed is sixty-one, including a

special teacher of music, and a special teacher

of drawing. The High School, which is in the

Kuss building, has ninety-two pupils. The

course covers sufficient ground to enable grad-

uates to enter the State University without ex-

amination. The curriculum includes Latin,

French, and German. Such pupils as complete

only the common-school course are thoroughly

grounded in the common-school branches of an

English education, with an elementary knowl-

edge of the modern sciences; and those in the

eighth grade receive such a thorough drill in

elementary book-keeping as fits them to take

charge of the books of any common small

business.

Rev. B. F. McDaniels, a member of the board

of education, is an enthusiastic and energetic

worker. He introduced into the schools this year

a system of savings banks, which is a complete suc-

cess. The children have deposited $1,376.14 in

the savings bank in the four months since it

was introduced into the schools. Besides saving

so much money from useless and sometimes

harmful expenditure, the children are acquiring

habits of thoughtful economy and thrift, an

appreciation of the value and the proper use of

money, and some practical knowledge of the

manner of transacting business in banks.

It is proposed also to give the pupils of the

public schools of San Diego the benefit of

manual training in connection with industrial

drawing.

The total number of pupils enrolled is 3,282;

the average daily attendance is 1,973.

In addition to the public schools, there are vari-

ous private institutions of learning, as follows:

The Southwest Institute, established by Mrs.

M. E. Pierce in 1886. This is a boarding and

day school for girls and boys. Since 1889 it

has been under the charge of Miss May and

Miss Kinney. Some ninety pupils are in at-

tendance.

The Academy of Our Lady of Peace was

established in 1882 by the Sisters of St. Joseph.

It is under the management of the main con-

vent at South St. Louis. This is a boarding

and day school. There are some 225 pupils in

attendance, under the immediate supervision of

Mother Valeria, the Sister Superior.

Miss Phillips' School for Boys and Girls is

an institution established in 1890, for the pri-

mary and intermediate grades, admitting day

pupils only.
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The San Diego Business College was organ-

ized April 1, 1888, under the direction of Pro-

fessor Phillips, as the business department of

the University of Southern California, but it is

now operated independently. At present there

are twenty-five pupils in attendance.

The Indian Training School is located at Old

Town. It is under the direction and manage-

ment of Father Ubach, of the Roman Catholic

Church of St. Joseph, at San Diego.

This school was established in 1866. It has

at present in attendance some seventy-five pu-

pils, mostly Indians.

There are in charge as teachers four Sisters

of the Roman Catholic faith, and also a farmer

and a mechanic, who give special instructions

in their respective branches.

The Conservatory of Music was established

in September, 1887, as a branch of the Uni-

versity of Southern California. It is commonly

known as the musical department of the College

of Fine Arts, which is in course of construction

ou University Heights, San Diego, its comple-

tion being retarded by the great financial de-

pression existing at present. This institution

is now conducted independently of the Uni-

versity. Professor J. H. Hill is at its head at

present, having under his charge ninety pupils

pursuing the course of the different depart-

ments. A number of prominent citizens, in-

cluding Mrs. W. J. Hunsaker, Altamirano, M.

Johnson and Mrs. H. L. Story, have offered

valuable medals to the pupils most diligent and

most successful in their studies, the awards to

be made at the annual public concert (held iu

June) of the institution.

THE COUNTY SCHOOLS.

The number of school districts in San Diego

County, including the city, is 110. There are

181 teachers, who hold the following grades of

certificates: Grammar school course or high

school, six; grammar grade, 103; primary

grade, seventy-two. The amount paid during

the last school year, ending June 30, 1889, to

these teachers, was $109,190.73, an average of

$69.75, or to female teachers $68.40, per month.

The expenditures for the year were as follows:

Teachers' salaries $109,190.73

Contingent expenses 38,536.5;;

School Libraries 2,317.58

Apparatus 1,857.34

School sites, buildings and furniture 95,894.58

Total $247,790.76

The total amount received from various

sources was:

State School Fund $ 75,563.28

County Sch-ool Taxes 72,786.32

City and District Taxes 170,573.85

Total $318,923.45

The total amount invested in school lots,

houses, furniture, libraries, apparatus, etc., is

$310,543, divided as follows:

School lots, houses and furniture $293,148

Libraries 11,021

School apparatus 6,374

Total $310,543

To the above must be added the value of

school-houses and furniture, added, or now
under contract

k since the close of the last school

year, which increases the above total by $50,000,

making the present valuation $360,543.

The average number of months that school

was in session during the year in the various

districts was eight and two-tenths; the total

number of children enrolled was 6,987; the

average number belonging to school, 4,586; and

the average daily attendance 4,279, or ninety-

three per cent., a very large percentage of at-

tendance.

The total number of census children (chil-

dren from five to seventeen years <5f age) in the

110 districts is 8,319, divided as follows:

whites, 8,197; negroes, eighty-seven; Indians

under white guardianship, thirty; native-born

Mongolians, five. Of the 6,986 enrolled chil-

dren before mentioned, ninety-four were in the

high school grade; rive in the grammar school

course; 875 in the grammar grade, and 6,012

in the primary grade.

The City Board of Education is composed of
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a president, the City Superintendent of Schools,

and two members from each of the nine wards

of the city.

The County Board of Education comprises

the County Superintendent of Schools and four

other members Irom various school districts.

This board meets on the Thursday preceding

the first Monday in January, April, July and

October.

There are 110 school districts in the county.

The number of teachers employed, including

San Diego city, is about 200.

The County Superintendent of Schools is

R. D. Butler, and the City Superintendent of

San Diego is Eugene de Burn.

San Diego's first newspaper, the Herald, was

established by J. Judson Ames, on May 29,

1851. It devoted much 6pace to transconti-

nental railway news, and the meetings held to

raise subsidies to bring a Southern railroad to

San Diego, as elsewhere stated in the annals of

this decade. State division was also canvassed

at this early day, and became somewhat of a

hobby with the Herald. This was a Demo-

cratic organ, ardently espousing the interests of

Governor Bigler. During the absence of Ames
on political business in San Francisco, the Her-

ald was edited by Lieutenant J. H. Derby, of

the United States Topographical Engineers,

who promptly changed its politics, nailing the

Whig standard to the mast-head, and support-

ing the ticket with great zeal and enthusiasm.

The wit of Derby, or, as he was known in print,

"Phoenix," was something phenomenal; and

the columns of that remote provincial journal,

while under his administration, sparkled with a

brilliancy not common in metropolitan issues.

In 1859 the Herald suspended. For nine years

(1859 to 1868) San Diego had no newspaper.

On October 10, 1868, the San Diego Union

was founded by Gatewood & Briseno. It was

issued as a weekly until March 20, 1871, and

thereafter as a weekly and daily. In 1869

Taggart & Bushyhead were the publishers; j n

1870 and 1871 they were Dodge & Bushyhead;

from July, 1871, to June, 1873, Bushyhead &
Gunn; thereafter Douglas Gunn was the pub-

lisher until the plant was sold in 1886 to the

Union Company. For sixteen years (1870 to

1886) Hon. Douglas Gunn, now (1889) Mayor

of San Diego, was the Union's editor, and his

ability brought it up to a high degree of excel-

lence and prominence. It is now issued as a

daily and weekly.

In May, 1870, W. H. Gould established the

Bulletin, which was published as a weekly until

May, 1871, and then, until June, 1872, as a

daily and weekly.

The World was established June, 1872, by

W. J. Gatewood, and continued about two years

ae a daily and weekly.

From 1875 until 1877 the News was pub-

lished by J. M. Julian & Co.

Mrs. C. P. Taggart established the Sun, and

sold it after a time to the Sun Publishing Com-
pany, which comprised a number of the leading

citizens of San Diego. In 1886 it was pur-

chased by Warren Wilson, who with great suc-

cess continued it until he sold it in February,

1889, to the present Sun Publishing Company,

in which Walter G. Smith and W. E. Simpson

are the principal stockholders, who issue it as a

daily and weekly.

In May, 1885, D. P. St. Clair started the

San Diego Californian, which encountered

many vicissitudes during its career of some two

months.

J. M. Julian, Ed. J. Bacon and Julian Regan

established, in 1885, the Democratic San I)ie-

gan, W'hich was sold in February, 1889, to Sul-

livan & Waite, the present publishers, who issue

it daily and weekly.

A few years since, Clara S. Foltz, in conjunc-

tion with Messrs. Cothran and Benjamin, estab-

lished the Bee, which, after one or two changes,

became absorbed by the Union Company.

The Bennett Brothers, in 1887, established

the JVews, which they issued as a daily for six

months, and then removed it to Ensenada,

Lower California. During the "boom" period
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a number of other publications sprang into

ephemeral existence, only to expire again very

shortly. The Coronado Argus, the Sunday

Telegram, the Sunday News, and the Pacific

Beach, are among these ill-fated children of the

press.

Besides the journals already mentioned as

surviving, San Diego city has at the present

time (December, 1889) the following: County

Reporter, weekly; JVeuigkeiten, weekly; Ar-

gosy, weekly; Enterprise, weekly; Sued-Cali-

fornia Deutsche-Zeitung, weekly; Informant,

weekly; Great Southwest, monthly; Young

Men's Journal, monthly; West American Sci-

entist, monthly; and Golden Era Magazine,

the oldest illustrated magazine on the Pacific

coast, established thirty-seven years ago.

In the interior the following are the points

which support local newspapers, the names of

which, together with those of their editors, are

appended: San Jacinto, The Register, Arthur

G. Munii; Escondido, The Times, James

Trownsell; Oceanside, The Herald, J. M. Mar-

tin; Del Mar, The Coast Vidette, Sam. F. Da-

vis; Julian, The Sentinel, J. A. Jasper; Otay,

The Press, A. J. Jenkins; Perris, The Valley

Union, H. McPhee, National City.

FRATERNAL ORGANIZATIONS.

The Masonic order is the oldest in date of

the fraternal organizations of San Diego. The

senior lodge, San Diego Lodge, No. 35, was

granted its charter May 6, 1853. The first offi-

cers were: James W. Robinson, Master; Philip

Crosthwaite, S. W., and William EL Moon, J.

W. This lodge met in Old Town until 1877,

when it removed to its present lodge rooms.

San Diego Lodge, No. 153, of the Independ-

ent Order of Odd Fellows, was organized

March 23, 1869. Its first officers were: John

R. Porter, N. G.; Alex. M. Young, V. G.; F.

Marlette, R. S., and S. Culverwell, T.

Monument Lodge of Good Templars wa6 in-

stituted April 2, 1869. A list of its first offi-

cers is not obtainable.

The following is a list of the secret orders or

fraternal societies at present existing in San

Diego

:

A. O. F. Court of San Diego, No. 7,592, or-

ganized January 1, 1870. Has ninety-five mem-
bers. A. O. F., Court of San Diego, No. 1,799,

organized 1889. Has fifty-four members.

A. O. U. W., Point Loma Lodge, No. 248,

organized June, 1887, membership, 100; San

Diego Lodge, No. 160, organized January 30,

1880, membership, 85; Loyal Knights, Cuya-

maca Legion, No. 20, organized June, 1889,

membership, thirty; A. & A. S. R., Constans

Lodge of Perfection, No. 15, organized May
13, 1887, membership, 22; Caledonian Society,

organized 1889, membership, eighty-four; F.

& A. M., San Diego Chapter, No. 61, R. A. M.;

San Diego Commandery, No, 25, K. T. ; South-

ern Star Chapter & Order of the Eastern Star,

No. 96, organized 1889, membership, eighty;

G. A. R., Heintzelman Post, No. 33, organized

1881, membership, 325; I. O. O. F., Coronado

Lodge, No. 328, organized December 1, 1886,

membership, 105; Canton Lodge, San Diego, No.

22, membership, thirty-two; Centennial En-

campment, No. 58, membership, 110; General

Relief Committee; Silver Gate Rebecca Degree

Lodge, No. 141, organized 1889, membership,

fifty; Knights of the Golden Eagle, San Diego

Castle, No. 2, organized August 22, 1887, and

reorganized February 6, 1889, membership,

fifty -two; Knights of Pythias, Red Star Lodge,

No. 153, organized September 28, 1887; San

Diego Lodge, No. 28, organized 1872, member-

ship, 125; Native Sons of the Golden West, San

Diego Parlor, No. 108, organized June, 1887,

membership, eighty-four; O. C. F., San Diego

Council, No. 92, organized 1881, membership,

forty; Concordia Turnverein, formed February

1, 1890, by an amalgamation of the San Diego

and the Phoenix Turnvereins, membership, 100;

Sous of Veterans, U. S. Camp, No. 21, organized

September, 1889, membership, twenty-eight;

Royal Arcanum, San Diego Council, No. 1,214,

organized December 5, 1889, membership,

thirty-three; I. O. B. B., Lasker Lodge, No. 370,

organized 1886, membership, thirty.
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None of the organizations heretofore enu-

merated own the buildings wherein they hold

their various meetings. The edifice known as

"Odd Fellows' Hall," and also as "Masonic Hall,"

is owned by a stock company composed of repre-

sentatives from these two societies, associated

with another party; thus, while the building is

devoted to the purposes of these fraternities, it

is not controlled by either one exclusively. It

is a three-story edifice, substantial and with

good appointments.

There are, moreover, the following organ-

izations: Sons of Temperance, Golden Gate

Division, No. 50, organized November, 1889,

membership, twenty-one; San Diego Typo-

graphical Union, No. 221, membership, sixty;

United Endowment Associates, organized Octo-

ber, 1889, membership, thirty-two.

Furthermore, there are various societies of a

miscellaneous character, with interests scientific,

philanthropic, social, and athletic, including:

San Diego Society of Natural History, organ-

ized November 2, 1874, membership, thirty-six;

Society for the Improvement and Beautifying

of San Diego; San Diego County Medical So-

ciety, organized December, 1886, membership,

forty-two; President, Dr. T. L. Magee; Vice-

Fresident, Dr. F. 11. Burnham; Secretary and

Treasurer, Dr. Edwin Carson; the Cuyamaca

Club, membership, ninety one; the Mizpah

Club, organized July, 1888, membership, sixty;

Excelsior Rowing & Swimming Club, organized

June, 1888, membership, seventy; Silver Gate

Athletic Club, organized September, 1889,

membership, 100; Seventh Ward Lyceum, or-

ganized September, 1889, membership, 100;

Women's Industrial Exchange, organized in

1887, for the aid and the general benefit of

women; the Young Men's Christian Associ-

ation, organized April 27, 1882, reorganized

September 29, 1884: Women's Christian Tem-
perance Union, organized 1881 for the county,

whose membership is forty; for city, organized

1883, incorporated 1890, having a membership

of forty-seven; Young Women's Christian Tem-
perance Union, organized in 1890, as an aux-

iliary of the San Diego Union; Women's
"Central" Christian Temperance Union, organ-

ized April, 1887, membership, thirty.

The City Guard Band was organized on

January 7, 1885, and their first public engage-

ment was during the great local exhibit of

agricultural products at Armory Hall in the

same year, shortly after the completion of the

California Southern Railway. At that time the

leader was C. A. Burgess, who was succeeded

in the following year by C. M. Walker. In the

month of August, 1887, the late R. J. Pennell

and J. M. Dodge conceived the idea of sending

the band East for the purpose of advertising

the city and county. Within three weeks no

less a sum than $8,000 had been subscribed,

and the band, numbering twenty-one pieces,

started out. Thej were absent forty-two days,

and journeyed to Boston and back, and spent

eight days at the G. A. R. Encampment at St.

Louis, where they were given the place of honor

at the head of the procession, in which nearly

fifty bands, from all parts of the Union, partici-

pated. Before returning they visited every im-

portant city in the States, and did much good

work. They carried with them a banner bear-

ing the legend, "San Diego, California," besides

considerable literature of value for general dis-

tribution. The band is in a better condition

now than ever before. It has magnificent quar-

ters, a library valued at over $4,000, and owes

nothing.

THE FIKE DEPARTMENT.

San Diego can boast of one of the most

efficient brigades on the coast. It was organ-

ized by the Board of Fire Commissioners created

by the charter. This board is composed of J. P.

Burt, president; J. K. Hamilton and E. F. Rock-

fellow, the last named being the long term mem-
ber. Henry Bradt is the secretary. The board

elected A. B. Cairnes as chief on the 5th of

June last, since which date, under his efficient

supervision, the department has been made what

it is. The total strength of the department is

forty-two, in addition to which there is still a

volunteer company doing duty in the Land and
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Town Company's addition. The force consists

of one chief, two engineers, five foremen, six-

drivers and twenty-eight firemen. There are

two steam tire engines, two hose carriages, one

hose wagon and two hook and ladder wagons.

There are eleven horses, all in the best condi-

tion, and a credit to those who have them in

their care. There is a good electric alarm sys-

tem, by which the various companies are noti-

fied simultaneously in case of fire.

Since the reorganization of the department in

June last, there have been eight fires, resulting

in a loss to property of $3,200, the loss in every

instance being fully covered by insurance.

The Consolidated National is the successor of

the .Bank of San Diego (the first in the county,

established in 1870) and the Commercial Bank.

The union of the two banks in the present

establishment took place in 1879, the president

then being 0. S. Witherby, and the manager

Bryant Howard. Its stockholders represent over

$7,000,000 worth of property. Its present presi-

dent is Bryant Howard, and the vice-president

and acting cashier, J. H. Barbour.

The doors of the California National were

opened for business January 9, 1888. On De-

cember 31, 1889, this bank had a paid up capi-

tal of $250,000; undivided profits of $60,000

cash; sight exchauge of $350,000, and a line of

deposits of almost $900,000. The officers are:

William Collier, president; D. D. Dare, vice-

president; J. W. Collins, cashier.

In the same building and under the same

management is the California Mortgage, Loan

and Trust Company, with a paid up capital of

$125,000.

The Savings Bank of San Diego County oc-

cupies the same rooms as the Consolidated

National Bank, and was the first savings bank

established in the county. It has been very

successful, having paid its depositors larger

dividends than any other savings bank in the

State. As the State law holds the stockholders

liable for deposits in proportion to the demands

of their capital stock, without limit, and as the

stockholders <>f this bank are nearly the same as

those of the Consolidated National Bank, this

is among the strongest and safest institutions

in California.

The first National Bank opened in 1884, with

a capital of $50,000. Its paid up capital is

now over $300,000 in gold coin, being the

greatest of any bank in the county. It has paid

liberal dividends, and has a surplus of $700,000.

Its present officers are: J. Gruendike, presi-

dent; R. A. Thomas, vice-president; Jerry

Toles, cashier.

TRAFFIC.

The traffic to and from San Diego is carried

by the Atchison, Topeka & Santa Fe system,

the San Diego, Cuyamaca & Eastern road, the

Pacific Coast Steamship Company, the Spreckels

line of clipper ships, the pioneer line from New
York, and the Mexican, International, Pacific

and Gulf of California steamship lines. All

these companies report a good business, with

prospects of a very prosperous year for 1890.

Other railroad and steamship lines are ex-

pected to reach San Diego in the near future,

which will be an important feature in her

growth.

The year just closed has been a successful

one to the California Southern (of the Santa Fe

system). The following record of freight ship-

ments shows a fair increase for the year:

FREIGHT RECEIVED AT SAN DIEGO.

MONTH. POUNDS. REVENUE.

January 8,253,990 $53,0(59.50

February 5,770,778 24,816.09

March 3,473,207 22,4:14.14

April 5,336,404 18,270.48

May 4,641.080 19,852.53

June 6,388,213 26,203.03

July 9,849,970 36,365.24

August 8,032,209 31,944.70

September 8,698,779 29,045.88

October 8,607,313 25,515.58

November 7,745,160 24,858.06

December 4,482,397 22,377.88

Total 81,296,414
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FREIGHT FORWARDED FROM SAX DIEGO.

January.

.

February.

March
April

May
June
July

POUNDS. BEVEN'

. . 9,355,000 $18,763.

. . 7,342,950 14,346.

.. 9,023,750 17,449,

. . 9,695,370 59,490

.11,689,150 20,359.

.. 9,041,360 16,285.

.. 9,952,660 14,919.

August 10,560,770 17,178.

September 7,326,960 16,701.

October 16,172,270 35,730

November 8,449,930 21,585.

December 4,566,250 50,794.

Total 1 13,694,930 $223,402.48

The two tables show a very good percentage

in favor of San Diego. During the year 81,000,-

000 pounds of freight were received, and 113,-

000,000 pounds were shipped. There were

82,000,000 pounds more shipped than received.

The bulk of the shipment out has been coal,

lumber and general merchandise to Los Angeles

and surrounding towns, while the shipments in

are largely from the East, so that the revenue

derived by the railway is larger from the long

haul than from the short haul out.

Owing to discriminating rates against San

Diego by the Santa Fe" many thousand bushels

of wheat and barley from San Jacinto and other

rich sections of the county naturally tributary

to San Diego have been shipped to San Fran-

cisco via Lo6 Angeles. The matter of discrim-

inating rates has been investigated by the

Chamber of Commerce, and the Santa Fe people

have pledged themselves to give San Diego an

equal show with Los Angeles. This means that

San Diego will get the business, for lower rates

prevail from San Diego by ocean than from Los

Angeles, whicli* must also include a rail ship-

ment of nearly thirty miles before reaching the

ocean.

The passenger business of the year is repre-

sented by the ticket sales which have amounted

to $200,000 during the year. The number of

pieces of baggage received during the year was

16,130. The number of pieces forwarded was

15,849, showing nearly 1000 more pieces re-

ceived than forwarded.

During the past year but two steamer lines

entered the port. The year has seen one other

begun, and the plans laid for still others.

From the Pacific Coast Steamship Company
plying between San Francisco and San Diego

and intermediate ports, the following report is

received regarding its use of the harbor:

MONTH.
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be the nearest western harbor to the western

outlet of the Nicaragua canal.

The Spreckels Line.—J. D. Spreckels has als-o

put on a line of ships from New York to San Di-

ego and controls more ships thai) any other man

whose wares cross the Pacific. The freight rate

for goods shipped by vessel from New York to

San Diego is only about one-half that of goods

shipped by rail, and hence these new lines will

be largely patronized. Mr. Spreckels is one of

America's shrewdest shippers, and now has ten

or fifteen ships en route from the various parts

of the world to San Diego.

The Mexican International Line.—The full

name of the above company is the Mexico, In-

ternational, Pacific and Gulf of California

Steamship Line. Two steamers are owned by

this company—the Manuel Dublan and Carlos

Pacheco. The former, which is much the larger

of the two, makes three trips a week to Ensen-

ada with passengers and freight, and two trips

a month to San Quentin. The Carlos Pacheco

alone was used until about three months ago,

when the business increased so rapidly that the

Manuel Dublan was put on in her stead.

Importation and Exportation Line.—The

Southern California Importation and Exporta-

tion Company was recently formed here by W.
De Silva and Ohlmeyer Brothers & Company.

These people have seen the advantages of run-

ning a line of steamers from this port to Mexi-

can and Gulf of California ports, and propose to

occupy the field. Their San Diego office is in

the Louis block, and as soon as the steamer

which they have purchased in London, aud

which is now coming around the Horn, arrives,

she will be put into service. The steamer is

about the size of the Corona. If her operation

proves a success, and there is no reason to be-

lieve she will not, other steamers will be put on

the line with her.

The Opposition Line.—Within the past two

months another San Francisco line has begun

running a steamer into this port, making the

trip about every ten days. The steamer Santa

Maria is the only one of the line thus far put

on, but it is the intention to increase the service

should the business warrant.

THE CHARITABLE INSTITUTIONS.

The San Diego Benevolent Institution, to re-

lieve the deserving poor, was organized some

years since. Its income is from voluntary con-

tributions and from an allowance of $100

monthly from the county funds.

The San Diego County Hospital and Poor

Farm, established July 1, 1872, had received up

to July, 1889, 1,237 patients. Its capacity is

some sixty patients.

The Catholic Ladies' Aid Society, organized

April, 1888, is a well equipped and organized

body for the succor of the poor of all creeds and

nations.

The Brewster Sanitarium is not yet running,

though the property for its establishment, val-

ued at $25,000, in Paradise Valley, has been

deeded for the purpose by Mrs. Elizabeth A.

Brewster.

The Free Dispensary, founded by Dr. G. H.

Schmitt, early in 1888, treated, during the year

1889, cases to the number of 1,910. In con-

nection with it, is established a system of med-

ical insurance against illness and accident.

The Hospital of the Good Samaritan, under

the management of a number of the leading

ladies of San Diego, receives as patients gratis

those unable to pay for attendance, as well as

paying patients. This hospital was incorporated

November, 1877.

, PENAL INSTITUTIONS.

The County Jail, situated in the basement of

the court-house was built in 1872, and has ac-

commodation for ninety male.and ten female

prisoners. It is under the immediate charge of

the sheriff and his deputy.

The City Prison is situated at the corner of

India and F streets and is in charge of the

chief of police. There are accommodations for

fifty prisoners.

STREET CARS.

The San Diego Street Car Company closed

the books of 1889 with ten miles of street car
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lines in operation, and eleven miles of motor

lines. They have thirty-three cars, 150 horses,

and give employment to sixty men. During

the year they carried 1,587,807 passengers, a

notable increase over the preceding twelve

months.

The San Diego Cable Road Company was in-

corporated in August, 1889, with a capital re-

source of $500,000, represented by some of the

wealthiest citizens of San Diego. In June,

1890, they have built four miles of track, on

which twelve cars are in operation, with an in-

creased number available at need.

MILITARY.

During the earlier years of existence, San

Diego had no larger regular military force than

others of the establishments, and it only became

a regular presidio under a new reglamento in

1774.

.During the decade 1791-1800 there was

maintained in California a military force of 280

men of the presidial companies, a governor and

a surgeon; and, after 1796, ninety Catalan vol-

unteers and artillerymen. Of officers, twelve

were commissioned, thirty-five non-commis-

sioned; there were 260 privates, sixty pension-

ers and four or five mechanics. The term of

enlistment was for ten years, or eighteen years'

service for retirement as invalids on half-pay.

Recruits were so scarce that often pensioners

were long retained in the service. The annual

salaries ranged from $96, paid an invalid soldier,

to $840, paid the Captain of Catalan volunteers,

and $4,000 to the Governor, who was Lieuten-

ant-Colonel. Military discipline appears to have

been very slack, and various un-soldierly duties

were imposed upon the men. No flags were

possessed here until 1795, when one for each

garrison was sent from Mexico. In 1797 arms

and ammunition were distributed among the

settlers, whom it was attempted to organize as

militia, in view of apprehended foreign attack.

Down to 1819, the San Diego force was 100

men, including two officers, sixty-nine soldiers of

the presidial company, twenty-three invalids.

four artilerymen and two mechanics. Of these

sometifty-tive were in San Diego presidio. When
Portilla came with his Mazatlan company, tifty-

five of them remained at San Diego; it must be

remembered that this presidio still held military

jurisdiction over San Gabriel. No soldier or

officers received any pay during that decade.

By the decade 1831-1840, the garrison of

San Diego was scarcely more than farcical, the

forces had long been unpaid, and from 1837 the

presidio was abandoned.

On his visit to San Diego in January, 1842,

Duflot de Mofras found a few soldiers and one

officer at the pueblo, and a few cannon half-

buried among the ruins and in the sand at the

old presidio. These, together with the poten-

tial balls to be found at the old fort, the prefect

instructed Jose A. Estudillo to bring away, in

October of that year; this removal was rendered

unnecessary when, in the next month, Captain

Phelps of the Alert, in connection with the

Jones affair, spiked the guns and threw into the

bay the rest of the small furniture. This prac-

tically ended the old presidio existence, the last

trace of which is found in a report made that

month by the Alferez, Salazar, that he had a

total force of fourteen men, with neither guns

nor ammunition.

The year 1846 witnessed the establishment of

a military post at San Diego, the troops being

quartered at the old mission until 1856. The

post was commanded during various periods by

Heintzelmau, Magruder, Burton, Winder and

Fauntleroy. Captain Winder, who resigned

from the army a few years since, and who is

now a well-known citizen of San Diego, arrived

at the post in 1854, with two companies of the

Third Artillery. His company was assigned to

escort the first survey for the Pacific Railroad

under Lieutenant Parke of the Topographical

Engineers; this expedition set out March 26,

1855. It was under directions to explore the

outlet of the Mojave river, and did discover the

point of its disappearance at Soda Lake.

While Colonel Magruder was in command at

the Mission, in 1854, a military execution took
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place there, under sentence of a court martial,

for the murder on the desert of Colonel Craig.

A large concourse of spectators gathered at the

post to witness their execution.

The barracks at New Town were built in 1851,

but the building was not occupied by troops

until the arrival of the volunteers in 1862, it

having been originally designed for a military

storehouse and depot. Major McKinstry was

in charge of the depot as Chief Quartermaster,

and large trains were despatched thence with

supplies for the troops at Yuma and other

western points.

The Government maintained a military post

at Sau Diego until 1867, although on the out-

break of the civil war, the regular troops were

transported by steamer to the East, to partici-

pate in operations there, while their place at

San Diego was supplied by volunteer forces.

Prior to this time the water supply for the bar-

racks had been conveyed down thither from the

Mission valley, but Captain A- S. Grant, who

arrived with the volunteers, made the notable

discovery that good water could be had by sink-

ing a well, and the first one at the post was

sunk by him, in what is now known as Sher-

man's addition.

Although the military post was finally re-

duced in 1866, a few troops have been there

quartered much of the time since then, a de-

tachment occupying the barracks at present.

It is not unlikely that the Government will

deem it wise to re-establish a military post at

San Diego in the future, as it affords one of

the most favorably situated points on the coast

for the purposes of a military depot.

The rest of San Diego's military defenses is

represented by the First Brigade National

Guard of California, Ninth Infantry Regiment,

Rawlins Cadwallader commanding; and by

Company B, San Diego Guards organized in

April, 1881. Douglas Gunn is the present

Captain.

An excellent idea of the commerce of San

Diego may be had from the appended state-

ments of statistics relative to

CUSTOMS AND EXPORTS.

The fiscal year at the custom house ends on

the 30th of each June. The records as kept there

relate to the h'scal year only. The following

shows the collections at the custom house for the

years ending June 30, during the past decade:

1880 $ 23,583

1881 24,382

1882 ^53.089

1883 91,139

1881 12,601

1885 5,789

1886 10,717

1887 29,845

188M 311,935

1889 ». 156,176

$1,029,266

The value of the exports from the port dur-

ing the past three years has been,

—

Ending June 30, 1887 $ 165,909

" 30,1888 371,360

" 30,1889 376,799

To December 31, 1889 164,817

$1,078,885

The number of vessels entering from foreign

ports during the same year has been,

Ending June 30, 1887 116

" 30,1888 284
' 30,1889 225

To December 31, 1889 89

713

During the tame period there have cleared

from the port for foreign ports vessels as follows:

Ending June 30, 1887 109

" 30,1888 233

« 30,1889 181

To December 31, 1889 67

590

San Diego district stands third on the list as

an economic district, as in only two other dis-

tricts is the cost of collection less in proportion

to the amount collected, than it is here.

During the present year an experiment has

been tried which in itself was successful in

more ways than one. Three vessels which ar-

rived here coal laden secured cargoes out for

Seattle and went there for cargoes of wheat.
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The Highland Light cleared with 208 tons of

brick and 140 tons of hay; the Southern Chief

took away 330 tons of brick, 305 tons of hay,

and twelve tons of lime; the Richard III,

loaded with 110 tons of common brick, 167

tons of pressed brick, 277 tons of hay, and 112

tons of barley, the three shipments being as

foil .ws: by the Highland Light, 348 tons; by

the Southern Chief, 647 tons; by the Richard

III, 666 tons; making a total of 1,661 tons

sent out. These are the first shipments sent

north, and the success of the same may lead to

a large business in that direction in the future.

The trade with Mexico shows a large increase

over that of last year, although it is not easy to

secure all the data necessary for a complete com*

parison. During the year the Manuel Dnblan

or the Pacheco has been running regularly, and

part of the time both. The time during which

both steamers were running was in February

and Maich, when the excitement which followed

the discovery of gold in Alamo caused so great

an influx of miners and freight, During those

months the trade both by sea and via Tia Juana

was considerably heavier, and it has been only

since that time that, any record has been kept

which could be secured at the Tia Juana line.

It is undeniably true, however, that the amount

of business done heretofore by the line has

been more than doubled during 1889.

The following tabulated statement of the

business done at th« frontier custom-house of

Mexico shows the extent of this increased traffic

during the months named. The report for the

last two months could not be obtained, but the

amount of business is about the same as that of

the months preceding. The following is the table:

Months. No. pack- Value
-

. Duties col- Total

ageB. lected. pounds.

March 7,850 $31,553.00 $11,193.88 375,327

April 1,293 11,93200 2,372.74 301,669

May 16,799 46,074.00 3 029. 1

5

225,925

June 5,993 26,902.00 2,677.62 34'. ,079

July 9,218 28.965.50 3,490.98 324,470

August 1,997 19,986.25 2,684.27 372,324

September.. 4,04* 18,583.50 3,279.65 383,292

October .... 1,993 3,518.00 3,279.85 404,523

49,191 $192,514.25 $31,987.14 2,734,589

Much of this business was transacted from

here to the line via the National City & Otay

road, from whence freighters took it to the

mines, though some of it was freighted on both

sides of the line. The principal articles which

enter into the trade with the lower country are:

Quicksilver, steel in bars, coal, all kinds of

tools for miners, etc., lumber, machinery for

mining purposes, hay, grain, giant powder, fuse,

caps, cotton goods, clothing, cotton, linen and

wool, brandies, almonds, sugar, sausages, coffee,

onions, potatoes, beer, chocolate, wines, dried

fruits, crackers, fruits, flour, lard, butter, honey,

pastes, dried fish, pepper, cheese, salt, sardines,

wheat, beans, vinegar, glass articles, steel and

iron articles, copper sheets, shot, curtains, band

instruments, watches, hand machines and hand

mills, carts, wagons, carriages of all kinds, black

powder, articles manufactured of wood, all

kinds of furniture, articles manufactured of

board and paper, saddles, harness and leather

articles, shoes and leather boots, coal oil, oils of

all kinds and drugs, brooms, axle grease, soaps,

chewing tobacco and tobaccos of all kinds, can-

dles, etc., etc., etc.

Trade via the steamer line has also greatly

increased. During the year 1888 the value of

exports to Mexico was $128,824.86. The in-

crease is readily seen in the following report

for the last four months, or since September 1,

1889. During these four months the number

of packages handled was 37,119; pounds of

freight, 1,661,537; feet of lumber, 173,046;

value of merchandise, $74,620.22. By the

above it will be seen that the entire business of

1888 was not twice what it has been during the

past four months.

The return business from Lower California is

not so heavy, consisting principally of gold ore

and hides, besides bullion.

At present there is a good trade between the

western ports of Mexico and San Francisco.

All of this trade rightly belongs to San Diego,

and in time she must receive it. This line,

which it is announced will export and import

fruits, hides, woods and merchandise in the
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United States and Mexico, will probably be the

means of first diverting the large business

which now passes this port on its way north.

A comparison of the reports of freights re-

ceived by steamer during the years 1888 and

1889 will show that the freight received during

the earlier year was nearly double that received

during the latter.

At first glance that would appear to be a bad

showing, but it is not, for the simple reason

that in 1889 the back country raised what in

1888 the steamship company brought from San

FYancisco. In 1888 a visitor to the wharf just

after the arrival of a steamer would have seen

tons of crushed barley and grain brought in

from the north. During the present year, how-

ever, hardly a sack lias been brought here for

home consumption. Barley and grain ship-

ments for the north by steamer are frequent,

one of the latest shipments being 220 tons, via

the Alexander Duncan, from National City.

In addition the outgoing shipments for the past

year are nearly double that of 1888. Next

year the shipment out will be much greater,

and by 1895, at the present rate of increase, the

company will need extra steamers to bear away

the freight which San Diego will produce for

her northern neighbors.

Although one importation during the tw-o pre-

ceding years had overstocked the lumber yards,

the year 1889 witnessed the importation of

21,540,97-4 feet, mostly pine and redwood, from

the north; three cargoes, -ggregating 1,176,440

feet, of prima- vera logs from Mexico, this indus-

try being begun during this year. This lumber

is reshipped to the East, for the manufacture

of fine furniture; also a total of 128,739 rail-

road ties.

Among other imports were 400 tons of pig

iron, 102 tons tin plates, 75 tons gold ore, 180

tons of general merchandise and a vast quantity

of oil brought in the schooners constantly ply-

ing between this port and Ventura.

The following is a comparison of the shipping

business of the port of San Diego with that of

the ports of San Francisco and San Pedro, the

figures being taken from the San Francisco

Shipping Report and Commercial Mews:—
On the 22d day of July, 1887, the tonnage on

the way to San Pedro from foreign and eastern

ports was 21,271 tons; on the same day in 1888,

it had increased to 47,403 tons, aud on July 22,

1889, it had fallen off to 4,356 tons, a loss of

90 per cent, in one year.

On July 22, 1887, there were 13,946 tons on

the way to San Diego; one year later it was

38,001 tons, and on July 22, 1889, it had de

creased to 20,466 tons. This' is a falling off of

60 per cent., as against San Pedro's 90 per cent.,

or 25 per cent, in favor of San Diego.

On July 22, 1887, the total tonnage on the

way to the port of San Francisco was 264,569

tons; one year later it had increased ic 324,296

tons, and on July 22, 1889, it had fallen off to

241,632 tons. This is a falling off of 40 per

cent. To summarize, then, San Francisco has

during the past year decreased 40 per cent., San

Diego 65 per cent, and San Pedro 90 per cent,

in tonnage from eastern and foreign points. In

this showing, San Francisco not having been

subject to " boom " influences, the falling off

was due less to reaction than at other ports.

Compared in many other ways, San Diego

shows better proportionately than San Fran-

cisco. For instance, in 1878 (taking the same

date, July 22, right through) San Pedro had

21,271 tons on the way, San Diego 13,946, a

difference in favor of San Pedro of 7,000 tons;

in 1888 San Diego had 58,001; San Pedro

47,403, or a difference for the year in favor of

San Diego of 11,000 tons. Thus, in 1888, San

Diego not only equaled the 7,000 tons, but

gained 11,000 tons beside,—a total gain of

18,000 tons in one year ever San Pedro.

San Francisco has 23,000 less on the way to-

day than in 1887; San Pedro 17,000 tons less

than in 1887, while San Diego has 7,000 tons

more than she had in 1887. Thus, it will be

seen, San Francisco tonnage is lower than it

has been in four years, San Pedro the lowest in

three years, while San Diego shows an increase

of 50 per cent. These figures are all official.
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RESOURCES.

Iii the future of San Diego County the orange

tree, and more particularly the lemon tree, will

undoubtedly play a part of great importance.

This county is the home of the grape. It is

also the land of the lemon, and it is next door

neighbor to the abiding place of the orange.

There is no better index to the healthy and

steady growth which San Diego now enjoys than

the reports which the farmers, fruit growers and

ranchmen daily bring to the city. Scarcely a

day now passes that does not bring with it a

number of boxes of oranges for the San Diego

market. The San Diego County oranges have

already found a place in the San Francisco

market, and large' orders have been received for

this year's crop. Shipments East will begin

soon, and this year the shipment will be much

larger than on previous years. Shipments of

lemons are also beginning to be made, and future

years will see a great output in this line.

Some partial index of the belief of the people

on the subject of this being a fruit country may

be found in the report published elsewhere of

the number of fruit trees found by the assessor.

In 1887 there were 91,000. During the next

year the people more than doubled this number,

making 191,000, and in the past year they

doubled up once more to 380,000. Every indi-

cation points to the belief that this year the

doubling process will be continued.

The acreage of oranges and lemons is hard to

arrive at with any degree of certainty. Reports

have been received from some of the horticult-

ural districts, but not from all, and some of the

sections in which the citrus fruits are grown are

not reported at all. This incompleted report

shows that in San Jacinto and vicinity there are

85 acres; Perris, 20 acres; Elsinore, 20 acres;

Wildomar, 20 acres; Murrietta and Temecula, 45

acres; Fallbrook, 40 acres; San Luis Rey, 50 acres;

Fala, 45 acres; Escondido, 80 acres; Foway, 40

acres; Encinitas, 1G acres, and National, 65 acres,

making a total reported of 526 acres, which is

probably less than half the acreage, as the Cajon

country and other ranches are not named.

During the present year considerable atten-

tion has been turned to the culture of the lemon.

Lemon culture is forging ahead of the orange

or the grape as a money-making investment.

There are a good many reasons why the lemon

may be considered better than the orange. I;

is a heavier bearer, and in maturity the branches

are continually weighted to the ground. It is

a ccnstant bearer, the fruit ripening at every

season of the year, and there is not a week

throughout the year in which ripened lemons

may not be picked for the market. Besides this,

when the lemon is subjected to a process known

as the Sicily sweat, it is a more valuable pro-

duction and sells for more money in any market

than does the orange.

A Government fruit inspector, recently in

the county, stated that he knows of no section

of the country where the trees bear so heavily

and make such an extensive growth in the same

year. Mr. Wells, one of the most experienced

fruit-growers of the Sweetwater valley, states

that he can almost insure to anyone who desires

to go into the lemon-raising industry an income

of §500 per year per acre after the first five

years.

There are, perhaps, 100,000 acres of choice

lemon land within easy access of San Diego,

and there is no reason that the attention of this

section should not be turned in that direction.

San Diego can have a monopoly on the lemon

business, as there is not another section in the

State where they can be raised so successfully

as in the bay region.

With a view to the proper development of

this great industry, a compauy has been formed

for the promotion of lemon culture, which hae

secured possession of 300 acres of fine land jus

back of National City, and will plant the whole

of it to lemon trees. Another company has.

also been formed by other prominent San Diego

capitalists, who have secured another tract of

land below National City, and propose going

into the business also on an extensive scale.

The returns from this enterprise may not show

large by next year, but three, four and five
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years hence the lemon companies will be heard

from.

These two companies will plant upwards of

20,000 trees this year, if they can get them.

That is a pointer for another profitable invest-

ment. The orange and lemon nurserymen will

make money during the next few years. The

supply does not equal the demand and the

prices are therefore kept up. Trees are shipped

here from Florida and other parts of the South,

and still the demand continues. The present

indications are extremely strong that this year

will witness the planting of many thousand

trees of all kinds, and grain land and hay land

must give way to the inarch of fruit.

There is not a fruit, from the apple and the

plum, to the banana and the orange,, that does

not in some portion of the county of San Diego

reach a high state of excellence. There are

many portions of the county where better ap-

ples are grown than can be found in any of the

older sections of the East. The trees are usually

sturdy and come into bearing in one-half the

time they do in the Eastern States. The fruit

is large, juicy and finely flavored. While this

is strictly true of the higher sections, or what

might be termed the apple district, the fruit

has been successfully raised in many other sec-

tions of the country.

As to the peach there is no more delicious

fruit to be found in the United States than may

be picked from many orchards of this county.

The plum grows very thriftily and the fruit is

large and luscious, and not subject to disease.

Quinces do very well and grow to a great size.

The leading varieties of cherries are grown and

reach great perfection. The trees in the higher

altitude are great bearers and limbs bending to

the ground is not an uncommon sight in the

Santa Ysabel country.

The climate seems peculiarly suited for the

apricot, the fruit attaining a delicacy of flavor

not to be found in any other section of the

State nor in any other State. Nectarines grow

wherever the apricot thrives and in San Diego

attain a like peculiar flavor of their own.

Prunes also thrive, while the industry of tig-

raising is one in which San Diego County bids

fair to soon bear off the banner of the whole

Western hemisphere.

An industry which promises excellent returns

is the growing of the English walnut. The

tree flourishes wherever it has been tried, grows

rapidly and bears very heavily. Small fruits,

such as the raspberry, blackberry and straw-

berry, do excellently. Strawberry plants bear

all the year round in San Diego and the fruit

is displayed for sale every day. It is a prolific

bearer, and there is an immense future in its

cultivation.

In olive culture the county is coming into the

front rank. The trees grow readily from cut-

tings, and so rapid is their growth that they pay

the expense of cultivation the third year. The

imported oils of Italy cannot be compared with

the San Diego County product, and it will take

but a few years for the facts to be made known

to the world.

San Diego County is the home of the grape.

The dryness of the atmosphere, the freedom

from fogs and the regularity of the temperature,

have formed a climate that is perfectly suited to

viticulture. Good wine is made, while the San

Diego County raisins may be said to lead the

world in quality.

As stated above, San Diego is the home of

the grape, and more particularly may this be

said of the raisin grape. According to the re-

port of the county assessor, within the limits

of the county there are 4,107 acres of raisin

grapes planted. This figure is, by most of those

engaged in the industry, considered too small

for the whole county. The assessment, it is

true, was made last summer, and ground is con-

stantly being broken all over the county and

planted into vineyards.

In El Cajon valley the raisin has gained its

strongest foot-hold, as is shown from the follow-

ing table, giving the name of the ranch owners

and the
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The Vineyard Company 800

The Boston Company 800

Major Levi Chase 200

A. L. Holt 200

The Cowles ranch 187

Small ranches of 5 and 10 acres WOO

Total 3,087

Other valleys, particularly in the immediate

vicinity of El Cajon, are almost entirely given

up to the raisin grape, while in other portions

of the county the average is large and constantly

increasing.

The yield of the year is variously estimated,

none putting it lower than 90,000 boxes, which

is undoubtedly too low. It is true that a num-

ber of vineyards are young and not yet in bear-

ing, but an estimate based on the shipment of

the vineyard company with 800 acres in grapes,

the shipment of the year would amount to 120,-

000 boxes and over.

None of the raisin growers have received

completed returns from their shipments, and

therefore no estimate of the receipts of the in-

dustry can be given. Not too much, however,

can be said of the quality of the raisins of San

Diego County, in support of the first propo-

sition, that San Diego County is the natural

home of the raisin grape. California raisins

have for some years been conceded to be far

superior to the Mediterranean countries, and it

is rapidly driving the importer out of the high-

er grade of Eastern markets. With the fact

established, it remains to be demonstrated that

the San Diego raisin is the best of the best. It

is this for several reasons. One is, that the

climate of San Diego County is such that the

raisin can be sun-dried, while in the north the

rains compel the use of the drying house. An-

other reason is that the season being a little

longer, the grape bunches fill to the end with

completely matured fruit, so that the dried rais-

in bunches are large, and the raisins all of the

first grade. There remains still another reason,

and that is, that the El Cajon raisin, though

large, more nearly approaches seedlessness than

does the raisin of the upper country. The

|
cause of this has not been assigned, but it is

probably the difference in the distribution of

the moisture in the earth.

The raisin industry is fully established here,

though possibly it is not as great as in other

places. Its profitableness has been demon-

strated, and capital is backing it as fast as it can.

Next year will see a large increase in the acre-

age of the raisin grape.

The following table showing the number of

boxes raised in the years named will give an

idea how rapidly the raisin industry

developed

:

1888—Boxes shipped

bein

50,000

1889— " " 90,000

1890—estimated 108,000

AGRICULTURAL DEVELOPMENTS.

The substantial increase in the extent of land

under cultivation in the county over last year,

is an encouraging sign of the times, and fur-

nishes good evidence of the progress of this

section. The actual increase for 1889 over 1888

is 55,063 acres, while the number of fruit trees

growing have increased by nearly 200,000. In

the immediate region of the bay there are over

400 acres of land planted to oranges, while fully

eighty acres are covered with lemon trees. Of

the 5,000 acres planted to grape vines there are

609 acres of vines bearing grapes for table use,

278 acres of wine grapes and 4,107 acres of

raisin grapes. The following table will show

the increase in the number of acres sown over

1888:

kind. 1888. 1889.

Wheat 0,093 14,026

Oats 520 1,550

Barley 6,496 30,447

Corn 481 2,084

Hay 10,090 9,523

Grapevines 3,781 4,994

Number offruit trees growing. ...191,526 380,176

From the above it will be seen that while in

1888 there were but 27,461 acres of land under

cultivation, in 1889 there were no less than

62,524 acres receiving the attention of the hus-

bandman. The increase in 1890 will be much

greater.
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Predominant as are, undoubtedly, the agri-

cultural interests, there is another sonrce of

great future wealth in San Diego County which

must be duly considered; that is, the mineral

element. The industrial minerals having been

duly regarded in connection with their respect-

ive sections of production, it remains to review

the question of the yield of precious metals.

As has been previously stated, the back coun-

try has been receiving the greater portion of the

increase in population during the past year.

The valleys in the mountains are becoming

populous centers. Small towns in the inland

are growing to importance, and ricli ranches,

fruit farms and cattle ranges are being de-

veloped. The country surrounding San Diego

is adapted to fruit-growing, and is gradually

being devoted to that use.

The increased acreage given to grain shows

that the land is occupied, and is being made

ready for fruit production. The data regard-

ing the occupation and cultivation of the .back

soil is not large, the only exact information

being found in the annual report of the county

assessor, from which many interesting facts are

obtainable.

One of the greater industries of the county

heretofore has been the production of honey.

This, however, is gradually giving way to other

industries. Bees live and make their honey

from the wild flowers, largely from the white

sage. As the ground is given up more and

more to grain and fruit cultivation, the bee in-

dustry has been supplanted, the other uses tor

the land beiug found more profitable. The

number of bee-hives in the county was. in 1887,

17,779; in 1888, 15,340; in 1889, 14,947;

showing a decrease as explained above. A
similar decrease is shown in nothing else assess-

able by the county official.

Number of cattle 22,272

Number of cows 2,866

Number of calves 3,657

Number of colts 1,286

Number of goats 775

Number of hogs

3,597

3,411

1,423

23,.-.f.i2

3,957

1,126

1,930

1,365

2,4S7

Number thoroughbred horses. 27 35

Number of graded horses 2,844 2.892 3

Number of American horses.. 908 1,224 1

Number of Spanish horses. ..

.

2.283 2,030 3

Number of mules 296 540

Number of oxen 34 21

Number of sheep and lambs.. 37,582 41

Centals of wheat 1,190 9

Centals of barley 4,142 11

Centals of corn 120

Tons of hay 603 3

The increase in all of the above is gratify

to the statistician. The increase in stock,

well as that of grain on hand, shows a grow

interest in the occupation and cultivation of

The increase in the above classes of taxable

property is not, however, as much a matter of

pride to the lover of San Diego County as the

increase in the number of acres under cultiva-

tion in 1889 over the record of former years.

In 1887 there was a great excitement about

wheat-growing. Everything else took a minor

place, and nearly every foot of ground which

could be planted was put into that grain. Since

then other grains have been receiving the

greater attention, and in turu all have had to

give way before the advance of the fruit tree

and grape-vine The following shows the acre-

age in cultivation:

1887. 1888. 1889.

Acres sown to wheat 16,614 6,093 14,026

Acres sown to oats 565 520 1,550

Acres sown to barley 2,800 6,496 30,447

Acres sown to corn 53 L 481 2,084

Acres sown to hay 5,010 10,090 9,523

Acres of table grapes 201 609

Acres of wine grapes .... 627 678

Acres of raisin grapes 2,953 4,107

Number of fruit trees growing. 91, 148 191,526 3^0,176

By the above it will be seen that all else must

and does give way to the advance of the fruit

tree and grape-vine. In 1888 the number of

fruit trees increased by upwards of 100,000,

and in 1889 upwards of 180,000. A propor-

tional increase during the coming decade would

pretty nearly cover the county. During the

past year the acreage put in grapes has in-

creased by 1,000 acres, and the increase which
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will be shown by the next assessor's report will

be greater still. As yet only two irrigation

systems are completed and in use; three others

projected and in process of construction will

double up the acreage of land under cultivation

in a rapid manner. The year 1890 will show a

much greater increase than 1889. Already all

the fruit trees, especially lemons, held by the

nurseries have been engaged, and the cry of the

fruit ranchers is, "Where will we get more trees?"

By the close of 1890 there will be 700,000 fruit

trees growing in San Diego County, and this

year will see 200,000 acres of wheat growing in

the county.

THE GOLD MINES.

The pioneer finder of gold in San Diego

County was a woman named Eliza Wood, who

found the precious metal in the gravel beds of

Coleman creek. By February, 1870, several

gold ledges had been located. On February

22, 1870, the Washington mine was discovered

by Messrs. Bicker and Wells; the ore was seen

to be rich in gold, and a quantity of it was for-

warded to San Diego and San Francisco to be

put on exhibition. Its richness caused great

excitement, and a heavy and rapid emigration to

the locality of its discovery, so that the mount-

ains thereabouts weie swarming with pros-

pectors. A mining district was organized,

having for mining director M. S. Julian, near

whose 160-acre claim the discoveries were

made, and the district was called after him

Julian, which name it still bears. Chester

Gunn in a recent paper read before the County

Horticultural Society, gives a good idea of the

richness of the Julian mines: "Hundreds of

tons averaged $75 to $100 per ton. . I have

myself washed out the drillings while blasting

and found from $1 to $6 in small horn full of

drillings, probably half a pound of rock
;
while

as much as $6 or $7 was often washed out of

one pound of ore."

But the region was too rich for its possessors

to be allowed to continue its rapid development

peaceably and unmolested.

"The owners of the Cuyamaca grant under-

took to float their grant so as to cover the entire

territory south of the Ysabel grant. In other

words, they wanted to gobble up all the mines

and small farms, of which latter there were a

good many. A long and expensive litigation

was begun, which lasted for several years, and

many people got disgusted and left. Broperty

could not be sold on account of the title being

in dispute. But the end came at last, and the

miners gained the suit. The line of the grant

was moved south to conform to the old map,

and the people of Julian went to work once

more to open up their mines. But years were

required to recover from the effects of the ex-

pensive litigation.

" Among the mines at present being worked,

and which especially deserve mention, are the

Stonewall, owned by Governor Waterman; the

Ready Relief, owned by D. D. Dare and J. O.

Bailey; the Owens, owned by W. B. King and

others; the Helvetia, owned by Dr. Carl Mur-

ray; the Gardiner, owned by Robert Gardiner; the

Eagle, owned by Crane and Malloch; the Wash-

ington, owned by S. A. McDowell and T. J.

Daley; the Gold King, owned by J. E. Hamil-

ton and others, and the Cincinnati Belle, which

W. L. Fredericks sold recently for $27,500.

Many others might be mentioned."

Governor Waterman's Mine.—Tremble about

title and gold excitement elsewhere attracted

the attention of miners, and until recently the

rich deposits in the Julian district were practi-

cally forgotten. The gold is in the mountains,

a rich reward to whoever had the enterprise to

spend time and money in getting it out. Prin-

cipal among those who realized what could be

made by mining in the Julian district was Gov-

ernor Waterman. He purchased a large tract

of land and began the development of the

Stonewall, now one of the most valuable mining

properties on the Pacific coast. So valuable is

the property that Governor Waterman is re-

ported to have refused $2,000,000 for it. The

ore taken from the Stonewall during the past

year is valued at $1,000,000. For the past

four months Governor Waterman has been de-
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voting his capital to the erection of the largest

mill on the Pacific coast, so that after January

there will be thirty stamps running night and

day. The cost of these improvements was

$150,000, and the pay roll at the Stonewall

mine is now from $12,000 to $15,000 per

month. Governor Waterman has more pride

in this mine than in any of his other great en-

terprises. From 100 to 200 men are constantly

employed, and the mills are kept running night

and day. Two or three other ledges, equal to

the Stonewall in richness and extent have recently

been discovered on Governor Waterman's ranch,

and these will no doubt be developed in the

near future.

From 300 to 500 men are now employed in

the mines about Julian, and from the rapid

manner in which ledges are being developed

twice that number will soon be employed within

the next few months. From $5,000,000 to $8,-

000,000 in gold has been taken out of the Julian

district since gold was discovered. If the pres-

ent rapid development continues as much more

will be taken out within the next two years.

Late newspaper reports announce the sale of

Governor Waterman's mine to an English syn-

dicate for the sum of $3,000,000. The princi-

pal mines now in operation are: the Stonewall,

the Ready Relief, the Osvens, Helvetia, Eagle,

Gardiner, Washington, Cincinnati Belle, and

the Gold King.

In the Mesa Grande district there is a very

rich gold mine from which a large yield has

been taken—the Shenandoah. This mine has

been shut down for some time because of legal

complications, but it promises to be run again

in the near future.

Many others of less note are being profitably

worked, although on a small scale, and it is

highly probable that there will be future great

developments in this direction. At the begin-

ning of 1888, San Diego people did not dream

of such rich discoveries near them as those of

the Santa Clara gold fields, which are a part of

the same region, partaking no little of the for-

mation of the San Diego County minerals.

Says a gentleman who well understands mining

interests, with which he has been identified for

twenty years past: " 1 believe that within live

years the annual outpnt of gold and silver in

this county will equal $10,000,000. The vast

range of country east of the Coast Range shows

indications of rich gold deposits that as yet have

not been prospected."

At least 5,000 men are engaged in running

or in locating mines within the territory trib-

utary to this city. ' No country in America has

brighter mining prospects. Julian will send

the world in 1890, $2,000,000 or $3,000,000

through the gateway of San Diego, and Alamo

and other Lower California camps will send as

many millions more unless some unforeseen

drawback occurs.

To sum up in brief, then, San Diego's great

resources are three: harbor, climate, products,

—

a harbor whose conformation and conditions pe-

culiarly fit it for its future destiny as a com-

mercial centre and an entrepot between East and

West, a climate whose mild and healing balm

will continue to attract in the future as it has

done in the past, not only the invalid and the

Sybarite, but the soldier whose valor is proven,

but who yet wishes to preserve and garner

strength for future possibilities of combat; the

busy worker who would build up material and

force for farther renewed and perhaps more po-

tent effort, and the lover of his race, who would

study the phases of humanity as developed under

the most favorable and cherishing of conditions.

The products of a soil unsurpassed in richness

and versatility of yield, fertilized by the gener-

ous waters of its own native mountains, warmed

and nursed by a constant and inspiring sun, and

won to its best and noblest effort by the devo-

tion and the care of the people who are at once

its masters and its slaves, its children and its

owners, but always full of faith in its unequalled

powers, ever loyal, confiding and confident of its

future.

THE WEALTH OF SAN DIEGO.

More rapid than the growth of population has

been the growtli in wealth, as shown by the rec-
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ords of the city assessor. In 1884 the total

assessment was $2,021,685, the total tax $16,-

173.40. In 1889 the total assessment was

$16,544,300, and the the total tax was $197,-

086.19.

The increase in the assessment in the city from

1884 to 1888 of about 1000 per cent, means a

vast increase in wealth. With this increase in

wealth and population there has also been an

increase in the cost of maintaining the city

government, and where in 1884 the trustees

thought $16,000 sufficient to carry on the city

government, at present $200,000 is required.

Ill 1884 there were inside the city limits but

ten persons and corporations conducted assessed

at over $20,000.

In 1889 the number assessed at more than

$20,000 is legion.

BACK COUNTRY WEALTH.

The county assessment shows the same great

increase as follows.

To known owners (exclusive of railroads) $5,548,478

Unknown owners 108,604

Personal property collected upon by the as-

sessor 143,234

Total $5,80U,316

1889.

To known owners (exclusive of railroads) $25,532,363

Unknown owners 3,515,157

California Southern Railroad 578,989

California Central Railroad 339,187

Southern Pacific Railroad 1,595,125

Total $31,560,820

The old assessment rolls show that within

nineteen years the county has grown in wealth

so that now one man, Richard O'JVeil, is as-

sessed for more than the whole county was

valued at in 1861, the assessment then being

made as now, exclusive of government lands.

Outside the city in 1884 the number assessed

at over $25,000 was small indeed, while in 1889

they are as numerous as in the city.

The biennial report of the State Board of

Equalization for the year 1888 gave these figures

for San Diego County: real estate and improve-

ments, $34,284,439; personal property, money

and credits, $4,190,979; railroads, $3,074,190;

total valuation, $41,522,608.

Notwithstanding the prevalent cry of uni-

versal hard times, the last year has witnessed the

achievement of very remarkable improvements

and progress in San Diego, including the fol-

lowing:

The investment of several hundred thousand

dollars by the most conservative set of commer-

cial men in the business world, in the largest

coal bunkers on the coast; the building of the

most complete ice factory in Southern Califor-

nia; the settlement of the Otay "Watch Factory

on a solid business foundation, backed by busi-

ness men representing millions of dollars; the

building of a magnificent cable road system, in-

volving the outlay of hundreds of thousands of

dollars; the transference of the coal shipping

trade from San Pedro to San Diego; the invest-

ment of hundreds of thousands of dollars in

water development enterprises actually under

way; expenditure of money by thousands in en-

larging facilities and cheapening the price of

gas, the shipments of cargoes of hay, grain,

brick and building iron to ports heretofore ex-

clusively controled by San Francisco; the founda-

tion of irrigation districts, transferring thousands

of acres of grain fields into orchards, about a

million dollars invested on buildings in the city;

the increase of thousands of acres under culti-

vation.

SINCE THE BOOM.

Since May, 1887, which month saw the final

subsidence of the boom, San Diego has built,

obtained or discovered:

1. A flume, bringing water to this city and

the farming country back of it from the coast

range of mountains.

2. The " Short Line " between here and Los

Angeles.

3. The completed Coronado Hotel, the

Brewster, and the Louis, Bon Ton, Chadbuurne,
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Whaley and Dalton, Methodist, Allyn, Nes-

mith-Greely and Faivre blocks, two large

school buildings, and imposing churches and

residences.

4. The Cuyamaca railroad line.

5. The paving of Fifth and D Streets.

6. A large Government appropriation for

light-houses and quarantine.

7. A harbor commission with power to build

a sea-wall and inaugurate a system of slips and

piers.

8. The planting of 600,000 fruit trees in the

back country and the opening up of a vast area

of agricultural land.

9. The development of rich mining property

at the Alamo and Julian.

10. The discovery and utilization of mineral

water, equal in health-giving properties to the

Wisconsin Waukesha.

11. The discovery of coal at Elsinore and

Lower California and its development at the

former place.

12. The discovery of kaolin clay, and the

successful production of porcelain.

13. Suburban watch and nail factories and

a college of letters.

14. Discovery of extensive codfishing banks.

15. Discovery of an immense deposit of

Portland cement.

16. Investment of Spreckels Brothers in

Coronado Beach, and their construction of a

$125,000 coal wharf.

17. Building of a cable railroad system.

18. Pledging of $250,000 to bring in the

Union Pacific Railroad, now building towards

Southern California.

These are the capital points in the history of

the period immediately following the downfall

of land speculation.

The population of the county is now 75,000;

valuation of real estate, $28,480,798;

I nation of personal property, $3,774,-

valuation of railroads, $3,047,-

190; number of miles of railroad, 340; number

of miles of telegraph, 630; number of miles of

telephone, 60; number of miles of water flumes,

35; number of cattle in the county, 25,198.;

number of horses in the county, 9,539; number

of sheep in the county, 41,779; number of hogs

in the county, 2,487; number of stands of bees,

14,947.

The acreage and yield for the past year shows:

ACRES. YIELD.

Oranges 308 10,250 boxes.

Raisins 8,034 167,000 boxes.

Wine ) ,,., | 78,500 gallons.

Brandy f

<!'"' *
\ 1,768 gallons.

Deciduous fruits 38,017 740,000 pounds.

Barley 17,384 147,000 centals.

Oats 160 1,500 centals.

Corn 400 12,058 centals.

Other crops 15,000
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BIOGRAPHICAL SKETCHES

fLI H. MURRAY, of San Diego, the subject

of this sketch, has all the warrant of heredi-

tary antecedents for the stability and in-

tegrity that in his career he has manifested. His

father was born in Washington County, Ken-

tucky, whence he removed to Hardinsburg. In

the course of his business he brought goods

across the Alleghanies and shipped them down
the Ohio in flat-boats. He became satisfied that

a certain point was a natural location for a city,

and so founded there the present town of Clover-

port, now of some 2,000 inhabitants.

The elder Murray, merchant and large tabacco

dealer, was a man of high intelligence, a repre-

sentative Kentuckian. In conjunction with Hon.

"William F. Bullock, he founded the common-

school system of Kentucky. He also gave the

ground and built a church for the Presbyterians

—his own faith—in Cloverport.

Mr. Murray was married to Mrs. Anna Maria

(Allen) Crittenden, a daughter of* John Allen, a

leading land lawyer, and Colonel of the famous

Rifle Regiment of Kentucky. He was killed

in the River Raisin, in the war of 1812. The

lady's first husband was a brother of John J.

Crittenden, one of whose* sons by her (Thomas

F.), after being graduated in law under his

paternal uncle, Thomas F. Crittenden, settled in

Lexington, Missouri, where he became a suc-

cessful lawyer, a member of Congress, and

Anally Governor. An older son, William Logan

Crittenden, having been graduated in General

Grant's West Point class, serving in the Mexi-

can war with distinction, resigned, and in later

years embarked in the revolutionary movement
of La Pez, tempted by the thought of freedom

for Cuba, and being a man of great impulse,

dash and daring, uneasy in the " piping times

of peace." He was a Colonel in the ill-fated

band, was captured and shot. When ordered to

kneel before his executioners, he answered, "A
Kentuckian kneels to none but his God," and

in spite of all commands and threats was shot

standing firm and fearless. The noble, sweet

and saintly mother of this brave son was early

left a widow, with an insolvent estate and five

children. Next to the anxiety for her children

was that for her servants, and to avoid the sale

of the latter she secured from the estate the

management of a factory called a "rope walk,"

where was made a coarse cloth for the baling of

cotton, which she conducted with such diligence

that in three years she had earned enough to

redeem her servants from the fate that was im-

pending over them, and forty years later these

same servants, with streaming eyes, carried her

body to the grave. Mrs. Crittenden, by a second

marriage, gave birth, in 1843, to Eli Huston

Murray, named after a kinsman, Eli Huston, of

Mississippi, from whose Natchez office Sargent

S. Prentice started upon his brilliant career.

His elder brother, Judge John Allen Murray,

lives at the old Cloverport home. The third,

Logan Crittenden Murray, is now president of
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the United States National Bank of New York,

and several terms president of the National

Bankers' Association of the United States. The

fourth, named like his father, David Rodman,

was elected State Senator before he was of the

age requisite to take the seat; he is now an

active lawyer of Cloverport.

General Murray was educated largely by

private tutors, and iii part at Professor Hogan's

High School, Cloverport, from which he entered

the army at the age of eighteen years. General

Anderson, of Fort Sumter fame, then com-

manded the department of Kentucky. Mr.

Murray was one of the first soldiers commanded

by Sherman in the early part of the war. After

several months' service on the front Hues of the

Union forces, he enlisted under General James

S. Jackson, later killed at Perry villu, who raised

that splendid regiment, the Third Kentucky

Cavalry. Murray recruited many men for this

regiment, and on its organization he was com-

missioned Junior Major. His first fight was a

hand-to-hand encounter of four companies of

this regiment against Forrest, with two regi-

ments, at Sacramento, Kentucky. This was

also the first fight of Forrest. In this engage-

ment one-third of Murray's command was on

the list as killed, wounded or captured. For-

rest was wont to say after the war that this was

"the biggest little fight" in which he had

shared. In this fight the horse which Murray

in boyhood had reared from a colt was shot

under him, and he escaped only by seizing a

horse from which a Confederate officer had just

been killed. He served through Tennessee with

Buell, to Shiloh, Corinth, across to Alabama,

and through what was known as the Bragg

campaign in Kentucky. He received promo-

tion to the Colonelcy of Jackson's regiment,

having been promoted on the field of Perry-

ville, upon which his old Colonel, General Jack-

son, was killed. Murray served with the regi-

ment continuously in the campaigns of the

West, re-enlisting it and making it a veteran

regiment. He served with McCook's and Min-

nie's brigades, and later commanded Kilpatrick's

first brigade, from Chattanooga, and his division

after he was wounded at Resaca, Georgia, con-

tinuing to serve under Kilpatrick and to com-

mand his division in the noted raid around the

Confederate army at Atlanta, also commanding
half of Kilpatrick's cavalry in Sherman's march

to the sea. He received complimentary men-

tion in various reports, and special mention by

General Rosecrans at Stone River, his promo-

tion having more especial reference to his

service in the inarch to the sea. He was 6ent

back with a view to his taking a cavalry com-

mand under General Thomas, in a contemplated

movement of Thomas on Richmond. His last

military service was when he succeeded General

Hugh Ewing, at the close of the war, in the

western district of Kentucky, where he received

the surrender of many Confederates in the grand

finale. Being mustered out of service, he studied

law with his half brother, Governor Crittenden,

of Missouri, after graduating from the Uni-

versity of Louisville. At the time of his gradu-

ation, a student who had failed presented at

Murray's breast a pistol, which at the moment

of discharge was struck down by a fellow-

student, wounding Murray in the leg. Settling

for practice at Owensboro, Kentucky, he was

later appointed United States Marshal for that

State. He then removed to Louisville, and was

reappointed by Grant. He successfully tided

over the trying and delicate times of the Civil

Rights bill, and of the "Moonshiners," and

fought openly and actively the Ku-Klux organi-

zation in that State. Helping to found the

Louisville Daily Commercial, he became its

editor and manager, establishing it firmly as

about the only Republican journal south of

Mason and Dixon's line, which succeeded amid

adverse surroundings.
t

While thus engaged he

accepted President Hayes' offer of the Governor-

ship of Utah, to which post he was success-

ively reappointed by Garfield and Arthur. He
promptly tendered his resignation on Cleve-

land's succession to office, but was retained for

over a year by that Democratic President,

serving, all told, some seven years in Utah.
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Having thoroughly studied the situation on ar-

riving in the Territory, he devoted himself to

the establishment there of a sound government.

To his efforts is due the banishment of polyga-

mistic members from the halls of Congress.

The infamous Mormon leader, Cannon, had

boasted that he wore at his girdle the scalps of

the preceding Governors unfriendly to them,

and that he would have that of Governor Mur-

ray. But not so. This incumbent sought to

surround himself with able prosecuting attor-

neys and upright judges; he battled against

vexatious Congressional delays; against misin-

terpretations and misrepresentations, venal and

ignorant, from metropolitan journals; against

determined savage opposition from the wealth

and power of Mormon leaders and their

slavishly obedient constituents; but at last he

succeeded in procuring the passage of laws,

pure and strong, whose faithful execution sent

the corrupt Mormon leaders either into perma-

nent exile or the penitentiary. Time has proved

the justice of Governor Murray's opinion as

then announced; that no man can be a faithful

Mormon and a loyal citizen of the United

States; and that the exercise of political power

by Mormon leaders is un-American, and in no

sense or manner to be tolerated. Thus the

establishment of a good government in Utah is

mainly due to his long service, his wisdom and

determination.

On leaving this office, Governor Murray, be-

coming interested in a railroad enterprise, re-

moved to San Diego, California, where he is

now engaged in these and other active enter-

prises. He is a Lower California land owner,

having purchased a large tract of land ten

miles south of the Mexican boundary.

General Murray was a bachelor, a husband

and a father in the Centennial year, having

married in 1876 Miss Evelyn Neale, daughter

of E. P. Neale, a Louisville merchant. Their

children are: a daughter, Evelyn, and a son,

Neale, both born in Kentucky. Mr. Murray

positively refused to be put forward again as

Governor of Utah on thee lection of President
7

Harrison. He was frequently mentioned in

connection with cabinet appointments, although

declining to enter the lists of any public official

position. The newspapers to-daj are quoting

Governor Murray as a possible Gubernatorial

nominee for California. In view of his past

record, certainly it is a strong factor in his

honor that no man received more solid support

from Republicans and Democrats alike than

he, during his service in Utah, and from the

press and people of the United States.

ILLIAM HASLAM, of Pleasant Valley,

was born December 17, 1828, in Manches-

ter, England. His lather, Peter Haslam,

was born in England, and his mother, wee Judy

Curry, was born in Ireland. They had a family of

six boys and two girls. Mr. Haslam was the

fourth child. In 1836, when he was eight years

of age, his parents came to the United States, and

settled in the northern part of New York. He
attended the public school there, and at the age

of twelve he began to do farm work, spent one

summer on a boat and continued on a farm

until eighteen years of age. He then went*

to learn the wagon-maker's trade, which trade

he followed for six years and then went back to

farming, and for a time engaged in brick-mak-

ing. In 1852 he removed to Illinois, where he

remained three years, when he moved to Iowa

and bought one-fourth section of Government

bind. After a time he sold that and went to

Missouri and bought a farm. He remained

there until 1884, when he sold out and came to

California for the benefit of his step-daughter's

health, and purchased 280 acres of railroad land

and took up 160 acres of Government land in

Pleasant Valley. Here he built his residence

and other buildings, and has improved the prop-

erty, and has 160 acres fenced. He is carrying

on a grain and stock farm, raising horses, mules

and cattle.

He was married in 1850 to Miss Lucinda

Stewart, a native of Canada. One of her par-
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ents was Scotch and the o fher American. They

had twelve children. She died in Missouri, in

1868, leaving him with a large family of small

children. She was a god wife and a kind

mother. The following are the names of the

surviving members of this family: W. J., the

oldest, now married and living near his father

(see next paragraph); Thomas, settled in Mis-

souri; A. J., settled near his father; D. A.,

C. D. and W. S. all have homes of their own

in Winchester; Lucinda is married to Mr. Mc-

Ewen, and lives at San Jacinto; Amanda is

married to M. B. Thomas, and also resides in

Winchester; so that nearly all the children are

living near their father. Mr. Haslam was mar-

ried in June, 1868, to Mrs. Elizabeth McBride.

Mr. Haslam is a member of the Congregational

Church at Winchester, and Mrs. Haslam is a

Methodist. While in Iowa he was elected road

overseer and township assessor, and also super-

visor; he also held the same office a part of the

time in Missouri, and at the present time is

school director in Winchester. Mr, Haslam is

one of the pioneers of Pleasant Valley and is a

good and reliable citizen.

W. J. Haslam, one of the wide-awake, indus-

'trious farmers of Pleasant Valley, was raised

and educated in Missouri, and for eighteen years

he was engaged in that State in farming and

stock-raising. In 1885 he came to Pleasant

Valley and took from the Government a 160-

acre ranch. He has built a brick house and a

good barn, has planted trees of different kinds,

all doing well, and is doing diversified farming,

raising grain, hay, horses, mules and cattle.

He has twenty head of horses and mules, and

thirty head of young cattle. He has a fine two-

year-old Norman-Percheron colt, and an enor-

mous young jack of great value for breeding

purposes. Mr. Haslam is working hard and

doing well, and his place has the appearauce of

enterprise and thrift. He has also a prosperous

apiary of sixty stands of bees.

He was married January 1, 1876, to Annice

Fast, from Illinois. They have eight children,

viz. : William Byron, James Russell, Winslow

Grey, John Jay, Myrtle Viola, Mable Clare,

Maud Eva and Roy Chester. The first five

were born in Missouri and the others in Pleas-

ant valley. Mr. Haslam is a temperance man
and politically has favored the Greenback side

of the cpiestion.

—^4t@3D»^
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ILLIAM H. EADON, the Coroner of

San Diego County, was born at Sheffield

England, February 11,1840. His father

was a hardware merchant in Quebec, Canada, for

many years, and by trade a saw-manufacturer; he

was the oldest son of Moses Eadon, a large manu-

facturer of saws and files, Sheffield, England, the

business being still carried on by a younger son,

Robert. William H., with his parents, emigrated

to Quebec, Canada, in the year 1842. He was

educated mostly in private schools, and finished

with a year's course at the Quebec High School.

At the age of fifteen years he was apprenticed

to a pharmacist (G. G. Ardouin), and during

his apprenticeship attended one course of lec-

tures on botany, two on materia medica, and

two on chemistry, at the Laval University,

Quebec. In May, 1859, he graduated at the

College of Physicians and Surgeons of Upper

and Lower Canada at Montreal, as a graduate

of pharmacy, and immediately started for Cali-

fornia. On his arrival in San Francisco, he

registered with the Board of Pharmacy. For

twenty-five years afterward he was connected

with three of the leading wholesale drug estab-

lishments of that city. He fir6t began with

Charles Morrill, remaining about two years, and

with Crane & Brigham, seventeen years (Charles

Morrill, and Crane & Brigham, both retired

from business), and with Redington & Co. about

six years, the latter being the largest drug

house on the Pacific coast. In 1887 Mr. Eadon

was attracted to San Diego by the boom, but

taking it at its height was nnfortunate in his

investments. Soon after his arrival in San

Diego he was appointed health inspector by

Dr. D. B. Northrup. Dr. Northrup soon after
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resigned, and Dr. D. Grochenauer was ap-

pointed and retained Mr. Eadon. Mr. Eadon

resigned in October, 1888, after receiving the

nomination for Coroner by the Republican con-

vention, to which office he was chosen in the

November election, assuming his duties in Jan-

uary, 1889, and this position he has held with

honor and credit.

Mr. Eadon was married at Quebec (now the

Dominion of Canada), to Miss Honer Sharpe, a

native of Quebec, Canada. They have had five

children, only three of whom survive. One son,

"William EL, Jr., is foreman of the upholstering

department of F. S. Chadbourne & Co., the

largest furniture establishment on this coast.

Edward H. is salesman for Chadbourne & Co.,

San Diego, and Lilly B. helps her mother house-

keeping. Ed. and Lilly reside at home.

Mr. Eadon is a member of Oakland Lodge,

No. 188, F. & A. M., of Oakland, and he takes

particular pride in stating that he is a straight

Republican.

§B. CAIRNES, the present Engineer of the

Fire Department of San Diego, was born
9 in the County of Tyrone, northern part

of Ireland. His parents were natives of Scot-

land. In 1844 his parents emigrate] to New York

city, where they settled, and his father worked

at his trade of carpenter. The subject of this

sketch there received a public school education

at the old Greenwich Street school, and learned

the trade of machinist and engineer. In 1861

he became an active member of the Washington

Engine Company, No. 20, volunteer service,

with which he served until the creation of the

Metropolitan system in 1866 and the disband-

ing of the volunteer department. In 1869 he

started Westward, visiting Omaha, Kansas City,

Indian Territory and Nevada, traveling and

prospecting. In 1879, Mr. Cairnes first visited

California, going to Bodie, Mono County, pros-

pecting in quartz-mining. He then went to

Tombstone, Arizona, locating claims and specu-

lating in mines. In 1884 he went to Lower

California, during the first gold excitement at

San latruda Mission, but in 1887 he came to

San Diego and started contracting in street

work, grading, etc. He was appointed chief

engineer of the fire department in June, 1889,

and having had some thirty years' experience

in fire matters the position is likely to be con-

tinuous.

tOVERBAUGH, who lives in a beautiful

residence in San Diego at the corner of

9 Sixth and Beech streets, overlooking the

city, bay and the Pacific ocean, was born in

Charlestown, New York, November, 1821; his

parents were natives of the same State. His

father was a fanner and owned 320 acres in the

Mohawk valley, where his only living brother

still resides, on the old homestead. The subject

of this sketch remained at home until he was

twenty-nine years of age, receiving a common-

school education, and engaged in the tilling of

the soil. In 1850, he started out for himself

into the great unknown West, going by rail to

Buffalo, then by steamer fc> Milwaukee, and

stage to Janesville, Wisconsin, then the second

town in the State. He did a loaning and dis-

count business until January, 1884, when he

went to La Crosse in the western part of the

State and there experienced the first excitement

in a real-estate boom. He bought 120 acres

adjoining the town, which he subdivided and

sold in town lots. La Crosse at that time was a

town of 500 inhabitants, but in 1857 numbered

5,000. The town lots sold well, but in 1857

there was a panic, owing to a free banking law

which allowed every bank to issue paper re-

gardless of responsibility, so that redemption

was impossible and bankruptcy seemed to settle

upon the town. Business became much de-

pressed, until the opening of the war, when

trade revived, increasing as the war continued.

In 1869, Mr. Overbaugh came to San Jose,

California, and again bought acre property,
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which he sold in town lots. In 1873 he came

to San Diego and hought a lot on the corner of

Ash and Second streets, and immediately built

a residence, to which he moved his family in

1874. This was during the Tom Scott boom
(

which scon subsided, and business was very

quiet until the completion of the California

Southern Railroad in 1882, when the town took

a fresh start and activity began, reaching the

culminating point in 1886. Having experienced

two land booms, Mr. Overhaugh was a cautious

and careful investor, foreseeing the result from

the beginning, though he is now a large holder

of city property.

Mr Overbaugh was married at La Crosse,

Wisconsin, October 3, 1857, to Miss Emily F.

Parker, a native of Ohio. They have two chih

dren, who are both living and at home.

Mr. Overbaugh has never sought political

distinction, but the honor was forced upon him

while at La Crosse, where he served as an al-

derman for three years, but at San Diego he

has studiously avoided public life.

tW.
ATHERCON & CO., San Diego. Per-

haps the mission of business educators has
9 never been more clearly understood than

by the proprietors of the San Diego Commercial

College, and certainly the success attending their

efforts to acomplish this mission has been great.

These gentlemen aim to foster and train in-

dividually, to cultivate executive habits of mind,

to give absolute knowledge of useful facts, and

thus to prepare pupils to master emergencies.

The college is but four years old. It has been

patronized however, by those whose patronage

means excellence in the work. It has over

forty ex-students placed in responsible positions

and doing well. Its pride though, is its Alumni

association of over sixty members, banded to-

gether for mutual help. A finer body of young

people is not to be found. Mes.-rs. A. W. Ath-

erton and O. P. Koerting, the proprietors, pur-

sue a policy of liberal advertising. They regard

as a favor any inquiries about the college, and

are especially grateful for letters asking infor-

mation. They have already quite an attendance

from outside of the city, and wish to increase

it. The course embraces English, arithmetic,

penmanship, short-hand, type- writing and book-

keeping. Such modern methods of instruction

and of discipline are used as make this school

life a revelation to the student. The effects

produced on character by the work are very

marked.

#?*^^#

§T. GOLDTHWAIT, who came to San

Diego in 1880, under engagement with

* the California Southern Railroad, to

superintend the building of machine shops and

heavy bridges, was born at Biddeford, Maine,

October 12, 1840; his parents were also natives

of Maine. The father of the subject of this sketch

was a sea captain, and he also has one brother who
follows the sea as captain. One brother, Everett

Goldthwait, is now mayor of Elkhart, Indiana.

At the age of twenty-two years, the subject of

this sketch went to Boston, Massachusetts, and

learned the trade of mason and builder with

Nathaniel Adams, a prominent Freemason and

Odd Fellow, for whom he worked fifteen years.

He then started independently and under con-

tract work built the Boston & Lowell Railroad

station at Boston, also the Beehe block on Win-

throp square. In 1880, he came to San Diego

and was employed three years by the California

Southern Railroad Company. He then began

building and constructed the Youngs, Louis &
Schnieder blocks, besides doing much jobbing

for Babcock, Reed & Pauly. In 1886, he went

into the real-estate business in acre and city

property with very flattering success. He now

owns an improved ranch of ten acres at Santa

Ana, planted in apricots, oranges, pears and

grapes, two small ranches at Elsinore, thirty

acres at Linda Vista, and city property at

National City and San Diego. In 1887, Mr.

Goldti.w-ait was appointed superintendent of the
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construction of sewers, the Colonel Wnring sys-

tem, and in 1889 was re-appointed under the

new charter. He is a member of the Fremont

Subordinate Lodge of Odd Fellows, and the

Massasoit Encampment of Boston, and is a

charter member of the Silver Gate Masonic

Lodge of San Diego.

Mr. Goldthwait whs married in Boston, June

12, 1871, to Miss Margaret W. Webster of

Unity, Maine, a lineal descendent of Daniel

Webster.

••0sB-£f»-

fOKALD MoVlCAR.—One of the promis-

ing and pioneer ranchers is Donald Mc-

Vicar, he having purchased the first ranch

in the place. He was born in the Province of

Ontario, Canada, May 2, 1855. His father, John

McVicar, and his mother. Mary (Ray) McVicar,

were both natives of Scotland. Mr. McVicar was

the youngest of a family of nine children. He
was educated in the public schools of Canada and

began business there as a lumberman, cutting

and shipping square timber, He followed this

business for twelve years, and in 1885 came to

California and settled in Wildomar, buying the

first tract before the first town site was sur-

veyed—fifty acres—on which he has erected a

very handsome dwelling, and improved the

property by planting a large number of trees

and vines. He has preserved on his grounds

several natural forest trees, which add greatly

to the appearance of the property. He has laid

out his grounds tastfully and has a good assort^

ment of trees and shrubs for ornamental pur-

poses. Donald is yet a single man, and what

such elaborate improvements are for, will have

to be surmised. His house was built in 1887.

He is doing general farming, but is fast going

into the culture of fruit, having many young

peach and apricot trees now in bearing. Mr.

McVicar has been forward in all that has been

done for the improvement of the town and is

treasurer and a trustee of the United Presby-

terian Church of Wildomar. When a town is

settled by such young men its future is safe.

There is to be another, and we trust a happy

and successful chapter in this man's life.

fM.
SBENCER, of San Diego, was born at

Pittstown, New York, in May, 1820, and
3

in early life his father moved to Niagara

County, where he carried on the occupation of

miller. The son was educated in the common
schools, and paid particular attention to farming.

In 1849 he came to California by the Isthmus of

Panama, in the old ship Niantic. Since then

his experience has been very varied, being en-

gaged in mining, farming, in a general mer-

chandise store and running a hotel; but, judging

from his pleasant residence at 1,429 Second

street, we must conclude that his efforts have

been generously prospered. He has been East

several times, remaining at one time from 1865

to 1873, when he came direct to San Diego.

He speculated a little during the boom of 1886,

but in the main is living a quiet, retired life.

Mr. Spencer was married in Lockport, New
York, in 1848, to Miss Marian Miles. They

have three children, one son and two daughters.

The daughters are both married, one living in

Denver, Colorado, and the other in Brooklyn,

New York. The son is unmarried and lives at

home, and at present is engineer in the office of

the city surveyor.

fOSEPHF. SUPPLE,oneof theleading ship

builders of San Diego, was born at Lyons-

New York, February 26, 1854. His mother

was a native of New York, and the father, who

was a shoemaker, was of Irish descent. At the

early age of eleven years Joseph went to Buf-

falo, New York, and was apprenticed to a ship-

carpent R. J. 1. Cooper, for whom he worked

four years, and at the age of seventeen years

he started his own yard in boat-building at

Buffalo. He built mainly pleasure steamboats,
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from 50 to 150 feet deck measurement; also

many small boats and yachts. Owing to tail-

ing health he came to San Diego in 1887 and

opened a ship-yard at the loot of D street, and

built the steamer Roseville, which was the first

steamer ever built in this city, a boat 67 feet

long, 18 feet beam, 6 feet hold, registering 37

tons, and now running between San Diego and

Koseville on the bay. He also built the sloop

yacht Climate, 28 feet long, 10 feet beam, cabin

yacht; also rebuilt the steam tug Rover, and

has constructed many small boats. Mr. Supple

conceived the idea of and built the schooner

garbage scow, which has proved a great suc-

cess, in economically disposing of the city

garbage by taking it far out to sea, and by

utilizing the wind, instead of steam, the old

method, thus saving the city about $300 per

7iionth.

Mr. Supple came to San Diego for his health,

but is now a well, strong man and cannot speak

too enthusiastically of the climate of this place.

—#^:--4:t»^
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fLARA SHORTRIDGE FOLTZ, known as

the Portia of the .Pacific, was bora in Henry

County, Indiana, and is a lineal descendant

of Daniel Boone, that eminent pioneer, who was

ever in the advance, progressive in his ideas yet

at all times seeking privacy rather than promi-

nence; such are the characteristics inherited by

the subject of this sketch, who though very

prominent in public life is never so happy and

contented as when in the privacy of her home,

surrounded by those she loves most dearly. Her
remote ancestors lived in Scotland, some four

generations back; the family was established in

Kentucky, where it produced several great law-

yers and preachers. It divided there early in

the present century, one branch going north and

the other south. Mrs. Foltz's father, Elias V.

Shortridge, was born in Indiana. He prepared

himself for the bar in company with Oliver P.

Morton, but, without entering upon his profes-

sion, turned to the pulpit and became a clergy-

man of the " Campbellite " or " Christian " de-

nomination, in which President Garfield was

prominent. The branch that went south adorned

the history of Alabama with distinguished names.

They were a family of strong mentality and

great learning. Mrs. Foltz moved to Mount
Pleasant, Iowa, with her parents and was edu-

cated in Howe's Seminary of that city. She

was regarded by her teachers as possessing an ex-

traordinary mind, havingat theearlyageof twelve

years finished the first two books of Latin, and

stood at head of her classes in philosophy, his-

tory and rhetoric. After leaving school she

taught two terms, near Keithsburg, Mercer

County, Illinois, the last one closing oo the day

she was fifteen years of age. Within a few

weeks thereafter and without parental advice or

authority she was married to Z. D. Foltz, and

moved to the Pacific coast in 1872. She began

reading law in the office of the Hon. C. C.

Stephens in San Jose, California, in 1876, and on

the fourth day of September, 1878, she was ad-

mitted to the bar. She was the author of the

bill which amended the law of California so that

women could be admitted to practice, and was

the first admitted under its provisions. After-

ward, having been denied admission to Hastings'

College of the Law, she sued out a writ of man-

damus, argued her own case and won it. The
directors appealed from the judgment. Mrs.

Foltz was prevented attending the law college,

but by the aid of a coal-oil lamp, amid the cries

of her populous nursery, she prepared herself for

admission to the Supreme Court and was ad-

mitted, December 6, 1879. A few weeks fol-

lowing the Supreme Court affirmed the college

case, and ever since that time women have been

free to enter and graduate upon equal terms

with men. (See Clara Foltz vs. J. P. Hoge et

ah, 54 Cal. p. 28.)

From the day of her admission to the bar

Mrs. Foltz had all the business she could at-

tend to. Patient and kind, she served all who

applied for her services, charging for them only

when the party applying was able to pay.

Mrs. Foltz practiced law for many years in
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San Francisco, and among a thousand lawyers

she was the one woman who with keen sight and

natural ability broke down the barriers of con-

servatism which had been raised against her sex

and won the highest respect and consideration,

as well as attaining high honors in the profes-

sion as a public speaker. Mrs. Foltz is pos-

sessed with great oratorical ability, and takes

up the hard and knotty problems of political

economy with keen insight and great ability,

carrying force and conviction with her utter-

ance, as has justly been written of her:

" Thy voice has argued in debate,

In scathing satire sharply fell,

In forum and in hall of State,

Held listening thousands with its spell;

Then dropped its tones to softest keep,

And, crooning, sang a babe to sleep.

Then hail ! thee priestess of the law,

Our fair-browed Portia of the West!

Write on thy shield :
' I came, I saw,

I conquered !' Thou hast earn -d the crest,

Nay more; it seemed the gods to thee,

Had given the Sakhard's mystery.

And thou hast proved that woman can

—

Who has the nerve, and strength and will—
Work in the wider field of man,

And be a woman still,"

In 1880 she was clerk of the judiciary com-

mittee of the Assembly, the first woman to hold

that important position, and during the same

season prepared a brief on the constitutionality

of a bill she had introduced: " To enable women
to vote at elections fur school officers and in all

matters pertaining to public schools," which is

considered as the ablest presentation of the suf-

fragists yet offered in support of the proposition

that in States where not prohibited by the con-

stitution the Legislature may grant suffrage to

women. The bill was defeated, however, though

not for want of constitutional authority.

fAOOB SCHELLItfG, of Elsinore, was born

in Schofihansen, Switzerland, February 25,

1844. His ancestors and parents were Swiss

people. The latter came to America and settled in

Germantown, Pennsylvania. They had six chil-

dren, three of whom are now living. When the

great war of the rebellion broke out our young

hero of thirty-six hard-fought battles was but a

boy of seventeen, scarcely large enough to be re-

ceived, but with his brother Henry was mus-

tered in and did his duty as a soldier in every

place where duty called. He belonged to First

Battalion, Yates Sharp-shooters, but re-enlisted

as a veteran in Company F, Sixty-fourth Regi-

ment Illinois Veteran Volunteers, First Brig-

ade, First Division, Seventeenth Army Corps.

At the second battle of Corinth his regiment

suffered heavily. At the battle of Atlanta they

lost twenty-three commanding officers and their

Colonel received two wounds, and at the Kene

saw mountains they lost sixty men. At this

place a ball grazed his throat. He was with

Sherman on his march to the sea, and marched

100 miles with one shoe. They were six weekf

at Savannah, and while*there lived principally

on rice, which they hulled themselves with the

muzzle of their guns. They heard the news of

Lee's surrender and of Johnston's surrender, and

the soldiers were filled with great happiness.

They took part in the grand review at Washing

ton, an army of tried victorious veterans ready

to lay down their arms and betake themselves

to the peaceful avocations of life. He and hn
brother came out alive and well. His brother

still lives and is now in Denver. His father

died in Kankakee County, Illinois, at forty

years of age, killed accidentally by a bale c

hay falling on his head. His younger brother

now lives in Kankakee, Illinois. He was five

years in the United States regular army and

came out a Sergeant. While in Illinois Mr.

Schelling did not make property, so he came

in 1875 to Los Angeles, California, and tor

nine years worked for prominent men there, and

then came to Elsinore, where he homesteaded

120 acres of Government land, on which he has

built a house and made other improvements.

His property is in full view of Lake Elsinore

and the Santa Rosa mountains, and is a nice

sight. He has made a large tunnel in the

mountain on his land, from which flows a nice
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spring of water; besides this he has two wells

on the place. Mr. Schelling is a horseman and

owds a fine Mambrino horse, Monte, a pure-bred

animal of fine size and proportions and in color

coal black. His sire's record is 2:27, and the

whole progeny are noted for speed. Mr. Schel-

ling is a member of the G. A. R., T. B. Stevens

Post, No. 103, Elsinore. His record as a sol-

dier entitles him to great respect.

WILLIAM H. HOLCOMB, Deputy-Sher-

iff and member of the Board of Educa-

tion, was born in Washington County,

Iowa, November 19, 1886, being the youngest of

five children, all of whom are living. In 1874

he was sent by his parents to Colorado to make

his residence among relatives, and there received

his education, and for tknt purpose attended the

State School of Mines in Colorado, the State Ag-

ricultural College, and the University at Denver.

In the year 1880 he returned to Iowa, took a

course at the Short-hand Institute in connection

with the State University at Iowa City, and be-

came a master of that art, and on again turning

his face to the west he arrived at Denver and

began the study of law in connection with his

duties as short-hand reporter, but later moved

to California, arriving at San Francisco in 1885,

and was there employed as a short-hand writer

in a responsible position. He came south in

1886, under the excitement of the land boom in

San Diego, and being cautions in his specu-

lations he made for himself a pleasant home at

Coronado. On his arrival at San Diego he im-

mediately entered the office of Judge Luce in

the capacity of clerk, but the same year was

appointed clerk of the Superior Conrt, which

position he held for two and one-half years.

January 1, 1889, he received the appointment

of deputy sheriff, and at the time of the city

election for officers under the new city charter.

In May, 1889, he was elected a member of the

board of education from the third ward.

Mr. Holcomb inherits the literary traits of

his father, O. M. Holcomb, of Ohio, who has

given a life-time to editorial work, and the sub-

ject of our present sketch devoted much of his

leisure time to literary work.

Mr. Holcomb was married at San Francisco,

March, 1885, to Mrs. Mary Jane Buchanan, a

native of Wisconsin and a lineal descendant of

William Roberts, a celebrated Welsh musician.

They have one daughter.

Mr. Holcomb is a member of the Knights of

Pythias and is a charter member of the tribe of

Improved Order of Red Men at San Diego.

fUSTAVUS WITFIELD, the pioneer drug-

gist of San Diego, was born near Cologne,

Prussia, January 27, 1825; was carefully

educated and studied chemistry at the Univer-

sity of Bonn. He emigrated to America in 1848,

first visiting Paris and Havre, and landing at

New York in April of that year. He then went to

New Orleans, where he was employed in a drug

store for one year. In 1849, he started for Cal-

ifornia, induced by the gold excitement of that

year, going by the Isthmus of Panama, and ar-

riving at Monterey, by a sailing vessel from

Panama in March, 1850. With great enthusi

asm started tor the mines, visiting Mariposa

County, Calaveras County, Tuolumne County,

and going as far north as the Fraser river, al-

ways led on by enthusiastic reports, but never

realizing the great bonanzas which were ever

reported to be awaiting the enterprising miners.

After ten years of prospecting, he returned to

San Francisco, to resume the profession which

he had learned in his youth. He entered a

large wholesale drug house, remaining until

1862, when he went to Panama and opened a

large commission house in drugs and chemicals,

for several English houses, trading very exten-

sively in indigo. In 1866, he made a business

trip to London, and in 1867 severed his con-

nection at Panama and returned to San Fran-

cisco. He then journeyed south, stopping at

Los Angeles two months and then going to Old
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Town, where he located and started in business.

In 1869, he came to New Town, and as the

present city was established he bought a lot on

Fifth street between E and F. He then built

and established the first drug store in San

Diego. In 1878, he removed his entire stock

of drugs to Tucson, Arizona, moving by three

wagons across the desert. He stopped there six

years, doing a good business. In 1884, he sold

out his entire business and returned to Germany

to see his family and friends. After an ab-

sence of six months he returned to San Diego,

but has never resumed active business except in

the care of his several interests.

Dr. Wittield is a member of the San Diego Lodge

of Masons, No. 35; also lodge of Perfection,

Scottish rite thirty-second degree at Tucson,

and of the society of San Diego pioneers.

fEORGE SCRIMGEOUR, of San Diego, a

pioneer of 1859, was born in^Scone, Scot-

land, December, 1832, being the second son

in a family of eight children, four sons and four

daughters, all of whom are still living in 1889,

the eldest being a daughter of sixty-six years of

age, and the youngest a son of forty-five years

of age. In 1848 his parents emigrated to Strat-

ford, Ontario, Canada. His father bei "g

penter and contractor, George learned the trade

working with his father until June, 1859, when

he became restless under the California excite-

ment, and emigrated to that State by way of the

Isthmus of Panama, arriving in San Francisco

July 10, 1859. He followed his trade until

May, 1860, then going to Westminster, British

Columbia, and up the Fraser river, prospecting

during the summer and returning in the fall.

In the spring of 1861, in company with friends,

he went to the Cariboo mines, meeting many
hardships but no success. On returning he went

into partnership with Mr. Graham, in building

and contract work, building a large hospital and

other prominent buildings. He was a partner

in the first saw-mill on Buzzard's inlet, now the

terminus of the Canadian Pacific Railroad. In

1866 he returned to San Francisco, and worked

at his trade until 1869. He then came to San

Diego, and in partnership with Mr. Graham
again began building and contracting, but busi-

ness being rather dull he went to San Francisco

in 1872, and there engaged first as foreman and

then as contractor, remaining until December,

1886, when he returned to San Diego. He
bought two lots on the corner of A and Colum-

bia streets, each 50x100 feet, adjoining; they

are now fully improved with store, butcher shop

and residence. In the summer of 1889, Mr.

Scrimgeour returned to Ontario, to visit his

family and friends after an absence of thirty

years. His parents are deceased, but his broth-

ers and sisters are still living. His brothers

have a large sash, blind and furniture manufact-

ory at Stratford, and his youngest brother ha6

been mayor of the city.

Mr. Scrimgeour, being a bachelor, resides with

his old and tried friend Mr. Graham, at the cor-

ner of Sixth and Ash streets, and though fifty-

seven years of age he is in full enjoyment of all

the pleasures of life.

—fr* t >&

fC.
MERRILL, superintendent and stock-

holder of the Southern California Coal and

° Clay Co., manufacturers of sewer pipe,

water pipe, fire brick, fire-proof building ma-

terial. John Dolbeer is president of the com-

pany; William Mugan, secretary, and George

Gray, vice-president. The works are at Terra

Cotta, three and one-half miles southwest of

Elsinore. This plant cost $50,000, and was

put in operation in January, 1888. They now

run three kilns; capacity of each kiln, .$600

When- rnuning a f
, full capacity they run ten

kilns per month. They ship to Los Angeles,

San Diego, and all the towns of southern Cali-

fornia. The coal which they have discovered

will be opened within 300 yards of the factory.

The product of their factory is termed Vitrified

Salt-Glazed Pipe. Mr. Merrill was born in
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Akron, Ohio, in 1849. His father, C. J. Mer-

rill, made the first sewer pipe in Ohio, and is

now the oldest manufacturer living in the

United States. He is also the inventor of the

machinery used in its manufacture. His father

was a native of Ohio, and his mother, Fanny L.

(Follett) Merrill, also. The subject of this

sketch was raised in this business, and is well

informed on all matters in connection with it.

He was the superintendent of the pipe works at

Los Angeles, the clay for which is got at Elsi-

nore. Mr. F. F. Merrill, a brother of Mr. C. C.

Merrill, is now superintendent of the California

Pipe Works at Los Angeles. Mr. Merrill was

married in 1870 to Miss Emma J. Le Sure.

She was born in Alton, Illinois. They have

four children, two boys and two girls, viz.: Ed-

ward L., C. O, Jr., Florence L., all born in Al-

ton, Illinois, and Emma Blanche, born in Mount

Pulaski, Illinois. Mr. Merrill, when twenty-

one years of age, made application to become a

Master Mason, and was accepted. He was

secretary of his lodge while he resided in that

part of the country. He is a very active busi-

ness man, of fine ability.

--T&mwHg—
Wa S. MASON is the owner of a very excellent

fly?
seventy-acre ranch on the south side of

1^° Lake Elsinore, about six miles from the

city of Elsinore. It is a choice location, pictur-

esque in the extreme, backed by the Santa Rosa

mountains, the land falling in a gentle slope to

the lake. The whole lake and adjoining country,

together with the city of Elsinore and the distant

mountains, form a most attractive landscape,

which is so full of beauty that one will always

delight to behold. This property is supplied

with a pure stream of clear cold water, running

from a tunnel made 150 feet in the mountains

by Mr. Mason. It comes into the land just

where wanted and is of immense value. Mr.

Mason has improved the place with a neat small

house, and shrubs and trees, and is about to

plant ten acres of oranges, for which the land is

well adapted. He has fifty acres under improve-

ment, of which twenty-five acres are in trees,

sixteen in figs and the remainder in plums. He
has made a study of tree, fruit and raisin culture,

having spent the most of his life in that busi,

ness. He was in the lumber business in Ala-

bama, Florida, and in the northern counties of

California He also raised considerable grain

in Plumas County, and engaged in mining. At

one time he superintended the planting of the

largest raisin vineyard in the world,—800 acres

in El Cajon, San Diego County, California. In

a very short time he will have a place to feel

proud of. In addition to the care of his own

property Mr. Mason has charge of Mr. Balfour's

grove of oranges, figs and almonds, fifty acres in

all, all doing very nicely under his care, on lands

adjoining his own. Since he has been in this

valley he has dealt some in lands on his own

account, and has been quite successful Mr.

Mason was born in Indiana, May 30, 1847.

His father, Edson Mason, was a native of

Syracuse, New York, and his mother, Mary

A. Nelson, was a native of Pennsylvania.

L. S., the fourth of a family of six children,

was raised in Michigan, where he was edu-

cated in the public schools. He has been in

California fifteen years, and at Elsinore five

years. He is still a single man and of strict

business habits.

lHARLES J. FOX, C. E., San Diego. No
man has been more closely identified with

Diego County during the past eighteen

years, and no name is better known to the early

settlers and later residents, than that of Charles J.

Fox. Mr. Fox was born in Boston, Massachusetts,

October 12, 1834. He comes of a noted family

and can trace his lineage back to 1640, when

his ancestors settled in Massachusetts. Five

generations back on his mother's side, Wheelock,

the head of the family, was the founder and first

president of Dartmouth College, where his por-

trait hangs in the art gallery, and Mr. Fox's
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father, grandfather and great-grandfather were

graduates of that famous institution of learning.

His paternal grandfather was a soldier of the

Revolutionary war, and Mr. Fox has in his

possession a book written and published by him,

entitled, "Fox's Revolutionary Adventures."

He was taken prisoner by the British troops

and confined for some months in the old Jersey

prison ship, in Wallabout Bay, in Long Island

Sound.

Charles spent his boyhood days in Boston,

and at the age. of seventeen graduated from a

scientific school, where mathematics and engi-

neering were specialties. He had a natural

taste for these pursuits, and the first work he

did after graduation was as a member of a rail-

road survey party in Pennsylvania in 1851. In

the spring of 1853 he went West, and until

1869 was engaged on different railroads through-

out the western States and Territories.

In the spring of 1860 he crossed the plains

to where the city of Denver now stands, and

was one of the first settlers of that place, there

being at that time but few houses, and they

mere shanties. Most of the summer was spent

in California gulch, now the site of Leadville,

in mining, prospecting and surveying. During

a recent trip to the East he stopped at Lead-

ville and saw the remains of a log house which

he helped, to build in the summer of 1860.

During 1864 and 1865 he was in the United

States Engineer service, having charge of the

reconstruction of the Memphis & Charleston

Railroad from Memphis to Corinth.

He continued to be engaged in railroad busi-

ness in the South until his health failed, and in

the spring of 1869 he came to California. After

prospecting different parts of the State for six

months, he finally selected San Diego as his

future residence, being attracted by the beauties

of the climate and what he foresaw of its future

commercial importance.

Having invested all his available funds in

San Diego real estate, he opened an office for

surveying and engineering, and has ever since

devoted his best abilities to aid in building up

the city and county. In pursuance of this ob-

ject he took an active part in the organization

of the San Diego and Fort Yuma turnpike

road, 200 miles in length, which was the first

good road across the county to Arizona, and
opened up a good deal of trade and travel. In

1875 he established a large apiary at Fallbrook,

and the following year organized the Bee Keep-
ers' Association, of which he was president, and
established agencies for the sale of honey in

various Eastern cities.

He was one of the incorporators of the San
Diego Society of Natural History, and for ten

years its treasurer; also one of the stockholders

of the Masonic Building Association, and a

director for several years; also one of the char-

ter members of the San Diego Lodge, Knights
of Pythias, serving a term as Chancellor Com-
mander. He was in charge of surveys for the

Memphis & El Paso Railroad, the San Diego &
Los Angeles Railroad, and the Texas & Pacific,

being the first engineer to call attention to and
survey through the famous Temecula canon,

now occupied by the California Southern.

Having for several years explpred the county,

including the Colorado desert, he obtained an

extensive and minute knowledge of the country,

and was generally called on by new-comers for

information, which he always cheerfully gave.

He was active in protecting the rights of the

settlers from the greed of land monopolists, and
was several times elected county surveyor and
city engineer, and filled these situations to the

satisfaction of all. In connection with his part-

ner, Mr. II. I. Willey, afterwards State Sur-

veyor-General, he prepared and published the

official and only map of San Diego County.

By appointment of the Judge of the Superior

Court, he served as commissioner in the parti-

tion of most of the Spanish grants, including

the ex-Mission grant of 52,000 acres, surround-

ing the city of San Diego.

He is now owner of considerable real estate

in the city, and a good deal of county land, in-

cluding a tract at Linda Vista, where he was

the first to make improvements on Government:
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land; and he also owns a large interest in the

Junipero Land and "Water Company, of which

he is the president.

He has always been active and liberal in sup-

port of every important public measure, espe-

cially during San Diego's dark days, and has

the respect of all the old settlers.

Mr. Fox married, in 1880, Mrs. A. A. Cosper,

of San Diego. They have no children.

SAAC NEWTON VAIL came to Lucerne

in September, 1888. He purchased a ranch,

is planting a nursery and raising orange

trees, French prunes, apricots and grapes, and

nearly every variety of tree and shrub. His

native place is eastern Ohio, and he dates his

birth from January 31, 1840. He was educated

in West Town Friend's College, in eastern

Pennsylvania, and is a graduate of that institu-

tion. After graduating he taught for three

years as assistant principal, and then four years

as principal. After this he wa9 principal of

the Eastern Ohio Normal School for three

years and was county teachers' examiner.

Mr. Vail is a leading geologist. He began

this study when a boy and has made it a

specialty and a life study. He has written and

published several works on this and kindred

subjects, his most important work being " The

Story of the Rocks." He is the author of the

"Annular Theory," which is that the earth has

a ring system similar to that which Saturn now

has. This theory has its foundation in the

claim that annular formation is a necessary re-

sult of the evolution of worlds from their prim-

itive state; hence the earth at one time had an

annular system as one step in its formation,

which accounts satisfactorily for all the geolog-

ical formations of the earth. It gives the true

cause of the glacial epochs and furnishes a

philosophical and satisfactory cause of all or-

ganic evolution, and gives a philosophic cause

for the Noachian deluge.

Mr. Vail has been engaged a part of his time

in horticultural pursuits at Barnesville, Ohio,

and shipped to and sold his berries in Chicago.

His principal business in 1890 is the improve-

ment of his ranch and looking after the sale of

his books. He was married to Miss Rachel D.

Wilson in 1864, and was blessed with two chil-

dren: Alice J. and Lillie C, both born near

Barnesville, Ohio, and now residing in Califor-

nia. Mrs. Vail died in 1877, and his second

marriage occurred in 1880, to Mary M. Cope,

who was a native 'of Fayette County, Pennsyl-

vania. Mr. Vail's grandfather, Benjamin Vail,

and great-grandfather, Abraham Vail, were na-

tives of New Jersey.

?W. THOMPSON, one of San Diego's re-

spected citizens who was directly instrn-

* mental, through his telephone system of

connecting the business interests of all San Diego

County, was born in Pontiac, Oakland County,

Michigan, in April, 1842. He was one of a fam-

ily of three children, all of whom are living, he

being the only son. His two sisters, now wid-

owed, reside in San Diego. His father was a

newspaper man, being editor and publisher of

the Pontiac Gazette; he was also quite a poli-

tician, and was a delegate at the Baltimore

Whig Convention, which nominated General

Scott for President in 1852. In 1853 the

family removed to Council Bluffs, Iowa, where

his father died in 1854, the family removing

soon after to Omaha, Nebraska, the subject of

this sketch being an eye witness to the erection

of the first house at Omaha, July 4, 1854. A
legislative hall was soon built, and he was then

appointed page to the first Nebraska Legisla-

ture. He was in the vicinity of Omaha until

1861, getting an education, which he had to

work for as opportunity afforded. During the

years 1859-'60, he was employed at the trading

store of the Omaha Indian Reservation. In

1861 he began the study of telegraphy at

Omaha, in the office of Colonel Clowry, then

superintendent, but now vice-president of the
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Western Union system. On completion of the

first overland telegraph, in the fall of 1861, on

the line of the old stage route, Mr. Thompson

came across the plains locating telegraph sta-

tions, which took about two years, and on his

arrival in California he opened the first tele-

graph office at Petaluma, Sonoma County, in

1863, and then located offices through Oregon

and Nevada. In the winter of 1866 he went to

Yreka, Siskiyou County, California, as superin-

tendent, remaining until 1874.

Mr. Thompson was married in 1873, at Yreka,

to Miss Hortense Eubanks. In 1874 he came

with his wife to San Diego as manager of the

Western Union, holding the position until 1886.

He was also manager of the Military Telegraph

running to Arizona and New Mexico, which

has since been abandoned. In 1878 he was ap-

pointed agent for the Wells-Fargo Express Com-
pany, holding the appointment until February,

1887. In 1881 Mr. Thompson started the San

Diego Telephone Company, and began laying

wires the same year. He is still president.

They have suspended over 600 miles of wire,

and cover Oceanside, Canipo, El Cajon, Stone-

wall, and all the western part of the county.

They have about 350 subscribers, which is said

to be the largest number of subscribers to the

average population of any office in the country.

In January, 1889, he organized the Diamond
Carriage Company, doing a livery and hack

business, and controlling the hack system of

the city, they have forty horses, nineteen hacks,

and an outfit valued at $35,000, situated on

First street, between C and D. He is also

president of the Excelsior Paving Company,

macadam system, having a plant near Sweet-

water dam, and supplying the broken rock for

all the concrete work of the city. He owns a

large amount of improved property, and occu-

pies a handsome residence at 1,457 Fourth street.

They have five children, all of whom are living

at home.

Mr. Thompson is Fast Master of San Diego

Lodge, No. 35, and Past High Priest and Sec-

retary of San Diego Chapter, No. 61, R. A. M.,

and Past Chancellor of Knights of Pythias.

Mr. Thompson is a man of great enterprise and

keen foresight, very progressive, and is ever

ready to advance systematic development.

—<§&mwH#—

fGr.
HAYERMALE, a man of great versa-

tility, successful in both church and State,

3 who now occupies the most beautiful resi-

dence in San Diego, corner of Seventh and Ash
streets, was born October 15, 1824, in the obscure

village of Sharpsburg, Maryland, now become the

renowned battle- field of Antietam. His parents

were natives of the same State. He was second

in a family of eight children, seven of whom are

still living, one brother having been killed in

that terrible railroad accident on the Wabash
railroad, near Chatsworth, Illinois, where lives

were sacrificed to such a terrible degree. His

father was a weaver by trade in youth, but in

later years was devoted to the interests of farm-

ing. In 1833 he moved to Montgomery Coun-

ty, Ohio, where he purchased a small farm.

Here the subject of this sketch received his pre-

liminary education, which was finished at the

Pock River Seminary, at Mount Morris, Illinois,

where he also studied for the ministry. He was

educated in the Methodist faith, and began

the active work of the ministry in 1852 in

Northern Illinois, and for twenty-one years

labored in that particular field, and, being a man
of genial temperament and loving disposition,

was beloved by all and was very successful in

his ministry. In 1873 he was appointed Pre-

siding Elder of a district in Washington Ter-

ritory and Oregon, whither he had been trans-

ferred from Illinois, and moved his family to

Spokaie Falls, from which parish he traveled

over his district, which covered an area of some

40,000 square miles, and embraced a pastorate

of twenty- five parishes. In 1879, at the age of

fifty-five years, feeling that the hardships and

exposures of travel were too great, he resigned

his charge, after an active pastorate of twenty-
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seven years, the last six being on the frontier,

and exceedingly burdensome.

In 1875 he took up, by pre emption, the

second Government claim of 160 acres at Spo-

kane Falls, there then being but two houses at

the place. This land was subdivided and be-

came the center of what is now a city of 22,-

000 inhabitants, enterprising and progressive.

Here, after retiring from the ministry, he built

a flouring mill, which was the first full roller

mill in the Territory, which he operated with

great success for five years, selling out in 1887,

that he might seek a more temperate climate in

southern California, coming direct to San Diego

to enjoy the accumulations of his business pros-

perity in a balmy atmosphere and amidst con-

tinuous sunshine. He soon invested in im-

proved property, and is now the owner of the

Richelieu and Bon Ton blocks on D and Fifth

streets, and completed the purchase in October,

1889, of the most beautiful residence in South-

ern California. Mr. Havermale has taken no

active part in politics while in San Diego, but

at Spokane Falls was president of the first city

council, and continued a member thereof for

many years.

Mr. Havermale was married November 1,

1849, at Elizabeth, Jo Daviess County, Illinois,

to Miss Elizabeth Goldthorp, a native of Illi-

nois. They have three children, two of whom
are residents of San Diego, California, and one

resides at Spokane Falls, State of Washington.

Mr. Havermale belongs to a family of marked

longevity. His parents died at the ages of

eighty-nine and ninety years, and were buried

in the same grave.

fAMES H. STEWART, one of the enterpris-

ing and capable fruit ranchers of Elsinore.

He has forty acres of very choiceland on the

west side of the lake but not bordering it, so it is

out of the way of ever being overflowed. It is a

little over two miles from Elsinore and has a line

view of the lake and surrounding country. He

has ten acres of raisin grapes and five acres of

fruit trees of nearly all kinds. He also owns town

lots and a house and lot in Elsinore. Mr.

Stewart was born in Pittsburg, Pennslyvania,

April 14, 1852. His father, William, was also

a native of the same State and was in the grocery

and provision business 'in Allegheny City for

twenty-seven years. Mr. Stewart's grandfather,

Joseph Stewart, was a Scotchman. His mother,

Mary Jane (Andrews) Stewart, was a native of

Pennsylvania. Mr. Stewart is the eldest of a

family of five children, the others being William,

John, Mary Jane and Emma.. He was raised

and educated in the first ward of Allegheny

City and learned the grocery business in his

father's store. He learned the moulder's trade

and worked nine years for Fuller, Warn & Co.,

of Troy, New York. He then removed to

Minneapolis, Minnesota, and for four years was

engaged in transferring goods; he had contracts

with the largest houses there. In 1888 became

to Elsinore and built their present house. No-

vember 10, 1880, he was married to Miss Martha

E. Coon, of Troy, New York. Her father, Mr.

Andrew Coon, was in the linen collar and shirt

manufacturing business in Troy for many years.

She was but eight months old when she was left

an orphan, and she was brought up by her

mother's father, Ransom D. Warner, a pioneer

of Minneapolis. Their union is blessed with

four children: William Ransom and Edwin

Warner were born in Troy, New York; Walter

James in Minneapolis and Ransom Darius in

Elsinore. Mrs. Stewart is a member of the

Methodist Church, at which they both attend

services. Mr. Stewart is a member of the A.

O. IT. W., and Mrs. Stewart is member of the

Baptist Church.

-T^K '?>*£—

tDOLPH STOKES, a native of California,

a rancher of San Diego County, was born

at Old Town in 1843. His father, Edward

Stokes, was born at Plymouth, England, and was

a seafaring man, being captain of a vessel which
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sailed between Boston, Sandwich Islands, San

Francisco and other ports. He first came to Cali-

fornia in 1838, and soon settled at Old Town.

The mother of the subject of this sketch was a na-

tive of California, of the well-known Ortega fam-

ily. Adolfo was the eldest of three children. His

father was a large land owner, owning one-half

interest in the Santa Maria ranch and one-half

interest in the Santa Ysabel ranch, each ranch

being four leagues in extent, or 17,752 acres.

He was a large breeder of cattle and horses, and

on the Santa Ysabel ranch had a wine press and

vineyard which has since gone into decay, its

history being only legendary. The family early

removed to Los Angeles and there Adolfo re-

ceived his early education, finishing at Benicia

College in Solano County. He then learned

the carpenter's trade in Los Angeles, which he

followed until 1865, when he went to the Santa

Maria ranch, which has since been his home.

He owns 500 acres of land and carries on gen-

eral farming, in growing wheat and barley, and

has a 6mall orchard and vineyard. He is also

a breeder of fine horses, of the Black Hawk and

Norman stock.

Mr. Stokes was married at Los Angeles in

1868, to Miss Delores Olvera, of a well-known

and distinguished family. Her father, Don
Agustin Olvera, was a lawyer and judge at Los

Angeles, and was one of the presidential elec-

tors at the election of Buchanan. Point Concep-

cion was named after an aunt, Concepcion Llwn.

Mr. and Mrs. Stokes have had eleven chil-

dren, seven of whom survive and live at home.

Three daughters are now being educated at St.

Mary's College, and one son at the Commercial

College at San Diego. Mr. Stokes' family re-

moved to San Diego in 1887, where they now
reside.

—-—S-**^—

^ALGLISH & SATJLTER'S grocery and

provision store is a lively business place

in Elsinore. They have the only exclu-

sively grocery and provision store in the place.

They formed their partnership and opened with a

complete new stock in February, 1888. The
building is of brick, seventy-five feet deep, in

the center of the business portion of the town,

and is full of a well-kept stock of goods. They
are both young men of good business habits

and are deserving of the large trade which
they have. They are also agents for Wells,

Fargo & Co. Mr. Dalglish was born in Ot-

tawa, Canada, October 25, 1859, came to the

United States in 1887, and has declared his

intention to become a citizen of this land of

his adoption. He is of Scotch descent. He is

a member of the Business Men's Association of

Elsinore and is one of the committee on immi-
gration statistics and publications, and also of

the committee on money loans and openings for

capital. Mr. Saulter was born in Peterboro,

Canada, in 1865, and is of English descent.

He is married to Miss Maggie Dalglish, a sister

of his partner, and also a native of Canada.

They are both young business men who have a

bright future before them.

fC.
PARKER, the oldest photographer in

San Diego, was born in Cincinnati, Ohio.
13 He was the fourth child in a family of ten

children, six of whom are still living. His father

was a contractor and builder, mainly in brick and
stone. In 1836 they removed to Peoria, Illinois,

where his father carried on his trade. The subject

of this sketch was educated at Peoria, receiving

only a common-school education. He began

his profession in 1857, on both landscape and

portrait work, working with Henry Cole, of

Peoria. In 1862 he went to Pekin, Illinois,

and there started his own gallery, doing a very

satisfactory business for ten years. In 1872 he

came to California, first stopping for a short

period at Santa Rosa, San Francisco and Stock-

ton, where he had charge of Spooner's gallery.

In 1873 he came to San Diego and opened a

gallery with a partner, under the firm name of

Parker & Parker, which continued about two
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years. He then bought out his partner and has

been alone ever since. The first gallery was

located near the corner of Sixth and F streets,

but in 1884 he removed to his present spacious

quarters at 740 Fifth street. He does a general

photographic business, taking landscapes as

large as 20x24, and portraits from life-size

down. He does a wholesale business in land-

scape work, and has printed 100,000 pictures

during the past year, making a specialty of

scenes and Indians on the line of the Atlantic

& Pacific Railroad. He employs three artists

and has a very steady, satisfactory trade.

Mr. Parker was married at Peoria, Illinois,

in June, 1860, to Miss Mary L. Brown, a native

of Ohio. They have two children. The son,

Wallace B., is marrried and living in this city,

and the daughter, Lucile E., is still at home.

-~£HMf-f~-

fH.
LOUCKS, manager and owner of the

" San Diego Bath House," was born at

a Sharon, New York, March 18, 1838. He
was the second in a family of nine children, and

at the early age of fonr years his parents emi-

grated to Michigan, where his father took up a

Government claim of 160 acres, in a wild, unset-

tled country. In 1853 they moved to Illinois,

and, as times were hard and the family quite large,

the subject of this sketch, at the age of fourteen

years, began taking care of himself, working on

farms until 1862, when he listened to his coun-

try's call and enlisted in Company D, Captain

Cooper, of the Second Illinois Light Artillery.

They fought under both Grant and Sherman,

and were in the battles of Fort Donelson,

Pittsburg Landing, and the long siege and

heavy fighting at Moscow. They were under

Sherman in his thirty-two days' march from

Memphis to Meridian, Mississippi, and were at

Decatur, Alabama, during the three days' fight

against Hood, winning by an accident, as until

re-enforced they held their position by strategy.

Mr. Loucks was in the Quartermaster's depart-

ment at Decatur and rendered valuable service

in preserving papers of great value to the de-

partment. He was in no other large battles but

many skirmishes through Alabama, Tennessee

and Kentucky. At Memphis he was taken sick

with small-pox and was mustered out from the

hospital, May 30, 1865. He then engaged in

farming and other occupations until the spring

of 1875, when he came to Santa Cruz, Califor-

nia. In 1881 he came to San Diego and was

variously employed until 1886, when he built

his handsome bath-house and residence adjoining

on the water front, Atlantic street, between C
and D. The building is seventy-five feet front

by sixty-four feet deep, and is neatly and con-

veniently fitted up with tubs for either hot or

cold water. In the rear he has a swimming

tank 30 x 60 feet, with dressing rooms adjoin-

ing. The water for baths is always pumped at

high tide and from 400 feet out in the channel,

thus procuring clear, pure water.

Mr. Loucks was married in Clark County,

Missouri, January, 1862, to Miss Eliza E. Lucas.

Having no children they devote all their time

to the neat maintenance of their establishment.

fZ.
BUNDY, one of the industrious and

enterprising business men of Elsinore,

° claims as his native place, Springville,

Iowa, and dates his birth August 18, 1862.

His father, Joseph W. Bundy, and his mother,

Martha (Gregg) Bundy, were natives of Ohio.

Their family consisted of eight children, but

two of which survive: Mr. E. Z. Bundy and

his brother, O. J. Bnndy, both residents of El-

sinore. Bundy spent his boyhood, until he was

sixteen years of age, in Iowa. In 1882 he en-

gaged in the blacksmith business and has fol-

lowed it ever since. He came to Elsinore in

1885 and found one blacksmith here before him.

He bought him out and built a good shop in

1886 that would be good enough for any town

in the State, and here for the past five years he

has done the work for the people for ten miles

in every direction from Elsinore. Realizing for
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the first time in March, 1889, that it was not

good for a man to be alone he submitted his

case to Miss Hattie L. Stilson of San Jose, who

had been the school-teacher in Elsinore for the

two previous years and who is a native of Cali-

fornia, born in Half Moon Bay. This union of

two has resulted in a third, Essie Blanch, a beau-

tiful daughter, born December 9, 1889. Mr.

Bundj is a member of the Elsinore Business

Men's Association and of the committee on

mines and mining, and is now a member of the

city council. He owns one of the hot mineral

spring bath houses, for which Elsinore is so

justly celebrated, and is steadily with brawny,

bare arms and sturdy blows, gaining for himself

and those he loves, a good living and a compe-

tency for later years. All honor to the men
who thus beLefit themselves and the country in

which they reside.

^OUGLAS GUNN, the present Mayorof San

Diego, came to this city in the fall of 1869,

and assumed editorial charge of the San Di-

ego Union, which paper he soon after purchased

and continued its publication until August, 1886,

when he sold it to the corporation now owning

it. He gave the Union more than a local rep-

utation, and when he surrendered it to other

hands it was one of the most valuable news-

paper properties in the State. From the first

he has been one of the foremost citizens of San

Diego, having been prominently connected with

every movement for the advancement of his

city, and of southern California. He has al-

ways been recognized as a leader among the pub-

lic-spirited men of his section. After long years

of hard work in journalism his labor was re-

warded by the realization of a handsome for-

tune. Always a liberal contributor to every

worthy oliject, he was by no means disposed to

retire with his wealth, but has been noted for

leading the way in aid to all public enterprises.

His private acts of generosity have been con-

stant and unstinted.

In 1888 Mr. Gunn was elected one of the

Board of Freeholders to frame a new charter

for the city, and was chosen president of the

board. After the adoption of the charter he

was elected Mayor by a very large majority,

being supported by his fellow-citizens without

distinction of party. As chief executive officer

of the city he has shown marked executive abil-

ity; he possesses great decision of character,

and has clear-cut views of municipal adminis-

tration.

He has been one of the most active members

of the Chamber of Commerce since its organ-

ization in 1870, and was president of that or-

ganization in 1889.

Mr. Gunn is the author of several works on

San Diego and the southern country, his latest

and best known book " San Diego, Illustrated,''

having been published since his retirement from

the Union. He is one of the ablest statisticians

in the State, and possesses the rare faculty of

making statistical matter interesting to the

general reader. His contributions to news-

papers and periodicals in this direction have

been numerous, and have been drawn upon by

nearly writer upon Southern California, his

facts being regarded as authority.

Politically Mr. Gunn has always been an

earnest Republican, but he is a sturdy advocate

of the personal independence of the citizen, and

has uniformly refused to submit to party tram-

mels when imposed by machine politicians.

He was never a candidate for public office until

elected to his present position.

Mr. Gunn came to California a child in 1851,

and has ever since resided in the State; his

earlier years were passed in Sonora, Tuolumne

County, where he served his apprenticeship at

the printers' trade; from 1861 to 1869 he re-

sided in San Francisco, and was a member of

the editorial staff of the Times of that city;

upon the consolidation of that paper with the

Alta, in the latter year, he removed to San

Diego with the purpose of fixing here his per-

manent home. His faith in the future of this

city and southern California has been of the
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very finest kind from the day of his arrival;

and he has the satisfaction of seeing a large de-

gree of the realization of his early predictions

—

a consummation to which his own untiring

labor and ceaseless energy have in no small

measnre contributed

«F. GODDARD, a business man of San

Diego, was born at Palmyra, New York,

November 16, 1835. His mother, Mrs.

Maria (Fillmore) Goddard, was a cousin of

Millard Fillmore. Her father was in the war

of 1812, and her grandfather was in the

Revolutionary war. The Goddards trace their

genealogy back to the Saxon conquest. The

original name was Goder, which signified

Priest King, and one of the family was a

priest who administered the sacrament to

Napoleon when on his death-lied. The sub-

ject of this sketch was the third in a family

of nine children, five of whom still survive; one

brother, Luther M., is now judge of the fifth

judicial district of Colorado, and his brother

Clarence is a physician at Leavenworth, Kansas.

At the age of eighteen years the subject of this

sketch sailed on the lakes before the mast, and

in 1855 went to sea on a whaling vessel from

New Bedford, sailing on the Atlantic and Indian

oceans. He sailed as foremast hand, but was

steadily promoted until he became the head of

the watch. After five years of sea service he

returned to his home at Leavenworth, Kansas,

where his parents were then living. In 1860

he was quite extensively connected with the

border warfare, and in 1862 he ran a freight

line from Leavenworth to Denver across the

plains, carrying a load of corn. Denver wa6

then blockaded by Indians, and at that time Col-

onel Chivington made his celebrated raid at

Sandy Creek. Mr. Goddard and two brothers

with one team ran. the blockade, reaching Jules-

burg and then back to Leavenworth. In 1866

he got up a large mule train from Atchison to

Salt Lake, carrying a general supply of grocer-

ies. They were attacked on Lodge Pole Creek,

near Pine Bluff, by Indians, and for five days

were blockaded with a steady skirmish. They

lost eighty-six mules and a number of horses,

only retaining one wounded mule. During the

tight several Indians were sent to the happy

hunting-grounds. Goddard, in the first attack,

killed the leader, a renegade white man, and they

were only relieved by a company of troops from

Fort John Buford, and thus enabled to drive off

the Indians and get the freight train to Denver,

where the goods were stored. In the fall of

1867, he took a contract to supply the commis-

sary department on the building of the Kansas

Pacific Railroad to Sheridan, and employed

Buffalo Bill in killing buffaloes at $250 per

month. After 1870 he was for three or four

years connected with the police department at

Leavenworth on the detective service. February,

1879, he went to Leadville at the opening of

the great boom and located the first claim on

the snow crust at Breese Hill. In the following

summer he headed a prospecting party to the

head w7aters of the Platte river and Arkansas

river. In 1880, backed by ex-Governor Thomas

Carney, of Kansas, he took an armed party into

the Gunnison country and located claims on the

Ute reservation, some of which have proved very

valuable. In the fall of 1882 he emigrated to

Seattle, running a hotel during the boom, and

then to San Francisco in 1883, when he opened

a freight transfer line across the bay from Frisco

to Oakland and San Leandro. In 1885 he came

to San Diego, arriving December 30, and en-

gaged first in the real-estate business, and in the

summer of 1886 bought out the Pacific livery

and boarding stables, corner of Third and F
streets, which is one of the largest stables in

the city, and is doing a good business with a fine

stock of horses and carriages, both light and

heavy.

Mr. Goddard was married at Kansas City, in

1870, to Miss Annie Agnes Courtwright. They

have no children. Under the new charter in

1889, he was appointed by Mayor Gunn to act

as a member of the police commissioners for a
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term of three years, and being a man of integ-

rity and morality is satisfactorily discharging

his duties.

jARTINEZ CHICK.—Among the gun

sportsmen of Southern California, the

subject of this sketch stands out with

great prominence. He is a native of California

and was born in San Joaquin valley, August

22, 1858. His early life was passed on the farm

of hie father, leaving home at the age of twenty

years and coming to San Diego. Hunting has

been his principal amusement, until he has be-

come very skillful with the gun. In April, 18S7,

he shot a match with Doc. Carver, who is famed

for skillful shooting, and Mr. Chick won the

match, killing ninety-one live birds out of 100,

while Mr. Carver killed but ninety. At the

State Sportsmen's Association meeting at San

Jose, Mr. Chick made the best average on blue

rock and live birds, and won the prize. In

blue rock shooting, he broke forty-nine out of

fifty in singles and forty-four out of fifty in

double rise. In sweepstake tournament in 1888,

at Riverside, he made over seventy-five shots at

blue rocks without making a miss.

Mr. Chick was married in San Diego in

March, 1879, to Miss Cornelia Higgins, a na-

tive of California.

£h<°s°Hg

fOHN C. KITTON, of San Diego, was born

in St. Clair, Michigan, February 26, 1847,

of English-American descent. His father

was a capitalist and a general business manager,

having large interests in stores, mills and ma-

chine shops. John C. learned the trade of

machinist in St. Clair, and for six years was

superintendent and manager of his father's foun-

dry and machine shops. In 1874 he went to

Denver, Colorado, and then to Salt Lake and

San Francisco. In 1876 he acted as general

traveling agent for D. M. Osborn, of Auburn,

New York, in the sale of agricultural imple-

ments, traveling through the Northwest with

headquarters at Portland, Oregon, and remain-

ing with them until 1882, when he returned to

San Francisco and was superintendent of the

Arctic Ice Company, and while there remodeled

and improved the plant and secured patents in

his own name. Since 1885 he has been manu-

facturing his improved ice machine at San

Francisco, in connection with W. T. Garratt.

In 1887 he came to San Diego and started an

ice manufacturing establishment by the ammo-
nia process, but owing to complications the

business has been closed about one year. The
plant is now owned by W. T. Garratt & Co., of

San Francisco, with Mr. Kitton as manager.

The plant is being carefully inspected and re-

newed in view of continuing the business. They
will also have in connection suitable warerooms

for storage and sale of all castings made by the

above house. W. T. Garratt is an early pioneer

to California, having come out in 1850, and is

largely interested in lands, railroads, steamboats,

manufactories and in all the general develop-

ments of the State.

Mr. Kitton was married at Portland, Oregon,

December, 1878, to Miss Mary Isabel Day, a

native of Tennessee.

-^ ^-
fOHN H.STORER,ofElsinore,isanativeof

Yarmouth, Maine, born March 30, 1842.

His parents were also natives of that State.

His maternal grandfather was a pioneer of Port-

land, Maine, and president of the Casco Bank

of Portland, and also Mayor of that city. Mr.

Storer was educated and lived in his native

place until manhood, when he became a sailor

and sailed for ten years, visiting nearly every

foreign port. When the war of the Rebellion

broke out he was abroad, but as soon as he

reached New York he enlisted in Company C,

Twenty-second New York Cavalry, and served

his country until the close of the war. He then

went to Cleveland, Ohio, and engaged in the
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mixed-paint business—"Averill's." After this

he removed to Boston and carried on a paint

factory there, and was engaged in the mixed-

paint business from the close of the war until

August 3, 1886, when he came to California.

He stopped at Los Angeles a year, and then

came to Elsinore. May 9, 1877, he was united

in marriage to Miss Helen Thew, of Cleveland,

Ohio. She was the daughter of Mr. T. T.

Thew and Mrs. Helen Thew. Mrs. Storer was

born in Marion, Ohio, at which place she was

educated, and with her mother learned the mil-

linery and dressmaking business. In Decem-

ber, 1887, Mrs. Storer opened her millinery,

dress and fancy goods store in Elsinore, and is

still engaged in the business, keeping a nice

stock of line goods, and dealing with the better

class of trade, not only of Elsinore, but of the

surrounding country for miles in every direc-

tion. Her trade has grown from the first, and

she enjoys a very successful business. She is a

member of the Presbyterian Church, a member

of the United Order of the Golden Cross, and

belongs to the Ladies' Annex of Elsinore. Mr.

Storer is a member of the I. (). O. F., and

Knights of Pythias. They have invested in

real estate in Elsinore, and are interested in the

prosperity of the city.
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GERMAN, the leading jeweler of San

Diego, who occupies spacious sale-

ko rooms at 845 Fifth street, was born in

Baltimore, Maryland, December 24, 1855, of

Scotch-French and German parentage. His ma-

ternal ancestors are the famous Mullenburgs of

Philadelphia and Astors of New York : his father

was a commission merchant, dealing mainly in

grain. In 1860 they moved to Freeport, Illinois,

carrying on the same business. The subject of

this sketch there attended the common schools,

and later learned the trade of watchmaker and

jeweler. From 1875 to 1880 he traveled through

the Territories, prospecting and mining, settling

at El Paso in 1880, and opened a first-class jew-

elry store, which he continued for two years, and

then returned to the Territories and lost heavily

in mining speculations.

In June, 1885, he was married at Las Vegas,

to Miss Grace N. Bruce, a native of Cumber-

land, Maryland, and a lineal descendant of Rob-

ert Bruce. Her maternal grandfather, Colonel

Daniel. C. Cresap, was of Revolutionary fame,

and her father, Henry Bruce, a prominent law-

yer of Maryland. Her father and his brother-

in-law, William Price, were appointed by the

Legislature to draft the code of Maryland,

which was adopted. Her cousin, Francis S.

Key, was the author of the celebrated poem,

"The Star-Spangled Banner."

Mr. German arrived in San Diego in the fall

of 1885, immediately opened a small jewelry

store, enlarging as circumstances demanded,

and during the three years of the boom his

business averaged §100,000 each year. He
does both a wholesale and retail business, and

sells to dealers as reasonably as they can buy in

Eastern markets. He carries a large stock of

jewelry and diamonds, has a manufacturing

establishment and employs sixteen men in the

business. He also has an art department, carry-

ing bronze pictures and a fine class of artistic

wares, also plated and silver ware,— in fact,

everything pertaining to the wrought gold

and silver department, with skilled workmen to

attend to manufacturing and repairing.

—^€i:©»^
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fOSEPH A. FLINT, a prominent business

man of San Diego, was born at quarantine, in

the harbor ofNew York, August 20, 1840, of

English parents, who were emigrating to the free

land of America. His father was a shoemaker

and manufacturer and settled at Pittsburg, Penn-

sylvania, where he acted as foreman in a large

manufacturing establishment and where they

remained until 1852. They then started for

the Golden State " of California, taki

steamer at New York and coming by the Nic

ragua route. Their trip was without special

"g
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terest until they boarded tlie steamship North

America on the Pacific at San Juan. This was

an opposition boat, and the captain, as he after-

ward confessed, beached her on the coast eighty

miles south of Acapnlco, for which he received

$5,000 from the opposition line. The passen-

gers, 1,000 in number, landed without loss of

life, but the steamer was a wreck. They then

traveled to Acapnlco on footandon mules, afour-

days journey through a wild rugged country in-

fested by robbers and desperadoes. At Acapnlco

they took steamer and arrived at San Francis-

co, April 10, 1852. Joseph, then twelve years

old, went with his parents to Sacramento, and

thence to Bear river, and settled at Hough and

Ready, Nevada County, where they worked

eight years at mining, and though Joseph was

young he was very successful. In 1860 he

went to Iowa Hill, Placer County, and worked

under ground for three years, going in as a com-

mon hand, but was soon advanced and later had

charge of a claim. In December, 1864, he went

toSmartsville, Yuba County* and there remained

twenty years at hydraulic mining, entering as

agent, and the last four years was superintendent

of the Excelsior Water and Mining Company.

They did much heavy blasting, and the heaviest

blast ever tried in the State he set off by elec-

tricity, using about 50,000 pounds of powder

under a heavy bank of earth. On a forty-five

days run the company took out $105,000 in

gold.

From 1876 to 1879 he was a member of the

board of supervisors for Yuba County. In June,

1884, he came to San Diego as secretary, treas-

urer and manager of the San Diego Water Com-

pany, which position he still holds. This com-

pany was organized in 1873, with a capital of

$90,000; H. M. Covert, president. They piped

San Diego City, drawing the supply from the

bed of the San Diego river. In 1876 Jacob

Gruendike was elected president. In 1887 the

San Diego Water Company and the San Diego

and Coronado Water Company merged with a

capital of $1,000,000, with E. S. Babcock, Jr.,

as president. In 1889 the majority of stock

was sold to an English syndicate and the com-

pany is now known as the San Diego Water

Company, Mr. Babcock still acting as president.

The directors are: E. S. Babcock, Jr., Captain

B. Scott, manager of the International Company;

G. H. Puterbaugh, judge of the superior court;

W. W. Whitney, director of the First National

Bank; J. H. Barbour, cashier Consolidated Na-

tional Bank; Joseph A. Flint, secretary and

treasurer.

Mr. Flint was married at Smartsville, Yuba

County, California, December 16, 1869, to Miss

Sarah A. Taylor, a native of New Hampshire.

They have three children, of whom only two

daughters survive, Alice May, born in 1870, and

Gertrude Durose, born in 1873. Both are at

home and attending school in San Diego. Under

the new charter Mr. Flint was elected a mem-

ber of the board of education in 1889. On

February 19, 1890, he Was appointed receiver

of the street car company of this city. His

residence is at 126 Grand avenue, Reed and

Hubbell's Addition.

^ •

—
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^ARTIN TRIMMER, farmer and stock-

raiser on the Japatul ranch, was born in

Vemvied on the Rhine, kingdom of

Prussia, August 28, 1826, and emigrated with

his father's parents and his aunt Philipina Wei-

land, to the United States in April, 1838, em-

barking on the ship New Scotland at Havre de

Grace, France, and landing at Baltimore about

the hist of May. His father had emigrated to

this country five years previously and settled on

a farm in Tazewell County, Illinois, two and

a half miles from Washington and ten miles

from Peoria, and was joined by this party July

15, 1838. At the age of twenty-one years Mr.

Trimmer left home and worked in a harness

shop in St. Louis until the last day of January,

1849, when he enlisted in the First Regiment

of Mounted Rifles as bugler, and was assigned

at Jefferson barracks near that city to Company

F, commanded by Captain and Brevet Lieuten-
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ant- Colonel Andrew J. Porter. As the Asiatic

cholera was raging fearfully among the troops,

they were transferred in March to Fort Leaven-

worth, and were stationed at Camp Sumner

there until May 1, 1849. The troops began

their long journey across the plains to Oregon

Territory and reached their destination, Oregon

City, in October. The next spring they went

to Vancouver, belonging to the Hudson Bay

Company and built the barracks there named

Fort Vancouver.

The next year the troops were ordered back

to the States. Leaving Vancouver May 10,

1851, on the United States transport propeller

Massachusetts, they arrived May 15 at Benicia,

where six companies were transferred to the

dragoons and infantry under the command of

Major Phil Kearny. After crossing the isthmus

they were transported on the mail steamer Fal-

con to Cuba, arriving there July 1. This island

they left on the 3d, on the mail steamer Chero-

kee for New Orleans, and after spending a week

at the barracks there they finally returned to

Jefferson barracks near St. Louis.

The following October the regiment was again

reorganized and they went by way of New Or-

leans to Indianola, Texas, and thence to Fort

Merrill on the Nueces river, where Lieutenant

Stocktoii was relieved, with a detail of twelve

men. In 1852 they built Fort Ewell, on the

Nueces river, and Fort Judge on the Lyon river.

From this post two companies were out in ac-

tive service against the hostile Apaches, who

had made depredations in Texas from the Mex
ican side. Of this scouting party Mr. Trimmer

was the bugler. In September, while they were

in camp at Redman's ranch on the Rio Grande,

they were informed by the Mexicans that about

100 Indians had crossed from Mexico to the

Texas side to steal horses. The company under

the command of the celebrated Captain Gordon

Granger (afterward General in the last war),

started at once in pursuit, and on the third day,

early in the morning, they overtook the ma-

rauders at their crossing place about twenty

miles above Redman's ranch, where they had all

their plunder already done up in raw hides to

take across the river. They had already got

twenty-five horses across. The Indians imme-

diately plunged into the Rio Grande and

were all dispatched to the " happy hunting

grounds:" not one was left to tell the tale. Two
brothers from the company, named John and

William Wright, swam the river and recovered

the horses.

Mr. Trimmer was discharged from military

service in San Antonio, Texas, February 1,

1854, and was employed by Major Belger at the

Alamo for three months, when, in company

with Dr. Edwards (formerly surgeon in the

army) and Colonel Charles Pyron, of Texa3

Ranger fame, he left for California, May 1.

Taking the southern route they arrived at Tuc-

son in June, and at Fort Yuma in July, where

Mr. Trimmer worked a few months for Captain

Rowley and George F. Hooper. In September

he left Yuma with the intention of going to

Oregon ; but on arriving at Carisa he met Will-

iam Bettiger, who persuaded him to go on the

Lieutenant Derby survey, under Charles H.

Poole, deputy, to divide the great American

desert into townships. In this work he was en-

gaged in 1855; and the next two years he was

on the Dr." Madison survey, under Robert W.
Troom, deputy, sectionizing the great desert.

Mr. Trimmer therefore has traveled over that

vast area from one end to the other.

From 1857 to 1863 he was engaged in differ-

ent occupations, and then was maliciously taken

as a political prisoner to Fort Alcatraz, where

he was confined about ten days, under Captain

William A. Winder, being released December

15, 1863. Returning then to San Diego, with

Captain Morton, on the brig Boston, he arrived

about December 28. For three or four years

he was with E. W. Morse in his store in Old

Town ; and in 1868 he kept the American Hotel

in Old San Diego, in company with Benjamin

F. Jones, until 1870. He then rented the

Gabino Aguilar place near Guetay, called San

Gertrudes, and followed farming there until

November, 1873. Then he purchased the pos-
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6essory right of Mrs. Perfecta Ames to the

Japatul ranch, where lie still resides engaged in

farming and stock-raising.

Air. Trimmer was married in July, 1864, in

San Diego, to Miss Martha Murillo, grand-

daughter of Thomas Warner, from Lower Cali-

fornia. Their four sons and four daughters are

all living.

«W. HENDRICK, attorney at law, San

Diego, was born at Bowling Green, Pike
9 County, Missouri, March 6, 1847. His

father was formerly a merchant, but in later life

took to farming, and purchased about 400 acres

in Pike County. The subject of this sketch re-

mained at home until fourteen years of age, at-

tending the common schools. He then started for

the west, first driving a horse team to Denver,

then an ox-team to Oregon, and later on to Cali-

fornia, where he passed one year at the Napa Col-

lege Institute. Returning in 1864 to the east, he

attended Brown's University at Providence,

Rhode Island, and after seven years of study grad-

uated in 1871; he then went to Europe and spent

fourteen months in travel and study, visiting

the principal cities and countries. On his re-

turn he again came to California, and entered

the law office of Daingerfield & Olney, promi-

nent attorneys of San Francisco, and after

eighteen months of study he was admitted to

the bar by the Supreme Court at Sacramento in

April, 1874. He then visited San Diego, and

having great faith in the future of the town de-

cided to establish here his permanent residence,

and immediately opened an office and began the

practice of general law. In 1880 he was elect-

ed to the Legislature, and was recognized as one

of the most able speakers in the House. In

1884 he was elected District Attorney of San

Diego.

He was one of the original stockholders and

promoters of the San Diego Iron and Nail

Manufactory, and is now president of the Loma
Manufacturing Company at Roseville. He was

one of the founders of the public library, which

was established in 1881, and is still one of the

trustees. He is, in fact, au active, enterprising

promotor of San Diego's interests.

1LLIAM X. GARDNER, San Diego.—

Among the earliest pioneers to this coast

was the subject of this sketch, who was

born in Oneida County, New York, November 29,

1814. The first sixteen years of his life was passed

upon the farm. He was then apprenticed to a large

carriage manufactory at Skaneateles, New York,

where after live years of continued service he

learned the trade, which he followed until 1844.

Then beingdesirousof travel he started westward,

visiting what were then the territories of Wis-

consin, Minnesota, Iowa, and settling at Chicago,

where he remained until the 17th of July, 1848.

He then took the steamer America for Buffalo,

visiting Niagara, where he witnessed the stretch-

ing of the first cable of the suspension bridge,

then by rail, lake steamers and canal boats, he

reached New York city. In October, 1848, he

took the steamship California, which was built at

Novelty Iron Works on East river, New York

city, and without even testing the steamer by

a trial trip they embarked from the works direct

to the Pacific coast, Mr. Gardner being the only

passenger for Sau Francisco. This was in the

early days of steamboating, and though the

machinery was very imperfect and the making

of ports was frequently necessary to take in

coal, the trip was made with but one accident,

in the straits of Magellan, arriving in San

Francisco February, 1849, which was then a

small adobe town; but owing to the gold ex-

citement of that year and the rapid immigration)

it soon became a thickly settled city. For the

next seventeen years the subject of this sketch

lived in and about San Francisco, working at

carpentering, mining and ranching, and always

subject to the vicissitudes of those unsettled

days. In 1861, soon after the commencement

of the civil war, he entered the service of the
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United States as a volunteer in Company B,

Fifth California Infantry, and was discharged

the 12th of December, 1864, at Franklin, Texas,

and at once returned to California and entered

the service of the Central Pacific Railroad Com-

pany, where he continued until 1867. Then,

after leaving their employment, he journeyed

south by stage, visiting at Santa Barbara, Los

Angeles and settling at San Diego. He first

worked at his trade in and about Old Town, and

as the city extended became interested in its

several enterprises. Purchasing forty acres of

land adjoining Horton's addition to San Diego,

he surveyed and laid off into town lots Gard-

ner's addition to San Diego. He was one of

the original incorporators of what is now the

South Division Water Company; they began the

piping of the town and made their own pipe

from sheet iron. Their water supply came

from a well 170 feet deep and twelve feet in

diameter. Mr. Gardner has been engaged in

several enterprises, and among others that of

sulphur mining at the head of the gulf in

Lower California, but is now living on a ten-

acre tract at South San Diego, which he is set-

ting to fruit.

Mr. Gardner, though seventy-six years of

age, is erect and vigorous and apparently in the

full enjoyment of life and most excellent health.

fH.
DODSON, an early pioneer of Califor-

nia, and an attorney at San Diego, was

* born on the frontier of Iowa, Van Buren

County, December 31, 1839. His parents were

natives of Pennsylvania, but emigrated to Iowa

in 1836, and procured large tracts of land border-

ing on the Des Moines river. His father died in

1840, but the family lived upon the homestead

until 1857, when the property was sold. The sub-

ject of this sketch, with his mother, sister and

brother, emigrated to California, coining across

the plains with ox teams through Salt Lake

City, and arrived safely in the Sacramento val-

ley. They bought a ranch of 320 acres, thirty

miles south of Sacramento, where they lived

about ten years and cultivated a fine fruit or-

chard. Mr. Dodson's early education was re-

ceived in Iowa; he then finished at Taylor &
Bell's private institute at Sacramento. He en-

tered the law office of Presley Dunlap in Sac-

ramento and passed before the Supreme Bench

in December, 1868. He then began practice,

but on account of ill health he came to San

Diego in 1869, where he has lived continuously,

with the exception of eight years spent at

Poway, where he owned a ranch and kept a

wayside inn. He went to Poway on account of

his health, as he needed the more bracing air of

the interior. He returned to San Diego in

1887, and is now devoting himself to a general

practice.

Mr. Dodson has been twice married, and has

one son, a boy of seventeen years. Mr. Dodson

is a member of the society of San Diego Pio-

tOBERT C. MILLS, JR. is the Elsinore

hardware merchant. Having a stock of

shelf hardware, farm implements, carriages

and wagons, fully abreast of the needs of the

town, he enjoys the patronage of the county for

six miles in every direction. He came from Man-

itoba to Elsinorein 1885; he had been in the for-

mer place, in the real-estate business, for two

years, lie was born, raised and educated in the

Ottawa valley, Canada, and dates his birth Octo-

ber 20, 1854. His father, R.C. Mills, Sr., was also

born in Canada, and his mother, nee Miss Anna

McVicar, was born in Scotland. The subject

of this sketch was the second of a family of

eight surviving children. He was in the lum-

ber business seven years before leaving his

native place. When he began his hardware

business the firm was Mills Brothers, but after-

ward he bought his brother out, and is now

running the business alone. In 1876 he was

married in Toronto, Canada, to Miss Eliza Bau-

nerman, a native of Scotland, and they have
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four children, three born in Canada, and the

youngest born in Elsinore. They are Robert,

eleven years of age; Alma, eight years of age;

Thomas Murry, five years of age, and Tracy

Junor, one and one-half years of age. Mrs.

Mills is a Presbyterian, which church Mr. Mills

attends. He is a member of the Knights of

Pythias, is a painstaking obliging business man,

and a lover of home. He is well pleastd with

Elsinore, and is identified with its interests, and

has made the United States the country of his

adoption.

jSS\ENRY L. DAVIS, lumberman, San Diego,

HID was 'JOni * n f> r0°k'yn
>
New York, in 1860,

=f&5 and was educated in New York city. At

the age of twenty-three years he entered the

shipping house of his father, Jonas Smith &
Co., New York, as cashier, and in two years

became a junior partner, of which he still re-

mains. The business of the firm, which was

established in 1840, is that of trading with

foreign countries, confined principally to the

East Indies, West Indies, and South America.

In 1887 they became interested in San Diego,

through the medium of Mr. E. S. Babcock, Jr.,

who induced Mr. Davis to send the first sailing

ship from New York via Cape Horn to the

port of San Diego. This vessel, the James A.

Borland, with a cargo of 1,200 tons, consisting

of coal, iron pipe, plaster, etc., arrived after a

passage of 158 days from New York. This in-

augurated the opening of a new and economical

means of transportation from the East. Sev-

eral ships followed, including one steamer at

intervals, which is now being continued. In

August, 1888, Mr. Davis arrived in San Diego

to look after the interests of his firm. He at

once purchased several cargoes of lumber at

Pnget Sound, and dispatched his ships to bring

it to San Diego, whereupon he established the

Independent Lumber Company, and reduced

the price of pine lumber, ranging from $2.00

to $7.00 per thousand feet from the rates that

were being exacted by the combination com-

panies. This created strong opposition, but had

the effect of forcing the combination companies

to reduce prices materially, and which have

never been advanced. These operations required

facilities that would reduce the cost of trans-

portation, and handling of lumber at the min-

imum of expense. Land was purchased on the

water front, a bulkhead and dock built, in ad-

dition to the employment of the firm's ships,

which thus provided means by which lumber

could be sold slightly over actual cost and

freight.

In November, 1889, Mr. Davis erected a

large warehouse upon his property, which com-

plete facilities for shipping and receiving by

rail and water. This was built for the purpose

of warehousing goods shipped by sailing vessels

from New York, as occasion might require, and

for the storage of grain awaiting shipment by

sea from San Diego, as return cargoes to the

United Kingdom. Mr. Davis is also one of the

owners of the Cedros Island Mining Company,

located off the coast of Lower California, where

the company have fifty men now employed and

several vessels engaged in transporting gold ore

to San Diego for reduction. The operations of

this company, of which little is known to the

outside world, are becoming so extensive as to

require the erection of smelting works for the

treatment of ore, and the purchase of a

for transportation, at a very early date.

fOHN DEWEY is one of Elsinore's straight-

forward business men and pioneers. He
was born in New York State, August 19,

1845. His father, Levi Dewey, and his mother

Jenette (Johnson) Dewey, and grandfather,

George Johnson, all had their nativity in the

State of New York. Mr. Dewey's maternal

grandfather was a distiller of New York, and

lived to be ninety-one years of age. He left a

large estate; he bequeathed to each of his great-

grandchildren $1,000, and to his grandchildren
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$2,000 each, and the balance of his large prop-

erty was divided among his sons and daughters.

Mr. Dewey was the youngest of six children.

It was his misfortune to lose his mother by

death when he was only two years of age. For

a time he was cared for by his grandmother,

but when his father remarried he made his

home with him. He attended school in his

native State and helped his father on the farm,

and after he became of age he farmed on his

own account for six years.

In 1867 he was married to Miss Celia Stark-

ey, a daughter of George Starkey of New York.

By this union he had one daughter, Berdella,

born in Delaware, who is now the wife of Mr.

Carl Merryfield, and resides in Los Angeles.

Mrs. Dewey died in 1873, six years after their

marriage, and Mr. Dewey was bereft of the wife

of his choice, and the little daughter, Berdella,

was left without a most affectionate mother.

This change in his hopes and prospects was

hard to bear. He broke up house-keeping and

went to Leadville during the great mining ex-

citement, and for two years devoted himself to

making money. Hard work and exposure im-

paired his health to such an extent that he had

to desist. During his stay at Leadville he was

enabled to send money to take good care of his

daughter. He at last decided to come to Cali-

fornia, and he settled at Pasadena. Rest and

the change of climate restored his health con-

siderably, and he obtained a situation at $50 per

month and board, which position he held for

four years. While in Pasadena he bought and

dealt in property, and was very successful in his

venture. About this time Mr. Heald discovered

Elsinore, and started the town by the beautiful

lake, and excitement ran high. Mr. Dewey,

with others, came to the new town site of Elsi-

nore, and invested in 200 acres of land, all of

which, except six acres, he sold at a great ad-

vance over co6t. He then turned his attention

to town lots and house building, and built seven

good dwelling houses, for which he received

rents at the rate of $90 per month. This con-

tinued for about a year and a half. He has the

credit of building the first house that was paint-

ed in the town, thus taking the lead in the con-

struction of the many tasty and attractive places

that now adorn the place. He came when there

was but one small house, aud in the space ot

five short years (one of them without the help

of the railroad) he has seen hundreds of pleasant

homes constructed, dotting the valley in every

direction. Mr. Dewey's political views are Re-

publican, and his religious opinions favor the

Universalists' creed. He has been conservative

1 ti his business transactions, buying only what

he could pay for, and while he has not made as

much money as some he has kept his business

well in hand, and is able to smile at adversity.

His neighbors speak well of him, and call him

a one-hundred-cents-on-the-dollar man.

til.
McDONALD, as the name indicates,

is of Scotch descent, and of Presbyterian

® parentage. His father, James McDon-

ald, of Pictou, Nova Scotia, was born in 1802,

was raised there and still lives there, at the age

of eighty-eight, hale and hearty.

Mr. McDonald's mother, nee Miss Catherine

Gourley, was born in the same place. There

were thirteen children in the family, of which

the subject of this sketch was the youngest but

one. He was educated at the Pictou Academy,

in his native town, and went to learn the car-

penters' trade at the age of eighteen, and has

made it the business of his life since. He came

to Southern California in 1881, and, with the

exception of a few months spent in San Diego

and Real del Castro, Baja California, lived in

Los Angeles until 1885, about which time, his

health failing him, he reluctantly left the city

of his choice; going inland about 100 miles to

San Jacinto, he found, after a few months' rest,

together with enjoying the benefits of the hot

springs at this place, that he became strong

and hearty again. Business now calling him to

Idaho aud Montana, he remained north about

eighteen months, and then returned to San Ja-
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cinto, bought property, built a neat house, and

made other improvements. He is a conscien-

tious man and an active, responsible house-

builder and contractor.—#5^e^#

—

fHOMAS E. ELLIS, the pioneer doctor

and druggist of Elsinore, was born in

Wayne County, Indiana, March 20, 1839.

His father, Thomas Ellis, was a native of Vir-

ginia, and his mother, Lydia (Thornburrough)

Ellis, was from Tennessee. The whole family

on both sides were American from the settle

ment of the country, but were of Scotch extrac-

tion. He was educated in the public schools of

Indiana, and at the Bloomingdale Academy,

and graduated at the Indiana State Medical

College, and for twenty years practiced his pro-

fession in Plainfield, Hendricks County, In-

diana. -For two years lie held a Government

position in Arizona with the Indians, and after

this, in 1885, he came to Elsinore at its com-

mencement, and was the first doctor and drug-

gist in the place. He lived in a tent the first

year, as it was nearly impossible to get lumber,

and there were no houses to rent. There were

no drugs in the place, so he kept his own sup-

ply, which formed the nucleus of his present

pioneer drug store of Elsinore. He has pur-

chased property and built a good home, owns

a herd of cattle, and is one of the stock holders

of the Exchange Bank of Elsinore. He still

continues the practice of his profession, and

keeps such a stock of drugs and goods as are

usually kept in such towns.

He was married in 1865, to Miss Emma C.

Talbert, of Union County, Indiana, by whom he

has two children, both living: Mary C. married

Mr. Arthur Jones, and they reside at Riverside.

Lineaus resides with his father in Elsinore.

Mrs. Ellis died in 1880, and in 1883 he was

again united in wedlock, to Miss Lizzie Tomlin-

son, a native of Plainfield, Indiana, and they

have two children—a boy and a girl—also both

born in Elsinore: Lydia Rosa and Thomas Earl.

Dr. Ellis is a man who makes it a point in life

to respect his promises and strictly keep them.

He loves his profession, and can be depended

on in every instance to use his best judgment
and experience, and is a successful practitioner.

He is a member of the order of the Knights of

Pythias, and of the Independent Order of Odd
Fellows, and holds the office of District Deputy.

He was born and raised in the Society of

Friends.

«,, • 1 .'•S-l ,t .
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§LEX DeBARRA, A.M., M. D., one of the

eminent representatives of the medical

profession in Elsinore, is a Fellow of So-

ciety of Science, Letters and Art, of London,

England, a society that stands at the head of all

such societies in the world. The Doctor was

born in the north of Norway, of Russian par-

ents. While in his infancy his parents removed

to Moscow, where he was reared and educated

in the schools and colleges of that country.

During the latter years of the reign of Nicholas

and while the Crimean war was being vigor-

ously carried on, the 6tndents in the colleges

were in great excitement over it and the affairs

then engrossing the minds of the people. The
college society to which he belonged took an

exciting part in the discussion, and for that, he

with many other young men like himself, was

exiled to Siberia for a term of six years. When
in an inhospitable region they were thrown

wholly upon their own resources to get a liv-

ing. He resolved to try for liberty, and fol-

lowed the river Lena northward through the

ice and snow of that inclement climate, sub-

sisting on what he could find that he knew

was not poison until he fell in with some

Esquimeaux who were kind to him, and for six

months he remained with them and followed

until at last the}' reached a trading point where

he took a ship for South America. While suf-

fering with the exposure in Siberia he contract-

ed diseases from which he has never recovered,

and in order to find relief he has traveled a
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good deal of his time in search of a climate in

which to prolong life. After several years

travel he went to Savannah, Georgia; then he

tried the Bermudas, where he remained a year

or so; he then went to C^tal Springs, New
York, where he established a hospital and prac-

ticed his profession for fifteen years. While

there he was a frequent contributor to most of

the scientific papers. While in New York he

was often called upon as an expert in court and

before State and Senate committees to give tes-

timony on scientific matters, and in such cases

always gave his testimony without regard to

consequences, or who was pleased or displeased.

In the great Guiteau trial the Doctor differed

from the other physicians who treated the

lamented President Garfield, and believes that

the facts were with him in both cases. Garfield

could have been saved had the doctors not been

mistaken in the location and track of the bullet.

The Doctor has been obliged to battle constantly

with his throat trouble and has finally brought

his family to the sunny clime of southern Cali-

fornia, but as yet has not tried the climate long

enough to know how much benefit he will re-

ceive. In Elsinore he has found a congenial

clime, and water loaded with mineral substances

valuable for medicinal purposes to a remarkable

degree. He also sees in this vicinity large

quantities of mineral wealth in an unimproved

and undeveloped condition, and it only remains

for capital to develop to make those interested

in it very satisfactory returns.

Tbe Doctor was married to Miss Mary Flem-

miug, of Havana, New York, and their union has

been blessed with two children, a boy and a girl,

viz.: Horace Phelps, now seven years old, and

Mary Alma, five years old. The Doctor's con-

nection with a college secret society caused his

exile, and he has since avoided all secret socie-

ties and in his lectures has advised all men to

refrain from societies that would tend to keep

them from their families at night. Politically

he has been a Republican, but is in favor of

free trade. He lived twenty-one years in the

United States before asking for naturalization

papers, and is of the opinion that is as soon as

a foreigner should vote. He is a believer in

God and morality, and is educating his children

in the way of truth and religion. Through his

scientific attainments and long practice of his

profession he has shown himself eminently

fitted to treat the suffering and perform surgi-

cal operations that require the highest order of

talent and skill. He is now largely interested

in the development and prosperity of southern

California.

fH.
HEALD, one of the first business men

and one of the original buyers of the
9 town site of Elsinore, and one who has

had most to do with the substantial growth of

that place, was born in Cedar County, Iowa,

July 10, 1854. His father, Wilson Heald, and

his grandfather, John Heald, were natives of

Ohio. His great-grandfather, William Heald,

was a native of Virginia and a soldier in the

Revolution. Mr. Heald's mother, Sarah (Macy)

Heald, was a native of Ohio, and her lather,

Samuel Macy, was a descendant of Thomas

Macy, one of the English Quakers who came to

America to escape persecution in the mother

country. There were six children in Mr. Heald's

family, of whom the subject of this sketch was

the oldest. He was educated in West Branch,

Iowa, and finished his business education in

Burlington. In September, 1874, he was married

to Miss Annie M. Hoover, daughter of J. Y.

Hoover, a Quaker minister. By this union he had

one daughter, Edna, who now resides with him.

After a happy union of one year Mrs. Heald

died, on January 3, 1876. After this bereave-

ment he lived with his uncle, William P. Wolf,

who was a member of Congress from Iowa,

with whom he read law, and also did some

farm work. He remained here nearly two

years, and in 1877 came to Pasadena, Califor-

nia. While in Pasadena he did not engage in

much business; he was in the mountains and

through the country with his gun, principally
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for recreation and to relieve his mind. In 1882

he bought property there. One day while out

on one of his excursions on San Antonio moun-

tain he saw in the distance the glistening lake,

now Elsinore Lake, and in November, 1881, he

came to the property which he a Iterward, in

connection with Mr. Graham and Mr. Collum,

purchased. The first pnrchase covered about

14,000 acres, and he afterward purchased about

5,000 more. The cost of the original grant was

$24,000. Mr. Graham and Mr. Heald made

the purchase in San Francisco, and in Septem-

ber of the same year the property was subdi-

vided and sales followed rapidly. The wash-out

on the railroad that year retarded the growth and

facilities of the place greatly, and lumber was

brought by wagon from Riverside, Col ton, and

the San Jacinto mountains. The town-site was

located where it was because of the valuable

mineral springs. The next year Mr. Heald

bought out his partners, they taking about

2,000 acres and he keeping about 12,000, for

which he paid them §20,000.

When the postoffice was established and the

name of the office and town was fixed, Elsinore

was given the preference and Mrs. Graham was

given the decision. She has the credit of nam-

ing the place. Mr. Heald has erected a mag-

nificent residence on one of the hills in the town

overlooking the beautiful lake, which first at-

tracted him to the town. He started the first

newspaper, the Elsinore News, and afterward

sold it, but is again its owner. He also has the

honor of starting the Exchange Bank of Elsin-

ore and was its first president. Mr. Heald has

also been instrumental in the building of a large

hotel, the Lake View, a house good enough for

any town, no matter bow large. Mr. Heald has

also built for Elsinore one of the finest, if not

the iinest, bath houses in southern California.

Mr. McChaney discovered the coal mine and

Mr. Heald has helped to develop that. Mr.

Heald and his partner gave the Methodist So-

ciety seven lots, and he has since given the

other societies two lots each for building pur-

poses, and both of the brick churches built

had from him 15,000 brick as a donation. He
is a member of the A. O. U. W. and grand

master of Elsinore district. He was married

again, in 1881, to his second wife, by whom
he has two boys: David W. and F. H., Jr.

He is a member of the Society of Friends

(Quakers), as were also his parents before him.

Mr. Heald is a man full of enterprise. His

father was one of the "old John Brown's" men
at Springdale, Iowa, and that is probably the

reason Mr. Heald takes such a deep interest in

politics. He is a member of the Republican

State Central Committee, also of the County

Committee, and was a member of the
v
California

delegation who helped to nominate Harrison.

—-~fr i..f3

ASHINGTON G. RIFENBURG, one

of San Diego's reliable citizens and

business men, a fruit-grower, a ma-

chinist and the inventor of the Wave Rower Ma-
chine, was born in Auburn, New York, January

3, 1836. H is father, Peter H. Rifenbnrg, was born

in the city of Hudson, on the Hudson river, in

1792. He was a clergyman of the Christian

denomination, and served his country as a

soldier in the war of 1812. Mr. Rifenburg's

grandfather was born at the Castle of Rifen-

bnrg, Germany, and came to America before

the Revolution. He was in General Washing-

ton's army, and was born in 1743, and died in

1843, only lacking a few months of being 100

years of age. Mr. Rifenburg's mother, Perlina

(Herbert) Rifenbnrg, was born at Brattleboro,

Vermont, in 1802, and was the daughter of

Henry Herbert, a farmer formerly of Germany.

She was married to Mr. Rifenbnrg in 1828, and

had a family of eleven children, the subject of

this sketch being the sixth child. He finished

his education in the academy at Auburn, New
York. After leaving school he learned the ma-

chinist's trade. In 1852 he went to Illinois

with his father and family, and bought a farm

in Yorktown, Bureau County, at $1.25 per acre,

of the Government. He remained there two
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years, and then went to Missouri, and then to

Kansas, and was in the fruit-tree business eight

years. From there lie went to Colorado, and

engaged in freighting from the Missouri river

to the mountains. After this he engaged in

mining in 1869, and continued it until 1881.

He then came to California and landed in San

Diego. He bought Ocean View, a farm of

sixty acres, three and one-half miles east of the

city, on which he built a house which cost

$6,000. He planted ten acres to oranges and

lemons, ten acres to deciduous fruit, and twenty-

seven acres to raisin grapes. The balance was

used for grain crops. He sold this property in

1887 and settled in the city of San Diego,

where he started the Standard Iron Works in

1886, in company with others. Subsequently

he sold his interest and bought a ranch in

Jainul valley, twenty-two miles east of San

Diego, and is planting fifty acres to oranges

and lemons. There are 240 acres in the ranch,

which is called Mount Wakeshaw. Orange

trees planted only three years are loaded with

fruit. He is now engaged in perfecting his

truly wonderful invention—the Wave Power

Machine. It is a machine of great power and

great simplicity, and capable of very cheap con-

struction, and is adapted to all power where

there are waves. In its present construction it

will not propel a ship. As the machine has to

be anchored in the water, it is so constructed

that equal force is obtained from both the up-

ward and downward motion of the wave, and

the continuous motion of the shaft is obtained

by a wheel within a wheel. Besides, it is de-

signed that the float act as an engine and create

a great power with a walking beam. That the

machine is capable of great utility there can be

little doubt. Mr. Rifenburg is entitled to great

credit as well as great emolument for this in-

vention. Mr. Rifenburg is a Master Maeon,

and held the office of Sheriff for five years in

Colorado. He was married in Kansas, Decem-

ber 7, 1859, to Miss Emma L. Suits, born in

Indiana, February 14, 1841, a daughter of Mr.

John Suits, of La Fayette, Indiana. He was a

pioneer and Indian agent there when the coun-

try was new. He died in 1879, at the age of

sixty-six. Mr. and Mrs. Rifenburg have had

one child, Ella, born in 1864. Her death oc-

curred when she was not quite one year old.

*4&**
GREGORY.— In February, 1849, the

bark Nautilus left the pier on North

* river, New York, bound for San Fran-

cisco, with a company of ninety-three on board,

in charge of a board of directors, with three

years' supply of provisions and paraphernalia

suitable to the mining interests of California.

This company was sent out by a syndicate, who

paid all expenses, with one proviso, that the

profits of the expedition should be divided, and

among this number was the subject of this

sketch, Mr. E. Gregory, who was born in Mil-

ford, Connecticut, June 21, 1821. His parents

were natives of New England. They were 222

days en voyage, and before landing the company

was entirely broken up and abandoned, and

after the arrival at San Francisco, October 22,

1849, smaller companies were formed through

friendship and social ties. Mr. Gregory and

his friend, Mr. Wellington, first went to Carson

creek, Calaveras County, where the mines were

very rich. The claims were only sixteen feet

square, but the gold nuggets were often picked

out of the dirt in rapid succession, one nugget

weighing twelve pounds. Later he went to

San Andreas, the county seat, where he followed

his trade of harness, trunk and saddle making,

also ran a general merchandise store and barber

shop, remaining until 1869, when in seeking a

more genial climate he came to San Diego and

here continued the barber business. From 1876

to 1879 he took charge of the county hospital,

and then rented at Ninth and K streets, and in

1884 was appointed superintendent of the

county hospital in Mission valley, serving a two

years' term.

Mr. Gregory was married at San Andreas,

October, 1862, to Miss Sarah Petty. They are
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now passing a genial and happy old age in

their pleasant cottage at 618 Logan avenue, a

happy close to lives who have passed through

the hardships of the miner's camp and the pio-

neer's experience.

§ SAUNDERS, of San Jacinto, was born

in Dedham, Maine, December 22, 1830.

° His grandfather, William Saunders, was

a Scotchman. His father, "William Saunders

and his mother, Ruth (Patterson) Saunders,

were both natives of Maine. They had eight

children, Mr. A. Saunders being the youngest.

He was educated in his native State, and when

eighteen years of age he engaged in the lumber

business at Ellsworth, where he remained for

four years. In 1852 he came to California by

way of Cape Horn, and arrived in San Fran-

cisco in the spring of 1853. He went to the

mines in Tuolumne, Calaveras and Sierra coun-

ties, and sought for glittering gold for four

years, until 1856, but it eluded his grasp. Then

he went into the lumber business in San Mateo

County until 1858. There was an attraction

there more precious than gold, and it did not

elude him, for he was married to Miss F. J.

Philips, daughter of Richard Philips, a Maine

farmer. She was born in 1838. They have three

children, viz.: Ethelbert E., born in Alameda

County in 1859; Fanny Maud, born in Men-

docino County in 1875, and Ina Blanche, born

in Mendocino County in 1878. His son is

married and lives in San Francisco, where he is

engaged in railroading, and the girls are at

home with their parents. After spending two

years in Alameda County, he removed to San

Mateo County, and was there in business until

1868. He then removed to Mendocino County,

where he continued his- lumber business until

1879, when he sold out and removed to River-

side, and bought land and engaged in orange

and raisin culture, and built. In 1880 he went

up into the San Jacinto mountains, and bought

the mill in the Strawberry valley. It was a

small water mill, but he put steam into it and

ran it for six years. While running this mill

his family spent the summers in the mountains,

and the winters at their home in Riverside.

He purchased property in San Jacinto when the

town was starting, and built a very nice home,

where he now resides. It is on First street and

Jordan avenue. In connection with a partner

he has a 13,000-aere ranch in Lower California,

where they are running a dairy. Neither Mr.

nor Mrs. Saunders belong to any society except

that she is a member of the W. C. T. U., but

nevertheless they are as highly respectable peo-

ple as any in the city of San Jacinto.

WOODS, who at present is Chairman

of the Board of Supervisors of San Diego,

was born at Wheeling, West Virginia, in

May, 1831. His grandfather was a farmer, and

one of the first settlers in Wheeling; his father

was a merchant and speculator in that city; his

mother was a native of Pennsylvania. He was

in a family of eight children, seven of whom are

still living. At the age of thirteen years he

moved to Missouri, and soon after accepted em-

ployment on a Mississippi river steamboat as

freight clerk, which he followed for four years.

In 1852 he started for California, in a company

of about 100, with thirty wagons and about 800

head of cattle. They were about six months

en route, driving from Hannibal, Missouri,

through Salt Lake City to Stockton, California,

crossing the mountains by Central Pass, coming

by the Volcano route. They lost very few cat-

tle, but were engaged in many skirmishes with

the Indians, who tried to steal their cattle. At

Stockton the cattle were turned loose, and Mr.

Woods and brother went to the mines of the

Tuolumne river until the wet season came on,

when they went to the dry diggings in Mari-

posa County, and they followed placer mining

until 1865, making considerable money. He
then bought a ranch in the Buckeye valley,

Amador County, and followed ranching until
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1869, when a syndicate, who owned a fioatiug

Mexican grant, settled upon his land. He then

came to San Diego and began farming and stock-

raising in the Jamul valley, and later the sheep

business in Poway valley, buying 160 acres and

grazing in the mountains. In 1883 he went to

the Pamo valley and bought 1,000 acres of land,

which he still owns, and which is to be the

reservoir site of the Pamo Water Company; it

is now being surveyed, and the building of the

dam will commence in the spring of 1890. The

reservoir syndicate is formed, and they have every

prospect for securing the contract of supplying

the city of San Diego. In 1884, Mr. Woods

was first elected as supervisor under the law

districting the county, drawing the short term

of two years. In 1886 he was elected for four

years, and was appointed charman of the board.

Mr. Woods has been twice married, first in

Amador County, his wife dying in 1873, leav-

ing three children. He was again married, at

Poway, in 1880, to Miss Rosa Babb, a native of

Oregon. They have three children, allot' whom
are living and at home.

fA.
CLARK.—On the south side of Dia-

mond valley, nine miles south of San
9 Jacinto, with the foot hills for a back-

ground, and the beautiful valley of the San

Jacinto and San Bernandino range of mountains

in front, stands the nice new residence of Mr.

P. A. Clark. October 23, 1883, broken in

purse and in health, he came to the present site

of his now comfortable home and took up a

Government claim of 160 acres of choice land.

He built himself a place to live in and has rap-

idly improved in both health and purse. He
has made many improvements on his ranch back

of the property, and above it he has two fine

springs of pure water and has one of them piped

to his residence. He has twenty acres of land

planted to every description of fruit trees, many

of them bearing. The altitude of the place is

2,000 feet, and here are growing orange trees

loaded with fruit. He is also raising as fine

apples as can be raised in any State of the Union.

He is also raising grain and some stock, but is

doing most in the nursery business, and has a

good supply of young trees on hand. He was

born in Knox County, Illinois, February 9,

1845. His father, J. W. Clark, was a native of

New York. His grandfather, John W. Clark,

was also born in New York, but the family were

originally from New England. His mother was

Miriam Dangherty, born in Orange County,

Indiana. Mr. Clark was the oldest of a family

of seven children, and came to California with

his father and family when fifteen years of age.

They came across the plains in 1860, and settled

in Yolo County, where they remained four years,

when they removed to Oakland. They remained

here one year and then went to St. Helena,

Napa valley, when, Mr. Clark being of age, lie

went to the silver mines. He found silver, and

becoming eager to get rich, he spent all he had

gained prospecting. After four years of this kind

of work he removed to Anaheim and engaged in

the book and stationery business. He settled

there in 1871 and continued there until 1877,

when he was again taken with the mining fever

and for four years more dug and prospected

back of Anaheim. Then he lost his health and

became disgusted with the mining business.

He was then for awhile with the Baker foundry

in Los Angeles. Then with a partner he tried

the real-estate business, which he soon gave up

and went to Pasadena, where he was with his

brother, B. O. Clark, then in the nursery busi-

ness. He had, when younger, learned telegraphy,

and at this time went into the railroad station

at Anaheim and learned the routine of a station

agent, so that he has had quite a diversity of

business experiences. In 1886 he was married

to Mrs. Dora Summers, widow of Joseph Sum-
mers, of Illinois. They have one child living,

Mabel, born November 30, 1889, and his wife

has one daughter, Myrtle, born in February,

1883. They also have one adopted daughter,

Gertrude, born in England in 1881. Mr. Clark

was elected Justice of the Peace, and was As-
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sistant Postmaster there; he was also Notary

Public and District Recorder, and Postmaster

while at Silverado, Los Angeles County. At

present he is Justice of the Peace, one of the

school trustees and clerk of the board. He is a

member of the Pentalpha Lodge, F. & A. M.,

Los Angeles. Mr. Clark is a pioneer and a

leading citizen of his county, and is demonstrat-

ing the capabilitea of this tine soil to raise choice

fruits in this unequaled climate.

fANIEL OLSON, the proprietor of the San

Diego Steam Laundry, was born in Sweden,

in September, 1849. He was educated in

the common schools and under the Lutheran

Protestant religion; his father was a farmer.

The subject of this sketch was mail carrier in

Sweden for about two years, at the age of from

fifteen to seventeen. He emigrated to the

United States in 1868, landing in New York.

He then went to Chicago, where he worked five

years in the dry-goods business, and then started

a laundry, which he continued for fifteen years,

with good success. He came to San Diego in

January, 1887, and bought one end of a block

on B street, between State and Columbia. He
built a laundry building on the corner of State

and B streets, 47 x 75 feet, two stories in height,

and in the rear he built stables, and houses for

his help. His laundry plant is valued at $8,000,

and has facilities to do all kinds of plain and

fancy laundry work. He employs from twenty

to twenty -five hands and runs four wagons; it

is the leading laundry in the city.

Mr. Olson was married in Chicago, in 1875,

to Miss Hattie Hultgren. They have two chil-

dren, both of whom are living.

fOHN N1COLSON is a native of Scotland,

born March 15, 1836. He got his edu-

cation there and learned the trade of mason,

and in 1867 he came to California and settled

in San Francisco, where he worked for the rail-

road as a mason. In 1868 he came to San

Bernardino and spent two years in the mines,

both making and losing. When he tired of

mining he went to San Diego during the first

boom there, where he remained a year, and then

came to Riverside and took up a Government

claim, which afterward proved to be the Jurupa

Mexican land grant, and he with thirty others

who had settled there were obliged to give it

up, but were permitted to remove their improve-

ments. It was a serious loss to him and the

others. In 1880 he came to Diamond valley,

where he was the first settler. It is located nine

miles south and a little west of San Jacinto and

five miles from Winchester. Here he has 320

acres of choice land. Being a mason he knew
how to build and has made a very neat adobe

house. It stands in a nook of the foot hills,

overlooking his own lands in the beautiful val-

ley before him, surrounded with very picturesque

foot hills. Here his fine herds of cattle pasture.

He is making stock-raising his principal busi-

ness but raises grain and hay also. Scotland

has furnished many a noble specimen of the

American yeoman to the United States, and Mr.

Nicolson is one of those generous, open-hearted

Scotch-Americans.

§EWIS LETTNER was born in Nashville,

Tennessee, October 22, 1833. His father,

John Lettner, was born in Germany, came

to America when a boy, and married Palina

Dindle, a native of Tennessee. They had five

children, the subject of this sketch being the

oldest son and second child. Like many others

his early education was limited, and he has him-

self obtained most of his information from

books. When he was three mouths old his

family emigrated to Illinois, where they re-

mained twelve years. At that time the subject

of this sketch began to earn his own support,

and three years later drove an ox team across

the plains to California. There were eighty in
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the party when it started, hut in order to ob-

tain feed they divided, and at the end of the

journey there were only ten in his party. He

soon engaged in mining on the middle fork of

the American river, He commenced mining

September 17, 1850, and mined for ten years,

nearly all the time. He had good success,

taking out from $10 to $15 per day, and the

best find he ever made was a nugget that sold

for $315. Like many others he spent most of

his gold in speculating and prospecting. After

this lie bought land and turned his attention to

farming, in which he engaged in San Joaquin

for twenty-five years. In September, 1884, he

came to Los Angeles and btcame acquainted

with Mr. G. D. Compton, and with him came

to see the San Jacinto town site and bought

twenty acres of land, on which lie built a good

house and planted a raisin grape vineyard of six

acres from cuttings. They are now bearing

nicely and have sold well. He has an artesian

well on his place which affords an abundance of

the best water, but does not irrigate his grapes,

as they do well without. He is also raising

grain and hay. He was married in 1862 to

Miss Carrie Laws of North Carolina, born in

1843. Her parents were southern people. They
have three sons living, viz.: William, born in

Walnut Grove, Sacramento County, in 1868;

Lewis F., born in Contra Costa County, in 1869,

and Leonard Buit, born in Contra Costa County,

in 1878. Mr. Lettner was for many years a

member of the Independent Order of Chosen

Friends. Mrs. Lettner is a member of the

Christian Church. They are worthy citizens of

San Jacinto and enjoy the confidence and respect

of the county.

^C DOUGALL & BURGESS—The firm

of McDougall & Burgess, dealers in

agricultural implements, occupy spa-

cious warerooms, 100 x 100 feet, at the corner

of Seventh and I streets. William B. McDou-
gall was born at Milburn, Illinois, in 1853, and

came to San Diego in 1874. He was employed

by Klauber & Levi in their hardware depart-

ment for seven years. J. G. Burgess was born

at Oswego, New York, November 13, 1865,

and later, moving to Syracuse, engaged in the

hardware business about three years. He then

came to San Diego in 1887, and spent one year

in the store of his brother at El Cajon. In

October, 1888, the above partnership was formed

and they bought out the implements, stock and

good will of Messrs. Klauber & Levi, continu-

ing in the same quarters. They carry the largest

stock of agricultural implements in the city and

are the sole agents of San Diego County, for

the following well-known line of goods: Oliver

chilled plows, John Deere's steel plow and

farm implements, Buckeye mowers, Thomas

hay-rakes, Centennial farming mills, Freeman

feed cutters, Sehuttler and Studebaker wagons

and carriages, and are dealers in all lines of

large farm machinery, and are the only jobbers

in this line in the city.

McDougall & Burgess are young men of

energy and knowledge, and are largely endowed

with business qualities.

fULIUS BERNSTEIN, one of the leading

business men of Elsinore, was born in Prus-

sia, Germany, in 1851. He received a good

business education there, and afterward served

an apprenticeship of three years to learn the

mercantile business. Mr. Bernstein's parents

were both German. He came to the United

States in 1873, and was naturalized in 1878,

that being as soon as he could become a citizen

of the country of his adoption. He entered

upon his apprenticeship when he was fifteen

years of age, after which he clerked for one year,

and then he came to the United States. He
accepted a clerkship in a San Francisco house,

where he remained three years, when he returned

to Europe on a visit. Then he returned to New
York and for a time clerked both in New York

and Boston. He then removed to Sail Francisco
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and was in that part of the State for five years,

when he again returned to Europe on a visit to

his parents. After a stay of live months he

came to the State of Georgia and clerked for five

years. In 1885 he came to Elsinore and bought

out the parties who had the first store, and has

continued in the business ever since. He has

a double store and is dealing in general mer-

chandise. During the four years he has been

in business here, his trade has grown con-

stantly, and he has a large stock and is doing

the only general merchandise business of the

town, and his trade reaches out twenty miles in

all directions. He has four men constantly

employed in the business. He was married in

1885 to Miss Michelson, a native of Prussia,

and they have three children, all born in Elsi-

nore: David, Clara and Freddie. He has made

some investments in town lots and acre property,

and is an accomplished business man. He is a

member of the I. O. O. F., A. O. U. W., and

the B'nai B'rith.

THOMPSON FRAME, of Elsinore, was

born in eastern Ohio, June 20, 1841.

^ His father, Aaron Frame, was a native of

Harrison County, Ohio, born June 18, 1815.

His grandfather, William Frame, was a native

of Ohio also, and his great-grandfather, Benja-

min Frame, came fiom Pennsylvania to Ohio

in an early day. They were pioneers of that

State and were a family of Quakers. Mr. Frame's

mother, nee Talitha Thompson, born in 1818,

was the daughter of John C. and Rebecca (Car-

ver) Thompson. Her grandfather was Henry

Carver, a Hessian soldier who came wi.h the

army to America in the time of the Revolution.

After the war he settled in North Carolina,

joined the Quakers, and married Talitha Mitch-

ell. There were eight children in Mr. Frame's

family that lived to maturity. He was the second

child and was educated in Mount Pleasant, Jef-

ferson County, Ohio, in a school of the Friends.

He learned from his father the carpenter's trade,

and has ne/er been sorry he acquired it. He
afterward engaged with a brother in the car-

riage business. In 1864 he was married to

Miss Emily Bundy, born in 1844. They had

one daughter, Mary T., born in 1867. Mrs.

Frame died of consumption in 1873, and his

daughter died March 26, 1889, at Pasadena,

California, of the same disease, and he was thus

bereft of a dear wife and a lovely daughter.

After the death of his wife in 1873, he was of-

fered the position of governor of the Friends

school, Westtown, Pennsylvania. He a2cepted

the position and had care of from eighty to 140

boys. He held the position for eleven and

one-half years, and in 1886 he came with his

daughter to Elsinore and bought some property

and became a real-estate dealer on his own ac-

count. When the Bank of Elsinore was started

in 1887, he became interested in it, and is now
its vice-president and attends to its business.

He was elected one of the first trustees of the

city, which office he afterward resigned be-

cause he could not give it the attention it re-

quired. He has been a member of the school

board for the last two years, and is well quali-

fied for that position. He is a careful, correct

business man and highly reliable, and takes a

deep interest in the growth and prosperity of

Elsinore.

V"'"%fes^

fOSEPH J. HENDERSON.—A leading

member of the bar of San Diego and a

life-long Republican is Joseph J. Hender-

son. He was born in Pike County, Missouri,

July 19, 1843. His grandfather, James Hen-

derson, was a native of Pennsylvania. He was

a Presbyterian of Scotch-Irish descent, his fore-

fathers having fled to Ireland to escape persecu-

tion in Scotland. Mr. Henderson's father, Rev.

J. H. D. Henderson, was born in Kentucky and

was a Presbyterian minister in Missouri, Penn-

sylvania and Oregon. He was one of those men

of whom it was said " he was born an abolition-

ist," and had an intuitive sense of the irreat
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wrong of human slavery. "When a boy in Ken-

tucky he was often reprimanded for exulting

over the escape of slaves. His dislike in later

years for the institution on account of its bane-

ful effects on society caused him to remove with

his family from the South to Oregon, where he

became a prominent Republican, being elected

to the United States Congress from there. In

Missouri he knew a smart young slave who bad

learned how to read, write and cypher, and

preach to his brethren. He was arrested while

preaching in Jefferson City, put in prison, and

the authorities told his master that he would

have to get rid of him as '• he knew too much "

and would be likely to teach their " niggers "

things they should not know. It was decided

'to 6end him south and he was there put upon

the market for sale. Buyers in want of slaves

examined him and asked what he could do; he

replied among other things: ' I can leach your

children to read and write; and if you should

die I can preach your funeral sermon." Well,

they did not want such a " nigger " as that.

One slave-holder said to him: " I had a fellow

like you, and I took him to the block and

chopped the first finger off from his right hand

and that stopped his writing." " But," said the

slave, " I can write with either hand." The

price asked for him was $800. He was finally

brought back to St. Louis, where a gentleman

told him if he would serve him faithfully he

would buy him. He did so, and at the end

of the first months' service gave him $40 and

said: " If you serve me as well every month I

will give you the same, and at the end of twenty

months you will be a free man." After three

months this master died and in the settlement

of the estate he was again to be sold. He wrote

to Mr. Henderson, in Pennsylvania, his misfor-

tune, and money was soon raised to buy him

and he was set at liberty. He went to work

and afterward bought his wife. Another cir-

cumstance occurred, while Mr. Henderson was

in the South, of which he spoke to his family.

One of the members of his church was selling

at auction some of his slaves, and among them

was a woman put upon the block with her baby

in her arms. The owner said to the auctioneer,

" Sell the baby first." His wife, who stood near,

interceded with him and urged him to sell the

mother and child together, and with a good deal

of reluctance he finally consented and they were

sold together. Mr. Henderson said, " I lost all

faith in the religion of the man who could be

60 heartless." Mr. J. J. Henderson's mother,

Mary E. (Fisher), Henderson, was also a native

of Kentucky, a daughter of Joseph Fisher. They

were of German descent. She was bcrn in 1820

and was married to Mr. Henderson in 1839.

The subject of this sketch was the second of a

family of six children. He finished his law

studies at the Albany Law School in 1870, and

the same year began practice in Portland, Ore-

gon. In the year 1873 he was appointed, by

President Grant, United States Consul to Amoy,
China. He remained in the consular service for

five and one-half years, when he resigned to en-

gage in the practice of law at Shanghae, China.

He was there about three years and after traveling

in Europe awhile finally came to California and

settled in Sonoma County, in 1880. where he

bought and managed a vineyard. He came to

San Diego in 1886, where he invested in prop-

erty and engaged in the practice of hie profes-

sion. He was married in 1871 to Miss Emma
A. Woodruff of Albany, New York, daughter

of Cyrus L. Woodruff. Mr. Henderson is a

Thirty-second Degree Mason.

fDGAR VERTREES was born in Brown

County, Illinois, February 26, 1856. His

father, Joseph Vertrees, was a native of

Kentucky, as was his father, also born in Ken-

tucky. His mother, Lucinda (Chenwith) Ver-

trees, was born in 1834, and had a family of

eleven children, but six of whom are now living.

Mr. Vertrees was the tenth child, and was edu-

cated in Brown County, Illinois. When twenty

years of age he became a farmer, and has con-

tinued in that business all his life. He moved
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to Kansas, and from there to Vernon County,

Missouri. Afcer some years spent in both of

these States alluded to, he removed to Califor-

nia, March 20, 1885, and purchased forty acres

of land about one mile north from the business

portion of San Jacinto, on which he built a

house and barn, and made a very commodious

home. His principal crop is alfalfa hay, of

which he gets six crops each year, and an aver-

age per crop of one and one-fourth tons per

acre. This is the average, one year with an-

other, and it sells at from $8 to §12 per ton.

He has planted all kinds of fruit for family use,

and the trees are bearing nicely. He was mar-

ried January 21, 1880, to Miss Nancy C. Rate-

kin, daughter of Dr. Elisha S. Ratekin. She was

born in Terre Haute, Henderson County, Illi-

nois, January 13, 1860. They have two boys,

—Leonard W., born in Vernon County, Mis-

souri, August 2, 1883, and Clarence E., born

May G, 1885, in San Jacinto. Two of Mrs.

Vertrees' uncles and Mr. Vertrees' brother

served in the Union army during the war, from

Illinois. Mr. and Mrs. Vertrees are members

of the Methodist Church, are worthy members

of society, and are highly spoken of by their

neighbors.

-
—#5M*a^#—

-

P\\

r
. DAY, of Scotch-English descent, was

born at Kingston, Ontario, Canada, July,

° 1833. He was educated at the Queen's

University at Kingston in the classics, and then

decided to take medicine. His profession took

the medical and surgical course at the same

university and was graduated in the spring of

1862.

Dr. Day was first married at Kingston, in

1859. His wife lived but a few years, leaving

one son and one daughter. The Doctor prac-

ticed medicine and surgery at Kingston until

1871, when he was again married to Miss Eliza-

beth Powers, of Kingston, Ontario. They went

to Chicago, where the Doctor opened an office

and followed his profeesion until 1878, when he

was obJged to return to Kingston, and remained

three years, hid second wife dying meantime and

leaving two sons. In 1881, the Doctor again

came to the United States and settled at Coun-

cil Grove, Kansas, resuming his profession in

medicine. In 1886, he was married the third

time, at Davenport, Iowa, to Mrs. Addie N.

Rainbow, and in 1887 they came to San Diego,

where he immediately opened an office and has

met with very nattering success. The Doctor

is a regular physician ;.nd apparently well

up in his profession, a man well preserved in

physicpie and of pleasing manners and address.

His children are all with him except his daugh-

ter, who is married and lives in Kansas. In

May, 1888, he took up Government land of 165

acres and eighty acres of timber land at Alpine,

San Diego County, which he is now improving.

The timber land he well set to Eucalyptus trees,

and the ranch to walnuts, prunes, olives and a

variety of fruits and vines. The climate of Al-

pine he considers very salubrious, and especially

adapted to pulmonary trouble, being at an ele-

vation of about 800 feet, with plenty of rain-

fall, yet with a dry, wholesome atmosphere and

no frosts. Irrigation is unnecessary, as the

water is quite near the surface. Springs are

easily developed, and, overflowing, give an abun-

dance of pure spring water.

Dr. Day is a member of the Masonic Lodge,

No. 35, and of the Ancient Order of United

"Workmen, of which organization he is the med-

ical examiner, and he is also surgeon lor the

Santa Ee Railroad Company.

§F. SHULTZ was born in Muscatine County,

Iowa, July 8, 1851. His father, Joshua

-^ a Shultz, was a native of Franklin County,

Pennsylvania, and his grandfather was a Hessian

from Hesse Darmstadt. He was a soldier in King
George's army, but was taken prisoner and en-

listed in the cause of independence in the Revo-

lution. Mr. Shultz's mother, nee Catherine

Fulton, was born in Washington County, Mary-
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laud. Her ancestors were originally from Glas-

gow, Scotland. They had a family of nine chil-

dren, of which the subject of this sketch was

the fifth. While a boy he was sent to school in

his native place, and when seventeen yeais of

age he went to learn the tool maker's trade, and

with it blacksmithing and the machinist's trade,

and after working some time in Iowa, went to

Minneapolis, where for five years he was in the

employ of the Applebee Harvester and Binder

Company, and afterward traveled and sold ma-

chines for them. October 1, 1885, he came to

California, and was two months in Los Angeles,

when he learned of the new town of San Jacinto,

which was then being started. He came to

San Jacinto and bought, and built a very pleas-

ant home on five acres of land, a short distance

north of the new brick school-house, on Central

avenue, in the city of San Jacinto. Here he

has planted trees and made improvements, which

indicates thrift and comfort. He has sunk an

artesian well, which affords a fine flow of splen-

did water, and from it a nice little brook of

clear water runs across his grounds to his barn

and poultry houses. He began the blacksmith

business on coming to the town, and has con-

tinued it ever since. He is running a good

shop, and in connection with it is doing cariiage

and wagon manufacturing, and his business ex-

tends out over twenty miles in some directions.

On May 23, 1875, he was married to Miss

Joanna Bachman, a native of Eldora, Iowa,

born January 16, 1857, and daughter of James

and Emma Bachman. Their union has been

blessed with four children, viz.: James J., born

in Eldora, Iowa, April 21, 1876; Alice I., born

April 17, 1878; Zelma A., burn May 17, 1880,

in Eldora; Jessie M., born in Minneapolis,

Minnesota, January 28, 1883. Mr. Shultz is a

member of St. John's Chapter, Minneapolis,

No. 9, and is a member of the F. A. M., Min-

neapolis Lodge, No. 19, Minneapolis, Minnesota,

and a member of Eldora Lodge, No. 77, I. O.

O. F., and now holds the office of one of the

trustees of the city of San Jacinto. It is need-

less to add that he is a man of intelligence and

worth, and alive to the interests of the town of

which he is a pioneer.

#5k^-j5#

g^OWARD M. KUTCHIN, a journalist, ed-

IHf}
*tor an<^ Pu °lisaer

'
now a resident of San

=hM Diego, was a native of Norristovvn, Penn-

sylvania, born November 4, 1842. His father,

-Rev. Thomas T. Kutchin, born in Pennsylvania,

was a Baptist clergyman in Philadelphia. His

grandfather, Thomas J. Kutchin, was born in

Philadelphia, and for the greater part of his life

was a professor in one of the academies in

Philadelphia. The family is of Scotch descent.

Mr. Kutchin's mother, Amanda (Thomas) Kutch-

in, was a daughter of Mr. Ephraim Thomas.

Their ancestors came from Wales in 1676, two

years after Penn's arrival. There were nine

children in the family, of whom the subject of

this sketch was the third child, and the oldest of

six boys. He received his education iu the

public schools, and in 1860, when eighteen

years of age, he adopted journalism as a pro-

fession, and was connected w7ith various news-

papers in Wisconsin, Illinois, and Missouri. In

1866 he was married to Miss Elsie M. Irving,

born in Racine, Wisconsin, July 1, 1844,

daughter of John and Mary Irving, who were

of Scotch descent. They have two children

—

a daughter and son: Grace E. and Harold I.

Shortly after his marriage in Missouri he re-

turned to Wisconsin in 1867, and bought the

Fort Atkinson Herald, and was its publisher

until the fall of 1870, when he leased the estab-

lishment and came to San Diego with a purpose

to remain. He then became connected with the

San Diego Unio?i, and assisted in publishing

the first Daily Union. His tenant in Wiscon-

sin being unable to carry out his lease, he re-

turned, took possession and sold out, and pur-

chased the Fond du Lac (Wisconsin) Daily

Commonwealth. He owned and edited that

paper up to 1884. In 1877 he was appointed

director of Wisconsin State prison. In 1879

President Hayes appointed him Collector of In-
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ternal Revenue l'or the third district of Wiscon-

son, in which capacity he continued until Pres-

ident Cleveland was elected, when he went out

as an "offensive partisan."

During his residence in Wisconsin he took

an active part in politics. He was chairman of

the Republican Count}' Committee, and was

chairman of the Republican Congressional Dis-

trict Committee for many years. At the State

Republican Convention of 1886 he was elected

secretary of the State Central Committee, and

did the work of the campaign in that capacity.

At the close of this, being greatly prostrated by

the arduous labors he had performed, he was

advised by his physicians to travel, and he re-

turned to San Diego in 1887. He returned to

Wisconsin in the spring and came back again a

few months later, to make his permanent home

here. In the fall of 1888 he took charge of the

Daily Union as manager. In the course of a

few months he became editor as well, and con-

tinued it until June, 1889, when he retired

from the paper. He is a member of the Ma-

sonic fraternity, is a Knight Templar, and has

held various positions in the order. In the

Knights of Pythias he was Grand Chancellor of

Wisconsin for a number of years, and Supreme

Representative of the State to the Supreme

Lodge of the world for four years. In June,

1889, he was recommended by Congressman

Vandeou and the Republican State delegation

for the appointment of Postmaster of San Diego:

he was subsequently appointed, and now oc-

cupies that position. He has invested largely

in property in San Diego, and is interested in

all that pertains to the welfare of the city of his

choice and home*

^-^B"^

fS.
BUCK.—Among the early pioneers of

California we note the name of Joshua S.

° Buck, who arrived at San Francisco in

1856, at the age of twenty-one years, filled with

the enthusiasm and ambitions of youth, and

also possessed of a scientific knowledge which

few acquire at so early an age, as upon his ar-

rival at San Francisco he was one of three ma-

rine engineers who held first-class certificates

from the Government. He was born at Campo

Bello, JS'ew Brunswick, March 12, 1835, his

parents being natives of Maine. He was third

in a family of ten children, of whom nine are

still living. In 1842 his parents removed to

Eastport, Maine, and his father being a mechan-

ical engineer, he was early employed as agent

of the steamship company which ran steamers

from Boston to Eastport and New Brunswick.

After a common-school education, the subject

of this sketch early adopted the profession of

his father, and under his skillful teaching was

rapidly pushed forward in his trade, and was

often substituted as engineer on steamships of

the Eastport line.

In 1856 he left home for California, arriving

in New York in October, and being a seafaring

man, which entitles him to a vote in any port,

he there oast his first Presidential vote for

John C. Fremont, October 12, 1856, and in the

afternoon of the same day he boarded a steamer

as passenger, bound for California by the Isth-

mus of Panama, arriving at San Francisco in

November, 1856. The following five years were

employed in placer mining, mainly in Tuolumne

County. Returning to San Francisco in 1861,

he was employed by the Holiday Line of Steam-

ers in repairing the steamship John L. Stephens.

He then made an engagement with the Pacific

Mail Steamship Company as assistant engineer

on the line between Panama and San Francisco.

At the end of one year he became chief engineer

of the line, and remained in their employ

eighteen years. He was chief engineer of the

old steamship Constitution for four years, a ves-

sel very familiar to the early Californians. In

1868 Mr. Buck's wife was taken very sick, and

he secured one year's leave of absence and

brought her to San Diego. He bought lots and

built the fifth house in San Diego, at the corner

of Front and F streets, also improved and sold

other property. At the closa of the year he

his house and returned to San Francisco,
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but has been a property-holder in San Diego

since that year. In 1870 he passed one year in

the Japan service, making four trips to China

as c! ief engineer of the steamship Japan. In

1871 he again came to San Diego, on account

of the health of his wife: after one year he re-

turned to San Francisco, and continued in the

employ of the company until 1880, when he

came to San Diego and took up permanent resi-

dence. The first five years he passed much of

his time at Julian, but in 1885 he returned to

San Diego and started in the pottery business

at the corner of Fifth and K streets, as agent

for the Elsinore Pottery Company, for the sale

of their goods, and he continues business at the

6ame stand and shipping pottery and stoneware

all over the world, but his specialties now are

the Penn pottery of New Brighton, Pennsyl-

vania, and the Mica Pooling Company's goods,

of New York.

January 1, 1867, Mr. Buck was married at

San Francisco, to Miss Emma Hooper, a native

of St. Johns, New Brunswick. They have two

children: Annie K. and Walter, born at San

Francisco. His wife is still living, and enjoys

comfortable health, at their new and comfort-

able residence on the corner of F and Twenty-

first streets. Mr. Buck was elected a member

of the Board of Supervisors in November, 1888,

and took his office January 1, 1889.

tlONEL W. MARSHALL, a descendant of

English-American parentage, was born at

Marietta, Iowa, January 10, 1857. His

early life was passed in Iowa, where he received

a common-school education. His father being

a cabinet-maker, the inclination of the son

naturally turned in the same direction and

under the careful guidance of the father, with

whom he worked twelve years, he now stands

at the head of his profession. In 188G, he

came to San Diego and entered the art business,

also building and selling wood mantels of

various designs. In 1887, he went out of the

art business and assumed the management of

the San Diego Mantel Factory at 916 Second

street, where he is carrying on a large and suc-

cessful business, employing five men and yet

unable to keep up with the orders. The man-

tels are constructed from all kinds of hard and

soft woods, and combined with neat designs in

wood carving create a thing of beauty and a

joy forever. This is the first and only mantel

manufactory in San Diego.

Mr. Marshall was married at Dan Diego,

December 12, 1887, to Miss Lizzie Monkes, a

native of California. They have one child.

&**•

ANIEL H. CLARK came into the valley

from the northern part of the State four

years before there was any town platted in

San Jacinto. He came very near being a son of

the Golden West, as his father moved to Cali-

fornia with his family when the subject of this

sketch was but one year old. His father, H.

W. Clark, and his mother, nee Miss M. J. Mil-

ler, were both natives of Arkansas. Daniel H.

Clark was the eldest of their family of nine

children, and was born in Johnson County, Ar-

kansas, October 13, 1855. When he was a boy

the family resided in Fresno County, and there

he received his education. When seventeen

years of age he began to do for himself, and

went into the business of raising hogs. When
nineteen years of age he was married to Miss

Eliza Winkleman, who was born in California

in 1859. The marriage occurred in 1874. The

fruit of the union is seven children, viz.: Fred-

erick J., Ida H., Henry Franklin, Walter An-

derson, Clandy Noel, Clara and Eliza. The

three first were born in Los Angeles, and the

rest in San Jacinto. After his marriage he

lived a short time in Fresno County, when he

removed to Arizona and then to Los Angeles.

There he bought a place near Westminster, and

in 1879 they removed San Jacinto. There were

then about ten families in the whole valley for

miles in every direction. Mr. Hewitt had his
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adobe house and store; Mr. Jordan and wife,

Mr. "Webster and family, the two Mr. Estudillo's,

Mr. Logsdors and family, Mr. Collins, Mr. Car-

roll, Mr. Larson, Mr. Giar, and Mr. Proko A.

Kitnbo. Mr. Clark took a Government claim

of 160 acres, which he lived on and improved,

and afterward sold. He then bought twenty

acres and built on it his present home, and

planted trees and made other improvements.

He is now a partner with Mr. Hewitt in the

livery business. They have a large stock of good

carriages and horses; and in addition to their

livery business they are putting in large quan-

tities of barley and wheat. More than 1,200

acres is now being sowed by them.

When Garfield was elected President Mr.

Clark was appointed Postmaster at what was

then called the Rock House (now Wichita).

He held the office three years and resigned it

in favor of Mrs. Rice. Mrs. Clark is a Meth-

odist, and Mr. Clark is a hard working honor-

able citizen.

fOSE ANTONIO ESTUDILLO. a rancher

near San Jacinto. The man who came to

California in 1849 is proud to say, " 1 am
a '49er;" the man who was born in California

with greater pride can say, " I am a native Cal-

ifornia]];" but Mr. Estudillo can say, " I am a

Californian of the Californians." His grand-

father came from Spain about the time of the

founding of the mission, and his father, of the

same name, was born in Monterey, California,

and married in 1825, Victoria Dominguez, who

was born in Los Angeles in 1801. Therefore

Mr. Estudillo's children enjoy the distinction

of being able to say, ,l We are natives of

California; so are both our parents, and so are

both our grandparents."

The subject of this sketch was born in San

Diego, August 22, 1840. His father, when at

San Diego, received a large grant of land at

Janal; he was a merchant and stock-raiser, who

also owned a magnificent grant from the Mex-

ican government, of the San Jacinto ranch, of

386 acres of rich land at the base of the San

Jacinto range of mountains. On a part of this

tract the city of San Jacinto is now built, ami

two miles west stands the old adobe ranch house

which was built in 1854 and occupies a little

bend in the foot hills of the San Jacinto range.

At that point there are also hot and cold springs

of good water. The family also formerly had

another adobe ranch house, which was built

long before, so long previously that the memory

of its origin is lost. The ruins are still visible,

standing on the only rise of ground oil the

whole ranch, nearly five miles north of the city

of San Jacinto. It was named Casloma, and was

situated on this high ground so that the Cap-

tain could look out from it and see his herds of

cattle for miles around, and also be enabled to

discover the approach of the Indians and defend

the place. On this large ranch for many years

they raised large herds of horses and cattle.

The horses had a small sprinkle of Arabian blood,

which made them tough and good travelers; all

their stock they sold mostly in San Francisco,

and drove from 1,000 to 2,000 head a year, the

driving occupying the months of March, April

and May. The cattle were of the graded stock.

Mr. Estudillo has retained 710 acres of the

ranch, and has built a good brick house upon it

two miles east of the city, near the old adobe.

This residence occupies a sightly position, and

from it a very fine view of the country is ob-

tained. Mr. Estudillo is still engaged in the

business of stock-raising, is a fine horseman and

rides like a prince. On the ranch is a fine

orchard of nearly all kinds of fruit and nut

trees, bearing, and the proprietor contemplates

setting out more orange trees. Mr. Estudillo

is a very pleasant gentleman, and is very highly

spoken of by all who know him.

In 1868 he married Miss Adelade Robidoux,

whowasanativeof Jurupa ranch at the point now

called Riverside. Her father was from France,

and had a store, a mill and a ranch. They have

seven children, all whom were born at Riverside,

namely: Miguel, born September 20, 1869, now
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attending college; Estella, bom May 29, 1873;

Guadulupa, born October 26, 1875; Hattie,

October 23, 1877; Louis, October 18, 1879;

Adelade, October 11, 1881; Frankie, August

3, 1884. The family are members of the

Catholic Church.

fHOMAS H. RAINEY, M. D., the pioneer

physician and dentist of San Jacinto, was

born near Belfast, Ireland, May 4, 1842.

His father, Robert Rainey, was born in Ireland,

and his mother, nee Margaret Dunbar, was born

in Glasgow, Scotland. The Doctor received his

preliminary education in Dublin, Ireland, and

notwithstanding a strong desire, which he had

when quite young, to become a physician, he did

not see his way clear to continue the study of

medicine to the exclusion of other pursuits.

Like many others, he is a self-made man and

worked his own way, acting in the capacity of

teacher in several of the national schools of the

country. His father being engaged in the man-

ufacture of linen, for which that section of Ire-

land is so justly celebrated, the Doctor had while

quite young acquired considerable knowledge

of the manufacture of fine texture from both

wool and flax. In 1866 he came to the United

States and accepted a position in the Ypsilanti

Woolen Mill. After spending some time there

he removed to Morenci, Michigan, and there

took charge of a department or section of the

looms engaged in the manufacture of fine cassi-

meres. From there he went to South Bend,

Indiana, and accepted the position of foreman

of weaving and designing in a large woolen mill,

engaged in the finest woolen manufacture of the

United States. While there he exhibited his

cloth at the Industrial Exhibition in Chicago

and received first premium for two years in suc-

cession on fancy cassimeres and flannels. From

there he accepted a similar position at Baraboo,

Wisconsin. After a year there he went to

Mishawaka, Indiana, where he ran a mill by con-

tract, and while there, in competition with the

mills he had been with formerly, he took the

premium again on his manufactures. Soon after

this he was engaged to go to Springfield, Illi-

nois, and take charge of the fine-goods depart-

ment of a large manufactory, where, with the

latest improvements in machinery, they manu-

factured as tine cloths and cassimeres as could

be produced. All through these busy years he

had not forgotten his chosen profession and in

the evenings kept up his reading and study.

Here he studied under Dr. W. Hook Davis, a

prominent practitioner. He then went to the

Cincinnati Eclectic Medical College, at which

college he was graduated. He then located in

Michigan, near Detroit, and engaged in the

practice of his profession. From there he re-

moved to Washington Territory, where he prac-

ticed far three years. In June, 1885, hearing

of the great emigration to California and its ad-

vantages, he came to San Jacinto. The town

was just starting and there was bat one physi-

cian in the place, who has since died. The Doc-

tor had added dentistry to his studies, and in

connection with the profession of medicine and

surgery, practices dentistry. He enjoys a wide

practice and the relations between himself and

his patrons is very satisfactory. The Doctor

has taken Horace Greeley's advice, " Go West,

young man, and grow up with the country."

He is growing up with San Jacinto. In addi-

tion to a twenty-acre prune grove that he has

had planted, a part of it now commencing to

bear, he owns 160 acres of land and has a very

commodious and well equipped office. In 1866

he was married in Detroit, Michigan, to Miss

Lettie Campbell. As the fruit of this marriage

he has a daughter and a son, of whom he is

justly proud. His daughter, Maud L., was born

in Morenci, Michigan, October 21, 1868, and

his son, Claud L , was born in Baraboo, Wis-

consin, July 3, 1871. His daughter finished

her education at the Michigan State Normal

School, and the son is now at school in Michigan.

The Doctor is a member of the I. 0. O. F.,

and also of the F. A. M. He is a talented and

pleasing gentleman who takes a lively interest
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in bis town and in the profession of his choice.

His ancestors were Scotch-Irish Presbyterians,

and the historian will not forget that such stock

in the United States has reached the upper

round of the ladder in nearly every industry,

business and profession.

A. DORRIS is a native of Sumner

County, Tennessee, born December
* 25, 1836. His father, Josiah Dorris,

was born in Robinson County, Tennessee, May
8, 1808. He was a farmer, and his death oc-

curred in 1881. Mrs. Dorris' mother, nee

Martha Bridgwaters, was also a native of Robin-

son County, Tennessee, and was married to Mr.

Dorris in 1828. Their family consisted of

twelve children, ten of whom are still living.

Mr. Dorris remained at home until twenty

years of age, enjoying the advantages of the

public schools of his town. He removed to

Williamson County, Illinois, in 1858, where

he engaged to work on a farm. He remained

here one year, until April 5, 1859, when he came

to California for his health, and has not been

sick a day since. In crossing the plains there

were 100 in the company, and they were six

months and ten days in going from Williamson

County, Illinois, to Sonoma County, California.

The journey was attended with much danger, as

the Indians were very troublesome and aggres-

sive, and they had many narrow escapes. At

Goose Creek, ten days before they reached there,

the Indians had killed and scalped a party of

eight. On arrival there they found where the

unfortunate victims had been buried by the

United States soldiers. Their wagons had been

piled and burned, and ten mules lay dead on the

plains. He tirst settled at Petaluina, Sonoma

County, where he carried on the dairy business,

and followed this business in several counties

in the State until he finally went to Monterey

County, took up a Government tract of land

and bought other adjoining land to the amount

505 acres. He then engaged in farming and

stock-raising, and still owns this ranch. From
there, in 1884, he came to San Diego, and en-

gaged in the hotel business, and bought the lots

on the corner of Third and F streets, where he

built the new Carlton Hotel, and with the able

assistance of Mrs. Dorris he is now keeping this

nice, centrally located house. Mrs. Dorris is a

most accomplished and agreeable landlady. She

was the widow of Mr. Charles Morgan, of Cleve-

land, Ohio, and was united in marriage to Mr.

Dorris in 1868. She is the mother of nine

children,—four by her first husband and five

since her union with Mr. Dorris. Three of the

last named are still living, and were all born in

Monterey County. Their names are: Nellie,

Charles and Jennie. Mr. Dorris enlisted De-

cember 14, 1864, in Company E, Second Regi-

ment California Volunteers. Their service was

mostly in Arizona, among the Apache Indians,

and he participated in many skirmishes with

them. He was mustered out in May, 1866. He
is an Odd Fellow and a member of the G. A. R.,

belonging to Heintzelman Post, No. 33, of San

Diego.

§ON. JAMES McCOY.—The pioneer resi-

dents of San Diego were a marked body

of men. Many of them are living here

to-day, and the positions they oocnpy among

their fellows denote that they possess quali-

fications that would make them leaders in

any community. They were generally self-made

men, who, by reason of theirnative force of char-

acter, succeeded in surmounting obstacles before

which less heroic material would have been over-

whelmed. These were the men who, when San

Diego's future greatness was in embryo, sprang

to the front, and with their push and determi-

nation started the young city on its progress to-

ward commercial supremacy. One of the fore-

most among this class is the subject of this

sketch.

James McCoy was born in County Antrim,

Ireland, August 12, 1821. He lived with his
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parents and worked on a farm for the first twenty

years of his life. Then he began to yearn for

that land of liberty beyond the sea, and in the

summer of 1842 he took passage in the ship

Alexander, for the United States, landing at

Baltimore on the ninth of July. Here he found

employment in a market garden, and afterward

in a distillery. In these occupations he re-

mained seven years. In 1849 lie enlisted in the

regular army, in Captain Magruder's Battery,

which was under orders for the Pacific Coast.

They sailed from Baltimore, January 27, 1850,

and landed in San Francisco on the tenth of

August. They remained in that city about ten

days, and then sailed down the coast for San

Diego, which was to be their station. There

was at that time considerable trouble with the

Indians, and McCoy was sent, as a non com-

missioned officer, with twelve men to San Luis

Rey mission, about forty miles from San Diego.

He remained at this post for two years and a

half, and during that time his small force was

often called upon to aid the settlers from Indian

attacks. After leaving San Luis Rey he was

sent with fourteen men to Jacumba, a station for

keeping express horses and for mail carriers on

the road to Yuma. He remained there for about

eleven months, until, his term of enlistment

having expired, he was honorably discharged

from the service. While at Jacumba he was

often threatened by the Indians, and for better

security he built a small fort. Here he was at

one time attacked by a band of five hundred

Indians, but his party were all picked men and

trained to Indian fighting, and they succeeded

in beating off their assailants. He then went

with a surveying party on the Colorado Desert

to lay out townships. He was engaged in this

busiuess for two months and a half, and then

was employed in the Government service diiv-

ing teams between San Diego and Fort Yuma.

He continued at this work for a little over two

years, and then entered the employ of the San

Antonio and San Diego Mail Line. He had

charge of the mail between San Diego and

Yuma, and afterward between Yuma and Tuc-

son. This was quite a hazardous service, and

he had many narrow escapes from the Indians,

besides suffering untold hardships in crossing

the desert through which his route lay. In his

trips from Yuma to Tucson he made some very

rapid time. He once rode the distance of three

hundred miles in three days and eleven hours,

and changed mules only twice. The man who

rode with him, S. A. Ames, now lives at River-

side. In the latter part of 1859, while carrying

the mail, he was elected Assessor of San Diego

County, and in 1861 he was elected Sheriff. He
was re-elected five times, and remained in the

office until he was elected to the State Senate,

in 1871, when he resigned. In 1859, while As-

sessor, he became interested in raising sheep,

and continued in that business until 1668. Mr.

McCoy prides himself that he has raised the

best flock of sheep in San Diego County. In

1867 he bought the San Bernardo, a four-league

ranch, for $4,000, and still owns a part of it.

It is situated about thirty miles from San Diego.

Mr. McCoy served one term of four years in the

Senate, his term expiring in 1875. While in

the Senate he used his best efforts to arrange

for offering subsidies to induce the building of

a railroad to San Diego. It was mainly through

his efforts that the right of way was granted to

the Texas Pacific. He also succeeded in having

a bill passed authorizing the city to issue bonds

to buy the San Diego and Gila Company—an

old organization formed in early days. This

company had succeeded in having two leagues

of land granted them by the Legislature for the

purpose of building their road. The bonds of

the city were issued for the purpose of buying

up the rights of this old company, as well as for

purchasing the right of way for the Texas Pa-

cific.

Mr. McCoy was one of the organizers and di-

rectors of the Commercial Bank of San Diego,

and is now a director of the Consolidated Bank.

He was also one of the organizers and a director

in the San Diego Savings Bank. He was one

of the organizers of the Commercial Bank of

Los Angeles, since reorganized and now known
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as the First National Bank, in which he is a

stockholder. He has been a city trustee tor

fourteen years. There has been no public move-

ment looking to the advancement of San Diego

that has not had Mr. McCoy's active countenance

and assistance. He owns considerable city prop

erty, and 1,920 acres of the San Bernardo Ranch,

adjoining Escondido. He resides in Old San

Diego, where he has a fine residence, erected

eighteen years ago. Mr. McCoy was married in

Old San Diego/ May 17, 1868, to Miss Wini-

fred Kearney. They have no children.

tEONARD L. LYNCH, was born at Har-

rington, Washington County, Maine, Sep-

tember 27, 1828; his parents were natives

of New England. The family consisted of four

children, only two of whom survive. The edu-

cational facilities of the time and place being

limited the subject of this sketch was only per-

mitted those of the common school. At the

early age of thirteen years he went on board ship

as a common seaman, coasting between New
York and other eastern ports. He followed this

business several years; also spent one season on

the fishing banks at Labrador. About 1845 he

sailed from Boston to the Mediterranean Sea, on

the bark Elvira, Captain (lorham, of Cape Cod,

in command. He took over an assorted cargo

to Malta, and then sailed to Palermo, Sicily, and

brought back a cargo of fruit. In 1846 and

1847, he went out as first mate of the Clarissa,

a square-rigged brig from Rockland, Maine, to

Wilmington, North Carolina, then took a cargo

of naval stores to New Orleans, during the Mex-

ican war. He was there taken sick and left the

vessel. On recovering he sailed as mate on the

brig Lawrence for Havann, then to Sisal, Laguna

and Tabasco, taking a cargo of logwood and

mahogany back to Havana, where the vessel was

sold for a slaver and was sent to the coast of

Africa. Mr. Lynch returned to New York in

the spring of 1848, and made a voyage to Jack-

sonville, Florida, and the West Indies, and in

the fall sailed on the Gen. Lincoln, and was

wrecked on the Duck Ledges near Rockland,

Maine. The vessel went to pieces, they all got

on the ledge from head of main topgallant mast

but two, who were frozen before they could be

taken off. They were exposed sixteen hours,

midst terrible suffering. Mr. Lynch there lost

all his charts, maps and instruments, of which

he had a very valuable assortment, and was per-

fectly capable of taking all reckonings and ob-

servations, having sailed as master out of New-

bnryport, Massachusetts. After several voyages

to the West Indies, September 5, 1849, he sailed

before the mast for California, many of the

crew being mates and captains. It enabled

them to reach California during the year of the

great gold excitement. They were on the ship

Albatross, of Boston, and made but one stop, at

Valparaiso for water. They carried an assorted

cargo and forty passengers, and were 180 days

on the voyage, arriving at San Francisco Feb-

ruary, 1850. In the summer of that year he

ran a steamboat on the Sacramento river, and in

the fall went to Rhodes' diggings near Folsotn,

Sacramento County, and there opened a grocery

store and did some mining at Negro Bar, now

Folsom. He remained until 1853, when he

returned to Sacramento and built the Union

Hotel, paying $300 per 1,000 feet for green

lumber. He continued in this hotel until the

fall of 1858, when he sold out and went East,

going and returning by the Isthmus of Fanama.

He was absent sixteen months, visiting his

family and friends in Maine. He returned in

the fall of 1859, arriving in the spring of 1860.

He went to Sacramento and again opened a

hotel called the Philadelphia House, in which

he continued about twelve years, selling out in

1873. In 1875 he came to San Diego, and took

up a ranch of 160 acres at Foway, and begau

honey-bee culture, which he still carries on with

good success, also cultivating his ranch. He
has a tine orchard of six acres, set out with a

variety of fruits, and nfteen acres of raisin

rrapes all bearing, and has several horses and

a large number of fowls
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Mr. Lynch has never married. By integrity,

economy and strict attention to business, he lias

lived a life filled with incident and marked with

success, and though at the age of sixty-one years

is still active, alert, and conditioned to enjoy

many years of usefulness.

fEORGE W. BOWLER.—Among the

members of the San Diego Pioneers'

Asssociation we find the name of George

W. Bowler, who at the early age of four years

began his pioneer course. In leaving Kansas

City, Missouri, the home of his nativity, being

with his parents, he traveled by wagon to the

less civilized country of Montana, and at the

age of eight jears they again started on their

pioneer course by wagon for San Diego, Cali-

fornia, which at that time, January, 1868, was

a wild, unsettled country. He was born in

Kansas City, Missouri, August 24, 1860. His

father was then in the employment of the Gov-

ernment as engineer of the roads across Kansas,

New Mexico and that vicinity. The subject of

this sketch was third in a family of six children,

only four of whom survive; he received only a

common-school education and then learned the

trade of printing, and, feeling that the "pen

was mightier than the sword,"—though having

received but a common school education him-

self,—he would aid in enlightening others

through the medium of the press; and as com-

positor he was connected with the San Diego

News from 1875 until 1880. He then went to

Colorado, and for eighteen months was secretary

of the Lady Franklin Mining Company at Silver

Cliff. He was then employed by the Colorado

Coal and Iron Company as agent and weigh-

master for five years, traveling through the

State. Returning to San Diego in 1887, he

entered into the real-estate business, in which

he is still employed. His father died in 1871,

but his mother is still living, and is a member

of his family.

Mr. Bowler was married at "Williamsburg,

Fremont County, Colorado, August 24, 1882,

to Miss Mary Woodside, a native of Alton, Illi-

nois. They have two children, both of whom
are still living: Gertrude and William.

—T&G&&

fR.
OTTMANN is one of the most active,

obliging and competent business men of
a San Jacinto. He was born in Lower

Silesia, Prussia, November 26, 1851, and came

with his parents to the United States in 1860,

and settled in- New York. They afterward re-

moved to Hoboken, where the family resided

for twenty-two years. When thirteen years of

age the subject of this sketch went to work for

a wholesale house in New York city, and re-

mained with them for thirteen years. He then

accepted a position with a New York import-

ing house and traveled for them both in the

AVestern States and also through France and

Germany, having crossed the Atlantic Ocean

nineteen times, transacting the business of his

house in a highly satisfactory manner. June 17,

1882, he went to San Francisco to accept a posi-

tion as manager of the cloak department of a

large wholesale house. After a term of two years

with them he went to Los Angeles, and accepted

a position in the City of Paris. While with

them he had charge of their cloak department;

then he was floor-walker, and the last year, of

a term of three years, he traveled for them,

which enabled him to see all California, Arizona

and New Mexico. On June 10, 1887, he en-

tered into an engagement with Mr. Hewitt, of

San Jacinto, to take charge of his books and

act as business manager, in which position he

has ever since been engaged.

Mr. Ottmann was married February 25, 1889,

to Miss Mattie J. Cook, a native of Yardley,

Pennsylvania. They have settled in San Ja-

cinto, where they have bought and built a very

pleasant new house, and as the young trees

flowers and shrubs grow it will become an or-

nament to the town. Mr. Ottmann has invest-

ed in other houses and property, and is making
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other improvements, which will aid in the de-

velopment and growth of the town in which he

has chosen to make his home. Ilis business

experience since his boyhood, and the activity

of his mind enables him to dispatch business

with rapidity; nor does he seem to have to con-

fine himself to one thing at a time, but, with

ont any seeming inconvenience, can look after

several things at once, or do business with two

or three at a time. He is a member of the

German Turner society. During the war bis

father was employed in the service of the United

States Government making gun carriages. He
was accidently killed while engaged in roofing a

building in Chicago just after the great fire.

His mother and the rest of the family reside in

Hoboken, New Jersey.

——I- s. ; •£—

—

fOHN H. KOOP, a native of Germany, and

a son of a German farmer. We recognize

the unfailing success of the laboring man,

if, with persevering industry, are connected the

elements of integrity and economy, all of which

are so eminently combined in the subject of

this sketch, who was born February 25, 1842,

and was the eldest in a family of five children,

only two of whom survive, his brother being a

resident of New Jersey. Mr. Koop came to the

United States in 1860, by a sailing vessel from

Bremen to New York, wheie he was employed

as clerk in a grocery store for eight years.

February, 25, 1868, he sailed for California, by

the Nicaragua route, arriving at San Francisco

March 28, 1868; after a brief engagement he

went to San Diego, where he accepted any line

of honorable labor, working in a brewery for

two years, and in markets about five years.

He then received work inside of the court-house

about two j>ears, and then ran the county hos-

pital one year. He next received the contract

to board the city prisoners, holding the contract

five years, or until January, 1887. He then

received the contract to clear the right of way

fur the San Diego Flume Company, which took

about six months. He spent the year 1888 in

Fresno County, returning in 1889, and is now
employed as circumstances permit. He owns

two houses and one improved lot at the corner

of B and Columbia streets, where he now re-

sides, renting one of the houses. This property

is the visible increase of his years of industry

and economy.

Mr. Koop was married in San Diego, in Jan-

uary, 1877, to Miss Mary Sickinger, a native of

Germany, but educated in Wisconsin. They

have four children, all of whom are living.

«APTAIN ALPHONSO B. SMITH was

born in Hopkinsville, Christian County,

Kentucky, June 10, 1841. His parents

were of Dutch and English extraction, and were

also natives of Kentucky. His father, F. C.

Smith, was a sea captain, who came to Califor-

nia as early as 1843, and in September, 1849,

he returned with his family for permanent resi-

dence. Five children were born to the parents

and all are living, two of whom still remain

with their mother in Sacramento. The father

died while on his way to Oregon, in 1879.

The subject of this sketch early manifested

an attraction for the sea, and at the age of fif-

teen years was placed before the mast. The

boy's dauntless energy and ambition enabled

hiin, almost before he reached manhood, to step

from the forecastle to the quarter-deck. For

nearly a score of years his active life was passed

at sea as master, on the bar of the Columbia

river as pilot, and as trader in the northern

territories. His pursuits were as various as his

talents, and, possessing the inventive genius in

an eminent degree, Captain Smith began to in-

vent during his boyhood; and in whatever field

of employment circumstances placed him he

was sure to attempt some improvement in

method or mechanism.

In 1879 he abandoned the sea and trade,

and zealously devoted all his energies to the

business of invention. Many of his patented
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devices have proved of iininen8e practical value,

viz.: California Grain Lifter, an attachment to

mowers; Reversible Friction Clutch; Wagon

Harrow; Clod Crusher and Seeder, combined;

Safety Apron, for railroads; Universal Wrench;

Carpet Sewing Machine, over-cast stitch; Hand

Rock Drill; Reversible Plow, for hillsides;

Electro-Liquor-Anger; Lock Nut-bolt, switch

threaded—nuts pass right and left; and Hy-

draulic Ram. These illustrate the versatility of

his inventive genius. He is also the proprietor

and publisher of Smith's Farm Directory for

California, Oregon, Nevada and Washington,

Idaho and Arizona territories, a detailed collec-

tion of valuable facts.

His favorite pursuit (invention) was tempo-

rarily interrupted by his accepting the post of

United States Consul at San Bias, Mexico, to

which he was appointed by President Arthur;

after holding this post of honor for more than

a year he resigned. He returned immediately

to the field of invention, for which his talent

rendered him so capable. His latest invention

is his reciprocating propeller for vessels. It is

an invention of his own, strictly in accord-

ance with the laws of nature, which after many

experiments he perfected in July, 1880—a won-

derful invention combining strength, practica-

bility and simplicity, thus requiring less ma-

chinery and carrying capacity, and an increased

rate of speed. He also has a new set of nautical

instruments, which can be set in the Captain's

room, consisting of five discs and which are

self-registering upon a thin sheet of lead under-

neath; disc No. 1 registers the course of the

6hip; No. 2 is the registering ship's log; No.

3, number of miles per hour the wind is trav-

eling from any point; No. 4 registers all changes

in tides, and No. 5 the chronometer, which also

electrically rings the ship's bell. He has a

ship's compass which is self-registering and is

not affected by coming in contact with any

metal. A model ship is about being constructed

which will embrace the above system and appli-

ances and will make a floating wonder.

He is the most conspicuous inventor in Cali-

fornia and is believed to be among the first, if not

actually the first, inventor who obtained a patent

in this State. His first patent, though not his

first invention— the Hinge Butter Mould, com-

monly in use in California dairies to this day—
was obtained while he was yet a lad.

Necessity has been literally the " mother of in-

vention" in Captain Smith's experience; wheth-

er ashore or at sea, the occurrence of an accident,

the presence of a difficulty, or the want of a bet-

ter way of doing things was sure to be suggest-

ive of an improvement. The facility with which

he invents and his fertile resources have im-

pelled him from boyhood to look out for the

better way to accomplish work, and his success

has been as great as it has been remarkable.

Captain Smith was married in Sacramento

city, California, in 1869, to Miss Sadie E. Mor-

ton, eldest daughter of Colonel Robert H. Mor-

ton, of Kentucky, by whom he has four children,

only one of whom, a daughter, is now living,

and with the family resides in San Diego,

California.

fG.
REINHARDT—One of San Jacinto's

leading bnsiness men and a pioneer in the

® hardware business is J. G. Reinhardt, who

was born in Wurtemberg, Germany, October 18,

1846, and came with his parents to the United

States and settled at Springfield, Illinois. His

parents, George Frederick and Lena Reinhardt,

were both natives of Germany. They were the

parents of sixteen children. After Mr. Rein-

hardt had received his education he learned the

tinner's trade and worked as a journeyman until

1867, when he removed to Kansas and was

there in business until 1885. He came to San

Jacinto and opened his tin and plumbing shop.

Seeing the need and an opening for a hardware

store, he added hardware and increased the

stock as fast as the demands of the trade re-

quired, and has now the leading hardware busi-

ness of the town. He has now connected with

him in the business Mr. E. D. Bradley, Mr.
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Koch and G. F. Reinhardt. his son, all of them

gentlemen of business ability and means The

tirm is a strong business firm and their trade

extends a good many miles out of San Jacinto

in every direction.

Mr. Reinhardt was married to Miss Catie

Trusheim, a native of Germany, born in 1845.

The fruit of this union is seven children, the

first six born in Kansas and the last born in

San Jacinto, viz.: Frederick, John W., Annie

E., Albert M., Charles E., Willie and Harry.

Mr. and Mrs. Reinhardt are members of the

Methodist Church. Mr. Reinhardt is a mem-

ber of the A. O. U. W. He is one of the

organizers of the city water-works and one of

its directors. He is a trustee of the Methodist

Church, and during the construction of their

brick church he was steward of the church and

assistant superintendent of the Sunday-school.

He has built a very comfortable and commodi-

ous home on an acre of ground just a little

southwest of the business part of the town and

has surrounded it with trees, shrubs and flowers,

making a very desirable residence for himself

and family.

§EW1S DURETT was born in Keeseville,

Essex County, New York, February 3,

1834. His father, Anthony Durett, was

born in Canada, and when a small boy came to

reside in the State of New York. His grand-

father. Anthony Durett, was a native of France.

His mother, Margaret (Myres) Durett, was born

in the State of New York, of Scotch parents.

When only nine years of age, Mr. Lewis Durett

was deprived of his mother by death, and he

was obliged to come up without many of the

early advantages that some boys enjoy. His

father died in 1863. Early in iife he was put

to work at whatever he could, and learned the

business of gilding in a tool factory. In 1859

he removed to Port Huron, Michigan, and was

there for ten years. September 13, 1862, he

enlisted in the Union ranks, in Company F,

Twenty-seventh Michigan Infantry, and was

soon sent to the front. In Kentucky he was

engaged in several small battles before reaching

Vicksburg, which was captured while he was

there, on July 4, 1863. They then went to

Knoxville, Tennessee, and were in all the bat-

tles there until 1864. At the battle of Knox-

ville he received a gun-shot wound which caused

him to remain in the hospital three months.

After returning to his command he was detailed

on provost duty, and was there until July, 1864,

when he was sent to the quartermaster's depart-

ment and served there until July 26, 1S65, when
he was honorably discharged. When he came
home he sailed on the lakes four years,—one

year before the mast, and afterward as mate and

sailing master. During this time he was en-

gaged in the grain, iron ore and lumber trades.

In 1869 he removed to Nebraska and engaged

with his brother in the plastering business, and

while there he took a Government homestead

and purchased eighty acres besides, making 240

acres of land in York County, Nebraska. Since

then he has been engaged in buying and selling

stock. In 1884 he came to San Jacinto, bought

a lot and built a store, which he still owns. He
also bought twenty acres of laud where he now
resides, and has built a comfortable home. He
also has town lots in different places. April 10,

1852, he was married to Miss Angelina Bolio,

born May 10, 1836, in Canada. They had three

children: Harriet, born February 19, 1853;

Henry, born November 19, 1855, and William,

born May 6, 1858. Mrs. Durett died March

22, 1866, and in 1871 he was again married, to

Miss Sarah A. Gilbert, a native of Troy, Wal-

worth County, Wisconsin, daughter of William

H. Gilbert. She was born June 27, 1852. She

is a member of the Christian Church, of the

Ladies' Aid Society, and of the W. C. T. U.

While in Nebraska she was also a member of

the Ladies' Auxiliary Relief Corps. When the

first G. A. R. started in Nebraska, Mr. Durett

joined Anderson Post, No. 32, and is now a

member of J. A. Addison Post, No. 121, San

Jacinto. His principal business is the breeding
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and raising of blooded horses, both trotters and

all works. He owns a tine Clyde stock horse;

he is also the owner of Pope Leo, a Blackhawk

and Hamilton horse that has a record of 2:22,

and is from very fast stock. He has also

several very valuable brood mares and some

very promising growing colts. One of the very

desirable things about a horse is docility and

gentleness of temper, and Mr. Durett's horses

are remarkably gentle and well trained. He is

justly proud of his horses.

—£hm»^—
§ MENDELSON was born at Zagorow,

Province of Warsaw, Russian Poland,

° November, 1840. He was a descendant

of the old Castilian Hebrews, and his grand-

mother still spoke the Spanish language. While

at home he attended the public schools, learn-

ing Polish, Russian and German. He then

spent two years studying in Germany, and there

learned English, which he considers the most

difficult of all languages. His father was a

merchant, and the son's inclinations were turned

in the same direction. In 1857 he went to Lon-

don, England, and there entered the general

merchandise store of Moses & Son, where were

employed 2,000 clerks, remaining until 1860,

when he came to the United States, spending

one year near New York. He then went to

St. Louis in 1861, and President Lincoln then

calling for 60,000 ninety-day men to meet the

Southern insurgents, though foreign to the

country, Mr. Mendelson at once took up arms

for the land of his adoption, and enlisted May

8, 1861, in Company M of the Fourth Missouri

Regiment, United States Reserve, Colonel B.

Gratz Brown, under General Siegel, and was at

the taking of Camp Jackson, near St. Louis.

He was discharged in the city of St. Louis,

August, 1861, and then went to Kentucky, re-

maining until the capture of Memphis, when

he immediately went to that city and entered

into the business of general merchandise.

In 1863 he sold his interest and embarked

for California by the Isthmus of Panama, ar-

riving in San Francisco in October of the same

year. After a short business career, he accepted

a position as clerk, remaining until 1866, when

he went to Anaheim, Los Angeles Count}7
, and

there started a lumber business, which he con-

tinued about four years. Then going to Real

del Castillo, Lower California, he opened a

general merchandise store, selling out in 1886,

when he was elected by the people to the posi-

tion of Sindico, and as such immediately took

the position of Representante del Ministerio

(Prosecuting Attorney), holding the position

until July 1, 1888. In 1887 he received also

a position from the International Company, and

in July, 1888, became general agent of the said

company, and now holds a position under con-

tract as steamship freight agent for the same

company, both in San Diego and Ensenada,

and to make out all consular and custom-house

papers, and to pass steamers through the custom-

house.

In 1885 he was married to Miss Carmen

Lamadrid, of Spanish descent, though a native

of California. The family of Lamadrid still

resides in Lower California, where they have a

large stock ranch at Las Cruces. Mr. and Mrs.

Mendelson have two children, both living.

fHOMAS S. SEDGWICK, a member of

the American society of civil engineers,

to whose professional labor San Diego is

much indebted for her prominence as a railroad

terminus on the Pacific coast, was born in Zanes-

ville, Ohio, and is a descendant from a profes-

sional family, his father, grandfather and a great-

grandfather, as well as several others of their

family, having been noted clergymen and teach-

ers.

Colonel Sedgwick began his professional ex-

perience in 1852, and was engaged on several

railroads previous to the war of the Rebellion.

He enlisted in the One Hundred and Thirteenth

Ohio Infantry, and was made Adjutant, end
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afterward appointed Captain and detailed as

topographical engineer to the staff of the Army
of the Cumberland, where he served until

July, 1864, participating in the campaign from

Murfreesboro to Winchester, and was on duty

at the battle of Mission Ridge, and laid out and

superintended the construction of defensive

works at Chattanooga and Bridgeport, Tennes-

see, whence he was appointed Lieutenant-Colo-

nel of the One Hundred and Fourteenth Col-

ored Infantry, and participated (in command of

his regiment) in the capture of Richmond, Vir

ginia, April, 1865. He went with the Twen-

ty fifty Corps, General Godfrey Weitzel com-

manding, to Texas, in 1865, and served there

until May, 1867, commanding a part of the

Texas frontier for nearly one year.

In 1867 Colonel Sedgwick was connected

with the survey of the Kansas Pacific Rail-

road from near Fort Riley, Kansas, over the

Santa Fe trjdl, now known as the great Santa

Fe route, through Kansas, Colorado, New
Mexico and Northern Arizona and South-

ern California to San Bernardino and Los

Angeles, California, where he met General

W. S. Rosecrans, his former army commander,

with whose staff he had served in the Army
of the Cumberland. He had studied the ques-

tion of transcontinental railroads, and convinced

Colonel Sedgwick of the advantages of San Deigo

as the best available Pacl'c terminus. After

returning to the East, Colonel Sedgwick, iu

an able paper advocated the route via the Gila

river, and direct to San Diego, so strongly as

to displease the managers of the Kansas Pacific

plans, who were seeking Government aid to

construct their road to San Francisco. They

failed, and afterward two of their most promi-

nent men acknowledged that had they adopted

Colonel Sedgwick's plans, they would probably

have succeeded, and been able to reach San

Deigo within a few years. They afterward

combined with the Texas Pacific Company.

In 1868 Colonel Sedgwick became interested

with General Rosecrans in the road from San

Diego to Yuma; and in the absence of General

Rosecrans, as Minister to Mexico, he combined

with the Memphis & El Paso Railroad of Texas,

which was under the leadership of General Fre-

mont, who was seeking Government aid and

right of way across New Mexico and Arizona.

As a result of this combination the Memphis &
El Paso Company sent Colonel Sedgwick out to

California, in 1869, to make a survey and loca-

tion of the road from San Diego to Fort Yuma,
by the direct route, which was done, demon-
strating the practicability and feasibility of the

route. During the time occupied by this sur-

vey work, Colonel Sedgwick wrote many vigor-

ous articles for the San Diego Union, descrip-

tive of the route and the many advantages of

San Diego as preeminently the best Pacific

terminus for a southern transcontinental rail-

road. It attracted the attention of Eastern cap-

italists, who were instrumental in finally estab-

lishing a railroad terminus on the Bay of San
Diego.

Colonel Sedgwick ' retains the maps of his

surveys, and believes that the direct route to

Fort Yuma will yet be constructed, and although

at the age when most men are willing to lay

aside their life-work, he looks as if he could take

an active part in its accomplishment.

fRANKLIN PRENTICE NICHOLS, a

hotel- keeper of San Diego, is a native of

New Hampshire, and was educated at Kim-

ball Union Academy, New Hampshire, and

Amherst College, Massachusetts. He engaged

in teaching for a while, and then held the posi-

tion of County and City Superintendent of

Schools, also instructor in the State Normal

Institute. For the past twenty years he has

been engaged more or less in the hotel business.

He served in the war of the Rebellion in the

Seventh Michigan Cavalry, it being one of the

regiments known as the Michigan Brigade,

Army of the Potomac, commanded by General

Custer. Major Nichols is a son of Dr. Joseph

Nichols, who was a physician of some repute in
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New Hampshire, and who was both a pupil of

and a graduate in the school of Reuben Dimond

Musseg, M. D., LL. D.

Major Nichols married Miss Amelia Grant,

daughter of Rev. Jacob Grant, a graduate of

Madison University, New York. He came to

San Diego in 1885, where he has resided ever

Bince.

fOSEPH LeCYR was born in Aroostook

County, Maine, August 8, 1847. His

father, Vilas Le Cyr, was a native of the

same place. His grandfather, David Le Cyr,

came from France and settled in Maine. His

mother, Mary (Lisotte) Cyr, was also a'nativeof

Aroostook. His grandmother had twenty-two

children and was the mother of five pair of

twins, and sixteen of them have been married

and had families. She lived to be eighty-seven

years of age, and retained her eyesight unim-

paired. She was a very smart woman to the

close of her life. Mr. Le Cyr's parents had six-

children, of whom he was the second. When a

child he was seut to a French school in Maine,

and later he went to Houlton Academy. When

sixteen years of age he offered his services lo his

country in its great struggle for national life.

He enlisted in Company C, Sixteenth Volunteer

Infantry, Maine, and served to the close of the

war. He was in the victorious army of the Po-

tomac and participated in several of the hardest,

fought battles of the war, and was present when

General Lee surrendered. At the close of the

war he was discharged. He then took a course

at the Bryant & Stratton Business College, Mis-

souri. He then took a clerkship in a commission

house in St. Joseph, Missouri. After this he

went to Montana, where he engaged in mining.

In 1867 he came to White Pine, Eureka County,

Nevada, and settled there. He was a pioneer

there, and kept a livery stable and hauled ore

for six years. He then came to Inyo County,

California, where he continued his livery busi-

ness and teaming for fifteen years. He then

removed to Daggett, and while there was en-

gaged in teaming and blacksmithing, also held

the office of deputy sheriff. Then he sold out

and came to San Jacinto in 1886, where he pur-

chased 200 acres of land in and about the valley of

San Jacinto, on a tract of which he built a good

house and several barns, and planted a variety

of fruit trees, including orange trees, and is

farming on a large scale. He is sowing this

year 1,200 acres of wheat, barley and oats. He
has also four acres of vineyard, and everything

about the property has the appearance of busi-

ness and thrift. The trees are making a fine

growth. He is also raising some good blooded

horses of the Norfolk stock and English Shire,

and mules. He was married in 1877 to Miss

Emma Holland, born in Missouri May 2, 1861.

She was the daughter of Mr. David Holland, of

Manchester, England. They have two sons:

—

Joseph R., born in Daggett, California, January

21, 1885, and Ferdinand, born May 9, 1887, in

San Jacinto. Mr. Le Cyr is a member of the

G. A. R., J. A. Addis.m Post, No.' 121, San

Jacinto, and is an euergetic business man of good

ability.

tEUBEN L. WARDROBE, of San Jacinto,

was born in Canada, October 15, 1826, a

citizen of the United States by birth, inas-

much as his parents were natives and citizens

at the time. His father, Daniel D. Wardrobe,

was born in Massachusetts, and was in the war

with Mexico under General Scott. His mother,

whose maiden name was Ortha Moore, was a

native of New Hampshire. In their family

were five sons and one daughter. The subject

ot this sketch, the fourth in this family, learned

the trade of milling as he grew up and went to

Massachusetts, where he was for a time en-

gaged in the manu'acture of shoes, and after-

ward in farming. In 1849 he sailed from

Boston for California, on the ship Capital, and

after landing at San Francisco he went to Cal-

averas County, where he was engaged in mining
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for some time; he then removed to San Joaquin

County and engaged in farming until the win-

ter of 1884, when he came to San Jacinto; but

one year lie spent in Napa County. The town

of Lodi is upon a portion of his land and

the Union Pacific Railroad runs through it.

When Mr. Wardrobe came to San Jacinto there

were only two small stores in the placei He
bought 405 acres of land and improved and

built on it, and has since built a very comfort-

able home* where he now lives, on Center ave-

nue, one of the nicest and best streets in the

city. He has a farm of ninety acres on the

mesa. He is sowing 100 acres of wheat this

year. He was married in 1855 to Miss Eliza

beth Glenn, who was born in Missouri, and they

have had live children, all but one of whom are

living, and all born in San Joaquin County, viz.!

Adelbert, Albert, William and Ivin. He lost

his partner by death, and in 1875 was married

to Miss Mary Dixson, who was born in Rich-

land County, Ohio. Her father, Robert Dixson,

was a native of Pennsylvania, and her mother

of Ohio. The first fruit of this union was two

children, viz.: Myrtle N. and Wilson S., both

born in San Joaquin County. Mrs. Wardrobe

is one of the first members of the Methodist

Church in San Jacinto, and Mr. Wardrobe is of

the Missionary Baptist persuasion; They are

nice, generous people, and have the good will of

all who know them.

§ NEWTON MEAD owns and occupies a

model ranch about three miles west of the

* city of San Jacintoj which with its nicely

painted building and white fences presents to

the approaching visitor a beautiful picture. He
is engaged in raising horses, cattle and poultry,

and large quantities of grain. Mr. Mead was

born in Greenwich, Connecticut, March 13,

1858. His ancestors settled in Greenwich about

forty years after the Puritans landed at Plym-

outh Rock. His father, Solomon Mead, was

born there, and is still living, at the age

of eighty-eight, and spends his winters in his

son's California home where he greatly enjoys

the balmy air. Mr. Mead's mother, Elizabeth

(Dayton) Mead, was of Scotch descent. Mr.

Mead had two brothers and four sisters, all born

in Greenwich, and all graduates of Eastern

colleges.

fH.
WETMORE,jR.,anativeofGalesburg,

Illinois, was born September 16, 1867.

* His father, G. H. Wetmore, was born in

Ohio in 1832. Me came to California in 1849,

but returned to the East in 1852. He went to

Texas, where he became a horse-dealer and re-

mained two years, when he returned to Gales-

burg, Illinois, where he engaged in the real

estate business, and operated in Iowa, eastern

Nebraska and Dakota. In 1869 he moved his

family to Yankton, where he continued his real

estate business until 1874, when he removed to

Iowa, where he purchased a farm four and one-

half miles north of Adair. He lived here for

twelve years, when he moved into Adair, and in

1880 started the Bank of Adair, which business

he has continued ever since. In 1877 he came

to California and has made eleven trips across

the country. He is now in Adair. He has

made investments in San Diego and county and

has property in Iowa and Dakota. Mr. Wet-

more's grandfather, Horace Wetmore, was born

in Connecticut. His mother, Mary (Ellis) Wet-

more, was born in Indiana in 1833. She was

a daughter of Laban Ellis, a mill owner and

farmer in Knox County, Illinois, and was mar-

ried to Mr. Wetmore in 1855. They have had

four children, four of whom are still living.

Mr. G. H. Wetmore, Jr., was the youngest of

the family, and attended school at Swartmore

and at Drake University, Iowa. After leaving

school he remained with his father until he was

eighteen years of age, when he came West. In

1887 he came to San Diego and in 1889 was

married to Miss Parkison, daughter of Mr. M.

E. Parkison, now in the wind-mill business in



HISTORY OK SAN DIEGO COUNTY.

San Diego. She was born in Ohio, in 1869.

She is a member of the Central Methodist

Episcopal Church. Mr. Wetniore is engaged

in the drug business on National avenue, cor-

ner of Twenty-eighth street. He has a good

location and is doing a very satisfactory busi-

ness. Mr. Wetmore is a young man and has a

long future before him, and with his business

tact it will no doubt be a prosperous one. Not

many of the older of San Diego's business men
who consider themselves the princes and kings

of business in San Diego when at his age had

half so good a start in business as he has.

§C. FEISBIE, San Diego.—One bom of

New England parents and endowed with

° the thrift and perseverance of New En-

land people, is Mr. J. C. Frisbie, who was born

at Vernon, Oneida County, New York, Feb-

ruary 1, 1830. There were but two children, J. C.

being the younger and the only one surviving.

His father was a farmer, and in 1844 left Ver-

non and moved to Illinois, settling near Chicago.

The subject of this sketch began his education

at Vernon, and completed an academic course

which was finished at Chicago. After com-

pleting his education, he began mercantile busi-

ness in Chicago, and after a few years became a

member of the firm of Hibbard, Spencer & Co.,

in a general line of hardware, and remained

with them until 1876, when, on account of del-

icate health of himself and wife, he closed up

his business and started for California. He
was married in Chicago, in February, 1852, to

Miss Maria L. Earl, a native of New York.

After traveling quite extensively through

Colorado and much of California, he decided

that the vicinity of San Diego, all things con-

sidered, was the most desirable place to settle;

so he immediately purchased a tract of land on

the east side of the Sweetwater river, four

miles from the bay at National City, and nine

miles from San Diego, a ranch of 246 acres,

which owing to situation and exposure he

named Sunnyside. He commenced immediately

to improve the land, which was then, with the

exception of a few acres, absolutely unbroken

soil, and to the superficial observer might have

been deemed unpromising as far as cultivation

was concerned. The beauty of location, how-

ever, commanding one of the finest views to be

wished for, attracted him, as also the pure and

mild air, freedom from cold winds, and an

abundant and easily obtained supply of pure

sweet water. Work was begun, and the entire

tract was enclosed with fence, aud divided into

fields for the better protection of crops and

fruit. Fruit trees were planted and other im-

provements made. Oranges, lemons and grapes

were the principal fruits planted, and with these

he has been particularly successful. The raisins

made from his vineyard are equal to any made

in this or any other country. After the Sweet-

water dam was built the place and orchard were

piped and connection made therewith, from

which the water supply is most abundant.

Though citrus culture was not so well under-

stood then as now, yet he believed that southern

California, and a portion of San Diego County

in particular, was adapted to it. The abundance

of choice fruit now being produced by his or-

chard, and others in his vicinity, fully proves

the correctness of his judgment, and Sunny

side can be referred to as a typical San Diego

bay region place. The residence, which is sit-

uated on an elevation nearly in the center of

the tract, is surrounded by ornamental trees

and shrubbery in great variety. Of the many
beautiful and valuable locations in San Diego

County, none give more satisfactory evidence of

what can be accomplished in the development

of the resources of its soil and climate than

Sunnyside; and Mr. Frisbie may justly feel

proud of his success, coming as he did from a

mercantile life with no previous experience of

farming or fruit growing.

He lived on his ranch until 1881, when he

moved to town, remodeled his house at the cor-

ner of Tenth and F streets, where he and his

wife now reside. He has always taken an active
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interest in the agricultural and horticultural re-

sources of this county and is always ready to

assist in its development.

fAPTAIN RUFUS K. PORTER, now.

seventy-one years old, came to California

in 1849, and forty years of his very busy

life have been spent on this coast. The Captain

is of English descent. His grandfather, Tyler

Porter, was born in the State of Maine, and

was a farmer and a soldier in the Revolution.

His son, Rufus Porter, was horn in Maine, and

lived until he was ninety-three years of age.

He was a soldier in the war of 18 L2 and received

a pension from the Government. He was mar-

ried to Miss Eunice Twombley, a daughter of

William Twombley, a native of M line, who had

nine children, the subject of this sketch being

the third, and but four of which still survive.

The subject of this sketch attended school

until he was thirteen years of age, when he went

to Connecticut and learned the clock-maker's

trade. He was in the Jerome clock factory four

years, when he went through the Southern

States peddling clocks, and stopped in Texas for

a year, where he taught school and was deputy

sheriff. He was in Austin, Texas, when it was

started. From there he went to Louisiana,

where he taught school for live years. He then

traveled through the Western States and went

back to Boston, where he was baggage-master

for a while and afterward a conductor on the

railroad, but being injured by an accident he

was laid up for three months at Worcester,

Massachusetts. In 1849 he went all the way

from Boston across the plains to Sacramento,

California, where he engaged in mining. He
was clerk in the San Francisco postoffice for

seven years. He then went to Lower Califor-

nia, where he was engaged in the merchandise

trade and mining. He received authority from

the Mexican Government to take the salt, of

which there was a large field there at that time,

and ship it to San Francisco. He then went on

horseback across the country, thirty days' jour-

ney, and stopped at San Pedro, where he was

store and hotel keeper. From there he went to

San Diego and settled on Government land at

Spring Valley and engaged in farming and

stock-raising, and supplied the market of San

Diego with butter, eggs, chesse and milk. He
was married December 24, 1852, to Mrs. Sophia

Moody, daughter of Edward Welch, a native of

Maine. Mrs. Moody had a daughter, Marietta

Moody, born April 5, 1848, who married Cap-

tain I. A. Gregory, of Marblehead, Massachu-

setts, and now resides with her family at North

Chollas. Mr. and Mrs. Porter have one daugh-

ter, Rufina A. She is the wife of Mr. Chas. S.

Crosby, and was born in San Francisco, Novem-

ber 23, 1854.

The Captain has been Spanish court inter-

preter for many years; he has also been a school

trustee and overseer of highways, and has been

a stanch Republican since the organization of

the party. He has long been a correspondent

for one of the leading San Francisco papers.

He is in good health and a lively old gentleman.

His wife also enjoys good health; They came

to their present ranch in July, 1886, and have

a very pleasant home, and devote considerable

attention to raising fine fowls, of which they

have different varieties.

—#?-«5D^^-

fAMES RUSSELL, was born in the city of

New York, July 7, 1853, and in the year

1858 he crossed the ocean, together with

his parents, to make his home in the Golden

West, arriving in San Francisco in the fall of

the same year. From there he moved to Stock-

ton, where he received his education, principally

in the common schools. His father being in

the wholesale and retail hat business, he was

employed first as clerk, and afterward, during

the sickness of his father, together with an old-

er brother, took control of the business, and

assisted his father, on his recovery, to run the

business. During this time his mother also be-
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came an invalid, and he took care of her until

she came south to San Diego for her health.

Mr. Rnesell and his father moved from Stock-

ton to San Francieco, where he continued as

clerk in the hat store of his father. During

his life in Stockton he was known as a great

fireman, never missing a fire for several years,

being a member of the volunteer hose com-

pany, Eureka No. 2, and a very earnest and

daring worker, always taking great interest in

all tournaments given by the tire department.

In San Francisco he continued to clerk for his

father until 1870, when he was called to San

Diego to take charge of a grocery business, for-

merly owned by his older brother, and also to

look after his invalid mother, arriving here

April 1, 1870, at which time quite an excite-

ment was prevailing over the building of the

" Tom " Scott railroad or Texas Pacific. The

city was then in its infancy, most of the general,

and all of the legal, business being doue at Old

San Diego, three miles north of Horton's ad-

dition. He then took charge of the grocery

business, until times became so quiet that he

gave it up, and turned his attention to the care

of his invalid mother. In 1874 Mr. Russell

went into the city marshal's office under Cap-

tain A. P. Knowles, then city marshal of San

Diego, and there commenced his official and

political career. He served as deputy during

the marshal's term, and wasalso appointed Con-

stable by the supervisors of San Diego County.

At the expiration of said term he was elected

Constable, and appointed city executive officer,

also served as deputy sheriff and deputy

United States Marshal. He is an ardent and

ttraight Republican, and a great worker in

politics, and is one of the most successful, if not

the most, of officers in Southern California,

never missing his man, no matter where he is

located, a terror to evil doers generally, and is

acknowledged as one of the best civil and crim-

inal officers in San Diego County. During his

experience in the different official capacities that

he has filled, he established what is known as

Russell's Detective and Patrol service, which

has been of a great deal of benefit to the citi-

zens and business men. He has taken charge

of nearly all of the criminal cases that have

transpired in the county dnring his service as

an officer, and more particularly the murder

cases, making a reputation as a detective. I I

Dnring the boom times, he, like others, made

quite a little money speculating. Dnring this

period he was always known as a very charitable

person, giving whenever called upon, always

taking "an interest' in all public undertakings,

and always, whether at home or abroad, was a

great upholder of San Diego and its future; he

is well known to all officials throughout his

State, and has a large correspondence from

officials all over the United States.

Mr. Russell was married December 22, 1880,

to Miss Ida May Bosserman. a young lady of

San Diego County, who has been of great assist-

ance to him in his detective business, being

very observing and shrewd, taking charge of his

business matters many times when he was ab-

sent, working up cases and running down crimi-

nals. They have one girl, Charlotte May Rue-

sell, more familiarly known as " Lottie," a

bright girl of seven years, known to almost

every one in the city.

Mr. Russell was nominated by the Republican

party of the county of San Diego for Sheriff in

the fall of 1888, and made one of the most

gallant fights for his party, spending a great

deal of money; and made stump speeches thirty-

two times in different sections of his county,

for the whole ticket from Harrison and Morton

down to the last officer on the ticket,—some-

thing which had not occurred for fifteen years

previous, and brought against him the enemies

he had made in his fourteen years' official ex-

perience,—the "mugwump" element and the

jealous office-seekers who did not wish him to

succeed. The fight was a bitter one, all con

centrated to beat him, which was consummated

by fraud. The whole of the Republican ticket

was elected except hiin, who was beaten by a

small majority. Becoming satisfied that he was

beaten by fraud, he contested the election of his
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adversary, which has shown that there were

several hundred illegal votes cast. After sev-

eral weeks of continuous trial in court, and sever-

al months of hard work on the case, it was

finally brought to its last issue in the Supreme

Court of the State of California. He has made

many friends, both in and out of his party, and

is known as a straight Republican without

question. He has been prominently mentioned

as the next United States Marshal for the

Southern District of California; and if the party

wishes to remember one of its ablest workers

it will certainly give him the appointment. In

the meantime he is managing his detective and

patrol service, and also acting as deputy United

States marshal; and any one needing his assist-

ance will find him a thorough gentleman and a

No. 1 officer.

—~*e«:,, t
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§G. BUTLER.—Two and one-half miles

west of San Jacinto on that beautiful
9

tract of mesa land, is situated the very

nicely managed fruit ranch and nursery of L
#

G. Butler. It has the same grand scenery as

other places near it, and it has a very artistic

new dwelling-house and a very neat new barn.

The property has a fine growth of young trees

and shrubs on it, and as soon as the improve-

ment in trees and hedges take shape it will be

the equal of any place to be found in any coun-

ty. Fifty acres are already planted to vines,

orchard and nursery. The trees are just old

enough to begin bearing the coming season.

He has 2,000 Bartlett pear trees, 1,600 French

prunes, 500 apricot, plum, peach and apple

trees and 300 olive trees. The walk in front

of the property, extending its whole length, has

a double row of olive trees. He is sowing 300

acres of wheat, oats and barley this year. Mr.

Butler was born in Wisconsin, February 28,

1851. His parents were George and Eliza

(Schoolcraft) Butler. They had four children

the subject of this sketch being the third child.

He was raised on a farm and attended the pub-

lic schools in Illinois until he was eighteen

years of age. He then spent two years in Iowa

and then removed to Nebraska, where he owned

a farm, and he engaged in farming until Octo-

ber, 1873, when he sold it and came to Califor-

nia. He settled at Orange, where he engaged in

the fruit and nursery business. He sold this

business and removed to the coast where he en-

gaged in the stock business, raising cattle and

horses. In 1885 he sold out and came to Sar.

Jacinto and purchased his present place. In

1872 he was married to Miss Martha E. Selby,

daughter of George Selby, a native of Ohio,

born in 1856. They have one boy, Chester G.,

born March 14, 1881, in Orange, California.

Mr. Butler does nearly all the work on his

place himself. He is very industrious and a

good farmer. He is well informed on the fruit

tree business, and his trees fchow it, and are fine,

without a drop of irrigation. Some people who
say choice fruit cannot be raised in Southern

California should see this and many other sim-

ilar ranches. Such men as Mr. Butler, the

practical men who show what can be done, are

of great value in any community, and there is

room for many more.

-* '—^^HP^r*^ 4 ; *•

tUGUST KRAMER, a native of Prussia,

was born at Casline, Province of Pomer
ania, August 30, 1830, being the young-

est in a family of four children. He remained

at home until he was eighteen years of age,

securing a common-school education and learn-

ing the trade of tailor, which he continued in

his own country until 1856, when his attention

was turned toward America, and he took pas-

sage at Bremen by a sailing vessel for Balti-

more, and after a pleasant voyage of six weeks

he arrived at Baltimore in July, 1856. He
then went to Cincinnati, remaining five months,

and then to St. Paul, Minnesota, where he

opened a tailor shop and remained three years,

then selling out and coming to California in

1860.
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He joined a company of about sixteen wagons

and came across the plains by Council Bluff-,

Omaha, up the north side of the Platte river,

by Landers' Cut-off, north of Salt Lake, to the

Dalles in Oregon, then to Portland and Van-

couver's Island, and arrived in San Francisco in

1861, where he remained eight years in the

tailor shop of a Mr. Tobin. In 1869 he came

to San Francisco, bringing about $2,000 worth

of clothing, and renting one of the three stores,

then built in town on Fifth street, between Gr

and H, and at once started a tailor shop; later

he moved to Higgins' block and opened a store,

remaining about three years; he then bought a

lot on the Plaza and there put up a two-story

building for store room and living conveniences.

In 1872 he rented a store and moved to Los

Angeles, remaining about one and one-half

years, and then moved to S.ilem, Oregon, and

remained two and a half years. He then went

to Bodie, but finding the weather too cold he

returned to San Diego, in 1876, and opened a

tailor shop and a store of gents' furnishing

goods in his own building on the Plaza, which

he continued until May, 1888. He speculated

a little during the boom of 1888, but his success

was mainly due to strict attention to business,

and is now enjoying the fruits of his labor.

Mr. Kramer was married in San Francisco,

in March, 1864, to Miss Kempe Jacobini, a

lady of Swiss descent. His wife died in 1867,

leaving no children.

§J. STICE, of San Diego County, was born

in Scotland County, Missouri, on the

• 10th day of February, 1849. His father

was a native of Kentucky, and his mother a

native of Missouri. There were twelve chil-

dren, six of whom are now living. The subject

of this sketch was the eleventh child in order of

birth. He came to California with his father,

mother and family, in 1857. There were about

100 wagons, and his brother Bluford, having

crossed before, was captain of the company.

Mr. Stice and family came direct to Napa val-

ley, arriving in October, and bought the "Old

Mill" farm of 300 acres, where he remained

until 1860, when he sold out and went to Solano

County, where he bought a farm of 160 acres.

He followed farming until 1868, when he sold

out and went to San Jacinto, where he began

stock-farming, first buying one-twentieth of the

Sau Jacinto ranch, which consisted of 35,000

acres, and was owned by the Estudillo heirs.

He bought 1,776 acres at $2.33 per acre, then

stocked it; but, dry seasons following one an-

other, he made little progress in cattle-raising.

In 1874 he drove his stock to San Jacinto and

sold them. He then bought a farm of 130

acres and farmed for twp years, when he sold

the farm and moved to the Sacramento river,

on what was called Andrus Island, an island

about five by ten miles, but lying below the

river and surrounded by dykes. Beets and

other vegetables were the main products of the

island. He was there about six months, when

a freshet came, the dyke broke, and house and

everything was carried away, only a little furni-

ture being recovered. He then returned to

Napa County, and exchanged the San Jacinto

ranch for a small farm in Napa valley.

Mr. A. J. Stice had been with his father all

these years, but in 1876 he left the home circle

and came to San Jacinto, where he rented and

farmed General Bowden's ranch for about three

years. He then went to Los Angeles and rented

the Agricultural Park, running it about six

months, when he moved to Calico, San Bernar-

dino County, where he ran a saloon. He also

sold water in the town of Calico, [hauling it

about two and one-half miles, and selling it for

at first 5 cents, then 3 cents per gallon, there

being no water at Calico at that time. He re-

mained at Calico until 1882, when he sold out

and came to the city of San Bernardino, and

under the firm name of Stice & Phelps, bought

and managed a livery stable and business, re-

maining one year, when he sold out and re-

turned to San Jacinto, and built the first livery

stable at that place, which he ran for two years,
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then selling. Buying a planing mill at San

Jacinto, he managed it for about eighteen

months, selling in February, 1889, and retiring

from active business. While at San Bernardino

he made seven trips to the Bear valley, dri/ing

a team of fourteen mules, hauling cement for

the Bear valley dam.

He was married at San Jacinto in July, 1886,

to Miss Adalidie Thomas, who was born in Los

Angeles, of American and Spanish parents.

The union has been blessed with one child, who
is still living.

Mi*. Stice was elected Constable in San Diego

County in 1872, for two years, but resigned

when he moved from the county. In Novem-
ber, 1886, he was elected Supervisor of the

Fifth District for a term of four years. He is

a director of the Agricultural District, No. 22,

appointed by the Governor, and in company

with the eight other members originated and

successfully carried through the first agricult-

ural fair ever held in the county. It was held

at Escondido, commencing October 1, 1889, and

continuing five days. It was founded on a State

subscription of $4,000, $2,000 of which could

be applied in 1889, and the remaining $2,000

in 1890, the subscription to be applied in

securing ground and erecting suitable build-

ings. The fair was successfully carried through,

with a small surplus in the hands of the

treasurer.

—#^€@:©%^-
fAMUEL WH1TMORE, rancher, San Diego

County, is a native of the State of New
York, and was born July 23, 1836. His

father, Oliver B. Whitman, was born in New
Jersey, and was of Holland Dutch parentage.

He was married to Miss Mary Aldrich, daughter

of Charles Aldrich, of Vermont, and also of

Holland Dutch parentage. She was born in

Vermont in 1808, and had four children, of

whom the subject of this sketch was the second.

He was raised in New York, where he worked

on the farm in summer and went to school in

the winter until he was eighteen years of age,

when he learned the harness-maker's trade, at

which he worked for two and a half years, but

quit on account of failing health. In 1856 he

removed to Belvidere, Boone County, Illinois,

where^he engaged in farming, and attended school

two winters. In 1860, with a company of

twenty-one, he came across the plains to Cali-

fornia. He lauded in the north part of the

State and engaged in school teaching, mining

and farming. In 1869 he came to San Diego,

overland, through the center of the State, with

a team, and settled at the head of the bay.

Here he traded part of his team for a Govern-

ment claim, on which he staid two years, and

in 1873 bought two acres of land in Chollas

Valley. He assisted in planting the trees on the

ranch called the '• Nest," and has improved the

ranch on which he now resides. It is planted

to all kinds of fruit and has ripe fruit of some

kind every day of the year. He was married in

1883 to Miss Ella Philips, who was born July

30, 1851. Her father, Wesley Philips, was

born in New Jersey, September 28, 1803, and

raised in Pennsylvania. Mrs. Whitmore's grand-

father was a local Methodist minister, and the

whole family were Methodists from the com-

mencement of Methodism. Her mother was

Margaret R. Connell, daughter of Zachariah

Connell, the founder of Connellsville, Pennsyl-

vania, and was born August 18, 1808. Her

father provided supplies for the soldiers of the

Revolution. He was born in 1737 and died

August 26, 1813. Mrs. Whitmore's family

moved to Illinois, and four of her brothers were

in the Union army. Her brother, Robinson

Philips, died of camp sickness, June 5, 1861,

before he was sent to the front; Joseph Henry

Philips was a musician in the Second Iowa

regiment and was killed at the battle of Fort

Donelson. Fielding D. Philips was a member

of Company F, One Hundred and Thirtieth

Illinois. He was wounded and taken prisoner

in the expedition at Red River, was paroled,

returned home and died from his wounds. John

H. Philips served all through the war in Com-
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pany D, Twenty-second Illinois, and was slightly

wounded. He died October 25, 1876. Joseph

Henry Philip's body was found on the batile

field by his comrades and buried beside an oak,

on a smooth place of which they cut his name.

Years afterward when the tree was cut a chip

came off on the reverse side of which were found

his initials. The new wood had grown into the

carved letters aud thus his remains were identi-

fied. Mrs. Whitmore now has the piece of tree

and it was shown the writer. It is almost need-

less to say that Mr. and Mrs. Whitmore were

both trusty and efficient members of the First

Methodist Episcopal Church of San Diego, and

workers in the Sunday-school. She is its or-

ganist and he its librarian. He is the superin-

tendent of the Mount Hope Cemetery, which

office he has held three years. Mrs. Whitmore

is president of the W. C. T. U. of San Diego

County.

—^«!©1^
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fAMES KERR.—At the front, among the

most prominent business men of San

Jacinto, and those who have been most

active in the promotion of its growth, stands the

name of James Kerr. He was born in Millers

burg, Holmes County, Ohio, October 13, 1849.

His father, James Kerr, was born in Virginia,

February 7, 1800. His grandfather, James

Kerr, was also born in Virginia and was a sol-

dier in the Revolution and in the war of 1812.

His mother, Alice (Elliot) Kerr, was born in

Holmes County, Ohio, January 20, 1812, and

was married to James Kerr in 1830. The fruit

of this union was nine children, seven of whom
are still living. Mr. Kerr was the youngest but

one. In 1852 his father moved to the Platte

Purchase, Missouri, and there, when a lad, at-

tended school. In April, 1867, when he was

eighteen years of age, he was married to Mis6

Clarissa Cockerel. She was born in Kentucky,

October 20, 1851. Her father, Mr. James

Cockerel, was a tobacco planter of that country.

Their union liar been blessed with four children, I

two boys and two girls; the two first born in

Missouri: William A., February 24, 1867;

Georgia A., May 10, 1868; and the others born

in Osage County, Kansas: Charles, May 24,

1871, and Alice Lucinda, April 15, 1872. In

1864, when fifteen years of age, Mr. Kerr at-

tached himself to the Sixteenth Illinois Regi-

ment as Captain's boy, and afterward did secret

service for the army; and when President Lin-

coln made his last call for volunteers he enlisted,

but the day before they were to be mustered in

General Lee surrendered and he was thus de-

barred from being a member of the Grand

Array of the Republic, which he very much re-

grets, as he considers it a high honor. He has

been a farmer most of the time in Kansas. In

1876 he came to California and settled at Comp-

ton, Los Angeles County, and was appointed

deputy-sheriff in 1877, and served in that

capacity for two years, and during the same

time carried on a stock ranch. In 1878 he

bought land and eugaged in the real-estate

business. In 1882 he sold out and moved into

Los Angeles. While there he aided in form-

ing the San Jacinto Land Association, of which

he became a member and stockholder. They

purchased 17,500 acres of the San Jacinto

Viego ranch of the Estudillos and others. Mr.

Compton and Mr. Kerr became the agents for

the sale of this land, and in 1885 he moved

with his family to San Jacinto and bought 160

acres for a home ranch and built a brick resi-

dence, and his sons are raising stock and grain

on the ranch. Through Mr. Kerr's agency the

whole of the Land Association's property was

sold at remunerative prices and the whole trans-

action proved a success. He assisted in organ-

izing the Los Angeles National Bank and was

one of its stockholders. He helped to organize

the San Jacinto Land & Water Company, which

was also a success. The system is artesian sup-

ply. The next enterprise which he helped

organize was the Fairview Land & Water Com-
pany, in connection with Mr. Compton, Mr.

Howes and others. It comprises 2,900 acres of

land, is furnished with twenty-one miles of iron
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pipe, through which water is conveyed from the

San Jacinto river. On the tract is also the town

of Florida, where the water is under 238 feet

pressure. Mr. Kerr continues his interest in this

enterprise. He has also been interested in the

organization of the city of San Jacinto and was

elected one of its first board of trustees, receiv-

ing 155 votes out of 157 cast, and was elected

president of the city board of trustees. He is

also one of the commissioners to locate the site

for the Insane Asylum. He has helped to or-

ganize the State Bank of San Jacinto, of which

he is vice-president and stockholder. He
has helped organize the San Jacinto Lime and

Lumber Company, and is its vice-president.

They are manufacturing lime from one twin

draw kiln. It was put in operation one year

ago last September and has run day and night

ever since, averaging 100 barrels of lime each

day, for which they find a ready sale. He also

took a lively interest in getting the railroad to

San Jacinto and assisted in raising the subsidy

of $55,000 and the right of way for the road.

He rightly enjoys the good-will and confidence

of his fellow townsmen, and there is to all ap-

pearances a vast amount of practical business

left in him yet.

.**.

tLEXANDER EDWARDS, one of San

Jacinto's most honorable citizens, was burn

in Jefferson County, Indiana, February 19,

1828. His father, Elijah Edwards, was a native

of Kentucky, but removed to Indiana and raised

his family there. His ancestors were originally

from North Carolina. His mother, Charlotte

(Davidson) Edwards, was a native of Pennsyl-

vania. Her father, James Davidson, was from

Scotland, educated in Edinburg. Mr. Edwards'

parents had six children, but three of whom
survive, Mr. Edwards being the oldest. He
was educated at Greensburg, Indiana. When
eighteen years of age the Mexican war broke

out and he enlisted, in 1846, in Company G,

Mounted Rifles, and later enlisted in Fifth Indi-

ana, Company K. His company was in all

the battles from the siege of Vera Crnz to the

taking of the city of Mexico. After the war

with Mexico he became a fence contractor and

carpenter on the railroad for fourteen years.

When the old flag was tired on at Fort Sumter

his patriotic blood was up, and he enlisted at

President Lincoln's first^ call for 75,000 three-

months men, in Company B, Seventh Indiana

Infantry. At the end of three months' service

he re-enlisted, in the Fifty-second Indiana Rail-

road Regiment, and served three years and six

months. Five days after leaving Camp Morton,

Indianapolis, they invested Fort Donelson, and

this regiment had the honor of taking the first

three lines of works. He was at the taking of

Corinth; from there under General McPherson,

they were sent to repair the Memphis & Charles-

ton Railroad. They worked on it two months
and put it in running order. Then they took

and held Fort Pillow for a year. They then

went with General Sherman back to Yicksburg

to destroy the railroad. They knocked the

flanges from the wheels of the locomotives with

sledges, put powder in their fire boxes and ex-

ploded them. Then the ties were heated in the

middle and bent around the telegraph poles.

From there they went to Memphis. Then they

fought the battle of Tupelo with Forrest. They
were then sent to Missouri to run Price out of

that State. They marched 700 miles until they

returned to St. Louis. They wTent on transports

to Nashville and fought there. They then went

to Mobile, where they got the news of Lee's

surrender. In front of Corinth Mr. Edwards

was promoted as First Lieutenant and com-

manded his company for two years. He was

detailed to command Company F at the battle

of Tupelo. When mustered out of the service

he went back to railroading again. In 1871 he

went to Kansas and was on the Santa Fe system

for three years. He bought and built in Kan-

sas, but the grasshoppers came up like a cloud,

settled down on the country and ate up every-

thing. He left the State in 1874 and came to

Pasadena. He bought twelve acres of land at
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Pasadena for $60 per acre, lived on it for eleven

years and sold it for $1,000 per acre. It after-

terward advanced to $3,000 per acre. He came

to San Jacinto in 1885, where be purchased

thirty acres at $45 per acre and sold it, for $200

per acre. He also invested in Florida lands.

He has a very attractive home in San Jacinto.

The house is of brick %nd is a little model of

beauty. The grounds consist of seven acres, on

which there is a good artesian well of excellent

water, a good barn and other improvements.

One of the great attractions of the place are the

large trees of natural growth that have been

saved in their primeval state on the property.

In 1839 Mr. Edwards was married to Miss Eliza-

beth Weingarth, "who was born in Bavaria in

1841, and came to the United States in 1852.

He was made a Mason in 1868, and is a mem-
ber of the G. A. K., J. A. Addison Post, No. 121,

San Jacinto. J>i politics he has always been a

Republican.

fHE HIGH BROTHERS.—Messrs. Will-

iam E. Higli and John E. High were

sons of John High, a native of Chester

County, near Phenixville, Pennsylvania, who
was born in 1795 and was a land-owner and

farmer. Their grandfather, Jacob High, was a

resident of Chester County, and removed to

Cumberland County, where he remained until

his death. Their forefathers came from Ger-

many to America before the Revolution; their

name was Hoch, German for high. Their

mother, Christina Ehst, was born in Berks

County, Pennsylvania, in 1800, a daughter of

Samuel Ehst, who was a fanner and lived until

his death in that county. Their parents were

married in 1820, and had a family of eleven

children. William E. was the fifth, and John
E. the seventh. They came to California to-

gether, and so have remained since, being iden-

tical in all their business relations, so that when
one is mentioned it is almost equivalent to

speaking of both. Their parents, in their re-

ligious views, were Mennonites,a sort of Quaker-

like branch of the church; and although they

do not belong to any church here, they are be-

lievers in Chri6t and in the Scriptures. The

ranch on which they live consists of ten acres

in Chollas valley, not far from the end of the H
street railway of Sun Diego. This ranch is de-

voted to almost every kiud of fruit, while their

market is at their very door. They have many
bearing orange trees of several varieties, in-

cluding Washington and Australian Navels,

also lemons, limes, olives, guavas, loquats,

peaches, pears, apples, apricots, strawberries,

raspberries, blackberries, etc. From 100 feet

6quare of blackberry bushes they raised in one

year 2,500 baskets, which sold for $410. The

next year they sold from the same ground $385

worth.

William E. High was born in Berks County,

Pennsylvania, on the 1st day of January, 1830.

He remained on his father's farm until he was

twenty years old, attending the district schools

as opportunity afforded. Then he went to

Chester County and lived with an uncle for

two years. At the end of that time he returned

to the old farm. In June following, which was

1852, his father died, the place was sold, and

he hired out to work on a farm in the same

county. He remained there for three years,

and during that time taught the district school

for one season. Afterward he went to Bucks

County, and during 1856-'57 ran a saw-mill.

The latter part of 1857, however, saw him back

again in Berks County, ,/here he stayed until

the following spring. These subsequent changes

in business had tended to unsettle him some-

what, and he decided to seek a new country.

He had heard much of California and the for-

tunes that had been acquired in that distant

land. Thither he determined to journey. After

two weeks spent in New York city, he set sail

on the Star of the West for Cuba, and from

there took passage on the New Granada for

Aspinwall. Crossing the Isthmus, he took the

John L. Stephens at Panama, and after an un-

eventful voyage he arrived at San Francisco the
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15th of May, 1858. The same day lie left fur

Sacramento, and from there went through Placer

and El Dorado counties. At Diamond Spring,

in the latter county, he worked in a saw-mill

for six months. Then he went to Nevada

County, where he engaged in mining, following

that business with varying degrees of success

for nearly ten years. During this time he was

located at Moore's Flat, Washington, and at

North San Juan.

Early in 1868 he visited San Francisco, and

while there made up his mind to come to the

southern part of the State. He accordingly

went back to Nevada County, settled up his

business, and in the following spring started

for San Diego, arriving here on the 2d of March.

Being well pleased with the outlook, he decided

to remain. He located 160 acres of land eighteen

miles southeast of the city, but sold it in six

months' time, and settled on another piece of

175 acres adjoining the National Ranch grant,

ten miles from San Diego. He cultivated a

small portion of this in -fruit, and remained on

it four years, during which time he acquired a

title, after some difficulty experienced, some

parties claiming it as a Mexican grant. About

the 1st of January, 1874, he moved to Chollas

valley, two and one-half miles from San Diego,

where he purchased five acres of land, and there

he and his brother engaged in raising fruit of

different varieties. They experimented with

various kinds until they found what was most

suitable to the soil and climate, and these varie-

ties they adhered to. The result was that they

soon acquired the reputation of raising the finest

fruit to be found in this section, and the prod-

uct of their orchard commanded the highest

price.

Mr. High still remains on this famous place,

and, with his brother, still cultivates it. In

April, 1876, he went East to attend the Cen-

tennial, and while absent was married to Susan

Bechtel. He returned in October with his

bride. Two and one-half years later she died.

For the last eight years Mr. High has been a

member of the Cemetery Commission of San

Diego; he was the first president of the San

Diego County Horticultural Society, and is now
its vice-president. He was one of the directors

and vice-president for two years of the Consoli-

dated National Bank, and was a stockholder in

the old San Diego Bank before the consolida-

tion. He is interested in the San Diego &
Cuyamaca Railroad, now in the course of con-

struction. Four years ago he bought 2,000

acres of land in the Cnyamaca grant, and he

and his brother now own 3,000 acres there,

which is used for grazing purposes, and they

have over 200 head of cattle on it. Mr. High
and his brother are equally interested in all

their enterprises, and together they own con-

siderable city and outside property. The 6ite

of Otay was sold by his brother to the present

owners. Together they contributed 160 acres

of tine land as a bonus to the California South-

ern to induce them to build their road here.

Mr. High has contributed liberally to all public

movements, and although of a retiring disposi-

tion he is in reality one of San Diego's most

progressive and substantial citizens. It is to

the earnest and well-timed efforts of men like

William E. High that the present prosperous

condition of this thriving city is largely due.

#?<€»%¥

fOHN H. CRESMER, proprietor of wagon

and carriage shop, San Jacinto, was born in

Hartford County, Maryland, November 15,

1860. His father, John G. Cresmer, with his

mother, came to the United States from Ger-

many in 1853. They had a family of eleven

children, two of whom are dead. The subject

of this sketch was the eighth child, and was

educated in Baltimore, Maryland, in both Ger-

man and English. He made a business of

canning fruit for some time, both in Maryland

and afterward in De Witt County, Illinois. He
also canned large quantities of sweet corn. In

1886 he came to San Jacinto, where he worked

in the planing-mill, making doors and windows,

and during the rapid building of the place made
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all the doors and windows in town and

vicinity. He now lias a carriage and wagon

shop, where he manufactures and repairs. He
was married in 1882 to Miss Lena Gerhardt,

also a native of Maryland, born in Baltimore,

at which place her father was a manufacturer

of and dealer in shoes. They have four chil-

dren, viz.: Walter H., L. Ernestine, Nellie V.

and Elizabeth Ruth. His father died Septem-

ber, 1876, aged sixty, and his mother resides

with a son in Maryland. Mr. Cresmer is a

good, industrious citizen, one of the kind who
helps to make the country grow.

—&&&**

fRANCIS F. McORACKEN'S grandfather,

John McCracken, was a Scotchman, who
came to America in 1802. His son, Felix

McCracken, was born in Bourbon County, Ken-

tucky, in 1809. He was a land-owner, farmer

and 6tock-raiser. F. F. McCracken's mater-

nal grandfather, Mr. John Smalley, was a native

of Belgium, and came to America and settled

in Kentucky, where he was an extensive planter.

His daughter, Cyrene Smalley, was born in

Kentucky in 1818, and was married to Mr.

Felix McCracken in 1835. They had a family

of seven, but two of whom survive— Mr. F. F.

McCracken and his brother, William Felix

McCracken, who resides in Oblong, Illinois,

where he has a farm and is County Commis-
sioner. Mr. F. F. McCracken attended the

district schools and graduated in the Hartsville

University, Bartholomew County, Indiana. In

September, 1861, he enlisted in Company H,
Thirty-seventh Indiana Volunteer Infantry. At
the battle of Stone River he was wounded, and

afterward discharged for the consequent disabil-

ity. After leaving the army he engaged in

school-teaching for two hundred and four

months. Since then he has been a contractor

and builder.

He was married in 1865 to Miss Ellen E.

Chrisman, daughter of Elias B. Chrisman, born

at Westport, Indiana, in 1848. Their union

has been blessed with four children, all born in

Avena, Illinois: Elias H., born July 13, 1866;

Alma D., born November 27, 1867; Mary A.,

born July 18, 1871, and Willie E., born March

3, 1874. The latter son is now a member of

the San Diego Rifles. The oldest son learned

four trades: printing, cabinet-making, carpenter

and barber, and is now working in one of the

most popular shops in San Diego. He has

been an Odd Fellow for the past twenty-three

years, and is a scarlet-degree member. He has

purchased property and made a good home in

San Diego, and also owns property on Coron-

ado Beach. He has the contract and is just

completing the large new Armory Hall for the

San Diego Rifles. Mr. McCracken was born in

Indiana, July 29, 1843, and has still, apparent-

ly, a long life before him, and the county in

which he lives ma3T depend on finding him on

the side of right, in favor of our public schools.

and a stout fighter against bond institutions and

monopoly, for which he has suffered so much.

—&*&&*-&—
fWEN M. McDERMOTT, the pioneer

blacksmith of San Jacinto, was born in

County Monaghan, Ireland, November 9<

1844. His father, Michael McDermott, and

his mother, Ann (Halpin) McDermott, were

both natives of Ireland. When eighteen years

of age young McDermott left his green island

home and came to the United States. He settled

in New York city, at which place and in New
Jersey he learned his trade, which he has fol-

lowed nearly all his life, with the exception of

a few years spent in Nevada and Arizona, pros-

pecting and digging for gold and dealing in

mining stock. He opened his first shop on his

own account in Eureka, Nevada, and it was

there he became acquainted with and married

Miss Mary McAvoy, a native of Chicago. They

have five children, viz. : Eugene, Mary and

William, born in Eureka, August 10, 1879,

February 14, 1881, and October 8, 1882; Par-

nell, born in Arizona, March 17, 1884, and John
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E., born May 25, 1886. The family are mem-

bers of the Catholic Church.

Mr. McDermott opened his blacksmith shop

in San Jacinto May 14, 1885. It is located on

Hewitt street, just opposite the old adobe build-

ing. Mr. McDermott's knowledge of the busi-

ness brings him more work than he can do, and

his business extends out for fifteen miles around.

He owns twenty lots in the city, has two arte-

sian wells and has built a honse. He became a

naturalized citizen of the United States about

twelve years ago, and has forever left his native

land.

fOHN H. QUINTON is a native of Buffalo,

New York, and was born June 26, 1847.

His father, John Quinton, was born in

Scotland in 1810, and came to New York in

1829. He was a pattern-maker by trade, but

sailed on the lakes as a sea captain for eighteen

years. He resided in Canada for some time,

and owned one of the farms on which the city

of Kingston now stands. Mr. J. H. Quinton's

mother, Bridget (Calahan) Quinton, was born

in 1810, and was married to Mr. John Quinton

in 1839 and had a family of five children, three

daughters and two sons. His brother George

enlisted in the Twenty-first New York Volun-

teers, was wounded in the second battle of Bull

Run by a ball which passed through the left

arm, and ai'ter a few months in the hospital was

again reported for duty. When the second

engagement at Fredricksburg was fought, an

artillery engagement, the company was guard-

ing the battery, when a stray shell passed, a,

small piece striking him in the neck, killing

him instantly, the only one killed in the com-

pany at that time, and the only engagement

they were in, as they were soon afterward mus-

tered out. His loss so grieved his father that

it hastened his death. The remainder of the

family are still living. Mr. Quinton was the

fourth child and received his education in Buf-

falo, New York. In 1863 he went to Canada

and drove a private mail for Hon. T. C. Street,

a member of the Canada Parliament. He re-

mained there two years, when he went to the

oil regions at Petroleum Center, where he stayed

some time and was very successful. He then

returned to Buffalo, where he engaged in black-

smithing, which business he continued until

1869. He also learned the engineering busi-

ness and went South; from there he went to

Maysville, Kentucky, where he became a black-

smith for the Maysville & Lexington Railroad

Company. He then went to Vicksburg, Miss-

issippi, and was an engineer on a wrecking-boat

engaged in raising machinery and boilers out

of boars sunk during the war. From there he

went to Memphis to escape the yellow fever,

and ran on a tri-weekly packet between Mem-
phis and Osceola. He opened a blacksmith shop

in Osceola, Arkansas, where he worked for two

years, when he came to the mouth of the Red
River, where he was detained two weeks on ac-

count of low water. The fare was $30 deck

passage from the mouth of the river to Shreve-

port, Louisiana; the boat was delayed at Alex-

andria, 210 miles away, on account of low

water, and there was no way to get through but

to go on foot, and thirty- two passengers went

through in this way, Mr. Quinton being one,

who made the trip in eight days. The Texas

Pacific Railroad was then running to Longview.

Mr. Quinton came to Mineola, Texas, and

built the first hotel in the place, where he re-

mained until the road was finished to Dallas, in

1872. He rode into Dallas on the first train

and engaged in building, all the inside work of

the court-house being done by him. When
building got dull he then engaged in black-

smithing at that place until 1887, when, on

account of ill health, he came to San Diego and

opened a grocery store on National avenue, be-

tween Twenty-ninth and Thirtieth streets. Mr.

Quinton was a lieutenant in the Lamar Rifles

in Texas under Governor Hubbard. He was

married, August 15, 1875, to Miss Eugenia

Johnson, daughter of James Johnson, a planter
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of Mississippi. She was born in Yazoo City,

Mississippi, in 1858.

?P. CHR1STENSON, contractor and build-

er, at San Diego, was born at Aalborg,

° Denmark, June 5, 1827, being the young-

est of nine children, only four of whom survive.

He was privileged with a common-school educa-

tion and also studied architecture at the Archi-

tectural Institute. He then learned the trade

of brick-mason, which he followed in contracting

and building for a number of years. In 1866

he left Denmark, going to Hamburg, and then

taking a steamer for New York. He then went

to Chicago, and there found employment in the

office of Mr. Waskjer, an architect of that city.

After six months he went to Omaha, and then

to New Orleans, arriving in November, 1866,

and remaining until July, 1867, when lie went

to St. Louis and worked at his trade as mason

until the fall of 1869. He then came to Cali-

fornia by the Central Pacific route and arrived

at San Francisco in September. Remaining

there till December, he took a steamer for San

Diego, where he arrived December 18, 1869,

and has from that time till lately done consid-

erable contracting in the building line, and has

built for himself two fine buildings, one of

which lie occupies as a residence.

He was married in San Diego, May 6, 1874,

to Mrs. Hannah Marshall, a native of Burling-

ton, Iowa, and of their five children only one

daughter survives.

fRANCISCO ESTUDILLO, Mayor of San

Jacinto and a native of California, was born

in Old Town, San Diego County, Califor-

nia, July 23, 1844. His father, Jose Antonio

Estudillo, was born in Monterey, California.

His grandfather came from Spain. His mother,

Victoria (Dominguez) Estudillo, was born in

Los Angele6 in 1801, and was married to Mr.

Estudillo in 1825. Their union was blessed

with twelve children, live boys and seven girls.

The subject of this sketch was the youngest of

the family. He spent a good deal of his young

life on their ranch 100 miles from any schools,

and is eminently a self-made man. Their ranch

consisted of 38,000 acres, covering an area of

about 8 x 10 miles of the upper part of the San

Jacinto Plains, at the foot of the San Jacinto

range of mountains. The property was granted

to his father by the Mexican governmtnt for

his services as manager and administrator of

the San Luis Rey, which estate he had the con-

trol of for about ten years. Mr. Estudillo's

ranch was devoted to stock-raising and had on

it from 6,000 to 7,000 head of cattle and 1,500

head of horses, partly mixed with Arabian blood.

The family kept the ranch until 1883, when it

was subdivided and the San Jacinto Land Com-

pany bought about half of it. Mr. Hewitt and

Mr. Estudillo were the first to use the San

Jacinto river for irrigation.

Mr. Estudillo has done his full share in

aiding the growth of the town. He donated

twenty-seven acres to the railroad for depot

grounds. He built the city livery stable, the

first in the city, and the large brick ware-

house, 50x120 feet, with an asphaltum floor

and a corrugated roof, his tasteful brick resi-

dence witli its neat colored verandahs, which is

an ornament to the town and a credit tj the

refined taste of its owner. He has sold 3,000

acres of his share of the ranch; the balance,

1,100 acres, he still owns. He is now engaged

in shipping grain to Los Angeles. April 14,

1890, he was elected Mayor of San Jacinto.

In 1866 he was married to Miss Carmen

.Robidonx, by whom 'he had two children, viz.:

Christopher, born in 1869; and Frank, born in

1871. He lost his wife, and was again married

in 1873, to Miss Felicitus Machado, who was

born in San Diego in 1856. Her father, Jesus

Machado, was also a native of San Diego, of

Spanish ancestry. They have as the fruit of

this union one boy, Jose Antonio, born July 12,

1875. Mr. Estudillo has held the office of Jus-
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tice of the Peace for several years and was a

member of the board of supervisors for four

years, and is now a city trustee. Mr. and

Mrs. Estudillo are both members of the Cath-

olic Church, and are held in high esteem by

the people of the community in which they

have lived for so many years.

;R. JOSEPH RODES, of San Diego, is a

native of Philadelphia, born October 15,

1863. His father, Mr. James Rodes, also

a native of Philadelphia, was born in 1827, and

has been in the furniture business nearly all his

life. The Doctor'6 grandfather, Joseph Rodes,

was of German descent, but born in Philadel-

phia. Margaret (Stewart) Rodes, the Doctor'6

mother, was born in Philadelphia in 1830.

She was a woman of rare natural talents; the

daughter of James and Sarah (Potter) Stewart,

the latter from the line of Potters, of which

Bishop Potter of New York is also a descendant.

His father and mother were married in I860,

and had three children: Aline, born September

7, 1861; Maree, born January 22, 1866; and

Joseph. The latter spent his boyhood days in

Philadelphia, where he attended the public

schools. In 1882 he began to study medicine

with Dr. A. R. Thomas, dean and professor of

anatomy in the Hahnemann College of Phila-

delphia, and continued with him five years. In

1884 he entered the above college, and gradu

ated with high honors in 1887. lie then en-

gaged in the practice of his profession in

Philadelphia, and shortly became assistant sur-

geon to Dr. William B. Van Lennep. During

the following two years he served as chief of the

dispensary staff, associate physician to the nerv-

ous, eye, and venereal out-patient departments

of the Hahnemann Hospital; assistant demon-

strator of anatomy, and assistant to the clinics,

in the Hahnemann College; also pathologist to

the Children's Homoeopathic Hospital.

Late in 1889 he came to San Diego for rest

and to see the country, and has now decided to

remain here, to engage in the practice of his

profession. He has established himself in rooms

3, 4, 5 and 6 of the Bon Ton Building (Sixth

and D streets), where he has most exceedingly

well equipped offices. He is a man of culture

and ability, the author of numerous medical

essays and a member of the Episcopal Church.

He will doubtless be quite an accession to the

already able medical profession of San Diego.

****

fRANK X. WINTER, baker at San Diego,

was born at Schvvarzach, Buhl County,

Germany, October 30, 1860. He received

a common-school education. His father and

grandfather being bakers, he followed in their

footsteps, and learned the trade in his father's

establishment, and spent one year in a bakery

at Baden Baden. August 14, 1877, he left for

America, taking the steamer Switzerland at

Antwerp and arriving at Philadelphia, Pennsyl-

vania, August 27, and worked at his trade, re-

maining until September 28, 1880. He then

went to California by way of Chicago and

Omaha, arriving at Los Angeles, October 12,

but left at once for San Diego, going by rail to

Santa Ana, and the old Seeley stage line, arriving

October 14. He at once entered the bakery of

his brother Joseph, corner of Fourth and II

streets, where he remained five years. In Octo-

ber, 1885, he started the first steam laundry,

adjoining his brother, under the firm name of

Burtch & Winter, for a year. He then worked

in the Bay City Bakery, for Charles Wold,

about four months, when he rented his bakery

and bought a horse and wagon with plant and

route, which business he has continued success-

fully until the present time. By thrift and

economy, he has purchased a lot at Coronado

and at Ocean Beach, and in February, 1889,

bought the bakery and lot which he has before

rented on Second street, between C and D
streets. In the summer of 1888, he went

East to Philadelphia, and passed two pleasant

months with his family and friends.
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Mr. Winter was married, June 17, 1884, to

Miss Mary Bernaner, a native of Dodtnan,

State of Baden, Germany, who came to San

Diego in 1883. They have four children, only

two of whom are now living: Randolph Albert

and Mary M..

He is a member of the San Diego Lodge,

Knights of Pythias, No. 28. He has been a

member of the City Guard for six years, and a

member of the Harmony and Phcenix Bands.

tRTHUR G. MUNN is a "native son of

the Golden West," and owner and pub-

lisher of the San Jacinto Register. He

was born in Kelseyville, Lake County, Cali-

fornia, September 10, 1864. His father, O. A.

Munn, was a native of Cleveland, Ohio, and

has been a resident of California since 1849.

He is by profession a lawyer, and resides in

San Jacinto. Mr. Munn's mother, Sarah E.

(Thompson) Munn, was bom in Kentucky.

They had five children, Mr. Munn being the

fourth child. He completed his education at

Fresno, September 10, 1885. He then formed

a partnership with Mr. J. P. Kerr in the pur-

chase of the San Jacinto Register. They pub-

lished the paper fur two years, when he bought

out Mr. Kerr, and is now sole proprietor. He

iB a member of the Independent Order of For-

esters. Was married May 6, 1889, to Mrs. S.

E. Grannis, daughter of S. O. Dagget, born in

1864.

Mr. Munn is publishing a good paper, fully

awake to all the interests of San Jacinto and

vicinity.

G. WHEELER, San Diego.—Efficient

engineers are nece.-sary to the devel-

* opment of every new country, and

among that list we must class the name of Mr.

M. G. Wheeler, who was born of New England

parentage in the town of Medina, Orleans Coun-

ty, New York, February 28, 1845, being the

youngest in a family of ten children, only six

of whom survive. His parents soon moved to

Janesville, Rock County, Wisconsin, where,

after three months his father died, leaving the

mother with nine children, the youngest, M. G.,

one of twins, being five months old and the

eldest but nineteen years. He lived in Wis-

consin and Minnesota until he was twelve years

of age, when, with his mother, he came to Cal-

ifornia, having two brothers then located at

Marysville, Ynba County. He followed farm-

ing at that place for about four years, and then

feeling the need of an education he went to Oak-

land and entered the preparatory department of

the State University, remaining five years. He
then entered the college in the class of 1869.

During his education he had to earn his own
way and worked at odd jobs, such as collecting,

etc., and during vacations worked at farming.

He left college in January, 1867, and entered

the office of F. W. Boardman, city and county

surveyor, remaining one and a half years. He
was then offered a position by Kimball Brothers

to survey and subdivide the tract called Rancho

de la Nacion, of which National City is a part.

On his arrival in San Diego in 1868, the only

buildings were the barracks. The town site was

covered with brush, and rabbits and quail lived

in the streets. He lived on a ranch until De-

cember, 1868, when he completed the survey.

James Pascoe then offered him the position of

deputy and a partnership interest in surveying

the county of San Diego, and they established

their office at Old Town. The first work was

the shore line and the tide line of the bay, a

party wishing to purchase. The business was

then improving and people were rapidly coming

into the town, business in surveying was very

active in the laying off of the Pneblo lands in

the vicinity of New Town, now San Diego, and

the laying off of the park; then followed the

survey of Roseville. He was employed by the

Government in surveys about the country, and

made many in Lower California on ranches,

roads and mines, and one time building a road
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from Rafael across to the port of San Felipe, on

the Gulf of California. He has held the office

of county surveyor for eight years and city en-

gineer for three terms, and has always held com-

mission as United States deputy surveyor. He
has also done much railroad work in the north-

ern part of the State, and also work at G naymas,

on the Sonora branch of the Santa Fe line. In

October, 1880, he took the first location party

into the field for the Southern California Rail-

road, setting the initial stakes at National City,

and continued in the employ of the company

until the road was completed to Colton. In

1884-'85 he was in the employ of the same com-

pany locating a road through Cajon Pass from

Barstow to San Diego. He returned to the

latter place in the fall of 1885 and opened an

office, and by invitation of the Coronado Beach

Company entered competitively with plans and

proposals for the subdivision of the Coronado

tract, securing the prize and performing the

work. He then engineered their water-works

at Old Town a'id also' their railroad work.

In the spring of 1886 he was appointed city

engineer, holding the office one year, when he

resigned and became a resident engineer in

charge of sewerage of the city of San Diego,

which took one and a half years to complete the

work. In January, 1889, he took the position*

of locating engineer of the San Diego, Cnya-

maca & Eastern Railroad, carrying a survey

across the mountains in an easterly direction

to Salton on the Desert. He has also filled the

following positions of prominence; chief engi-

neer of Mission Valley Water Company for two

years, chief engineer of Board of State Harbor
|

Commissioners of San Diego Bay, superintend*

ing engineer of Pacific Coast Land Bureau, and

largely connected with many lines of develop-

ment in survey of water and railroads.

Mr. Wheeler was married at San Diego, in

January, 1872, to Miss Etta Murdock, a native

of California. They have two children: Miner-

va A. and Herbert C, both living.

Ten years ago Mr. Wheeler made a sur-

vey to carry water from the Colorado river

to the Colorado Desert, which he found

practicable and thinks the desert conld be

irrigated witli comparatively little cost. He
had occasion to retrace the boundary line be-

tween Upper and Lower California from the

Colorado river west across the desert to the base

of the mountains. A considerable part of the

line follows a mesa elevated forty feet above the

general level of the desert, and there found

abundant evidence of former human habitation

by broken pottery. The formation of the coun-

try is snch as to show that evidently the Colo-

rado river turned at one time at a point called

Pilot Knob, a little south of Yuma, running

nearly due west and emptying into the great

Colorado basin. Broken pottery shows that the

Indians inhabited that country and lived on the

banks of the Colorado river as it then existed.

When Mr. Wheeler arrived at San Diego, on

the steamer Orizaba, he was brought on shore

on a man's back, and from that wild, unsettled

country he has seen San Diego grow to a pros-

perous mercantile city.

fAMES H. RICE, residing near Winchester,

was born in Missouri, May 14, 1838. His

father, Benjamin Rice, was a native of

Virginia, who came to Kentucky in an early

day and afterward moved to Missouri, and again

removed to Kansas. The family resided near

Fort Scott, and were in, and suffered from, the

troubles in Kansas while a territory. He was

taken prisoner by Buchanan's troops, but was

soon released, as it was found he had done noth-

ing offensive. They were farmers in Kansas

until 1870, when they removed to Washington

Territory, and were there three years. In 1873

they came to, and lived in, different parts of

Southern California. In June, 1885, they came

to Winchester, where they bought lands, built

and opened the Winchester hotel. They now

rent the hotel and live on the ranch.

Mr. Rice married Miss Elizabeth I. Stanfield

in 1859. Her father, David Stanfield, was a
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native of Knoxviile, Tennessee, and removed in

early days to Knoxviile, Iowa, where he was

County Recorder for two terms. They have

one daughter, Mary A., born in 1860 and mar-

ried to Mr. Lewis Sours. Mr. and Mrs. Rice

have adopted two boys, who are now thirteen

and fourteen years of age—George L. and Fred

L. They are members of the Methodist Church,

of which Mr. Rice is a trustee. They are both

members of its board of stewards. Mrs. Rice

was one of the four who bought and owned half

of the Winchester town site, and was also the

prime mover in the organization of the Meth-

odist Church, having solicited the subscriptions

that built it. She was also the first Postmis-

tress of Winchester. Mr. Rice was a soldier in

the Union army, in Company C, Kansas Vol-

unteer Infantry.

-^r >-^-

fLFRED G. CLARK, a prominent citizen

of San Diego, is a native of Trenton,

Butler County, Ohio, born November 10,

1818. His father, Jonathan Clark, born in New
Jersey, September 5, 1776, was a blacksmith.

Mr. Clark's grandfather, David Clark, was born

in New Jersey, and was a descendant of the

Clarks who came to America from England be-

fore the Revolution. His great uncle and his

father's u.icle were signers of the Declaration of

Independence. Mr. Clark's mother, Mrs. Cath-

erine (Jonas) Clark, was born in Maryland, in

1780. Her ancestors were German. She was

married to Mr. Clark in 1800, and had a family

of fourteen children, two of whom are still liv-

ing. Mr. Clark was the eleventh. When he

was but six years of age his father removed to

Crawfordsville, Montgomery County, Indiana,

and it was there, in a most primitive school-

house, that he received his education. The win-

dows of the school-house were closed with

greased cotton cloth, and the floor and seats

were made of puncheon. That section was then

a heavily timbered country. lie attended school

winters. He afterward attended a seminary

taught by an Episcopal minister. He then at-

tended the Wabash College at Crawfordsville.

Mr. Clark has always been a student of men and

books, and is still engaged in study. In 1835

he became clerk in a general merchandise store

in Crawfordsville, and then removed to Michi-

gan City, where he continued to clerk. His

life previous to this had been spent on a farm.

In October, 1838, he went to Jackson County,

Iowa, by way of Chicago. There was no rail-

road then and he rode on the first through stage

from Chicago to Galena, Illinois, and from

there to Belleview, crossed over into Iowa, and

located on a Government tract of land, 160 acres.

He remained on this land five years, when he

proved up on it, sold it, and went to Andrew,

the county seat of Jackson County, where he

engaged in the general merchandise business.

He continued in this business for five years,

when he sold out, bought a California outfit,

and went with oxen to the Missouri river, where

he wintered. The following May he was one of

a company of thirty-two who crossed the plains.

In the Black Hills the company separated for

lack of feed for teams, but three of them stayed

together till they reached Dallas, Oregon. He
sold his teams and went in a yawl boat to Cas-

cades, and from there took the only steamer that

Jiad ever run on the Columbia river. It was

run by a little four-horse-power engine. He
then came around to San Francisco on the

steamer Panama, and arrived September 29,

1850. Here he left his family and went to the

mines at Woods Creek, seventy-five miles from

Stockton. Then he returned to San Francisco

and went to Cortemardera and assisted in build-

ing two steam saw-mills. He received $1 per

hour wages, and remained here eighteen months.

He had never learned the carpenter's trade, but

was naturally au architect, and had learned the

use of tools. He again returned to San Fran-

cisco and purchased an interest in Port Orford

i of Captain Tichnor, commander of the Sea Gull

j

6teamer, and took passage with him for Fort

Orford January 24, 1852. They went into Hum-

|
boldt to discharge freight and passengers, and
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on their way out of Humboldt bay the steamer

struck, and was so disabled that 6he became a

total wreck. He never reached Port Orford, but
]

went to Eureka, California, where he built the I

first family residence, and engaged in the lum-

ber business for two years, when lie sold out

and again went to the mines. He was in the

northern mines of California during the year

1855. In 1856 he sold out and went to San

Francisco. He purchased land in Napa valley

and engaged in farming and stock-raising. He
also had a hardware store in Napa City. In

1856 he came from Humboldt with the inten-

tion of purchasing the land where San Diego

now 6tands, which was offered for sale at. ten

cents per acre. In 1881 he sold out and went

to Texas on a land speculation. He was there

four years. In 1886 he arrived in San Diego,

where he engaged in real-estate speculation,

both for himself and others, which he 6till con-

tinues. He also owns mining interests in this

county.

He was married in Iowa, March 13, 1842, to

Miss Cyrena Philips, daughter of William

Phili])6, a native of Ohio, but of German de

scent. She was born January 18, 1826, and

has been with him in all his wanderings to com-

fort and help him, enduring all the hardships

of settling a new country. Cheerfully they

have just passed the forty-eighth milestone of

a very happy life. They are the parents of five

children: Agnes E., born in Andrew, Iowa,

August 29, 1844, married to Samuel G. Clark

and resided in St. Helena, where she died in

1880, leaving four sons: William G., born in

Andrew, Iowa, in 1847, and died in 1860;

Tomenend Delos, born at 6ame place, February

20, 1849; Alfred Jonathan, born in Eureka,

Humboldt County, California, March 18, 1853,

and died April 24, 1874, in Napa valley; and

Susie Cyrena, born in same place July 8, 1855.

She married R. H. Willey, an attorney, and is

now living at Monterey. Mr. Clark helped to

establish Methodism on the coast. The first

Sunday after arriving in San Francisco, he went

out to see what he could see, and, hearing talk-

ing, he drew near. A man, who proved to be

William Taylor, the street preacher, since one

of the bishops of the Methodist Episcopal

Church in Africa, was preaching from the porch

of an adobe bouse. Mr. Clark has always lent

a helping 1 and to organize, not only the Meth-

odist Church, but other churches, assisting them

in every way in his power. In the early days

when no vacant houses could be obtained, he

has solicited saloons to cover their bars and set

aside their gambling tables for ministers to

preach on the Sabbath, using the billiard tables

for a desk. After securing a place for preach-

ing he usually took his stand beside the minis-

ter. He has traveled all over California, and

has frequently talked with saloon- keepers, and

never one has yet turned the cold shoulder to

him. They have always acknowledged the busi-

ness to be bad, and expressed their intention to

leave it as soon as they could. Ever since he

became of mature age he has been a worker in

the Sunday-school. He is now a teacher of the

first bible class in the First Methodist Episcopal

Church of San Diego, besides being a member

of the official board and class-leader of the

church. He has been a most faithful temper-

ance worker, and has helped to organize the

first temperance societies on the coast. He has

helped to organize the State League, the State

Alliance, the Good Templars, and was among

those who helped to institute the Good Templars'

Home for orphans in Vallejo, and was a trustee

of that home for fourteen years. He has been

in every office of the Good Templars except the

Grand Templar. He has been twice elected to

the Right-Worthy Grand Lodge of the world.

He represented the State at Minneapolis, Min-

nesota, and represented more territory than any

other delegate, including California, Nevada,

Sandwich Islands, Japan and China. He helped

to organize the Republican party on this

coast, and was a strong supporter of John C.

Fremont for President in 1856. He was a

member of the Home Guards, ready to go on

duty any moment, and was regularly mustered

in and out. He helped to organize the first
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temperance political party in the State, and was

a candidate for Governor of the State on the

first ticket of the Prohibition party. He was

also a candidate for Congress from the third

district. He is now seventy one years of age,

is very strong and bright in body and mind,

and has not relaxed in any of the good works in

which he has been engaged.

§0. PRINCE was horn in Westbrook,

Cumberland County, Maine, within one

<* and one-half miles of the city of Port-

land, August 21, 1844. His father. Thomas P.

Prince, was born in Yarmouth, Maine, and was

of English descent. Mr. Prince's mother, Ab-

bie S. (Oakes) Prince, was also born in Maine.

The father's ancestry on the maternal side

traces back to Miles Standish, the Puritan.

They were married in 1840. Mr. Prince was

the second of seven children. He attended the

public shools of Maine and afterward of Cali-

fornia. His father went to California in 1852,

and the mother and children followed in 1856.

The subject of this sketch was then twelve years

of age. He learned early how to work, and

when eighteen years of age he lost his father

and was thrown upon his own resources. He

has been engaged in mining in Arizona, where

he owned an interest in the McCracken mine.

He was in Arizona twelve years and was engaged

in the general merchandise business at Signal,

Arizona. He sold out, and in 1888 he came to

Florida, San Diego County, California, and took

stock in the Fair View Company, and also owned

other lands, which he is farming. He is the

manager of the company's hotel in Florida.

He was married in 1884 to Mrs. Eda Kimble,

born May 28, 1856, in San Joaquin County,

California. Her father, Mr. G. D. Compton, is

a leading member of the Fair View Company,

who owns the Florida tract and town site. She

had one child by Mr. Kimble, G. E. Kimble,

born August 14, 1875, and Mr. and Mrs. Prince

have one child, Claud R., born July 24, 1889.

While in Arizona, Mr. Prince held the office of

Justice of the Peace, and also the office of Dep-

uty County Assessor. He is a man of good

habits and a worthy citizen.

fOSEPH C. JORDAN was born in Kitran-

ning, Pennsylvania. December 6, 1831.

His father, Joseph M. Jordan, was a Penn-

sylvanian of French and Scotch ancestry. His

mother, Eliza Irwin, was born in Virginia, and

belonged to one of those famous families that

have been there since before the Revolution.

Mr. Jordan was the fifth child of a family of

nine. He received his early education in Pitts-

burg. When a lad he entered a store as cash

boy. His father was a merchant, and he served

an apprenticeship to the dry-goods business.

He was for some time with J. Hanson Love &
Co., in their Bee Hive store on Market street,

in Pittsburg, which was rightly named, for it

was a very busy place. After that he was in

the employ of the Sharon Iron Company. When
President Lincoln made his first call for 75,000

men to put down the rebellion, he answered that

call by enlisting April 21, 1861, in Company A,

Eighth Pennsylvania Reserve Corps. From

this company he was transferred to Lattery C,

Fifth United States Artillery, and served gal-

lantly until December, 1863, when he was mus-

tered out of the service on account of an injury

received in his breast by the recoil of the piece,

which caused valvular disease of the heart, from

which his physicians thought he could not re-

cover, but he did regain his health. While in

the service he participated in the battle of

Dranesville and the skirmishing which preceded

it, on the upper Potomac. It was his battery

that opened the seven days fight in front of

Richmond, at Mechanicsville. They retreated

to Harris' landing, where they got a night's

rest. In the morning they were attacked and

gave battle in return. Hooker, with a squad

ron of cavalry, and Mr. Jordan's battery,

drove them, and finally captured them at the
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head of Heron Creek. Back of their former

battle-field of Malvern Hill, on the extreme

right of the battle-field, they found many of the

Confederate dead still unburied, and it was a

most sickening sight. They joined Pope at

Fredericksburg, and at the Rappahannock Bridge

they met Longstreet. They burned the bridge

and he was forced to retreat. Then came the

second battle of Bull Hun, which was almost

lost, when the Pennsylvania Reserve Corps at-

tacked Stonewall Jackson and turned the for-

tunes of the day. The actions at Antietam]and

Soutli Mountain were the two last battles in

which he took part. When he recovered from

his injury he became book-keeper for Peirce &
McMasters, who had a contract to build a por-

tion of the Pittsburg & Erie Railroad. In

April, 1861, he married Mrs. Emma Patterson,

widow of Mr. Charles Patterson. Mr. and Mrs.

Patterson were married in 1851, and one year

after their marriage he came to California, where

he died in 1852. Her maiden name was Emma
M. McCleery, and she was born July 17, 1832,

in Sharon, Mercer County, Pennsylvania. Her

father was a native of Glasgow, and her mother

of Westchester, Pennsylvania. Her father came

to America in 1820, and was a Baptist minister,

but when he came to the United States, he

joined the Christian denomination and was a

minister of that society also. Mrs. Jordan

was educated in the Christian College at Huron,

Portage County, Ohio. Much of Mrs. Jordan's

life, from the loss of her first husband for the

nine years previous to her marriage to Mr.

Jordan, had been spent in the care of the sick

and the poor. When the civil war broke out,

Mrs. Jordan enlisted. She became an efficient

worker in the Sanitary Commission, in connec-

tion with Mrs. Rouse, of Cleveland. They so-

licited money and goods for the sick and wounded

soldiers of both sides of the great struggle, and

the supplies were sent to the prisons and hos-

pitals. It was truly a philanthropic and Chris-

tian work. She had one child by Mr. Patterson,

Cate H., born July 21, 1852, in Sharon, Penn-

sylvania. She is married to C. W. Frost, who

is in the real-estate and money-lending business

at Santa Rosa, and has seven children, viz.:

Jennie E., Walter C, Arthur, Catie, James,
Henry and Maud. Mr. and Mrs. Jordan re-

moved to Iowa, where they engaged in the hotel

business, but, Mr. Jordan's health being broken,
they removed to Montana, and in 1873 came to

California and settled in Los Angeles one year;

then in Santa Rosa for four years, and in 1878
came to San Jacinto, where they purchased an
undivided interest in the company lands. When
they first came to San Jacinto they occasionally

entertained people, but since the erection of the

Pal ma House, Mrs. Jordan has had charge of

it. She is not only a pioneer hotel-keeper, but
a model hostess, and has the true conception of

what a hotel should be. She has the happy
faculty of making her guests comfortable and
feel at home. She is a member of the Christian

Church. Mr. Jordan has been in the stock-

raising business since coming to San Jacinto.

He first took to cattle-raising, but more recently

to horse-raising. He is an accomplished horse-

man and an enthusiast at the business. He
has some fine blooded colts, of the Nutwood,
Ethan Allen, McClellan and Crockett stock. He
is thoroughly posted in the handling and treat-

ment of horses. Mr. Jordan is a Master Mason
and a member of the I. O. O. F. and G. A. R.,

Common Post, No. 52, San Bernardino. He
and Mrs. Jordan have hosts of friends.

tANCOCK M. JOHNSTON was born in

Brazoria County, Texas, December 28>

1847. His father, General Albert Sidney

Johnston, was born in the Kentucky village of

Washington, Mason County, February 2, 1803.

His grandfather was Dr. John Johnston, and

his great-grandfather, Archibald Johnston, was

a native of Salisbury, Connecticut. The fam-

ily was of Scotch ancesiry, who had settled in

Salisbury.

Mr. Johnston's father, the General, served in

the army of the United States and in the army
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of the Confederate State?. He took the oath of

allegiance to the Republic of Texas, served

during her struggle for independence, and her

Indian wars as Commander-in-chief of her

armies and Secretary of War of the Republic;

served under Zachary Taylor in Mexico, in com-

mand of a Texas regiment of volunteers, and

fought at the battle of Monterey with credit to

himself. He was a soldier of marked ability

and true to his convictions. On April 6th, at

the battle of Shiloh, he was shot in the leg

whilst gallantly leading his men in a charge.

An artery was severed and before medical aid

could be obtained, he bled to death.

Hancock Johnston's mother, Eliza (Griffin)

Johnston, was a Virginian, the daughter of

John Caswell and Mary Hancock Griffin,

of Virginia. They were descendants of promi-

nent Virginia families of Welsh and English

ancestry.

From the time Mr. Johnston was sixteen

years of age, for about five years, he gave his

attention to mining and was for three years

foreman of the New Almaden quicksilver

mines. After this he went to Los Angeles and

engaged in the sheep-raising business with his

nncle, Dr. John S. Griffin, in 1869, in which

business he continued for five years.

In 1873 they platted their sheep ranch as Ea6t

Los Angeles, and built the street railway. It

now contains 10,000 inhabitants and all the im-

provements of a modern city. He then turned

his attention to the oil region and surveyed all

that oil country in Ventura County, and in con-

nection with Rowland and Lacy commenced the

development of the Puente region. During

the same time he ran the Los Angeles Herald

Publishing Company, of which he was presi-

dent. He was one of the organizers of the

First National Bank of Los Angeles, and was

one of its directors.

In 1870 he began to import and breed stock

Merino sheep, Durham cattle, Berkshire and

Poland-China hogs, and Norman running and

trotting horses. He still continues in this busi-

ness, and in 1881 he paid $5,300 for one black

Angus bull, three cows and a calf, imported from

Aberdeen, Scotland, and he has now about 250

of them. He owns a tenth interest in the Hemet

Land Company. They have a very choice and

extensive land interest adjoining South San

Jacinto, with water piped over the whole tract.

He has a mountain ranch of 9,000 acres of

timber and grass land, called the Hemet Val-

ley Stock Farm. He moves his stock on it in

April and the grass is green on it the whole

season. He raises on it wheat, barley and oats.

It is fenced into five pastures, and a portion of

it is planted in cherries, apples and pears. The

altitude is from 3,600 to 6,000 feet.

He has 600 acres at his home ranch a few

miles south of San Jacinto. It is divided into

lots and fenced with tine timber. A consider-

able portion is seeded to alfalfa. It is stocked

with thorough-bred standard trotters and Shet-

land ponies. The portion of the ranch not

used for pasture is utilized in the production of

wheat, barley and hay. His brick residence is

on an eminence at the extreme south of the

property against the foot-hills, which form its

background. The house has wide verandahs, sup-

ported by rustic columns; trunks of trees with

the bark and limbs on them give the idea of

simplicity. Sixty acres of the grounds in the

vicinity of the house have quite recently been

planted to fruit and ornamental trees, shrubs,

vines and flowers. There is a neat lawn in

front of the house and in a few years the place

will present a perfectly delightful appearance.

Mr. Johnston calls his home Big Springs. He
came here in 1887. He spends nine months of

the year on this ranch and the other three on

his mountain ranch, eighteen miles distant.

In 1870 he was married to Miss Mary Eaton,

daughter of Judge B. S. Eaton, of Los Angeles,

born in Maryland in 1850. They have four

children, viz.: Mary, Albert Sidney, John Grif-

fin and Hancock McClnrg. Mr. and Mrs.

Johnston have an intelligent family, large flocks

and herds, many acres of rich lands supplied

with an abundance of pure water, a refined

home in the most balmy climate, surrounded
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by grand scenery, and the question may very

reasonably be asked, "What lackest thou?"

Everything seems happy here, even to the three

large Newfoundland dogs that skip and wag a

welcome round the feet of the visitor as if to

show the cordiality of the proprietor of the

place.

#^€B-^#

—

ST.
LINDENBERGER, orchardist, near

Winchester, was born in Olive Green,
a Ohio, November 16, 1853. His father,

Solomon Lindenberger, was born in Delaware

County, Ohio, and was a pioneer of northwest-

ern Ohio. His grandfather, John Lindenber-

ger, was a native of Providence, Rhode Island.

John Lindenberger's grandfather came to Amer-

ica from Germany before the Revolution. Mr.

Solomon Lindenberger was a soldier in the

Union army, Company C, Thirty-eighth Ohio

Volunteer Infantry. When his time of service

expired he re-enlisted in the Sixty-eighth Indi-

ana, and served to the close of the war. Mr.

Lindenberger's mother, Sarah B. (Stephens)

Lindenberger, was born in Knox County, Ohio,

in 1838. They had four sons. The subject of

this sketch was educated in the public schools

of Williams County, Ohio, and when eighteen

years of age entered a printing office at Bryan,

Ohio, as an apprentice. Shortly after his ap-

prenticeship he went to Toledo and entered the

office of the Sunday Journal, and worked two

years at the printer's case. After this he was

engaged as a reporter on one of the dailies, and

acted in nearly every department of a newspaper

work for ten years. From there he went to De-

troit, Michigan, and opened an independent rail-

road ticket office agency, making a specialty of

excursion business. In 1887 he caught the Cali-

fornia fever and brought out a large excursion,

and with it his own family, to visit and see the

country. He spent the winter with his family

in Riverside, and in looking over the country

he was attracted to the Menifee valley, and pur-

chased eighty acres of land, section 36, range 5

south, and 3 west of the San Bernardino merid-

ian. It lies in an L, and at the foot of the

hills, on the east side of the valley, and slopes

gently toward the west. On this spot Mr.

Lindenberger is making one of the most pleas-

ing and attractive fruit farms and homes in

southern California. Seventeen acres are planted

to olives, six to raisin grapes, and a large num-
ber of deciduous fruit and ornamental trees.

Mr. Lindenberger returned to Detroit, Michi-

gan, in April of 1888, and the following winter

his brother, H. H. Lindenberger, who is his

business partner, came out with one of their

excursion parties, and purchased the adjoining

eighty acres in the same section, and had an

equal number of trees and vines planted of the

same character; so they now have a solid grove

of thirty-four acres of olives. Later, Linden-

berger Brothers purchased 160 acres more, and

they now own the east half of section 36, which

they intend in time to cover with an olive

grove, and to that end they have erected a

green-house for the purpose of rooting olive

trees for these grounds. They will make the

growing of olives their leading specialty. Mr.

F. T. Lindenberger returned to California in

October, 1889, with the intention of making

his home here and building up their property.

They have already expended between $8,000

and $10,000 in improvements, besides the house

and barns, and have a nice system of water

pumped on the place. The water comes to

within fourteen or fifteen feet of the surface

under all their grounds. They have raised

their trees without irrigation. The olive trees,

when planted twenty months ago, were only

fifteen inches high; they have now grown to

five feet. They have three acres planted to

orange trees. The grounds are artistically laid

out, and the trees planted with perfect regular-

ity. The buildings are 300 feet from the main

road, and have broad avenues planted with orna-

mental trees, shrubs, flowers, lawns and hedges.

They intend to erect fine residences on the

property soon. H. II. Lindenberger attends to

their eastern business, while F. T. is on the
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ranch. They are also raising some line speci-

mens of Pekin ducks and Plymouth Rock

poultry; have constructed an incubating house

and are now running two large incubators. Mr.

Lindenberger was married to Miss Edna C.

Gregory, born in Toledo, Ohio, November 28,

1854, and daughter of P. G. Gregory, of Huron,

Ohio. They were of Scotch ancestry, but quite

remote. They have live children: Agnes, born

in Toledo in 1877; Alice, in Toledo, 1880;

Mary, in Detroit, 1883; Edwin F., in Detroit,

in 1887, and Oliver S., in California in Febru-

ary, 1890. Mr. and Mrs. Lindenberger are

people of taste and intelligence, and are pleasant

people to meet. Mr. Lindenberger is evidently

a man of successful business ability. " The

Garden of the World " is being occupied with

such citizens as these.

fL.
CO PEL AND, one of San Diego's

representative citizens, who with firm

* persistence and but a common-school

education has advanced steadily in his profes-

sion, was born in Goshen, Elkhart County,

Indiana, August 14, 1860, his father being a

native of New York, and his mother of Ohio.

In 1869, they came to Sacramento, California,

by the Central Pacific Railroad, where he learned

the trade of printer. In 1873 they came to San

Diego and his father purchased a farm in Sweet-

water valley, where he remained at home for five

years. He then went to Arizona and prospected

in mining for two years, when he returned to

San Diego in 1880, and entered the law office of

Judge Lucy and began the study of his profes-

sion. He attended the Iowa Law School at

Keokuk, Iowa, and by persistent study he ac-

complished the three-years course in nineteen

months and graduated at the end of that time.

He then returned to San Diego and entered the

office of W. J. Hunsacker, who at that time,

1883, was District Attorney; he remained two

years. In 1886, Mr. Copeland was honored

with the nomination of district attorney and

was elected for two years, and was re-elected in

1888; and this position he now fills.

In December, 1887, Mr. Copeland was mar-

ried to Miss Helen Minor, a native of Indiana,

but at that time residing in San Diego. They

have no children. Mr. Copeland has been very

active in politics, and is a member of the Knights

of Pythias lodge.

§MOS L. CREIDER is a native of Lancas-

ter County, Pennsylvania, born January

22, 1844. His father, Jacob Creider, was

a member of the Dunkard Church. His grand-

father, also a Jacob Creider, was from Germany

and a pioneer in this country in the time of

Benjamin Franklin. Their home was within a

few miles of President James Buchanan, and

has become a very rich, improved country, in

everything that pertains to agriculture, and is

noted for its tine residences. Mr. Creider's

mother, Anna (Longnecker) Creider, was from

Buffalo, New York. There were ten children

in the family, only live of whom are living.

His brothers are in West Virginia, and his

sister is married to Mr. F. Janvenant, who is in

the banking business in Nebraska. Mr. Creider

was raised on a farm, and gathered his educa-

tion in brief terms of winter schools, having to

work the greater part of the year. In 1864 the

family moved to Miami County, Indiana, and

only two weeks after their arrival there his

father sickened and died in his forty-fifth year.

His request to his son Amos was that he should

take care of the family. This duty devolved

upon him at twenty years of age. In 1865 he

was married to Miss Olive A. Beckner, born in

1848, and daughter of Dr. J. F. Beckner, of

Peru. Indiana. They have nine children, viz :

Annie B., Rosa, John, Jennie K., Olive, Amos,

Oney, Gracie and Florence. In 1866 he moved

into Newton County and bought a raw prairie

farm of 120 acres, and improved it to a high

state of cultivation. Owing to exposure and

over-work he became sick with the rheumatism
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and fever and was advised to go south. In

1871 he sold his farm and removed to Hunting-

ton, West Virginia, the terminus of the Chesa-

peake & Ohio Railroad. During the twelve

years he was there he had the pleasure of seeing

the town grow from nothing to a city of 10,000.

He was elected the first Republican Mayor of

the city. Being afflicted with throat trouble,

he was advised to try the climate of southern

California, and on May 4, 1887, he came to San

Jacinto and bought twenty acres of land just

north of the present city limits. He has built

the main part of the residence and a new barn.

At a cost of $500 he has dug a seven-inch

artesian well, 210 feet deep, on the highest part

of his ground, and has water under pressure all

over his grounds. When allowed to flow it

makes a river of excellent water. He is fast

improving the property by planting trees, shrubs

and vines, and it will soon be a very fine fruit-

bearing ranch. The soil is particularly rich.

Mr. Creider, from twenty-four tomato plants,

from May until November, gathered and sold

$50 worth of splendid tomatoes. He has a

ranch of 320 acres on Menifee plains, on which

he intends to make improvements. His throat

difficulty is very much relieved, and he has all

the prospects of a long and prosperous life be-

fore him. Mr. and Mrs. Creider are enjoying

the comforts of their pleasant home with their

interesting family, and have the confidence and

esteem of all who know them.

—?^€§i»-£#

—

fOHNSON WATTS McCLAJN, of San

Diego, was born at Versailles, Ripley

County, Indiana, January 16, 1826. At

the age of six years he moved with his parents

to Boone County, Kentucky, the subject being

the sixth in a family of eleven children, only

three of whom survive, one brother living in

Kansas City and one still in Kentucky. J. W.
McClain lived in Boone County but two years

and then moved to Lawrenceburg, Indiana, re-

maining until 1838, when he again moved to

the Bayou, southern part of Indiana, where his

parents both died, leaving him at the age of

fifteen years. In 1841 he returned to Lawrence-

burg, and for six years worked on a farm and

traded on the Mississippi river in all kinds of

farm produce and groceries. In May, 1847, he

enlisted at Lawrenceburg, in Company C, Fourth

Regiment, Indiana Volunteers, Colonel Gorman
in command, Captain Baldridge in command of

the company, for the Mexican war. They were

ordered to Camp Meir on the Rio Grande, and

drilled there five weeks, and were then ordered

to Brazos Island at the mouth of the Rio Grande,

and then forwarded to Vera Cruz and started on

the march to the city of Mexico; but at the

city of Pnebla, in October, the regiment was

stationed and remained in Puebla until the end

of the war. In January, 1848, Mr. McClain was

discharged from the sick list. Returning, he

stopped at Henderson, Kentucky, where he was

very ill for several weeks. In July, 1848, he

returned to Lawrenceburg and farmed and

traded until 1852, when he started for Califor-

nia with a party of fifteen. They bought mule
teams and came across by the old emigrant

route by St. Joe, Laramie, north of Salt Lake
by Sublette's Cut-off, and arrived at Hangtown,
now Placerville, El Dorado County, July 15,

1852. They were two and a half months on the

road, having a very pleas int trip. They fol-

lowed mining in Greenwood valley, the same
county, until 1853. He then spent one year on

Mosquito creek, northern part of Yuba County,

and in 1854 he went into Sierra County,

where he followed surface mining until 1859.

He then moved to Butte County and worked at

surface mining until 1867, but the result of all

his mining was only a living, as he went in with

$150 and came out with a like amount. In

June, 1867, he moved to Solano County, and

started a blacksmith shop, hiring a workman
and continuing until October 1, 1869, when he

sold out and went to San Francisco, and then to

San Diego, landing on Horton's wharf, October

16,1869. It being the time of the great El

Paso boom, lodging and board were very ex-
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pensive and he immediately bought a lot in

Sherman's addition and in one week put up a

house 14 x 16 feet, and moved in. lie then

worked for wages until 1887, clerking a little

but working mainly with the county and city

surveyors. In 1887 he was obliged to give up

active business on account of severe bronchial

trouble.

Mr. McClain was married in Plumas County,

California, October 16, 1856, to Miss Lydia

Staples, a native of New Hampshire. His wife

died in 1883, leaving no children. He has been

a member of the order of Odd Fellows since

1862, and is now a member of the San Diego

Pioneers.

JH C. KIRKPATRICK, one of the prominent

fplj pioneers of Menifee, is a native of Jack-

^\ Q
son County, Tennessee, born August 24,

1823. His grandfather, Robert Kirkpatrick,

emigrated from South Carolina with pack horses

before there was any other mode of conveyance

and settled at Aston Station, Kentucky. There

he raised his family and then in 1805 removed

to Tennessee. Mr. Kirkpatrick's father, William

Kirkpatrick, was born in Kentucky in 1772.

He was married to Miss Keziah Chisoin, daugh-

ter of John Chisom, of Tompkinsville, Kentucky,

born in 1782, by whom he had five sons and

seven daughters. The subject of this sketch

was the seventh of this family. He was educated

in Jackson County, Tennessee, and when twenty

years of age learned the tanning trade and fol-

lowed the business for several years. In 1847

he opened a general merchandise store in Gains-

boro, Tennessee, and continued there in business

until 1860, and then removed to west Tennessee

and carried on a dry-goods store at Union City.

In 1874 he came to California and settled at

Garden Grove, Los Angeles County (now Orange

County), bought land and farmed there for seven

years. January 7, 1881. he came to Menifee

and took up 160 acres of land. When he had

been on the laud a year his sons, William T. and

Cladus M., came on and each of them took up

160 acres of land, making a section that they

have together in one body. It is an excellently

tine section of land. They are farming it mostly

to grain, but they are also raising cattle, horses

and mules. This year (1889) they intend to

sow 250 acres of wheat and about 700 acres of

barley.

He was married to Miss Bettie Thomp-
son, daughter of William Thompson, a Tennes-

seean and a farmer. She was born February,

1834. They had nine children: William T.,

married Miss Callie Patton and has a family of

seven children; Mr. Kirkpatrick's daughter, N.

K., married Mr. J. B. Teel and lives in Menifee.

The other sons are in Menifee on the land ad-

joining their father's. Mr. Kirkpatrick and

two of his sons are members of the Christian

Church. The family is one of high respect-

ability and honor and take an interest in all that

pertains to the advancement of the county in

which they have elected to make their home.

jj^ENRY L. SHAUG, a native of Mason

\M) County, Virginia, was born December 8,

*M 1832. His paternal grandfather was a

physician and came to America from Germany

in 1742, settling in Pennsylvania. In 1793

he moved to the town of New Lancaster, Ohio,

and spent the rest of his life there. He died at

the advanced age of eighty-nine. He had three

sons, one of whom never married; another mar-

ried and had but one child, a daughter. The

family name would have been lost had it not

been that Mr. Shaug's father came to the rescue

and had a family of fourteen children. Mr.

Shaug's father and his father's brothers were all

physicians. His parents were Methodists. His

mother, Mrs. Sherwood Shaug, a native of

Cornwall Township, Connecticut, was born in

1801. His father, William Henry Shaug, was

born in 1792, in the town of Lebanon, Penn-

sylvania, and was married to Miss Hannah Sher-

wood, daughter of Mr. John Sherwood, a land-
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owner and farmer, of English descent. His

father was commissioned a surgeon in the war

of 1812. He resigned that position and was

commissioned by President Monroe an ensign

in the regular army, and served all through that

war. In the year 1808 he went down the Ohio

and up the Mississippi river in a keel- boat and

landed at the then little village of St. Louis,

Missouri, which had only a few houses. He
died in 1859, at the age of sixty-seven.

Mr. H. L. Shang was the tenth child and

spent his boyhood days on the farm, going three

months in a year to a little country school.

When he was fourteen years of age his father

moved to Farmington, Iowa. He served an

apprenticeship of two years in a drug store in

Keokuk, Iowa, and then went to Hannibal,

Missouri. In 1852 he crossed the plains with

an ox team in company with seventeen pioneers.

The company was organized by Captain Hoke.

They landed in Calaveras County in August,

1852. In 1854 that county was divided, and

that portion which he was in became Amador
County. He was a miner there until 1860,

when he went by the way of New York to Iowa

and there engaged in the art of photography,

which he followed until 1873, when he returned

to California and settled in Los Angeles. He
afterward removed to San Fernando valley and

engaged in merchandising for seven years. In

1880 he went to Pomona, where he engaged in

horticulture and agriculture, remaining there

until the fall of 1885, when he removed to San

Diego County, Thermal Heights, two and one-

half miles east of Del Mar, where he located on

160 acres of Government land, 100 of which he

has cleared, and built for a permanent home a

house which cost $2,600. He has planted 400

deciduous trees, of nearly every variety, which

are just commencing to bear; he has 200 olive

trees and about 2,000 grape-vines, consisting of

raisin grapes and four kinds of the choicest

table grapes. He is growing a very choice new

variety of pop corn (Queen's Golden), a great

yielder and considered the best in the United

States. It has yielded as high as forty bushels

to the acre. He planted three sacks of seed

potatoes, from which he gathered thirty-seven

sacks. It was planted on high laDd, was not

irrigated, and received but one cultivation. He
raised 2,100 pounds of green peas on one-fourth

of an acre of land, 500 pounds of Lima beans;

has still 200 pounds of dry beans, and there is

still the second crop to be gathered! This is

a new variety, called the King of the Garden.

He planted one-half an acre in melons, and

after the birds had destroyed about one-half

of them, he sold five large wagon loads of fine

melons. He has grown on this place nearly the

entire list of garden vegetables, and has had

great success with the Burbank seedling potato,

producing a large yield of extra quality. His

wife is devoting much attention to fbwers, and

they have many rare varieties, including twenty-

six varieties of the Cereus family. He has pur-

chased five acres of land in Chula Yista, and is

going to devote it exclusively to flowers. Mrs.

Shaug is thoroughly informed on this business

and will take charge of it. They get water from

the Sweetwater dam for $3.50 per acre per an-

num, and the president of the water company,

Colonel Dickinson, is taking a lively interest

in the project, as it will show what can be done

in producing the choicest flowers.

Mr. Shaug married, April 3, 1861, Mies Har-

riet L. Gill, daughter of Marcus Gill, a farmer

who came to California in 1849. Their union

is blessed with four children: Ella M., born in

Farmington, Iowa, in 1862; Charles J., in

Salem, Iowa, in 1872; Hugh G., in Ottumwa,

Iowa; Marcus Luther, in San Fernando, Los

Angeles County, California, in 1875. Mr. Shaug

and his family are bright, industrious, upright

and reliable business people.

ILLIAM WINTER, of the firm pf Win-

ter & Schuetze, proprietors of a meat

I*^&r| market at San Diego.—America's op-

portunities are ample, and as evidence the for-

eigner may find a home and prosperity within
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her borders, we have the experience of "William

Winter, a native of Germany, who was born at

Schwarzach-amt-Biihl, Grand Duchy of Baden,

1856, being the sixth child in a family of

of eight children, all of whom are still liv-

ing. In 1870, at the age of fourteen years,

William Winter left home for America by

steamer from Bremen to New York, then by the

Central Pacific route to California, arriving at

San Francisco in July, 1870. He there found

employment as messenger boy with the furni-

ture house of J. A. Schafer & Co., remaining

until October, 1871, when he started by steamer

Orizaba, for San Diego, where his brother Jo-

seph was then living. After a few m )nths as

messenger boy with Mr. llirschey he entered the

employ of his brother, in his bakery business,

and remained with him about six years. In

1877 he associated himself with his brother-in-

law, Jacob Kuhner, and under the firm name of

Knhner & Winter they opened a butcher mar-

ket at the corner of Fifth and G streets. After

one year Mr. Winter bought out Mr. Kuhner

and continued business alone until 1885, when

it became so large he took in Mr. W. F. Schuetze

to attend to the outside matters, and continued

under the firm name of Winter & Schuetze,

re naining at the old stand until 1886, when

they moved to their present stand at 946 Fifth

street, between E and D streets. They own

their own slaughter honse, buy cattle direct

from the ranches and do a wholesale and re-

tail business.

Mr. Winter is a past member of the San

Diego Fire Company, No. 1, and was treasurer

of the corapiny for two yeiri, an 1 for seven

years was an active member; he then resigned,

as business was too active to allow time to out-

side matters. He is also a member, for many
years; of the I. O. O. F.

Mr. Winter was married to Miss Ida E.

Glauch, a native of Dresden, Germany, then

residing" in San Francisco, in June 1886. They

have but one child, William Winter, who is

three years of age. Mr. Winter owns a nice

house and lot at 335 Eighth street, where he

now resides, and possesses those qualities of

thrift and persistence which are sure of result-

ing successfully.

§T. PLATH, a rancher and pioneer of the

rich valley of Menifee, was born in Mel-
9 dorph, Germany, December 22, 1844-

His father, I. J. Plath,wasa native of Hamburg,

Germany, born in 1813, and followed the busi-

ness of milling. Mr. Plath's grandfather was

also a native of Hamburg and a wholesale

furniture dealer. Mr. Plath's father married

Miss Eliza Wilckens, who was born in Hamburg
in 1816. Her father, Mr. John Wilckens, was

a ship chandler. They had a family of eight

children, of which the subject of this sketch

was the third. They came to America in 1854

and settled in Davenport, Iowa, where Mr.

Plath had a store and did an insurance and col-

lection business. The subject of this sketch

attended school, first in Germany and afterward

in Davenport, Iowa. When he was sixteen

years of age he learned the harness- makers'

trade, and at the age of twenty he opened a shop

of his own in Pescadero, San Mateo County,

California. He came to California in 1864, cross-

ing the plains to Salt Lake City with a man who

was bringingsixteenhead of horses. At Salt Lake

City this man became so overbearing that Mr.

Plath and another man left him and came on to

until they fell in with another train. He first

settled in Santa Clara County, but removed foot

Pescadero, where he was in business three and

one-half years, when he removed to San Joaquin

County and took up a preemption claim, on

which he remained two years, when he proved

it up and went back to his harness business in

Pescadero. In 1877 he came to Los Angeles

County where he remained during the summer,

buying and selling stock and driving and break-

ing horses. He purchased twenty acres of land

near Monrovia, and after farming it for three

years sold it, and in 1885 came to Menifee

valley and took up a homdsteai of 160 acres of
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land, on which he built a house and barn, and

kept " bachelor's hall " until 1888, when his

mother came to live with him. In 1887 he

began to improve his grounds, by planting

hedges and shrubs. Some of his eucalyptus

trees have grown thirty feet in two years. He
planted 500 fruit trees one year later, and they

have made astonishing growth without irriga-

tion. Walnuts planted two years ago have

grown four feet in two years. Mr. Plath is a

horseman, understands the Rockwell system of

educating horses, and has a barn-full of fine

horses in training. He is also doing something

in the way of raising Essex hogs, and keeps

a number on hand. Mr. Plath is a good farmer,

a man of ability, a credit to the country, and one

who is making telling improvements that will

aid in showing the capabilities of the country.

fOLONEL CHALMERS SCOTT.—One of

the best known citizens of San Diego is

Colonel Chalmers Scott. He is a native

of Louisiana, having been born in New Orleans,

May 9, 1845. He came with his parents to

San Francisco, where his father, Rev. William

A. Scott, D. D.. LL. D., was for many years

pastor of the St. John's Presbyterian Church.

Chalmers attended the public schools until

1861, when he went to Europe with his parents.

He attended college at Montaban, France, up to

June, 1862, and then was a student in the Uni-

versity College, London, until May, 1863. His

family then returned to the United States, and

he accompanied them. P'rom June, 1863, to

May, 1864, he attended the law department of

the University of New York, graduating at the

head, though the youngest of his class, at the

age of nineteen, and having the degree of LL.

B. conferred upon him. He then entered the

law office of Blatchford, Seward & Griswold,

where he remained until November, 1864, when

he returned to San Francisco; and for a year

read law in the office of ttaight & Pierson.

He would have continued his le^al studies, but

an injury to one of his eyes, received when at

school, so affected the sight that he found close

application to his books was using up his eye

completely. A sea voyage was recommended,

and just at this time he met the late Thomas
M. Cash, who was at that time the representa-

tive of the New York Herald on this coast.

By him Mr. Scott was appointed special corre-

spondent of the Herald, to make a trip to China

and back, on the steamship Colorado, being the

opening trip of the China line by the Pacific

Mail Steamship Company, leaving San Fran-

cisco on New Year's day, 1867.

He made the trip, was gone nearly three

months, and on his return rushed through a

2,000-word dispatch to the Herald before any

other newspaper man could get a word of the

news. A few days afterward Mr. Bennett ap-

pointed him by telegraph resident correspond-

ent of the Herald in China. This, however,

he was obliged to decline. His eye still troubled

him, and he went into the Sierras with an en-

gineering party of the Central Pacific Railway,

remaining from June, 1867, to April, 1868.

Becoming snow-blind, he returned to San Fran-

cisco. The Spring Valley Water Company was

then building their great San Andreas dam,

and he joined the construction force under

Colonel Elliott, United States Engineer Corps,

as paymaster.

At the end of a year he resigned and again

began his study of law, entering the office of

General W. H. L. Barnes. In January, 1870,

his attention was attracted to San Diego, and,

looking upon it as a coming city, he came here

and formed a law partnership with Colonel G.

A. Jones. He was admitted to the bar in

July, 1870, and in March of the following year

he was appointed County Clerk, to fill the un-

expired term of Captain George A. Pendleton,

deceased. September, 1872, he joined the Texa6

Pacific survey as transitman, under C. J. Fox,

and made a survey from San Diego to San

Gorgonio Pass.

In March, 1873, the party being called in. he

resumed his law practice. In November, 1874
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having married Maria Anton ia Couts, eldest

daughter of the late Colonel C. J. Couts, he

moved upon the homestead on Raneho Cuajome

as legal adviser of the estate. In December,

1875, he accepted the position of Deputy State

Treasurer under Don Jose Guadalupe Estudillo,

but the climate of S.acramento not agreeing

with his family, he returned to the Cuajome.

For a short time in 1880-'81, he was in the

employ of the California Southern at San Diego,

but in May, 1881, he was appointed assistant

engineer on the Central Pacific .Railroad, in

charge of the survey from Yuma to Port Isabel,

at the mouth of the Colorado. From Yuma he

was transferred to Corinne, Utah, to survey a

line by way of South Pass, of the Rocky Moun-

tains, to Yankton, Dakota. The following year

he went to Tucson, and in conjunction with

Hon. S. R. De Long, Chief Engineer of the

Tncson & Gulf of California Railroad Company,

made a reconnoissance to Port Lobos, and after-

ward reconnoitered branch lines from Picacho

to the Gunsight mine in Meyers 1

district, and

back by way of Gila Bend, Arizona. He was

afterward in charge of a survey for the exten-

sion of the Vaca Valley & Clear Lake Rail-

road.

In August, 1883, he was sent to Guatemala

as chief engineer of the Central American

Pacific Railway and Transportation Company,

to build an extension of the Guatemala Central

Railroad from Escuintala to the city of Guate-

mala, a distance of thirty-eight miles. The

previous management had wasted over two

years of their time, and had graded only five

miles of road and laid three miles of track,

leaving thirty-three miles to be surveyed,

located, graded and ironed in twelve months,

in ordei to save the concession. In thirteen

miles of that distance the grade is continuous

at the rate of 240 feet to the mile, and nine

bridges from 180 to 220 feet in length, and

from eighty to 150 feet high, and at Lake Ama-

titlan there was one solid fill 750 feet long aDd

eighty feet deep in the lake, which had to be

filled from one end, requiring over 500,000

cubic yards of dirt. It was in this work that

the discipline of the Central Pacific Railroad

proved its value, for with Colonel Scott as

chief engineer and J. B. Harris as superin-

tendent of construction, the locomotive blew

i ts whistle in Guatemala City on July 19, 1884,

the birthday of President Barrios, two months

ahead of contract time.

That work completed, Colonel Scott returned

to San Francisco, and after spending a year on

other railroad work, resigned and followed civil

engineering in Oakland and San Francisco, re-

turning to San Diego in November, 1886, where

he entered into the real-estate business in April,

1887. In October, 1889, he resumed the prac-

tice of law, forming a partnership with Judge

George Fuller. Colonel Scott is a fine Spanish

scholar, and is considered the best authority on

Spanish names in this locality. He is also an

authority on Mexican laws and titles, and all

classes of cases arising in disputed surveys.

Colonel Scott was a member of the line of the

National Guard of California for eleven years,

from 18G5 to 1876. In the latter year he was

appo nted chief engineer, with the rank of

Colonel, on the staff of Governor Irwin, serving

in that capacity for four years.

As previously noted, Colonel Scott married a

Miss Couts, who was an acknowledged belle.

She was considered one of the most beautiful

young women in Southern California, and to-

day there are few matrons in the State who can

equal her in queenly grace and attractiveness.

They have had nine children, four sons and five

daughters, seven of whom are living. Colonel

Scott is a notable man personally. He is six

feet and three and one-half inches high, and

weighs 200 pounds.

—#^€(i»^—
fHOMAS ROSE, residing near Perris, is

of English descent. His father, Thomas

Rose, and his mother, Elizabeth (Bottrill)

Rose, were born in Warwickshire, England.

They had five children, Mr. Rose being the
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third. The father died in England, and the

mother came to the United States in 1851.

Thomas Rose was born February 15, 1852, and

was educated in Philadelphia. At ten years of

age he started in the battle of life in the res-

taurant business, and lie has been engaged in

the same up to the year 1889. Having accumu-

lated a few thousand dollars, he retired to the

peaceful pursuits of horticulture in the beauti-

ful Perris valley. In 1884 he married Miss

Rowena Ferguson, daughter of Mr. Charles

Ferguson, an old pioneer of San Bernardino.

She was born in Monterey County, California.

They have one son, born January 16, 1890.

Mr. Rose is an Episcopalian, and is highly

esteemed.

;R. E. V. VAN NORMAN is one of the

most noted of San Diego's physicians and

surgeons. He was born July 18, 1838*

at Nelson, Canada West. His father, William

Van Norman, was born in 1805 at Nekon,

Ilolton County, Canada, and was a land-owner

and farmer. His grandfather, Isaac Van Nor-

man, was a native of New York, and with three

of his brothers participated in the war of 1812

as United States soldiers. His mother, Gills

(Black) Van Norman, was a daughter of Dr.

Black, of New Brunswick, who was drowned in

attempting to cross the St. Johns river to see a

patient. Her brother, Dr. Daniel Black, also

sacrificed his life in the practice of his profes-

sion in his attendance upon cholera patients

during the year of that great scourge. He con-

tracted the disease and died. His father and

mother were blessed with ten children, of whom
he was the fourth, and by the death of his

father he was early cast upon his own resources.

He had, while quite young, become imbued

with the desire to become a doctor, and with

that end in view prosecuted his studies. Up to

his twenty-eighth year his time was spent in

study and teaching varied with other kinds of

work. From much reading and observation he

became a convert to the homeopathic system, and

ultimately in 1869 graduated at the Cleveland

Homeopathic Hospital College. Previous to and

during his practice ophthalmic and aural sur-

gery were subjects of study that closely engaged

his attention. Prof. T. P. Wilson, president of

the college from which he graduated, being sur-

geon in charge of the Ophthalmic and Aural

Institute and professor of that branch in the

college, a proposition of partnership was made

by Dr. Wilson and accepted, and Dr. Van Nor-

man also received the appointment of surgeon

to the institute, which he held until he left the

city of Cleveland, in 1872. He left this city

ou account of the health of his family and

moved to Springfield as an inland town, as well

as on account of its reputation as a healthy

location. At this time his school of medicine

had not been brought to the front, but by faith-

ful, industrious and never tiring energy and

with peculiar adaptation- to the profession, ho-

meopathy has in spite of all opposition forced

its way to the front rank of medical practice.

Dr. Van Norman as a medical practitioner has

always held independent views as to the treat-

ment of disease, holding steadily to the neces-

sity of an adaptability to the peculiar work of

the profession and regarding common sense as

the first and last requirement to success. The

Doctor is a member of the American Institute

of Homeopathy and a member of the State

Medical Society of Ohio, and an active member
of the American Public Health Association,

and is also a member of the Medical Society of

San Diego County. Pie is a thirty-second de-

gree Scottish rite Mason, receiving the last of

these degrees in 1867. He has also been a

worthy member of the Odd Fellows Association

since 1863. Dr. Van Norman was united in

marriage to Miss Martha N. Hazlett, daughter

of James and Elizabeth Hazlett, in 1867.

She was born in 1841, at Anderson, Madison

County, Indiana. Her people were formerly

from Virginia. Her parents now reside in

Riverside, California, and her father has at-

tained the advanced age of eighty-one years.
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Dr. and Mrs. Van Norman have two children,

a girl and a boy: Gertrude G., born May 24,

1871, at Ashtabula, Ohio: and William Ver-

non, born December 7, 1875, at Springfield,

Clark County, Ohio. The Doctor with his fam-

ily removed to San Diego, July 18, 1888, and

has purchased property and located here. Their

home is corner of Fifth and Maple streets and

is connected by telephone with his office at 927

Sixth street. Dr. Van Norman became a

Methodist when eighteen years of age and is a

member and one of the trustees of the First

Methodist Episcopal Church. Mrs. Van Nor-

man was a Presbyterian, but since her marriage

she has joined the Methodist Church.

fAPTAIN S. S. DUNNELLS was born at

Edgecomb, Maine, April, 15, 1824, and in

1826 moved with his parents to Belfast

on the Penobscot bay. His father was a sea-

faring man, as was his grandfather; the same

influence worked upon the son, and in 1833, at

the age of seventeen years, he went on board a

merchant vessel, which traded on the Atlantic

along the coast of North and South America

and the West Indies. In 1841, accompanied

by seven sailors, he went up the Mississippi and

Illinois rivers to Peoria, Illinois, and then by

wagon across the plains to Chicago, and the

following eight years sailed upon Lakes Michi-

gan, Huron and Erie, as master of a vessel. In

1849 he returned to Belfast, Maine, and in Jan-

uary, 1850, he sailed for San Francisco, Cali-

fornia, making but one stop, at Valparaiso, and

completing the trip in 160 days, arriving in

July, 1850.

He then went prospecting in placer mines

on the Mokelumne river and kter in Onion val-

ley and at the headwaters of the Feather river.

He soon, however, bought a mule team and car-

ried supplies from Marysville to the mines. He
then bought and built two lighters, purchased

lipflour at Sacramento, and shipped it

Feather river to Marysville, the motor pov

the

being wind and poles. He made several very

profiable trips, but sold out and went to min-

ing on Butte river, then to Piety Hills and

Bald mountains in Shasta County, where he

conducted general merchandise stores, selling

goods to the miners. In 1857 he iigain visited

the scenes of his childhood at Belfast, Maine,

returning by way of the Isthmus.

Mr. Dunnells was married in 1857 to Miss

Elizabeth II. Moore, a native of Maine. In

1858 he returned to California, where he re-

sumed his business at Piety Hills. Being joined

by his wife in 1859, they remained about four

years, and then sold out and went to Cotton-

wood, Shasta County, where they bought a

store and remained until 1886. They again

sold out and visited Red Bluff's, Sacramento,

San Jose and San Francisco. As he journeyed,

seeking a settlement, the stories of his youth

came before him, and the sea yarns of his old

uncle, a seafaring man, who had often visited

this coast, and on his return to his New En-

gland home would sit in the chimney corner

and tell of the beautiful bay and glorious cli-

mate of San Diego, and from this his attention

was turned to that place; and, being so satisfied

that San Diego would be to hi in a haven of re6t,

he went to A. E. Horton, who then had an

office at San Francisco, and purchased a house

and lot at the corner of Fifth and State streets.

San Diego city, that he might come to this land

of warmth and sunshine, feeling that a house

was opened for him and to shelter his family.

He then started the first hotel, known as the

" Old San Diego Hotel." After running the

hotel one year he leased it and in 1870 started

in steamboat operations, carrying freight and

passengers north as far as Santa Barbara and

about 300 miles south. In 1873 he sold out

and started in the fishing business, drying and

shipping to San Francisco, and also in piloting

vessels out and in the bay; but at that time

shipping was extremely light. He continued

until 1873, when he sold out and has since de-

voted himself exclusively to piloting.

Captain Dunnells has two children, one daugh-
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ter and a son, both living in San Diego, the

son being also a pilot and connected with his

father in duties upon the sea.

fj.

McINTOSH was born at Adams Cen-

tre, Jefferson County, New York, Febru-
c ary 20, 1829. The father was a native

of Massachusetts, but of Scotch descent, and

his mother was a native of Rhode Island.

They have seven children, F. J. being the sixth

in order of birth. His parents moved to Wilna,

Jefferson County, in 1832, where his mother

died. In 1845 he returned to Adams Centre,

and was apprenticed for two years to learn the

trade of shoemaker, and remained until 1848,

working at his trade. He then spent one year

traveling through Canada, working from time

to time when in need of funds, and in 1850 he

returned to Burr's Mills, Jefferson County,

New York, working at his trade.

He was married July 18, 1850, to Miss

Louisa Wheeler, a native of New York State.

He then started a hotel, which he continued

for fourteen months, and though with no ex-

perience he met with great success and cleared

about $1,500. In 1853 he sold his hotel in-

terests and engaged as foreman in a manufac-

turing shoe store, remaining until 1856, when
he went to Syracuse, New York, and started a

harness business under the firm name of Mc-
intosh & Dow. In 1857, owing to depressions

in business, he sold out and went to Rodman,
Jefferson County, working at his trade. In

1858 he opened a grocery and boot and shoe

store, and in 1860 took in a partner by the

name of Strong, the firm name being Mcintosh

& Strong, and in 1862 sold out to Strong. In

July, 1862, he enlisted in Company B, Tenth

New York Heavy Artillery, Colonel Piper in

command. They were ordered to Fort Rich-

mond, Staten Island, where they remained nine

months drilling in light artillery and infantry.

Then they were ordered to Washington, District

of Columbia, and were stationed at Fort Carroll,

and after a few months were ordered to Fort

Lyons, Virginia; but after a short time were

sent to the front and entered their first field en-

gagement in infantry at Cold Harhor, under

command of General Burnside. They then went
out by way of the Whitehouse Landing, in

General Grant's movement toward Petersburg.

They moved by water, and were the first com-
pany to land at City Point, arriving about dark.

On the following morning they were drawn up
in line of battle, and, making a charge, took

about thirty prisoners and nine pieces of field

artillery. They then went forward to Peters-

burg Heights, and captured main battery No.
5. Here was the undermining of Fort Cotton,

a rebel fort, the blowing up of which caused a

terrible loss of life. The regiment was then

ordered to the Shenandoah valley, Virginia, to

reinforce General Sheridan. The mornincr be-

fore the battle of Cedar Creek, the rebels sur-

prised the Union troops while in their tents,

and a general retreat followed. Sheridan, at

the time returning from Winchester to the

front, met his retreating troops, rallied his men,

drove back the rebels, and gained a victory

which ended the war in the Shenandoah valley.

They were then ordered back to the James
river, near Richmond, and were present at the

blowing up of the rebel gunboats on the James
river. The 2d day of April, 1865, 400 men,

selected from the Sixth and Tenth New York
regiments, and led by Major Campbell, of the

Tenth New York, charged on the rebel works,

driving them back to their main line, but, find-

ing themselves nearly surrounded, retreated

with the loss of eighty men killed. They then

made a general charge along the line, drove

the enemy about two miles toward Richmond,

and came up with General Sheridan, who had

just taken Petersburg. The regiment was then

ordered to Petersburg, where they remained in

charge of the conquered city until July, 1865,

when they were discharged from the United

States service and were sent back to Madison

Barracks, Sackett's Harbor, and were then dis-

charged from the State service. The subject of
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this sketch was not wounded during the

war.

Mr. Mcintosh then returned to Rodman,

Jefferson County, and bought an interest in his

old store, continuing under the firm name of

Mcintosh & Egan. He then bought Egan out,

and continued alone about one year, when he

sold out, but remained as manager. In 1867

he went to Long Island, Canada, buying and

shipping hides to the American 6ide. He con-

tinued about one year, and then went to New
York. July 5, 1868, he sailed for Aspinwall

on the first trip of the Dakota, but owing to an

accident they had a long and tedious passage.

They crossed the Isthmus of Panama by rail,

and at that place took the steamer Nevada for

San Francisco, arriving September 2, 1868.

He spent the winter mainly at San Jose, work-

ing at his trade, and on March 2, 1869, started

for San Diego. He immediately started a shoe

shop at Old Town, making a specialty of fancy

top boots for the Mexican trade, doing a pros-

perous business for eighteen months, with a

large force of employes whom he brought from

San Francisco. He was the pioneer shoemaker

of San Diego city. He then opened a shoe

shop near H and Fifth streets, which business

lie continued in about four years, when he gave

up manufacturing. Increasing his stock, he

kept a first-class shoe store on Fifth street. In

1876 he sold out his store, and has since de-

voted himself to building and trading in real

-

—

^-m-^—
f

EVERETT BIRD is a native of Tarry-

town, New York, horn April 30, 1861.

° His father, James Bird, and his grand-

father, Edmund Bird, were both natives of

Tarrytown. Their ancestors came from England

and settled in Massachusetts. His mother,

Elizabeth (Olmsted) Bird, was a native of New
York city. Her father, Silas Olmsted, was born

in Norwalk, Connecticut, in 1773, and while

quite a young man engaged in the ship build-

ing business in Maine, and afterward removed

to New York city, where he became one of the

most prominent men of his day and town. Mr.

Bird's parents were married in 1859, and their

union was blessed with this one son. He was

educated at Tarrytown and finished his business

education at Eastman's Business College, New
York; then spent one year in a lawyer's office

and afterward was associated with his father.

They were architects, contractors, and dealers in

building material and coal. They did an exten-

sive business grading streets and macadamizing

them with blue stone. Mr. Bird removed to

New Mexico and became one of the owners of

the North Homestake Mine in White Oaks,

New Mexico. It is now running successfully,

and he still retains his interest; he also owns an

interest in the Good Hope Consolidated Gold

Mine, Pinacate, California, which is located four

miles southwest of Perris, and has the reputa-

tion of being one of the richest mines in south

California. They bought it in 1889, and paid

$50,000 spot cash. Mr. Bird is secretary of

both mines, of which he is joint owner with his

father-in-law, Mr. James M. Sigafus, and has

charge of the operations of the mines. At the

Good Hope mine they have commenced opera-

tions to more fully develop the mine to an

extent that will show its worth, and will put on

a valuable stamp-mill and make a thoroughly

equipped mine. Mr. Bird is now engaged in

constructing, and has nearly completed, a beau-

tiful model residence for himself and family on

an eminence near the Good Hope mine. They

intend to beautify the grounds. The house,

outside, is a very picture, and inside is nicely

arranged with a view to health and comfort, and

is supplied with all modern conveniences. It

is being built at the moderate cost of $6,000.

Mr. Bird, the only child of his parents, married

the only living child of her parents, Miss E.

Marion Sigafus, born in Colorado April 5, 1867.

Her father, James M. Sigafus, is one of thoso

who started poor, but was born with both busi-

ness talent and good luck. When the country

was engaged in its great struggle to continue its
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national existence, he enlisted as a private sol-

dier on the side of the Union, and at the close

of the war ranked as a captain. A part of the

time while in the service he acted as quartermas-

ter. At the close of the war he returned to the

peaceful avocations of a farmer. He crossed the

plains to Colorado, where he continued the busi-

ness of fanning and stock-raising on quite a

large scale. When Leadville attracted attention

he grub-staked the man who discovered the

famous R. E. Lee mine, and owned it until

1879. Shortly after that he removed to Tar-

rytown, New York, and built a $150,000

residence, Mr. Bird's father furnishing the ar-

chitectural design and being the architect of the

structure. It is a great credit to both owner

and builder. Mr. Sigafus spend his winters in

southern California. Mr. and Mrs. Bird have

two children, both girls,— Elsie Mabel, born in

Tarrytown, March 29, 1885, and Edna Muriel,

born at Coronado Beach, August 11, 1889. Mr.

Bird is a Master Mason. His lodge, which is

in New York, is Solomon's Lodge, No. 196, and

is the same lodge in which his grandfather and

his father were Masons before him. Both Mr.

and Mrs. Bird are the kind of modest, unassum-

ing people that one can't help but admire.

[AVID SHERMAN LACEY is one of the

few men in San Diego who can trace his

ancestors back in a direct line on both his

father's and mother's sides, to the early part of

the seventeenth century. His ancestors on his

father's side were Normans, having moved from

Norland or Northland to England, and his

mother's remote ancestors were Saxons, having

moved to England from Saxony. Mr. Lacey is

able to claim a distant relationship to Queen

Victoria, but does not consider his blood any

better for that. Roger Sherman, one of the

signers of the Declaration of Independence, and

a noted statesman and United States Senator,

was also one of Mr. Lacey's relatives. Mr.

Rowland B. Lacey, Mr. D. S. Lacey's father,

was born at Easton, Connecticut, April 6, 1818.

He is a gentleman of marked ability and worth,

and a very leading spirit in his county, holding

many places of great importance and public

trust. He is a leader in the many important

improvements in the city of Bridgeport, where

he resides. He was extensively engaged in the

manufacture of saddlery and harness at Bridge-

port for many years, with depots at New York,

Philadelphia and Charleston, South Carolina.

He was the only son of Jesse Lacey and Edna

(Munson) Lacey. Jesse Lacey was the son of

Zachariah and Betsey (Rowland) Lacey. Zacha-

riah was the son of Edmund and Hannah (Sum-

mers) Lacey, and Edmund was the son of John

Lacey, and John Lacey was the son of Edward

and Sarah Lacey, born about the middle of the

seventeenth century. Mr. D. S. Lacey's mother

was Jane Eleanor Sherman, daugliter of Isaac

Sherman, Esq., and Maria (Burroughs) Sherman.

Isaac was the son of David 3rd and Rebecca

(French) Sherman. David 3rd was the son of

David 2nd and Mary (Sterling) Sherman. Da-

vid 2nd was the son of Lieutenant David and

Sarah (Thompson) Sherman, and Lieutenant

David Sherman was the son of Matthew and

Hannah (Buckley) Sherman. Matthew was the

son of Mr. Samuel 1st and Sarah (Mitchell)

Sherman. Samuel was the son of Edmund and

Judith (Angier) Sherman. Edmund was the

son of Henry 2nd and Susan (Hills) Sherman,

and was born in Dedham, England, July 12,

1618. He came to America at the age of four-

teen. Henry 2nd was the son of Henry 1st and

Agnes Sherman. She died in 1580. Henry

Sherman, of Dedham, England, city of Essex,

removed thither probably from the county of

Suffolk, as he bore the Suffolk Sherman coat of

arras. He died in 1589. Mr. D. S. Lacey

attended school at Bridgeport, New Haven,

Poughkeepsie and New York. He also took a

a course at Yale Medical College, and graduated

at Eastman's Business College. He took a full

course at the College of Pharmacy, New York

city, and was a licensed pharmacist. In 1885

he went to New Mexico, where he spent one



HISTORY OF SAN DIEGO COUNTY.

year. In 1886 he came to San Diego and en-

gaged in the wholesale commission business, in

which business he has continued until the

present time, under the firm name of Lacey,

Cot'er & Co. Mr. Lacey is a charter member

of the Board of Trade, also a charter director

and its treasurer. He served five years as

hospital steward of the Twenty-second Regi-

ment National Guards, State of "New York.

He was married to Mrs. Sarah E. Parker De-

cember 28, 1880, by whom he had one child,

Rowland Sherman Lacey, born February 16,

1883. Mrs. Lacey died March 1, 1883. Mr.

Lacey was again married October 1, 1889, to

Charlotte Noble, daughter of Rev. W. B. Noble,

D. D., pastor of the First Presbyterian Church

of San Diego. Mr. and Mrs. Lacey are both

members of this church. We have thus care-

fully traced the history and lineage of one of

San Diego's young business men. It has been

said that hlood will tell, and we may therefore

look for most useful and successful.

The genealogy found in this history was

taken from a history of Bridgeport and Strat-

ford, comprising the period from 1639 to 1886,

by Rev. Samuel Orcutt.

-^

fOSEPH WINTER, baker at San Diego,

was born in Schwarzach, Buhl County,

Germany, February 9, 1851. His parents)

natives of Germany, were the parents of six

children, all of whom are living. After a com-

mon-school education, at the age of sixteen,

years, the subject of this sketch left for the

United States, going to the Pacific coast to in-

vestigate that land, world famed as one of the

gold nuggets and rich placer mines. In 1867

he took the steamer at Havre for New York,

and then a steamer for Aspinwall, on the

Isthmus of Panama, and at the latter place

took the steamer for San Francisco, where, after

a delightful passage, he arrived in September,

1867. He went to Oroville, Butte County, and

entered a bakery to learn the making of cakes

and bread. He remained two and a half years,

then went to San Francisco, working two and a

half years in Oakes' bakery, leaving in April,

1873, for San Diego. He bought out an old

bakery on the present site, No. 560 Fourth

street, and at once opened a small shop known

as the San Diego cracker bakery; but the town

was small and the business went slow for some

years; yet by careful, prudent management, his

bu.-iness increased with the growth of the town,

and in 1886 it was necessary to increase the

power and capacity of the machinery, and he

then changed from light, small machinery to

heavy, large machinery, putting in a plant which

cost him $20,000. His entire plant is now val-

ued at $30,000. He is an artist in all lines of

cookery and fancy frostings and he supplies the

market with small cakes and crackers.

In June, 1874, Mr. Winter was married to

Miss Caroline Hofmann. They have five chil-

dren, all of whom are livjng and at home.

tENRY C. LANGREHR is a native of

Goodyear's Bar, California, and was born

March 7, 1856. His father, Diedrich

Langrehr, a native of Holstein, Germany, was

born February 1, 1830, and came to America

in 1848. He arrived in Philadelphia and came

to San Francisco in the fall of 1848, while the

place was little better than a barren desert,

where he engaged in the mercantile business

for a while. He then became a miner near

Sacramento and Feather river, and returned to

San Francisco, where lie started a restaurant on

the southwest corner of Montgomery and Sutter

streets, near where the Russ house now stands,

and owned a private residence east of the pres-

ent Dashaway hall, on Post street. He became

interested in mines of great value, and was

lawed out of his complete property. He then

became a boarding-house keeper until 1884,

when he died and was buried with great honor

by the pioneers of San Francisco. Mr. H. C.

Langrehr's mother, Matilda M.W. M. (Schmidt)
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Langrehr, was born in the city of Hamburg,

May 9, 1840. Her father was a carriage-maker

in that city. They had a family of six children,

but two of whom survive—Mr. Henry 0. Lan-

grehr, who now resides in San Diego, and the

subject of this sketch. His young life was

spent part of the time in the city of Hamburg,

Germany, and in the cities of Edinburg, Lon-

don and Paris. He was also in New York,

Boston and Chicago, and finished his education

in San Francisco.

In 1870 he learned the metallic life-boat

building business, which he soon mastered, and

became a geometrical iron cutter. He look the

money he earned in this way and invested it in

night schools. He attended Commercial College

and then went to a branch institute of the Chi-

cago, Illinois, Civil Engineering and Surveying

School, where he improved himself in higher

mathematics and in civil engineering generally.

He then invented many useful articles and the

celebrated Miniug, Marine and Irrigating Pump
which has received so much consideration in the

United States. He also invented a signal horn

for marine purposes, and a bicarbureted hydro-

gen car motor. He has received several medals

as rewards, and holds several certificates of merit

for his inventions.

He helped to organize the Native Sons of the

Golden West, in 1876, in the city of San Fran-

cisco. The main cause for starting the society

was to improve the morals and manners of the

native sons of California. The society started

with eighteen members, of which he was one,

and now numbers 20,000. He is an Odd Fel-

low and a Mason. He had the honor of being

the first Native Son of the Golden West who
took the thirty-second degree in Masonry. In

1884 he was nominated on the taxpayer's ticket

for County Surveyor of city and county of San

Francisco in opposition to bossism.

In 1884 he removed to San Diego, at which

place and Los Angeles he practiced his profes-

sion. He becane interested in the Working-

men's party of San Diego, and being a mechanic

himself, he became a Knight of Labor, and was

judge and assistant master workman of the as-

semblj'. In 1887 he was nominated by the

Workingmen's party of San Diego as a member
of the Board of Education, but was defeated by

the small majority of less than forty votes. The
same year he was appointed chief engineer by

the Coronado B^ach corporation, and located

and surveyed the immense concrete foundations

which has in its foundations every line of geom-

etry, which he did in accordance with the plans

of the architect of the celebrated the Hotel del

Coronado. He was appointed by the same

company to go to San Francisco to get infor-

mation in regard to the dry docks and marine

railways. The plans he reported were adopted

and the railway is constructed in accordance

with his recommendations ou the north penin-

sula of Coronado. He was next engaged in

surveying the sewer system ot Coronado Beach,

under the instruction of Henry Schusler, civil

engineer of the celebrated Spring Valley Com-
pany, of San Francisco. He then located the

wharves and railroad of the Coronado Beach

Company. After this he resigned his position

with the company and became one of the as-

sistant engineers of Colonel Waring, civil engi-

neer, of Boston, and ran the lines of fourteen

miles for the Waring system of sewers for the

city of San Diego. He then laid out the Otay

dam water system; assisted in the construction

of the Coronado Belt Railroad line; became an

assistant of the city corps of engineers, and

while in that position he was elected on the

Republican ticket for surveyor of the county of

San Diego, by an overwhelming majority of

2,000. He has recently been appointed by the

grand jury as an expert to examine the public

buildings, bridges, roads, etc., in process of

construction, and report upon their strength

and durability.

In June, 1889, he invented a device, as life-

saving guards, for cable cars, and was engineer

for the great bridge across the San Gabriel

river in Los Angeles, and his plans were adopt-

ed; cost of the bridge, $5,000. In July, same

year, he was a ppoi ited engineer for the Carriso
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Land and "Water Company, and to explore the

great Colorado desert of San Diego County,

with reference to the irrigation. September 4,

same year, he was appointed by the San Diego

County Supervisors to wait upon the Senatorial

Commiteeof the United States, at the rooms of

the San Diego Chamber of Commerce, to assist

in giving them valuable information on desert

lands and water supplies. November 29, same

year, he was appointed by Governor Waterman

as Notary Public for the city of San Diego.

January 31, 1890, he was admitted to the

Junior Bar 'Association, and wa* elected chair-

man of a committee and as legal adviser. April

5, same year, he invented and suggested the

6ystem known as the Relief Line Iron Mile-

Posts across the desert of Colorado in San

Diego County, life saving, to aid travelers, and

also established the pioneer patent office of the

city of San Diego. In May, 1890, he was ap-

pointed as United States Deputy Mineral and

Land Surveyor by the United States Surveyor

General, W. H. Pratt, of California. Not many

young men can present a better record for his

age than this brilliant young man.

November 10, 1881, Mr.. Langrehr was mar-

ried to Miss Frances K. Simon, who had been

his schoolmate, and was born in San Francisco,

November 10, 1858, the daughter of Benjamin

Simon, a pioneer who came to California in

1849, and was in the grocery trade until 1875,

when he retired from business. Mr. and Mrs.

Langrehr have a daughter, born in San Fran-

cisco, October 1, 1882.

#^€B"£#

fHILIP MORSE was born in Fayette,

Maine, May 23, 1845. His boyhood days

were passed in the village, where he at-

tended the district school. Later on he was a

pupil in the Lewistou Falls Academy, where he

prepared to enter Bowdoin College in the class

of 1865. Failing health, however, compelled

him to give up all thought of entering college,

and he decided to come to California. Arriving

in San Francisco in September of that year, he

secured a position as salesman in the lumber

yard of Glidden & Colman, pier 20, Stewart

street, where he reinaiued until March, 1869,

when he accepted a position with McDonald &
Co., to come to San Diego to take charge of

their lumber business here. He arrived March

9, and has been identified with the interests of

the city ever since. In October, 1875, he suc-

ceeded Jose G. Estudillo as assistant cashier of

the Commercial Bank, which position he held

for three years and a half, when he went to

Arizona, where he built a mill and manufact-

ured lumber for the mines. Here he remained

ed for four years, being associated in business

with Mr. Jacob Gruendike. Upon his return

to San Diego in 1883, he went into business

with his father-in-law, G. W. B. McDonald,

under the firm name of McDonald & Morse.

The firm continued in existence for one year,

and then, in conjunction with several San Fran-

cisco capitalists, Mr. Morse organized the San

Diego Lumber Company, of which he was elect-

ed general manager. The capital stock of the

company was fixed at $75,000. He is also a

stockholder in, and was one of the organizers,

and first superintendent of the West Coast Red-

wood Company of San Francisco. He is presi-

dent of the West San Diego Manufacturing

Company, which is engaged in the manufacture

of doors, sash, blinds, etc.

He has served two terms as member of the

city Board of Education, and is now a director

of the Chamber of Commerce and of the Board

of Trade of San Diego city.

In giving this brief sketch of Philip Morse,

really but one side of his character has been ex-

posed to view. "We have seen how he has risen,

through the exercise of exceptionally good busi-

ness qualites, from a clerkship to a position of

affluence and recognized prominence in the com-

munity. "We have seen him successful in his

business ventures, and honored and trnsted by

his fellow-citizens. But there is another phase

of his character, which is seldom found com-

bined with business men of financial ability.
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In the exercise of a wise economy nature but

rarely endows the same mind with more than

one of what may be called her cardinal gifts.

Occasionally, however, when in a lavish mood,

she departs from this general rule. The char-

acter of Philip Morse is an instance of this.

Added to his ability as a business man, he has

a fine literary taste, and a talent for poetry,

which has. borne fruit in the production of some

stanzas which will live in the annals of Ameri-

can verse. As a writer of descriptive prose,

also, he has been quite successful. His sense

of observation is keen and he writes of what he

sees in a bright, pleasant style that is both

agreeable and instructive to the reader.

Mr. Morse was married May 23, 1870, to

Miss Sarah McDonald, daughter of one of San

Diego's most prominent citizens, and one of the

first supervisors. They have three children, of

which only a son is living. Mrs. Morse died in

April, 1889.

The residence of Mr. Morse, which is situ-

ated at the corner of Twelfth and E streets, is

one of the finest in the city. The finish of the

interior is especially attractive, being done in

the choicest of curly redwood.

®H. CONKLIN, an attorney at law in

San Diego, is one of the leading mem-
9 bers of the San Diego bar. Although

still a comparatively young man, his life has

been a very busy one. In turn a soldier, jour-

nalist and lawyer, he has achieved prominence in

every profession with which his fortunes have

been identified. He was born in Wyoming
County, Pennsylvania, June, 1839. His father,

Lawrence C Conklin, born in New York city

in 1800, was a carpenter and bridge builder.

His mother, Sybil (Redfield) Conklin, was born

in New York in 1802, the daughter of Russell

Redfield and Betsy (Bixby) Redfield. Their

ancestors were Connecticut people. His boy-

hood was passed with his parents in the town of

Tunkhannock, on the Susquehanna, where he

acquired such an education as was to be had at

the public schools. In 1859 he began the study

of law in the office of Judge Peckham, judge of

the Court of Common Pleas. He was still im-

mersed in his studies at the time of the break-

ing out of the war. Those who are not yet

arrived at middle age have but little idea of the

scenes that followed the firing upon Sumter,

—

the ebullitions of patriotic fervor, the mustering

to arms, the hurried march to the field. Through

out the loyal States the response to President Lin-

coln's proclamation for troops was instantane-

ous: there was no hesitating then. Young Conk-

lin heard the summons, and, throwing aside his

law books, began raising a company of volun-

teers. Within less than a week from the time

of the issuing of the proclamation his company

was full, and he made a tender of it to the Gov-

ernor. But the quota of the State was filled

and the offer was declined. The Government

and many of the people then believed with

Senator Seward that the whole "affair" would

be over in ninety days. Suffering under his

dissappointment, }
7oung Conklin went to Cin-

cinnati to visit some friends. He could not,

however, resist the impulse to give his services

to his country, and within a week after his

proffer had been rejected by the Governor of

Pennsylvania he enlisted, in Cincinnati, in Com-

pany D, Second Kentucky Volunteers. He
had been walking along the streets, when the

beating of a drum again aroused the fires of

patriotism within his breast; he went up stairs

where a war meeting was being held, and en-

listed as a private, not knowing at the time

what the regiment was or where it was going;

he only knew that the country needed his serv-

ices, and right freely he proffered them. He
was sent with his regiment to the Kauawha, in

Western Virginia, and remained there until the

Bp •ine of 1862. Hi reg ment was then or-

dered to Kentucky, and then into Tennessee. He
participated in the terrible battle of Shiloh, and

was at the siege of Corinth. He then went

back to Kentucky, and was in the State at the

time of Brad's raid. At Louisville he was
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discharged fur promotion, having been commis-

sioned Second Lieutenant in the Eighty-third

Ohio Regiment. When he reached Cincinnati

he found that his regiment had been ordered

into the field. This was in November, 1862.

He then returned to his home in Pennsylvania,

where he remained until the following spring,

reading the neglected law books. But he could

not be content in such a peaceful avocation, and,

having a strong taste for the navy, he applied

for and was appointed master's mate. He was

immediately ordered to report on board the

Kenwood, attached to the Mississippi squadron.

He took part in the siege of Vicksburg, and saw

much active service while on the Kenwood,

which was one of the fastest steamers on the

river, and was generally used as a dispatch boat.

In the spring of 1865 he was ordered to the

Chillicothe, an iron-clad. As soon as lie was

mustered out of service at the close of the war,

he again returned to Pennsylvania and once

more renewed his law studies. He had two

brothers in the Union army, both of whom are

now living, one residing in northern California,

and the other in Missouri.

As soon as he had been admitted to the bar

he started west and located at Warrensburg,

Missouri, where he began the practice of his

profession. He remained at "Warrensburg un-

til the fall of 1874. During this time he was

engaged in publishing the Johnson Democrat,

a weekly newspaper. In October, 1874, he

started for San Diego. Upon his arrival here

he assumed editorial control of the San Diego

World, a daily, in connection with Mr. Julian,

at present one of the proprietors of the San
Diegan. In 1877 he was elected District At-

torney of the county, and held the office two

years. Since then he has been engaged iu the

practice of law. Mr. Conklin has the largest

general law practice of all attorneys in San

Diego. He is the legal adviser of most of the

large corporations here; is vice-president of

the Pacific Wire Cloth Company, and is one of

the principal stockholders of the Mission Val-

ley Water Company and other large corpo-

rations. He is a Past Post Commander of

Heintzelman Post, G. A. K., and is Past Com-
mander of San Diego Commandery, Knight

Templars. He was instrumental in bringing

the railroad here, and has been interested in all

public improvements. He has a handsome resi-

dence lately completed in Florence Heights on

the corner of Fifth and Ivy streets.

Mr. Conklin was married in 1867 to Miss

Myra I. Reese, born in Hanover, Indiana, Oc-

tober 20, 1847. At the time of their marrage

she was a resident of Warrensburg, Missouri.

Their union has been blessed with eight chil-

dren, three of whom survive, viz.: Ralph L.

Conklin, born in Warrensburg, Missouri, May
31, 1869; Sybil Conklin, born July 10, 1878,

and Claud R. Conklin, born December 14,

1883. Both of the latter are natives of San

Diego.

g - i"fg

fOHN D. PALMER was born in Washing-

ton County, Ohio, June 5, 1843. His

father, Oscar F. Palmer, was a native of

Ohio and was born April 27, 1823. His mother,

Anna M. Chamberlain, was born in Washington

County, Ohio, May 22, 1824. (For ancestry of

these families see I. L. Palmer's biography on

another page.) They were married August 24,

1842, and had four children, of whom J. D.

was the eldest. His mother having died June

27, 1852, his father went to California in

1853, and he went to live with an uncle and

aunt. Here he went to school part of the time

and helped on the farm in the busy season. At
twelve years of age he went to work for farmers

in the summer and to school three months in

the winter until lie was fifteen years of age, when

he learned the carpenters' trade. He then be-

came a brakeman on the railroad and afterward

fireman. On April 22, 1861, he enlisted for

three months in Company C, Third Ohio Infan-

try, at the end of which time he again enlisted

for three years and was mustered out July, 1864.

He enlisted for the third time, in Company C,
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One Hundred and Eighty-second Ohio, in Au-

gust, 1864. His regiment, the Third Ohio, the

Fiftieth and Eighty-first Indiana, the Eightieth

Illinois, and two companies of First Tennessee

Cavalry were sent on a raid under command of

Colonel A. D. Straight. They were ordered to

intercept and destroy communications between

the rebels and their supplies. They were sur-

rounded, and after a fight of five days and nights

were captured. The men were, after fifteen days,

paroled, and the officers put in Libby Prison.

After being in that terrible prison for some time

Colonel A. D. Straight made a tunnnel from

one street to another, which opened into a cellar,

through which he and about 600 men escaped,

but about half of them were re-captured. He
wis mustered out July 14, 1864, but again en-

listing he was sent back and took part in the

battle of Nashville, under General George H.

Thomas. He remained in the army until the

close of the war and was mustered out in July,

1865. He then married Miss Lydia S. Swift,

of Washington County, Ohio, daughter of

Charles and Amy Swift, who was born May 2,

1844. Their union has been blessed with eight

children: Ida L., horn in Washington County,

Ohio, June 20, 1866, who married Mr. J. F.

McCann, of Athens County, Ohio, and has had

four children: Leota Blanche, born in San Diego,

August 11, 1884; John Harold, born April 9,

1886, and died April 20, 1887; Forest Glenn,

born in San Diego, April 19, 1888, and Howard,

born April 15, 1890; Oscar Fitz Allen, born Feb-

ruary 18, 1868, in Washington County, Ohio;

William Henry, born January 19, 1870, in

Morgan County, Ohio; Maggie L. and Mattie

L., born March 10, 1872; Andrew S., born

February 22, 1878, in Morgan County, Ohio;

Edgar Winfred, born January 30, 1880, in

Morgan County, and Bessie Claire, born Feb-

ruary 11, 1883, in Morgan County, Ohio. Mr.

and Mrs. Morgan and their daughters are mem-
bers of the Methodist Episcopal Church; she is

also a member of the women's relief corps of the

G. A. R. Mr. Palmer is an Odd Fellow and a

member of the G. A. Ii. He was engaged for

fourteen years in the saw-milling business in

Ohio, but his property was swept away by a

freshet, when he came to California in 1884.

He landed in San Diego with only $16 in his

pocket, but immediately engaged in contracting,

building and moving houses. He has been

offered as high as $20,000 at one time tor his

real estate in San Diego, and he has an outfit

for moving buildings valued at $10,000. The
history of such a stout-hearted, Self-reliant man
should inspire with courage every poor man
who has met with misfortunes to take courage

and by honest industry rise again.

~^^ *#—
M. McDONALD, born at Puchmond,Vir-

inia, February 8, 1854, came to San
Diego, California, May 8, 1868. His

occupation was formerly stock-raising, and is

now deputy constable of San Diego Township,
under Jose Cota. He is a member of Coionado
Lodge, No. 328, I. O. O. F.

fAMES VERNON is a native of Middlesex

County, England, and was born July 17,

1843. His father, John Vernon, was a

tailor in the city of London and married Miss
Ellen Kelly, who died three years after James,
the subject of this sketch, was born. They had
eight children, seven boys and one daughter.

One son, Charles, is a woolen-tweed manufact-

urer, and Thomas is a tailor in Los Angeles.

Mr. Vernon attended school until twelve years

of age, when he ran away and went to sea on
board the Leonidas. He apprenticed himself

for three years, at the end of which time he had
become an expert sailor. When his term ex-

pired he sailed about for two years, mostly be-

tween England and the United States. He made
one trip to the Baltic, went several times to

South America and was also in Yokahama. On
his return to England he fell out of the main

top mast, struck on the main sheet and fell on
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the deck, during a gale. He broke one thigh,

one arm and four ribs and was seven months

recovering. Four others fell at the same time,

all of whom were severely injured and two

killed outright. This caused him to retire from

the sea, and at the age of seventeen he took up

his father's business, which he has continued

ever since. He was a journeyman tailor in

London for ten years, and in 1864 he came to

the United States. He has been in the merchant

tailoring business with Hughes & Muller, Phil-

adelphia, for five years, with Huff Brothers,

School street, Boston, for one year, and was with

Chase of Providence. He then spent two years

in London, and was one year in Morgan's house

in the Isle of Wight, the greatest yachting out-

fitting house in the world. He then went to

Chicago and was one year with George Matthews,

the largest merchant tailoring establishment in

Chicago. He then went to San Francisco with

Bullock & Jones, where he remained three years,

when he came to San Diego in September, 1885.

The population of San Diego at that time was

estimated at 7,000, but in 1889 it had increased

to 30,000. He purchased property in San

Diego, where he has a large merchant tailoring

business, with many of the best citizens for his

customers. Since coming to America Mr. Ver-

non has made eight trips across the Atlantic fur

the purpose of selecting English suitings. There

is no country that excels the west of England in

the manufacture of broadcloth. The French may

be said to excel in silk mixed textures but not

in broadcloth. In 1869 Mr. Vernon was mar-

ried to Miss Eleanor Jane Page, daughter of

John Page, of Cambridge, England. She was

born in 1846. Mr. Vernon is a member of the

order of Odd Fellows and is a very agreeable

business man.

fHARLES DELEVAL was born at Pays

de Calais, France, March 29, 1832; his

parents were also natives of France. In

1851 he came to America, sailing from Havre

to New York, and across the Isthmus of Pana-

ma to San Francisco, where he arrived in 1852.

He went to placer mining in Fresno and Mari-'

posa counties, prospecting for about six years.

He then came to Los Angeles and started a

grocery store, which he successfully carried on

for eight years, also running a flour-mill at San

Jose, continuing the two lines of business until

1870, when he sold out and came to San Diego

and started a commission and wholesale grocery

store, under tire firm name of Deleval & Water-

man, which they continued until 1874. They

sold out to Stewart & Capron, and started the

liquor business on the corner of F and Fifth

streets, putting up their own building. But

this business proved disastrous, and in 1880

they went into liquidation, and Mr. Deleval re-

turned to Los Angeles, where he resumed the

grocery business for five years and then sold

out and speculated, during the boom of 1886,

in real estate. In 1889, from pure love of the

climate of San Diego, he returned to that city

and entered the wholesale and retail liquor

business, under the firm name of Charles Dele-

val & Co., buying out and succeeding the San

Bernardino Wine Company, aud they now carry

a stock of about $5,000 in wines and liquors.

Mr. Deleval was married at Los Angeles,

March 12, 1861, to Miss Marie Hennequin.

They have five daughters.

fAMES MURPHY, a retired rancher re-

siding in San Diego, is a native of County

Kilkenny, Ireland. He was born July 21,

1843. His father, John Murphy, was a farmer

in Ireland, and his mother, whose maiden name

was Bridget Kennedy, was also a native of Ire-

land. They were married in 1827, and had

twelve children, all of whom reached the age of

eighteen, and eight of whom still survive.

His mother and sister are still living at the old

home in Ireland. He obtained his education at

the national school in the town of Castle Cor-

ner, County Kilkenny. When through with
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school, he sailed in the steamship Kangaroo

from Qneenstown to New York, where he

landed June 1, 1864, and worked for nearly

two years in a bonded warehouse. In Febru-

ary, 1866, he left New York for California, and

landed at San Francisco. He went to Petaluma

and engaged in dairying and agriculture, where

he remained until 1869, when he left there and

moved to San Diego, where he worked for five

or six months at whatever he could get to do.

He tried farming in 1872, but the drouth was

so great that the crop was a failure. He then

engaged in sheep-raising, and followed it for

ten years. During that time he located 160

acres of Government land, lying six miles south

of El Cajon, on the Sweetwater river, and

afterward bought 700 acres adjoining his home-

stead, where he remained a little over live years.

There were few neighbors at that time, while

now there aie many fine places that were then

considered of little or no value on this ranch.

He built a house and barn, planted a variety of

deciduons fruit trees and a few orange and lemon

trees. The fruit trees were intended principally

for family use. He carried on dairying and

agriculture, and part of the time sheep-raising,

and realized two or three thousand dollars per

annum from his ranch. His cattle were good

grade dairy cattle. He carried on farming quite

extensively, raising in a single year as high as

250 acres of wheat, barley and corn. He planted

one sack of corn and harvested seventy-eight

sacks, the soil receiving no culture after plant-

ing. In August, 1887, he sold his real estate

at the ranch for $40,000, the property with the

buildings costing him $3,000, when he came to

San Diego and built a nice house on some lots

he had purchased of Mr. Horton in 1869, ex-

pending about $4,000 in improving these lots.

He was married in February, 1878, to Miss

Emma A. Webb, a native of California, who

was born October 12, 1860, in Point Arena,

Mendocino County. Her father, G. W. Webb,

was a native of Georgia. Mr. and Mrs. Mur-

phy have a family of six children: Alice, born

October 24, 1879, on the Jamaica ranch, San

Diego County; John, born May, 1881; Ida,

February 26, 1883; Jane, December 25, 1884;

Mary Agnes, August 5, 1887, and James, born

in San Diego, May 29, 1889. Mr. Murphy is

a member of the Catholic Church, and also a

member of the San Diego Society of Pioneers.

While on his ranch in 1885, he gave an acre of

ground on which a nice $1,000 school-house

was built. He was a trustee of the school from

then until he came away. At present he is re-

tired from business. He is another fine illus-

tration of what industry and close application

will do for a man.

#^€^#
§A. McDOWELL, Sheriff of San Diego

County, was born in Orange County,
° New York, October 11, 1839, and came to

this coast in 1864. He spent the succeeding ten

years in different sections of the State, principally

in the Sierra valley and Siskiyou County. In

1874 he settled in San Diego, where he has since

resided. In 1879 he was elected Supervisor,

which office he held several successive terms.

In 1884 he was elected Auditor and Recorder,

and retained the office, until 1886, when he was

elected Sheriff. In 1888 he was re-elected to

the office,, which he has always filled with faith-

fulness and ability.

—#?•«»•£#

tOBERT BAILEY was born in New York

city on the 9th day of September, 1828.

He attended the public schools of that city

until he was sixteen years of age and then, being

of a restless disposition and wishing to see the

world, he struck out for the Middle Western

States, but met with no particular experience

until 1849, when in the gold excitement of Cal-

ifornia he decided to visit that great El Dorado

of the far West, and to that end joined a large

party in Missouri, and with ox teams set out on

that long journey across the plains, seeing no

Indians and meeting with no particular adven-
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ture. They crossed the Kocky Mountains by

the South Pas6 and around by Fort Hall, came

into the Sacramento valley by the Lawson

route and arrived at Lawson'a ranch after six

months of wearisome traveling. They then went

to Bidwell's bar on the middle fork of the

Feather river, when they began their mining

experience. They worked with " rockers " with

very good results, but soon moved to the Cor-

racco bar, where they made about $50 per day.

Food was scarce; damp, hard, worm-eaten flour,

costing $2 per pound; but money was plenty

and easily made and little value was put upon

it; an ounce of gold was given for a day's labor.

In 1850 he went to San Francisco for a time,

as a clerk, then in September went to Shasta

County and began mining on the Sacramento

river, but with poor results: so went into the em-

ploy of Bull, Baker & Co., of Shasta, wholesale

and retail grocers, remaining until 1854, when he

went up the south fork of the Salmon river,

meeting with very fair success until the freshets

came and mining closed for the winter; then

went to Red Bluffs in the employ of J. D. Dall

& Co., general merchandise and liquors, re-

maining until 1858, when a company of eighty

men was organized under General Kibby to go

and suppress the Pit River Indians, Mr. Bailey

being First Lieutenant. They killed many of

the Indians and captured about 1,500, who

were taken to San Francisco and from there

sent by steamer to the Mendocino reservation

in Mendocino County. He then worked in the

office of General Kibby for about six months,

when a company of eighteen was formed to go

and search for the celebrated Gun Sight lead

out near Death valley in Inyo County. Death

valley is 150 feet below the level of the sea and

very barren, there being no fresh water and

consequently no vegetation. Valley about thirty

miles across and sixty miles long; emigrants

suffering great hardships in crossing and often

death for want of water. The company failing

to find the lead disbanded and returned to San

Francisco; then in 1861 he went to the Tahiti

Islands in the South Seas, then by Valparaiso

up the South American coast to Panama, and

then taking steamer back to San Francisco.

Then prospected in Idaho during the summer
of 1862, meeting with fair success; after work-

ing claim out went into Oregon and located

some good claims at Cottonwood gulch, where

he and a partner built a cabin and worked

through the winter with good success. In the

spring of 1868 left partner and went to Idaho,

prospecting in California gulch near Placerville

and was interested in the Thorn Creek ditch at

Idaho City, which was a very rich claim, and

remained about two years. In 1865 he went to

Montana, remaining about two years and losing

a great deal of money in running bed rock tun-

nel at Orifina gulch. In 1867 he joined a com-

pany of seventy-five men under the leadership

of Jeff Stanford, to prospect in the Big Horn

mountains in Wyoming. Camping on the Big

Horn river they collected and dried game to the

amount of fifty pounds to the man, then crossed

the river on rafts; then, dissatisfaction arising

in the company, some wishing to go to Salt

Lake, the company divided and Mr. Bailey was

elected captain of the band to visit the Big

Horn mountains. They crossed the mountains

but found little gold, and came out on the Tongue

river. The Sioux Indians were very trouble-

some, and they killed two of their party while

out hunting; their bodies were afterward found

scalped and filled with arrows. Prospecting be-

ing unsuccessful the company disbanded, and

being near Fort Phil Kearny, Mr. Bailey se-

cured the position of mail carrier to Fort Lar-

amie, down near the Platte river, distant about

130 miles. The country being infested with

Indians, much riding was done at night and

the round trip took him eight days, and he wa-;

thus employed for nine months.

In 1867 he went with the Eighteenth Regi-

ment under Colonel Carrington, to Fort Mc-

Pherson, and was then appointed chief of scouts

and came to Fort Saunders on Laramie plains

with General Gibbon. He there received the

appointment and built the company post during

the winter of 1867; leaving in the spring of
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1868 for Camp Douglas at Salt Lake, and again

began prospecting at Bingham canon, but met

with poor success. Then joined a company of

six for White Pine mountains, but luck being

down, 6old some valuables and started for San

Diego, arriving in July, 1869; then went pros-

pecting in the Julian mountains, but, finding

no placer mines, returned to San Diego and

took a position as barkeeper with Mr. Elliott at

foot of F street; after five months was ap-

pointed Deputy Sheriff, which continued about

eight months. Was employed as first bar-

keeper at the Horton House, then opened a

saloon on Fifth street, continuing in business

until September, 1888, when he retired until

July, 1889, and then opened his present stand

on E, between Fourth and Fifth streets.

A man of varied experiences, and one who

has suffered many hardships, but still, at the

age of sixty-one years, remains in the prime of

life,

-^bS-^

fC.
HOLLAND, one of the early pioneers

to California who after twenty-seven years
3 of hard and continuous labor has settled

down in peace and contentment, in his comfort-

able cottage at the corner of Tenth and F
streets. He was born at Hyde, Cheshire County,

England, October 25, 1834. He was the young-

est son in a family of thirteen children, and

after getting an education and learning the trade

of bricklayer, at the age of twenty one years,

he left home, family and country, to seek name

and fortune in the vast country of the United

States, whose arms are extended to the indus-

trious of every nationality, provided they seek

her shores with honesty of purpose, and become

loyal to the flag which floats over them. Mr.

Holland crossed in a sailing vessel, landing in

New York. He then spent two years in Can-

ada and five years in Indiana, working at his

trade and at contract work. In 1862, he re-

turned to New York en route to California, by

the Nicaragua route, on the steamer America

on the Atlantic, and the Boiling Moses on the

Pacific, and arriving at San Francisco, July 12,

1862. He was then sick about one year, from

fever contracted at Nicaragua. After recover-

ing he spent three months at Virginia City, and

then sailed for the Sandwich Islands, where he

passed five years working at his trade, contract-

ing in both brick, stone and street building.

He then returned to San Francisco and came
direct to San Diego, arriving November 5, 1869.

He immediately built himself a residence, cor-

ner of Tenth and F streets, and moved in before

Christmas of the same year. The first contract

work in San Diego was the old Express Build-

ing corner of Sixth and G- streets for A. E.

Horton ; he also built the court-house and several

smaller buildings. In 1873 he returned to San

Francisco, working in and about the city for

eight years. From 1880 to 1885, he worked at

San Diego, San Bernardino and Los Angeles,

returning to San Diego in June, 1885; then

operated a little during the real-estate boom,

but is now living quietly and happily in his

comfortable home.

Mr. Holland was married at Ingersoll, Can-

ada, June 17, 1856, to Miss Susan B. James, of

English and Canadian descent. Having no

children of their own they adopted a little girl,

who is now with them. Mr. Holland is a mem-
ber of the Society of San Diego Pioneers.

—

&~m-^—
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fACOB M. JULIAN, of San Diego, is a pio-

neer of California, having lived in San

Francisco when there were but five or six

small houses in the now great city of 300,000

inhabitants. Such has been the growth in

forty years in one city in California. Mr.

Julian is a Southerner; with the sterling quali-

ties of a good man he combines those of a

generous, courteous gentleman. He was born

October 6, 1816, in Moulton, Lawrence County,

Alabama. His father, George E. Julian, was a

native of South Carolina. His grandfather,

Samuel Julian, was born in South Carolina and
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was a descendant of the Huguenots who were

driven from France on account of their religious

views, and, seeking religious liberty in America,

settled in the southern portion of the United

States. Mr. Julian's grandmother, Anna (Hous-

ton) Julian, was a daughter of Mr. H. Houston,

and niece of the celebrated Sam. Houston.

Her husband, Solomon Reese, was a native of

North Carolina, of Scotch- Irish extraction. Mr.

Julian's father was born in 1792 and his mother

in 1796. They were married in 1815, in Cairo,

Tennessee, and their union was blessed with

eight children, seven sons and one danghter,

the subject of this sketch being the eldest. In

1828 he commenced to learn the printer's trade

under the management of General Henry S.

Foote, and followed that business until February

16, 1889, sixty-one years, being a long servitude

to the business. He published the St. Charles

(Missouri) Clarion, the second paper printed in

that place, for three years, and then went to St.

Louis in 1844, where he was connected with two

papers, the Herald, a religious paper, and the

American, a Whig paper. It was sold out in

1846 and he ceased to be connected with it. In

1849 he came to California. His yoyage was

made in the Alexander von Humboldt from

Panama. In 1850 Fitch, Ewer, Russell and

Mr. Julian established the first paper published

in Sacramento, called the Transcript. Owing to

the death of his wife and child, whom he had

left in Missouri, lie returned to that State in

June, 1850. In 1852 he was the editor of the

old Lexington Express and published it until

the war broke out, when he went to St. Louis to

get away from the Union soldiers. They 6old

a part of his office and destroyed what they did

not sell. Mr. Julian lost about $30,000 by the

transaction. He lost the old files of the paper,

which he valued most highly. Mr. Julian was

a man of peace and took arms on neither side. In

1866 he returned to Lexington and established

with others the Caucasian, which was a pop-

ular paper for some years. He sold his interest

and removed to Warrensburg, Johnson County,

Missouri, in 1870, and published the Johnson

Democrat. Owing to the ill health of his wife

he sold it and came to San Diego in 1874. The
removal was very beneficial to Mrs. Julian, as

when she came to San Diego it was thought

she could not live a year; but her health im

.

proved and she lived for nine years. Mr. Ju-

lian engaged in the printing business in San

Diego and was editor and publisher of the World

for a year and a half. It was then merged into

the News and Mr. Julian continued its publi-

cation for four -years, when it was sold to the

Sun Publishing Company and the paper ceased.

In 1885 he started the San Diegan in support

of Mr. Cleveland and the Democracy, and con-

tinued its publication until February 16, 1889,

when he sold it to N. H. Conklin and it is now
run by Sullivan & Wait.

Mr. Julian was married in 1837 to Miss

Frances L. Wray, daughter of John Wray, and

they were blessed with five children, three of

whom still survive, viz.: William O, born in St.

Charles, Missouri, in 1839; Ophelia F., born

in 1845, in St. Charles, and Missouri M., born

in St. Louis, in December, 1845. Their mother

died March 6, 1849, and Mr. Julian was again

married to Mrs. Violetta (Martin) Mundy,

daughter of Lewis and Catherine Martin, of St.

Louis, born in 1816. Mr. Julian is a member
of the Methodist Episcopal Church South and

belongs to the San Diego Pioneers, also the

pioneers of San Francisco.

—&mam&—
fOLONEL DANIEL II. HORNE, of

Oceanside, was born in Dover, New Hamp-
shire, February 26, 1828. His father,

Samuel Home, was born in the same town, in

1802. His grandfather, who lived until ninety-

two years of age, was a native of Scotland. The

family were Protestants. His mother, Lydia

(Blake) Home, was born in Dover, New Hamp-
shire, in 1805. She was the daughter of Major

William Blake, who was of English descent.

She was married to Mr. Samuel Home in 1821,

at Dover, New Hampshire, and had a family of
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twelve children, nine of whom reached the age

of maturity. The subject of this sketch was

the third child; he attended school in his native

town until fifteen years of age, when he went to

Haverhill, Massachusetts, where he learned the

tanner and currier's trade. After a two years'

apprenticeship he embarked in business for

himself at Salem, and afterward at Woburn,

Charlestown and Boston, and continued in it

until he was twenty-six years of age. He was

married at Woburn, Massachusetts, April 22,

1849, to Miss Maria L. Hovey, a native of

Cambridge, Massachusetts, born June 26, 1826.

Mr. Hovey was a relation to the originator of

the Hovey seedling strawberry. In November,

1854, Mr. Home started alone for Kansas, ar-

riving at Kansas City on November 30. At

Lawrence he was selected by other settlers as

chairman of a committee to select a town site.

The result was they went thirty miles to the

site of the present city of Topeka and spent

the night there on the banks of the river, and

selected that site. Colonel Home built the

first cabin and wintered in it with others.

When the farm claims were divided, Colonel

Home secured the second choice of location.

The man who had first choice sold his claim

for $15. It has since become of great value.

The Colonel pre-empted and retained his selec-

tion, built and lived on it for many years, and

has seen the " wilderness blossom like a rose,"

and seen the desert transformed into a large

and rich city, full of life and business. He
voted at the meeting that gave the town its

name, "Topeka," the Indian name for wild

potatoes, that grew along the river. He was

chosen marshal of the Free State Squatters,

and captain of the Topeka Guards. In the

fall of 1855 he was captain of another military

company, which was orgauized to go to the re-

lief of Lawrence, which had been surrounded

by the border ruffians, with 100 men under his

command. On their arrival at Lawrence Cap-

tain Home united his forces with those of Dr.

Robinson and Colonel James II. Lane. Breast-

works were hastily erected, the town fortified

and strict military order preserved, but fortun-

ately ended with the death of only one man.

While in Lawrence at this time, Colonel Home
was promoted to the rank of Major in Colonel

Hunt's regiment of Free State Forces. May
13, 1861, Major Home was elected Colonel of

the Fourth Regiment, South Division, Kansas

Militia, and received his commission from Gov-

ernor Charles Robinson, first governor of Kan-
sas. On the 28th of that month Colonel Horno
has credit for suggesting the plan which carried

the election that secured the State Capital at

Topeka, and during his residence there he was
a great factor in the growth and in fixing the

status of the now large city.

In August, 1862, he enlisted as a private in

Company E, Eleventh Kansas Volunteer In-

fantry, and was made First Sergeant Major at

the organization of the regiment. While with

the command he participated in the battle of

Fort Wayne, Kane Hill, Prairie Grove, the tak-

ing of Van Buren, and minor engagements. In

February, 1863, he was commissioned by Presi-

dent Lincoln Captain of the Fourth Regiment,

Indiana Brigade, and served in it until it was

mustered out of the service in the fall of tho

same year. In the fall of 1864 he was chosen

Captain of Company A, Second Regiment, com-

manded by Colonel George W. Veale, for his

faithful and courageous conduct. While en-

gaged in this service he received several mani-

festations of approval from the commander of

the forces, and the post of honor was assigned

to him of guarding the main crossing between

Kansas City and Westport, where it was ex-

pected the Rebels would attempt to cross the

Blue. During this time he was a candidate

against Colonel Veale for State Senator, and

was elected. During the latter part of his two

years' term he was President of the Senate. lie

was a member of the Topeka Council and

President of the Board of Aldermen in 1871.

Being acting Mayor of the city at the time of

the great Chicago tire, he promptly responded

to the call for aid by forwarding with all possi-

ble dispatcli Topeka's generous contribution of
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$ 5,4C0. He organized the Topeka Manufactur-

ing Company on March 1G, 1883.

Colonel Home was identified with Topeka's

interest from 1854 to 1885— thirty- one years.

At that time he had seen his most sanguine

hopes realized. The town had grown from

nothing to a city of 30,000 inhabitants, and

history awards to him and his compatriots the

honor of having been the founders of the great

State " Free Kansas," nor has this worthy and

successful life ended here. In 1885 he re-

moved to Oceanside, California, where he found

only a few houses, but with his usual business

zeal commenced his share of the building up

of this new town. Here in full view of the

ocean and surrounding country he has built a

large and commodious residence and has beau-

tiful grounds about his place. He was the first

president of the new Bank of Oceanside; also

president of the board of trustees, and it will

not be the Colonel's fault if Oceanside does not

become one of the most attractive and prosper-

ous cities in Southern California. He has re-

cently been serving San Diego County as fore-

man of the grand jury, and in that position

unearthing official corruption and fraud which

had been secretly practiced to an alarming ex-

tent. For this disinterested and manly service

the taxpayers of the county owe him a debt of

gratitude, and whether he receives it or not, he

will have the approval of bis conscience for

duty well done.

Mr. and Mrs. Home have had a family of ten

children, of which but two survive: Georgie W.,

bora in Woburn, Massachusetts, in 1852, and

wife of Mr. McGraw, of Michigan (they have

two children); Mary, born in Topeka, Kansas,

June 1, 1862, now married to Mr. E. M. Cluett,

formerly of Wisconsin. Colonel Home and

his wife are Congregationalists, and he is a

man very liberal in religious sentiments. Mrs.

Home has shared her husband's fortunes and

has passed with him through the dangers and

privations of the border times. He is a mem-

ber of the A. F. & A. M. In bis youth in

politics he was a Whig and was a great admirer

of Daniel Webster,with whom he was acquainted.

Since the organization of the Republican party

he has been a Republican, and although now in

the sixty-first year of his age, he seems strong

and capable of many more years of life and use-

fulness.

fDMUND WESCOTT, San Diego.—

Among the sturdy sons of Maine who
were early pioneers to the coast of Cali-

fornia, we find the subject of this sketch, who
was born at Gorham, Cumberland County,

Maine, December 20, 1835. His ancestors

were residents of Maine for generations, and an

early grandtather called " Post " Wescott, was

a messenger under General Washington during

the Revolutionary war, carrying messages to

and from the State department. The father of

the subject of this sketch was a farmer who was

born and died in the town of Gorham, and his

mother is still living, at the age of eighty-three

years. There were six children, all sons, of

whom Edmund was the second. He learned

the trade of bridge and wharf building in the

city of Boston. In January, 1855, he started

for California by the steamer "Northern Light,"

over the Nicaragua route, and after a passage

of about thirty days he arrived in San Fran-

cisco, February, 1855. He then followed min-

ing for eleven years, mainly in California, but

also in Nevada and British Columbia. He
owned his mines, which were placer, quartz and

hydraulic, and made and lost large amounts of

money, as leads happened to prove rich or poor.

In 1866 he gave up mining and returned to San

Francisco and there followed his trade, building

wharfs and heavy bridges. In 1869 he came to

San Diego and built the Jorris wharf, and also

repaired the Horton wharf; then work in that

line failing he entered into the trucking busi-

ness, under the firm name of Hobbs & AVescott,

and has continued in that business ever since.

He has changed partners several times, but has

always been in the lead in the truck business.
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His company consolidated with Simpson Broth-

ers May 15, 1S89, and formed the Pioneer

Truck Company, with a capital stock of $75,000,

Mr. Wescott being president. The Julian and

Stonewall stage line which runs from Lakeside

is under their management.

Mr. Wescott was married at San Diego, De-

cember 25, 1869, to Miss Susie Gillam, a native

of Arkansas. They have five children living,

one son and four daughters, and all reside at

the corner of G and Twelfth streets. Mr. Wes-

cott is a Royal Arch Mason, and a member of

Centennial Encampment, No. 58, I. O. O. F.,

also a member of the Society of San Diego

Pioneers.

^

fM.
CLARK was born in Antwerp, Jeffer=-

son County, New York, January 4, 1823,
a his parents' being nati/es of New Eng-

land. In 1836 they moved near Cleveland,

Ohio, thence to Caldwell County, Missouri, and

in 1837 to Hancock Count}', Illinois, where his

father followed the trade of blacksmith, and he

attended the public achools and learned the

trade of carpenter. In 1846 he went to Galena,

Wissonsin, and worked in the lead mines, but

soon went to St. Louis, Missouri, where he

learned the trade of ship-joiner; and this trade,

in connection with that of carpenter, he followed

until 1849. In that year he decided to come

to California, and accordingly joined a train at

lort Independence, and, crossing the mountains

at South Pass, they entered Hangtown, after

an extremely pleasant journey. Instead of min-

ing he went to Sutter's Fort, now Sacramento,

and engaged extensively in live stock, that being

headquarters for stock trading at that time. In

1851 he went to Oregon and made large pur-

chases of grain, shipping it to San Francisco,

but still continuing his interests at Sacramento.

In 1855 he married Miss Magdalena Rich, of

German parentage but a native of Wisconsin,

and they then moved to Oroville, Butte County,

there entering a wholesale and retail mercantile

business, carrying on several retail stores, and

continuing about fourteen years with great suc-

cess in the business, but losing heavily in min-

ing speculations. In 1869 he came to San

Diego city and was traveling agent and clerk

for the firm of Smith & Craique, who conducted

a wholesale and retail liquor business, until

1877; he then opened business for himself until

1880, when he sold out and went to Tombstone

and opened a saloon, and also owned and worked

the Winfield silver mine, which was very rich

at times, assaying $376 to the ton. In 1884

he sold out and returned to San Diego, again

resuming his liquor business, under the firm

name of Scranton & Clark; later the firm was

changed to Craique & Clark. In 1886 he re-

tired from the business, and, during that

" boom " year, which San Diego can never for-

get, entered extensively into the sale of real es-

tate, and still follows that business in the care

of his property.

Mr. Clark has had three children, two of

whom are living: Frank M., who married Miss

Annie Lovell, and lone Feno, now the wife of

Juan Allison, all residents of San Diego city.

•
• T 1 r^s- *

• *"

fUDGE GEORGE PUTERBATJGH, of San

Diego, is a native of Peoria, Illinois, born

August 6, 1842. His father, Jacob Puter-

baugh, was a native of Maryland and Pennsyl-

vania. Having been born on the line between

the States, he is entitled to both States as his

native State. The name Puterbaugh is either

German or French, as you wish to have it, or

perhaps neither. His mother was Hannah (Hit-

tie) Puterbaugh. They had a family of eight

children, of whom the Judge was the youngest.

He attended the common schools at his home,

and was sent to Antioch College, Yellow Springs,

Ohio. He remained there until Horace Mann,

president of the college, died. He then went to

Jacksonville (Illinois) College. In April, 1861,

in answer to President Lincoln's first call for

volunteers to put down the rebellion, he enlisted
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in Company F, Eighth Illinois Volunteers, Gov-

ernor Oglesby's regiment, for three months, as

First Corporal. At the end of his term he was

sick with the typhoid fever, and when recovered

he again enlisted, in Company E, Forty-seventh

Illinois Infantry, and was elected First Lieuten-

ant, which commission he held until September,

1862, when he was promoted to Captain. He
was in what was known as the Eagle Brigade,

composed of the Forty-seventh Illinois, Eleventh

Missouri, Eighth Wisconsin and the Fifth Min-

nesota. They remained together during the

war, commanded by Major-General Joseph A.

Mower, and were in all the battles of the Army

of the Tennessee, thirty-three different engage-

ments in all. At the battle of Corinth, in 1862,

his regiment lost 130 men, its Colonel and

several officers, in less than half an hour. On

May 22 this regiment and division made the

charge on Vicksburg, and suffered very severely.

He remained in the service until October, 1864,

and then commenced the study of law with

Colonel Robert G. Ingersoll and Judge S. D.

Futerbaugh. The latter gentleman was the

Judge's brother, and was the author of "Puter-

baugh's Common Law Practice and Pleadings,''

and "Puterbaugh's Practice in Chancery."

Judge Futerbaugh was admitted to practice

law in January, 1866, and remained with the

firm of Ingersoll & Puterbaugh until the fol-

lowing July, when he started business for him-

self. Soon after he was elected City Attorney,

and held the office two years, and District At-

torney for four years. In 1873 he went into

partnership svith Colonel 11. G. Ingersoll and

his brother, Judge S. L). Puterbaugh, and upon

the dissolution of this firm in 1874, he re-

mained in partnership with Colonel Ingersoll

until he went to Washington City. Judge

Puterbaugh continued in business in Peoria

until 1880, when he removed to Colorado on

account of a throat trouble contracted by ex-

posure in the service. He remained there until

1884. His health not improving materially, he

traveled east and northwest from June until

November, 1884, when he came to California.

He traveled in California several months, and

permanently located in San Diego in July, 1885.

He has bought property and built a beautiful

home on Florence Hights.

He was married to Carrie Troyer James, Sep-

tember 13, 1866, by whom he had one daughter,

Carrie Maud, born December 20, 1867. He
lost his wife in March, 1870. She was the

adopted daughter of Dr. M. Troyer, of Peoria,

Illinois. October 1, 1874, he was again married,

this time to Miss Catherine Hall Wagoner,

daughter of Joseph and Emeline Wagoner, in

Dayton, Ohio. She was born July 14, 1844.

They have by this marriage one son, Johnson

Wagoner Puterbaugh, born in Peoria, Illinois,

September 26, 1875. Judge and Mrs. Puter-

baugh are members of St. Paul's Parish, and he

is its junior warden. He also belongs to the

G. A. P., and is a member of Heintzelman

Post, No. 33, of San Diego. He was adjutant

of the first post established in Peoria, Illinois.

It disbanded and was afterward reorganized as

Colonel Bryner Post, No. 67. He was its com-

mander two years. He was also junior vice

commander of department of Illinois, which

position he was holding when he went to Colo-

rado. While there he organized and was com-

mander of Joseph A. Mower Post, No. 31.

AVhile in Breckenridge, Colorado, he was Mayor

of the city one term. He was inspector on the

staff of Chaplain Renshaw when he was com-

mander in-chief of the G. A. R. He is a mem-
ber of the Missouri Commandery of the Military

Order of the Loyal Legion of the United States.

The Judge is an able lawyer, a good judge, and

is held in high esteem by the legal profession of

the county and his fellow-citizens in general.

f
MANUEL LOUIS, a native of Strasburg

Prussia, was born May 17, 1868, and

crossed the ocean at the age of one and a

half years, landing at New York. He imme-

diately started for California by the way of the

Isthmus of Panama, and after a quiet journey
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arrived safely at San Francisco. His family

soon journeyed down the coast to Los Angeles,

but, his father deciding that San Diego was to

be the future metropolis of southern California,

they removed to that city, then a small settle-

ment, in July, 1870, where they have continued

to reside ever since, and have seen this city

grow up to one of magnificent proportions.

During the succeeding years Mr. Louis attended

the public schools, and graduated June 30,

1885. He then worked some time for the San

Diego Daily Sun, as city editor and business

manager, and on January 1, 1886, he took a

position with the Russ Lumber and Mill Com-
pany, of San Diego, as assistant book-keeper

and in charge of collections, which position he

now occupies.

Mr. Louis takes great interest in aquatic

sports, being at present vice-president of the

Excelsior Rowing and Swimming Club; is a

member of the Society of San Diego Pioneers,

and an ardent brother of San Diego Lodge, No.

35, F. & A. M., which order he entered on his

twenty-first birthday, and already has been ap-

pointed an officer of the above lodge, and takes

great pride in its welfare. Mr. Louis has been

lately elected the first honorary member of the

Junior Bar Association of San Diego, an organ-

ization composed of young law students, and

feels highly complimented for this honor.

He is a keen young business man, and has

accumulated considerable property during his

residence in San Diego, which bids fair to be

very valuable ere long. H^e takes a great deal

of interest in anything that appertains to San

Diego, city or county, and will always be found

to be a progressive citizen.

fEORGE COPE was born in Jerseyville,

Illinois, June 14, 1861. His father, Na-
than Cope, was born in Charleston,

South Carolina, in 1829, and his grandfather,

John Cope, was a native of Germany, who set-

tled in South Carolina. Mr.- Cope's father mar-

ried Miss Elinda Day in 1848. She was a

native of Buffalo, New York, born in 1831, and

was a daughter of Mr. Ira Day, who was an

Illinois land-owner and tanner. They had eight

children, three boys and five girls. The subject

of this sketch was the youngest but one of this

family. He was sent to the country schools of

Jersey County, Illinois, and remaiued at home

with his father until twenty- three years of age.

He was united in marriage to Miss Nelly San-

derhaus, who was born in Greene County, Illi-

nois, in 1863. They have one interesting little

daughter, Laura, born in Jerseyville, Illinois,

May 22, 1885. Their ranch consists of 160

acres, situated four miles north of Perris. Ten

acres of the ranch is devoted to the house and

ranch buildings and shrubbery and fruit. The

house and barns have the stamp of affluence

and comfort second to none in the valley. Mr.

Cope is a good farmer. He is sowing this year

100 acres of White Russian wheat and 200

acres to barley. Mr. Cope and wife stand high

in their county as enterprising citizens.

PUFORD H. COOK, one of the pioneer

farmers and solid and reliable men of

Menifee, was born in Cass County, Mis-

souri, November 15, 1845. His father, David

Cook, was born in Kentucky. His mother was

Orpha (Potts) Cook. His father died when he

was only six years, and his mother in 1853, in

California, when he was eight years of age. He
came to California and settled in Sonoma Coun-

ty. He went to school there until 1863 and

then removed to Esmeralda County, Nevada, and

engaged in mining at $4 per day; then he went

back to Sonoma County and was in that vicinity

as a working man for five years, and then went

to Napa Valley, and then to Los Angeles in

1875. He bought a tract of land near Wilming-

ton. After this he farmed near Santa Ana, and

November 1, 1882, he came to Menifee and

hoinesteaded 160 acres of land; he also timber-

cultured another 160 acres of land, and after-
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ward sold it and rebought, and now bas 240

acres. "When be began at Menifee be brongbt

a load of lumber and materials for a bouse witb

a four-borse team. He left a man to put up

tbe bouse and went back to Wilmington and

got bis wife and two children and their house-

hold effects, and moved in witb bis wagon and

four horses. Wben they arrived tbe bouse was

partly finished. Tbey took possession, and

bere, in what was then a desert, be bas made a

nice borne that blossoms like a rose. Tbey have

bad the trials and hardships of pioneer life, but

amid it all they have come through, and in the

shoit space of seven years they find themselves

in possession of peace and plenty. Mrs. Cook

is a native of tbe "Golden West," having been

born in Mendocino County, California, in 1861.

Her maiden name was Ella Powers, being the

daughter of Mr. John Powers. She was mar-

ried to Mr. Cook February 7, 1876, and is the

mother of five children, viz.: Etta, born in Los

Angeles County, July 30, 1878; Robert Roy,

born at Wilmington, Los Angeles County, Oc-

tober 9, 1882; Pearl M., born at Menifee, April

24, 1884; Jessie A., born at Menifee, June 21,

1886, and Charles William, born at Menifee,

January 15, 1889. Mrs. Cook is one of the

first ten members of the first church organized

in Menifee—the Methodist Church South. Both

she and her husband have been contributors

and workers in the building of their place of

worship— the first one constructed for the service

of God in this new country. Mr. Cook is this

year (1889) sowing 150 acres of wheat and 150

acres of barley. Mr. and Mrs. Cook are people

of influence in their community and are very

highly spoken of by their neighbors.

"*' :=^ '^P T ^ ^ '•
"•""

WILLIAM NEWPORT, rancher near

Menifee. The city of Chester, Eng-

land, is one of the oldest cities of Eng-

It still has its old walls that U6ed to

surround it to prevent invasion preserved. There

is only one other city in England that has these

ancient walls preserved. In this city was born

and educated Mr. William Newport, tbe sub-

ject of this sketch. He was born June 5, 1856.

His father, William Newport, was born in Eng-

land in 1818, and his grandfather, Thomas
Newport, was born in England in 1788. Mr.

Newport's mother, Mary Newns, was also born in

England in 1820, and married Mr. William

Newport in 1854. They bad but one child, tbe

subject of this sketch. Mr. Newport's ances-

tors were all English farmers and he may be

said to be a born farmer, as be loves the busi-

ness and brings his great energy of character

into the business of his choice. In 1876 he

came to the United States for the purpose of

buying a 2,000-acre farm and farming in this

favored land. It was not luck but his wise

judgment that sent him to the most favored

and delightful portion of the United States

—

California. He landed at New York in 1876,

and from there came to San Francisco County,

and from there to Los Angeles, where he lived

and farmed for nine years. He then came to

Menifee and purchased 2,000 acres of land, near-

ly every foot of it plow land, and he is now farm-

ing on a large scale. When be moved to

Menifee, although a young man, he resembled

one of the patriarchs, as their were twelve

wagons in his train, loaded with implements,

provisions, lumber and his cook-house on wheels,

a building one story high, 9x 18 feet. He had

with him his men servants and his cattle and

asses and horses. He found the valley very dry,

with only a few poojj people ; but poor as they

were they pitied the young man who, as they

thought, was to make a failure of tanning.

When they unloaded their caravan he built a

good ranch house and two large barns; he has

planted ten acres to fruit and has laid out

ample grounds and has planted and bas many

ornamental trees growing. He runs four gang

plows and uses thirty-two work horses. They

plow and sow twenty-eight acres of land in a

day. He has his Chinese cook. This year he

proposes to sow 3,000 acres of grain—1,600

acres of the best Australian white wheat and
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the balance in best brewing barley. He lias

200 acres in alfalfa and intends to suw 100 more

acres of it this year. He is going more fully

into diversified farming. His lands are pecu-

liarly well adapted to the production of blooded

horses. He now has a line drove of young

horses and mules. He owns a fine thorough-

bred horse from Hardwood the dam, by Rich-

mond the sire. The animal shows fine breeding

and will undoubtedly he very fast. Mr. New-
port is also turning his attention to the breed-

ing of Berkshire hogs and he has as the head of

this a thoroughbred Berkshire that is as fine as

any in the United States. Mr. Newport will

not be satisfied with anything short of the best.

He sows the best varieties of wheat and barley

and makes it perfectly clean, and is able to make

his own price on what he sells. His barns at

one time this year contained 20,000 sacks of

grain. He has selected the site and adopted

the plans for a palatial residence which is to go

up in the near future. What a single man will

do with such a house can only be conjectured.

His present house in which he baches is capi-

tal, has a fine instrument in it and is full of

costly pictures. He not only uses his brains,

but muscle in his farming. He and his hands

are up at half past four in the morning taking

care of the stock, and the breakfast is eaten so

that they go on the ranch as soon as it is clear.

Some of his help have been with him from three

to five years. He is a very genial gentleman

and makes many warm friends. While others

are complaining of hard times, this man of push

and vim has barns full of grain and money in

the bank. It is safe to say that he is a valuable

factor in showing what his section of the coun-

try will do when judiciously tickled with the plow-

fEORGE M. DANNALS, of San Diego,

was born in Rochester, New York, No-
vember 2, 1844. His father, R. M. Dan-

nals, was a native of New York. His mother,

Susan (Bell) Dannals, daughter of Dr. Bell,

was also of New York. Mr. Dannals is a de-

scendent of the Holland Dutch who located in

the Mohawk Valley. His father was a con-

tractor and builder. Mr. Dannals left his home
in 1867, and to fit himself for a business life,

took a course in a commercial college. After

leaving college some good genius put it into his

head to learn a trade. He consequently learned

the carpenter's trade.

When twenty years of age he offered his serv-

ices to his country as a soldier, and was enrolled

July 26, 1864. At that time the great war

had assumed gigantic proportions, and as thou-

sands upon thousands of our brave men had died

in prison, and had been slain on many a bloody

battle-field, 1864, of all the years in the history

of the United States since the days of Valley

Forge, was the time that tried the patriotism

and courage of its citizens, and to enlist in such

a war at such a time was a most grand and

heroic deed. He enlisted in Company E, Fifty-

fourth New York Infantry, which was com-

posed mostly of young men. They were sent

to Elmira, New York, to guard prisons, and

to aid in preventing bounty jumping, and to

aid in forwarding troops to the front. He was

in the United States service 110 days, and after

being mustered out in November, 1864, he was

soon engaged as chief clerk in a railroad freight

office. March, 1867, he went to Nevada Coun-

ty, California, where he engaged in the mercan-

tile business, dealing in mining supplies. They
bought gold dust, and did a lucrative business.

From there he went to San Francisco, and then

came to San Diego and went to the Julian

mines in 1870. He was there until 1876.

They had a long and severe struggle to set aside

the Mexican land grant, which menaced their

mines and threatened to take them from them.

He came out of this successfully, but very much
injured financially, as it took a large amount of

money to bring it to a close. In 1871 and '72

he was elected a member of the California

Legislature. While at the mines, Mr. Dannals

was agent for Wells, Fargo & Co., and Post-

master, and had all kinds of experiences. Soon
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after this the mines were closed, and Mr. Dan-

nals became book-keeper and cashier for the

firm of Klauber & Levi. He had full charge of

the finances of the company, including the bank-

ing. He was with them nearly eleven years,

and during the boom, was paying teller of the

First National Bank of San Diego, and had

plenty to do in the then great rush of business.

He was afterward cashier of the bank of San

Diego, which was afterward consolidated with

the First National Bank. He is now Expert of

San Diego County, employed by the ccunty to

examine all the county offices.

He was married in 1872 to Miss Lucy L.

Wilcox, daughter of Leroy Wilcox, born in

Ohio, April 24, 1858. Her father was one of

the discoverers of the Nevada mines, and made

a fortune at that time. They are from Kala-

mazoo, Michigan. They have one child living:

Marion, born in San Diego, May 10, 1874.

Mr. Dannals served four years on the Board

of Education in San Diego. Both he and his

wife are members of the Presbyterian Church,

of which he has been the treasurer and a trus-

tee for several years. Mr. Dannals is a veteran

Odd Fellow, having served through all its

offices. He has been Noble Grand, Represen-

tative to the Grand Lodge and District Deputy,

and in all the same positions in the Encampment.

He also belongs to the Masonic order, and has

served in all its offices, the last two years as

Master of the lodge. He is a Knight of Pyth-

ias, and was its Commander and also District

Deputy, and in the Masonic Chapter is High

Priest, and is a member of the coinmandery of

Knight Templars, and Junior Warden of the

lodge of perfection. His wife and himself are

the present worthy matron and patron of the

Order of the Eastern Star, of which they were

the organizers in San Diego. He is Past Post

Commander of Heintzelman Post, No. 33, G.

A. R., and has taken an interest in all that per-

tains to the growth and welfare of the city and

county. He is also a veteran of the National

Guards, having served some seven years in the

State of New York and in California, as an

officer since October 1, 1881; and is at present

Major and Commissary on the First Brigade

Staff.

§ENRY CHASE, one of the reliable pioneer

fanners of Perris valley, was born in

Attica, Wyoming County, New York,

August 29, 1851. His parents removed to

Dale when he was four years of age. His

father, Isaac Chase, was a native of Connecticut,

and removed to New York when a boy. He
was married to Miss Sally Benham, who was

born in Attica, Wyoming County, New York,

in 1814. They raised a family of eight chil

dren, of which the subject of this sketch was

the youngest but one. His father's death oc-

curred in August, 1885, and his mother died

in December, 1865. Mr. Chase was educated

in the public schools at Dale, New York, and

when a boy, worked on the canal, for which he

has no reason to be ashamed, as he has had

many an illustrious predecessor who did the

same thing. Most of his life has been spent,

however, in farming. In 1875 he came to

California and settled in Westminster, Los

Angeles County (now Orange County), where

he bought twenty acres of land, and in two

years sold it, and then farmed for four years on

the Centinella Ranch. December 15, 1884, he

came to Perris Valley and took up 160 acres of

Government land, built his house and barns,

and is making himself a comfortable home that

some time in the near future will be worth a

small fortune.

After several years of dreary •' baching " he

became desperate, and October 1, 1887, he mar-

ried Miss Nina G. Green, and he now wonders

why he remained single so long. Mrs. Chase

i6 a native of Massachusetts, born June 10,

1866. They have one nice girl —Ruby F., born

in their present home June 10, 1889. Mr.

Chase is sowing twenty acres of wheat, and the

balance to barley. Both he and his wife are
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nice people, and are highly spoken of by their

neighbors.

—£H£@®Sh^s—
fEORGE. P. (JAKES was born in Roxburys

Massachusetts, February 14, 1846. His

father, Nathan Oakes, was a native of

Maine; his mother, Sarah (Noyes) Oakes, was

born in Salein, Massachusetts. Mr. Oakes was
the eldestof a family of seven children. He
was educated in the public schools and at North
Yarmouth Academy, and at the age of sixteen

he entered the Union ranks in Company E>

Seventeenth Maine Volunteer Infantry. Mr
Oakes' regiment went to the front at the time

General McClellan was superseded, and shared

the struggles of the great battles of the army
of the Potomac until General Lee surrendered.

He was twice shot,— once in the fore-arm (at

Mine Run) and once in the head (at Chancel-

lorsville); and his ankle suffers weakness from

contusion. He was taken prisoner at Chancel-

lorsville and paroled and sent to Belle Isle;

from there in a short time he was exchanged

mil join ,m1 regiment at the front. The
weakness of his ankle caused him to be after-

ward transferred to the Veteran Reserve Corps,

Company K, Fourteenth Regiment, and he did

reserve service at Langley, Virginia, sixteen mile,

from "Washington. When mustered out of the

service Mr. Oakes followed the sea in a sailing

vessel. He made several trips to Europe, and

August 12, 1868, landed at San Francisco from

the brig Mary A. Reed, Captain Charles John-

son, 187 days from Brooklyn, New York, being

twenty-five days going through the straits of

Magellan. He spent a brief period in the follow-

ing counties: Sonoma, Marin, Ventura, Los An-

geles and San Bernardino. During the most of

the time in these counties he was in the dairy

business. In August, 1886, he came to Penis,

San Diego County, and bought of the railroad

company 160 acres of land, on which he built a

house and barn and planted trees, and will soon

have a very desirable place. He was married

in 1878 to Miss Julia L. Moore, born in 1859,

in St. Louis, Missouri, daughter of Levi N.

Moore, of Orange County, New York. They
had seven children, viz.: Levi M.; George P.,

born May 3, 1881; Charles H. W., born July

5,1882; Sarah F., born October 31, 1883; Ben-
jamin S., born February 2, 1885; Forest N.,

born September 5, 1887, and Leonard F., born

April 1, 1889. The oldest child, Levi M., died

when three years of age, of croup. Mr. Oakes
has been an Odd Fellow and is a member of the

G. A. R., Conman Post, No. 57. He is farm-

ing his land principally to grain, and usually

sows 140 acres. He is an honest and reliable

man and a good citizen.

tG.
CLARK, one of the old residents of

San Diego County, was born in Green-
9

ville, Mercer County, Pennsylvania, May
13, 1832. He lived upon a farm and attended

the district schools until he was eighteen years

of age. He then apprenticed himself to learn

the trade of iron-molder, working two years in

a foundry in Mercer County. He then went to

Springfield, Ohio, and worked in Leffell's foun-

dry until he completed his apprenticeship.

During this time he had also mastered the mys-

tery of the steam engine, and was not only able

to run one but also understood its construction.

This was to serve a good purpose in the future.

From Springfield he went to Cincinnati and

St. Louis, where he worked at his trade until

1854, and remained through the winter.

In the spring they started again toward the

Pacific slope with the first train. After leaving

Salt Lake the train was attacked by Indians

several times, but they had a strong company

and their assailants were repulsed. They ar-

rived at Sacramento June 5, 1855. Then Mr.

Clark went to Amador County. It was now

that the knowledge of the steam engine he had

acquired while working at his trade in Ohio

came into play. A man was wanted to run the

engine in the Oneida Quartz Mill. He applied
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for the position and obtained it. Afterward he

was foreman, during 1855 and 1856, of the

Tibbitts foundry at Sutter Creek. Subsequently

he engaged in mining on the Mokelumne river,

with varied success. He was for a time general

superintendent of a large foundry at Silver

City, Idaho, receiving, with one exception, the

highest salary paid to superintendents in the

Territories.

When the Fraser river excitement broke out

in 1858, Mr. Clark caught the fever and made

the pilgrimage to British Columbia, returning,

with thousands of others, poor in pocket but

with an addition to his store of experience.

For a short time after this he was foreman of

Worcester's foundry at Angel's Camp, Calaveras

County. Then in 1859 he went East and vis-

ited his old home in Pennsylvania, returning to

California the following year. J. S. Harbison

had previous to this time imported several col-

onies of bees from the East, and Mr. Clark and

his brother bought some of him and established

several apiaries in lone valley, Amador County.

In this venture the brothers were very success-

ful. One year afterward he, in connection with

his brother James, went to Nevada and bought

a farm called " Little Meadows," now known as

Clark's station, on the Truckee river. He pros-

pered in farming on the Truckee and remained

there for seven years, but finally, on account of

malaria, he was obliged to sell out and seek a

change of climate. He decided to come to San

Diego and arrived here in 1868. A few months

after this he went back to Sacramento, and in

company with his old bee friend, J. S. Harbison,

engaged in silk culture. Their experiment,

however, was not a success, owing to a disease

breaking out among the silk-worms, and they

gave up the business. Then, in conjunction

with Mr. Harbison, he started for San Diego,

bringing with them 110 hives of honey bees,

arriving here November 28, 1869. From that

time up to last spring Mr. Clark continued to

be largely interested in bee culture, and did

much to create the reputation which San Diego

honey enjoys in the market of the world.

In 1876 Mr. Clark began the culture of fruit

and forest trees and the making of raisins, in

the Cajon valley. He owned at first 230 acres,

all under cultivation. Eighty acres were in

trees and vines, and the balance in grain. He
was the first man in San Diego to practically

demonstrate the productiveness of the soil of

El Cajon for raisin culture. Cured and made
the first raisins in this county in 1878. He in-

troduced a system of sub-irrigation in his vine-

yard, running a continuous concrete cement

pipe, with outlets at convenient distances, under

ten acres. His was the only vineyard in the

valley that was irrigated, and although it was

not neccessary the experiment was one that

proved not unprofitable, as double the crops

could be raised by irrigation. Mr. Clark has

always shipped the largest portion of lift raisins

to the Eastern markets. For the last two years

the house of William T. Coleman & Co. has

handled his crop. His raisins are pronounced

by the best judges to be equal to any imported.

When he first came to San Diego Mr. Clark

was laughed at for bringing bees here, but be-

fore long he demonstrated the natural advantage

of the county for bee culture. He was met

with the same kind of encouragement when he

first began growing grapes in the Cajon. Peo-

ple claimed that the soil was not suited for the

purpose. Mr. Clark sold out all his interests

in the Cajoii in December, 1886, and came to

San Diego. On the 13th of April following,

in company with his family, he started for an

Eastern trip, and traveled all through the East-

ern and Middle States, but found no place in

which he could be content to live outside of San

Diego County. He owns considerable real-

estate in the city, and has built a beautiful

residence on the corner of A and Thirteenth

streets. In the first year of his residence in

San Diego County Mr. Clark labored very hard

and surmounted obstacles under which men
of less determination would have succumbed.

When, however, his orchards and his vineyards

were well under way, and he began to see some

of his most cherished ideas realized, he felt am-
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ply repaid for all his trials and temporary dis-

appointments. Ever since his first crop of

raisins they have paid him on an average of

$100 per acre net. Mr. Clark aho planted the

first Australian blue gum forest in the county.

He is constantly in the receipt of letters from

all parts of the country asking information in

reference to vine and bee culture.

Mr. Clark was married in 1871 to Mrs. Anna

L. Corbitt. They have one child living: Edgar

Franklin Clark, fourteen years of age; and

have bad a daughter, Florence Ida, who is now

f|

S. HUBBELL has already accomplished

Jl in his brief business career far more tban

$* many men, who deem themselves favored

by fortune, have done in the space of a long and

laborious life-time. Mr. Hubbell was born in

Keokuk, Iowa, May 29, 1859, but removed with

his parents to San Diego when he was twelve

years of age. On his arrival here he attended

the public schools, graduating at the High

School. He made preparations to enter college,

but his health failing he relinquished that ob-

ject and entered the employ of the Bank of San

Diego, the first bank established in this city, in

the latter part of 1876. He first was book-

keeper, then teller, and then was appointed as-

sistant cashier. He remained with this institu-

tion three years, and at the age of twenty-one

was one of the incorporators and a stockholder

of the Consolidated Bank of San Diego, and

also an incorporator and stockholder in the

Consolidated National Bank. He continued

with this bank until 1885, when he resigned

and became a stockholder and accepted the posi-

tion of assistant cashier in the First National

Bank. In 1886 he was elected a director and

soon afterward cashier, which position he re-

signed January 1, 1889.

Mr. Hubbell was a half-owner of Reed &
HubbelPs Addition. This was the first addi-

tion of any size cut up from acre property into

lots and put on the market with any success.

It is situated on the bay between San Diego
and National City, and originally consisted of

210 acres, and wa6 first offered in August, 1886.

They sold eighty acres in a body and cut the

balance up into lots.

Among other land corporations with which
Hr. Hubbell is connected are the Escondido
Land and Town Company, the San Marcos
Land Company, the El Cajon Valley Company,
the Morena Land Company, the Juuipero
Land and Water Company, and the Pacific

Beach Company, in each of which he is an in-

corporator, stockholder and a director. He is a

stockholder of the College Hill Land Associa-

tion. He is a stockholder of the Coronado
Beach Company. He was one of the incorpora-

tors of the San Diego National Bank, and the

Bank of Escondido, and a stockholder in the

Bank of Elsinore and the Exchange Bank of

Elsinore. He was one of the incorporators and
is a director in the Coronado Ferry Company,
an incorporator of the San Diego Street Railroad

Company, and an incorporator and stockholder

in the San Diego and Coronado Water Com-
pany, the San Diego & Cuyamaca Railroad Com-
pany, the San Diego Old Town & Pacific Beach
Railroad Company, and the West Coast Lumber
Company. He was one of four in incorporat-

ing the San Diego Gas and Electric Light Com-
pany. He was also one of the incorporators of

the Marine Railway & Dry Dock Company,
and an incorporator of the Cuyamaca Club, the

leading gentlemen's club of San Diego. Last
January he was elected a director of the Cali-

fornia Southern Railroad Company. He was
one of the organizers of the San Diego City
Guards, a crack militia company, in which he

has served for six years.

He is now (December, 1889,) engaged in

opening the Helvetia mine, which is situated in

the Julian mining district between Julian and
Stonewall, a mine very productive in the past.

He has just been appointed by Governor Wat-
erman as a member of the Board of Bank
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Commissioners for the State, appointment to

take effect January 1, 1889.

He was married in San Diego, in 1881. to

Miss Kate L. Groesbeck, a daughter of General

John Groesbeck, formerly of New York, who

cvas at the time of his death the oldest member

of the order of Odd Fellows in the United

States. He has two children, both boys. It

is not difficult to analyze the causes of Mr.

Hubbell's success. Primarily, he has bad the

opportunity; secondly, he has improved it.

Combining in a wonderful degree keen finan-

cial foresight with promptness of decision,

failure is to him an unknown quantity. Per-

sonally, he is one of the most genial of men;

affable in his manners, courteous to all, his

popularity is not to be wondered at. If O. S.

Hubbell has attained an extraordinary measure

of success, the means by which he secured it

were such that he has raised up friends rather

than enemies along his pathway in life.

«§•***

fHARLES HUBBELL is one of the sub-

stantial and public-spirited citizens of San

Diego. Although he retired from active

business some years ago, he takes a deep interest

in everything that pertains to the advancement

of the city. Mr. Hubbell is a native of the

Empire State, having been born in Ballston in

November, 1817.

He is a descendant in the eighth generation

of Lieutenant Richard Hubbell, one of the

founders of Bridgeport, Connecticut, who settled

there in 1645.

He lived until he was seventeen in Ballston

and Oswego and then went to Rochester, where

he became assistant teller in the Bank of Mon-

roe. He remained in Rochester two years and

then went to Pontiac, Michigan, to accept a po-

sition as cashier of a bank there. He built and

put in operation the first saw-mill in Clinton

County, Michigan, and aided in cutting out the

first road from Pontiac to Ionia, fifty years ago.

He was one of the original incorporators of Sag-

inaw Ci.ty. He assisted in the first development

of the 6alt springs of northern Michigan and was

identified with many other projects of import-

ance in that State. In 1839 he returned to

Rochester to act as teller of the Commercial

Bank. In 1846 he removed to Cincinnati, to

become teller of the Ohio Life and Trust Com-
pany. After one year in this position he went

into the banking house of Ellis & Sturges as

cashier

In 1853 he had a severe attack of hemorrhage

of the lungs and spent a year and a half travel-

ing about for the purpose of recovering his

health. Then he settled at Keokuk, Iowa,

where he remained fifteen years. There his

natural taste for horticultural pursuits, a taste

which he had never before had the opportunity

to gratify, induced him to engage in fruit rais-

ing. He resided on a farm during the summer
months and in the winter he lived in the city

of Keokuk. During his stay there he filled

several city and county offices.

In 1870, as his health was still far from

rugged, on the advice of Professor Cleaver, who
is now Surgeon-General of the Santa Fe Rail-

road Company, he started for California, coming

direct to San Diego, and was one of the first

Eastern visitors to record his name on the reg-

ister of the famous Horton House. Upon his

arrival he was so pleased with the climate that

he decided to make it his future home. He
purchased 100 acres of laud on the National

Ranch, and planted a vineyard and fruit orchard.

In 1874 he accepted the position of cashier of

the Bank of San Diego and remained in that in-

stitution until it was merged with the present

Consolidated National Bank. He was a mem-
ber of the committee of forty, appointed by

the citizens to induce the building of a railroad

to San Diego. He was corresponding secretary

of the committee, and labored zealously to bring

about that much desired object—railroad com-

munication with the outside world.

Mr. Hubbell was one of the original stock-

holders in the California Southern. He never

sought public office here, but at the earnest so-
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licitation of his friends he ran for and was elected

school trustee in 1872, and afterward in 1886,

at the latter time being chosen president of the

board, which position he resigned in 18S8. He
retired from active business in 1880, and has

since been attending ro his private affairs. Be-

fore coming to San Diego his health was so bad

that he was not expected to live, but now, at

the age seventy-two, he enjoys perfect health, is

active, and looks much younger than he really

is. He has been prominently identified with

the horticultural interests, and has been secretary

of the County Horticultural Society.

" In religion," Mr. Hubbell says, " I am a

Baptist, having belonged to a church of that in-

dependent and democratic organization nearly

fifty years. 1 accept implicitly the doctrines

taught by the Lord Jesus Christ, in their spirit-

uality, and particularly as to purity, truth, love,

universal benevolence, and the golden rule of

sixteen ounces to the pound." The ancestral

motto of his family has always been, Esse

qvam videri— be what you seem to be. Mr.

Hubbell was married in 1843, in Rochester,

New York, to Miss Anna M. Sage, who died

very suddenly in 1881. During the thirty-

seven years of her married life she was never

known to speak an unkind word to either her

husband or children. He has had seven chil-

dren, of whom five are living, four sons and one

daughter.

—~ . .g . mt .
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fUDGE M. A. LUCE, one of the best-known

and most prominent men in every move-

ment to advance the best interests of San

Diego, comes of good New England stock, and

is of a right possessed of those attributes which

are strongly characteristic of the better type of

American character—energy, ability and prob-

ity. His father is a native of Maine, is a

preacher in the Baptist Church, and now, at the

age of seventy-eight years, is living in Poway
valley, a hale and hearty old man. His mother

was born in New Hampshire.

The subject of this brief sketch first saw the

light in Quincy, Illinois, in the year 1842. He
lived with his parents in Central Illinois until

he was fourteen years of age, when heleft home
to prepare for college at Hillsdale, Michigan.

Here he spent a part of each year in advancing

his own education, and the residue of the time

in educating others, that is, in teaching school.

Thus passed nearly four years of his boyhood.

Then came that eventful April day in 1861

when the call "to arms" resounded through the

land. The response that came forth from the

loyal North was something unparalleled in the

history of mankind. The ink was scarcely dry

with which the President's proclamation for

volunteers was written when the tramp of bat-

talions was heard througout the land. From no

section of the North was the patriotic response

more immediate and hearty than from the great

States of the West. Foremost among them was

the commonwealth of Michigan. Young Luce,

brimming over with loyalty, dropped his school

books, and enlisted in the Fourth Michigan

Volunteer Infantry. During the war he took

part in the following engagements: Bull Run,

New Bridge, Hanover Court House, Mechanics-

ville, Gaines' Mill, Savage Station, Turkey Bend,

White Oak Swamp, Malvern Hill, Second Bull

Run, U. S. Ford, Chancellorsville, Kelly's Ford,

Ashby Gap, Brandy Station, Middleburg, Get-

tysburg, Williamsport, Wapping Heights, Cul-

peper, Bristol Station, Rappahannock Station,

Mine Run, Wilderness, Laurel Hill, Spottsyl-

vania, North Anna, Tolopotomy Creek, Jericho

Mills, Bethesda Church, Cold Harbor and Pe-

tersburg. Was wounded slightly at Spottsyl-

vania, while with the forlorn hope in the assault

of May 12.

After the war Mr. Luce, now a bronzed

young veteran, after a paying a brief visit to his

parents, returned to Hillsdale and resumed his

collegiate studies, which had been so rudely in-

terrupted four years before. He graduated in

1866, and, having decided to devote himself to

the legal profession, attended the Law Univer-

sity at Albany, where he graduated a year later.
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"With his diploma in his pocket he returned to

his native State, and began practice in Bush-

nell, of which lie was the first Cit}' Attorney.

He was afterward attorney of the First National

Bank of Buslmell and local attorney of the Chi-

cago, Burlington & Quincy Railroad Company,

and in 1872 was the candidate of his party for

the State Senate. In 1873 the first of Southern

California's booms began to be heard of. In

these days it would be called a very small boom,

a kind of a " Northern Citrus Belt" affair; but

then it made quite a stir, not only on the Pa-

cific coast but was felt all over the East. That

was the time when Colonel Tom Scott was build-

ing his Texas Pacific (on paper) across the con-

tinent, to have its terminus on the shores of

Sau Diego bay. One result of this agitation

was to direct attention to the harbor, which had

lain neglected and unthought of since the day

the great empire of California became a part of

the Republic. Tidings of the promising future

of this Pacific coast city came to Luce in his

Illinois home, and, as at that time his health

was apparently failing, he decided to emigrate.

He arrived in San Diego in May, 1873, and im-

mediately opened a law office and engaged in

the practice of his profession. In the fall of

1875 he was elected Judge of the County Court,

and held the office until the new constitution

went into effect and terminated the jurisdiction

of that court in 1880. Judge Luce took an act-

ive part in the movement to bring the Atchi-

son, Topeka & Santa Fe road to San Diego, and

was a member of, and acted as counsel for, the

citizens' committee. In the fall of 1880 the

California Southern Railroad Company was or-

ganized and he was elected vice-president. He
was also appointed attorney of the road and has

continued so up to the present time. He is

still a member of the board of directors. Judge

Luce's law practice has been very large, he

having acted as attorney for a majority of the

heaviest local corporations, while the Pacific

Steamship Company and other important organ-

izations have intrusted their legal business to

his care, and he is now the senior partner ef the

law firm of Luce, McDonald & Torrence. Ever

since the day of his arrival in San Diego Judge
Luce has had an abiding faith in the future of

the city. Firm in his convictions on that point

he has from the first, as opportunity offered, in-

vested in real estate, and he is now one of the

heaviest holders of real property. Unlike some

other men of like business instincts, the aggre-

gation of property has not served to lessen his

interest in the growth of the city, but he is to-

day as keenly ali-ve to everthing that tends to

develop and enlarge its importance as he was

ten years ago. He has been identified with

every public improvement, and is willing at all

times to give freely of his means toward the

material advancement of San Diego. He has

been interested in the mining development of

the county, and is a principal shareholder in the

Shenandoah mine at Mesa Grande, in this county.

He is of the opinion that the future wealth and

importance of San Diego will be largely due to

the development of its mines. In the past profi-

table operations have been retarded by the crude

machinery employed in working the ore and in-

sufficient means of transportation. With the

completion of a railroad to the mining center,

and the introduction of new and approved ma-

chinery, all this will be changed, however.

Judge Luce is one of the executors of the

trust of the late James M. Pierce, donating

$150,000 to the establishment of the Boys' and

Girls' Aid Society. He has been president of

the Unitarian Church Society ever since its or-

ganization. In December, 1870, he was mar-

ried, at Bushnell, to Miss Adelaide Mantaniaof

Avon, Illinois, who was at the time assistant

principal of the public schools at Bushnell, Illi-

nois. Uniting personal attractions and all the

female accomplishments to a richly stored mind,

Mrs. Luce has proven a worthy helpmate to her

husband in the battle of life. Six children have

blessed their union, of which four, two boys and

two girls, are living; two have died and are

buried in the cemetery here.

Judge Luce is six feet in height, slight figure,

and a face that has more the look of a student
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than a professional man, or one immersed in

business. He has a strong taste for literature,

and possesses a well-appointed library. Now
that he is getting rid of some of his profes-

sional cares he will probably find rest from the

demands of business in the society of his books.

>HOMAS WHALEY.—There is something

at once interesting and fascinating about

the life, character and history of the Cali-

fornia pioneers. They were, as a class, excep-

tional men, strong in most of the qualities that

go to make up the typical American character.

They were energetic, courageous and far-seeing.

The careers of many were full of incidents, and

their life histories read like fiction. Thomas

Whaley is a good representative of this noble

class of men. He was born in the city of New
York, October 5, 1823, a descendant of Revolu-

tionary stock. His paternal ancestors emigrated

from Ireland to New England in the early part

of the eighteenth century. His grandfather,

Alexander Whaley, of Bushwick Cross Roads,

Long Island, New York, fought under the

special command of General Washington, re-

ceiving at his hand a reward for brave and dar-

ing conduct, an account of which is given in

the history of Brooklyn. His maternal an-

cestors were of the old English family of Pye,

four brothers of which landed in New York

about the year 1792, bringing with them his

mother, then an infant. His childhood and

youth were spent in the metropolis. He had

the advantage of the best of schools, complet-

ing his course at the age of eighteen, at

Washington Institute, New York City, which

was named and dedicated by Lafayette, in honor

of his friend, George Washington, on the occa-

sion of his last visit to this country. In 1842,

before the establishment of steamship lines, he

went with his tutor, Einile Mallet, to Europe,

and for two years traveled over Engand and the

continent for instruction and pleasure. Upon
his return he was variously engaged in mer-

cantile pursuits, and at the time of the breaking

out of the California gold fever, he was in the

shipping office of George Sutton, owner of a

line of packets running to Charleston, South

Carolina.

The old ship Sutton, Wardle master, was at

this time being fitted out to sail to the coast of

California on a trading voyage. The prepara-

tions were interrupted, however, by the news of

the discovery of gold, and it was decided, in-

stead of sending the Sutton on a trading voy-

age, to fit her up as a passenger packet to carry

emigrants to the New El Dorado. Young

Whaley, brimful of pluck and enthusiasm, de-

cided to join the fortune seekers, and took

passage on the Sutton. The ship had quick

dispatch, and on the first day of January, 1849,

the Sutton sailed from New York harbor.

Snow was on the ground and Staten Island

and the Jersey shore were wrapped in a mantle

of white. Quite a crowd assembled at the

wharf to see the first vessel from New York-

set sail for the gold fields of California. The

greetings exchanged by friends were cordial and

mutual and many were the requests for "chunks

of gold, some as big as your head."

Among the passengers were A. C. Taylor,W.
R. Wadsworth, George D. Puffer, Chas. S.

Palmer, Chas. H. Strybing, A. Kuhner (the en-

graver of the great seal of California), Moseley,

father and son, and Dr. Johnson and his neph-

ew, Tom Grant. In all there were fifty-four

passengers. They had rather a rough time of

it after they got into the Gulf Stream, and all

the way down to the line they experienced more

or less heavy weather, so that it was found

necessary to put into Rio Janeiro for repairs.

Here they remained for three weeks, and dur-

ing that time Whaley stayed on shore, having

quarters at the old Hotel Ferrou. There were

at least 1,700 Americans in port from different

ships, all hound for California, and many pleas-

ant acquaintances were formed. Repairs being

completed, Captain Wardle hoisted the "blue

peter," and the Sutton was once more under

way. They were a month doubling Cape Horn,
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Laving lost their reckoning and being unable

to get an observation during that time. A sad.

accident occurred after rounding the cape. A
number were, against the orders of the captain,

in the stern boat, fishing for "gonies." Owing

to the weight, the boat broke away and a dozen

or more were precipitated into the water. All

were rescued except one shoemaker, who disap-

peared, battling with the gonies, who had

picked into his brain, thus rendering effort use-

less. The sea was rough, the waves running

high, and the man sank before help could reach

him.

They stopped a week at Valparaiso for recrea-

tion and to obtain fresh provisions. On the

22d of July, nearly seven months after leaving

New York, they neared the California shore,

and passing within the Golden Gate came to

anchor amidst the fleet of vessels that had been

more fortunate. Mr. Whaley remained on board

the ship until the erection of a tent on the cor-

ner of Jackson and Montgomery streets, near

where the old Pioneer Hall stands. Their goods

were landed at the foot of Washington street,

which then extended about 100 feet below the

corner of Montgomery. Whaley, with his

friend Puffer, leased a portion of the store be-

longing to George S. Wardle & Co., erected a

short time after his arrival in the city, and en-

gaged in the mercantile business. In the fall

of 1849 he leased a piece of land from Colonel

Stevenson, agent of Henry Gerke, on Mont-

gomery street, opposite to George S. Wardle &
Co.'s, for which he paid $450 per month; he

sub-let a portion of this for $400 per month

and erected a two-story building containing ten

rooms up stairs and two stores below, and leased

one of the latter and occupied the other for his

business. When Montgomery street was graded

this building was fifteen feet below the grade

established. This proved disastrous, as alT of

Whaley's tenants left him. and his business was

destroyed. He then bought property on Rincon

Point and erected a dwelling house about op-

posite to where the United States Marine Hos-

pital now stands. He engaged in business as a

broker for awhile and afterward became a coffee

merchant.

In the summer of 1851 Lewis A. Frankliu

and George H. Davis chartered a vessel, and

with a cargo of goods started down the coast on

a trading voyage. Whaley, who had an interest

in the venture, remained in San Francisco as

their agent. Franklin and Davis stopped at

various ports, finally at San Diego, and liked

the prospects so well that they decided to locate.

They wrote to Whaley and he came down, ar-

riving here in the month of October, 1851. He
then formed a partnership with Franklin, and

together they opened a store on the plaza in

Old San Diego, which they christiened Tienda

California—California store. The following

April their partnership was dissolved, and in

connection with Jack Ilinton, Whaley succeeded

to the business of R. E. Raymond, in the Tienda

General—general store—also at Old San Diego.

They remained in partnership for one year, and

during that time cleared $18,600 over and

above expenses, a very large sum for such a

business. 1n April, 1853, Hinton retired, and

E. W. Morse entered the firm. Whaley returned

to New York about this time on a mission at

once pleasant and romantic.

On the 14th of August, 1853, he was mar-

ried to Anna E. Lannay, of New York, a de-

scendant of the De Lannay and Godfrois fam-

ilies, of pure French extraction. He then

returned to San Diego, bringing his bride with

him. They took up their residence in Old San

Diego, which was then a thriving town, though

primitive in its appearance and containing a

mixed population of Spaniards, Mexicans, In-

dians and whites. The change from the bust-

ling metropolis to this quaint old town was

novel and delightful, and the time spent with

the hospitable people was particularly enjoy-

able.

In 1856 Morse retired from the business and

Whaley continued alone, at the same time en-

gaging in brick-making in Mission valley, near

Old San Diego. He also erected a large brick

building in 1856, the first built on the coast
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suoth of San Francisco. In 1858 he was en-

gaged in the mercantile business with Walter

Ringgold, a son of Major George H. Ringgold,

paymaster United States army, but in less than

a year this store on the Plaza, Old Town, was

destroyed by an incendiary tire.

At the breaking out of the Indian war in

1852, Whaley joined the Fitzgerald volunteers.

There was a general rising of the Indians be-

tween Los Angeles and San Diego. Martial

law was proclaimed in San Diego, and until

their suppression by the capture and execution

of their leader, Antonio Garra, the times were

quite lively.

About January, 1859, Whaley went to San

Francisco, and in March was appointed com-

missary storekeeper, under Captain M. D. L.

Simpson, United States army, in which employ,

under successive commissaries, he remained for

several years. He then engaged in the ship-

ping and commission business for nearly two

years. After that, under Colonel G. H. Weeks,

Quartermaster, in charge of the clothing depart-

ment, he was appointed storekeeper, and there

remained till Colonel Weeks was relieved by

Captain Sawyer, military storekeeper.

About this time the Russian Possessions,

purchased at the instance of William H. Sew-

ard, were to be turned over to the United States.

Troops were to be sent up to Alaska under the

command of General Jefferson C. Davis, with

Colonel George H. Weeks, Quartermaster and

acting Commissary of Subsistence, who pro-

cured an order for Whaley to take charge of the

three Government transports, with stores, on

their arrival at Sitka, as Quartermaster's agent.

He proceeded on one of these transports and ar-

rived at his destination September 26, 1867.

The steamer John L. Stephens, Captain Dall,

with General Davis and command, arrived Oc-

tober 10, and a few days thereafter the United

States steamer Ossipe, having on board the com-

missioners. Within an hour after their arrival

the territory was turned over to the United

States by Russia. Whaley, in company with

others, assisted in raising the American flag on

the island of Japonski, opposite Sitka, simul-

taneously with the lowering of the Russian en-

sign, and the hoisting of the stars and stripes

over the Governor's house at Sitka. Whaley

remained in Alaska as commissary storekeeper

and clerk until March, 1868. He was elected

with Samuel Storer, W. S. Dodge, Lugerville,

and one other Council men of the town of Sitka,

and helped to frame such civil laws for the gov-

ernment of the people as were permitted by

General Davis, the military governor of the

territory. Whaley returned to San Francisco

and then with his family went to New York.

With the proceeds of a partial distribution of

his father's estate invested in a stock of goods,

he returned to San Diego and again engaged in

business at Old Town. This was shortly after

Father Horton had started his new town of

San Diego, known as Horton's addition. Every-

thing then was booming in the Old Town.

There were twelve stores, some of them carry-

ing large stocks, particularly J. S. Mannasse &
Co., fifteen saloons, four hotels, two express

offices, the post offic, besides being the county

seat. To secure a good location, in the spring

of 1869, Whaley bought out his old partner

Morse, who was doing a good business on the

Plaza, and, in company with Philip Crosthwaite,

continued business then till February, 1870,

when it became evident that new San Diego

was to be the point where the city of the future

would be established, and the firm resolved to

move their stock there; but the connection from

beginning to end was a disastrous one to Whaley.

In 1873 he again went to New York, and re-

mained there nearly Ave years, variously en-

gaged. During this time he settled up the

estate of his father, which, owing to the panic

of '73, realized but the tithe of what he had ex-

pected. In 1879 Whaley returned to California.

After passing a few months in San Francisco,

he reached home, San Diego, in the latter part

of 1879, poorer than ever he had been before.

In the fall of 1880 there were prospects of a

railroad, and a boom for San Diego. Whaley

made a proposition to E. W. Morse to go into
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the real-estate business, which was accepted,

and shortly afterward they admitted Charles P.

Noell, the firm being Morse, Noell & Whaley,

till February, 1886, when Mr. Noell sold his

interest to R. H. Dalton, the firm being Morse,

Whaley & Dalton, till February, 1887, when

Mr. Morse retired, leaving the firm Whaley &
Dalton. Mr. Whaley bought considerable prop-

erty in and around Old Town and at La Plaza,

the greater part of which lie still retains. He
has also acquired an interest in other property,

known as firm property in different parts of the

city, some of which, the Fifth street property, is

being improved from the sale of outside prop-

erty belonging to the firm. He retired from

active business last February to pass the few

years remaining in peace and happiness with

his wife, surrounded by loving children and

grandchildren, dispensing the surplusage of his

wealth for the relief of suffering humanity.

With the exception of being City Trustee in

1885, City Clerk in 1881 and 1882, Notary

Public lor the county of San Diego for six

years, and Councilman for Sitka, Alaska, Wha-

ley has never held any public office.

#^^#
SILLIAM JORRES —Prominent among
the older residents of San Diego is

William Jorres. Mr. Jorres is a native

of Hanover, Germany, where he was born on

the 24th of August, 1824. After attending

school he learned the carpenter's trade and fol-

lowed it in the city of Hamburg until 1846,

when he started for Monte Video. There he

worked at his trade for about six months, when

he went to Buenos Ayres, where he remained

three years. While he was at Monte Video the

port was blockaded by the combined French and

English fleets for several months. In the latter

end of 1849 he left Buenos Ayres on a ship

bound round the Horn for San Francisco, where

he arrived May 4, 1850. The first week after

his arrival he went to the mines at Spanish Dry
Diggings, on the Middle Fork of the American

river. Then he went to Bear creek, and pros-

pected that section pretty thoroughly for a year.

After the second lire in 1851 he went down to

San Francisco, worked at the carpenter's trade

for awhile, and then started in for himself as a

contractor, a business he followed with excellent

success until 1869, when he came to San Diego.

During his residence in San Francisco, Mr.

Jorres in his business as a contractor superin-

tended the erection of a large number of fine

buildings. He "put up four brick houses on

Washington street, between Kearny and Mont-

gomery, in 1852-'53; he built the large brick

building on the southwest corner of California

and Front in 1855, which is still standing; also

the orthodox Jewish synagogue on Mason street,

between Post and Geary. Most of hi? build-

ings, which were scattered about in different

parts of the city, were substantial structures

and are still standing.

After his arrival in San Diego, Mr. Jorres

formed a partnership with S. S. Culverwell and

built the Culverwell & Jorres wharf, situated at

the foot of F street. This was the first wharf

started in New San Diego. It was not com-

pleted so soon as the Horton wharf, as it was

twenty feet wider and required more time to

build it. It was made wide enough for carriages

to be driven out to meet passengers from the

steamers, who were landed at the end of the

wharf. The cost of the wharf was $28,700.

For the first year they ran it themselves, and

then leased it, and Mr. Jorres again went into

business as a contractor. This was in 1871,

and the first contract he took was for the build-

ing of the present court-house on D street. In

1873, after he had completed the court-house,

he took the contract for putting up the build-

ing for the Commeroial Bank of San Diego,

now occupied by the Consolidated National

Bank, on the corner of Fifth and G streets.

He next put up the Central Market on Fifth

street, between F and G. It was 200 x 60 feet,

and was fitted up with stalls, etc., for a market.

After being used for this purpose a year, it was

leased by Charles S. Hamilton & Co., and has
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since been occupied by tbeui as a general mer-

cbandise store. He continued his business as a

contractor here until 1877, when he went to

Los Angeles, where he built the First National

Bank, on Spring street. In the year 1872 Mr.

Jorres bought out the interest of Culverwell in

the wharf at the foot of F street, and engaged

in ballasting vessels and other business in con-

nection with the wharf. He has recently begun

the extension of the wharf, and it will, when

completed, be one of the best wharves on the

water front. Mr. Jorres was for seven years

County Treasurer, retiring from office ui 1885.

He was elected on the Democratic ticket. During

his residence in San Diego he has always been

alive to the interests of the city, and has done

his full share towards its material advancement.

He was an earnest advocate of the railroad, and

did all in his power to have it brought here.

Mr. Jorres owns considerable city property, and

lias a very comfortable residence on the corner

of Union and B streets, which he built in 1869,

previous to the arrival of his family from San

Francisco.

Mr. Jorres was married in 1854, in Hanover,

to Miss Sophie Kliengibel. He had gone to

the old country from San Francisco to visit his

parents, and while there met and was married

to Miss Kliengibel. They came to San Fran-

cisco, arriving here in August, 1854. They
have six children living, one son and five daugh-

ters; they have lost three sons. Their son,

George W., was for two years postmaster, but

resigned to accept the position of assistant

cashier in the San Diego National Bank.

„, • .^g-. ,{, 1-5', r - „

fB.
FERRELL, a rancher near Menifee, was

born in Norwalk, Huron County, Ohio
9 (just ten miles from where the illustrious

President, James A. Garfield, was born), Jan-

uary 31, 1829. Mr. Garfield when a boy

of sixteen, worked with Mr. Ferrell, then about

eighteen years of age, and Mr. Ferrell alludes to

the fact of his acquaintance with Mr. Garfield

with pleasure and just pride. Mr. Horatio N.

Ferrell, the father of the subject of this sketch,

was a native of Pennsylvania, and was of Ger-

man descent. His mother, Pamelia (Gordon)

Ferrell, was a native of New York, and her

parents were Scotch. Mr. J. B. Ferrell was the

oldest of five children. At nineteen years of

age Mr. Ferrell removed to New Bedford,

Bureau County, Illinois, and for twenty years

he was a sawyer in the pineries of Wisconsin.

He helped build the mills and then ran them.

Then he removed to Lewis, Cass County, Iowa,

where his father's death occurred in 1856. Mr.

Ferrell remained in Iowa in 1873 when he came

to California on account of his wife's poor

health. They stopped at San Benardino and

went into the mountains where he engaged for

sawing for three years. He then opened a gro-

cery store in San Bernardino with his son Edgar as

partner! He continued in this business for three

years and in 1881 became interested in mines

worth $350,000, but was beat out of the most it

by adverse titles. He was there from 1881 to

1887. When he left San Bernardino he sold

his San Bernardino property to Governor Wa-
terman. In 1887 he came to Menifee and

bought a homestead claim of 215 acres, and

now has 413 acres. In June, 1887, he built

his house with his own hands and hauled the

lumber from San Bernardino by wagon. The

house contains six rooms and the barn is thirty-

two feet square with a shed on both sides. One

of his wells is fourteen feet deep and the other

twenty-four feet. The farm has a nice home-

like appearance from the highway. Mr. Fer-

rell is turning his attention to breeding Jersey

and Ilolstein cattle and blooded horses. He is

an enthusiastic horseman. His Kentucky Clay

horse that he is now breeding to is a very fine

animal. His sire is a half brother to Lady

Thorn, and American Girl and Lucy are his

fall cousins. He raised one colt, Valentine,

that trotted in 2:20 and sold for $4,000. Sev-

eral of his colts have traveled in 2:30 and he

now owns a three-year-old colt that is very

choice and promising. Mr. Ferrell was mar
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ried in Illinois, in 1855, to Miss Sarah E. Her-

rick, born August 9, 1839, in Ithaca, New
York. She was the daughter of Mr. Milton

Herrick of New York. Both her father and

brother died of consumption, bnt since coining

to California her health is much improved.

They have had a family of nine children, six of

whom are still living: E. J., born July 9, 1856,

in Lewis, Cass County, Iowa; lie is married

and is in business in San Bernardino. Sarah

L., born in Lewis, Cass County, Iowa, Aug. 7,

1858, was- married and had three boys; she

died in San Bernardino in 1886. Byron, born

in Lewis. Cass County, Iowa, February 8, 1863,

is married to Miss Lula Kahley, born in Cin-

cinnati, Ohio, May, 10, 1872; Ella M., bom in

Lewis, Cass County, Iowa, July 31, 1865;

Grace, born in Lewis, Iowa, April 27. 1871;

Eoy W., born in San Bernardino, California,

December 24, 1875, and Jamie E., born in San

Bernardino, April 12, 1880. Mr. Ferrell was

made a Mason in Lewis Lodge, No. 137. He
is a very hard-working and reliable man.

fB.
TEEL, one of the straight-forward good

farmers of Menifee, was born in Dent,
a

Texas, September 14, 1855. His father,

E. A. Teel, was born in Jackson County, Ten-

nessee, in 1829. His grandfather, Peter Teel,

was born in Illinois. Mr. E. A. Teel was mar-

ried in 1852 to Miss M. A. McNeal. They had

eleven children, ten of whom are still living,

Mr. Teel being the third child. When a boy

he attended the common schools of his native

State and finished his education in Wilson Col-

lege, Los Angeles County. In 1870 he came
to California across the plains with his father

and family. They were eleven months on the

journey. They stopped at Balsa, and from there

removed to Orange, where his father bought and

settled there for two years. They then removed

to Garden Grove, and bought there. Mr. Teel

was married in 1877 to Miss Nancy Keziah

Kirkpatrick, daughter of R. C. Kirkpatrick, a

merchant and native of Tennessee. She was

born in Gainsborough, Jackson County, Ten-

nessee, in 1857. They have had five children,

viz.: Lela A., born November 8, 1878, in Los

Angeles County; Benjamin F., born March 2,

1881, in Wilmington; Alma P., born July 9,

1883, in Menifee; John Harvey, born March

23, 1885, in Menifee, and Robert Clay, born

January 8, 1888, in Menifee. After their mar-

riage they lived a year at Garden Grove, then

removed to WilmiDgton, where they remained

two years, and on November 1, 1882, they re-

moved to Menifee and took up a Government

homestead of 160 acres, and bought eighty

acres of railroad land. The soil is red sandy

loam. This property under Mr. Teel's manage-

ment i6 fast becoming a very choice place. He
has built a nice house and barn and planted

trees and shrubs. This year (1889) he is sow-

ing 220 acres on his own land and eighty acres

on other lands. He runs a six-horse plow and

sows about seven acres per day. The place has

the appearance of comfort. Mr. and Mrs. Teel

are members of the Methodist Church South

and are also Good Templars. They have been

very helpful in the construction of their ehurch

edifice. Such people are a real blessing to the

country in which they settle.

fDWARD ALANSON FOSS was born at

Reading, Massachusetts, July 8, 1839.

His father was Daniel Foss, who was born at

Stratham, New Hampshire. His mother's maiden

name was Angelina Wakefield, and she was de-

scended from a line of Revolutionary heroes, her

grandfather having been with sturdy old Ethan

Allen at Ticonderoga. The subject of this

sketch was educated in the excellent public

schools of his native State, passing the high-

school grade. Early in 1861, he enlisted in the

Twenty-second Regiment of Massachusetts Vol-

unteers, the regiment raised by Henry Wilson,

afterward Vice President of the United States.

This regiment went to the front under the com-
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mand of Colonel Jesse A. Grove, who was

killed at the battle of Gaines' Mills, July 26,

1862. In this battle, also, Mr. Foss received a

severe wound, and fell into the hands of the

enemy, and was confined in Libby prison; but,

fortunately, au early exchange transferred hiin

in about three weeks to the hospital on David's

Island, in New York harbor. After his dis-

charge from the hospital, being disabled for

further service in the army, Mr. Foss went to

Lynn, Massachusetts, where he lived about two

years, when he returned to hiB native town of

Reading, and learned the trade of organ-pipe

maker, in the shops of Samuel Pierce, where he

continued until 1875, when he emigrated to Cali-

fornia with his wife and two sons, having been

married some years before to Miss Carrie E. Ath-

earn, a native of West Tisbury, Martha's Vine-

yard, Massachusetts. Her father was Charles

Grandison Athearn, of West Tisbury, and her

mother's maiden name was Ann Thaxter. Miss

Athearn was a granddaughter of Rev. Joseph

Thaxter, who was born in Hingham. Massa-

chusetts, May 4, 1744; took his first degree at

Harvard University in July, 1768; was at the

battle of April 19, 1775; and in January, 1776,

he joined the army as Chaplain of Prescott's

Regiment. He was at Cambridge, White Plains

and North River, and in New Jersey until

March, 1777. When the corner-stone of Bun-

ker Hill monument was laid by Lafayette, June

17, 1825, he was present by request and
'

officiated as Chaplain. He died July 18, 1827.

He was a man of learning, benevolence and

piety. Mr. and Mrs. Foss have five sons and

one daughter: Charles Edward, Allan Percy,

Harry Stanley, Helen Pearl, Joseph Thaxter

and Robert Bruce.

Mr. Fos6 was one of the first to discover the

beauties of the Alpine district, and thus had the

first choice of land, of which he owns 240 acres

(forty acres, he says, for each of his children).

This land, like that of all the Alpine region, is

well adapted to fruit-growing, and Mr. Foss

last season shipped from one of his trees seventy-

two pears which weighed sixty-eight pounds.

But he always grows on his fine place wheat,

barley, hay, etc., besides giving some atten-

tion to stock and poultry. Content with his

lot, satisfied with his surroundings, and happy

in the friendship and esteem of his neighbors,

he expects to pass the remainder of his days in

the home which he has established by his

industry.

fAPTAIN WILLIAM S. EMERY was

born in Thomaston, Maine, October 11,

1817. His father was Captain John Em-
ery, of Thomaston. His grandfather, George

Emery, was one of the first settlers of that State.

Captain W-. S. Emery was married July 7,

1839, to Miss Lucy S. Spalding, daughter of

Captain Josiah Spalding of Thomaston. Their

children were fourteen, eight of whom are liv-

ing: four died in infancy, two in manhood.

Josiah S. Emery died of consumption at Pine

Valley, San Diego County, October 3, 1872,

aged twenty-seven. Henry W. Emery died at

Glen Cliff, San Diego County, August 7, 1888,

aged forty-five years. Captain Emery followed

the sea from his boyhood. He became ship-

master at twenty-three years of age. He sailed

from New Orleans in the fall of 1849, and ar-

rived in San Francisco in May, 1850. He sold

his bark, the Louisiana, in San Francisco and

went into business at Sacramento. Captain

Emery came around Cape Horn: Mrs. Emery

came to California in 1851, by the Isthmus of

Panama. There was no railroad across the

Isthmus at that early day, and she came up the

Chagres river to Gorgona on a small steamer.

From that place to Cruces they came on light-

ers polled up the river by natives almost nude.

From Cruces to the city of Panama they

crossed the mountains on mules,—some differ-

ence, that way of traveling, from speeding

across the continent in palace cars! Mr. Emery

reached San Francisco July 7, 1851, after a

voyage of twenty days from Panama. San
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Francisco was then almost swept out of exist-

ence by three great tires of that year.

The Emery family resided several years in

Sacramento, passing through floods and fires,

and the many hardships and privations of Cali-

fornia pioneers. When the war of the Rebel-

lion broke out the four eldest sons joined the

California Volunteers. William E. Emery, the

oldest son, now living in Santa Cruz County,

was Adjutant of the Seventh Regiment under

Colonel Charles Lewis, who was one of the

earliest settlers of San Diego, and died there in

1870 or '71. He was a veteran of the Mexican

war. Henry JST. Emery belonged to Company

F, First Battalion Nevada Cavalry; was a mem
her of Ileintzelman Post, No. 33, San Diego,

California. Herbert L. Emery, his twin brother,

belonged to Company C, Fourth Infantry, Cali-

fornia Volunteers. He belongs to Ileintzelman

Post, No. 33, San Diego. Josiah S. Emery

belonged to Company C, Fourth Infantry, Cali-

fornia Volunteers. Although they were never

at the front or saw a battle, they suffered many

hardships and privations on the frontiers of this

State, Nevada and Arizona.

Captain Emery came to San Diego in 1866.

lie and his sons kept stations on the Colorado

Desert for several years, under the firm of Em-

ery Brothers. In 1868 they secured land in

the mountains of San Diego County and engaged

in thecattlebusiness, in which they still continue.

Mrs. Emery, with the younger members of the

family, came to San Diego in February, 1870.

In May of that year Captain Emery moved his

family to the mountains. They made the

journey from San Diego over the old stage road

to Yuma by way of Tia Juaua, Tocarte and

Campo, more than eighty miles, to reach their

mountain home, only forty-four miles from San

Diego. There were no roads from San Diego

to the mountains in those early days, but trails,

and in many places it was a hard, rough ride

for a horseman. The life of the Emery family

in those lonely mountains was not exempt from

perils

gang

and vicissitudes. In December, 1870, a

of Mexican horse-thieves came into the

valley one dark stormy night and stole every

horse they owned, fourteen in number. By the

dawn of day the desperadoes were over the line

into Lower California. Captain Emery took

James Flinn as interpreter, and they went into

San Rafael. He succeeded in getting seven of

the horses: the other 6even he never got,

although the Mexican authorities had caught

the thieves and shot them, keeping possession

of the horses, however, —a sample of Mexican

justice and equity in those days! Many other

trials and afflictions were experienced by the

family; but as the county has been settled and

civilized better days have dawned. In 1887

the Emery brothers bought a place at Alpine,

San Diego County, where the family now re-

side. Mr. Herbert Emery is still making hi6

home at Pine valley ranch. Charles F. Emery,

a younger brother, lives at the ranch with his

family and is foreman there. Edward C. Em-
ery resides in San Diego with his family. Mrs.

L. E. Wheeler, widow of Samuel H. Wheeler,

late of San Francisco, is one of the daughters;

Mrs. Mary E. Rich, of Westminster, Orange

County, wife of John E. Rich, a merchant, is

another daughter. Edward C. Emery resides

at 636 Eighteenth street, San Diego. Misses

Annie S. and Lillian G. Emery, daughters, are

at home with their parents.

Henry U. Emery was elected Supervisor of

the Third District of San Diego County, in

1884, and served with honesty and ability, till

death removed him from earthly labors. He
was highly esteemed by a large circle of friends,

and his death, in the prime of manhood, was

universally regretted. To his bereaved family

his place can never be filled.

fL.
DORN, rancher, etc., Escondido, was

born in 1859, at West Union, Iowa; in

a 1870-'71 he was in Chicago selling

papers and blacking boot6; he next was night

messenger for the Western Union during the

Chicago fire. He attended common schools in
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Chicago and high schools at Englewood. Then,

in 1877, he went to Michigan and was employed

in saw-mills, steam-boating, sailing, farming

and teaching school for six years, earning money

for a collegiate course. In the fall of 1883 he

entered the State University of Michigan, and

completed a four years' course in civil engi-

neering, then, in the fall of 1886, for the sake of

his health, he came to California, settling at

Escondido, and commenced ranching and en-

gineering. He was one of the organizers of

the first Agricultural Society, and secretary;

was next year Secretary of the Central Agricul-

tural Society, also ot the State District Society

in 1889; he was also assistant engineer of the

Pamo Water Company. In 1887 Mr. Dorn
bought the Whitney & Bell ranch and vineyard,

one of the best in San Diego County.

In 1887 he married Miss Kate Orr, a class-

mate in the Michigan University. Three young
ladies of the celebrated La Porte High School,

went to that University and were room-mates,—
Kate Orr, Anna Taber and Ella Webb. Three

gentlemen— E. L. Dorn, W. W. Horine and

Stanley Warner—were also school-mates there at

the same time, and waited upon the young
ladies in their freshman year; 1888 found the

six married and comfortably settled in Escon

dido.

fOHN HOLTON MARSHALL, capitalist,

San Diego, was born June 19, 1845, in

Brunswick, Maine, the seat of Bowdoin

(College, and at the age of fourteen years went

to sea, his father, J. H. Marshall, being an old

sea captain. Of the seven children in the fam-

ily all three of the sons followed the sea.

In the early part of 1862 Mr. Marshall en-

tered fhe navy, and was honorably discharged

in September, 1865. He relates in an amusing

manner how rigid the examination was before

the Medical Board for the United States navy.

It required presence of mind to protect the ap-

plicant from officials who rejected or accepted

whom they pleased. The Captain was naturally

near-sighted, and he felt very uncomfortable

when a companion was instantly rejected on

examination. The officer glared at Marshall,

and asked him what was the matter with his

ears. Marshall simply drew a breath of relief,

for he intuitively knew his hearing was more
acute and actually superior on account of the

defect in his eyes. The officer stepped up and
whispered to him, but he heard every breath he

made, and finally, after looking several times

intently at his ears, the doctor inquired, in a

pleasant, satisfied voice, " Well, how are your
eyes? do you see all right? There is no blink-

ing in them; they are blue in color; that is

generally the best color; 1 guess you are all

right." Marshall, in a measure, was in a state

of suspense, for it would have nearly " killed "

him to have been rejected. He looked the offi-

cer straight in the eye and said: "My eyes have
never bothered me; I can 6ee with them I

guess." He passed and received his commission
as ensign in the United States navy.

Captain Marshall was first placed on the war
ship Savannah, and during his service in the

navy served on several ships, his last being

the gun-boat Huntsville, commanded by Lieu-

tenant-Commander Devens, of Massachusetts-

He was engaged in the second naval battle of

Fort Fisher. During his service he was in

the South Atlantic and East Gulf Blockading

Squadron, the latter part cruising in West India

waters and along the Spanish Main.

After the war closed he followed the sea as

chief officer in merchant service. In 1868 he

went to the gold diggings on the west coast of

New Zealand. At the gold mines he had many
" ups and downs," finally making his head-

quarters at Melbourne. In the early part of

1870 he returned to his home in Maine; then,

in October, 1870, he returned to California,

where he took command of a ship and made a

voyage to South America, and numerous voyages

to neighboring Pacific ports. Then quitting

the sea, in 1875, he located at Seattle, on Puget

Sound, Washington, where he was very success-
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fill in his real-estate investments. When he

first landed there it was a small, quiet seaport,

surrounded by a new country but partially set-

tled. He bought land at a nominal price, and

relates how he offered a blacksmith a block of

land to fix his wagon; the value of the land was

about $50; this land was afterward sold fur

$20,000. In 1883 he anticipated a reaction

and sold his real estate as rapidly as possible, so

that he was well protected from the financial

depression and decline of real estate caused by

the Villard failure in 1883. He next visited

Europe with his family, and early in 1885 he

returned to superintend his affairs at Seattle.

Business there was apparently lifeless, and the

population was decreasing visibly. After plac-

ing his remaining property there in security, he

sailed for San Diego in June, 1885, and pur-

chased considerable real estate here, for he de-

termined to make Southern California his home.

His investments have realized even more than

his sanguine expectations had anticipated. He
erected a handsome brick block on the corner

of Fourth and O streets, which is considered one

of the finest buildings in San Diego. He wa6

once elected delegate to the city council, and is

a very popular man.

In June, 1874, Captain Marshall married

Mrs. E. M. Hinds, a native of California.

s^€»->¥

[R. W. 13. WOODWARD.—Among the

men of San Diego who stand high in

their profession we find the name of Dr.

Walter B. Woodward, who is a native of Cleve-

land, Ohio, and dates his birth March 5, 1846.

His father, Henry Thomas Woodward, of Dun-

barrow House, Kells, County of Meath, Ireland,

was a landholder there, and in 1836 came to

America, landing in New York. He was of

English descent. His grandfather was an offi-

cer in Cromwell's army in Ireland, and the

English Government granted him land for his

service as a soldier, and he made a settlement

there. The Doctor's mother was his father's

first cousin, Miss Hessy Woodward. They were

married in Cleveland, Ohio, in 1836, and they

had five children, the subject of this sketch be-

ing the youngest. When he was two months

old his parents removed to Beloit, Wisconsin,

and resided there until 1864, when they re-

turned to Ireland. The Doctor was there and

at the Illinois College, at Jacksonville, for ten

years.

The great civil war burst upon the country

and he entered in Company C, One Hundred

and Forty-fifth Illinois Volunteers and remained

in the service until the close. The Doctor was

only sixteen years of age when he enlisted, and

when mustered out of the service he followed

his relatives to Ireland, and there entered the

medical school of Trinity College, Dublin, and

afterward graduated at the King and Queen's

College of Physicians, Ireland.

In 1872 he was married to Miss Charlotte

Roper, daughter of Charles Roper, of Fairfield

House, County of Dublin, and they came di-

rectly to America and settled in Peoria, Illinois.

A short time after this he went to Philadelphia

and attended the Pennsylvania College of Den-

tal Surgery, and after graduating practiced his

profession at his home in Peoria for ten years.

In May 1888, he removed to San Diego, bought

property and built a very attractive house, where

he and his family now reside. The Doctor is

a man of modest and retiring habits, is a mem-
ber of the Masonic order, and he and his wife

are members of St. Paul's Episcopal Church.

fH.
McCORMICK was born in De Kalb

County, Illinois, December 11, 1845.
a His father, Charles Wesley McCormick,

was a native of Indiana. His mother, Clarissa

(Maxfield) McCormick, was the daugRter of

James Henry Maxfield, who was a Sergeant in

the war of 1812. Owing to the death of his

mother when he was quite young, Mr. McCor-

mick was raised by his grandmother. His

grandmother, Sophia Maxfield, was born in
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Connecticut, June 8, 1800, and died September

20, 1888, at the age of eighty-eight. When
but nineteen, and small for his age, he enlisted

in the army. February 18, 1865, he stood in a

row witli other volunteers and had a two-inch

block under hi« feet to raise him up to the

proper height. The mustering officer looked at

him, up and down, saw the block, smiled and

said, "You will do." He was mustered in

Company F, One Hundred and Forty-seventh

Illinois Volunteers, and became the company's

drummer. He still has the drum that he car-

ried through the service. It was given him by

his company at Camp Fry, Chicago, and cost

$25 at the time. While in the service in

Georgia he had a severe attack of typhoid fever,

and was sick four months. While at the worst

stage of the disease, his attendant fell asleep;

he got out of bed and fell out of the window,

down about ten feet, and was so injured that it

gave him curvature of the spine, from which he

has never fully recovered. He taught school in

El Dorado County, California, and Nevada, for

several years. In 1876 he was admitted to the

mint at Carson City, where he worked in the

rolling department at $4.50 per day, until 1880,

when he was promoted and received $6 per day.

He was there for nine years, but when Mr.

Cleveland was elected President, he was dis-

placed. He then came to Murrietta, December

25, 1885, where he farmed for two years, when
he opened a meat market, which he still con-

tinues. He is a member of the G. A. R. at

Carson City, Nevada. He was a charter mem-
ber there, and was its adjutant-general for two

years. He united with the I. O. O. F. in Ne-

vada in 1870.

He was married June 8, 1870, to Miss Eliza

S. Bollen, at Sheridan, Douglas County. They

have had nine children, six of whom are still

living: Cassius Clay, born in Sheridan, Douglas

County, October 13, 1871; Hovey Haywood,

Woodford's, California, January 3, 1875; Ezra

Marden, Carson City, Nevada, November 19,

1882; Josiah Harold, Carson City, June 8,

1884; Arthur Earl, Murrietta, April 4, 1887,
|

and one other, born at Murrietta, January 19,

1889. On account of his honesty as a man and
his services to his country as a soldier, he is

entitled to the consideration of every American
and lover of this country.

fOHN MILTON SNOW, one of the most

enterprising ranch owners of the Alpine

district, was born at Atkinson, Maine, Au-
gust 1, 1830. His father, Tileston Snow, was
a native of New Brunswick. His grandfather,

Benjamin Snow, was an officer of the American
army during the war of the Revolution, having

left Dartmouth College to join the command of

General Sullivan, and was a native of New
Hampshire. The family traces its ancestry back

to John Snow, who, accompanied by his brother,

Nicholas Snow, landed at Plymouth from the

ship Anne, in the year 1623, but three years

after the landing of the Pilgrim Fathers.

Nicholas remained near Plymouth, while John
went to New Hampshire, and here the ancestors

of the subject of this sketch resided until the

removal of his grandparents temporarily to New
Brunswick, and subsequently, after the birth of

Tileston, went back to New Hampshire and

thence to Maine.

The early years of Mr. Snow's life were

spent on a farm, but he received a fair educa-

tion, taking an academic course to finish. He
was for awhile a school-teacher, he and his son

being the third and fourth generations in direct

line who followed this vocation. He also studied

surveying, and on his removal to Minnesota in

1851, he found his knowledge of this science

very useful. During his residence of twenty-

eight years in Sherburne County, Minnesota, he

was twice elected County Surveyor, besides at

other time6 filling the positions of County Com-
missioner, Coroner and Clerk of the District

Court.

While residing in Minnesota, in 1863, Mr.

Snow was married to Miss Delia Heath, whose

ancestors were also from New Hampshire. Her
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great-grandfather, Josiah Heath, was a veteran

of the Revolutionary war, having also served in

the French and Indian wars. He was a blood

relative of General William Heath, of Revolu-

tionary fame. The first-born of this union, Ed-

win T. Snow, died in 1888, at the age of twenty-

four years. There are four living children, viz.:

Albert F., Lottie E., Harry M. and Fred P.

Mr. Snow came to California in 1880, settling

at Orange, and moved to his present residence,

near Alpine, in 1884. He is a progressive

farmer, and his is one of the finest ranches in

the district. He owns 16U acres near Alpine,

and 329 in Sweetwater valley. His fruit trees,

of which he has a tine variety, are thrifty and

strong, and bear large crops of excellent fruit,

while his grain, potatoes, etc., give ample re-

turns.

SOBERT GRIFFIN HULBERT, ot San

Diego, a native of Indiana, is the young-

est of six children of his father, William

Hulbert. He was brought up in the country,

and being naturally industrious he made the

best of his few opportunities for self-education,

especially in his medical studies. Many inci-

dents are related illustrating his advancement

in the modern sciences. When the civil war

broke out, he, only thirteen years of age, enlist-

ed in Company C, in the Twelfth Missouri Cav-

alry. His superior intelligence attracted the

attention of General Hatch, who thereupon

placed him upon his staff as an aide, in which

station he was faithful as a carrier of dispatches.

At the battle of Campbell ville he was wounded

by a shot and his horse was blown to pieces. In

making a gallant fight at the battle of Franklin

he was again wounded, this time receiving a

shot in the breast. General Hatch retreated in

the greatest haste to Nashville, with 5,000 men,

while the Confederate forces numbered but 50,-

000. The following spring the Twelfth Missouri

Cavalry were sent out to the plains to fight the

Indians.

After the close of the war Dr. Hulbert com-

menced a literary education at Kirkwood, Mis-

souri, a branch of the Normal School, and

graduated in 1869, with high honors. He then

completed the course of 6tudy at the Missouri

Medical College at St. Louis, received his

diploma in 1872, and also from the Keokuk

Medical College in 1875, and from the Rush

Medical College at Chicago in 1877. Thus he

became thorough in his profession. After prac-

ticing thirteen years at Brescott, Iowa, he be-

came surgeon for the Chicago, Burlington &
Quincy Railroad for nine years, and in August,

1887, came to San Diego, since which time he

has manifested his faith in this county by in-

vesting in real estate here and also at Los An-

geles and other parts of Southern California.

At San Diego he is representing the eighth

ward in the city council; is a member of Beth-

any Commandery, No. 29, Knights Templar.

May 23, 1876, he was married to Miss Fannie

Jackson, of Carthage, Illinois. They have two

daughters, Florence and Alice, fifteen and twelve

years of age respectively.

3Mj.fr

tBRAHAM BLOCHMAN was born at Ing-

enheim, in the province of Elsass, France,

October 4, 1834, his parents being both

natives of that country. His father being de-

ceased, his mother and family left France in 1850,

taking a sailing vessel at Harve for New Orleans,

where they arrived after a voyage of fifty days.

In the family there were twelve children, but

only two son6 and two daughters survive, of

whom Abraham is the youngest. After spend-

ing a few days in New Orleans they journeyed

to Memphis, Tennessee, where he left his mother

and went to Helena, Philips County, Arkansas,

in the early part of 1851. He had received a

good common-school education in France and

had been the only one out of fifteen applicants

accepted at the Mechanical School of Strasbourg.

At Helena he taught French, being well founded

in languages, and in return studied English, and
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was also assistant in a general merchandise store.

In October, 1851, he returned to New Orleans

and there took steamer for Havana to intercept

steamer from New York to Chagres, en route

for California. Transportation across the Isth-

mus being very expensive, they went up the

Chagres river in small boats to Gorgona and

then walked to Panama, spending two nights and

two days on the way, through heavy rains, foot-

sore and weary, with insufficient food, and at

night securing the most meager accommoda-

tions. Arriving at Panama he missed the first

steamer owing to a delay in the arrival of his

luggage. Being sick the doctor advised him

to take the old schooner Tryphena, as there was

danger of death if he remained. The schooner

was unseaworthy and the captain a drunkard;

after twenty-eight days the water in the casks

gave out and the food became worm-eaten. A
vigilance committee was formed to withhold

liquors and to deal out supplies, and for six

days the passengers lived on one glass of water

and one glass of flour per day. After about

two months they ran into St. Martin's bay, with

a view of taking chances by land, but sighting

a schooner, they were advised to run to Ceros

island, where they could get a supply of water.

While at the island they sighted and signalled

a passing steamer, which took off the married

men with their wives and children; the bache-

lors remained, and after a few more days of

great hardships they reached the harbor of San

Diego and there took the steamer Sea Bird for

San Francisco. He then went to Sacramento

to visit a brother, and then, in May, 1852, went

to the mines of the Yuba river, but, not succeed-

ing at placer mining, after about three months

he returned to Sacramento. During the follow-

ing six years he entered several schemes at Ce-

darville in store-keeping and mining, but all

proved unprofitable. In the fall of 1858 he

went to Sau Luis Obispo, where he opened a

general merchandise store under the firm name
of A. Biochiuan & Co., and continuing with

good success until 1864, when he went to San

Francisco and joined the firm of Uhlfelder,

Kahn & Co., wholesale dry goods, continuing

until 1867, when he sold out his interest and

withdrew from the firm. He then started a

general merchandise store in Santa Cruz, Oak-

land, San Luis Obispo and Guadaloupe, also be-

ing a director of the Pioneer Woolen Mill of

San Francisco, president of the Oakland Jute

Factory and vice-president of the French Savings

Bank, also interested in cattle and sheep ranches.

Being very enterprising he continued these sev-

eral branches with great success.

On January 25, 1865, he married Miss M.

Sarassin, a native of France, and in 1871 he sold

out his home in San Francisco and, with his

wife and three children, went to Europe, spend-

ing a year traveling through France, Italy and

Switzerland. They returned to America in the

fall of 1872, then came disastrous years. He
lost heavily through a defaulting manager at

Anaheim, wool speculations in Frisco and lime

business in Santa Cruz, and in 1877 lost 3,000

head of cattle, owing to a dry year. In 1880

he came to San Diego city dead broke, but with

good friends to back him. Still ill-luck followed,

and after three years business in the firm of Block-

man & Smith, through a disagreement with

Smith, business was settled by a receiver and

great loss followed.

In December, 1884, he started his present

business at 618, 620 and 622 Fifth street, under

firm name of M. Blochman & Son, doing a gen-

eral merchandise business, carrying a large

stock and meeting with good success. At

present he is vice-president of the San Diego

Building and Loan Association, with a paid up

capital of $150,000. He is district deputy of

the order of Chosen Friends, a member of the

Masonic Lodge, a member of the Board of Trade

and Chamber of Commerce, and in sympathy

with all domestic progress.

Mr. and Mrs. Blochman have had eight chil-

dren, six now living, one son and five daughters.

The 6on is in the business. The children are

all well educated, two of the girls having been

educated in Paris. Mr. Blochman considers

an education the best kind of an inheritance,
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and is himself a great linguist, being fluent in

four languages. His son is likewise ready in

these and several other languages.

fOHN B. LEVET, of San Diego, was born

August 27, 1824, in France, and came to

America with his parents in 1836, being

the younger of two sons. His brother Joseph,

a farmer, lost his life in Iowa, by accidental

drowning, leaving a family. Their father, John

C. Levet, who also was a farmer, located in

Crogantown, Lewis County, New York, where

the subject of this sketch grew up. In 1844

the family removed to Watertown, Jefferson

County, Wisconsin, where young John learned

the trade of carpenter and builder, and followed

this vocation until he came to California in

1850. He first located in San Francisco, where

he followed his trade as contractor and builder

forabouttwentyyears,andthe evidences of hi6 en-

terprise and mechanical skill are numerous in the

many fine residences and business blocks in the

breezy metropolis. He completely executed his

contracts, putting up buildings from foundation

to the delivery of the keys to the proprietors,

employing a large force of mechanics and doing

presumably a profitable business.

In November, 1869, he came to San Diego,

when it was only a trading post of two or three

small houses, and Mr. Dunnel kept a " stopping

place" near the beach; that building is still

standing. Mr. Levet came here mainly for

recreation, as he had wore himself down by over-

work. He lived awhile at National City, where

he erected several dwellings. In the fall of that

year he brought his family from San Francisco

and took up a permanent residence in San Diego,

and there he successfully pursued his calling up

to a very recent date. His reputation as a thrifty,

energetic business man is too well known to re-

quire particulars.

Mr. Levet was married in February, 1856, in

Watertown,Wisconsin, to Miss Mary E., daughter

of Solomon Owens, a Methodist Episcopal clergy-

man of Dodge County, that State, now deceased.

Mr. and Mrs. Levet have one son, B. F. Levet,

who is an expert civil engineer and draughts-

man, and as such has figured conspicuously in

the construction of the California Southern Rail-

way, being in their service for seven years; and

made drawings and estimates, etc., for the Cuy-

amaca Railway. His office is No. 25, in the

Pierce and Morris block. His children are:

Datus, born March 14, 1864; Ella and Loleta,

both accomplished and attractive ladies. The

latter is known throughout California as a high-

ly disciplined vocalist, and she is also a tine

pianist.

Mr. Levet has invested his capital in San

Diego real estate and therefore owns many

good pieces of property, comprising valuable

dwellings. He is counted among the judicious

and solid citizens, with sound opinions on local

matters and public policy. He is a member of

the Pioneer Society and of the order of Odd

Fellows. Residence, corner of Date and First

streets.

tUGUSTQS K. CRAVATH, a prominent

business man of Escondido, was born in

Knox County, Ohio, April 23, 1852. At

an early age his parents removed to Will Coun-

ty, Illinois, where they remained until the fall

of 1858, when they moved to Worth County,

Iowa, and there Augustus worked on a farm

during the summer and attended public school

during the winter. In the fall of 1870 he be-

gan attendance at the Baptist Seminary at Osage.

In the spring of 1872 he came to San Diego

County, where he has remained ever since, en-

gaged in farming. Eighteen out of the thirty-

eight years of his life have been spent in this

State. In the spring ot 1886 he sold his farm

and located in Escondido, as the manager of the

Escondido Land and Town Company, in which

capacity he remained over two and one-half

years. At present he is resident manager of

the Pacific Investment Company, and also
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President of the City Council and of the Escon-

dido Mining and Water companies. He is

also director of the Bank of Escondido. He
arrived in this State with only $2.50, and he is

now a capitalist, worth, perhaps, $30,000.

He was married in December, 1877, to Miss

Kate Sikes, daughter of Zenas Sikes, a pioneer

of San Diego, and they have three sons and

three daughters.

-
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fOHN OLIVER WINSLOW PAINE, at-

torney at law, was born in Charlestown,

Maine, January 16, 1838, the youngest of

seven children in the family of his father, Ab-

ner Paine. He entered the army in 1861, at

Bangor, Maine, while he was a student at Dart-

month College, joining the Sixth regiment.

He afterward enlisted in the Fourteenth regi-

ment, under the command of Colonel Nicker-

son, as Second Lieutenant, and was honorably

discharged after a service of about two years,

having been promoted to First Lieutenant. In

January, 1865, lie raised a company of volnn-

teers and was assigned to his old regiment, the

Fourteenth Maine. He reinainad in active

service until the close of the war, and was dis-

charged in August, 1865. Part of his military

life was spent in Georgia, where he was made

provost judge in one of the districts of the

State, with general powers. It was one of the

first organizations of the courts after the close

of the war, made by the commander of the de-

partment, General C. A. Steadman. After the

war Mr. Paine returned to Maine to practice

law, which he had studied previously. He
moved to Ottawa, Kansas, in 1867, and re-

mained there over twelve years, being one of

the leading attorneys, seVving two terms as Dis-

trict Attorney, and was also City Attorney, and

retired with a good record and high honors. In

1879 Mr. Paine moved to San Diego, continuing

the practice of his profession. He invested in

real estate, and owns considerable land at Linda

Vista, Poway, and other places in San Diego

County, and since 1880 has been Notary Pub-

lic. He has made a specialty of the public land

business, entering Government claims, protests,

etc. He is well known to the public, and is a

quiet, conscientious citizen, and is interested in

everything that tends to advance or improve

this county. He believes that this region will

attract a larger population in the future than

any other portion of the country. He has much

to say as to the resources of San Diego County.

He was married in Ottawa, Kansas, in 1868,

to Miss Jennie McKinley, a native of Mary-

land, who died in San Diego in 1883, leaving

two daughters, Alice and Aimee. In 1886 Mr.

Paine married Miss Anna B. Crotts, a native of

Pennsylvania, and by this marriage has two

children, Albert W. and Olive Prue.

—&mmr*^-
1LLIAM ROGERS, a citizen of Escon-

dido, was born in Wiltshire, England,

in 1820, and came with his parents to

New York when but two years of age. When
about twenty-two years old he engaged in the

boot and shoe trade in New York city, and

afterward in the same business in UlsterCounty,

New York. In 1851 he came by way of the

Isthmus of Panama to California, and engaged

in mining at Mokelumne Hill, on the Calaveras

and Stanislaus rivers, and met with fair success.

In 1853 he purchased an interest in the bark

Oregon, loaded it with hides and old iron, and

retnrned to New York around Cape Horn.

While in the roadstead at Rio Janeiro, the bark

narrowly escaped being robbed. Two boat-

loads of Portuguese ruffians came out in the

night and attacked the bark, but an alarm was

given by a dog, which aroused the sleeping

watcher, when the pirates were fired upon by

the guard boats, but they succeeded in escaping.

The shipment of the freight and the purchase of

the bark proved to be quite profitable, several

thousand dollars being realized. Mr. Rogers

again engaged in the boot and shoe trade in his

former home in Ulster County, New York. In
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1870 he removed to Kansas and engaged in the

stock business and in farming. In 1884 he

sold out there and came to San Diego, remained

there two years and then removed to Escondido,

and he built the first house in the place. He
has now lived to see the town grow to contain

at least 1,000 inhabitants.

In 1848 be married Mis6 Eliza S. Dnsenbury,

a daughter of John L. Dusenbury, of New
York city. They had four sons and three daugh-

ters, but two daughters have died.

fOLONEL JOHN KASTLE, a prominent

citizen of San Diego, was born in Stras-

bourg, France, and with his father emi-

grated at America when he was quite a small

boy, settling in Lexington, Kentucky, where he

was raised, and in time became a prosperous

shoe merchant. In 1867, having become some-

thing of an invalid, he sold out his business and

visited the World's Fair, at Paris, spending six

months on the continent of Europe. On his

return he travelled several years in the west and

south, spending the winter of 1870-'71 in San

Francisco; returning to Lexington he drifted

into politics, but having been an ardent Union

man, he finally gave up the unequal contest.

In 1881 he moved to Kansas City, and in 1884

married Miss Ida E. Hatch, a daughter of a

prominent man of that place. While a citizen

of that State he became prominently identified

with its interests, and was influential in its

progress, and was generally considered a man

of excellent business judgment. He is an ac-

tive member of the A. O. U. W., and is a pio-

neer in that order. In 1887, after the death of

his wife, Mr. Kastle came to California, making

San Diago his home; he is at present a member

of Point Loma Lodge, A. O. U. W., of San

Diego, and has been its representative to the

Grand Lodge for three successive terms; he was

elected president of the Savings and Loan Asso-

ciation for a second term, and is also an active

and influential member of the Chamber of Com-

merce, having been elected president for the

current term. His views are broad and com-

prehensive, and he is taking a deep interest in

trying to obtain another transcontinental railroad

for San Diego. He is one of the committee of

the Chamber of Commerce appointed to arouse

public attention to this important subject, and

with others has succeeded in obtaining nearly

a half million dollar subscription for that pur-

pose.

He was also one of the earliest friends and

promoters of the pioneer cable road of San

Diego. He has offered many valuable sugges-

tions from time to time in articles published in

the columns of the local press, and many im-

provements have been proposed by him in vari-

ous contributions, among which were the im-

provement of the public park, the necessity of

a new opera house, the need of street improve-

ments, a better system of street sprinkling, a

market house, the vital importance of local in-

dustries to produce a steady, robust, healthy

progress, and the importance of offering greater

inducements to emigrants settling in this part

of the country. When the commercial congress

of the Pacific States was held in San Francisco

in August, 1889, he was a delegate from San

Diego to that honorable body. He is a pecul-

iarly modest man, and is content to see his

efforts bear fruit without attempting to assume

any special credit to himself. He owns con-

siderable real estate in the business center of

San Diego, and is also actively interested in

every plan or project which will improve the

city.

He is a Republican in politics and firmly be-

lieves that protecting and dignifying American

labor is essential to the success, prosperity and

advancement of the nation.

fHILIP A. BETTENS, nurseryman of Es-

condidu, was born near Vevay, Switzer-

land County, Indiana, July 81, 1838, of

Swiss parentage; when about thirteen years of
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age lie commenced traveling on the Ohio and

Mississippi rivers during the winter months and

worked on his grandfather's farm during the

warmer portions of the year, until 1859, when

he moved to Florence, and continued farming

until April 1, 1887, when he came to San Diego

County. After a few weeks' residence in Coro-

nado he moved to San Pasqual valley; was there

nineteen months, and then moved to Escondido,

September 1, 1888, where he was first in charge

of the Escondido Land and Town Company's

vineyard for several months; he is now in the

nursery business for the Sweetwater Nursery

Company.

In 1859 he married Miss Clara A. Dufour,

of Switzerland County, Indiana, and of Swiss

parentage. She died in November, 1880. By
that marriage there are four sons and two

daughters. The oldest son, Philip A., is a

graduate of West Point, and holds the rank of

Lieutenant, being stationed at Fort Robinson,

Nebraska; the second son, A. G., is in the em-

ploy of the Coronado Beach Company, occupy-

ing a responsible position in their office. The

remaining children are with him at his home
in Escondido.

&G3&+*

fYLVESTER S. ROGERS, druggist of Es-

condido, was born in Ulster County, New
York, in December, 1859, and when twelve

years of age he went with his parents to Cen-

tralia, Kansas, where he lived eight years. Then

he went to Leonardville, Riley County, that

State, and engaged in the hardware business

four years, and then in March, 1856, he came

to California, locating in Escondido valley, and

worked at Bernardo for P. A. Graham 6ix

months, and then in Escondido for the same
man. In March, 1887, he bought the drug

store in the town of Escondido, which he has

since been conducting.

He married Miss Sarah Boosey, daughter of

P. Boosey, of Riley County, Kansas, and they

have one son and one daughter. His father,

William Rogers, is a native of England, and

has lived in California for the past seven years.

He is now living in Escondido, hale and hearty.

His son, Earl Leroy, was the first child born in

Escondido.

ALTER J. BAILEY, principal of public

schools, Escondido, California, was born

in the village of Corinth, Penobscot

County, Maine, July 24, 1862. At the age of

five years he began his struggle for knowledge

in the district school. His father was a farmer,

but, being very desirous that his son should

receive a good common-school education, spared

no pains to keep Walter in school instead of

allowing him to remain at home when extra

assistance was needed on the farm, and during

the long vacations between the terms ofthe district

schools, Walter as he grew older was sent to

private schools. His mother had been a school-

teacher before her marriage, and in her Walter

always found an able and a willing assistant,

which, together with a natural quickness of per-

ception, enabled him to stand among the first

in all his classes. At the age of fifteen his

father placed him under the care of David

Fletcher, in the East Corinth Academy, where

he remained a student a greater part of the

next four years. He also attended the Ken-

duskeag High School for a short time. During

the fall and winter of 1881 he taught his first

term of school in the town of Carmel, receiving

$20 per month and his board. He met with

such a degree of success in this school that he

determined to make teaching his profession, and

with that end in view entered the Eastern State

Normal School at Castine, Maine, in the fall of

1882. His father wished him to be a farmer

and refused to furnish the money for a profes-

sional course.

Walter was thus thrown largely upon his

own resources, but he never thought fur a
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moment of turning from his purpose; and

by teaching and hard labor dnring vaca-

tions he managed, with what assistance his

mother could furnish, to complete his entire

course, graduating June 7, 1884. Having

obtained a situation at Bowery Beach, near

Portland, Maine, he began teaching at that

place, but a severe attack of erysipelas pre-

vented his finishing the term and confined him

in bed for several months, thereby exhausting
i

his purse and seriously interfering with his

studies. He taught several terms of school in

his home district, and by his efforts as teacher,

and afterward as "school agent" (trustee) made

the school the best in the town. The winter of

1885 was spent in teaching the grammar school

at West Brooksville, Maine, with his usual siiCr

cess. From Brooksville he went to Waterville,

Maine, where he spent some months pursuing

his studies under the instruction of J. H. Han-

son, LL. D., in the Coburn Classical Institute.

The summer of 1886 found him transformed

into a book agent and canvassing in the State

of New York, with his headquarters at Fulton,

Oswego County. In September he returned as

principal of the High School at Kenduskeag,

Maine. Having been converted to the Christian

religion nearly a year before, he was now bap-

tized and became a member of the First Bap-

tist Church at Kenduskeag and took an active

part in organizing a Young Men's Christian

Association at that place.

Having been a sufferer trom attacks of asthma

from childhood he resolved to seek relief in the

sunny land of Southern California, and attracted

by the boom at San Diego we find him on' his

way to that city, where he arrived April 17,

1887. Finding no demand for any but manual

labor he began work on the Flotel del Coronado

and assisted in laying the foundation for that

magnificent structure. He then worked as car-

penter on the same until the last of July, when

he went to Buena, California, to take charge of

a general merchandise store. During the next

six months the railroad betweeu Oceanside and

Escondido was surveyed and built through

Buena, and Mr. Bailey's store, being in the

midst of the contractors' camps, was the center

of many exciting scenes.

On the 28th of September, 1887, he was

married to Miss Annie L. Haselton, daughter

of Captain John A. Haselton, who in company

with Mr. Bailey's sister had just arrived from

their home in Maine. In August, 1888, Mr.

Bailey was elected to the principalship of the

public schools in the "Sun-kissed Vale," which

position he still retains, and the present excel-

lent condition of the schools is largely due to

his well-directed efforts.

fEWTON C. WHIMS was born near

Hookstown, Beaver County, Pennsylvania,

March 29, 1844. He was the son of Caleb

Whims, a prominent farmer of that county.

The first few years (if his life were uneventful,

attending district school in the winter and

working on the farm in the summer, until the

breaking out of the war. At the age of eighteen

he enlisted in Company H, One Hundred and

Fortieth Regiment of Pennsylvania Volunteers.

This regiment was attached to Hancock's old

division (First) of the famous Second Corps, and

taak part in all the battles of the Army of the

Potomac from Chancellorsville to Appomattox.

The last year of the war he was in command of

his company, with the rank of Second Lieuten-

ant. In June, 1865, he settled on a farm in

Pottawattamie County, Kansas. He taught

school and studied law during the winter sea-

sons until 1872, when he was admitted to the

bar. From that time until 1886 he was prin-

cipally engaged in educational work. In the

spring of that year he removed. to San Diego,

and the same year lie located in Escondido, in

the " sun-kissed vale," and engaged in the mer-

cantile business. In October, 1887, he received

the appointment of Postmaster at Escondido,

but, being an uncompromising Republican, he

was removed to make room for a Democrat.

In Maich, 1889, on the return of the Republi-
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cans to power, he was again appointed to the

position of Postmaster, which place he now

holds.

He was married to Miss 6. K. Vance, Octo-

ber 11, 1865, and has four children, one son and

three daughters. Mr. Whims is a radical tem-

perance man, a member of the Methodist Epis-

copal Church, and a good citizen.

#^-%B-^£#

fM.
LOOP, San Diego.—Some men walk

through life with what has been termed
a

a " charmed existence," and pass through

terrible dangers and great perils unharmed.

The- lives of these men are replete with thrill-

ing experience and hair-breadth escapes. The

Mexican outlaw or Italian brigand could not

excel their cruel murders nor their daring reck-

less contempt of law. They robbed the mail

and treasure boxes, and shot and killed every

one who offered the slightest resistance. They

committed the most atrocious crimeu without

flinching. The people in their intense indigna-

tion applied to the Government for protection,

for it was unsafe to travel while the country was

infested by such dangerous criminals. The

United States mail coaches were loaded with

gold and valuable treasures. These marauders

generally knew where to make a big haul, and

their attacks were sure of success. A man must

have had intrepid courage to oppose them.

Among those who enlisted in the hazardous

service of the Express Company as treasury

agents was Theodore Murray Loop, who was

born at Bath, Steuben County, New York, June

10, 1832. His father, Murray Loop, married

Miss Mary Ann Arnot, a native of Scotland, in

Elmira, New York. Mr. Loop hecaine a prom-

inent merchant. Theodore was the second child,

having no brothers, but two sisters: Harriette

Tuttle aud Emily Elizabeth. The family moved

to Oakland County, Michigan, where Mrs. Loop

died, and Mr. Loop returned with his children

to Bath, New York, where he left them and

came West in 1837, and in 1840 brought his

children from Bath to his new home, settling at

Belvidere, Boone County, Illinois. Theodore

left home in the winter of 1849, in St. Louis, to

come to California the next year.

After wintering in Jackson, Amador County,

he followed mining the first three years. In

1853 he went into the service of the Adams Ex-

press Company as treasury-carrier, and re-

mained with them until they failed. He was

next in the employ of the Langton's Express

Company until 1858. During these years his

dauntless courage was frequently called into

activity, and in 1854 he marvelously escaped

being shot to pieces by a Walker's band of high-

waymen, who attacked the stage running be-

tween Downieville.Marysvilleand Comptonville.

They stopped the coach at the Oregon House,

and a fierce battle took place, both parties firing

incessantly with revolvers and double-barreled

shot guns. William Dobson and Theodore

Loop fought with a wild desperation and killed

three of the robbers; the others took fright and

retreated to the mouutains, where they were

pursued and killed. During the fight a lady

passenger was shot through the head, and a

man on the coach had his leg badly shattered.

The messengers had over $125,000 worth of

treasure in the coach this trip. The news of

the attack spread through the country, and the

valor and courage of Mr. Loop was a subject of

surprise and astonishment to all. In 1858 Mr.

Loop resigned and went up north in the em-

ploy of the California Stage Company, which

carred the mail and treasure from Yreka and

the mountains. In 1859-'60 he was on the

route from Weaverville to Humboldt Bay, dur-

ing the great B,edwood Indian war, which was

in progress at the Redwood mountains in Hum-
boldt County. He traveled over the road for

months when the Indians were so fierce that no

white man dared to show himself. He made
the trip at night-time to avoid attacks from

them. The settlers were terror-stricken and

utterly dismayed. The redskins murdered, pil-

laged and destroyed entire settlements bordering

on the different routes between Weaverville and
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Humboldt. Finally the inhabitants were com-

pelled to make a hasty flight from their homes,

and hurriedly escaped to Uniontown. They

swarmed down on the ranches below Bremer's

place and murdered every white person and

destroyed everything in their path.

One night about two o'clock, Mr. Loop

stopped at Bremer for his usual cup of hot

cofl'ee, and sat back and listened to the outrages

committed by the Indians. He was unsus-

picious of any danger, but concluded to be

alert. After he had gone into the dense red-

woods, he could not see or hear anything, and

trusted entirely to his faithful, intelligent mule,

which was sure-footed and familiar with the

road. The heavy fog and deep-green foliage

made it impossible for him to discern any ob-

ject during the night. The Indians suddenly

came upon him with fearful yells, the woods

resounding with their wild screams and sharp

musketry. Mr. Loop pulled out his revolver

and tired as fast as he could, the inule whirled

suddenly and started off at a rapid pace, while

Mr. Loop hastened his speed as much as possi-

ble with the spur. The animal pitched off the

mountain into a deep gully; Mr. Loop was

thrown against a tree, knocking him senseless,

and he remained in this condition until day-

light, when he found the mule still motionless

by his side. He aroused him and managed to

continue his journey.

General Kibber, in command of the State

troops, followed the Indians and killed several

hundred of them during this war. Several

times the United States troops guarded Mr.

Loop in his journey, but the dangers increased,

so that it was unsafe to trust to such protection,

and he resigned and went north to Puget Sound.

From 1860 to 1862 he was in the express busi-

ness in British Columbia. In 1862 he was

caught in the snow between Fort Douglas and

Lillonite, and had to carry $25,000 worth of

treasure on his back. At the head of Lillonite

river, between Lillonite lake and Harrison lake,

he procured four Indians and a canoe and went

down the river. At that time there was not a

single white man in the whole country. It was

an exciting trip, for the river was full of water-

falls, some of which were over twenty feet in

height. When they reached Fort Douglas, the

entire population came out and stood on the

shore in great astonishment, and welcomed him

with lusty cheers, as he was the first and only

white man that had ever dared navigate the

dangerous stream. In the spring of 1862 he

visited Cariboo mines, but left them on account

of the severe winter affecting his 1 ealth. In

1863 he went into the employ of Wells, Fargo

& Co., in expressing and remained with them

for eight years, and carried treasure from the

Idaho Basin to the Columbia river and to Port-

land. For a year he was in the Owyhee country,

from Silver City to Winnemucca, traveling for

Wells, Fargo & Co., on the celebrated pioneer

and frontiersman, Hill Beachey's, stage line.

The Indian war was very bad about that

time, and on his first trip they killed over sixty

Chinamen. At Guinina (Spanish for "chicken")

ranch, four suspicious-looking men got aboard

the coach. When the stage reached Gibraltar

Point, a very steep portion of the road across

the Blue Mountains, near the summit, the pas-

sengers alighted from the stage and walked up

the grade. Loop stayed behind to guard the

treasure. One of the four men, evidently the

leader of the band, carelessly approached Loop,

and in a pleasant, joking way, said, "That is a

pretty nice gun you have; let me see it for a

moment." Loop turned quickly and brought

the gun, full cocked, up to his shoulder, and

covered the stranger, saying, "The only way

you can look at this gun is down the barrel,

and at a reasonable distance." The fellow, not

abashed, coolly looked at Loop, and replied in a

quiet, entreating voice, " I am not joking; let

me look at your gun." Loop remained motion-

less, and in a stern, determined voice, repeated

his language. The passengers intuitively un-

derstood their position, and recognizing the cool

bravery and heroic protection in their behalf,

gave one rousing cheer. The mysterious quar-

tette dropped off at the Mountain House and at



HISTORY OF SAN DIEGO COUNTY. 237

the Twelve-Mile station out of Walla Walla,

.although they had paid their fare clear through.

Another time, when crossing Idaho Basin, four

men stood waiting on the road. The coach had

on board 3,200 pounds of treasure, 1,000 pounds

of gold and 2,200 of silver. In coming over

the summit and looking over the point, Mr.

Loop saw a packed mule and three horses tied

at a tree. A single man stood close by, watch-

ing the animals. The spot was some distance

from the road, and was sheltered by a dense

growth of timber. The keen eyes of Mr. Loop

discovered them in time, and turning sharply

to the driver, he said, "Gallop the horses as

fast as you can right down this mountain, or I

will blow your brains out." The driver made

an effort to keep the horses on the road, but,

glancing at Loop, saw a peculiar hard look in

his eyes, and dashed the horses down the moun-

tain, far away from the road, as commanded.

The highwaymen followed, but the stage kept

ahead of them, and arrived at Placerville that

night. Mr. Loop subsequently found out that

the leader of the band was the notorious Ned
Bledsoe, who was a murderous villain.

In looking over the way-bills of the stage

that trip, he saw that five passengers were regis-

tered. None of them turned up, and the driver

was nervous and irritable, and would not wait

for them. This arroused the suspicions of

Loop, and he watched the driver continually,

apprehensive of some danger. When the stage

came into Placerville, the driver disappeared,

and was never heard of after that, which proves

that he was acting in harmony with the rob

bers. One of the gang was the Sheriff of Boise

County, who was afterward hung by the Vigi-

lance Committee.

Mr. Loop settled in San Diego in the winter

of 1880-'81, and has a pleasant, comfortable

home. In December, 1880, he took the con-

tract to build a portion of the California South-

ern Railroad, and afterward became interested

in Del Mar, laid out the town, and bought con-

siderable real estate and several ranches adja-

cent. He is a heavy operator in land. He is

well known to all the settlers as a man of con

siderable force of character. He has two sons

and two daughters. His oldest child is a young

man, twenty years of age.

tANFORD WORTHING:, the only son of

Henry R. and Amanda Worthing,was bou.

September 14, 1839, in the town of Shap.

leigh, Maine, and shortly after returned with

his parents to their new home in Waterborough.

At the age of eleven he was sent to Boston,

where he remained at school about a year. Be-

ing a very apt scholar, being able to read when

he was three years old, he was well advanced

when he returned home, where he attended the

district school, assisting his father on the farm

during vacations until he was seventeen years

old, when his father set him up in a merchan-

dising business at Kennebunk Depot. He re-

mained there but five months, when the store

was exchanged for one at Ross' Corner, where the

firm of H. R. Worthing & Son did a large bus-

iness for two years. This was long enough for

the 6on, whose restless nature began to chafe

under the monotony of life in a country store,

and he concluded to go to college. In pursu-

ance of this resolve he attended school at Par-

sonstield Seminary and Lebanon Academy, and

then went to Bates College at Lewiston, Maine.

While pursuing his studies at Lebanon he made

the acquaintance of Celia Augusta Fiske, whom
he married December 25, 1862, and left school

to enter the army; but, at the earnest entreaty

of friends, changed his mind and engaged in

teaching school. He had inherited a taste for

music and had improved opportunities for

making himself proficient as a vocalist. His

wife, the daughter of a professor of music, was

a fine pianist, and they accepted situations as

teachers in Cheshire Academy, Ohio, arriving

there in February, 1863.

During the following summer Morgan made

his famous raid through Indiana and Ohio, and

Mr. Worthing, being a member of the First Ohio
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National Guards, went into the field with his

command. After two weeks of rough campaign-

ing, he assisted in capturing 3,000 of Morgsn's

men at the battle of Coal Hill, within two miles

of Cheshire, where in a vain effort to cross the

river into Virginia, they had been overtaken.

Morgan had ransacked the town and Mrs.Worth-

ing had been compelled to cook and serve a fine

dinner to Morgan and his staff. The school had

been broken up for that reason and he resolved

to take his wife back home and join the army.

On his arrival he applied to the Governor of

Maine for a commission to recruit a company

for the war, but soon after he received the com-

mission President Lincoln called for "300,000

more," and, recruiting be ng slow, he immedi-

ately voluuteered as a private in the First Maine

Heavy Artillery. Before being sent to his regi-

ment he was found to be a good scribe, and was

detailed as a clerk in the Adjutant General's

office at Camp Berry, Portland. Here he re-

mained some three months, until the news of

the Fort Pillow massacre of colored troops

reached his ears, when he asked for and received

permission to proceed to Washington to be ex-

amined for a commission in the colored troops.

While there he was subjected to a delay of three

weeks on account of prior applications, and

then, unwilling to wait longer, forced himself

before the board, received a hurried examina-

tion, and was appointed a Second Lieutenant,

having refused the offer of influential recom-

mendations which would have certainly given

him a Captaincy. He was then ordered to re-

port for duty to General Burbridge, at Lexing-

ton, Kentucky, when he was assigned to duty

in the Twelfth United States Heavy Artillery

(colored), with which regiment he was on duty

about four months of guerrilla warfare in the

State. Having been recommended for promo-

tion over seniors by his regimental and depart-

ment commanders three separate times, and

been refused because it was against the rules of

the regular army, into which his regiment had

been mustered, he was detached and placed on

staff duty. Here he was promoted successively

to Post Provost Marshal, Post Adjutant, Acting

Commissary of Subsistence, Brigade Provost

Marshal, Superintendent of the Freedmen's Bu-

reau, Judge of the Freedmen's Court, and Com-
mandant of the Southern District of Kentucky,

with a Lieutenant-Colonel's command. Here

he served with marked satisfaction for seven

months, reporting direct to General Clinton B.

Fisk, commanding Department of Kentucky,

Tennessee and Alabama, Bureau of Refugees,

Freedmen and Abandoned Lands, until honor-

ably mustered out at the end of almost three

years of service. Previous to his discharge he

had passed an examination, "with special men-

tion," before a board convened to examine offi-

cers for transfer into the regular army, and was

placed on the roll for future call. At the close

of his service in the army he went to Missouri

with his family, and in the city of Macon, with

Thomas Proctor, engaged in publishing a weekly

Republican newspaper, called the Macon Argus.

While successfully managing the paper he was

elected City Clerk, which position he filled

creditably. Mr. Proctor died suddenly, and Mr.

Worthing decided to go south and start an agri-

cultural newspaper. While in New England

visiting he changed his mind, and went into the

job printing business in Boston. Through his

ability and taste in doing fine work he obtained

the specimen work of the Boston Type Foundry

at a very remunerative price. From boyhood

he had given evidence of decided ingenuity, and

while in the printing business it took form, and

he invented successively an improved composing

stick, a gauge-pin for job presses, and improved

mitering and rule cutting machine, a printing

press, a supplementary horse-car seat, steamle68

stove-ware, and a mechanical steam apparatus

for rendering oil and grease from refuse meat,

bones and dead animals, without stench. Having

made some money, and broken down his health

by too close application to business and neglect

of natural laws, he was compelled to sell out

his business and change climate; consequently

on the 1st day of July, 1872, he started with

his family for Colorado. His intention wa6 to
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engage in sheep-raising, hut on arriving at

Colorado Springs and making some inquiry, he

found that during the previous winter the

'•sheep men" had experienced heavy losses on

aecoui.t of severe weather, and when i-oupled

with the fact that the purchasing price had

nearly doubled, this discouraged him and he

substituted the cattle business, locating a ranch

about half a mile from the town. Here occurred

a circumstance which showed a trait in his

character that has always been prominent, and

the only thing that has ever made him enemies,

and that is, never submitting to a wrong, no

matter how small, without seeking redress of

some sort. As a citizen of the United States

he had as much right to appropriate the public

domain as any man, but he found that a few of

the older settlers had clubbed together and were

claiming every foot of available land in the

vicinity, and driving off with threats and vio-

lence everyone who attempted to interfere with

them, and by perjuring themselves in turn for

each other, obtaining patents from the Govern-

ment without complying with the law. This

completely shut out bona fide settlers from ob^

taining farms or valuable Government lands,

which Mr. Worthing did not propose to submit

to; consequently he selected an unoccupied quar-

ter section, and proceeded to build him a house.

The enraged claimant) who was living on other

Government land some two miles away, as soon

as he made the discovery, interviewed the

"club," who, upon reconnoitering the premises

and finding the occupant working, with a

double-barreled shot-gun in close proximity,

concluded that part of their duty to each other

had better be abandoned. It was supposed by

many who were cognizant of the facts that he

would be killed, but on discovering that it only

needed pluck to get what they had a right to,

many others followed his example, and soon

outnumbered the old settlers and changed the

programme entirely.

The Legislature passed a law in 1873 pro-

hibiting the herding of more than twenty head

of cattle within two miles of any town, which

compelled him to change his base, and he traded

his cattle for real estate in Colorado Springs.

He then purchased a saw mill and removed to

the southern part of the State, on the supposed

line of a projected railroad, where he engaged

in manufacturing lumber and in merchandising

until the railroad changed their line and gave

him the goby, when he "pulled up stakes"

and moved to Lake County. Here he located

in a mining district, and, becoming interested

in some mining ventures about the time of the

first discoveries of rich mineral at Leadville,

moved there, purchased another mill, and with

two steam mills, funning night and day, sup-

plied the lumber with which Leadville was got-

ten well under way. He had now retrieved his

losses caused by the shrinkage of values on real

estate during the panic, and, having accepted a

large offer for his business in Leadville, con-

cluded to devote his entire time to mining pur-

suits. The summer of 1878 was a very sickly

season in Leadville, and the fear of losing his

children with diphtheria caused him to remove

to Canon City, where he remained until the

summer of 1879, when he took his family to

Silver Cliff, where he had by this time become
extensively engaged in mining. In connection

with a partner, who performed the labor while

he furnished the expenses, the discovery of one

of the largest mines in Colorado was made near

Silver Cliff. The mine was so valuable that

some disreputable parties trumped up a con-

flicting claim and commenced a lawsuit for its

possession. Pluck again came to his rescue,

and after spending $18,000 and risking his life

in a personal encounter with pistols, in which

he got a bullet througn his sleeve, he came out

of the contest as one-half owner of a mine
which has since been, capitalized in New York
at $10,000,000. He is also half owner of three

other valuable mines near JRuby, Gunnison

County, Colorado, which are considered to have

millions in them. Mr. Worthing is now resting

at the old home at Ross' Corner, where he has

located his family and will remain until spring,

returning to Colorado to prosecute his mining
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enterprises. The details of this sketch of a

busy life will show tliat, notwithstanding the

oft- repeated prophecy of his people that he

would never accumulate anything, on account

of his roving disposition, the "rolling stone"

does sometimes " gather moss."

The foregoing sketch of Mr. Worthing's life

was published in 1880, in a history of York

County, Maine.

The summer of 1880 found him in Colorado,

developing his mines in Gunnison County. In

1881, having taken hold of a number of enter-

prises, he was secretary and general manager of

the Fiske Consolidated Gold Mining Company,

Central City, Colorado; president and general

manager Augusta Mining Company, Gunnison

County; vice-president and consulting engineer

Boston Gold and Silver Mining Company, Colo-

rado, and president and general manager El

Gachi Mining Company, Sonoraj Mexico, with

headquarters in Denver, Colorado. In the fall

of 1881, on account of his children, he decided

to make a home in Massachusetts, and pur-

chased and fitted up an elegant home in South

Lincoln, sixteen miles from Boston. The mining

boom of 1880, having passed its zenith, was

rapidly 'subsiding, and mining stocks became

demoralized to such an extent he decided to quit

the business by selling out and withdrawing.

In 1883 he had completely retired from busi-

ness and settled down at the home he had pre-

pared for and given to his wife in Lincoln,

expecting to spend his days there in quiet.

The name Thing—sometimes spelled Thyng,

to try to mitigate the peculiar insignificance and

belittling effect of such a name—had always

been a source of annoyance. The name in

Maine, where the standing, wealth and respect-

ability of the several numerous families had

been well known for more than 200 years,

passed without special notice; but everywhere

else it. seemed to strike every one hearing it for

the first time, as intensely ridiculous. l
Jriuters

could not conceive it possible to have such a

name, and would invariably make something

else of it. Children at school would make puns

and rhymes with it, until His own children's

complaints resolved him to make a change;

consequently in 1884 he made an application to

the courts of Massachusetts to change the

names of his entire family to Worthing, being

a combination of his middle and last name, and

also his first name to the simpler one of Ran-

ford, but retaining the original initial.

Having a predilection for farming, he was now

in a position to gratify that propensity and also

his tastes for abstruse and occult science. De-

siring always to communicate toothers his con-

clusions as the result of experiment on the

farm, and deductions in science, he became a

valued correspondent of the leading agricultural

papers of the State, taking a leading position

among the Patrons of Husbandry, and occupy-

ing the position of Master of the Lincoln Grange

and chairman of the Committee on Education

of the State Grange, until he left the State.

He has always taken a lively interest in all

public utilities, drifting naturally into politics,

and, being a man of strong prejudices, always

takes partisan grounds and a leading position.

He would in all probability have been a mem-
ber of the next Legislature of Massachusetts

had he remained in that State; but he found

that the cold of that climate was fast ruining

his eyes, owing to a peculiar sensitiveness of

the secretory glands, and he felt compelled to

seek a warmer climate at once; so in December,

1886, he started south to seek for a location

and td test the different climates in the South.

He spent two months of the winter in traveling

from Florida to sonthern California, landing iu

San Diego the 1st of February. 1887. This

seemed at once to be the ne plus ultra of loca-

tions, and he at once decided to make it his

future home. Ran ford Worthing is a profound

thinker, a logical reasoner, and a fearless pro-

mulgator, of his deductions. He has written

for publication some of the best scientific con-

clusions on metaphysical subjects that have ever

been published. His theories on the scientific

basis of so-called spiritualism, mind, faith, and

Christian-science cures, and kindred subjects,
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from a scientific standpoint, are considered in-

controvertible, and he will give you food for

thought on almost any subject you can present

for discussion. In fact he is a versatile genius.

He came to the front very rapidly in San Diego,

having been elected president of nearly every

organization to which he has belonged, and at

the last city election was proposed for the nomi-

nation for Mayor in the Republican convention,

but declined in favor of another. He is chair-

man of the executive committee of the California

State Liberal Union, which indicates his reli-

gious belief. He is of a domestic turn of mind,

has an elegant home, where with his wife and

five children he can always be found when not

necessarily away.

*«»
fAMES DIX SCHUYLER was born in

Ithaca, New York, in 1849, the youngest

of a family of nine. The name of the

family from which he descends is interwoven

with the earliest history of Colonial New York,

and is connected by ties of kinship and associa-

tions with the Van Rensselaers, the Bleeckers,

the Ten Broecks, the Livingstons, the Hamil-

tons, the Churches, and other historic Knicker-

bocker families. His father. Philip C. Schuyler,

was of ardent anti-slavery principles, an inti-

mate friend of Gerrit Smith and of Ossawato-

mie Brown. He removed to Kansas in 1854,

and was a prominent figure in the early strug-

gles of that State to throw off the yoke of

slavery. His family followed in 1859, and the

education of his youngest son, James, was

much interrupted by the stirring incidents of

life along the border during the troublous times

of the following five years. In 1864 the sub-

ject of this sketch returned to his native State,

and received his education at a small Quaker

university on the shores of Cayuga Lake. Re-

turning home to Kansas in 1868, he was soon

imbued with the western fever, and joined an

engineering party engaged in locating the line

of the Kansas Pacific Railway on the great

plains of eastern Colorado and western Kansas.

It was in this work, within a few weeks after

joining the party, that one of the most thrilling

events of his life occurred. One bright morn-

ing in June, the party, numbering fifteen, were

attacked by a band of 100 hostile Indians that

were at that time devastating the country, and

after a running fight, in which four Indians

were killed, they all escaped without injury ex-

cept Mr. Schuyler, who was wounded in the

leg. In recognition of his courage he was pro-

moted to the chief place in the party on his

return to it from his home, after six weeks'

absence, and remained in the employ of the

company until the completion of the road to

Denver in 1870. He was subsequently engaged

in the location and construction of the Denver

& Boulder Valley Railroad and the Denver &
Rio Grande Railway, beginning with the latter

from its original inception, and making the first

surveys for a considerable portion of the line,

including some of the most difficult mountain

passes now traversed by the locomotives.

He removed to California in 1873, engaging

on the North Pacifie Coast Railway, and the

Stockton & lone Railroad. During a period of

three years' stagnation in engineering work, he

mounted the editorial tripod on the Stockton

Independent, leaving it to accept a position in

the State Engineer department, as Chief Assist-

ant State Engineer, in charge of the irrigation

branch of the work, under William Ham. Hall,

State Engineer. His reports on the develop-

ment of irrigation in California, in connection

with those of his superior, have added no little

to the literature on that most interesting sub-

ject. In 1882 he accepted a position as Chief

Engineer and General Superintendent of the

Sinaloa & Durango Railroad in Mexico, and

constructed the road from the Port of Altata to

Cnliacan, the capital of the State of Sinaloa.

Returning to San Francisco after twenty months

in the tropics, to escape the yellow (evef vvuich

had broken out with severity on the west coast

of Mexico, he engaged in contracting, his first

work being the construction of one section of



2-1-2 HISTORY OP SAN DIEGO COUNTY.

the San Francisco sea wall. The section built

under his supervision is still recognized as the

most substantial and well-built portion of that

mammoth construction. The work which has

gained him recognition in the profession of

engineering, and a national reputation as an

engineer, was the designing and construction of

the Sweetwater dam, completed in April, 1888,

the highest masonry dam in the United States.

He has since been called in consultation upon

numerous similar engineering works, and his

services are sought in all the Pacific slope, and

as far away as the Sandwich Islands. He was

appointed City Engineer of San Diego, January

1, 1889, serving until May of the same year,

when he was appointed one of three Commis-

sioners of Public Works of San Diego, which

position he still occupies.

He was married in July. 1889, to Mary In-

galls Tnliper, of Saratoga, New York. In poli-

tics Mr. Schuyler is an ardent Republican.

M. GASSAWAY, City Clerk of San

Diego, was born in Cincinnati, Ohio,

* July 7, 1856. His grandfather, George

Creain, was united in marriage to Amelia

Walker, and resided in Cincinnati for more than

sixty years, both having died there in 1872.

David Gassaway, the father of the subject of

this sketch, was of Scotch descent, and his

mother, Anna L. Creain, of Pennsylvania Dutch

descent. W. M. Gassaway received his educa-

tion at Chickering Academy, and at the early

age of seventeen became connected with one of

the largest wholesale dry goods establishments

in Cincinnati, where he remained nine years.

During the years 1883-'84 he traveled exten-

sively in Europe, viewing all of its principal

places, and upon his return visited the various

States of his native land, finally locating in San

Diego. He was manager of the Pacific Beach

Company from its incorporation until he was

elected City Clerk of San Diego, on May 6,

1889. Much of the great success and prosper-

ity of this enterprise is attributed to the ex-

ecutive ability and keen sagacity of its first

manager.

Mr. Gassaway was married November 14,

1889, to Miss Josephine Gordon, one of the

most accomplished and popular young ladies of

National City, California. He is a young man
of exceptionally good habits, is a rapid and

earnest worker in whatever he undertakes, and

is thoroughly respected for his genteel and gen-

tlemanly bearing and excellent qualities of mind

and heart. He possesses the faculty of making

friends with all whom he meets, is an accurate

judge of human nature, and it is safe to say

that he is one of the coming men of southern

California.

ANIEL M. HAMMACK was born in

Mercer County, Illinois, about 1850. His

ancestors, from Kentucky and Virginia,

were of Scotch-Irish and Huguenot stock, aud

had been in America nearly 200 years. He
was raised on a farm and educated at Monmouth
College, Illinois, graduating with honors. He
studied law and was admitted to the bar at the

age of twenty-one. Soon after he went to Bur-

lington, Iowa, and was for two or three years in

newspaper work on the Burlington Hawkeye.

He afterwards went into the practice of law,

and has continued in it ever since. In Iowa

he was for four years State's Attorney, and was

four 3'ears a member of the Democratic State

Committee, and was always in demand as a

speaker over that State in political campaigns.

He was for some years solicitor for an insurance

company, having charge of its legal business in

that State, and which position he left when he

came to San Diego in 1887. As a member of

a leading law firm in San Diego, he has paid

exclusive attention to his profession since com-

ing here, and stands well as a counselor and ad-

vocate. In practice he is fair, obliging and

popular with brother attorneys. He is faithful

to clients and true and generous to his friend-
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ships. Although a hard working, studious

1 iwyer, he is also a large general reader, and

posted in literature, and often enlivens the dull

practice with poetry and sentiment. He has

one of the best selected private libraries in the

city, and book-lovers always find a welcome at

his home.

He was married in Illinois to Mis"s Belle S.,

daughter of Hon. J. H. Stewart, of Monmouth,

who has been for many years on the State bench

in that State. His wife is a woman of educa-

tion and sense, and their home is a happy one.

They have two surviving children, a daughter

of thirteen and a son of six years. Although

" new-comers," they are enthusiastic Californians

and thoroughly identified with the interests of

the city and State. In politics Mr. Hammack
is a Democrat and an advocate of State division.

In religion he is a Presbyterian, and an officer

of that church here.

fOMAS ALVARADO, one of the best

known residents of southern California,

was born in Los Angeles, on Main street,

December 21, 1841. His father, Ysidro Alva-

rado, a native also of California, married Miss

Micaela Avila, who also was born in California.

His grandfather, Jabier Alvarado, came to Los

Angeles in 1810 from Santa Barbara, was ap-

pointed a Sergeant by the Governor-General in

Los Angeles, erected a handsome residence and

made his permanent home there. His grand-

mother was a woman of superior education. In

her great benevolence she organized the first

school in Los Angeles, taught there herself

without remuneration, assisting in many ways

to make it popular. She also had a thorough

knowledge of medicine, and acted as physician

in many cases and had a great store of remedies

at hand. She was a woman of many noble

qualities, which were recognized and appreciated

by many friends. Ysidro Alvarado inherited

many of his characters from his noble mother.

He was a peaceful man, very unlike his cousin,

Governor Juan Bautista Alvarado, which name

recalls the revolution of November, 1836, that

finally culminated in a precipitation of Califor-

nia into the United States. For an account of

this most important history of California, see

the preceding pages of this volume. Mr. Alva-

rado has devoted his years to stock-raising on

his ranch, the Montserralte, where large herds

of sleek, well-fed cattle roam at will.

Montserralte has had a long, romantic his-

tory. In early days the hacienda was the resort

of the senoras, senoritas and grandees. An oc-

casion of festivity in those days meant not less

than a week of continuous revelry. The night

is dedicated to music and the dance, banquets,

and portions of the day to siestas, the demure

and fascinating ladies occupying the magnifi-

cently furnished apartments, while the gay

eabaleros found repose in the grateful shade of

the broad palm trees.

Don Alvarado is a well-known man through-

out California, on account of his excellent qual-

ities. He is interested in several important

enterprises, including stock-raising on a large

scale.

June 4, 1864, he married Mrs. Maria Ygnacia

Moreua de Soto, a native of California; has had

six daughters and one son, of whom five are at

present living. His home is at Old San

Diego.

fW.
JORRES, City Auditor and Ass

is a native of California. He was born

° in San Francisco and received his educa-

tion at St. Augustine's College at Benicia, Cali-

fornia. In 1872 he removed to San Diego,

where for four years he was employed in the

Commercial Bank. In December, 1876, he

went to Los Angeles and became connected

with the Commercial Bank, now the First Na-

tional Bank, of that city. In 1878 he accepted

the position of Deputy County Treasurer of

San Diego County, which position he held until

he returned to Los Angeles, taking a position
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again with the First National Bank. Owing to

the death of his brother, business required his

attention in San Diego again. In 1885 he was

appointed Postmaster of San Diego, under Presi-

dent Cleveland's administration. In May, 1889,

he was appointed City Auditor and Assessor

under the new charter adopted by the city of

San Diego in that year.

He was married in 1887 to Miss Luna Dewey,

daughter of Richard D. Dewey, of Cleveland,

Ohio. They have two children, a sou and a

daughter.

#^-^-£#

fD.
COMPTON was born in Pittsylvania

County,Virginia, August 22, 1820. His

• father, John A. Coinpton, was a native of

Virginia, of English descent; his mother, Susan

(Chumley) Compton, also. There came to this

family twelve children, born poor and in a slave

State. His father was an overseer on a tobacco

plantation and received the meagre return of

one-twentieth of the crop produced by each

negro he worked. G. D. Compton's education

was but meagre, consisting of but six months'

schooling when he was six years old. At the

acre of sixteen he could spell only words of three

letters. Afterward a lady at the place where

he worked gave him some help and the rest of

hi6 education he picked up himself as best he

could. He worked in the field with the col-

ored men until he was sixteen years of age

without any remuneration worth mentioning;

then he left home to seek for something better.

He traveled until he got hungry, when he

stopped and asked for work at the residence of

Major Clayborn, who had no work to give him

and advised him to go home, but he declined to

do so. Major Clayborn then lent him $5 and

told him to go to Elder Stone, who would ad-

vise him what to do. He stayed all night with

Mr. Stone, who finally persuaded him to go

back home and returned with him. It was fin-

ally agreed that he would take charge of Mr.

Stone's son's place in his absence, which he did

for three months, and for which he received

$100. He then had charge of Mr. Stone's place

for three years and cleared $3,000. with which

he helped his mother and the children. Soon

after he went to Hamilton County, Illinois, and

took up a Government claim. Here he became

acquainted with Miss Lucy Compton, whom he

married. He afterward ascertained that she

was his second cousin. After he had paid the

justice $2.50 for marrying them he had but $1

left. They lived with a cousin while he cut the

logs and built his home. He farmed and im-

proved the place for four years, when he sold

out and moved to Adams County, Illinois. He
remained there until 1847, then removed to

Marion County, Iowa. Here times were hard

with hiin: he worked three months for $8 per

month with a Government surveying company.

After this he bought a section of Government

land at $1.25 per acre, and in 1849 came to

California and made a little money. In 1852

he returned by way of the Isthmus and re-

mained the most of the year, when he sold out

and started across the plains with his family

and others. In Carson valley his wife was

taken ill with cholera and died, and he buried

her there. He was left with two little children,

only one of whom now lives—Jordana, by whom
he has two great-grandchildren. After this

he again crossed the plains with cattle. In the

fall of 1852, after going back to California, he

settled on Mokelumne river.

In 1853 he married his second wife, Miss

Emily Flood. She was but thirteen years of

age, while he was thirty-two. They have seven

children, viz.: Mary, Elizabeth, Eda, Charles

G., William Sherman, John Lincoln and An-

gelina Emma. In 1867 he sold his farm and

removed to Watsonville on account of his wife's

health, remaining there one year, during which

time she greatly improved in health, and in the

fall of 1868 they came to Los Angeles County,

where he laid out and started the town of Comp-

ton. Five other families of his acquaintance

came and helped to make the town. Here he

first started in the real-estate business, in which
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he ha9 been so successful since. The Land

Company made him their agent and gave him a

commission, and thus he became a heavy real-

estate dealer. In 1881 he sold out at Compton

and moved to Los Angeles, where he became

interested with Mr. Widney in starting the first

university. He is one of the trustees of the

Endowment Fund and of the Ontario University

Fund. He also helped to build Downey and

did much in Pomona in its settlement.

In 1883, in connection with Mr. Pomeroy, he

bought 18,000 acres of land in San Jacinto

valley. They laid out San Jacinto and sold it

to the Land Company, and Mr. Compton and

Mr. James Kerr, as partners, sold the whole prop-

erty to settlers. Mr. Compton, with three or

four others, then bought 4,500 acres of land five

miles south of San Jacinto and laid out the nice

town of Florida. They have piped water in

iron pipes all over the town and have built a

brick hotel, a store and about thirty nice, neat

new houses. He is now president and superin-

tendent of the Florida Company and is superin-

tendent and one of the directors of the San

Jacinto Company and has charge of the settle-

ment of its business. While engaged in those

enterprises in 1887 he took charge of the Rialto

tract of 30,000 acres of land, laid it out into

streets and twenty-acre lots and made a cut

ditch that cost $50,000. He sold $340,000

worth of that property and then he declined to

continue the business longer. His has been a

very busy business life, and he has had much of

frontier experience. He was at Carthage when

Joseph and Hiram Smith were killed.

Mr. Compton joined the Methodist Church

in 1840, to which church his whole family also

belong. He has done much for the cause in

building churches and otherwise. He is one of

the men who voted for President Harrison's

grandfather, and was for a long time connected

with the grand old Republican party, but is

now a Prohibitionist. He has been for sixteen

years a school trustee. He is a modest, unas-

suming man who says of himself: " I never

was much, but have held my own pretty well."

He is a fine sample of what a poor boy may be-

come in this country.

J. PROUT was born in the city of

New York, November 25, 1844. He
r"4prj a received a good common-school educa-

tion in the public schools, and when old enough

learned the ship and steamboat joiner's trade,

with the well-known firm of John E. Hoffmire,

and then remained with the firm two years as

foreman. April 9, 1868, he left New York for

Montana, and for nearly six years he worked in

the gold mines of Montana and Idaho. He re-

turned home to New York in 1873, in conse-

quence of a severe accident which befel him

while in the mines. Two years later he crossed

the continent to California and Oregon. In

1885 he was appointed master mechanic by

Colonel Peter French, collector of the ports of

Alaska, and held the position until October,

1886, when he sent in his resignation and re-

turned to New York; but, not being able to

stand the climate, he returned to the Pacific

coast in 1887 and settled in San Diego. He
now enjoys the pleasure of a beautiful home,

which he has built for himself on Golden Hill.

His grandfather, Roger Prout, established the

first printing ink manufactory in the United

States, in the year 1806, and the business was

continued by his sons until 1860. He (Roger

Prout) was also president of the Fourteenth

Ward Democratic Club in New York city, that

first named Andrew Jackson for the Presidency,

and raised the first hickory pole in Center

Market of New York city.

-*" :=s=> '^p'r-efS*-&==«—"•-

C. FERRIS was born in West Flam-

boro, near Hamilton City, Wentworth
k County, Canada, May 24, 1855. In

1861 the family moved to Owen Sound, Grey

County, Canada, and in 1871 came to California.

They located in Emigrant Gap, where the sub-
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ject of this sketch remained one year, when he

went to Sacramento, where he learned the car-

penter's trade. The next year he was joined by

his parents, and the family remained in Sacra-

mento ten years. From there they removed to

San Francisco and Oakland. From the latter

place Mr. Ferris went to Woodland, in Yolo

County, where he engaged in the real estate and

insurance business, and remained for two years,

when, the business not being satisfactory, he

closed it up and traveled down the coast, stopping

a short time at several different places, until he

reached San Bernardino. Here he remained

one year, then went to San Diego and worked

at his trade a little over two years. He took

up a Government claim of 160 acres in San

Clemente valley, on which he has recently

proved up. He is now engaged in improving

his place, and will soon have forty acres of

orchard and vinejard. He will have a choice

variety of citrus and deciduous fruits, but makes

a specialty of figs. His supply of water will

be obtained from a neighboring caflon, across

which he is putting a dam. The reservoir thus

made will contain 1,500,000 gallons of water.

IH N. JEFFERY was born in North Lisbon,

fj|f: Waukesha County, Wisconsin, in 1847:

^t^ The early part of his life was spent on a

farm, "joing to school through the winter months,

spending all the available odd moments in the

study of music, of which he was passionately

fond. At the age of twenty he went into the

mercantile business at Menominee Falls, and

remained in business at that point about ten

years, teaching music through the winter months.

In 1877 he emigrated to Onaga, Kansas, and

was there engaged with Thomas Brothers in the

hardware and lumber business for two years,

after which he engaged in the furniture and

music business about two years; then traveled

through northern Kansas and southern Nebras-

ka, holding musical conventions. In the spring

of 1883 he came to San Diego, California, and

for about two years was engaged in the mercan-

tile business, since which time he has been en-

gaged in the real estate business, under the

firm name of Arnold, Jeffery & Mouser, at No.

917 Fifth street, San Diego, California. The

firm has done a large business, and are now
handling Oneonta property, and Escondido and

Ramona Seminary lands.

^"

fW.
HUGHES, of the firm of Conklin &

Hughes, attorneys, was born at Strasburg,
9 Virginia, and the early vears of his life

were spent in his native' State. He was edu-

cated at Richmond College, Virginia, and the

University of Virginia, and was admitted to

the bar in 1879. He came to California in

July, 1887, and has ever since been associated

with Judge N. H. Conklin, in the practice of

law at San Diego.

,OSES HUGHES was born at Strange-

way, Manchester, England, in Novem-

ber, 1853. When quite young he went

to Wales, where he lived until 1869, when he

came to San Francisco and engaged in the foun-

dry trade at the Columbia Foundry in that city.

He remained there four years. He then spent

a year and a half in Virginia City, Nevada;

returned to San Francisco, thence went to Mex-

ico under engagement to Redo & Co., Mazatlan,

for their foundry. After completing his engage-

ment, he went to Rosario to superintend the

erection and management of a foundry at that

place. Mr. Hughes remained in Mexico seven

years, two years of the time running the foun-

dry at Progresso Mine. Truinfo, Lower Califor

nia, the work being almost entirely confined to

the manufacture of mining machinery. In 1885

he came to San Diego and entered into partner-

ship with Mr. Riffenburg in the Standard Iron

Works. Mr. Hughes is an excellent business

man, and is thoroughly versed in the casting of
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all kinds of brass and iron. He was married

to Miss Lavercia Marlette, of Julian, San Die-

go County, in 1888.

il'LLIAM GEHRING, the subject of this

sketch, was born August 9, 1853, in

Desseldorf, Germany, where he received

his education and spent the early years of his

life. After learning his trade, that of machinist,

he was tive years at Essen with Krupp, thg cele-

brated gun-maker. In 1880 he left his native

country for the new world, remaining about

live year6 in Chicago, where he worked at his

trade, and in 1886 arrived in San Diego. Here

he sought and obtained employment with the

Standard Iron Works, Messrs. Riffenburg &
Hughes being the proprietors. In 1887 Mr.

Gehring purchased the interest of Mr. Riffen-

burg in the business, and the new firm, then

composed of Messrs. Hughes, Gehring and

Wallace, soon built up a large trade. They

now have one of the largest and most complete

establishments of its kind in southern Califor-

nia. Mr. Gehring was married in 1877 to Miss

Lena Peters, of Dusseldorf, Germany, by whom
he has three children.

§ARRY M. SCHILLER.—One of the most

popular young men of San Diego is the

above-named gentleman. He was born in

San Diego, October 7, 1861. His education

was commenced in his native city, but in 1873

he went to San Francisco to attend the High

School, from which he graduated in 1879. He
afterward entered the employ of the California

Southern Railroad Company: was topographer

with the first corps of surveyors who went into

the field for that company, and remained in

their einpjoy nearly three years. He then ac-

cepted a situation with Blockman & Smith, as

head book-keeper, for two and a half years, and

held the same position with Hamilton & Co.,

for the same length of time, which he resigned

to accept a position with the International

Company, of Mexico, as their Custom-House

clerk and purchasing agent, a position of trust

and responsibility, for which his thorough knowl-

edge of the Spanish and German languages made
him well qualified to till, and which he held

until the English syndicate took charge of the

affairs of that company. Mr. Schiller has served

as Deputy County Assessor, Deputy City Clerk,

and is now Deputy County Clerk under M. D.

Hamilton. He was a charter member of the

San Diego City Guard, Company B, joining the

independent company in 1881. He held the

office of Sergeant for the whole time until he

was elected First Lieutenant, in January, 1888,

which office he held until his election to the

Captaincy, on February 14, 1890. He is the

sitting Past Chancellor of San Diego Lodge,

No. 28, Knights of Pythias, and also President

of San Diego Parlor, No. 108, Native Sons of

the Golden West.

He was married in San Francisco, February

11, 1890, to Miss Bertha Gans, a well-known

and popular young lady of that city.

fOSE MARNIEL SOTO, president of the

San Nicholas Gold and Mining Company,
was born at Lamballaque, Peru, December

13, 1832. His father was in good circumstances

and gave him liberal advantages, so that he re-

ceived a thorough education in the best schools.

After leaving school at Lamballaque he went to

Lima, in that country, and devoted himself to

study, finishing the course in one year. Being

naturally of an active temperament, he came to

California during the first gold mining excite-

ment in 1849, forming a company of 105 wealthy

young Peruvians. The leading spirits of this

party were Cane varo, Fl near, Largo & Co., who
really commanded the expedition, and assumed

executive control of their affairs. On arriving

at San Francisco, then called Yerba Buena,

the authorities refused to give them permission
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to land, as tbe natural presumption was that

they were a band of men from a hostile country.

After several conferences the young Peruvians

consented to sail over on the vessel called Lady

Adams to San Rafael, Marin County, and there

they landed without any further annoyances.

After a tender and affectionate farewell they

there disbanded, each one to seek bis fortunes

in a strange land. Don Soto returned to San

Francisco, quietly surveyed the chances of en-

gaging in business there, opened a commission

house, and did an extensive business, making

a great deal of money buying and selling pro-

visions to Mexicans and Chilians. In 1850 he

went to the mines of Stanislaus County, where

he made considerable money in the bakery bus-

iness among the miners. He paid $200 a barrel

for flour and on each barrel realized a profit of

$100. Returning again to San Francisco he

engaged in the dairy business, where he sold

milk at $3.50 a gallon. He purchased Laguna

Onda, now known as Lake Merced, and bought

property on Market street and sold it again, for

which he cut and sold wood at an extraordin-

arily remunerative price. He next engaged in

the raising of cattle.

In 1853 he returned to Monterey to buy cat-

tle. It was at this place that he formed an ac-

quaintance with and married Miss Maria Perrez.

In 1854 he obtained a piece of land and en-

gaged in farming. In 1855 he opened a mer-

cantile establishment in Santa Rita, Monterey

County, investing in and hauling lumber, with

profitable results. In this he became well-

known and a leading financier. In 1856 he

commenced to farm more extensively on his

ranch, and he was the first man on Salinas

Plains that cut hay in that county and imported

into Monterey. From 1859 to 1861 lie was a

wholesale butcher in Watsonville, Santa Cruz

County, and in this business he also prospered;

but in 1862 a disastrous flood visited the county,

destroying a great deal of his property. He
then engaged in raising cattle, sheep, horses,

etc., for the local markets until 1864, when a

withering drought visited California, and he

lost all of his live stock. This terrible misfor-

tune compelled him to restrict his attention to

farming, and in 1865 he was busy with the

plow, and he proudly says that he was the first

man that ever engaged in agriculture in Sa-

linas valley. After following agricultural pur-

suits until 1873 he visited Los Angeles, and

bought the San Francisco Rancho, and his

business character was soon recognized as the

leading spirit of Southern California.

Returning again to Monterey, he became one

of th« prime movers of the project to build a

narrow-gauge railroad through the Salinas val-

ley, becoming one of the incorporators, and

remained with them until the road was com-

pleted. In 1874 he again engaged in the cattle

business, with H. M. New hall, and they made

large shipments to local markets and to northern

points. In 1876-77 Don Soto lost over $300,-

000 worth of cattle, sheep, etc. His ranches

comprised over 9,000 acres of land, and the en-

tire grain crop was ruined by the rust in 1877-

'78. These sudden calamities stunned him so

completely that he rested awhile until he recov-

ered his pristine energy. In 1879 he started

again for Los Angeles to retrieve himself, and

became interested in colonizing land and placed

a large number of families on the Santa Mar-

guerite ranch, which he afterward deeded back

to Juan Foster, of Los Angeles. He next went

to Arizona and in 1881 started the first min-

ing exchange in the territory^ in Tucson. When
he sold out his ranch property in California he

retired from business until 1889, when his na-

ture was again aroused by exciting discoveries,

and he visited Lower California in order to

develop its mineral resources. Taking the lead

of a gold mining company for the working of

the mine in Real del Castillo, he became presi-

dent of the company, and he now has great

expectations.

Don Soto is well known in California. Al-

though not a native of North America, he

cast his first vote for Fremont, in 1856, for

President of the United States, and was a leader

in the establishment of the Republican party
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in California; and all of his sons and sons-in-

law are all uncompromising Republicans. He
lias recently been induced to apply for a United

States Consulship at Mazatlan, Mexico.

He has three sons and three daughters. His

son, R. M. J. Soto, is a member of the firm of

Herman & Soto; and S. J., a lawyer, has been

District Attorney of his county— Monterey.

fUGENE DANEY was born in Bordeaux,

France, October 11, 1862, of French par-

entage. He came to California in 1865,

when three years old, with his mother and

sister, his father, Michael Daney, having come

to the coast in 1851, and being the discoverer

of the celebrated " Daney Mine," at Silver

City, Nevada. Mr. Daney was educated in the

public schools of San Francisco, entered the

Hastings College of the Law University of Cali.

fornia in 1882, and graduated therefrom on

the 25th day of May, 1885, receiving the degree

of LL. B. After having been for three years a

student of law under the late John Norton

Pomeroy, LL. D., author of Pomeroy's Equity

Jurisprudence, Pomeroy's Remedies and Rem-

edial Rights, etc., he was admitted to practice

law in the Supreme Court of California, June

1, 1885, and immediately entered into the prac-

tice of law at San Francisco. After two and a

half years practice, there he was attracted by the

boom to Southern California, and removed to

San Diego, November 7, 1887. and resumed the

practice of law there. On the 6th of February.

1888, he was appointed Assistant District At-

torney of San Diego County, and has served

continuously since in that position. During

that time he has successfully prosecuted a large

number of criminal cases, and has earned for

himself an enviable reputation as an able and

successful criminal lawyer. He also holds the

office of Notary Public, having been appointed

by Governor Waterman to that office for the

term of four years, from July, 1889.. He also

has been prominently identified with politics in

San Diego County, being President of the

Young Men's Republican League during the

Harrison and Morton campaign,—the largest

club in San Diego County,—its membership

numbering over 400 of the most prominent

young Republicans of the county, and also hold-

ing the position of treasurer of the Republican

County Committee of San Diego County. Mr.

Daney was married November 3, 1887, to Miss

Elizabeth Florence Rines, of San Francisco,

daughter of the late T. O. Rines, of Red Bluff,

California. They have one son, born in San

Diego, July 7, 1889.

«F. KAMMAN was born at Soest, Prov-

ince of Westphalia, Germany, March 11,

° 1845, and was educated at the Gymna-

sium at Soest. He entered the Prussian army

in 1862 as a one year's volunteer, and was re-

called in the army in December, 1863, to take

part in the war against Denmark. In May,

1866, he landed in Baltimore, Maryland, and in

December following he enlisted in the Second

United States Cavalry Regiment, from which

he was discharged for disability contracted in

the service, in 1869, on the plains. Soon after

he was employed in the quartermaster's depart-

ment, United States army, with which he was

connected in civil employ until 1884, of which

time he was stationed for seven years as pur-

chasing and property clerk at the general depot

in San Francisco. He removed to The Dalles,

Oregon, in February, 1884, and engaged in the

mercantile business; then came to San Diego,

February 1, 1887, where he established the

Sild-Califorida Deutsche Zeitung, and a book

and job printing office, of which he is still pro-

prietor. He was elected a member of the city

council from the Ninth ward (Coronado) in

April, 1889. He is also a director of the

chamber of commerce, of which he is an active

member and local agent of the North German

Lloyd Steamship Company and the Red Star

Steamship Company.
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He was married in 1882 to Miss Bertha I.

Werlin, of San Francisco, and lias two dangh

ters. He resides on Coronado Beach.
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fDWARD W. FOX, one of the youngest

business men in San Diego, was born at

Kasson, Hungary, November 10, 1869.

When only eight years old he came to New
York. In 1883 he came to San Diego, and for

several years was employed as a clerk by the

mercantile firm of Fox Brothers. In January,

1889, when less than twenty years old, he com-

menced business for himself as proprietor of

the "Art Emporium," a well known art store

at 721 and 723 Sixth street, San Diego. Mr.

Fox is honest and industrious, and deserves to

succeed, as he undoubtedly will.

•*£—•-> •*<• <-~^~

fOHN A. LOVE, agriculturist, was born at

Dalhousie, New Brunswick, May 19, 1846.

He was the second of the seven children of

Alexander Love, a native of Scotland, who came

to the province of New Brunswick in 1835.

The family came to San Diego city some twenty

years ago. John A. Love, however, was the

pioneer of the family in California, as he had

lived in the northern part of the State about

five years before the family came to the Pacific

coast. The first years of his living in San Die-

go were spent in speculating in real estate and

in agriculture. His health failing, he went into

the stock-raising business at Palomar mountain,

seventy five miles from San Diego. Not liking

to live so far from the city, he purchased a

small but choice ranch at Alpine, thirty miles

from San Diego. In 1881 he married Lucy R.

Hoagland, a teacher who came from the East.

Mr Love takes the delight peculiar to the

old settlers in relating the trials and tribula-

tions that fall to the lot of the pioneer. He
shot cotton-tail rabbits and quail on the ground

where now stands the city. Once, after leaving

a ranch out in Tia Juana to stay in town a few

days, upon returning to it he found house, barn

and all farming implements missing. Taking

a chum, he proceeded to Mexico, rescued some

of his property, but of the buildings he could

hear nothing. Many of his friends were cruelly

murdered by the Indians and Mexicans, who
completely terrorized the country in those early

days. He gives great credit to Mr. Hunsaker,

then the Sheriff, for the quiet that followed his

term, and for the extermination of the leaders

of the outrages. Mr. Love now lives on his

Alpine ranch, which is being rapidly developed

into a model farm. Having traveled over the

State in search of health, he considers that at

Alpine, in his own county, he has found an

ideal climate, both for people and for fruits.

f
NEWTON PETTY.—One of the most

popular and perhaps one of the best

° known men, in this part of California, is

the genial Mr. J. Newton Petty, who was born

in Bradford, England, August 5, 1838. He
arrived in San Diego in the fall of 1869, an<L

is therefore a pioneer. He has led an exciting

and adventurous life; was in the employ of the

Hudson Bay Company, and also was interpreter

in Alaska for the Lady Franklin expedition in

1860, sent out by the English government, and

had his toes so badly frozen that he had to have

them amputated. During his travels he became

familiar with all the Indian dialects spoken on

the Pacific coast. His family are very highly

connected, and he is a nephew of Lord Lands-

down, the Governor-General of Canada. He is

a thorough sportsman, and owns his own yacht,

the schooner Sappho, in which he very often

entertains his friends, hunting and fishing. He
is affable and pleasant in his manners, and

witty; is therefore a good converser. For the

last few years he has gone largely into the

liquor business, and carries on an extensive

wholesale and retail trade in all kinds of im-

ported and domestic liquors, wines and cigars.
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He is the secretary of the Liquor Dealers' Pro-

tective Association of Southern California, and

Johnny Petty's name, as pertaining to all sport-

ing matters, is taken for authority. His place

of business is one of the finest in Southern Cal-

ifornia, and the pride of the city. He claims to

have one of the finest collections of minerals

and coins on the Pacific coast.

rtg

SALTER G. MATTHEWS was born in

Twickenham, Middlesex, England, June

1867. His father died when he was

quite young, and his mother died in 1888.

Owing to asthma he was unable to live in Eng

land during the winters, and determined to come

to California, where he is now entirely cured of

that disease. On arriving he opened a fruit

store in Coronado, which he conducted for six

months successfully. Selling out, he came to

San Diego and commenced the auction and

second-hand goods business in the Old Church

building on Seventh street. In the fall of 1889

he sold out his store, and in November of the

same year commenced again in the same busi-

ness in the Sheldon block, Sixth street, where

he has already built up a large business. Since

the late boom he invested several thousand dol-

lars in real estate, which at present low prices

will greatly increase in value, so that with his

energy and business habits he bids fair to be-

come one of San Diego's capitalists. He is

greatly pleased with California, and has not

only declared his intention to become an Amer-

ican citizen, but means to live for the rest of

his life in San Diego, California.

—g&mwHg—
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DEAKIN was born February 1, 1851.

He is the second son of J. E. Deakin, F.

9 R. S., of Eastbury Manor, Worcestershire,

England, a descendant of the old Norman fam-

ily De Akyn, who have been land-owner6 in that

locality since A. D. 1372. Mr. Deakin has

always been a lawyer. He graduated as Master

of Arts and Master of Laws in the old Univer-

sity of Cambridge in 1873, and as Doctor of

Laws in London University in 1875, and was

initiated into the mysteries of law in the vener-

able precincts of Lincoln's Jnn, London, under

the guidance of Sir Joseph W. Chitty, Q. O,

now senior judge of the Court of Chancery in

England. In 1880 Mr. Deakin left London

and entered an old law firm, Tyndall & Co., in

Birmingham, England, and the same year mar-

ried Miss Lily Tarbolton, of that town. In

1885, on the deatn of his old partner, Mr. Tyn-

dall, he decided to try the New World, and

came to San Francisco, where he was immedi-

ately admitted as an attorney of our Supreme

Court and of the United States Circuit Court.

In January, 1886, in the early days of the

" boom," he came to San Diego, and at once

joined the veteran of the bar, Major Chase, with

whom he remained until that gentleman retired

from active practice. Mr. Deakin is now as-

sociated with Mr. Hampden Story, and the firm

enjoys a fair share of the more important land

and corporation litigation of the place.

fOHN MASON DODG-E.—One of the best

examples of San Diego's self-made men is

represented by the name at the head of

this article, who is the popular City Treasurer,

and has during his residence here made for

himself, by a course of uprightness and in-

tegrity, a host of friends and supporters of a

character which assures his future success in

any undertaking his ambitions may point to.

Mr. Dodge is the son of Rev. R. V. Dodge,

late pastor of the Presbyterian Church of this

city. He was born at Springfield, Illinois, July

18, 1853, and moved with his parents four

years later to Wheeling, West Virginia, where

he resided during the late civil war, after which

he resided for a time at Washington, Pennsyl-

vania. In June, 1869, he entered upon a course

of study at the State University at Madison,
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Wisconsin, which he completed in two years,

and entered the hardware business. In 1872,

his father accepting a call to become pastor of

the First Presbyterian Chinch of San Francisco,

Mr. Dodge accompanied him and there resumed

his collegiate studies, this time at the Univer-

sity Mound College of South San Francisco, of

which the well-known educator, Rev. Dr. Bur-

roughs, was then president. Mr. Dodge's next

change was to Chicago, where his brother, R.

V. Dodge, Jr., then resided. Becoming fasci-

nated with the employment in which his brother

was then engaged (railroad engineering), he

shortly succeeded in securing a position as fire-

man on the Illinois Central Railroad, which he

held for five years, after which he passed a try-

ing examination and was promoted to the posi-

tion of engineer. In 1878 Mi. Dodge was

selected by the lodge of Locomotive Firemen,

to which he belonged, to represent it at the

Grand Lodge which convened that year at Buf-

falo, New York. Discharging this duty with

marked ability, he was elected by the Grand

Lodge to the office of Vice- Grand Master of the

Brotherhood of Locomotive Firemen of the

United States and Canada, which office he filled

with honor to himself and credit to the order

which he represents.

In 1879 Mr. Dodge was married, at Chicago,

to Louise Birdsall, daughter of Mr. and Mrs,

A. G. Millspaugh, of that city, and a year later

he rejoined his parents, who had but recently

moved from San Francisco to San Diego, His

brother had preceded him by a few months, and

the two are now interested with their father in

creating the attractive hon e-place near the city,

known so well as Marilon Bark.

At the solicitation of friends, Mr. Dodge, in

1882, reluctantly consented to the use of his

name as a candidate for the office of County

Clerk. Being a comparative stranger in the

county, and belonging to the political party

then in the ascendency, Dodge's decided victory

over his opponent is to be taken as the best evi-

dence of the great popularity he already en-

joyed. In two succeeding elections he was

equally successful. In the Presidential canvass

of 1888, Mr. Dodge was defeated by the small

vote of twenty-three. In the city election of

April, 1889, Mr. Dodge was elected City Treas-

urer and Tax Collector by a handsome major-

ity, which position he held until March 8,1890

when he resigned. He is now engaged in the

tire and life insurance and real-estate business,

with Captain Thomas A. JS'erney as his partner.

Mr. Dodge resigned on account of his weariness

of political life, etc.

fOIIN B. STANNARD.—The subject of

this sketch was born in Ottumwa Iowa,

in February, 1852. When quite young he

went with his parents to Ohio, where he re-

mained until 1884, when he removed to Cowley

County, Kansas. In September, 1886, he came

to California and located at San Diego. Open-

ing an office in the spring of 1887, his energies

and business abilities soon brought him into

prominence as one of the best architects in the

city. Among the many elegant structures that

have grown up in this city under the architect-

ural charge of Mr. Stannard we may mention

the Grand Pacific, the Bank of Commerce, Louis

Building, Lockard's residence on D and Twenty-

fourth streets and Mrs. L. F Shirley's residence

on Second street. He has also furnished the

designs for Jerry Tolles' fine residence now

going up on Second and Laurel streets.

Mr. Stannard was married in 1872 to Miss

Mary C. Smith, daughter of Samuel and Caro-

line Smith, of Hardin County, Ohio. Two
daughters and one son have been born to them.

•&

fOLONEL WARNER L. VESTAL was

born in Guilford Township, Hendricks

County, Indiana, November 28, 1839. His

parents were members of the Society of Friends

(Quakers) and resided on a farm; his education

was obtained at the country schools and at the
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Plaintield Academy, located near the place of

his birth. When lie was live years old his

mother died, and his grandparents on his

mother's side "took him to raise." At about

the age of fifteen lie returned to his father's

house, he having married again. At the age

of seventeen he got the " Iowa fever," and with

his father's consent emigrated to that State. In

the office of the Indianola Visitor he learned

the art of printing. In the winter of 1859-

'60 he returned to In liana, and in connection

with his brother purchased the Danville Ledger,

and continued its publication until the breaking

out of the war of the Rebellion in 1881. In

response to Lincoln's first call for troops he en-

listed in Company A. Seventeenth Indiana In-

fantry. The regiment was ordered to Western

"Virginia and participated in numerous heavy

skirmishes and the battles of Phillipi and Car-

rick's Ford. He was mustered out in August,

1861, and in the following February entered as

a private in Company A, Fifty-third Indiana

Infantry. He was first promoted to Corporal,

then Sergeant-Major, Captain, Major and to

Lieutenant-Colonel, and finally to Colonel, in

which rank he was mustered out in July, 1865,

by reason of the close of the war. He partici-

pated in many of the campaigns and battles of

the Western army, under Generals Grant and

Sherman, notably those of Shiloh, Corinth,

Vicksbnrg, Meridian and Atlanta. At the

latter place he was badly wounded, on the 22d

day of July, 1864. He returned, however, and

again joined the army at Hilton Head, South

Carolina, and at a later day his regiment at

Goldsboro, North Carolina. He was still very

lame and used a crutch. He participated in the

grand review at Washington in May, 1865,

and was mustered out at Louisville in July of

the same year.

In November, 1865, he married Frances S.

Young, at Washington city, and in 1867 moved

to Des Moines, Iowa, and was employed on the

reportorial and editorial staff of the Iowa State

Register. In 1870 he removed to Storm Lake,

Iowa, and established the Storm Lake Pilot.

He continued its publication until 1885, when
he sold it. He was First Assistant Secretary of

the Iowa Senate for several years, and also

Postmaster and Mayor of Storm Like for sev-

eral terms. He arrived in San Diego in the

spring of 1886, and for three years was business

manager for the Daily Sun. He is a Republi-

can and has always taken a great interest in

politics; He cast his first vote for Abraham
Lincoln, in 1S64, and in the election which re-

sulted in the choice of Grant, Hayes, Garfield,

and Cleveland, canvassed portions of the State

of Iowa. He is a thorough believer in San
Diego and her future greatness and manifest

destiny. Her harbor, geographical location,

climate and resources will eventually make San
Diego one of the grandest cities of the earth.

—

»

"g - 3. ';»g'~»

—

ICTOR JONES, dealer in wines and

liquors at 619 Fifth street, San Diego,

was born in Stasburg, West Prussia, on

the river Drevens, February 9, 1831. In youth

he came to America, stopping in Georgia, and

then coming on to California, in 1856. He soon

amassed considerable in merchandising among
the miners in Placer County. He was also one

of the many thousand who rushed to the Fraser

river mines in the Cariboo district in British

Columbia, in 1862. He remained there until

1870, when again the famous Comstock lode of

Virginia city, Nevada, took him to that point,

where he many times passed through the rapid

transition of being almost a millionaire from his

mining stock to the opposite extreme, that of

being almost a pauper. He next engaged in the

liquor business in Virginia City, in which he

did well financially, and became a very popular

citizen. He also speculated in mining stock,

with varying success, until 1881, when his good

luck apparently deserted him, and he lost his

entire property from the depression of the min-

ing boom. Eventually he obtained a position

in a wholesale wine house in Santa Rosa, where

he remained four years. Three years ago, dur-
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ing the great boom in this part of California,

he came to San Diego and opened a wine and

liquor house, in which he has a large and

growing business. He is an old pioneer, has

witnessed many stirring events and has led an

active and adventurous life.

fRANK M. SIMPSON.—Of the young men
of San Diego who have risen to positions

of honor and trust, no one is more worthy

of mention than the subject of this sketch,

Frank M. Simpson. Born of English parent-

age in JS'-ew York city, in May, 1863, he came

with his parents to the Pacific coast in 1865,

and to San Diego in 1874. Soon afterward he

entered the service of the Pacific Coast Steam-

ship Company, as clerk in the San Diego office.

In October, 1889, he was appointed agent for

the company at San Diego, which is one of the

most important agencies on the coast. He was

married in April, 1887, to Miss Dora Diven-

dorff, daughter of Mrs. M. C. Divendorff, of

San Diego.

Mr. Simpson is a member of the San Diego

Benevolent Society, and for a considerable time

lias served as its secretary.

#^-^B-£#

§ENS BUKNHAKD NIELSEN, a native of

Norway, was born at Tromso, in northern

Norway, October 31, 1855. He remained

at home in his native place until he was fifteen

years of age, when he went to sea and was ab-

sent four years, during which time he was in

four Norwegian and one American vessel, spend-

ing most of the time in the East Indies, Black

Sea and Mediterranean trade. Three times was

the Christmas holidays spent in the Black Sea.

During his four years of sailor life he was dili-

gently studying to qualify himself for more

responsible positions. He returned home in

1875 and successfully passed the examination,

being one of the six successful candidates, a

large number failing. In June, 1876, he en-

gaged as interpreter and purser in an English

ocean yacht, the Glow-worm, for a hunting

trip to the Arctic Ocean. The trip extended to

Nova Zembla, through the Strait of Matochkin,

thence north as far as Ice Cape, which is nearly

80° north latitnde, thence along the coast to

about 74°. In attempting to cross the Kara

Sea the vessel became fast in the ice, and but

for a severe gale, which released it after three

days' detention, doubtless all on board would

have died of starvation, as they had only four

months' provisions. Passing south towards the

Strait of Waigatch, they then crossed over to

the Siberian coast, which was reached about the

months of the Obi and Yenesei rivers; then,

after nearly four months' absence, they returned

home to Norway. The trip was eminently suc-

cessful, as the vessel was well loaded with game,

including polar bears, walruses, etc., birds, live

foxes, several kinds of Siberian dogs and many

varieties of birds. The head of the enterprise,

Mr. Charles Gardner, an English nobleman,

with Sir Thomas Dancer, Bart., accompanied

the expedition and shared in its dangers. Mr.

Nielsen left the Glow-worm at Bergen, and

in November of the same year went to sea again

as second officer in the Norwegian bark Ephrussi,

which was engaged in the Black Sea trade. In

August of the following year he engaged as

second officer in the ship Alert, and remained

with it ten years as second officer, first officer

and master, which latter office he held for nearly

seven years. Arriving in San Diego in 1887,

he left the ship and took up his residence in

the city. He immediately engaged in ship and

real-estate brokerage, and in February, 1888,

was appointed vice-consul for Norway and

Sweden.

He was married August 23, 1883, to Miss

Marianne Peterson, daughter of Merchant Peter-

sou, of Bergen, Norway. Three children have

come to bless their home, two of whom are still

living. Lorentz Nielsen, the father of J. B.

Nielsen, is a prominent merchant of Tromso,
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Norway, and has for many years been enga

in the wholesale trade.

-^m »*#—

fAPTAIN FRANKLIN AUGUSTUS
GREGORY, a prominent son of San

Diego, was born at Marblehead, Massa-

chusetts, on October 31, 1827, the youngest

child of John U. Gregory, a pioneer of that

State. In 1840 he left school and wcit to sea

in the schooner Erie, in the West Indies. While

the vessel was in Ocese, San Domingo, the

American citizens and shipping men went into

mourning on account of the death of President

W. H. Harrison, who was much beloved by the

people. Captain Gregory made several voyages

to the Indies and Newfoundland. In Septem

ber, 1846, a terrible hurricane swept across

the Atlantic ocean and destroyed a large num-

ber of vessels, of which at least over nineteen

were foundered on the banks of Newfoundland.

The Captain's vessel lost her rudder and was

very badly damaged, but managed to complete

the voyage in safety. During the trip they

came across a large number of wrecks without

masts, others on their beam-end, etc., but could

render no assistance to them. In 1847 he again

sailed for Newfoundland as Captain of the trim

craft, who was caught in the ice at St. Pierres,

Sable Island. The ocean was covered with ice-

bergs standing from fifty to 100 feet out of the

water. For three days they were in a field of

ice, which was so ragged as to render naviga-

tion in their vicinity dangerous. On repairing

the ship afterward, the bottom was found in

some places worn down to one-eighth of an inch

in thickness.

In 1840 Mr. Gregory went to Europe as

second mate of the packet ship Liverpool, and

had the small-pox on his return voyage. He
landed at Boston and went then to New Orleans,

where he contracted ship fever, and then re-

turned to his home in Marblehead, and remained

there a year before he fully recovered his health.

In May, 1849, he left Boston for California, in

the brig Chatham, and arrived here the October

following. After a residence of two months in

San Francisco, he left for Sacramento in the

Chatham, when the company broke up, after

dividing two years' provisions among the forty

survivors. During the following winter he was

engaged in placer mining on the Feather river,

and owned several jjood mines.

A rumor of hidden gold mines sent Gregory

and twenty other adventurous prospectors to the

headwaters of the Yuba river. A violent snow

storm set in after they had started across the

mountains, and greatly impeded their progress.

They traveled over the deep gulches until their

horses and mules gave out, and still could not

discover any dividing ridge in the mountains.

In crossing a 6tnall creek they heard a roaring

sound of the river below. Suddenly one of their

party disappeared, and that was the last they

ever heard of him; he was carried down the

river and drowned. They found gold, but not

provisions. The country was wild and inhabited

only by Indians. After four days' journey Mr.
Gregory became convinced that he would perish

from cold and hunger, and after a variety of un-

pleasant experiences he separated from the party

with two companions. For over twenty days he
lived on acorns, which he had to dig out from

under the snow, which was in some places

twenty feet deep I One of his companions

dropped into the snow just as they came in

sight of Springtown. Joseph Phillips and Cap-

tain Gregory were the only men that ever reached

Springtown alive, the rest having perished in

the snow. At that place he spent over $20,000
in endeavoring to dam up the Yuba river about

ten miles above the town, in benefiting minino-

enterprises. He finally abandoned it, as the

scheme proved unsuccessful, and proceeded to

San Francisco by the vessel and started for

Santa Catalina Island, determined to find the

lost treasure said to have been buried there in

1842. After thirty-six months in the fruitless

eearch there he returned again to San Francisco,

brought a cargo of lumber down to San Diego,

and built the first wharf here. He followed
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the sea and visited Europe, Sandwich Islands,

Oregon and many other points. He was aboard

the steamer Ada Hancock, that brought the

first cargo ever lauded at Wilmington. The

Captain made his last voyage in 1865, in the

schooner Katura, and settled down in San

Diego. In September of the same year he

married Miss Maryette M. Moody at San Pedro,

and has three children: Ella Sophia, Angenette

and Einma. The last named is married. The

Captain settled in the Chollas valley. Five

years ago last April a heavy earthquake changed

his well into a wonderful mineral spring that is

now famous through southern California as

supplying the means for a "miraculous" cure

for almost every known complaint.

The Captain is a rugged, hearty old pioneer,

and is well known and respected by the com-

munity. All his immediate male relatives were

shipmasters; his brothers are captains and offi-

cers in the United States navy. His sister,

Mrs. Angenette Ames, has five sons, who are,

strange to say, all physicians of prominence

and ability. Their father, Emerson Ames, built

the first railroad in Russia in 1852. He is

well known in Baltimore as a distinguished

railroad-builder and civil engineer. One of his

daughters married Captain Nelson, stationed at

Mare Island.

SW.
McGARVIE, one of the best known

men in San Diego, was born in Lawrence
° County, Pennsylvania, May 24, 1861.

While quite young he went with his parents to

Monroe County, Michigan, where both parents

died when he was but eleven years of age. When
seventeen years old he engaged with the Mich-

igan Central Railroad Company, and remained

in their employ four years, filling several respon-

sible positions, as telegraph operator, station

agent, etc., and was then transferred to the

Genera] Managers' office in Detroit. In 1883

he went to St. Ignace, in northern Michigan,

and started a semi-weekly newspaper, the St.

Ignace News. After publishing it about a

year he sold out and removed to Denver, Colo-

rado. Here he sought employment with the

Union Pacific Railroad Company, and remained

with it a year. Early in 1885 he came to San

Diego and was appointed station agent at Bar-

stow, where he remained until February of the

following year, when he was transferred to the

general passenge*- and ticket office in San Diego.

During the memorable "boom" in Southern

California he gave up his position with the rail-

road company, opened a real-estate office and

began selling corner lots. In this as in other

things he was successful, and probably sold

more land than any other man in San Diego.

At the city election in the spring of 1889 he

was a candidate on the regular Republican ticket

for the office of city treasurer and tax collector,

and received the largest vote cf any man on the

ticket. He was married in May, 1886, to Miss

Ella Allsop, of Huron, Ohio.

#^B-^#

§H. HIMEBAUGH was born January 14,

1840, in Erie County, Pennsylvania. In
Q 1855 he went to Kingsville. Ohio, to at-

tend the Kingsvilb Academy. He moved to

Dane County, Wisconsin, in 1858, and engaged

in teaching the greater part of two years. In

1860 he moved to Aprleton, Wisconsin, where

he entered Lawrence University, and pursued

his studies until the spring of 1864, when he

left school to enter the army. He enlisted in

Company E (Captain J. H. Hauser), of the

Fortieth Regiment, Wisconsin Volunteer Infan-

try, Colonel Augustus Rey, commanding. The

regiment went to the fron f at Memphis, Ten-

nessee, to relieve General A. J. Smith's com-

mand, which was about to proceed against

General Forrest, and took part in the repnlse of

Forrest in hi ; raid on Memphis. The Fortieth,

being mustered in for 100 days, was mustered

out at the end of its term of service, when Mr.

Himebaugh resumed his studies at Lawrence

University. In a few weeks, however, he re-



HI8T0B1 OF SAN DIEGO COUNTY.

enlisted and was mustered in as Second Lieu-

tenant and Recruiting Officer to assist in raising

the Forty-ninth Wisconsin Regiment. When
the regimental ••oster was full he was mustered

into service for three years, or during the war,

as First Lieutenant of Company D (Captain J.

II. Ilauser), Forty-ninth Regiment AYisconsin

Volunteer Infantry, Colonel Samuel Fallows

commanding. Early in 1865 he was sent with

the regiment to St. Louis, Missouri, and soon

after to Rolla, Missouri, where the regiment

remained several months doing guard duty,

during a portion of which time Mr. Ilimebangh

was on detached service as acting Depot and

District Ordinance officer on General Brown's

staff, who was then in command of the district.

The Forty-ninth having been ordered back to

St. Louis, when the posts at Rolla and Spring-

field, Missouri, were discontinued, Mr. Hime-

bangh rejoined his regiment and for several

months was detached with his company on Post

duty at Benton Barracks. In the fall of 1865

he was mustered out with his regiment at Mad
ison, Wisconsin, and resumed his studies at

Lawrence University, where he graduated in

June, 1866, with the degree of B. S. In the

winter of 1866 and 1867 he engaged in the

profession of teaching at Stevens' Point, Wis-

consin. In the fall of 1867 he was appointed

by Governor Lucius Fairchilds as assistant

superintendent of public property in the State

of Wisconsin, which position he held until the

winter of 1874, wher h"5 resigned his office and

engaged in mercantile pursuits in the city of

Appleton, Wisconsin. He sold out his business

in the spring of 1885, and in June of the same

year moved to Stockton, California, where he

was employed in real esta'e and insurance until

October, 1886, when, with his family, he re-

moved to San Diego, where he engaged in in-

surance and real estate.

He was married to Miss Ida J. Church,

daughter of the late C. C. Church, of San Diego,

at Atchison, Kansys, May 14, 1872. One daugh-

ter, .Nellie M., born in Appleton, Wisconsin,

has blessed the union. Mr. Ilimebangh is a

member of the Masonic fraternity, and of the

Methodist Episcopal Church. In the last his

membership dates back to 1854. He believes

prohibition will prohibit. His father, Peter

Himebaugh, took part in the war of 1812, and

his grandfather was a veteran of the Revolution,

being in the army during all that long struggle.

Mr. Himebaugh lias several of the relics of the

" time that tried men's souls," which formerly

belonged to his grandfather.

fDGAR C. PEARSON was born in Maine,

January 9, 1850: he was a resident of

Bangor till 1877, and for twelve years was

a half member of the firm of William T. Pear-

son & Co., wholesale lumber manufacturers and

dealers. The company was the largest in the

Eastern States and did a very large business,

which extended to England, Scotland, Cuba,

Argentine Republic, Jamaica, Brazil, as well as

to most of the United States. After leaving

Bangor, Maine, Mr. Pearson traveled over New
Mexico, Arizona and portions of Old Mexico.

He remained one year at Winelow, Arizona, in

charge of the car service department of the

Atlantic and Pacific Railroad Company. While

there he was disabled by an accident, and during

his vacation came to California. He soon dis-

covered sufficient attraction here to prevent his

return to Arizona and resigned. He remained

a short time in Los Angeles and in 1886 came

to San Diego.

In January, 1889, he purchased the National

City Reduction Works, and in May M. D.

Arms, formerly of the firm of Arms & Chappel,

bought an equal interest in the business. Both

partners are stirring, active business men, level

headed and honorable, and endeavor to render

the best of satisfaction to all with whom they

have business dealings. The works occupy a

whole block of land in National City, adjoining

the National City and Otay Railroad and San

Diego Land and Town Company's general offi-

ces, being situated right in the city. They have
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three lines of railroad, the National City and

Otay, the California Southern and the Coronado,

on three sides of their land; also first-class

wharf accommodations, at both National City and

San Diego, which give them good facilities for

receiving and handling ores and fuel cheaply.

The works contain a five- stamp mill, with

850-pound stamps, vats, pans, settlers, concen-

trators, riffles, furnaces, etc., all complete and

in fine working order, and capable of handling

from twelve to eighteen tons of ore daily, run-

ning with economy and saving from ninety to

ninety-five per cent, of the precious metals.

Their last four runs, with their new machinery,

gave perfect satisfaction to the owners of the

ore, Messrs. Noble, of Fine valley, and Hall &
Hall, of Elsinore, both parties having splendid

paying ore. They mill all the ore of the Cerros

Island Mining Company of Mexico.

The buildings are the mill, engine-house,

furnace-room, tool house, dwelling-house and

assay office. The mill is so arranged that any

number of stamps can be added, as the business

demands. Motive power is supplied by a fifty-

horse-power engine and a sixty-five-horse-power

boiler. Competent judges estimate the value

of the plant at $30,000, and with the rapidly-

increasing popularity of the works it will speed-

ily increase in value. He is the business man-

ager, secretary and treasurer of the company,

and has a wide acquaintance amongst business

men and through the country.

#^-6s^-^#

fAMUEL J. BAIRD, of National City, was

born in Perry County, Ohio, June 13,

1824, and lived in his native place until

twenty-nine years of age. In the year 1853,

wishing to see more of the world, he went to

Whiteside County, Illinois, where he resided

many years, doing his share in developing that

country. For several years he served as one

of the supervisors of the county in which he

lived, and for three years he was elected presi-

dent of the Whiteside County Agricultural So-

ciety. He was for some years a member of the

Order of Patrons of Husbandry and assisted in

organizing the State Grange. In 1882 he left

the associations which had grown up around

him and came to National City to build up a

home in this land of perpetual summer. How
well he nas succeeded is attested by his fine

residence with its beautiful surrounding and

delightful view. In addition to his heme tract

of fourteen acres he owns 150 acres of excellent

land in Chula Vista, one of National City's

charming suburbs. In the organization of the

Bank of National City, Mr. Baird was a stock-

holderand was elected one of its directors and has

annually been re-elected to that office. In April,

1888, he was elected one of the city trustees

and still holds the position. In 1851 Mr.

Baird was married to Miss Eliza Brown, daugh-

ter of Isaac Brown, of Perry County, Ohio. Of

this union five sons and three daughters were

born, all living at this date.

fOSE ANTONIO ALTAMIRANO, of San

Diego, was born at La Paz, Lower Cali.

fornia, May 31, 1835. His father, Tomas

Altamirano, was a commission merchant and

shipper, and loaded vessels at La Paz for Mazat-

lan, San Bias, and other points; he was an in-

fluential and prominent man and had a large,

prosperoui business. He married Miss Dolores

Carrillo, a native of Lower California, and was

the father oftwelve children. Jose, the youngest

child, received special care in his education,

being naturally bright. Assisting his father in

his business, he became acquainted with many

principles which in after life proved of great

value to him. In May, 1849, Jose concluded

to leave home for Upper California, and shortly

afterward he arrived in San Diego. During

the early gold- mining period he spent over

four years in the mountains from Merced river

northward as far as the Klamath river, engaged

in mining, supplying the miners with pro-

visions, which he conveyed to them on packed
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mules. He bought a large number of mules in

Lower California, and sold them at a great

profit in San Diego. In 1859 he engaged in

the reariug of live-stock on an extensive scale,

on his ranch in San Jacinto, near San Diego

His business increased upon his hands so greatly

that in 1869 he found that he required a larger

scope of country for pasturage, and he therefore

drove his stock down into Lower California,

into the Valle de las Palinas, a large ranch.

November 12, 1863, he married Miss Ysa-

bel de Pedroena, a daughter of Don Miguel de

Pedroena, who was born in Madrid, of a good

family of high social standing. While still a

young man he lived in London several years

and acquired the English language. Don Mi-

guel, Mrs. Altamirano's father, came to Cali-

fornia in 1837, and is several times mentioned

in Bancroft's history as a man of splendid

character and high standing. In the history

of her sister, Mrs. J. W. Wolfskill, of Los An-

geles, the following record is made of Don

Miguel: "From 1845 his home was in San

Diego, where he married Miss Estudillo, by

whom he had four children: Victoria, deceased;

Miguel, Jr., deceased, who married a daughter

of General Burton; Ysabel, who married J. A.

Altamirano, and Elena, who married J. W.
Wolfskill. Don Miguel was the grantor of

the rancho San Jacinto in 1846, and his wife

was grantor of the rancho El Cajon in 1845; of

the former of which Mrs. Altamirano still owns

the portion she inherited. He strongly ap-

proved the cause of the United States acting, as

Juez de Paz and as Stockton's aide, with the

rank of Captain, in the California Battalion.

In 1847-'48 he was collector of customs at

San Diego. He represented the State at Mon-

terey in 1849, being one of the most popular

members of the Spanish race in that lodge. He
died in 1850.''

Mr. Altamirano's family comprises 6even

daughters and four sons. He has a pleasant

home in the old town of San Diego, or North

San Diego as it is now called. He is an inter-

esting and enterprising business man, having

many heavy interests in the county. He is

a stockholder in the San Marcos Land and Town
Company, and has live-stock in San Jacinto and

in Lower California.

f
MARION ASHER, the San Diego County

Assessor, is a native of Adams County,
12

Illinois, and was born April 24, 1833.

His great- grandfather, a resident of Kentucky,

was a pioneer of that State and was a captain

of volunteers. He was killed in a battle with

the Indians on the. land where Louisville now

stands. His son, William Asher, born in Ken-

tucky, was a farmer and mill owner. He owned

and built the oldest mill now standing in Ken-

tucky, located about eight miles above Louis-

ville. He removed to Hancock County, Illinois,

where his death occurred in 1838. Bartlett

Asher was the oldest son of William Asher,

and was born in Kentucky, November 29, 1800.

He was a surveyor and farmer. In 1830 he

was married to Miss Elizabeth Button, daughter

of Mr. Thomas Button, of Virginia, who was

born in 1811, and the result of this union was

a family of seven children of which Mr. Asher

is the second. He had few early school ad-

vantages. When he was seventeen years of age

he went to school three months to a good teacher

in Lee County, Iowa, and with him got his best

educational start. He has devoted his whole life

to study and is eminently a self-made man.

He took a course of study in Bryant & Strat-

ton's Commercial College in St. Louis. He

then took to school-teaching and after several

terms of teaching he engaged in clerking in a

store. Here he had a chance to handle bank

notes and he became an expert counterfeit-de-

tector, and it was on this account that he was

employed in the bank of George C. Anderson,

in Keokuk, Iowa, where he held the position of

teller for eighteen months. He then accepted

a position as book-keeper in a wholesale grocery

and commission house for Stafford & McCune.

In 1858 he came to San Diego, then went to
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the mines, where he remained a year and a half,

when he returned to St. Louis and engaged

with a wholesale house for a year and a half.

He then returned to California in 1861 and

landed at San Francisco. From there he went

to Washington Territory, and British Columbia,

wliere he remained four years, most of the time

in the employ ot the Government as inspector,

deputy and acting collector of customs. In

August, 1865, he was appointed an Internal

Revenue officer, in which position he contin

ued for two years, when he took the position of

commercial reporter for the San Francisco Daily

Times. He then received the appointment of

cashier of the San Francisco & San Jose Rail-

road, in which capacity he overworked, his

health became impaired and he resigned. In

1869 he came to San Diego, when he bought

and improved the place in Paradise valley,

which he afterward sold to Mrs. E. A. Brewster.

Mr. Asher was the pioneer nurseryman of this

part of the State and did much to develop the

capability of the country. He helped to organ-

ize the Horticultural Society of San Diego

County and is still its president. He resided

in the'city of San Diego from 1872 to 1881,

when he moved with his family to their very

pleasant home and ranch at El Cajon, wliere

they now reside, his sons conducting the place.

After coming to San Diego he was deputy col-

lector of customs and inspector of customs for

five years. In 1885-'86 he was Public Admin-

istrator, and in the years 1887-'88 and 1889 he

held the office of county Assessor. Mr. and

Mrs. Asher are both members of the Baptist

Church, which he assisted in building and of

which lie has been a trustee for two years. lie

is also a trustee of the Pioneer Society of San

Diego County, a member of the Chamber of

Commerce, and president of the San Diego

County Produce Union. He has been a mem-
ber of the Masonic fraternity for twenty-live

years and is a Knight Templar. He was mar-

ried in San Francisco, July 3, 1867, to Miss

Sarah H. Clark, daughter of Benjamin and Dor-

cas Clark, formerly of Toronto, Canada, at

which place she was born in 1844. They have

a family of eight children: Robert EL, born in

San Francisco, Mirch 24, 1868; Josephine M.,

born in San Diego, January 17,1870; Alpheus

R., born in Paradise valley, February 13, 1872;

Mary E.,born in Paradise valley, April 20, 1874;

Annie Brewster, born in San Diego, July 2,

1876; Josephus M., Jr., born in San Diego,

October 15, 1878; Dorcas B., born in El Cajon,

March 24, 1884, and Charles Z., born in El Ca-

jon, January 28, 1886.

fSCAR M. REEOE, a merchant of Ocean-

side, was born in Dubuque, Iowa, Septem-

ber 7, 1842; his father, James W. Reece,

was a native of Philadelphia, and died February

11, 1863, at the age of forty-eight years. He
was of German descent; his mother, Nancy

(Madden) Reece, was born in Ohio in 1823;

she was a daughter of Mr. Peter Madden, a

native of Scotland, and was married to Mr.

Reece in Dubuque, Iowa, in 1841. They had

threechildren, two boys and a girl ; the subject of

this sketch was the oldest; he received his edu-

cation in the public schools and graduated from

the High School in 1859. He then engaged in

railroading, which business he followed until

August 11,1861, when he enlisted in Company

E, Fifth Iowa Cavalry, under Major Carl Schaf-

fer von Bernstein's command. He participated

in a number of engagements, among which were

Donelson, Murfreesboro, Shelbyville, Guies

Gap, Pleasant Hill, Dutch River, Franklin,

Rousseau's and McCook's raids, Nashville, etc.,

and chased General Hood and his army back to

the Tennessee river, which pursuit was a Contin-

ued fight for eighteen days. They were iu the

last battle of the war, at Columbus, Georgia,

April 18, 1865, nine days after the surrender

of General Lee, and were advancing on the

rebel forces under General Eowell Cobb, at

Macon, Georgia, April 21, when General Cobb

sent a flag of truce that General Lee had sur-

rendered several days before (this was the first
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they had heard of the surrender). The rebel

army under Cobb laid down their arms and

surrendered 7,000 prisoners, and the Union sol-

diers were tilled with joy, but the news of Pres-

ident Lincoln's assassination, which came to

them at the same time, terribly overshadowed

their joy. During the last two years of Mr.

Reece's service in the army he held the position of

Regimental Brigade and Division Postmaster;

he was mustered out September 12, 1865, and

soon after was appointed by President Andrew

Johnson, Deputy Surveyor of Customs at Du-

buque, in which capacity he acted one year,

when he engaged with the Illinois Central

Railroad as locomotive engineer, and continued

in the business until the tail of 1874, when he

came to Visalia. California. Here he engaged

in the auction and commission business. In 1875

he went to Santa Barbara, where he continued

the business until 1878, when lie removed to

Los Angeles, but in 1879 he went back to Santa

Barbara and become local editor of the Santa

Barbara Press. Colonel Otis was its chief

editor. In the fall of 1879 he went back East,

and engaged with the Union Pacific as division

foreman on the Utah & Northern & Oregon

Short Line division. He was stationed at Bat-

tle Creek two years and two years at Shoshone.

In Februry, 1885, he came to Oceanside and

enga red the general ineichandi

with his "brother, under the firm name of Reece

Brothers. He has been elected Justice of the

Peace in Oceanside three years in succession.

He is now Notary Public and is carrying on his

real-estate and auction business. When he first

came to Oceanside, in 1865, it had only three

houses. He was married November 4, 1869, to

Miss Hatty M. Tower, who was born May 29,

1846, at Osin, New York. She was the daugh-

ter of a Methodist minister, and a second cousin

of Henry Ward Beecher. Their union has been

blessed with lour children, two of whom are

living: Hatty M. Reece, born in Dubuque,

Iowa, April 28, 1873, residing with her father

at Oceanside, and Joseph B. Reece, who was

born at Santa Barbara, November 4, 1875, and

is now attending school in Oceanside. Mrs.

Reece died in Los Angeles, January 14, 1878.

Mr. Reece is a member of the G. A. R., Heintzel-

man Post, No. 33, San Diego, and belongs to

the Masonic fraternity, and is a member of the

Brotherhood of Locomotive Engineers.

+
ra-,--

fILLMAN A. BURNES, one of San Die-

go's pioneers and wide-awake business

men, is a native of Arkansas; his father,

Samuel H. Burnes, was a native of Kentucky

and of Scotch parentage; the mother, before

marriage, Miss M. A. S. Stevens, of German
and English descent, was born in Tennessee.

They had three children, namely: the subjectof

this sketch, born June 6, 1847; Susan, June 6,

1849, and Julia, May 6, 1851. On their journey

across the plains Susan fell from a wagon, was

run over and killed, when three years old; they

buried her at Fort Kearney. The train with

which they came consisted of eighty wagons.

They arrived in Portland, Oregon, in 1853, and

California in 1854, and stopped at San Francisco,

where Tillman learned the engraving trade,

owning and running a shop of his own when
nineteen years of age. His health failed him

and his family physician informed him that a

change of climate was imperative, so he came

to San Diego in March, 1869, his mother ac-

companying him, and they bought and built a

a home in Old Town. He recovered his health,

returned to San Francisco and remained but one

year, when his health again gave out. Return-

ing to San Diego, he engaged in a variety of

businesses,—owned a sale stable, a saloon, and

ran a Lower California stage, and speculated in

various ways, since 1872.

September 6, 1870, he was married in San

Francisco to Miss Mary E. Whitehead, daugh-

ter of John and Sarah B. Whitehead, of Boston;

the father and Judge Thomas H. Bush were

bookbinders together in Boston. Judge Cooney

performed the cerjmony in San Francisco. It

was a runaway match, and although such do not



HISTORY OF SAN DIEGO COUNTY.

usually turn out well this is an exception to the

rule, as it has resulted very happily. They had

two children, a son and a daughter: Maud I.,

born June 24, 1871, and Tillman A., born May

3, 1873. Mr. Barnes is an Odd Fellow in good

standing, belongs to Templar's Lodge, No. 17,

which he joined in 1871, and he also belongs to

the Society of San Diego Pioneers.

AMES M. MARTIN, the editor and propri-

etor of the Oceanside Herald, was born in

Boone County, Iowa, June 4, 1867. His

father, Henry T. Martin, was born in Indiana,

June 16, 1839. His ancestors were Scotch-

Irish. Mr. James M. Martin's mother, Sarah

(Routt) Martin, was born in Kentucky, August

27, 1838; was married in 1858, and had a fam-

ily of eight children. The subject of this sketch

was the fifth of the family and was educated at

the Iowa State Agricultural College at Ames,

and at the Eastern Iowa Normal School at

Columbus Junction. After leaving school he

engaged in teaching for some time and was

principal of the Wall Lake High School for four

years. In 1880 he learned the printers' trade.

Mr. Martin came to San Diego in 1886, and

the same year, with his father, published the

San Marcos Herald. In January, 1889, after

the death of his father, he removed the outfit to

Oceanside, and issued the tir^t number of the

Herald, and is now its editor and publisher.

He has the entire field to himself, his competi-

tors having withdrawn. Mr. Martin's father

was a school-teacher in his younger days, and

was for twelve years station agent for the North-

western Railway Company. He was then elected

County Superintendent, and while in this ca-

pacity he invented the Martin's School Record

and Register. It was so planned as to show on

the two open pages the complete record and

standing of a school for a complete term, and on

the same page it showed how far each class had

advanced in each of their class-books at the end

of the term. His health failed while engaged

in his school work in Iowa, and in April, 1886,

he came to San Dieujo, where he was connected

with the Daily JVeios. He died December 14,

1888.

ELFORD D. ARMS, of National City,

was born in Franklin County,Vermont,

anuary. 1859. His father

ricnltural pursuits and now lives

within a mile and a half of his native place.

Melford, in 1880, went to Kansas and engaged

in the nursery business, which grew on his

hands until it extended over a large portion of

the State. He afterward went to New Mexico,

and for several years had charge of the car de-

partment and wood repairs on locomotives for

the Atlantic & Pacific Railroad Company.

Desiring to remove to the Pacific coast, he re-

signed his position, and in January, 1887, he

came to San Diego and became a partner in the

firm of Arms & Chappell. After doing an ex-

tensive and profitable business for more than

two years the firm was dissolved in consequence

of his partner being obliged to go East to take

care of his parents who were advanced in years.

Mr. Arms then removed to National City, where

he now resides, and purchased one-half interest

in the National City Reduction Works. Messrs.

Pearson and Arms, the proprietors, soon placed

the business on a good footing, putting in a large

amount of new machinery, making it one of

the largest plants for the reduction of ores south

of San Francisco. Mr. Arms, who i6 an enthu-

siast in his business, is the mill and mechan-

ical superintendent and vice-president, and will

doubtless make a success of anything he under-

takes.

^-^B-^

fF.
ROCKFELLOW, a prosperous San

Diego merchant, was born in Ashland,

* Oregon, November 7, 1858. After grad-

uating at the public schools of his native town,
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he took a course of study in the Ashland Acad-

emy, and later a business course in the same

town. April 4, 1880, he was married to Mi68

Rosamond Enbanks of Ashland, a native of

Illinois, daughter of J. S. Enbanks, a retired

citizen of Santa Barbara.

E. F. Rockfellow has been a resident of San

Diego city for seven years, and is a son of A. G.

Rockfellow, who resided in San Diego two years

ago, and is now interested in mining in Lower

California. Having previously been engaged in

the business of general merchandise in Ashland,

E. F. Rockfellow came to San Diego in August,

1882, and after three months spent in looking

about he entered in the general business of dry

goods, clothing, boots and shoes. In 1883, the

city having so largely increased and business

becoming classified, lie entered his present store

at 757 and 759 Fifth street, in the exclusive sale

of boots and shoes, carrying a stock of about

$20,000, which comprises all qualities and

grades suitable for the Southern California mar-

ket. He has a brother who also resides in San

Diego. Our subject is not active in politics, but

is at the present time a member of the board of

fire commissioners.

Mr. and Mrs. Rockfellow have three children:

D. Eugene, J. Albert and Ruth.

f
HESTER W. MAXSON, one of Ocean-

side's livliest and most reliable business

men, was born in Cedar County, Iowa,

September 12, 1853. His father, William Max-

son, was a native of Pennsylvania and was born

in 1805. He was a pioneer of Cedar County,

having moved there at an early day, and was

very highly esteemed by his neighbors and ac-

quaintances. He was well informed upon gen-

eral subjects and took a lively interest in the

subject that then agitated the country, and had

no sympathy for slavery in boasted free Amer-

ica. John Brown and his men often stopped

with him, and Mr. C. W. Maxson has many
valuable relics of John Brown: one, a hickory

sword, made by John Brown to drill with, and

the other a life-size oil painting of John Brown.

Mr. Maxson, Sr., had these portraits made and

presented one of them to each of his children.

Mr. William Maxson died in 1877. Mr. Max-
son's mother, Hannah R. (Keisler) Maxson, was

born in Ohio, January 4, 1827. She was the

daughter of Mr. Josiah Keisler, and was married

to Mr. Maxson September 9, 1852. They had

a family of four children, of which Mr. Maxson
was the eldest. His father had had a former

wife by whom he had five boys. Four of them

served the country in the great war of the Re-

bellion and all of them returned at the close of

the war. Mr. Maxson received his education

in the public schools of West Liberty, Iowa.

When through with school he became a clerk

in a general merchandise store and continued in

that business about eleven years. In 1878 he

went to Leadville, where he prospected for gold

for four years, until he had spent all the

money he had. He then went to the southern

part of Colorado, where he worked as a laborer

for the Colorado Coal & Iron Company for

awhile, but was soon made weigh-master.

While here he became acquainted with Frank-

lin McVeigh & Co., and they put him in charge

of one of their stores with which they were not

satisfied. He looked the situation over and de-

cided that the store could not be run success-

fully at that place, so reported, and they

consolidated the stock witli one of their

stores in a better locality. He remained with

them until 1885, when he went to his old

home, West Liberty, Iowa, for a short visit.

In March, 1866, he went to Chicago, and on

March 19, 1886, he started for San Diego, where

he arrived March 24. After looking the country

over, he formed a partnership with C. F. Fran-

cisco and opened a general merchandise store in

Oceanside, which he continued successfully for

a year, when, desiring to engage in the real-

estate business, he sold the store to C. S. Ham-
ilton & Co., who are still running the business.

He then formed a partnership with Mr. Griffin

in the real-estate and insurance business, after-
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ward bought Mr. Griffin's interest, and added

money-lending to the business. He has the

agency for the People's Home Savings Bank of

San Francisco, and has done a large amount of

business for them. He is a member of the Ma-

sonic fraternity, in which he has taken the blue

lodge, chapter and commandery degrees, and

is Chancellor Commander of the Knights of

Pythias. He was elected trustee of Oceanside,

only lacking two votes of an unanimous vote.

He was married October 15, 1877, to Mjss

Flora Cady, of Casey, Guthrie County, Iowa,

daughter of Mr. Charles Cady, who was born

January 12, 1862.. They have two children:

Gertrude C, born in Colorado, December 30,

1882, and Roy Charles, born in Oceanside,

October 17, 1886.

-^&*8B»-&—
fYLVESTER STATLER, County Treas-

urer of San Diego County, was born in

Piqua, Miami County, Ohio, August 21,

1843. His father, Stephen Statler, was born

in 1817, in the same town; and his mother,

whose maiden name was Nancy Stewart, was

born in 1820, also in the same place. Their

five children are all still living, namely: Stewart,

Amanda, Franklin, Sylvester and William.

At the age of eighteen years Sylvester and

Franklin volunteered to do what they could to

put down the Rebellion, enlisting in Company
K, First Ohio Infantry, September 8, 1861, and

joining their regiment at Camp Corwin. Being

soon attached to the Army of the Ohio, in com-

mand of General Buell, they marched to Mum-
fordville, Kentucky, and went into winter

quarters; and here Mr. Statler was taken sick

and was sent home on furlough; and after partly

recovering he joined his regiment at Columbus,

Tennessee, and subsequently pirticipated in the

battles of Shiloh, Stone Rivor, Chickamauga,

Mission Ridge, and followed Sherman in his

great inarch to the 6ea. Their time expiring

when near Atalanta he and his brother were

honorably discharged, neither of them having

received a scratch in any of their engagements;

then, in company with their brother-in-law, W.
M. Girard, they were engaged in a flour and

saw mill for six months. Then Mr. Statler

attended a commercial course at Poughkeepsie,

New York, and next, in partnership with his

brother Stewart, he was employed for three years

in the commission business in Chicago; and

then he clerked two years for a Missouri River

packet company at Leavenworth, Kansas. June

8, 1871, he arrived in San Francisco, and on the

17th in San Diego. Here he at first engaged

for some time in the real-estate business; was

Deputy County Clerk in 1873-'77; County

Treasurer in 1877-'83, being elected twice on

the Republican ticket; and since that time he

has been thrice elected County Treasurer, name-

ly, in 1884, 1886 and 1888. These facts are

sufficient to demonstrate the high moral, social

and business character of our subject, lie is a

member of the orders of K. of P. and G. A. R.

He was married in February, 1867, to Miss

Mary E Pe;is, a native of Licking County, Ohio,

born in 1847. Her parents died when she was

very young, and she was brought up by her

grandfather, Samuel Peas, a native of Pennsyl-

vania. She is a member of the Relief Corps of

the G. A. R , and also of the Woman's Ex-

change, a charitable institution for the relief of

poor women. Mr. and Mrs. Statler were school-

mates, and therefore have been acquainted with

each other from childhood.

ILLIAM WALLACE STEWART, one

of San Diego's prominent pioneers, was

born September 23, 1829, in Hunting-

don, Pennsylvania, son of John Stewart. His

father's mother and father, his father and him-

self were all born in the same house, in the same

room in fact. The deed to the property is in

parchment from William Penn. The property

was one of the manors reserved by Penn when

he disposed of the State. The deed and the

property are still in the possession of the family.
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His mother's maiden name was McDonald.

Both the families were Scotcli and were forced

to leave Scotland on account of persecution.

They came to America and were active partici-

pants in the war of the Revolution. In 1850

William Wallace Stewart went to Louisville a'ld

opened a flour and cement store. In 1852 he

sold out and came to California. He and four

others fitted up an ox team (five yoke of oxen

and a wagon), and started out together. They

were attacked '^y the Indians at Big Sandy,

who got their horses, but the oxen being chained

to the wagon they were saved. On arriving at

Grass Valley they were short of money, so sold

the oxen and equipments for $400, afterward

dividing the money between them, each share

amounting to $80. They went to mining on

the Yuba river; from there they went to the mid-

dle Yuba and lost what they had made. Then

Mr. Stewart went to Placer County, where there

were rich diggings at that time. He remained

one year, then returned East with $23,000.

During the following summer he traveled all

over the United States. In January, 1856, he

left New York for California. He went to the

same place and engaged in mining and trading.

Then he went to Placerville, El Dorado County,

and engaged in the mercantile business for sev-

eral years. In 1869 he came to San Diego,

spent some time in San Diego, and then got a

horse and traveled over San Diego, San Bernar-

dino and Los Angeles counties. After having

become convinced of the value of San Diego

County and the adjoining counties he came

back and went into business. He was agent for

the coast steamers and conducted a large grain

and commission business up to the present time.

He has two warehouses, with a frontage of 300

feet.

Mr. Stewart was married in 1879, and has

seven children, four boys and three girls. The

oldest son, Charles, is his head book-keeper.

Henry is manager of the Escondido warehouse

property. Mr. Stewart was member of the City

Council for live years and was one of the prin-

cipal projectors of the California George E

Waring, Jr., sewarage system of the city, one of

the best in the United States. He is now a

member of the Board of Education, and has

been appointed by the Governor Harbor Com-
missioner. He is both physically and in a

business point of view a good representative

of the grand old Scotch stock from which he

sprang.

fEOKGE JAMES KEATING, deceased, a

prominent citizen of San Diego, was a

native of Halifax, Nova Scotia, and was
born January 7, 1840. His father, Mr. William

Henry Keating, was the son of an officer in the

English army, and a member of the legal pro-

fession, and was married to Miss Eliza Walford

Forbes, who was born at Gibraltar, in the year

1818. The result of this marriage was a family

of eighteen children, nine of whom still survive.

The subject of this sketch was the second of

this numerous family. At eighteen he had

completed a liberal collegiate education, and

having a strong desire to embark in business

for himself, and acting with the consent of his

parents, he came to the United States. Bishop

Chase (brother of the Hon. Salmon P. Chase),

of the Episcopal Church, gave him a letter of

commendation which he presented to A. G.

Trowbridge, Esq., who was then conducting a

large farm near Peoria, Illinois. In the year

1866 Mr. Keating became associated with Mr.

Smith in the agricultural implement business

on a small scale at Kansas City, then a small

place of a few thousand inhabitants, but which

Mr. Keating thought was destined to become a

great business center. Aciing upon this con-

viction in 1866 they established the first agri-

cultural implement house in Kansas City.

Their first store was opposite Market square,

but the growth of their business compelled them

to build larger and more commodious quarters.

Accordingly, a new store 80 x 220 feet and five

stories high was erected. The firm was emi-

nently successful, doing an enormous business,
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and in the short space of twenty years they had

become one of the largest, if not the largest,

agricultural implement house in the world.

Mr. Keating's business capabilities were superb.

He was energetic, honest and frugal and con-

servative in business when in doubt, but bold

and daring when convinced of success. His

surplus funds he invested in real estate in the

wonderful growing city, which rapidly enhanced

in value, until he had amassed a fortune of

more than $2,000,000. He was interested in

the Ninth street cable line, and was one of the

projectors of the first cable line in that city. He
was also interested in various public and private

enterprises. In 1886, on account of sickness (in-

flammatory rheumatism), he came to San Diego

and invested quite largely in city and other prop-

erty, and the longer he remained the deeper be-

came his love for, and the stronger his conviction

that there was a great future before, San Diego.

He purchased the Dells, one of the most lovely

places on the coast, and made many improve-

ments on it. He recently purchased a beautiful

block on Fifth street, San Diego, on which he

intended to erect a palatial residence. He had

partially recovered his health, and the prospect of

a long life of happiness and prosperity was before

him when his old disease made another attack,

and his death unexpectedly occurred. He died

June 28, 1888. of rheumatism of the heart.

Mr. Keating was married in I860 to Mis6

Elizabeth Smith, sister of his partner. May
17, 1882, he was again married, to Miss Fanny

L. Woodward, born in Liverpool, Medina

County, Ohio. She was the daughter of Henry

Thomas Woodward, a native of Drombarrow,

county Meath, Ireland. The Drombarrow es-

tate was granted to Major Woodward by Crom-

well and remained in the family until 1869,

when her father sold it. Her mother, Ester

Woodward, was born in Devonshire, England.

Her brother, Mr. Henry Robert Woodward, re-

sides in Illinois; her sisters, Miss Loveday S.

C. Woodward and Miss Elizabeth Woodward,

are with Mrs. Keating in San Diego at present.

Her brother, Dr. Walter Benjamin Woodward,

resides in San Diego also, where he is acting

as her business agent. The family are members
of the Episcopal Church, and Mrs. Keating de-

signs to carry out all of Mr. Keating's plans

and benevolences. In social life Mr. Keating

was most liberal and generous, and such were

the qualities of his mind that to know him
well was to become his lasting friend. Parents

never had a more dutiful or affectionate son,

brother and sister a better brother, nor wife a more

thoughtful, kind and loving husband. He was

charitable to the poor and needy without osten-

tation or display. At one Christmas time he

gave a large number of needy families in this city

an order for provisions to the amount of $5 each

;

at another time he made glad the hearts of those

in prison with a present of $2 each; on another

occasion he presented every boot- black and news-

boy in Kansas City with a new suit of clothes.

He made ample provision in his will for the

support of his aged parents, who survive him.

His father is eighty-two and his mother seventy

years of age, and botli are remarkably smart

for persons so advanced in life. He died in the

prime of life, when he was but forty-nine years

of age, and who can estimate the loss of such a

man to his relatives, and to the community with

winch his good and great heart beat in unison?

,ATHEW W. SPENCER is another of

Oceanside's business men. He is agent

for the Russ Lumber Company, and has

recently built for himself a planing mill, and in

connection with it a grist mill. It is situated

beside the railroad track and is of sufficient ca-

pacity to do the business of Oceanside and the

country around it. He was born near Sidney,

Cape Breton County, Nova Scotia, in 1849. His

great-grandfather was one of those men who
remained loyal to the English government and

did not see it to be his duty to take up arms

against the king. At the close of the war the

king gave large land grants in Nova Scotia to

his loyal subjects and Mr. Spencer's great^grand-
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father went from Vermont and settled on these

lands. He was the father of Nathaniel Spencer,

who was bom in Vermont, and at the age of

sixteen went with liis father to Nova Scotia.

Nathaniel Spencer's 6on, Philip Spencer, was

born in Nova Scotia in 1819, and was a mill

owner, lumberman and farmer. He was mar-

ried to Miss Maria Martell, who was also a na-

tive of Nova Scotia. They had a family of six

sons and three daughters. Mrs. Spencer died

August 20, 1889, and Mr. Spencer is still living.

Their son, the subject of this shetch, was raised

with limited opportunities for school education,

bat his advantages to work were of the best.

"When only a boy of sixteen he, together with

an elder brother, ran his father's saw-mill fre-

quently night and day during the busy season.

It was one of those old fashioned upright saws,

with which they could cut from 1,000 to 1,500

feet a day. He had some school privileges of

short duration each year, and when he became

older he took a thorough course of study at the

St. Johns Commercial College. This proved of

great value to him in after life. When twenty-

two years of age he left home and became a

clerk in the mercantile business at Halifax,

Nova Scotia, and afterward spent one year in

business at Antigotiish, Nova Scotia. From

there he went to Providence, Rhode Island, and

worked for Burrows & Kenyon, lumber dealers.

He began work as salesman in the lumberyard,

but was afterward book-keeper and cashier. He
remained here eleven years, after which he spent

a year traveling in the State of Michigan buying

lumber for eastern shipment. He then estab-

lished himself in Detroit, Michigan, where he

was part owner of the Climax Door Knob Man-

ufactory, but after a year he 6old his interest

and came to Riverside, California, where he

purchased a five-acre orange grove. He sold

this however, in 1885, and came to Oceanside

where he embarked in the lumber and mill bus-

iness. He was married to Miss Minnie C.

Barnaby, at Halifax, Nova Scotia, daughter of

Mr. Timothy Barnaby, of Cornwall's, Nova

Scotia, in 1872. She was born in Boston,

Massachusetts, July 23, 1853. They have three

children, a son and two daughters: Wilbur S.,

Emma Maria and Sibill Barnaby. Mr. Spencer

is a member of the board of trustees of Ocean-

side, is a Knight of Pythias and a member of

the Baptist Church.

fOIINSCHUYLERis Oceanside's hard-

ware merchant and practical tinner, having

worked at the business most of the time

for the last thirty-seven years. Notwithstand-

ing the time he has followed the business he is

almost as active as a boy. He seems to have

learned the proverb, " He that by the plow

would thrive, must either hold himself or drive."

So, should you go into his tine, large brick store,

if you did not find him waiting on a customer,

you would find him working away in his shop

as fa8t as though he were a journeyman again

working by the piece. He was born in Cuyahoga

County, Ohio, July 2, 1836. His father, Jo-

sephus Schuyler, a farmer, was born in the State

of New York in 1808, and died in San Ber-

nardino County. California, in 1888, having just

attained the age of four score years. Mr. Schuy-

ler's mother, Nancy (Rogers) Schuyler, was born

in New York State in 1801. She was married

to Mr. Josephus Schuyler in 1831, and had a

family of four children, the subject of this

sketch being the third. He received a common-
school education. When sixteen years of age

he went to learn the tinner's trade, after which

he worked as a journeyman in several of the

western States. In 1858 he came to California,

where he worked in several places, and returned

to New York city in 186i. He worked at

Hudson for a year and then went to Nebraska,

where he remained until 1884, when he came

with his family to San Bernardino, California,

where he engaged in business. In 1887 he came

to Oceanside and started his present hardware

business on Second street. In 1888 he built

his brick store on Third street. It is 26x85
feet, two stories high, and has a glass partition
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which divides the store from the shop. His

store is filled with a full line of hardware, and

he does business for fifteen miles around, and

even sells some bills to people twenty-five miles

away. He was married in 1864 to Miss Ann
Frances Barlow, who was born in Connecticut

May 19, 1884. She is the daughter of W. S.

Barlow, of Stockbridge, Connecticut, who car-

ried on a piano business in New York city for

a long time. They have a family of three chil-

dren, two boys and one girl: Mary, born at

Falls City, Nebraska, in 1870; Frank B., born

in Falls City in 1872, and Wilton S., born at

Superior, Nebraska, in 1875. Mr. Schuyler is

a member of the Odd Fellows organization, and

is president of the board of trustees of the city

of Oceanside.

E. HADLEY, one of the leading land-

lords in Southern California, entered

" upon the occupation of his life at the

early age of ten years, as office boy at §4 per

month, in a small hotel in Maine. He is a son

of a sturdy old New Englander, and he inherited

the energy, perseverance and endurance of the

inhabitants of that day, His ancestors, as far

as known, have all resided in Maine, and William

E. was born at South Mai uncus, Maine, May
22, 1853. He was the fifth child in a family

of eight children, only four of whom survive.

His father, W. W. Hadley, was a farmer upon

a large scale and also managed a large black-

smith shop. He now resides with his son,

William E., and though at the age of seventy-

one years is erect, active in mind and body and

apparently in the full vigor and enjoyment of

life. The mother of the subject of this sketch

died when he was but seven years of age.

William E. came to California in April, 1876,

going to Eureka, Humboldt County, where as

night cierk he entered the Vance House, but

before nine months had passed he was so pro-

moted as to be put in full management. He
was married in Eureka, March 12, 1879, to

Miss Emma Williams, a daughter of Hon.

George Williams, who had large interests in

sheep and cattle ranches. Mr. and Mrs. Hadley

came to San Diego in 1880. He leased the

Horton House, purchasing furniture and fix-

tures, and started a first-class hotel, where other

landlords through lack of knowledge or incom-

petence had made perfect failures. This hotel

was built by A. E. Horton. the " Father " of

the town, in 1870, when jack rabbits raced

through the streets, with only here and there an

isolated small house upon the town site. The

hotel, which faces the Blaza, has a frontage of

200 feet on D street, reaching from Third to

Fourth streets, and two and one half stories

high. The house is sixty-five feet deep on

Third street and 100 feet on Fourth Street,

with a 200-foot wing extending back from the

center of the building, and has 125 sleeping

rooms. Mr. Hadley began with no financial

backing, but with practical knowledge and with

good common sense, and is now recognized as

one of the best financiers and hotel managers

on the coast, and owns the best property in San

Diego. Mr. and Mrs. Hadley have two chil-

dren: Fred E., born December 25, 1880, and

Nell, born February 27, 1883.

Mr. Hadley is a member of I. O. O. F., Hum-
boldt Lodge, No. 76, of Eureka, and of Centen-

nial Encampment, No. 58, at San Diego.

^«®»^
fOIIN MITCHELL, of Oceanside, was born

in Cuba, Ohio, November 11, 1833. His

father, James Mitchell, was born in Penn-

sylvania, in 1808. His grandfather, Thomas

Mitchell, was born in Maryland, in 1785. His

great-grandfather was a soldier in the Revolu-

tion, and lived to be ninety-eight years of age.

He was of English descent. His mother, Luana

(Sattler) Mitchell, was born in Virginia in 1815.

They had a family of five children, of which the

subject of this sketch was the oldest. He was

educated in the public schools. He engaged in

farming for a time, and then became a stock-
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buyer, which he followed for twelve or fifteen

years. He then came to California and located

320 acres of land at Fall Brook in 1876. There

were very few settlers at that time in the coun-

try, and these did nothing but raise a few sheep

and a few bees. Mr. Mitchell remained on the

farm ten years, improving and cultivating it.

He planted oranges and other trees, and raised

plenty of fruit and grain without irrigation.

He was the first to demonstrate that fruit could

be raised without irrigation. People came from

San Diego and other places to see his farm, and

his fruit was sent East as samples of what could

be raised here. When he located the land it

was considered to be worthless, but after ten

years he sold it for $17,000. After selling out,

he spent some time at San Diego, and then

came to Oceanside in the fall of 1887. He has

purchased property in Oceanside, San Diego

and Otay. His home is on the shore of the

Pacific ocean. He is a member of the Masonic

fraternity, which he joined about thirty years

ago, and has taken the Cominandery degree.

He married Miss Josephine Moore, of Ohio*

who was born in 1844.

;E. HARRISON E. STROUD is a prom-

ising young physician and surgeon of

Oceanside, and in connection with his

practice owns and manages a drug store. He
is a native of Birmingham, England, born De-
cember 22, 1856. The earliest knowledge lie

has of his ancestors is that they came from

Normandy with "William the Conqueror. The
name Stroud is one of the oldest in England.

His mother, Annie L. (Layton) Stroud, was a

native of England also. His father was a lamp
manufacturer for many years. His mother's

father was a wholesale dealer in Clure, near

"Windsor, England. His parents had a family

of twelve children, of which the subject of this

sketch was the seventh. It is said that the

seventh son is either a fool or a doctor, and our

Doctor, having his choice, chose to be the lat-

ter, and the results have proven that the choice

was well made. He received his education first

in King Edward's School, Birmingham, which

King Edward endowed. It is a magnificent

structure, built of huge blocks of stone three

feet square, and the floors, both up and down
stairs, are of stone. After coming to America

he graduated at the State University of Colo-

rado. In 1884 he engaged in the practice of

his profession at Grand Junction, Colorado, and

while there held the offices of County Physician,

County Superintendent of Schools, and County

Coroner. He was also surgeon of the Denver

& Rio Grande Railroad. From there he went to

San Diego, and in 1888 he opened his drug

store at Oceanside, where he still continues the

practice of medicine. He owns town lots and

ranch land, and is interested in all that pertains

to the well-being of Oceanside. He is a mem-
ber of the Episcopal Church. The Doctor is

not only a nice business gentleman, but he is a

physician and surgeon of excellent talent and

ability.

—&mam-&—
fCHAUNCEY HAYES is a leading

citizen of Oceanside and South Ocean-
9

side, and one who has all the life

and vim of a first-class active bnsiness man.

He was born in Los Angeles, April 27, 1853,

and was educated in South Pasadena at a pri-

vate school and afterward at the Santa Clara Col-

lege. In December, 1869, his father removed

to San Diego, and he read law in his father's

office. He remained here until 1875, when he

was married to Miss Felipa Marron, who was

born in San Luis Rey. San Diego County, Cali-

fornia, January 23, 1857. She was the daugh-

ter of Silvester Marron, who was born and raised

in California, and married Miss Lenora Osuna.

After Mr. Hayes' marriage he removed to San

Luis Rey, where he engaged in locating Govern-

ment and State lands. He traveled all over the

country in this business. Then he engaged in

in farming and teaming and drew freight from
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San Diego to San Luis Rey. After that he en-

gaged more fully in the real-estate business, and

was Justice of the Peace, but resigned this office

before the expiration of his term. From 1878

to 1882 he was a mail-contractor, having several

important routes in this county and in the

northern part of the State. When he found

that the railroad was going to be located here,

he purchased 1,240 acres of land between Ocean-

side and Carlsbad on the line of the proposed

road and on the ocean iront. He was Post

master at San fcuis Eey for a while under Post-

master-General Howe in 1884. About that

time the railroad was built from San Diego and

Oceanside was started. He then removed his

office to Oceanside and drew the petitions for

all the read districts, the school districts, and

made preliminary arrangements for the mail

routes, and had them started. He had an inter-

est in the Oceanside Star and put in a steam

press and sold it to Mr. Whaley. On the eighth

of March, 1888, he established the Oceanside

Diamond, which he afterward sold to Mr. H.

McPhee. It is now published at Perris, and is

known as the Valley Union. "While Mr. J.

Chauncey Hayes has been so actively engaged

in public and private enterprises, he has not

been neglectful of home and its interests, and

the cormnand "Multiply and replenish the

earth " has been faithfully obeyed by him. Mr.

Hayes is a member of the Ancient Order of

United Workmen, and a member of the Catholic

Church. He has held the office of Deputy

County Assessor, and is and has been for many
years Deputy County Clerk, and is a Republi-

can in politics. Oceanside has no better friend

nor more solid active business man.

tOBERT ALLISON, one of San Diego's

pioneers, was born March 10, 1814, in

Washington County, Ohio, his parents

being Charles and Hester (Stull) Allison. The

father, of Scotch-Irish descent, was a soldier in

the war of 1812; the mother, of German de-

scent, was born in 1794, in New York State.

They had eight children, four of whom are

dead; the living are: Robert, Josiah, Napoleon

and George. Robert, the subject of this sketch,

remained on the farm with his parents until

twenty-one years of age, when he became a

boatman, carrying produce down the Ohio and

Mississippi rivers; in this business he continued

about seven years. He then removed to Illi-

nois, settling in Warren County, where he en-

gaged in milling, sawing lumber and grinding

flour. A year later he removed to Marion

County. Iowa, and took up 320 acres of land.

He built a log cabin on it, fenced eighty acres,

and in 1850 sold it. He then came to Califor-

nia, crossing the plains with his wife and one

child, arriving at Placerville in the latter part

of September. Soon after he went to Sacra-

mento, where he kept hotel for a few months;

he then settled on a grant and followed farming

for a few years. He supposed he had settled

on Government land, but finding that he could

not get a title, he returned to Iowa, remained a

year and then once more crossed the plains to

California, bringing with him 600 head of cat-

tle. He settled near Vacaville, Solano County,

purchased a grant and entered 320 acres of

Government land. In addition to this he pur-

chased 1,000 acres at $1.25 per acre here, and

engaged in farming and cattle-raising. He had

over 1,000 head of graded cattle. In the fall

of 1868 he sold ont and removed to San Diego,

purchasing 3,000 acres" of the ex-Mission grant.

He then bought cattle and engaged in ranching

and butchering. Hi6 sons are now running the

butcher shop.

Mr. Allison was married to Miss Tempa
Waterman, born July 21, 1815, in Morgan

County, Ohio, daughter of Allen Waterman, a

farmer and a miller. They were married in

1837. They have had eleven children; three

sons and one daughter still survive, viz.: Ben-

jamin Franklin, born in 1848, at Red Rock,

Iowa; Joseph A. and Josephine A. were born

June 25, 1852; Juan M. was born March 12,

1857, in Solano County. California. Mr. Alii-
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6on is a temperance man and a public-spirited

citizen, ever ready to contribute liberally toward

anything that will advance the interests of San

Diego.

#?-«»^#

tim T. BLACKMER was born at New Brain

ff|L tree, Worcester County, Massachusetts,

Of*! February 14, 1831, son of Lewis and

Nancy (Keep) Blackmer, both natives of Massa-

chusetts, and sterling New England people.

They had twelve children, six sons and four

daughters living; the subject of this sketch was

the third in birth and the eldest son. Leaving

New Braintree in early life, he resided in North

Brookfield until he was twenty-one years of age,

when he began drifting about until 1858, when

he went to Chicopee, Massachusetts, where he

remained until 1862, when he enlisted and was

elected First Lieutenant of Company A, Thirty-

seventh Massachusetts Volunteers, the entire

company being enlisted from the town of

Chicopee. The regiment went to Washington

in July, 1862, where they encamped until Octo-

ber 1, when they were ordered to the front in

Virginia, under command of General George

B. McClellan. Owing to severe illness he was

obliged to resign in the latter part of Novem-
ber, same year, and returned to his home at

Chicopee, where he remained until 1867, wdien

he went to Chicago and entered into the sale of

musical instruments, also teaching music. He
did a profitable business until 1871, when the

great fire of Chicago burned out his entire

stock. In 1873 he came to southern California,

living for thirteen years at National City, and

doing business in San Diego. From 1873 till

1876 he taught music, then opened a music

store in connection with A. Schneider, who
carried a general stock of books and stationery.

In 1888 he sold out his interest in the business,

and now devotes his time to the closing of the

old business. He has been somewhat interested

in public affairs, and for two and one-half years

has been County Superintendent of the Schools.

He also represented the county in the conven-

tion which framed the new constitution of the

State in 1878. The convention was held at

Sacramento, and continued from September,

1878, to March, 1879.

Mr. Blackmer has two children, both married

and residing in the East. His mother resides

in New Haven, Connecticut, at the age of

eighty-six years; his father died in 1871. Mr.

Blackmer has always been a Republican, is

active in all subjects of political advancement;

is a member of the Grand Army of the Repub-

lic, is Past Master of San Diego Lodge, F. & A.

M., and is now serving his second term of four

years as Supreme Representative from Califor-

nia to the Supreme Lodge of K. of P.

* '<,' T 1>' c : *"-

jARCO BRUSCHI, hotel proprietor, San
Diego, was born in the province of

Parma, Italy, December 26, 1840; his

parents are natives of Italy. Marco was the
youngest of a family of seven children, five sons
and two daughters; he came to Americain 1860
landing at New York; after a few days he em-
barked for the Isthmus of Panama, taking the
steamer from thereto San Francisco. He went
at once to visit a brother who resided at Colter-

ville, Mariposa County, who conducted a gen-

eral mercantile business. Marco entered his store

as clerk, remaining about two years, when he
went to the mining districts in Mariposa and
Tuolumne counties, taking up claims and follow-

ing placer mining for two-and-a-halfyears, then
prospected in quartz mining; a company was
formed and a crusher erected, but meeting with
no favorable results he went to Colorado as

manager of the Delphina mines. In 1869 lie

quit mining, and coming to San Diego started

a general merchandise business under the firm

name of Marco Brnschi & Co., which in 1874
was changed to G. Ginacchio & Co. Marco
retained his interest and continued with the firm

until 1880, when they sold their entire stock.

They were the leading merchants in town and
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carried a stock of $80,000. Alter settling the

affairs of the business, in 1883, Marco leased

ground and erected a hotel on the corner of I

and Fifth streets, which he now occupies.

In 1882 he returned to his native country for

a short visit wnd was married while absent to

Coinmba Rossi, of Parma, Italy, on Decem-

ber 22, 1882. She returned with him to his

California home. They have two children: An-

gelinoand Anton. JVir. Ernsehi is a member of

the Encampment of Odd Fellows, resident in

San Diego.

f^EIIRAlM W. MORSE, a prominent pio-

L net r and able business man of San Diego,

^ was born in "West Amesbury, Massachu-

setts, October 16, 1823, in the house in which

his father and great grandfather had been born

before him. The building is still standing,

over 200 years old. John S. Morse, the father

of Ephraim, held many of the offices of public

trust in his native town. The family originally

were from England. Ephraim'e mother, Han-

nah Weed, was also a native of Amesbury, as

was her father, Ephraim Weed, who was town

clerk there for many years, as well as his son

after hiin.

In 1849 Mr. Morse joined a company of 100

persons, mostly his neighbors, to come to Cali-

fornia. Purchasing the ship Leonore, they sailed

from Boston February 4, and landed at San

Francisco Jnly 5. After disposing of the ship,

Mr. Morse went upon Feather river and mined

for gold until March, 1850, when he was taken

sick and returned to San Erancisco. After re-

covery lie came to San Diego on a sailing ves-

sel, in company with Levi Slack, bringing with

them a general assortment of merchandise.

They opened a store in what was then called

New San Diego, in a building which, as well as

the stock, was shipped from Boston. This

building when set up measnred 20 x 30 feet,

and they slept in the loft thereof. In the fall

of 1851 Mr. Morse went East by the way of

Central America, and married Miss Lydia A.

Gray, and returned with her to San Diego; and

while he was absent East, his partner, Mr. Slack,

was killed by the Indians. He was visiting the

hot springs at Warner's ranch, in company with

other white men, when the Indians engaged in

a revolt, and killed all of them. The Govern-

ment troops thereupon went out from San

Diego, subdued the Indians, brought back the

guilty ones, and they were hung.

Mr. Morse formed a partnership with Thomas

Whaley, whose sketch appears elsewhere, and

they kept a general supply store in one of the

old adobe houses in Old Town. Three years

afterward they divided their stock, and Mr.

Morse took his share across the street and

carried on business there alone until 1859. He
then engaged in the sheep business at Palomar,

in partnership with Joseph Smith; they culti-

vated about 100 acres of land, and kept about

3,000 sheep and 100 head of cattle. In 1861

he returned to San Diego and resumed mercan-

tile business, and also acted as agent lor Wells,

Fargo & Co., on the northwest side of the

• Plaza. In 1869 he sold out to Whaley &
Crosthwaite, and moved down to Horton's addi-

tion, and operated in real estate, mostly on his

own account, and fortune smiled upon him most

kindly. In 1870 he assisted in establishing the

first bank in San Diego County, which was

finally merged into the Consolidated Bank.

When first started, Mr. Morse was elected its

treasurer and one of the directors, and is now
vice-president of the Consolidated National

Bank, and president of the Savings Bank of

San Diego County. In company with Mr.

Pierce he built the Pierce-Morse block, and in

connection with Messrs. Whaley and Dalton, the

Morse. Whaley & Dalton block, two of the

largest and most substantial business blocks in

the city. He has built a residence on the cor-

ner of Tenth and G streets, which is a cozy and

delightful place. Oa the premises there is a

palm tree, planted in 1872, and now measuring

nine feet in circumference around the trunk.

Mr. Morse has been prominently connected
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with nearly all the public enterprises inaugurated

in San Diego; among others may be mentioned

the San Diego & Gila Kailroad Company, which

in 1856 made the first survey from Sun Diego

to the Colorado river; the San Diego & Los

Angeles Railroad Company, which made the

first railroad survey between San Diego and

Los Angeles; the Fort Yuma wagon road, built

over the Jacumba mountains at a heavy cost;

the inauguration of the enterprise which culmi-

nated in the building of the California Southern

Railroad, now a portion of the Santa Fe system;

and the San Diego Flume Company, which,

at a cost of over $1,000,000, has brought water

from the Cuyamaca mountains, fifty miles dis-

tant, to supply the city of San Diego, and for

irrigation.

Mr. Morse has been elected City Treasurer

several times; has been Justice of the Peace,

Associate Judge, City Trustee for many years,

and County Treasurer. He is a member of the

Masonic fraternity, and has been treasurer of

the lodge here for twenty-one years; is a mem-

ber of the Unitarian Church, a liberal citizen

and a useful business man.

Mr. Morse's first wife, a daughter of William

Gray, was a native of Amesbury. By that

marriage there was one child, Edward W., born

in San Diego. Mrs. Morse died, and Mr. Morse

afterward, in 1867, married Miss Mary C.

Walker, from Manchester, New Hampshire.

She is a member of the Unitarian Church, and

of the Woman's Exchange and Ladies' Annex

to the Chamber of Commerce.

- -i^mm^—
WILLIAM GOLDBAUM is -me of the

leading merchants of Oceanside. He
was born in Grabow, Prussia, July 12,

1855. His father, L. Goldbaum, is a commis-

sion merchant at that place. His mother,

Rebecca (Marks) Goldbaum, was born in Prus-

sia. They were the parents of seven children,

six of whom are living: four of them now re-

side in this vicinity—two in Oceanside and two

in San Luis Rey. Mr. Goldbaum was educaated

at a college in Ostrowo, and when through with

college he became clerk in a wholesale shawl

and silk store, where he remained five years.

In 1877 he came to San Luis Rey, California,

where he remained for seven years, and clerked

for several different stores. He was clerk

for his brother for four years, but in 1887

he bought his brother out and continued the

store at San Luis Rey, and also opened another

general merchandise store in Oceanside, both of

which he is still running, and numbers among
his customers the best people of the city, and

enjoys a good business, his trade extending

several miles out of the city. He resides at

Oceanside. He belongs to the Knights of

Pythias, to the Odd Fellows, and also to the En-

campment. His brother Albert has charge of

the store at San Luis Rey, and his brother,

Max is with him in the store at Oceanside.

Their stock fills a double store. They are good
business men and have been quite successful.

t . >< > .

fDWARD W. BUSHYHEAD, one of the

most prominent pioneers of Southern

California, was born in Cleveland, Ten-

nessee, March 2, 1832, the son of Rev. Jesse

Bnshyhead, a Baptist minister. His grand-

father was a Cherokee Indian, whose Eng
lish name was Bnshyhead. The maiden name
of his mother, a native of Tennessee, was Eliza

Wilkerson.

The subject of this sketch began to learn the

printers' trade in 1844, working in the Indian

Territory and at Fort Smith, Arkansas. In

1850 he crossed the plains to California, stop-

ping near Placerville, El Dorado County, where

he engaged in mining, and a year afterward

removed to Tuolumne County, and followed min

ing there for two years, and afterward in Cala-

veras County. In the latter place he engaged

in printing until 1868, when he came to San

Diego, bringing with him the printing-office

material, with which was started the San Diego
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Union. Soon afterward it was purchased and

published about one year by C. P. Taggart and

Mr. Bushyhead. Then Mayor Gunn bought

Mr. Taggart's interest, and the company estab-

lished the daily edition. In 1873 Mr. Bushy-

head sold hi6 interest also to Mayor Gunn, made

a visit to the East, and then worked on the

Union here until 1875, when he was appointed

Deputy Sheriff. This office he held until 1882,

when he was elected Sheriff by the Republican

party. He was re-elected in 1884: was nomi-

nated both times by acclamation.

He is now a member of the printing firm of

Gould, Hutton & Co., having purchased an

interest in their business July 1, 1889. He
became an Odd Fellow in 1864; and he is also

a Knight Templar. He built his residence at

number 1146, corner of Third and Cedar streets.

Was married in 1876 to Mrs. Helen C. Nichols,

who was born in the State of New York August

13, 1839. Mr. Bushyhead is a hard worker, a

generous man and a warm-hearted friend.

: :'•;!>}•:#> «=^—-

fRAFFI was born at Fontana Chiosa, Italy,

November 11, 1845, his parents being
a natives of Italy. Being an enterprising

boy he left his native country at the age of

twenty-one years and came to America, landing

at New York and starting immediately for the

Isthmus, taking the steamer from there to San

Francisco, where he landed after a comfortable

voyage. He found friends there and with them

went to Colterville, Mariposa County, where he

followed placer mining, at which he met with

no more than reasonable success. In 1868 he

left the mines and went to Snelling, where he

entered service as clerk, but after two years

he went to San Diego city and immediately

opened a grocery and fruit store on the plaza,

changing his location as the city advanced and

improved until 18S3, when he came to his pres-

ent stand at 557 Fifth street. He carries a

stock of fine groceries, valued at about $8,000.

Mr. Rafti married Mary Verlague April 8,

1882. She is a native of France, but then

resided in San Diego. They have three chil-

dren, two daughters and one son. Names in

order of birth being: Italie, August and Eliza-

beth.

fHOMAS HOGUE was born in Greenville,

Georgia, February 29, 1824. His father,

Jonathan N. Hogue, was a native of Scot-

land, and settled in New Baltimore, Maryland,

and from there removed to Georgia. His

mother, Sarah (Brady) Hogue, was born in

Philadelphia. They had a family of twelve

children, of whom the subject of this sketch

was the youngest. He was educated by his

father, who was a school teacher. After his edu-

cation was completed he removed to Arkansas,

where he was a farmer and carpenter for awhile,

and in 1852 he started across the plains for

Placerville. He got there in the spring of

1853 and engaged in mining, which he followed

for five or six years. He found plenty of gold

and took out for his interest $35,000 in five

months. He still retains interests in the mines.

He then engaged in the photograph business.

He was in San Francisco at the time of the

Vigilant Committee, and took pictures of the

prisoners for them. At that time Judge Terry

was in prison for stabbing a man and his picture

was taken along with the rest. Mr. Hogue

went from there to the Sandwich Islands and

took many views of the scenery, and sold them

in San Francisco for a large sum of money.

At this time his health became impaired by the

chemicals and he quit the business. He then

ipec u I ited in mines in Australia, Nevada. An
independent company volunteered their services

to the United States to operate against the In-

dians. Captain Vasha was their captain. He was

a nephew of Colonel Dave Buel of Nevada. Mr.

Hogue was in the service about eighteen months.

In returning to his ranch, and while quite near

it crossing the creek he was shot by the Indians.

The ball entered his side, tore its way up
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through the ribs breaking them badly and came

out at the shoulder. Mr. Hogue has it yet.

The men on the ranch came to his rescue and

lie was saved. He was laid up for six or seven

months, and the pieces of bone were months in

coming out of his side. He came to San Diego

in 1869, and bought 160 acres of land, and es-

tablished a stage station. He retained it for

two years and then sold it. He then moved

into San Diego and bought a saloon, which he

kept for several years, and then sold it and kept

a warehouse on the coast about seven miles

from Oceanside for W. W. Stewart. He was

there four years and over, and during that time

took up a Government claim of 169 acrep, per-

fected his title, and afterward sold it, and has

since retired from business. He came to Ocean-

side in 1887 and bought several half blocks,

and built the house in which he now resides.

He became an Odd Fellow in 1851. He has

been a member of the San Diego Fire Com-
pany and has held all the offices of the com pany,

and is now a member of the tire company of

Oceanside. He is a member of the Pioneer

Society of San Diego. He has recently been

on a visit to a brother and sister in Texas,

whom he had not seen for thirty-six years.

This brother and sister and their children are

the only survivors of the family. Mr. Hogue
is now in comparatively good health.

R THOMAS DOCKING, of San Diego,

was born in Brigg, Lincolnshire, England,

July 12, 1826. His father, Richard Dock-

ing, was a native of Milden Hall, Suffolk, En

gland, born in 1791. He was a journeyman

miller of high reputation. His grandfather,

Thomas Docking, who was born in Linden Hall,

Suffolk, England, was a lime manufacturer,

tog kilns. He left record of

straightforward honesty. He had three sons

in the British army. Dr. Docking's father

married Miss Taylor, who also was born in 1791,

in Linden Hall. They were shop-keepers and

both belonged to the Church of England at

first and afterward became Wesleyan Meth-

odists. They had seven children, of whom the

subject of this sketch was the second.

Dr. Docking earned the money for his small

book education himself, and at fourteen years

of age had charge of a flour windmill. When

sixteen years old he had finished his book-edu-

cation, and at eighteen years of age he went to

Australia in charge of emigrants as surgeon.

Falling in with a captain there who had a work

and a chest of homeopathic remedies, he thought

it to be a ridiculous outfit, but promised to try

them on himself, and soon after, being taken

violently ill with red dysentery, he thought he

would die on the way home. At 1:00 o'clock

a. m., he took a globule, and at 8: 00 o'clock

the same morning he found the difficulty

checked, with some fever remaining. He took

a similar dose of another remedy, and at 4:00

p. m., he was out visiting his patients. Thence

forward he began practicing homeopathy. Ln

1860 he returned to England and prosecuted his

medical studies at a university college and hos-

pital, critically comparing homeopathy with al-

lopathy in the hospitals of London, Edinburgh

and St. Andrews, Scotland. He finally received

ten diplomas from leading institutions in Great

Britain and America, which now ornament the

walls of his office at San Diego, in which city

he has been practicing for three years. He

aided in the organization of the Homeopathic

Medical Society of San Diego, and is now its

secretary and treasurer; he is also a member of

American Institute of Homeopathy. He

has been a Sunday-school scholar and teacher

both in the Church of England and among the

Wesleyans. In 1850 he joined the Sweden-

borgian Church at Milden Hall, helping to form

a new church there, becoming a local minister

and remaining with them until 1860, when he

came to California, for the purpose of investi-

gating Spiritualism. After giving it close study

for ten years, he now thanks God that he is not

a so-called Spiritualist, as he cannot agree with

the Spiritualists in regard to the source of the
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peculiar phenomena they produce. He is now

a member of the Theosophical Society of Uni-

versal Brotherhood, and is president of the

society. The Doctor has been a life-long stu-

dent of men, creeds and books. The motto

which he has posted in his office is, "Self not

wanted here." His medical registration cer-

tificate reads: " M. D., St. And: 1868 L. R.

C. P. Ediuburg, 1867. L. Med: Edinburg,

1867. L. S. A., Lon: 1868. M. R. C. S.,

Eng: 1866." The Doctor is also a mem-

ber ot the orders of Foresters, Odd Fellows,

both English and American, Janissaries of

Light and Free Masons.

At the age of eighteen years he married Miss

Mary Ann Wright, who was born in 1818, and

by that marriage there was one daughter, who

was born September 2, 1847, named Mary

Susan, and married John Wilson of Edinburgh,

Scotland, in 1873; and they have one son and

two daughters still living. Mr. Wilson is a

master printer, having an office of his own.

f
EDWARD BOND, a native of North

Brookfield, Massachusetts, was born

9 December 3, 1843. His father, Thomas

Bond, was born in the same place, September

20, 1814. The following is the descent of the

family: Jonas Bond resided at Bury, St. Ed-

mund, Suffolkshire, England, and died August

5, 1601. His son, Thomas, was baptized Sep-

tember 8, 1597, and was a malster of Bury, St.

Edmund. His son, William, was baptized Sep-

tember 8, 1625. When a young man he emi-

grated to Watertown, Massachusetts, where he

was highly respected by his fellow-citizens, and

held many offices in both town and colonial

government; he died December 14, 1695. His

son Thomas was born December 23, 1654, and

resided at Watertown, Massachusetts; he died

December 17, 1704. His son Thomas was born

April 29, 1683, resided at Watertown, Massa-

chusetts, and died May 17, 1737. His son

Jonathan, born November 7, 1710, resided at

Watertown, Waltham and Westboro; he was a

lieutenant in the militia, and died January 11,

1789. His son Thomas was born in Waltham,

January 30, 1739; he was a farmer and removed

to North Brookfield, Massachusetts, where he

died. His son Amo s, bom February 1,1774

was a farmer and resided at North Brookfield

;

he died January 22, 1848. His son, Thomas,

was born September 20, 1814, and was married

November 26, 1838, to Miss Nancy Burnett,

daughter of Dr. Nichols and Betsey Jenks; he

resided in North Brookfield, Middleboro, East

Brookfield and Boston, and was a merchant ami

manufacturer the greater part of his life. He
was elected to many offices of trust, and honor,

and represented his district in the Legislature

for one term.

The following is the line of descent on his

mother's side: The British line of Jenks is

traced back to the IV Royal Tribe of Wales,

Elystan Glodrydd, its head and Prince of Ferlix.

He was born in A. D. 927, and knighted 983.

Several changes were made in the name by royal

orders, knightage, etc., until in 1350 it became

Jenks, and continues so until the present time

in England. Joseph Jenks, born in 1632, at

Colebrook, Buckinghamshire, England, emi-

grated about 1650, to Lynn. Massachusetts. He

soon removed to and founded Pawtncket, Rhode

Island, where he erected an iron forge, which was

burned by the Indians in King Philip's war.

He was a prominent man in the Colonial Gov-

ernment and died January 4, 1717. His son,

William, born in 1674, was the first Chief Jus-

tice of Providence County Court. His son

Jonathan was born in 1707. At the commence-

ment of the Revolutionary war he removed to

North Brookfield, Massachusetts, and died

April 1, 1781. His son Nicholas resided at

North Brookfield, and his son Nicholas, born

February 4, 1785, was a physician and resided

in North Brookfield, Sturbridge and Middle-

boro, Massachusetts, where he died. His

daughter, Nancy Burnett, was born July 2,

1817, and married Thomas Bond, November

26, 1838.
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Mr. Bond received his education at the public

schools; he was one year and a halt' at Pierce

Academy, Massachusetts, and when through

with school went into the office of J. G. Chase,

chief engineer of the city of Cambridge, Mas-

sachusetts. He entered the employ of Martin

L. Bradford, who had the largest cutlery and

fancy hardware establishment in Boston ; he

remained here two and one-half years, when he

he engaged in the railroad business with the

Central Vermont Railroad as advertising agent,

and afterward custom-house agent. He was

also ticket agent for the company for twenty

years. In 1878 he waR appointed American

agent for Henry Gaze & Son, the leading tour-

ist agents of Europe. In 1879 he sent over one

party numbering 358, chartering the entire

capacity of the Anchor Line steamer, and in

each subsequent year sent large parties of Amer-

icans all over Europe, some to Bulgaria, some to

China, and to all parts of Continental Europe.

For these tours he made itineraries, which

showed the actual time of starting of each con-

veyance for six months in advance, showing the

tourist where they would be every day of the

entire tour. In 1879, while in London, he made

arrangements with the firm of F. Firth & Co.,

the largest firm of English photographers, for

the sale of their photographs, consisting of

everything in the scenic and artistic line, in

America; he also made arrangements with six

of the leading Continental photographers.

Aftei carrying on this business for three years

he sold out. He was married October 8, 1868,

to Miss Mary Louisa Dean, of Boston, who was

born at Chelsea, Massachusetts, November 2,

1841. She was the daughter of Samuel B.

Dean and Augusta A. (Jones) Dean. The grand-

parents of Samuel B. and the parents of Au-

gusta A. were English, and emigrated to Amer-

ica in early life. The union was blessed with

two children: John A., born August 7, 1869, in

Boston, and Carl F., born in Newton Center,

Massachusetts, February 16, 1876. Mr. Bond
is an excellent citizen of Oceanside, and has

a beautiful home commanding a view of the

ocean, mountains and surrounding country, as

far as the eye can reach in every direction.

He is a man of large business capacity, and is

connected with the San Luis Rey Water Com-
pany.

fAVE J. COUTS, Jr., a native of Califor-

nia, was born on the Gua Joine ranch,

situated eight miles east of Oceanside,

June 5, 1856. The biography of his father,

Colonel Cave J. Couts, appears in this history.

The education of Cave J., Jr., was first by

private tutor on the ranch. He was then at

school at Los Angeles for three years, and then

attended the Southwestern Presbyterian Uni-

versity at Clarksville, Tennessee, taking the

classical course as well as a common course in

civil engineering, passing his final examinations

in 1874 with marks of distinction. He then

returned home and began the practice of his

profession in 1877 at Los Angeles, as assistant

to Michael Kellehar, who was then City En-
gineer. He has also been largely connected

with railroad work with the California Southern

and Sonthern Pacific, and in the interests of the

latter road assisted in surveying a line from
Yuma to Port Isabel, under the management of

Colonel Chalmers Scott. In 1883 he accom-
panied Colonel Scott to Central America in the

interests of the same road, and in 1884 was
resident engineer of the Salvador Central Rail-

way, and was also the accredited representative

for the Central American Pacific Railway and

Transportation Company in the city of San Sal-

vador, remaining in Central America until Oc-

tober, 1884, when he was driven out by yellow

fever, and was the only one in five who re-

covered and reached home. In 1885 he laid

out and subdivided the ranch of A. J. Myesr,

upon which is now built the city of Oceanside.

Mr. Couts is now the only United States Deputy

Surveyor in San Diego County.

He was married in January, 1887, to Miss

Lily Bell Clemens, a lineal descendent of John
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Mullanphy, who was one of the pioneers and

founders of St. Louis, Missouri, a noted philan-

thropist who established many homes and hos-

pitals in that city. Mr. and Mrs. Gouts have

one son, Cave J., born October 15, 1887. Mr.

Couts has a pleasant home at San Diego, and

also owns a ranch of 160 acres within one mile

of his birthplace, where he passes much of his

time.

&&&+*

tNDREW BERGLAND, a member of the

Society of San Diego Pioneers and of the

Santa Clara Pioneers, was born in the

county of Torp, province of "Wester Norland,

in the Kingdom of Sweden, July 27, 1817. son

of Alexander and Greta (Svidin) Bergland.

The latter died in 1832, aged fifty-two years;

the former, a Russian by birth, was born in

Moscow about 1756, and died in Torp at the

advanced age of about ninety-two years. He
had been in early life a soldier in the Russian

army, and was taken captive. He had, by his

wife Greta, six children, viz.: Olof Peter, de-

ceased; Lars, who is living in Galesburg, Illi-

nois, the father of a family; Johannes, whose

whereabouts is unknown, and the youngest;

Andrew, the subject of this sketch; Anna
Brita, a widow, residing in Galesburg, Illinois;

Christina Katrina, wife of Nelson Newquist,

residing in Kansas.

Andrew, subject of this sketch, lived on his

father's farm, situated about 300 miles north of

Stockholm, till he was sixteen. In 1834 he

went to Stockholm and learned the brick- laying

trade. While there a violent religious excite-

ment was in progress. The Lutheran Church

was under the fostering care of the State, and

many abuses had crept in until the people

groaned under the oppression. The movement

was headed by a man named George Johnson,

who was a man of great force and eloquence.

He soon had a large following of dissenters

from the established religion, who wanted their

liberty to worship as they saw fit, and would

not be compelled to belong to and contribute to

the State church. Bergland joined the dissent-

ers, notwithstanding the fact that they were

greatly persecuted. Like all reformers, they

stuck closely to the literal interpretation of the

Bible: if a man possessed two coats, he must

give his brother one; if he had defrauded any

man, he must restore four-fold. The persecu-

tion became so heavy that in 1845-'47 fully

2,000 dissenters sought refuge in the United

States. One vessel with 150 souls on board

sunk in the Atlantic ocean, and all perished.

Mr. Bergland, in company with a large colony,

left Guttenburg, Sweden, December 18, 1846,

on the barque Augusta, Captain Landberg, and

landed at pier No. 4, New York city, in May,

1847. They made their way to Chicago, and

settled in the Swedish colony at Bishop Hill,

Henry County, Illinois, in May, 1847. Here

Mr. Bergland was married, June 4, 1848, to

Miss Kate Salin, who was born in 1832. They

removed to Galesburg, Illinois, which was their

home till 1863.

In 1850 Mr. Bergland started for California

via the Platte river, Salt Lake and Humboldt

river. Having been in America only three

years, he could not speak the English language

very well. The company with which he was

traveling contained a rough element, and he

suffered considerable ill-treatment at their hands:

accordingly he decided to leave the company and

start on ahead. He traded a blanket to an In-

dian for a horse, and started once more on his

journey. In one of the trains that passed him

there was an American that claimed his horse,

saying that it had been stolen from him by the

Indians. Another train came along and sided

with Bergland, and it was finally decided that

it should be put to a vote. The friends of the

American ranged themselves in a row along-

side, and those who took Bergland's part went

over to him. The American had just one more

vote than Bergland, and won the horse. This

left Bergland on the plains 500 miles and alone,

but he started along on foot courageously. He
tramped briskly on, and on the 25th of July he
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arrived at the 6ink of the Humboldt river, with

a sixty-mile desert to cross. He waited till

evening and set out at 5 o'clock, arriving at

Carson river at 11 a. m. next day. At Carson

river he had but $1 in his pocket, and was ex-

ceedingly tired and hungry. He met a Mormon
who had killed an ox, and tried to buy some

meat of him. All that was left of the animal

were parts of the fore legs, which was freely

given him. He got a camp kettle, put the

meat in it, and set it over a fire to boil while

he slept. He did not waken till 9 o'clock that

evening. The bones and what little meat was

on them had boiled down to a jelly; famished

by his long fast, he set to and Deverdid he taste

a sweeter soup. From this point he walked

250 miles in five days, to Hangtown. His

clothing consisted of a dilapidated plug hat,

one shirt and a pair of trousers. His feet were

sore and bleeding from the long tramp. The

day after his arrival, August 1, 1850, lie went

to work in the mines. He soon left there and

went to San Francisco, where he refused an offer

of $18 a day to go to work at brick-laying.

With a party of twelve men he hired a team

and drove clear around the head of the bay via

San Mateo, Santa Clara and San Jose. There

were very few houses between 'Frisco and Santa

Clara. His companions cursed the country as

being dry and barren, fit only for gophers,

squirrels and greasers; calling attention to the

ground-squirrel as he sat upright by his hole in

a prayerful attitude, they said that even the ani-

mals were Catholics. Bergland called attention

to the soil, grasses, brush and timber, predict-

ing that the time would come when its agri-

cultural resources would sustain a dense popula-

tion. They laughed him to scorn, and wanted

to know "what a d—d Dutchman knew about

it, anyway." Fourteen years after, as Mr. Berg-

land sat in a railroad car, riding from San Fran-

cisco to San Jose, he felt gratified at the fulfil-

ment of hi6 predictions. The party went to

Alameda, where they hired a boat to ferry them
across the bay to San Francisco for $10. He
then went to Diamond Spring and mined for

awhile. In 1851 he returned to his home in

Galesburg. In 1863 he, with his family, left

the East for California via New York and

Panama. From San Francisco they went to

Portland. Oregon, but soon returned to San

Jose, where they bought property and settled.

In 1868 he came to San Diego, and brought

his family in 1869. In 1869 he took a cruise

in the yacht Kestless, Captain Niles, along the

coast of southern California, as far south as

Scammon's lagoon. There were eleven men in

the party, one of them being David W. Bryant.

They were looking for gold, but failed to find

any. The trip lasted six weeks.

Mr. Bergland now makes his home in San

Diego. He is the father of six children, three

of whom are dead. The living are: Hannah
Katrina, wife of Alexander Young, of San

Diego; Louis Davis, aged thirty-six, and Charles

Edwin, thirty jears of age.

In politics Mr. Bergland was at first a Demo-
crat, voting for Cass, and then Fierce. Then
he became a Republican, and has voted for all

their candidates, from Fremont down to Harri-

son. He is a Knight Templar Mason, and was

a member of the Galesburg Commandery. He
was one of the founders of the Santa Clara

County Pioneers. Although in Sweden he

joined the dissenters, he is not now a member
of any church.

fOSEPH SAMUEL MANNASSE, a pio-

neer of San Diego, was born in Filahnaj

Prussia, August 3, 1831, son of Samuel,

who lived and died at Filahna, and Lona (Jacobs)

Mannasse, who was born at Czarnikan, Prussia.

They had four sons and three daughters, of whom
Mr. Mannasse was the eldest. After finishing,

his school education, he served three years as

an apprentice at the furrier and cap trade, and

then earned a salary of $20 per year. After

serving two years he was given charge of the

whole business of the establishment, and with

twenty-five men und_er him and his pay in-
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creased to $50 per annum. "When nineteen

years of age he sailed for America and landed

in New York, October 15, 1850. He had but

$1 Jeft on his arrival. On walking down Wall

street and seeing the sign of a cap maker, he

entered the shop of Eddy Brothers and asked

for work. They gave him employment at once.

He saved $75 out of his first year's wages.

After a year or two they promoted him to the

position of cutter manager. He remained with

them until May 1, 1853, when he sailed for

California on the steamer Star of the West, by

way of Nicaragua. He was obliged to remain

six weeks on the Isthmus awaiting transporta-

tion. Finally he took passage on the steamer

Pacific, with a large number of others. They

arrived at San Diego on Sunday, May 28, 1853.

Mr. Mannasse, with others, came on shore and

visited the old town of San Diego. He little

thought at the time that it would be his future

home. The same evening the steamer sailed

for San Francisco. He was not as well pleased

with San Francisco as he expected, and after

remaining there a month he returned to San

Diego, June 28, 1853. With a capital of about

$200 he started a general merchandise store.

There were then sixteen stores in the old town;

this was a room in an adobe building, about

8x12 feet. He bought a large dry-goods box

of Hinton & 'Raymond lor $2, and made a shelf

and a counter. The next day he invested the

remainder of his capital in dry goods, etc.; his

first day's sale amounted to $98. His trade

gradually increased and he enlarged his faci.ities

and soon had acommodious store. He did busi-

ness on that ground for nearly twenty years. In

1856 M. Schiller became a partner, and in 1868

they started a lumber yard at the foot of Atlan-

tic and E streets, carrying on the mercantile

business at the same time.

Tom Scott began his railroad in 1870, and

the demand for lumber was very brisk. They

had also become owners of a large ranch

which was heavily stocked. That was the year

of the drouth, and in order to save their stock

they drove it down into Lower California. The

dry season had a disastrous effect on everything.

It wat largely instrumental in causing the col-

lapse of the railroad boom and ruined a great

many ranches. It was very hard on the firm

of Mannasse & Schiller, but they weathered

the storm, although they lost about $100,000 in

various amounts, all of which is now on their

books. Since then Mr. Mannasse has been in

various kinds of business, with different degrees

of success. At onetime he claims that he was

so badly off that there was only one firm in San

Diego that would give him credit for a sack of

flour.

Mr. Mannasse was one of the principal

movers in establishing the Poor Farm and Hos-

pital. He was three times elected on the Dem-

ocratic ticket as a city trustee, and three times

Supervisor of the county. He worked early and

late to secure the building of the present rail-

road, and has also been interested in wharf and

other enterprises. He has always been a liberal

man, ever ready to help in every public event.

He now owns a good deal of city property and

country estate, and also has large interests in

live-stock. His principal business now is that

of broker and collector.

Mr. Mannasse was married in 1867 to Miss

Hannah Schiller, sister of his partner. They

have one daughter, Cilita, born December 8

1868.

#^"S^#

fRANK A. JONES, of Oceanside, is a na

tiveof Goshen, Stark County, Illinois, born

January 5, 1863. His father, J. M. Jones,

born in Ohio in 1836, was a pioneer in Goshen,

where he was engaged in the saddle and harness

business, and had resided there for thirty-five

years. He was a prominent temperance worker

and was a representative prohibitionist* of his

county. For many years he held the office of

school trustee and had also been president of

the village. Our subject's mother, Catherine

(Atherton) Jones, born in Hancock County,

Illinois, in 1841, was a daughter of Milton
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Atherton, who resided there and was a land-

owner and fanner. She was married to Mr.

Jones February 14, 1861, and had a family of

two children: Nellie A., the oldest child, mar-

ried Frank Quinn, who is a farmer and stock-

raiser in Stark County, Illinois; and Frank A.,

the subject of this sketch. He was sent to the

public school of his town, and from there went

to Kewanee Academy for over one year. He
then attended the Dixon Normal School and

Business College. He learned the harness busi-

ness with his father and afterward engaged in

the railway service, and was clerk and telegraph

operator over two years in Peoria, Illinois.

After this he was employed in the Santa Fe

general offices at Topeka, Kansas, in the auditing

department. In September, 1886, he came to

California and took charge of the Temecnla

Station for eight months. "When the railroad

was built to Oceanside he was put in charge of

the station and has continued in it up to the

present time. Mr. Jones is a charter member
of both the Odd Fellows and Knights of Pythias,

of which latter order he is the Chancellor Com-
mander. He has invested several thousand

dollars in residence and business lots in Ocean-

side, is a partner in the Oceanside Brick Com-
pany, and is a young man of good business

habits and ability.

He married Florence Croff, a native of Min-
nesota, February 23, 1890.

fOHN H. MYERS, the owner of the St.

Cloud Hotel, Oceanside, was born in La
Salle County, Illinois, December 31, 1834.

His father, John Myers, of Illinois, was a mill

owner, both saw and flouring mills. His mother
was Ellen (Hayes) Myers. They had a family

of ten children, of which the subject of this

sketch was the fifth. When only four years of

age the family removed to Missouri and re-

mained there six years, when they returned to

Illinois. In 1850, when only sixteen years of

age, he came to Hangtown, Placer County, Cali-

fornia. He arrived there August 27, 1850, and

engaged in mining, with good success, for four

years. He then opened a little store of miners'

supplies. He removed from there in 1884 and

went to a place twenty-one miles from Stock-

ton, where he located a Government claim of

160 acres of land and built a hotel. In less than

a year he sold out and became a teamster for a

year. He next went to Tulare County and then

went back to the mines. He settled at Fine

Gold Gulch, where he engaged in the butchery

business and remained there about a year, when
he returned to Stockton and became a contractor

and worked on the construction of the asylum.

Soon afterward he returned to Tulare County,
and from there went to Los Angeles County
and engaged in buying stock and driving it to

Tulare County. He continued in this business

until 1880 and then removed to the Sweetwater,

fifteen miles east of San Diego, and took a Gov-
ernment claim of 160 acres. Then he went to

Los Angeles County, and from there to Phoenix,

Marecopa County, then to Tombstone. While
at the latter place he located another Govern-
ment ranch. His nearest neighbor was six miles

on one side and fifteen miles on the other.

During all this time he was a stock-raiser and
mined at intervals. After this he went to Los
Angeles and took the contract for sprinkling the

streets. In December, 1885, he came to Ocean-
side and opened a restaurant and hotel. In 1887
he built his present brick hotel. It is 48 x 50
feet, three stories high. It is substantially built

and well designed to accommodate the traveling

public. It contains thirty commodious rooms.

Both Mr. and Mrs. Myers give it their per-

sonal attention, and see to the comfort of their

guests. Mr. Myers was ma, ried to Miss Isabel

Stroud in 1875. She was born in Texas in 1858.

Her father, Samuel Stroud, was a soldier in the

war with Mexico, and was also a member of the

Sixteenth Texas Volunteers in the Southern
army all through the war and received no injury.

Mr. and Mrs. Myers have four children: Levi

Jackson, born in Los Angeles County, April 25,

1876; Mable, born in the same place, February
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8, 1879; Mand, born in Tombstone, Arizona,

March 9, 1881, and Lester Allen, January 23,

1890, at Oceanside. Mr. Myers was Sheriff of

Mariposa County for one year, and was a mem-

ber of the Common Council of Los Angeles two

years. In 1832 his father was in the Indian

war and had the honor of killing the Indian

chief, Stallion Panther, which resulted in bring-

ing the war to a close. In 1853, with a party

of fifteen, Mr. Myers had the honor of being the

first white man ever in Yosemite valley. They

followed a party of Indians, and fought seventy-

five warriors, burned down all their camps and

killed twenty-five, driving them all out of the

valley, after which white people settled there.

Mr. Myers, when quite a hoy, fought and killed

a large California lion with rocks while his

hunting dog and the lion were fighting. The

lion measured nine feet, and his skin was sent

to San Francisco for one of the largest drug

stores in the city.

fMIL H. BOSCHER, of San Diego, is a

native of Germany, being born in Urlau,.

Wuerttenberg, February 26, 1844, a son of

Thaddeus B., a physician, and Josephine (Mil-

ler) Boscher. In 1859 the family emigrated to

America, locating in Milwaukee, Wisconsin.

Emil was the second son in a family of three

children. In 1861 he went to St. Louis, Mis-

souri, and enlisted in the Light Artillery Bat-

talion of Missouri Volunteers; took part in the

battle of Carthage, Missouri, under General F.

Siegel. Returning to Mt. Vernon he was mus-

tered out, on account of expiration of time of

service. "While he was in the army his father

died, and, his mother and sister being dependent

on him, he returned to Milwaukee, where he

learned the drug business, remaining three years,

when he went to Chicago, faithfully serving in

his profession aleo three years. In 1867 he

came to San Francisco and went from there to

Portland, Oregon, and remained one year in

the drug business there; then returning to San

Francisco, he took charge of one of the most

prominent pharmacies in that city for five years.

In 1873 he located in Stockton, California, car-

rying on a successful drug business on his own

account, for thirteen years. Hearing of the

rapid growth of San Diego and its wonderful

climate, he sold his drug store and opened in

San Diego, corner of Fifth and H streets, one of

the most elaborate and complete pharmacies in

the State of California, where, by business in-

tegrity and competency, he is now the leader of

his profession.

Mr. Bosher is a member of the G. A. R.,

Knights of Pythias, Knights of Honor and

Ancient Order of Foresters of America.

In 1873 he was married in San Francisco to

Miss Ida Weil, a lady of great refinement and

culture.

fOSEPH JACOB, one of Oceanside's most

conservative merchants, is a young mai^

twenty, five years of age. His life's career

is a verification of the old adage that " man

proposes and God disposes." He was born in

1865, under the French flag. At five years of

age his peaceful childhood was disturbed by the

sight of vast German and French armies, and

one year later his father, Alexander Jacob, an

old resident, had to swear allegiance to his

majesty, the Emperor of Germany. Mr. J.

Jacob attended the first German school estab-

lished in the conquered country, and proved

himself always first among his fellow school-

mates as a scholar. Under the advice of his

teacher he entered the High School of Searburg,

where he made rapid strides toward the highest

classes, -.and enjoyed a yearly income (stipend-

ium) paid by the Government, l'or best scholar-

ship. All was looking auspiciously, and his

ambition was to become soon efficient enough to

enter the military school, preparatory to enter-

ing the army as an officer of the artillery corps,

but the sudden death of his beloved mother

forced him to relinquish all iuture plans, and
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instead of entering the German army of officers

he entered the American army of merchants,

by landing in June, 1884, in Phoenix, Arizona,

washing dishes, cleaning horses, and keeping

books, simultaneously, for his uncle, M. Worm-
ser, a grain merchant of the above place, who

has been engaged in business for the past twenty-

five years. After eighteen months' steady work

Mr. Jacobs thought best to leave for San Fran-

cisco, where he secured a position as clerk and

remained there for eighteen months; but, not-

withstanding fair wages, his bank account kept

shrinking, and hearing of the boom in San

Diego left for that city, determined to steer

his own ship thereafter. After three weeks in-

vestigation he located in Oceanside, a thriving

and most inviting village by the sea. In com-

pany with D. Jacob, a cousin, residing in San

Francisco, Mr. Jacob opened up the first full-

stocked general merchandise store in town, and

started to do business with a view of staying

permanently with the place and to grow up with

the country. He has been successful from the

start, made money during two years of the

boom, and still holds the commanding position

of the business in the town. Mr. Jacob speaks

English with remarkable fluency; also, French,

German and Spanish languages, and his cosmo

politan trade appreciates his ability in a substan-

tial manner. He is secretary of the Odd Fel-

lows lodge of the town, aad enjoys the respect

of the whole community for his integrity and

the successful management of his business.

—#s^3-^#

fEORGE H. BROD IE. of Oceanside, was

born in London, England, September 14,

1835. His father, Samuel F. Brodie, was

English, and hie mother Scotch. Both his father

and mother died when he was quite young and

for a time he lived with his grandmother.

What education he received was mostly before

he was ten years old. After that age he began

to earn his own living as an errand boy in a cork

cutting establishment. He was apprenticed to

the baking business in Abingdon, Berkshire,

England, for five years, without pay, but de-

cided not to stay his time out and went back to

London and worked two years in the govern-

ment iron works for the arsenal. In 1856 he

came to the United States. He landed at New
York and soon engaged in work at his bakery

business. He was there two years. He then

went to Canada, but decided not to remain there

and came back and worked in New York city

nearly a year. Next he went over to Brooklyn,

and then to Newburyport, Massachusetts, and

worked there three years. From there he went

to Fortress Monroe, Virginia, where he worked
in the I. G. Hotel a year, and then went to the

Bates House, Indianapolis. In 1869 he went
to Independence, Kansas, where he opened and

conducted a store for seven years, when he sold

out. He then went to Galena, Kansas, and en-

gaged in prospecting in the lead mines for two

years. In December, 1879, he went to Downey,
Los Angeles County. California, and bought a

ranch on which he made improvements and
lived for four years, when he sold it and came
to Oceanside, in April, 1886. The railroad had

just been built. He bought lots and built his

store and owns and runs the only bakery in

the city of Oceanside.

He was married in August, 1860, to Miss

Mary A. Shey, a native of New York city, born

in 1837. She was a daughter of Judge Bryant

Shey. They had a family of seven children,

all living, viz.: Lizzie, born in Port Chester,

New York, in 1861, is married to Rev. O. L.

Snow, of Santa Barbara; Anna B., born in New-
buryport, Massachusetts, in 1864, is married to

Mr. Charles Black, a druggist, and resides at

Bakersfield, California; George W., born in In-

dianapolis, Indiana, in 1866, lives on a ranch

near Oceanside; Lillie, born in Indianapolis,

Indiana, 1868; Harry, born in Independence,

Kansas, in 1871; Freddie, born in Independence,

in 1874, and Maud, born in Independence, in

1877. Mr. Brodie was elected one of the first

members of the common council of Independ-
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ence. He is a member of the Holiness Church

of Oceanside.

B. KERBY, one of Murrietta's most

reliable business men, was born in

T^fP|o Portland, Ohio, M*rch 5, 1856. His

father, Thomas B. Kerbj, was a native of West

Virginia. His mother, Lydia (Bertly) Kerby,

was a daughter of J. H. Bertly, also of West

Virginia, and was married to Mr. Thomas B.

Kerby in 1839. Their union was blessed with

seven children, of which Mr. W. B. Kerby is

the third. He was educated in Sedalia, Mis-

souri, and when through witli school learned

railroading, and worked as operator and ticket

agent for the Missouri Pacific for ten years.

August 20, 1887, he came to Los Angeles, Cal-

ifornia, where he became bill clerk for the Santa

Fe Company. March 6, 1888 became to Murri.

etta and has had charge of the station since that

time.

He was married in Los Angeles, September,

22, 1889, to Miss Stella Miller, bom in 1869-

Mrs. Kerby is taking charge of the newly

opened hotel, the Fountain Hotel, of Murietta,

which bids fair to become a first-class one, as

the house is pleasantly situated, has good rooms

and furniture, and Mrs. Kerby knows what con-

stitutes a good table and how to serve it, They

are young people of promise.

§E. HORTON.—It was the boast of Au-

gustus Csesar that he found Rome in

° brick and he should leave it in marble.

With more regard to truth might Alonzo E.

Horton, speaking in the figurative style adopted

by the Roman emperor, remark that he found

San Diego a barren waste, and to-day, as he

looks down from the portico of his beautiful

mansion on Florence Heights, he sees it a busy,

thriving city of 35,000 inhabitants. Probably

there is no other instance in the history of our

country, where great cities have grown from in-

significant beginnings, where the presence of

one man, unaided by abundant capital, has ac-

complished such wonderful results as have been

achieved by A. E. Horton in San Diego.

To understand and appreciate, however, in

its fullest sense, what Mr. Horton has accom-

plished, it is necessary to inquire into the ante-

cedents and examine the characteristics of the

man.

In the year 1635 the good ship Swallow, after

a long and tempestuous voyage across the At-

lantic, dropped her anchor in port at Hampton,

Massachusetts. Among the passengers, who
were all Puritans, was Barnabas Horton, a

native of Leicestershire, England. From him,

in the seventh generation, is descended the sub-

ject of this sketch. Alonzo Erastus Horton was

born in Union,. Connecticut, October 24, 1813.

When he was two years of age his parents re-

moved to Madison County, New York. After-

wards they took up their residence at Scriba, a

few miles from Oswego, on the shore of Lake

Ontario. Here his youth and early manhood

were passed. During this time he was clerk in

a grocery, learned the cooperage trade, and was

a sailor on the lake, finally owning and com-

manding a schooner, in which he engaged in

the grain trade between Oswego and Canada.

When he arrived at man's estate he was in

quite delicate health, and his physician pro-

nounced him consumptive, and said if he

wished to prolong his life he must go West.

Accordingly in 1836 he started for Milwaukee,

landing there in May of that year. This was

an era of speculation in the western States; it

began several years previously, and ended with

the great financial crash of 1837. While in

Milwaukee, turning his hand at whatever he

could find to do, young Horton became pos-

sessed of the information that the bills of cer-

tain Michigan banks would be received at the

land office in pa3'inent of lands at par, and

would be the equal of gold, and consequently

command a premium of 10 per cent. He had

a cash capital of $300, and, acting on his secret



HISTORY OF SAN DIEGO COUNTY. 2S5

information, lie hunted out the holders of

Michigan currency and was soon doing a brisk

exchange business. This enterprise was a finan-

cial success. He returned to New York State

soon afterwards, but the year 1840 saw him

again in Wisconsin. He bought a home in

Oakland, and married. After this for three

years he was engaged in dealing in cattle and

land, steadily adding to his little capital. He
bought a large quantity of land warrants in St.

Louis about this time, and located 1.500 acres

in Outagamie County, Wisconsin. Here he

founded the village of Hortonville, and at the

end of two years he sold out his investments at

a profit of nearly $8,000.

It was in 1851 that Mr. Horto'i made his

first journey to California. He spent a few

months in the mines, but lie soon found that he

could make more money trading in gold dust

than digging for it. In this traffic his profits

were quite large, during the last quarter of

1854 reaching as high as $1,000 a month. As

the gold dust business, however, got a little

dull, he engaged in an ice speculation. Lo-

cating some fine fields in the mountains, he cut

and disposed of 312 tons, which returned him

a profit of $8,000. He now had a comfortable

fortune for those days, and he determined on

going back home to his family. Accordingly

in the spring of 1856 we find him a passenger

on the steamer Cortez, for Panama, A few

hours after the Cortez landed her passengers at

Panama, the terrible riots broke out, in which

the natives attacked foreigners wherever found,

killing and plundering all who came in their

way. Two hundred persons from the steamer

were dining in the hotel when that building

was attacked by the mob. A general rush was

made for the upper story, where they hoped to

escape their assailants. Among all the passen-

gers only three had fire-arms, and one of these

was Horton. By common consent he was

elected to command the garrison. The natives,

who by this time had become crazy with rage

and rum, attempted to carry the staircase lead-

ing to the upper story by storm, and several of

the leaders darted up the narrow passage. At

the head of the stairs stood Horton, a revolver

in each hand, perfectly cool and collected. In

the room behind him were ten-score per-

sons, including women and children; below

were 1,000 demons, thirsting for their blood.

It was a trying moment, but Horton did not

hesitate. Those behind urged the foremost of

the assailants forward; the leader mounted an-

other step; there was a flash, a report, and he

fell back dead. Two others took his place, but

they dropped lifeless. Now the reports grew

quicker and the flashes from the revolvers told

of the sharp work being done. Horton had

emptied his own weapons and had discharged

most of the barrels of another that had been

handed to him before the rioters fell back.

Eight of their number were dead and four were

seriously wounded. But the dangers of the be-

sieged were not at an end. Although the mob
had been repulsed, they were not dispersed, and

they were still vowing vengeance upon the

passengers. The only place of safety was the

steamer. Getting his little band in compact

order, Horton, distributing the revolvers to

those whom he knew would use them judi-

ciously, started on the retreat to the landing.

This was reached in safety, though the mob
followed them closely, and had it not been for

the rare generalship displayed by Horton in

getting the party embarked on a lighter instead

of allowing them to rush, pell-mell, as they at-

tempted to, on a small tug, many must have

lost their lives. As it was, the lighter was

towed out to the steamer, and all were taken on

board in safety. Mr. Horton's baggage, con-

taining $10,000 in gold dust, was lost, having

fallen into the hands of the rioters. He saved

$5,000, which he had tied around him in a

belt.

Mr. Horton remained in Wisconsin until

1861, when he again started for the Pacific

coast, going with a party overland to British

Columbia. He spent a season in the Cariboo

mining district, and at first made money, but

their claim, which had been considered a very
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valuable one, "petered out," and they finally

disposed of it for $200 and started south. Mr.

Horton then came to San PVancisco, where he

engaged in business of different kinds with

varying degrees of success. In the early part

of 1867, at a private literary gathering one

evening, San Diego, its climate and harbor, was

the topic of discussion. He was greatly im-

pressed with what he heard. Here was the site

of a great city of the future; nature had done

her share; all that was wanting was for a man

to develop it. The voice of fate seemed to call

to Horton that this was his opportunity. He

sold out his business in three days' time, and

started on his pilgrimage southward. It was

the 6th of April, 1867, that Mr. Horton reached

Sau Diego. The few people that were settled

here then lived at Old Town, but Mr. Horton,

after looking the ground over, concluded that

the true p'ace for the city of the future, his

ideal city, was farther down the bay. He first

began the agitation of an election of city

trustees. Candidates were nominated and

elected. There was no opposition. Then Mr.

Horton had surveyed 880 acres which he de-

sired to purchase. The property was advertised

and sold at auction. There was but one bidder

(Mr. Horton), and he bid it all in at 26 cents an

acre. This property is now the main portion of

the city of San Diego. Mr. Horton then had

his "addition" platted, and started to San Fran-

cisco to dispose of it. At first he met with but

indifferent success; people were suspicions of

"Sandyago," as " John Phoenix" had dubbed

it; the general impression was, it was very hot

and was a place very congenial to the rattle-

snake. But Mr. Horton was never discouraged;

he had faith in the future. In 1867 his receipts

were $3,000; in 1869 they had increased to

$85,000. Since then the appreciation of his

property has been steady until the last two

years, when the increase has been phenomenal.

When we come to look at what Mr. Horton has

done for the city of his creation, we cannot

deny but that he has been a faithful and de-

voted parent. He has expended over $700,000

of his own capital in the improvement of San

Diego. He built the first wharf, which was

afterwards sold to the Pacific Mail Steamship

Company, who in turn disposed of it to the

present owners, the Pacific Coast Steamship

Company. He gave to each of the religious

denominations a lot for a church edifice, and

some of them are now very valuable. The lot

on which the Methodist Church building now
stands, on the corner of D and Fourth streets,

is valued at $60,000, and when the members of

the congregation look upon it they are con-

stantly reminded of Mr. Horton's munificence.

If the real estate that he has given away was

valued at the prices selling at this time (April,

1888), it would reach at least $1,000,000. In

the days of the city's infancy he gave land to

every one who he thought would improve it.

The promises made to him by the recipients of

his bounty were not, however, always fulfilled.

He gave a fine block of land to a man to build

a hotel on, but the hotel was not built. He
gave a block to a gentleman who now occupies

a high position in the federal service, and two

years afterwards- bought it back for $4,000.

He gave a block for a flour-mill, and donated

the block on which the court-house stands, to

the county. In all he gave away fourteen

blocks and innumerable lots, for the purpose of

building up the city. For three years, when

every one but him had grown discouraged, Mr.

Horton carried the town on his own shoulders,

paying salaries of officials and all the expenses

of the corporation. He was ready to help every

one who asked it of him. and married men

could always get work from him to earn a

living and support their families, when all other

employers failed them.

Personally Mr. Horton is one of the most

genial of men. He is easily approached and is

always as willing to give an attentive hearing

to the man who earns his daily bread by the

sweat of his brow, and if need be lend him a

helping hand, as to listen to the schemes of the

capitalist. Somewhat above the medium height,

with a portly frame, he is in robust health, and
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his clear eye and pleasant countenance bear tes-

timony to tbe fidelity with which lie has com-

plied with the laws of health.

(R. W. A. WINDER.—Few residents of

San Diego are better known or more highly

respected than Dr. W. A. Winder. A
veteran of two wars, his life has been an adven-

turous one. He was born in Baltimore, Mary-

land, December 5, 1824. His father was an

officer in the regular army, and the greater part

of his early boyhood was passed with his parents

at the different military posts between North

Carolina and Maine. Up to the time he was

nine years of age he attended school in North

Carolina, and then went to Baltimore, where he

continued in school until sixteen years old.

Having a fondness for medicine lie now began

to study it, and fit himself lor practice. He
attended lectures in Philadelphia. When the

Mexican war broke out he volunteered his

services, and just after the battle of Buena Vista

was commissioned a Lieutenant of Artilh py.

He served dTiring the rest of the war and con-

tinued in the service for eighteen years, resign-

ing at the close of the civil war. Just after the

Mexican war, in 1848, he was sent with part of

his regiment to Florida, to assist in quelling the

outbreak of the Seminole Indians, and he re-

mained there thirteen months.

In 1854 he sailed from New York with his

regiment, the Third Artillery, for California, on

board the ill-fated steamship San Francisco.

Thirty-six hours out of New York, when in the

Gulf stream, the ship was caught in a hurricane

and disabled. For fourteen days she drifted

about on the ocean in a helpless condition.

There were 750 soldiers and thirteen officers,

some of whom had their families, besides a num-

ber of civilian passengers. During this time

cholera broke out on board and nearly 100 died

from that dread disease. Perhaps the most

terrible of their misfortunes occurred during

the height of the storm, when an immense sea

struck the ship and carried away the upper

saloon, on which were crowded over 200 soldiers.

Finally, when hope had well-nigh given way to

despair, a vessel hove in sight, and in answer to

their signals of distress replied that she would

stand by them. The following day the sea had

gone down sufficiently to permit the transfer of

mot t of the passengers to the vessel, which
proved to be the Scotch bark Three Bells, of

Glasgow. Another vessel also came to their

assistance, ^and all were rescued before the

doomed steamer sank beneath the waves. For

his heroic conduct during those dreadful days

of trial on board the San Francisco, and the

part he took in securing the safe transfer of the

women and children to the Three Bells, Lieu-

tenant Winder was accorded a vote of thanks

by the Legislature of his native State, Mary-
laud.

He started again with his regiment for the

Pacific coast, and was sent with a detachment

to the Mission San Diego, where he remained

for three years, during which time he made ten

expeditions among Cahuila Indians, living in

the northern part of the county. At times they

displayed hostile traits^ and the presence of the

troops was necessary to prevent an outbreak.

He was then stationed at Fort Yuma for a year,

during which time that post was threatened by

Indians. During the war of the Rebellion he

served about six months in the Army of the

Potomac, commanding Battery G, Third Artil-

lery, and then was ordered to this coast and

placed in command of Alcatraz, in San Fran-

cisco harbor. There he remained three and a

half years, until the close of the war. He then

resigned his commission and entered civil life.

Soon after this he engaged in a mining venture

below Ensenada, in Lower California, for a

while, and afterward was interested in a mine

at Lyttle Creek, near San Bernardino. He then

went to Los Angeles, where he remained until

1872. In the latter year he came to San Diego,

where he has made his home ever since. He
has practiced medicine until about three years

ago, when he retired from active practice. He
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now has charge of the Marine Relief Hospital,

an institution which he lias built himself, and

is hut just completed.

Dr. Winder was married in 1850, in Ports-

mouth, New Hampshire, to the daughter of

Governor Goodwin, of that State. He has one

son, who is now a lieutenant in the navy and

attached to the United States steamer Marion.

Dr. Winder is the owner of Winder's addition.

He is a liberal-spirited citizen, and a representa-

tive man.

^
,RS. MARY J. BIRDSALL.—When the

advocates of female suffrage advance

arguments in support of their cause

they are too apt to appeal to sentiment, and to

overlook one of the most forcible arguments and

that is, the ability with which women direct

those branches of business that are popularly

supposed to fall within the special province of

men. When we find a woman who combines

executive ability with attention to detail, who

has a talent for direction as well as a faculty for

managing—who is, in fact, a thorough woman

of. business—the most ultra opponent of equal

rights to the gentler sex is apt to surrender his

opinions WT
he rind a specimen of this

stronger type of womanhood, she not only ex-

cites our admiration but commands our respect.

We admire the gifts with which nature has en-

dowed her, and respect the manner in which

6he has applied them. Among that body of

able, enterprising, and progressive pioneer resid-

ents that gave the impetus to San Diego's

growth, there is to be found the name of a wo-

man—Mrs. Mary J. Birdsall. Coming to San

Diego when it was but a hamlet, she has lived

to see it advance to a bustling, commercial city,

and by her business prescience she has been

enabled to participate in the general prosperity

that has attended its wonderful growth.

Mrs. Birdsall was born near Jefferson City,

Missouri, but was raised in Tennessee, and edu

cated at the Young Ladies' Model School in

Summerville, Tennessee. She graduated at the

age of fifteen, and within a year afterward was

married. About twenty years ago she came to

California, by way of the Isthmus, and for two

years lived in the northern part of the State.

Then, in 1870, she came to San Diego. At

that time what is now the city of San Diego

contained but a few board houses. The erec-

tion of the Horton House, the first brick build-

ing, had jnst been completed, and it gave little

promise of the great future before it. In com-

pany with her husband, Mrs. Birdsall started

the Home Restaurant on the ground where the

Commercial Hotel now stands. It was after-

ward known as the Lyon Restaurant. In

1880-'81 she kept a hotel known as the Com-

mercial, situated below the Horton House, on

the ground now occupied by the Chadbourne

Furniture Company. In 1881 she began the

erection of the fine house at present occupied

and managed by her, the Commercial Hotel, on

the corner of Seventh and I streets. It contains

115 rooms, and is admirably arranged for the

purpose for which it was designed. It is strictly

a temperance house, and no liquor has ever been

sold in it. It is especially popnlar#vith the old

residents of this section of the State. Being

cast upon her own resources, Mrs. Birdsall cul-

tivated her natural business ability, and by 6trict

attention to her duties she has acquired a most

enviable position in the community. While

directing her hotel in an admirable manner she

has, by the exercise of judicious investments,

acquired a handsome competency. Besides the

Commercial Hotel she owns considerable city

real estate and county property. During San

Diego's darkest days, Mrs. Birdsall never lost

faith in the future—her confidence in the city's

ultimate importance was unbounded.

Mrs. Birdsall has two sons and one daughter,

the latter being married. One son is a grad-

uate of St. Augustine Military College at Beni-

cia, Solano County, California, and one resides

in Arizona. Her father died here in 1880.

Mrs. Birdsall is a lady of retiring disposition,

never seeking publicity. She is, however, very
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charitable, and lias contributed liberally to all

good objects.

&&** "

IILLIAM II. VAN SLYKE, deceased,

formerly a prominent citizen of Ocean-

side, was born July 20, 1840, on the

Hudson, in New York. His father, William

Van Slyke, was a native of New York and be-

longed'to one of those old Dutch families of that

State; his mother, Mary (Hotailing) Van Slyke,

was one of a very noted family of New York.

They had seven children, of whom the subject

of this sketcli was the oldest. The family re-

moved to San Francisco when he was thirteen

years of age. After leaving the public school

he took a course in a commercial college. He

was a miner from 1861 to 1884. He mined in

the following places: Grass Valley, Nevada

County, Idaho, Virginia City, Fioche and Ari-

zona, where lie had charge of the works of the

Grand Central; he then returned to Cali-

fornia. Mr. Van Slyke had located the Good

Hope mine, near the present town of Perris, in

San Diego County. This was the richest little

mine in Southern California. The best ore from

it went $6,000 to the ton. Mr. Van Slyke

worked it six years arid took from it $160,000

in gold. Since his death the mine has been sold

for $25,000, and a new company is now at work

at it. Mr. Van Slyke came to Oceanside in

July, 1886, and invested in real estate. In 1887

he commenced building the South Pacific Hotel,

the finest building in and greatest improvement

to the young town. The house was completed

in eleven months and is a credit to the town and

a monument to its builder. It cost, completed

and furnished, $70,000. It is four stories high,

has sixty commodious rooms, not counting the

fourth story, which is not entirely finished as yet.

The building stands near the grand Pacific

ocean and in front of the town, and is aperfect

model of beauty in its outside architecture, and

inside it is a model of safety, convenience and

comfort. It is good enough for any town in any

country, no matter how rich. Mr. and Mrs. Van

Slyke opened the house February 22, 1887, and

commenced its management. He was taken

sick soon after it was opened, and after a severe

illness, which lasted sixteen months, he died in

the fine house he had taken so much pleasure

and exhibited so much public spirit in building.

Mr. Van Slyke was a Chapter Mason and a mem-

ber of the Odd Fellows' fraternity. He was

married in San Diego, September 2, 1886, to

Mrs. M. E. Barber, widow of the late Mr. A.

Barber, a Boston merchant. Her father, O. S.

Sparks, was from Massachusetts. She was born

in San Francisco, June 26, 1847, and was the

first American child born in the city. Her

people lived in San Francisco fourteen year6.

She is now carrying on the hotel and Dr. E. A.

Tnttle is her business manager. The Doctor

was born in Boston, September 13, 1848, and

has been a physician and surgeon for several

years, but more recently abandoned the practice

of his profession to engage in the hotel business,

and has had good success.

g-**^

tARON PAULY, a California pioneer and

one of the oldest residents of San Diego,

wa6 born in Lebanon, Warren County,

Ohio, May 24, 1812. His father died when he

was ten years of age. His youth and early

manhood were passed in Warren County, and,

until he was fourteen, on a farm. When thirty

years old he started West and located in Quincy,

Illinois, where he engaged in the mercantile

business and remained until the spring of 1849.

Gold had been discovered in California, and

emigrants were flocking to the new El Dorado

from all parts of the civilized world. Mr. Pauly

formed a party and started across the plains for

the Pacific coast in the spring of that eventful

year. Travelers and tourists of the present day,

journeying overland in Pullman coaches, can

have but slight conception of the fatigues, dan-

gers, and delays that attended a journey to Cali-

fornia in 1849. Each of the different routes
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had its hardships. The voyager by sea was

tossed and buffeted about in closely- packed and

ill-provisioned ships for months; those who jour-

neyed by way of the Isthmus, in addition to the

discomforts of a sea voyage, were compelled to

pass through the fever-stricken districts of the

Isthmus; the march across the plains was long

and arduous; the trains were liable to attacks

from Indians, their cattle often died from want

of water and proper pasturage, and, in some

cases, the emigrants themselves fell victims to

the drought. There were twenty-five persons

in the train with which Mr. Pauly crossed the

plains. They came by the way of Salt Lake

and the Truckee River, stopping finally at Co-

loma, a mining camp near Sacramento, built on

the site of Sutter's Mill, in the race-way of

which gold had been discovered two years be-

fore, by James W. Marshall. Mr. Pauly re-

mained at Coloma during the winter of 1849-'50,

but in the spring went to the mines in Butte

County, where he remained for two years. Hav-

ing been quite prosperous in his ventures, he

bought a large stock ranch at. Spring Valley,

Yuba County, twelve miles from Marysville.

Here he made his home till 1865. He then

disposed of the ranch and removed to Marys-

ville, where he remained three years, engaged

in the mercantile business with his sons, F. N.

and C. W. Pauly. In 1869, on account of ill

health, he disposed of his business in Marys-

ville and moved to San Diego. Horton's Wharf

had just been completed and Mr. Pauly landed

the first stock ot goods upon it. He opened a

store, which was connected with the wharf, and

had charge of the latter. At this time he had

considerable trouble with Ben Holladay, who

refused to allow his steamers to touch at Hor-

ton's Wharf. Finally, however, after threaten-

ing to charter a schooner and transport his goods

independent of the steamship line, Holladay

gave in and permitted his vessels to load and

discharge at the wharf.

Mr. Pauly remained in the merchandise busi-

ness-until 1875, when he sold out and went into

real estate, commission and insurance with his

son, C. W. Pauly. He has now retired from

active business and devotes his time to conduct-

ing his private affairs. Mr. Pauly was a mem-
ber of the board of supervisors in 1873-'74.

He was also tax collector for nine years, from

1875 to 1884, and was one of the organizers and

first president of the chamber of commerce.

During the time that he was at the head of this

institution, the railroad was built into San

Diego, and it is not too much to say that Aaron

Pauly's labors did much to bring about that

important event. He was one of the founders

of the Baptist society here, selected the lots and

aided largely in building the present tine church

edifice on the corner of E and Ninth streets.

Mr. Pauly owns considerable real ejtate in dif-

ferent parts of the city. In eonj unction with

D. C. Reed he built the fine business block on

the corner of E and Sixtli streets, known as the

Reed-Pauly block; and with A. G. Gassen, he

has just erected a block on the northeast corner

of E and Fourth streets, known as the " Lawyer's

Block." He has lately finished a handsome and

spacious resideuce on the corner of D and

Eleventh streets. It is the Queen Anne style

of architecture, and is considered one of the

most tasteful private residences in the city.

In addition to his interests in San Diego, Mr.

Pauly has done much to further and develop the

mines of the county, and the mining region of

Julian is probably more indebted to him than

to any other individual for its present prosper-

ous outlook. He was also one of the projectors

and president of the company that built the

wagon road from Yuma to San Diego. This

road was of great benefit to San Diego, and a

great deal of business was done over it, which

continued until the opening of the Southern

Pacific Railroad. Mr. Pauly was one of the

organizers of the San Diego Benevolent Associ-

ation, a society which is still in existence, and

has for many years, in an unostentatious way,

accomplished much charitable work.

Mr. Pauly was married in 1840 to Miss El-

mira Nye, a native of Vermont. The result of

this union was four children living, two sons and
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two daughters. Besides he had one daughter

by his first wife, to whom he was married in

1834, but she died in a little more than a year

afterwards. His eldest daughter is the wife of

Genera] Dustin, of Sycamore, Illinois, who

served all through the war of the Rebellion.

His sons are living in Southern California, one

being employed in the First National Bank in

Los Angeles, and the other being engaged in

the real estate business here. One daughter is

married and living in Gridley, Butte County.

Mr. Pauly has fully realized his early expec-

tations in the present wonderful growth and

prosperity of San Diego. He is in excellent

health, and bids fair to have many days of use-

fulness before him.

N#-
fENERAL DATUS E. COON, a member

of Heintzelman Post, No. 33, San Diego,

was born February 20, 1831, in De Ruyter,

Madison County, New York, son of Luke and

Lois (Burdick) Coon ; the former born in Peters-

burg, New York, in 1804, was a farmer of Scotch

descent; the latter, born in Rhode Island in 1808,

was of German descent. They had a family of

six children, of whom onr subject was the oldest.

He spent most of his early youth in two conn-

ties, Allegany and Cattaraugus, of New York.

In 1849 the family removed to Wisconsin,

where they bought a farm, and Mr. Coon re-

mained with his father improving it; he was

there two years, then went to the Milton

Academy and prepared himself for teaching.

He taught for two years in Delhi and Dubuque,

Iowa; he then embarked in the newspaper

business and started the first paper published

in Delaware County, Iowa, the Delhi Argus.

It was issued in August, 1855; in six months

he sold the whole establishment and removed

to Osage, Iowa, and published the Osage

Democrat. The town was a new one just

started upon the prairie; and the first issue

came out in April, 1856, and the type was

set up outside in cold weather, the cases filled

with snow, and the printers had to warm
their fingers at pots of coals under the cases.

In the spring of 1858 he removed the estab-

lishment to Mason City, Cerro Gordo County,

where he published the Cerro Gordo Press,

until the war broke out in 1861.

On receipt of the news of the fall of Fort

Sumter he resolved to go into the army as a

cavalry man, and procured a captain's commis-

sion from Governor Kirkwood, of Iowa, to

raise a company in three weeks. The com-

pany was raised, and they proceeded to Daven-

port, Iowa, and were assigned to . the Second

Iowa Cavalry. In September, 1861, Captain

Coon was promoted to Major, in command of the

Second Battalion. After drilling and equip-

ping here, they were ordered to St. Louis, and

from there they were ordered to the front. They

took a steamer to Cairo, Illinois, from there

across the river to Bird's Point, Missouri, and

then were ordered to New Madrid, Missouri.

They participated in the battle of New Madrid

and Island No. 10; from here were ordered on

General Pope's expedition down the river to

near Vicksburg, where they remained until

ordered back to Cairo, Illinois, and from there

to Shiloh. The first important engagment the

Second Regiment had was a cavalry charge,

made to protect the command of General Paine

of Illinois, who was making a reconnoissauce

near Corinth, Mississippi, on May 9, 1862.

It was Major Coon's good fortune to be in the

lead with his command of four companies.

The regiment lost sixty horses, and several

men were killed and wounded; it all occurred

in fifteen minutes, but saved Paine and all his

division, by diverting the attention of the

enemy. The next important engagement was

the battle of Boonville; the victory was given

to Sheridan, who was promoted to brigndier

general the next day, July 1, 1862. When
Sheridan was promoted, Colonel Ed. Hatch be-

came brigade commander and Major Coon was

assigned command of his regiment; six months

later he was placed in command of a brigade of

cavalry, composed of the Sixth and Ninth Illi-
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nois Cavalry and Second Iowa Cavalry. In

1864 he was appointed Colonel and was ordered

witli his regiment to Memphis, Tennessee,

where he commanded a brigade of cavalry until

the fall of that year, when they were driven

back from Shoal creek, Tennessee, to Columbia,

Tennessee, by Hood's army advancing on Nash-

ville. His brigade participated in the battle of

Franklin and was driven back to Nashville,

where they remained during Thomas' prepara-

tions for the great battle. At Nashville, Tennes-

see, two regiments more were added to his com-

mand (5,000 men all told), namely: the Seventh

Illinois and the Twelfth Michigan Cavalry. De-

cember 14, 1864, the whole army were ordered

to the front to contest with General Hood.

Colonel Coon's command occupied the right of

General Thomas' command. When five or six

miles in advance they struck the enemy, dis-

mounted and advanced on the first fort; his

command captured a small earth-work, some

forty prisoners and two pieces of artillery and

200 stand of arms. Not satisfied with this

victory they pushed steadily on to what is called

the Brentwood Hill, and charging as infantry

on foot, 200 feet up the hill, captured 400 pris-

oners, two more pieces of artillery and 400

stand of arms. This was the most terrific

storm of shot that the men had ever passed

through, and many brave men of this brigade

were killed and wounded. The Colonel's horse

was killed under him, the ball passing through

the horse just back of the Colonel's leg. The

next day the whole command pushed on, followed

Hood's demoralized and retreating army to the

Tennessee river, and took up camp at Eastport,

Mississippi, where they remained until Wilson

made his raid further south. Immediately

after the battle of Nashville, which occurred

on December 14 and 15, 1864, the subject of

this memorial was appointed by the President,

Brevet Brigadier General, for gallant conduct on

that memorable battle-field. July 1, they were

ordered east, to Decatur, Alabama. At this

point he received orders to report to General

Thomas, at Nashville, and was placed in com-

mand of a cavalry camp of drill and discipline,

on the north side of the river. In the latter

part of August he was ordered to proceed with

his regiment to Selma, Alabama, to be mustered

out of service, as the war had been ended several

months and the men were anxious to get home
to their families. The final muster out took

place at Davenport, Iowa, October 1, 1865.

General Coon returned to Selma, Alabama, in

the fall of 1865, and embarked in the raising of

cotton. He was elected and served as a member

of the first constitutional convention which

convened under act of Congress, 1868. After-

ward he was elected a member of the State

Senate and served four years, and later, two

years in the House of Representatives of the

State of Alabama. He also held several prom-

inent appointments from the Federal Govern-

ment. In 1879 he was appointed consul to

Baracoa, Cuba, where he remained for six years,

at the expiration of which time he came to Sau

Diego and engaged in the real estate business.

In 1855 he married Miss Hattie A. Cummins,

of Delhi, Iowa. She died in May, 1857, leav-

ing a child six weeks old, which died soon

after. At the close of the war he married

Mrs. Jennie E. Bailey, daughter of Hon.

George W. Ells, of Davenport, Iowa, by whom
he had two daughters, one of whom, Maggie

E., died in Cuba when thirteen years old; the

wife died there also. The other daughter,

Georgie, was born in 1872; she now lives

with her father in San Diego.

fRANK HERBERT CUNNINGHAM, a

prominent citizen of San Diego County,

was born in Fall River, Massachusetts,

December 5, 1855. His parents were both

natives of New Hampshire, to which State their

ancestors early emigrated from the Scotch low-

lands. His mother, Miriam Putney Roby, was

born in Sutton, of a family of Revolutionary

heroes who had gained conspicuous honors at

Bunker Hill and Bennington. She was both a
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beautiful and remarkably intelligent woman,

possessing robust health and a btnevolent Chris-

tian character. His father, Benjamin Pierce

Cunningham, was born at his father's farm at

Hillsboro, from which at an early age he set

out, learned the tinware trade, and soon after

established himself in the house-furnishing busi-

ness, in which he amassed a fortune. He was

a pushing business man, a skillful financier and

a good citizen, and was honored by his neigh-

bors and associates for his sterling worth.

Frank Herbert, the second son, would have

been as tall, broad-shouldered and vigorous as

his parents had not an unfortunate fall, during

infancy, produced a curvature of the spine.

For this no cure was found, although the best

authorities were consulted; their treatment re-

sulted in such a loss of strength that until his

twelfth year he was compelled to use crutches.

His mind, however, was unusually active, and

having early acquired a taste for good literature,

his greatest pleasnie throughout life was found

in reading a favorite author. Afflicted as he

was, his struggle for health, education and for

business success seems truly remarkable. Until

1869 he was unable to attend school, but two

years later we find that he secured the highest

percentage of the sixty-nine applicants for en-

trance at the Roxbury Latin School, where he

proposed to prepare for college. Such a course

was thought beyond his strength and he there

fore entered the Boston Grammar School, com-

pleting the usual four years' course in half that

time. In 1873, while attending the Roxbury

High School, he was obliged to abandon further

study, and to confirm his health and care for cer

tain Southern investments, he passed the greater

part of the next year in Georgia and Florida.

In 1878, upon the death of his father, Mr.

Cunningham determined to acquire a higher

education, and with that purpose entered, in

1879, the Phillips Academy at Exeter, New
Hampshire, from which, three years later, he

was graduated with high honors. At Exeter,

despite the severe winter temperature, his health

became greatly improved and he was therefore

able to take an active interest in many of the

sports that pertain to school life. He was like-

wise active in the various school societies and a

favorite in his class as well as a welcome guest

at the houses of the citizens.

Although passing his examination for Har-

vard College, he decided to finish with a year

course at the Cambridge Law School. During

this year Mr. Cunningham wrote a centennial

history under the title of " Familiar Sketches of

the Phillips (Exeter) Academy," a book of nearly

500 pages, published by the Osgoods. This

volume not only received the approval of the

Alumni of that celebrated institution but also

found its way into all the public and many of

the private libraries. Its circulation is said to

have been the means of largely increasing the

endowment of the academy through the com-

plete exposition given to its affairs. While at

Exeter Mr. Cunningham had decided upon a

business career. He seems to have inherited a

restless energy and an aptitude for commercial

pursuits, which for a long time had warred

against his fondness for literature and bis fitness

for such work. He established his headquarters

in Boston and for several years made a specialty

of Kansas mortgage investments, later extend-

ing his operations and journeys to the Pacific

coast. At the same time, as the head of the

Cunningham Manufacturing Company, he was

interested in the manufacture of patent machin-

ery, shipping the same to all parts of the world.

Repeated visits to the southwest led him to

study that section and to conclude that Southern

California possessed elements to attract and

support a very dense population, under proper

system of irrigation. Therefore forming a

partnership with other gentlemen of means,

Mr. Cunningham removed to Oceanside, Cali-

fornia, where in 1887 he consummated the pur-

chase of the water rights of the San Luis Rey

river, the most considerable stream in San Diego

County, California, and also the reservoir sites,

to be used therewith, proposing to utilize these

for the irrigation of some 200,000 acres of fruit

land, as soon as capital could be secured for
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that purpose. This became the San Luis Key

Flume Company, succeeded in 1889 by the San

Luis Rey Water Company, of Illinois, a sale of

the controlling interests in that enterprise having

been made to C. B. Holmes and others of Chi-

cago. This undertaking has developed ^into

one of the largest and most beneficent irriga-

tion works in California, results due to the

efforts of Mr. Cunningham and his associates.

Since coining to California Mr. Cunningham

has taken an active part in the work of develop-

ing the country. He organized and w.is the

first president of the San Diego County Agri-

cultural Association. He has served as an

officer of the San Diego Chamber of Commerce,

directing his attention particularly to coloniza-

tion, and in 1889 represented his county on the

State Arid Land Committee. He has served as

city trustee and as a delegate to the county and

State conventions. He has always been an ar-

dent Republican, and to-day takes a wurm in

terest in political affairs. He has traveled

extensively in this country and in most parts of

Europe.

In January, 1888, Mr. Cunningham married

Marion Lyons Kress, the oldest daughter ofMajor

John A. Kressof the United States army,a lovely

lady, whose death the following June was much

lamented. Mr. Cunningham makes his resi-

dence and business headquarters at Oceanside,

California.

fOLONEL G. G. BRADT.—Among the

self-made men, and the active, energetic

workers who have made San Diego what

it is, the subject of our sketch takes high rank.

He was born at Bethlehem, Albany County,

New York, November 18, 1827. His early life

was passed in the city of Albany, living with a

married sister, and improving such educational

privileges as were granted by the high school.

He then filled the position of clerk in a

broker's office for a short time, but having

caught the California fever with enthusiasm he

left Albany, December 1, 1850, for California,

taking steamer from New York to Aspinwall,

then across the Isthmus to Panama, and there,

on account of detentions, he remained until

April, 1851; then taking the Old Columbia,

with 1,000 passengers, they arrived at San Fran-

cisco, May 16, 1851, after a passage of twenty-

six days. He there engaged in the jewelry

business for one and a half years, and then

visited the gold mines, but after prospecting for

a few months he returned to San Francisco, and

for many years was engaged very extensively in

the dray and lightering business. He was in-

strumental in fitting out a Gold Beacli mining

expedition for the Oregon coast, and went with

the party. After six months spent in search

for gold there, he returned to San Francisco and

went in the grain brokerage business, which he

continued several years. Mr. Bradt was promi-

nently connected with the Vigilance Committee

of 1856, an organization of 6,000 members,

which were instrumental in regulating the

affairs of the entire State. They held secret

meetings and punished many evil-doers, which

had a very 6alutary effect. Mr. Bradt was

prominently connected with the city govern-

ment in San Francisco until 1869, when he

came to San Diego, arriving May 3, on the

steamer Orizaba, at that time a very popular

steamer.

He at once started in the hotel business as

proprietor of the old San Diego Hotel, corner

of F and State streets, at that time the only

hotel in town; but after five months of contin-

uance, sold out and launched into the real-es-

tate business, becoming sole agent for Mannasse

& Schiller's addition and other very valuable

and prominent property, doing a thriving and

prosperous business, continuing until 1877.

He then opened the well-known house of Bradt

& Sons, in groceries and general merchandise,

on the corner of Fifth and D streets, which is

now being conducted by his son and son-in-law,

while Mr. Bradt is more particularly interesting

himself in conducting a wholesale commission

business, at present located in the Bradt block,
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on Fifth street, between A and B, his residence

being at the corner of Fifth and A streets.

Mr. Bradt has served three terms as president

of the Chamber of Commerce, of which he is

now a member. lie is also president of one of

the boards of the Common Council, and is gen-

eralty conceded to be one of the best and mo>t

efficient officers the city has ever had. The
Colonel has taken great interest in the solution

of the water question, and is recognized as the

originator of the absolutely-free-water idea, and

maintains that the city should own its own
water snpplies and distributing pipes. He is

chairman of the Special AVater Committee, ap-

pointed by the Mayor, and a better selection

could not be made, as he is one of the best in-

formed men on the water question in San

Diego; and the reduction of the present exorbi-

tant water tax to that of a more reasonable

rating will be through the instrumentality of

that committee of which he is chairman.

Mr. Bradt was married in San Francisco in 1857
to Mrs. Sarah A. Warren, nee Hood. They have

five children, of whom four survive, two sons

and two daughters, all grown and well known
in this community. Mrs. Bradt is a lady of

sterling qualities, retiring in characteristics but

benevolent in all works of charity and philan-

thropy. Colonel Bradt is now a well-preserved

gentleman of sixty-two jears, being a leading

citizen and interested in all growth and advance-

ment of the city's and the county's prosperity.

-fr* ¥-&-

fAMUEL M. TYSON is one of Oceanside's

pioneers, and was born in Lamar County,

Texas, November 15, 1843. His father,

John W. Tyson, a native of North Carolina,

was born January 19, 1810. His grandfather,

Cornelius Tyson, was also a North Carolinian.

Mr. Tyson's mother was Elizabeth McClellan.

She was born in Bedford County, Tennessee,

December 19, 1812, and was married in 1836,

and was the mother of three children, two boys

and one daughter. The subject of this sketch

was the second son. His school days and boy-

hood experiences were like those of other boys,

at home with his father. At this time the quiet

of farm life was interrupted by the great civil

war. Being a young Southerner, he enlisted in

Company A, Third Regiment Texas Cavalry,

and saw first service under General Van Dorn,

then under the command of Price, then of

Beauregard, and finally under Hood and Dick

Taylor. He served three years and fifteen days,

and was neither wounded nor in hospital during

that time. He saw much hard fighting. In

the battle of Iuka, Mississippi, September 19,

1862, there were 300 men in his regiment, and

in two hours 115 of their number were either

killed or wounded. The next battle was the

second battle of Corinth, October 1 and 2. At
its commencement they had 150 men, but lost

sixty killed and wounded, leaving ninety men,

or less than one-third of their number. They
then fell back in Mississippi, were remounted,

and under General Van Dorn they captured

Holly Springs, Mississippi, and took all the

supplies in the rear of General Grant, and

caused him to fall back to Memphis. The
next fighting was around Vicksburg, and con-

sisted of several minor engagements under

Joseph E. Johnston. They were about to cut

their way through to relieve the garrison when
Vicksburg surrendered. From there they went

to middle Tennessee, and had numerous fights

around Columbia and Franklin. The principal

battle was fought at Thompson's Station. With
3,000 cavalry they captured 3,000 infantry.

From there they came back to Mississippi, and

had numerous little fights around Yazoo City,

and then marched to Georgia, and at Rome
went on the left wing of the army, and was en-

gaged in fighting nearly every day. General

Hood took command, and they followed him
through Tennessee and back into north Missis-

sippi. February 21, 1865, half of his regiment

received a sixty days' furlough. He went home
to Van Zandt County, Texas, and when he came

back the war had come to a close. He then

returned home and engaged in the peaceable
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pursuit of farming. In 1878 he moved to Wills

Point and opened a general store. January 1,

1883, he came to Los Angeles, and January 19,

1883, he drove over the hills with his family in

a wagon, to Oceanside, and located the Govern-

ment claim that is now known as Bryan &
Tyson's addition to Oceanside. Mr. Meyers

was the only settler in advance of him, and Mr.

Tyson is entitled to the honor of being the

second settler. Mr. Meyers' house was a shanty,

and Mr. Tyson built a house 14x28, with a

lean-to, so he has the credit of building the

first house in Oceanside. In 1883-'84 he set

out five acres to raisin grapes, and in 1885

gathered quite a crop of grapes. Although not

a carpenter by trade, he built his own house,

and since that several others. He is now im-

proving a 160-acre ranch, twelve miles south-

east of Oceanside, on the coast. It is designed

for a general farm—grain and fruit. He has

built a house and barn on it.

He was married in 1874 to Miss Amelia

Jane Hamm, of Van Zandt County, Texas.

She lived only five years, and left a daughter,

Edna, born in Rains County, Texas, September

1, 1876. He was again united in marriage

with Miss Anna C. Christen, a native of Adams

County, Indiana, and born in 1855. They have

one child, John Robert, born in Oceanside, Sep-

tember 30, 1889. Mr. Tyson is a Royal Arch

Mason, a member of the Baptist Church, a

member of the school board, and a man of

strict integrity. Two of his nephews and his

mother reside with him. He has so conducted

his life that he has the good word and good will

of his fellow-citizens.

fEORGE W. FOX, banker, and one of the

early settlers of Murrietta, was born in

Zanesville, Ohio, January 24, 1842. His

grandfather and great-gandfather were natives

of Virginia. His father, Jesse Fox, was born

in Wheeling, West Virginia, in 1803, and was

married in that place to Miss Maria Begom,

of Pennsylvania. They had four children, of

whom the youngest, Mr. Fox, is the only sur-

vivor. He received his education in the public

schools of Illinois and St. Louis, Missouri, and

the Wyinan High School, and took a course at

Jones' Commercial College on leaving school

in 1857. He moved with his parents to Kan-

sas, then a Territory, where his parents died.

In 1859 he crossed the plains, and while in Salt

Lake City was employed as a clerk. At Camp
Floyd was sutler's clerk with Albert Sydney

Johnston's army. In 1861 he crossed the plains

to Carson City, in charge of an ox train loaded

with flour. He visited Sacramento and then

returned to Virginia City, Nevada. From there

he went to Humboldt County, where he was

agent for Wells, Fargo & Co., and overland

mail agent at Unionville, Nevada. In 1865 he

resigned and went to Idaho, and from there to

Montana, where he mined and was very success-

ful. In 1869 he engaged in the banking busi-

ness in Helena, Montana, and in 1872 organ-

ized the People's National Bank and became

its cashier. The same year he organized the

First National Bank of Roseman, of which he

was the president. He continued successfully

in the banking business until the fall of 1877.

In 1878 he removed to Tombstone, Arizona,

and again became interested in mining. In

1879 he went to Old Mexico and returned to

San Diego by way of San Francisco, where he

was engaged in the newspaper business in 1881.

In 1882 he went to Calico and became interest-

ed in mining again. He was one of the organ-

izers of the Temecnla Land and Water Company
in 1884. He removed to Murrietta, where he

has been engaged in real estate and banking

ever since. He was made a Mason in 1870 and

became an Odd Fellow in 1872; he is alto a

Knight Templar. He has held the office of

school trustee, and has been prominent as a

politician. He has seen a great deal of frontier

life and is a thorough business man. He is the

historian of the Murrietta Historical Society,

and was a leader and influential in aiding in the

construction of the new school-house. For some
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time he has used the Government instruments

in taking the meteorological observations.

SOBERT W. BOLLEN, the Murrietta

Postmaster and merchant, was born in

Lockbridge County, Virginia, October

11, 1824. His father, Edward Bollen, and

his grandfather were residents of Rockingham

County, but the family originally came from

England. His grandfather and two of his

brothers were in the war of the Revolution.

They were at the battle of Fort Meigs when the

English undertook to cross the ditch in front of

the fort but were repulsed. Mr. Bollen's mother

was Polly (Beaty) Bollen. They had a family

of ten children, of whom Mr. Bollen was the

youngest. Three terms of school of three

months each was the extent of his educational

advantages. When twenty years of age he ac-

quired the carpenters' trade and also some

knowledge of the blacksmiths' trade. In 1847

he enlisted in Company F, Third Regiment,

Missouri Mounted Volunteers, and was a par-

ticipant in the war with Mexico. He took part

in the battle of Santa Cruz, March 16, 1848.

He enlisted as Fourth Corporal and was pro-

moted to Third Sergeant when mustered out.

He returned to Virginia, and after two years

spent there, he married Miss Sarah Ellen Ohev-

rout, a native of Harrison County, Virginia,

who was born January 1, 1838. They moved

to Iowa, where he engaged in the wagon manu-

facturing business. Here he was constable and

deputy sheriff during the greater part of his

stay. In the spring of 1860 he started for

Nevada, but the Indians became so troublesome

they were obliged to stop at Salt Lake City to

winter. While there he took charge of a

furniture manufactory and remained two years.

In Nevada he did quite an extensive carpenter

and wagon-making business. In 1867 he re-

moved to Genoa, Douglas County, Nevada, and

dealt in all kinds of wood-work. In 1869 he

was elected Sheriff of the county, which office

he held for four years, at the end of which

time his health failed and he got a position

in the mint in Carson City, first as watch,

and afterward captain of the watch. In the

year 1885 he removed with his family to Murri-

etta, California, while it was still in its infancy.

He purchased twenty acres of land and built

a house and made improvements, planting trees,

grapes and shrubbery. He assisted in orga-

nizing the Methodist Church, and was one of

its first members. He has had thirteen chil

dren, but six of whom are living: Eliza Sapro-

nia, born in Lewis County, Virginia, January

8, 1855, and married to Mr. J. H. McCormic.

They now reside in Murrietta; Virginia Eliza-

beth, born February 2, 1858, in Iowa, and

married to Mr. J. H. Langley; Sada E., born in

Salt Lake City, June 20, 1861; George W.,

born in Douglas County, Nevada, November 9,

1871, and J. W., born April 20, 1876, in Carson

City. Mr. Bollen was elected Justice of the

Peace, but resigned that office when he

was appointed Postmaster. He keeps a store

(dry goods, boots and shoes and notions) and also

continues his wagon business. He is a member

of the pioneer society of Virginia City, having

come to California in 1850. He is also a lead-

ing thirty-second degree Mason and a good

citizen.

R. C. E. LAWRENCE, Murrietta's drug-

gist and physician, was born in Toronto,

Canada, January 4, 1859. His father,

Charles Earl Lawrence, was a native of New
Brunswick. The Doctor's grandfather, Captain

John Lawrence, was a sollier in the king's

army, and for his loyalty received a grant of

lands in Fredricton, New Brunswick. He
received his commission from King George III,

and his grandson, Dr. Lawrence, has all the

documents in his possession. The commission

is in the old-style print and is dated August 1,

1787. While a young man the Captain fought

a duel, and succeeded in wounding his an tag-
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onist. The Doctor's mother was born in Ire-

land, February 13, 1830. When she was five

years old her parents moved to Canada. Her

father was a captain of militia, as was the Doc-

tor's father.

.Dr. Charles E. Lawrence, the subject of this

sketch, was educated in Toronto, Canada, and

graduated at Victoria University. On account

of poor health he came to California, and after-

ward selected Murrietta for his home and the

field of his practice. He arrived November 11,

1885, and found few in the town before him.

In 1886 he bnilt his drug store and stocked it

with drugs, which he still owns, and practices

his profession in connection with the business.

He is surgeon and physician of the railroad

company at Murrietta, and is alto surgeon of

the Independent Order of Foresters. The Doc-

tor enjoys the respect and confidence of his

fellow townsmen and is in every way deserving

of it.
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ARLES E. YORK is a descendant of Sir

William Wimell York, of Gurnsey Row,

London, England, two of whose offspring

came to America and landed in Maine: one

remained thereand the other went to New Hamp-

shire. Mr. York's grandfather was raised in New
Hampshire, and his father, Ezekiel York, was

also a native of the same State. After becoming

of age he removed to Bangor, Maine, where he

was a dry-goods merchant for many years. He
was also an accomplished musician, playing the

flute and the clarionet. He played with old

Ned Kendal, and for many years played in

church. When the war broke out he enlisted

in the Fifth Maine Regiment and went to the

field in Virginia. He served one year, when he

was discharged for disability, having contracted

rheumatism by exposure at the first battle of

Bull Run. It ultimately caused his death, the

rheumatism going to his heart. He was mar-

ried to Miss Nancy Davis, a native of Effing-

ham, New Hampshire, and had three children:

James Warren, now a merchant in Grand

Rapids, Michigan; Mary Adelaide, now in

Maine, and Charles E., the youngest, the sub-

ject of this sketch, born in Augusta, Maine,

September 1, 1844. He was attending the

high school at Biddeford when he enlisted, July

1, 1861, in his sixteenth year, as drummer boy

in the Coast Guard Heavy Artillery. At the

expiration of four months he was sworn into the

United States service and remained one year.

He was mustered out, was home two weeks, and

enlisted in the Twenty-seventh Maine and was

promoted to drum major. . He was eleven

months in that regiment and then went with the

colonel of that regiment to the Portsmouth

navy yard and was there three months. He
next enlisted in the Second Maine Cavalry and

participated in all of its engagements. The

regiment was sent to New Orleans: one portion

of the battalion was sent up Red river, his

portion of the batallion was sent after guer-

rillas. He was taken seriously ill. Five of his

comrades went with him to the hospital and he

alonecatne out alive, although he was at one time

given up for dead. He suffered from the effects

of that sickness for years. He was mustered

out of the service December 6, 1865, and soon

after engaged in the mercantile business at

Biddeford, Maine. During this time he studied

music and from there went to Boston, where

he finished his musical stndies and became a

teacher of instrumental music. He continued

in this business until 1874, when Secretary of

War Belknap made a special order appointing

him band master of the Eighth United States

Cavalry, and he filled the position five years.

He then removed to Brownsville, Texas, where

he engaged in business, dealing in books, sta-

tionary. Catholic goods and sheet music. Soon

after embarking in this business the yellow

fever visited the town and business was com-

pletely destroyed. Persons were not permitted

to go either in or out of the town. As 6oon

as he could get away he went north and traveled

with his wife throughout the North until 1882.

He then located in Akron, Ohio, and opened a
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music store. In 1886 he paid a visit to Califor-

nia to attend the G. A. R. convention. After his

return home he made preparations to return to

the coast. He finally sold out and on Decem-

ber 13, 1887, he came to this coast as special

agent of the Union Central Life Insurance

Company of Cincinnati. He became director

of the famous City Guard band that made a

tour of the United States in the interest of San

Diego. He retired from the directorship of

the band in August, 1888, owing to his increased

insurance business, being made associate gen-

eral agent of the Northwestern Mutual Life

Insurance Company of Milwaukee, Wisconsin.

In connection with his insurance business he

was one of the experts to investigate the county

records of San Diego. October 12, 1888, he

was commissioned Major and Brigade Inspector

of the First Brigade N. G. C, Brigadier-General

H. II. Boyce, commanding. He instigated and

organized the San Diego Rifles. He joined the

G. A. R. at its organization and was Junior Vice

Commander of his post. He was special Aide-

de-cunp Department of California. He is Past

Senior Vice Commander or the Seventh Inspec

tion District of California. He is Fast Aide-

de-camp and acting Assistant Adjutant General

Department of Ohio, and compiled the work of

the G. A. R. of that department for the year

1886. He has always been active in G. A. R.

work and is a member of Heintzelman Post, No.

33. He is an Odd Fellow, a Knight of Pythias,

a Royal Arch Mason and a Knight Templar;

nor is he slow on hand in the Methodist Episco-

pal Sunday-school, and with his instrument

swell its song of praise. He was married in

1867 to Miss Ellen F. Willis, of Biddeford,

Maine. She died at Boston, February, 1874,

of cosnumption. In 1878 he was again mar-

ried, to Mrs. M. Z. Cunniugham, of Brownsville,

Texas. They have had three children, but two

of whom are living: Charles Warren, born No-

vember 16, 1880, in Decatur, Illinois; Ralph

Edwin, born in Akron, Ohio, in 1884. Mrs.

York's parentage is Swede and American. Her
father came from Sweden when nineteen years

of age and located in southern Texas. Both

he and his wife were with General Taylor in his

conquest of Mexico, and Mrs. York was born at

Bagdad in 1848. They left the army, an 1 he

opened a mercantile business in Rio Grande,

where he became influential and accumalated a

large property. He was in the Texas Legisla-

ture, and while there introduced the free-school

bill and procured its enactment, and it became
a law. He then retired from public life. He
was a man of learning, an author and a poet, and
talked four languages fluently. His wife was a

very beautiful woman and a faithful wife, as-

sisting him in all his work. Professor York is

leader of an orchestra of San Diego and enlivens
many of the public gatherings of the city with
the choicest of sweet music. He is a talented

and cultured musician and his place in the city

would be difficult to fill with another so ready
and public-spirited.

fAMES P. JONES, of San Diego, is one of
the hardy sons of the State of Maine, born
in Madison, Somerset County, March 10,

1834. His ancestors were from York, England.
His grandfather, John Jones, was a native of
Vermont, and his son, James Jones, the father
of the subject of this sketch, was born in Mont-
pelier, where he was a lumberman aud a black-
smith. He married Johanna Heald, daughter
of Oliver Heald of Concord, Massachusetts, and
had a family of ten children, seven boys and
three girls, six of whom are still alive. Mr.
James P. Jones was the oldest of the family.

When seventeen years of a^e he left home and
went to Boston, where lie beca tie a mail-carrier

and stage-driver, carrying the mail from Maiden
to Boston. When nineteen he became a fireman
on a steamboat, and after three years was made
first assistant engineer on the steamer Governor.
In November, 1861. he went aboard the war
steamer Sagamore as fireman. The following

June he was disabled by the bursting of a steam

pipe. In spite of the heat and scalding water
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he remained at his post and saved his ship.

His i'eet and legs were so scalded that the skin

and much of the flesh came off and he was eight

months in recovering. He received the thanks

of the officers of the ship for his presence of

mind and bravery. Before having fully re-

covered he was sent aboard the Hendrik Hudson

as engineer and assisted in taking her to New
York, and from there to Bosto 11

.. He was then

relieved from duty and was ordered to report

once a week, which he did until his term ex-

pired. November 26, 1863, he bought a farm

at Bath, Maine, and farmed for two year*. He
then sold out and engaged in the fine-arts trade

in Boston, where he continued three years, and

then removed to Albany, New York, and re-

mained there three years. Then he sold out

and engaged in portrait-painting until 1873,

when the health of his wife induced him to

come to California. She was a consumptive

and had lost five of her brothers and sisters by

that relentless disease. He took his family out

to San Bernardino in May, 1874, and they settled

on 160 acres of Government land and engaged

in the bee business. He remained there until

1881. July 13, 1874, while engaged in blast-

ing a rock a premature explosion so injured his

hand and arm that it necessitated the amputa-

tion of the hand. He then moved into San

Diego, where he bought a home, and his wife

fully recovered her health. He was soon elected

Justice of the Peace and after fifteen months

was appointed by the board of supervisors,

superintendent of the County Hospital, which

position he held for over a year. Soon after

he was again made Justice of the Peace and

was elected to that office three terms. At last

his business became so driving that he resigned

the office to give his undivided attention to his

own business. He had bought and platted the

Silver Terrace addition to the city of San Diego.

After disposing of a considerable portion of this

property he built a fine home on six acres of

the land. He has fine grounds planted to

shrubs, flowers and trees, with a fountain and

fish pond, and his residence is one of the most

beautiful in the city. He ha6 also added an-

other subdivision to the terrace known as J. P.

Jones' addition to Silver Terrace.

Mr. Jones was married June 20, 1858, to

Miss May T. Blackmail, daughter of Nathan
Blackman, of Sidney, Maine. They have one

child, Etta M. Jones, born July 22, 1867. She

is married to J. II. Simpson, Jr., and resides in

San Diego. Mr. Jones is a charter member of

Heintzelman Post, No. 33, and is Past Post

Commander and now Commander of the Seventh

Inspection District Encampment. He belongs

to the A. O. U. W. and to the Knights of

Pythias. While in New York he belonged to

the United Sons of America. He is an en-

thusiastic lover of and believer in the great

future of the town of his adoption and is wide

awake to her interests.

^->8Shs#

tORATK) S. MASON was one of the origi-

nal purchasers of the town site and one of

the first citizens of Murrietta. He was

born in New York, December 25, 1830. His

ancestors came from England before the Revo-

lution. Mr. Mason's father, Hale Mason, was

a farmer and was born in 1778, and was mar-

ried to Miss Debora Henderson, of New York.

Her family were from Connecticut and were of

Scotch descent. She was married to Mr. Mason

iu 1799 and had a family of ten children, of

which Mr. Mason was the yonngett. He was

raised and educated in western New York.

When he was sixteen years of age he entered a

store as clerk, where he remained for six years.

In 1852 he came to California and settled down

in Alameda County, where he engaged in farm-

ing for eight years. In 1861 he went to Nevada

and settled in Carson City, where he did a suc-

cessful business for twenty-five years. In 1886

he came to Murrieta and purchased an interest

in the Murrieta ranch. They subdivided the

property and sold lots, and have been the pro-

moters of the growth of this beautiful village.

Mr. Masun ha= made a nice home near the town,
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has planted shrubs, flowers and fruit, and de-

signs to engage in fruit culture tin a large scale.

He was married, in 1858, to Miss Elizabe'h Jane

Cheney, who was born in Cortland County,

New York, in 1838, and was the daughter of

Mr. David J. Cheney. The result of their

union is four children: Cathro M., born in Ala-

meda County, in 1861; Edwin EL, born in Car-

son City, Nevada, in 1866; John C, born in

Carson City, in 1868 and Frederick L., born in

Carson City, in 1882. In 1865 Mr. Mason be-

came a Free and Accepted Mason, and has been

a leading Mason for many years. He has held

nearly every position in the order and was

elected an honoary member of the Masonic

Veteran Association of the Paciflc coast.

|*|R. HOMER L. WELLS, San Diego, is a

native ot Perrysville, Richland County,

Ohio, born October 30, 1839. His grand-

father was born and raised in New York. His

father, James Wells, was born in Madison

County, New York, October 10, 1796. They

were of English descent. His mother, Sarah

(Van Bnren) Wells, a cousin of President Van
Buren, was born in Madison County. New York,

March 28, 1801, and was married to James

Wells December 25. 1818. They had eight

children, of whom the Doctor was the youugest

but one. His early days were spent in Kalida,

Putnam County, Ohio, where he attended the

public schools until seventeen years of age. He
was then sent to the academy at Eox Lake,

Wisconsin. He graduated at the Eclectic Med-

ical Institute, Cincinnati, in 1878, and re-

ceived lectures on temperaments by Professor

Powell. Dr. Wells enlisted as a private soldier in

the army of the Republicon September 2, 1861,

in Company A, Fifty-6eventh Ohio Volunteers,

Captain A. B. Rice (afterward General Rice)

in command. He was in the following engage

ments: battle of Shiloh, April 6, 7 and 8, 1862,

in which he had command of Company A; on

the 8th was in the advance on Corinth, Missis-

sippi; was at the Russell How skirmish; was in

the skirmish at Morning Sun, June 30, 1862;

was at Vicksburg on the Chickasaw Bayou, on

December 27, 28, 29, 30 and 31, 1862, and Jan-

uary 1, 1863, and constituted a part of the rear

guard on the morning of January 2, 1863,

during the evacuation; was at the battle of Ar-

kansas Post, January 10 and 11, 1863; he was

also in the siege of Vicksburg under Generals

Grant and Sherman, and at the taking of Vicks-

burg was one of the tirst men inside the lines

when they surrendered. He remained there

until the close of the war. in camp and garrison

duty on detached service. He was promoted

three times, tirst to Third Sergeant, then First

Sergeant and then First Lieutenant. When he

was mustered out he went to his old home, and

from there to the medical college for the years

1865 and 1866. After graduating he went to

Van Wert, Ohio, and remained two years. He
went from there to Kansas, and was coroner

and surgeon of the Second Kansas National

Guards and United States Examining Surgeon.

He came to San Diego September 20, 1877, and

ha6 since been engaged in the practice of his

profession. He belongs to the G. A. R., and is

a member of Heintzelman Post, No. 33. He
is a member of the A. O. U. W. and of the

Knights of Pythias of Kansas. The Doctor is

a Baptist, but has not yet united with the church

in San Diego.

H. C. ECKER, of Coronado, was born

near Allegheny, Allegheny County,

Pennsylvania, May 6, 1849. When
four years old he we.it with his parents to Gal-

lipolis, Gallia County, Ohio, where he improved
the advantages of an academic education, later

attending the Law School in Cincinnati, gradu-

ating in 1874. He then returned toGallipolis,

where he practiced law until 1887, when on ac-

count of poor health his attention was turned

to California, and he came out in February of

that year, spending nine months at San Jose.
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In December of that year became to San Diego

and, tbe climate being beneficial, opened an

office and resumed the piactice of his profession

in general law. He is a resident of Coronado

and is deeply interested in the welfare of the

city of San Diego. As to climatic influences,

although living at sea level he experiences no

dampness therefrom ; and he finds the sea breezes

of the Pacific extremely toothing and healing

to his particular trouble ot throat and bronchial

tubes and asthma. He is a member of the Rose

Commandery, No. 43. of Gallipolis, Ohio.

N. BUCHANAN.— On the hillside west

of Murrietta may be seen a picturesque

° California home. This beautiful resi-

dence site, containing sixty acres of land, was

bought by Mr. Buchanan of the owners of the

town site, and it was the first purchase made

by an actual settler. The buyer showed his

good taste in making the selection, as he has

since sold half of the original purchase for

what the whole cost, leaving him his beau-

tiful homestead clear. He was born in Dan-

ville, Pennsylvania, May 9, 1849. His grand-

father, David Buchanan, came from Scotland and

settled in Pennsylvania; his wife was Rebecca

Hatfield, an Englishwoman. Their son, David

Buchanan, was born in Perry County, Pennsyl-

vania, and was a land owner and farmer. He
was married to Sarah N. Kepner, who was born

in Perry, and was of German descent. They had

a family of six children, all of whom are living.

While a young man, the subject of this sketch

learned several trades; first tanning, then plas-

tering, then cabinet-making and carpentry. He
now carries on a ranch, is a contractor and

builder, manufactures Robit fence, and sells and

sets up both the Adams and Splendid windmills.

He was married in Perry County, Pennsylvania,

May 2, 1870, to Miss Mary Snyder, who was

born in Perry County, in 1851. Her father,

Emanuel Snyder, was a farmer and native of

Pennsvlvania, and was of German descent. Mr.

Buchanan's family consists of five children:

Sarah E., born in Perry County October 8, 1871;

David E.. born in Dauphin County, July 28,

1875; A Hie J., born in Perry County, October

30, 1876; Catherine E., born in Grand Island,

Nebraska, January 6. 1885, and Josie Mabel,

the nice baby, born in Murrietta August 21

1889. He removed to Nebraska, where he fol-

lowed his business in several different places, but

finally lost his health. He was sick with the neu-

ralgia during the years 1881, 1882, 1883 and

1884, and removed to Murrietta, California, where

he arrived November 15, 1884. On February

5, 1885, he bought his land and built the first

residence, in which he now resides. Both him-

self and wife, and the two oldest children are

members of the Methodist Church, of which he

is class-leader and steward. Mr. Buchanan has

found that " a man's life does not consist in the

abundance of things which he has," and he car-

ries about with him a cheerful, pleasant smile,

indicative of the peace within.

fRANK H. CARPENTER is not only a

pioneer of Perris, but also a native of Cali-

fornia. He was born in San Joaquin

County, January 5, 1859. His father, Ira Car-

penter, was a native of Ohio. He came to

California in 1858, and settled near Stockton.

In 1856 he married Miss Mary Heald, daughter

of Amos Heald, a resident of New York. Their

son, the subject of this sketch, received his edu-

cation at Stockton in the public schools, and

followed farming for several years. He and his

father were also contractors in Los Angeles and

many of the beautiful streets of that city were

graded by them. In 1884 he came to Ferris

with his mother, and located a Government

claim of 160 acres adjoining the town of Perris,

which be improved until the town started. He
then platted a part of it to extend the town

" Carpenter's Addition to Perris." When Mr.

Carpenter first came into the valley where Perris

now is, there were only two or three houses near
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him: Mr. M. Lutz, Mr. L. D. Reynolds and

Albion Smith. Mrs. Albion Smith, his aunt

on his father's side, and Mr. Carpenter built

the first main building, a two-story hotel, that

was built, which has since been enlarged. He
afterward sold his interest to Mrs. Smith for a

stock of general merchandise at Pinicate. lie

moved the goods to Perris and opened the first

store, at that place, in a part of the hotel build-

ing. He continued the business for two and

one-half years, and was the first Postmaster in

that place, at the end of which time he sold his

store business and engaged in the real-estate

business. In March, 1888, he bought the

Perris livery stable, which he still owns. He
was married, August 20, 1888, to Miss Ada M.
Peebles, who was born in Lovilia, Iowa, in 1865.

Her parents are George Peebles and Mary
(Wray) Peebles. Her father was a farmer and

school-teacher, and her brother, Ed. L. Peebles,

is a member of the staff of the San Diego

County Reporter. Mr. and Mrs. Carpenter

have one child, Charles Casper, born in Perris,

July 7, 1889. Mr. Carpenter is a charter mem-
ber of the Independent Order of Foresters,

organized in Perris. When he came to Perris

he brought four horses, two cows and farming

implements. He now owus 620 acres of land,

175 town lots, and a well stocked livery stable,

and has accomplished this in six j'ears. He is

one of the leading, reliable and successful busi-

ness men in Perris.

~-&*mmHg—
IHOMAS J. CAPPS has been a resident

of San Diego since 1885. He was born

in Knoxville, Tennessee, July 6, 1827.

His ancestors were from England. Mr. Capps'

grandfather was a native of Virginia, born in

1752, and died at the age of eighty, in St. Clair

County, Alabama. Mr. Capps' father, Caleb

Capps, was a native of Tennessee, but had a

large plantation in Alabama. He was in the

Creek war under Jackson. His mother, Mar-
garet (Hood) Capps, was a daughter of Aaron

Hood and a cousin of General Hood. She was
married to Mr. Capps in 1832, and the union

was blessed with seven children, of whom the

subject of this sketch was the fourth. He spent

his young life in Alabama and Tennessee, on

the farm, where he plowed and hoed, cradled

and mowed and sowed, and on Sunday went to

the Baptist Church, He was sent to the Uni-

versity of East Tennessee at Knoxville. Boys
were selected and sent to be educated by the

State as cadets are sent to West Point. He
graduated in 1854, and was made Master of

Arts hy the same university in 1856. He
taught in the high school and read law till 1860;
he also read law with Casper W. Bell, and was
licensed to practice, and when the war broke

out he was practicing law at Kutledge, Ten-
nessee. He was offered the commission of

Major in the rebel army, but would not accept.

He was treated kindly by the rebel leaders, and
his opinion had often been asked in regard to

the result of the war. He told them he was in

sympathy with all the rights of the South, but
that the United States Government had never

infringed on any of them. He held the Union
paramount to all other questions and that the

United States must ultimately triumph. For
this stand he was respected by his friends, but

for some reason not known to him he was noti-

fied by the Provost Marshal to report to the

rebel conscript camp as a high private for duty.

He had no alternative but to flee to the woods.

He sent his wife and two children to her

father, who lived near Campbell's Station, and
left everything else behind him. He kept in

hiding during the day, and was concealed by a

Union family through the night, and at twilight

of the next evening, being fully prepared with

a haversack of provisions, he repaired to a secret

meeting of the Union men of Granger, Jeflerson

and Hawkins counties, in a secluded spot called

the Indian Old Fields. By midnight there were

about 1,200 Union men assembled. Each man
had a haversack full of provisions. Mr. Capps
had taken two drinks from his bottle of apple-

jack, and as he was unused to drinking it had
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made him about half drunk. Being a little

stupid lie sat down by a pine stump. Just then

some one got up on the stump and addressed

the promiscuous multitude, and in conclusion

made a motion that Prof. Capps act as their

leader and tell them what course to pursue.

Mr. Capps then took the stump and alluded to

the gravity of the situation and the dangers

surrounding them, thanked them for the honor

conferred on him, and said they would find him

at the gap of the fence next the road; there he

would form them in line four deep, and would

carry them through to the Union lines or to

h . They had to travel 150 miles before

getting to the Union lines. Through byways,

through woodlands and hills, they made their

way by day and night, having frequent skir-

mishes with squads of rebel cavalry, and at one

time they captured a whole company of rebels,

taking their horses and guns and ammunition,

but treated them well aud took them along with

(hem. They were headed off, however, by four

regiments of rebel cavalry under Mosby, near

Cumberland Gap, in Powell's valley, just at

the foot of Cumberland mountains, where they

had a desperate rough-and-tumble tight, forty

on each side being killed, and Mosby wounded,

and being surrounded on all sides, with 100

picked men he cut his way out and got into the

fastnesses of the Cumberland mountains, and

was safe. He was elected Captain of the com-

pany and joined the Firt-t Tennessee Cavalry,

forming Company F of said regiment under

Colonel Johnson at Camp Garber, on Cumber-

land river in Kentucky. He was at the cap-

ture of Cumberland Gap June, 1862, and was

on the retreat from Cumberland Gap under

Generals George Morgan and DeCoursey. He
resigned his commission of that regiment, went

to Lexington, Kentucky, where he raised and

drilled a regiment of Tennesseeans, in which

regiment, through General Burnside, he was

promoted to Colonel. They went to Camp
Nelson, and the Government stores at Lexington

were left unprotected.

The Confederates, under General Scott, were

marching on Lexington to capture and destroy

our Government stores there. General Hard-

saft, being apprised of General Scott's move,

telegraphed General Mott to send every avail-

able man on double-quick to protect Lexington.

There was at Camp Nelson two parts of Michi-

gan regiments of cavalry and part of a Ken-

tucky regiment, and there were four batteries

of artillery. General Mott being sick. Colonel

Capps took command of them and went on

double-quick to Lexington, got there just in

time, marched out on the Richmond road to

Ashland, there formed a line of battle and held

Scott in check until next morning, when they

were largely re-enforced by General Sanders,

who took command. They moved on Scott, had

a fight at Manchester, defeated him, capturing

a large number of prisoners; followed the re-

treating rebels up, and captured squad after

squad until Scott got away with no more than

a corporal's guard. They sent the prisoners

north, where they were well fed. The com-

mands all returned to Camp Nelson. Then

General Burnside planned his expedition to

capture Knoxville and Cumberland Gap. Col-

onel Capps was sent with his regiment with

othei-6 to invest Cumberland Gap on the west

side. After General Burnside had captured

Knoxville he invested Cumberland Gap on the

east, thus penning up abont 6,000 rebels, under

General Frazier, in the Gap; but the rebels had

more to eat than the Union forces, as they had

thousands of bushels of wheat and a good water-

mill to grind it. The only chance was to starve

them out, as an assault would have been sui-

cidal. Our heroic boys were equal to the occa-

sion. About 200 picked men made their way

into the mill, and with turpentine balls and

matches set the mill and stores on fire and

burned them up. General Frazier then sur-

rendered his whole command, and our forces

had the Gap again. General Burnside then de-

tached him and his regiment to go on an expe-

dition to burn bridges up into Virginia along

the East Tennessee & Georgia Railroad. On
the way up they had a fight at Jonesborongh
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with Pegram's command, routed them and then

went on up in Virginia, burned the bridges,

destroyed the wires and returned to Greenville.

About that time the battle of Chickamauga

came off, and General Burnside with his whole

command was sent to Knoxville, and from there

went further down and were met by Longstreet

with an overwhelming force. They fell back to

Campbell's Station and made a stand and a des-

perate bloody resistance. They then fell back

to Knoxville and commenced fortifying, and

kept Longstreet at bay for twenty-one days.

Their supplies were almost wholly exhausted

and condition hopeless, and they expected to

have to surrender the next day and go to Rich-

mond as prisoners of war, when during the

midnight hours their noble scout, Reynolds,

came in from General Grant, at Chattanooga,

informing them that they had won Mission

Ridge and Lookout Mountain and dispersed the

rebels, and General Sherman was on his way to

their succor, and to hold Knoxville at all haz-

ards, to the bitter death, which they did till

Dext evening. Late the next evening they heard

tiie booming of Sherman's cannon in the far

distance, and by daylight Longstreet made a

desperate onslaught on Fort Sanders, was des-

perately defeated, and in a few hours was on

his way retreating up the country, and Sher-

man's old veterans were marching into Knox-

ville, the bands playing Hail Columbia and our

batteries playing on the retreating ranks of the

rebels, and East Tennessee was saved. Colonel

Capps was wounded in the wrist by a piece of shell

and was one month in the service that he rode

with the bridle rein over his arm until gangrene

set in and he was discharged. He then went to

Central Illinois, where he engaged in the practice

of law, at Shelby vi lie, fcr fifteen years, when he

moved to Denver, Colorado, in 1878. In 1884

he left Denver with his three sons, having three

guns, a covered wagon and a complete camping

outfit, and traveled all over the western country,

stopping among all kinds of people in nearly all

kinds of places, never being molested in the least,

and finally bringing up at San Diego in 1886.

He was married to Miss Caroline Morris, and

to them were born the following children: Kate

Ann, born December 15, 1858, in Knox Coun-

ty, Tennessee; Edwin M., born December 25,

1861, in Knox County, Tennessee; Eugene E.,

born March 24, 1864, in Madison County, Ken-

tucky; Arthur V., born March 4, 1869, at Shel-

byville, Illinois. After being left with her

patents Mrs. Capps remained nearly a year,

and, contrary to the advice of her friends, took

her little children and started out to find her

husband. When told that it would be a haz-

ardous undertaking she said, " Where there

was a will there was a way.'' She traveled in

a small wagon by night and by day through a

country beset with lawless men and guerrillas,

down in the ravines, up through the mountain

steeps, over almost impassable roads, until she

reached Kentucky, when she was captured by

a rebel regiment. When she heard shots and

saw cavalry men making a rapid charge, and

the stars and stripes flying, she scarcely knew
what she was doing; but she found herself

standing up in the wagon waving her hand-

kerchief to the victorious hoys in blue. It was

a mounted regiment of Ohio infantry that had

pounced upon the rebels, driven them back and

rescued her and her children and brought them

through to the Union lines. She found her

husband, and General Burnside furnished her

with an ambulance, and in that way she fol-

lowed the army and sewed on buttons and

mended rent clothes for the soldiers and was

nearly worshiped by the men. As soon as a

battle was over she was on the field to see if

her husband was safe and to do what she could

for the wounded. She died December 15, 1879.

She was a good mother and a faithful wife.

Colonel Capps stayed with the children until

they were all grown, and in 1887 married Miss

Augusta K. Skelley, a resident of Riverside,

formerly from Canada. He became a Mason

in Tennessee in 1852, and joined the G A. R.

when it was first organized, and has been a

member ever since. He is now a member of

Heintzelman Post, No. 33, G. A. R., at San
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Diego, California. Such a man may be justly

proud of his loyalty to the Union and his light in

its defense. He is now about sixty-three years of

age, in the full vigor of mental and physical

ability. He is in easy circumstances, surround-

ed by all of his children, enjoying a quiet old

age, in the sun-kissed vales of Southern Cali-

fornia, under the flag of the Union, whose folds

now cover all the States and gives protection

to all.

•.T»f3""

^OOK BROTHERS & OAK.—In the lat-

ter part of the year 1887, Mr. Ora Oak

looking over Southern California f r a

place to engage in business. After considering

the merits of the many new places that were

starting in California at that time, he returned

to Oakland, most favorably impressed with San

Jacinto. In San Francisco he met Mr. Joseph

F. Hook, an old acquaintance, who was also de-

sirous of exchanging city for country business,

and they went t"> San Jacinto with the intention

of going into business there. But the real-es-

tate values being too high they went to Perris.

There they met Mr. George S. Blethen, from

whom they bought the property on which they

have since built. The bargain was closed for

block 3, January 3. 1888. In the months of

February and March following they put up

their store, and in April, 1888, the Perris Val-

ley Supply Company's general merchandise store

was opened. In August of the same year they

bought the ground and built their warehouse

and side-track. In addition to their general

store business they handle wagons, agricultural

implements, lime, cement, and are wholesale

dealers in hay, grain, honey, etc. From their

start they grasped the idea of what Perris

needed in the way of a supply store, and their

success has been beyond their highest expecta-

tions. The men who compose this firm are hard-

working, pushing men, who do business on the

live-and-let-live basis, and not only have their

eyes been wide open to their own interests but

also to the development and growth of their town.

They have been leading factors in the improve-

ments already made in Perris. The firm con-

sists of Joseph F. Hook, Albert W. Hook and

Ora Oak. They are all natives of the State of

Maine, which State has developed so many

hardy, self-reliant sons. Joseph F. Hook was

born in 1850, and Albert W. in 1856. They

came to Los Angeles in 1864, and in 1888 to

Perris, where with Ora Oak they began busi-

ness under the firm name of Hook Brothers &
Oak. Mr. Oak was born in Garland, Penob-

scot County, Maine, June 21, 1851; his ances-

tors were pioneers of Garland. After attending

the public schools of his town, the Foxcroft

Academy and a few months in the State College

of Maine, he came to California, arriving at

San Francisco January 1, 1872, and engaging

with the Bancrofts as entry clerk in their large

book-publishing house. In 1876 he went to

Nevada, where he remained five years, having

all the varied experiences of pioneer life. In

1881 he again went to work for Bancroft & Co.,

spending several years as their representative

in Old Mexico. In 1886 he came to Southern

California, the country of his choice.

Mr. Oak is an apt illustration of the ability

of the American to adapt himself to any phase

of life that presents itself. His firm has, in

him, a very efficient business man, and they en-

joy the trade and confidence of a wide tract of

country in their vicinity, which they appreciate.

They are deserving of all their success.

fSERBERTL. EMERY,of San Diego County,

born in Rockland, Maine, June 30,

1843, son of William S. and Lucy (Spauld-

ing) Emery, both descendants of Scotch-English

parents, but natives of Maine. William S. fol-

lowed the sea, being captain of the fine old

bark Louisiana, making successful voyages to

Europe, the West Indies, and other foreign

ports. He made his first trip to California in

1849 by way of the Horn, bringing freight and
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passengers. Like many New England people

he was the father of a large family, having

fourteen children, eight of whom are now living,

four sons and four daughters, of whom the sub-

ject of this sketcli is the fouith in order of

birth, having a twin brother, Henry. He came

to California in 1853, then being ten years of

age, and with his parents settled in Sacramento.

In 1864 he enlisted in the California Volun-

teers, who for eight months were stationed at

the Wilmington barracks, and were then ordered

to Fort Mojave, while the regulars at the fort

were sent to the front. He remained at the

fort two years, doing escort duty to the pioneer

wagon trains in defending them against the In-

dians. In 1866 his company was discharged

and he returned to Sacramento. In 1868, in

company with his father and twin brother, he

went on the Fort Yuma road, on the Colorado

desert, and bought up staging stations, where

they opened stores under the name of Emery
Brothers, which name and connection has been

continued through all their enterprises. Be-

coming familiar with the grazing grounds of

the locality they entered the cattle business,

through the purchase of their stock from the

drivers and exchanging hay therefor. Their in-

terests were extended to Pine valley, through

the purchase cf school lands then occupied by

a Texan, who for $50 gave up the possession

and left the valley. Emery Brothers held pos-

session until 1873 when the Government sur-

veys were made and they took up and purchased

2.000 acres, which comprise the area of avail-

able land in the entire Pine valley, that lies

at an elevation of 3,700 feet, but is shut out by

the mountains from all sea breezes. The val-

ley is subject to heavy frosts and much snow.

but having a fine supply of running water it

affords a fine valley for the grazing and rear-

ing of stock. They have a herd of 600 head of

cattle, which has been vastly improved through

interbreeding with the Hereford stock, a small

well-knit animal, adapted to grazing and beef

rather than milk-forming qualities.

Henry, the twin brother, died in 1888, but

the firm name continues the same. The father

and mother, at the ages of seventy-three and

seventy respectively, are still living, upon a

ranch owned by the subject, in what is called

the Alpine district, whieh is the warm belt of

Southern California and extremely healthy for

invalids. Mr. Emery also owns a fruit ranch of

100 acres, near Santa Cruz, where he grows the

French prune, which he cures on his ranch

and markets under the firm name He is a

man tilled with New England thrift and enter-

prise, whose younger days were fraught with

great hardships in his pioneer experiences, bnt

is enjoying the fruit of his labors and devotes

his time to the management of his several

estates.

fDMOND NUGENT, M. D., F. R. C. S. 1.,

San Diego, was born in County Dublin,

Ireland, March 8, 1834, of parents who
were natives of Ireland. His father, Edmond
Nugent, was an Episcopal clergyman, and his

grandfather, Sir Edmond Nugent, was for two

terms Lord Mayor of the city of Dublin. The
subject of this sketch was educated in Dublin,

is a graduate of Trinity College, and in medi-

cine a graduate of the King and Queen's College

of Physicians, and in surgery Fellow of the

Royal College of Surgeons, graduating with

full diplomas at the age of twenty-one. He
left at once for New York, in December, 1855,

as surgeon on board the sailing vessel Ontario,

a passenger ship, owned by Grinnell, Minturn

& Co., of New York, carrying 365 passengers.

After a passage of twenty-eight days, much of

which was through rough seas which frequently

swept the decks, carrying away all the upper

saloons and life-boats, they landed in New York

with no loss of life. After a short sojourn in

JNew York, the Doctor went to Ontario, Canada,

where he remained about three years, practicing

his profession.

He there married Miss Jane Charlotte Branan,

of Ontario, Canada, a native of Ireland, and re-
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turned to Dublin with his wife in December,

1859, where he spent sixteen years in practice.

He was honored with several Government and

other appointments, among them that of Sur-

geon Agent to the British Admiralty, Examiner

at the College of Surgeons, and several dis-

pensary, coast guard and constabulary appoint-

ments. In 1875 he returned with his family to

Ontario, Canada, where he practiced until 1885,

when, on account of the illness of his son, his

attention was drawn to the genial cLimate of

Southern California. Arriving at San Diego

city in October of that year, he at once began

the practice of his profession in general medi-

cine at his present location in the Bakesto

block, Fifth street. Seeking a higher altitude

for his son, he was attracted to the Alpine dis-

trict, which is elevated 1,150 feet, called the

middle or warm belt, a district most favorable

to all classes of invalids requiring an even, dry

atmosphere, particularly to those suffering from

affections of the throat and lungs. There the

Doctor bought a ranch of 320 acres, and he

finds the climate particularly adapted to nearly

all the fruits of Southern California. The

peaches and pears of the Alpine district having

a special reputation, he has about eighty acres

in fruit, largely in grapes for raisins and wines;

also peaches, pears, oranges, nectarines, prunes,

olives and walnuts. There are numerous flow-

ing springs in the district, one of which, on the

Doctor's grounds, is seven feet deep and twelve

feet in diameter, the admiration of all comers,

never changing its flow or temperature in sum-

mer or winter, but continuous from year's end

to year's end, and noted for its purity.

The Doctor has had six children, five of

whom, one son and four daughters, are living.

His son-in-law, Captain G. P. A. Beabazon, a

native of Ireland, now resides on his ranch, but

the Doctor now thinks of retiring from active

practice, so that he may end his days in peace

and quietness in that most delightful of climates,

'neath his own vine and fig-tree. The Doctor

has an exceptional and most interesting family.

Highly educated and most accomplished, yet

modest and retiring, their agreeable good sense

and consistent lives commend them to the high-

est esteem and respect of those who know them,

and to a rare appreciation in the higher spheres

in which they move.

fULIUS C. RIEGER, one of the bright, in-

telligent young business men of Berris, and

the assistant Postmaster, was born in Ger-

many, March 11, 1861. His father, A. P. Rie-

ger, and his mother, Pauline (Glathar) Rieger,

were both natives of Germany. They had a

family of ten children, of whom the subject of

this sketch was the fourth. He received his

education in the public schools of Wiirtemberg.

When fourteen years of age he went to learn the

cabinet-maker's trade, and served a two years'

apprenticeship at that business. In 1876 he

came to Bloomington, Illinois, where he opened

a meat market. He remained here for a year,

when he went to Havana, Illinois, where he

clerked for five years for the firm of G. T.

Meyer & Co. He came to Perris in 1884, and

took up a Government ranch of 160 acres, on

which he built a house and barn, and planted

trees, shrubs, and made other improvements.

He remained here one year, when he purchased

the Perris Valley Leader, and formed a part-

nership with Mr. E. L. Peebles. He continued

the publication of this paper for one year, when

he sold it. The paper was the first one pub-

lished in the place, and he was its publisher the

second year of its existence. Mr. H. S. Ehrman

was the original owner and publisher. Mr.

Rieger then purchased an interest in the firm of

Mapes & Coppel, and is now engaged with his

partners in running the only exclusive family

grocery and rovision store in Perris. The

postoffice occupies the first corner of their store,

and they enjoy a trade that extends eight or

nine miles in each direction.

Mr. Rieger was married to Miss Mary E.

Therriault, at San Diego. She was born in New
Brunswick, December 12, 1869. They have
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two children, both born in Perris: Paul, born

December 12, 1887, and Elmer, born February

25, 1889. Mr. Rieger is a temperance man,

and a member of the Independent Order of

Foresters. He is also chaplain of the lodge.

He is a trustee of the German Methodist Church,

and while the church was being built he was the

secretary of the building committee, and both

he and his wife are members of this church.

He was assistant station agent for one year, and

has been deputy Postmaster for four years. He
is a quick and obliging business man, and is ever

ready to help in all things that pertain to the

advancement of Perris.

fUDGE CHARLES F. MONROE, a resi-

dent near Poway. To the early pioneers

is California largely indebted for its present

growth and prosperity, coming as they did when

its soil was supposed to be unproductive and the

resources of its valleys undreamed of, and here

midst hardships unnumbered have they demon-

strated to the world that California in soil, min-

erals and climate embrace the products of the

Universe. Among the early pioneers we find

the subject of this sketch, who was born in

Salem, Massachusetts, February 28, 1842, being

the youngest in a family of six children. His

father, George Monroe, was by trade a tanner,

carrying on business at Salem, and though in

advanced life, he enlisted in the civil war, going

as Captain of a company in Colonel Manning's

regiment of artillery. They were sent to New
Orleans, and while landing he was shot from

ambush, in September, 1863, dying from the

effects of the wounds. The mother of the sub-

ject of this sketch, Mary Elizabeth (Massey)

Monroe, is a lineal descendant of the first white

child, Goodman Massey, who was born at Salem,

about 1635. Charles F. resided at Salem until

fourteen years of age and was graduated from

the old " Hacker" grammar-school. He came

to California with his eldest brother, George,

in 1856, by the old Nicaragua route. After

his arrival in San Francisco he continued his

education at Dr. Durand's private school at

Oakland. In 1857 he began his trade of me-

chanical engineer, serving an apprenticeship of

four years with Thomas Ogg Shaw, of San Fran-

cisco. In 1861 he took a portable engine and

thresher and traveled through Yolo County,

threshing wheat, which created great excitement,

being the first steam thresher in that country.

In 1862 he went to the Coso, Inyo County

mining district, which was his first introduction

into mining. He was there about two years,

but much of the time was passed in fighting the

Piute Indians, being the year of the Owens

River Indian war, when 900 warriors were held

at bay with a mere handful of men. He then

went to Placerville, and then to San Francisco,

where in 1865 he was appointed deputy sheriff

and served until 1868, and that being the year

of the great Democratic victory all Republicans

were turned out of office, Charles F. among the

number.

Mr. Monroe was married in June, 1868, in

San Francisco, to Miss Sarah A. Clark, a native

of Illinois. He then acted as business manager

of the Golden Era, a very valuable weekly news-

paper with an able corps of writers. The first

mine was struck at Julian, February 22, 1870,

and on account of the great excitement, Mr.

Monroe immediately visited the mining dis-

trict, prospecting a little, but more particularly

in the capacity of mining engineer, and he as-

sisted in erecting every quartz mill in Julian

up to 1882. In 1878 be was elected Justice of

the Peace at Julian, and was re-elected in 1880

and 1882. December 13, 1882, he was shot in

the leg by a disgruntled mining engineer. The

ball shattered his leg very badly and amputa-

tion was necessary close to the hip. After re-

gaining his health a more quiet life was neces-

sary, and he moved to San Diego in June, 1884,

and began the study of law. In November,

1884, he was elected Justice of the Peace of

San Diego, and before the term was expired the

city became incorporated under fifth class, and

he was elected first city recorder. He was re-
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elected to both offices in 1886-'87. respectively,

and in 1888 the city changed charter from fifth

to fourth class, on account of increase of popu-

lation. In November, 1888, Mr. Monroe was

elected first police judge, holding the office

until May, 1889, when he was legislated out of

office by the new charter. During the year 1888,

he was admitted to practice in the Supreme

Court, and since May has followed his profes-

sion. During his term of office not one of his

decisions were ever reversed. He is now retir-

ing from active practive in view of settling upon

a fruit ranch near Poway, which he is improving.

February 29, (?) 1889, Mr. Monroe was elected

president of the San Diego Pioneers, and he is

a member of the Improved Order of Red Men.

fH.
CRAWFORD, one of the best farmers

of Perris, was born near Norwich, Canada,

° January 27, 1860. His father, John B.

Crawford, is a resident and orange grower of

Riverside; his mother, Anna P. (Schooley)

Crawford, was also born in Canada. They had

six children. The subject of this sketch went

to the public schools and finished at the Norman

School in Dundass. In 1874 he came to Cali-

fornia; he landed at Sacramento and went from

there to San Francisco, where he staid two weeks

and then bought a mule team and traveled all

over Southern California for three montli6,

finally arriving at San Diego, and from there he

came to Riverside. His father bought there, in

1875, when it was only a little place, in Alding-

ton Settlement, a forty-acre ranch, and planted

twenty acres to oranges and the balance to apri-

cots and alfalfa. Since, it is all oranges. Mr.

J. II. Crawford left there in 1883, and bought

forty acres at $25 per acre, in Elsinore, planted

twenty acres to apricots, ten to alfalfa, and the

balance was reserved for nursery. When land

advanced he sold the twenty acres of trees for

$750 per acre; for the remaining twenty acres

he was offered $12,000, but did not accept. He

took the money he received for his land and

bought eighty acres of land three-quarters of a

mile northeast of Perris. Mr. Crawford's regu-

lar business is that of fruit-growing. He moved

to Perris in 1887, and built a good house and

barns, planted grounds, and has one of the most

home-like nice places in the whole valley. This

is another of the many ranches on which there

is no waste land. October 24, 1888, he was mar-

ried to Miss Lucy A. Hume, a native of Carle-

ton County, Province of Canada, daughter of

John Hume, also a native of Canada. Mr. Craw-

ford i6 a Presbyterian, and Mrs. Crawford be-

longs to the Congregational Church. They are

both very worthy citizens of Perris.

#^*pM#

f
LIVER NASON SANFORD, a promi-

nent citizen of San Diego, was born Sep-

tember 21, 1847, and has been a resident

of San Diego since September, 1872. His

father, Oliver S. Sanford, for many years in-

terested in railroads, was a native of Newark^

New Jersey. The family is of English and Scotch

descent. He married Miss Nason, of Hallo-

well, Maine, daughter of Bartholomew Nason.

They had a family of three children, of whom
Oliver Nason was the oldest. He was a gradu-

ate of the Institute of Technology of Boston.

After graduating he went into the New York &
New England railroad office, where he remained

about two years, and after this had charge of

the general ticket office for the same corporation

until he came to California, twenty years ago.

He settled in Oakland, surveying in that vicin-

ity; the last two years with the Southern Pacific

Railroad. In September, 1872, he came to San

Diego and was with the Texas Pacific until

they gave up work in Southern California.

Then for the next few years he spent a large

share of his time at El Cajon, where he bought

and improved what is now known as the Chris-

itan Place. He was with the California South-

ern during the time of their building. On

leaving that road he was elected County Sur-

veyor, which position he held for four years_
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The first true graded county roads started under

his administratfon. He has also, for six years

held the office of City Engineer which position

he resigned January 1, 1889. During his city

administration the first graded streets were

made, the first street paving and the first sewer-

ing of the city. The first motors and street

railroad were built during his administration.

He was married in Oakland, California,October

21, 1876, to Miss Fannie Newell Egan, of Hyde

Park, Massachusetts, daughter of William Egan.

Their union was blessed with two children, both

born in El Cajon: William Oliver, born May

30, 1878, and Helen Nason, born February 2,

1880. Mr. Sanford is a Good Templar, a mem-

ber of the Congregational Church and a mem-

ber of the Chamber of Commerce. They are

a family of culture, refinement and integrity.

fOHN FALKENSTE1N, of San Diego, was

a native of Preston County, West Virginia,

born near Brucetown Mills, April 12, 1834.

His father, Samuel Falkenstein, was a native of

Germany, and came to America with his father

when he was eight years if age and settled at

Philadelphia. His mother, Ann (Stuck) Falk

enstein, was a native of New Jersey. They

had a family of eleven children, seven boys and

four girls, of whom the subject of this sketch

was the fourth. When the war began Mr.

Falkenstein lived in a part of Virginia where

there was a strong rebel sentiment, and one Colo-

nel Martin made an effort to organize a rebel reg-

iment. At one of their rebel meetings Mr.

Falkenstein was offered a first lieutenancy if

he would go with them. He, with others, got

on their horses and went home. Later in the

season there were such persistent efforts made

to get him into the rebel service that he went

to Morgantown and October 12, 1861, enlisted as

a private in the service of his country in Com-
pany C, third Regimeut of West Virginia Caval-

ry. They were mustered and equipped at Park-

ersburg, Virginia. He served three years and

three months,having been promoted meantime to

the position of Quartermaster Sergeant. He en-

listed as a private in the service of his country

in preference to a commission in the ranks of

its enemies. He was with the victorious Army
of the Potomac through all its several marches

and long and bloody struggles against a very

desperate enemy, commanded by a most ac-

complished military chieftain, Robert E. Lee,

excepting the first engagement at Bull Run and

the battle of Antietam. While scouting near

Monfield, at Sheets Mills, his horse fell and in-

jured his hip and back, from which injury he

has never fully recovered. This accident dis-

abled him for about two months, but he staid

with his command. Afterward near Culpeper

Court House his horse jumped in a trench and

fell on him, and he suffered for two months from

that fall but did not leave his regiment. At

Beverly Ford, Virginia, he was overcome with

heat, so that he has ever since suffered with

headache when the weather is hot. His first

company of seventy-six men was decimated to

eighteen ablebodied men, and his second com-

pany of ninety-six men had only thirty-six

men when it was mustered out. After he

was mustered out he enlisted in the Government

service as a carpenter and was in that service

six mouths. From there he traveled west

through Iowa, Nebraska and Kansas, seeking

for a home. He settled in Wichita, Kansas, on

160 acres of Government land which he im-

proved and held for about eighteen years. In

1884 he sold out, some of the land selling

for $150 per acre and some for $200. He then

went back to Fayette County, Pennsylvania, and

was there two years. He then, in 1886, came to

San Diego, where he bought property and built

a home. He is now Public Administrator of

San Diego County. He was married August 5,

1886, to Mrs. Shepherd, a native of West Vir-

ginia, daughter of J. C. and Ann Foreman, and

widow of Dr. F. C. Shepherd, who was a most

eminent and skilled physician and surgeon.

Her ancestors were New England Quakers of

English descent. She is a member of the
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Christian Church. Mr. Falkenstein is a mem-

ber of the G. A. R. and belongs to Heintzel-

man Post, No. 33.

, a .^-|,.t.,rg-. s • -n-

PEARDSLEY BROTHERS are two enter,

prising and industrious young ranchers in

the vicinity of Perris. Arthur, the oldest

of these brothers, was born in Yolo, California,

March 22, 1862; Nelson, the other brother and

partner in all their farming transactions, was

born in Solano County, California, January 21,

1866. Both of these brothers are Good Tem-

plars. Their father, E. A. Beardsley, was a

native of the State of New York, but lived

many years in Illinois and Iowa, and in 1860

he moved with his family to California, and now

resides in Lodi, San Joaquin County. He was

married in 185-4 to Miss Maria Pitcher, and

had eight children, six boys and two girls. Only

one of the boys are dead. Their father and

family removed to the San Jacinto valley in

November, 1882, and took up 160 acres of

land which is now owned by Nelson. In ad-

dition to this he bought a section of railroad

land. May 29, 1885, Arthur took up 160

acres of land, on which he has built a house

and made other improvements. Nelson is a

member of the Independent Order of Forest-

ers at Perris. In 1887 they sowed 260 acres

of barley and eighty acres of wheat, and they

are now (1889) getting the ground ready to

sow 320 acres of barley. The soil of their

ranches is a sandy loam and is easily plowed.

They have excellent water; one well thirty feet

deep and the other well fifty feet deep. These

young men enjoy the esteem of their friends

and the community in which they live, and will

no doubt make capable factors in the growth of

the new county in which they have settled.

C. A. Beardsley has been a resident of Cali-

fornia nearly all his life, and is now one of the

industrious farmers of the great San Jacinto

valley. He was born in La Salle County, Illi-

nois, April 4, 1859. His parents, E. A. and

Maria (Pitcher) Beardsley, came to California

when he was two years old, in 1861. His school

days were spent in the public schools at Main

Prairie, Solano County, California. He was

raised n fanner. The first four years of his res-

idence in San Diego County was spent in

Pleasant valley, and he located his present ranch

November 13, 1884. He has built and made

improvements on it and sows about 160 acres of

grain yearly since he settled in the valley. He
was married March 30, 1887. to Miss Hatty

Foster, born in Kansas. August 9, 1864. They

have one son: Howard A., born in Pleasant

valley, January 11, 1888. Mr. Beardsley is a

temperance man, a Good Templar, and a member

of the Independent Order of Foresters He is

a worthy citizen.

W. GUTH RIDGE, a rancher of

Spring valley.—There lived in Jasper

County, Indiana, an honest farmer,

who in addition to his daily toil week days,

preached the Gospel of the Son of God, without

money and without price, to his neighbors and

the country about him on Sundays. He was a

Christian minister and a very strict temperance

man at a time when the temperance cause was

in its infancy. His name was Harrison P.

Guthridge. He was born in Ohio in 1817, and

married Emily Williamson, who was born in

Pickaway, Ohio, in 1820. They had a family

of six children. The father and mother and one

child was taken sick with typhoid fever and died

in one day, in 1857, and as the neighbors and

friends bore them to the funeral it was the saddest

day the country had ever seen. Five little orphan

children were left. One of these orphans was W.
W. Guthridge, who is the subject of this sketch.

He was born in Jasper County, Indiana, Sep-

tember 30, 1846. For a time after the death of

his parents he lived with his uncle,Albert J. Guth-

ridge, at Urbana, Ohio- When older he returned

to the old home, and he and an older brother

kept house together. When the war began his
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brother enlisted in Company K, Forty-eighth

Indiana Volunteer Infantry, and in one of the

hard battles he was badly wounded, captured

and was a prisoner in Libby prison. He was

finally permitted to go home, and died May
16, 1866. In 1863, when the war had reached

immense proportions, and when it had been dis-

covered that to enlist meant hard fighting and

great danger, the tires of patriotism and hero-

ism tired the breast of young Guthridge, and

when only seventeen years of age be enlisted in

Company A, Eighty-seventh Indiana Volunteer

Infantry, and was afterward transferred to the

Forty-second Indiana Volunteer Infantry. He
saw much hard service; was in the battle of

Chattanooga, at Mission Ridge, and at the battle

of Atlanta, and went with General Sherman

from Atlanta to the sea. He went on foot with

the army from Louisville to Nashville, to Chat-
j

tanooga, to Atlanta, to Savannah, Georgia, to

Raleigh, North Carolina, and to Goldsborough.

Then peace was declared and he marched to

Richmond, Virginia, and thence to Washington

and participated in the grand review. He was

on foot in that great parade all day, with

nothing to eat but what the citizens handed

them as they passed by. During the time he

was a soldier at the front he was under tire a

great deal, and was on the skirmish line for

weeks at a time. When in one of the engage-

ments near Atlanta, he received a ball across

the stomach which gave him a slight wound
but not deep, and his clothing was shot several

times. At one time, in the panic and excite-

ment of a battle, three of them took fifteeo

prisoners, including an officer, and carried the

fourteen guns and officer's sword back with them

to the Union lines. After the war was over he

returned home, and in 1867 was married to Miss

McCulloch. After five years of married life

his wife died. He then went to Missouri and

farmed in Daviess County one year. Next he

went to Coffeeville, Kansas, and took upa ranch.

He was on it four years, when he, leaving his

wife with her father in Daviess County, Missouri,

sold out and went to Prescott, Arizona, with

6took, and while there he learned of his wife's

death; and from there he went to Los Angeles,

California, with a team. He went to Carpen-

teria, Santa Barbara County, and bought land at

$60 per acre. In ten years he sold it for $400

per acre. He was again married August 11,

1875, in Santa Barbara County, to Miss Emma
M. Way. She was born April 25, 1857, in Blue

Earth City, Minnesota. She was a daughter of

Mr. W. A. Way, who was a native of Water-

bury, Connecticut. They lived in Santa Bar-

bara eight years; then on account of Mrs. Guth-

ridge's health they removed to Los Angeles and

were there two years. They then came to Spring

valley and bought 1,000 acres of land, where

they have a very cozy home and are farming i^

on a large scale. This year he intends to sow

900 acres of grain. They are doing some
stock farming also. They have three children:

William Alonzo, born in Santa Barbara County,

October 7, 1876; Hallet G., born in Santa Bar-

bara County, June 12, 1881, and Emma Pearl,

born in Spring valley, February 13, 1886, and

died April 12, 1890, of curvature of the spine

and consequent brain trouble. Mr. and Mrs.

Guthridge are people of refinement, and he is

a very hard-working and capable farmer.

N. HARVEY, a rancher of Menifee

valley, was born in Geauga County,

Ohio, March 10, 1847. His father,

Mr. John Harvey, was born iu England, De-

cember 25, 1812, and came to America in 1841;

his mother, Anne (Short) Harvey, was a native

of England, born in 1806. They had six chil-

dren, of whom Mr. Harvey was the fifth. He
attended the common schools of his native State,

and when he became a man he took his father's

farm to work and carried it on successfully for

five years. December 10, 1882, he came to

California and stopped at San Bernardino. He
went into the mountains and engaged in lumber-

ing and followed that business most of the time

for three years. In December, 1885, he came
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to Menifee valley, and bought 320 acres of land

of the railroad company and built his present

nice house and planted trees. He went hack to

San Bernardino, where he worked for nearly a

year, and on March 14, 1886, Mas married to

Miss Nellia Edkins, daughter of Mr. George

Ed kins. She was born in England, September,

1854. They moved to their present place

November 1, 1886. He is sowing his farm to

barley and wheat, and having honesty and in-

dustry to back him, he is destined to be a

wealthy and influential citizen of the place of

his choice— Menifee.

J||OBERT H. LONG, rancher near Pern's,

fj|f' was born ten miles south of Corydon (the

^^ former capital of the State, and now the

capital of Harrison County), Indiana, July 13,

1841. His father was Thomas Long, and his

grandfather, James Long, was a Baptist minis-

ter. Mr. Long was born in the house that was

built by his grandfather. The family were

originally from Tennessee. Mr. Long's mother

was Anna (Allison) Long. Her parents were

pioneers of Allison prairie, eastern Illinois,

which was named after them. His parents had

eleven children, the subject of this Eketch being

the youngest. He was educated in the public

schools of his State, and when he was twenty-

six years of age he removed to Kansas and pur-

chased 160 acres of land in Coffee County. He
remained on it three years and then sold it and

removed to Indiana. "While there he was mar-

ried to Miss Sarah C. Rickard, February 21,

1871. She was a daughter of Noah and Jane

Rickard, and was born May 23, 1851, near her

husband's residence in Harrison County, Indi-

ana. Her father, Noah Rickard, was a soldier

in the great war of the Rebellion. He was a

member of the Fifty-third Regiment, Indiana

Infantry, and died at Vicksburg, where he was

buried. Her brother, Fielden B. Rickard, also

volunteered in defense of his country. He

served in the Seventeenth Indiana and was

wounded, but lived through it, re-enlisted and

served his country honorably until the close of

the war. In 1871 Mr. Long returned to Kansas

and bought eighty acres of prairie land and

made a farm of it. He remained there until

1880, when he sold it. Here they lost their

daughter, Laura C, by diphtheria, and they went

to California to get relief from their sorrows.

They traveled through the northern part of the

State and Oregon. They remained in Lynn

County, Oregon, about six weeks, afterward

went back to Sacramento by team and returned

by train to Iowa and from there to Indiana,

where they spent the 'winter and then returned

to Kansas, where they remained four year.-. In

November, 1884, they came to Los Angeles and

from there to Colton and then to Perris, where

he took up 157 acres of Government land, and

has made his home here since. It is a nice

tract of land, east of the railroad track and three

miles southwest of Perris, on which he raises

stock and deals in all kinds of fruit. The births

occurring in their family are as follows: The

child that died, Laura C, was born February

10, 1872; Emma J., in Kansas, June 20, 1874;

Ollie, October 2, 1878; Ida May, March 13,

1880; James A., January 27, 1883, and R. H.,

January 14, 1886, in Perris. While in Kansas

Mr. Long was elected for two terms township

trustee. They are very honest, nice people.

AJOR WILLIAM II. BA1LHACHE,
of San Diego, was born in Chillicothe,

Ohio. After leaving school he was

trained in the newspaper business under his

father's direction, with whom he became as-

sociated in 1850 in the publication of the Alton

(Illinois) Telegraph. He removed to Spring-

field in 1855 to take the general management

of the Illinois State Journal, and held that

position about eighteen years, except while ab-

sent during the war. He was on the most in

timate terms with Abraham Lincoln from 1856

until he became President, and the State Jour-
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nal, published in his home city, was regarded

as his mouthpiece. It was during this interval

that the State of Illinois was the scene of the

most intense political excitement in its history.

Lincoln and Douglas were contesting for the

position of United States Senator, and engaged

in the famous joint debate which gave Mr.

Lincoln a national reputation. In 1861 he was

commissioned by the President as United States

Quartermaster, with the rank of Captain. He
served through the war, was brevetted Major,

and received the highest testimonials from the

Quartermaster General, United States Army.

The records of the War and Treasury Depart-

ments will reveal his standing as an officer in

ihe army, and also in the civil service. Re-

moved from Springfield in 1874, and a few

years later settled in New Mexico. Was com-

missioned by President Arthur in 1881 as Re-

ceiver of Public Moneys at Santa Fe, which

position he held four years. The desire to go

West impelled him to proceed to California in

1886, and he has since been engaged in news-

paper work. Resides in San Diego.

His wife, Adaline, is the eldest daughter of

General Mason Brayman, of Illinois, whose

history is a part of the history of his country.

Her father's ancestors were English, and came

to the United States at an early date. Her

mother's maiden name was Mary Williams,

whose ancestry were English and Welsh, but

the American branch belonged to Revolutionary

stock. Four children resulted from this union:

John Mason, Arthur Lee, Adaline and Wilhel-

mina Mary. The sous are favorably known in

the business circles of San Diego.

The Major's father, John Bailhache, was a

native of the Island of Jersey. His paternal

grandfather was a teacher; his name was also

John. His grandmother's maiden name was

Mary De La Perrelle, whose near relatives held

high rank in the island. The family history is

to the effect that two brothers, John and Nicho-

las, came from Normandy soon after the con-

quest of England by King William, and the

public records of the island give the name Bail-

hache in the list of the first settlers. John

Bailhache, the father of our subject, came to

the United States in 1810 to visit relatives in

Ohio, and being unable to return, on account of

the blockade, he engaged in the newspaper busi-

ness in Chillicothe, where he edited and pub-

lished the Scioto Gazette many years. While

thus occupied he was elected to represent Ross

County in the Legislature, and was also chosen

Associate Judge of the Court of Common
Pleas. Upon the removal of the seat of Gov-

ernment to Columbus, he disposed of the Ga-

zette and established the Ohio State Journal,

which he 'conducted until his removal to Illi-

nois. During his residence in Columbus he

was elected State Printer, and also Mayor of

the city. He filled a conspicuous place in the

early history of Ohio, and exerted an influence

second to none in molding a pure and correct

public sentiment in the then almost unknown

and inaccessible Northwest Territory, at a period

when society was in its formative condition.

He enjoyed the confidence and friendship of

Henry Clay, General William Henry Harrison,

and the leading minds of his party in Ohio, and

took a very active part in the politics of that

State. Few men of his time left a more lasting

impression there. He removed to Illinois in

1837, and purchased the Alton Telegraph, which

he conducted until a short time before his death,

September 3, 1857. He represented Madison

County in the Illinois Legislature in 1842-'43.

Tl^ subject's mother, Elizabeth, was the

daughter of Rev. Dr. William Heath, of Vir-

ginia, whose ancestors were English. Her
mother's maiden name was Sarah A. Watson;

she was a native Virginian of Revolutionary

stock, a relative of the famous Lee family.

Judge Bailhache left three sons, the youngest

of whom, Arthur Lee, was a Lieutenant in the

Thirty-eighth Illinois Infantry Volunteers, and

perished during the war of the Rebellion. Our
subject's remaining brother, Preston H. Bail-

hache, is the Surgeon-in-chief in charge of the

United States Marine Hospital Service on the

Pacific coast
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This history of the Bailhache family in the

United States would be incomplete without

reference to the sons of our subject's uncle,

Nicholas, who came to the United States some

years later than his father, and settled in Cain-

bridge, Ohio. He left two sons; John Nicholas

Bailhache, the eldest, resides on his ranch, which

is a portion of the Sotoyome grant, near Healds-

burg, California; and Morgan H. Bailhache,

who is the Postmaster of Martinez, California.

They are both old and popular citizens of Cali-

fornia.

fOIIN H. SNYDER, one of the self-made

men of San Deigo, was born in Tuscaraw-

as County, Ohio, August 29, 1843. His

father, Solomon J. H. Snyder, was a native of

Maryland, born near Harper's Ferry, February,

1812, and married Miss Susan Winklepleck.

The family on both sides were of German de-

scent. The uuion was blessed with* seven

children, of whom the subject of this sketch is

the youngest living. His school opportunities

were quite limited. The family moved to Kan-

sas in 1854, when it was very thinly settled,

and no school-house decked its plains anywhere

in their vicinity, so that this young boy was de-

prived of the opportunities he would have been

glad to enjov. His young life was spent on the

farm, having less than nine months of schooling,

and that before he was nine years old. In 1860,

when he was seventeen years of age, but so

small he weighed only seventy-three pounds, he

drove an ox team across the plains. In 1862 he

enlisted in Company F, Thirteenth Kansas Vol-

unteers infantry. He was mustered in Septem-

ber 20, and was all through to the close of the

war. He served in the Army of the West under

General Blunt, and was in many skirmishes.

The most severe battle he was in was that of

Prairie Grove, Arkansas. He had many close

calls, but was never severely wounded or injured.

He was sick several times but never gave out

bad enough to go to the hospital. After coming

out of the service he clerked in a grocery store

for awhile. In 1869 he went into the grocery

business in Leavenworth, Kansas, on his own

account, and in 1873 he sold out and came

to California to look for a location. After visit-

ing various localities on the coast, he concluded

to locate permanently in San Diego. Believing in

the future commercial importance of the city,

he invested to some extent in city property,

after which he returned to Leavenworth, Kan-

sas, where in June, 1875, he was married to

Miss Jennie Whiteley, daughter of Abner

Whiteley, late of Springfield, Ohio, and a mem-
ber of that well-known family of inventors and

manufacturers of reapers and mowers. Then

he came, with his wife, direct to San Diego and

bought the place he now occupies. They have

one child living, Minnie, born in San Diego,

June 29, 1877. Mr. Snyder is a member of

the G. A. R., and belongs to Heintzeltnan Post,

No. 33. He was elected city trustee three

times and served six years, and the last term

was president of the board; during that term

he was a member of the harbor commission

and also its president. He built the block

known as the Snyder block on 6th street,

between E and F, and contemplates building a

larger and finer block, in the near future. Mr.

Snyder's father was a Lutheran, and one of the

originators of the first Lutheran church organi-

zations in Kansas (at Monrovia). He was a

vigorous and fluent writer, and did much to

make Kansas a free State. He represented his

county (Atchison), both in the House of Rep-

resentatives and the State Senate, and proved

himself an able and influential legislator. The

settlers in Kansas suffered greatly during the

time that the effort was made to make it a slave

state. Mr. Snyder, Sr., worked in the field

many a day with his gnn beside him, and the

family lived on grated corn for several weeks.

The people who lived in Kansas at that time

saw trouble that tried their courage and en-

durance to the utmost, and such was the furnace

through which Mr. Snyder's young life past.
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It is not to be wondered at that he has made

the tried, self-reliant and true man he is.

iRS. MARY F. CHRISTIAN, of El

Cajon valley, is a native of Virginia,

being born in Jefferson County, near

Harper's Ferry, in January, 1832. her parents

being Colonel Brockenbrough McCormick and

Nancy (Timberlake) McCormick. The former

was a native of Virginia. Her grandfather was

also a native of Virginia, owned a plantation

and was wealthy. He had four daughters and

two eons, to each of whom he left 200 acres of

land when he died in 1830. The mother was

the daughter of Hartield Timberlake, a native

of Virginia. Mr. and Mrs. McCormick had

three children: Mary Francis, Anna B. and

Harfield T. Mrs. Mary F. Christian, the sub^

ject of this sketch, was the oldest. When six

years old site went to live with her uncle and

aunt, Mr. and Mrs. Career, at Fayetteville,

Kentucky. Her early education was received

in Pleasant Hill Seminary. Whei fifteen years

of age she went to St. Catherine's Academy at

Lexington, where she remained two years and

graduated with honor; soon after that she trav-

eled with her father, spent a year in Mason,

Missouri, then went to Bolivar, Mississippi,

where he remained during the winter; then

went to New Orleans, thence to Hamilton,

Missouri, where her father bought property,

and she remained with him until the following

fall, then returned to her old home in Ken-

tucky. There was a great freshet in the South

in 1849, and the Mississippi river was swollen

thirty miles wide. With other young people

she made a descent of twenty miles on the river

on a raft; the voyage was so hazardous that it

made a lasting impression on her mind.

She was married, November 11, 1852, to

D. G. Christian, a native of Athens, Fayette

County, Kentucky, born August 16, 1824. His

father, Thomas Christian, was also a Virginian,

and was one of the largest land-owners in that

part of the country, owning 1,000 acres of that

beautiful blue-gross land for which that part of

Kentucky is famous. He was a soldier in the

war of 1812, and was in General Dudley's defeat.

Mr. Christian had received a liberal education,

and in 1849, when the gold excitement of Cali-

fornia broke out, he was studying law with

Judge Robertson at Lexington. He came over-

laud to California with four or five others. He
rode a mule and was six months on the jour-

ney. They arrived in Los Angeles and found

only adobe houses; he and a friend went into

the redwoods and sawed out lumber by hand

until they had made, in a short time, $7,000.

Then a company of them engaged in turning a

fork of tile Feather river, expecting to find

gold, but were disappointed after having ex-

pended nearly all they had made. He then

commenced gardening, and returned East, via

the Isthmus, to get seeds; and his friends per-

suaded him not to Come again. After being

married they resided on a farm that his father

gave him, consisting of 100 acres, to which he

added 100 more. In 1860 they went to her

uncle's who had a large plantation and kept a

number of negroes. Soon after the war broke

out her husband enlisted; later he was taken

prisoner, imprisoned at Louisville, Kentucky,

was forced to take the oath of allegiance, and,

on giving a bond of $25,000, was permitted

to return to his home. In 1871, being in poor

health, Mr. Christian came to California, re-

maining three months at the San Diego Hotel.

Thinking the climate beneficial he wrote to his

wife* asking her if she would come to a desert,

and, womanlike, s'ie consented. He erected the

first house on Florence Heights, which cost him

$3,500. It commanded a fine view of the ocean

and at that time was far out of the town, but

now the city has grown past it. They remained

six years, then went back to Missouri and

lived there five years, then came once more to

California and settled in Los Angeles County,

having bought a home in Artesia. They lived

there about two years. Their son, H. T. Chris-

tian, seeing El Cajon valley, bought the place
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on which they now reside. It contains seventy-

three acres, thirty of which are in t'rnit trees

of various kinds and seventeen acres in vine-

yard, a portion of which is rive years old.

Mr. and Mrs. Christian had four children, only

four of whom survive, namely: Harfield T„

Dodridge G., Jennie and Mary F. Harfield is

now in the abstract business at San Diego.

The father and husband, only two weeks after

having settled here, fell from his own wind-

mill and was instantly killed; he was an ardent

lover of California. Three of the children now

reside at home with their mother, who is a most

interesting and amiable lady. She is a member

)f the Christian Church at Downey, Los An-

geles County, California.

JR. CHARLES M. JOHNSON, of El

Cajon valley, was born in Jefferson County

New York, his parents being Stephen

and Mary (Pierce) Johnson; the former was a

native of Connecticut, and was engaged the

larger part of his life in the mercantile busi-

ness in Jefferson County, New York, and had,

in connection with his other business, large

lumbering interests. He died at the age of

-•eventy-five years, in 1860. He and his wife

A'ere second cousins and descendants of the

Pierces and Paynes, who were the founders of

the Madison University, New York.. They

had eleven children, six girls and five boys, one

of whom died in infancy. C. M. Johnson, the

youngest of the family, was educated in New
York aud is a graduate of Jefferson Medical

College, Philadelphia. From college he went

into the army as associate surgeon in the Ninety-

ninth New York Volunteers. In 1865 he prac-

ticed one year in Watertown, then six years at

Camp Vincent, New York, then returned to

Watertown, where he remained until 1885.

During his residence there he was United

States Pension Surgeon thirteen years. He
was one of the founders of the New York Med-

ical Association, and was sent in 1884 to see a

patient in California, remaining three months.

The following year he came over to look into

the El Cajon and invested there, buying an un-

divided fourth interest in the Bliss tract, con-

sisting of nearly 2,400 acres. In the spring

of 1886 they broke up aud planted 500 acres

of Muscat vines and the following year 300

acres more, making 800 in all. It is claimed

to be the largest raisin vineyard in California

or in the world. It is situated on the west 6ide

of El Cajon valley, and has several wide avenues

through it bordered with cypress, Grevillea and

Eucalyptus trees. They have built a packing

house and several ranch houses, and have a

town site of 150 acres. The principal depot is

on it, and several residences. They have upon

the mesa 800 or 1,000 acres in ten-acre tracts,

considered to be the choicest orange land in the

valley. There is also 300 acres of hillside land,

partly adapted to (dive culture. And they have

150 acres of granite land, containing large

quantities of granite rock, suitable for monu-

mental and building purposes; it takes a high

polish, and as it is near the railroad tract, will

make a valuable industry. The average num-

ber of horses used on the ranch is forty.

There are about twenty-five men steadily em-

ployed, and during the picking season, about

two months, there are as high as 200. The

railroad runs through three miles of the ranch,

and in addition to the town depot they have

a mesa station. The principal owners are Dr.

Charles Johnson, who is president of the com-

pany, and M. S. Marshall, who is superintend-

ent and secretary; each of these has selected

a home site of about sixty acres, and Mr. Mar-

shall has built an elegant house and improved

the grounds. Dr. Johnson has not yet built,

but has reserved a mo^t delightful site for his

residence. He is still practicing his profession

in San Diego, and is a member of the County

and State Medical Associations. He has been a

member of the Masonic fraternity for twenty-

five years, and he and his wife are both mem-
bers of the Baptist Church of San Diego. The

Doctor was married in 1867 to Miss Helen
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Davis, a native of Adams, Watertown County,

New York, horn December 30, 1841. They

have one daughter now living, born August 12,

1879. They have lost two children. The Doc-

tor is still in life's prime, and has a most prom-

ising future.

•HOMAS HENRY BUSH.—One of the

most prominent of the San Diego pio-

neers is Judge Bush, who earned his title

by honest service upon the bench. His father,

Henry Bush, emigrated to America from London.

England, where he had been engaged in the

mercantile pursuits. He settled at Pottsville,

Schuylkill County, Pennsylvania, where he lived

until the time of his death, which occurred in

1836, in his fortieth year. His wife. Margaret

Crowe Bush, was born in county Monaghan,

Ireland, in the year 1793, and died at the age

of ninety years. This union was blessed with

six children, but three of whom survive: Eliza,

who married Jacob Fellnagle, and lives in Potts-

ville, Pennsylvania, has one child; Thomas

Henry and Margaret Jane were born June 8,

1831. She lives in Pottsville, and is unmarried.

On his father's death the family moved to New-

York city, where Thomas learned the book-

binder's trade, in the meantime having received

a common-school education. He worked for

George F. Coolidge & Bro., on Pearl Street,

next to Harpers', until he was twenty-one years

of age. The gold excitement in California

decided him to go to that State. Accordingly

he left New York city, January 5, 1853, on the

steamer Empire, and came via Colon and Panama
with a party of five, consisting of Alexander

Buswell, a bookbinder, who died in San Fran-

cisco, February, 1889; Addison Wilson, a tailor,

who went East in 1885; Peter Finnegan, a liv-

ery-man in San Francisco County; Richard

Parr, of Albany, New York, who returned home
and died there about 1885, and Samuel East-

man, whose whereabouts are unknown to Judge

Bush. The fare from New York to San Fran-

cisco was $125, but they bought tickets to

Panama for $35, hoping to take the opposition

steamer from Panama to San Francisco, but on

arriving at Panama they were disappointed to

find the opposition withdrawn. They were

compelled to wait three weeks in Panama, where

a fever was r iging, which killed about 1,000

persons. Tney purchased tickets from Panama

to San Francisco for $50. They left Panama

February, 1853, and arrived in San Francisco

on the steam propeller Columbus, March 1 of

the same year. Here Judge Bush first worked

for a man named Perkins, putting on a patent

tire-proof roof at $5 per day. He then went to

the Campo Seco mines, where he remained for

about two months, when he returned to San

Fra'ieisco. He again went to the mines, being

successively at Minnesota Flats, Downieville,

Chipp's Digging-;, Forest City and Smith's

Diggings. After three years spent at the mines

he returned to San Francisco and worked at his

trade. March 4, 1858, he was married to Ellen

Augusta Porter, daughter or Rufus Porter, who

was for thirty years in the patent office at

Washington. Captain Rufus K. Porter, of

Cholla Valley, is her brother. The family were

from Massachusetts originally. After his mar-

riage, Judge Bush went to Sausal, Lower Cali-

fornia, to run a store at the San Antonio copper

mine, but not liking frontier life he with his

wife returned to San Francisco. From 1859

to 1865 he worked at his trade in San Francisco,

at the end of which time he removed to San

Diego, where he has since resided. He first

lived on the ranch of R. K. Porter, his brother-

in-law, and then removed to Old Town, where

he started a general merchandise store. Here

he was appointed Postmaster. In 1866 he was

appointed County Judge, by Governor F. F.

Lowe, to fill the unexpired term of Julio Osuna,

which office he held for eight years, being twice

elected. He has also held the offices of school

and city trustee. He was in the latter office at

the time of the Horton purchase. From 1878

to 1883 he spent the most of his time prospect-

ing at Florence and Dripping Springs. In 1883
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lie returned to Pottsville, where he remained

three years, and returned to San Diego October,

^887. He has one child, Bertha, who was born

in San Francisco County, in 1863. Judge Bush

is now a Notary Public, deals in real estate, and

is secretary of the Society of San Diego Pio-

fENERAL S. CADWALLADER springs

from a line of Welsh ancestry dating back

for 200 years on American soil. Some of

the names, in each generation, have been dis-

tinguished in the civil and military history of

the country, from its first settlement to the

present time. His father, Dr. Joseph Cad wal-

ler, was born in Grayson County, Virginia, in

1801; moved to southern Ohio in 1818; studied

medicine under Dr. Samuel P. and Joseph An-

thony, eminent physicians and surgeons of Clin-

ton and Highland counties, Ohio; took his

degree of M. D. at Cincinnati, Ohio; practiced

medicine a year at Portland, Indiana, and moved

to Marion, afterward the county seat of Grant

County, Indiana, and followed his profession

there until his death in 1833. Dr. Cadwallader

was the first regular physician who settled there;

was the first Postmaster of Marion when the

post-route was established from Richmond to

Logansport; rode on horseback to Indianapolis

to meet the assembled Legislature, and had

Marion established as the county seat; and was

an active, public-spirited man who contributed

largely in developing what was then a trackless

wilderness. Dr. Cadwallader married Catharine

Cox, who was born at Cox's Mills, Randolph

County, North Carolina, in 1802.

Sylvanus Cadwallader, the subject of this sketch,

was born near New Vienna, Clinton County,

Ohio, November 17, 1825. His father and

mother both died the first week in December,

1833. His home was thereafter with his ma-

ternal grandparents till 1840. He received a

common-school education near the place of his

birth, and took a partial academic course at

South Salem, Ross County, Ohio. He was first

married at La Porte, Indiana, March 16, 1851,

to Katherine Rosamond Paul, born at Danville,

Vermont, and lived mainly at Walnut Hills,

Ohio, till after her death, in 1856. During

part of his residence there he was Postmaster

of the suburb. His second marriage, in October,

1867, was to Mary Isabella Paul, still living.

His only surviving child is a son by the second

marriage, at present professor of mathematics

in the San Diego College of Letters, and named

Rawlins, after General John A. Rawlins, Gen-

eral Grant's first Adjutant General, Chief of

Staff and Secretary of War.

General Cadwallader moved to Kenosha, Wis-

consin, in the summer of 1859, and published

the Kenosha Democrat and the Racine Press,

until March, 1862. He was city editor of the

Milwaukee News for about six months after

leaving Racine, and was then employed by

Messrs. Story & Worden, owners of the Chicago

Times, to go to General Grant's headquarters,

then at Jackson, Tennessee, and procure, if pos-

sible, the release of Mr. Isham (a former cor-

respi indent of the Times and brother-in-law of

Mr. Story), from the Alton military prison,

where he had been confined several months by

General Grant for sending "contraband" news

from the army. He was also an accredited

correspondent of the Times. He secured Mr.

Isham's release as soon as he presented the

case, and in doing so made the favorable ac-

quaintance of General Grant and staff and was

invited to remain at headquaaters and witness

the pending operations against Holly Springs,

Mississippi.

He accompanied the army on what is known

as the Tallahatchie expedition, in November and

December, 1862; returned to Memphis about

January 1, 1863; proceeded down the Missis-

sippi river to Young's Point in company with

Captain Prime and Lieutenant (afterward the

distinguished General of Cavalry) J. II. Wilson,

engineers on the staff, to inspect the canal or

"cut-off" in front of Vicksbnrg, and thereafter

remained at headquarters by the special invita-
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tion of General Grant, and was in constant and

daily intercourse with him, except when absent

on short leave, from Vieksbnrg to Appomattox,

from Appomattox to Raleigh, and for two years

in Washington city after the close of the war.

He was the only war correspondent ever allowed

to remain at General Grant's headquarters.

He witnessed the battle of Raymond, May 12;

the battle of Jackson, May 14; the battle of

Champion's Hill, May 16; the fighting at Big

Black, May 17; the investiture of Vicksburg.

May 18, and all the subsequent siege operations

ending in the memorable surrender of that

world-renowned stronghold, July 4, 1863.

Some time previous to this he had been em-

ployed by Frederick Hudson, managing editor

of the New York Herald, to write private letters

to James Gordon Bennett, Sr., to be used only

in shaping, governing and outlining the policy

of that paper, concerning military commanders

and military operations in the southwest. These

letters were an important factor in securing for

General Grant the steadfast support of that in-

fluential journal— a support which never re-

laxed for a single day until Grant became

President. His private correspondence ended

in his leaving the Times and devoting himself

exclusively to the Herald. He gave the name

of "Champion's Hill" to the battle fought May
16, because it was on a long timbered ridge on

Mr. Champion's plantation. His dispatches were

published all over the North, and the name be-

came so fixed in the public mind that General

Grant's official name for it— " Maker's Creek"

—

is scarcely known outside the records of the war

department.

At a critical period in General Grant's career

during the siege of Vicksburg, General Cadwal-

lader (then holding no commission) rendered

him signal military and personal service of a

nature which cannot properly be stated here,

but the obligation was never forgotten by Gen-

eral Grant and his intimate friends. For this

service he was tendered a place on the staff with

the rank of Captain, but could not accept it.

Until this time his standing at headquarters had

only been that of a favored war correspondent,

but thereafter he was accorded extraordinary

privileges, which continued until the Union

armies were disbanded. General John A. Raw-

lins, Chief of Staff, Colonel William L. Duff,

Chief of Artillery, and General Cadwallader

messed together most of the time until they

arrived at City Point, in June, 1864. At the

latter place he kept open house on New York
Herald account and ran a private mess of

his own.

Speaking of the service rendered General

Grant during the siege of Vicksburg, one of the

most distinguished Generals on his staff said in

a recent letter to General Cadwallader: "Yon
did an excellent day's work, not only for Gen-

eral Grant, but for the country. It gives me
great pleasure to add, that to my personal

knowledge you were always held by both Grant

and Rawlius in the highest personal and official

esteem. You were regarded personally as a

member of the staff, as you were in fact aud

deed. I am sure no secrets were ever concealed

from you; and in view of your relations with

the press, I am confident no higher compliment

could have been paid you, then or now."

Geneial Cadwallader rode with the staff;

messed with them; had his tents pitched and

struck, as for a staff officer; was introduced as a

staff officer; often performed important and con-

fidential staff duty; and has in his possession

General Grant's written orders, to be used

wherever and whenever necessary, directing •' all

guards and all picket- guards, in all the armies

of the United States, to pass hiin at any hour of

the day or night, with horses or vehicles; order-

ing all quartermasters of transportation to fur-

nish hiin transportion on demand, for himself,

servants and horses; and ordering all commis-

saries of subsistence to furnish him subsistence

on demand for himself, horses and servants."

In addition to this he has some unused passes,

properly written and signed by order of General

Grant, having blank 6paces in which to write

names, by which (when away from headquarters

and unknown) he could send whomsoever he
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overall the military lines of transporta-

tion within General Grant's command.

He was offered many military appointments

and commissions, ranging from Second Lieu-

tenant, Second Infantry, United States Army,

to a full Colonelcy on General Hancock's staff;

but as liis pay already exceeded that of a Briga-

dier General, and his opportunities for serving

hie country were quite as good in the newspaper

field as in the military service, he declined them

all, and was never mustered under any commis-

sion As correspondent-in-chief of the New
York Herald, he had from twenty to forty

trained men subject to his instant and absolute

orders, and was responsible to the New York

Herald for all the war news east of the Alle-

ghany mountains.

After reaching City Point there were many

reasons, public and private, why General Grant

was never allowed to leave his headquarters

without some one with him, whose authority to

act for him temporarily would be recognized in

case of accidents or emergencies. Rawlins,

Bowers and Cadwallader came to be the only

members of General Grant's first military fam-

ily in the West, who still remained with him.

Rawlins, as chief of staff, was compelled to re

main in charge of the army in Grant's absence.

The result was that Bowers or Cadwallader al-

most invariably accompanied him (no matter

who else might be along) on all trips to Fortress

Monroe, Baltimore, Washington city or' else-

where. General Cadwallader was in the room

when General Lee surrendered, and was intro-

duced to him among such of the reg ilar staff

as were present, by General Grant. He also

accompanied General Grant to North Carolina,

and witnessed the surrender of General Joseph

E. Johnston's army.

He saw the three principal mine explosions

of the war— the Fort Hill mine at Vicksburg;

the Burnside mine at Petersburg; and the Dutch

Gap mine on James River. He was captured

twice, but escaped in less than twenty-four hours

each time, and before he could be committed to

a rebel prison. His first capture was by a

detachment of Van Dorn's cavalry between

Collierville and Germantown, Tennessee, im-

mediately after the Holly Springs affair. His

second capture was by a company of the Seventh

Virginia Cavalry, the Saturday night after the

battle of the Wilderness. The dispatches found

upon him were of such importance that the

Richmond newspapers consoled themselves for

the loss of a battle by publishing them in full,

to show, as they expressed it, " how Lee was

plowing the Yankees under" on the Rapidan.

He was in thirty-four battles and engagements

of varying magnitude; an orderly was killed at

his heels in front of Fort Hill, Vicksburg; one

horse was disabled at Cold Harbor, and another

killed by a shell at Hatcher's Run ; and he es-

caped from all with a slight flesh wound in the

knee from a minie ball while riding across the

field under tire, in front of Petersburg, April 2,

1865.

On his return to Washington city at the end

of the war, he was chief of the New York

Herald bureau till October, 1866. General

Rawlins and himself brought their families to

the capital; rented a large house in George-

town, and lived together as one family, sharing

the expense jointly. He was one of the editors

and proprietors of the Milwauke Dail/y News,

and secretary of the Milwaukee News Company

from January 1, 1867 to June 1, 1874; was

Assistantant Secretary of the State of Wisconsin

from January 1, 1874 to January 1, 1878; was

Quartermaster General of the State of Wisconsin,

with the rank of Brigadier General, from Janu-

ary 1, 1874 to January 1, 1876; was financial

ao-ent for Drury College, Springfield, Missouri,

from 1879 to 1883 inclusive; was on the edito-

rial staff of the Globe- Democrat, St. Louis,

Missouri, till June, 1884; was superintendent of

the Springfield Water Company, Missouri, till

January, 1887; arrived in San Diego March 14,

1887; was secretary of the Oceanside Brick and

Lumber Company, and of the San Diego Bitu-

minous Paving Company, from April 1, 1887,

to September 1, 1889.

By birth and parentage General Cadwallader
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belonged to the Society of Friends, commonly

called Quakers, but has of late years been a

member of the First Presbyterian Church, Mad-

ison, Wisconsin; Summit Presbyterian Church,

Barton County, Missouri; the First and Second

Presbyterian Churches, Springfield, Missouri;

and the First Presbyterian Church, San Diego,

California; and was ruling elder in all of these

except the First Church of Springfield; was

Commissioner from Ozark Presbytery to the

General Assembly in 1882, and from Los

Angeles Presbytery in 1890; was made a Mason

in Chillicothe, Ohio, in 1849; was junior and

senior warden of Science Lodge, No. 50, F. & A.

M., Sandusky, Ohio; was twice Master of Cyn-

thia Lodge, No. 155, F. & A. M., Cincinnati,

Ohio; was ex-officio, a member of the Grand

Lodge of Ohio for a number of years, ending

with 1859; has been dubbed a Knight Templar

and Knight of Malta; and in politics is classed

as an independent Democrat, or free-trade Re-

publican.

}

NDKEW CASSIDY.—One of the pioneer

idents of San Diego is Andrew Cassi-

dy, a native of county Cavan, Ireland.

When seventeen years of age he emigrated to

the United States, landing at Boston. Having

had the advantage of an excellent education in

his native land, he was well prepared to accept

of a position which was offered him in the En-

gineer Corps at West Point, under the immedi-

ate direction of George B. McClellan. He re-

mained at this point for three years, and from

there went to Washington, where he was em-

ployed in the Coast Survey office, under Pro-

fessor Bache. lie remained in that position

about a year, when he was ordered out to the

Pacific coast with a party of five others, under

Captain W. B. Trowbridge, of the Engineer

Corps, U. S. A. The party came by way of the

Isthmus, and landed at San Francisco in July,

1853. They were there engaged for about two

months in putting up a self-registering gauge

at Fort Point. Leaving one man in charge,

the others started for San Diego. They char-

tered a schooner and made a series of observa-

tions on the way down the coast. They entered

the harbor of San Diego, and landed at Point

La Plaza, where they put up another gauge,

and Cassidy was left in charge. He was sta-

tioned here in charge of meteorological and tide

observations for seventeen years. During this

period he made Old San Diego his headquar-

ters the greater part of the time. In 1864 he

saw an excellent opportunity to engage in stock-

raising, and availed himself of it; he employed

a man to take charge of the details, and only

exercistd a general supervision until he re-

signed his position in the coast survey. His

ranch, which was then known as Soledad, sit-

uated twelve miles from Old Town, contained

1,000 acres of exceedingly rich laud. He had

on this place at times 1,000 head of cattle.

The present town of Sorrento is upon this ranch.

Mr. Cassidy continued in the stock business

from 1864 to the beginning of the year 1887.

He then sold out all his stock interests and sub-

divided his ranch, realizing a handsome sum

from the proceeds of his land sales. Besides

his interests at Sorrento he owns considerable

city and suburban property. He served one

term as City Trustee in 1865, and again in

1871 was elected County Supervisor for two

terms (four years).

In 1853 Mr. Cassidy began a collection in

natural history, composed of birds, fishes, rep-

tiles, moths, and all live animals of the smaller

species. The collection of fish was particularly

valuable, coming as it did from the Pacific

ocjan, the Colorado river and the Gulf of Cali-

fornia. This collection was forwarded to the

Smithsonian Institute, at Washington, District

of Columbia, where his friend, Professor Henry,

then held a position.

Mr. Cassidy has been twice married, but is

now a widower. He has one daughter, born to

his second wife. Besides conducting his large

farm interests Mr. Cassidy has been a true friend

of San Diego, contributing Ins share toward the
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city's material advancement. Personally he is

very courteous, and his address marks him as

one who has mingled much with men of the

world. He is extremely popular among his ac-

quaintances, and everywhere regarded as at

once a progressive and substantial citizen.

;R. J. R. DOIG, of San Diego.—About

the middle of the last century, Mr. Robert

Doig came from Scotland to America and

settled in Washington County, New York. In

1810 there was born to him in Washington

County a son, whom he named James R. He

gave this boy a most liberal education, and for

many years he held the professorship of lan-

guages in Mound College, Illlinois. In 1843,

he was united in marriage with Miss Grace

Rankin, who was also of Scotch descent. Their

union was blessed with a family of nine children.

He died in 1883, at the age of 73. The eldest

of their family was John Rankin Doig, born in

Wayne County, Ohio, in 1846; he obtained his

literary education at Washington College, Iowa.

In 1862, when only sixteen years of age, he

enlisted in Company C, Nineteenth Iowa Regi-

ment. At the end of his year's service, in 1863,

he was discharged and immediately re-enlisted

in the Spcond Iowa Cavalry, and was with the

Army of the Tennessee, in General A. J.

Smith's command. General Coon was in this

department. The Doctor participated in the

battle of Prairie Grove, Arkansas, at the siege

of Vicksburg, and at the battle of Nashville.

He was mustered out in October, 1865, at Selma,

Alabama. When he returned home he began

the study of medicine and graduated in 1867,

at Iowa University, and later graduated at the

College of Physicians and Surgeons at Chicago.

He practiced for some time at Williamsburg,

Iowa, and at Des Moines. Then he practiced

at Newton, and in 1879 removed to Ellsworth,

Kansas, and practiced there until 1886, when

he came to San Diego. He has invested here,

has a nice home near Florence Heights, and a

good office on the corner of Fourth and C streets.

He is very nicely situate! and ha* come to San

Diego to stay. He is a member of the San

Diego Medical Society, and belongs to the

Masonic fraternity in both Temple and Shrine.

In 1881 he was united in marriage with Miss

Nellie Seaver, born in Canada in 1857". The

Doctor is well versed in his profession, has a good

practice and enjoys the confidence and respect

of his fellow-citizens.

#^-^B~£# •

fOHN H. GAY, Jr., is a native of the

parish of Iberville, Louisiana, born March

21, 1853. His father, Edward J. Gay,

was born in Liberty. Virginia, but moved to St.

Louis, Missouri, in 1821, and was among the

first settlers of that town. His grandfather was

a native of Stanton, Virginia, and was a pioneer

merchant in St. Clair County, Illinois. His

son, Edward J. Gay, succeeded him in the busi-

ness, and was there as merchant all his life, but

had business in St. Louis, Missouri, and in New
Orleans, Louisiana. They were of English and

French descent, and a branch of the family are

descended from Pocahontas. Mr. Gay's great-

grandfather was a soldier in the Revolution,

under General Washington. Mr. Gay's grand-

mother was Sophia Mitchell. She was a mem-

ber of a family whose male members were

Methodist preachers for many years. His

mother, Lovina (Hyncs) Gay, was the daughter

of Colonel Andrew Hynes, who was on the staff

of General Jackson in his wars with the Indians

and at the battle of New Orleans. Mr. Gay's

father and mother were married in Tennessee.

He received his early education at home, and in

1871 was sent to Washington and Lee College,

and was there three years. General R. E. Lee

was president of the college. After leaving

college he engaged on the sugar plantation in

Louisiana, and was there from 1874 to 1885,

and then on account of his health came to Cal-

ifornia, landed in San Francisco, and visited

nearly every county iu the State, and settled
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in San Diego County in 1886. He bought a

ranch at Linda Vista, fourteen miles north of

San Diego lie has a section of land and is

spending considerable money in developing

water. His water storage is a success and when

generally adopted will revolutionize theagricult-

ural condition of the county. Mr. Gay was

married December 20, 1877, to Miss Rebecca

P. Connell, a native of Mississippi, born Sep-

tember 6, 1854. She was a daughter of Mr.

Lemuel P. Connell, a native of Mississippi; he

was a planter and a lawyer, and is now at

Natchez, Mississippi. Her mother was Fanny

E. Turner, a daughter of Judge Edward Turner.

The family were of English descent. Mr. Gay
is a member of the Methodist Church, South.

***.

§H. JULIAN, a tried business man and

pioneer of San Diego, was born in Ala-
9 bama, October 7, 1834. His father,

George Julian, was a native of South Carolina,

and was married to Miss Lavina Reice. The

subject of this sketch was their youngest child.

He received his education at a private school,

and at eighteen years of age went to learn the

tinners' trade, at which he has worked for thirty

years. He enlisted in 1847 in Company A,

First Battalion. Alabama Volunteers, under

General Scott's command, and served to the close

of the Mexican war. After being mustered out

of the service he again went to work at his

trade in Tuscaloosa, where he remained for two

years and nine months. He then went to Tus-

cuinbia, Alabama, and with his brother, William

R. Julian, opened a 6hop and remained there

until 1852, when he removed to Sacramento and

worked at his trade. After a year he went to

Sierra County, and Yuba and Plumas counties,

until 1863, when he removed to Marysville and

opened business there. In 1864 he removed to

Brown's valley and continued business there.

From there he went to Dutch Flat, Placer

County, and was in business there three years.

He then removed to San Francisco and engaged

in the manufacture of pipe for the Spring Val-

ley Water Works. He was there four months,

and then came to San Diego in 1868 and opened

his present business on the ground where it now
is. He has carried on the tin, hardware and

plumbing business in San Diego for twenty-one

years, and has seen the ups and downs of the

growth of this place. Twice his stock and build-

ing has been burned to the ground, and each

time with the most commendable energy and
pluck there has risen out of the ashes a better

building than before. In 1862 he was married

to Miss Mary M. Swain, daughter of William
H. Swain, born in Cincinnati. Mrs. Julian's

maternal ancestors were German. They have
had seven children, six of whom still survive:

Mary B., born in Marysville, Ynba County,

California, May 5, 1864; William A., born near

Brown's valley, September 10, 1865; George F.,

born in Dutch Flat, Placer County, December
28, 1868; Charles, born in San Diego, and Ar-
thur Roy, born in San Diego. His oldest 6on,

William A. Julian, is now in business with his

father in San Diego, and is a modest and indus-

trious young man, who merits the patronage of

his fellow-citizens. Mrs. Julian is a member of

the Methodist Church. Mr. Julian joined

the Odd Fellows in 1856, and the Masons in

1870. He is now a member of the board of

city delegates for the third term, which consists

of two years each. Mr. Julian has also held

the office of superintendent of sewers.

fDWARD DOUGHERTY.—Among the

pioneers of California we find many who
were natives of other lands, who came

here to take advantage of its broader resources,

and the freedom of thought and speech, and

among that number we must class Mr. Dough-
erty. He was born in Ireland, in September,

1834, being the oldest of a family of seven chil-

dren. His father was a farmer. Edward came

to the United States in 1850, alone, spending

the first four years in a lumber camp on the
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Susquehanna river, in Pennsylvania, Clearfield

County. They 6<;ored and hewed timber for

market by the old method, using axes and

broad-axes. In 1854 he came to California by

the Isthmus of Panama. He then went to Cal-

averas County, where he mined for a time; then

started a grocery store at Angel's Camp, and

meeting with good success he continued for a

number of years. In 1863 he moved to Copper-

opolis, continuing in the same business for five

years. He then went to San Francisco, but on

account of his health sought the milder climate

of the south and came to San Diego, June 15,

1869, where for fifteen years lie was engaged

in the liquor trade. He then went into the

hay and grain business, and in 1886 entered into

the real estate, having made many purchases of

land prior to that date.

Mr. Dougherty was married in San Francisco

in 1868, to Miss Kate Mullon, a native of coun-

ty Tyrone, Ireland. They reside in their resi-

dence on the corner of Cedar and Columbus

streets, San Diego.

«HARLES M. FENN, A. M., M. D., of

San Diego, eminent for his culture and

skill in his profession, was born June 18,

1835, in Hamilton, Ohio; a son of William

and Anna Maria Merwin, who were married

December 24, 1833; the father was born June

23, 1807, in Connecticut. He followed the mer-

cantile business all his life. During the thirties

lie removed to Lacon, Illinois; he died in 1873,

at Blooinington, same State; his father, Gama-

liel Fenn, was born February 16,1775. The

Doctor's mother was born January 3, 1814.

They had three children, of whom Charles M.

was the oldest and the only son. The daugh-

ters were Francis and Mary Lincoln Fenn.

The Doctor's early education was had at Lacon,

later in Amherst, Massachusests. His classical

education began at the Illinois College in Jack-

son and was finished at Yale College, New
Haven, Connecticut. He then studied medi-

cine and was graduated at the medical depart-

ment, University of California, in 1865. He
had come to California in 1860. He com-

menced the practice of his profession in San

Francisco, where he remained eight years, and

then came to San Diego in the early part of

1869.

He was married June 21, 1872, to Miss

Callie D. Archambeau. She was born August

26, 1841, in Los Angeles. They remained in

Los Angeles about a year, then came to San

Diego, bought twenty acres of land near the

city, which they still own. It has been subdi-

vided into town lots, lie has served one year

as County Coroner and Administrator, and lias

also been County Physician for several years,

and health officer of the city. The Doctor had

the degree of Master of Arts conferred on him

by the State College of Illinois.

frGfrtf

fOSEPH COYNE.— The peace and good

order of the city of San Diego is chiefly

due to the experience of Joseph Coyne,

who is now Chief of Police. He was born in

Cleveland, Ohio, on the 18th of December, 1837.

His father died when he was but three years

old. He spent the first fourteen years of his

life at Cleveland and attended the public schools

there. When he was fifteen years of age he went

to the mines in Calaveras County, and spent

sixteen years in Nevada County. He made a

few thousand dollars often and as often lost it.

He come to San Diego and went to the Julian

mines, where he remained four years. He, with

four others, located the Chariot mines, which he

worked for about a year, then 6old his interest

for $50,000 to Wit Whitney. Mr. Whitney

also nurch; all the other shares.

Mr. Coyne was nominated by the Republican

party for Sheriff, and was elected by 260 major-

ity over Hon. James M. McCoy. He was elected

three terms in succession and held the office for

seven years. For four years he held the office

of under-Sheriff under Mr. Bushyhead. Since
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then he lias been elected City Marshal three

terms of eight months each. He was then

elected Chief of Police, and held the office

sixteen months. Under the new city charter

he was appointed to the same office, which he

now holds.

He is a native of Ireland and emigrated to

the United States when quite young. Mr.

Coyne's parents were also natives of County

West Mayo, Ireland. Mr. and Mrs. Coyne's

family consists of four girls, of whom one, Jennie

May, is dead; the others are: Irene, eight years

old; Belinda Anna, six years old, and Josephine

Stephens, two years old.

§A FAYETTE FLOOD, of Ferris, one of

the men who came to California when a

baliy in his mother's arms, and next to a

Son of the Golden West is entitled to the honor

of being a pioneer, not only of the State, but of

Ferris. He was born August 7, 1851, in Farm-

ington, Iowa. His father, J. A. Flood, re-

moved from Iowa to California with his family

in 1851, and settled upon 160 acres of Govern-

ment land in San Joaquin County, which he

improved. He married Miss Elizabeth Goslin,

and had thirteen children, eight of whom are

still living. Mr. Flood, the subject of this

sketch, was the seventh child, and was educated

and raised in San Joaquin and Santa Cruz

counties. At the age of eighteen he went to

Nevada, where he engaged in mining, and had

good success for three years, when he returned

to San Benito and married Miss Amanda Metz,

daughter of Israel Metz. She was born in 1854.

After his marriage he lived a portion of the

time in the counties of Los Angeles, San Be-

nito, Sonoma, Santa Barbara and Shasta, where

he followed the business of farming and stock-

raising. In 1884 he came to Ferris before Per-

. ris was started, and took up a Government

homestead of 160 acres, a little over a mile

north of the town of Ferris. Here he built a

house, barns and shop, planted grapevines, trees

and shrubs, and has helped greatly to make the

town of Perris. His farming has been princi-

pally grain-raising, which he has carried on

quite extensively. The first year he raised 1,600

bags of barley, which he sold for 85 cents; the

second year he put in 200 acres, and raised 150

tons of barley hay, and 1,000 sacks of barley;

in 1889 he had 300 acres sown, and harvested

2,100 sacks of barley and 400 sacks of wheat,

which he sold at from $1.10 to $1.25 per hun-

dred. He is now preparing to sow 700 acres.

When he came to Ferris he had nothing (in

fact, he was a little behind); now, in six years,

he owns this fine ranch of 160 acres, with all its

improvements and stock. He has his own black-

smith shop on the premises, and does his own
repairing and sharpening. He is a member of

the Independent Order of Foresters, and is a

most reliable citizen in every particular.

fHAPtLES H. FISK, station agent at Per-

ris, was born in Linsey, Victoria County,

Ontario, November 16, 1861. His father,

a native of New Hampshire, was born in 1827.

His grandfather, Ephraim Fisk, was also a

native of New Hampshire, and was the first

man to be drafted in his State for the war of

1812. His ancestors came from England before

the Revolution, and settled in New Hampshire.

Mr. Fisk's mother, Maria (Jewett) Fisk, was

born at Duffin's Creek, Ontario, in 1834. Her
father, Mr. James Jewett, was a descendant of

the Pennsylvania Dutch, and was a hotel-keeper

and owner of a stage line in the early days when

travel was performed in that way. Mr. Fisk's

parents were married in 1857, and had a family

of seven children, of which he was the second.

He attended school in Canada until he was fif-

teen years of age. At the age of nineteen he

was a telegraph operator at Loneville Junction,

under his father's instructions. He remained

here three years and a half. In February, 1884,

he came to Los Angeles, where he remained six

weeks, when he went to National City, and was
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ordered to Temecnla as station agent of the

Southern California Railroad Company. He
was operator and station agent for fifteen

months, when he engaged in the engineering

department of the company, where lie remained

two years. He was then sent to Perris as as-

sistant agent, and acted in that capacity for

seven months. He was then promoted to station

agent, having charge of the whole business,

which position he now holds. The railroad

business runs in the family, his father having

been a station agent since 1873, and his grand-

father held that position until he was eighty

years of age. Mr. Fisk's great-grandfather was

a soldier in the Revolution, and the musket

taken by him from a British soldier is still in

the family. Mr. Fisk is recording secretary of

the Independent Order of Foresters at Ferris,

and is a man of high moral character.

5SRAEL METZ.—Just to the east of the rail-

road, one mile north of Perris, is a 160-acre

ranch without a stump or stone on the whole

property. This is the ranch and home of Mr.

Israel Metz. He settled on the then wild Gov-

ernment land September 29, 1884, and made

the adobe brick and built a very comfortable

home, and planted his grounds to trees, shrubs

and flowers. Mr. Metz is a native of Chester

County, Pennsylvania, and was born November

12, 1831. His grandfather, John Metz, was a

native of Germany, but settled in Pennsylvania,

where his son, Israel Metz's lather, was born,

raised and married to Miss Anna Doan in 1830.

They had a family of eleven, of which Mr. Metz

was the eldest. When quite young his parents

removed to Iowa, where he received his educa-

tion. He learned the cooper's trade before he

became of age, and worked at it about three

years, and has worked at it, more or less, all his

life. He farmed in Iowa for five years, and

came to Oailfornia in 1855. He has resided in

Santa Clara and San Joaquin counties, and

lived within seven miles of Stockton for twelve

years, on a farm which he owned. He was in

San Benito County four years. Then he went

to Sonoma County, then to Tehama, and then to

Shasta. While at the latter place he got the

chills and fever, and came south to San Diego

County in 1884, and settled in his present

home. He has been a resident of California for

thirty-fonr years, and has 6een much of pioneer

life when there were but few settlers, no rail-

roads, and few of the privileges or enjoyments

of civilization. He was married March 15,

1853, to Miss Margaret Wiley, who was born

in Tippecanoe County, Indiana, November 24,

1S32. She was a daughter of Mr. James

Wiley, a native of Virginin, born April 11,

1802. They have had five children: Amnnda

Elizabeth, born in Santa Clara County, Novem-

ber 28, 1855; she is married to Mr. La Fayette

Flood, and their land adjoins her father's. Al-

bert W., born in San Joaquin County, Decem-

ber 17, 1857, and married to Miss Trulover;

their home is on the i-auie section. Teressa El-

nora, born in San Joaquin County, September

16, 1859; Joseph Orlando, born in Los Angeles

County, February 8. 1870. Mrs. Metz is a

member of the Christian Church. Mr. Metz is

a pleasant and sociable man and an excellent

neighbor.

—^ms^^—
R. W. F. PERRY, of Perris, was born in

Binghamton, New York, March 20, 1852.

His great-grandfather, Anson Perry, was

a full cousin of Commodore Perry. The Doctor's

grandfather, also Anson Perry, was a soldier in

the service of his country in the war of 1812.

Dr. Perry's father, David B. Perry, was born

September 25, 1811, and in 1835 was married

to Miss Lucy B. Chaffee. They celebrated

their golden wedding, February 2, 1885. Mrs.

Perry died in 1887, and Mr. Perry in 1889,

at the age of 78. They were the parents of

ten children, seven of whom are living. The

subject of this sketch received his early edu-

cation in the public schools of Binghampton,
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his native town. In 1882 he entered the Col-

lege of Physicians and Surgeons, of Chicago,

and graduated at the Kentucky School of Medi-

cine in June, 1885, and commenced the prac-

tice of liis profession in Chicago, where he re-

mained for two years, then having serious

throat trouble he came to California December

1, 1887, and located at Perris, December 17,

1887. He bought a home and made great im-

provement in the growth of trees, shrubs and

flowers. He has trees planted only six months

that are now fourteen feet high. The whole

property and grounds have an air of taste and

culture and will soon be a place of great beauty

under the Doctor's skillful treatment. He was

married, February 18, 1887, to Miss Malilda

Schoonever,born in 1851, near Hornsdale, Wayne
County, Pennsylvania, daughter of William and

Margaret (Darling) Schoonever. The Doctor is

now clerk and director of the Perris School

District, and is a member of the Independent

Order of Foresters, and is the examining

physician of the order. He is the only phy-

sician in Perris, and is a man in every way

qualified for the successful practice of his pro-

fession. He reports great improvement in his

own health since coining to Perris and recom-

mends it as a most healthy place,—only four

deaths in the place, and they from natural

causes, and forty-four births, since his arrival

here two years ago.

lH^ ^' COLBY is another good citizen

W| who has located on a line Government
^$!s? 3 ranch near Perris. Was born in Jeffer-

son County, Wisconsin, October 21, 1852. His

his mother, Colby, was a native of Vermont;

father L. A. Caroline (Hicock) Colby, was

also a native of Vermont. They had six chil-

dren, all of whom are living. A. E. Colby was

educated in the Albion Academy, Rock County.

Wisconsin. In December, 1869, when he

was only eighteen years of age, he came to

California and settled, first in Sonoma County

and then in Santa Barbara County. He then

went back to Wisconsin, and froze out in one

winter, and came back to Santa Barbara County,

where he remained about twelve years. Decem-

ber 25, 1884, he located his present valuable

ranch, 320 acres of splendid plow land, built a

house and is making improvements as fast as

possible. Last year he sowed 250 acres, nearly

all to barley; this year (1889) he is sowing

eighty acres to wheat and the balance to barley.

He was united in marriage September 4, 1880,

to Miss Mary Pierce, daughter of Mr. E. H.

Pierce, who now lives near them. She was

born in Santa Barbara County. They have had

five children four of whom are still living.

Their eldest son, Ralph Colby, born December

11, 1881, met his death May 18, 1889, when
only eight years of age, by drowning in the

river near his home. The children now living

are: Jessie, born in Shasta County, California,

April 20, 1882; Rubie, born in Ventura Coun-

ty, March 15, 1884; Percy, born in Perris

December 17, 188(3, and Harry, born in Perris,

February 4, 1889. Mr. and Mrs. Colby are

highly esteemed by their neighbors and friends.

"g 'H -
fr

fS.
FREY, a rancher of Perris, is a native

of Delaware County, Ohio, born July
9

22, 1841. His father, Jesse Frey,

was born in Pennsylvania, and his ancestors

were originally Germans. His mother, Ora
(Nettleton) Frey, was born in Vermont. Their

son, E. S. Frey, was educated in the country

schools of Ohio. At fourteen years of age he

began to do for himself, and at eighteen years

of age he went to learn the carpenters' trade, at

which he worked for one year. In January,

1865, he enlisted in the Union ranks in Com-
pany C, Fifteenth Iowa. He participated in

several of the most sanguinary battles of the

war, and made the memorable march with Sher-

man from Atlanta to the sea, and was a partici-

pant in all the skirmishes and fights of this

gallant and victorious army until the close of
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the war, and was mustered out of the service

without having received so much as a scratch.

He was mustered out at Louisville, Kentucky,

and received Ins discharge at Davenport, Iowa.

When he returned home he resumed the peace-

ful avocation of the hammer and the saw, and

is now running a gang plow with six horses,

putting in barley on his fine ranch of 160 acres,

which he located in September, 1885. He has

built a good house and barn, and has put a wire

fence completely around his property. He is a

worker, and is this year sowing 540 acres of

barley and 160 acres of wheat, in all 700 acres.

His land is level and every inch plow land, and

it is fast making a nice home. He was married

in September, 1887, to Miss Frances McCarty,

born in Platte County, Missouri, in September,

1885. He became an Odd Fellow in 1869. and

is also a member of the G. A. R., Rowlands

Post, No. 23, Stockton.

fLISHA H. PIERCE is one of California's

pioneers and a representative farmer and

citizen of Perris. He was born in Onan-

daga County, New York, July 11, 1831. His

parents were Jonathan Pierce and Mary (Petty-

rove) Pierce. The subject of this sketch was

the second child of a family of six children.

He received his early education in Wisconsin,

and when only nineteen years of -age he crossed

the plains to California and dug for the precious

metal in El Dorado County. He dug there

with fair success for more than a year and got

out about $2,000, and in the spring of 1851 he

went to Feather river and tried his luck. He
remained there until he voted for General Scott

for President of the United States. In 1861

Mr. Pierce was elected Sherifi'of Plumas County,

and held that office for four years. He then

removed to Santa Barbara County, where he

bought a farm and engaged in farming it until

1885. While here he was elected Supervisor for

three years. He then came to Perris, where he

took up 160 acres of Government land, and has

since bought railroad land until he now farms

800 acres. He sows about 500 acres each year

of wheat and barley. He has built a good home
and his ranch has the appearance of peace and

plenty. His horses and cattle are fat and look

as though it were a good thing to be owned by

such a man. Mr. Pierce was united in wedlock

in 1858 to Mrs. Elizabeth Sharp, widow of Mr.

George W. Sharp, and daughter of Mr. William

Shield. Their family consists of four children:

Alice, born in Quincy, Plumas County, in 1859,

married Mr. M. M. Groshone, and resides in

Santa Barbara; William, born in Quincy,

Plumas County, in 1871, married Miss Skillin-

ger, and is living in Mountain Glenn, near

Perris; Mary, born in Quincy, Plumas County,

in 1872, married A. E. Colby, and lives near

her father's place on a nice ranch of their own.

Harry was born in Carpenteria, in 1869, and

his death occuned in San Bernardino County,

July 18, 1887. He was oiling a steam thresher

while it was running and it broke through with

him. His injuries were so severe that he only

lived three hours. Mr. Pierce's last marriage

occurred i" 1871, when he was united in mar-

riage to Miss Mary Colby, daughter of Mr. Levi

Colby. Their family consists of three children

:

Florence, born in Santa Barbara County, 1874;

Archie, born in Carpenteria, Santa Barbara

County, in 1876, and Mattie, born in Perris,

January 20, 1887. Mr. Pierce is a man of high

moral worth, and is a credit to the community

in which he live-.

flMBALL BROTHERS' ranch is situated

seven and one-half miles sou theast of Penis,

and contains 480 acres of rich land, every

inch of which is under the plow, and is without

a stump or stone to prevent them from sitting

on their gang plows and plowing and sowing

(with two plows) fifteen acres per day. This

year they are sowii g 200 acres to wheat, and

the balance of the ranch to barley. They are

also breeding and raising several fine Hamilton
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hor&es, and intend to go to more largely into fine

blooded stock-raising. There are three of these

brothers: the oldest, William T., was born in

Henderson County, Texas, October 1, 1847;

Edward G. was born in San Francisco, Decem-

ber 26, 1860, and Eugene H. was born in San

Francisco, January 1, 1863. Their sister, Mary

E. Harrington, who is the widow of Mr. Will-

iam C. Harrington, born in Texas, in 1864, is

now their housekeeper. Their father, Aloert

G. Kimball, was born iu Nashville, Tennessee,

October 20, 1817, and their mother, Sarah C.

(Gleeves) Kimball was also a native of Ten-

nessee, born in 1820. Her death occurred in

1880. There were nine children in the family.

The brothers have followed farming most of

the time for thirteen years. They resided in

San Francisco for fourteen years, in Contra Costa

County and in Los Angeles County several

years. In December, 1886, they removed to

Spring valley, and in the short space of three

years have made the valuable ranch on which

they now live. They are all temperance men
in every sense of the word, using neither tobacco

nor strong drink. It is needless to add that

this family are worthy, enterprising members of

the community in which they reside.

fEORGE COPE, a rancher near Perris, was

born in Jerseyville, Illinois, June 12, 1861.

His father, Walter Cope, was born in

Charleston, South Carolina, in 1825, and his

father, John Cope, was a native of Germany,

who settled in South Carolina. Mr. Cope's

father married Miss Elinda Day in 1852. She

was a native of Buffalo, New York, born in

1831, and was a daughter of Mr. Ira Day, who

was an Illinois land-owner and farmer. They

had eight children, three boys and live girls.

The subject of this sketch was the youngest but

one of this family. He was sent to the conn-

try schools of Jersey County, Illinois, and re-

mained at home with his father until twenty-

two years of age. He was united in marriage

to Miss Nellie Sanderhouse, who was born in

Jersey County, Illinois, in 1865. They have one

interesting little daughter, Laura, born in Jer-

seyville, Illinois, June 9, 1885. Their r.ineh

consists of 160 acres, situated four miles north

of Perris. Ten acres of the ranch is devoted to

the house and ranch building, and shrubbery

and fruit. The house and barns have the stamp

of affluence and comfort second to none in the

valley. Mr. Cope is a good farmer. He is

sowing this year 100 acres to White Russia

wheat and 200 acres to barley. Mr. Cope and

wife stand high in their community as enterpris-

ing citizens.

fH.
McCANNA, of Perris, is one of the

solid, active business men and ranchmen

of Perris. He was born in Clinton County,

New York, July 16, 1833. His father, John Mc-

Canna, a native of Ireland, came to the United

States when quite young, and married Ann

Young. They had a family of nine childreu,

but two of whom are now living. Mr. Mc-

Canna, the subject of this sketch, went to the

then new State of Iowa in 1843, when but

eleven years of age. His educational advan-

tages were limited. He began his business

career as a peddler, which he followed for

two years. In 1862 he enlisted in the Union

army and served three Wh the

service he was two years forage master, and was

engac

raids

d in the hazardous business of making

into the enemy's country for supplies.

While on one of these expeditions he was made

prisoner by the enemy, who took from him his

arms and valuables, and threatened to shoot

him for being a spy. He saw three mules near

him and sprang upon one of them and made his

escape amid a shower of bulbts. He reached

the Union forces about midnight with the three

mules. He was in the battle of White river, at the

siege of Vicksburg, at Cherokee Station and at

the battle of Suffield Station. At this latter
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battle lie received a slight wound in the head

from a ball; another ball went through his coat,

and a third one killed his horse and wounded

him slightly in the leg. He did efficient duty

in gathering supplies for the army while with

Sherman on his march from Atlanta to the

sea. When the war was over he engaged with

his brother in the business of buying bankrupt

stocks of goods and selling them again at

auction and at private sale. He continued in

this business eight years, when he came to Cali-

fornia and traveled all over the country for four

years. He went to Los Angeles in 1883 and

opened a grocery store, but, after a year, sold

out and came to Perris, where he took a Govern-

ment claim of 160 acres of land, a short dis-

tance east of the town, on which he built a

good brick house and mai'e other improvements.

He built the first store in Perris, and now owns

four store buildings. He is engaged in several

kinds of business in addition to carrying on his

ranch; he has a brick and lumber yard, a livery

and feed stable, buys and sells stock, and rents

his buildings. He was married to Miss Alinira

Carpenter, and by her had one son, James Har-

rison, born September 20, 1864, who in now

married, owns property and resides in Perris.

This wife and mother died in 1872. Mr. Mc-

Canna was again married in 1882 to Mrs. Ben-

nett.

fM.
THOMASON, whose well appointed

establishment for all sheet- iron roofing

° and cornice work, is located at 1331 C

afreet, San Diego, was born at Sheridan, Lucks

County, Iowa, in August, 1855, his father being

a native of North Carolina and his mother, of

Indiana. There were six children, five of whom
are still living, Lis father was a faimer, and

owned a highly improved farm of 320 acres,

near Sheridan, where the subject of this sketch

received his early education, residing at home

and attending the common schools. He came

to California in 1883, spending one year in and

near San Francisco, then in 1884 he entered the

employ of P. S. Lawson, who had a well estab-

lished tinning and roofing business in Sacra-

manto, remaining with him until 1887, when he

came to San Diego and worked with Edward

Harris until March, 1889, when Thomason

bought out the business, and is meeting with

very flattering success. He dots a general

business in roofing, cornice and jobbing work,

preferring the wielding of heavy sheet-iron, as

his establishment is fitted with such machinery

as is particularly adapted to that line of business,

If honest thought and straightforward actions,

win success, Mr. Thomason is sure to " get

there."

fHOMAS LARSON.— It is with interest

that we take up the history of the early

pioneers who came to this State in 1850,

and paved the way for the greater influx in the

years to come. Thomas Larson is a native of

Norway, who came to the United States in boy-

hood with an uncle and aunt, first settling in

Wisconsin, but coming to California in 1853,

paying $100 for transportation, and arriving

with $14 in his pocket. He first went to

Placerville and then to the mines on Russell's

creek, whe~e he followed mining for ten years,

visiting the principal mining districts of Cali-

fornia and Idaho. In 1868 he settled up all

mining interests and came to San Francisco: he

then traveled quite extensively through the

State but finally decided to settle permanently

in San Diego, arriving in December of the same

year. He then started trucking and also ran a

passenger wagon to and from Oldtown, which

was then the center of business interests, the

present city being covered with sage bush and

a cover for quail and jack rabbits. Mr. Larson

also started the coal business, being the pioneer

dealer. He began with a very small business,

but built up a large trade, continuing twelve

years and then selling to the San Diego Coal
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Company. In 1873 lie consolidated his truck-

ing interests with those of Mr. Wescott, contin-

uing under the firm name of Wescott & Larson,

selling his interest in 1886. Mr. Larson is now

in the coke business, getting his supply from

the San Diego Gas Company. He owns several

small ranches in the San Jacinto artesian well

belt, where a steady flow of water can be se-

cured at a depth of 75 to 200 feet. His land

is especially adapted to alfalfa. He also owns

one half block between G and H on Fourteenth

6treet, and has a handsome residence on the

corner of G and Fourteenth streets, the balance

of the block being also improved.

Mr. Larson was married in San Diego, in

1870, to Miss Sarah Kelly, a native of Roches-

ter, New York.

-6B-^#

fA.
GOODBODY, one of the early pio-

neers of California, is of Irish descent,

° and was born in the western part of

Canada, December 29, 1829. but his father soon

emigrated to Illinois, and there carried on farm-

ing on a very extensive scale. The subject cf

this sketch started for California in 1850, by

the southern route, going by water from New
York to Galveston, Texas, and there purchased

mules and followed the trail to Fort Franklin,

now El Paso, where the trail ended. They then

inarched on westward, going to the Grand Cafion

of the Colorado, and through inefficient guides

they got lost and had to retrace their steps amid

great suffering from hunger and thirst. They
finally came to Mazatlan, on the coast of Mexico,

and there took steamer for San Francisco. He
then went to the mines on the Yuba river and

Sierra County. In June, 1852, he located the

Whisky Diggings, and to punish and stop crime

lynch law was observed, and Mr. Goodbody as-

sisted at the hanging of three murderers. In

1853 he returned to Illinois, remaining about

two years. He has been largely connected with

mining interests all his life, mainly in Sierra

County. In 1855 he crossed from Old Town to

Yuma, prospecting, and has also been connected

with mining interests in Texas, Mexico and

Lower California. He is largely connected with

railroad work, in grading and building bridges,

working quite extensively for the Santa Fe
company. He is about to develop a mine 6ix

miles south of Stonewall, which he located in

July, 1889.

Mr. Goodbody was married at Waukegan,
Illinois, in September, 1861, to Miss Jane De
Lanry. They have nine children, seven of

whom survive and reside at home.

fH.
WOODWORTH.—An industry con-

nected with the direct amelioration of
a

thirst, is carried on by Mr. E. H. Wood
worth in the manufacture of soda water and the

bottling of all summer drinks. He was born in

Syracuse, New York, August 1, 1859. His

parents were natives of that State, his father had

a bottling establishment, and therein the sub-

ject of this sketch learned his profession. He
came to California in 1875, and after four years

of business at San Francisco, he went to the

Sandwich Islands, and at Honolulu opened an

establishment and manufactured mineral water,

remaining eight years. He then placed a re-

sponsible representative in charge of his busi-

ness, and Mr. Woodworth returned to the United

States in 1887, and settled in San Diego, buy-

ing out the Excelsior Bottling Establishment,

then situated at H and Seventh streets, and on

July 5, 1889, moved to the present site at No.

1143 Third street, where he owns the building,

45 x 18 feet, being two stories in height, and

leases the ground. His plant is valued at about

$9,C00. Mr. Woodworth has just secured the

lease of a valuable mineral well at Otay, which is

six feet in diameter and forty feet deep. This is

called the Otay Waukshain Water, composed by

analysis of silica, sodium chloride, calcium

carbonate, magnesium carbonate and calcium

sulphate in large proportions, making a pure,

healthful water.
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He is about putting up a bottling establish

ment 20 x 20 near tbe well, and will make a

specialty of the water and of a Wauksham Gin-

ger Ale.

Mr. Woodworth was married at Honolulu in

October, 1881, to Miss Annie Barton, a native

of Utica, New York. They have four children,

all living.

fRANK C. THOMPSON, one of the indus-

trious business men of San Diego, and a

member of the Board of Delegates, was

born at Camden, New Jersey, March 9, 1854.

He was the second son in a family of nine chil-

dren, all of whom are living. His grandfather

and father were both professional millers, but

the subject of this sketch inclined to the pro-

fession of wielding iron, and after a slight edu-

cation in the public schools and Notre Dame

Seminary of Canada, at the early age of thir-

teen years he entered a five years' apprenticeship

with Collins & Sons, of Philadelphia, coach

builders, and learned the trade of coach iron

workman. During this term of service he re-

ceived twenty-five cents per day, six cents of

which was consumed in ferriage, and to save

this fare walked about five miles each day to

and from his business, which shows the youthful

ambitions of the man. In 1873 he went to

Cleveland, Ohio, and with Ed. Forest started a

chain factory for John S. Lee & Co., of Phila-

delphia. After six months he gave up his

position and for two and one-half years visited

the principal cities of the Middle States.

Mr. Thompson was married at Council Bluffs,

Iowa, February 3, 1876, to Miss Permelia C.

Graves, a native of Iowa. They have two chil-

dren: Wilbur, born November 18, 1876, and

Myrtle E., born December 16, 1886. His

family then resided at Council Bluffs, but Mr.

Thompson was necessarily absent much of the

time, as he had charge of the Harvey Carriage

Manufactory at Freeport, Illinois, and later was

foreman of a blacksmith department for Bennet

& Frantz, of Burlington, Iowa. In the fall of

1882, he returned to Council Bluffs, and for

sixteen months was in the livery business. He
first arrived ir San Diego March 4, 1884,

bringing his family the following May. He
immediately entered into the employ of J. W.
Wescott, as foreman of his carriage establish-

ment, and entered into partnership in May,

1889, under the firm name of Wescott &
Thompson.

Mr. Thompson is a member of Centennial

Encampment, No. 58, I. O. O. F., also of the

Red Men, the American Mechanics, and is Sit-

ting Past Chief of the Knights of the Golden

Eagle. He was elected a member of the Board

of Delegates from the Seventh Ward of San

Diego, in the election of April, 1888, the first

public office he has ever held, but has made him-

self popular, both in and out of office, and will

no doubt be a candidate for future honors.

-^•€f»^

—

fSLADE, of San Diego, occupies a large

and commodious residence on the corner

° of Front and S streets. He was born at

Alden, Erie County, New York, October 12,

1817; his parents were natives of New Hamp-
shire. His father was a farmer of moderate re-

sources, and the son, appreciating the advantages

of an education, toiled hard in summer to ac-

quire means to enable him to pursue his educa-

tional advantages in winter, and in this way he

completed an academic course in Buffalo, New
York. He then dispensed his knowledge as in-

structor, and taught for many years in the pub-

lic schools of Buffalo, and was also superintend-

ent of schools for two years. He served two

terms as member of the Common Council of

Buffalo. Owing to the severity of that climate,

as years increased his health decreased, and in

1878, at the age of sixty-one years, he sought a

more genial climate 'neath the ciear skies and

bright sunshine of Southern California; and

having a daughter then residing in San Diego,

he established himself in that city. As evi-
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deuce of his popularity and sterling worth, he

has served two terms a3 member of the Board

of Aldermen of Sin Diego, and at neither elec-

tion was a single vote cast agunst him.

Mr. Slade was married in Buffalo, to Miss

Mary Jane Kerr. They have three children,

two of whom still survive; one the wife of Dr.

Stockton, and the other the wife of Mr. Nealy,

all residents of San Diego.

m^^——^m
tENRY MACLAGAN wa; born August 23,

and died at the age of ninety years. He
was a physician in the English army, and

was at the battle of Waterloo. His wife, Mary

McGregor, was a desceudeut of Robert Ross

McGregor. The subject of this sketch was

born of the above parents, August 13, 1813,

and was with his mother in Brussels when the

battle of Waterloo was fought. He had four

sisters and one brother, J.W. D. Maclagan, who

now resides at Lindsey, Ontario. Henry first

left home as a cabin boy on a whaling ship for

Greenland, sailing from Leith. On his return

he went to Spain with the Spanisn legation,

serving eight years in the Carlist war. He was

then at Algiers two years in the Foreign Le-

gion. He then came to the United States, in

1843, visiting his brother in Canada. He then

enlisted for the American war in Company

B, Third Regiment United States Cavalry,

and was made First Sergeant, February 26, 1848,

at the city of Mexico. He served through the

war and was discharged at Fort Sullivan, East-

port, Maine, July 16, 1851. In the same year

he came to California, leaving New York by

the steamer Brother Jonathan, for Chagres.

and then across to Panama on a burro, and

took steamer for San Fraucis^o, the old steamer

McKim. Off Cape St. Lucas the sails were

blown away and they were obliged to run into

the bay of San Diego. There was much sick-

ness on board, and many deaths. He went

into the employ of the Government, in the

Quartermaster's department, under Captain Mc-

Gruder, who was then stationed at San Diego,

the subject of this sketch taking charge of

wagon-trains. He then went to Arizona with

Major Heintzelman, carrying the mail. He re-

mained in the service about twenty years, vari-

ously employed, and traveling in any direction

from the Mexican line to the northern forts.

He was a bold, fearless man, and had received

many wounds, in wars both in Europe and

with the Indians. He is now suffering from a

bad arrow wound in the head, which he received

in the Tonto Basin about 1874.

On March 31, 1853, he bought property of

E. W. Morse, fifty by one hundred feet, on the

corner of F and Atlantic streets, which he

rented until 1879, when he returned, and has

since occupied, formerly as a saloon but later as

a residence, being too feeble to attend to busi-

nesss. Mr. Maclagan is a man of seventy-six

years, who has experienced the hardships and

dangers of life, but never formed the more

domestic relations of wife, always having lived

a bachelor.

^3"J->

fESTOR A. YOUNG, Harbor-Master and

Chief Wharfinger of the Bay of San Diego,

was born in Belmont County, Ohio, in

1845, having descended from New England an-

cestry. John Virgil Young came over to the

Colonies on the receipt of a handsome land

grant from King George III., in the colony of

Massachusetts. Royalty could not, however,

hold the young family to the English crown,

for their lot was soon cast among the true

friends and stanch supporters of the American

cause. Virgil Young, the great-grandfather of

Nestor A., joined Washington, fighting under

the "Father of our Country" through the

tedious and bitter struggle for national exist-

ence and perpetual independence. Not only

did he thus contribute to the fullest extent his

personal service and energy, but sacrificed

largely his lands and contributed financially to

the cause so near and dear to his heart. His
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grandfather, the Rev. Nestor Young, was a

clergyman of unusual prominence and ability.

He was one of the most eloquent of pulpit ora-

tors, and assisted largely in the spread of Meth-

odism from the Ohio to the Mississippi, and

came within a few votes of being made a

Bishop. J. B. Young, the father of Nestor A.,

had no taste for public life or the honors which

attach to professional pursuits. Mechanic arts

had the strongest attraction for him, and for

more than forty years he was a silversmith and

jeweler, and was esteemed l>y all who knew him

as an honest, upright citizen.

Nestor A. Young, the subject of this sketch,

received a classical education in the Wesleyan

University of Iowa. As well as having both be-

fore and since passed through those scenes of

exterior hardihood and interior refinement which

go toward the make-up of a symmetrical life,

he is well qualified to meet the requirements of

this living age, discriminating between right

and wrong with a keen discernment not always

found among the characteristics with which the

average public is endowed; and yet, while his

record as a legislator in this State is too well

known to be for a moment assailed, it may not

be amiss to give a few of the varied experiences

of life which have had a bearing toward that

thorough equipment of mental faculty and

heart so essential in public or political life.

Hence the same motives which impelled the

great-grandfather to cast his lot with Washing-

ton and his coadjutors in those early days,

caused the subject of this sketch, in the dark,

dark days of civil strife^ to enlist at the outbreak

of the Rebellion, though at that time a mere

boy. The survivors of the Thirteenth and Forty-

fifth Iowa Infantry, to which regiments he be-

longed, are best able to judge of his course in

field and in camp, in those times of danger and

endurance. A steady aim of purpose, courage-

ous bearing, and a persistent energy, character-

ized him as an uncompromising and aggressive

defender of his country's flag. Tireless and

unflinching in military duty throughout his en-

tire term of enlistment, he was, in 1864, honor-

ably discharged. His whole soul was in full

accord with the support of the Uuion cause

throughout that bitter struggle. Three years

of honorable service and distinction were, how-

ever, contributed with cheerful alacrity, and the

flag so dearly loved in years of strife and con-

quest has no less a place in the affections of his

heart to day, as years of peace glide swiftly by.

In 1868 he married Miss Mattie Dawson, of

Washington, Iowa, coming soon after to Cali-

fornia. As an educator his qualifications quickly

became manifest to the California public, as they

had previously been well known to the people of

Iowa, and he was for some time an honored

member of the faculty of Alexander Academy
at Healdsburg, then a leading institution of that

State.' Mr. Young, in 1875, engaged in the

newspaper business as publisher of the Sonoma
County Journal, turning his attention to the

building up of the interests and developing the

resources of that county. His services in the

promotion of public prosperity being discovered

by the leading men of the northern part of the

State, he was offered a position as superintend-

ent and manager of the Pioneer Immigrant Bu-

reau of San Francisco, in which position he

became an adept, and for several years ably

conducted its affairs, much to the satisfaction

of Jail concerned in the welfare of that part of

the State. Mrs. Young's health becoming im-

paired, and desiring to make a change, Mr.

Young removed to Southern California, locating

in Santa Ana, and engaged in the publication

of a spirited journal called Homes and Lands

in Semi-Tropic California, which became so

popular that the circulation increased 10,000

copies per month.

Mr. Young has served two terms as Repre-

sentative from San Diego County to the Gen-

eral Assembly of this State, being first elected

in 1884, and re-elected in 1886, and, though

passing through two campaigns, incurred no

political abuse. Fearless in matters of duty,

and consistent in public acts and private de-

meanor, and always sincere in every under-

taking, his opinion as a law-framer has fre-
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quently been sought, and therefore it is not

strange that his service as chairman of the

Committee on Claims, and as a member of other

important committees, were so often sought for

and universally approved. On July 1, 1889,

he was appointed Harbor-Master and Chief

Wharfinger of the Bay of San Diego, which

position he is filling witli universal approval

and commendation.

- . .g . I..fg.~

B. HARTZELL, a son of a pioneer, was

born in Iowa, which was at that time a

9 Territory, at a little settlement called

Keosangua, January 18, 1842, his father being

of Pennsylvania Dutch descent and his mother

from the Dutch Ca-olina Quakers. There were

seven children, six of whom survive. Mr. Hart-

zell was left fatherless at the early age of five

years, and since the age of nine has earned his

own living, being first employed at $1 per

month. Between the ages of nine and fourteen

years his educational opportunities were ex-

tremely limited, having had but fifteen months

schooling through the five years, as what were

then called free schools were only in session

during the three winter months of each year.

From 1856 to 1860 he worked at farming and

herding stock as opportunities afforded. He
went to Pilot Knob, Missouri, to learn the trade

of carpenter, but in 1861, hearing his country's

cry "to arms," he returned to Iowa and in August,

1861, enlisted for three years in Company G,

Third Iowa Cavalry, in command of Colonel

Cyrus Bussy (now Assistant Secretary of Inte-

rior), Adjutant of the regiment being John W.
Noble (now Secretary of Interior). From 1861

to 1863 the regiment was in Arkansas and

Missouri and was engaged in all the important

hattles, Pea Ridge, Kirksville, Moode's Mills,

Hartsville and many skirmishes. In 1863 they

led the advance at Little Rock under command
of Lieutenant Colonel N. C. Colwell. During

the winter of 1863 and 1864 they were in the

battles of Pine Bluff, Arkadelphia, Princetown

and Brownsville. On January 1, .1864, the regi-

ment re-enlisted « for the war," and went home
on a thirty-days furlough, Colonel Bussy being

promoted to Brigadier General and Lieutenant

Colonel Colwell promoted to command of the

regiment, who after three months was appointed

District Judge of Arkansas by President Lin-

coln, and Colonel John W. Bussy was then

promoted to command of the regiment. About
May 1, 1864, they arrived at Memphis, Tennes-

see, and reported to General Grierson, who was

known as the " Great Raider," and was in all

his raids up to January, 1865, being in Gun-
town battle and at Tupelo. January, 1865,

they were ordered to Louisville, Kentucky, and

joined Wilson's Cavalry Corps on its march
through Alabama, Georgia and into Florida.

They were at the battle of Selma, where the

loss was very heavy but the fight was won; then

at Columbus, Georgia, where was fought the

last general engagement of the war, on the 19th

of April, 1865, an evening engagement, and at

twelve o'clock midnight they crossed the only

remaining bridge and took possession of the

city. They marched to Macon, Georgia, and

surrounded the city and prepared for battle,

when General Cobb of the C. S. A. came for-

ward with a flag of truce and said that Presi-

dent Lincoln had been assassinated and armistice

of peace had been declared. General Wilson

then ordered General Upton to take charge of

the city. The fourth division of the cavalry

corps was then sent to Atlanta on the lookout

for Jeff Davis between Tallahassee, Florida, and

Atlanta, Georgia, but Jeff was captured by a

Michigan regiment and was brought to Atlanta

in company with Alexander H. Stephens. Mr
Hartzell was then in command of an ambulance

corps and was ordered by General Upton to

carry the prisoners from the railroad station to

headquarters. The subject of this sketch re-

mained at Atlanta during the summer of 1865,

and had charge of an am bn lance corps which

carried mail from the city over the line of road

which had been torn up by Sherman in his

great inarch, until the road was relaid. On Sep-
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tember 21 the regiment was ordered to Iowa and

mustered out.

During the next ten years Mr. Hartzell was

variously employed at Cheyenne, Wyoming
Territory; he then went to Nebraska and was

among the pioneers of Lincoln and Kearney.

In 1875 he returned to Iowa, remaining three

years, when he received the appointment bf

superintendent of the Indian reservation in

Idaho, and in 1880 was transferred by Carl

Sehurtz to the Round valley reservation in

Mendocino, California, where he remained until

1882, when he resigned and came to San Diego,

arriving June 20, going at once to Poway,

where he bought a ranch. Since that time he

has been interested in ranching and real estate

in San Diego city. He is now a member of the

Pamo Water Company, who own a fine section

of country and control a water supply second to

none in California.

Mr. Hartzell was married September 19,

1869, to Miss L. E. Culver, of Cleveland, Ohio,

then living at Lincoln, Nebraska. They have

four children, all of whom are living. Like all

good soldiers Mr. Hartzell believes in perpetu-

ating the memories of the past, and in main-

taining loyalty in the present, and is a Past

Commander of Hentzleman Post, No. 33, of the

department of California.

fj.

McDONALD was born at Barre, Onta-

rio, Canada, August 13, 1861; his par-

° ents were natives of Canada, but his

father was of Irish descent, of the McDonald

family of County Antrim. The subject of this

sketch was the youngest in a family of eight

children, seven of whom still survive. His

education was received in the town of Barre, at

the Collegiate Institute. He was an under-

graduate of the Toronto University. He com-

menced his medical course in 1881, at Toronto,

and graduated in medicine and surgery in 1885.

During the Louis Riel rebellion in 1885, in the

northwestern part of Canada, Dr. McDonald

tilled the position of military surgeon. He then

went abroad, remaining one year, and taking a

post-graduate course at Edinburgh, London and

Dublin.

In Dublin, October 5, 1886, Dr. McDonald

was married to Miss Mary Grace Healey, the

eldest daughter of Major George Healey, J. P.

D. L., of county Kilkenny, Eoulksconrt Domain,

Ireland. He then brought his bride to the

United States and after visiting his friends in

Canada came to San Diego, arriving in Novem-

ber, 1886. He then began practice, opening an

office on Fifth street near H street, in general

medicine, and special attention given to sur-

gery, and is now enjoying a very satisfactory

practice, and is resolved to stand by the town

through its dull times, and thus acquire name

and fame as the town improves.

^-6^"£#

§B. BENNETT, of Alamo, was born in

McLean County, Kentucky, January 7,
3 1859. His parents were natives of Ken-

tucky. There were six children, all of whom
are living, the subject of this sketch being the

oldest of the family. His parents are still liv-

ing on the old homestead in Kentucky, his father

being a farmer. L. B. Bennett lived at home
until he was about twenty-one years of age; he

received a preliminary course of training at the

the common schools, then finished a three years'

course at the Southwest Institute, situated at

South Carrollton, Kentucky. He then entered

the law office of Judge J. C. Johnson, remain-

ing two years, at the end of which time he was

admitted to the bar. He was then elected

county attorney for McLean County and held

office one term of two years. In 1882 he went

to Nevada, and for one year practiced law at

Belmont, county seat of Nye County. In Oc-

tober, 1883, he went to Washington Territory,

at Seattle and Wliabin, on Bellingham Bay,

remaining one year. In July, 1884. he came

to San Diego, and being financially "broke" ac-

cepted a position as bar-keeper in the retail liquor
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business, remaining until 1887, when he went to

Ensenada and started in the same business,

under the firm name of Blanden & Bennett.

In the spring ot 1889 he went to Alamo, Santa

Clara mining district, and opened a saloon, bill-

iard and club rooms. He now thinks of closing

up business and returning to the practice of his

profession. The town of Alamo was laid out by

the International Company, June, 1889. It was

a level mesa, covered with a growth of juniper

and manzanita. The company cleared the streets

July, 1889, and in August building and occu-

pancy began. The town was opened by the

company giving twenty lots to twenty represent-

ative men who would immediately improve, the

lots being located about the plaza. The subject

of this sketch received one lot, and has built a

house valued at $2,000, adobe walls and shingle

roof, buying shingles and lumber in San Diego

and freighting down, the freight alone costing

$250.

fLON G. HAIGHT, a liberal citizen of

San Diego, was born June 6, 1839, in

Rochester, New York. His father, Daniel

C, was also a native of that State, and married

Catharine Gallman, a native of Dutchess Coun-

ty, New York. He was a farmer and also a

surveyor. In that family were fourteen chil-

dren, of whom only five are now living. Elon

G., next to the youngest, went to Buffalo at the

age of eighteen years, and became book-keeper

for Van Stock & Notten, boat-builders, remain-

ing with them three years; then, in March,

1861, he came to California, landing at San

Francisco on April 10. He was employed at

Redwood until the spring of 1864; then, until

the fall of 1869, he was clerk at Virginia City,

Nevada. November 10 he arrived at San Diego,

and for the first few years clerked for Culver-

well & Jorus, forwarding and commission mer
chants.

In May, 1872, he was elected City Trustee

and City Clerk; afterward he was appointed

Deputy County Clerk by Captain A. S. Grant,

and held the office until March, 1878; in 1879
he was appointed again by S. Statler, and served

until January 1, 1883. During the previous

autumn he had been elected Auditor and Re-

corder, and he entered upon the duties of this

office the first Monday in January, 1883, and

held the office for two years. In 1886 he was

reelected for another term, and in the fall of

1888 for still another. Among the societies of

which Mr. Haight is a member are the F. & A.
M., A. O. U. W., O. C. F., and I. O. R. M.; and

also of the " Matrimonial Society."

He was married February 22, 1871, to Miss
Addie M. Turpiu, who was born in Rochester,

New York, in 1864. And last, but not least, he is

a member of the Society of San Diego Pioneers.

The official and other relations which our subject

sustains attests his liberal spirit and popularity.

s^€3^£
§R. GEO. W. BARNES, San Diego, is of

Scotch ancestry; he was born in Fred-

erick County, Virginia, December 9,

1825, son of Stephen, a native of Frederick

County, Virginia, and Eleanor (Scarf) Barnes,

also a n.tive of Frederick County. Dr. Barnes'

father's mother was from the north of Ireland,

and his ancestors were Scotch. When ten years

of age the Doctor moved with his parents to

Newark, Ohio. Having decided to follow the

profession of medicine he became a student of

Dr. A. O. Blair, then one of the ino3t promi-

nent homeopathic physicians of Ohio. After

attending a course of instructions at the Medi-

cal College of Ohio, the Eclectic Institutg of

Cincinnati, and the Cleveland Homeopathic
College, he graduated in the latter institution

in 1851. He then located at Mt. Vernon, Ohio,

where he enjoyed an extensive practice for over

fourteen years. In 1865, having been elected

a professor in the Cleveland Homeopathic Hos-

pital College, he removed to that city. In 1869

his health failed by reason of excessive labor,

and compelled him to resign his position and



HISTORY OF SAN DIEGO COUNTY.

seek a milder climate, tie cam^ to California

and spent nearly a year in the study of its

climate. At the end of that time he gave San

Diego the preference and settled there. Several

years since the Doctor received a spinal injury

from the rearing and bucking of hi6 horse, from

which he has never recovered, but, notwith-

standing this, he continues his professional

work far beyond his apparent ability. Dr.

Barnes had associated with him in practice from

1881 to 1884, Dr. E. A. Clark, now of Los

Angeles, and from the latter date to the first of

November last, he had as his associate Dr. A.

Morgan. He now has associated with him Dr.

P. F. Gamber, late of Cleveland, Ohio.

Dr. Barnes was largely instrumental in or-

ganizing the San Diego Society of Natural

History. He has been its president since its

organization and has faithfully labored to pro-

mote its prosperity. Since 1853 he has been a

member of the American Institute of Home-
opathy, and since 1878, in consequence of a

membership of over twenty-five years, he has

belonged to the association of seniors of that

body. He aided in the establishment of the

first medical dispensary of Cleveland and the

Homeopathic Hospital, still in operation there,

and was one of its consulting physicians. He
was physician to the Cleveland Protestant Or-

phan Asylum, was secretary of the Cuyahoga

County Medical Society and treasurer of the

Western Institute of Homeopathy. He was

associated in the establishment of the Ohio

Medical and Surgical Reporter, and its edi-

torial management during its first volume.

Ever since his resignation as professor in

the Cleveland College, he has had the honorary

title of Emeritus Professor of Materia Medica

in that institution. He is uow a member of

the California State Homeopathic Medical So-

ciety, and an honorary member of the Los

Angeles Homeopathic Medical Society, lie is

also a corresponding member of the St. Louis

Academy of Science, and of the Wisconsin State

Historical Society. He has contributed to

many medical journals, and is the author of a

seventy-page pamphlet, entitled -'The Hillocks

and Mound Formations of the Pacific Coast."

After what has been above stated we need

not add that the Doctor stands eminent in his

profession. His is a most enviable position.

He invested considerably in city property during

his early residence here, and this having in-

creased in value, he is now independent. The

Doctor's physical disability has been such that

he has many times been carried up stairs to see

a patient. He now does an office business, and

goes out only to engage in consultation.

—«#**&»•£#

tS.
FLOURNOY, a native of Missouri,

was born at Independence, June 26, 1830.

<» His parents were natives of Kentucky.

They had two children, both sons, of which R.

S. was the oldest, and the other is since deceased.

His father was a farmer and miller. The sub-

ject of this sketch remainel at home until he

was nineteen years of age, receiving a common-

school elucation. In 1849 he left home for

California by the Missouri and Mississippi rivers

to New Orleans, then took a sailing vessel for

Chagres, small boats up the Chagres river to

Cruces, and there walked twenty-five miles to

Panama, hiring the natives to carry his baggage

across on their backs. He remained at Panama

about two weeks, and then paid $160 for passage

by sailing vessel to San Francisco. There was

great speculation for steamer tickets, some sell-

ing as high as $500. He embarked January 8,

1850, on board the brig Corbia, with a very

full list of passengers. Tne Corbia was an old

English tub, and from unwholesome food and

bad water they experienced great discomforts.

Panama fever broke out on board and many

deaths resulted therefrom. After a passage of

ninety days they arrived in San Francisco, April

8, 1850. He then passed eight years on the

Yuba, American and Feather rivers, prospecting

and speculating in mining interests, but with no

satisfactory results. In 1853 he bought a farm

of 250 acres in Indian valley, Plumas County,
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which he managed until 1864, when he sold out

and went to Taylorsville, same valley. In 1864

he bought a pack train of forty-four mules, and

took a general line of groceries and supplies to

Silver City, Idaho, but the market being over-

stocked, he stored his supplies with a trusted

friend, and returned; but later, his friend sold

his supplies and defaulted, whereby Mr. Flour-

noy lost $20,000. He continued packing for

two years, then sold his mules and in 1866

bought a farm of 200 acres, with stock and tools,

in Genesee valley, and later pre-empted 200

acres, which land he resides upon and farms.

He has a large fruit orchard of apples and such

fruits as are adapted to a temperate climate, and

has built a large brick house, three large barns

and outbuildings. His principal crops are wheat

and oats, and the land is also a fine grass coun-

try. Farming is similar to that of the East,

except that irrigating is necessary, but they have

water in great abundance. He was married at

Elizabethtown, Plumas County, November,

1855, to Miss A. A. Varna. They have been

blessed with seven children, three only surviv-

ing, the eldest being Harley C, then a daughter,

Tiney, and the youngest a son, Robert W. All

are living on the farm, his wife being deceased.

His success is due to wise management in farm-

ing and stock-raising. He came to San Diego

November, 1886, and invested in real estate,

improved and unimproved, and has since de-

voted himself to that line of business.

HLL1AM PERIGO, a retail liquor dealer

of San Diego, was born in Brooklyn,

Susquehanna County, Pennsylvania,

July 25, 1829, his parents being natives of New
England. At the age of eighteen he was

apprenticed for three years to learn the cabinet-

makers' trade at Kingston, where he remained,

working at his trade until September, 1862.

He then enlisted in the army, Company A,

Captain George A. Stone, One Hundred and

Fifty-first Pennsylvania Volunteers, Colonel

Warren in command. The regiment went

forward to Washington, then to Arlington

Heights, and then to the old Bnll Run battle-

ground, where they passed the winter on picket

duty; in the spring of 1863 to Fredericksburg,

where, under the co nmand of General Joe

Hooker, they took part in the battle of Chan-

cellorsville, and there they remained until they

went forward to the battle of Gettysburg,

General Meade being commander-in-chief, and

General Reynolds in command of the First

Army Corp, in the third division of which they

were placed. They met General Early's corps

of the Confederate army and were badly cut up,

the subject being wounded and taken prisoner,

but, being able to walk, was paroled and re-

mained in Gettysburg until July 13, when he

was sent to Jarvis Hospital, at Baltimore, and

on August 13, 1863, was discharged from his

regiment and returned to his home in Brook-

lyn, Pennsylvania, where he remained until De-

cember, 1863, when he again went to the front

as sutler's clerk, under A. G. Plume, of New
York, sutler for the New York Zouaves,

which was composed of the re-enlisted of

the Fifth New York Zouaves, and the

Fourteenth, of Brooklyn, New York, under

General Winslow, of the Fifth Corps, General

Warren in command. They were in the battle

of Weldon Railroad, which the corps took and

held. The subject remained with the sutler until

December, 1864, when he again returned to his

home, remaining till the spring of 1865, when he

joined a corps of engineers and went lo the Black

Hills, making the preliminary survey of the

Union Pacific Railroad, corps in charge of J. A.

Evans, remaining until November, 1865, when,

on account of cold weather, they returned to

Brooklyn and there passed the winter. About

May 15, 1866, he went to Omaha, then to

Leavenworth, Kansas, where he joined a party

of miners and went to Pinas Altas (tall pines),

New Mexico, arriving about the middle of

October, and remaining about two years engaged

in quartz and placer mining, with but little suc-

cess. He next went to Fort Cutnmings, New
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Mexico, where he spent one year as clerk in the

Quartermaster's department, leaving July 1,

1869, for San Diego; coming through Arizona

by freight wagon to Tucson, and then taking the

stage at $100 per ticket, and arriving at San

Diego September 13, 1869. For about ten years

he worked as a carpenter and day laborer, but in

1872 opened a saloon on Fifth street, between

E and D. In October, 1883, he went to Los

Angeles, but, preferring the locality and climate

of San Diego, returned in June, 1884, continu-

ing in the business of retail liquor dealer.

fHARLES A. TREANOR, a twenty years'

resident of Sati Diego, was born February

17, 1861, near Sacramento, California, his

father being a farmer and owning a farm near

that city. There the subject passed the first

eight years of his life. May 3, 1869, his family

moved to this c ; ty, where they have since re-

sided. The following years he passed as attend-

ant of the city schools, and out of school hours

he was employed in delivering papers for the

Old San Diego News. In 1881 he entered the

employ of the California Southern Pacific Rail-

road Co npany. was entered in various

capacities until the fall of 1884, when he be-

came bookkeeper and cashier for the Russ

Lumber & Mill Company, a position which he

still holds, September, 1889.

The subject is still unmarried, being one of

the class of dutiful sons, who considers the care

of mother his first pleasure. His father is

deceased. Be is a member of the Sons of the

Golden West, a society composed entirely of na-

tive-born sous of citizens.

#5^"^ "

fOHN HEERANDTJER, a native of Obern-

berg, Austria, was born in 1825. He left

Austria in 1848, by the good ship Balti-

more, from Rotterdam, and after a quiet passage

of forty days arrived safely in New York. He

went at once to Milwaukee, Wisconsin, thence

to Burlington, for a few months, and to Roches-

ter, where he passed about a year working at his

trade, that of machinist, which he acquired in

Austria. In 1850 he joined a train at Racine,

Wisconsin, managed by David Barton, to cross

the plains to California. They came via St.

Joseph, Fort Leavenworth, North Platte and

Greene rivers, crossed the Rocky mountains by

the Great South Pass in June, and, after a pleas-

ant journey, devoid of unusual experiences,

arrived at Hangtown, now called Placerville.

Although their own *rip was a pleasant one they

were witnesses of the sufferings of others, as on

the latter part of their journey the trail was

lined with the carcasses of dead horses and cattle,

which the early pioneers had left behind them.

At Hangtown Mr. Heeranduer worked at min-

ing for a while, then went to Gold Spring, tak-

ing up a claim, and, with a partner, struck it

very rich; but, owing to a disagreement with

his partner, he sold out and went to Wal mouth,

where he opened a saloon, hauling supplies from

Stockton; but the miners encroached upon his

land, so he sold out and went to Yankee Jim,

where he opened a wagon shop; but, work being

scarce and food expensive,—flour being from 75

cents to $1 a pound,—he gave up his shop and

went to chopping wood. In the spring of 1852

he went to Michigan Bluff and opened a car

shop and foundry, with great success; there be-

ing no coin there gold dust and nuggets were

weighed out in exchange for supplies. In 1856

the town was destroyed by fire, but he rebuilt

and remained until 1859, when he went to

Watsonville, Santa Cruz County, California, and

worked at house-moving in summer and ran a

ferry-boat across ' the river in winter. He
secured a charter from the State and built a toll

bridge across the river, which proved very

profitable; finally sold out his toll bridge to a

toll company, and was employed by them in

building roads and bridges across the low lands

and rivers. He then converted his ferry-boat

into a freight boat and carried freight to the

several dealers.
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In 1870 he came to San Diego city with

about $2,500, bought a corner lot at Sixth and

K streets, started a planing mill and began

the business of house-moving, being the pioneer

establishment, and having a monopoly in that

line of business for fifteen years. During the

boom of 1886 he sold his property for $12,000,

and then built a large bath-house at the foot of

Sixth street, with hot and cold baths, which he

has carried on until the present summer, 1889.

In 1871 Mr. Heeranduer was married, in San

Diego, to Miss Caroline Nordk, who died in

1885, leaving no children. Though sixty-four

years of age, Mr. Heeranduer is still active and

quite a musician. He has now rented his bath

house, and, from the income of his possessions,

anticipates a less active and laborious life.

fEDRO J. AGUIRRE, member of the

firm of Aguirre & Dowell, Mexican and

American custom-house brokers and com-

missioners, was born in Westport, Jackson

County, Missouri, June 25, 1864, his parents

being Ephraim and Mary E. (Bernard) Aguirre;

the former was born in the city of Mexico, and

when thirty years of age was killed by the

Indians on the Mexican border. His grand-

father, Pedro Aguirre, was a native of Spain

and was a large land-holder and farmer in

Mexico, and became a citizen of America by

reason of the Gadsden treaty. The mother of

the subject of this sketch was born June 23,

1844, in Saint Louis, Missonri, daughter of

Jacob Bernard, a native of Richmond, Vir

ginia, born in 1800. Mr. and Mrs. Aguirre

were married on the 26th of August,

1862. They had four children, namely: Pedro

J., Ephraim B., born May 12, 1865, in Los

Cruces, New Mexico, and Stephen N , born in

Westport, Missouri, February 4, 1867.

Pedro Aguirre crossed the plains from Kan-

sas City to Los Cruces, New Mexico, when only

three years of age. They returned in March,

18— , and in 1867 came back again. Mr. Aguirre

received his education in Lawrence, Kansas, and

in Arizona. While at the latter place he had

charge of his uncle Pedro Aguirre's stage-

coach line. Afterward hf was elected treasurer

of the city of Tucson and held the office from

1866 to 1867, when he came to San Diego and

became connected with the International Com-
pany of Mexico; he acting as their translator.

He then formed a partnership with Mr. Dowell,

which now exists, and has since been interested

in promoting trade with Mexico. He made an

extensive trip through Mexico last spring in con-

nection with this business. The result has

been a large amount of trade attracted to San

Diego.

Mr. Aguirre is a member of the Chamber of

Commerce and of the Knights of Pythias, and

belongs to the Ancient Order of United Work-

men. He is a gentlemanly young man of good

business qualities.

-^msm^—
fHOMAS J. DOWELL, one of San

Diego's promising yonng business men,

was born in Calaveras County, December

21, 1855. His father, John A. Dowell, was a

native of Virginia, born in 1828; most of his

life was spent in Missouri. He came to Cali-

fornia in 1851, and was foreman of the Meadow
Valley Mining Company. He had charge of

the first train loaded with machinery, taken to

Pioche, Nevada. Mr. Dowell's mother wa-i

Calista Palacio, born in El Rosario, State of

Sinoloa, Mexico. They had but one child,

Thomas. His early education was entirely

Spanish; later he attended Santa Clara College.

In 1874 his father gave him money to start in

the mercantile business in Pioche. The firm

name was A. D. Reccabarren & Co. At the

end of a year he sold out and engaged in min-

ing with his father. Five months later his

father was killed by falling down a shaft in the

mine. Mr. Dowell went from there to Silver

Reef, Utah, and opened a book store, which he

sold out two years later and went to Tomb-
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stone. He was there engaged in mining for

four years, one year of which time he was in

the service of the Mexican government in the

Palomina custom-house. After this he was in

the store of Max Marks & Co. In 1886 he

came to San Diego and was engaged in book-

keeping four months. He afterward entered

the service of the International Company of

Mexico. Finally he formed a partnership with

Pedro Aguirre, in Mexican and American

custom-house brokerage and commission.

They are opening and developing a trade with

Mexico, which will no doubt result in an in-

crease of business between San Diego and

Mexico. Mr. Dowell is an Odd Fellow and a

Chancellor Commander of the Knights of Py-

thias, and a mea ber of the San Diego Chamber

of Commerce.

fH.
GROVESTEEN, a native of Albany,

New York, he was raised in New York
® city. His father, J. H. Grovesteen, was

a native of New York city, and one of the old-

est piano forte manufacturers in the United

States, as well as one of the most extensive,

having made 40,000; they were justly celebrated

instruments. Jennie Lind used one on her

musical tour through this country. Mr. Grove-

steen's mother was a native of New Jersey. She

was for a long time a leading soprano singer in

New York; she sang in the old Broadway Tab-

ernacle and in other churches of note. His

sister is now singing in Dr. Paxter's church, at

a salary of $1,800 per year. His brother is a

member of the Stock Exchange, and is a noted

pianist. The whole family have partaken of the

father's ai;d mother's talent for music. Mr.

Grovesteen, the subject of this sketch, was born

May 29, 1844. During the war he went out

with the New York Militia, Company H., served

three months, and again enlisted in the spring of

1862, served three months on the Peninsula,

and re-enlisted again in the fall of 1862, in th°

One Hundred and Seventy-fourth New York,

and was promoted to Second Sergeant; he was

sent to the Department of the Gulf, and was all

through the Port Hudson campaign. On sev-

eral occasions, by reason of the absence of his

superior officer, he had command of his com-

pany. There were no promotions in that com-

pany on account of the Colonel's sickness and

absence; he was taken sick at Baton Rouge, left

for New York and never returned to the battal-

ion. In his absence the Lieutenant Colonel

had no power to make promotions. Mr. Grove-

steen was made First Sergeant of his company

by reason of a general order from the War De-

partment. The Lieutenant Colonel had charge

until the consolidation of the regiment with the

One Hundred and Sixty-second New York at

Shreveport, Louisiana. Mr. Grovesteen had

charge of that office at Fordwood, Bedlow's

Island, now called Liberty Island. He had

charge there while they were distributing weekly

about 500 men, sending them to different de-

partments, where their regiments were located.

He remained there until mustered out of service

at the close of the war, after having served his

country from the first to the last of the great

struggle.

He entered business with his father at New
York city in the manufacture of piano-fortes,

and remained there twenty years, until they

closed out their business. In 1886 he came to

San Diego to look after the piano business, but

entered the assessor's office and became assistant

in apportioning and placing taxes on the roll

with Charles Shepherd. As soon as Varntim

was appointed, Mr. Grovesteen took charge of

the office until his election the following year;

then he entered the office of the recorder and

remained until the following 6pring (1889),

when he entered the office of the county clerk

as deputy.

He was married in 1868 to Miss Amelia II

.

Gale. They had two children: Hetty M., born

August 12, 1869, and Charles E., born October

26, 1872. Mrs. Grovesteen died in 1884. Mr.

Grovesteen is Adjutantof Heintzelman Post, No.

33, and is a member of the Improved Order of
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Red Men, also belongs to the Royal Arcanum.

He is a bright, active and obliging officer and

a thorough business man.

fIDEON JACKSON OVERSHINER
came to California in 1850, from Galena, Ill-

inois, arriving August 3, 1850. He was

born at Fort Loudon, Franklin County, Penn-

sylvania, February 4, 1825, son of Philip Over-

shiner, who was born in Virginia, moved to

Franklin and passed the greater portion of his

life there. Gideon Jackson was the ninth child

in a family of eleven. The family emigrated

to Hopkinsville, Kentucky, in 1846.

Mr. Overshiner was married in Galena, Illi-

nois, September 13, 1848, to Miss Minerva

Dunphey. In 1850 he came to California; he

went to St. Louis first to purchase supplies,

then joined the train a St. Joseph, Missouri.

There were sixty-four members in the train

and sixteen wagons. The hardships of the jour-

ney were such that the horses gave out and

wagons were left from time to time along the

trail, so that not one was left in which to cross

the mountains. The overflowing of the Hum-
boldt river had made the trail of '49 impassa-

ble, and new roads had to be broken over wild,

rough country. They crossed the mountains

by the Carson route, often making their own
trail and suffering much. Mrs. Over*hiner left

Galena in 1851, taking the steamer from New
York to the Isthmus, which she crossed on

mules, and taking the steamer McKim, on the

Pacific side, for San Francisco. The ship proved

to be unseaworthy and put into San Diego at

the town now called Roseville, where the pas-

sengers, 375 in number, were discharged; those

having no money struck inland. Mrs. Over-

shiner, after two weeks' delay, took the Seabird

for San Francisco, where she met her husband,

who took her to Sacramento, where he was car-

rying on the carriage business. At the end of

six j>ears they moved to the western part of

Yolo County, to Cottonwood, where he bought

land and began to raise grain and stock.

In 1861 he was elected County Assessor, and

moved to Washington, the county seat, on the

Sacramento river; that same year the county

seat was moved to Woodland, of which town

Mr. Overshiner, in conjunction with the other

county officials, were the first settlers, and gave

the town the name. In 1863 his term expired,

and he took up his carriage business at Wood-

land, which he followed until January, 1870,

when he moved to San Diego. He continued

his carriage trade there, but the town being

quiet and business slow, he sold his posi-

tion after four years and moved to San Jose,

continuing the same business, but not perma-

nently locating, as he had been so pleased with

the climate of San Diego that he intended

eventually to return, which he did in 1885, and

resumed the old vocation.

In politics he has been an active Republican;

he was otie of the vice-presidents of the last

Whig meeting held in this State. He voted for

the constitution and admission of the Territory

as a State, September 9, 1850. During his ex-

perience as a pioneer he has considerably ad-

vanced the Republican form of government.

Mr. Overshiner has had ten children, eight

of whom, five boys and three girls, are living.

ANVILLE F. JONES was born in Solon,

Somerset County, Maine, June 10, 1846.

His parents died when be was six years

old and he lived with his uncle, Samuel Jones,

for two years. From there he went to reside

with John Westou, of Bloo nfield, with whom
he remained un f

il fourteen years of age. He
then went to Augusta, to his brother James

Jones; they removed to Wakefield, Massachu-

setts, in 1861, where he attended school and

helped on the farm. In the fall, his brother

having enlisted in the navy, he returned to

Maine, and after being there a month enlisted

in Company I, Fourteenth Maine; he reported
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at camp and was rejected because too young.

He went back and carried with him the measles,

which he distributed gratuitously throughout

his native town. After his recovery he worked

at Cornville until July 29, 1862, when he again

enlisted in the Twentieth Maine, by stretching

the truth a little as to his age. He succeeded

in getting mustered in at Portland, Maine,

August 29, 1862; he left Portland Septem-

ber 2, 1862. They went to Washington,

where they received their rifles, then marched to

Arlington Heights, joining the Third Brigade,

First Division, Fifth Corps. They were ordered

to Antietain, passed through Fredericksburg,

Maryland, and over South Mountain, and par-

ticipated in the battle of Antietain, also in other

engagements. After this battle they encamped

on Antietain creek, and were there until No-

vember, when they went with the rest of the

army to the battle of Fredericksburg. They

were in Hooker's division. After the battle

they encamped at Stone Mason's Station, from

which place they were ordered to head off Stew-

art's cavalry, also taking part in Burnside's

famous stick-iu-the mud march. At the time

of the battle of Chancellors ville, the small -pox

prevailed in his regiment, and they were de-

tached to guard the telegraph; after the battle

they were removed to a camp a few miles from

Falmouth. At this time Mr. Jones was on the

brigade guar J.. From, this camp they went to

Gerraania Ford and guarded it for two weeks.

They participated in the cavalry fight at Upper-

ville; from there they crossed the Potomac at

Goose Creek and marched through Maryland

and Pennsylvania. At Gettysburg their brig-

ade was stationed at Little Round Top, at the

extreme left of the army. After that battle

he and half of his regiment were detailed to

build corduroy roads and bridges. He was

hurt by a stick of timber crushing him to the

ground, from which he has never fully recov-

ered. He joined his regiment at Beverly Ford,

and was sent from there to Emery Hospital,

transferred to the Veteran Reserve corps and

served in Washington until the fall of 1864,

when he was sent to Johnson Island, Ohio, and

had charge ot the rebel prisoners at that camp.

From there they were sent to Cincinnati, Ohio,

doing duty in that city until the 6th of July,

1865, when he was mustered out. He returned

to Bath, Maine, where he and his brother owned

a farm, and where he remained until November,

when he went to Boston and followed the express

business for about two years, then went to Brook-

lyn, New York, and became a painter. In 1868

he returned to Boston and engaged in making

picture frames, in 1872 he became a photog-

rapher, and traveled through New York, New
Jersey and Illinois, until 1874. when he came

to San Diego. He afterward went into the mines

in 1878 at Forest City, Sierra County, where he

remained for three years, meeting with moderate

success. Meeting with an accident he returned

to San Diego and engaged in house painting, in

which he has continued until the present time.

He joined the G. A. R. on the 8th of October,

1881, being one of the charter members of

Heintzelmau Post, No. 33. He was Commander
of the post during the year 1886. He joined

the A. O. U. W., by transfer, in 1862, and is now
the Master Workman. He was married De-

cember 13, 1871, to Miss Sadie M. Hovey, in

Hallowell, Maine. They have two children:

Daniel Paul, bom November 21, 1875, and

Newell James, born August 27, 1882. All

honor should be given to the men who had the

bravery to stand up and fight in such a deadly

struggle to maintain the Union.

fOHN B. BOYD was born in Northumber-

land, Pennsylvania, March 29, 1846, son of

William and Catherine S. (Slater) Boyd.

When seven years of age he came with his

father to Illinois, living with his aunt, Sarah B.

Smith, attended the public schools there and

graduated at the high school in 1864. He had

his regimentals, and there were two other boys

also clad in "blue." They had just enlisted.

His regiment was the One Hundred and Thirty-
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ninth Illinois, Colonel Davidson. They were

three months at Cairo, on guard duty. His

time expiring, he enlisted in the Fourteenth

Illinois. It had been greatly depleted, and he

with others went to till up the ranks that had

been vacated by the men who had fallen in bat-

tle. They were ordered to North Carolina, and

were Sherman's rear guard. The nearest Mr.

Boyd came to a tight was the night General

Johnston surrendered. After the grand review

they were ordered We6t, and went as far as Flat

river, and there received orders to return and

be mustered out. The war being over, he re-

turned home and engaged as assistant book-

keeper with the Second National Bank, Peoria,

where he remained four years, then came to San

Diego, September 17, 1869. He engaged in

publishing the San Diego Union, and also in

law business, and is now a member of the firm

of H. T. Christian & Co., in the abstract and

title business. He is a member of the G. A. R.,

and belongs to Heintzelman Post, No. 33, San

Diego. He has served seven years in the Na-

tional Guards of California, Company B, San

Diego city, that being the length of a term of

service.

^-6B-^#

fAPTAIN WILLIAM S. HINKLE was

born near Terre Haute, Indiana, June 30,

1830. His grandfather, Wendle Hinkle,

was a Lutheran. His father, Nathan Hinkle,

was born in the Shenandoah valley, Virginia,

and raised in Jefferson County, Kentucky, and

was for forty years a Methodist minister. In

1820 he was married to Elizabetn Reed, a native

of Kentucky; the result of the union was eleven

children, nine of whom survive. Mr. William

S. was raised in Indiana, where he attended

the public schoo's, and college at Asbury Uni-

versity, Indiana. After he left college he be-

came a civil engineer, which business he followed

for tive years. In 1861 he went into the army

as Quartermaster. He remained on staff duty

the first year, when he became Captain of an

artillery company, Battery D, First Indiana, in

which position he remained until the close of

the war. In the spring of 1862 he was in the

Gulf Department, under General Butler. They

were engaged in many small tights, but the first

general action was when General Breckenridge

undertook to take Baton Rouge. Ho com-

manded his battery of four guns for forty-seven

days and nights, in which they fired three shots

every tive minutes. Their guns commanded the

entrance of the railroad into Port Hudson, and

were of 30-pound weight. The next was Banks'

Red River expedition, but his command was not

in the general tight. It was his battery that

dislodged the enemy's guns on the bluffs on

Cane river. His three years' term of service

expired, and he was mustered out on the Sep-

tember following, 1864. He had only received

one slight wound, in the wrist. When he left

the army, at the age of twenty-two, he went to

Mattoon, Illinois, where he engaged in the gen-

eral merchandise business. In 1887 he moved
to San Diego, where he has since been eno-a^ed

in the real-estate and money-lending business.

His son, E. C. Hinkle, is now associated with

him in the business.

Captain Hinkle was married in the fall of

1866, to Mrs. Monroe, widow of Colonel James
Monroe, of the One Hundred and Twenty-third

Illinois, who was killed at Farmington, Tennes-

see. Her father, Mr. J. T. Cunningham, of

Illinois, was the first Republican candidate for

Congress in his district. He was an intimate

friend of Mr. Lincoln. Mrs. Hinkle was born

in 1836. They had two children, and raised

Colonel Monroe's two children. The eldest son,

Edgar C, cast his first vote in San Diego;
Madge was married to Mr. Noble Gordon, who
is a merchant in Metainora. Indiana; Ruth
married Dr. C. J. Decker, who is Assistant Sur-

geon in the United States Navy, and Bessie is

now in San Diego with her parents. Mr. Hin-
kle belongs to the Methodist Church, and Mrs.
Hinkle to the Christian. She is a faithful worker
in both churches, however, and will no doubt re-

ceive a double reward. Mr. Hinkle is a Royal
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Templar, being thus a member of an insurance

society that receives only strictly temperate

people. He is also a member of Heintzelman

Post, No. 33, G. A. R. San Diego can boast of

many good citizens, but Captain Hinkle. in real

worth, is the peer of any of them.

§EROY W. ALLUM, San Diego's first as-

sistant Postmaster, is a veteran. He and

his father, Mr. Thomas Allum, both en-

listed at the beginning of the war. His father

enlisted in Company C, Twenty-second Iowa

Infantry, but was discharged at Vicksburg on

account of sickness. He recovered and recruited

a company of 100-day men. Company D, Forty-

eighth Iowa, August, 1864. He was promoted

to First Lieutenant, and served until the close

of the war. He married Miss Matilda A. Al-

lum, a distant relative, <>f Scotch-English de-

scent, and had a family of ten children, of which

the subject of this sketch was tl e third. The

family came to Iowa in 1853, and settled in

Davenport, In 1856 Leroy went to Hazel Dell

Academy, which he left October 2, 1862, at the

age of eighteen, to enlist in Company C, Twenty-

second Iowa, the same company in which his

father first enlisted. He went all through the

war, and came back without a wound, although

in many places of great danger. He was in

the following battles: Port Gibson, Champion

Hill, Black River, and at the siege of Vicks-

burg. It was his regiment, under Colonel

William M. Stone (afterward Governor of Iowa),

that planted the flag upon the works, when

twenty-eight men were killed in a few minutes,

and some captured. They were obliged to with-

draw, but they brought the colors back with

them. Vicksburg was taken the 4th of July

following. After this the regiment was in the

battle of Jackson, Mississippi, and was in New
Orleans and Texas, and on the Red River cam-

paign. They were also in the Shenandoah val-

ley, Fish Hill, Cedar Creek and Winchester.

In 1866, he, with his bunk and messmate,

Thomas M. Rogers, started the Republican, a

newspaper, at Newton, Iowa, which he con-

tinued until 1878, when he moved to Oakland,

California, where he published the Yidette, a

Republican paper (daily and weekly), and con-

tinued there nine years.

He was married to Miss Alice G. Israel,

daughter of Mr. M. C. Israel, a merchant of

Monroe, Iowa, and has three children, all boys:

Leroy M., born Noveinber 6, 1875; Ralph L.,

born September 11, 1878, and Fred M., born

August 11, 1883. He is a Knight Templar in

the York rite, and thirty-second degree in the

Scottish rite Masonry, and is a member of the

G. A. R. He belongs to Heintzelman Post,

Wo. 33, of San Diego.

—#^€(£i::®t^#

—

fEORGE M. AVETHERBEE was born in

Westminster, Massachusetts, December 7,

1837. His father having died when he

was quite young he made his own way iu the

world and earned his own living from the

time he was nine years of age. There was a

family of four boys and one girl, and notwith-

standing the fact that they were all thrown upon

their own resources young, not one of them

ever used tobacco or tasted whisky. In his

mother's family there were twelve brothers

and sisters, and only one girl weighed less than

200 pounds. The baby ot the family now liv-

ing weighs 300 pounds! Mr. Wetherbee him-

self now weighs 270 pounds. His weight

when a young man at the time of entering the

army was 211 pounds. Notwithstanding his

weight he now works hard in his mills every

day. He has a son, Allen H., who at seven-

teen years of age weighed 207 pounds. In

1852 Mr. Wetherbee went to work for the Hay-

ward Chair Company of Gardner, Massachusetts,

and in 1854 he went to Boston and entered npon

what has ever since been his principal business,

the planing-mill business. In 1861 he went to

Boston and enlisted for three years in the First

isetts Infantry, Colonel Robert Cowden,
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commander, and served as a musician during

the entire whi\ He commenced playing in a

brass bind when thirteen years of age, and has

followed it as a partial business until within the

last four years. During the last year of the war

he was the leader of a brigade band, and was

with Sherman on his march: played at Rich-

mond and at the close played in the grand

review at Washington. Brigadier General

Knife was Mr. Wetherbee's commander, and

Mr. Weatherbee recruited the band for this

brigade. When he came out of the army lie

located in business in Boston until 1869. He
then went to Sin Francisco and carried on a

general mill business and bee-hive manufactory

until October, 1884. He then came to San

Diego and built the first planing-mill in the city,

which was burned by an incendiary on Decem-

ber 12, 1884, the day after its completion. He
lost everything in this, to him most disastrous,

fire, but the courage of a brave and true Amer-

ican stood by him. He borrowed capital and

rebuilt at once, and has added to the mill and

machinery until he has the largest and most

complete mill of its kind on thy cast, having

26,000 square feet of work room. His mill is

a complete one, capable of manufacturing all

kinds of work in the planing, molding and scroll

sawing line, including all sorts of work usually

done in a first-class establishment Mr. Weth-

erbee is a practical workman and can run and

keep in order any machine in the mill. He
has a reputation for honorable and upright deal-

that itself alone is a fortune; he has

employed as high as eighty men at once in this

establishment. In addition to the wood-work-

ing part of the mill they have a barley rolling

mill, and roll large quantities of barley. Mr.

Wetherbee was married to Miss Angelina Bar-

ney, born April 26, 1837, a daughter of Captain

Reuben Barney, who sailed in a whaling ship.

They were descendants of Benjamin Franklin.

Their ancestors were Quakers and were among
the first settlers of Nantucket. Mr. Wetherbee

had a family of four children, namely: George

A., born June 12, 1858, and is now foreman in

his father's mill; Angie I., born July 12, 1866;

she is married to Mr. George H. Hebrank, a

native of Pittsburgh, who is in the glass-blowing

business; Allen H., born February 24, 1871,

now a civil engineer in Utah with the Bun
River Cavell Company. Mr. George M. Weth-

erbee is a member of Heintzelman Post, No 33,

of San Diego, G. A. R., is president of its board

of trustees, a member of Occidental Lodge, No.

179, I O. O. F., and Past Grand. He is a

member of Encampment No. 57, I. O. O. F.,

and Past Chief Patriarch; also a member of

Franklin Lodge, A. O. U. W., and a member of

the board of delegates of San Die^o County,

representing the Fifth ward.

§R. I. L. PALMER.—In 1829 Jabez Pal-

mer landed in America from England, and

settled at Stonington, Connecticut. He
had three sons, one of whom settled in New
York, one in Virginia, and one remained in

Connecticut. Mr. I. L. Palmer's grandfather

removed from the latter State to Ohio in 1797,

and settled in Washington County, which was

then a wilderness. They came with teams to

Pittsburg, and then in boats down the Ohio to

Marietta. This family consisted of Joseph, Ja-

bez, Isaac and Betsey. The township in which

they settled was given their name—" Palmer."

Mr. I. L. Palmer's grandfather was married in

1820 to Mrs. Persis Tilton. They had a family

of ten children: Oscar, Joseph, Charles, George,.

Andrew, Jabez. Ann, Jane, Hannah and Mary.

Oscar was Mr. I. L. Palmer's father, and he

was married to Miss Anna Chamberlain in 1841.

Mr. Palmer's grandfather lived until he was

ninety-three years of age, and his grandfather

on his mother's side, John D. Chamberlain, was

in the war of 1812, also in the Seminole war.

He was a teacher and a surveyor, and lived to

the great age of 102 years and died in 1885.

Dr. Palmer's parents had four children, two

girls and two boys. Mr. 1. L. Palmer was the

second son and was born at Marietta, Ohio, June
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21, 1845. He attended the common school at

his home, and finished his education at the Uni-

versity at Athens, Ohio, after coining out of the

army, in which he enlisted April 19, 1861, at

the age of sixteen. He was five feet ten inches

high, and weighed 156 pounds. He enlisted for

three months in Company F, Eighteenth Ohio,

and when his term had expired he enlisted in

Company A, Thirty-sixth Ohio, for three years.

April 14, 1864, the then veteran enlisted for

the third time in the same company with which

he had been for three years and with which he

had helped to fight so many severe engagements.

He was in thirty-one hard-fought battles, 200

skirmishes with bushwhackers, never missed a

battle, a inarch or a guard, and only received

one slight wound, in the hand by a piece of ex-

ploded shell. At the time of his last enlistment

he weighed 230 pounds, while he now weighs

270. His father's brother and himself at one

time weighed 775 pounds. He is a well

proportioned, large man, young-looking and

very active in his movements for tine so

heavy. To show how active he has been we

will state that he has run a good many foot-

races, and was hard to beat. At the close

of the war, in 1865, he went to the common
school one winter, to the academy, and then to

the university. In 1867 he was married to

Miss Maria Woodruff, who was born at Water-

town, Ohio, July, 1842. Her father, Mr. Silas

Woodruff, was of English descent, while her

mother was of German. Their union has been

blessed with five children, three of whom sur-

vive. Their oldest son, Oscar, was born in Jack-

son, Missouri, December 24, 1867; Anson and

Ormstead, twins, were born February 16, 1870;

Delia May, June 5, 1873, in Clay County, Mis-

souri, and Ova Mable, January 5, 1876, in Cloud

County, Kansas. Mrs. Falmer and the children

are members of the Presbyterian Church. Mr.

Palmer is an Odd Fellow and a member of the

Heintzelman Post, Gr. A. It. lie has also been

a member of the National Guard for seven years.

He came to San Diego from Kansas, where he

taught school, and conducted a store part of the

time, May 23, 1878, and set the first stake for

the California Southern Railroad. He took the

United States census in 1880, held the office of

constable and deputy sheriff in 1883, which

office he held until August, 1884. He then

took charge of the rebuilding of the wash-out in

Temecnla Canon, after which he located the

line from there to Barstow, and built twenty

four miles of the road. He came back to San

Diego in 1885. In September of the same year

he was appointed deputy marshal, which po-

sition he held until 1887, when he wi appoi ited

city assessor. In the fall of 1887 he was

elected tax collector and street commissioner,

and served until May, 1889. He has bought

property and built a home, and has a ninety-five-

acre ranch at Murrietta. While in Kansas he

was township trustee, Justice of the Peace, and

a school director for five years.

«APTAIN EDWARD B. SPILEMAN is a

native of Boston, Massachusetts, and was

born July, 1844. His father, Bartholomew

Spileman, was born in Scotland, and was a mer-

chant the greater portion of his life. He came

to the United States when a young man, made

two voyages across the ocean to Europe and died

in 1858. Captain Spileman's mother, Mary

(Cameron) Spileman, was born in Scotland, and

died in Boston in 1860. They were Scotch

Presbyterians. They had a family of four chil-

dren, of whom Captain Spiieman is the only

survivor. He received his education in Massa-

chusetts and Pennsylvania. In 1862 he enlisted

in Company D, Eleventh New Jersey Volunteers,

and re-enlisted in 1864. He served in the Army
of the Potomac, and was in three very hot en-

gagements, viz.: Fredericksburg, Chancellors-

ville and Gettysburg. He was wounded in the

latter battle, receiving a gun-shot through his

left thigh, and was laid up ful- ly a yt

While in the army he had the measles, from the

effects of which he never fully recovered. His

lungs were badly affected, and his weight re-
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duced from 142 pounds to 115. In 1865 lie was

mustered out of the army and engaged in the

lumber business at Tavvas City, Michigan, from

1867 until 1887. He is a Republican, and al-

ways means to be one. While at Tawas City

he was chairman of the Republican district

committee. He cast his first vote for Abraham

Lincoln. He has declined many offers of offices.

He is interested in Minnesota mineral lands to

the extent of 2,000 acres, from which he is re-

ceiving very encouraging reports. He came to

San Diego in 1887 to die, but after getting here

changed his mind, bought property and built

himself a home. He was united in 1864 to

Miss Mary Fogarty, a native of New Jersey,

who was born in 1847. She was the daughter

of John Fogarty, who was born in Connecticut,

but a resident of New Jersey for many years.

They had a family of six children, three of whom
are still living: Edward E., born in Tawas City,

Michigan, April 16, 1869; Hiram, also born in

Tawas City, January 21, 1871, and Lilly May,

born March 27, 1880. The Captain is a Pres-

byterian, a Knight of Pythias and a Thirty-

second degree Mason, and has been Master of

Lodges for six years. He has organized the

San Diego Rifles, and is now their Captain.

fOLONEL JOHN A. HELPHINGSTINE,
a prominent business man of San Diego,

although not an old-time resident, is highly

appreciated for his enterprise and public spirit.

He was born in Crawford County, Illinois, Oc-

tober 12, 1844. His father, Washington

Helphingstine, was also a native of that State,

born in 1819; and his grandfather, Jacob

Helphingstine, was born on the Atlantic ocean

when his parents were coining to America from

Prussia. Colonel Helphingstine's mother was

Amy Allison, a daughter of John Allison, of

Scotch descent, but born in Illinois. Colonel

Helphingstine passed his boyhood on the farm

until he was seventeen years of age. Then came
the war of the Rebellion, Sumter was fired upon

and the North rising like a giant in his might

flew to arms. The loyal citizens of the country

responded with alacrity to President Lincoln's

call for volunteers, but from no section was the

response more general than from the broad prai-

ries of his own State. Men past the prime of

life took their places in the ranks, and school-

boys dropped their books to enlist in the service

of the Union. Young Helphingstine bade his

his parents farewelL left the farm and enlisted

as a private in the Sixty-second Illinois Volun-

teers; he served through the war, in the ariny

of the Cumberland for two years, and was then

transferred to the West, and was mustered out

as Quartermnter of his regimsut. Daring his

spare moments while in the army, young Hel-

phingstine hid studiel l'avv, and at the close of

the war he attended the high school in Craw-

ford County. Having graduated he resumed his

law studies under Judge Harrison, of Independ-

ence, Kansas. In 1870 he was admitted to the

Kansas bar, and successfully practiced hisprofes-

sion for ten years in Independence; he served one

term as Police Judge of the town, and for five

years was County Clerk of Montgomery County.

In 1880, he went to New Mexico, where he

engaged in mining, continuing in that calling

for three years. He then turned his attention to

journalism and established a daily newspaper,

the Chieftain, at Socorro; he conducted this

paper for three years with ability and e lergy,

and in that time made it a power in the com-

munity. He was largely instrumental in secur-

ing the appointment of E. G-. Ross as Governor

of the Territory. The circumstances attending

his connection with this appointment are so

strongly characteristic of the man—of his loy-

alty to friends, and his indomitable perseverance

-^-that it is worth recounting. Ross was an old

Kansas man, and at one time, during Andy
Johnson's administration, had represented the

State in the United States Senate. His candid

views, openly expressed, and his independent

conduct, during those stirring times, injured

him with his party (the Republican), and upon

his return home from the Senate he was polit-
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ically ostracized. Disappointed at the treatment

lie had received at the hands of bis party and

reduced in means, he left Kansas and went to

New Mexico. There Helphingstine found him

working at a case in a newspaper office. The

two men had formed a friendship in other days,

and Helphingstine came to his assistance now.

Knowing his thorough executive ability and his

stubborn honesty, he boldly advocated Ross'

appointment as Territorial Governor in the col-

umns of the Chieftain. This indorsement

proved of eminent 6ei vice, and I'os6 was made

Governor. During his administration Hel-

phingsline served as Int-pector general on his

stall with the rank of Colonel.

On October 20, 1886, Colonel Helphingtine

came to San Diego; he- had intended resuming

his law practice here, but was wooed from his

profession by the brighter opening he found in

real estate; he took charge of the lands of the

Coronado Beach Company as their general

agent, February 1, 1887, and remained in

that ] osition until September 1, 1889.

During this time his sales of real estate

amounted to about $1,000,000. While con-

nected with the Coronado Company he formed

a syndicate and purchased a large tract of

land within the city limits, which he placed

on the market, under the name of Helphing-

tines's Addition; he also has the agency of El

Cajon Valley Company. Colonel Helphing-

stine, some months since, secured the premises

formerly occupied by the Commercial Bank of

San Diego, and has there fitted up the finest

set of offices to be found in San Diego. On

October 10, last, he was presented by Mr. E.

S. Babcock, Jr., on behalf of the Coronado

Beach Company, with an elegant gold watch,

as a token of their appreciation of his efforts

in their behalf when general agent of the com-

pany. Colonel Helphingstine is interested quite

largely in city real estate, and besides, has a

valuable ranch property.

Colonel Helphingstine was married in Fre-

donia, Kansas, in February, 1872, to Miss L. E.

Lowe, daughter of Rev. Boyd Lowe. She wsa

born in Mendota, Illinois, July 13, 1853, of

English ancestry. By this maniage there has

been one son, Edgar Boyd, who was born in In-

dependence, Kansas, October 24, 1875. At their

beautiful residence at Florence Heights, Colonel

and Mrs. Helphingstine have an ideal home,

and San Diego has no citizen more devoted to

her interests than the Colonel.

JH^ANS F. WHITNEY, of San Diego, is a

Wm\ native of Spai tansburg, Crawford County,

*M Bennsylvania. He was born May 5, 1832,

His father, Joshua Whitney, and his mother,

Melissa (Patten) Whitney, were natives of

Maine. His ancestors were of Welsh descent.

His parents had four children: Olivia, born

November, 1827, was married to Mr. H. S.

Snapp and resides in Pennsylvania; Alonzo F.,

born August 29, 1834. The subject of this

sketch was the third of the family and was

educated in the common schools of Pennsylva-

nia at an early day, near the present oil region,

and has pulled porcupine quills out of his bare

feet many a time on his way to school. His

father died when he was fifteen years of age,

and he had to take the care and responsibility of

the family, which prohibited much schooling.

He left them in April, 1854, and landed in San

Francisco May 19, 1854. He kept hotel and

worked at other things but made his first start

cutting and hauling logs at Puget Sound. He

mined some but didn't make much out of it.

When he arrived at San Francisco he weighed

only ninety pounds, but while at Puget Sound he

got strong. When his brother died in the East of

quick consumption, a consultation of five phy-

sicians privately expressed the opinion that not

one of the children was likely to live until

twenty-one years of age. In 1869 he made a

visit to Pennsylvania, then returned to Coos

County, Oregon, and engaged in the butchery

business, which he followed for seventeen years,

but being badly injured by a fall from a car-

riage, and not expecting to be able to work
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again, he sold out and moved to Los Angeles,

California, and from there in 1885 to San Diego,

where he purchased eighty acres. He has in-

vested $40,000 in San Diego, and his invest-

ments have been unusually successful. lie has

built himself a tine house on the corner of

Thirty-first street and National avenue, and

enjoys it. He was married June 29, 1886, to

Miss Louise Carl, a daughter of John Carl, a

native of Greenwich, Ohio. She was born Sep-

tember 28, 1859. They have one child, a beau-

tiful and interesting little girl, Alice Ruth, who

was born in San Diego, April 4, 1887. Mr.

H. P. Whitney has been treasurer of the Ma
sonic Lodge at Empire City, Coos County,

Oregon, also an honorable member of the coun-

cil of the city of San Diego.

fOSEPIl V. COLLINS is a native of Cort-

land, New York, born May 9, 1829. His

fa ther,Jabez Collins, was born in Connecticut

in 1806. He was a farmer. His grandfather was

a native of Connecticut and was a Presbyterian

minister. Mr. Collins' mother, Adeline (Doud)

Collins, daughter of Truman Dond, was born in

Cortland, New York, in 1810. Her ancestors

settled in Connecticut in 1737. Mr. Collins

was the second in a family of five children. He
spent his childhood and young days in Cort-

land. New York, where he finished his educa-

tion and learned the painters' trade. He went

to Rhode Island and remained there two years

and then returned to Cortland and carried on

painting, brick-making and building. He con-

tinued there until 1855 and then went to Penn-

sylvania, where he engaged in the lumber busi-

ness with his brother, T. D. Collins, and they

have continued that business ever since. Their

lumber output amounts to 10,000,000 feet an-

nually. They own in the vicinity of 30,000

acres of land in Pennsylvania. Mr. Collins has

also been in the oil business in Pennsylvania.

He was a pioneer in that business, as he com

menced putting down wells when there were

only three producing wells in the State. He
was also an oil refiner. In 1865 he sold out,

but afterward started the petroleum business

again and has been interested in it ever since.

In 1873 he built the Collins House at Oil City,

Pennsylvania, which was one of the largest

hotels in the city, covering an acre of ground.

It had a capacity for 150 guests, was furnished

with all modern conveniences, and under Mr.

Collins' management was crowded with guests.

It cost, furnished, $140,000. In 1887 he sold

it and came to California. He had been here

eight months before and had made investments.

He is now engaged in the completion of ihe

Bay View Hotel, situated in San Diego, corner

of Twelfth and I streets. It is built of brick,

three stories high, and has a frontage on Twelfth

and I streets of 300 feet. Each story has a bal-

cony on each street. It has two fine observa-

tories from which you get a grand view of the

bay and ocean and the distant mountains. The

office of the hotel is partially under a large sky-

light and from every floor in the upper stories

of the house you can see the office and speak

with the clerk. The rooms are large and airy

and are fitted with most modern improvements

for the health and comfort of the guests. This

house will be opened by Mr. Collins about

December 1, 1889, and will be second to no

house of its size in the State.

Mr. Collins was married in 1850 to Miss

Mary C. Medes, daughter of Mr. Ira Medes,

born in Courtland, New York, in 1833. They

had four children, two of.whom survive: Ed-

ward, born in Cortland, New York, in 1852,

and Ohio Theresa, born in Cortland, New York,

in 1854. She is now the wife of Mr. William

F. Clark and resides in Cortland, New York.

Mrs. Collins died in 1857, and Mr. Collins was

afterward married to Miss Happy M. Medes, a

sister of his former wife, and the result of this

union has been thirteen children, nine of whom
are still living. They were all born i . i Penn-

sylvania, and their names are as follows: Car-

rie M., Mary O, Ann Leverne, Gustin, Maud,

Joseph E., Jr., Jabez, Truman and Earl. Mr.
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Collins has been a hard worker, working

nearly eighteen hours per day for a great part

of his life and has given very little attention to

either politics or office. He is still, to all ap-

pearances, a hale man and is trying to take life

easy.

|
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UH^ARRY L. TITUS, an attorney at San Diego,

|M\ was born in Vevay, Switzerland County.

nsXs Indiana, December 3, 1858. He studied

law under the preceptorship of Hon. John B.

Works, in that town. He removed to San Diego

in April, 1883, and eutered upon the practice of

his profession as a partner of J udge Works. He
has been appointed city attorney of San Diego

twice by the city council, and elected once to

the same office by the people. Since his term

in that office expired he has built up a good,

growing practice. He married Miss Mary
Horton, a niece of Hon. A. E. Horton, in May,

1887.

fC.
SPRIGG, Jr., a leading young business

man of San Diego, California, is a descend-
9 ant of the prominent Sprigg family, of

Maryland, that owned large land grants in

Maryland, part of which was Northampton, in

Prince George County, which Governor Sprigg's

widow sold in 1865. The original patent for

this property was granted to Colonel Thomas

Sprigg, Jr., in 1667. " Black Oak Level," in

Prince George County, Maryland, was granted

to Thomas Sprigg, Jr., in 1703, and that addi-

tion to Eden's Paradise Regained wa* surveyed

for patent by Richard Sprigg, May 17, 1774.

It was then Frederick County, but is now Alle-

gheny. Osborn Sprigg, second, who was a half

brother of Governor Samuel Sprigg, lived on

the Potomac river, about fifteen miles below

Cumberland, in Hampshire County, Virginia.

He married Sarah, youngest daughter of Cap-

tain Michael Cresap, of Revolutionary fame,

who led his famous company of 100 riflemen on

foot from western Maryland to the siege of Bos-

ton in 1775. Osborn Sprigg's death occurred

in 1813. He left four sons; one of these sons,

Michael Cresap Sprigg, was born in 1799, and

married Mary, daughter of Colonel William

Lamar. Michael Cresap Sprigg was a member
of Congress from the Sixth Maryland District;

was president of the Chesapeake & Ohio Canal

Company, and served many sessions in the

Maryland Legislature. He died in 1845, leav-

ing three sons. One of these 60118, James

Cresap Sprigg, was born in Allegheny County,

in 1827, and was chief engineer and manager

of the Petersburg Railroad. His whole life

was spent in building railroads through the

South. It was his energy that built the road

through Dismal Swamp. He married Miss

Lucy B. Addison, of Georgetown, District ot

Columbia, and has six surviving children. The

second of these children, James Cresap Sprigg,

Jr., is the subject of this biography. He was

born in Petersburg, Virginia, March 16, 1868,

land was educated at the University at Peters-

burg; then in the Glenwood Institute, of Mary-

land, and finished in the University of West

Virginia. The last year he was junior member
of the faculty and was an observer of the Signal

Corps of the army at the university, having

charge of that station, and he studied law there

and graduated. His health failing, he went to

Washington, where he remained for one year;

but, his health not improving, his physician ad-

vised him to come to California, and in 1884

he accordingly arrived in San Diego. For the

first two years here he was an officer of the Sig-

nal Corps, and then he organized the firm of

Woolwine, Sprigg & Co., engaging in the real-

estate and general brokerage business; he is now

carrying on the business himself as successor to

the firm. He is a capitalist and stockholder in

the First National Bank.

He was uuited in marriage witli Miss Ger-

trude Whitney, the only child of Mr. and Mrs.

Whitney, formerly of Toledo, Ohio, now residing

in San Diego. She was born April 16, 1867.
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Mr. Sprigg is a member of the Episcopal Church

and also of the I. 0. O. F, Governor Sprigg,

of Virginia, was his grand- uncle. Their ances-

try were of the nobility in England, the first

emigration to America settling in Maryland.

jANIEL BROWN KURTZ, an attorney of

San Diego, was born in Lancaster County,

Pennsylvania, March 20, 1819, a son ot

John and Barbara Kurtz. In June, 1850, he

moved to San Diego, coming around by way of

Cape Horn, and immediately began the study of

law under J. R. Mitchell, and was admitted to

practice in 1852. He was elected Mayor of

Old Town in 1851, succeeding General Beam.

In 1852, however, the city charter was repealed,

and the city no longer had a mayor. Mr.

Kurtz was elected to the State Senate in the

fall of 1852, and served two years in that

body. In 1855 he was elected County Judge,

and a year later resigned. In 1861 he was

again elected to the State Legislature, this time

to the x^ssembly, and in 1865 was re-elected.

Since 1866 he has lived quietly at his home
in San Luis Rey, San Diego County, not seek-

ing public office, but living with his family in

quiet retirement.

g
' 3"fg '

fW.
NANCE.—In the very front rank of

the pioneers and business men of Perris
9 stands the name of J. W. Nance. He

was born in Charles County, Tennessee, May
26, 1852. His father, J. W. Nance, Sr., was

also a native of Tennessee, but the ancestors

were Virginians. He was a Southern gentle-

man but not in the Southern army, although

his sympathies were with his own people. He
took the oath of amnesty to the United States

and was therefore neutral. When the war

began he was worth $200,000. His fine mills

were burned and his property destroyed, and at

the close of the war he had nothing but his

land—320 acres, and assigned with other par-

ties for $40,000. He told his creditors that

he didn't like bankruptcy, and if they would

give him ten years he would pay the entire debt

and interest. The arrangement was made, and

Mr. Nance, his father and three brothers en-

gaged in the manufacture of cotton gins, for

which there was a large demand. In nine

years the debt was paid in full. Mr. Nance

saw his father make the last payment in full,

aDd he says he never saw a happier man than

his father was when that burden was lifted.

Mr. Nance's mother, Mary (Hunt) Nance, was

born in Murray County, Tennessee, a daughter

of Dr. J. J. Hunt. They had a family of four

children, of whom our subject was the third

child. He received his education in Nashville,

Tennessee. When he came to manhood his

business? was that of a cotton planter and dealer

in general merchandise. After living six years

in the Mississippi valley he lost his health on

account of malaria, and he went to the moun-

tains of his native state for relief; but, finding

no relief, he came to San Diego, California, in

June, 1882, and stopped for three months with-

out any improvement. He then removed to

Los Angeles and there found himself much

worse. He then traveled all over California,

seeking a place that would benefit his lungs,

and, receiving no benefit, he went to Dr. Worth-

ington of Los Angeles, who informed him that

he was beyond the reach of medicine and that

he needed a very dry climate and high altitude.

Acting on this advice he went to Riverside, and

in talking with a merchant there, Mr. J. R.

Newberry, he was told that the place he was

looking for was the San Jacinto plains, but he

didn't think he could live there, for nothing but

a jack-rabbit could. He came and saw the fair

valley and liked it so well that he bought 200

acres, paying one dollar and giving a mortgage

back for $1,999, and went to farming. He

sowed the ranch to barley and harvested two

and one- fourth tons of hay to the acre and sold

it for twenty-two dollars and fifty cents per ton,

making $4,000 from his first crop! He paid for
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the place and bought more land; with his sur-

plus money he bought more land each year. In

1878 he sold 700 acres and has 1,120 left. He

bought the Ferris Hotel before it was finished,

doubled its size and furnished it, and is now its

owner and landlord. He is in partnership with

Mr. Knight in the warehouse and the steam

barley rolling mill. They are engaged in buy-

ing and shipping grain, and are the largest ship-

pers in San Diego County. They also deal in

lumber and real estate. Mr. Nance was mar-

ried in 1874, to Miss Laura C. Rogers, a native

of Memphis, Tennessee, born February 15?

1855. She is a daughter of Mr. John B.

Rogers, who was a Tennesseean and of a family

of Virginians. They have one lovely little

daughter, Evelyn, born in Giles County, Ten-

nessee, January 21, 1882. Mr. Nance is a

charter member of the Independent Order of

Foresters and is one of its officers. He has

been Deputy County Clerk for two years, and

is a man of very bright business talent. He

has regained his health and is an enthusiast on

the subject of California. He has been forward

in every enterprise for the upbuilding of Perris;

he has helped most liberally with his time and

money in building the fine brick school-

house and both of the new church buildings.

He is one of those laudably proud men, who are

too proud to stoop to a mean act, and many of

the best people in his community appreciate

Mr. and Mrs. Nance as very liberal, public-spir-

ited people.

-^*&(§HIJ§^
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fV.
STEVISON was a native of Mount

Vernon, Ohio, born March 5, 1842.

° His father, D. D. Stevison, was born in

Wheeling, Virginia, in 1798, and was grain in-

spector for the board of trade of Peoria, Illi-

nois. His grandfather was a Hollander, and

came lrom Holland before the Revolution and

settled in Virginia. His mother, Charity (Hill)

Stevison, was a native of New York, born in

1805. She was the daughter of Mr. Lewis

Hill. The family were New England people.

His parents had eleven children, eight of whom
survive. Thesubjectof ihis sketch was the tenth

child. When he was three years of age the fam-

ily removed to Portsmouth, Ohio, and in 1848

removed to Peoria, Illin >is. It was a small

village then and has since grown to be a town

of 45,000 inhabitants. Mr. Stevison remained

there until he was thirty years of age. At six-

teen years of age he become a clerk in a grocery

store and was there two years. He then en-

listed in the Union army, Company D, Seven-

tieth Illinois Infantry, and while in the army

saw a good deal of hard service. While follow-

ing Price in Missouri, exposure and other causes

brought on a severe attack of jaundice, and

being unfit for service was mustered out. He
returned to Peoria, Illinois, and as soon as he

regained his health he was engaged in the

Peoria postoffice and served there for five years.

After that he clerked in a furnitnre store, and

after that he engaged in market gardening. In

1869 he was married to Miss Hattie Ford, of

Peoria, Illinois, born November 16, 1847. Her

father, Mr. James Ford, was a wholesale saddle

and harness dealer at Peoria. They had one

child, Jessie N., born in Peoria, Illinois, July

4, 1871. Mrs. Stevison's death occurred April

14, 1882. In 1871 he removed to Colorado

and engaged in market gardening for two years.

He then took charge of a dairy at Colorado

Springs. Then he spent a year in prospecting

for gold in San Joaquin County. He then took

charge of a large dairy ranch for two years,

and after that took charge of the stage station

and hotel at Villa Grove. He next went to

Leadville, where he ran a meat market and

grocery store. This was just before the great

strike at Leadville; when it began, he was worth

$15,000, and at it6 close he had lost it, but in a

very short time he had paid all his bills. He
then went to work in a stamp mill and while

there lost one of his fingers. He then left that

business and worked in a timber mill until

September, 1887, when he came to Perris and

located forty acres of land, and is now the man-



HISTORY OF HAN DIEGO COUNTY. 357

ager of 320 acres more. He is now sowing

(1889) one hundred acres of wheat and 240

acres of barley. Mr. Stevison is a member of

the Patriotic Order of Sons of America, and a

member of the G. A. R., James A. Garfield

Post, No. 9, Leadville, Colorado, and is an up-

right man.

|#f£ C. TRIPP, a cattle dealer of San Jacinto,

|M is a son of the golden "West, born inM 9 Los Angeles, March 21, 1859. His

father, Mr. S. V. Tripp, was born in New York

State, was raised in Ohio, and came to Califor-

nia in 1850. He was a pioneer brick-mason,

and spent a good deal of his time in the mines

of Shasta County. Mr. Tripp's mother, Rosa

(Kumsey) Tripp, was born in Pennsylvania, and

raised in Ohio. She was married to Mr. Tripp

in 1856, and had six children, four of whom
are still living. The family moved to San Ber-

nardino when the subject of this sketch was but

two years of age, and he attended school at that

place until he was fifteen years of age. His

mother died in San Bernardino when thirty-two

years of age, and in 1871 his father and the

rest of the family removed to San Jacinto. His

father and Colonel Hamne took up the two first

Government claims at the head of the San Ja-

cinto valley, near the Florida town site. His

father now lives in the Cottonwood district of

San Diego, where he is Postmaster. When
Mr. Tripp first started in business for himself,

he had but a few head of cattle. His brother

William and himself now own 400 head of cat

tie and horses on their Cahuila ranch in the

mountains. Mr. Tripp buys and sells, while his

brother cares for the stock. They furnish the

San Jacinto market with cattle, and also one of

the San Bernardino markets.

In 1884 he was married to Miss Mattie Logs-

don, who was born in San Bernardino in 1865.

Her father, Mr. J. M. Logsdon, was a native of

Illinois. He now resides in San Jacinto, and is

an owner and renter of buildings. They have

one child, Joe W., born in San Jacinto, Septem-

ber 28, 1889. Mr. Tripp was elected constable

five years ago, and has been all over the county.

They are well spoken of by their neighbors, and

have many friends.

fHARLES THOMAS is one of the most

noted pioneers of San Jacinto. He was

born in Sherburne, Chenango County, New
York, October 1, 1836. His father, John M.

Clark, was a native of New York. His mother,

Silvera (Beeby) Thomas, was a daughter of

Major Beeby, first Sheriff of Madison County,

New York. The subject's parents had six

children, he being the next to the youngest.

His parents both died while he waTs quite

young, and he was raised on a farm by Mr.

Daniel Newton. When fourteen years of age

he came around the Horn to California, and

landed in San Francisco in 1849. He went

from there to San Jose in 1850, and into the

Mariposa mines, where he remained six months,

when he returned and lived at San Jose until

1852. He then went to Half Moon Bay, and

was there at the time the ship Carrier Pigeon,

from Boston, was wrecked and came ashore.

Mr. Thomas took the news of that disaster to

San Francisco, and Captain B. Waterman was

sent out with him to take charge of the wreck.

In 1853 Mr. Thomas accompanied William

Walker on his filibustering expedition. They

landed at La Baz and took the Governor pris-

oner. They then came up to Cape St. Lucas,

where they went ashore. There the mate of the

vessel was bribed, and ran away from them with

the prisoner, and they were left without food or

ammunition. They started to make their way

through to Sonora, but came back and surren-

dered themselves to Captain Burton at San

Diego, and he sent them home to San Fran-

cisco. Mr. Thomas then went to Shasta, where

he engaged in mining until 1858, when he came

to Los Angeles, and was one of the discoverers

of the tin mines. In 1860 he sold out and took
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a quantity of cattle in part payment, and took

up his ranch in Hemet valley. He then secured

40,000 acres of choice pasture land, and with

his family is now engaged in raising stock

—

full-blooded Durham cattle and blooded trotting

and running horses.

He was married in 1861 to Miss Genevieve

Bordie, who was born in Santa Barbara in 1840,

and they had a family of twelve children, eleven

of whom survive, five boys and six girls. Their

eldest daughter, Mrs. A. J. Stice, is twenty-

seven years of age, while the youngest is but

nine years of age. His second daughter, Fanny,

is now in Brussels, Belgium. Mr. Thomas was

with Lieutenant Wheeler when he made the

geographical survey of Mount San Jacinto. He
was Supervisor in 1857-'58. Mrs. Thomas and

the children are members of the CatholicChurch-

The Estudillo ranch house was the only house

here when Mr. Thomas came into the country.

He made a trip of 600 miles alone, on horse-

back, in California, and was in San Francisco in

1850 when it was burned, and saw the first

American horse race in California. He has

seen a great deal of frontier life, but is still a

young-looking man.

fOHN WESLEY WESCOTT.—One of the

oldest carriage manufacturing establish-

ments in San Diego is now conducted by

Wescott & Thompson, Mr. Wescott^being senior

partner. He was born in Knox, Waldo County,

Maine, July 16, 1838, the third of six sons, four

of whom are now living. He learned the trade

of wagon-making in his native town. In 1858

he left home for California, by the Isthmus of

Panama. The steamer from Panama to San

Francisco was the John L. Stephens, with a

passenger list of 2,250 people, but they arrived

safely, with no serious accident, October 18,

1858. He then went to Calaveras County, and

later to Placer County, where he followed the

lumber business about two years; then, return-

ing to Calaveras County, in 1862, he opened a

carriage shop and continued it until 1869, when
he sold out and came to San Diego, opening

carriage and blacksmith shops in 1871, at the

corner of K and Eighth streets, called " Old Big

Shoe Shop," and continuing until 1877. Then

he sold out and went to Arizona and conducted

a carriage shop at Yuma for about two years,

then returned to San Diego, and in 1880 opened

business at the corner of Eighth and I streets.

In 1882 he moved to the present location on

Sixth street, between H and F, with an establish-

ment fronting 100 feet on Sixth street and fifty

feet on Seventh street. Here he carries on a

general business,—carriage building, painting,

repairing, horse-shoeing and all grades of iron

work, with a large line of wagon supplies. Is

also agent for several Eastern wagons and car-

riages. He is a member of the Royal Arch

Masons, and also a member of the Blue Lodge,

No. 35; also of I. O. O. F., No. 153; Centen-

nial Encampment, No. 58, and of the Canton.

Mr. Wescott was married in Calaveras County,

in January, 1863, to Miss Martha Jane Gillam,

a native of Arkansas, whose parents were natives

of Indiana. This union has been blessed by five

children, three of whom only survive: Frank A.,

the oldest; Minnie May, now married and living

in Texas, and Maud, the youngest and pet of

the household.

«J. BRINTON is one of San Jacinto's

business men and a member of the
a G. A. R., J. A. Addison Post, No. 121.

He was born in Delaware County, Pennsylva-

nia, near the old battle-ground of Chall's Ford,

April 12, 1844. His father, Thomas Brinton,

and his mother, Jane Brinton, were both natives

of Pennsylvania, her maiden name being the

same as his. They were the parents of ten chil-

dren, our Mr. Brinton beiug the youngest. He
got his education at the common schools, and at

a boarding school in Concord, Pennsylvania.

In 1861 the conutry was convulsed with excite-

ment over the Rebellion. At that time T. J.
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Brinton was only seventeen years of age, small

and slender, but he wanted to enlist. The fol-

lowing year he was accepted, and. enlisted Au-

gust 16, 1862, in Company G, One Hundred

and Twenty-fourth Pennsylvania Volunteer In-

fantry. He participated in the battles of Antie-

tam, Gettysburg and Fredericksburg, but after

being in the service nine months his delicate

constitution succumbed to the exposure and the

hardships of the soldiers, marches and camp that

his life was despaired of, and he was honorably

discharged on account of disability, June 23,

1862. He returned home and after a few months'

careful nursing at home he partially recovered

his health, and with his brother, Joseph, bought

a farm. Soon after this he went to Cleveland

and Chicago visiting and seeing the country.

After six moDths' absence he returned to his

farm. He then went West again, and was in

St. Louis one year and a half, when he went

back East and sold his farm. In 1868 he bought

wild land near Des Moines, Iowa, and in a short

time 6old it again. He stopped in Des Moines

nine months, during the winter, and in March

traveled again. He went to Illinois, Vermont,

and then to St. Louis, and from there to Chi-

cago, where he studied telegraphy. In the

spring he went back to Des Moines, and, the

party that purchased his farm not fulfilling his

contract, he was obliged to take his farm back.

He then went to Folk, where he engaged in the

drug business, and after a year he sold this

business and went to Des Moines, where he

clerked in the hotel where he was boarding.

He then went to Omaha, where he bought a

hotel, which he ran eight months, when he sold

it, having dropped $2,500, and went back to

Des moines a wiser man. He then engaged in

the insurance business, in which business he

continued until January, 1876, when he came

to California. He opened a drug store at Or-

land and remained in that business until Au-

gust, 1885, when he sold and in November,

1885, he came to San Jacinto. The boom had

just started, and he dritted into it. He pur-

chased twenty acres of land, now in the city

limits, for $3,000. He has since sold a portion

of it for $6,000, and has still some on his hands,

for which he was offered a big price. He
bought a drug business of Mr. Beeman, and

has a nice stock of drugs and fancy goods, and

i6 a competent and obliging druggist. He was

married, in 1881, to Miss Bernard, a native of

Iowa. They have one son: George T., born in

Colusa County, California, October 25, 1883.

Mr. Brinton is a Master Mason, and was master

of his lodge at Orland, California. He is a No.

1 citizen, and is interested in the welfare and

growth of San Jacinto.

M. WARNER.—In Acworth, one of

the old New Hampshire towns settled
1

before the Revolution, was the home

of the Warners and Sladers. Far back in the

early history of the town we find the names of

members of these two families frequently oc-

curring as town clerks, justices of the peace,

selectmen, and representatives to the State

Legislature. They came mostly from Massa-

chusetts, and among the list of names we find

that of Nathaniel Warner, settled in Acworth

in 1805, and married to Miss Lucy Slader.

These were the parents of the subject of this

sketch, Mr. M. M. Warner. He was born in

Acworth, October 30, 1830. His parents had

a family of three children, of whom he is the

only survivor. He was educated in the public

schools of his native town, and when old enough

engaged in business with his father, who was a

merchant of that place. Twenty-five years of

hie life was spent in that place in the general

merchandise business, when he removed to

Chapel Hill, Texas, where he engaged in busi-

ness. His health giving out, and the war

coming on, he sold out and returned to his old

home, and continued in business there until

1867, wiien he removed to Fremont, Nebraska,

where he continued his mercantile business for

ten years. His health giving out, he retired

and engaged in the propagation of small fruits
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and trees. His health not improving, and be-

ing physically a perfect wreck, in September,

1884, he came to San Jacinto, California, and

purchased forty acres of land on the mesa, two

and one-half miles west of the city. The land

is well located, rich soil, and is easily worked.

Here he built his brick house and a good barn,

and went to work planting trees. The first year

he planted fifteen acres of deciduous trees, and

they are now fine, large, bearing trees. There

are about 2,000 trees—pears, peaches and

apricots—and they have yielded large quanti-

ties of choice fruit without any irrigation what-

ever. The second year he planted twenty-five

acres more in trees and vines, and he now has

a very valuable fruit farm. His health has re-

turned, and he ha6 accomplished all this him-

self, as he does his own work. Like a good

son, he followed in the footsteps of his father,

and he, too, married a Slader, a daughter of one

of the pioneers of Acworth, her given name

being Carrie D., born December 31, 1834. She

is an amiable lady. Mr. Warner's close atten-

tion to his business during his long life has re-

tarded him from holding places of public trust.

He is, nevertheless, a competent and agreeable

gentleman, and with his energy and skill is

showing younger men how to raise tons of

grapes and dried fruit. Such a man is a bless-

ing to any country.

;AVID HARROD, San Jacinto, another

of the men deserving of note for having

jeopardized his life in the defense of his

country and to perpetuate its free institutions,

was born in Monroe County, Ohio, February 19,

1832. His father, John Harrod, was born in

Knox County, Ohio. His mother's maiden

name was Matilda Harris. They had five chil-

dren living, of whom our subject was the sec-

ond child. He was raised on a farm, worked

in the summer and attended school in the

winter. "When he was fourteen years of age he

lost his parents, and at nineteen he went to learn

the carpenter's trade, and has been a builder and

contractor most of his life. June 12, 1861, he

enlisted for three years in Company E, Twenty-

sixth Regiment Ohio Volunteer Infantry. He

went to the front, and was in the battle of Stone

river. After this he was taken sick, and ex-

posure and poor treatment nearly served him

as it did many another poor fellow. From this

sickness he was long in recovering, and has

never fully recovered from the effects of it. In

March, 1863, he was honorably discharged on

account of disability. When out of the service

and with better care he recovered slowly, and

began to do what work he could.

The following April he was married to Miss

Frances Wood, a native of Holmes County,Ohio,

born in 1833. They removed to and settled in

Cass County, Michigan, and he conducted his

business there for a year, when he lost his wife,

March 27, 1864. He then went back to Ohio,

and in 1866 was married to Mrs. Keziah Means,

widow of John Means, who had been a farmer

there. She was a native of Ohio. They con-

tinued to reside there until 1884, when they

came to California and settled at Los Angeles,

and in October, 1885, they came to San Jacinto

and bought and built a home when the town

was first laid out. He was made a Master

Mason in 1864, and belongs to the G. A. R.,

J. A. Addison Post, No. 121, of which he is

Chaplain. He and his wife are Protestant

Methodists. Mr. Harrod was Justice of the

Peace three terms in Ohio, and was elected

one of the first trustees in San Jacinto. He
is in every way a good citizen of the country

for which he has all his life suffered so much.

B. WEBSTER, of San Jacinto, was

born in Otter Creek, Indiana, in 1818.

' His father, George Webster, was a

native of Mad River, Ohio; his mother, Rachel

(Shelby) Webster, was also a native of Ohio,

and her father, David Shelby, a fanner, was one

of the pioneers of Circleville. In January,
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1842, Mr. W. B. Webster was united in mar-

riage to Miss Mary Neville, burn in 1824, and

daughter of Judge Neville, a prominent citizen

there for many years. After his marriage he

took up a Government claim of 160 acres of

land in Edgar County, Illinois, and added to

this property by purchase until he had 700

acres. Here he lived and prospered for thirty-

five years, and here their large family of nine

children were born. The oldest son, George H.,

was born May 1, 1844, is married and resides

in Oregon; Charity M., born May 14, 1849, is

married to Mr. Rood, and lives with her hus-

band in Illinois; Mary E., born August 30,

1851, married Mr. H. O. Morris, and they now
live neighbors to the Webster family, in Web-
ster Canon; James M., born September 26,

1855; William B., born January 6, 1857, is

married and lives on a large ranch about four

miles north of San Jacinto; David Grant, born

August 3, 1861, who was named in honor of

General Grant's victory at Vicksburg, which

occurred on that date. This son is now at home
with his mother in charge of the home ranch.

Rachel S., born April 10, 1863; Corey T., born

October 18, 1865, is married to Mr. Erank Ryan

and resides in San Jacinto; and Frederick A.,

born November 18, 1869. The unmarried chil-

dren are still at home with their mother. In

1875 they sold their tine farm in Illinois, and

that winter Mr. Webster came to California and

bought 500 acres of land at auction in the Cent-

mello Ranch. When he came to see it it was

so dry that he got them to take it back, and the

lamily spent three months in Compton. He
then bought an undivided interest in a Mexican

grant, his interest calling for 1,640 acres of land,

and they moved upon it. The title to the larger

portion of this property was found to be fraud-

ulent, and after a lawsuit they were beaten out

of it all except 185 acres. They have since

bought back 2,000 acres of land, covering the

same property.

In 1877 they took a homestead of 160 acres

of land in what is now called Webster's Canon.

They moved upon it and here Mr. Webster
23

made improvements and planted fruit trees

of nearly all kinds, —prunes, pears, apricots

peaches, apples and oranges. All of these trees

are now large and in full bearing. The orange

trees are loaded with fruit, at an altitude of

1,700 feet above the sea, not only showing the

capability of the country, but is a permanent

monument to the industry and faith of the man
who planted them.

In the years 1884 and 1885 Mr. Webster was

ill for about five months. The doctors pro-

nounced his disease to be a tumor. He was able

to be around most of the time until five days

before his death, which occurred June 11, 1885.

He was an excellent citizen, a good husband

and father, a most excellent provider, and his

loss was most deeply felt by his family and the

county in which he lived. His son, William,

took charge of the place the first year, but since

that David G. has had charge of it. They have

added to this homestead 160 acres more adjoin-

ing it, and they are sowing barley and wheat

and raising alfalfa. On the other ranch they

are engaged quite extensively in raising horses

and cattle.

Mrs. Webster is now sixty-five years of age,

and, notwithstanding her very busy life, is still

able to do her own work, and is a capable

and intelligent lady. She is a Presbyterian

in religious belief. She has raised a large

family carefully and lovingly, and has lived to

see them settled, many of them near her. They
are all people of integrity, and are among the

first citizens of the community in which they

live.

fT.
MORGAN, a son of the golden West

and a business man of San Jacinto, was
° born in San Bernardino, California, July

12, 1863. His father, J. T. Morgan, Sr., was a

native of Illinois, and his grandfather, Thomas

Morgan, wa6 a pioneer of that State. Mr. Mor-

gan's father married Miss Elizabeth Mee, by

whom he had two children, but one of whom
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the subject of this sketch, survives. The other,

a daughter, died when quite young. Mr. Mor-

gan -was educated in San Bernaidino, and spent

a year in Arizona, where he learned his trade

—

butchering and the meat-market business, which

he has followed ever 6ince. He came to San

Jacinto in 1887, and owns the only two mar

kets in the place— one in Old, or South, Jacinto.

His market occupies a tine brick store on the

business street, and is a well equipped market.

He is doing a very nice business. Mr. Morgan

is a Knight of Pythias and a member of the

Independent Order of Fcreeteis, and a nice,

young business man of good ability.

#v£*-6§^-'£#

:1LLIAM B. WELSTEB, one of the

leading stock- raisers and ranchers of

San Jacinto, was born in Ferris, Illi-

nois, January 6, 1857. (For his parentage see

his father's biography in this book). He came

with his father and family to California in 1874,

when se\enteen years of age. On the site of

their present ranch, four miles north of San

Jacinto, they first bought 1,644 acres of land,

but advantage was taken of a defective title and

they were dispossessed of all but 185 acres.

For this claim they got 445 acres and aiterward

bought 2,000 acres of land adjoining it of the

San Jacinto Land Company, for $5 per acre.

They have built on this land a frame dwelling-

house and three large barns. They raise hay

and grain, but their principal business is raising

horses, mules and cattle. Mr. Webster has his

youngest brother, Frederick A., and they are

sowing 500 acres of grain, They use a five and

a 6ix gang plow with eight fine horses ot their

own raising on eacli plow. They ride, plow and

drag all at the same time, putting in about

fifteen acres each day. There is now on the

ranch about 350 head oi grade American cattle,

and 100 head of horses and mules. They are

breeding a Koiman and Belmont horse. (He

is half ot each.) Mr. Webster is practically

well informed en the business in which he i6

engaged, having been actively engaged in the

business since coming into the State. He wa6

married December 22, 1887, to Miss Myers.

She was bom in Missouri and is an estimable

lady. Mr. Webster lias been a member of the

I. O. O. F. lor ten years, and has to all appear-

ances a long and euceessiul liie before him.

tMELIO OBTEGA was born in Ventura

County, California, September 21, 1851.

His father, Francisco Ortega, was a resi-

dent ot Ventura County. His mother's maiden

name was Coidelia Domingnez. They had four

children, two boys and two girls, of which family

but two survive, the subject of this sketch and

his sister. Became to San Jacinto in Decem-

ber, 1874, and alter he had been here ten years

he purchased 820 acres of land on which he ha6

built a good house and bain and has planted

trees and will soon have a nice place. He is

sowing 600 acres of giain this year for his own

use on his ranch for his stock. He has six

horses and about seventy head of cattle, and

witli a partner has about 6,000 head of sheep.

He was married in 1882 to Miss Birginia Estn-

dillo, and they have three children: Francesco,

born June 9, 1883; Beducinda Neguila, born

May 16, 1886, and Amanda Bosaria, born May
29, 1889. Mr. and Mrs. Ortega are nice people,

and belong to the Catholic Church. They are

going to have the children go to English schools

to get an English education.

**4~

tEWIS W. CBAIN, one of the many sons

that old Kentucky has furnished California,

was born in Mason County, Kentucky,

May 9, 1843. His father, John S. Crain, was

born in Fleming County, same State, in 1819.

His grandfather, Lewis Crain, was born in Vir-

ginia and was of Scotch ancestry. Mr. Crain's

mother, Florinda (Markwell) Crain, was born in

Virginia, as was also her father, Lewis Mark-
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well. His father came from England. Mr.

Craiu was the first born of nine children, and

was educated at his home in Washington, Mason

County. When through with school he be-

came a farmer. In 1864 he removed to Platte

County, Missouri, where he remained ten years.

Then he came to Arizona and mined for two

years. In 1887 he came to San Diego County

and took a quarter section of Government land

on the San Jacinto mountains, and a quarter

section of timber culture near Winchester. . His

present large ranch is on the east end of Menifee

valley, where he has a good home. He has

planted trees, has a good well and windmill,

and is sowing 200 acres of wheat and barley.

In 1854 he married Miss Catherine Barnes, a

native of Platte County, Missouri, by whom he

had one daughter, Florence Nora, born Septem-

ber 23, 1874, in Johnson County, Kansas. lie

lost this wife, and in June, 1887, was married to

Miss Alice Graham, of Illinois. Mr. Crain has

held the office of Constable of his township and

has also been railroad master and deputy county

clerk, and is a man who stands high in his com-

munity.

fEORGE P. ORR.—On a beautiful spot at

the foot of the Santa Rosa mountains, on

the southwest side of Lake Elsinore, four

and one- half miles from Elsinore, overlooking

the lake and the pleasant homes on its banks,

with Elsinore surrounded by hills and San Ja-

cinto mountains, and the San Bernardino range

in full view, making a magnificent landscape,

stands the neat and commodious ranch of Mr.

George P. Orr. Mr. Orr came to California on

a visit and was so favorably impressed with the

country that he bought the fine ranch of ninety

acres on which he now resides, and has decided

to make this his permanent home. In front of

his residence stands a nice grove of bearing

orange trees, and he is about to plant ten acres

more. There is a nice flowing spring on his

property. He designs to make this a still more

beautiful home place. Mr. Orr is the son of

Scotch parents and was born in Glasgow, Scot-

land, August 10, 1849. In 1859 he came to

the United States and settled in Pittsburg,

Pennsylvania, and for twenty-two years divided

his time and attention between oil interests and
locomotive engineering. In 1869 he was mar-
ried to Miss Lottie McCombs, of Kittaning,

Pennsylvania. She is the daughter of Mr. J.

H. McCombs. They have one daughter, Leola.

He belongs to the B. of L. E., the A. O. U. W.
and is a F. & A. M. Mr. Orr has only recently

moved into his new home, but will be found to

be a valuable accession to this part of the coun-

try in which he has elected to reside. He has

been in the United States thirty years and is as

much of a lover of the United States and her

free institutions as any of her sons.

*Hfc8»H#—

-

§A FAYETTE YATES, of Elsinore, is a

native of the State of Alabama, born in

Coosa County, January 1, 1844. His
father, Aaron H. Yates, was born in Athens,

Clark County, Georgia, and was of Welsh and
English descent. His mother, Elizabeth Dick-

enson, was a native of Alabama. Her grand-

father fought in the Revolution against the

English, and was a personal friend and ac-

quaintance of La Fayette, and in this way the

name came into the family, he having named
his son after the general. The subject of this

sketch was the first-born of ten children. When
he was seven years of age the family removed to

Arkansas, where lie was raised and educated.

When the war broke out he enlisted in Com-
pany B., Eighteenth Arkansas Volunteers, and
served to the close of the war. The first fight-

ing he saw was at Fort Pillow, and next at

Shiloh. At the battle of Corinth he was de-

tailed with others to carry off* the wounded.

When this battle was over they were permitted

to recuperate and were then sent to Fort Hud-
son, where they were besieged from November,

1862, until July, 1863, when the fort sur-
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rendered and he was taken prisoner, and was

sent to the hospital to take care of his brother,

who was wounded by a piece of shell that had

torn away a portion of his thigh. The hot

weather and the wound overcame him and he soon

after died, July 8, 1863. Mr. Yates was then

paroled and went home, but July 1, 1864, he

returned again to the army. He was then

mounted and took part in guarding the Missis-

sippi river. They were sent back to Camden,

Arkansas, and had a fight at Poison Spring.

Then they were sent to intercept General Steele's

provision train. They rode all night and suc-

ceeded in capturing the supply train at Marks'

Mills. Then under General Fagan they were

sent on the Camden and Little Rock road to cut

off General Steele's retreat. On the second day

they engaged General Steele's forces and had a

hard fight and suffered much loss. In the fall

they were sent to Levvisburg, where they went

into winter quarters, and later were sent to Mar-

shall, Texas, where they were informed of Gen-

eral Lee's surrender, and Mr. Yates was glad

that the trouble was over. Then he returned

to his home and engaged in the cultivation of

cotton, as he had been doing before the war.

He was in that business from 1865 to 1871,

when he came to San Diego, California, and en-

gaged in farming and fruit-growing. Then he

lived a year at San Jose, and in 1874 returned

to his farm in San Diego. In 1876 he traded

it for a ranch in El Cajon, and again traded for

a farm in South Chollas valley, and in 1885

traded for his place at Elsinore. On this pleas-

ant place he is growing fruit, vegetables, alfalfa

and general farming. He has peaches, pears,

plums, prunes and nectarines, all in bearing.

In May, 1869, he was married to Miss Mary M.

Brown, a native of Louisville, Kentucky, and

daughter of Mr. Thomas Brown, who was a

Pennsylvanian. They have eight children: Ma-

bel and La Fayette, Jr., born in San Diego;

Olive, born in El Cajon; Wilby, Irving, Corlish,

Ivy, Amy and Ernest Emerson, born in San

Diego, and Sarah Horton, born in Elsinore.

Mr. Yates is Noble Grand of the I. O. O. F.,

and is a member of the A. O. U. W. Mr.

Yates' paternal grandfather was a Baptist min-

ister, and his father was also a Baptist minister

for over thirty years,—twenty-five years in one

town, where he was mnch beloved. His life was

one of great activity in the cause of the Master,

and he was a prominent leader in the denomi-

nation. One of his brothers is also in the Bap-

tist ministry. Mrs. Yates is a Unitarian in

belief. Mr. Yates was brought up in the Bap-

tist belief. Their married life has been a happy

one. They are interesting people and have a

nice family.

—&mm<-&—
C. PENROSE, the first settler in the now

beautiful village of Wildomar, was born in

9 Chesterfield, Morgan County, Ohio, in

1835, and was raised and educated there. He
learned the mercantile business in his father's

store. His ancestors were from England, the

first of them coming over in the Mayflower.

Nearly all the Penroses spring from that Puri-

tan stock. His father, Thomas Penrose, was

born in Pennsylvania, but removed to Jefferson

County, Ohio, and was one of the first settlers

there. His mother, Maria (Clendening) Pen-

rose, was a native of New Jersey. Their family

consisted of six boys and one girl, of whom the

subject of this sketch was the third son. He
removed from Ohio to Iowa, where he engaged

in farming, and from there removed to Cedar

County, Iowa, where he engaged in the mercan-

tile business. After being in business there for

some time, he sold out and went to southwest

Kansas, where he engaged in sheep-raising, and

continued in that business for six years; then

he sold out, and in 1885 came to California and

bought thirty-two acres of land at Wildomar,

and has the honor of building the first house

in the place. His lot on which he lives is

nicely improved with hedges, shrubbery and

trees. It was the choice of the town, as it over-

looks the town and valley.

He was married in 1856 to Miss Mary Jane
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Naylor, a native of Morgan County, Ohio, and

daughter of Abraham P. Naylor, who now re-

sides in Des Moines, Iowa. They have had six

children, of whom four are still living, viz.:

Anna M., born in Chesterfield, Ohio, married

to Mr. C. A. White, and residing in Riverside,

California. The following were born in Iowa:

Susan Eva, married Mr. Elmer L. Chambers,

and resides in Riverside; Hannah Tommae, mar-

ried to Mr. W. W. Wilson, of Elsinore, and

Jennie May, now residing at home with her

parents. Mr. Penrose has also the honor of

being the first Postmaster of Wildomar, under

the administration of President Cleveland. In

his political views he has always been a Repub-

lican. The family are all members of the Society

of Friends.

fOHN JOHNSTON is a leading business

man of Wildomar, born in Pittsburg, Penn-

sylvania, December 25, 1843. His father,

Wilson Johnston, and his grandfather, Benja-

min Johnston, were both born in the State of

Pennsylvania, and his great-grandparents were

born in Ireland. His mother, Martha (Boggs)

Johnston, wa9 born in Pennsylvania. They had

eleven children, eight of whom still 'ive—seven

sisters and Mr. Johnston. His only brother,

James .B. Johnston, died in the Union army.

He also enlisted, but was rejected on account of

being to.j young. He was educated in the pub-

lic schools of Pittsburg and learned the ship-

carpenter's trade, and began business as such,

and for twenty two years he was a ship-builder

and contractor in Pittsburg. In 1885 he went

to Omaha and engaged in the dry-goods and

notion business for three years. He then sold

out and came to California and settled in Wil-

domar in 1888, and built his store and filled it

with drygoods, millinery, boots, shoes and drugs.

They also have another similar store at Elsi-

nore. He has a ranch, which he is going to

plant to orange trees.

He was married to Miss Annie Redcliff, and

they had a family of four children, but one of

whom survives, a young man, twenty-one years

of age, now residing in Illinois. In 1878 a sad

accident bereft him of his wife. She had a severe

fall with a burning lamp in her hand. Her
neck was dislocated and the lamp burned her

badly.

In 1880 he was again married, to Miss Pau-

line H. Manning, a lady whose parents were both

from Germany. Mr. Johnston is a member of

the I. O. O. F., Monument Lodge, No 421,

Pittsburg, and has passed all its chairs. He
and his wife belong to the United Presbyterian

Church of Wildomar.

tE.
MUNCY is one of the men who have

been identified with the settlement and
Q growth of Wildomar. His native place

is Warren County, Illinois, and the date of his

birth August 26, 1858. His father, William

Muncy, was born in Pennsylvania, and his

mother, Elizabeth S. (Parker) Muncy, a native

of New Hampshire, born November 10, 1832,

and is entitled to tne honor of being a direct

descendant of the Parker who landed from the

Mayflower at Plymouth Rock. His descend-

ants setlled in New Hampshire, and all belonged

to the United Presbyterian Church. Mr. Muncy
was a ruling elder of the church, and a contribu-

tor to the religious papers of the church of his

time. Mr. Muncy was the fourth of a family of

nine children, and was educated in Monmouth
College, Illinois. Having the ^misfortune to

lose his father before he was through with his

course, be was obliged to return home to con-

duct his father's business—a general merchan-

dise store and a farm. His father had been a

merchant most of his life. Mr. Muncy took

charge of the business for four years, when he

sold his interest to his brothers and removed to

Iowa, where he engaged in farming. He re-

mained here four years, when he sold out, Feb-

ruary 1, 1886, came to Wildomar and bought,

and built the second house in the town, and
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was among the first on the ground. He pur-

chased eighty acres of land and has successfully

carried on a real-estate business ever since.

He was married December 27, 1881, to Miss

Sadie E. French, born in Birmingham, Iowa,

in 1833. Her father, Mr. William French, was

a pioneer of Iowa, and now resides in Wildo-

linir. They have four children, two boys and

two girls, viz.: Helen C. and William, born in

Iowa; Ralph Alexander, born in Wildomar.

They also have a nameless little lady, one year

old, born in Wildomar. Ralph Alexander has

the honor of being the first child born in Wildo-

mar. Mr. and Mrs. Muncy are members of the

United Presbyterian Church, and are people of

refinement.

#?~^M#

E. ROBIN SON, President of the Water

Company, was born January 5, 1854,

' and moved to San Francisco in 1862,

where he was brought up. Leaving school at

the age of sixteen years, when his father, Tod

Robinson, died, he entered the employ of the

Wells, Fargo & Co Express, where he remained

five years. He was then married, and removed

in 1881 to San Diego, where he conceived the

idea of that magnificent piece of engineering,

the San Diego Flume, in 1884; and the day

work was commenced in 1886. Mr. Robinson

was the first vice-president of the company, and

general manager. In 1889 he was elected

president, and in February, 1890, was re

elected.

—^^(gKi)!^

—

fC.
McMILLAN came to Elsinore in 1886,

and bought thirty-one acres of choice land,

on the banks of the Elsinore lake, built

a good house, and made other improvements on

his grounds, such as hedges, trees and shrubs,

and opened the first dairy in the place, and is

still in the business, which has steadily increased

from the first. He began with a few cows and

hor6e6, and has now about forty-five head of

cattle and horses. He is also a practical butter-

maker, having run a creamery in Iowa for sev-

eral years. Mr. McMillan was born in the noted

city of Belfast, Ireland. In 1870, when quite

young, he went to Iowa, where he resided for

seventeen years, a part of the time engaged in

farming. He was made a citizen of the United

States in 1875, which was as soon as the law

would permit. He was married in 1873 to Miss

Kezia Armstrong, a native of Illinois. They

have two children, Arthur and Amy, both born

in Iowa. Mr. and Mrs. McMillan are members

of the Methodist Church, and are worthy citi-

zens of Elsinore, full of energy, business ability

and enterprise,—another of the large list of

thrifty people of Ireland who have sought and

found a free home in America.

2 -
i . T . S-.

fHARLESJ.SAUERBREY, of Julian, was

born in Raleigh, North Carolina, March

21, 1856. His father, Charles Sauerbrey,

was a native of Bavaria, and emigrated to this

country with his parents when a child, settling

in Virginia. Being a miner, he owned and

worked mines, both in Virginia and North

Carolina, removing to the latter State after his

marriage to Miss Harriet Mitchell, a descend-

ant of an old Virginia family. The subject of

this sketch was brought to California just after

the civil war, the family settling in El Dorado

County, near the town of Placerville, then

called Hangtown. There the elder Sauerbrey

purchased an interest in the Montezuma mine,

and became superintendent of the same. When
old enough, the younger Sauerbrey took Irs fir6t

lessons in mining in this mine. In 1874 he

removed to Amador County, where his father

was engaged in mining, and here he was for a

time employed in a store; but in September,

1877, being then past twenty-one years of age,

he came to Julian and leased the Hubbard mine

at Banner. After working this mine for two
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years with profit, the lease having expired, he

went to Arizona and prospected and mined two

3
rears, with the usual ups and downs of a miner's

life. In the meantime he became acquainted

with Ed. and Etf. Schefielin, the former the

locator of the famous Tombstone mine. In

1882, when the noted prospectors organized an

expedition to investigate the mining possibili-

ties of Alaska, they invited Mr. Sauerbrey to ac-

company them, and for the next sixteen months

he was absent from the State on this expedition,

which was wholly unprofitable to the explorers

themselves, though perhaps it saved many others

from making a similar bootless trip. They also

contributed much valuable information to Lieu-

tenant Fred. Schwatka, whom they encountered

on the latter part of his famous journey down

the Yukon. Returning to Arizona, Mr. Sauerby

resumed his mining operations, which he con-

tinued with indifferent success for two years.

Since then he has lived the most of the time at

Julian.

March 18, 1886, in Los Angeles, Mr. Sauer-

brej married Miss Nettie, daughter of Alfred

James, of that city, who was at one time one of

the owners of the celebrated Stonewall mine.

He sold his interest for about $35,000; it could

not now be bought for less than $1,000,000!

Mr. James is also one of the proprietors of the

Owens mine at Julian, of which Mr. Sauerbrey

has been for some time the working superin-

tendent. Mr. and Mrs. Sauerbrey have one child,

a boy, born in January, 1889.

-^&Gfr& ~

WILLIAM J. HUNSAKER. of the firm

of Hnnsaker & Britt, lawyers, San

p=lpr^ Diego, was born in Contra Costa, Cali-

fornia, September 21, 1855, where he resided

until 1869. In October, that year, he came to

San Diego with his parents, and has ever since

resided here, except during the year 1880, when

he was practicing law in Tombstone, Arizona

Territory. After quitting school he learned

the art of printing in 1871-73. In 1875 he

entered the office of his father, E. H. Hunsaker,

who was Sheriff of San Diego County during

1875-'76, and while there he was elected Mayor
of the city of San Diego, on the non-partisan

ticket. He has been eminently successful in

his profession. His pleasant home has been

built from his own earnings, and besides is

commodious. His firm stands at the head of

the legal fraternity of San Diego.

He was married February 26, 1879, to Miss

Florence Farland, being a very excellent lady,

and they have four children.

fAPTAIN JAMES TROWNSELL, editor

and proprietor of the Escondido Times,

was at an early age thrown upon his own
resources and has a varied history in business

pursuits. At the early age of fifteen years he

had charge of a stone quarry in Butler County,

Ohio. Later he clerked in a dry-goods store,

and afterward was engaged in the grocery busi-

ness in Cincinnati. During the war of the

Rebellion he served in the Fourth and One
Hundred and Ninety-fifth Ohio Volunteer In-

fantry. He was wounded at the battle of Chan-

cel lorsville, in the charge made by his brigade

in front of C+eneral Hooker's headquarters;

Sunday morning, May 3, 1863, he was wounded

and taken prisoner; May 6, 1864, he was in the

battle of the Wilderness, only three miles from

the Chancel lore vi lie battle-field of the year before;

was taken to Danville, Virginia, and from that

place to Andersonville; while being moved from

that prison to South Carolina with ten others,

he cut a hole through the bottom of the car,

and when the train stopped at the depot at

Sumterville, South Carolina, they, unobserved

by the guard stationed on top of the ear, dropped

through and secreted themselves under the

depot, and made their escape to the country at

night. Dividing themselves into two parties,

they started for the Union lines, and after trav-

eling nineteen nights, hiding during the day,

the party of whom comrade Trownsell was a
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member found themselves on the banks of the

Pedee river, which was too high to permit of

their crossing. While awaiting an opportunity

to cross they built a fire, the smoke of which

revealed their hiding place to some home

guards, who captured them and took them to

Salisbury prison, thirty miles distant; but in

March, 1865, they were exchanged. Comrade

Trownsell accepted the adjutancy of the One

Hundred and Ninety-fifth Ohio Volunteer In-

fantry on the same day he was discharged from

the Fourth, and served with that regiment until

he was mustered out in December, 1865.

Id 1866 lie moved to Tuscola, Illinois, where

lie conducted a music and jewehy establishment

for twenty years; and while there, in 1885, he

was elected mayor of that city, filling the office

until the spring of 1887. His health then fail-

ing, he came to Escondido in December, 1887,

and purchased an interest in the Times, which

was at that time owned by his brother-in-law,

A. S. Lindsey, and was its business manager

until July, 1889, when he purchased Mr. Lind-

6ey's remaining interest; since then he has con-

ducted the paper alone.

WILLIAM H. BALDRIDGE was born at

Wapello, Iowa, in the year 1850. At

he age of fourteen he entered a drug

store in Mt. Pleasant, Iowa, to learn the busi-

ness, where he remained four years, when he

opened a drug store at Fort Dodge, in the same

State. In consequence of poor health he sold

out after two years, and went to Kansas, where

for three years he was in the employ of the

Union Pacific Railway Company, in train service.

He then went to Texas, and for three years was

conductor on a passenger train on the Texas

Pacific road. In 1877 he opened a drug store

in Fort Worth, Texas, where he remained three

years. In consequence of an attack of " Texas

fever," he sold out his business and removed to

Kansas City, where he again engaged in the

druff business. In October, 1887, he came to

Escondido, San Diego County, and once more

engaged in his favorite business, having now
(January, 1890) the largest and best drug store

in the place. He has a large trade, which ex-

tends over the larger portion of the surround-

ing country.

He was married November 25, 1873, to Miss

Fannie H. White, daughter of F. White, of

Wyandotte, Kansas. He has four children,

three sons and one daughter. He is a member
of Escondido Lodge, No. 344, I. (). O. F.

fC.
ARNOLD was born at Toulon, Illinois,

July 13, 1846, and came with his parents

* to California in May, 1853. For some

months he lived in Sonora, Stanislaus County,

where his mother died. In the fall of the same

year his father moved to the Montezuma Hills,

in Solano County, where he engaged in stock-

raising. Here the subject of this sketch re-

resided until 1876, a portion of the time at-

tending the University of the Pacific at San

Jose, from which he graduated in 1869.

While a student at the University he made

the acquaintance of Miss S. J. McCouaughy,

of Yreka, also a student, and October 10, 1870,

they were married. At the time of his mar-

riage Mr. Arnold was engaged in farming, and

continued in the business until 1876, when, in

consequence of the failing health of his family,

he sold his farm and moved to San Francisco,

where he opened a money and stock-broker's

office. Having heard much of the city of San

Diego and its advantageous location for com-

merce, etc., he visited the place in 1878. Real-

izing the benefit that would accrue to the city

by the advent of a railroad, as soon as the A.

T. & S. F. Co. made known its intentions to

build its line to that point, he removed to San

Diego in 1880 and immediately opened a real-

estate oiiice. Although a stranger, he at once

stepped to the front in the business and is now,

January, 1890, the senior member of the firm

of Arnold, Jeffry & Mouser, the oldest regular
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real-estate firm in the city. He is also a trustee

of the Escondido Seminary and of the Ramona

Seminary, and secretary of both boards of

trustees. He was one of the originators of the

University of Fine Arts, now being erected on

University Heights, which will be one of the

finest educational institutions on the Pacific

coast. Mr. Arnold is an enterprising, public-

spirited man, as is shown by his having been

prominently connected with nearly every lead-

ing enterprise inaugurated in San Diego. He
took an active part in the Grange movement,

and was a member of Denverton Grange of

Sonoma for some years. In October, 1887, he

was elected a member of the city council of

San Diego and served until the adoption of the

new charter in 1889. He is a member of the

Methodist Church, and is an active, earnest

worker in every good work.

***

,NTONE SCHERMAN.— Among the

many industrious and honorable citizens

furnished the United States by Germany,

is our subject, who was born in Wirtemberg,

April 11, 1845. His father, Casper Scherman,

and his mother, Mary (Harz) Scherman, were

natives of Germany. Mr. Antone Scherman

was the oldest of seven children; he received

his education in Germany, where he also learned

the engineer and machinist's trade. In 1863 he

came to the United States, then to Chicago, and

from there he crossed the plains to Idaho, and

for two years was engineer in a quartz mill. In

1866 he removed to Calaveras County, Califor-

nia, where he was a placer miner for some time

and also an engineer in saw-mills. He re-

mained there about a year and then went to San

Francisco and worked in the machine shops and

also followed his engineering trade for a distil-

lery. In 1871 he removed to Arizona, where

he prospected for eight months, when he went

to San Bernardino and engaged in the saw- mill

business. From here he went to Calico and

had the first quartz mill there. The mill is now

owned by Lieutenant-Governor Daggett and W.
W. Stow. In 1884 he came to San Jacinto and

started his steam saw-mill and lumber yard.

His mill is located fifteen miles east of San Ja-

cinto at an elevation of 6,000 feet, and is sup-

plied with all machinery for saw-mill and box

factory. The yard is known as the Clipper

Lumber Yard, and is located at San Jacinto; he

also owns a ranch five miles south of San Jacinto.

He was married in 1868, in San Francisco, to

Miss Catherine Schumacher, a native of Ger-

many. She came to America the same year

Mr. Scherman came. They have five children,

viz.: Joseph, Annie, Leonora, Antone and

Henry. He is a member of the United Order

of Red Men. He is a thorough mill aud lum-
berman, and attends closely to his business.

|HARLES H. THOMAS is one of the pio-

neers of San Diego County; he was born

in Chenango County, New York, in 1836.

Being seized with a severe attack of the prevail-

ing " gold fever," he took passage on the ship

Tecumseh, for a trip around the Horn to San

Francisco, where he arrived in November, 1849.

In company with a young companion he pur-

chased a mining outfit and went to Mariposa

creek, in Mariposa County, where for six months
they diligently and successfully dug for gold.

Mr. Thomas then returned to San Francisco.

In the fall of 1853, General William Walker,

the noted filibuster, came to San Francisco

from Marysville, organized a band of adventur-

ous spirits, numbering forty-five all told, char-

tered the bark Carolina, and in November left

San Francisco for La Paz, in Lower California.

Here Walker disembarked his forces, attacked

and captured the town, taking the Governor

prisoner. Another man was sent by the Mexi-

cans to take command but he also was captured

by Walker's forces. Finding himself too weak

to hold the place, Walker and his forces left the

town, after holding possession a week or more.

Walker sailed first to Cape St. Lucas, then to
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Ensenada, whence he landed his men and a

portyan of his supplies, leaving the vessel in

charge of the second mate. He, it is supposed,

had been bribed by the Mexicans; at any rate, at

the first opportunity he deserted his comrades

and took the vessel to Guy, leaving Walker and

his men in a hostile town, short of food and

ammunition. Mr. Thomas started immediately

for San Diego for a supply of percussion caps,

of which they were greatly in need; he was

successful in obtaining all that he wanted of

a Mr. Rose, who then resided in San Diego,

and returned to Ensenada to find that his friends

were about to be attacked by a large body of

Mexicans, and they were so nearly out of per-

cussion caps that there were not more than five

for each man; his return doubtless saved his

comrades from capture, for within fifteen min-

utes they were surrounded by several hundred

Mexican soldiers, who made a vigorous attack,

in which five of Walker's men were killed. The

Mexicans were repulsed with several killed and

wounded. During the following night Walker

assumed the offensive, and in a sharp tight

succeeded in driving the Mexican troops off the

field. Walker then buried his guns, and taking

such supplies as he could, started for Sonora by

way of Santa Catasina Paso; but after marching

several leagues they found the route impracti-

cable, and most of the party returned and sur-

rendered to Captain Burton, then in command
of the United States troops at San Diego. A
few of the men went on and finally succeeded

in reaching Sonora: what became of them we are

unable to say. Walker and his men were taken

to San Francisco, where Walker was tried in the

United States court for a violation of interna-

tional law, and on his acquittal in February,

1854, the others were released.

Finding himself a free American citizen once

more he went to Half-moon Bay and took charge

of the Pescadero Ranch, where he remained until

1855, when he went to Trinity river, and for

three years was engaged in mining. In 1858

he returned to San Francisco, then went to Los

Angeles; and the same year he, with others,

discovered the celebrated tin mines of Temes-

cal. In 1861, he sold his interest in the mines

to Don Abel Stearns and went to Heminet valley

in San Diego County, where he took up 480
acres of Government land and purchased of the

railroad company 4,000 acres more.

He was married in 1861 to Miss Genevieve

Bardie, of S:uita Barbara, and brought his bride

to Ilemmet valley, which has ever since been

their home; here they have raised a family of

five sonsand six daughters, one dying in infancy.

Mr. Thomas has made a business of raising fine

stock; he brought the first herd of short-horned

Durham cattle ever brought to San Diego

County, and he now has some of the finest

thoroughbred horses in Southern California.

^« v>.

fHARLES THOMAS, Jr., was born at

Temecula, California, in 1866; he was edu-

cated in the common schools, and lived

with his parents until he was twenty years of

age. He was always fond of horses, and when

but thirteen years of age he began to ride race

horses. In 1883 he obtained 160 acres of land

and turned his attention to the raising of stock.

He also studied and became an excellent veterin-

ary surgeon, and in 1887 commenced manufact-

uring " Thomas' Universal Horse Liniment and

Neuralgic Safe Cure," which has steadily grown

in favor until it has a large sale; he moved his

business to San Jacinto in 1889, where with

greater facilities he is giving his attention to

the manufacture of the above named valuable

remedies.

—-...g. },,I. 3
,_

fW.
GERLACH, San Diego, was the

youngest child of a family of seven chil-

* dren, and was born at Wurtemberg, Ger-

many, in May, 1846, where he received his edu-

cation. His father was a butcher, and G. W.,

being born and raised in that business, very

naturally made that the basis of his business
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career. In 1864 he emigrated to America, going

directly to Philadelphia, where he began his

labors in this country. In 1866 he enlisted

with five schoolmates, in the Fourth Cavalry,

regulars, following the service two and a half

years, on the frontier between Texas and Mexico;

he was badly wounded in an Indian engagement,

and in a skirmish near Fort Clark his horse

was shot under him, which rearing fell back-

ward, and Mr. Gerlach was badly disabled, and

was discharged from service at Fort Concher,

Texa6, in 1868, returning to New York, and after

four months' rest opened his own butcher shop

in that city. In 1878 he removed to Colorado,

opening shop, and was also interested in mining

speculations, still owning interests in mines in

Chaffee County, Colorado. In 1887, from ill

health, his attention was directed to Southern

California, and he came direct t<> San Diego to

breathe in the health-giving qualities of this gen-

ial climate. Being satisfied with the locality he

soon invested in a small bath-house built off from

the Pacific steamship wharf, which he has since

enlarged and made very complete and comfort

able; his buildings no>v' front 110 feet on the

wharf, and about the same depth; with ample

accommodations for hot and cold baths at al'

hours of day and night, and two large swim-

ming tanks for the summer bathers, having one

tank expressly for ladies, with dressing-rooms

conveniently adjoining.

Mr. Gerlach was married in New York, in

1870, to Miss Louisa Schwartz. Their sum-

mers are passed at the bath-house, in rooms

tastefully arranged, and in the winter when
business is more quiet they reside in the city.

Mr. Gerlach is a member of the Turnverein

Society, and also of the I. O. O. F.

fOHN R. AITKEN, LL. B., Judge of De-

partment 1 of the Superior Court of San

Diego County, is a gentleman of high

social and professional standing, having and

deserving the highest esteem of all who know

him. His selection for the above named office

by the people was wise in the extreme, gis his

record shows him eminently adapted to the re-

quirements of the office, which he has filled with

credit and honor to himself and to the satisfac-

tion of the public at large. A gentleman in the

full sense and significance of the term, imbued

with the highest principles of honor, and pos-

sessing great legal knowledge and experience,

his future may be foretold, as the open page in

his history of his past career may be read to-

day, and always without a blot to mar the purity

of the tissue.

Judge Aitken was born in San Francisco, his

parents having been among the argonauts of the

Golden State. When old enough he attended

the public schools of that city, until he arrived

at the age of twelve, when, becoming imbued

with the spirit of adventure he shipped before

the mast for New York; returning to the city of

his birth after some years of wandering, he set-

tled down to hard work, and after a severe

course of study entered the University of Cali-

fornia, from the law department of which he

graduated with the highest honors, and at once

entered into the practice of the law, in which

hehas made for himself a name and professional

reputation enviable, honorable and creditable

in the extreme.

In his domestic ties the Judge has been

fortunate, being the happy possessor of a wife

and two children, to whom he is greatly attached

;

with them all the spare moments which can be

snatched from a busy life are spent. It is said

of his son, Master Frank, an exceptionally

bright boy of twelve, that he is the youngest

editor in the United States, he being the presid-

ing pen-pusher of the " Middletown Electric

Light," a bimonthly paper published by the

school children of San Diego.

During his residence in San Francisco and in

San Diego, Judge Aitken has become widely

known. His great ability, his recognized firm-

ness of character and independence of spirit are

everywhere acknowledged by the people, and

the press, ever ready to acknowledge merit,
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have characterized him as one of the youngest

and best judges on the Pacific coast.

• =* VSJ ?
L§- ^ • ^

tB.
STEADMAN, the owner and manager

of the San Diego Boat House, was born
9

at Sarnia, Canada West, on the 11th day

of August, 1846. His father was a native of

the northern part of Ireland, and his mother

was of English descent. He was the fifth

t^on of eleven children, nine of whom still

survive, one brother having just been murdered

and robbed in the Indian territory, where he was

attending to his cattle, his ranch being in Ari-

zona. In 1861 our subject came to the United

States, residing at Detroit and other cities of

Michigan, practicing the trade of machinist,

which he learned in Canada. In 1865 he went

to Howard County, Missouri, on railroad con-

tracting and other machine work. In 1867 he

went to Atchison, Kansas, in the stock business,

remaining several years. In one storm, a

" northerner," with heavy snow, he lost 1,800

head of cattle and many horses, which about

'•cleaned him out."^ He then went into politics

and ran for Sheriff in Washington County, and

being elected he served one term of two years.

In 1874 he went to Colorado, prospecting and

mining; but after five months went to the

northern part of Arizona, when he again started

in the stock bnsines and ranching and introduced

the growing of small grains in northern Ari-

zona. He also introduced harvesters and thresh-

ing-machines, being obliged to freight them by

ox teams from El Moro, Colorado, to Prescott,

Arizona, a distance of 800 miles. He was a

heavy contractor with the Government in fur-

nishing small grains. He was very successful

in these enterprises, and again entering into

mining speculations lost heavily. In 1886 he

first came to California; traveling through the

northern part of the State he reached San Diego

just at the height of the boom and made con-

siderable money in real estate. He also bought

out a small boat business which adjoined the

P. C. S. S. wharf, which he has greatly enlarged,

and he now (1889) has one of the best equipped

boat-houses on the Pacific coast. He holds the

pennant for the fastest-sailing boats up to the

twenty-tive-foot class in southern California, and

his row-boats are unsurpassed. He owns seven

sail-boats from eighteen to thirty feet, and thirty-

nine small boats in shells, canoes and rowing

boats, and his entire plant and boating outfit

he values at $11,000.

Mr. Steadman was married in Canada in

September, 1868, to Miss Catherine Campbell,

of Scotch descent, who died in March, 1888, and

he is now a widower. He has two children, both

living. The daughter is attending Saint Mary's

College at San Diego and his son is at the Ter-

ritorial school at Prescott, Arizona.

SD.
BUTLER, San Diego.—The school

work of San Diego County is well and

° ably managed by its superintendent, Mr.

R. D. Butler, whose entire life has been given

to educational purposes and principles. Mr.

Butler was born in Springfield, Missouri, on

the 27th day of March, 1851, being the youngest

in a family of four children. On account of

the failing health of his father they left Missouri

in 1856, and with a mule team thay crossed the

plains by the old emigrant route. After ex-

periencing the usual delays and annoyances of

that mode of traveling they arrived safely in

California, first stopping at Marysvilleand then

locating in Napa County, where our subject's

father bought a farm and carried on general

farming* and was physically benefited by the

outdoor life. After five years of labor in im-

proving and beautifying, they lost all through

the injustice of one of those " floating grants "

which swallowed up their property. The loss

of property limited Mr. Butler's educational fa-

cilities, but by stern perserverance and much

hard labor he acquired the education he so

eagerly sought, and fitted himself for teaching,

beginning at Santa Rita, Monterey County, in
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1879, in the district 6chools, and later in the

public schools of that county. In 1881 failing

health brought him to San Diego and its genial

climate, and for two years he taught at Old Town.

In the fall of 1882 he was elected Superintendent

of the county schools and was re-elected in 1886,

the term of office being four years. Mr. Butler

has charge of the schools of the county and

visits each district at lea6t once a year. There

are 110 districts and they employ 200 teachers

in the city and county.

He was married at Salinas, Monterey County,

in 1878, to Miss Ida Morgan. This union has

been blessed by two children, one only of whom
survives.

JI^ORACE I. BREWSTER, of San Diego^

Ijlu was born in Schoharie County. New York,

=§M in 1853. His early years were spent in

Ins native Slate. His desire to see the great

w-estein country, however, was early developed,

and after spending some years at Albuquerque,

New Mexico, where he was engaged in con-

tracting and mining, he went North, spending

some time in Idaho, but finding the climate too

rigorous he took an extensive trip through

Washington and Oregon, and came to San Fran-

cisco, where he remained about a year. In Sep-

tember, 1885, he reached San Diego, and, as he

says, came to stay. During the time he has

been in San Diego some of the finest and most

substantial residences and business blocks have

been erected under his personal supervision,

notably .the Methodist Church block, Snyder

block and the Overbaugh and Thomas resi-

dences. His last and best effort was the erec-

tion and furnishing of the magnificent hotel

which bears his name, at a cost of $135,000.

After it6 completion he desired to assume the

management himself, and in December, 1888,

the house was opened to the public, since which

time it maybe said that the Hotel Brewster has

stood in the foremost rank, and from its excel-

lent management, convenient location, and un-

excelled appointments, it is certain to maintain

the leading position it has assumed. Mr.

Brewster's pedigree is second to none, being

descended direct from one of the oldest and

most respected families in the United States,

namely: Elder Brewster, one of the most noted

of the Pilgrim Fathers, who came over on the

Mayflower.

#^t€8--£#

tPAPE, San Diego, of German descent,

emigrated to America in 1880, filled

* with the thrift, enthusiasm and integ-

rity of his country, and landing in New York
for four years followed his trade of carpenter,

which he had learned in the mother country.

In 1884 he was attracted to southern California,

and upon his arrival at San Diego began work at

his trade, which he followed for five years, and
in September, 1889, he purchased of Mr. Pierce

the nucleus of his present handsome establish-

ment, known as the Tropical Natatorium, at the

foot of D street. He immediately enlarged his

facilities and is now prepared to give hot and
cold salt-water baths at all hours during the

winter and for his summer patrons has two
large swimming tanks, with convenient dressing

rooms adjoining. His building covers a frontage

of seventy-five feet, with facilities and 6pace for

the residence of his family. It is 200 feet

deep, with wharves and floats in the rear for

outside bathing. He also has a fine chicken

ranch in Switzer valley of three and one-half

acres, which he is just establishing, starting

with a flock of 150 fowls.

In 1885 he was married in San Diego to

Miss Dorothea Broetther, who is an able assist-

ant in his several enterprises.

fOHN F. RYAN, an artisan in his profes-

sion, who has a well stocked salesroom

at 1334 D street, San Diego, waB born in

New York city in May, 1855, his parents being
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natives of Tipperary, Ireland. His father was a

tailor, so that John F. came naturally by his

profession. Thej> moved to Cleveland, Ohio,

and there John leaned his trade. In 1879 he

went to Chicago as a journeyman and came to

California in 1881. After one year at San

Francisco and three at Salinas, Monterey County,

he came to San Diego in 1886, commencing bus-

iness in a small way with very limited resources

and gradually working up to his present stock

and business, employing from four to eight

hands and carrying a stock valued at about

$2,600. He caters exclusively to a tine class of

work and carries mainly imported cloths.

Mr. Ryan was married at Cleveland, Ohio,

in February, 1879, to Miss Catherine Dolen

and the union has been blessed by four children,

all of whom are living and at home.

--^*»^
fUGENE FRANZDEN. of San Diego, was

born at Fredericksburg, Texas, August 10^

1862, and spent his early years at a mili-

tary post in that State, of which his father was

rag officer. He was educated at

Svendborg and Copenhagen, Denmark, and, after

completing his course at the university in the

latter place, traveled through Norway, Sweden,

and Denmark for six years. In 1881 he re-

turned to this cuintry and settled at Topeka,

Kansas, where he spent four years in the em-

ploy of the Santa Fe Railroad Company. In

July, 1886, he came to San Diego and started a

commercial printing-house, under the name of

Ferguson, Bumgardner & Co., and afterward

purchased the interest of Mr. Ferguson, which

gave him a two-thirds interest in the firm,

which was then changed to Franzden, Bum
gardner & Co. Under Mr. Franzden's manage-

ment the volume of business has constantly in-

creased, and besides the large local business of

the iirm they enjoy a large patronage from

various parts of the southwest. In 1888 Mr.

Franzden was elected a member of the City

Board of Education, and was re-elected in 1889.

He was married in March, 1888, to Miss

Lotta Davies, daughter of Councilman J. F.

Davies, of San Diego.

LENZ.—There are no two branches of

business that interest the artistic tastes of

a community more than musical instru-

ments and photography, and in both of these

no man stands higher in San Diego than J.

M. Lenz. Like so many other adopted citizens,

Mr. Lenz started at the foot of the ladder and

has built up his present business by excellence

in workmanship and indomitable industry.

Mr. Lenz was born on the river Rhine, in

Germany, where he received an excellent mus-

ical education, which commenced when he was

but six years of age, under the tuition of his

father, who was an eminent musical director.

He is not only versed in the science of music,

but is proficient on almost any kind of stringed

or wind instruments. He came to America in

1870 and located at Springfield, Illinois, where

he was married to Miss Ella Carmean, and

where he learned the art of photography. He
subsequently worked in the be6t galleries in

Chicago, and established an enviable reputation

as an artist. He embarked in business for him-

self in Chicago and afterward moved to Daven-

port, Iowa. He had the finest studio in the

State, and did an immense business. He came

to San Diego in 1887 and opened at his present

stand, No. 657 Fifth street, between G and H
streets. Here, as in Davenport, he is recognized

as a leader not only in photography but in the

sale of musical instruments, which he carries

on extensively. He is 6ole agent for the Weber,

Emerson, Mathnshek, Krackanr, New England

and Cable & Son's pianos. In organs he han-

dles Story & Clark's, Fackard's and the Bridge-

port makes. He also carries a big line of small

instruments. He has established a reputation

for selling pianos and organs on very close mar-

gins, and the public has not been slow to take

advantage of his liberality. As a photographer
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Mr. Ltrz is the only aitist on the city making

pictures from the smallest to lite-size. He does

only first-class work, and consequently has all

he can do. He took the first premium at the

county fair this year over all competitors.

fELSON OVERMIEK, a rancher of El

Cajon Valley, was born at Somerset,

Perry County, Ohio, April 19, 1830, the

fifth child of Adam Overmier, a farmer. He
was educated in Marshall County, Illinois. In

April, 1853. he went from St. Louis up to St,

Joseph, Missouri, whence he started for Cali-

fornia, in company with Isaac Lankershim,

Capt. W. E. Wild, Messrs. Marshall and McCoy,

and arrived at the old Buckeye House, twenty

miles from Sacramento, in November. They

wintered their stock in 1853-'54 at the Co-

summes ranch, below the wire bridge on the

Daly grant and about sixteen miles below Sacra-

mento. The party had bought about a thou-

sand head of cattle, and, ferrying them across

the river at Sacramento, drove them around

into Napa valley. Overmier lelt the party at

Napa, went to the mines, traveled around the

camps, visited Marysville, worked for three

year6 at Downieville, and spent two years at

China Flat, Sierra County, above Downieville,

where he was blown up by a premature explo-

sion of powder. The eyes of his partner were

blown out and one of his arms torn from his

body. Overmier's face was badly burned, but

it was not a serious injury and he soon recovered.

In 1858 the great excitement on Fraser river

began to rage, and he started for a gold mine

there, and during a period of over five years he

wa6 there he became prosperous. He was one

of the 500 men who cut the road through the

Cascade mountains to the Upper Fraser river,

the only direct road to the mines. He mined

on that river for over three hundred miles, until

they struck Canal river, and worked up to the

forks of the river for over 150 miles. Provis-

ions were so scarce that they sold at $1.50 to

$5 a pound. Mr. Overmier went into the Cari-

boo country in British Columbia, where he

found a large lake, which he called the Cariboo

lake. It is fifteen miles long by about two

miles in width. He prospected the country on

both sides of the lake as far up as Little Cari-

boo lake and Swamp river, which empties into

Cariboo lake. At the head of the lake they

discovered a stream which they named Harvey

creek, after a member of the party. He found

plenty of gold, both in nugget form and in

small particles; but he was destitute of food

and provisions, and altogether had a very rough

and unpleasant experience.

He left the country in 1865, bought a team

at Dalles, loaded with provisions and went to

Bannock City and wintered in Grand Round

valley in eastern Oregon. He traveled over

the Owyhee country, and opened a livery, sale

and stock yard in Silver City. He bought and

sold stock, and by close attention built up a

good, substantial business. In 1866-'67 the

Indians raided the country and drove off eighty-

five head of stock belonging to Mr. Overmier,

which loss represented over $5,000. This mis-

fortune affected him so that he settled his affairs

and traveled down through the Goose lake

country and sold his stock at Oroville, and took

the railroad for San Francisco, arriving about

three days before the great earthquake of Octo-

ber, 1868. He was so badly shaken up that he

became frightened, packed his things and took

the steamer Orizaba for San Diego, and has

never visited San Francisco since !

Mr. Overmier has devoted himself to farming

and fruit-raising. He spent about fifteen years

farming in Alpine, but concluded to move

nearer civilization, sold his ranch and purchased

a farm in El Cajon valley, about eighteen miles

•from San Diego; there he has an orange orchard,

a well assorted variety of choice deciduous fruits,

and a neat and comfortable home in one of the

prettiest spots in San Diego County.

In 1875 he married Miss Lucy Fields, of

Mississippi. Mr. Overmier is an old pioneer

and has a large fund of interesting and excit-
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ing stories to relate about his companions of

" long, long ago." He knew most of the pio-

neers, who are now quietly fading away, with

their frosty hair and hoary age, into the silent

realms which enfolds them in a strange, quiet

solitude of peace. He is a sunny-hearted, cheer-

ful man, with a kind and pleasing disposition.

WILLIAM JOSEPH LYONS, of San

Diego, was born September 3, 1851, in

the old town of San Diego. His father,

Joseph Lyons, was a native of Donegal, Ireland,

and came to California in 1846, and has re-

mained here ever since. Joseph Lyons was

married in 1850, to Miss Bernardo Billar, a

daughter of Lieutenant Billar, the commander

of the Presidio in San Diego. After William

was born, his father engaged in the merchan-

dising business until he was elected Sheriff of

San Diego County, which occurred in 1858.

He occupied this important and responsible

office until 1862, when he retired permanently

from active business life. Joseph Lyons enjoys

the reputation of being one of the oldest Amer-

ican citizens in San Diego, and is also one of

the oldest Freemasons in the county. There

are at present only three persons living, besides

Joseph Lyons, who can claim to be the first or

earliest pioneers, viz.: Mr. William Warner,

Colonel Crosthwaite and Mr. C. J. Stewart.

Mr. Joseph Lyons has a family of ten chil-

dren, seven sons and three daughters, living at

present. The subject of this sketch is the

oldest child. William attended school in San

Diego until he was sixteen years of age. He

then left school and began a complete course of

study to become a practical master-mechanic.

He devoted five years to wood-turning, carriage,

making in all its different branches, etc. He

then entered the Union Iron Works in San

Francisco, and spent three years there, becom-

ing a proficient machinist, inolder, model-maker,

etc. He worked five years at the carpenter's

business, and did considerable heavy contract

work during that time. For over eighteen

months he was in the engineering department,

and when that time expired he was then in a

position to feel secure that he had accumulated

from practical experience sufficient knowledge

to claim that he was a thorough and genuine

master-mechanic.

He returned to San Diego in 1880-81, and

went into the railroad contracting business, and

met with some reverses. He then visited Lower

California and became interested in the wonder-

ful mining discoveries in that country. He

spent over eighteen months in active prospect-

ing, and finally came out victorious, for he suc-

ceeded in finding some very rich gold-quartz

mines. He organized the United States and

Mexico Gold-Mining Company, with $100,000

capital stock, composed principally of Eastern

capital. He afterwards sold out his interest

and went into different heavy business opera-

tions of important proportions, and achieved a

grand and pronounced success. He was very

fortunate in his ventures, and advanced several

large enterprises until they were popular and

profitable. In 1884 he commenced buying

land, and afterwards became associated with

Mr. H. A. Howard, and they were soon widely

known as " Howard & Lyons, Real Estate

Agents." The strong, reliant, aggressive charac-

ter of Mr. Lyons soon became apparent, for the

new firm made the heaviest sales ever made in

the county, and enjoyed the satisfaction of

doing the largest business in San Diego.

Like John Wanamaker, they believed in

liberal, constant advertising, and the commu-

nity soon grew familiar with the names of

"Howard & Lyons." The Eastern visitors,

local bankers, prominent men, eager investors

and cool-headed money-lenders knew the firm.

One of the most artistic and interesting speci-

mens of advertising was gotten up by the firm

in book shape, and named "Souvenir," with

this quotation on the title-page:

" For life at best is not too long,

And therefore we determine

That many people read a song

Who would not read a sermon."
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In the introductory the authors state the reason

why they were compelled to publish a book:

"The publication of these specials was begun

as an experiment in advertising, and continued

because we found that they attracted both buy-

ers and sellers to our office. At the time they

were written we had no intention of gathering

them for publication in any permanent form;

but we have, during the past few weeks, re-

ceived many letters from all parts of the coun

try, asking us to procure back numbers of the

San Diego Union containing our ' Specials.'

The back numbers are all exhausted: hence this

' Souvenir.' We are informed that some other

real-estate dealers are not pleased with our sys-

tem of advertising. We are sorry for that, but

it costs them nothing;

'And if the king like not the comedy,

Why then, belike, he likes it not.' "

The little book became a favorite, and over

50,000 were published. It is replete with in-

formation expressed in polished English, full of

brightness, sunshine, alluring word pictures,

and shows high literary ability in its every

page. This little gem was scattered over Eu-

rope id the Eastern States, and assisted in in-

forming strangers just what kind of a country

San Diego was in reality.

Mr. Lyons is thoroughly acquainted with the

Spanish language and the history of the Spanish

grants in San Diego, throughout Southern Cali-

fornia, Lower California and the adjacent coun-

try. He has traveled over Los Angeles, Santa

Barbara, Ventura, San Luis Obispo, Monterey,

San Bernardino, San Diego, and Lower Califor-

nia, and is a perfect encyclopaedia of wholesale

information for the visitor, tourist or investor.

This is a decided advantage, and has perhaps in

a measure assisted him in achieving his great

success in his business. He has quite an inter-

est in the Lower California mines in Alamo,

which is at present looking up as the coming

mining country. Some wonderful developments

have been made there since last March, and the

district known as Alamo embraces over 200

quartz and placer mines. Mr. Lyons considers

it one of the best mining districts ever dis-

covered, and confidently predicts a grand ex-

citement there ere long. Alamo is about 180

miles from San Diego. Mr. Lyons is about

negotiating the 6ale of ten mines to San Fran-

cisco parties for $312,000, and some Chicago

parties will invest $80,000 in two mines in

Lower California. These heavy transactions

serve to show the style and manner of business

Mr. Lyons is engaged in. He is known favor-

ably to heavy capitalists and investors, and is

generally at the head of every large or important

enterprise.

Mr. Lyons was married to Miss Sarah Ames,
a lineal descendant of Oliver Ames, of Massa-

chusetts, on August 4, 1879, at San Diego. He
has a family of four children, three boys and a

girl. He has a nice, comfortable home in Old

Town, his native place, and enjoys the reputa-

tion of being an enterprising, liberal-hearted

man.

Mr. Lyons was elected one of the delegates

of the city of San Diego at the late election

held under the new charter, and is full of pro-

gressive ideas for his constituents and the pub-

lic generally.

fINDLEY BROTHERS, San Diego.—There
are few business houses in San Diego at

the present time that are better or more

favorably known than the grocery house of

Findley Brothers, now located at 1320 D street,

in the Methodist Church Block. The firm is

composed of Herbert W. and Frank S. Findley,

both natives of Prince Edward's Island, Canada.

Herbert, the elder, and founder of the firm, was
born in 1863. He received his education in his

native town, graduating at Prince of Wales

College, and Charlottetown Business College. In

1883 he first came to the Pacific coast, remain-

ing one year at Victoria, British Columbia;

then returned to his native place, when he was

admitted -as partner in the firm of James Paton

& Co., the largest dealers in Charlottetown.
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He remained with this house three years, at the

end of which time he again turned his footsteps

westward and came to San Diego, entering

into the grocery business on Sixth street, in

March, 1888, where he was joined by his broth

er Frank. The business grew to such propor-

tions that it became necessary to find more

commodious quarters, which were found in the

Methodist Church block, D street, where they

have the finest store and largest business in the

city of San Diego.

Frank S. Findley received his education at

the same schools as Lis brother, and in 1883

went to Victoria, British Columbia, where he

remained six years in the wholesale grocery

business. He joined Herbert in San Diego in

June, 1889, and with him formed the firm of

Findley Brothers.

He was married in September, 1889, to Miss

Hettie Butler, a daughter of Robert Butler, of

Victoria, British Columbia. At the solicitation

of Herbert and Frank their parents have joined

them, so that the family now are all in San

Diego except a married sister and one brother,

who still remain ou Prince Edward's Island.

«OLONEL CAVE J. COTJTS, of Guajome.

Of all the prominent men who at one time

or another held official positions in San

Diego County, none are more deserving of fame

than Colonoel Cave Johnson Gouts. Although

trained to arms, being a graduate of West Point,

and having made a gallant record in the war

with Mexico, yet his greatest achievements were

in the paths of peace. Of a tall, commanding

figure, a little over six feet in height, weighing

about 165 pounds, straight as an arrow, willowy

and active, a perfect horseman, the beau ideal

of a cavalry officer, with the natural instincts of

a gentleman, supplemented by a thorough edu-

cation, fond of an active, busy life, devoted to

his family, the soul of honor,— to him a lie was

like blasphemy, being unexcnsable and unpar-

donable,—of strict integrity and business habits,

he was also jovial and a genial companion, fond

of jokes, music and dancing; a thorough man of

business and a perfect gentleman in society.

lie was born near Springfield, Tennessee, No-

vember 11, 1821, in the same neighborhood

where his father and mother were born, where

they married, lived and died. His education

was taken in hand by his uncle, Cave Johnson,

who became Secretary of the Treasury under

President Polk, and at the age of seventeen he

was sent to We6t Point, graduating in 1843,

when he wa6 commissioned a Brevet Second

Lieutenant in the Regiment of Mounted Rifles,

served on the frontier at Fort Jesup, Louisiana,

until 1845, when he was sent with a detach-

ment of troops to Fort Washita, Indian Terri-

tory, in the meantime being commissioned

Second Lieutenant of the First Dragoons, on

frontier duty at Evansville, Arkansas, and Fort

Gibson, Indian Territory, until February, 1847,

when he was promoted First Lieutenant of the

First Dragoons, and served on the Mexican fron-

tier throughout the war, passing through New
Mexico and Arizona, and Lower California to

San Diego, serving in Los Angeles, San Diego

and San Luis Rey from 1848 to 1851, in the

meantime conducting the expedition to the Gila

river in 1849.

April 5, 1851, he married Ysidora Bandini, a

daughter of Don Juan Bandini, in San Diego;

in October of the same year he resigned from

the army and was soon thereafter appointel Col-

onel and Aid-de-Camp on the staff of Governor

Bigler. He was very methodical in his habits,

and kept a class album containing the autographs

of all who were at West Point during the time

he was there, and also an exceedingly well-

written journal of his trip across the country

from Indian Territory to San Diego. The jour-

nal is beautifully illustrated with views along

the route, as he was an excellent artist; only

three of his pictures have been given to the

public: Old San Diego, the Mission of San Di-

ego and the Mission of San Luis Rey, all as

they appeared in 1850; a few copies were litho-

graphed, and subsequently photographs have
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been taken from the lithographs. The missions

in 1850 were much finer than they are now, and

his foresight has preserved for the future valua-

ble mementoes of the past. In his class album

appear the signatures of D. H. Hill and R. H.

Anderson, of South Carolina; A.J. Williamson,

U. S. Grant and R. Hazlitt, of Ohio; T. C.

Hammond, Charles Mahon, W. B. Franklin, J.

H. Garland and W. S. Hancock, of Pennsylva-

nia; H. Brown, F. Denman, D. B. Sacket, F.

Steele, Henry M. Judah, M. K. Van Bokkelin,

R. S. Ripley and Charles Allen Hardie, of New
York; James R. May, John Newton, R W.
Johnston and J. P. Johnston, of Virginia; C.

Benjamin, of Indiana; Earl of Van Dorn and W.
H. C. "Whiting, of Mississippi; E. E. McLean,

of Maryland; A. P. Stewart, W. Pope Hale and

John Y. Bicknell, of Tennessee; H. Clement

Story, of Louisiana: W. L. Crittenden, J. J. C.

Bibb, J. J. Reynolds and S. Bolivar Buckner,

of Kentucky; Henry Coppee and James Long-

street, of Georgia; C. Colon Anger, of Michigan;

F. T. Dent, of Missouri; Mansfield Lowell and

Alfred Pleasanton, of the District of Columbia.

From among the foregoing names it will not be

difficult to pick out a large number who have

since became famous for the part they took on

either bide of the late war. Although Colonel

Conts was an extensive raiser of cattle and

horses, yet he early foresaw that the climate of

San Diego County was adapted to all kinds of

agriculture, particularly to horticulture, and he

was the first to plant an orchard on a large scale

with the improved varieties of fruits, and for

years his was the only orange grove in the

country. For two years after leaving the army he

lived in Old San Diego, where he served a term

as County Judge; in 1853 he moved with his

family, consisting of his wife and two children,

to Guajome, which place has ever since been

the family homestead ; it was an Indian grant

and contains 2,219 acres, made by the Mexican

Government to Andres, an Indian, and to his

two sisters. It was bought by Don Abel Stearns,

of Los Angeles, and by him presented to Mrs.

Couts as a wedding present. In the Indian

language the term means '• frog-pond." When
Colonel Couts went out there in 1852 to take

possession and inaugurate his improvements,

there was not the sign of a tree of any kind,

where now are immense orchards, vineyards and

willow thickets; he carried a few boards from

San Diego, and with them and willow poles,

hauled from the river bottom two miles away,

he put up a little shed sufficient to cook and

sleep in. There was a damp piece of land, a

6mall cienega, but no running water, and iu

order to water his mules it was necessary to dig

a hole in the ground with a spade, and with a

small dipper dip up enough water to fill a bucket

and thus water his mules. Where that was done

in 1852 there is now a large pond, sixty feet in

diameter and seven feet deep, full all the time

and running over in a large stream, which is

used for irrigation. At that time there were a

great number of Indians in and around San Luis

Rey, and it was an easy matter for Colonel

Couts as he was an Indian agent, to command
the services of enough laborers to do his work.

It was not long before the results of the patient la-

bor of 300 Indians took the form of an immense
adobe house, built in a square, containing twenty

rooms, a fine court-yard in the center, well filled

with orange and lemon trees and every variety

of flower; immense barns, stables, sheds and

corrals were added, after extensive quarters for

the servants were built; then to finish the whole

a neat chapel was built and formally dedicated

to the worship of God. His military training

enabled him to control and manage the Indians,

as only he could. Everything in and about the

ranch was conducted with such neatness and

precision that a stranger would at once inquire

if " Don Cuevas," as he was generally called, was

not from West Point. By strict attention to

business he accumulated thousands of cattle,

hundreds of horses and mules, a large band of

sheep, and added to his landed interest by the

purchase of the San Marcos, Buena Vista and

La Joya ranches, besides some 8,000 acres of

Government lands adjoining the homestead; in

all some 20,000 acres. But the passage of the
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" no- fence law" almost ruined him financially,

as he was compelled to dit-pose of his cattle at a

fearful sacrifice, and he was just recovering from

the crash when he died. He was not permitted

to enjoy the fruits of years of toil and thou-

sands of dollars well spent.

His death occurred at the Horton House, in

San Diego, June 10, 1874, from an aneurism.

Colonel Couts was one of twelve children, his

wife one of ten, and she bore him ten, viz.:

Abel Stearns, who died in 1855, aged nearly

four years; Maria Antonia, now the wife of

Colonel Chalmers Scott, living in San Diego,

with seven children; William Bandini, mar-

ried to Cristina, daughter of Don Salvador

Estudillo, farming near the San Marcos ranch;

Cave Johnson, Jr., a surveyor by profession;

Ysidora Forster, now the wife of W. D.

Gray; Elena, married to Parker Dear, Esq., and

living on the Santa Rosa ranch; Robert Lee,

John For6ter, and Caroline, married to John B.

Minston, of Los Angeles.

Dona Ysidora Bandina de Couts, widow of

Colonel Cave J. Couts, deceased, has continued

to reside on the old homestead at Guajome, and

for fifteen years has managed the estate with

great skill aud ability. Her task has been a

trying one, and, but for her great will-power,

she would have broken down long ago; but she

comes of a family renowned for physical and

mental strength and beauty. Her father, Don
Juan Bandini, was a prominent official under

the Mexican government, living in San Diego,

where Ysidora was born, but, being a progressive

man and possessing an education far above those

who surrounded him, he was quick to foresee

the result of the war with Mexico, and was one

of the first to side with the Americans. It was

three of his daughters, Ysidora being one, who

made the first American flag hoisted in Los

Angeles. Her grandfather, Don Juan Ban-

dini, was a native of old Spain, and admiral

in the Spanish navy, stationed on the Pacific

coast under the old regime, and was in com-

mand in Peru when his son John, the father of

Ysidora, was born. The family are originally

Italian, and Prince Bandini, of Rome, is at the

present head of the house. At the time of her

marriage, Don Ysidora was considered the most

beautiful lady in Southern California, if not on

the coast; and even now, although time and care

have necessarily had their effect, yet few, of her

years, would claim to rival her.

^T"

ILLIAM STEILBDRG, of San Jacinto,

was born in Hanover, Germany, Decem-

ber 4, 1842, and came to America in

1854. He was for two and one-half years a

resident of Cincinnati, Ohio, and then removed

to Louisville, where he engaged in the furniture

business for thirty years. Here lie did a very

nice business, selling as high aB $30,000 per

annum. When the great civil war broke out

he enlisted for three months, at President Lin-

coln's first call, in Company A, Third Ohio Vol-

unteer Iufantry. When his term expired he

enlisted in Company A, Twenty-eighth Ohio

Volunteer Infantry, and under this enlistment

was in active service three years and four

months, making his service in all three years and

seven months. He was a participant in the first

battle of Bull Run as well as in the second battle,

in the battle of Antietam, and in the seven

days' battle of the Wilderness, and was with

Sheridan in the Shenandoah valley. Part of

his service was detailed duty with Capt. Meigs

on the engineer corps, surveying the road6 and

giving information in regard to the position of

battle-fields. He was in some of the severest

fighting of the war and came out without a scratch.

In 1869 he was married to Miss Wrample-

meier, a native of Cincinnati. They have two

children, both born in Louisville, viz.: Alma,

born in 1870, and Walter, born in 1886. Mr.

Steilbnrg came to California in 1887 and set-

tled at San Jacinto. He bought forty acres of

land, built a good house and barn, and planted

4,400 deciduous trees, consisting of the fol-

lowing kinds: prunes, apricots, peaches, pears

and apples. He is a member of the Knights of
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Honor of Louisville, Kentucky. Politically he

is a Republican. His parents were Lutherans

and he was brought up in that religion. He is

a citizen of responsibility and character, and

very soon his nice property will be bearing

large quantities of delicious fruits.

fHOMAS JACKSON ARNOLD, Collector

of the port of San Diego, was born in

Beverly, West Virginia. He was the son

of Jonathan Arnold, one of the most successful

and prominent stock-grazers in his section of

the State; and his mother, Laura (Jackson) Ar-

nold, was the only sister of " Stonewall " Jack-

son. Thomas was educated at Parkersburg and

Lexington, Virginia, at the latter place under

his uncle's care and supervision. In 1867 he

graduated in law at the Washington and Lee

University and returned to his native town to

practice his profession. At the age of twenty-

two he was elected Prosecuting Attorney for his

county, and was re-elected the second and third

terms. In 1876 he was married to Miss Eu-

genia Hill, a daughter of General D. H. Hill.

Owing to his wife's failing health they removed

to San Diego in the fall of 1880, where Mr.

Arnold practiced his profession until July, 1886,

when he was appointed by President Cleveland

Collector of the port of San Diego. We append

below the opinions of the press from both a

Democratic and Republican point of view on

his appointment and retirement from office:

The Daily San Diegan of July 29, 1886,

says: " It always affords the San Diegan much
pleasure to record the appointment of a good

Democrat to an office that has been held by a

Republican long after the Democratic latch

strings have been hung on the public door. The
appointment of Thomas J. Arnold, Esq., a well-

known attorney of the bar in this city, as Col-

lector of this district, is a source of gratification

to his many friends and the Democratic party,

with which he has been identified ever since

his majority. Mr. Arnold has received warm

and hearty congratulations from his party

friends over the honor conferred on him, while

his fitness for the position is unquestioned.

* * * The San Diegan wishes him a suc-

cessful official career."

The San Uiesjo Union of March 20, 1890,

says: "Mr. T. J. Arnold yesterday surrendered

the office of Collector of the port of San Diego

to his successor. Mr. Arnold has held the

office for nearly a full term, and has adminis-

tered it with his characteristic integrity and

fidelity. His rulings on close questions, upon
which there were no decisions, have been sus-

tained by thedapirtinent with mash uniformity

and he has had the pleasure of seeing several of

his suggestions adopted as department rules of

administration. The business of the office has

increased largely during his term of office and
he turns it over to his successor in good con-

dition. In turning the office os'er to his suc-

cessor Mr. Arnold has placed him under obliga-

tion for many courtesies."

fHILIP A.BETTENS, nursery man of Es-

condido, was born near Vevay, Switzer-

land County, Indiana, July 31, 1838, of

Swiss parentage; and when about thirteen years

of age he commenced traveling on the Ohio and

Mississippi rivers during the winter months

and worked on his grandfather's farm during

the warmer portions of the year until 1859,

when he moved to Florence and continued farm-

ing until April 1, 1887, when he came to San

Diego County. After a few weeks' residence in

Coronado he moved to San Pasqual valley; was

there nineteen months and then moved to Es-

condido, September 1, 1888, where he was

first in charge of the L. and T. Company's

vineyard for several months, and is now in the

nursery business for the Sweet Water Nursery

Company.

In 1859 he married Miss Clara A. Dufour of

Switzerland County, Indiana, and of Swiss par-

entage. She died in November, 1880. By that
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marriage there are four sons and two daughters.

The oldest son, Philip A., is a graduate of West

Point and he holds the rank of Lieutenant, be-

ing stationed at Fort Robinson, Nebraska; the

second son is in the employ of the Coronado

Peach Company, occupying a responsible posi-

tion in their office. His daughter's name is

Anna G.

fDGAR S. PAYNE, the cashier of the

Oceanside Bank, was born in Watkins,

New York, August 8, 1853. His father,

J. W. Payne, was born in Ovid, Seneca County,

New York, in 1825. He is at present engaged

in farming, although he was formerly in the

hardware business. His mother, Maria (Suther-

land) Payne, was born in Yates County, New
York, in 1828. She was the daughter of Mr.

Alexander Sutherland, a pioneer of Yates Coun-

ty, and was married to Mr. Payne in 1848.

Their ui.ion was blessed with six children, all

of whom are living and of whom Mr. Edgar S.

Payne is the second. Mr. Payne was educated

in the public sch ids and the Genesee College,

Lima, New York. In 1871 he finished his

studies there and engaged in the banking busi-

ness at Watkins, in which business he continued

until he came to Oceanside in 1887, where he

opened the Oceanside Bank. . He is a man of

fine business habits, is a member of the Meth-

odist Church, Deputy County Clerk and City

Treasurer of Oceanside.

fRTHUK GRAHAM NASON, the origi-

nator and President of the San Diego &
Coronado Transfer Company, which posi-

tion he has so acceptably filled from its organi-

zation, is a man well and favorably known, who

has always taken a lively interest in the general

welfare of San Diego, and has contributed in

various ways during his brief residence here to

develop and beautify the city of his choice

Mr. Nason was born in New York city, July 7,

1856. In 1872 he moved to Nason, Orange

County, Virginia, where he engaged in milling

and general merchandise until 1880, when he

moved fo Fort Concho, Bexar County, Texas,

where he remained for five years engaged in

the sheep and cattle business, and operating

quite extensively in ranch lands. In 1885 he

was attracted to San Diego, believing that its

natural advantages and resources were sufficient

to insure its future prosperity (which conviction

he still retains) and at once entered into part-

nership with Charles W. Morrill (of San Luis

Rey flume fa:ne) in the real-estate business and

consummated some of the largest 6ales in this

county, among them the Soledad valley lands,

which he purchased from Mr. Andrew Cassi-

day and subdivided into stn ill acreage tracts,

in the sale of which he was very successful.

Mr. Nason is a good specimen of the push and

energy that have made San Diego. In part-

nership with James F. Fisher he built the

Hotel " Albemarle," corner of Front and D
streets; the Pickwick building and the "Gould

block," both of which are on Fourth street,

and several other of the prominent business

blocks, as well as some of the most unique

residences of the city; his own being one of

the handsomest cottages, both in architectural

design and finish. In 1887 he purchased the

Murrietta Hot Springs from Mr. M. L. Wicks,

of Los Angeles, an interest in which he still

retains; he is also interested in a water enter-

prise now under way; is a large owner of city

and acreage property, and has a fine fig and grape

ranch in the Tia Jnana valley. The company

of which he is president is a very important insti-

tution in San Diego, and has a paid up capital of

$50,000. Probably no other one citizen of San

Diego has been instrumental in getting so many

young men to forsake the East and make their

homes in the " land of fruit and flowers" than the

subject of this sketch, and his name and influ-

ence can always be found associated with all

charitable objects.

In October, 1886, Mr. Nason was united in
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marriage to Miss Ada, daughter of Mr. T. W.
Ward, a prominent banker and land owner of

San Saba, Texas. They have two children: one

6on, Harry Ward, and one daughter, May Bev-

erly.

-#** w^-

fROF. J. H. HILL, instructor of vocal and

instrumental music, San Diego, was born

at Sati Antonio, Texas, in 1852; his lather

was a school-teacher and his mother a teacher of

music. Professor Hill began his studies at the

age of five years, both in music and the classics.

He studied at the university at the city of Mex-

ico and graduated at the Gonzales College, at

Georgetown, Texa*. In 1871 he went to New
Orleans and for two years studied music with

private teachers at the New Orleans Conserva-

tory. From 1872 to 1876 he was principal of

the music department of the Gonzales College;

he then studied one year with Professors Gip-

recht and Gottschalk; from 1877-'80 he was

musical diroctor of Goliad College; from 1880

to 1883, of the Southwestern University, com-

mencing with eleven pupils, but before leaving

had over 100. He then spent eight years in

travel and study, and in 1888 came to San Diego,

opening rooms at the corner of Fourth and I)

streets, and teaching music under the auspices

of the College of Fine Arts, which is under the

management of the University of California,

the Conservatory of Music being a department

of the college. Professor Hill also ha? charge

of the musical department of the " College of

Letters " at Pacific Beach. He makes a spe-

cialty of the pia-io, and in the conservatory

averages about twenty-five pupils.

fK.
HAMILTON, one of the fire commis-

sioners of San Diego, was born in Travers

» County, Texas, August 24, 1856, his father

being a native of Alabama and his mother of

Tennessee. They had two sons and two daugh-

ters, all living. His father was a lawyer. Upon
reaching maturity he bought and operated a

cotton plantation, owning his own cotton-gin,

with an annual production of from 300 to 450

bales of 500 pounds each. Losing his health,

he was obliged to seek a milder climate, and in

1880 leased his ranch and came to California,

first settling at Los Angeles, then Sinta Bar-

bara, making the latter place headquarters. He
journed from valley to hill and from coast to

interior, as favorable localities were suggested,

but found permanent relief only after coming

to San Diego, in 1884, where after one year he

recovered his health. He then entered the real-

estate business, and in 1887 connected fire insur-

ance therewith, under the firm name of Hamilton

& Stevens, which firm was succeeded in Octo-

ber, 1889, by G. B. Grow & Co. Mr. Hamil-

ton being retained as manager, he represented

a good list of foreign and American companies.

In May, 1889, under the new charter, Mr.

Hamiiton was appointed fire commissioner by

the Mayor, it being deemed wise that insurance

companies should have a representation upon

that board.

Mr. Hamilton was married at Santa Barbara,

in October, 1885, to Miss Ora Combs, and they

are now the fond parents of two bright-faced

children. He is a member in good standing of

the A. O. U. W., and of San Diego Lodge, No.

35, F. & A. M.

fOSEPH FAIVRE, San Diego.—In a city

where the leading residents are remarkable

for the eventful character of their lives,

Joseph Faivre is entitled to take a prominent

place. He was born in New Orleans, June 4,

1828. When Joseph was seven years old, his

parents removed to Ohio, leaving him in charge

of an acquaintance engaged in the cooperage

business, to whom, six years later, their son was

apprenticed. At the end of six years he was

pronouticed a master of his trade, and engaged

in business on his own account as a trimmer of
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broken cargoes on the city levee. He was thus

ingaged for seven years, when he left the Cres-

cent City and joined his parents at Dayton,

Ohio, and went to work at his trade.

After coopering for a year he went to work

quarrying stone and boating it down tbe Miami

Canal to Cincinnati, where it was used for the

Catholic cathedral being built by Archbishop

Purcell. After completing his quarrying con-

tract he engaged as a buyer of tobacco and grain

for Henry Harmon, a well-known merchant of

Dajton. After continuing at this business for

eight years he returned to New Orleans, but

only remained there a month when he left for

Indiana, locating at the town of Attica, on the

Wabash, where for two years he kept a hotel.

His venture as a landlord, however, was not a

successful one. He lost all his savings, and

removing to Otter creek, six miles from Terre

Haute, he went to work at his trade as a cooper.

At the end of two years he availed himself of

an opportunity to lease the Prairie House at

Terre Haute, a large hotel, which he conducted

for eight months. In the fall of 1856 he re-

moved to Leavenworth, Kansas, where he kept

a livery stable for two years, at the same time

being engaged in buying and selling real estate.

During this time he built seven or eight houses.

He made a prospecting tour through the moun-

tains of Colorado, and at the end of three months

located at Denver. There, during the years of

1860-'61-'62, he engaged in the wholesale and

and retail grocery business, doing the largest

trade of any house in the city. He was at this

time also doing business as a freighter of sup-

plies from Leavenworth, St. Joe, Atchison, and

Nebraska City to Denver. There were no rail-

roads then, and Faivre's wagons were the equiv-

alent of the freight trains of to-day.

In 1863 he sold out at Denver and went into

the freighting business from Leavenworth to

Salt Lake and Virginia, Montana. This trade

was quite hazardous as, in addition to the ordi-

nary dangers that befell his trains in the long

journey across the plains, from the elements,

they were liable to an attack from bands of hos-

tile Indians, and Mr. Faivre was obliged to life

the utmost care and tact to avoid these wily foes.

While engaged in this business he also con-

ducted an auction and commission house at Vir-

ginia, Montana. One of his trains met with a

serious accident while descending the Bear

River Mountain. An explosion occurred in

one of the wagons, which was drawn by eight

yoke of large Missouri cattle, and loaded with

5,500 pounds of powder and 75,000 feet of fuse.

As may be imagined, the shock was terrific.

The driver was blown to atoms and seven of the

cattle were killed, their remains being scattered

in all directions. During the same trip, one of

the drivers of the train was struck by lightning

on the Big Sandy river, in Wyoming. There

was not a break upon his skin, but the corpse

was like a mass of jelly, and the sole of one of

his shoes was split by the fluid.

In the spring of 1865 Mr. Faivre became

snow blind, and he returned to Leavenworth,

where he built a residence and made it his

home. In 1870 he came to San Diego on account

of his health. After a short sojourn here he

liked the place so well that he went back to

Leavenworth, settled up his affairs, and came

on here to reside permanently, in June, 1871.

When he first came here in 1870, he bought

considerable property, and upon locating here

he purchased more and engaged in the business

of real estate, brokerage, and loaning money,

buying up school warrants, etc. About seven

years ago he retired from active business and

devoted his attention to the conduct of his

private affairs. In 1885 he made a trip to

Europe, being absent four months.

Mr. Faivre has done a great deal to develop

and beautify San Diego. He has built eight

houses of his own and probably as many more

as agent, for others. One of his buildings is a

three-story brick 50 x 100 feet, on E street, be-

tween Fourth and Fifth, nearly opposite the

Firot National Bank, costing $16,000. He has

erected a fine building for business purposes,

75x100 feet in size, on the corner of Seventh

and D streets. One part will be four stories in
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height and the portion on the corner will be rive

stories. It will be provided with an elevator,

have all the modern improvements, and cost

over $40,000. Mr. Faivre was married in 1848,

near Dayton, Ohio, to Mis6 Klyntick. They

have had one child, who died ot the cholera in

New Orleans.

fOHN R. SCRANTON. a son of New En-

gland, one of the early pioneers of Cali-

fornia and a citizen of San Diego, was born

at Guilford, Connecticut, in July, 1828, and was

one of a family of eight children, himself and

sister now only surviving, his sister still living

at North Guilford, Connecticut, Mr. Scranton

was early apprenticed to a carpenter, serving a

term of four and a half years, and thereafter

worked at his trade until 1851, when he went

to New York city. His attention was early

turned to California, and in 1853 he made the

trip, by way of Panama and the Isthmus, arriv-

ing safely in San Francisco without accident or

special incident. Soon after arrival he went to

Nevada and Colorado, and there did a large busi-

ness in contract building until 1858, when he

was "enthused " by the Fraser river gold excite-

ment, and started for that field, but stopped at

Portland, Oregon, where he took several con-

tracts in bnilding. The following ten years

were passed in Oregon, Washington, Idaho and

Wyoming, in building and mining and a general

speculative business, visiting the leading cities

and mining districts and taking up whatever

offered the best returns. In the fall of 1869

he came to San Diego and started a general

building and contracting business, doing quite

well for a number of years, part of the time

with a partner, the firm being Scranton & Boyd.

In 1873 he gave up contracting and entered the

saloon business with J. P. Stowe, but only for

a short time, business being very quiet. Then
he followed and investigated business propo-

sitions for about two years, resulting only in

chaff, but in 1875 went to Santa Monica and

resumed his trade, doing a prosperous business

for about two years. Then he went to Wyoming
on a railroad contract and followed his trade at

Leadville, Denver, Kansas City and through

New Mexico, doing a good general business'

Returning to San Diego in July, 1882, he did a

general speculative business in the liquor traffic,

whaling enterprises, etc., without material profit.

Has been a man of broad experience and diver-

sified gifts, having passed through all the

stages of prosperity and adversity, and though

6ixty-one years of age is still in the hey-day of

life.

%^-

R. SHELDON, of San Diego, a son of

New England, was born at Boston, Massa-

chusetts, September 13, 1860. His par-

ents were natives of Vermont but resided in

Boston, where his father, Dr. Leonard Sheldon,

has been a practicing physician for twenty-five

years. The subject of this sketch was the only

child. His preliminary education was received

at Boston; then, at the age of thirteen years,

he was sent to the university at Barre, Ver-

mont; at the age of seventeen years he entered

the college at Burlington, Vermont, taking the

medical course and the hospital course connected

therewith, and graduated in 1881, at the age of

twenty-one years. He then passed one year in

New York city, at the Medical University and

Bellevue Hospital, spending the summer of 1882

at home. In the fall he came to California,

settling at San Jose and buying out a drug

store, which he continued and also practiced

his profession in connection with Dr. Thorn.

In 1883 he removed his drugs and medicines

to Pasadena and built a drug store on Colorado

street; also bonght a twenty-acre tract between

Colorado and Marengo avenues and there built

a pretty cottage for his family, and there con-

tinued the practice of his profession u.itil 1885,

when, in November, he sold out his drug store

and leased his house and went to San Diego,

boarding through the winter and watching for
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investments. In February, 1886, he sold

out his Pasadena property and bought a lot

and built a very handsome residence at the

corner of D and Twelfth streets. During the

same year he built the Sheldon block, a four-

story building on Sixth street, between E and

F streets.

The Doctor was married at Burlington, Ver-

mont, August 2, 1878, to Mi68 Emma R. Ban-

croft, a native of Vermont, and they have had

two children, both of whom are still living.

In May, 1886, the Doctor bought what was

then known as the Mussel Beds, selling in 1887,

and now known as Ocean Beach. The Doctor

was a man endowed with unusual brightness,

possessing not only the professional skill but

also the shrewdness necessary to business pros-

perity. His happy home relations and business

successes were enjoyed but a few short years, as

he died June 14, 1887, and his widow resides

at the home which is a fitting monument to his

memory.

fOHN SPENCER, the able and efficient en-

gineer of San Diego Engine Company No.

1, the oldest company in the city, hav-

ing been organized in 1872, was born at

Bingham, England, July 2, 1849. He there

received a private-school education, and at the

age of thirteen went into the iron works of

Codna Park, at Derbyshire, the largest iron

manufacturing establishment in the world, where

he learned the trade of molding, remaining

about two years. In 1864 he came to the

United States, going to Galena, Illinois, where

he attended a night school and ran a stationary

engine during the day. thus improving both

mind and resources. In 1872 he went to Kan-

sas City, running as fireman on the east end of

the Santa Fe road, and for the following fifteen

years was employed in a machine shop of the

Union Pacific, and as engineer of the Kansas

City, Fort Scott & Gulf railroad. In 1887 he

worked at Kansas City with Prof. J. C .Henry,

on his electric railway system, and then came to

San Diego and erected the electric railway sys-

tem between San Diego and Old Town, and then

the line on Fourth street to University Heights,

each line about four miles in length. In April,

1888, he received his present appointment from

the old city council.

Mr. Spencer was married at Galena, Illinois,

in 1869, to Miss Annie A. Chenewith and is

the happy father of one child.

fP.
McCORMICK, architect and builder

of many of the public and private build-

* ings of San Diego, is a native of England,

though of Irish parentage. At the early age

of fifteen years he left the old country to seek

fame and competence in the new, and settled at

Philadelphia. He there began his business

education. He served three years with one of

the largest contractors in that city, and then

served two years with an equally good architect,

and at the expiration of the term he served an-

other two years' apprenticeship as civil engi-

neer. Thus, after seven years of faithful ap-

prenticeship, at the age of twenty-three years,

we find our Irish-English American master of

his profession. It was then unnecessary to go

abroad to seek occupation, but in the city of his

adoption he opened an office and at once entered

upon a successful business career. In a few

years Mr. McCormick erected upwards of four

hundred buildings in Philadelphia, among them

the most elegant and substantial of that city,

a large number of public edifices, churches,

schools and many fine residences. Several large

contracts in wharf building and civil engineer-

ing were executed in New York, Philadelphia

and other Eastern cities. In the civil engineer

department of his work he points with special

pride to one single mile of railroad built by him

in Colorado, where he resided for six years.

It was the heaviest mile of rock work on the

Denver & Rio Grande Railroad, and the heav-

iest mile of rock work ever built in the United
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States. In Chicago Mr. McCormick spent several

years, building three elegant fire-engine houses,

two police stations, etc.

-~.
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fEORGE D. COPELAND, of San Diego,

was born in Waddington, St. Lawrence

County, New York, May 15, 1833. His

parents were natives of Vermont. There were

four children, three of whom are surviving, and

the subject of this sketch was the youngest

At the age of four years he moved with his

parents to Goshen, Indiana, at that time a log-

house town, and his father opened a shop and

manufactured hollow-ware. George D. was

favored with an academic education at the La

Grange Collegiate Institute at Ontario, La

Grange County, and then went to the State

National Law School at Poughkeepsie, New
York, Professor Fowler then being principal.

He took the law course and received his certifi-

cate in 1854, and then returned to Goshen, but

began the practice of law at Wakarusa, Elkhart

County.

He was married at Goshen, in September,

1857, to Miss Harriet A. Latta, a native of

Goshen, Indiana. Mr. Copeland then returned

to Goshen in 1858 and remained in the practice

of law until 1871. In 1861, when the internal

revenue was first established, Mr. Copeland re-

ceived the appointment of United States As-

sistant Assessor for the term of one year, and

he was then promoted to United States Assessor

with eleven assistants. He was appointed by

President Lincoln and held the position through

the term until the office was abolished in 1871

and the business put in the hands of collectors.

His offices were at Goshen and his district em-

braced eight counties of Indiana. In 1871 he

visited California, coming out by the second

train over the Central Pacific road. He visited

San Francit-co and vicinity, and in 1872 brought

out his family and settled at Sacramento, re-

maining about one year, engaged in importing

and selling wagons. He brought the first car

load of Studebaker wagons to the State. In the

winter of 1873, in poor health, he retired from

the business and came to San Diego, buying a

ranch near Sweetwater, and for seven years em
ployed himself in an out-of-door life, attending

to his ranch, and fully regained his health. He
was then appointed Postmaster of San Diego in

1881, and that making life in town necessary

he sold his ranch and moved his family to town,

and held the position through the term of four

years.

In May, 1886, he organized the San Diego

Flume Company and was appointed president,

holding the position until 1888, when, owing

to a large private interest, he resigned. He
was a large investor in the electric street rail-

road, owning the entire road and plant, which

he operated for one year, starting in same con-

nection the Westinghouse system of incandescent

light, and wiring and supplying the city. Mean-

time he sold his railroad interests with the

plant and franchise to the San Deigo Cable

Railroad Company, who are now arranging for

a cable railway.

Mr. Copeland's electric plant has a capacity

of 1,500 lights, sixteen-candle power each, and

was the first incandescent light in the city. He
began lighting December 15, 1888, and has re-

ceived very satisfactory support.

Mr. Copeland's tir.-^t wife lived but a few years,

leaving one son, J. S. Copeland, who is now
District Attorney of San Diego. Mr. Copeland

was married a second time, at Goshen, Indiana,

on August 30, 1869, to Miss Alice M. Austin,

a native of Middlebury, Vermont. They have

one child, nineteen jears of age, a student at

the Pacific Beach College.

W--- ;»^-
fEORGE A. SELWYN,the pioneer butcher

of San Diego, was born at Sheffield, Eng-

land, February 24, 1842. His parents are

natives of England. There were three children,

but the subject is the only one surviving. He
came to America with his mother, while an in-
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faut, and at the age of eight years they emi-

grated to San Bernardino, by ox-wagon, over-

land. He then made San Bernardino his

headquarters, but spent much of his time pros-

pecting and trading in mines. In 1865 he

came to San Diego and bought a ranch of 1,000

acres at San Buena Ventura, and started cattle-

raising. He started also the butcher business

in 1874, with Charles Gasson, which continued

two years, then demoted one year to sheep-

raising, and in 1877 again started in the butcher

business, under the firm name of Selwyn & Co.

At present their stand is on Fifth street, be-

tween F and G, known as Washington Market.

In 1881 the firm changed to Selwyn & Allison,

which is continued to the present time. He
still carries on his ranch, and is doing a large

dairy business, selling his milk in town. In

meats they are doing a wholesale and retail

business, supplying the country and most of the

city markets.

He is a member of the order of Odd Fellows,

and the United Workmen.

In 1867 he was married, in Old Town, to Miss

Luc}r Fisher, a native of Texas, though of German

descent. He was again married at San Diego,

in 1882, to Miss Jennie Rice, a native of Ken-

tucky. He is the happy father of five children.

SAN DIEGO COLLEGE OF LETTERS.

iDDENDUM TO GENERAL HISTORY.

San Diego College was founded in 1887, by a

company of gentlemen who associated them-

selves together for the purpose of establishing

an undenominational college in Southern Cali-

fornia. The company was constituted as fol-

lows: C. S. Sprecher, pastor of the Second

Presbyterian Church of Los Angeles; F. P.

Davidson, Professor of Natural Science in the

High School of Springfield, Ohio; Harry Wag-

ner, editor of the Golden Era. The plan and

details of organization were so thoroughly

marked out, and the purpose with which these

gentlemen addressed themselves to the work

was so strong, that they at once secured offers of

large land grants in four eligible places. It

was ultimately decided to locate the college at

Pacific Beach, for several reasons: 1st. The

climate of the south coast is unequaled for

adaptedness to study, on account of its equabil-

ity. 2d. Pacific Beach is near San Diego, the

future metropolis of Southern California, and

yet not in the city where the students would be

exposed to many temptations. 3d. The view

from Pacific Beach is unequaled. There is a

broad south slope looking out over both bays,

and toward the sun and the city at the same

time, with the mountains on the left, and the

ocean on the right.

The Pacific Beach Company conveyed to the

college, at a nominal price, a campus of sixteen

acres and about 600 lots. The work of build-

ing began just at the departure of the boom, so

that the college had no benefit of that phenome-

nal activity in real estate, but has had to push

its way along through a depression in business

circles such as the country has never known,

during which property has come down in value

to very near a nominal price.

They have created a property which assets

in the judgment of fair appraisers about $80,-

000. This has been realized by the liberal in-

terest taken in the cause of education by the

citizens of San Diego.

The college was incorporated in 1887 with

the following board of directors: C. S. Sprecher,

President; F. P. Davidson, Vice President;

Harr Wagner, Secretary; O. S. Hubble, F. S.

Van Dyke. By this charter the college is

authorized to confer all the collegiate degrees.

On the 20th of June the corner-stone of the
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college was laid with imposing ceremonies in

the presence of 2,500 people, the elite and lit-

erati of San Diego.

As the corner-stone was lowered the words

expressive of the principles of the college were

pronounced by the president of the company

as follows: " In the name of God and humanity.

as revealed in the Christ of history, we lay the

corner-stone of San Diego College— undenomi-

national but not unchristian. Our faith is the

faith of Christendom; our hope the hope of

christian civilization." Tlie college is altogether

undenominational, but thoroughly christian; as

all the control is in the hands of christian men.

On the 20th of September, 1888, the college

was formally opened with an attendance of

thirty-seven. The faculty was organized with S.

Sprecher, D. D., LL. D., President; C. S.

Sprecher, A. M., Vice President; F. P. David-

son, A. M., Superintendent of Instruction, and

a corps of eleven teachers. Over 100 students

were enrolled the first year and the present year

promises to surpass that number.

The students are graded in the three years of

preparatory and in the Freshman and Sopho-

more classes. The curriculum is high-grade in

the regular course, comparing favorably with

that of any college East or West. Music and

drawing are taught with enthusiasm. The col-

lege has a first-class set of models from Paris,

presented by R. A. Thomas of the First

National Bank.

In the fall of 1889 assistance was secured of

O. J. Stough, of San Diego, for the erection of

Stough Hall, a commodious building in which

all recitations and chapel exercises are held.

The building is part of the original plan of the

main college building and will be enlarged as

needed. There is now an elegant building for

a ladies' dormitory, secluded and with appoint-

ments unsurpassed in the State; a boys' dormi-

tory, and Stough Hall.

At several critical times in the financial

history of the college Rev. L. Groh, A. M., of

Pennsylvania, a man of large means and phil-

anthropic spirit, extended important aid to the

college, and at its last meeting was made a

member of the directorate.

The discipline of the school is thorough.

The military department is efficient and im-

parts system and thorough physical training.

The faculty is composed of:

Samuel Sprecher, D. D., LL. D. ; Rev. L.

Groh, A. M.; F. P. Davidson. A. M.; Harr

Wagner, A. M.; C. S. Sprecher, A. M.; E. R.

Wagner, Ph. D.; Lucie V. Woods, Laura G.

Riddell, Rawlins Cadwallader, A. M., I. H.

Hill, J. L. Maude.

In the month of November, 1889, arrange-

ments were made with Prof. O. R. Orcutt to

place the zoological and botanical collections of

the West Coast, Museum in Stough Hall. Thus

the students of natural history will have access

to a collection of nearly 200,000 specimens.

The first commencement of the college showed

unusual scientific and literary training and pop-

ularized the college with the people. There is

a juvenile department, under the efficient man-

agement of Mrs. Riddell. Students are received

at all stages of advancement, and while the col-

lege encourages the regular college course of

the high-grade curriculum, it receives those

who wish to pursue a partial or select course of

a few years. The boarding facilities are excellent.
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DISCOVERY AND EARLY EXPLORATIONS.

Very soon after the conquest of Mexico the

attention of Cortez was attracted by certain

stories told by some of the conquered tribes

regarding a mysterious but wonderful country,

lying far to the northwestward. This land they

called Cignatan, or The Realm of Women; and

they declared that it abounded in gold, in pearls,

rubies, garnets, turquoises, and many other

products, rich and precious. Marvelous things

were told also concerning the people, customs,

and appearance of that far country. About

the same time (1530) Nufio de Guzman, Presi-

dent in New Spain, was told by an Indian slave

of "The Seven Cities of Cibola," with their

reputed great population, their streets paved

with gold and silver, and their exceeding splen-

dor in general. The marvels and mysteries that

they had already witnessed in Mexico made cre-

dence of these tales easy for the Spaniards, who

readily conjectured that Ciguatan and Cibola

might be one and the same. As actuating mo-

tives for investigation, there was the potent

hope of the acquisition of treasure; the idea,

cherished by all the invading Spaniards, of dis-

covering a northern water-way from the Atlantic

to the Pacific; and the hope of exploring the

South Sea coasts and islands.

So Cortez the Conqueror fitted out vessels

that made three northward expeditions. The

first si 1533, discovered bay, probably

that of La Paz, on the eastern or gulf coast of

what is now Lower California. A second ex-

pedition sailed in 1534 and in 1535, which

Cortez accompanied, to make personal inspec-

tion. It is needless to say that the anticipations

were not fulfilled and that colonization lan-

guished.

In July, 1539, moved by the renewal of the

old marvelous stories, Cortez sent out Francisco

de Ulloa, with three small vessels. Ulloa

reached the head of the gulf now called Califor-

nia, and probably saw, from the mouth of the

Colorado, the shores of the territory which is

now " The Golden State." He also circumnavi-

gated the peninsula, and sailed up its west coast

as far as Cedros Island. It seems that in the

account of this voyage was first applied the name
" California," whose origin has caused much
discussion, which seems to have been pretty

conclusively settled by Mr. Edward Everett

Hale, who in 1862 discovered that the name was

of romantic origin, being that of the Amazon-
ish heroine of Ordonez de Montaloo's old ro-

mance, Sergos de Esplandian, which was very

popular at the period of the Conquest. This

term was first applied between 1535 and 1539,

to a particular spot or a locality, but it was soon

generalized, to designate the entire adjacent re-

gion ; and, as this territory was supposed to

consist of a group of islands, the plural form

was used—Las Californias, or Las Islas Califor-

nias— the, California Isles.

During July, August and September, 1542,



IIISiORT OF LOWEU CALIFORNIA.

Juan Rodriguez Cabrillo, a Portuguese navi-

gator in the Spanish service, followed the Pacific

coast northward to a spot which he called Puerto

deSan Miguel, latitude 34° 20' N.; this Ev-

ans, in 1879, identified with San Pedro, but

most historians maintain that it was San Diego.

Cabrillo died on the voyage from the result of

an accident, but the expedition was pushed as

far north as Cape Mendocino.

In 1597 Sebastian Vizcayno sailed from Aca-

pulco to re-explore and occupy for Spain the lslas

Californias. His expedition found good ports,

fruitful islands and rich pearl-beds, and he

achieved the notable exploit of founding a set-

tlementof Europeans at a point then named and

ever since called La Paz (Peace), from the pacific

character of the aborigines. This place was

presumably identical with Santa Cruz, the

pseudo- island where, in May, 1535, Cortez had

founded a colony. Like that earlier one, this

colony of Vizcaino was almost at once aban-

doned. A second expedition under "Vizcayno,

in 1602, advanced beyond Cape Mendocino. In

the years that followed, Tomas Cardova, in

1610; Francisco de Ortega, in 1632, and again

in 1636; Luu Cestin de Caflas in 1642; Porter

y Casanate in 1644; Bernal de Pinadero in

1667: Ysidro Otoudo (who founded at La Paz

a colony that endured about two years, and v\as

then abandoned) in 1683;—these were the chief

personages who sailed to the peninsula in the

seventeenth century. A number of lesser lights

appeared also, but theyT were very transient vis-

itors, being mainly adventurers attracted by the

fame of the pearl-beds.

In 1710 a vessel of Woodes Rogers' fleet

lay at La Paz to refit, having as sailing-master

the renowned Alexander Selkirk, original of

Robinson Crusoe, who had been rescued the

preceding year from Juan Fernandez Island.

THE JESUITS IN LA BAJA.

The first Jesuit priest to tread Lower Califor-

nia soil was Father Roqne de Vega, chaplain to

Francisco de Ortega, on that worthy's third

survey. Ortega, on this voyage, on January 14,

or 15, 1636, anchored his vessel of seventy tons'

burden in the lay called Playa Honda, eleven

miles south of La Paz. A terrible storm, last-

ing eleven days, wrecked the ship and drove it

ashore, the men escaping to the land on frag-

ments of the vessel. There drifted also— mirac-

ulously, thought the forlorn, castaway explorers

•—enough vessels of the church service to enable

Father Vega to say mass regularly. These

were the fir^t Christian ministrations in the

Californias. They were followed by the good

father's baptizing several dying natives at La

Paz, whither the party went, in a boat con-

structed from the fragments of the wreck.

The second Jesuit priest in California was

Father Jacinto Cortez, who in 1642 accompanied

Luis Cestin de Caflas to the country for which

his order was destined to do so much in the

future.

From the epoch of Cortez to that of Otondo

—1535 to 1683—so expensive and so fruitless

had been the many efforts to occupy the western

peninsula, that the government had determined

to equip no more such expeditions. Yet it

was most desirable, because of the important

geographical position of the territory, that it

should be under Spanish dominion. Therefore,

counting on the steadfastness of the missionary

spirit, the council convened to consider this ques-

tion, offered to the Company of Jesus a sub-

sidy of $40,000 per year as an inducement to

undertake the California mission. The order

declined the offer on the ground of unwilling-

ness to participate in the temporal concerns in-

volved in the enterprise.

Father Eusebio Kino (also written Kiihn). one

of the priests who had accompanied Otondo on

the expedition that colonized La Paz in 1683,

had vowed his life to the work of sending mis-

sionaries to the Californias. Obtaining his

transfer to the Sonora missions, he met there

the Visitador, the devoted Father Juan Maria

Salvatierra, who became as great an enthusiast

as Kino, and thenceforth these two labored un-

ceasingly in behalf of California. In 1697

they were joined by Father Juan Ugarte, of the
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Jesuit College in Mexico, a man of strong

powers, natural and circumstantial, who soon

developed as much zeal as his coadjutors. After

a long period of seemingly hopeless efforts, the

cause began to gain ground. Contributions of

money ranging from $2,000 to $20,000 began

to come in from chuich guilds, and from indi-

viduals, thus beginning the famous " Pious Fund

of the Califoruias." Pressure was produced to

annul the royal cedula forbidding expeditions

to California, and on February 5, 1697, the

vice-regal license was given. It authorized Sal-

vatierra and Kino to undertake the conversion

of the Californians, to enlist and pay soldiers

for the enterprise, to appoint or remove officials,

in short, to direct and dispose entirely in the

matter, on two conditions,—that all should

be done at their own expense, and that pos-

session should be taken of the countries to

be subjugated, in the name of the King of

Spain.

It must be admitted by an impartial reader,

without regard to race or religious prejudice,

that these Jesuit fathers were impelled by the

purest of motives, with great generosity and sin-

gleness of purpose, in this undertaking. They

went at their own risk and at their own cost.

The experiences of previous movers in the same

direction had declared the country to be unat-

tractive, indeed, repellant, and without element*

of riches; and that its conquest was dangerous,

and doubtful of achievement. It must be re-

membered, also, that during their sway, the

missionaries sternly forbade the fomenting of

the resources of the pearl-fisheries, by whose

rich potency they might have mitigated the

asperity of their conflict, while the opposition

they offered to working the pearl-beds gave rise

to many of the most serious obstacles they en-

countered. It has been the fashion of many
writers to asperse the motives of these devoted

men, and that is obviously an injustice.

After many wearisome preliminaries and

vexatious delays, Salvatierra landed on the pen-

insula, on October 16, 1697, with a strangely

assorted escort of six soldiers, comprising a

Spaniard, a Portuguese, a Mexican creole, a

Maltese, a Sicilian and a Peruvian mulatto.

On October 25, in a tent that had been pre-

pared as a church, with a cross set up, and the

venerated image of Our Lady of Loreto, mass

was said, and formal possession taken of the

country in the name of the King of Spain.

This, the first mission founded in California,

was called Loreto Concho, for the patroness

whose image they honored on their altar, and

from the native name of the site.

The history of the missions from this time

on reads like a romance. The natives at first

were friendly, and rendered willing services in

return for slight rations of grain and porridge.

Later they became refractory, began to steal

from the strangers, and then went on to per-

sonal attacks, often repeated, of murderous in-

tent. Unexpected rains, in a country they had

supposed rainless, damaged the stores. Their

own weapons of defense recoiled upon them;

for when they tired their pedrero (a swivel-gun)

to repel a ferocious attack of the Indians, it

burst and wounded several of the garrison. A
great obstacle, too, lay in the missionaries'

ignorance of the language of the natives, and

the misleading teachings of it by the Califor-

nienses, through a mischievous enjoyment of

the strangers' blunders. The crews of the sup-

ply ships took the pearl-fishing fever, which

pursuit the Fathers deemed the most dangerous

of all the evils menacing their work. Still they

persisted, bravely combating every obstacle, and

strong in their faith, stimulated by various nota-

ble coincidences that they regarded as miracu-

lous intervention in answer to their prayers.

In March, 1699, encouraged by more favor-

able conditions, they set abo.it extending their

enterprise, and on November 1 of that year

they founded San Xavier, second of the Califor-

nia missions.

The last year of the century, the third of this

work, was full of trouble for the Jesuit fathers.

The loss of a ship, the deaths of friends and

supporters, laymen and priests, lack of re-

sources, indifference in Mexico and Spain to
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the needs of the colony, and the opposition of

the local military power, all led to great dis-

tress, material and spiritual, which was some-

what mitigated by the arrival, early in 1771, of

Father Ugarte, a man of power in every sense.

Strong, intellectual, magnetic, practical, a

churchman militant, his presence ever inspired

the devoted little band with fresh courage in

periods of depression, even when, more than

once, the padres and their companions were re-

duced to subsisting, like the savages, upon wild

berries, roots, and pitahayas— the friut of a

species of cactus— and when attacks from the

natives and insubordination among the soldiery

were like to drive them desperate.

In 1705-'06 the missions San Juan Bautista

and Santa Rosalia were founded, and in 1708

that qf San Jose. The year 1709 was full of

disaster, what with the loss of another ship, and

the ravages of small-pox and other diseases.

All this time Father Salvatierra, in his various

offices, had never ceased to labor valiantly for

these missions; but on July 17, 1717, that

good, true, disinteresttd priest died in Guada-

laxara.

In 1718 was founded the mission of La Puris-

ima Concepcion, which later became one of the

best on the peninsula. In 1719 was launched

the first ship built on the shores of California.

El Triunfo de la Cruz (The Triumph of the

Cross) was constructed through the determina-

tion of Father Ugarte, bent on executing Sal-

vatierra's fond plan of gulf exploration. Sail-

ing in this vessel, in November, 1720, Ugarte

and Bravo, being joined by a land party,

founded the mission Nuestra Sefiora del Filar

de la Paz, on the spot still known as La Paz.

In 1721 Father Helen founded the mission

Nuestra Senora de Guadalupe.

In May, 1721, Ugarte sailed in the Triunfo

on a four months' exploring tour up the gulf;

the journey was hard and perilous, but it sup-

plied much geographical data, and proved con-

clusively that California was not an island, but

a peninsula. From this on explorations were

made as often as possible.

In 1721 was established mission Nuestra

Senora de los Dolores, and in 1723 that ot San-

tiago. In 1730 was founded near Cape San

Lucas the mission San Jose" del Cabo, and that

same year witnessed the death of Father Ugarte,

after thirty years' work in California. In 1733

was founded the mission Santa Rosa. This

year, and again in 1734, there were outbreaks

of the Indians, who murdered several of the

friars. Troops were brought from the mainland

to reduce the rebels of this province, now be-

came a valuable possession, and thus the revolt

led to the increase of the local presidial force.

Intermittent troubles with the natives, and

promises, made only to be broken, of Govern-

ment support to the missions, occupy the record

up to 1746, after which there is a blank of

twenty years.

By the year 1750 the missions of La Baja

were producing grain, fruit, livestock and other

staples, almost sufficient for their own consump-

tion, and were no longer in straits of necessity.

The policy followed was also modified. Trade

was measurably encouraged, and pearl-fishing

was not discountenanced. All was not, how-

ever, plain sailing for the Fathers. Much dis-

content was expressed against them. They were

accused of concealing, through self-interest, re-

sources of great richness alleged to exist in the

country, and that they engaged in smuggling

was more than hinted. From 1751 to 1766

Fathers Consag and Link made some not very

important explorations. It would seem, how-

ever, that their successors were wanting in the

spirit of enterprise and disinterestedness that

had marked the original founders of the mis-,

sions.

The situation became most unpleasant; it

was, no doubt, the strength of the opposition

to them that led the Provincial of the Jesuits

to offer formally to give up all the missions of

the society, including those of California.

There is also little doubt that the conditions

on the peninsula had some influence in the

expulsion, in 1767, of the Jesuits from all

Spanish possessions.
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In November of that year, Don Gaspar do

Poi-tola" landed near San Jose, charged with the

governorship of California and the expulsion of

the missionaries. Tue fathers seem to have

borne themselves through these trying circum-

stances with co npos ire and dignity; and the

scene at their departnre was most affecting.

Their disciples, ungrateful and savage as they

had shown themselves in the past, were contrite

and full of s >rrow at this juncture; and they

followed their pastors up to the last moment,

with bitter lamentations. It is said that even

the governor shed tears as the parting exiles

6tarted on their via dolorosa.

THE FRANCISCAN AND THE DOMINICAN OCCUPA-

TION OF LOWER CALIFORNIA, AND MEXICAN
INDEPENDENT RULE.

After 1767 the Spanish Viceroy gave the ad-

ministration of the government in La Baja to

the commandanteof the presidio troops, who ac-

quired the title of governor. The capital was at

Loreto, commonly called Presidio de Californias.

In June, 1767, when the Jesuits were expelled

from Mexico, the charge of the California mis-

sions was offered to the Franciscan College of

San Fernando, in the Mexican capital; and, the

proffer being accepted, seven friars from the es-

tablishment set forth for the peninsula, to be

joined by five from the Sierra Gordo missions.

Their progress was delayed, first, by contrary

6eas and then by counter orders; at last they

reached Loreto on April 1st, and, after receiv-

ing their instructions—which were not a little

disappointing, as they were intrusted with only

spiritual interests, and no temporal powers

—

they separated on the 8th, to distribute them-

selves among their respective missions. This

loss of power so weakened the influence and

abilities of the padres, that the system of mis-

sions bade fair to become extinct. Don Jose

de Galvez, on his round xs visitador, came in-

vested with full discretionary powers in matters

secular and ecclesiastical; and, seeing the evils

of prevailing conditions, he demanded a render-

ing of accounts from the secular officials, re-

stored much power to the fathers, reformed the

faulty division of mission lands, organized col-

onization regulations, and instituted progressive

movements in mining, agricultural and judicial

matters. Here was a gentleman full of gener-

ous, philanthropic projects for the good of the

settlers, yet loyal and careful of his sovereign's

interests. Enthusiastic, too, was he for the

northward extension of Spanish dominion; and

he organized four expeditions, two by land, and

two by water, to prosecute explorations in that

direction. These started in the spring of 1769,

and more will be said of them hereafter. With
this expedition went Father Junipero Serra, his

place as president in the peninsula being taken

by Father Francisco Palou. Galvez now intro-

duced many reforms in Cailifornia, and project-

ed many others, including the restoration of the

population and prosperity of Loreto, agricul-

tural and industrial training for the country's

youth, and many other laudable features. Leav-

ing instructions to these effects, he sailed for

the mainland. May, 1769, marks the first visit,

probably, of a scientific commission to Califor-

nia: a party, French and Spanish, under M.
Chappe d'Auteroclie, arrived at San Jose del

Cabo, to observe the transit of Venus. Scarcely

were their ob.-ervations completed, when they

were attacked by a malignant fever, from which

perished several members, including the leader.

This pestilence was succeeded by three others,

which caused great ravages at all the missions,

and badly demoralized the people.

For 6ome years the peninsula was now a scene

of constant contest between the friars and the

secular rulers. Matias de Arinona, who was in

office hardly five months, seems to have found

favor with the fathers, and to have merited their

confidence. But the administrations of the

others, particularly of Felipe Barri, would seem

to have been a perpetual chain of petty intrigues,

encroachments, jealousies, and harassing abuses

of office. These conditions led to a petition

from the Franciscans that their responsibility

in the missions might be transferred to some

other order. For some years there was much
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discussion of the question of ceding a part of

the missions to the Dominicans, who, since

1768, had been endeavoring to extend their field

to California. Prior to the fitting out by Galvez

of expeditions to San Diego and Monterey, the

Dominican father Juan Iriarte had sought license

to establish missions between latitudes 25° and

28° on the west coast, but the application had

been disallowed. Persisting, Iriarte the next

year endeavored to obtain control of the north-

ern districts of the peninsula, as well as some in

the north of Sonora. Thus was the way paved

for a cession of a part of the missions, and, in

a conference between the Franciscan guardian,

Rafael Verger, and the Dominican vicar-general,

Iriarte, it was settled that the Dominicans should

have the entire peninsula, and its old missions,

up to a pointjust below San Diego, with the right

to extend their field eastward and northeastward

beyond the gulf's head ; while to the Franciscans

should appertain the missions above San Diego

and unlimited territory for the extension of

their establishments north and northwestward.

The Franciscans received with delight the

news of this decision, in August, 1772; a num-

ber of them departed in that same year for the

northward. The rest were not to escape so

easily from the persecutions of Barri the pug-

nacious. In an evil hour came the "'eply to

Palou's letters of complaint to the viceroy; and

the partial justification of the father mightily

incensed the governor. He stirred up anger

among the Indians against the Franciscans; he

accused the priests of having plundered the

missions—a charge refuted positively by the

careful taking of accounts on which they in-

sisted. Still, they were delayed by the same

policy of accusation, and by injunctions against

removing certain properties, church ornaments,

etc., which they had been authorized to carry

to the northern missions; and, although the

vice-regal power was invoked, and its interven-

tion secured, not until late in 1775 were the

last of the Franciscans enabled to leave San

Fernando Velicata, and the Dominicans re-

mained in full possession of the peninsula.

By this time, the continual complaints against

Barri had taken effect, and in 1774 he was suc-

ceeded by P'elipe de Neve, the terms of the

decree implying strong disapproval of Barri's

course. Certain provisions were made to pre-

vent, if possible, farther conflict between the

ecclesiastics and the military, the duties of the

respective branches being clearly defined so as

not to encroach upon each other.

The garrison at Loreto was allowed thirty-

seven soldiers, which implied a cost of $12,450

per year. Neve soon found this force insuf-

ficient. He also expressed dissatisfaction with

the conditions of revenue, and the administra-

tion of the friars. In short, he favored secular-

ization. In 1775 this governor >vas ordered to

remove his residence to Monterey, which then

became the capital of the two Californias.

The Dominicans, at first very zealous, became

discouraged and indifferent, owing to the re-

fractory character of the natives, and the obsta-

cles opposed by their surroundings. JSot only

were the visits of supply vessels from Mexican

ports few and far between, but the inhabitants

were forbidden to mitigate their discomforts by

trade with foreign vessels. These foreign ships

soon resorted to independent hunting of the sea

otter in Lower California!) waters. From this

measure there shortly resulted a considerable

contraband trade with the people, which cer-

tainly proved of great benefit to them.

The year 1804 witnessed the decree sepa-

rating La Baja from Alta California, and there-

after the neglect of the peninsula grew much

more marked. During the long strife for Mex-

ican independence from 1810 to 1820, the very

isolation which in some respects weighed so

heavily upon the peninsula, served as a pro-

tection against the horrors of warfare, although

hostile ships made at least one incursion, sack-

ing the mission at San Jose del Cabo. Great

things were hoped from the early progressive

measures taken by Echeandia, appointed to the

civil and military command of the two Califor-

nias, under the Mexican government, which

administration went into power in 1821, its
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commissioners arriving in La Baja the next

year; these expectations, however, proved de-

lusive.

THE WAR OF 1846.

After the downfall of the federal system in

Mexico, the peninsula was again placed in the

same department as Alta California, and its in-

habitants were invited to support the American

cause in the war between the United States and

Mexico, on the understanding that the former

country would keep possession of this province,

and protect its citizens. But not until after

completing the conquest of the northern division

did the American warships appear in those

waters with intent to extend American dominion

thither. This was in the autumn of 1846.

Some effort was made at defense by the Bajefios,

but various ports surrendered. After the sub-

mission of La Paz on April 13, 1847, the country

seemed peaceful enough, and the Americans

left but a small force in charge. To remedy this

oversight, the authorities in Alta California de-

spatched two companies of the New York vol-

unteers under Colonel Burton, who found open

and declared resistance at San Antonio, Muleje,

Loreto, and elsewhere. Revolts at San Jose and

Todos Santos, and the general tone of disaffec-

tion, led to the fortification and the placing

under martial law, of La Paz. On November

16, 1847, a force of 600 or 700 Californians,

under Captain Manuel Pineda, attacked this

port, which they might have captured, had they

exercised correct military tactics. A bitter con-

test was waged between the two forces until the

28th, and then, after a few days of inactivity,

Pineda drew back toward San Jose\ where also

a small detachment of Americans was besieged

by a vastly superior force of Californians. This

siege was raised, only after considerable suffer-

ing, by the arrival and determined advance for

rescue of the Cyane under Dupont. The volun-

teers continued to garrison the peninsula until

it was restored to Mexico by the treaty of Guad-

alupe Hidalgo on February 2, 1848. In those

days, the Mexicans seemed more indifferent than

now about the possession of the peninsula thus

inconsistently given over by the United States,

in violation of all promises made to its citizens.

WALKER IN LA BAJA.

Willliam Walker, a Scotch-American, 29

years old, of strong personal characteristics and

adventurous nature, after a varied career, con-

ceived, about 1853, the idea of forming inde-

pendent republics in certain districts of Mexico,

the remoteness and sparse settlement of whose

districts made the plan seem feasible. He was

impelled, no doubt, largely by an emulative

spirit of jealousy toward the dashing French

Count, Rioul liaousaet, whose operations in

northwestern Mexico had a somewhat similar

purpose.

This Walker, of unbounded and misdirected

ambition, balked in his first tentative efforts to

further his project by deception and cajolery of

the Mexican government, renewed the enter-

prise in San Francisco, where, cloaking his

scheme under the guise of humanity and patri-

otism, he readily enlisted a little army of hardy

and reckless men, mostly of the adventurer

type. Escaping by a ruse from the attempted

interference of Hitchcock, then military com-

mander, on October 15, 1853, Walker, on board

the Caroline, with a large number of armed

met), and a nepotic staff of secretaries, etc., for

a cabinet, sailed from San Francisco, and on

November 3 landed at La Paz, where he cap-

tured the chief government representatives,

seized upon the archives, and, after several

skirmishes of little importance, hauled down
the Mexican flag and substituted his own, de-

claring La Baja a new republic, proclaiming

himself president, and appointing his "staff

officers" to their respective positions. On Jan-

uary 18, 1854, this organization was remodeled,

Lower California and Sonora being declared one

government, and called the Republic of Sonora.

Walker shortly rejoined his confederate, Wat-

kins, who had clandestinely left San Francisco

with some 100 more armed men, and he now
issued his orders and decrees broadcast, written

in true filibustering style, and dated now from



HISTORY OF LOWER CALIFORNIA.

Santo Tomas, now Tia Juana, La Gornlla, La

Ensenada, or San Vicente. He met, however,

considerable opposition from the Lower Califor-

uians; and the Commandant Melendez with his

soldiers particularly hard-pressed the audacious

invader on his return to Santo Tomas, after

heading an expedition to the Colorado to cap-

ture Sonora. This expedition resulted very

disastrously to the command, and so to Walk-

er's prospects. He therefore made haste to

" evacuate Lower California," and to retire

across the border, where Major McKinstry and

Captain Burton, United States military officers

stationed at San Diego, received his surrender

and parole, on May 6, 1854. The invasion was

ended by the dispersion of the band at San Diego.

Walker reported for trial to Gentral Wool at

San Francisco, but the arraignment of himself

and his officers came to naught, as nothing wa6

proved against them. Walker devoted himself

to journalism until the Nicaragua scheme, a

year or two later.

AMERICAN IMMIGRATION. ANNALS FROM 1854 TO

1889, AND ATTEMFrEU AMERICAN
COLONIZATION.

Many of the soldiers who shared in the

invasion of 1847-'48, retained such agreeable

impressions of the peninsula that they afterward

returned thither to settle as farmers, miners, or

traders. There was, moreover, a profound con-

viction that La Baja must speedily belong to

the United States, and here, as ever, speculation

was eager to share in the prize. Upon those

parties seeking to obtain land grants, the gov-

ernment imposed the condition of founding

colonies, realizing that upon foreign immigra-

tion mainly must depend the development of

the country's natural resources. On the other

hand, the inhabitants looked not kindly upon

foreigners, nor did the authorities, having jeal-

ous suspicions that the United States had de-

signs as to the acquisition of the territory.

In 1855 the Dominicans abandoned the secu-

larized missions. In 1862 began the war of

French intervention, and, while there was some

blight local agitation, the remoteness of La

Baja once more shielded the country from the

customary devastations of war time.

With the entry of troops from the mainland

peace was secured, industries revived, agricult-

ure flourished, mines vere opened, steamers

were induced to touch monthly at La Paz and

San Jose del Cabo, and there were two very

prosperous years. The winter of 186B-'64

brought a drouth so severe as to cause great de-

struction of crops and live-stock. At the same

time, the mining industry also declined, owing

to the usual feature, lack of capital for sustained

effort, most of the miners who had rushed to

the fields having been actuated by the intent to

speculate, rather than to develop their claims.

Since 1863 a regular monthly line of steam-

ers has plied between San Francisco and the

Mexican Pacific ports as far as San Bias, touch-

ing at La Paz and San Jose del Cabo, and thus

bringing Lower California into communication

with the outside world.

In 1864 an important grant was made to the

Lower California Colonization and Mining Com-
pany, the concession embracing the immense

tract lying between 24° 20' and 31°, nearly

47,000 square miles. The conditions were that

one-fourth of the land should be reserved for

Mexicans; that at least 200 families should

be introduced within five years, and that $100,-

000 should be paid to the Juarist government

for the land to be occupied. It appeared

difficult to fulfill the contract from California,

and it was transferred, in 1866, to Eastern cap-

italists. Their experts reported unfavorably as

to soil and water, but the shareholders, securing

an extension of time, set about recouping their

investment. An advance party was sent to clear

land, build roads and sink wells, and 300 people

were sent out from New York under contract to

colonize, and to gather the parasite orchilla.

The artesian wells proved a failure; there was

insufficient food, poor water, and little or no

bhelier; the heat was torrid, and the surround-

ings desert, like and forbidding. All these ele-

ments of misery struck terror to the hearts of

the Magdalena Bay colonists, and most of them
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abandoned the field, an 1 male their way as best

they could to California, while others struggled

across the country to La Paz. The government

annulled the grant, and the over-zealous officials

of La Paz made a too hasty descent upon the

company's agent, dispossessing him and the re-

maining handful of the colonists. The disap-

pointed company was only too ready to enter upon

this pretext a $10,000,000 claim against Mex-

ico, whose government compromised by con-

ceding the privilege of gathering orchilla free

for six years.

In the twenty years since then there have

been organized several colonization enterprises,

of which the principal were as follows: The

Peninsula Plantation and Homestead Associa-

tion, which obtained a large, fertile tract along

the Muleje Bay, offering to actual settlers 30,-

000 shares at $16, in 1870; the Gulf of Cali-

fornia Commercial Company, a second Muleje

colony association, formed at San Francisco in

1871; the Colorado Hemp Company, which in

1874 sent down a party to cultivate hemp with

the aid of the Indians; the Gnaymas and Mu-
leje Trust Company, formed at San Francisco

in 1880, to plant sugar-cane, for which 36,000

hectares were granted to Keely & Co. These

and a number of minor projects bring the

record down to the period since Mexico'6 coloni-

zation act of December 15, 1883, which invites

citizens of friendly nations to settle in Mexico

and share in the advantages of its rich re-

sources. The Government has also offered to

colonizing companies certain subsidies, mostly

taking the form of large land grants, accom-

panied with exemptions, to induce the immi-

gration of a desirable class of foreigners. The

law in question also provides liberally for the

partition and distribution of the public lands.

In view of these favorable conditions, the In-

ternational Company of Mexico has acquired a

complete and perfect title to 18,000,000 acres

of land in Lower California, all of which ha6

been duly surveyed by the company, for which

service it obtained without further cost one-

third of the tract, the remaining two-thirds

having been acquired by purchase. The Inter-

national Company's territory begins at the na-

tional boundary, fifteen miles south of San

Diego, and extends southward for 300 miles,

covering the entire region between the Pacific

Ocean and the Gulf of California. The average

breadth of the district is 100 miles.

These lands were acquired as follows: Three

contracts with the Mexican government, in the

form of concessions, were> with the consent and

approval of said government, transferred to the

International Company by the respective conces-

sionaires, T. Garcia, A. Biille, Louis Huller, et

ul. I>y these transfers the immense domains of

these parties in Lower California were acquired

by the corporation, duly incorporated under the

laws of Connecticut, April 3, 1883, with the

name of "The International Company of Mex-

ico," and with a capital of $500,000 actually

paid in. To this company the Mexican govern-

ment, on July 21, 1884, made a concession be-

stowing ample powers, under which the company

is now acting. Under the terms of the contract

the company is bound to settle a given number

of colonies within a determined period, and

seventy per cent, of the settlers may be foreign-

ers. The Mexican government is under no ob-

ligation to forward the enterprise by subsidies

or privileges other than those already cited.

Money expenditures must be met by the com-

pany or by the settlers. The company has been

offering its lands to the public, either for cash

or on time. The town of Ensenada is to be the

base of operations, and the headquarters of the

peninsular railways and of the steamship lines.

One railway is projected from San Diego to

Ensenada and San Quintin, and another to San

Jose de Guatemala. A telegraph line has been

built between San Diego and Ensenada, in

which city extensive irrigation works have been

begun, a fine hotel built, and other preparations

made for the expected large immigration.

Owing to some errors of administration, the

company was for a time placed in a false posi-

tion, involving temporary difficulties. There

has been made recently a change of manage-
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ment, by which the affairs of the company rest

in the hands of experienced parties, backed by

ample capital, who are rapidly adjusting their

concerns upon a safe and satisfactory plan. The

company's resident manager or agent is Captain

B. Scott (of the Royal Engineers), Ensenada,

Lower California.

There are in La Baja various Americans out-

side of those introduced by the companies, who

have acquired individual possessions ot land,

which they find worthy of enthusiastic praise,

and of whose future profits they have great ex-

pectations.

There is, moreover, another colonization pro

ject in contemplation, the colony to be estab-

lished on land controlled by General Eli H.

Murray, ex-Governor of Utah. This land,

which is known as Palm valley, lies near the

northern frontier line, inland, but a few miles

from San Diego County.

TOPOGRAPHY, CLIMATE, AND RESOURCES OF LA
BAJA. THE MINES.

The southern extremity of La Baja, Cape

San Lucas, is in a little below 23° north lati-

tude. The ocean coast thence ha6 a general

northwest direction for some 700 miles to a

parallel one marine league from the southern-

most point of San Diego Bay, where, near Tia

Juana, a marble monument was erected in 1850

by the boundary commissioners, to identify the

line defined by the treaty of 1848 with Mexico.

This monument is situated in a fraction over

32° 31' north latitude, and 117° 06' west of

Greenwich. The gulf shore of the peninsula

ends at least 100 miles farther south. The

section of the peninsula on the seacoast for

some fifty nautical leagues below the boundary,

is one of the finest districts in the world for

healthfulness, fertility, and delightful uniform-

ity of climate.

From the earliest settlement of the first mis-

sion near the Pacific coast in Lower California,

that portion of the coast has been noted for its

healthfulness and its equability of climate. No
other climate of the world, it is said, is more

beneficial than that of the region lying from ten

to thirty miles from the Pacific coa6t of this

peninsula, in bronchial and throat affections, or

catarrhal or pulmonary disease. Nearer the

ocean there is dampne.-s, and occasional fogs,

hurtful to such cases. The climate of La Baja

is modified by its distance from, or its nearness

to the Pacific ocean or the Gulf of California,

by its altitude above the sea-level, and by its

range of hills or mountains. In the ocean strip,

reaching some twenty miles back from the

shore, and ranging from San Diego southward,

the mercury seldom falls below 40°, or rises

above 80°, and the same weight of garments may
be worn with comfort the year round. A second

strip, embracing the same range, extending

from twenty to forty miles back from the coast,

varies from 30° in winter to 90° in summer,

although it feels but little frost or excess of heat,

except where modified by the altitude. A third

strip, joining this upon the east, and a little

wider than the other two, has thunder-storms

in summer, and ice and snow in winter. This

third strip is a mountain belt where grow many
kinds of trees, and which has an abundance of

water, supplied by nature, suitable for storage

and distribution to the lower-coast zones. A
fourth strip, between the last mentioned and

the gulf coast, is warm in winter and hot in

summer, being not unlike southern Arizona

This section is as yet but little known. At

present the two most western strips are most

sought; but hereafter the interior regions will

be sought for wood and timber, and for subter-

ranean mineral riches.

American surveyors estimate—as no accurate

survey has been made—that the peninsula con-

tains 200,000 square miles, or 128,000,000 acres

of land. The State of California contains some-

thing approximate to a territorial extent of

158,687 square miles, or 101,559,680 acres.

Oregon covers above 95,248 square miles; Ari-

zona, 126,147 square miles; from comparison

with these inajT be judged the area of Lower

California.

The peninsula of Lower Oailfornia may be
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divided geologically into three fairly well

marked districts. The first includes the high

mountainous portions between La Paz and Cape

San Lucas; the second extends to between San

Ignacio and Santa Gertrudes; the third includes

all that part lying north of Santa Gertrudes.

The lower portion is almost totally mountain-

ous, the sj^urs and chains varying much in

height, and being interspersed with countless

beautiful and fertile valleys, well watered.

Even those high up in the mountains are well

grassed, and surrounded by fine oak and pine

timber. The geology here is simple. The high

ridges are granitic, the rocks varying in struct-

ure from true granite to true syenite through

all intermediate gradations. Gold, silver, and

copper have long been known to exist in this

district.

The peninsula is said to excel even the State

of California in the extent of its fossil remains,

including shells, fish, and mammals. Above

Muleje, argentiferous galenas are common, and

near the volcanic vicinities, close to the same old

mission, pure sulphur occurs in heavy deposits.

Copper ores abound in various districts, and

various copper mines have been worked for

many years.

It is said that quicksilver ores exist near

Santa CatalinaMission. The ocean coast salinas

from San Quintin to Magdalena are numerous

and plentiful, and the salt is easily gathered.

The salt-mines of Carmen island are said to be

extensive enough to supply the whole world.

Much has been exported, and it is found to be

dry, pure, and of prime quality. Before 1750

the King of Spain had declined the offer of the

Jesuits to take upon themselves the entire sup-

port of the California missions, in exchange for

the grant of this salt mine. It has in turu

afforded considerable revenue to the Mexican

government.

An excellent grade of marble has been found

near La Paz and Loreto, also gypsum, or sul-

phate of lime, in large slabs, transparent enough

to serve as window-lights. Deposits of tequls-

quite (impure carbonate of soda) exist in vari-

ous parts. Fine varieties of building-stone are

abundant and accessible.

The existence of gold in the northeastern

irt of La Bi long: been known. Old

maps show the general location of gold-bearing

districts in that territory lying in a direct line

between San Diego and the mouth of the Col-

orado river, and due east of the Ensenada.

In 1870 gold placers were discovered in the

San Rafael valley, resulting in an excitement

which attracted many immigrants to La Baja,

and caused a regular stage-line to be run thither

from San Diego. It brought corresponding

disadvantages in the way of incentives to dep-

redations by Indians and bandits.

In "Peninsular California," Mr. Charles

Nordhoff wrote as follows: "There are at sev-

eral points on the peninsula considerable placer

and quartz deposits promising well, and there

have been lately discoveries of copper deposits

in the northern part, believed to be as rich as

those on the gulf coast. The color of gold can

be got in almost every gulch and ravine on the

peninsula; and when the mineral resources are

better known, it will probably be found that

the peninsula is but an extension of the great

Northern California gold-field."

Thus the history of the past, and the forecast

of the future, made by experienced intelligence,

had paved the way for an enthusiastic, not to

say freindly, eager reception of the announce-

ment made in the San Diego Sun of February

28, 1890, of the discovery of marvelously rich

gold fields in the Santa Clara district, some
sixty miles from La Ensenada de Todos Santos.

The first gold exhibited as found there was a

ten-ounce nugget, which was picked up by a

Mexican boy named Malendrez, searching for

strayed cattle. No 6ooner was the news given

to the outside world than it spread, or fairly

leaped, like an electric thrill, all over the conn-

try. From every quarter, and from great dis-

tances, came throngs stricken with mining-fever.

Those San Diego houses which dealt in articles

suitable for mining and camp life, and provisions,

6oon found depleted their stocks of those wares.
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The custom-house at Tia Juana assumed an

importance never enjoyed before in all its ex-

istence, and that at Ensenada also felt strongly

the impulse of the enormous immigration.

Men in all walks in life left their various avo-

cations to rush to the mines, and the district

was shortly crowded with merchants, miners,

ranchers, professional men and loafers, all eager

to wrest a sudden fortune from the placers. The

natural and inevitable results speedily ensued.

The journey and sojourn were full of great dis-

comforts; the territory was limited; supplies

were very dear, and scarce at any price; very

many people had started for the mines with very

little money, to arrive penniless, trusting to the

resources of the spot to rehabilitate their purses.

Then to crown all, the placers became exhausted.

All these difficulties and drawbacks did not fail

to produce a tremendous outcry of wrath and

disappointment and the malcontents inveighed

bitterly against the discoveries as fraudulent

or mythical—which they were not. Mean-

while, rich ledges of gold-quartz had been dis

covered, and men of means who had gone

thither to investigate the placers found other

sources of mining richness less immediate of

result, but more stable. Thus money wa6 in-

vested, mills and other improvements of ad-

vanced mining methods constructed, and there

has sprung up in the tnining district a flourish-

ing little town,—Alamo,—while work is steadily

advancing and the mining industry seems to be

here firmly established upon a solid basis.

These mines are situated in the Santa Clara

range of mountains, seventy miles northeast of

Ensenada, and 150 miles southeast of San Diego.

The mineral belt, as far as developed, extends

from two miles south of Camp Alamo, near the

ba6e of Tomasa mountain, ten miles northwest-

erly, by some two miles wide, several hundred

quartz locations having been made therein.

The general character of the country is mesa

land, over which wagons can be driven almost

at discretion, the surface covered with sage

brush, cedar, and juniper, with some manzaDita

and scrub-oak.

The country rock is generally granite and

porphyry. Large porphyry dikes stand out

boldly, being traceable for miles from north to

south. The quartz veins, also traceable for

long distances, run parallel to the dikes, their

strikes being iwrthwest and southeast, and the

dip being an average of seventy-five degrees to

the south. The average width is three to five

feet, with a maximum of seven feet. The veins

are sometimes encased wholly, in granite on

one side and porphyry on the other, being well

defined. The quartz is that known as " sugar

quartz," from its resemblance to loaf sugar,

and easily crushable " ribbon rock," mostly

free from base metals. The gold is generally

distributed in tine particles, much of the richest

ore showing no gold visible to the naked eye.

Several locations frequently are made on the

same vein, and on all such pay rock has been

discovered. This is important, as showing the

veins are continuous for a long distance, with

pay rock their entire length, which conditions

are unusual in other mineral-bearing regions.

The greatest depth as yet reached is forty-five

feet with short drifts toward either side to de-

termine the direction and the dip. At that

depth, most of the veins show increased strength,

in some cases widening to eight and nine feet,

and becoming more vertical, with perfect walls;

the enclosing rock indicates increased width of

veins at lower depth. In the majority of cases

more or less water is found at from fifteen to

forty feet deep, which usually indicates deep

fissures, or continuous veins to great depths.

For most of the mines pumping machinery

will be required before any great depth can be

reached*

The country snrrouuding the mines is better

watered than most other portions of the penin-

sula, the water being pure and cool. Among
the most important mines are the Elsinore,

Asbestos, El Paso, Ulises, Centipede, Telemaco,

Crandota, Graude, Encantada, Rattlesnake, St.

David, Montezuma, Princesa, Cocinero, Aurora,

Scorpion, Arabella, Lavina, Sunrise, and Rain-

bow. Some of the most important mining
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companies are the International, the El Paso,

the Independencia, and the Alamo.

On the eastern side of the peninsula are cop-

per mines so promising that the Rothschilds

have purchased them at high figures; and there

is recently reported the discovery of a new and

valuable mine of this metal at San Fernando,

on the west side of the mountain range. The

silver mines near San Antonio were worked in

1784, and by simple processes of working metal

was obtained that amounted to almost $1,000,-

000. Between 1861 and 1864 some twenty

companies were incorporated in San Francisco

to work the silver and copper mines, espe

cially those at Triunfo and San Antonio Real,

near La Paz. Much money was spent and in

three or four instances with successful pro-

gress.

There are said to be guano deposits of a quan-

tity and quality profitable to work on various

of the rocky headlands and islets of the upper

gulf sections, and companies have at different

times been formed for their working.

It is said that here exist two distinct species

of pearl oysters, with a possible third. They

are found between the Magdalena, southward

to and around the cape, and northward to above

the Guardian Angel island, covering over 1,000

miles of shore line. Ordinary pearls abound

every year, but very rare are those extraordi-

nary in size and color. A first class pearl from

these fisheries brings $5,000 to $6,000, or even

a higher figure. The most splendid pearls in

the Spanish regalia were taken from the gulf

of California before Napoleon's invasion, and

they had been in great demand in Spain. Since

the days of Cortez California pearls of good

quality have been in demand in Mexico and

Peru at profitable prices for the last 300 years.

Between 1700 and 1710 the king's share of all

the pearls taken in California amounted to

$12,000 annually. In 1857 there was obtained

$22,000 in pearls and $30,000 in pearl shells

The largest pearl taken from the district was

one discovered at La Paz in 1882, which weighed

seventy-five carats. A pear-shaped pearl found

several years since in the crust of a pearl-shell

oyster brought $150.

There is said to be an abundance of coral in

Magdalena Bay and the gulf waters.

In 1860-'62 Professor John Xantus, collect-

ing for the Smithsonian Institute, in the lower

portion alone of the peninsula, leaving unworked

two-thirds of its territory, gathered over 100,-

000 specimens of animals, plants and minerals,

of which 30,000 were fish, shells, sponges, etc.,

and over one-half of his species were new to

science.

The true tortoise shell turtle abounds on both

coasts, as well as all the known species of edible

turtles.

The indigenous quadrupeds, insects, birds

and reptiles of lower California are almost iden-

tical with those of Arizona, and that portion of

California lying south of Point Concepcion.

Nearly every species and variety of edible fish

found on the coasts of Europe, the West Indies,

Chili or Atlantic North America, are found in

lower California in abundance.

La Baja is by no means deficient in the ele-

ments needful for agricultural greatness. The
average yearly rainfall over the northern section

for the past teu years has been 22.69 inches.

Valleys of frequent occurrence in the northern

half of lower California are deep, and also by

the configuration of the mountains they are as-

sured a large amount of moisture. Springs are

by no means rare. The soil in the valleys is re-

ported as extremely fertile, and as admirably

adapted to fruits of all kinds, notably the grape.

In the valleys near Ensenada, grapes of all kinds

are raised without irrigation. On the mesas

more or less irrigation is requisite, except for

citrus fruits. Among the possible products are

corn, wheat, barley and all the other cereals, sug-

ar-cane, tobacco, cotton, apples, pears, grapes,

apricots, peaches, oranges, lemons, figs, pome-

granates, limes, bananas and pineapples, besides

other varieties of fruits, citrus and decidu-

ous, tropical and semi-tropical. The aim of

the concessionaires and of the colonists alike,

seems to be to repeat here the history of Alta
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California, in making agricultural, rather than

mining pursuits, the chief industry of La Baja

California. Careful surveys have been made

to determine the feasibility of bringing water

from the canons, and for the sinking of artesian

wells, to secure for agricultural purposes an

ample supply of water. As an illustration of

the resources of this section in the respect of

farming, it may be well to cite at least one in-

stance. A certain New Hampshire man who

had come to California nearly thirty years

since, going to Ensenada in 1887, has become

possessed of a ranch or farm, whose orange

trees planted from the seed nine years since are

in good bearing. So, also, bearing good fruit,

are his bananas, eight years old. Some of the

stalks of these trees have reached a diameter of

ten inches. One olive tree, nine years old,

yielded sixteen gallons of oil, which sold for an

average price of seventy-five cents per gallon.

A single grape vine, nine years old, produced

last season 900 pounds of grapes. During no

season within the past twelve years has there

failed to be an abundant grape crop. The
lemons, peaches and apricots on this possession

yield well, and the tig trees produce a great

weight of fruit.

All the republic of Mexico offers a great

market for the products of all manufacturing

industries established by American or European

enterprise, as the native industrial manufactures

are very crude and limited as well, and very

heavy duties are imposed on imports from the

United States and other countries. The penin-

sula might readily become a great manufactur-

ing district and source of supply for the whole

of Mexico, being, as it is, very accessible both

by sea and by rail, and becoming populated by

an influx of people more inclined to industrial

ventures than are those entering the more

southern States of the Republic. Late reports

announce the discovery of coal in paying quan-

tities, and the development of this most im-

portant mineral element would be a potent

factor in promoting the establishment of man-

ufacturing institutions. Coal in small veins

has long been known in lower California, both

on the coast and in the desert district. A good

coal mine would prove of more actual practical

worth than a rich gold mine.

Mineral springs, both warm and cold, of prop-

erties highly medicinal, are found in nearly

every district. On the gulf shore above San

Felipe de Jesus harbor are several boiling-hot

springs

As far back as 1857 La Baja exported, ac-

cording to Mexican official statistics, wine, salt,

cheese, sugar, dried meats, figs, raisins, dates,

oranges, salt fish, Brazil-wood, hides, gold,

silver and copper ores, gold and silver in mark

and ounces, pearls, mother-of-pearl, etc., amount-

ing in all to $155,000. The item of animal

oils to be derived from seal, sea-lion, sea-elephant,

whale, etc., is one of importance, as also that of

peltries.

The parasite plant, orchilla, used for dyeing

purposes, was first discovered on this peninsula,

by a Nantucket sailor. For seventy-five years

this industry has been increasing and it is now

conducted on a very extensive scale. The most

important field of gathering this valuable plant

is around Magdalena Bay, on the west coast.

It is marketed chiefly in Europe.

There are, in various portions of the penin-

sula, good timber regions, producing limited

quantities of red cedar, choice white oak, and

black, sugar and yellow (also known as " bull ")

pine. It is estimated that in the Tableta sec-

tion alone there is at least 400,000,000 feet of

lumber and timber, and active preparations are

in hand for the exploiting of this interest.

La Paz has one of the finest and safest har-

bors in the two Californias. This bay has been

known for 350 years to navigation and history,

and has been all the while celebrated for its rich

pearl fisheries, lrom which have come some of

the rarest gems in royal regalia. La Paz has

been since 1830 the capital of Lower California,

and the center of all local government opera-

tions. The Ensenada, or Bay, of Todos Santos,

is a fine harbor for vessels under 400 tons.

Directly ahead, as the vessel enters the Bay
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of All Saints, lies the town of Ensenada, where

the rocky shore meets the beach curving in

crescent shape around a reach of seventy-eight

miles, the land sloping upward to the moun-

tains, ten miles distant.

The personnel of the Mexican official corps of

Lower California is pleasing. These are mostly

men of enlightened and progressive ideas, en-

tirely in touch with the policy of developing

Mexico's great resources through the instru-

mentality of foreign capital and foreign immi-

gration. It is not probable that they, any more

than the mass of educated Mexican citizens,

would consent to the scheme of annexation; but

they thoroughly concur in the idea of mutual

assistance and support between the United

States and Mexico.

GENERAL HENRY 8. BURTON,

deceased, once a distinguished military man on

this coast, was born at West Point, May 9,

1819, when his father, Major Oliver Burton,

was stationed at that post. He received his

appointment as a cadet before he was quite six-

teen years old; would have entered the military

academy in January, 1835, but he lacked three

months of being sixteen years of age, so that

he was obliged to wait until the July term. He
graduated high in a class of very able cadets,

and had the opportunity offered him of going

into the engineer corps, but he preferred to

servo in "the line," and chose the artillery. On
his graduation he was immediately promoted to

the Second Lieutenancy in the third regiment

of artillery, and five months afterward, Novem-

ber 11, 1839, he was promoted to the First

Lieutenancy of the same. He served in the

Florida war, 1840-'42; was stationed at Fort

Moultrie, South Carolina, until 1843, and then

appointed instructor of artillery at "West Point.

In that capacity he served until 1846, when the

war with Mexico was declared, for service in

which he was commissioned Lieutenant-Colonel

of the First Regiment of New York Volun-

teers; but his command of that regiment was

equally divided with Colonel Stevens. Sailing

from New York harbor they arrived at Mon-
terey, in February, 1847. Colonel Burton was

placed in command of Santa Barbara, while

Colonel Stevens remained at Monterey. In a

few months, more troops having arrived in

Upper California, Burton was sent to take Low-
er California.

On his disembarking at La Paz, he was

sneered at by the natives for undertaking so

great a task with so few men. He laughingly

replied that he would try; but if they would

not let him he could not blame them, as they

had the right to resist him. He and his men,
while holding the post at that point, were

friendly to the citizens, and they were friendly

in return. After waiting in vain for the arrival

of arms from Sinaloa or Sonora, the Mexicans

concluded to make an effort to drive out the

Americans, without arms. Collecting together

all sorts of antiquated and useless material in

the shape of guns and other weapons and mili-

tary accoutrements, they "fell upon" La Paz.

A tremendous fusilade awoke the inhabitants

from their peaceful slumbers at midnight; the

querulous hectic bark of their lame little cannon

was heard three times above the rattle of the

musketry, but his own efforts threw him hors

de combat, for he had shaken off his broken

wheel and he lay there a disabled warrior with

one leg off! In ignominous helplessness he

was hitched to a mule and carried away in haste

before Burton's "gringos" might take a notion

to come out and carry it off, just for the fun of

it. But the "gringos" never moved, and as

they kept well hidden behind their parapet, the

Mexicans took courage to approach nearer, hid-

ing behind the houses in the vicinity of the

fortification. The night was so dark that

neither the attacking party nor the besieged

could see each other ten paces distant. After a

time the Mexicans bethought themselves that

they were wasting their precious ammunition

upon empty air, as the Americans' fort re-

mained silent; and daylight revealed to them

the folly of their making an attack with so few

weapons as they had. Retiring to the opposite
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mesa, they continued to annoy the Americans,

as much as they could, with their defective

arms, from day to day, obtaining provisions and

supplies from some obscure quarter.

Thus they continued their ineffectual hostili-

ties until one bright morning the United States

flag-ship Ohio, witli Admiral Shubrick on board,

and the war frigate Dale, sailed into the bay

of La Paz, which enabled Colonel Burton to

sally out and rout the Mexicans at Todos Santos.

Had the Mexicans known how few Americans

there were in the fort previous to this time, they

could easily have made mince-meat of them.

Shubrick published a proclamation to the

people of Lower California in the name of

the United States Government, informing

them that they should disperse and not bear

arms against the Americans, else they would be

severely punished at the conclusion of the war

which was nearly over. He also promised pro-

tection to the lives and property of the people

in that proclamation, and followed it with balls'

and receptions and other signs of a "good time

coming." The leading Mexicans were even glad

of the change, as they really had been suffering

a sort of slavery to the old government; but,

poor Mexicans! their happy dream was of short

duration, for the news was directly received

that a treaty of peace was proposed, ceding Up-

per California to the United States, but not

Lower California! They were nervously anx-

ious that Colonel Burton should, with the aid

of his Government, see that Shubrick's prom-

ises of taking Lower California under the pro-

tecting care of the United States,were made good,

for they had been openly advocating annexa-

tion to our Government, and now their very

lives were in peril; but Colonel Burton informed

them, and truly, that it was too late, as the final

treaty of peace would be signed before he could

communicate with the powers at Washington.

The Colonel's good nature was intensely af-

fected, and he proposed^as the best alternative,

to provide free transportation to all the Mexicans

of Lower California to Upper California, and

besides to pay them a certain compensation for

the property which they might be obliged to

abandon. This, of course, was accepted,

although a poor substitute for the brilliant

promisess of Admiral Shubrick's proclamation.

The war transport Lexington came to take the

self-exiled Californians who wished to flee from

the wrath to come, and with heavy hearts they

sailed from La Paz for Monterey, arriving Oc-

tober 4, 1848. Colonel Burton followed in the

flag- ship Ohio, and the frigate Dale brought

part of the troops. On arriving at, Monterey,

the Colonel with his regiment was mustered out

of the volunteer service, and he took command
of the post at Monterey as an officer in the reg-

ular army. He remained there until the winter

of 1852, when he was transferred to the post at

San Diego, With headquarters at the Mission;

and while here he commanded the Mojave expe-

dition of 1857. Soon afterward he was changed

to Fort Yuma, and in 1859 ordered East, having

been on the Pacific coast over twelve years.

While stationed at Monterey, Colonel Burton

was married to Miss Ruiz, a young lady whose

acquaintance he made at La Paz, and who is now

the widow, residing at San Diego. She is a

granddaughter of Don Jose
-

Manuel Ruiz, wlu

was the military governor of Lower California

for more than fifty years. He was ordered by

the Colonial Government of Spain to take com-

mand of the forces sent to the frontier to assist

in founding missions in Lower California. He
came from Loreto to the head of the gulf in

1780, with a large force, and landed on the So-

nora side of the Colorado river, thus having to

cross the river under a shower of arrows from

the Indians. He founded several missions on

the frontier of the peninsula and kept the wild

Indians in wholesome awe of him and his well-

disciplined soldiers. Entering the army at the

early age of fourteen years, and continuing in

active service until he was past seventy-five years

of age, his services to his country were more

extended than those of any other military man

in Mexican history. His government granted

him several tracts of land, among which was

the Ensenada de Todos Santos, on the north of
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the peninsula, and this is now the property of

Mrs. Burton. It lias been rendered famous by

its having been occupied by the International

Company lor the purpose ol colonizing the pe-

ninsula; but as the company took possession

without authority from her, she was obliged to

publish a warning that no one should buy her

lands from the company. This has put an end

to the operations of such company, and they

have sold out their interest to an English syndi-

cate. Now all the investors who bought land

from that company are patiently waiting for the

syndicate to settle with Mrs. Burton the question

of title and go on with the colonization.

Colonel Burton was stationed at Fortress

Monroe for a few monthe in 1859, after his

return East. Soon afterward the civil war broke

out, and General Scott selected him as one of the

most trustworthy officers of the army, and he

was placed in command of Alcatraz Island, in

San Francisco harbor, for two years; and in

1862 he returned East again and took command
of Fort Delaware, which was filled with pris-

oners. Thence he was ordered on detail service

to erect fortifications around Pittsburg, Penn-

, sylvania, from September, 1863, to January,

1864. Next he had command of an artillery

reserve in the llichmond campaign of the Army
of the Potomac; then of the artillery of the

Eighteenth Corps until 1865, being engaged in

the battles of Cold Harbor, Spottsylvania Court-

house, and at the bombardment of Petersburg,

for which service he was breveted Brigadier

General in March, 1865. While erecting the

works around Petersburg he contracted malarial

fever, which resulted fatally, April 4, 1869,when

he was but forty-nine years and ten months of

age; he was buried at West Point.
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GENERAL OUTLINE OF HISTORY.

'HE county of San Bernardino (Saint Ber-

nard) is the largest in California, embrac-

ing an area of 23,476 square miles, or 15,-

024,640 acres. It has no coastage, being thirty

miles from the Pacific ocean. It is 215 miles

wide by 150 miles from north to south. In all

this immense area there is embraced a vast deal

of diversified scenery, mountains, and rich plains

and valleys, with running streams of sparkling

mountain water; a belt of timber three miles long

by forty miles wide; the highest mountain peak

in Southern California, Grey Back, 11,600 feet

high, witli his perpetual snow-cap; an enor-

mously large and rich mineral region, and an

immense territory of the richest agricultural

lands in the universe. Comparatively 6peaking,

the natural resources and advantages of this

county have as yet hardly begun to be devel-

oped.

The original inhabitants of San Bernadino

County were Indians, mostly the Cahnillas

and Serranos.

In 1819 the gentiles of the rancheria Guach-

ama, also called, by the Spaniards, San Bernard-

ino, voluntarily asked for the introduction of

agriculture and stock-raising upon their fertile

territories, and some beginning was made. But

it would appear from the reports on the mis-

sions that no station was established here, nor

any buildings erected prior to 1822, although

the padres regarded these advances of the In-

dians as an important step in the direction of

subduing the tribes of the Colorado river.

Ultimately the mission of San Bernardino

was established at the place now called " Old
San Bernardino,"' or " Cottonwood Eow," as a

branch of the mission of San Gabriel. The
place selected for the necessary buildings was

in the southern portion of the valley, on the

last of the slopes by which the foothills descend

to the plains. The surrounding lands were un-

excelled in fertility. Here was constructed,

with the aid of the natives, who here as else-

where lent their labor, an adobe building some
240 x 80 feet of ground space, with walls a yard

thick, with floors of kiln-burnt brick, and roofs

thatched with tules. So substantial was this

structure that, after years of disuse and aban-

donment, it was still habitable,and was tenanted

for years by later settlers, and the lower por-

tions of its walls are still utilized as enclosures

for domestic animals.

Probably there was no other mission or de-

pendency of the missions of which so little

survives in the way of records as of this at San

Bernardino. Almost nothing in the way of

detail exists to commemorate the events of the

brief period of Franciscan rule in that fair

valley.

It is known that the native tribes proved rest-

ive under the control of the padres, and in

1832 they revolted, and destroyed the mission
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buildings. But others were then constructed,

stronger and better adapted for defensive pur-

poses, the ruins of which are still to be seen.

In this decade the mission was abandoned,

in consequence of the edict of secularization.

The great agricultural possibilities of this

district received practically no attention at this

period. Here, as elsewhere at the mission es-

tablishments, fruits and vegetables were culti-

vated in small quantities, for supplies for home

consumption; but the revenues of these estab-

lishments were derived from the produce of

live-stock, hides and tallow.

It is said that in San Bernardino valley there

were killed in 1830 no less than 4,000 cattle,

whose hides and tallow were conveyed to San

Gabriel Mission lor the purposes of trade.

PASTORAL.

Secularization, that practically razed the mis-

sions, was closely followed in San Bernardino

by an epoch of more speedy and more extensive

advancement, in the opening of the section to

general development. This period began with

the division of the country into large ranchos,

under the governorship of Juan B. Alvarado,

who very practically made to such as would

agree to occupy and settle their possessions in

so remote and Indian-infested a district, the

large grants of land necessary for the raising of

horses and cattle, then regarded as the only

available industry.

The first of these grants in point of time was

that of the Jurupa Rancho, lying along the

Santa Ana river, in the southwestern part of

San Bernardino valley. The extent of this grant

is variously stated at from teven to eleven

leagues, and its date at either September 28,

1838, or May 22, 1840; the earlier is probably

the correct date. "Jurupa" is said to have

been the first greeting of the old Indian chief-

tain to the Roman Catholic priest who first

appeared thereabouts, this word being said to

mean, in the native dialect, " Peace and Friend-

ship;" and "Jurupa" the place was called in

memory of that kindly greeting.

Juan A. Bandini took possession of his grant,

and stocked it with cattle and horses. But the

Indians proved very troublesome, and preyed

upon his stock. Therefore, about 1843 he

induced about twenty familiee from New Mex-

ico to settle on the northern end of his property,

and guard it against the incursions of the In-

dians, in consideration of receiving land on

which to build and till the soil. Many of tbese

families, among them the Trojillas, Moyas, Gar-

cias, Alvarados and others, are still represented

at Spanish Town and Agr.a Mansa. This was

the first settlement in the county. These set-

tlers were presently joined by other colonists,

among them the German, Louis Slover, from

whom was named the limestone ridge called

Slover mountain. From the 6mooth flow of

the Santa Ana and its tributary streams here-

abouts, this settlement was called '• Agua Man-

sa," literally Gentle Water, idiomatically Still

Water.

Don Juan Bandini sold a portion of the Ju-

rupa Rancho to Benito D. Wilson, May 6, 1843.

This lot, comprising one league and a half of

land, cost Wilson $1,000. The following year

he conveyed it to Captain James Johnson and

Colonel Isaac Williams, and they, in 1847,

sold it to Louis Rubideaux, it having been

known since as the Rubideaux rancho. Rubi-

deaux was a Frenchman, who came to California

by way of New Mexico, whither, after his pur-

chase of property, he returned, bringing back to

his rancho his family, a large stock of goods,

and about §30,000 in cat,h. During the war

with Mexico, he sided stanchly with the United

States, and was made prisoner and jailed with

Americans in Los Angeles. When the war

was over, Rubideaux devoted himself to improv-

ing his rancho, building walls and dwellings,

and planting orchards and vineyards. Before

the floods of 1861-'62, he had under fence,

15,000 acres. He died September 23, 1868.

In 1842, Alvarado, as Governor of California,

granted to Jose Maria Lugo, Jose del Carmen

Lugo, Vicente Lugo, and Diego Sepulveda, the

Rancho de San Bernandino, which gave its name
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to the county. The same year, Manuel Do-

minguez, First Judge of the Peace in the Dis-

trict of Los Angeles, formally installed these

parties in possession of the rancho. This grant

lay in the central part of the valley, and it was

thus the best watered portion. The grant con-

tained some nine square leagues, or 37,700

acres. Its boundaries were: on the east, the

" Sierra del Yucaipa;" on the west, the Arroyo

del Cajon; on the south, the "Lomerias," and

on the north, the " Faldos de la Sierra" (skirts

of the Sierra).

The Rancho Muscupiabe seems to have been

granted in April, 1843, to Michael White, by

Manuel Micheltorena, then Governor General

Comandante and Inspector of both Californias.

In 1845 was granted Santa Ana del Chino, and

an addition to that grant, as well as those of

San Jacinto, Sierra and San Gorgonio, were

made up to 1846.

John Brown, Jr., acting as court interpreter,

supplied the following bit of early history to

the Sau Bernardino Times, of January 22,

1876:

'• For some days past the District Court has

been engaged in hearing the case of Craig,

Cave et al. vs. Craft et aL, involving the right

to use the water of Old San Bernardino. A
number of early pioneers were heard in the

case. Among them were Daniel Sexton, whose

testimony dates as far back as 1842; James W.
Waters dates back as far as 1844; S. P. Waite

to 1849, and others of later times. Byron

Waters, attorney for the plaintiffs, has succeeded

in linding a still older witness, Don Francisco

Alvarado, who settled in the old adobe building

near Mr. Waters' new residence at Old San

Bernardino, in 1826, fifty years ago.

" Francisco Alvarado was duly sworn, and

testified in substance as follows: 'My name is

Francisco Alvarado. I live near Cornelius

Jasen's residence in Jurupa, San Bernardino

County. I was born in Los Angeles city, Janu-

ary 19, 1816, and am thus nearly sixty years of

age. When I was a boy not over ten years old,

my father moved from Los Angeles to the large

adobe that was situated just east of the spot

where Mr. Waters has recently built a resi-

dence, at Old San Bernardino. This was about

the year 1826.

'•'This large adobe building was occupied by

the Major-domo who was in charge of the In-

dians, and the east end of it served as a granary

for the vast quantity of wheat raised by the In-

dians. This building was not used as a church

for the mission, as some say, but was used, as I

have said, by the Major-domo.

"'These Indians were the Serranos and Cah-

uillas, and they numbered about 500. They

lived south of the old building a few hundred

yards, and cultivated the soil north and east.

My father was appoinled Major-domo, and they

referred all their disputes to him; they had no

chief then.

'"The zanja of Old San Bernardino furnished

water for these lands; it was made so as to pro-

vide water for cultivation. The zanja used to

break very often; during high water it always

broke, and the Indians would go up and repair

it. I remember going up with little Indians,

wading in the ditch, and hunting rabbits with

our bows and arrows. I was not over ten years

old. I grew up to manhood here around Old

San Bernardino.

'•'The whole country was covered over with

cattle as dense as sheep. At the base of the

mountains there were many bears; we used to

lasso them; we had tine horses. A number of

years afterwards a man named Manuel came

from Mexico, and began constructing, on the

hill near Dr. Barton's, the second house of

adobe in this part of the country. Before com-

pleting it the Indian war between the Serranos

and Cahuillas broke out, Manuel became fright-

ened, left the country, and did not complete the

building. In 1842 the rancho was granted to

the Lugos, and they finished the building and

lived in it. The roofs of this building fell in,

the mortar and tar being poor, but the north

roof was made good with clapboard.

"•When the Lugos came in 1842, houses of

adobe were built; one near where Mr. Conn



412 HISTORY OF SAN BERNARDINO COUNTY.

now lives, another on the banks of the Santa

Ana river, about four miles southwest of the

present town of San Bernardino, and another at

San Salvador; also the church about this time.

The ruins of these buildings can hardly be seen.

There was another adobe erected in Yucaipa, on

the hill near Mr. Standifer's. These were the

first houses in this valley. The long adobe for

the Major-domo was the first one. Mr. Waters

has leveled the old walls, so that I can hardly

tell this used to be my old home fifty years ago.

The old cottonwood trees are being cut down by

where the old zanja ran. When I first saw the

zanja, the older trees above Dr. Barton's were

large.'

"

Progress in the settlement of San Bernardino

was very slow during this the second period of

its history, which may fairly be called that of

Mexican occupation, extending from 1831 to

1851. Stock-raising, the only industry which

the residents co'.sidered worthy of them, was

not calculated to further the rapid development

of the country, and agriculture, while it was in-

deed advancing to some slight extent, was as

yet conducted on a very small scale. The Lugos

did cultivate some twenty acres on the liancho

San Bernardino, and the settlers at Agua Mansa

raised grain, fruits and vegetables enough for

their own needs. But no one so much as dreamed

of the production of these elements for profit.

The only settlers of Anglo-Saxon blood in

San Bernardino County, up to 1851, were the

few who had intermarried with the Mexicans,

and who were scattered far apart, occupying

some of the large rauchos.

In February, 1850, David Seeley, one of the

oldest citizens, arrived and camred on the San

Bernardino rancho. He had come in 1847 to

Salt Lake, whence, two years later, he came to

California. The only dwelling-house on the

rancho at that time was at Junior, where Jose

Maria Lugo lived; there was an old adobe

building on the lot now owned by Mrs. Wozen-

craft, but it had not been used as a dwelling for

some years past. The Lugos had about twenty

acres in cultivation at the Junior, and the rest

of their land they used as a cattle range, esti-

mating that they had some 8,000 head of horses

atid cattle.

INDIAN DEPREDATIONS.

Early in 1851 a party of Utes from Salt

Lake made a raid into the southern country, and

stole a number of horses, including 130 which

were the property of one of the Lugos, owners

of the San Bernardino Rancho. The Indians

were pursued by some twenty Californians, and

one of this party was killed during a volley of

rifle- balls fired by the marauders from an am-

buscade on the Mohave. The Californians, re-

turning through the Cajon Pass to camp at its

mouth, passed some men with a wagon, en-

camped on the farther side of the pass. The

next morning, when the rest of the party pro-

ceeded on to the rancho, four remained behind,

including two sops of that Lugo whose stock

had been stolen. The next parties traversing

the pass found the wagon and team of the

campers, with its two owners murdered. Sus-

picion fell on the four Californians who had re-

mained behind, and when they were arrested,

one of them confessed that they had returned

and murdered the two men to avenge the death

of their comrade, resultant, they believed, from

their movements based on false information

given by the campers regarding the course of

the Indians. The man who confessed was ad-

mitted as State's evidence, and the other three

were jailed, charged with murder.

In April, 1852, there came to Los Angeles

from the north one Irving, leading a band of

some thirty men, heavily armed, who professed

to be on the way to prospect in the section now
called Arizona. They were mostly of the ex-

convict class, and their misbehavior was out-

rageous. After remaining in Los Angeles about

a month, Irving proposed to Don Antonio Maria

Lugo, grandfather of the Lugos then in prison,

that he and his band would, for a consideration

of $5,000, deliver the young men from jail and

take them safely to Mexico. Lugo replied that

he would beguided by the advice of J. Lancaster

Brent (a prominent attorney of Los Angeles
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from 1851 to 1861), who had been retained to

defend the young men. Brent naturally con-

demned the undertaking. Before the day of

the trial the witnesses for the people were sent

to Sonora, where were taken their affidavits, in

which they swore fo facts establishing for the

accused an alibi. Upon these affidavits, appli-

cation was made to the distrir-t judge for the

release of the prisoners on bail. Irving swore

that if the judge should admit the Lngos to

bail, Irving and his band would take them to

the court-house and haug them. The day be-

fore the hearing of the case, a company of

United States dragoon sencamped on the bank

of the Los Angeles river, and the sheriff ap-

plied to the commanding officer of this detach-

ment for assistance in protecting the court.

The officer promised his support. When court

opened the following day the prisoners were

present with their bondsmen, and nlong one

side of the room were ranged Irving's men, all

heavily armed. Presently marched in a party

of dragoons, with carbines ready for action, who

placed themselves, facing the Irving party.

The bonds were approved and signed, and the

the judge ordered that the prisoners be released

on bail. The dragoons escorted them out of

the town in safety. Irving vowed vengeance on

the Lngos and the lawyer who had, as he con-

sidered, prevented him from getting $5,000.

About the last of May, he left Los Angeles on

the road to Sonora, in company with another

party of strangers, recently arrived, heavily

armed, but apparently honest prospectors, bound

for Arizona. Directly after these adventurers

left the town, it transpired that Irving's plan

was to go to Mexico, capture a silver train on

the road from Chihuahua to Mazatlan and with

the plunder thereof make his way across the

country to Texas. He also purposed to go to

the Rancho San Bernardino, on his way to

Mexico, drive off Lugo's saddle horses, and

seize the young Lugos, to hold them to ransom

in the sum of $10,000. His men proved re-

fractory on this plan, only sixteen of them

agreeing to accompany him, while the rest

went on with the other party. As soon as this

project became known in Los Angeles, a mes-

senger was despatched to warn the Lugos. On
May 30, Irving, with eleven others started from

the Laguna Rancho, across the plains towards

San Bernardino, expecting to reach the rancho

by nightfall, and thence proceed to Warner's by

way of San Jacinto. He was not acquainted

with the country, so that day only succeeded in

reaching the Jurnpa, eight miles from the San

Bernardino. Before the start, the next morn-

ing, Rubidoux, of the Jurnpa, had sent a mes-

senger to warn the Lugos. Thus Irving's party,

when they arrived at the house, found that the

family and the servants had departed, while the

horses were on the way toward the rodeo ground,

where there were some thirty vaqueros em-

ployed in branding cattle. Some time before

this, a company of rangers, commanded by

Lieutenant J. A. Bean, had been raised on the

warrant of an act of the Legislature, for the

defense of the frontier against Indian depre-

dations. They made their headquarters on

Lugo's rancho at San Bernardino, but it hap-

pened that they had gone on a scout that day

to the Mohave. Jose del Carmen Lugo was in

charge of the rancho. He sent one vaquero

riding post haste to inform Bean of Irving's

arrival, and another to Juan Antonio, chief of

the Cahuilla Indians, bidding him raise all the

Indians in the valley, and follow Irving's party

until overtaken by the rangers. Irving went

from the first ranch-house to old San Bernard-

ino, where his party broke open and looted the

dwelling. When they saw the Indians approach-

ing, they mounted, and proceeded toward San

Jacinto, but were soon overtaken by the Indians,

under one of Lugo's vaqueros, named Uribes.

Irving, who had been a cavalryman in the

Mexican war, had his men drilled like dragoons,

and as the Indians came up, his company

wheeled, formed in line, and charged in regular

cavalry form, firing their pistols as they came.

The Indians replied with a volley of arrows,

having no other weapons. This skirmishing

continued all day, as fresh bands of Indians
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presented themselves before Irving's men, no

matter which way they turned. No one was

hurt, from either party, until late in the after-

noon, when the Indians charged and came to

close quarters, and a brother of the chief was

mortally wounded by Irving. Finally the

Irving party took a wood road, leading back

toward the Laguna Ranch", but terminating in

a narrow ravine filled with underbrush, and

quite impassable for horses, it being on the west

side of Timoteo valley. Here the Indians, to

the number of about 100, surrounded Irving's

party, and shot down 11 of them, one while

concealing himself under a bush until night-

fall, when he escaped to the Laguna Rancho.

A member of the Sepulveda family (joint

owner with Lugo in Rancho San Bernardino),

saw this man, Evans by name, in hiding in the

bush, but felt compassion toward the solitary

survivor, and so rode on, and allowed him to

escape, pretending not to see him. This fugi-

tive took a mule he found hitched at the first

house on the San Bernardino Rancho, which

belonged to the posse of the Los Angeles sher-

iff, who had just arrived there in pursuit of

the marauders, and, mounting this mule, he

overtook the rest of the party w'ho had remained

on the Laguna Rancho, they having moved on

to San Felipe.

The officials proceeded to San Bernardino to

investigate the affairs and hold an inquest. The

testimony given before Coroner A. P. Hodges,

and County Attorney Benjamin Hayes, resulted

in a verdict that Edward Irving and ten other

white men, names unknown, came to their

deaths at the hands of the Cahnilla Indians, and

that the killing was justifiable. The Indians

had divided among themselves the spoil of

the dead men; but, out of the twelve horses and

saddles, nine were proved away by their right-

ful owners, from whom Irving and his party

had stolen them.

In September of that year, Evans, the sur-

vivor of the party, returned to Los Angeles, and

called on the editor of the Weekly Star, and

gave an account of the whole affair, which was

published at the time. He said that the party

went to the San Bernardino Rancho, designing

to drive off Lugo's horses, and they were pur-

sued as above stated. He said that soon after

entering the ravine where his companions were

killed, he slipped off his horse and crept away

among the bushes; he watched Sepulveda as

the latter rode toward his hiding place, and had

his pistol cocked ready to shoot the Mexican

down on the least sign of discovery; but Sepul-

veda rode on and thus both lives were saved.

A FIGHT WITH INDIANS.

By Stewart M. Wall, EBq., of San Bernardino.

In March, 1864, Mr. Binkley and myself,

with two pack horses, started for the Arizona gold

mines, crossing the Colorado desert and reach-

ing the river, a distance of some 200 miles, in

nine days. Hearing of the Indian outbreak in

the territory, we decided it best to remain at

Bradshaw's Ferry, near La Paz, for a time, until

we thought it safe to venture farther, to work the

placer claim located by Bradshaw and Binkley

in 1863, some forty miles east of Walnut Grove,

and which was then considered, as it afterward

proved to be, a very rich mine. While stopping

at Bradshaw's Ferry, some three weeks, we en-

joyed ourselves by hunting deer, fishing and

prospecting. Finding three gentlemen who

wished to join us, we started for Bradshaw's

Canon, traveling up the Colorado river sixty or

seventy miles, then leaving the river we went

up William's Fork to Weaver's placer mines,

and from there to People's valley and over to

Walnut Grove. We remained at White's and

Bradshaw's ranch for some time, waiting for the

Indians to quiet down, and finding our provis-

ions getting short, failing to secure an escort,

and being anxious to reach the mines, five of

ns—Fred Henry, Samuel Herron, Mr. Binkley,

Scott and myself—with three pack animals,

ventured to start. As we had been several times

over the same trail we proposed to travel for a

distance of twenty miles while out hunting, and

had seen no signs of Indians, we thought we

could possibly reach the mines without any
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trouble. We had made a practice of guarding

our animals day and night up to this time, hut

the first and 6econd nights out we omitted this

precaution. Reaching our camp, near Turkey

creek, about thirty miles southeast from Pres-

cott, and twenty miles ea"t of Walnut Grove,

about 2 o'clock in the afternoon, the second day,

Mr. Herron and myself made a circuit of our

camp to ascertain if there were any fresh signs

of Indians having passed along the trail, and

found none; so we ate our supper and retired.

Our animals exhibited some uneasiness about

nine o'clock, but we paid little attention to it.

We all slept soundly until about an hour before

daylight, when we were suddenly awakened by

the Indian war-whoop and a shower of arrows

falling on onr beds. All our party arose and

seized their arms. Mr. Binkley being the first,

served as a target for the savages, and was dis-

abled by their first fire, receiving a half-ounce

ball through his left breast, an arrow wound in

his left eye and another in his tongue. He was

able, however, to retreat a short distance to the

rear. ,By this time I had made one shot, and

had received an arrow in my breast. A few

moments later Mr. Herron and Mr. Scott were

each wounded several times, and about sunrise

were compelled to retreat on account of their

wounds. One arrow cut the main artery of Mr.

Herron's arm, causing severe loss of blood;

another penetrated his stomach, which caused

his death four days later by tetanus (lock-jaw).

Mr. Scott received a rifle ball in his right elbow.

Mr. Henry was also severely wounded, but he

and I held the camp until about nine o'clock,

when the conflict grew 60 hot that I suggested

ta retreat. Mr. Henry thought we had better

" stay with them " a while longer, and I remained

a short time, receiving one wound after another

until 1 had fourteen wounds in all. I then told

Mr. Henry good-bye and made my way up the

hill as fast as I could go some fifty yards, where

I found Binkley, Scott and Herron in a horrible

condition and covered with blood. A few

moments later Mr. Henry came running up to

where we were, receiving one more wouud on

le way up. Tli iges had killed two of our

horses, and mine was severely wounded. A
hasty consultation was held, and as Mr. Binkley

and Mr. Henry were able to travel on foot, the

re6t of us requested them to leave us and make

their way to Walnut Grove, which they, after

much urging, consented to do, and started off

through the brush, avoiding the trail. The

Indians watched the trail hoping to cut them

off, but failed. When the Indians found they

were foiled in this, they returned to the rest of

their party, who were standing guard over us,

and who were so close as to throw stones at us.

We were at this time about a hundred yards

from our camp under a clump of small oak trees

Here we were again attacked, the fight lasting

about an hour and a half, and I received three

wounds and Scott two. Our last two shots did

good work, and our assailants left us, and took

possession of our camp. They built sixteen

different fires, and in plain sight of us butchered

two of our horses and had a feast, eating all of

our provisions except what they packed away

on my horse, Old Joe. The number of Indians

we^e variously estimated by our party at from

200 to 300, composed of parts of four or five

dirlerent tribes, including Apaches and Mojaves.

After the Indians left the camp, we remained at

the last battle-ground until dark, though we

suffered greatly for water, but were afraid to go

to the spring, which was only twenty-five ya-ds

from our camp, and was all the time held by the

Indians, and we feared they were waiting in

ambush to entrap us at that point. We moved

under cover of the darkness a little farther up

the hill and camped under a large juniper tree,

under which was a great many dry leaves that we

utilized as a covering. We covered Mr. Herron

up with the leaves and Scott and I guarded till

daylight. With much difficulty (on account of

the soreness of our wounds) we then reached the

spring, and after slaking our thirst crawled

down the ravine and hid among some willow

brush, where we remained until three o'clock in

the afternoon, when to our great surprise and

delight we heard the sound of horse's feet ap-
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preaching down the trail from the direction of

Walnut Grove. It proved to he a party of fifteen

men headed hy Jack Swilling coming to rescue

us. Messrs. Binkley and Henry had reached

Walnut Grove in safety and sent us aid. The

kindness shown ns hy those men is heyond

description. Mr. Binkley, my brother-in-law,

lost an eye, and he is the only one of our party

that has had the satisfaction of retaliating, for

he was one of the party who, at Schnll valley,

Arizona, were attacked hy a band of Indians, of

whom they killed over sixty. Mr. Swilling and

party examined the battle-ground and found

about seventy five yards east of our camp some

fifty oak clubs, which, no doubt, the savages ex-

pected to use on us in case we had retreated in

that direction. The bones of some twenty-six

Indians were afterward found, covered with

brush n-ar the battleground.

RUFFIANS.

Among the notorious characters who contrib-

uted to the disorder in this section in the early

days, were Bill Marshall and Juan Verdugo.

It is said that Bill Marshall was from Provi-

dence, Bhode Island, and that he came to this

country in 1844, in a whale-ship, from which he

deserted. He married a daughter of an Indian

chieftain, and was instrumental in binding

the tribes together for hostilities against the

whites.

The trial of these men took place by court-

martial, at " Oldtown," San Diego, in December,

1851. They were convicted of inciting the

Indians to an outbreak, to burning the town of

Agua Caliente, and to destroying the rancho of

Hon. J. J. Warner, and committing murders

and outrages upon the whites. These men were

executed at 2 o'clock p. m., December 11, 1851»

on a scaifold erected near the Catholic burying-

gronnd. Verdugo acknowledged his guilt, but

Marshall protested his innocence.

In the latter part of December, 1851, Major

Heintzleman ordered a " council of war," for

the trial of Francisco Mocate, chief of the

Ysidro; Luis, Alcalde of Caliente; Jacobo or

Onisil, and Juan Bantii-ta. The council, after

a patient hearing, adjudged them guilty, and

sentenced them to be shot on the morning of

Christmas day, and the sentence was duly carried

into effect.

On January 11, 1852, was executed by sen-

tence of military court-martial, Antonia Garra,

an educated and talented Indian chieftain, con-

victed of theft and murder at the insurrection

of Agua Caliente. These executions did much

to reduce the lawlessness and disordered condi-

tions proceeding from Indian depredations in

San Bernardino County.

MORMONS.

In the year 1851 began the third period or

chapter in the history of the section—that of

Mormon occupation. Brigham Young, the head

of the Mormon church, desired the establish-

ment of a colony on the Pacific coast, as an out-

fitting post for the church, and as a pacific port

where European converts might be landed,

instead of disembarking them at New York

harbor, to travel overland across the continent.

The journey overland to Salt Lake could be

shortened two-thirds in this way. It is said

that the great Mormon leader favored the pur-

chase of the Chino Rancho, but the leaders of the

expedition were of a different opinion.

Leaving Salt Lake on March 14, 1851, the

Mormon band on June 11, 1851, reached the

Cajon Pass, the first fifty wagons, he having

returned to Salt Lake after some time spent in

the mines of £1 Dorado. There were 800 or

900 Mormons arrived within a few days after

the first installment. The Mormons were not

idle while in camp at the Cajon Pass, but they

busied themselves in repairing the wear and

tear of the journey, and in preparation for the

labors of the future. They aleo had schools for

the children in session while there. Most of

these immigrants had come with ox teams.

They had on arrival some $700 altogether,

which was reserved for the purchase of food.

In September, 1851, they bought from the

Lugo family the Rancho de San Bernardino.
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agreeing to pay therefor $77,500. the pale being

made on credit.

The surviving Mormon pioneers declare that,

by the terms of purchase, they acquired twenty-

seven leagues of land, but that the laws were so

construed as to restrict them to eight leagues,

which they were feign to accept, rather than

contest the case with the odds against them;

and this the more readily, that they were allowed

to choose their own portion, thus obtaining, as

they say, "the very cream of the cocoanut,"

when the lands were surveyed, and the eight

leagues confirmed to them. Their contract with

the Lngos included seventy-five cattle for food

purposes, the Mormons having only their

draught cattle. The remainder of the great

herds of the Lngos was removed by the follow-

ing spring.

The sale was made on credit, the Mormons

relying on their ability to secure the purchase

money by the proceeds of their prospective

grain crops. It is usually stated that the pro-

ceeds of the grain raised by each family was

turned over to Rich & Lyman as a payment

fund for the land at large; but the surviving pio-

neers state that each man was credited with the

amount he turned in, as purchase money on the

tract he should select as his own individual

holding, after the survey.

Soon after the Mormons took possession of

their purchase, an Indian war was threatened,

and they hastened to build a fort for protection

and defense, moving from the quarter now

known as " High Lands," down to the edge of

the bluff or bench overlooking the low ground.

The limits of the fort were about as follows:

the western boundary at about D street, the

southern, at Third street, the eastern side about

B street, and the northern near Fourth street,

where the old school-house now stands.

The log houses of the settlers followed these

Knes, and the gaps between the houses were

filled in with stockading. Within the enclosure

. was built a large " arbor "—the ramada of the

Mexicans, covered with the boughs of trees,

rushes, etc., which was used a6 a place of wor-

ship, and also as a school house. One of the

old Lugo ranch-houses was included within the

fort's limits.

The first teacrer here was William Stout, who

is well remembered by a number of prominent

men of the San Bernardino of to-day, who were

under his charge.

In this fort, built in the spring of 1852, took

refuge the Mormons, as well as the other fami-

lies living in the valley and also a number of

Mexicans from Agua Mansa, who came to ask

for protection and shelter, either entering the

fort or camping close beside it. The stock of

all parties was left outside where it could be

pastured and herded.

In this fort, which covered some ten acres,

lived the Mormons until 1853, when they scat-

tered over the lands then surveyed for the first

time.

A serious war with the Indians was appre-

hended at this period of fortification. At that

time, a dozen soldiers stationed at the Chino

Kancho composed the entire military force in

the county. Volunteer companies were organ-

ized throughout Southern California, and arms

procured as speedily as possible, all possible

forces combining for strength to repel an attack.

Perhaps intimidated by these preparations, the

Indians for the time desisted from further dep-

redations, except as they committed isolated

murders upon miners, prospectors and rancheros.

As soon as the Indian difficulties were regu-

lated the population began to increase.

In March or April of 1852 the first timber

road was built to the forests on the summit.

The able-bodied workers assembled to the

number of 100 to 120, and in thirteeu days

they completed this wagon road fifteen or

sixteen miles long. So well built, too, was it,

that it served as the thoroughfare fur the

entire lumber traffic for twenty years. A saw-

mill was then built on the summit, followed

before the winter of 1853 by two others, which

were kept busy sawing out lumber for use be-

low in the valley.

No time whatever had been wasted by these
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energetic, industrious colonists. They had set

bravely to work from the very day of their ar-

rival, in earnest endeavor to develop the re-

sources of the situation. Even before they

received the title to the land they began to

plant vines and fruit trees; the first spring the

Seeley brothers and others planted to orchard

and vineyard some ten acres, in what is now

known as " the old Barton vineyard " The fall

of their arrival witnessed the sowing of 3,000

acres of grain, which the next season yielded a

large crop. Som^ barley was planted but the

crops were wheat for the most part. One

wheat-field on the plains of Old San Bernardino

contained 1,600 acres. There was a very large

"mountain field" also on the Muscupiabe

Rancho, to the left of the Waterman Cafion

road.

The Mormons received as much as $5 per

bushel for their wheat, as there were now many

settlers at Los Angeles, where flour sold at from

$15 to $18 per hundredweight. Thus, it must

be seen that the Mormons made admirably com-

mendable settlers, and their industry and thrift

not only promoted rapid growth of the town,

but developed the surrounding country. They

purchased and brought under cultivation large

tracts of land that hitherto had only nurtured

sheep and cattle. Large fields of grain they

sowed by their usual system of joint labor on

the mesa lands near the base of the mountains,

on what is now known as the Muscupiabe

Rancho. On these lands, now barren from the

lack of water, may still be seen traces of that

earlier cultivation.

Lyman and Rich, who afterward associated

with themselves in the ownership of the prop-

erty Ebecezer Hanks, managed the affairs of

the colony on a wise and liberal basis. They

subdivided the entire rancho into tracts of

varying size, ranging from fiva to ninety acres,

and these lots they offered for sale at low prices

and on easy terms of payment. In this way

many settlers not of the Mormon faith were

attracted into the valley.

Thus it was, too, that while many other fine

ranchos of Southern California were given over

to exclusive use as ranges for large bands of

cattle and horses, this settlement was already

divided of fences, dotted with

cottages and covered with orchards and vine-

yards.

The Mormons were, too, a peaceable and law-

abiding element, and as long as their party

was in the majority they maintained good gov-

ernment.

It was not long, however, before the Gentiles

were attracted to this beautiful valley in con-

siderable numbers, coming from neighboring

counties and from a distance; and between

these and the Mormons hard feelings were soon

engendered owing to disparity of tastes and

customs, as well as to the conflict of mutual

interests.

In 1852 came to San Bernardino the first

physician, Dr. Ira Burris, who was shortly fol-

lowed by Dr. Ainsworth. The settlement was

always very healthy.

Up to this time all the territory to the Colo-

rado river on the east had been comprised with-

in the limits of Los Angeles County, and for

the transaction of all business of a legal charac-

ter the residents in the San Bernardino district

were under the necessity of journeying to Los

Angeles, the county seat, a distance of sixty

miles. The State Legislature was now peti-

tioned to ordain a division of the county, and

accordingly on April 26, 1853, the Legislature

of California passed an act separating from the

county of Los Angeles a new county to be

known a6 San Bernardino. This act appointed

Isaac Williams, H. G. Sherwood, David Seeley

and John Brown members of a board to desig-

nate election precincts, appoint inspectors, re-

ceive returns, and issue certificates of election.

The first county election was held in January,

1853, resulting in the election of the first offi-

cers of San Bernardino County, as follows*

County Judge, D. X. Thomas; County Attor-

ney, Ellis Ames; Clerk, Richard K. Hopkins;

Sheriff. Robert Clift; Trea-urer, David Seeley;

Assessor, William Stout; Surveyor, H. G. Sher.
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wood; Justices of the Peace, John Brown and

Andrew Lytle. These officers entered upon

their duties, and the new county assumed her

portion of the deht of Los Angeles County, and

moved forward under the new organization.

The town of San Bernardino had been appointed

as the county seat, by disposition of the act be-

fore mentioned, and in the spring of 1853 it

was surveyed and laid off. The town as then

platted was one mile square, and this was

abundantly ample for the business needs of the

time.

Among the first buildings erected upon the

town site was the old Mormon Council-House,

which was long a landmark of the town. This

structure, which stood at the corner of Third

and Grafton streets, was razed in July, 1867, to

make way for a large, new brick building.

In 1856 was celebrated for the first time the

Fourth of July.

At this time the friction between the Mor-

mons and the Gentiles had grown to such a

point as to menace serious difficulties, which

were averted, in all probability, only by the

circumstance that the Mormon population of

San Bernardino was recalled to Utah, in conse-

quence of causes as follows: President James

Buchanan, in 1857, had sent out Alfred Cum-

ming to take the office of Governor of Utah in

place of Brigham Young, and to enforce the

authority of the National Government a mili-

tary force of 2,500 men was sent with Gum-

ming. The chief of the Mormons attempted to

oppose force of arms by armed force in resist-

ing the mandate of the President, and to con-

centrate all his strength to that end he called in

to Salt Lake all his distant followers from the

outlying colonies of the church. The bli-dly

faithful obeyed, and submitted to the facritice

lappy ind fruitful homes and valuable

lands, in exchange for the lesser attractions of

Utah and a very fair prospect of death at the

hands of the UniteJ States soldiery. These

obedient ones took their departure, having sold

to eager purchasers, and at nominal prices,

their rich lands and careful improvements.

Others there were who resisted the manifest

injustice of the sacrifices demanded of them, and

so elected to remain in California and defy the

thunders of the "prophet's" wrath. Among
these independent spirits were the leaders,

Messrs. Lyman, Rich, Hanks, and many others.

The departure of the majority of the Mor-

mons relieved to a great extent the strain of

feeling between their party and the other fac-

tion, although the animosity continued to exist

for long thereafter.

In the fall of 1859 there took place in the

town of San Bernardino a difficulty of local

origin, that had somewhat the aspect of a civil

war on a small scale. There were in the place

two rival physicians, Dr. Ainsworth and Dr.

Thomas Gentry. They met one day at a livery

stable, and Ainsworth returned fire on Gentry,

who fled, and sent word to his friends at El

Monte that he was "corralled by Mormons."

Impartial testimony on either side goes to show

that the affair was purely personal, and that no

faction or party question was concerned. But

Gen try '8 friends at El Monte rallied to his sum-

mons, and, led by a rough named Frank Green,

they set forth, 100 strong, prepared to capture

the town if necessary. On arriving at San Ber-

nardino, and learning the circumstances as they

actually existed, the more rational of the in-

vaders, comprising about one- half of the party,

returned home, but the rest remained, being in

a frame of mind disposed toward disorder.

Ainsworth and his friends had intrenched

themselves in an old adobe house on the corner

west of the South Methodist Church. As

night came on, with no indications of the ap-

proach of the hostile party, the to-be-besieged,

who were well armed with rifles and revolvers,

went forth and dispersed themselves over the

cornfield surrounding the house. It was not

until a late hour that Green's gang was seen

approaching the house, upon which all the party

of defense lay down, leveling their guns upon

the enemy. The party from El Monte formed

in line of battle on the opposite side of the

road as quietly as possible, but they retreated
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in confusion and disorder on perceiving that

they were under the eyes and the guns of the

foe. As a body they were demoralized, but

certain individuals remained and caused some

disorder and bloodshed. Jim Greenwade, Frank

Green and the Sea brothers were thus persistent,

Green shooting David Coopwood in the thigh.

The ruffian Green was bravely attacked in his

turn by Taney Woodward, and the two men

emptied their pistols at each other at short

range.

This frac« took place Septe.nber 21, 1859

For days thereafter San Bernardino was a scene

of lawless disorder. . There were United States

troops encamped on the banks of the Santa Ana

river, three miles from town, but they did not

interfere, probably because they were not called

upon by the civil authorities. The sheriff was

powerless to quell the mob, until at last he made

a general call for all citizens to unite and drive

out the intruders. This being done, peace and

quiet, law and order, prevailed for a long time

after.

Green subsequently met a violent death at

El Monte, slain by a man whose father he had

killed.

LAWLESSNESS.

In 1859-'60, politics ran high in San Bernard-

ino County. There was a strong secessionist

element, to oppose which John Brown rode over

the country convoking the Union men thereof

to rally at the " old school-house " to form a

political organization. There were present at

the first, meeting John Brown, Charles G. Hill,

William Heap, Moses Martin, and one other

man and two ladies,—Mrs. Highmoor and

Mrs. Blackburn. The meeting was inter-

rupted by the advent of nineteen roughs,

armed with various weapons, from clubs to

cheese-knives and guns, who cursed the speaker

and made other violent demonstrations, but who

were finally persuaded to desist by the eloquence

of John Brown, and their departure left the

meeting free to continue. The Union League

presently attained considerable power, and to its

endeavors, in all probability, was due the local

result of the presidential election, which showed

a plurality of eighty-three for Lincoln—the first

success of the party in the county. " Uncle

George" Lord, now a veteran eighty-seven

years old, was the president of the league, and

the Mrs. Highmoor, mentioned as attending

the first meeting, played the bass drum at the

rallies.

At this period a strict watch wa-s kept in this

county and in Arizona along the route to be

pursued, in order to prevent from passing

through the country armed bands in sympathy

with, and going to the assistance of, the Con-

federate forces. A regular organization for this

purpose existed in Holcomb valley, being con-

nected with similar leagues extending northward

along the Sierra Nevada. The conditions of

the section, largely populated by an immigra-

tion attracted by the gold mines, were pecu-

liarly fitted to protect and foster enterprises of

this character.

From political differences also arose a due

in 1861, between Mr. Shoalwater and C. W.
Piercy, who had been elected the preceding

year to represent San Bernardino County in

the Assembly. Mr. Piercy was killed in this

combat.

In 1861 there was so large a population

gathered at the mines in Holcomb valley that

the precinct, at the general election, polled a vote

of 230, which was nearly as much as all the rest

of the county.

The position of San Bernandino as a frontier

county, and the heterogeneous elements attracted

by the mines, contributed greatly to local law-

lessness and disorder. Not a few of the county

offices having been captured by representatives

of a desperado class attracted thither by the op-

portunity for crime and spoil, it became neces-

sary to take protectionary measures; and there-

fore the best citizens united into a party pledged

to support the law and maintain order. The

county was almost bankrupted during the sea-

son of misrule, which lasted about four years.

In those days, and indeed, for about twelve

years, no attention was paid to Whigs, Demo-
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cratic or Republican proclivities in politics, men

being nominated for office by their friends, ir-

respective of party. As an instance of the little

respect shown to " the majesty of the law " by

the community at large, the following episode

may be related: A man belonging to one clan

or clique, stabbed to death a member of another

clan, near Holcomb valley, and he was indicted

and placed on trial at San Bernaudino. Soon

after the case opened fifteen men entered the

court-room, heavily armed, and without remov-

ing their hats, they seated themselves near the

jury. Judge Boren recognized them as friends

of the accused, and read their purpose in their

demeanor, their hard, determined faces, and

their resolution in having marched forty miles

lor the occasion. Not a word spoke the intrud-

ers, paying the closest attention to the pro-

ceedings. After a time, these somber visitors

adjourned to a source of liquid refreshment, and

the magistrate also adjourned court until the

afternoon. During the recess, the authorities

had time for deliberation, and the jury, under-

standing that conviction of the prisoner would

entail an outbreak and bloodshed, decided to

acquit him, and did so.

About this time it was that J. M. Greenwade,

who held the combined offices of County Clerk,

Recorder and Auditor, became dissatisfied with

the mode of procedure of the board of supervis-

ors in the transaction of county business, drew

his six-shooter and cleared the room of all those

functionaries. Shortly after this, the same man,

while intoxicated, met Judge Boren unarmed

on the street, and, putting a pistol to the Judge's

breast with one hand, with the other struck the

•fudge with a stick. Judge Boren retreated to

where he could procure a gun, but was then

prevented by the outsiders from shooting his

county clerk, for which, as he has often expressed

himself, he since feels profoundly content.

The winter of 1861-'62 was characterized by

excessive rains, and in January, 1862, a heavy

flood inundated the settlement of Agua Mansa,

and the people barely escaped with their lives,

fleeing homeless and beggared to the hills,

while the angry waters swept away their homes,

their stock, their fields and orchards, leaving a

waste of sand-beds in place of the fruitful colony.

In 1862 John Brown, Sr., established a ferry

across the Colorado river.

In 1863 the census showed the county to

contain 1,072 children of the age prescribed as

eligible for attendance at the public schools.

In 1864-'65-'66 hydraulic gold mining was

extensively carried on in the Lytle creek canon.

During the civil war—1861-'65— there was

no regular company mustered into service from

San Bernardino County, although numerous in-

dividuals departed from that section, to join

one or the other of the combatants. For three

months there was, moreover, an encampment

near the timber, of two companies, which went

to Texas.

The winter of 1867 is said to have been the

rainiest season on record, the rain being almost

continuous for six weeks, and the rainfall being

twice to thrice that of the average years. The

ground remained wet from this excess of moist-

ure for some years thereafter.

In February, 1867, a company of rangers,

fitted out by the citizens of San Bernardino,

made an expedition to the Mohave desert, for

the purpose of chastising Indians who had been

committing depredations. On the 18th, this

party, consisting of some fifteen men, had a

battle with some 100 Indians, Chimehuevas,

Mohaves and Pah-utes, and four of the Indians

were killed, one of the whites having his arm

fractured by a ball.

In April, 1867, a small company on the way

to Borax lake, found a rancheria of hostile In-

dians, and killed its denizens, finding relics of

some of the whites previously 6lain by these

Indians.

These maurauders in this year massacred

Parish, Bemis, and Whiteside, who at the time

were herding their 6tock near the north base of

the sierra; and indeed it is but of very late years

that it has been safe to attempt to effect a set-

tlement or to pasture stock near the verge of

the desert.
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At this period the cultivation of citrus fruits,

which has since become the leading industry of

the county, was practically unassayed. In all

the county the only orange trees were a few

—

not to exceed two or three dozen— at Old San

Bernardino, and three or four on Judge Boren's

place at San Bernardino proper. Tlie general

idea was that at no place in the county save at

Old San Bernardino was the winter climate

mild enough to spare these trees, and the sup-

posed orange limit was therefore in that district;

whereas present results show that the orange

belt of San Bernardino County is at least forty

miles long by thirty wide.

At this time, the leading industries were

wheat, barley, corn, alfalfa, pumpkins, mission

grapes, and deciduous fruits in moderate quan-

tity.

At this time the only mail communication

was by stage-coach via Los Angeles.

San Bernardino was then the great entrepot

and furnishing point for the desert mines, as

well as for those of Arizona; and this com-

mercial importance continued to be hers until

the traversal of the county by the Southern

Pacific Railway, with its improved facilities for

transportation.

In 1867, Henry Goodall, Sr., established the

first brickyard in the county—still running in

San Bernardino.

In 1870 " Uncle George " Lord, a pioneer in

this as in many other directions, prodnced ab-

solutely the first raisins grown and prepared in

San Bernardino County. Other parties had

a'ueady sold roughly-cured raisins from the

Mission grapes; but Mr. Lord's raisins were

from White Muscat grapes, which he raised on

Lytle creek, on a farm four miles west of the

town of San Bernardino. The scions of his

White Muscat vines he had procured from El

Monte, and he prepared the raisins after the

approved regular process. On account of diffi-

culties in obtaining the means of packing, he

used empty cigar-boxes for that purpose, and

put his goods, as a novelty, on the local market,

where they sold readily at twenty-five cents per

pound. Certain parties shipped by mail a num-

ber of boxes to the Eastern States, where, not-

withstanding the flavor of tobacco with which

the raisins were impregnated from the cigar-

boxes, they were pronounced of superior quality.

The development of San Bernardino County

has been comparatively slow, as contrasted with

other portions of Southern California. The

citizens here have been more conservative and

less disposed to " boom " their section. The

growth and development have been, however,

remarkably steady and enduring, as will be

seen in the divisions treating of the various

districts.

It is notable, too, as a special feature, that

while San Diego and Los Angeles counties have

been developed largely by capital from abroad,

San Bernardino County has depended almost

entirely upon home moneys and domestic re-

sources. It would almost seem, indeed, as if

something in the soil and atmosphere fostered

and nurtured the spirit of local exploitation

displayed by the early Mormon settlers, to win

from the land itself the price of its improve-

ment; colloquially speaking, to "make it pay

its own way as it goes along."

The increase of population in the county up

to 1870 was slow, it numbering in that year

only 7,310 souls. Then the era of fruit colo-

nies began, and since that time the increase has

been constant. The census ot 1880 gave a pop-

ulation of 7,786, and in July, 1888, it was

deemed that 29,415 was a fair estimate, based

upon the school census of that year.

The school census, including all childreu be-

tween the ages of five and seventeen years,

shows a steady increase each succeeding year,

and, according to the accepted ratio between the

census children and the whole number of inhab-

itants, the population of the county is now about

33,000.

It is estimated that that portion of the San

Bernardino valley situated south of the mount-

ain range contains about 450,000 acres of arable

land. Of this area, 64,410 acres are under

cultivation, and the remainder either is used for
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grazing purposes, or else lies as waste land,

having no water available for irrigation. Of

the 64,410 acres under cultivation, only 22,-

460 acres are planted to orchard and vine-

yard, and from this portion the income, count-

ing the citrns fruit crop harvested in the spring

of 1889, and the other fruit crop harvested

later in that season, amounted to $1,635,000,

with an estimated income of about $2,000,000

if the citrus crop of 1889-'90 be counted with

the other fruit crop of 1889.

THE OFFICIALS

of the county of San Bernardino are: State

Senator, W. W. Bowers, of San Diego; Assem-

blyman, K. W. Holmes, of Riverside; Judges

of the Superior Court, C. W. C. Rowell and

John L. Campbell; Sheriff, E. C. Seymour;

County Clerk, George L. Hison; Recorder, A.

S. Davidson; Auditor, W. L. G. Soule; Treas-

urer, W. H. Beattie; Tax Collector, R. H. Stet-

son; District Attorney, Henry Connor; School

Superintendent, H. C. Brooke; Surveyor, W.

C. Chamblin; Coroner, C. C. Wainwright; Pub-

lic Administrator, James E. Mack; Court Com-

missioner, J. C. Christy; Supervisors, J. A.

Johnson, Thomas Holmes, G. W. Garcelon,

George Cooley, W. H. Glass; Board of Educa-

tion, J. E. Roberts, Lyman Evans, H. C.

Brooke, E. P. Clarke.

THE INDIAN TRIBES

that inhabited San Bernardino County were not

a few, and several of them have representatives

at the present day. There are the Yumas, who

dwell along the Colorado river, from its entrance

into Arizona to its outlet, occupying only

the river bottoms; the Yumas are so far

removed from the settled districts as to belong

practically to Arizona. The Serrano and Ca-

huilla Indians have intermarried for so long a

time that now the separate tribes can hardly be

distinguished. They occupy divers fruitful val-

leys in the vicinity of San Bernardino. The

Chimehueras and Pah-utes inhabit the sterile

desert countrynorth of the San Bernardino val-

ley, rarely visiting the settlements. Already very

i'ew in number, they are rapidly becoming ex-

tinct. In the early days of San Bernardino these

two tribes were very troublesome to the settlers,

miners, and particularly to the stockmen, owing
to their predilection for stock stealing. Hence
resulted contests in which no little blood was

shed on both sides. During the civil war
these tribes became thoroughly imbued with the

spirit of outlawry, and, reinforced by renegade

whites, their menaces caused serious fears of a

regular attack upon the town of San Bernardino.

The Mission Indians, accustomed to whole-

some restraints and guidance under the rule of

the padres, found themselves homeless, helpless,

and without resources or direction, on the car-

rying into effect of the laws of secularization.

No other influence or provision was substituted

for those which they then lost, and they were

left in the situation of grown-up and untrained

children, so that they have for the most part

lapsed into the lives of vagrants and outcasts.

The agency for the Mission Indians in this

county was established in 1878, with Colonel

S. S. Lawson as agent. In 1879-'80 there was

great distress among them because of a failure

of crops and scarcity of work. The agent rep-

resented to the Government the imminent ap-

proach of famine among them, and provision

was accordingly made for feeding them until

after the crisis.

Of the six or eight schools established under

the agency one is in this county, at the Potrero

near Banning. The teacher reports encouraging

progress by the pupils.

The first census of the Indians in this county

seems to have been taken about 1880, under the

superintendence of Indian Agent Lawson, who
ascertained as nearly as possible the number in

each tribe. Of the Serranos, living chiefly at

the Potrero, on the Colorado desert, he found

only 212, all told; of the Cahuillas, living

mostly in the valleys, he found 204. This is a

very small proportion of the tribes, as they

mostly live in San Diego County. About the

only possession of value in the hands of the
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Indians of San Bernardino at present is a lim-

ited number of horses. Yet there has been a

marked improvement in their condition since

the establishment of the agency. The Indians

of the various tribes in these counties have

mostly embraced Christianity, and they attend

religious services at the mission chapel when

they have an opportunity.

The Mission Indians' Consolidated Agency,

a Federal institution, comprising some twelve

Government employes, has its headquarters at

Colton.

The only Indian reservation in the county is

the one at Banning, which contains about 200

Indians, being known as the Morongo reserva-

tion. The Government school here contains

about twenty-two pupils, which is about the

usual number belonging to these schools. The

whole number of Mission Indians in the county

at present is about 300.

The training in the Indian schools of this

agency reach about that grade corresponding to

the intermediate grade of the public schools.

The division comprehended in San Diego, San

Bernardino and Los Angeles counties contains

eight day schools tor Indians, averaging a daily

attendance of eight pupils.

The remnant of the Cahnillas are mainly en-

gaged in stock-raising, the other tribes in agri-

culture, independently on their own lauds, or

as farm laborers. These Indians are almost

self-sustaining. Once yearly the agency issues

farming implements, distributed among the

various reservations, seventeen in number, the

issue not exceeding a value of $6,000, and about

$600 are expended annually in relieving the

sick and indigent.

At Banning there is a training-school for In-

dians, built by Miss Drexel, at a cost of $40,000.

It is a three-story brick building, very complete

in its appointments, built in the form of a

hollow square with central courtyard. It is

expected that the functions of this school will

be exercised by the month of September, under

the auspices of the Catholic Union Bureau at

Washington, an incorporated organization. This

institution comprises sixty acres of land, set to

various kinds of trees, and it is a beautiful and

valuable property.

THE SAN BERNARDINO VALLEY

is the largest in the State in which the citrus

and other sub-tropical fruits can be successfully

raised to a perfect maturity. It is about sixty

miles long east and west, with an average width

north and south of fifteen miles. Within its

boundaries are situated San Bernardino, Old

San Bernardino, Colton, Riverside, Lugonia,

Redlands, Highlands, Crafton, Ontario, Arling-

ton, San Gorgonio, Rialto, Mentone, Cucamon-

ga, Etiwanda and other flourishing towns and

settlements. This beautiful valley embraces

not less than 1,500 to 1,800 square miles of land,

nearly all of which is arable, needing but the

hand of industry to call into fruitful bearing

its richness. Thc-se lands are of all grades, from

the low, damp lands along the streams to the

high mesa lands in the foothills. The low lands

as well as the damp higher lands which are

found in many places, produce all kinds of crops

without irrigation. However, each product

is found to be more particularly adapted to

growth in certaiu localities, owing to the kind

of soil and other peculiarities. In order to un-

derstand the advantages of this valley, it is nec-

cessary to know something of its formation and

peculiar topographical features. On the north

is the San Bernardino range of mountains,

5,000 to 7,000 feet high; on the east a

low range of clay hills, whose summit is the

divide of the San Gorgonio pass; on the south

a low range of clay and granite hills and on the

west a high mesa, forming the west bank of

Ljtle creek.

The natural drainage outlet of the val-

ley is at the gap of the Santa Ana river's

egress, in the most southern portion; thus this

valley is formed into a large catchment basin

for the water-shed of a very large area of coun-

try, the main drainage channel being the Santa

Ana river. The soil of this wonderful valley

is mainly a rich, deep loam, largely intermixed



HISTORY OF SAN BERNARDINO COUNTY

with decomposed granite. Some of it is dark,

same of a redish color, growing more and more

sandy as it approaches the mountains, while the

mesa lands and foothills are of a more gravelly

nature. Tims it would seem that the soil is a

fill or wash from the surrounding mountains,

in which in many places is found a heavy black

loam, growing potatoes and apples of excellence

unsurpassed anywhere in the world.

The San Bernardino mountains are a barrier

between fertility and sterility; on one side

1,800 square miles of the finest land on earth,

on the other 23,000 square miles of desert.

San Bernardino valley produces in great per-

fection, oranges, lemons, apples, pears, olives,

apricots, cherries, prunes, figs, dates, quinces

and grapes; vegetables, corn, wheat, oats, bar-

ley, etc., grow to perfection in this high valley

with its gentle slope to the southward sun.

Alfalfa yields six crops per year. Flowers

bloom every day in the year.

San Bernardino valley, by reason of its dis-

tance from the seaboard (some seventy miles)'

and its position with respect to the Sierra Ne-

vada and its contiguity to the great deserts on

the east and north, has a climate differing in

many regards from that of the coast towns, and

even of places as far inland as Los Angeles.

The most marked feature of difference is the

greater dryness of the atmosphere, which ren-

ders this climate more beneficial, than the more

humid coast towns, to sufferers with pulmonary

and bronchial affections.

The local peculiarities of situation cause the

spring season here to open about a month later

than in Los Angeles. Thus the trees and vines

escape with less injury from the blights of

occasional late frosts. The spring and fall

months are the most enjoyable, the temperature

being steady, the heats, even of midsummer,

greatly modified by the sea breeze that every

day, from eleven to two o'clock, and at sunset,

blows up the valley. This breeze greatly modi

ties the effects of the heat, while not affecting

the record of the mercury. July, August and

a part of September are the hot months, during

which, from 10 a. m. to 2 p. m., the mercury

ranges from 90° to 105°, and sometimes even

rises to 110°. The heat, however, is dry and

not oppressive, burning the skin rather than re-

laxing the nervous system, as appears in the

cases of parties whose business is in the desert

regions, where they are exposed to a constant

heat of from 110° to 125°. Sunstroke is never

known in this valley. The nights are always

cool, admitting almost unfailingly of a blanket

for bed-covering.

Winter, or the '-rain season" here, begins in

November, with occasional heavy storms of two

or three days' duration, and extends over the

months of December and January. During
February, March and April the rainfall is much
less, being of shorter duration. Excepting on

the rainy days, which are few, the weather is

warm enough to permit of active pursuits, clad

in ordinary apparel. Frosts are of rare occur-

rence, and, save the late ones, they are not de-

structive if there be taken ordinary precautions

for the protection of the mo'-e delicate semi-

tropical fruit trees. Along the base of the hills

are sections which enjoy entire immunity from

frosts, so that the most sensitive plants may be

raised there at all times without protection.

Here, as elsewhere in Southern California,

barring the mountain districts, it rains con-

siderably less in winter than it does in the East-

ern States in summer. Witness the following

record of rainfall in San Bernardino from July

1, 1887, to June 30, 1888:

July .Ml
August 04
September 0:j

October 1.17

November 2.29

December 1.91

Total

Inches.
January 4.01
Feb. nary 3.60
Marcn 3.41
April 3s
May 52
June 03

17.76.

This is about one-half the rainfall of Cam-
bridge, Massachusetts, and two-fifths that of

Philadelphia. From a more complete weather

record, kept at Riverside, is taken the following

I

tabulation, comprehending the highest and low-
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est temperature, the number of days in which

rain fell, the rainfall in inches, the number of

cloudy days, and number of clear days for each

month of the year 1886:
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nental railroads—the Southern Pacific, and the

Atlantic & Pacific, more popularly known as the

Santa Fe. The Southern Pacific was the pio-

neer road, completing its bed through these parts

in 1876. This road crosses the extreme south-

west corner of the county, running east and west.

It affords shipping facilities to numerous pros-

perous towns and settlements, the centers of

wide areas of rich fruit and agricultural lands.

It has some forty-eight miles of track operating

within the confiues of the county, which, to-

gether with 206 miles of roadbed leased to the

Atlantic & Pacific, has an assessed value in

round numbers of $3,000,000. During the

busiest part of the year, the Southern Pacific

receives sufficient freight, the product of the

county, at Colton, to place that town third on

the coast in importance as to east-bound ship-

ments.

The line which the Southern Pacific in 1879

leased to the Atlantic & Pacific intersects the

county almost centrally, extendingeastand west.

It traverses a portion of the country not at-

tractive to the eye, but immensely rich in min-

eral deposits, which have already added vastly

to the wealth of the country, although their

development is scarcely begun as yet. The

Atlantic & Pacific has rolling stock and im-

provements whose assessed value is nearly $73,-

000. This road has a connecting line of the

Southern California railway system making

junction at Barstow.

The first direct rail communication between

San Bernardino and the Eastern States was ef-

fected in 1887.

In 1883 the Southern California Railway was

built between San Bernardino and San Diego,

and in 1885 it was extended to Barstow. At
first this line suffered severely, indeed, wa6

rendered almost inactive, by heavy wash-outs,

but eventually it rallied from the disastrous

results of these misfortures.

Five different routes of the Santa Fe system

now run daily trains into San Bernandino.

The overland route, which runs north" and

east via Barstow and The Needles to join the

main line of the Atchison, Topeka ami Santa

Fe" at Albuquerque, brings enormous numbers

of immigrants and excursionists hither yearly.

The excursions are an especial feature of this

line, offering every inducement of comfort and

convenince to the visitor.

The California Central is a branch road, run-

ning between San Bernardino and Los Angeles.

This line was built in 1887. It traverses with

its leased lines some sixty miles of the county's

choicest territory, running westward along the

foothills of the San Bernardino and Sierra Ma-

dre ranges, to Los Angeles and Ballona harbor.

It is placed at such an elevation that it over-

looks all the way southward the broad charming

valley of this beautiful section. Along this

route have sprung up the little towns of Rialto,

North Cucamonga, and North Ontario, besides

a number of other small towns which are situ-

ated in Los Angeles County. A spur of this

line, known as the Valley road, extends to Red-

lands and Mertone. The assessed value of this

road, with rolling stock and improvements, is

$357,000.

The California Southern finds a northerly

course from the San Diego County line through

this county to its junction with the Atlantic &
Pacific at Barstow. It lacks one-fourth of a

mile of having 100 miles of main track. In

round numbers, a valuation of $522,000 is

placed upon its rights and property. This road,

with the California Central, is operated by the

California Southern Railway Company.

The machine shops, etc., of the Sante Fe line

at San Bernardino were erected at a cost of

$50,000, with stock and machinery, and the

company pays out to its employes here the sum
of $40,000, all of which goes into circulation in

this section.

It is expected that this county will have

shortly another transcontinental railroad, as the

Union Pacific is pushing the Utah Southern in

tli Is direction with great activity. Its objective

point is believed to be Barstow, whence it will

run its trains over the Santa Fe lines to all

points in Southern California; and then, it is
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believed, it will unite with the Atlantic & Pa-

cific road, and build up the const from Mohave

to San Francisco. This road will open up a

country rich in lumber, coal, and valuable

mines.

The Southern California motor road was

built from San Bernardino to Colton, a distance

of three and one-half miles, in November, 1886,

and in the last year the company extended it

eight and a half miles to Riverside, making

twelve miles now in operation. This company

has now four and one-half miles of street-car

road in San Bernardino, the plant costing a to-

tal of $152,000, and they contemplate putting

about $35,000 in additional extensions. This

line runs twelve trains each way daily.

The San Bernardino, Arrowhead & Water-

man Narrow-Gauge Company completed its

road to Harlem Hot Springs, a distance of four

miles, in June last, and also a mile of street

railway in the city, to be operated in connection

with the narrow-gauge road. They contem-

plate extending the road throughout the valley

and up Waterman canon to the summit, to tap

•the timber belt, and ultimately to continue the

extension to the Bear valley resort. At present

they have on hand material for two miles more

of road, and their total investment thus far is

about $75,000, all subscribed by residents of

San Bernardino. At present travel by this

line i6 suspended.

The San Bernardino & Bedlands motor rail-

road was projected by Oscar Newburg, who, in

connection with W. J. Curtis and W. D. Cran-

dall, organized the San Bernardino & Bedlands

Railroad Company, and obtained the franchise

from the board of supervisors in the summer of

1887. The capital stock of the company was

fixed at $200,000, divided into 200 shares of

$1,000 each. Work was commenced on the line

in December of that year, and the first passen-

ger train was run over the road June 5, 1888.

The line extends from the crossing of Third and

E streets, in San Bernardino, to the center of

the business portion of Redlands, and is a little

more thau ten miles in length.

The road and its equipments cost a little

more than $100,000, and the roadbed is one of

the finest in the country. The property is en-

tirely free from debt. The train makes five

round trips daily, and connects with the trains

on the Soutl ern California motor railroad for

Colton and Riverside and the Southern Pacific

transcontinental line at the former place via

that roaU It leads through a rich section of the

country ana a growing community, including

old San Bernardino, and while it is already a

good paying property its future prospect gives

sure promise of its becoming one of the most

profitable investments to its stockholders of all

pieces of property in Southern California. The

board of directors is composed of Oscar New-
burg, Lewis Jacobs, W. J. Curtis, Daniel Rath-

bun and George E. Otis. The officers are

Oscar Newburg, President; W. J. Curtis, Vice

President; T. J. Wilson, Secretary and Super-

intenden'.

Oscak Newbukg, president of the above

railroad company, and president of the city

council of San Bernardino, is a native of Prus-

sia, where lie was born forty years ago. He
came to America and settled in San Bernardino

in 1863, and ha6 been actively connected with

the business interests ever since. Starting as a

clerk in a store he soon became proprietor in

a grain and shipping business. Later he en-

gaged in general merchandising, from which he

has now retired. He was elected to the city

council in 1887 for a term of four years, and

was chosen president in May, 1889, in which

capacity he is still serving.

The Chino Valley N arrow-Gauge railway,

owned by Richard Gird, Esq., of the Chino

Rancho, was built between Ontario and Chino,

a distance of five and a half miles, and put in

operation in June, 1888. Since then it has been

extended four and a half miles to Harrington,

and it will be continued to tide-water at Newport.

It is a forty-two- inch-gauge road, and it has

cost, thus far, about $75,000. It makes three

trips daily between Ontario and Chino.

The San Bernardino & Colton electric rail-
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way, three miles long, was built by F. D.

French, and put in operation in June last. The

cost was $12,000.

The Riverside & Arlington electric railway,

nine miles long, was built in 1888, at a cost of

about 145,000.

The Euclid avenue electric railway at Onta-

rio, eight and a half miles long, was completed

and opened to travel in December, 1888. The

cost was about $65,000.

These three lines are all at present operated

by horse-power, but arrangements are in progress

for the use of electricity in their operation.

Thus it will be seen that there are in the

county thirty-two and a half miles of motor

and narrow-gauge railroads, constructed during

1888-89, at a cost of some $300,000; and

twenty-seven miles of electric railways, built

also at a cost of $122,000.

Standard-gauge railroad building has been

less active during the year immediately past

than during the preceding one; but the indica-

tions point to renewed activity during the

coining year. During the past season the Po-

mona & South Riverside road was graded, and

the San Bernardino Valley road was opened for

traffic, being ten miles long, with five daily

passenger trains each way.

There are now 528 miles of standard-gauge

railroad in operation in this county.

THE LUMBER INDUSTRY.

The timber belt of the Sierra Nevada, in this

county, extending from Swarthont canon in

Cajon pass on the west to Monnt Grayback on

the east, a stretch of some thirty miles, averages

three miles in width. A few Mormons, in 1851,

built the first road from San Bernardino valley

to the summit of the Sierra Madre, this thor-

oughfare serving for the lumber traffic for

some twenty years. In the earlier years, there

were, probably, not over seventy-five families

to supply with lumber. In 1859, a second road

was built, in 1874 another, and in the '80s still

another. All but one of these roads were toll-

roads, on account of the costliness, but the

charter lapses on two of them at about the

present time, so that they become county roads.

All the valuable timber has long since disap-

peared from the vicinity of the "old road,"

about the summit. D. T. Huston, David See-

ley and his brother, and J. M, James were the

pioneer lumbermen of San Bernardino, but they

have all retired from the business years since.

The Seeleys built the third mill, in the fall

of 1853 David Seeley still owns some 1,600

acres of fine pine land. In the San Jacinto

mountains, and Bear and Holcomb valleys,

there are large pine forests. The entire pine

territory of the county is estimated to contain

at least 800,000 acres. "When the demand is

brisk, the clip amounts to 5,000,000 feet an-

nually. The lumber trees average two to nine

feet in diameter. Most of the mills are situated

about the Devil canon gap, distant twelve or

fourteen miles from San Bernardino. There are

now six saw- mills operating in the range. Their

capacity of yield during the working months is

5,000,000 to 6,000,000 feet. The winter snows

are too heavy to admit of work at that season,

so the mills shut down from October to May.

Most of the lumber produced is consumed an-

nually in the San Bernardino valley. It is esti-

mated that some 3,500,000 feet of home lumber

is thus consumed. A large portion is sent down
in shucks or crates of sidings and headers for

fruit and raisin boxes, and in cuts for raisin-

drying trays, ready for shipment to the packing-

houses, where they are set up. This home
product is practically driving the Truckee

material from this market. The importation

of northern redwood and Oregon lumber has

seriously injured the home industry, but it is

rallying again, and offers large promise for the

future. The home yield, at average prices,

represents a yearly revenue of some $100,000.

San Bernardino consumes less imported lumber

than Riverside and Colton.

The " Old Road " is not bad till within about

a mile of the summit, whence ordinary brakes

proved unavailing. Thus the teamsters used to

attach to the rear of the wagons heavy pine
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trees, to prevent their too rapid descent. These

trees accumulated at the foot of the mountains,

at a spot to which their presence gave the name

of " the drag yard." A toll house was built

at this point.

The Mill creek and Santa Ana cations form-

erly supplied first-class pine timber, but the

flood of 1862 destroyed the two mills in those

districts, and swept away much of the timber.

In 1853 or 1854 one Leonardo Serrano, a

native Californian, applied to the Board of Land

Commissioners, then in session in California,

claiming a Mexican grant of five leagues of

land, including that tract known as the Rancho

de Temetcal. After a careful investigation, his

claim was rejected, and the land, like other

Government land, lay open to settlement until

1859. Then tin was discovered near Serrano's

home, he having died in the meantime. On
the announcement of this valuable discovery,

Abel Stearns, of Los Angeles, purchased from

Serrano's widow her interest in the property.

Litigation was now necessary to secure a good

title to the land. Stearns appealed from the

decision of the Land Commissioners to the

United States District Court, from which, after

much delay, he obtained a decree entitling him

to five leagues of land. Tending this decision,

other miners had "located " the land according

to the mining laws, and these parties now ap-

pealed to the Supreme Court at Washington.

That august body, in 1857, reversed the finding

of the lower court, thus making the mines and

the giant claimed public lands.

Next, Pioche & Co. bought the San Jacinto

grant, and tried to "float " it over the tin mines.

In short, the litigation over this property has

never been quieted, and these mines, famed and

important as they are, have brought in no reve-

nue to the county. The only practical result

from them took the form of a box made of the

tin from them, which was presented to ex-

Secretary William H. Seward, all the news-

papers of the United States chronicling this

as a remarkable item.

In 1880 a company began to exploit these tin

mines, placing a large force of workmen there;

but these would-be developers also were driven

out by the ceaseless litigation.

In these mines, the only locality in the

United States where tin has been found in pay-

ing quantities, ore is found containing 60 per

cent of tin. Tet, owing to the framing of our

laws they are lying idle, yielding up naught of

a potential rich income from them. In a recent

issue of the American Artisan appears the fol-

lowing: The Temescal Tin District, limited, has

been registered in London, with a capital of

£350,000 in 348,000 ordinary shares of £1 and

200 founders' shares of £10 each, to acquire for

any interest therein, and to explore, work and

turn to account in tin, gold, silver, copper or

other mines, mining and other rights, and other

land and property in California and elsewhere,

and in particular to acquire the mineral and the

mining and the water rights of the San Jacinto

estate, situate in San Bernardino County, South-

ern California, and for that purpose to carry

into effect a contract purporting to be made be-

tween the San Jacinto Tin Company of Califor-

nia and the Temescal Tin District, limited.

In the Holcomb valley, some *hirty miles

from San Bernardino, are found gold and silver

in considerable quantities, and also valuable

lead mines.

In Lytle creek canon, thirteen miles north-

west of San Bernardino, gold in considerable

quan ities has been mined for some years past,

and later workings, with improved facilities,

give promise of good results. American miners

are working twenty or thirty placers here at

present.

The Bear valley mines, four miles east of

Holcomb valley, have gold-quartz free-milling

ores in large quantities.

At the Alvard mine, 100 miles northeast of

San Bernardino, gold is found in a quarry of

hard quartz agate.

Calico mining district, forming the northern
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boundary of Silver valley, is the richest silver

camp now in operation in the county. The

approximate estimate of silver bullion shipped

during the first two years of work here was

$2,500,000. There are 170 stamps here all

told, of which 125 run day and night. The

processes here include much chloriding. The

silver bullion extracted amounts to from $75,-

000 to $100,000 per month. Since 1881 over

$14,000,000 have been taken from this camp;

and the best mining experts pronounce it to be

still in its infancy.

To the north of Calico there are the following

districts: Avawatts, Granite, Wells, Panamint,

Ibex, Saratoga, Salt Springs, Goode Springs.

Tecopa, Resting Springs and Potosi, all contain-

ing gold, silver, copper and lead. To the west

are situated the Grapevine, Black's Ranch,

North Camp, Oro Grande, Galena and Crema"

districts, which contain gold, silver, asbestos,

iron, and large quantities of marble.

To the south are the Dry Lake, Holcomb,

Bear Valley, Black Hawk, Morongo, and Old

Woman Springs districts, containing gold,

6iher, iron, copper ami galena.

After Calico comes Victor, with ten stamp-

mills already running, and another in prospect.

The Ord Mining District is situated seventy-

five miles northeast of San Bernardino, within

ten miles of the established course of the thirty-

fifth parallel railway. Ord mountain has an

altitude of about 2,500 feet above the adjacent

country, and 7,500 feet above the sea level.

It covers an area of twenty-five square miles.

This entire mountain is "laced" with gold-

bearing veins from two feet to 200 feet in width.

The Ord district contains, besides its gold,

some very rich copper ledges.

The Lava bed district, at the southeastern end

of Silver valley, is very rich in chlorides, silver

and lead predominating.

About thirty miles east of the Ord district,

is the Dry Lake district, with a promising gold-

mining camp.

Still eastward some forty miles farther is the

Trojan district.

In the Mojave district is a large number of

mines under Los Angeles control—the Soledad,

Sanchez, Champion, Noble, Empire, Chieftain,

etc. In the same district Pasadena companies

are working.

The Oro Grande mires on the Mohave river,

are about fifty miles from San Bernardino

There are six principal mines, from which hae

been taken an immense quantity of ore.

There are other districts south and west

which have been purchased or bonded by capi-

talists; and north and east lie rich sections

whose development will follow upon the build-

ing of the Utah Southern Railway. Each of

these mining districts covers a space of about

thirty miles square.

The Amargosa and Death valley borax de-

posits, controlled by San Francisco capitalists,

are claimed by able authorities to be the largest

in the world. There is a large deposit of borate

of lime seven miles from Daggett, east of Calico

Sixty miles east and north of Silver valley

are found two of the largest mountains of salt in

the United States, on the line of the Atlantic &
Pacific railway and one on the proposed line of

the Utah Southern Railroad. There are also

salt works at Salton, east of Indio, owned by

the Southern Pacific Railway, which has run a

branch road there.

Two mines at Black Hawk recently sold for

$350,000. There is here an enormous body of

ore, probably 200,000 tons in sight, of low grade

but easy to work. A 10-stamp mill is building,

with more in prospect if the result is satisfac-

tory.

At Gold valley a large English company is

expending much money in tunneling, etc.

Hydraulicking was begun this spring in the

placers here.

A 10-stamp mill is soon to be built at Oro

Grande, which camp is considered to have as-

sured a great future.

At Twenty-nine Palms a 5-stamp mill is

running, with fifteen stamps soon to be added.

Near Daggett Station, which is the base of

supplies for Calico, Death valley, and the
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surrounding country, are found immense de-

posits of 6pecular iron, pronounced by experts

the best in the United States. From Daggett

to the Colorado river, north of the mountains,

is that territory known as " the desert." rich in

gold, silver, copper, lead and antimony. In fact-

it may be said that almost every known variety

of mineral is found in this district. Lime-

stone is superabundant. Near the Colorado

river are deposits, many miles long, of iron.

Garnets are found in some districts. Borax is

found in great quantities. Asbestos, gypsum,

and niter beds are here. Salt is found, also, at

Armagosa. Marble, granite and limestone are

in abundance, to be mentioned by districts here-

after. From Victor, forty miles from San Ber-

nardino, on the California Southern, is shipped

white marble, the finest for building j urposes.

Some 1,500 men are employed in the quarries

at this point. Granite forms a great industry

on the Mohave, where 150 men are constantly

quarrying this stone for shipment to Los An-

geles and San Francisco.

Negotiations are pending for large quarries

of working marble in Holcomb valley.

At Mentone, in Mill creek canon, eighteen

miles from San Bernardino, is quarried a fine

brown sandstone, extensively used in building

the new hall of records at the county seat,

and of which large orders are sent to San

Francisco.

Within fourteen miles of San Bernardino

there are other large deposits of black, white

and variegated marble, which have been exam-

ined by Fastern capitalists, who will probably

purchase and work them.

But by far the most important development

of this industry in the county, is the quarry

plant and works on Stover mountain, where the

California Marble Company on March 1, 1887,

established itself for the exploiting of this ele-

ment, employing about forty five workmen, and

using the latest improved machinery to the

value of many thousands of dollars. There are

three quarries, yielding different kinds of mar-

ble, oTie of which is used principally for the

production of lime, to burn which there are on

the ground large kilns of the latest patent;

these, however, are not running at the time of

the present writing, owing to the light demand

for lime (March, 1890). The waste rock is con-

verted into crushed marble, and shipped in im-

mense quantities to Los Angeles, San Francisco

and the other cities, for street grading. The

marble quarries at these works is graded ac-

cording to its various beautiful colors, as follows:

tine white, found in abundant quantities; light

variegated, also abundant; dark variegated,

plentiful, used for mantel-shelves, table-tops,

columns, etc.; light grey or drab, very abun-

dant; crystal white, very plentiful; sea green,

in ample quantities, being used for shelves, table,

slabs, tiling, etc.; brown, such as is used in

jewelry settings, etc., the which is rated as rare,

although of late there has been unearthed

here a large deposit, in which are found blocks

two feet square; light blue, which is also rare;

and black, which is here found in abundance, al-

though it is known to exist in only three other

quarries in the world, they being in Mexico, in

Russia and in Egypt. The California stone carries

a trace of silver, and it is deemed superior in

luster and in finish to those of Russia or Egypt.

The uses of such stone are very numerous, and

that from Colton is manufactured into all kinds

of face work tor building, wainscotting, tiling,

mantels, hearthstones, panels, columns, cemetery

work, top- slabs for furniture, etc., fonts, altars,

imposing stones, vases, etc., etc.

The staircases, columns, paneling and wain-

scotting to the value of $30,000, of the new
Academy of Sciences in San Francisco will be

constructed of the marble from these quarries,

where many of the pieces, already completed,

are ready for shipment, being of exceptional

beauty.

The supply of this valuable stone is practi-

cally inexhaustible, Stone mountain being 400

feet high, and of 160 to 200 acres base area.

The existence of this marble has been known

since the period of American occupation but its

working, safe for lime, is of very recent date.
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The durability of this marble is one of its

strongest features. , It is unfading in color, as

it contains no iron, its coloration being due en-

tirely to the presence of graphite.

Professor Jackson makes it the least absorbent

of stones he has tested. Its crushing strength

is 17,095 pounds to the square inch, as com-

pared to about 8,000 pounds strength in ordi-

nary granite, while Quincy granite crushes

under something over 11,000 pounds to the

square inch.

This deposit is denuded, and is worked from

above by drifting, whereas most quarries are

worked from below. This advantage is obvious.

Some of the slabs cut here are of great size.

One section of stone as cut measures 60 x 18 x 12

feet.

The quarry is situated at the junction of two

trans-continental railways, and its ^reat impor-

tance has caused it to be completely encircled

by the tracks of both, the Santa F^ and the

Southern Pacific, which mutually concede the

right of way.

PUBLIC SCHOOLS OF SAN BEENAEDINO COUNTY.

San Bernardino County was segregated from

Los Angeles County, of which it originally

formed a part, by an act of the Legislature,

passed April 26, 1853; and the earliest history

recorded of a concerted systematic effort to

establish public schools in the territory com-

prised in San Bernardino County are of that

year. T. 1. Herring was the lirst County

Superintendent of common schools, and from

the report of the school commissioners signed

by him, and bearing date of November 17,

1853, the following is extracted:

" Kepoet of School Commissioners, San Ber-
nardino, November 17, 1853.

" Theodore Turley, David Seeley, James H.

Rollins, School Commissioners, report as fol-

lows: Whole number of children between four

and eighteen years in districts No. 1 and 2, 263;

number of boys, 142; number of girls, 121.

"Amount raised by subscription and paid

teachers, $1,438.

"Names of teachers employed: District No.
1—William Stout, eight months, $60 per month

;

William N. Cook (grade No. 2), six months, $60

per month; Q. S. Sharks, three months, $76 per

month; Sarah Pratt, three months and ten days,

$50 per month. District No. 2—Ellen S. Pratt,

four months, $35 per month; Louis Pratt, as-

sistant (primary school), one month, $27.50 per

month; W. S. Mathes, one month, $27.50 per

month. Number of pupils taught in first and

second districts, 206; daily average attendance,

160; amount expended for schools, libraries

and apparatus, $300; amount expended for

building or renting and furnishing school-

house, $291.50. Total amount of all expendi-

tures on account of schools, $2,029.50. The

whole of the above was raised by subscription.

"T. I. Herring,

"County Superintendent of Common Schools."

In the decade following the date of this record

the number of children of school age multiplied

more than fourfold, the number of census chil-

dren in 1863, as shown by the record, being

1,072. The following official table, kindly fur-

nished by County Superintendent Brooke, gives

the list of county superintendents, number of

census children, number of teachers, and the

value of school property in San Bernardino

County each year since 1867 to the present date:

Superintendent of Schools

L. Ra^sdale
S. Clark . . .

.

S. Clark....

H. C Brooke
John Brown, Jr

.. .John Brown, Jr
Henry Goodcell, Jr
Henry Goodcell, Jr
No Incumbent
Chas.R. Paine
Dr. J. A. Rousseau..
Dr. J. A. Rousseau
Dr. J. A. Rousseau
Dr. J. A. Housseau.

111'. Rousneau ami I). IS. Sturges.

. C. Brooke

. C. Brooke

.
('. Brooke.

No. of
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and D streets, in San Bernardino, and dedicated

with imposing ceremonies. It is a two-story

structure of rooms, and is still in use for

educational purposes. Previous to this the

school-houses were either adobe or wooden

buildings, with inferior lighting and ventilation

and primitive in style of architecture. This

was the initiative step in a new era which has

provided this county with the finest class of

school-houses of all counties in the State. Un-

til the adoption of the new constitution of Cali-

fornia in 1880, the public school system of the

State was under the supervision of the State

Board of Education, and was uniform in the

different counties; but with the adoption of the

new constitution the control of the school passed

from the State Board to the local County Board,

and, as shown by the comparative figures in this

article, the common schools of San Bernardino

County have made rapid strides of progress

from that time. The following table shows the

condition and progress each ten years for three

decades:

Census children, 5 to 17 years.

Children attending school

Average daily attendance ....

Number schools in county . .

.

Av'ge number months taught.

Average salary of teachers per

month

Cash received from State

Cash received from county . .

.

Cash rec'd from all sources. .$2,029 3,843 13,064 37,619

Total expenditures $2,029 2,867 10,590 30,402

Value of school property $2,180 16,475 45,198

Henry Campbell Brooke, Superintendent of

Schools of San Bernardino County, and one of

the most devoted and successful workers in the

cause of public-school education on the Pacific

coast, was born in Pennsylvania in 1834. His

ancestors on both sides emigrated to America

and settled in that State in the closing year of

the seventeenth century. His maternal grand-

mother, Miv. Phillips (Mary Lewis), was inti

mately acquainted with General George Wash-

ington, and often entertained the Father of his

Country at the Phillips home near Valley

1853. 1863.
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in proportion to the number of census children.

In 1888 the county ranked No. 9 in number of

census children; No. 12 in value of all property;

No. 5 in value of school property; No. 1 in

value of school property in proportion to the

value of all property in the county. This

splendid ratio of increase in the value of school

property is due in a large degree to the wise

method inaugurated years ago by Superinten-

dent Brooke, to raise money for the building of

school-houses, namely, the issuing of school

bonds in the respective school districts where

houses were needed. Having drawn a form of

bond submitted to and improved by the highest

legal authorities, the question of voting bonds

sufficient to cover the cost of the building to be

erected is submitted to the voters of the district,

and upon receiving the requisite two-thirds

vote the bonds are executed and sold, usually

by Mr. Brooke himself, thus saving broker's

commission. Some fifty-six issues of these

bonds have been made in the county, and there

has never been one returned for any irregularity,

and they have always readily sold at a premium,

ranging from six to fourteen per centum, the

premium obtained generally being sufficient to

seat and furnish the school-houses after they

are finished. By this judicious and business-

like mode of procedure the value of school prop-

erty in San BernardinoCounty has been increased

from $45,198 in 1882 to $456,693 in 1889, a

growth of over tenfold in seven years. During

this period the number of census children have

increased from 2,661 to 5,990; and the number
of teachers from 44 to 118. By the end of the

present year every one of the sixty-one school

districts in the county will be provided with a

comfortable, commodious house, some of them

costing as much as $75,000, modern in style of

architecture, and each supplied with the neces-

sary apparatus for the most effective educational

work. Professor Brooke's aim has been to fur-

nish all the facilities needed, and to employ the

most efficient teachers and then allow them to

work in their own way, and through their own
individual methods as far as is consistent with

the highest interests of the schools, holding

them responsible for results. Thus the teacher

is not subjected to any inflexible process of

machine cramming, but left free to use his or her

own judgment in the use of means to attain the

desired end in the school-room work. Success-

ive years of experience have demonstrated the

wisdom of treating the teacher as an, independ-

ent thinking individuality rather than an au-

tomaton propelled and controlled by rules as in-

flexible as the laws of mechanics, with the

county superintendent and the board of educa-

tion as the motive power. The public schools

of San Bernardino County compare favorably

with those of any other county in California or

the Union, and this proud achievement is due
in a large measure to the intelligent and unre-

mitting labors of County Superintendent Henry
Campbell Brooke.

BENCH AND BAR.

The members of the legal fraternity in San
Bernardino having formally organized in a bar

association on December 4, 1875, that organi-

zation was reconstructed October 31, 1887.

This reorganization was little more than the

adoption of a revised constitution. The first

officers of the association were: Byron "Waters,

President; W. J. Curtis, Vice President; Henry
Goodcell, Jr., Secretary. The present officers

are: W. J. Curtis, President; F. W. Gregg, Vice
President; Henry Goodcell, Jr., Secretary; J. P.

Higlet, Treasurer. The first constitution pro-

vided for an admission fee of $5, but as amended,
it provides that required funds be raised by
assessments. The constitution calls for regular

annual meetings, and for special meetings to

be held at the call of the president. The
present membership is thirty six, although the

attendance is sometimes greater than that

figure.

The present superior judges are: John L.

Campbell and C. W. C. Rowell. Prior to

their inucumbency this office was variously

filled; Hon. H. C. Rolfe, who grew up to the

legal profession in San Bernardino, as an indus-
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trions and studious practitioner, held the office;

so too, Henry M. Willis, who came, a young

lawyer, from San Francisco in 1858, arrived at

the position of County Judge and Superior

Judge. Hewitt Clark was a bright professional,

but drink caused his decadence and death.

Samuel G. Campbell, a lawyer from Missouri,

was in the early days District Attorney. He was

an able man, but a dissipated one, and he died

in a sad way. J. S. Sparks was par excellence

the criminal lawyer at the bar of San Bernard-

ino,—able, eloquent, and almost always success-

ful. Judge Benjamin Hayes, well known in

Southern California history, was the first District

Judge, presiding over all the southern counties,

including Santa Barbara. Judge A. D. Boren,

born in Illinois, still a prominent citizen of

San Bernardino, whither he came in 1854. was

on the bench for fourteen years continuous. He
was four times elected County Judge, and pre-

sided during the most lawless period of San

Bernardino's history.

During this period, the functions of a county

officer were often attended with considerable

danger, unless the official were allied with or

subservient to the gang of roughs in possession.

The era of good feeling and peace that had pre-

vailed between the Mormons and their Los

Angeles neighbors continued abont until the

exodus or return to Salt Lake in 1857-'58 of

some three-fourths of the Mormon element.

At this time there came to the county and the

town a very undesirable class of citizens, and

disorder and lawlessness became the rule, after

these people organized to the extent of possess-

ing themselves, partly by fraud and partly by

force, of the offices of sheriff, county clerk,

county recorder, etc. To illlustrate these con-

ditions, the following narratives will serve as

types: Gne McFeely, who was, by the way,

deputy clerk of San Bernardino, went one day

to the house of an inoffensive old negr bei "g
intoxicated, and there made such threatening

demonstrations that the old black man filed a

complaint against him. McFeely was arrested,

and taken before Justice J. W. Wilson. Taking

the complaint into his hands, apparently for in-

spection, he rolled it into compact form, and

then, pistol in hand, in the presence of the

court, he forced the old darkey to eat the docu-

ment! Judge Boren had this matter brought

before the next grand jury, and an indictment

was found against McFeely. At the trial the

deputy sheriff packed the jury-box largely with

the friends of McFeely, to defend whom
were retained all the lawyers in San Bernardino.

Judge Kussel, the District Attorney, did his

whole duty, but he was one against many. In

the midst of the trial, the county clerk, coming

drunk into the court-room, heard the judge

make a law-ruling unfavorable to McFeely,

and, drawing his gun, he cried out to his

deputy, " Buzz Tarleton, dont you dare to set

down any such ruling as that !

'

The associate judges in great alarm sprang

away from the side of the judge, lest a ball

designed for him might go wide of the mark

and strike them, and there was general con-

fusion in the court-room. The judge ordered

court adjourned, and the clerk, finding comfort-

able quarters in a saloon, was not present at the

afternoon session. The honest men on the jury

were so impressed by this occurrence, and by

the evident determination of the McFeely fac-

tion to release him at all hazards, that they

actually agreed to a verdict of " not guilty,"

some of them telling Judge Boren later that

he had perjured himself in his duty as a juror

to prevent bloodshed and violence in court

against the magistrate.

The county court in those earlier days com-

prised the county judge and two associate

judges—justices of the peace.

PHYSICIANS.

The first regular medical practitioner in San

Bernardino was Dr. Ira Burris, who came in

1852. Soon after arrived Ainsworth and Gen-

try, whose abilities are questioned by some of

the older residents who remember them, and

the story of whose fend is elsewhere herein re-

lated. Fortunately, the section has always been
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exceptionally healthy. In 1870 the medical

profession was represented by Drs. J. A. Rous-

seau, D. Evans, Winchester. Grindley, and

Dickey, the latter ol' whom is still resident

here.

The San Bernardino County Medical Society

was organized about 1886. It meets the first

Tuesday in each quarter. Its president is Dr.

W. R. Fox, of Colton; Secretary, Dr. F. M.

Price. Its membership is twenty-five to twenty-

eight.

There are in the county sixty-four physicians

of the allopathic school in active practice, and

of the homeopathic, twenty to thirty.

THE WATER SUPPLY.

In view of the great, the paramount import-

ance, of the water supply in developing the

resources of a locality, particularly a section

principally devoted to agriculture, it has seemed

desirable and necessary to give at rather dis-

proportionate length a circumstantial account of

this feature of San Bernardino County. This

report comprehends a very detailed and circum-

stantial description of two great water systems,

— that of Bear valley and that of the Gage

canal— because these enterprises are not only of

incalculable importance and benefit locally, but

they are regarded, throughout the State, and even

throughout the continent, as representative

undertakings and achievements.

STREAMS.

The Colorado river, the second in size of those

flowing into the Pacific on this coa6t, forms for

some 100 miles the eastern boundary of San

Bernardino County. At this section it is narrow,

deep, and free from bars or rocks. For much

of the distance, the river flows between gravel

bluffs 100 to 200 feet high, where there is usu-

ally good navigation, owing to the sandy bed

and fair channel. The low banks mean impaired

facility of navigation. In the Mohave valley

the river is generally good; there is a difficult

shoal at the entrance from the Needles, and also

four miles above, at the head of the valley, where

there are rocky bars and slight rapids. At this

section, the depth of the channel is about six

feet, it gradually decreasing. The channel is

little obstructed by sand-bars. The navigation

of this river has of late years assumed more im-

portance, and since the completion of the rail-

way to Fort Yuma, steamers have made regular

trips to Fort Mohave, near the boundary line of

California and Nevada.

The Santa ADariver,originating at the foot of

" Old Grayback " as a small brook, zigzags along

a westerly course, constantly augmented by little

streams, until it becomes the largest watercourse

in the county. From source to debouchure it

measures some seventy-five miles. Old San

Bernardino, Riverside, Jurupa, Redlands, Rin-

con, Agna Mansa, Sunnysidea:id Cram District,

besides other settlements in Los Angeles County,

are watered by it; aDd it is almost dry at certain

points, during the summer months, owing to its

draining by the irrigating ditches.

The Mohave river rises on the north side of

the Sierra Nevada, and north of San Bernardino

valley. It diverges to the Mohave desert, and

runs a northerly course to "The Caves," some
100 miles from San Bernardino, where it dis-

appears. In wet seasons, it is said to overflow

and enter Death valley. This stream sinks and

rises along its whole course.

Mill creek rises in the mountains near Gray-

back, and runs ior a space parallel with the Santa

Ana, into which then, turning to the left, it

empties. Much of its water is conveyed by the

Mill creek ditch southward along the base of

the hills, to irrigate the orchards and grain-fields

of Old San Bernardino.

Lytle creek is a small stream, rising in the

mountains west of Cajon pass, at the base of

Mount Baldy. A portion of its waters is piped

down the mountains, for use in hydraulic min-

ing. This stream waters a considerable num-

ber of farms and orchards.

City creek comes down upon the plains

through a small canon in the northeastern part
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of the valley, and it is of great value in the farm-

ing operations of that district.

From the base of the mountains to the center

of the valley the land is gradually depressed;

the lowlands thus formed give rise to innumer-

able streams, and swamp lands here formerly

covered thousands of acres, a great portion of

which has been drained and brought under cul-

tivation. Much more water could be developed,

and excellent land obtained, by continuing this

system of reclamation.

CIENEGAS AND WELLS.

The word cienegaisa Spanish term, meaning,

swampy or boggy ground. A cienega, in its

local use, is applied to a spring and the marshy

land about it. The cienegas of the San Bernard-

ino basin are more extensive than any others

in the southern country, and they are the chief

summer source of supply of the Santa Ana river.

The two principal ones, quite near the town of

San Bernardino, and covering an area of some

300 acres each, are said to be of recent origin,

old settlers recalling the time when their site

was comparatively dry. The volume of the

stream issuing from them—it is called from its

temperature Warm creek—has been slowly in-

creasing of late years, probably from the drain-

age of the many artesian wells recently bored

in the vicinity, and from the drain ditches cut

thereabouts. Warm creek is a beautiful, clear

stream, carrying over eighty cubic feet per

second. At other spots in the valley, springs

burst forth after very wet seasons, forming tem-

porary cienegas, which after a few years dry np

again, until replenished by another season of

excessive rainfall. Opposite Riverside, in the

bottom lands of the Santa Ana river, there are

other large cienegas, which add twenty-live or

thirty cubic feet per second to the volume of the

stream; and farther down, in the eighteen miles

between Riverside and Bedrock canon, the

river is constantly augmented from similar

sources. These streams and springs are so nu-

merous, that it were difficult to segregate their

offices; but their volume oi water may be ap-

proximately estimated at some twenty cubic feet

per second, thus irrigating about 1,800 acres.

SAN BERNARDINO VALLEY.

Theareaof that part of San Bernardino County

in which are obtained flowing wells, is only of

some thirty square miles, including the sources

of Warm creek, and the large cienegas. The fol-

lowing notes are from a report prepared by F.

T. Ferris, civil engineer of San Bernardino, who

says:

" The valley of San Bernardino has peculiar

topographical features, a study of which makes

apparent the fact that it was once a lake of con-

siderable proportions. On the north is the San

Bernardino range of mountains, having an alti-

tude of from 5,000 to 7,000 feet; on the east, a

low range of clay hills, having for their summit

the divide of the San Gorgonio pass; on the

south, a low range of clay and granite hills, and

on the west a high mesa, forming the west bank

of Lytle Creek.

" The natural gate, outlet, or drainage of the

valley is in its southernmost portion, where the

Santa Ana river passes between two hills of

limestone, or rather what was once apparently

one lull, since cut through. At this point the

'bed-rock' is near the surface, forming the val-

ley of San Bernardino into a complete and large

catchment basin for the watershed of a very

large area of country, the main channel of

drainage being the Santa Ana river.

" The soil of the valley, as far as pierced by

artesian borings, shows it to be mainly granitic

in character, stratified by alternating layers of

clay, evidently swept in from the country east

and south. Boring to a depth of 150 or 200

feet, frequently pierce a bed of vegetable mold,

proving that the valley has been filled up by

the gradual erosion of the surrounding hills.

This being true, it may be readily believed that

the valley of San Bernardino, following a con-

tour line from the level of the bed-rock at the

outlet before alluded to, is a lake ot water per-

colating the coarse sands and gravel which un-
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derlie it, and fom which the artesian supply is

invariably derived.

" There are, unquestionably, artesian channels

of water passing underground from the mount-

ains to the main drainage channel of the Santa

Ana, and conforming in general characteristics

to the surface channels. These, composed of

sand and gravel, probably underlie clay, and

pass over cemented sand and gravel at a cer-

tain elevation around the margin of the val-

ley, and furnish the ' head' to our wells. This

theory is borne out by the facts presented in

digging wells in certain localities. These arte-

sian channels are believed to be as numerous as

the surface streams which debouche into the

valley, and all have an apex or point of concen-

tration at the southwest corner of the valley,

where our strongest wells exist, and cienegas

and springs most abound. * * *

"Artesian wellt, are bored rather for domestic

use and small garden irrigation than for general

agricultural purposes. The two-inch wells, there

fore, prevail on account of their economy in cost

The larger sizes do not afford a discharge com-

mensurate with their largely increased cost.

This fact has seemed somewhat puzzling. I

think it is due, however, to lack of head, as the

increase in the weight of the column of water

in the pipe retards the flow. This has given

rise to the belief that a two-inch well affords as

much water as one of three or four inches in

diameter.

"Those best informed estimate the number at

400 to 425: in diameter from two to eight

inches, the greater number being but two

inches in diameter. A list of fifty-six wells

bored by one firm shows the shallowest wells

to be eighty feet, and the deepest 380, the aver-

age being about 160 feet. The most northerly

well of the valley is 262 feet in depth. The

most southerly well is ninety-nine feet deep,

and is the finest flowing stream in the valley.

The most easterly well but one is 285 feet

deep.

"The deepest and most easterly well in the

valley is that of Judge Willis, of Old San Ber-

nardino. This has a depth of 410 feet, and a

diameter of seven inches. Vegetable matter,

consisting of decayed tule roots and pine wood,

was brought up from the last sixty feet. Small

fish (suckers), two to four inches in length, re-

sembling those found in the mountain streams,

were occasionally ejected from this well. The
well afforded a fine flowing stream, but was

afterwards spoiled through the efforts of the

well-borer to perforate the pipe at 350 feet and

secure the first stream."

In the abundance of the water supply, the

valley of San Bernardino surpasses any other

in Southern California. It is estimated that

from some 450 artesian wells in the valley there

is an aggregate discharge of twenty-five cubic

feet of water per second, or 16,153,600 gallons

of water every day.

The foregoing observations are based on con-

ditions existing a number of years since. The
number of artesian wells is very greatly in-

creased, and they penetrate to a much greater

depth than the older wells, some of them being

over 600 feet deep.

Good surface water is obtained at a depth of

from fifteen to 150 feet, according to the

locality.

DITCHES AND DAMS.

The Mill creek ditch, on the eastern side of

the valley, was constructed in 1820 by the

Jesuit fathers, who founded the mission San

Bernardino. This ditcli, following a natural

depression in the valley, so closely resembles a

mountain stream that a question arose some

years since as to whether it really was an artifi-

cial channel or the natural outlet of Mill creek.

The question was decided by the courts, on

competent testimony. The direct and plainly

marked channel of the creek, joining the Santa

Ana river several miles above tiie old mission,

proved conclusively that the stream did not

naturally seek its present outlet. The waters

of this ditch are controlled by eighteen indi-

vidual farmers holding first rights to its use.

The principal ditch from Lytle creek is taken

out on the west side near the canon mouth,
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and for some miles follows the plateau, where a

portion of its water is diverted for irrigation.

It then is carried across the rocky channel to

the town of San Bernardino. This ditch has

numerous branches, owned by independent as-

sociations of irrigators. The periodical rotation

varies upon each of its branches.

As the Santa Ana river emerges from its

rock-bound canon into the valley, its waters are

diverted into two ditches, the North Fork ditch,

on the right bank, and the South Fork ditch, on

the opposite side. Both these were constructed

in 1858 or 1859, although a new ditch was

made in 1878 for the South Fork, on higher

ground than the old, which still continued in

use. The North and the South Fork are similar

in character, and each is about eight miles

long.

The Bear valley dam is located at the outlet

of Bear valley into Bear creek, which empties

into the Santa Ana river about five miles below.

The natural conformation of the land makes

this the most favorable situation that could have

been selected. The valley is surrounded by

mountains, and has no other outlet than this,

which here is very narrow, with precipitous

rocky sides. Into the solid rocks of this gorge

the dam is abutted, being built on a curve,

arching inwards, forming the arc of a circle,

with a diameter of 345 feet. It conforms to the

mountain slope on either side. Its top length

is 300 feet from the abutments; it is sixty feet

high from the bedrock of the creek, at its deep-

est portion. From a base width of twenty feet,

it slopes to three feet wide at the top. Its aver-

age co- efficient of safety is twenty-five, and it

could resist twenty times the present pressure.

This dam is built of vast granite blocks, laid in

Portland cement (of which 1,600 barrels were

consumed in the structure), the interstices be-

ing filled with beton. The lake formed by this

dam is said to be the largest artificial body of

water in the world. It extends five miles back

into Bear valley, with an average width of

nearly a mile, and a depth of twelve feet, and it

contains the enormous amount of 8,000,000,000

gallons. To supply this, the valley furnishes

over sixty square miles of drainage area, on

which falls three times the amount of water re-

ceived by the lower valleys. The quantity of

water now held in reserve is sufficient to irri-

gate 50,000 acres of land, and to supply a pop-

ulation of 500,000 with water for domestic

purposes. This dam is 6,400 feet above sea

level.

For the satisfaction of readers who desire

more technical details, here follows a circum-

stantial account of

THE BEAR VALLEY WATEE SYSTEM,

taken entire from " Irrigation in California

(Southern)," by William Hamilton Hall, State

Engineer.

Bear Valley and Bear Creek.—Immediately

north of the San Bernardino peak and Grayback

mountain, extending in an easterly and westerly

direction, at an elevation from 4,500 to 5,000

feet, lies the valley of the upper Santa Ana
river. Overlooking this, and bordering it on

the north is a long rugged mountain ridge,

whose crest line holds 7,200 to 7,700 feet of

altitude, and which I shall call the central ridge.

Next north of this, with its axis in the same

direction and about four and one-half miles

from the main mountains on the south, we fiud

Bear valley, a remarkably large and flat mount-

ain basin, about 6,200 to 6,300 feet above the sea,

and twenty-one miles in a straight line from

San Bernardino.

Storage Reservoir.—This valley has the ap-

pearance of once having held a lake whose wa-

ters, at an elevation of 125 feet above its bottom,

ovei flowed at the east end into the head of a

canon which leads away into the Colorado

desert. Now, however, we find a deep and nar-

row rock-bound gorge leading out of its other

extremity, and, cutting southerly around the

west end of the Central mountain ridge, before

mentioned, joiuing the caiion of the Santa Ana
river about ten miles above its outlet into San

Bernardino valley. This gorge holds Bear creek,

at whose point of departure from the valley a
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dam has been built, whereby the basin lias been

made, or remade, a lake. The bottom plain of

the valley is twelve miles long, and varies be-

tween a few hundred yards and a mile in width.

Its lower end was narrow and rock-bound; then,

a couple of miles or more above the dam

site, it opened out into a couple of beautiful

meadows, whose level plains, 700 to 800 acres

in area, were thirty to forty-five feet above the

outlet; and at the upper end of the valley is

another such flat, covering about 800 acres, and

twenty to thirty feet still higher. At sixty feet

of elevation above the base of the dam a water-

plane would reach 5.9 miles up the valley, and

have an average width of 0.6 of a mile, covering

2,252 acres in area. At 120 feet of elevation the

length would be 11.5 miles, the mean width 1.1

miles, and the area submerged 7,850 acres.

Water-shed and Precipitation.—The water-

shed tributary to the valley is forty to forty-five

square miles in area. On the south lies the

Central ridge already described, and heavily

timbered on its slope toward Bear valley. North

aud west is a well timbered but not abrupt

mountain 1,000 to 1,500 feet above the valley.

Northeast are rolling hills—500 to 700 feet

above the valley, and sparsely timbered; while

the east end is closed in from the desert slope

by a comparatively barren range of hills, whose

altitude ranges from 200 to 500 feet above the

valley. The rock of the country is, for the most

part, granite, of which huge boulders and mas-

sive ledges crop out around the slope, particu

larly near the western end. Limestone is found

near the eastern end, and some good lime has

been burned there. Although the country is

much broken and shattered in its rock forma-

tion, there is a good layer of soil over most of

it, and the bottom of the valley itself is well

clothed in this respect, as attested by the rich

meadows which ordinarily remain moist and

green the year round—receiving little streams

from the wooded hillsides, and having some

springs along their margins. It was feared in

some quarters that the reservoir would not hold

water—that it would escape in enormous quan-

tities through the rock rifts and seams. But

this fear has proven groundless. Bear valley is

in the midst of the heaviest down-pour belt in

Southern California. The clouds collect and

bank up against the high peaks of San Bernard-

ino and Grayback, and spread over into the

Bear valley water-shed. Holding so great an

altitude, its precipitation is largely received in

the form of snow, which, in the wooded and

shaded portion of its sides, lies for several

months.

Bear Valley Dam.—The dam is at the ex-

treme western end of the valley, at the head of

the narrow, rock-bound gorge, which drops rap-

idly away. Founded on granite, where the

channel was sixty to seventy-tive feet wide and

abutting against granitic mountain sides, at the

top line it is about 300 feet in length, in the

form of an arch, having a radius of 335 feet;

and it is 64 feet in height from extreme base to

top of coping. In cross-section it is remarkable.

The top is but 3 to 3.2 feet wide; the lower

face vertical for 48 feet and the upper face bat-

tered so that 48 feet down the structure is 8.5

feet thick. At this plane there is an offset up

and down stream—the. dam increases in thick-

ness to twelve or fifteen feet—and thence has

a slight batter on both sides, so that at the ex

treme foundation it has a thickness of twenty

feet. This structure is of granite, rough-ashlar

masonry on both faces, and broken-coursed rub-

ble in the interior, all laid in a cement mortar

and grouting. The square stones show dimen-

sions ranging from three to five feet in length,

one and one-half to two and one-half feet in

width, and one to two feet in thickness, with

others, of course, smaller. Its total volume is

about 3,300 or 3,400 cubic yards. At the timo

construction commenced, in the fall of 1883,

there was no water running out of the valley,

and little was encountered in sinking three or

four feet for the dam foundation, so that small

difficulty was had in this work. That season

the wall was brought up to the level of the

bench, sixteen feet above the foundation plane,

for half of its length. It was desired to make
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some show of impounding water the first year,

and to test the water-producing capacity of the

shed; so a temporary earthen dam was put

across the valley just below the wide marshes,

about two miles above the main dam site. This

embankment was five to six feet high, and was

calculated to bank water over 500 to 600 acres,

to an average depth of three or four feet. The

move was quite a fortunate one. for the water thus

held back during the winter of 1883-'84 fur-

nished a supply, which lieing gradually let out

of this temporary reservoir, during the summer,

enabled the constructors to keep a lake surface

of sufficient depth and extent behind the new

wall to afford, by means of flat-boats, an eco-

nomical way of transporting stone from the

quarries. The rock was quarried from the out-

cropping masses of granite along the edge of

the valley, and near the level of the proposed

lake, from 100 yards to three-quarters of a mile

above the dam site. That for the first season's

work was obtained near at hand and delivered

on sleds, but that for the second season's work,

comprising the great mass of the dam, was

transported on flats and put into the work by

means of derricks on large rafts floated close

against the upper face of the dam.

At the north end the dam foundation was

cut into the loose, sloping mountain-side, to a

bed-rock base. The south end abuts against a

massive, nearly perpendicular ledge, or point, of

granite standing near 100 feet out into the canon.

This point in reality forms a part of the dam.

Over it a flood escape-way has been cut twenty

feet in width, and with a plane 8.5 feet below

the level of the extreme crest of the dam coping.

Through the bedrock immediately below the

foundation plane, about one-third of the length

of the structure from the southern end, about

9.5 feet above its extreme base plane, is a

cutting which forms a culvert 3x3.5 feet in

aperture, opening out below into a masonry

pool, from which it was expected to measure

the water over a weir. This culvert gradually

becomes narrower towards the upper end. On
the upper face of the structure the culvert is

closed with masonry, to a gate-opening of

twenty by twenty-four inches, over which is an

iron sliding-gate, on brass bearings, worked by a

screw at the top of an iron rod, which extends

up through the water, in a six-inch lap-welded

pipe serving as a guide, to a wooden platform,

built out from the coping of the dam. Subse-

quently this culvert opening was lined over a

movable mould with concrete, so that the

opening is 2 x 3 feet, with an arched top.

There is no gate tower; no provision for draw-

ing water at less pressure; no safe-guard or

regulator on the one outlet provided other than

the one gate. In the matter of abutment, the dam

for about twenty to thirty feet at each side is

gradually made thicker, so that it rests against

the rock of the country at 1.5 to 2.2 its normal

thickness. The coping stones are three feet long,

generally one and one half feet thick, and two to

two and one-half feet wide, resting lengthwise

across the top of the structure. The finish work

and copingstones have not been put on for the full

length, so that for more than half the length

the top is thiee to four feet below the intended

plane of completion. The first year after con-

struction, with the water-plane at forty to forty-

five feet, there was a little leakage at the south

end, near or under the base, which, it is claimed,

came through rifts in the granite point, against

which the structure there rests; and there was

a remarkably free sweating and efflorescence of

lime on the lower face over the whole structure,

nearly up to the water-line. it is understood

that the sweating phenomenon has now to a

great extent ceased. There has been some

expansive movement to the structure—attested

by the reported' fact that the cope stones which

do not extend all the way across show a separa-

tion at some of the points, to be accounted for

only as the result of expansion and subsequent

contraction. Otherwise the structure appears

to rest just as placed, and thus far serves its

purpose; the water having been for a time

within a foot of the finished part of its top, and

having constantly .-tood well up on it for a con-

siderable period, as hereinafter written.
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The company, desirous of securing greater

reservoir capacity, has in contemplation an

enlargement of this work. It is proposed to

provide for storage to the 100-foot plane above

the present foundation.

Reservoir Space and Water-Supply.—This

reservoir site was surveyed preliminarily by the

State Engineering Department in 1880, and it

was reported that a dam forty-five feet in height

would impound water over an area of about

1,500 acres, to a volume of about 650,000,000

cubic feet, and that a dam sixty feet in height

would create a reservoir space about 2,300 acres

in area, and about 1,850,000,000 cubic feet in

volume. The dam subsequently built is not

exactly at the location where the section of

1880 was made, so that the figures of the later

and more detailed survey made by the Bear

valley company do not tally precisely with

those of the preliminary reconnoisance; but

they are close enough to prove substantially

correct.

Cost of the. Work.—The dam cost about

$68,000, which, together with expense attend-

ing the management, and collateral costs during

its construction, brought the total to about

$75,000. There were upwards of 1,600

barrels of cement used, all of which had to be

hauled by wagon from San Bernardino, over

seventy miles of rough and heavy road, away

round the mountains and up the desert face of

the chain to Holcomb valley, itself not over

21 miles from San Bernardino in an airline.

This transportation cost over $10 per barrel, and

the cement in all cost over $20,000. This cir-

cumstance of heavy transportation and inacces-

sibility of location made all rates high, and the

cost excessive for its bulk. Under these cir-

cumstances, it seems that another kind of dam
might have been constructed to advantage.

District and Works.—The waters of Bear

valley reservoir being liberated come down
Bear creek and Santa Ana river. The character

of the river channel is such, and loss in it so

very great after leaving the canon, that it is

desirable to take waters out of it at as hi<rh a

point as possible. The Bear valley company

found the North Fork and South Fork ditches

in possession of the point of advantage—the

highest place at which diversion could be

effected, without extraordinary expense and cost

for works, which would have to be located on

rough canon and mountain sides. After long

and wearisome negotiations, agreements have

been effected under which the Bear valley

company has secured right of way for its waters

out from this point, and through the North and

South Fork ditches.

The Bear Valley Canal and Structures.—
The work as it now is may be described as fol-

lows: commencing at the "divide," the waters

flow down a natural channel-way through bould-

ers and gravels for somewhat less than half a

mile; thence they are led partly in a natural

channel and partly in artificial cuttings, still

through the same river-wash about a quarter of

a mile farther, to a place that may be called the

southern face of the canon mouth. Here they

are taken into a flume forty-eight inches wide

and thirty-two inches deep, and carried around

the base of the southern bluff for a distance of

2,600 feet, gradually coming out upon the first

bench-land south of the river. Thence the canal

is constructed across three flat points of bench-

land, crossing in its route two deep arroyos or

barrancas, a distance of 2,650 feet to the great

barranca known as Mill creek wash. This work

is in the form of a paved and cemented canal,

two feet wide on the bottom, five feet wide on

top, and three and one-half to four and one- half

feet deep. The paving and masonry walls were

put in by line, in mortar and cemented over the

whole surface. It was constructed in the spring

of 1885. Its grades are eight inches and twenty

inches in the 100 feet, and its capacity is placed

at 3,000 inches. The flumes across the two ar-

royos mentioned are 360 feet and 290 feet long

respectively, and are mainly supported on tres

ties, but with a truss-bridge support over main

channel-way, forty-five and twenty-nine feet

high, respectively, about the central part of each,

Across Mill creek wash is a flume forty-eight
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inches wide, twenty-four inches deep, and 240

feet long, supported on trestles. This is a work

of the old Sunnyside or South Fork Ditch As-

sociation, and was constructed about 1878. It

is now in a dilapidated condition, and is to be

replaced. From Mill creek wasli for one and

one-half miles in a southwesterly direction, the

work follows in quite adinct line, and over the

route of the old South Fork or Sunnyside canal.

As originally constructed, this was simply an

excavated ditch, following the uneven grades of

the ground's surface, with a cobble and gravel

bed, three and one-half feet wide on the bottom,

five feet on top, and two feet deep. During the

past spring the Bear Valley Company recon-

structed 3,295 feet of this ditch, making it a

paved and cemented ditch two and one-half feet

wide at the bottom, five feet wide on top, and

three and one-half deep. At about a quarter of

a mile above the lower end of this section is

what is known as the Sunnyside " divide,"where

the waters of the Sunnyside canal are turned

into the old channel, which takes them westerly

into the Lugonia district. At the lower end of

this division of the Bear valley work, the T.

& B. ditch joins it, having come around on a

lower-grade line, west of the Bear valley course.

Thence the Bear valley canal follows on nearly

the old alignment of Redlands ditch, which was

first constructed in 1881, almost on adue south-

west course, to and across the Mill creek zanja.

As built, this was nearly a straight piece of

ditch, and was roughly paved and partly ce-

mented; was about two and one- half feet wide

on the bottom, two feet deep and five feet on

top, being very irregular, however, in form as

well as in grade. Of this old work, during the

past spring about 500 feet were reconstructed,

set deeper in the ground, repaved and cemented.

* * * This work thus far has stood well,

there having been no cracks or checks in it.

It cost about $2 per linear foot for the masonry

works complete.

Across Mill creek zanja there is a flume 430

feet in length, three feet wide, two and one-half

feet deep, on a grade of 0.3 in 100, all of red-

wood and well constructed. This brings us into

the fifth division of the work, which extends

from Mill creek zanja to the Yucaipa reservoir

of the Redlands Water Company. Following

the general line of the old Redlands canal, as

constructed in 1881-'82, the new work here

is gradually getting back upon the compara-

tively high bench-lands and nearing the foot-

hills of the Southern range. As originally

constructed, the old canal was«bout 10,000 feet

long through this division. It was very crook

ed, and of irregular grade and cross-section, but

generally two and oue-half feet on the bottom,

four to five feet on the top, and two feet deep.

During the spring of 1888 the Bear Valley

Water Company reconstructed this ditch for a

total length of 3,800 feet of paved and cemented

work and 600 feet of fluming. This new work

commenced about 2,500 feet from the head of

the division, and from being straight in align-

ment has shortened the channel about 900 feet.

Distribution Works.—The Yucaipa distrib-

uting reservoir is at the end of this section,

and into the waters of the canal are led,

and taken thence, as described under another

heading, into the pipe distributing system of the

settlement of Redlands. Across the arroyo, in

which is the dam for the reservoir, and

just below the dam, the Bear valley waters

are led in a twenty-two-inch wrought iron,

riveted, pressure-pipe, 1,225 feet in length,

with a maximum head of pressure of fifty feet,

and a hydraulic gradient of one foot in 100.

Thence flowing still westerly, around the extreme

upper edge of the mesa, and sometimes on the

steeper hillsides, the waters are led in a thirty-

inch cement pipe laid in a trench and covered.

The length is 2,375 feet, and grade 0.3 in 100.

This is theend, for the present, of the Bear valley

main work on the south side of the river, and here

is placed a concrete chamber into which the wa-

ters are received, and from which they are

apportioned out over weirs to four pipe lines.

Of these, one supplies a portion of the Redlands

colony water; another furnishes West Redlands

and Terracina; the third extends to Gladista
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and the Drew tract; and the fourth skirts the

valley and crosses San Timoteo creek to Mound
City.

Possibilities of the Project.—The Bear Val-

ley Company's reservoir site and water supply

and its command of advantageous lines of deliv-

ery for its waters, constitutes the basis of a

property which could be made of inestimable

benefit to a great area of rich and fruitful lands,

favorably situated in one of the most important

irrigation regions of the State. Putting out of

view the works by which the purpose has been

or is sought to be accomplished, and concerning

which this report only 6tates facts without

comment, the work is one of importance to the

irrigation interests of the State. Fully and

properly accomplished, this conservatism of

water might be made not only to greatly extend

irrigation in San Bernardino County, but to save

the irrigation interest from disaster in years of

drought which are sure to come.

History of the Work and Organization.—
During the sntnmer of 1880 a topographical

survey was made of Big Bear Valley, as a reser-

voir site, under the direction of the State Engi-

neer, for the State, and it was reported upon as

one of the best locations for the purpose found

in Southern California. In May, 1883, it was

visited by F. E. Brown, a young civil engineer,

in company with Hiram Barton, who was fa-

miliar with the San Bernardino mountains.

Brown had heard of the survey and report on

the reservoir site, and Barton had seen the place.

Both had become impressed with the advisa-

bility of storing the flood waters of the Santa Ana
river from experience in irrigation and water

development works, in the neighborhood of Red-

lands and Old San Bernardino. Returning to

San Bernandino, a company was formed. This

organization was at first in the nature of a part-

nership, in which there were thirty-six parts or

shares. A purchase was made from Los An-

geles owners of 3,800 acres of the land, and 700

were obtained from the Southern Pacific Railway

Company, and from the Government, which all

cost in round numbers about $25,000 to $30,000,

and which embraced all of the reservoir site

desired, and part of the water-shed. Work was
begun on the dam on Septemher 27, 1883, and
continued until November 17, when the winter's

near approach compelled its stopping for the

season, and the retreat of the force to the lower

valleys. An excavation for the foundation was
made, and about 250 cubic feet of masonry were

put in place during this short season. On July

3, 1884, work was resumed and pushed forward

during that summer until about the last of No-
vember, when the dam, so far as projected, was

completed, except a part of the coping and flood

escape-way.

Organization.—The Bear Valley Land and

Water Company was incorporated in September,

1883, with a capital stock of $360,000, divided

into 3,600 shares of $100 par value each, of

which the whole amount was taken by eleven

local subscribers, in lots ranging from fifty to

1,000 shares each. The principal place of busi-

ness was named at San Bernardino, and term of

incorporation fixed at fifty years. At once

$30,000 were paid up, and to this time, Jul}',

1888, $180,000 have been paid in by the stock-

holders, in the way of original payment and sub-

sequent assessments. Each share of stock was

intended to represent one inch of water flowing

throughout the irrigating season of six months.

The price o' this stock gradually increased. In

the spring of 1884 it had cost the holders $4.50

per share; and was selling at $25 per share;

and in the summer of 1877, it had cost the

holders $45 per share, and was selling at

$225 to $255 per share. In addition to stock

certificates, the company has issued water cer-

tificates to its stockholders, which are transfer-

able independent of the stock shares, and which

are in the nature of water-rights in the Bear

valley water supply.

The North and South Fork Companies'1

Combination*—Under agreements made with

the North Fork Water Company, and others

owning interest in the North Fork canal, and

with the owners of the South Fork water-right

and ditches, the Bear valley has secured right
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of way for its waters through these canals, and

has thereby secured an outlet for them on each

side of the river,—around the margins of the

valley,—so as to command the whole region

which may naturally look to these waters for

irrigation.

Bear Valley Branch Works.—From the end

of the Bear valley main four pipe lines extend.

These may be briefly described as follows:

—

Gladista and Drew Line. This main distribu-

tary is a twelve-inch cement pipe, extending

down the mesa through liedlands; and thence

diagonally in a northwest direction across the

plain, a total distance of about three miles, to

the Gladista tract, which is west of Lugonia;

and thence ten-inch and eight-inch cement piping

is laid westerly through this tract to Drew tract,

which is next north of Old San Bernardino.

Mound City Main.—From the end of the

Bear valley south side main conduit, a wrought

iron riveted pipe, thirteen inches in diameter, is

carried across the West liedlands settlement;

thence across San Timoteo canon, and out on

the bench lands, still westerly to Mound City,

a total distance of five and one half to six miles.

East RedlancVs Water Company District

and Work.—A tract of 450 acres in area, lying

adjacent to the northeast end of the Redlands

settlement, on the same bit of mesa, and com-

manded by the old Redlands ditch, now the

Bear valley canal, is known as East liedlands. It

is a colony settlement very much on the plan of

Redlands, and its irrigations are effected through

works owned and controlled by the East Red-

lands Water Company. These works are mere

distributaries of waters from the Bear valley

canal, and consist of three- fourths mile of twelve-

inch, one and one-half miles of eight inch, four

miles of six-inch, and three miles of live-inch

cement concrete pipe, laid and arranged on the

same general plan as those of the Redlands sys-

tem. The total expenditure on works has been

about $10,000.

Operation and Maintenance.—The pro-

moters of this enterprise owned the land, and

had Bear valley water certificates as water

rights for use thereon. They organized the

East Redlands Water Company, and placed in

it 1,000 certificates, which call for one-seventh

of an inch of water each from the Bear valley

supply, taking the stock of the company in re-

turn. In selling the lands they transferred one

share of the stock with each acre. The works

are in charge of a zanjero, and are operated

upon the same principle as those of Redlands.

Water-Svpply and Use.—The water-supply

is represented by that of Bear valley, in the

proportion of certificates held. There are at

the present time 150 acres under cultivation,

chiefly in citrus fruits and raisin grapes, owned

and irrigated by about twenty irrigators.

History— Organization.—The East Red-

lands Water Company was incorporated in Sep-

tember, 1886, with a capital stock of $100,000,

divided into 1,000 shares. Its purpose is to

supply water to stockholders only.

West Redlands Water Company—District

and Work.—Lying immediately west of the

southeast end of Redlands colony lands is a

tract of 1,000 acres of similar red ine6a forma-

tion, which has been placed in the West Red-

lands colony enterprise. The. West Redlands

Water Company is organized for its irrigation

service. The works, taking their supply from

the Bear valley canal, consist of about two

miles of fourteen-inch, one mile of twelve-inch,

one and one-half miles of eight-inch, five miles

of 6ix inch, and four miles of five-inch concrete

cement pipe, laid and planned on the same

principle as those of the original Redlands.

The cost thus far has been about $15,000.

Operation and Maintenance.—This is an

exactly similar organization to that of East

Redlands, with similar water rights and same

relation between the company and its stock-

holders as water customers, and it is maintained

and operated in the same way. Each share of

stock represents the right to the water due one

Bear valley certificate, and the right to have it

delivered through the pipe system of the com-

pany, and there is a share conveyed with each

acre of the land sold. Distribution is in charge
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of a zanjero, and is made upon orders received

from the irrigators, and arranged in rotation by

the water master.

Water-Supply and Use.— As explained

above, the lands have a Bear valley water right

of one-seventh of an inch to each acre. There

are about 150 acres irrigated by about fifty iiri-

gators, this being the first year of cultivation.

History— Organization.—The West Red-

lands Water Company was incorporated in

April, 1887, to supply water to its stock-

holders, with a capital stock of $100,000,

divided in 1,000 shares.

The new dam to be constructed for Bear val-

ley reservoir will store water sufficient to irri-

gate 150,000 acres, and a new system of reser-

voirs recently surveyed just north of the moun-

tains will, when constructed, furnish water for

50,000 acres more.

A considerable tract of land on the San Ber-

nardino portion of the San Jacinto plain has

been purchased by parties interested in the

Bear valley system, who design to convey

thither the waters from this storage system.

The main conduit to be constructed for this

purpose must be some forty miles in length,

carrying 300 cubic feet of water per second.

The territory to be watered by this extension

will cover 6ome 75,000 acres or upwards.

THE GAGE CANAL SYSTEM.

The following account of the Gage Canal

System is taken entirely from the work of

William Hamilton Hall, State Engineer, on

" Irrigation in California (Southern):"

"History of Enterprise, and Water- Right.

—The success achieved in irrigation of the

mesa plain south of the Santa Ana river by the

Riverside canak, and the high values attained

by the lands there planted to the orange and

the vine, for which the soil and climate proved

specially suitable, stimulated desire to furnish

water to that portion of the mesa lying above

the reach of the highest of these canals, where

the soil was equally fertile, but barren for lack

of irrigation. * * * Surveys were made

by the State Engineer in 1880 to deter-

mine the feasibility of irrigating this plain,

and a canal line was run in substantially the

position now occupied by the Gage canal out

on the mesa. The plan then in view was the

forming of a reservoir in Bear valley (since

carried out by private enterprise), and the con-

struction of a canal from the mouth of Santa

Ana canon, skirting the valley on the south and

east to Mill creek, crossing the Mill creek

ditch, continuing around the valley to the south

of the present Lngonia, Redlands and Mound
City tract, and thence extending to the River-

side plain. In connection with this system a

reservoir was planned for the main Yucaipa

valley, and one or two others in the vicinity, to

serve as feeders and regulators of the canal A
large reservoir was also to be made in the Te-

quisquite arroyo above Riverside, into which

the canal was to discharge. Parts of this com-

prehensive system have since been carried out

bj' private parties, but independently of their

connection with the whole, the Gage canal in

its course around the bluffs and out on the mesa

being substantially one of the links.

"Organization.—* * * This enterprise

has been carried forward purely as a business

operation'by one person— Mr. Matthew Gage,

of Riverside. His capital was small. He
obtained a bond on the water-bearing and

riparian rights; outlined the project; secured

several small, old ditch water-rights, and an

advantageous agreement with owners of another

old ditch right; and then negotiated a bonus for

irrigating water rights with owners of dry

lands out on the mesa. He contracted a number

of irrigating water-rights at rates ranging to

$100 or more per acre of land to be irrigated,

and obtained agreements that held the lands as

security for their acceptance and payment.

Virtually, on this foundation, which represented

so much cash, or very valuable lands should

the works prove successful, he borrowed the

money to carry it through to a point where it

made a good showing as a work. Just then

came a boom in water and land matters. Water-
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rights generally were in demand. Those in

the Gage canal sold at high figures. Land

secured by bond or contract from the promoter

jumped from tens to hundreds of dollars in

market value. And so the financial strength of

the enterprise was sufficiently assured to carry

the works to completion.

" Water Rights and Claims.—The Gage

canal depends for water-supply upon several

sources and claims of right. There is (1) the

Old Hunt & Cooley right of diversion from the

river; (2) the Wells & Long claim also from

the river; (3) the Parish or Caric claim to water

rising on bottom lands north of the river and

above the head of the ditch; and in addition to

these (4) the water obtained and to be obtained

by boring artesian wells.

" The Hunt & Cooley ditch was one of the

oldest diversions on the middle part of the

Santa Ana through its course in its basin. It

diverted water at about the point now occupied

by the Gage canal, and carried it on to the lands

south of the river and considerably below the

present grade line of the Gage ditch. Owning

artesian lands at a lower elevation that would

supply their ditch, the managers of the Gage

enterprise made an arrangement with the

owners of the Hunt & Cooley ditch whereby

they would supply these latter with artesian

water equivalent to the agreed capacity of the

Hunt & Cooley ditch, and in return they secured

the right of diverting into their canal the

amount of water claimed from the river for the

Hunt & Cooley ditch. Then, to make good

their contract with the Hunt and Cooley irri-

gators, the gage management bored a number

of artesian wells, and, securing enough water

in this way for these lower irrigators, were

themselves enabled to carry water under the

Hunt & Cooley claim out of the river and

through their new canal to the higher mesa.

* * * The Wells & Long claim from the

river is based upon the construction of a ditch

out upon the north side, and use of water pre-

vious to 1884. The floods of that year swept

the head of this ditch away, and it has not

since been used. The spring ditch, known also

as the Parish or Caric ditch, rises upon lands

owned by the Gage canal management, and

rights which had been established to the use of

its waters by other parties on the northern banks

of the river having been bought out, the Gage

management is entitled to its full flow. * * *

" Water-Supply and Use.—Sources and

Claims.—Near the upper limit of the artesian

basin, the Gage canal has about 600 acres of

river-bottom lands lying in a belt a little less

than two miles in length, and with a maximum

width of little over half a mile, at and above

the head of its canal and at points wherein the

first four groups of wells have been sunk. It

is claimed by the engineer and the manager of

the enterprise that the results of these borings

has shown a capacity on the part of these lands

to yield an artesian flow of at least twenty

miner's inches for each acre of ground, and

that one well to each acre will develop such

supply. Upon this assumption, it is estimated

by those in charge of the work that a flow of

12,000 miner's inches could, if required, be ob-

tained by boring the necessary number of wells,

namely, one to each acre; and thus, it is asserted

that water may be obtained from this source

alone, up to the capacity of the canal, and

sufficient to supply, at the rate of an inch to

five acres, all of the lands of the mesa which

the canal controls. Thus far the wells already

bored have generally been kept capped, there

having been sufficient water in the river to

supply the demand for delivery to the customers

of the canal. The work of boring additional

artesian wells on this tract is being actively

pushed, the larger size, ten-inch, having been

adopted. It is the intention to keep this work

going uninterruptedly until, as is hoped, 2,000

miner's inches are made available from this

source. * * * On the wells already bored,

the average of the first sixteen is forty-seven

and seven-tenths miner's inches per well, that

of the total twenty-nine wells is thirty-three

miner's inches per well. * * *

" Irrigation:— Barely sufficient water is
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allowed to flow down the canal to supply present

needs. It is believed by its managers that the

entire area commanded by it will rapidly come

under cultivation, and the works thereafter be

taxed to their utmost capacity. In the present

year (1888) there will be 1,106 acres irrigated;

of which 613 are in oranges, 216 in vines,

sixty-two in alfalfa, fifteen in summer crops,

and 200 acres are in town and residence lots

cultivated as gardens.

" District and Work.—This work, the longest

and one of the largest artificial water-courses in

San Bernardino County, has for its object the

watering of nearly all the Riverside mesa plain

lying above the reach of the Riverside canals.

Although not depending in the main upon the

Santa Ana river for its waters, its commence-

ment is in the nature of a diversion from that

stream, at a point four miles above the mouth

of Warm creek, and nine to nine and one-half

miles below the canon opening. Taking its de-

parture from the left bank of the river, it swings

rapidly to the south, away from the stream, over

a gently sloping plain for about two miles in

length; then skirts along a 6teep, sloping bench-

land westerly for about one mile; then clings

to the face, and tunnels through the points

of a precipitous bluff for nearly two miles far-

ther westward, where, turning sharply to the

south, it passes by a long tunnel through the

upper edge of the mesa, out upon that sloping

plain itself, and then follows it, generally as a

ditch in excavation, encountering no serious

obstruction save one rocky point of mountain

which is passed by means of a tunnel.

" Canal and Structures.—The length of the

work over all, from head-gate to Tequisquite

Arroyo, is 11.91 miles; thence to the terminus,

8.22 miles, making the total length 20.13 miles,

which is 2.3 miles longer than a straight line

drawn between its terminal points, in a general

direction nearly northeast and southwest. It

commands for irrigation almost the whole of the

mesa above the Riverside upper canal, compris-

ing some 12,000 acres, and extending in a belt

from one-half to two and one-half miles in

width, and about thirteen and a half mile6

in length. Of the area below the canal on the

plain, about 420 acres is hill-land not com-
manded by the grade line. For the first 2,000

feet the work of the canal excavation was in

sand or sandy loam ; thence for about 13,000

feet, through an " alluvial adobe," merging into

a gray clay or heavy soil, which gradually

changed as the bluff was approached, to a friable,

marly earth, underlaid in some places by soft

sandstone, and in others by a disintegrating soft

granite, and overlaid by a thin layer of heavy

red soil, except in the cross- washes, where sand

beds were encountered. Coming out upon the

mesa, the construction was in ordinary heavy
red mesa soil, growing lighter and more sandy

toward the lower end of the work, with the ex-

ception of a 700-foot tunnel through hard gran-

ite at the point of a mountain heretofore referred

to. The cross-sectional dimensions of the open
canal are as follows: the depth throughout, four

feet; side slopes, one to one; bottom width, for

14,000 feet, eight feet; for 41,312 feet, six feet;

and for the lower 40,647 feet, five feet, It is,

for the most part, excavated to a depth of three

feet below the natural surface on the lower side,

the top foot of water-way being supported by

the embankment. * * * There are four

heavy fills in the work, which average about

6,000 cubic yards each. The grade slope of the

canal is about two feet per mile throughout.

" Dam and Headworks.—The diverting dam
is of wood about 300 feet long, extending across

not only the low-water channel proper of the

river, but also across a portion of its extreme

flood-water way. It was planned in three sec-

tions of about 100 feet each; the middle section

being two feet seven and one-half inches lower

than the end section. * * * The head -gates

are framed into the end of a receiving chamber

thirty feet in length, ten feet wide, and eight

feet deep. The floor of the chamber, being

eighteen inches below the grade of the canai,

serves the purpose of a sand-box; there being

a sluice-way provided at its lower end by which

to clear it when necessary. * * *
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u Tunnels.—There are fifteen tunnels, whose

aggregate length is 6,178 feet—the longest being

2,320, and the shortest 110 feet. * * *

These tunnels, in rock, are 6.5 feet, wide and 6.5

feet high in the clear at center, the top being in

arched form. • In earth they are lined with

concrete on bottom and sides, and timbered

overhead, the waterway being six feet wide and

4.5 feet deep on the sides in the clear. The

concrete lining averages six inches in thickness.

About 5,500 linear feet of tunnel are lined with

concrete and cemented.

" Flumes.—There are thirteen flumes whose

aggregate length is 4,170 feet; the shortest being

forty-eight and the longest 1,000 feet. Of these,

three are in section 7x4 feet; five are 6x4; and

five are 5 x 4,—the width decreasing witli that

of the canal in three successive divisions of the

work from the head. The flume over the Te-

quisquite arroyo is eighty feet high in the

deepest part, and 1,000 feet long, supported on

trestle bents sixteen feet apart. These trestles

are of Oregon pine, light, but wel 1 braced, and

stiff in all directions. * * *

" Operation and Maintenance.—The distri-

bution system is composed generally of pipes of

iron and cement, and wooden flumes of small

size, the grade of the plain laterally from the

canal being 75 to 100 feet per mile. All dis-

tribution is effected at the expense of the pur-

chasers of water-rights, who have planned and

carried out their works in their own way, as

best suited their means and convenience, in some

cases individually, and in others by combining

together in little districts. As far as known,

these laterals are at present about as follows:

Two miles iron pipe; 4.12 miles cement pipe;

12.12 miles wooden flume; three miles open

ditch, all varying much in size. The aggregate

cost of these is given at $17,469. The canal

supplies domestic and irrigation water to several

additions to the town of Riverside, each of

which has its separate system of pipes, heading

in a small distributing reservoir, placed imme-

diately below the canal. * * *

" The first section of the Gage canal, from its

head to the Tequisquite arroyo, 11.91 miles,

was begun October, 1885, and completed so far

as to carry water through it November, 1886,

although regular use in the way of irrigation

was not begun until the spring of 1887. Work
was begun on the extension of the canal Febru-

ary, 1888, and completed June, 1888, a distance

of 8.22 miles, to a point a short space farther

down the valley than the terminus of the River-

side canals. This completed the canal as far as

it has been projected."

The cost of the first division, between the

Santa Ana river and the Tequisquite arroyo,

including all items, was $545,300. The whole

enterprise, to the point attained in April, 1890,

has cost the considerable sum of $1,400,000.

Owing to the unceasing personal efforts of

Matthew Gage, this enterprise has recently

passed into the control of a company of English

capitalists, who under the name of the Riverside

Trust Company, Limited, of London, assume

the management, retaining Mr. Gage in the

position of managing director, of the Gage

Canal System, and a tract of some 5,000 acres

of land below the same, including some of the

best orange lands in the county. These lands,

taken up by Matthew Gage for $1.25 per acre,

are now selling, unimproved but with a water-

right, at from $300 to $600 per acre. During

the ensuing year this company intends to ex-

pend $500,000 in improving this tract, develop-

ing the water system, and placing the lands ou

the market.

COUNTY SUMMARY.

San Bernardino County has 541 miles of

telegraph lines, including a new line ten miles

long between the county seat and Redlands.

There are in the county eighty miles of tele-

phone lines, of which fifty-six mile6 were built

in 1888-'89.

The present population of the county is

35,000.

The assessed valuation of all property in the

county is $26,250,680. The county is free

from debt. The rate of taxation, State and
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county, is $1.25 outside, and $1 inside, the

limits of incorporated towns.

The county ranks tirst in the State in the

amount per child of school property, and fifth

ill the total valuation of school property.

Of the 1,633,900 boxes of raisins shipped

from California in 1889, this county alone sent

out 353,000 boxes.

On May 7, 1890, San Bernardino County's

treasury contained a cash sum of $226,983.91.

In 1880 the assessed valuation of property

in the county in round numbers was $2,000,-

000; in 1882 it stood as follows:

Real estate $1,556,630

Improvements thereon 500,577

Improvements assessed to others than owners

of real estate 8,840

Personal property 615,838

Money 28,947

Franchise Southern Pacific Railroad 573,300

Total valuation of county property 3,284,132

Additional valuation of city property 597,650

Grand total $3,860,197

Deductions on account of mortgages 287,507

Value of mortgage interest 2«7,507

This showed a total decrease of $109,000 on

the assessment of 1881, which is entirely owing

to the decreased valuation of the railroad, pre-

scribed by the State Board of Equalization—

a

decrease of $327,600. The appreciation of

other county property was great.

In 1885 it was almost $12,000,000, and in

1889 it was over $20,000,000 These figures

arc exclusive of the 416 miles of railways

which traverse the county.

The growth in wealth of this county, absolute

and comparative, for the last ten years, has been

marvelous. The entire State only increased

ninety per cent., and San Francisco, the me-

tropolis of California, only increased nineteen

per cent., while many of the northern counties

showed still less growth, one falling as low as

twelve per cent. In Southern California the

gain was remarkable in wealth, as conclusively

shown by the assessment records, and San Uer-

nardino shows an increase of 803 per cent., a

greater growth than any other comity in the

State. San Diego County makes a good second,

showing an increase of 795 per cent., while

Los Angeles County follows with 472 per cent,

increase.

The following is the income for- San Bernar-

dino County for the year 1889. This includes

the orange and lemon crop harvested during the

season including 1888-'89, while the other prod

ucts are for the year 1889 only:

310,262 boxes oranges $744,000

4,250 boxes lemons and limes 17,000

300,000 boxes raisins 495,000

120 tons dried grapes 7,200

850 tons dried fruits 143,000

40,000 cases canned fruits 160,000

90,000 pounds English walnuts and almonds. . .

.

6,750

300,000 pounds extracted honey 18,000

5,000 pounds beeswax 1,000

70,000 pounds comb honey 7,000

230,000 gallons of wine 57,500

10,000 gallons brandy 4,500

235,000 centals barley 163,500

Wheat and oats 27,500

5,000,000 feet of lumber 60,000

350,000 pounds wool 57,500

Gold and silver 875,000

Borax, marble, onyx, building stone, brick and

lime 250,000

Total income $3,074,450

Beyond this there has been a large income

derived from miscellaneous items not given in

the above list, part of which are exported,

bringing in a revenue of money from the out-

side, while a large part is devoted to home con-

sumption. For instance, from the one item of

alfalfa seed resulted $8,000; potatoes raised

here are shipped by the car-load to Arizona,

New Mexico and Colorado; hay is raised in

large quantities for home consumption and for

export; and so with various items, aggregating

an important sum.

The earnings of the comity for export are be-

tween $3,000,000 and $4,000,000, averaging

more than $100 to each man, woman and child

in the county.

The following is the statement of improve-

ments made during the past year (1889), the
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estimate being made frum figures carefully col-

lected :

3,422 acres orange trees, planted this year, cost,

exclusive of land and water $376,000

64 acres lemon and lime trees 6,400

1,050 acres planted to other trees and to vines. 42,000

Water, its development, laying pipe, making

canals, tunnels, etc 550,000

Buildings, business and dwelling houses 982,000

Total improvements ..'. .$1,956,400

The speculative values placed on certain classes

of real estate, particularly on lots in outside

towns in San Bernardino County, in common

with other portions of Southern California dur-

ing " boom times " 1tave g veu wav to reasonable

prices, but the decline in some of the other

classes of realty, especially raisin vineyards, has

been small, while choice bearing orange groves

command as high prices as they ever did, and

pay handsome interest on these valuations. All

that was good in the boom remains, and much

that was evil has disappeared.

The State and county tax for 1888 was $1.25

outside, and $1 inside, the limits of incorporated

towns, which, considering the improvements

made, is a reasonable rate of taxation.

SAN BERNARDINO, THE CITY.

The city of San Bernardino lies some six miles

south of the mountain range, about four miles

north of the Santa Ana river, and three miles

from the railway station at Colton. It is 531

miles south of San Francisco, lying on the

great thoroughfares that run southeastward, and

those which penetrate the desert region of the

interior basin. Here converge the roads lead-

ing through the Cajon pass to the mining dis-

tricts of Panamint, Death valley, Hualapa aud

the upper Colorado; and those from the other

mineral regions of Holcomb valley, and, through

the San Gorgonio pass, from La Paz, Prescott,

Yuma, and the East.

•The Mormons who surveyed and laid off San

Bernardino, displayed as much judgment here

as elsewhere in their choice of locality, selecting

a point about the center of the valley, in the

midst of the finest farming land; and flowing

past it several streams of living water.

The city occupies just a mile square, and it

was laid off on a liberal scale, viewed with re-

ference to the demands of 1858. But it has

stretched since far beyond its boundaries. The

streets run according to the cardinal points of

the compass, and each thoroughfare is eighty-

two and a half feet wide. Those which rufl

east and west are called by the numerals, and

those running north and south, by the letters

of the alphabet. Each block contains eight acres.

The principal commercial street is Third, be-

ginning at C, and running west one mile to the

depot; D street between Third and Fourth,

and E street between Second and Fourth, also

enjoy great business activity, and in these streets

trade centers, although it extends beyond these

limits.

San Bernardino was incorporated as a munici-

pality in 1853, and again in 1886. Since 1885,

when the Santa Fe' Railway established com-

mercial communication between this point and

the rest of the great railway system, the prog-

ress of the town has been constant, business

movement and building being very active, even

through what are called dull seasons.

San Bernardino has two pretty sobriquets

—

the "Fountain City," and the "Garden City,"

the first from the abundant supply of water, so

unusual in this part of the country. There are

300 artesian wells within the city limits, and

their flow is unfailing. Many of the houses

have at the top tanks, into which the water for

domestic purposes is forced by small steam

pumps, run by gas jets. Nearly every dwelling

has its own green lawn, and its encitcring

groups of trees—oranges, peppers, palms, wal-

nuts, apples, and other trees of the temperate

and semi-tropic zones,—besides countless climb-

ing vines aud flowering plants.

All the principal streets are traversed by

street railways.

The city is illuminated by gas and by elec-

tricity. The dynamo which generates the elec-
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tricity is run by water-power furnished by

Warm creek, enough force to produce electricity

sufficient to light the whole valley being provided

by 3,000 inches of water, with a fall of forty

feet, so that it is expected this system of light-

ing will be extended to the neighboring towns.

As has been seen, San Bernardino was laid

out as a city by the Mormons in 1853. As first

incorporated, it comprehended most of the

Mormon settlement. But the ruling powers

soon tired of the onerous burden of city govern-

ment, and disincorporated in about two years.

In August 16, 1868, San Bernardino was re-

incorporated as a town, so continuing until May
15, 1886, when it was once more incorporated,

as a city, being of the fifth-class.

The city government, as in all cities of the

fifth-class, is vested in a board of trustees, five in

number, a board of education, also of five mem-

bers, a city attorney, city clerk, city marshal,

city recorder, cily treasurer, and city assessor.

There are also, as provided by statute, subordi-

nate officers, as follows: city engineer, health

officer, street superintendent, pound-master,

chief of fire department and four police officers.

The city improved very little until 18S5-'86,

since which time improvements have been

many, rapid, and notable.

Such public buildings, that is to say, munici-

pal and county buildings, as exi.-t are of a

remarkably tine style of architecture, handsome,

commodious, convenient, and admirably adapted

to the purposes for which they are designed.

The postoffice occupies an edifice erected in

1888 expressly for that use, at a cost of $65,000.

It has a frontage of 100 feet on E street, and

120 feet on Court street. Its outside finish is

of pressed brick, and the famous brown sand-

stone from the Sespe (Ventura County) quarries.

It is in height three stories, the ground floor be-

ing occupied by several stores, besides the post-

office quarters, for which the Government is

pledged to pay the nominal rental of $1 yearly

for the period of five years; the second floor

is devoted to offices; the third floor is given up

to lodging apartments. The building is fur-

nished throughout with artesian water, forced

to roof tanks, with an ample reserve supply in

case of fire. Gas, an arched wagon passage, a

fire-proof vault, and all the latest improvements

for buildings of this kind are here in use.

The postoffice occupies 80 x 26 feet in the

southeastern corner of the ground floor, and it

comprises the usual office and passage spaces,

with 1,372 boxes and drawers.

The corps is composed of a postmaster, Nel-

son S. Gill, and four clerks or assistants, two of

whom are ladies. The gross receipts of the

last year, as nearty as can be determined at pres-

ent, were $12,000.

The new hall of records is to have a frontage

of sixty-six feet on Court street. Its exterior

finish will be of Colton marble and sandstone

from Sespe or Mentone. The style of the

architecture is termed ''modern Moorish." The

interior finish, tilings, panelings, columns, etc.,

will be of Colton marble, oak wood, iron, bev-

eled plate glass, and cathedral glass. The main

entrance will be ten feet wide, with an arch

height of sixteen feet; the main entrance hall,

twelve by eighteen feet; the treasurer's room,

fifteen by thirty feet, with a time-lock, steel-

lined vault, 4 x 6 x 10 feet, fire and burglar proof,

for special and valuable papers; there is also

another vault, seven by four feet eight inches,

in this room. The auditor's office is to be

fourteen by twenty-four by twenty-two feet,

with an inner gallery for the use of copyists

and for storing books; the recorder's office is

four by thirty-nine feet, with a twenty-two

foot ceiling, with all needful conveniences and

appurtenances. On the upper floor will be the

county clerk's room, forty-four feet eight

inches by twenty-nine feet six inches by twenty,

with all the necessary fittings and appointments:

also three large rooms for uses yet to be deter-

mined.

One of the most commendable features of

this edifice is the precaution which has been

observed against fire, in its planning. Every

opening in the entire building will be protected

by a rolling steel shutter. The roof will be
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entirely of iron and terra-cotta, and neither

here nor on the outside will there appear a bit

of wood. The back part of the building, forty-

eight by forty-eight by ten feet, will be of brick

twenty inches thick, with an air space in the

center, and tied together every four feet with

iron anchors. There will also be built in the

walls around the entire building above and

below each opening, a heavy two-and-a-half-

inch iron band, well riveted at each corner and

each connection, making the building earth-

quake-proof as well as lire-proof. The cost of

this building will be $40,000. At present it is

in process of construction.

The county court-house was erected in 1878,

and up to 1882 it was the finest building in

the county. Its cost was some $40,000, but

due allowance must be made for the greater

cost of building at the time of its construction,

for it by no means bears comparison with less

costly edifices of later structure. It is, however,

a substantial-looking pile, of two stories and a

basement, with a cupola. It contains many of

the offices of the municipal and county officials,

the jail, etc. This building no doubt will be

renovated and remodeled, when the completion

of the new hall of records shall relieve it from

its overcrowded condition.

The opera house is a well-built and well-

equipped structure. Its seating capacity is 800.

Its cost was some $60,000. It was built in

1882.

The principal public-school building in the

city is a brick edifice built in the form of a

Latin cross. Its plan was taken from the

Langdon model of a school-house which took

the premium at the Centennial Exposition. Its

peculiarity is in having a common central corri-

dor into which all of the fourteen school-rooms

open. The furniture is of the latest design of

improvement, and the surrounding gruunds are

well laid out. This institution in aggregation

with the other school property of the city

reaches a value of $150,000.

Respecting the fifty acres of land for the

County Poor House:—"This tract of land lies

west of Fabun's Park, on the south side of the

street. It contains about eleven acres in alfalfa,

600 peach trees, three artesian wells. Some of

the land is wooded, and will afi'ord fuel for

years. Lytle creek runs directly through the

land. There are two large reservoirs, one of

which receives the continual discharge from two

artesian wells, while the third well fills the

other reservoir." On this tract was built in

1886, at a cost of $16,400, a fine brick building

for a county hospital. This is a well-arranged

and well-conducted institution, where the sick

can be cared for with all proper requisites, while

the establishment is conducted on an econom-

ical basis. It has some thirty acres of land all

told, mostly under cultivation.

The Bank of San Bernardino.—The cus-

tom of commerce has made the banks the

recognized depositories of the coin and cur-

rency of the company, and hence their deposits

indicate the working cash capital in the com-

munity where they are situated; the daily trans-

actions over their counter are the truest index to

the state of business in that community and

the safest criterion by which to measure its

prosperity. Reckoning upon this basis San

Bernardino occupies a proud posit'on among

the sisterhood of counties in Southern Cali-

fornia, for her banks are among the most solid

and prosperous of the financial institutions in

this part of the State. Of the four banks in

the city, the Bank of San Bernardino is the

oldest in the county and the one most closely

allied with its history and progress. This

bank was iblished as a private banki 'g

house, and opened its doors for business in

the early part of 1875, with a capital stoek of

$50,000. Mr. Lewis Jacobs was its founder,

and has since been its president and sole man-

ager; throughout its entire existence, the

method of management has been conservative

and safe, and the Bank of San Bernardino has

been the friend and encourager of every worthy

enterprise of a public character, thus greatly

benefiting and enhancing the prosperity of the

county.



UISTORT OF HAN BEHNAHD1N0 OOUNTY.

The bank has increased its capital stock to

$200,000; has paid $30,000 dividends, and has

an undivided surplus of $11,000. It does a

general commercial banking business, and from

the day it opened to the present, although it has

passed through a financial crisis that closed the

doors of many of the large banks in the State,

it has been ready to meet every obligation when

due and presented for payment. The bank

building is situated on the south side of Third

street between D and E 6treets, and was built

and fitted up with all the requirements of a first-

class banking house.

Lewis Jacobs, President of the Bank of San

Bernardino, and one of the oldest residents and

most successful business men of Southern Cali-

fornia, was born in Prussia, Europe, in 1831;

immigrated to America at the age of twenty

years, and a year later, in 1852, came to Cal-

ifornia, and to what is now San Bernardino

County, then a part of Los Angeles County,

before the town of San Bernardino was laid off.

Being entirely dependent upon his own re-

sources of brain and muscle, he started out to

earn a living with a pack on his back, sell-

ing goods from door to door. By industry

and economy he was soon enabled to establish

himself in the mercantile business, as the pro-

prietor of a general store in the young town

of San Bernardino. The settlers were all

struggling to obtain homes, and there was

literally no money in the country, and busi-

ness had to be carried on entirely by barter and

exchange. Mr. Jacobs would sell his customers

goods and take their eggs, butter and produce

in payment. These he had to haul to Los

Angeles, generally with ox-teams, and sell them

there for money. As the county and city

grew in wealth and population, his business

steadily increased in volume and prosperity,

until the beginning of 1875, when he sold

out his store and opened the first bank in the

county, which he has conducted witli marked

success ever since. While, witli the true in-

stincts of a banker, Mr Jacobs has carefully

guarded the interests of his depositors, pur-

suing a conservative policy in the management

of the bank, he has also exhibited a spirit of

true loyalty to the county's welfare and prog-

ress, by assisting with his money and influence

enterprises tending to develop its marvelous

resources and demonstrate its wonderful pro-

ductive qualities. In the trying days of the

Riverside colonkts, when the founders of that

grandest horticultural experiment and success

of modern times needed material aid and

encouragement, Mr. Jacobs assisted them with

both goods and money until they began to ex-

change the golden spheres for golden coin, and

were thereby enabled to repay. His assistance,

in the way of cash and credit was a primary

factor in the construction of the Bear valley

reservoir improvements, which have made the

Redlands of to day and the future possible. In

each of these cases Mr. Jacobs had the oppor-

tunity to make a fortune for himself, but was

content in helping others to lay the foundations

of fortunes, he receiving but a moderate interest

on the moneys he had furnished.

Mr. Jacobs has invested considerable capital in

citrus fruit lands and improvements in San Ber-

nardino County. On the final settlement with

the Riverside company they tendered him

four blocks of land of two and a half acres

each, as a contribution in recognition of favors

received at his hands, but he declined all but

one. This he has highly improved and has been

offered $13,000 for it. He also has a tine young

orange orchard of twenty-five acres in Redlands,

which cannot be bought for $1,000 an acre. The

subject of this memoir is a living example of

what well-directed energy, industry and economy

can accomplish under favorable circumstances.

The Fanners' Exchange Bank, of San Ber-

nardino, one of the most important and substan-

tial financial institutions of Southern California,

was organized as a State bank in May, 1881, and

opjned its doors for business September 1 of that

year, with$20,000 capital stock paid in. The

officers were Byron Waters, President, and E. H.

Morse, Cashier. Tiie bank was situated next door

to its present location on the north side of Third
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street between D and E streets. The career of

the bank has been progressive and prosperous,

and it has played a prominent part in the rapid

growth and development of San Bernardino

County to its present proud position. January

1, 1884, Mr. Waters resigned and H. L. Drew
succeeded him to the presidency, which office he

ably fills. January 1, 1888, Mr. Morse retired

from the position of cashier and S. F. Zombro

took his place. In 1888 the bank erected the

elegant building it now occupies, which is one

of the finest and most commodious banking

houses on the Pacific coast. It is a three-story

structure, 45 x 110 feet, built of brick, with

brown-stone trimmings and massive, arched

doorways of polished Slover mountain marble.

It was erected at a cost of $43,000, and the

banking offices, which occupy the first floor,

are models of convenience in arrangement

and artistic beauty of finish. The best indica-

tions of the judicious management and steady

growth of the business of the bank is furnished

in the statements published January 1 of each

year, and is here reproduced: January 1, 1883.

capital paid up, $21,900; deposits, $152,725.

January 1, 1884, capital paid up, $30,000; sur-

plus fund, $8,797.72; deposits, $163,037.80.

January 1, 1885, capital paid up, $50,000; sur-

plus, $12,916.63; deposits, $147,796. January

1, 1886, capital paid in, $50,000; surplus, $10,-

410; deposits $271,351.63; January 1, 1887,

capital paid up, $50,000; reserve, $55,544.62;

deposits, $357,000. January 1, 1888, capital

paid up, $50,000; surplus, $87,047; deposits,

$688,697. January 1, 1889, capital paid up,

$50,000; surplus, $96,000; deposits, $328,587.

July 1, 1889, capital paid up, $50,000; surplus,

$110,000; dep>sits, $301,142.50. The shrink-

age in the business showing in 1889 as com-

pared with the previous year is due to two

causes, namely: the depreciation in value and

consequent depression in business resulting from

the collapse in the speculative boom of 1887-

'88, and the establishing of two new banks in

San Bernardino.

Fourteen years previous to his association

with the Farmers' Exchange Bank, Mr. Drew
had been engaged in the mercantile business in

San Bernardino, and had also been extensively

connected with mining interests. He was born

in Michigan forty-nine years ago, where his

early business life was devoted to lumbering

and merchandising. On the breaking out of the

war of the Rebellion he entered the Union

army as a private in the Third Michigan Cav-

alry, served three years and a half, and rose by

successive promotions to the rank of Captain

before resigning. Suffering from broken health,

partly caused by exposure and overwork during

the great forest fires in the fall of 1871, on

which occasion he worked continuously for seven

days and seven nights, Mr. Drew came to Cal-

ifornia in 1874, and after stopping a short time

in Sacramento and iu San Diego, arrived in San

Bernardino April, 1875, and has resided here

ever since.

Being an enterprising, public-spirited gen-

tleman, he has taken great interest in the im-

provement of San Bernardino city and county.

He took an active and prominent part in secur-

ing the location and construction of the rail-

road lines belonging to the Santa Fe system in

this valley, and is now a director in that com-

pany. He is also largely interested in the de-

velopment of the citrus fruit industry in the

county. He owns a 240-acre ranch devoted to

these fruits in Old San Bernardino, and in

company with some Pasadena gentlemen is

planting some 160 acres in that vicinity to

oranges this year.

The First National Bank of San Bernard-

ino was organized in June, 1886, with a capital

stock of $100,000; and there being no suitable

rooms accessible for its occupancy in the city,

the corporation purchased the building on the

northwest corner of Third and D streets, and

had it fitted up expressly for the use of the

bank. A large fire-proof vault was built in

which was placed the elegant new burglar-proof

6afe manufactured to order by the Hall Safe &
Lock Company of Cincinnati, Ohio. The bank

opened its doors for business on September 10,
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1886, with J. H. Smith as president and W.
N. Crandall as cashier. A year after the bank

opened Mr. Crandall retired and Joseph Brown,

the present cashier, was elected as his successor.

The career of the First National Bank has been

one of continuous prosperity from the day of

its opening, and it is now making as much

money for its stockholders, notwithstanding the

general depression in business consequent upon

the speculative boom of two years ago, as at

any time in its history. The bank has regularly

paid semi-annual dividends, and has an accumu-

lated surplus of $15,000. It does a large do-

mestic and foreign exchange business, drawing

direct on banks in the principal cities of the

United States and Europe. The stockholders

are mostly residents of the county, and are

among the shrewdest and most successful busi-

ness men in this part of the State. The bank

receives rentals on offices and stores in their

building sufficient to pay a liberal interest on

the purchase price.

John Hartley Smith, the founder and pres-

ident of the First National Bank of San Ber-

nardino, and one of the most thorough business

men and experienced bankers in Southern Cali-

fornia, was born in Jackson County, Virginia,

in 1835. He came to Ohio at the age of fifteen,

and in 1853 he came to California and spent

two years in the gold mines, chiefly in Mari-

posa County. He was quite successful, and in

1855 returned to Ohio with considerable money

and a fund of experience which has proved of

great value to him in his subsequent business

career, as well as fraught with pleasant mem-
ories. Coming he sailed from New York by

way of Panama, crossing the Isthmus on foot.

He returned by the same route, but the railroad

had been completed across the Isthmus in the

interval. For many years Mr. Smith was ex-

tensively engaged in steam boating and operating

barj^e lines on the Ohio and Mississi ppi rivers,

he superintending the business, in which there

was $250,000 capital invested. After the war

he was also interested in the banking business

for a number of years in Meigs County; and

was actively and largely identified with coal

mining and the manufacture of salt in south-

eastern Ohio. The daily output of the coal

mines was 10,000 bushels, and the salt works

turned out 500 barrels a day. The labor and

nerve force necessarily consumed in the man-

agement of these various large enterprises

proved too much for Mr. Smith's naturally

strong constitution, and he was compelled to

dispose of his very prosperous business interests,

and seek by rest and the most favorable climatic

advantages to repair his broken health. He
came to Southern California in 1880, and the

same year organized the Santa Ana Commercial

Bank, the first bank started in that city. Eight-

een months after opening the bank failing

health again forced him to retire from business,

and he sold out and remained out of business a

year. He then established the Pomona Valley

Bank as a State bank in 1884. In 1887 it was

reorganized into a national bank, and its name

changed to the First National Bank of Pomona.

Selling out his interests there Mr. Smith or-

ganized the First National Bank of San Ber-

nardino, of which he has been president since it

opened. Each of these three banks founded by

him and of which he has been successively the

managing head has become prominent among
the banking houses of this part of the State,

Though devoting his attention almost exclu-

sively to the bank, Mr. Smith has some outside

investments, one of which is a large interest in

the Southern California Motor Road, one of the

finest pieces of property in this region.

Mrs. Smith, whose former name was Roberts,

is an Ohio lady. Their family consists of three

sons: Pearl, Harry and Hudson, all boys of

school age. Mr. Smith also has a step-daughter,

who is married and resides in San Bernardino.

The San Bernardino National Bank was

established in 1888, with a capital of $200,000,

The president at organization was J. G. Burt,

the vice-president A. H. Hart, and the cashier E.

II. Morse. At present the capital is $100,000.

the surplus $13,000, undivided profits $22,000,

and deposits $170,000. John W. Davis is pre*-
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ident, S. E. A. Palmer, vice president, and W.
S. Hooper, cashier. This bank does a general

banking business and has exchange on all com-

mercial centers.

The Savings Bank of San Bernardino was

established in February, 1890. It is under the

same management as the Farmers' Exchange

Bank. Its president i6 Frank Hinckley, vice-

president H. L. Drew, secretary and treasurer,

S. F. Zombro. Its capital is a $100,000.

The banks report business to be steadily im-

proving, and they consider the financial con-

ditions as more promising and more satisfactory

than during " boom times."

The newspapers of San Bernardino city are:

the Times-Index, daily and weekly, edited by L.

M. Holt, and the Courier, daily and weekly,

edited by A. Kearney. The first named is is-

sued in the afternoon, and the second in the

morning.

The city water-works were instituted as fol-

lows: on November 2, 1889, the citizens voted

$160,000 of bonds for a system of water-works.

The contracts for laying pipes, constructing

reservoirs, sinking wells and setting hydrants,

are all let, and operations are now (May, 1890),

in active progress. The supply will be of arte-

sian water, from an elevation of 205 feet above

the city, being very pure and excellent water.

By the first of October, 1890, water underpress-

ure will have been introduced into city use.

The city engineer estimates that the quantity

will be abundant to supply the needs of years

hence, even under the conditions of rapid in

crease. The cost to the city of the electric street

lights is $411 monthly, which supports five

towers, and some 175 street lights in suspension.

During 1888-'89, the municipal government,

under the authority of the State law known as

the Vrooman act, did a vast amount of execu-

tion in the way of beautifying the city and im-

proving its sanitary condition. Among other

important features is the completion of the

sewer system. About 51,000 feet, or over

nine miles of sewer pipe was laid, at a cost of

about $85,000, and about 140 house connections

were made with it, at a cost of some $14,-

000. This has revolutionized the system of

house-plumbing. The principal streets were

graded at a cost of some $8,000; and, at a cost

of $4,000 culverts were put down to carry the

storm water. At the street crossings were laid

good plank walks, costing $2,000, and nearly

three miles were laid of artificial stone and

bituminous rock sidewalks, which cost about

$40,000. The construction of the large ditches

on the outskirts of the city has been a marked

success. The total expenditure for public im-

provements during this season was $135,000.

San Bernardino has taken a decided stand on

the telephone system, having numerous local

connections, besides others with Riverside,

twelve miles distant; Oolton, three miles dis-

tant; Etiwanda, sixteen miles distant; and Red-

lands, ten miles distant.

The first burial ground of San Bernardino

valley was located on a bluff overlooking the

lowlands, on the spot where M. B. Garner's

honte now stands. Many of the bodies from

this cemetery were removed to the new grave-

yard, east of A street, between Seventh and

Eighth, just outside the city limits. The

Jewish cemetery occupied the adjoining lot

on the north, and next to that was the Roman
Catholic bi.rying-gronnd, until a few years

since, when that sect purchased a new tra«t,

several miles north of the town. In this old

cemetery are buried most of the dead of San

Bernardino vallev.

The following is a list of the churches of San

Bernardino:

First Methodist Episcopal.—Corner of Sixth

and E streets. Value $30,000. Seating ca-

pacity 1,200. Services every Sabbath at 11 a.

m. and 7 p. m. Sunday-school at 9:30 a. m.: A.

Fussel, Superintendent. Prayer meeting Wed-

nesdays at 7:30 p. m. Rev. George W. White,

Pastor.

Methodist Episcopal Church South.—Fifth

street, between D and E. Established fifteen



HlblOUY OF SAN BERNARDINO COUNTY.

years. Value $8,000. Seating capacity 800.

Services every Sunday at 11a. m. and 7 p. M.

Sunday-school at 9:45 a. m. Prayer meeting

every Wednesday at 7:00 p. m. Rev. W. B.

Stradley, Pastor.

Congregational.—Corner Fifth and D streets.

Organized and church built and dedicated No-

vember, 1876. Value $4,500. Has a seating

capacity of 200. Services every Sabbath at 11

a. m. and 7:30 p. m. Sunday-school at 9:45 a.

m. Rev. J. H. Jenkins, Pastor.

Presbyterian.—Church corner of E and Park

avenue. Value $4,500. Seating capacity 300.

Services every Sunday at 11 a. m. and 7:30 p. m.

Sunday-school at 9:30 a. m. Prayer meeting

every Wednesday evening at 7:30. Rev. John

Morrison, Pastor.

Baptist—First Church.—Third street, be-

tween F and G. Value $4,000. Seating ca-

pacity 200. Services every Sabbath at 11 a. m.

and 7:30 p. m. Prayer meeting on Wednesdays

at 7:30 p. m. Rev. A.J. Frost, Pastor.

The Evangelische Gemeindeschaft hold

their regular services every Sunday afternoon

at A. O. U. W. Hall on Third street. Sunday-

school at 1:45 p. m., and preaching at 3 p. m.

German-speaking citizens are kindly invited to

attend. Theodore Sulir, Pastor.

Holiness Church.—Meets every Sunday in

Swing Block, corner of D and Fourth street, at

10 a. m., 3 p. m., and evening.

Latter Day Saints.—Corner of Fifth and G
streets. Regular services every Sabbath. David

Harris, Minister.

African Methodist Episcopal Church.—Has
regular services every second and fourth Sun-

days of each month at 11 a. m. and 7:30 p. m.,

with class at p. m. Building on west side of D
street, between First and Second. Charles Au-
gustus, Pastor.

Roman Catholic—The church of San Ber-

nandino of Siena was built in 1870. Prior to

this Roman Catholic worship had been con-

ducted in two small chapels. The present edi-

fice was erected at the cost of Mrs. Catherine

Quinn, the value being some $9,000. This

parish includes San Bernardino and a large por-

tion of San Diego County. There are some 100

families of this faith within the city limits.

Rev. Father Stockman is the incumbent.

SOCIETIES.

Silver Wave Chapter, No. 75, O. E. S.—
Meets second and fourth Tuesdays of each

month in Masonic Temple. Mrs. Susan Clark,

W. M.; T.J. Wilson, W. P.

San Bernardino Council, No. 37, 0. C. F.—
Meets first and third Wednesdays of each month

in A. O. U. W. hall, on Third street, between D
and E. L. Caro, Councilor; Mrs. M. S. Rowell,

Vice-Councilor; S.C.Benjamin, Secretary; Al-

fred Steinman, Treasurer.

Woman's Relief Corps.—The Woman's Re-

lief Corps meets every Saturday afternoon at

A. O. U. W. hall. Mrs. Lizzie Reinoehl, Presi-

dent; Miss Ida Seymour, Secretary.

Young Woman's Christian Temperance

Union.—Meets the second and fourth Satur-

days of each month at Y. M. C. A. hall, on D
street, at 2 p. m. Miss Ellen Ballard, Presi-

dent; Lillie Hisom, Recording Secretary; Flor-

ence Gibson, Corresponding Secretary.

Woman's Christian Temperance Union.—
Meets the first and third Tuesdays of each

month at Y. M. C. A. hall, at 2:30 p. m. Mrs.

L. M. Nickerson, President; Mrs. Tillie Shearer,

Recording Secretary ; Miss Mary Bennett, Cor-

responding Secretary.

Phcenix Lodge, No. 178, F. & A. M.—John
C. King, W. M.; Henry A. Kellar, S. W.

Keystone Chapter, No. 56.—Thomas J . Wil-

son, H. P.; W. L. G. Soule, King.

St. Bernard Commandery, No. 23, Knights

Templar-W. L. G. Soule, E. C; T. J. Wil-

son, Gen.

San Bernardino Lodge, No. 1£6, L. O. O.F.—
Meets every Thursday evening at their hall on

Third street, between C and D, at 7:30. Frank

Perdew, N. G.; J. W. Eber, V. G.

Magnolia Rebekah Degree Lodge. No. 94-—
Meets in I. O. O. F. hall, the second and fourth
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Mondays of each month. Mrs. A. P. Morse,

N.G.; MissB. Caro, V. G.

Morse Encampment, No. 51, I. 0. 0. F.—
Meets at the hall on Third street, the first and

third Friday evenings of each month. J. W.

Eber, C. P. ; C. E. Raymond, S W.
Token Lodge, No. 390, I. 0. 0. F.—

Meets at the hall every Saturday evening at

7:30.

Canton Lodge, No. 17, P. M., 1. 0. 0. F.—
Meets at the hall every Tuesday evening. L.

Rheinohl, Com.; C. E. Raymond, Lieut.

Meridian Lodge, No. U5, A. 0. U. W.—
Meets every Tuesday evening in their hall on

Third street, between D and E. E. A. Holt,

M. W.; N. A. Richardson, Recorder.

Diamond Lodge, No. T35, A. 0. U. W.—
Meets every Monday evening in the hall on

Court street. E. R. Waite, M. W.; George G.

Ashbaugh, Recorder.

SanBernardino Legion, No. 5,Selection ights,

A. 0. U. W.—Meets every Friday at the A.O.

U. W. hall on Third street. C. F. Roe, Com-

mander; S. F. Kelley, Recorder.

Valley Lodge, No. 27, K. of P.—F. L. Hig-

gins, P. C; E. H. Shonsis. V. C; A. Palmer,

K. of R. & S.

Paradise Lodge, No. 237, L 0. B. B.—R.
Baruch, President; B. Rowich, Secretary; L.

Jacobs, Treasurer.

W. It. Cornman Post, No. 57, G. A. R.—
F. T. Singer, Com.; J. D. Potter, V. C.

Besides the above named there are the fol-

lowing organizations: The Ladies' Benevolent

Society, the Associated Charities, the Hebrew

Benevolent Society, the Native Daughters of

she Golden West, the Native Sons of the Golden

West; San Bernardino Lodge, No. 220, I. O. G.

T. ; the Central Labor Union (incorporated),

San Bernardino Assembly, No. 8482, K. of L.;

Local Union, No. 86, U. B. C. & J. of A.;

Typographical Union, Horseshoers' and Black-

smiths' Union, Society of Spiritualists, Old

Boys' Hunting Club, San Bernardino Land and

Building Association, San Bernardino Fire De-

partment, Horticultural Association, Board of

Trade, the Bar Association, and the Society of

Pioneers.

The San Bernardino Society of California

Pioneers was organized in the court-house

in the city of San Bernardino, in the county of

San Bernardino, State of California, on the 21st

day of January, 1888, with thirty charter mem-
bers.

Its objects, as stated in its constitution, are

to cultivate the social virtues of its members,

and to unite them by the bonds of friendship;

to create a fund for benevolent purposes in be-

half of its members, and to collect and preserve

information and facts connected with the early

settlement of California, and especially of the

county of San Bernardino, with a history thereof

from the time of such settlement to its organi-

zation as a county; to form libraries and cabi-

nets, and by all other appropriate means to

advance the interests and increase the prosperity

of the society; to create a fund for the purchase

of a suitable lot and the building thereon of a

memorial hall to perpetuate the memory of

those whose sagacity, energy and enterprise

induced them to settle in this country, and to

become the founders of a uew county.

The qualifications for the admission of mem-
bers embrace all persons who were citizens of

the United States, or capable of becoming citi-

zens thereof, and who were residents of Califor-

nia prior to the 31st day of December, 1850,

and also those who were the residents of the

county of San Bernardino at the time of its or-

ganization, April 26, 1853; and the male de-

scendants of all such persons also shall be

eligible to membership.

Honorary and life members may be admitted

who have rendered distinguished and important

services to the State, or to this society; also the

wives and daughters of members of this society.

The meetings of the society have been regu-

larly held every Saturday, at two o'clock, since

its organization.

The first officers of the society, with their age,

place of departure, mode of arrival, and place of

arrival in the State of California, were as follows:
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George Lord, Sr., age eighty nine, left New
York, crossed the plains, and arrived at Steep

Hollow, California, in 1849; was and is the

president of the society, and has been present

at every meeting 6ince its organization, with

but one exception, when he was attending the

funeral of an old friend.

John Brown, Sr., the celebrated Rocky Moun-

tain mountaineer and hunter, born December

22, 1817, at Worcester, Massachusetts, seventy

two years of age, crossed the plains with an ox

and mule team, and arrived at Sacramento, Cali-

fornia, in 1849; he was elected first vice presi-

dent of the society.

James W. Waters, Sr., age seventy-five, left

New York, crossed the plains, and arrived at

Los Angeles, California, in 1844; was elected

second vice-president of the society, and was a

life-long companion, hunter and trapper with

John Brown, Sr. He died at his home in San

Bernardino, on the 20th day of September,

1889.

David Seely, age seventy left Canada, crossed

the plains and arrived in what is now San Bernar-

dino, California, in 1850; he and John Brown,

Sr., above referred to, are the only survivors of

the commission appointed by the Legislature of

this State to organize the county of San Ber-

nardino, which they did April 26, 1853. Mr.

Seely was elected third vice-president of the

society.

EL B. Harris, treasurer, age sixty-three, left

Virginia, crossed the plains, and arrived at

Mariposa mines in 1849.

Henry M. Willis, corresponding secretary,

age fifty-eight, left Maryland, came around Cape

Horn, and reached San Francisco June 28,

1849.

John Brown, Jr., secretary of the society, age

forty- two, left the Rocky Mountains, crossed

the plains with his parents, and arrived at

Sacramento, California, in 1849.

William F. Holcomb, vice-president, age

fifty-nine, left Iowa, crossed the plains, and

arrived at Hangtown in 1850.

Sydney P. Waite, age fifty-one, left Kentucky,

crossed the plains, and arrived at San Gabriel,

California, in 1849.

Marcus Katz, corresponding secretary, age

sixty six, a native of Baltimore, Maryland, came
across the Isthmus, and arrived at San Fran-

cisco in August, 1850.

R. W. Waterman, now Governor of the State

of California, age sixty-three, left New York,

crossed the plains, and arrived at Butte, Cali-

fornia, in 1850.

Charles Gi Hill, age seventy nine, left New
Hampshire, came around Cape Horn, and ar-

rived in San Francisco, then known as Yerba

Buena, in 1834.

N. G. Gill, marshal, age fifty-nine, left New
York, crossed the plains, and reached Feather

river in 1849.

D. H. Wixonij marshal, native of Iowa, age

forty-two, crossed the plains, and arrived in Los

Angeles County in 1851.

At this date (May 10, 1890) the number of

members has increased to ninety-seven, and

during the existence of the society five of its

members (Hardin Yager, James W. Waters, Sr.,

Peter Forsee, John Garner and B. F. Mathews)

have ended their career on earth. Since its

organization the Pioneer Society has taken an

active part in all public celebrations; the 4th of

July, Admission day, and the Centennial Anni-

versary of Washington's inauguration as first

President of the United States, were celebrated

in an appropriate and becoming manner. The

arrival of the California Pioneers from New
England was made a special occasion for the

manifestation of a most fitting welcome, par-

ticipated in by the citizens generally, including

the children of the city public schools. They

arrived in San Bernardino on the 17th of April,

1890, and were accorded such a welcome as

will never be forgotten by those participating

therein. A dramatic and imposing feature of

this reunion was the sudden death of General

Samuel A. Chapin, of Maine, who delivered

before the assemblage in the opera house an

address pregnant with sentiment and emotion.

Immediately after he sat down it was observed
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that bis head had fallen forward, as if he had

swooned; investigation showed that he was

dead!— no doubt from excess of emotion. Every

honor possible, in word and deed, was shown to

his memory by the San Bernardino Pioneers.

The following is a list of newspapers pub-

lished in the county of San Bernardino: City

of San Bernardino Times-Index, daily and

weekly; Courier, daily and weekly; Riverside

Press, daily and weekly; Phcen ise, weekly; Col-

ton Chronicle, weekly ; News, weekly ; Ontario

Record, weekly; Observer, weekly; Redlands

Citrograph. weekly; SouthRiverside Bee, week-

ly; Beaumont Sentinel, weekly; Banning Her-

ald, weekly; Chino Champion, weekly; Rialto

Orange Grower, weekly.

RIVERSIDE.

INITIAL.

The Rubidoux Rancho was patented in De-

cember, 1876, to the Rnbidoux heirs, and by

them to the Riverside Company. That portion

of the Riverside colony north of the Govern-

ment land strip is situated on the Jurupa

Rancho, being held under the original grant

and patents from the United States Govern-

ment, based upon a final confirmation of title

by the United States Supreme Court. That

portion reaching from south of the Jurupa

line to the south line of present improvements

is United States Government land, entered by

Benjamin Hartshorn, who sold it to the River-

side Land and Irrigation Company. South of

this again is a portion of the Rancho San Ja-

cinto Sobrante, confirmed by United States

patent. The title to all these lands is perfect

and unquestioned, with no liens whatever ex-

isting.

The origin of Riverside was as follows:

In November, 1869, the California Silk Center

Association was formed in Los Angeles for the

purpose of growing silk-worms, and the mul-

berry-tree, citrus fruit6 and grapes. To this

purpose the superintendent of the company pur-

chased, under authority, over 4,000 acres of the

Roubidonx Rancho, and 1,460 acres of Govern-

ment land on the Hartshorn tract, which ad-

joined this to the eastward. There had also

been made arrangements to purchase from the

Los Angeles Land Company 3,169 acres of

that portion of the Jnrnpa Rancho opposite

the Roubidonx Rancho, on the east side of the

Santa Ana river. At this time was planted,

for the nourishment of the silk-worms of the

prospective colony, a number of mulberry trees,

many of which still exist. The president of

this association was Lcuis Prevost, a French

gentleman well versed in sericulture. In April,

1870, he died; and as he wa6 the only member
conversant with the methods of the proposed

system, the enterprise of silk-raising was

abandoned.

In 1870 Southern California was just begin-

ning to attract attention as a resort for invalids,

and also to call the interest of investors, struck

by the large returns yielded by orchards and

vineyards. In the spring of that year a party

came to Los Angeles to select lands suitable for

the settlement of a colony to engage in the

culture of grapes and semitropical fruits.

Among other objective points they visited in

San Bernardino County the tract which had

been chosen by the Sericultnral Association,

and were convinced that it possessed every es-

sential requisite for the success of the proposed

colony. Accordingly, on September 14, 1870,

were purchased from the ftockholders of the

Silk Center Association all the real estate,

water rights and franchises of the company.

After the consummation of this purchase, an in-

corporated organization was formed, under the

name of " The Southern California Colony As-

sociation."

These pioneers were so few in number that

their names can be recorded; they were: Judge

John W. North, Dr. James P. Grevus, Dr. San-

ford Eastman, E.G. Brown, Dr. K. D. Shugart,

A. J. Twogood, D. C. Twogood, John Broad-

hurst, James A. Stewart and William J. Lin-



HISTORY OF 8AN BERNARDINO COUNT V.

ville. Nine of the6e gentlemen still live to

enjoy the wonderful transformations that are

taking place about them.

The first families to arrive were installed in

September. During the next two months the

lands were surveyed and platted, the water sys-

tem begun, and other active operations carried

forward.

The first building erected in the settlement

was the office of the company, built on the

land afterward occupied by the depot of the

Riverside, Santa Ana & Los Angeles Railway

Company.

The first child born in the settlement was a

daughter of John Broadhurst, born December

26, 1870. The first born in Riverside was a

daughter of A. R. Smith, born March 31, 1871.

The first religions services were held in the

company's office, the officiating clergymen being

Revs. Higbie and Bates, respectively Methodist

Episcopal and Congregational, and Rev. C. F.

Loop, Episcopal.

The first resident clergyman was Rev. J. W.
Atherton, during whose administration was

built the first church edifice (Congregational).

In 1871 the citizens built the first school-

house, a frame building, which cost $1,200.

The first merchant in Riverside was E.

Ames, who built in 1870-'71, a house still

given to commercial purposes. In 1875 B. D.

Buet & Brother erected the first brick building

in Riverside. It was 25x70 feet and two 6tories

high.

DEVELOPMENTAL.

To realize the enterprising and confident

character of the people who undertook this

work and to estimate properly the great results

which through their efforts have been achieved

in an astonishingly brief period, it is necessary

to review briefly the difficulties with which they

contended.

The lands they selected lay not along the low

flats bordering the river, but upon the higher

"mesas" or table-lands, to irrigate which (and

irrigation only could give life to the enterprise)

the water must be led out upon those mesas

miles away from the channel of the river, and

hundreds of feet above it. To do this would

require a higher order of engineering skill, and

a far greater expenditure of money, than had

hitherto been devoted to such purpose in the

neighboring section. For this reason the proj-

ect was ridiculed, and its failure predicted, by

the residents of the neighboring territories

which were better watered.

The plains upon which they located were

pasture lands only, destitute of water for

domestic use even, and, owing to the deficiency

of the annual rainfall, they had never yielded

further growth than a scanty supply of feed for

a few months each year to roving bands of

cattle and sheep; from June to November they

were almost as dry and barren as the desert.

There was no railway nearer than Spadra,

some forty miles distant, and this extended only

to the small lighterage port of San Pedro,

through Los Angeles, then a comparatively

small and unimportant town. By this route,

and over forty miles of rough and sandy roads

must be brought everything that was required

for the use of the colony; and to all appearances,

the only outlet for the products of their fruit

farms would for some years be over the same

route.

It required nearly a year's time and the

expenditure of some $50,000 before the waters

of the Santa Ana were conveyed through the

new channels to the original town plat of River-

side; and no planting of trees or vines to any

considerable extent could be safely done until

there should be sufficient water available for

permanent use.

The first plantings were made in the northern

portion of the city as now incorporated, that

part being now the principal business center, in

which are built the hotels, churches, postoffice,

schools and business blocks, whose rapidly

increasing number is fast displacing the beau-

tiful groves of orange trees that surrounded the

earlier homes of the pioneer settlers.

The growth of the settlement was quite

limited up to, and inclusive of, the year 1874,
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at whose end only some 1,500 acres had been

brought under cultivation. This, however, was

enough to prove the undertaking feasible and

practicable, and by the success thus far others

were encouraged to locate here and unite with

those already on the ground.

When the village plat of Riverside was sur-

veyed in 1870-'71, the lands adjoining the

village were placed on the market at $20 and

$25 per acre for the choicest locations. Some

of these same lands, with water facilities and

improvements, consisting mainly of orchards

and vineyards, have recently been sold for as

high as $1,600 per acre. Village blocks of two-

and-a-half acres, which sold in 1871 for from

$100 to $200 each, are now in the business

district, and worth, according to location, from

$7,000 to $15,000 each.

These are the lands for which, it is said,

Rubidonx received $2.50 per acre; and a con-

temporary of this prior owner relates how, the

two being then members of the board of super-

visors, early in the '60's, Rubidoux said he

would pay no more taxes on that portion of his

raneho south and east of the Santa Ana river

(now embracing all of Riverside), because it

was '-utterly worthless," and he caused it to be

6tricken off the assessor's roll, but after some

years re-claimed it.

During the years of 1875 and 1876 was

formed the Riverside Land and Irrigating Com-

pany, which purchased all the lands and the

water rights of the original corporation, the

Southern California Colony Association. It

also purchased some 3,500 acres from Messrs.

W. T. Sayward and S. C. Evans, who then

owned the Hartshorn tract, now Arlington.

The same number of acres was purchased from

the Tin Company tract, and these purchases

procured the consolidation of all the contiguous

landed interests in a territory nearly fifteen

miles long and three miles wide, including all

the rights to water that had been appropriated

from the Santa Ana river for these lands, for

domestic use, irrigation, and manufacturing

purposes. This company expended, during

these and the immediately succeeding years,

some $200,000 in enlarging and extending the

first canal, and in constructing the lower canal

and the ditches and structures required for such

an extended system of irrigation, at that time

the largest and most comprehensive in Cali-

fornia.

The new territory was subdivided into ten-

acre lots, conveniently located upon broad

avenues, which are intersected at distances of

half a mile by cross-streets. The chief of

these, Magnolia Avenue, together with its

northern extension, Brockton Avenue, is twenty

miles in length, extending from the business

center of Riverside in a southwesterly direction

to the base of the Coast Range of mountains,

and through South Riverside. Of this distance,

seventeen miles is an air line; that part of the

avenue running through this portion is 132

feet wide, divided by rows of handsome ever-

green trees into two roadways and two sidewalks.

During these years of astonishing progress,

large areas of land were planted to the orange

and lemon, and to the raisin grape; also many

other varieties of plants and trees, fruit-bearing

und ornamental, evergreen and deciduous, were

planted, but no vineyards were ever planted

here to the grapes used in the making of wine.

As the growth of the settlement steadily in

creased, constant additions were required to the

systems of water supply; and during the years

1885, 1886, 1887 and 1888, large expenditures

were made for water, both for irrigating and

domestic purposes.

The growth of the colony from its foundation

to the present time is best shown by the follow-

ing summary of the population and the wealth

of the place: population, 6,000; acreage under

cultivation, 10,000; number of citrus fruit trees,

650,000; number of raisin grape-vines, 1,350,-

000; number of acres of alfalfa, 600; number of

deciduous fruit trees, 200,000; assessed value

of property for taxation, $1,000,000; animal

value of farm and orchard products, $1,100,750;

length of main canals, fifty miles; length of

distributing canals, 125 miles; length of pipe







BISTORT OF SAN BERNARDINO COUNTY.

lines of all sizes, forty-two miles; length of

streets and avenne6, 175 miles; length of street

railways, fifteen miles; cost of water system,

over $1,000,000; cost of street railways, $73,-

000; cost of gas works, $30,000; cost of church

property, $100,000; cost of school property,

$125,000. Incomes from fruit farms for past

year: citrus fruits, $630,000; raisins, $357,000;

deciduous fruits dried, $80,000; hay, nursery

stock, etc., $33,750.

FIRST CHURCHES.

Few towns of its size have so many denomi-

nations represented as has Riverside. There

are thirteen different organizations, and ten

church edifices.

The first church here was the Congregational,

which was organized in 1872. The first church

built for its use, on the corner of Vine and Sixth

streets, was sold to the Disciples ot Christ, when

the older organization in 1887 occupied its fine

new building near the center— the largest church

in the city, which, with its parsonage, is worth

$25,000. It contains a fine pipe organ. There

are some 200 members and a flourishing Sun-

day-school. Rev. T. C. Hunt is pastor.

The Methodists organized a few months after

the Congregationalists, and the church had a

steady growth, the chapel originally built for

its use giving way in 1881 to a fine modern

building. This property, including a $2,000

parsonage, is now very valuable. The church

membership has more than doubled during the

past few years. Rev. W. M. Sterling is the

pastor.

The third church organized here was the Bap-

tist. Notwithstanding this congregation had a

struggle for existence during its first few years,

it i6 now one of the most prosperous in the city.

It has very valuable property on one of the

principal business streets, the seating capacity

of the church being about 400. The Women's
Christian Temperance Union have occupied the

parlors of this church for several years. There

is a church membership of over 225, and one of

the strongest Sunday-schools in the city. Rev.

Charles Button was for many years the pastor,

and the prosperity is largely due to his efforts.

He resigned last spring, and Rev. Charles Win-
bigler is the present pastor.

The Universalists organized in Riverside in

1881, holding services for two years in public

halls. They then built a neat chapel on a prin-

cipal business corner. This will probably be

replaced shortly by a larger church in a quieter

location. Rev. Dr. George II. Deere is the in-

cumbent.

The Roman Catholics organized in 1886, and

immediately began the erection of a brick

church, costing $5,000. It has been sufficiently

finished to make it available for the holding of

services. When completed, it will be one of

the largest and finest church edifices in the

county. Father Stockman is the incumbent.

Since 1885 the Church of the United Breth-

ren has had an organization here, and it has a.

neat church building, erected in 1887, at a cost

of about $3,000. Rev. M. S. Bovey is pastor.

A new church (Swedenborgian) organization

was effected in Riverside in 1885, with twenty-

five members. The congregation ovvii6 a church

building, and holds regular services. Rev. B.

Fdiniston is pastor.

All Saints' Church (Episcopalian) is a beau-

tiful edifice, with a parsonage attached. Among
the features of the interior is a font Of pure

California onyx. A large surpliced choir fur-

nishes excellent music, and many prosperous

organizations are connected with the parish.

The congregation is large and steadily increas-

ing. Rev. B. W. R. Taylor is the rector.

A Second Presbyterian Church (Calvary)

was organized in the city proper in 1887, be-

ginning with over forty members. Services

are held in the Young Men's Christian Asso-

ciation Hall. The membership is steadily in-

creasing, and within a short time a fine church

building will be erected. Rev. R. H. Hartley

is pastor.

There are also Swedish and German Lutheran

church organizations.

The Arlington Presbyterian Church is located



HISTORY OF SAN BERNARDINO COUNTY.

on Magnolia avenue, three miles from the busi-

ness center. It has a beautiful property amidst

luxurious orange groves, and is in a prosperous

condition. This church was organized in 1879.

Rev. H. B. Gage is the pastor.

The following is a list of the

FRATERNAL ORGANIZATIONS

of Riverside: F. & A. M., Evergreen Lodge,

No. 259; R. A. M., Riverside Chapter, No. 67;

K. T., Riverside Commandery, No. 28; K. P.

Sunnyside Lodge, No. 112; U. R. K. P.; I. O.

(). F., Riverside Lodge, No. 282; I. O. O. F.,

Star Encampment, No. 73; I. O. O. F., Canton

Sherman, No. 25, P. M.; G. A. R, Riverside

Post, No. 118; W. R. C, Post No. 34; River-

side Rifles, Company C, Ninth Regiment,

Captain J. N. Keith, organized 1890; W. C. T.

U.; Orange Growers' Association; Society of

Christian Endeavor.

Riverside has an excellent daily and weekly

newspaper, the Press, edited by Hon. E. W.
Holmes, and also another good weekly, the

Phoenix.

The Riverside cemetery is on the southern

side of the settlement.

THE RIVERSIDE WATER COMPANY.

The 14,000 acres of irrigable land embraced

in the Riverside colony are under the system of

ditches constructed and owned by this water

company. The owner of each acre of land en-

titled to water from this company ;

s system has

two shares of the company's stock attached to

the land, and transferable only with that land,

so that the company is composed entirely of

users of water.

There are about thirty miles of main canals,

and nearly eighty miles of laterals. The amount

of water now running in the canals is about

3.500 inches. Op the upper canal, some three

miles above Riverside, there is a drop of about

forty feet, giving a water-power equal to about

300-horse-power, which is utilized by the Elec-

tric Light Company.

The domestic system is separate in its work-

ing from the irrigating system, while it is owned

and managed by the same company. The water

is piped from the wells in a seventeen-inch main,

and delivered under a pressure of 170 feet. The

carrying capacity of the pipe is 225 inches, or

about 3,200,000 gallons per diem. The main

is laid below the town for over seven miles down

the valley, thus bringing pure artesian water to

the doors of most of the citizens, from the source

of supply, which is fifteen artesian wells, eight

miles above the town. The water is remarkably

pure and soft. The domestic water system

cost about $250,000, and the irrigating system

over $600,000. The officers of this company

are: Joseph Jarvis, M. D., President; J. Frost,

Vice-President; G. O. Newman, Engineer; D.

Corvell, Secretary.

RAILROADS AND HORSE-CAR LINES.

Riverside is located on the main line of the

Santa Fe between San Diego and the East, by

which road all points on their system in Southern

California, as well as those in the Eastern States,

are readily accessible. The city is also con-

nected with the county seat and other principal

towns of the county, by a standard-gauge steam

motor line which starts from the heart of the city.

It makes close connection with the Southern

Pacific at Colton, whence the traveler can reach

Los Angeles, San Francisco, or all points at the

East. This motor line runs almost hourly trains

and brings the residents of the county to the

east and north of the city within a few minutes

of town. The Riverside & Arlington street-car

line is standard-gauge, and as it extends seven

or eight miles down the valley it affords a

cheap and easy mode of reaching any part of

the beautiful Magnolia or Brockton avenues,

and the delightful orange orchards along them.

A trip over this road in reality affords a view

of the garden spot of California. Since its es-

tablishment about two years since, this line has

been a paying one. Hall's addition railway

connects Park avenue, about two miles distant,

with the center of the city, and it is aiding

materially in the development of one of the
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most promising suburbs. The Riverside rail-

way is something over three miles long. It

cost over $25,000, having been built to connect

the East Side and Santa Ft* depot with the

principal hotels and the business section. It

will be extended ultimately to accommodate a

large and growing settlement toward the Box

Spring hills.

YOUNG MEN'S CHRISTIAN ASSOCIATION BUILDING.

Riverside has reason to be proud of the

building her generous citizens have erected for

the use of the Young Mens' Christian Associ-

ation. The lot was donated by F. A. Miller.

The front of the building is principally of

pressed brick and Colton marble. The height

from the sidewalk to the top of the tower is

sixty feet. The building contains an assembly-

room seating 325, with aisles and rostrum, read-

ing-rooms, library, gymnasium, lavatories, etc.,

besides rooms designed for renting for stores,

offices, or lodgings. The property is worth over

$20,000. The officers for the present year are:

president, J. H. Goodhue; vice-presidents, G.

F. Herrick and Dr. J. M. McLean; recording

secretary, R. J. Pierson; general secretary,

Moore Hesketh; treasurer, C. H. Scott.

KIVEESIDE BANKING COMPANY,

at the head of the banking firms in Riverside,

is the oldest bank in the city, and can boast

the largest capital—$200,000—of all banks in

San Bernardino County. Its officers are: A.

Keith, President; Dr. J. A. Brenneman, Vice

President; O. T. Dyer, Manager; E. C. Dyer,

Cashier, and J. H. Goodhue, Assistant Cashier.

Directors—W. H. Dyer, A. Keith, Orrin

Backus, O. T. Dyer, J. A. Brenneman, E. C.

Dyer, C. J. Gill.

The gentlemen named above constitute a

part of the wealthiest and most esteemed and

reputable portion of the citizens of the county.

Mr. O. T. Dyer founded the establishment in

1880, under the firm name of Dyer Brothers,

with a capital of $30,000. His brother, W. H.

Dyer, and sisters, Misses A. J. and E. C. Dyer

—the latter of whom is still cashier—were

partners with him in the venture.

In 1885, the increasing demands of the pros-

perous and growing town of Riverside rendered

an enlargement of facilities advisable, and the

Riverside Banking Company was incorporated,

with a capital of $200,000, as above mentioned.

The institution as a whole has done much for

Riverside. It has facilitated the bulk of the

prominent enterprises for the welfare of the

community, and rendered practicable many of

the projects and improvements by furnishing

the funds for the undertaking, this being its

most important branch. Although it carries on

a regular banking business in all its depart-

ments of foreign and domestic exchange, col-

lections, discounts, etc., the majority of its

business is derived from loaning money for de-

positors, Eastern and foreign capitalists, and of

its own funds. Its correspondents are the Na-

tional Bank, New York; Merchants' National

Bank, Chicago; Pacific Bank, San Francisco;

First National Bank, Los Angeles, and Con-

solidated National, of San Diego.

MUNCIPAL, ETC.

The incorporation covers the whole territory

of the Riverside tract, or some fifty- six square

miles, of which two square miles, being the old

village of Riverside with its recent additions,

form the business center of the city. Of this

tract, thirty-three square miles are divided into

tracts for small fruit farms of five, ten, twenty,

and forty acres; twenty-one square miles are

still used for grazing purposes, being above any

system of irrigation existingat present, although

it can be watered from the upper tributaries of

the Santa Ana river.

At the time of incorporation in 1884, the

assessed valuation of property in the city proper

was $1,099,041; it was $3,589,783 in 1887;

$3, 982,899 in 1888; and $4,391,460 in 1889.

This shows that the growth of the place was

neither sensibly accelerated by the " boom," nor

checked by the cessation of that abnormal im-

pulse. The city has no debt. The rate of tax-
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only .55 on $100 foration for 1889

municipal uses.

As an incorporated city, Riverside ranks only

as of the sixth class, but her increase in popu-

lation is sure to give her, and that right speed-

ily, place in the fourth class.

The government consists of a board of five

trntees, city clerk, recorder, marshal, superin-

tendent of streets, and city engineer.

There is a fire department, and a military

company, etc.

There are three banks; two daily newspapers;

five good hotels; ten large packing-houses for

the handling of citrus and other fruits; one

cold storage and ice works; one lemon-curing

establishment; one fruit cannery; eight dry-

goods, clothing, and shoe stores; ten grocery

stores; one music store; three millinery stores;

two stationery and book stores; four jewelry

stores; four drug stores; four hardware, tin,

and plumbing establishments; three large livery

stables; two harness stores; two furniture stores;

five tobacconists; two bakeries; two planing

mills; three lumber yards; five large boarding-

houses; three restaurants; two large carriage

shops; crockery stores; carpenter shops; black-

smith shops; laundries, etc., etc.

The medical and legal professions are both

well and largely represented by a number of

firms and individuals; and the interests of the

real estate and insurance business are espe-

cially cared for by representative firms in those

branches.

In January, 1879, was formed the nucleus of

a free publiclibrary, which now circulates about

1,500 volumes.

In the Loring Opera House, Riverside boasts

a little gem of a theater, second only to the New
California of San Francisco in its appointments.

Its interior finish is exquisite; chairs of the

most improved style, beautiful draperies, lights

by both gas and electricity, make this house a

thing of beauty. Its scenery, stage appoint-

ments and fittings generally are all that could

be desired. A feature especially to be com-

mended, is the supplying of the stage with an

asbestos tire-proof curtain and steel-clad doors,

and the provision of several roomy exits, to

guard against loss of life by tire. The seating

capacity approximates 1,000. This theater is

situated on the ground-floor of the Loring block,

a three-story edifice owned and built in 1889

by a stock company. The cost was $80,000.

On the first floor of this building are the

apartments which the city occupies for the

transaction of municipal business, on a ten-

years' lease. On this floor are the offices of the

city clerk, board of health, and a large court-

room with a jury-room adjoining, also the River-

side Free Library and Reading Room. On the

second floor is a large room destined for the

meetingsof the city trustees, with smaller rooms

for the city engineer, superintendent of streets,

etc. On the ground floor is the city marshal's

office, also the quarters of the tire department;

and in the basement is the jail, with fine equip-

ments, including six steel cells. Each floor has

a tire-proof vault for the safe- keeping of rec >rds.

The following are the present officers of the

city:

Board of Trustees— E. W. Holmes, president;

M. Hoover, W. P. Russell, W. A. Hayt, H. E.

Allatt.

Library Trustees—Rev. Dr. George H. Deere,

Prof. N. C. Twining, E. W. Holmes, A. S.

White, C. J. Gill.

Board of Health— E. W. Holmes, president;

C. C. Sherman, secretary; W. J. Mclntyre.

Bradford Morse, J. W. Johnson.

City Clerk and Assessor, Ad. S. Alkire;

Marshal, Bradford Morse; Treasurer, J. M.

Drake; Recorder, W. W. Noland; City Attor-

ney, W. J. Mclntyre: Superintendent of Streets,

C. W. Finch; City Engineer, J. VV. Johnson;

Health Officer, C. C. Sherman; Chief of Fire

Department, J. N. Keith.

If it is the proud boast of San Bernardino

County that she possesses more school property

in proportion to assessed valuation than does any

other county of the State, Riverside may claim

double eminence in this regard, since she leads

by a great deal the rest of the county in the
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value and class of school property. The new

High and Grammar-school building at River-

side is justly ranked among the very best school-

houses in California. It is a magnificent struct-

ure, massive, substantial, and admirably arranged

for school uses, combining the greatest solidity

and the best arrangement of rooms with the

finest architectural results. It contains four

rooms for high-school use, with capacity for 100

students. There are at present some seventy

students, a number of whom are non-residents,

under three teachers in this department. More-

over, five grammar classes have quarters in this

building, with another soon to be organized, on

account of the increased attendance. Besides

the roomy vestibules and halls, there are rooms

for the library, the office of the superintendent,

a tenement for the janitor, and the necessary

ante-rooms. A two-story brick addition will

contain lavatories, closets, etc., to be supplied

with artesian water from the city mains, and to

have main sewer connections. Although this

building is deemed almost tire-proof, it is pro-

vided with apparatus to tight tires, with suffi-

cient pressure to throw water over any part

of the building. This building cost about

$65,000.

The Sixth street school isafour-ioom wooden

building, with a principal and three assistants,

in charge of the primary grades.

The Arlington district school is a handsome

wooden building, containing grammar, inter-

mediate, and primary grades.

The Magnolia school is a mixed class, and

there are two other primary schools in the city.

The minor school-houses of Riven-ide repre-

sent an aggregate.cost of some $10,000.

Outside of the incorporated limits of the city

are the following schools: the South Riven ide

district, having a beautiful two-story brick

building, which cost over $20,000; the tine new
building at East Riverside, which cost $15,000;

and tine new buildings at Rincon district and

South Riverside.

There are twenty teachers employed in the

Riverside schools.

INDUSTRIES.

Riverside has 6,300 acres of land under culti-

vation. Of this acreage a considerable propor-

tion is used for grain, hay and vegetables, and

another large portion is planted to trees not yet

bearing. By a conservative estimate, this land

in five years from the present will produce

double the amount, in money value, of the

present yield. This year's harvest has brought:

for oranges, $675,000; raisins, $350,000; dried

fruits, $75,000; or a total of $1,000,000. Be-

sides this there have been produced large quan-

tities of green fruit, alfalfa, barley and vegeta-

bles, which will increase the crop to fully

$1,250,000, or about $200 to the acre. As high

as $350 per acre was obtained from a four-year-

old budded grove the past season, and there are

about forty orchards in the county which paid

ten per cent, net, on valuation of $2,000 and

upwards per acre the last crop.

The first car-load of the State's shipment of

the crop for that season was sent from River-

side, December 9, 1888.

It is more than superfluous to cite here the

world-wide lame of Riverside fruits, whose su-

periority is everywhere conceded. Yet it may
be pertinent to recapitulate the prizes awarded

to the fruit-growers of Riverside at the World's

Exposition in New Orleans, in March, 1885,

as follows:

Gold medal for the best twenty varieties of

oranges grown in California.

Gold medal, for the best twenty varieties of

oranges grown in the United States.

Gold medal for the best twenty varieties of

oranges grown in world.

Silver medal (the highest premium offered in

this department] for the best display of lemons,

from any part of the world.

In this competition were met orauges and

lemons from various districls of California, from

Sonora and other Mexican States, from Louisi-

ana, Florida, the West Indies, and various places

along the Mediterranean.

Riverside fruits have repeatedly taken first

prizes at State and district California fairs.
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Some idea of the rapid development and the

present extent of orange-growing as an indus-

try maybe had by a comparison of the amounts

of annual shipments. From twenty car-loads

during the season of 1880-'81, the exportation

had grown to 760 car-loads in 1887-'88, and to

1,049 car-loads, or 310,262 boxes, in 1888-'89.

This export brought into the county some $720,-

000 in cash. This shipment, 925 car-loads, or

263,879 boxes, were from the groves of River

side, whence in 1880-'81 were shipped but

15 car-loads, or 4,290 boxes.

Raisin culture as an industry of Riverside

may be said to have begun in 1879 with the be-

ginning of regular shipments of raisins, the

total output in that year being reckoned at

30,000 boxes. It has steadily increased from

\ ear to year. Since 1879 the average annual

yield per acre has been 206^ boxes per acre,

which, it in ust be remembered, comprehends

also the very light crops of those years when the

vineyards were first coming into bearing. At

present the average yield is 274 boxes per acre.

The shipments of rasins in 1887 footed up

180,000 boxes; in 1888, 215,000 boxes, and in

1889, 225,000 boxes. Thus this staple netted to

the producers of Riverside over $350,000 this

season, so that the proceeds on raisins for

several years past will be seen to range from

$150 to $250 net per acre, oftener the latter.

The income of Riverside from only three items:

oranges, lemons and raisins, exceeds $1,000,-

000 annually. The total income of Riverside

planters for the year 1889 was over $1,100,000,

or $350 to each man, woman and child engaged

in agricultural pursuits. The crop for 1890 will

exceed in value last year's harvests, and the

average per capita will be greater. The decid-

uous fruits also are grown in considerable quauti

ties, and with profit, but their importance is not

to be compared witu that of citrous fruit6.

OTHER POINTS IN THE COUNTY.

COLTON,

founded in 1874, is an incorporated city, the

third in the county in point of population. It

is at an elevation of some 900 feet, lying fifty-

eight miles from Los Angeles, on the through

line of the Southern Pacific Railway, by which

line it was founded, being named after one of

the deceased directors of this company. The

climate is warm and dry, no frost nor fog being

known here. It is three miles from the county

seat, with which it is connected by a motor line

and by the Santa Fe line, which crosses the

Southern Pacific at Colton. The town's location

at the intersection of these two transcontinental

roads, gives it an importance at once apparent.

Some sixty trains pass Colton daily. Thus the

town is the commercial entrepot or distributing

point, through the ramifications of these lines,

for goods and wares over a very large extent of

territory, as well as being the depot of output

for all the products of rhat same territory.

Lying in the very heart of the citrus region,

Colton ranks first in the State as a shipping

point for oranges, a id for total shipments it

stands third on the list. During 1889 there

were forwarded from Colton by the Southern

Pacific alone, 22,060,606 pounds of freight, and

38,788,805 pounds were received during the

same period. For the first five months of 1889

the number of pounds forwarded was 13,777,-

887; received, 17,073,125. For the corre-

sponding five months of 1890, the number of

pounds forwarded were 22,250,701; received,

19,389,953. There were 551 car-loads of oranges

shipped from Colton during 1889; up to May 20,

1890, there were forwarded 750 car-loads, and

probably fifty more will go out before the end

of the season. The foregoing figures relate ex-

clusively to the business of the Southern Pacific.

It has been impossible to secure a statement

of the traffic by the Santa Fe, and it can only be

guessed at, taking into consideration the nu-

merous branches hereabouts of this system.

The Colton City Water Company derives its

domestic supply from artesian wells two miles

north of the city, piping in seventy-five inches

under 150 feet pressure. The irrigation supply,

also artesian water, is conveyed by three separate

companies, through pipes and cement ditches.
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The greatest and most important enterprise

of Colton is undoubtedly the marble and lime

industry on Slover mountain, fully described

elsewhere. Next to this probably comes the

Colton Packing Company, with their fine plant,

covering two acres of land, their side track to

the cannery from the S. P. Railway, and their

extensive operations. This cannery employs

during the season, some 300 men, women and

children, its pay-roll amounting to $1,500 or

$2,000 weekly. The work usually begins about

the middle of June, and continues for about

four months on green fruit, and two months

longer on raisins. The fruit canned consists of

berries, grapes, apricots, nectarines, peaches,

pears, plums, and prunes. The cannery receives

not only a vast quantity of home-grown fruit,

but it also draws largely upon the territory from

Redlands to Pomona, and even from a greater

distance. During the last season this company

handled 1,000 tons of green fruit, packed 1,000,-

000 cans, prepared forty tons of dried fruit, and

put up 40,000 boxes of raisins.

The Colton Rolling Mills had in 1889 an

output of one ton daily of rolled barley.

The soil of Colton is wonderfully fertile, pro-

ducing cereals and root-crops, as well as a great

variety of fruits, both citrus and deciduous.

The oranges of Colton Terrace are considered

especially fine; it is from this growth that Leland

Stanford chooses the supply for his own table.

Colton has a planing mill, employing about

eighty hands; a bank with a paid-up capital of

$100,000; two weekly newspapers, the Chronicle

and the News; and two hotels, with several

restaurants and eating-houses, besides the usual

complement of stoies, shops, etc. There are

six practicing physicians and two lawyers.

The principal school-house, containing eight

rooms, was built some two years since, costing

$18,500 cash. There is also another school

building, and the force consists of a principal

or superintendent and six assistant teachers.

There are Methodist, Presbyterian, Episco-

palian, and Baptist church congregations, the

two first named owning church buildings.

Among the various fraternal societies repre-

sented are : the Odd Fellows, Knights of Pythias,

Ancient Order of Foresters, United Workmen,

Grand Army of the Republic, Young Men's

Christian Association, Young Women's Christ-

ian Temperance Union, Women's Christian

Temperance Union, Independent Order of Good
Templarp and Loyal Legion.

The city officials arc: five trustees, clerk,

treasurer, marshal, engineer, attorney, re-

corder, health officer, street superintendent,

two constables, and two justices of the peace.

Colton's burning-ground is near the eastern

base of Slover mountain.

SOUTH RIVERSIDE.

Twenty-five miles southwest of San Bernard-

ino, on the Santa Ana branch of the Santa Fe

system, is a town something over two years old,

close to which will run the railway from Elsi-

nore to Pomona. This young town, known as

the Queen colony, has a population of about

400, with two daily mails, post, telegraph and

express offices, a bank with $100,000 capital,

good school and church facilities, etc. It is the

center of a large and fertile agricultural district,

rapidly settling up. The building improve-

ments here in 1888 amounted to over $125,000.

Within five miles is a large deposit of lignite

coal.

East Riverside and West Riverside are prac-

tically suburbs of the large colony.

THE COLONY OF ETIWANDA

was founded in 1881 by W. B. Chaffey and

George Chaffey, Jr., brothers from the province

of Ontario, Canada. They purchased from

Captain Garcia a tract comprising 3,000 acres,

putting the land on the market the following

year. The water right gave exclusive control

of the water of East and Day canons to the

north of the tract, and about seventeen miles

of pipe were laid.

The Santa Fe system has a station on the

tract, at some four miles distance from the

town proper.
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There is here a hotel, a school-house which

cost $3,500, and a store of general merchandise.

The tract comprised some 3,000 acres, of which

about 1,500 acres are now under cultivation.

These lands were sold at $150 to $200 per acre,

and planted to vines: they have yielded quite

that much per acre as revenue since the fourth

year. The soil is a chocolate-colored loam,

suited to the cultivation of the orange, the

lemon, and the raisin grape, the last named

being the chief product. This settlement in

fact is noted for the excellence of its raisins. In

1889 it shipped some seventy-five car-loads of

raisins, which sold for five and three-fourths

cents per pound, and there is always a keen

competition for the Etiwanda crop among the

packers. This section also ships to Eastern

markets some fine lemons and oranges. A
large acreage will be planted to divers fruits

during the coming season. Water is conducted

hither from the canons by several miles of

flume, being distributed, after reaching the

settlement, to the highest corner of each ten

acres of land by means of cement pipes. Water

is furnished to the settlers on a basis of an

inch steady flow to nine acres of land, or thirty-

seven and a half inches for twenty-four hours

once a month to each ten acres.

founded by the Chaffey brothers, is the most

western town in San Bernardino County, and

the lands extend to within four miles of the

county line. It is thirty-eight miles east of

Los Angeles, and twenty-four miles west of

San Bernardino and Colton. Cucainonga is the

nearest place on the east, Pomona on the west,

and Chino on the south. At the town the

elevation is 980 feet, with a gradual rise to

2.000 feet at the base of the mountains, six

miles away. The slope is gradual from the

Cucamonga mountains, 6,000 feet high, and the

month of San Antonio canon, running back to

"Old Baldy," 10,000 feet high, toward the

Santa Ana river, which runs about eight miles

south of the colony. The tract is level and free

from brush. The soil is a deep, rich loam.

There are about 12,000 acres in the tract, which

is seven miles long from north to sonth, and

from one to three miles from east to west.

Through the colony runs Euclid avenue, seven

miles long and 200 feet wide, a double drive

with a tram-car line in the middle, the divisions

separated by lines of gum and pepper, cypress,

Grerillea and palm trees. About the depot of

the Southern Pacific Railway clusters the main

town, consisting of some 250 acres in town

lots, surrounded by villa lots of from one to

two and one-half acres. At the Santa Fe station

is North Ontario, containing some 200 acres in

town lots. The rest of the land is laid out in

ten acre lots, with streets running east and

west, and avenues north and south, so that each

lot has a street frontage.

Water is taken from the San Antonio creek,

draining one of the largest mountain districts

in Southern California. Ontario has half the

surplus flow, owning exclusively a tunnel 2,000

feet long that taps the subterranean flow. The

water is conveyed in iron pressure pipes to the

town, and in cement pipes to the acreage prop-

erty. Stock in the San Antonio Water Com-

pany is sold with the land, a share to an acre,

ten shares being issued on an inch of water.

Unimproved land here ranges from $200 to

$300 an acre; improved, from $300 to $1,000,

according to location and variety of planting.

Bearing orange groves command the highest

price.

The Southern Pacific and the Santa Fe trunk

lines cross the colony from east to west, about

two miles apart. The Chino narrow-gauge is

completed from the Southern Pacific to Chino,

five miles away, and this line is to be extended

to the coast. Along the entire length of

Euclid avenue and over San Antonio the On-

tario Land Company has built a standard-gauge

steel railway, the motive power to be electricity,

pending the application of which power mule

traction is used, the return trip from the head

of the. slope being by gravity, the animals
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being conveyed on the cars by a very ingenious

arrangement.

The soil is a sandy, gravelly loam, very simi-

lar to portions of Pasadena, San Gabriel, Duarte,

Pomona and Cucamonga, all of which places

are situated at the foot of the same range of

mountains, and in the same zone of first-class

fruit land that extends along that mountain

chain for sixty miles, from Pasadena on the

west, to the lands northeast of San Bernardino

on the east.

The water-right in San Antonio canon, owned

by the Chaffey brothers, the founders of On-

tario, is sufficient to irrigate 5,000 or 6,000

acres of land. The requirements of the section

and the best systems have been studied by the

management.

Ontario's exhibit at the State Citrus Fair in

March, 1890, took the third premium for best

exhibit of citrus fruit from any locality. At

the Count}7 Citrus Fair at Riverside this year,

Ontario's lemons took first prize.

During 1886 Ontario had sixty-nine new

buildings, whose cost aggregated $79,875; in

1887, 110 buildings, costing $204,875; in 1888,

100 buildings, at a cost of $267,100. Thus the

whole increase for these three years was 279

buildings, costing $551,850.

The increase in population may be estimated

from the following list of the number of census

children during five succeeding years: There

were forty-four children in 1884; forty-nine in

1885; 126 in 1886; 195 in 1887, and 345 in

1888.

The growth in assessed valuation of property

has been as follows: $250,000 for 1885; $359,-

180 for 1886; $1,043,660 for 1887, and $1,-

388,685 for 1888.

In 1886-'87 Ontario set 210 acres to oranges,

and eighty to deciduous fruits and grapes,—in

all 290 acres. In 1887-'88 this colony set 220

acres to oranges, and twenty-five acres to mixed

fruits; total, 245. In 1889 there were set 450

acres, practically all oranges; in 1890, 500

acres; the acreage set in "these piping times of

peace" being nearly double that of either of the

"boom" years. The total of acreage now under

cultivation at Ontario is 2,183 acres, of which

1,350 are in citrus fruits, the rest in grapes, as-

sorted fruits, pampas grass, etc.

Ontario does not claim special pre-eminence

as a raisin district, the soil being deemed better

adapted to citrus fruits, so that no new vine-

yards have been set for two years, while many
of those now existing are being replaced by

oranges. The raisin crop last year was much
damaged by early rains, but it nevertheless

reached the figure of 10,970 boxes, or ten car-

loads, and sold for about $8,000. There were

made some 4,000 gallons of wine, which, with

the green grapes sold, brings the total product

of Ontario's vineyards to upwards of $10,000.

The output of oranges for the season of

1889-'90 was forty car-loads, and that of lemons

was twelve car-loads. The total money pro-

ceeds therefrom was $38,500.

A fruit evaporator is in process of erection at

North Ontario, at a cost of $3,000.

There are five grocery stores, three dry-goods

stores, two drug stores, one shoe store, a furni-

ture store, three hardware stores, six real-estate

offices, two barber shops, three restaurants, six

hotels, two meat markets, a harness shop, two

livery stables, a jewelry store, the best planing

mill in the county, a surveyor, an architect, and

a good quota of physicians.

With a population of less than 2,000, Ontario

has five church organizations, with an aggre-

gate membership of nearly 300, and four church

buildings, with a seating capacity of over

1,500.

The Methodists, whose pastor is Rev. J. B.

Green, have just completed an addition to their

church.

The pastor of the Congregationalist Church

is Rev. A. E. Tracy.

The pulpit of the Episcopalian Church is

supplied by Rev. W. B. Burrows, of Pomona.

Rev. D. V. Bowen, of Los Angeles, officiates

at the services of the New Church.

Rev. John McGill is the pastor of the Presby-

terian Church.
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There are here two weekly newspapers, the

Record and the Observer.

The Record is the leading journal. It is a

bright, newsy and reliable paper, well known

for its editorial ability and typographical excel-

lence. Its first issue was given to the public

December 16, 1885, by the Clarke Brothers,

and since that date it has ranked among the

leading country journals of the county. It is

independent and fearless in its policy touching

the leading questions of the day, and has made a

specialty of inducing Eastern immigration from

the Eastern States, by the publication of judicious

matter upon the resources and development of

the country. It is not only well patronized and

supported locally, but has a large circulation on

the Pacific coast and in the Eastern States.

E. P. Clarke is the senior member of the

firm of Clarke Brothers, publishers of the On-

tario Record, and is also the editor of the paper.

He is a native of the State of Maine and reared

and educated in that State, closing his educa-

tional career in Kent's Hill (Maine) Seminary

and the Wesleyan University, Middletown, Con-

necticut, graduating at the latter institution

with high honors in 1885. He then was

engaged for some months on the United States

geological survey in Maine and New Hamp-
shire. In October, 1885, he came to California

and located at Ontario, and in December of the

same year establiahed the journal he has since

so successfully edited and conducted. Mr.

Clarke is one of the progressive men of On-

tario, to whom much of its prosperity is due,

and has ever taken an active part in all enter-

prises tending to advance the interests of his

chosen city. He is a member of the San Ber-

nardino County Board of Education, and secre-

tary of the Board of Regents of the Chaffey

College, and during 1888-'S9 filled the chair

of Latin and English literature in that institu-

tion. He is a member of the Republican County

Central Committee and has been secretary of

the same. Mr. Clarke is a contributor to the

Overland Monthly and Pacific Monthly, and

lectures occasionally with acceptance.

A. F. Clarke, of the firm of Clarke Brothers,

proprietors ot the Ontario Record, is a printer by

trade, and to him is due much of the credit which

has been gained by that journal for its typo-

graphical beauty and neatness. He is a native of

Maine, in which State he received his education

and learned his trade. He came to California

in 1883 and located at Pasadena, where he was

connected with the Pasadena Union. In De-

cember, 1885, he located at Ontario and assisted

in establishing the Record. He is fully identi-

fied with Ontario and its progress and is a strong

believer in its future prosperity.

Ontario is well supplied with fraternal socie-

ties, to whose list three have been added within

the past year. The pioneer lodge, the A. O. U.

W., owns a handsome brick block, with a fine

public hall. The Odd Fellows and the Masons

are fitting up a handsome leased hall for a lodge

room. The Masons have taken the preliminary

steps for organization, and will start with a very

strong lodge. The following is a list of the

societies: Ontario Lodge, A. O. U. W., organ-

ized March 12, 1885; Ontario Post, O. A. R.,

organized May 29, 1886; Ontario Lodge, I. O.

O. F., organized July 14, 1888; W. R. O, or-

ganized November 23, 1889; Ontario Court of

Foresters, organized January 16, 1890.

Ontario has a public library association with

over 100 members. There is a well-selected

library of about 500 volumes, and additions are

made continually. The collection is very cred-

itable to a town of this size Mr. A. Pidding-

ton is the very efficient librarian.

At the founding of Ontario, its founders set

apart half of the town and villa lots as an en-

dowment for a college of agriculture, which

was made a department of the University of

Southern California. In March, 1883, the cor-

ner-stone of the college building was formally

laid, its site then being amidst sage-bush and

cactus wastes. In 1885 was completed a brick

building costing about $20,000, and for a year

a school was conducted in a small way. The

endowment being insufficient, no school was

maintained in 1886, but in 1887 it was re-



HISTORY OF SAN BERNARDINO COUNTY.

opened. The present endowment of the school

consists of $40,000 cash on interest, and $60,-

000 in deferred payments on land, bearing in-

terest at eight per cent. The total value of the

original gift of the Chaffey brothers will reach

about $175,000.

There are some sixty-five pupils in attendance

at present, under the supervision of a corps of

seven instructors. No attempt has been made

as yet to carry out the original plan of agricult-

ural work, which necessitates costly equipments,

the present work being limited to the college

preparatory and seminary departments.

On March 3, 1883, Ontario's first school was

opened in a loft over a carpenter shop, with

an enrollment of fourteen pupils. There are

now nearly 300 pupils in the public schools,

and there are four school buildings, built and

furnished at a cost of some $15,000, requiring

the supervision of eight teachers. The build,

ings are among the finest in the county, and

their surrounding grounds add to their attrac-

tions and value. The corps of teachers are able

and of good record, and the school facilities

are considered to compare favorably with those

provided in Eastern cities of 5,000 to 10,000

population.

LUGONIA,

so called from the Eugos, the old Mexican fam-

ily who formerly owned this territory, is that

portion of San Bernardino County lying be-

tween old San Bernardino and Crafton, having

the Santa Ana river for its northern bound-

ary, and for its southern the foothills north

of. San Timoteo canon. The soil here is greatly

diversified, ranging from the lightest sandy

loam to the heaviest adobe. This is one of

the finest fruit sections, being almost frostless,

and watered from a stream that never fails.

The tract is delightfully situated, commanding

a view of the San Bernardino mountains, that

extend for forty miles, and rise over 4,000 feet

high on the north; on the east the peaks of

San Bernardino and Grayback; and on the west

an almost level plane, stretching nearly seventy

miles to Los Angeles and the ocean.

This email settlement on the north 6ide of

the Mill creek zanja offered lands with water

right for from $25 to $50 per acre, up to 1881,

Lugonia being but a school district at that

time.

About 1881-'82 Judson & Brown secured

1,500 acres of land on the sloping hillside

south of Lugonia and the Mill creek zanja,

surveyed and platted same into five, ten and

twenty-acre lots, with wide avenues and streets

traversing the whole plat.

This enterprise was regarded as an experi-

ment, from the fact that the red soil of this

slope had never been tested as to its adapt-

ability to horticultural pursuits.

With plenty of water and good cultivation

the doubt as to the value of the land was soon

removed and the success of the colony enter-

prise was assured. Thus encouraged the pro-

jectors enlarged their possessions by additional

purchases, until they had between 3,000 and

4,000 acres in their colony, which, on account

of the peculiar color of the soil, they named

REDLANDS.

In 1886 commissioners sent out to Southern

California by an association formed in Chi-

cago, for the purpose of finding the best place

in this State for a colony, after looking the

State all over, purchased 440 acres of land

lying between Redlands and Crafton.

This land was divided up into lots averag-

ing about eleven acres each, and forty deeds

made and executed, this being the number of

purchasers and members of the association. This

tract was given the name of the Chicago

colony.

In 1887 a syndicate of Riverside business

men and capitalists bought 500 acres west of

Redlands and extending to San Timoteo canon,

through whi.h the Southern Pacific Railroad

passes and in which the Brookside station is

located, laid it out so as to extend the main

avenues ot Redlands through the same and gave

it the name of Terracina, now called West

Redlands.
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Southeast of Redlands lies the fertile valley

of Tucaipa, with thousands of acres of grain

and grazing land, with herds of cattle, large

dairies, flocks of sheep, and orchards producing

immense quantities of the finest apples and

cherries.

Northeast lies Mentone, the terminus of the

Valley railroad, embracing 3,000 acres.

Westward is the tract known as Williams,

from the owner's name, embracing 1,500 acres,

and with a railroad station named Gladysta.

It has seemed well to make brief mention of

Crafton, Lugonia, Terracina, Yucaipa, Old San

Bernardino, Mentone and Williams, because

they surround Redlands on every side, are im-

mediately adjacent and are tributary to it. Three

of these settlements were flourishing and pros-

perous wiih deciduous and citrus orchards and

vineyards bearing years before there was a brick

laid of the forty business blocks of Redlands.

Not one of these settlements has a place of

business of its own; all depend on Redlands for

their mail and supplies. It is this rich and

populous outlying country that has forced the

growth of Redlands, and insures the continued

advance of the city in trade and importance.

There is no other town among those that have

recently sprung up in Southern California, that

has so large and valuable a territory depending

upon it and contributing to it.

Redlands is the fourth city incorporated

within the county of San Bernardino, its incor-

poration dating from November 26, 1888. The

population at present (May, 1890,) is about

2,500. Owing to the very rapid increase of

population, there are many adult residents and

heads of families, who have not been here long

enough to become voters.

Redlands lies at the eastern end of the great

valley of the Upper Santa Ana, sometimes

called the East San Bernardino valley. It

stretches from the banks of the Santa Ana

river, the largest stream in Southern California,

on the north, to the hills on the south. The

boundaries of the city incorporation include

seventeen square miles of the richest and best

soil in the State for orange growing. Perfect

drainage is secured by the natural slope of the

land and the character of the soil. It is nine

miles directly east of San Bernardino, the

county 6eat; thirteen miles northeast from

Riverside; sixty miles directly east of Los

Angeles, and one hundred miles north of San

Diego, air-line distances.

The Southern Pacific overland railroad enters

the valley on the south through the San Gor-

gonio pass. Brookside station on this road is

two miles southwest of the business center of

Redlands. The Southern California, a branch

of the Santa Fe, enters the valley from the

north through the Cajon pass, and makes San

Bernardino its central point. Redlands has

direct railroad communication with Los Angeles

over the San Bernardino Valley Railroad (the

Santa F£ system) three times a day; with Rivei-

side the same; with San Bernardino and Colton

6ix times each day. The mail is received and

sent from the Redlands postoffice three times

daily.

In addition the San Bernardino and Redlands

narrow-gauge (called the Motor Road) makes

ten trips between Redlands and San Bernardino

each day, connecting with the Rapid Transit

road which tuns to Colton and Riverside. Red-

lands has already built and in operation three

miles of street railroad, connecting the stations

of both wide and narrow-gauge railroads with

different residence portions of the city.

The Southern Pacific company has surveyed

a line for a road between Los Angeles and Red-

lands and announced its intention to build in

the near future. Local capital, interested in

the great cedar and pine forests on the moun-

tain ranges east and north of the city, is also

surveying routes for railroads to these vast

lumber districts. The vast importance of the

lumber area of Bear valley and adjacent terri-

tory, as well as the growing importance of that

most beautiful mountain summer resort, will

compel the building of a narrow-gauge railroad

at no very far distant day. The route is practi-

cable and the grade not at all difficult, while
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the passenger travel in summer will be very

heavy.

On the area occupied by the business portion

of this city thirty months ago, there was not a

single building. To-day there are forty sub-

stantial brick business buildings, none less than

tsv > stories high, all occupied by the various

branches of trade and manufacturing. Among

the business establishments are three large gen-

eral and grocery houses, dry goods store, a

national bank, a State bank, three agricultural

implement and hardware houses, three drug

stores, two furniture stores, two meat markets,

two bakeries, three large commercial hotels,

three restaurants, two tin and plumbing estab-

lishments, two lumber yards, three blacksmith

and repairing shops, three vegetable and fruit

stores, two harness shops, a livery stable, car-

riage repository, clothing store, jewelry store,

sash and door factory, planing mill, boot and

shoe store photograph gallery, two paint shops,

two barber shops, a book store, two wood and

coal yards, an art store, a ladies' bazaar, three

boarding houses, two manufactories of cement

pipe, a roller feed mill, three fruit-packing

houses, numerous real-estate and insurance

offices, lawyers, doctors, and a first-class job

printing and newspaper office, the Citroyraph.

The several school districts in Redlands and

adjoining, made the following gains in valuation

during the year 1888;

DISTRICTS.
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son's work are stated in their own language as

follows:

Messrs. Cook & Langley say:

" We have purchased green fruit as follows:

315,655 pounds of apricots; 203,183 pounds of

peaches; 30,869 pounds of nectarines.

" Figuring on the basis of 20,000 pounds to

the car-load, would make total shipment of about

twenty-two and a half cars of dried fruit from

Redlands and immediate vicinity.

" Of raisins we purchased 443,386 pounds at

Redlands and immediate vicinity; 120,818 at

outside points.

" We have shipped of our own pack 27,559

boxes of raisins and 34,697 pounds loose raisins

in sacks, making a total of thirty car-loads of

raisins shipped from one Redlands packing-

house this season."

The statement of A. M. Aplin's drying es-

tablishment is as follows: •' 1,040,000 pounds of

peaches and apricots purchased and dried ; eighty-

two tons dried fruit shipped to Chicago."

Producers have heretofore, in the absence of

public drying establishments, been in the habit

of drying and disposing of their own crops.

Then large quantities were this season sold to

the cannery at Colton and the drying establish-

ment at San Bernardino. It is estimated that

the quantity thus disposed of at least equals that

shown in the above statements; thus making

the total product of dried peaches, apricots and

nectarines 2,980,000 pounds, or 149 car-loads of

20,000 pounds each.

The orange crop of 18S9 was about 100 car-

loads.

Millions of trees are being grown in the nur-

series this season where thousands have been

grown heretofore. Many ranch owners in the

valley started seed beds last year and are about

to put in more, so that young trees will soon be

comparatively cheap.

Almost incredible profits have been made on

orchards in hill bearing and exceptionally well

cared for. Some orchards in this valley in fa-

vorable seasons have given per acre net profits

of over $1,000 per annum. The orchards at

Old San Bernardino, nearly all seedlings, and

not as well cultivated as they should be, have as

a whole, for years past, averaged their owners

net profits of over $250 per acre per annum.

Some of the best seedling orchards have, during

the same period, netted $1,000 per acre. The

old seedling orange orchards at Crafton, planted

by M. H. Crafts before Riverside had an orange

tree in it, have averaged a net profit of $260 per

acre for the past eight years. Some of the old

seedling orchards have averaged better than this

for years past. These old orchards have been

quoted because they have shown these results

through a series of years, and are safe guides

for careful business calculations. Younger

budded orchards have made as high an average

as $500 per year, and promise to considerably

increase this average as they become older and

larger.

Within the district surrounding the city of

Redlands and naturally tributary to it as a busi-

ness center, there is over 25,000 acres of good

fruit land. Over 15,000 acres of this is good

orange land. Reckoning in the Yucaipa, Po-

tato, Bear and numerous other small valleys

opening out into these and the East San Ber-

nardino, there are 10,000 additional acres of

fertile soil, a large portion of which is excellent

for deciduous fruits, but too elevated for orange

cultu-e on account of temperature. In these

high mountain valleys the finest small fruits,

potatoes and apples are raised, yielding profits

to the acre equal in many instances to the profits

of orange culture.

To make fruit culture in all the section under

discussion successful, or even possible, irriga-

tion is a necessity. The supply of water for

full irrigation of 25,000 acres in the valley is

abundant. The sources of supply are the high

ranges ot mountains walling in the valley on the

north and east. These ranges obtain at points

an elevation of nearly 12,000 feet above sea

level, and their summits are in the regions of

perpetual ice and snow. The Santa Ana river,

Mill creek, Plunge creek and other smaller

streams conduct the water from nature's de-
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posits to the valley. Formerly, as in other

portions of the State, the great supply of the

winter rains ran through these channels to the

sea and was lost forever. A great natural lake

formerly existed high upon the San Bernardino

range. Probably an earthquake or some other

convulsion broke the rim of the lake, and the

accumulated waters made their escape through

the Santa "Ana river. This broken rim has been

repaired by ingenuity, energy and capital, and

the greatest stored supply of water for irriga-

gation in the world

—

Bear Valley Resekvoie

—is the result.

THE ARROWHEAD HOT SPRINGS.

The Arrowhead Hot Springs are on the mesa,

a bench of the San Bernardino range, about ten

miles from Colton, on the Southern Pacific

Railway, and six miles northeast of San Ber-

nardino, than which town they have some 1,000

feet more altitude, being over 2,000 feet above

the sea level. The name is derived from a pe-

culiar appearance on the mountain side above

the springs and pointing to them—the repre-

sentation of an Indian arrowhead, white on a

dark background, so perfect in shape that many
people believe it was designed there. The soil

which forms this mark is composed mostly of

disintegrated white quartz and light gray gran-

ite, on which grow weeds and a short, white

grass, while the soil around it is of a different

formation, sustaining a shrub of a dark color,

which covers the rest of the face of the moun-
tain. The arrowhead is 1,115 feet long and 396

feet wide. The native Indians have a legend

reciting how, long, long ago, the peaceful Ca-

huilla tribe, who inhabited the San Bernardino

valley when it was first settled by whites, then

lived eastward, far over the mountains, near

some warlike tribes, who presently drove them

out of this their native country. As they wan-

dered, the Great Spirit discharged an arrow be-

fore them, which dart, after the manner of the

pillar of fire of the Israelites, moved on before

them until it rested on this mountain side,

pointing down into the valley, which they thus

knew they were to occupy—as they did, until

the invading white men came to wrest it from

them.

There are other legends connected with this

symbol, but all perhaps less poetical than this

one.

Here are about twenty-five springs, whose

temperature ranges from 140° to 193° Fahren-

heit, the solid constituents being of great efficacy

in the cure of rheumatism, blood-poisoning,

skin diseases, etc.

There is no village at this leading health re-

sort of the county but a fine three-story hotel,

containing 100 rooms, owned by a syndicate of

capitalists. This hotel has the usual conveni-

ences, and its own system of electric lights, the

power for which is supplied by the fall of the

mountain water. There is a resident physician

here, and regularly established postoffice.

Coaches run twice a day to and from San Ber-

nardino.

ALESSANDRO

is a small town site or station, with a postoffice,

on the line of the California Southern (Santa

Fe), in Perris valley, near the San Diego County

line. There are two daily mails. The inhabi-

tants of the valley are mainly engaged in stock-

raising. This is regarded as the destined center

of the colony of Dunkards who are shortly to

immigrate to Southern California.. Their man-

aging agent, M. M. Eshelman, bought the hotel

at Lordsburg, and purposes to settle them in

San Jacinto valley. In this irrigation district

is to be completed shortly a canal to water the

valley, to convey 15,000 inches of water from

the Bear valley reservoir.

was laid out in 1884-'85, by a syndicate of

Nevada capitalists who purchased about 3,000

acres of land here, and laid out about the rail-

way station a small town plat, whose lots sold

for from $50 to $275. The remainder of the

land laid out in acre tracts sells at $125 to

$200 per acre. The water supply here is per-

haps the best between Colton and Yuma. A
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cement ditch eight miles long, lends up intu

Moore's canon, having a capacity of from 1,500

to 2,500 inches. About 1,000 inches of wa-

ter can be furnished in the dryest season.

Ten miles of first-class iron piping, with flumes

and ditches, distribute all over the colony this

water supply, abundant and reliable. This

"mountain colony" is one of the most pic-

turesque settlements in the county, and its

mountain scenery is beautiful. The elevation

is 2,317 feet. From this point is the nearest

approach to Mount San Bernardino, Mount San

Jacinto and Grayback, the three highest peaks

in Southern California. The mountains contain

a vast amount of timber of superior quality.

The capacity of the Banning soil is very

wide. Lands in this section, not subject to

irrigation, have raised grain crops without a

single failure for the last ten years. Barley

has been the main reliance, but wheat is suc-

cessfully raised also. The experiment of citrus

fruit growing has not been thoroughly tested,

but deciduous fruits thrive marvelously well,

cherries in particular, which are always highly

and profitably marketable, are especially a fa-

vorite of the soil, and the peaches of Banning

are declared to be unequaled. Berries are

extremely luxuriant, and many tons are shipped

hence yearly.

The population of Banning is about 300.

The town has post, express and telegraph offices;

a notary public; a Government school for

Indians; a hotel; a $3,500 school-house, with

an average attendance of fifty pupils; one

(Baptist) church edifice, with several other

denominations represented; several stores of

general merchandise, and one live weekly news-

paper, the Banning Herald. Improvements in

building, and the planting of vines and trees,

are constantly in progress. Banning is thirty

miles east of Colton, and eighty.eight miles

from Los Angeles, on the line of the Southern

Pacific Railway.

BAESTOW

is situated at the junction of the California

Southern and the A. &. P. Railway, eighty-two

miles from San Bernardino and twelve miles

from Daggett. It has an elevation of 1,900

feet. The population is about 300. The town

is comparatively new. The climate is dry and

clear with no fogs or dampness. There is a

postoffice, telegraph, telephone and express

offices, and daily stage for Calico, connecting

with trains, as well as several stores carrying

general merchandise, and a large railroad hotel.

A silver mine and mill are to be found just

north of this place.

formerly San Gorgonio, is an attractive little

town at the head of the San Gorgonio cafion.

It is sometimes designated as " the summit,"

being located on the '' divide," 2,5C0 feet above

the sea level. It is on the Yuma division of the

S. P. Railroad, twenty miles east of Colton, and

twenty-five miles from San Bernardino. Ithas

a postoffice, telegraph, telephone and express

offices and stage connection with San Jacinto.

It has a weekly newspaper, the Sentinel, a pub-

lic school-house which cost $3,500, with an

average attendance of 100; a Presbyterian

church; three hotels, one of which cost $25,000,

and several stores of general merchandise. The

population is about 400.

the old and famous mining town, is about seven

miles from Daggett on the south, with which

point it has stage connections, as well as with

Barstow. It has an elevation of 2,600 feet.

The name is derived from the variegated colors

of the mountains to the northward. The town

lies on the south side of the mountain, and thus

has no need of a system of sewerage. Good

water is to be had from a water company sup-

plying the town. There are here a postoffice, a

telegraph and an express office, also a school

house, a hotel, and several general stores. There

are several quartz-mills in operation, and the

yield is good and constant. The statistics of

these mines are given elsewhere. In addition to

the gold and silver mines, there are extensive
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borax mines which pay well, worked by capital-

ists of San Francisco.

The Calico Print, devoted to the mining

interests of the region, was started herein 1882,

but it has suspended publication lately. The

climate of Calico is dry and healthful. The

population is about 800.

THE CHINO RANCH

is located wholly in San Bernardino County,

thirty-five miles easterly from Los Angeles city,

and about twenty-live miles southwesterly from

the city of San Bernardino. It adjoins Ontario

and Pomona and is about fifteen miles from Riv-

erside. Depots on the Southern Pacific and Atch-

ison, Topeka & Santa Fe railroads are near it, and

the Pomona, Elsinore and Southern Pacific rail-

road companies have made surveys through its

center. It is composed of two Mexican grants,

respectively named "Santa Ana del Chino

"

and " Addition to Santa Ana del Chino," the

former containing 22,234 and the latter 13,366

acres. The Chino was granted to Antonio M.

Lugo, a Mexican of distinction and an alcalde,

March 26, 1841, and was patented by the

United States, February 16, 1869; the Addition

was granted to Iaaac Williams (Sefior Lugo's

son-in-law), April 1, 1843, and patented by the

United States, April 29, 1869. At that early

day these shrewd men selected the Chino lands

in preference to hundreds of other rich and

vacant tracts, and after carefully inspecting all

the other large grants in Southern California

with a view to good investment and a permanent

home. Mr. Richard Gird, the present owner,

bought the " Chino" and the "Addition" in

1881, and has since increased his acreage by the

purchase of adjoining land, until at this writing

(1889) he is the owner of nearly 47,000 acres,

truly a principality in extent. He resides upon

the ranch and is improving its former good

reputation for blooded horses and cattle—there

being now 800 head of finely bred horses and

6,000 cattle on it. The ranch is producing

some of the most valuable thoroughbred trot-

ting and draft-horses to be found in Southern

California. Among the cattle, which are Dur-

ham and Hoktein stock, is a dairy of 200 milch

cows. The product of tlm dairy, butter, ranks

among the finest in this State.

The ranch is rich in historical events. There

the early emigrants to California by the south-

ern route found accommodations to rest and re-

cruit themselves and animals. Mr. Gird has a

large book containing autographic accounts of

the tedious and dangerous trip, circumstances

ot fights with the Indians, etc. This ranch was
the scene of Indian attacks, and of fights be-

tween Americans and Mexicans when California

was acquired. Many old Mexicaus believe

much gold treasure was buried upon it, and
every year some of them ask permission to dig

for it. Passing over many incidents of great

interest, it is a widely known fact that during

the drouth year of 1864 the Chino was the only

ranch that carried all its cattle, and it sustained

5,000 head that memorable season, proving its

superiority for water and pasturage. Twenty-
three thousand acres have been surveyed into

ten-acre tracts, with streets fronting all. All

the land is valuable,—no gulches, no rocks, no
brush,—in fact, all is ready for the plow. It

has a uniform slope of from twenty to forty feet

to the mile, just right for the best drainage

without washing. The most experienced culti-

vators in the State have testified and practically

proven that every ten acres of such land will

amply support a family. Many thousands of

acres are moist land, not needing irrigation, a

fact of the greatest value, insuring the largest

crops at the least cost; and the great depth of

the soil renders fertilizing unnecessary for many
years, if ever. Fully 10,000 acres are specially

adapted to the growth of oranges, and 3,000 or

more to raisin grapes. Ten thousand acres will

grow any fruit or crop without any irrigation,

and the vast size of the ranch enables buyers to

choose tracts exactly suited to vegetables and

alfalfa; to oranges, lemons and limes; to olives,

grapes, pears, prunes, plums, peaches, apples

and small fruits, and to walnuts and other nuts.

The water supply is abundant and never-
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tailing; the Chino creek, a tributary of the

Santa Ana river, passes through the ranch.

The average rise of the land to the mountains

on the north is sixty feet to the mile. These

mountains carry snow nine months in the year,

and have an annual rainfall of from forty to

sixty inches—say an average of forty -iive. This

mountain catchment, tributary to Chino valley,

about 400 miles in extent, is enough to make a

large and rapidly flowing river the whole year,

and all of it, except what is absorbed by the in-

tervening lands and taken up by evaporation,

must find its way underground to Chino valley

(for there is no other to receive it), giving the

ranch an unfailing supply of pure, soft water,

at from six to eighteen feet from the surface,

and 100 to 400 for artesian wells. With an

average rainfall in the valley of nearly twenty

inches, and this vast catchment, both surface

and artesian supply is assured beyond a doubt.

For the fifty or more years this ranch has been

inhabited, there has never been any lack of

water, or of thrifty crops and pasturage. Ar-

tesian wells, with large flows, at from 100 to

400 feet, have been bored in different parts of

the tract, and more are in progress.

THE TOWN OF CHINO

is eligibly and centrally located on the tract.

The lots are large, with broad streets and alleys

to all. Suitable blocks are reserved for spacious

parks. Pure, soft water is abundantly obtained

on all parts ot the tract and town site, at from

fifteen to thirty-five feet, and artesian water has

been piped from lands northeast of Pomona, to

a reservoir located north of the town site, and

thence distributed through the town under

pressure which is sufficient for all desired pur-

poses.

Richard Gied is the well-known owner of

the Chino ranch, San Bernardino Connty. The

few facts obtained in regard to his life and suc-

cessful career form an interesting chapter in

this Memorial History. Mr. Gird was born in

Herkimer County, New York, in 1836. His

father, John Gird, was a native of New Jersey,

a farmer by occupation, and to that calling he

reared his son, giving him the benefits of such

an education as could be procured in the com-

mon schools. The subject of this sketch was of

studious habits and disposition, and made the

best of his advantages. He devoted consider-

able attention to the study of mechanics and

other scientific studies. Of an ambitious dis-

position and desirous of a more extended field

of operations, he sought the far West, and when

less than seventeen years of age, in 1852, he

came by steamer to California. Soon after his

arrival he went to mining in El Dorado County.

After some months in that calling he located

on the Russian river in Sonoma County, and

engaged in farming and stock-raising. In 1858

he embarked for South America, and upon his

arrival there was for several months engaged in

prospecting for mineral wealth, after which he

engaged in railroad building, under the old

California pioneer, Harry Meigs.

A year spent in South America satisfied him,

and after a short visit to his old home in the

East, Mr. Gird returned to California. Upon

his return he engaged in surveying until 1861.

In that year he located in Arizona, and for

several years was engaged in prospecting the

mining regions in the vicinity of La Paz on the

Colorado river, and also engaged as a surveyor.

In 1864 Mr. Gird was authorized by the Terri-

torial Legislature to make a map of Arizona.

This work was successfully accomplished. The

map was the first Territorial map ever issued.

Its accuracy and reliability was acknowledged

by all, and it became the basis upon which were

founded the subsequent military and other maps

that were issued in 1866. Mr. Gird returned

to California and located in San Francisco.

There he established himself in manufacturing

mining machinery, engines, etc. He was thus

employed until 1872, when he again located in

Arizona, and was for years engaged in assaying,

superintending the construction of mills, fur-

naces, and surveying. In 1878 Mr. Gird was

prospecting in the now famous Tombstone

district. Himself and the Schieffellin brothers
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were the original discoverers of that district,

and through the exertions of those three men

was laid the foundation of one of the richest

mining districts in the world. From the very

first Mr. Gird was the leading spirit in develop-

ing the mineral wealth of that section. He
was one of the original incorporators and super-

intendent of the Tombstone Mill and Mining

Company. He designed the first mill ever

erected in the district, and turned out the first

bullion. He was equally prominent in build-

ing up the city of Tombstone, and was the first

Postmaster appointed, and the lirst Mayor

elected in that city. In 1881 Mr. Gird sold

out his interests in Tombstone, came to San

Bernardino County, and purchased the Chino

ranch, a description of which is included in

this volume. Upon his taking possession of

his ranch, Mr. Gird began the extensive opera-

tions of developing and building up the Chino

valley, that has made the Chino ranch and

Richard Gird household words in Southern

California.

Mr. Gird is a man of broad views, marked

ability and sound business principles. His

name is synonymous with honesty and straight-

forward dealing with all who know him, and

his friends are legion. Aside from his enter-

prises at Chino, he has been connected with

other industries and interests in the county.

He is one of the original incorporators of the

Farmers' Exchange Bank, of San Bernardino,

and is vice-president of the same. He is also a

director in the San Bernardino National Bank.

He is a strong supporter of churches and

schools, and his purse is ever open to any call

that advance the interests of either. In politi-

cal matters he is a stanch Republican, taking a

prominent part in the councils of his party.

He has for years been a member of the County

Central Committee, and was chairman of the

same in 1884. In 1888 he was a member of

the State Central Committee, and in the same

year was elected alternate delegate to the Re-

publican National Convention. In 1881 he was

married to Miss Nelly McCarty.

THE C0CAMONGA VINEYARD

consists of about 160 acres of vines that for

some years have been in full bearing. It con-

tained in 1871 some 150,000 vines. A large

acreage further was planted in 1882-'83, both

by the old vineyard company, and by new set-

tlers, many of whom are planting the raisin

grape. The soil is quite free from alkali. The
vineyard, with the buildings and apparatus

appertaining thereto, is owned by Los Angeles

capitalists. AVithin a few months, in 1883,

applications were made to cover all the public

lands in the vicinity—some 4,000 acres. The
" center " of the settlement, named Cucainonga,

is about two miles north of North Cucamonga,
which is on the line of the Santa Fe Railway.

Here, besides the old winery, are two stores,

a postoffice with daily mail, a church, a school

house costing $-1,000, blacksmith shop, hotel,

express office, etc. The legal name of the post-

office and the colony is simply " Cucamonga,"

in contradistinction from that of the settlement

with which it is often confounded, North Cuca-

monga, founded in 1887, on the California Cen-

tral Railway, seventeen miles west of San Ber-

nardino. In December, 1887, a violent wind-

storm came near destroying this new-born town,

but it pluckily rallied from that injury. From
the trains at this point are taken the mails for

Cucamonga (old office), Etiwanda and Grape-

lands. Here are post, express and telegraph

offices, a fine railway depot, a general store, and

a fine block containing the offices of the Cuca-

monga Fruit Land Company and the Cucamonga
Water Company (which pipes to the town from

the base of the mountains a good and abundant

supply of spring water, under 100 feet pressure)

a hotel, livery stable, etc. The company owned

some 12,000 acres of arable land, suitable

lor citrus and deciduous fruits, and grain, part of

the tract having been sold.

NORTH ONTARIO

is a new settlement on the California Central

Railway, twenty miles from San Bernardino, and

forty miles from Los Angeles. Its elevation is
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1,200 feet, and it lies five miles from the base

of the mountains. This settlement was laid out

in April, 1887, on a tract of 200 acres bordering

the east side of Euclid avenue, which was sub-

divided into town lots. A street railway ex-

tends hence along the famous Euclid avenue to

Ontario, two miles to the souihward. North

Ontario has a postoftice, telegraph and express

offices, church, school, hotel, freight and passen-

ger depot, lumber yard, etc. It has abundant

pure water, and its climate, free from fog and

dampness, is said to be very beneficial to people

with pulmonary troubles.

a town of considerable importance, is on the

Atlantic & Pacific Railway, about twelve miles

east of Barstow, and ninety-three miles from

San Bernardino, at an elevation of 2,000 feet.

It has a fine passenger and freight depot, and

postoffice, telegraph, telephone, and express

office (doing the express business of Calico), a

large railroad eating-house, reduction works,

two quartz mills aggregating twenty-five stamps,

schools, churches, and several stores of general

merchandise, being a supply depot for mining

implements and equipments. Daggett has about

500 population, and it is growing in inhabitants

and importance. The town is well supplied

with excellent water, piped throughout.

ORO GRANDE,

the legal postoffice name of which is Halleck,

is forty-five miles northeast of San Bernardino

on the California Southern Railway. The town

contains a postoftice with two daily mails, tele-

graph, telephone, and express offices, a weekly

newspaper .and several stores. The water is

pure, good, and plentiful. The mining opera-

tions at Oro Grande are probably second in im-

portance only to Colton. The character of the

ore brought to light here seems to justify the

eagerness with which capitalists, speculators,

and miners are pouring in from all directions.

There are extensive lime and marble quarries

jn the vicinity, but the all-absorbing interest at

present is the recent rich '-strikes" in gold and

silver. In the surrounding country are many
stock ranchos, producing the finest meat that

reaches the city market.

THE RINCON

is the name applied to a tract lying on either

side of the Santa Ana river, from ten to twenty

miles below Riverside. This is one of the best-

watered and richest farming sections of Southern

California. For miles in extent the valley low-

land raises yearly immense crops of corn without

irrigation, and the semi-moist lands that lie a

little higher, extending at the north through

the Chino Rancho nearly to Pomona, produce

good crops of small grains, as wheat and barley,

much of this land also yielding good corn and

other crops. In one place a spring supplies

some 250 inches of water, which is used to run

the Chino valley grist-mill, being afterward

turned to purposes of irrigation. This stream

remains the same summer and winter, " the lay

of the land " being such that the rains affect it

very little, while the summer droughts do not

diminish the water supply. The station and

postoffice of Rincon is on the Santa Ana divi-

sion of the California Central (Santa Fe) Rail-

way, about twelve miles south of Riverside, and

four miles from the Los Angeles County line.

There are two daily mails here, a telegraph and

express office, hotel, two general stores, etc.

Rialto, a settlement and town about two years

old, is four miles west of San Bernardino, on

the California Central Railway. It is at an

elevatiou of 1,200 feet, on a gradual slope from

the mountains eight miles to the northward.

Rialto has quite a number of business houses,

a new hotel of forty-five rooms, telegraph, ex-

press and postoffice, school-houses and churches

under construction, and a weekly newspaper,

the Orange Grower. The plans have been ap

proved for a branch school building of the

University of Southern California, to be erected

here. The water supply is excellent, being taken
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from the headwaters of Lytle creek, a mountain

stream of perpetual flow. The Semi Tropic

Land and Water Company has here about 30,-

000 acres of land, suitable for almost every

variety of fruit culture.

SODTH CUCAMONGA

is so called in contradistinction from Cuca-

monga (the old office) and North Cucamonga,

on the California Central Railway. The town-

site is named South Cucamonga, but the legal

name of the postoffice is Zncker. It is forty-

two miles east of Los Angeles, 'sixteen miles

west of Colton, and two miles south of North

Cucamonga. There is here a postoffice, a tele-

graph and an express office, a hotel, a livery

stable, etc., besides a large passenger and freight

depot, where the Southern Pacific does consid-

erable business derived from the surrounding

very fertile agricultural section.

TEMESCAL

is a mining town and postoffice in the Temescal

mountains. It is reached by a wagon road

through the canon. The nearest railway, tele-

graph and express offices are at South Riverside.

Temescal is about thirty miles south of the

county seat. Near by are the famous Temescal

tin mines, also coal mines of good grade and

abundant yield.

ULMER

is situated on the California Southern Railway,

seventy miles from San Bernardino and fifteen

miles from Barstow. It is a new settlement,

and a recently established postoffice. The resi-

dents of the vicinity make stock raising their

principal industry.

VICTOE

is about forty miles northeast of the county

seat, on the California Southern Railway. It

is situated in a beautiful valley near the Mohave
river, which affords a fine supply of good water.

The scenery hereabouts is charming. About
300 is the population of the little town, which
contains a postoffice with two daily mails, tele-

graph and express offices, a church., a school-

house, two general merchandise stores, black-

smith shop, etc. Victor is famous for its fine

marble and granite quarries, which, if properly

developed, would prove a source of wealth to

the community.
THE NEEDLES,

so called from the peculiar shape of rocks in the

neighborhood, is a town of some 150 popula-

tion, on the banks of the Colorado river, at the

end of the division of railway from the Mohave
and Los Angeles. The town has a postoffice,

telegraph and express office, a Roman Catholic

church, a hotel, several storesof general merchan-

dise, saloons, etc. The climate here is beneficial

for consumptives, the air being dry, without fog

or dew. The heats of summer are excessive. The
Mohave Indians dwell hereabouts.

is a small town in the Hesperia valley, on the

main line of the Atchison, Topeka & Santa Fe"

Railway, about twenty-five miles north of the

county seat, at an elevation of 2,500 feet. The
San Bernardino mountains on the south and the

Hesperia mountains on the north, enclose the

valley, and the climate is delightful and unri-

valed for pulmonary, bronchial, and nasal dis-

orders.

HARLEM SPRINGS

are five miles northeast of San Bernardino, on
the Base Line road. This resort, to which be-

longs a tract of twenty acres, is owned by a

syndicate of San Bernardino capitalists, with

whom certain parties are negotiating for its

purchase, for the establishment of a great sani-

tarium. The elevation is 290 feet, with a grad-

ual slope southward. Within eighteen inches

of each other are found springs almost icy

cold, and boiling hot. The postoffice name is

Messina.

PROVIDENCE

is a mining camp and postoffice, with tri- weekly

mail, about sixteen miles northwest of Fenner

station, and 150 miles from San Bernardino,

on the Atlantic & Pacific Railroad. Since their

discovery, eight years since, the mines here
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have yielded large amounts of paying silver ore.

The "Bonanza King" mine has yielded an

average of $60,000 per month since it was

opened.

NANTAN

is a mining camp and postoffice, with weekly

mail, sixty miles north of Fenner. There are

fine mines here, producing large quantities of

paying ore.

IVANPAH,

the oldest mining camp in the county, is about

200 miles northeast of San Bernardino, and

seventy miles north of Fenner station, receiving

a weekly mail. From this district proceeded

some of the richest ore ever mined in the

county. Two mills are operated in the district,

and they have shipped large quantities of

bullion.

GEAPELAND

is a recently established postoffice, at about the

center of the old Perdew precinct, five miles

east of Etiwanda, in the grape region, near the

base of the mountains.

EL CASOO

is a postal station recently established on the

Southern Pacific Railroad, in the San Gorgonio

pass, some thirteen miles east of Colton. This

is in the midst of .a rich agricultural section

famous for its dairy interests, known as the

Yucaipa or San Timoteo district.

SAN TIMOTEO CANON

is a valley ten or fifteen miles long, in some

places narrowing to half a mile in width, in

others opening out into wide bays occupied by

farms and ranchos. At the head of the canon

it widens till it terminates in the plain. From
San Bernardino to the head of the canon it is

about twenty miles. This valley contains many
beautiful trees and shrubs. Within its limits

is an Indian rancheria whose lands are well

fenced and cultivated.

SAN GOEGONIO PASS

is not a narrow pass, but a great plain ten to

fifteen miles wide—a wide, flat tract, bounded

on either side by a lofty range, the great San

Gorgonio mountain being on the south. On
one side is a low range of sandhills, and be-

yond this, a sandy waste, desolate and destitute

of vegetation, called the Whitewater valley.

DEATH VALLEY,

so named from the great number of travelers

said to have perished within its limits, is esti-

mated to be 300 feet below the sea level. Nat-

urally it should be an inland sea or lake, as it

receives the drainage from more than 100 miles

square; but, owing to the peculiar structure of

its basin, the water seeps away, leaving an al-

kali sink. The temperature here is excessively

high and close.
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fUDGE J. W. NORTH, the founder of the

Riverside Colony, was one of the most

prominent of members of the Southern

California Colony Association. He was

president of the association from its incorpora-

tion in 1870 until 1875, when the lands, water,

etc., of the colony were sold to the Riverside

Land and Irrigating Company.

The Judge was a real pioneer, and was one of

the first to establish his residence upon the then

barren plains of the valley; as president and

superintendent he surveyed the lands, laid out

the city, projected and built the unsurpassed

irrigation system. He built better than he

realized; the selection of the lands of the

colony, the untiring energy and sound business

principles displayed in its management, resulted

in a success hardly dreamed of by its most

sanguine supporters.. In any truthful history

of this most successful colony association of

the Pacific coast, the name of Judge North

must ever stand pre-eminent.

Judge North was born in Sand Lake, Rens-

selaer County, New York, January 4, 1815;

was educated at the Wesleyan University at

Middletown, Connecticut, graduating in 1841

with high honor. In his young manhood, and

before entering the university, Judge North

ardently espoused and advocated the anti-slavery

or abolition doctrine, which were contrary to

the sentiments of his parents and his church.

While in college his earnest advocacy of the

doctrines attracted the attention of the leaders

of the Connecticut State Anti-Slavery Society,
and after his graduation he was employed by
them for more than two years as a lecturer in

that State. Iu 1843 he abandoned the lecture
field and located in New York city, and there
entered upon law studies in the office of Johu
Jay, and later continued his studies in the office

of Benedict & Boardman. Failing health com-
pelled a suspension of his study, and he joined
his father, who had established his residence in

Preble, Cortland County, New York, and upon
recovering his health entered the law office of
Forbes & Sheldon, of Syracuse. Completing
his studies he was admitted to the bar of the
Supreme Court of the State, and there formed
a partnership with Hon. Israel S. Spencer of
that city. Judge North conducted a successful

practice of his profession in Syracuse until

1849; his health theu failing, he moved to

Minnesota and located at the village of St.

Anthony (now the city of Minneapolis), estab-

lishing himself as an attorney at law, and from
the very first took a leading and prominent part

in the political and legislative affairs of the

Territory. In 1850 he was elected to the Terri-

torial Legislature, and during the session intro-

duced and successfully managed the bill founding
the Minnesota University. Six years afterward

he located at Faribault, that State, purchasing

an interest in the town site and conducting the

business affairs of the projectors and proprietors
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of the city. At length he sold out his interests

there and established the town of Northfield,

building at that place saw and flour mills,

dwelling-house, etc. In 1857 he was elected a

member of the Constitutional Convention that

framed the constitution of Minnesota. He

was the acknowledged leader of the Republicans

and took a prominent part in the convention.

Judge North was ever one of the leaders

in public improvements and building up his

section. In 1858 he was elected president of

the Minneapolis & Cedar Valley Railroad

Company, a company of which he was one of

the original incorporators; twenty miles of the

road was graded and put in operation that year

under hi? able management. In 1860 he was

chosen chairman of the Minnesota delegation to

the Republican National Convention at Chicago

that nominated Abraham Lincoln for President,

and was a member of the committee that con-

veyed to Mr. Lincoln the notice of his nomina-

tion. He became personally acquainted with

Mr. Lincoln and also Vice-President Hamlin,

and was present at their inauguration in 1861.

May 11, 1861, President Lincoln appointed

Judge North United States Surveyor General

of the Territory of Nevada. He held that

office until it was discontinued, and the business

merged with that of the Surveyor General's

office at San Francisco. He then formed a law

partnership with James F. Lewis (afterward

Chief Justice of the Supreme Court of Nevada)

and conducted a very successful practice until

appointed by President Lincoln Judge of one

of the Territorial districts and the Supreme

Court of Nevada. His Territorial district

embraced Virginia City, where all the richest

and most valuable mines were in litigation.

The Judge held his judicial position until the

organization of the Nevada State Government,

retiring from office upon the establishment of

the Nevada State court's. During his term on

the bench he was elected a member of the first

Constitutional Convention of Nevada, and upon

the organization of the convention was elected as

its president, and presided over its deliberations.

In the autumn of 1865 Judge North closed

his business in Nevada and returned East, and

the next year (1866) settled in Knoxville, Ten-

nessee, where lie engaged in the iron business,

establishing foundries, machine shops, etc.

He remained there until the spring of 1870,

laboring under manj' disadvantages in conduct-

ing his business, for men of his prominent

views were not popular in the South. Finally

he conceived the idea of establishing a model

colony in Southern California, and in March of

that year issued his first circular from Knox-

ville, and in that spring he sold off his property

and came to California. After spending months

in examining the different localities, and meet-

ing obstacles that would have daunted almost

any other man, he finally selected the lands of

the present Riverside colony and city. Hon.

C. N. Felton, of San Francisco, furnished a large

proportion of the money with which to purchase

these lands and start the enterprise, and was

for years its main financial backer; but the

Judge was the soul, the life, the brains that

established the enterprise on a footing and

foundation that has led to ultimate success.

Judge North remained as president and general

superintendent of the association until 1875,

and then established himself in the practice of

his legal profession in Riverside, San Bernard-

ino and San Francisco. He subsequently

acquired property interests in Fresno, and

became a resident of that place. In early life

and young manhood he was deeply religious

and an earnest supporter of the Methodist

Church, in which his father was a minister.

Doubting the infallibility, as a moral teacher,

of the church which supported human slavery

in America, he left it; and, always having been

a deep thinker on religious and ethical subjects,

he found that he disagreed more and more with

the beliefs of the Orthodox Christians, until

he has finally come to think the agnosticism of

Spencer and Tyndall as the more reasonable

ground.

Judge North was twice married. He first

married, in 1845, Miss Emma Bacon, daughter
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of Nathaniel Bacon, of Middletown, Connecti-

cut, She died in 1847, leaving no children. His

second marriage was in
s
1848, when he wedded

Miss Ann H. Loomis, daughter of Dr. Geo. S.

Loom is, of DeWitt, Onondaga County, New
York. By this marriage there are six children

living, namely: Emma B., George L., John G.,

Charles L., Edward and Mary. Judge North

died February 22, 1890, at- Fresno. In accord-

ance with his wish his remains were cremated

at Los Angeles.

fOHN G. NORTH is one of Redlands' most

prominent and well known citizens. From a

lad of fifteen he grew up with Riverside,

and the years of his youth and young manhood

were spent with his father, Judge North, whose

sketch precedes this, establishing, building up

and perfecting the system he has long so ably

managed.

Mr. North was born at St. Anthony's Falls

(now Minneapolis) Minnesota, September 16,

1855. The first six years of Mr. North's life

were spent in his native State, and the following

year in central New York. He then joined his

father, who had preceded the family to Nevada in

1861. His years on the Pacific coast were spent

in school in Nevada and at the University of

the Pacific in Santa Clara. The family returned

East in 1865, and in 1866 located in Knoxville,

Tennessee, where the subject of this sketch con-

tinned his studies. In 1870, upon the found-

ing of the Riverside colony, he joined his father

in Riverside, and for the next four years was the

assistant secretary of the colony association,

and in 1872, a telegraph operator for the West-

ern Union Telegraph Company, in Riverside.

Even at that age Mr. North displayed those

marked business talents, which have since be-

come such well-known characteristics. In 1874

he was offered a position in the United States

sub-treasury in San Francisco. His acceptance

took him to that city. After two years' employ

in the Sub-Treasury and mint he entered into

mercantile life in San Francisco as cashier and

manager in a leading business house. It was

not until 1881 that he returned to Riverside

with his family. In that year he located on his

twenty-acre tract on Cypress avenue and North

street, and devoted himself to horticultural pur-

suits. He did not confine himself to orange-

growing entirely, but was called upon to aid in

Riverside enterprises. He was one of the

incorporators of the Citizens' Water Company,
and a director of the same, and also an incor-

porator and director of the Riverside Water
Company, and from August 11, 1885, to June,

1887, was the superintendent of the company.

He then resigned the position and accepted the

position of land agent for Richard Gird's Chino

Ranch, and spent some months at Pomona. He
returned to Riverside in September, 1887, and

in March, 1888, was elected president of the

Riverside Water Company. He is a successful

horticulturist, and his orange groves rank among
the finest in the colony. He has also been en-

gaged in real-estate dealing in Riverside and

other places; was president of the Riverside

Improvement Company, but in April, 1890, he

became general manager of the Bear Valley

Land and Water Company. He now resides in

Redlands. Mr. North is a young man of un-

bounded energy and sound business talents,

prompt in action, and straightforward in deal-

ings, well meriting the confidence reposed in

him by the community of Riverside. He is a

Republican, and takes a leading and working

part in the affairs of the party. Has been a

delegate in the county conventions since 1881,

and in 1886 and 1888 was a delegate in the

State conventions. He is not an office-seeker,

but is an earnest advocate and worker in seem-

ing the best men to fill the offices. He is a

member of Masonic Blue Lodge, Chapter and

Cotnmandery, of Riverside, and also of Sunny-

side Lodge. No. 112. Knights of Pythias.

In 1878 Mr. North was united in marriage

with Miss Augusta C. Nourse, of Oakland. He
has four bright boys, who are the joy and pride
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of liis household, viz.: John C, Maurice E.,

Alfred C. and Eichard L.

£&$&-£&

fOHN ANDBESON, prominent among the

men whose business sagacity and enterprise

have made San Bernardino an important

railroad center, and one of the prettiest and

most flourishing interior cities of Calfiornia,

was born in Schleswig-IIolstein, near the border

of Denmark, in 1834. He came to America,

sailing around Cape Horn to the Peruvian

Guano Islands, in 1850, and returned with the

loaded vessel to Loudon, England. While there

he saw the grand pageant on the anniversary of

the Queen's birthday, and saw the Queen near

Buckingham Palace. In 1852 he returned

around Cape Horn to the Pacific coast, and,

after spending six months in the Argentine Ee

public, came to California. He continued his

seafaring life for a number of years along this

coast; during the latter years he sailed a

schooner along the coast, and on the Bay of

San Erancisco, being a vessel owner. In 1861,

disposing of his property, he, in partnership

with another gentleman, carried on the grocery

business in San Erancisco until 1863, when,

finding it too confining for his tastes and health,

he sold out and went to Arizona. He spent

several years there in prospecting and mining;

was employed as clerk in a store for a while at

La Paz, a mining town about 100 miles above

Fort Yuma. Subsequently he fitted up a small,

crude brewery, and, employing a man who under-

stood brewing, started in business. The trade

increased rapidly, and with beer at twenty-five

cents a glass was very profitable, so that in

three years he had accumulated the snug sum of

$12,000. The prosperity of the place began to

wane and he disposed of his business, and in

1870 visited the home of his birth after an ab-

sence of twenty years. On his return in 1871,

Mr. Andreson settled in San Bernardino, hav-

ing been favorably impressed with the town and

valley when passing through to Arizona ten

years before.

He bought an acre of land on the northwest

corner of Third and E streets, on which was a

small brewery established and owned by M.

Suverkrnp, an old forty-niner, who afterward

represented San Bernardino County in the State

General Assembly. Starting into the manu-

facturing of beer, Mr. Andreson enlarged the

capacity of the brewery from time to time until

he made thirty barrels per day. Pievions to

selling the business and fixtures in 1884, he had

erected a large two-story brick block on the

corner, the upper floor of which was devoted to

offices. The building he still owns. In 1887

he commenced the erection of the Andreson

block, a three-story brick structure 100x95

feet in size, one of the largest and best business

blocks in the city. A part of the first and all

of the upper floors comprise the New St. Charles

Hotel, with eighty guest rooms, beautifully fur-

nished and finished, and next to the Stewart the

finest and most commodious hostelry in the city.

The ample and cheerful office and the large

dining-room and kitchen are on the ground

floor, the rest of which is occupied as stores.

Having sold the west end of the corner to Mr.

L. Harris, of Los Angeles, that gentleman

erected a block the same size and style, the

whole constituting the largest and most impos-

ing business building in San Bernardino County.

Iu 1888, a proposition being made by the Uni-

ted States Government for a building for a post-

office, Mr. Andreson and H. L. Drew built the

Postoffice block, on the corner of E and Court

streets,— a three-story brick building, 100x120

feet in area, and fitted up the postoffice with

elegant modern fixtures at an expense of some

$5,000, making the building and improvements

cost nearly $60,000. The owners lease the post-

office to the Government for the nominal rental

of $1 a year. Mr. Andreson is one of the stock-

holders in the Stewart Hotel, and president of

the company. He was one of the organizers of

the Farmers' Exchange Bank, and one of its

directors. He was also one of the projectors of
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the Third and D street horse-car line, in which

he is part owner. Among liis individual in-

vestments is a valuable tract of land consisting

of 251 acres on the " bench " north of Colton,

eighty acres of which is in bearing vineyard;

also real estate in Los Angeles and San Diego

counties.

The family dwelling on the corner of F and

Fourth streets is one of the finest in the city.

In addition to his numerous interests of a per-

sonal character, Mr. Andreson has been actively

identified with matters of public import. He
was one of the four far-seeing, public-spirited

gentlemen to whose personal efforts is due the

securing of the depot and work shops of the

Atchison, Topeka & Santa Fe Railway, thus

making San Bernardino the ceuter of the Santa

Fe system on the Pacific coast. In an official

capacity Mr. Andreson has served several terms

as a member of the County Board of Supervi-

sors, two terms as chairman of that body. He
has also been elected several times on the Board

of City Trustees, and was largely instrumental

in securing to the city its complete sewer system

and the fine sidewalks on the principal business

streets.

Mr. Andreson is a domestic man as well as a

business man. He married Miss Knapp, a na-

tive of Pennsylvania, by whom he has three

sons and two daughters, ranging from eighteen

to ten years of age.

- : :> O '
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fNDREW B. PARIS, attorney, San Ber-

nardino, was born in Virginia, in 1839,

and was educated in the Virginia Military

Institute, at which he was graduated in 1860.

Upon the breaking out of the war he enlisted in

the Confederate army, served four years, rose to

the rank of Colonel, and at the close of hostili-

ties was chief of artillery of General Hoke's

division of General Joseph E. Johnston's army.

After the war closed he studied law in the Uni-

versity of Virginia, and was admitted to the bar

in 1866. Locating in Charlotte County, Vir-

ginia, he practiced his profession till 1873. In

1874 he came to California and settled in San

Bernardino, and has been actively and promi-

nently connected with the bar of the county

ever since. Colonel Paris has been associated

as a law partner with Henry Goodcell and

Judge John L. Campbell respectively, and now

has as partner Dwight W. Fox, a promising

young attorney. Colonel Paris's spec'al strength

at the bar lies in the trial of criminal causes, in

which he is very successful, being one of the

ablest advocates in this part of the State. He
has been connected on one side or the other

with many of the most celebrated criminal cases

before the courts of this county. In 1886 he

was elected Prosecuting Attorney of San Ber-

nardino County for two years, and was recog-

nized as one of the most efficient prosecutors

who has ever filled that office. As a local orator

Colonel Paris is very popular, and his services

are usually in demand on all occasions where

terse, pithy speeches are in order.

On August 10, 1889, he was joined in mar-

riage with the daughter of Colonel Larkin

Smith, of Virginia, an estimable lady whom he

had known from childhood. Colonel Paris is

financially interested with several local corpo-

rations.

#H«sH#

J||EGINALD E. McDONALD, M. D., has

WWR been in the active practice of medicine in

^^ San Bernardino since 1884. He is a na-

tive of the city of Toronto, Canada, born in 1856,

and obtained his literary education in Victoria

University and Upper Canada College. He
spent one year studying for his profession in

the College of Physicians and Surgeons in To-

ronto, and three years in the California Medical

College at San Francisco, and was graduated at

the latter in 1883. Before coining to California,

Dr. McDonald spent a year and a half, 1881-'82,

on North Georgian Bay, as surgeon for a large

lumbering company, where he had the oppor-

tunities to experience the rigors of an arctic
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winter, the thermometer registering 42° below

zero on several occasions. All traveling in win-

ter was with dogs and sledges. While npthere

he made the circuit of the upper lakes in a tug

boat. After leaving college he practiced six

months in Oakland, then came to San Bernard-

ino. He likes this city and valley much, but he

thinks it is not a profitable country for phy-

sicians on account of the superior liealthfulness

of the climate. He says the recent construction

of the city's sewer system has materially dimin-

ished sickness in San Bernardino, making it one

of the healthiest cities on the continent. The

Doctor enjoys a liberal share of the practice of

the city and valley. He has some valuable in-

vestments in real estate, among which is a tract

of farming land in Cajon Pass.

The Doctor is an earnest devotee to his pro-

fession, and with his thorough educational

training therefore has a future of bright prom-

ise before him.

Wa YMAN NELSON BEDFORD, D. D. S.,a

Wpfi leading dentist of Southern California, is a

*s^ native of Pennsylvania, born in 1851. He
began the study of dentistry with his eldest

brother, Dr. E. Bedford, in Sioux City, Iowa, in

1876, was graduated at the Pennsylvania Col-

lege of Dental Surgery in 1885. He practiced

in Sioux City until 1886, when at the request

of his brother, Dr. A. D. Bedford, he came to

California and located in San Bernardino,

since which time he has carried on an active and

lucrative professional business. Dr. Bedford's

specialty is in fine operative dentistry, and the

scientific treatment and preservation of the nat-

ural teeth. He occupies a high rank in his

profession, both for his theoretical knowledge

and practical skill in all branches of dentistry.

While residing in the Hawkeye State, he was a

member of the Iowa State Dental Society.

In 1888 Dr. Bedford was joined in marriage,

in Sioux City, with Miss Etta G. Smith, a

native of Massachusetts, an accomplished lady,

who after graduating from Oberlin College,

Ohio, spent two years in Europe perfecting her

studies in music; and after returning taught

several years in the Conservatory of Music in

the Ohio Wesleyan University. Dr. Bedford

owns several pieces of property in the city of

San Bernardino, and with his prosperous and

growing dental practice has a bright future be-

fore him.

#sH3"^#

§LMA WH1TLOCK, the pioneer dentist of

Southern California, first commenced the

practice of his profession in San Bernard-

ino in 1857, and has been continuously in prac-

tice in the city ever since 1859. He was born

in Missouri in 1831. His parents, who were

both natives of New England, were brought up

from childhood in Ohio. His mother, formerly

Miss Abbot, was a relative of the Garfield fam-

ily. They started for California across the

plains from Tipton, Iowa, in the spring of 1850,

and spent the winter of 1850-'51 in Utah, and

resumed the journey on the following spring,

reaching Hangtown, now Plaoerville, on July

16, 1851. Though a physician by profession,

his father kept a boarding-house in the new

mining town for a few months after their ar-

rival. Removing from there to Santa Clara

County they continued to keep a house of enter-

tainment during the year of their residence there;

then removed to Watson ville, where the subject

of this memoir began the study of dentistry

with Dr. Irwin in 1855. He practiced in Santa

Clara, San Jose and Santa Cruz, before coming

to Southern California. Being a natural me-

chanic and possessed of considerable inventive

genius. Dr. Whitlock has invented several in-

struments for use in his profession which are

considered valuable improvements over those

formerly used. His practice embraces all

branches of the profession. As an evidence of

his skill in operative dentistry, it may be stated

that patients of his are wearing gold filling, in



HISTORY OF SAN BERNARDINO COUMTT.

a good state of preservation, put in by him a

quarter of a century ago.

Many years since the Doctor purchased 108

acres of land one mile east of the city of San

Bernardino, for $700, including an ample wa^

ter right. He subsequently sold thirty-six

acres of that tract for $2,300 and still owns

seventy-two acres, with fifty inches of water,

which constitutes his homestead, and which he

cultivates in fruits and alfalfa.

In 1858 Dr. Whitlock went to Camp Floyd,

Utah, and at Spri-gville, Utah Territory, he

married Miss MacKenzie, of Scotch parentage.

Doctor and Mrs. Whitlock have four sons and

three daughters, Their oldest son, W. A., is a

graduate of a college of law, standing among

the first of his class, and has been admitted to

the bar of the Supreme Court.

WILLIAM FRANCIS ALLISON was

born September 7, 1847, in Lockhiven,

Pennsylvania, and, like many men who
achieve success in business or distinction in pub-

lic life, his early years were passed on a farm,

where are instilled habits of industry, and the

seeds of a sturdy, self-reliant manhood are

sown which ripen into true grandeur of charac-

ter. Young Allison's inclination being rather

toward mercantile pursuits than agricultural, he

left the farm and took a course in Commercial

College at Ponghkeepsie, New York. Though

not. of legal age, he exemplified his patriotism

by enlisting in the Union army, and it was the

hardships experienced in his country's service

that impaired his naturally frail constitution.

After spending a few months in a drug store

his health gave way, and he went west as tar as

Nebraska, seeking to improve it. There he

engaged in a milling enterprise, which did not

prove satisfactory, and he returned to Lock-

haven and accepted a fine position tendered him
with the firm of Hastings & Carson, manufact-

uring druggists in Philadelphia, on a salary of

$1,600 a year. Soon after entering their em-

ploy, the step which determined his subsequent

business career, he married Miss A. R. Mac-
Manigal, a friend of his childhood and youth.

His health again failing, being attacked with

hemorrhages of the lungs, he was compelled to

resign his position much to the regret of his

employers. lie tried Minnesota a few months,

then he went to Le Mars, Iowa, reaching there

with his wife and child at the beginning of win-

ter with less than $150 as his total worldly

possession. Experiencing considerable difficulty

in securing the rooms which served as their

habitation for the winter, Mr. Allison em-
barked in the drug business in a very small

way, struggling with the combined enemies,

disease and poverty. Notwithstanding he was
confined to his bed part of the time during the

winter, he built up a trade in the six years that

he carried on business there which yielded a net

income of $300 a month. Still suffering from
hemorrhages, he resolved as a last resort to coine

to Southern California, which he reached with

his family, in August, 1881, so reduced that he

was unable to leave his bed for nearly a year.

This salubrious climate, aided by his remarkable
tenacity of life and indomitable energy, restored

him to comfortable health, and in April, 1882,
he, in company with Dr. A. D. Bedford, started

in the drug business on D street. A year later

they removed to the northeast corner of Third

and D streets, where the firm conducted a flour-

ishing trade until he purchased his partner's

interest in May, 1888. Not long after that he

took in J. A. Lamb as a partner, which relation

continued until Mr. Allison's death on Novem-
ber 22, 1889. Besides being the managing
head of a very successful drug house, Mr. Alli-

son has been one of the most active and success-

ful real-estate men in San Bernardino County,

in 6pite of his physical infirmities with which

he was affected. He possessed an exceptionally

bright, active mind, and in all his relations in

life exhibited a conscientious regard for the

right, and an integrity of character that was

unimpeachable. Mr. Allison was a faithful

member and a zealous and efficient worker in
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the Methodist Episcopal Church, by whom the

memory of his character and deeds is sacredly

cherished. His wife and three children, two

daughters and a son, survive him. Of a truth

it may be said of him, he lived up to his high-

est ideal of duty.

fHE SAN BERNARDINO ACADEMY
and BUSINESS COLLEGE.—This in-

stitution, which ranks among the first of

its class in Southern California, was founded

and opened by Professor David B. Sturges, its

present proprietor and principal, in February,

1883. Appreciating the demands for a higher

grade of education than the public schools of

this city then afforded, he established his school

for the double purpose of giving advanced pu-

pils the advantage of a thorough practical busi-

ness education or an academic course which

would prepare them to enter the freshman class

in a university. With this end in view, Mr.

Sturges has aimed at and maintained a high

standard of scholarship by the thoroughness

scope of his methods of instruction. So

complete is the academic course in the San Ber-

nardino Academy that the graduates therefrom

are admitted to the University of California

without examination, which is the case with

only one other private school in the State. The

present building and equipment accommodate

seventy-five pupils, and Professor Sturges has

made provision for enlarging to double that

capacity. Connected with the school is pal

tial gymnasium, which is to be fitted up with

complete apparatus in the near future. When
Professor Sturges established this school his

capital was so limited that he was obliged to go

in debt for a large part of the purchase price

of the lot. The success of his enterprise has

been such that without any outside financial aid

he has accumulated a property, in lot and build-

ing, on Fourth street near D street, worth from

$10,000 to $12,000.

Professor David B. Sturges is a classical

scholar, educated in Michigan University, in

which State he was born in 1839. In 1862, he

went to Montana and there spent fourteen

years, a portion of the time in teaching. He
came to California in 1876, and has been en-

gaged in educational work in the outhern part

of the State ever since. The courses of study

in his academy and business college are being

enlarged and improved each successive year,

and a higher and broader standard of excellence

in scholastic results is attained. Associated

with him as instructors is an able corps of

teachers, one of the most efficient assistants be-

ing his cultured and accomplished wife, who is

also a native of Michigan, and a graduate from

Albion College. She has charge of the depart-

ment of English composition, which, through

her zealous labors, has been developed^ to a very

complete system.

<#•* W#—

fAMUEL W. GARRETSON, mechanical

engineer and superintendent of gas and

electric-light works for the Pacific Light

ing Company of California, was born in Jersey

City, New Jersey, in 1844. He served his

apprenticeship to the machinist trade during

the years 1861 to 1864. Like many patriotic

young men who lived during the dark days of

the Rebellion he shouldered his musket and vol-

unteered his services to our Government, and

6ervedin the Twenty-first Regiment New Jersey

Volunteers, in the Army of the Potomac. After

completing bis trade he went to sea and spent

about ten years on the ocean as an engineer of

steamships. He was attached to one of the pio-

neer steamships of the Pacific mail company's

service, which enter the ports of Japan, after

the government of that country had opened its

harbors to the commerce of the outside world.

He spent six and a half years as engineer ou

steamers which were plying between the numer-

ous ports of Japan and China. He returned

to the United States in 1873 and closed his sea-

faring career. He was constructing engineer
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of several gas works in different cities in the

East, anl it; October, 1880, came to the Pacific

coast, which has been his home and Held of

activity ever since. He built the following gas

works: for the Palace Hotel, the Baldwin Hotel,

the works of the Pacific Gas Improvement Com-

pany, all in San Francisco; the gas works at

Benicia, San Diego and San Bernardino, in

California; the Gas Works at East Portland,

Oregon, and Tucson, Arizona.

ift^SME

fOSEPH BENJAMIN HENDERSON is a

native son, born in San Bernardino County,

in 1856, and is the son of David Hender-

son, who emigrated with his family from Scot-

land and settled in San Bernardino County, in

1853, where he and his wife, also a native of

Scotland, still reside. He learned the trade of

stone-mason in early life, and has divided his

time between that and mining and farming as his

chief occupations. Joseph served three years' ap-

prenticeshipat the tinner's trade, and worked at it

as a journeyman in S-iii Bernardino, San Diego,

Los Angeles and San Francisco over thirteen

years; most of his time hejwas in the employ of

John Rutfen & Co. in this city. March 1, 1884,

he, in partnership with B. F. Bell, a fellow em-

ploye of the above firm, started a small tin shop

in San Bernardino. In July of that year he

bought Mr. Bell's interest and has conducted the

business alone ever since. Starting with one ap-

prentice he has increased his force from time to

time as the rapid growth of his business de-

manded. He made a specialty of the manufacture

of water tanks and pipes. He made galvanized

iron tanks in great numbers for water storage,

some of them with a capacity of 5,000 gallons

each. He contracts for iron water pipes, ranged

as high as from two to three miles, embracing

$5,000 to $7,000 in a single job, giving em-

ployment to twelve pipe-makers. The shop is

fully equipped with machinery, and having as

much as he could attend to in this department

he sold his tinner's tools and outfit in 1886 to

John Schuyler, of Oceanside, and in 1888 sold

his pipe business to J. G. Burt. In 1887 Mr.

Henderson bought four acres of land between

C and D streets on First and erected a three-

story brick building 60 x 65 feet for a machine

shop, and a building for a foundry 26 x 50 feet

in area. These he fitted up with modern itn

proved machinery and appliances necessary to

manufacture anything that may be ordered in

the way of machine or foundry work, including

a number of lathes for working iron and wood,

drill presses, saws, emery-wheels, etc. This

machinery is all propelled by water, Warm
creek and artesian wells furnishing the motive

power. He has had a series of artesian wells

bored on his premises ranging in depth from

eighty-nine to 112 feet and has developed

twenty^-five-horse power by this system of

wells alone. An important item of expense in

operating the machinery is thus saved in the

cost of fuel. During the busiest season twenty-

five to thirty men have been employed to carry

on the business, which is still prosperous and

satisfactory notwithstanding the depression in

business generally.

Mr. Henderson has genius for invention as

well as manufacturing, and has invented and

makes a ne.w kind of mill-crusher and grinder

for pulverizing mineral-bearing rock,^ which is

highly recommended by old minersand is coming

into use rapidly. He is a joint owner in some

valuable mines, and is giving some attention

to mining. He values his plant in San Ber-

nardino at $50,000, which together with his

thriving manufactory is the result solely of his

indomitable energy and rare business sagacity,

a gratifying result indeed.

~. ,g . 3„t ,>, .,

§ENRY WOZENCRAFT, of Wozencraft

& Co., compilers of abstracts of title,

San Bernardino. Among the oldest and

most reliable companies in the abstract busi-

ness and searcher of records in San Bernandino

County, is Wozencraft & Co. This company
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has been established about twelve years and

lias a complete set of books, maps and the

tinest property indexes in Southern California.

Henry Wozencratt, the senior member of the

firm, is an old residentof San Bernardino County,

having lived there for the past twenty years,

which makes him thoroughly acquainted with

the real-estate business and topography of the

country. This firm also have the most com-

petent hands that can be employed to assist

them in their work. Their abstracts are written

np by typewriters in the office and are very

neat. They have also under employ Will-

iam P. Cave, one of the tinest draughtsmen

in the State, which affords them to make

mapping and draughting a specialty. This

film's office is in the Andreson block, situated

on the corner of Third and E streets, city of

San Bernardino.

#^-^B"£#

fOHN CALVIN DIXON, proprietor of the

C. O. D. Grocery, San Bernardino, was

born in 1840, in Beynoldsburg, Franklin

County, Ohio, and there spent the first eighteen

years of his life. In 1858 he moved with his

tather's iamily to Jasper County, Iowa, and

there his father, who was a brick-mason by

trade, and had also been a farmer, engaged in

the grocery business, with John as assistant in

the store. Upon the breaking out of the war

of the Rebellion he promptly responded to his

country's call for volunteers and enlisted as a

member of the Fifth Iowa Infantry and served

three years and one month, chiefly under Gen-

erals Grant and Sherman. At the battle of

Inka he was severely wounded, being shot

through both thighs by a rifle ball. He was

discharged just before the fall of Atlanta. Re-

turning home, he remained in Iowa about ten

years, part of the time engaged in merchandis-

ing and the rest in farming. Tiring of the

vigorous winters of the Hawkeye State, Mr.

Dixon concluded to seek a milder climate, and

in 1874 came to California and located in San

Bernardino County; and his admiration for this

grand country and salubrious climate increases

with each successive year of his residence here.

He bought and settled on a ranch a mile and a
m

half northeast of the center of the city, and

devoted his attention to agriculture, especially

to growing alfalfa. His place comprised forty-

six acres, for which he paid $100 per acre. In

1887 he subdivided it and sold it at prices rang-

ing from $400 to $1,000 per acre. After spend-

ing a season in the East, Mr. Dixon, in 1888,

opened his present grocery store on D street,

between Third and Fourth streets. He carries

a fine stock of choice staple and fancy groceries,

which he sells to cash customers at a small

profit, and does a prosperous business. Mr.

Dixon owns two large tracts of choice citrus

and vineyard land in the popular and growing

sections denominated East Riverside, which is

worth $100 an acre. He expects to subdivide

and improve it in parcels for his children.

Mr. Dixon married Miss Helm in Iowa,

though she was a native of Indiana. They

have a family of one son and three daughters,

all born in Iowa except the youngest daughter.

In politics, Mr. Dixon is an active and out-

spoken Republican, who is always ready to give

the reasons for the faith that is in him when

occasion requires, but never parades his opin-

ions when uncalled for. He is a gentleman of

decided convictions, and extraordinary force of

character, a stanch friend and an uncompromis-

ing foe.

fEORGE MILLS COOLEY, the eldest of

fourteen living children, nine sons and five

daughters of George and Ellen Tolputt

Cooley, was born in Utah in 1856, and crossed

the plains an infant in his mother's arms, drawn

by ox teams, to California. His parents are

both natives of the county of Kent, England,

and were married on shipboard while crossing

the Atlantic to the United States. They settled

in the San Bernardino valley, south of the city,
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and the subject of this memoir grew up to man-

hood on the beautiful ranch where they now re-

side, and where he mastered the arts of agri-

culture. Deciding to enter mercantile life, he

educated himself therefor in Heald's Business

College, San Francisco, and began his hardware

business in 1874, as clerk in the store which he

now owns, for Rnffen & Biays, whom he bought

out in 1885, and has since been sole proprietor.

This is the olde.-t hardware house in the county,

having been established by John Ruffen nearly

twenty-five years ago. Since coming in posses-

sion of the business, Mr. Cooley has increased

it several fold by his energy and the close appli-

cation of his thorough knowledge of the hard-

ware trade. He is not only master of the busi-

ness but also personally superintends every

department, and herein lies his phenomenal suc-

cess. His stock embraces everything in the line

of shelf and general hardware, stoves, piping and

plumbers' goods, all of which he buys from

manufacturers direct and in large quantities,

thus reducing the cost to the minimum, and

giving his customers the benefit in low prices.

Among the special departments developed in

his extensive and steadily growing bufiness is

scientific plumbing, for which he has created an

enviable reputation throughout San Bernardino

County. He makes all his own estimates and

supervises the work in this branch, in which he

employs from four to twelve skilled mechanics,

and does the bulk of the work in this line in

this portion of Southern California. Roofing

and all kinds of job work also receives special

attention, and form a prominent feature of the

business. Within the past two or three years

Mr. Cooley has given considerable attention to

building on his own account, and has erected

and owns six dwellings on Sixth and D streets,

where he has two acres of land in that popular

quarter of the city. He entered into competition

with twenty-nine other pipe dealers to sell to

the city ot San Bernardino pipe for its new

water-works, which will be put into the streets

this coming summer. Mr. Cooley was success-

ful, and secured the contract for the entire city

system, defeating all competitors by from

$4,000 to $14,000. Mr. Cooley married Miss

Bessant, a native California!!, and daughter of a

pioneer who crossed the plains in the same train

with his parents. Their family consists of a

daughter and two sons.

fELITA DAVIS SHUGART, M. D.—
No history of Riverside can be considered

complete without a more than passing

mention of the pioneer of Riverside colony

whose name heads this sketch. In 1869 Dr.

Shugart was a resident of Belle Plain, Iowa,

and at that time was desirous of establishing his

residence in some portion of Southern Califor-

nia. Early the next year he associated himself

with Judge North, Dr. Greves, Sanford East-

man, C. N. Felton, of San Francisco, and Cap-

tain Broadhurst and others, and formed the

Southern California Colony Association. The

object of the association was to purchase some

desirable tract of land in Southern California

and establish a colony, build up desirable homes,

and engage in horticultural pursuits. Some
months were spent by members of the associa-

tion in seeking a suitable location, but they

were unable to decide the vexed question. The

Doctor became impatient at the delay, and in

August of 1870 came to California and joined

his associates. Judge E. G. Brown, who had

joined the company, and Dr. J. P. Greves, vis-

ited the Riverside valley in June, and made a

partial examination of the lands, water supply,

etc., and strongly recommended the purchase of

lands by the association; but nothing was done.

On August 25, 1870, Dr. Shugart, accompanied

by Dr. Greves, Messrs. Luther, of San Fran-

cisco, and Stewart, of San Bernardino, visited

the lands and made a thorough examination of

the location as adapted to their purposes. The

hearty endorsement of Dr. Shugart was strongly

backed by his associates, and on September 13,

1870, Judge North, the president of the asso-

ciation, who had not yet seen the lands, pur-
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chased from the Silk Center Association the

land now occupied by the Riverside city and

Riverside colony. Surveys were immediately

commenced and the Doctor forthwith started

home for his family, and returned with them and

L. C. Waite, Esq., arriving in San Bernardino

on the 7th of December, 1870; and on the 8th

he, with his "family, L. C. Waite, Esq., and

Dr. Sanford Eastman, went over to Riverside,

where the Doctor purchased the second two

and one-half acre block sold in Riverside. He
returned to San Bernardino with his family and

Mr. Waite, and rented a house on the 9th inst.,

and immediately commenced the erection of a

small cottage on his block, which was between

Ninth and Tenth and Mulberry and Lime

streets, and on the 10th of January, 1871, he

moved into it. His was the fifth family that

located in Riverside. He was enthusiastic in

his enterprise, and at once commenced prepara-

tions for planting trees and vines. March 1,

1871, he planted his first orange, lemon and lime

trees. These were the first citrus fruit trees

ever planted hi Riverside. He also planted

the first olive trees and grape-vines. It is also

worthy of mention that the first ornamental or

shade trees planted in the colony were those

pepper trees planted by him on Ninth street at

the same time. Dr. Shngart was the treasurer

of the association in 1870 and 1871, and later

its vice-president, and took an active part in

perfecting the organization, developing the

water-supply, constructing irrigation canals,

etc., until the sale of the colony lauds and the

water to the Riverside Land and Irrigation

Company, in 1876. In the summer of 1875

Dr. Shugart sold his property on Ninth street,

and purchased from L. C. Waite his present

land on First street, at the head of Mulberry

street. He purchased an eighteen-acre tract at

that point, upon which he erected a substantial

and well-ordered cottage home and outbuildings,

and moved into his new residence January 25th,

1876, and in addition to his professional labors,

has since devoted himself to horticultural pur-

suits. He has one of the finest orange groves

in Riverside, composed of seedling and budded

trees of the most approved varieties. He is a

thorough and painstaking horticulturist, as is

well attested by the character of his fruit and

the prolific yield begets from his trees. In the

early days of Riverside, the Doctor took the

lead in organizing school districts, etc. He was

a member of the second board of school trus-

tees ever elected in the colony. In political

matters he has been a Republican from the

organization of that party in 1856, and has been

a worker in its ranks, and served as a delegate

in many of the conventions. He was chairman

of the county convention in 1876. Though

often solicited, he never would consent to accept

any political office. He is a member of the

Universalist Society, and an earnest supporter

of Universalism, and he was the first to urge

the organization of a Universal Society in River-

side, and was one of the first trustees of the

society. He has been a member of the Masonic

fraternity for more than thirty years, and is

affiliated with Evergreen Lodge, No. 259, A.

F. & A. M. (of which he is a charter member),

Riverside Chapter, No. 67, R. A. M., and

Riverside Commandery, No. 28, Knights Tem-

plar. During his residence in Riverside the

Doctor has been in the practice of his profes-

sion. There is no man in that place who has a

larger circle of friends and acquaintances than

he. His professional skill, his kindly, genial

temperament, coupled with his manly qualities,

have gained him the respect and esteem of the

community. The Doctor's medical collegiate

course was taken at Keokuk in the Iowa Med-

ical College, in 1857-'58, and at the Cooper Med-

ical College, of San Francisco, California, in

1877. He is a member of the American Med-

ical Association, California State Medical So-

ciety, the Southern California Medical Society,

and San Bernardino County Medical Society,

which last owes its organization to Dr. Shugart

and Dr. Fox, of Colton. The few facts given

relating to the Doctor's earlier life are of inter-

est. He was born in Randolph County, In-

diana, April 13, 1829, and was raised a Friend
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(Quaker). His parents, Zachariah T. and Susan-

nah (Harris) Shugart, were natives of North

Carolina, and among the pioneer settlers of In-

diana. The Doctor was reared in his native

State until twelve years of age. His parents

then moved to Michigan and settled in Cass

County. He was given the advantages of a

good English education in the public and select

schools, and upon reaching his majority entered

upon his medical studies, under the tutorship

of Dr. E. J. Bonnie, a prominent physician and

surgeon of Niles, Michigan. After several

years of thorough study, he entered upon the

practice of his profession, and in 1853 located

in Tama County, Iowa, and resumed his prac-

tice until 1860. He then spent several years

in the mining districts of Colorado, in the prac-

tice of his profession and in mining enterprises.

In the fall of 1864 he located at Belle Plain,

Benton County, Iowa, where he resided until he

came to. California in 1870. The Doctor has

always ranked high in his profession in whatever

community he has resided, and has been a

student unceasing in his researches throughout

all the years of his practice. His specialty, in

which he has achieved a marked success, is the

treatment of women and children. Dr. Shugart

was married in 1852 to Miss Martha T. Reams,

a native of Michigan. But two children have

blessed this union: Lillian Moina and Leila

Rosalia, who died February 28, 1872. Lillian

Moina was married to Mr. L. C. Waite, a prom-

inent and well-known citizen and pioneer of

Riverside, April 5, 1872.

[RUMAN REEVES, late proprietor of the

oldest jewelry store in San Bernardino,

and probably the only one-armed watch-

maker in the world, established the business in

that city in 1874. In 1857, when a youth of

sixteen years, he commenced learning the watch-

maker's and jeweler's trade with Julius King,

in Warren, Ohio. He worked on his father's

farm in Orwell, Ashtabula County, where he |

had moved with his parents from Chardon,

Ohio, his birthplace, until he went to the trade.

Upon the inception of the war of the Rebellion,

his ardent patriotism impelled him to respond

to the first call by President Lincoln for volun-

teers for three months' service, and at the expi-

ration of his term of enlistment he re-entered

the army for three years as a member of the

Sixth Ohio Cavalry, in which he did valiant

service, in recognition of which he rose by suc-

cessive promotion to Second Lieutenant. At
the battle of Cold Harbor, on May 28, 1864,

his left arm was so badly shattered by a minie

ball as to render amputation at the shoulder-

joint necessary, and he spent seven months in

the hospital. January 5, 1865, he was dis-

charged from the service and returned home.

In March of that year, and without any effort

or knowledge on his part until the commission

was handed him, Mr. Reeves was appointed

Postmaster at Orwell, Ohio; and after filling the

office with exceptional efficiency and general

satisfaction for nearly three years, he was elected

Recorder of Ashtabula County in 1868, for the

term of three years, at the expiration of which

he was re-elected as his own successor, filling

the position for six consecutive years. He de-

clined another re-election. Retiring from the

office with broken health, he accepted the ad-

vice of physicians and came to California in

1874, and settling in San Bernardino entered

into partnership with N". B. Hale in the jewelry

business, under the firm name of Hale & Reeves.

Mr. Reeves has always been an active and

zealous Republican, and in 1882 was elected to

the State General Assembly, being the only Re-

publican elected in Southern California at that

time, and beat his Democratic opponent by only

about forty-five votes. In 1884 he was re-elected

by over 400 majority, which was conclusive evi-

dence of his popularity among his constituents.

After suffering the loss of his arm Mr. Reeves'

friends thought his days at the watchmaker's

bench ended, but he determined otherwise, and

possessing a genius for invention he invented

and constructed an ingenious and novel device
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to take the place of the missing hand, whicli

serves the place so thoroughly that he perforins

with deftness and dispatch the most difficult

and delicate watch-work requiring the most ex-

pert workmen with two hands. In 1867 Mr.

Reeves married Miss Marion E. McConkey, of

Oberlin, Ohio. Two children, Clarence H. and

Clara B. Reeves, comprise their family. In

1882 Mr. Reeves purchased ten acres of land in

Redlands, and planted it to deciduous and

citrus fruits, which are now in bearing, and on

which the family now reside. Mr. Reeves is a

member of Cornman Post, No. 57, G. A. R.,

and of the Congregational Church.

fOHN P. CLUM, of San Bernardino, was

born in Claverack, Columbia County, New
York, in 1851, and his childhood and youth

were passed on the banks of the historic Hud-

son. At the age of nineteen he graduated at

the Hudson River Institute, and entered the

freshman class of Rutger's College, New Bruns-

wick, New Jersey. After completing the first

year and creditably passing all the examina-

tions, adverse fortune compelled him to leave

college, and in 1871 he entered the meteorologi-

cal service of the United States Government.

Having taken a course in meteorology and sig-

naling, he was ordered to Santa Fe, New
Mexico, and there opened a station for meteoro-

logical observations in November, 1871. He

was honored with the appointment as delegate

to the Presbyterian General Assembly, held at

Baltimore in 1873, and at St. Louis in 1874.

On February 26, 1874, he was appointed Indian

Agent of the Apaches at San Carlos, Arizona,

and discharged the difficult duties of the office

with remarkable fidelity and efficiency, and to

the great satisfaction of the citizens of Arizona

and Colorado. February 26, 1876, Mr. Chun

resigned the agency, but finally, at the urgent

request of the department, withdrew his resig-

nation in October following. He resigned again

in March, 1877, and left the agency July 1,

1877. In November, 1876, Mr. Clum was

united in marriage, at Delaware, Ohio, with

Miss Mary D. Ware, daughter of the late Hon.

Thomas D. Ware, of Cincinnati, a refined and

cultured lady, whose untimely death occurred

in Tombstone, Arizona, after four years of a

joyous wedded life. During his service as In-

dian Agent, Mr. Clum passed through many

severe trials, hairbreadth escapes and thrilling

adventures, one of the most exciting of which

was the capture of the desperate and blood-

thirsty savage, Chief Geronimo, the onl}T time

that wily old Indian ever was captured. This

was effected at. Ojo Caliente, New Mexico, April

21, 1877, after having marched on foot 350

miles from San Carlos with 120 Indian police.

His strategem outwitted Geronimo; and he was

captured and placed in irons without the loss of

a single life, and, together with several of his

worst chiefs, was taken to San Carlos and put

in confinement.

After severing his connection with the Indian

Agency, Mr. Clum returned to Florence and

studied law. He was admitted to practice in

the District Court of Arizona at Pinal in 1877;

but, preferring journalism to the law, he became

editor and proprietor of the Tucson (Arizona)

Citizen in November, 1877. He continued in

that relation until February, 1880, when he sold

it to R. C. Brown. In May of that year, he, in

connection with Messrs. Sorin and Reppy, estab-

lished the Tombstone Epitaph, and for two

years continued the relation of joint owner and

editor of this paper. In June, 1880, he was

appointed Postmaster at Tombstone, Arizona

Territory, and filled that office with ability and

satisfaction. Early in January, 1881, he was

elected Mayor of Tombstone, assuming the

duties of the office January 12.

December 14, 1881, an attempt was made tc

assassinate him in the stage, en route from

Tombstone to Tucson, by the lawless ruffians

whom he gave no quarter in bringing to justice.

In the latter part of 1882 Mr. Clum went to

Washington and accepted a position in the office

of the Chief Inspector of the Postoffice Depart-
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ment. In February, 1883, lie was again mar-

ried, his second wife being Miss Belle Atwood,

daughter of the late Judge J. P. Atwood, of

Madison, Wisconsin. This estimable lady pre-

sides over the destinies of his domestic affairs

with happiest results. Mr. Cluin remained in

the department at Washington until January,

1885, when he was reappointed Postmaster at

Tombstone. He resigned that office in August,

and was elected Auditor and Recorder of Tomb-

stone. In 1886 Mr. Gum removed to Califor-

nia, and settled in San Bernardino, where he

has since been engaged in the real-estate and

insurance business. Having taken an active

interest in the progress of his chosen county,

he has twice taken charge of horticultural and

mineral exhibits of San Bernadino in the East,

one held in Washington in March, 1889, and

the Citrus Fair, held in New York in the win-

ter of 1889-'90. All of these enterprises were

triumphant successes.

f
HERON H. PALMER, architect and

builder, and a worthy representative of

the business men of Southern California,

was born February 14, 1849, in Joliet, Illinois,

to which place his parents immigrated from

New York State several years previous. In

his early childhood they removed to the young

city of Chicago, where young Palmer attended

school, and upon entering his 'teens started in

to learn the drug business. Soon after the war

of the Rebellion broke out, though considerably

under the required age, fired by youthful

patriotism, he attempted to enter the army, and

was twice thwarted in his purposes by paternal

interference. But not discouraged by failures,

he made the third trial, which resulted in his

becoming a member of Company G. Nineteenth

Illinois Infantry, which afterwards became Bat-

tery B, of the First Illinois Light Artillery, and

upon the reoiganization of the army formed a

part of the Third Division of the Fourth Army

Corps, General O. O. Howard commanding.

Mr. Palmer participated in twenty battles, was

once slightly wounded, and was honorably dis-

charged in Chicago, July 8, 1865, having served

over four years. On retiring from the army

he resumed the drug business for a few months,

when, the mining excitement having attained its

height in Montana, he and two room-mates,

after reading the glowing accounts in the

papers one evening, resolved to try their for-

tunes in the lottery of gold-seeking, and started

for the mines the next morning, in May, 1866,

and reached Salt Lake July 8. They 6pent

about a year in Montana and Utah mines, then

visited a number of different mining districts,

and were the original discoverers of the since

famous Little Cottonwood mine. Coming to

California late in 1867, Mr. Palmer remained

in Sacramento until 1869, and after stopping

for a time in Red Bluff, Marysville, San Fran-

cisco and other points in the northern part of

the State, located in San Bernardino in 1872.

Since coming to the Pacific coast he has de-

voted his attention chiefly to building and the

study of architecture. He and his former part-

ner, Mr. Jones, were the pioneer professional

architects in San Bernardino, and many of the

most elegant business blocks and dwellings of

the city and vicinity owe their existence to Mr.

Palmer's architectural taste and skill. Among
them are the Occidental block, the Urbita, Fair-

view. Rialto and Ontario school buildings, and

the new hall of records for San Bernardino

County, now (1890) in process of building,

which will probably be the masterpiece of his

constructive skill, being Roinanistic in style,

ornate in design, and one of the finest public

buildings in California. The entire structure,

which is to be about 65x65 feet, and two

stories in height, will be of stone, brick and

iron, and will be strictly fire-proof. The Court

street front is to be San Bernardino County

sand-stone, and the other fronts of brick, with

stone trimmings. Mr. Palmer's design was

chosen in competition with plans by a number

of the best architects of Southern California.
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The estimated cost of the building is about

$40,000.

Mr. Palmer was one of the projectors of the

Mentone and Bear Valley toll road, which is

partly built, and he and his office partner, Mr.

J. E. Mack, are among the principal owners of

the enterprise. He also owns quite large land

interests in Perris valley, and some improved

city property.

In 1886 Mr. Palmer was joined in marriage

with Miss Mabel E. Smith, a native of Michi-

gan, but a resident of California from child-

hood.

#^-6t^~£#

fHARLES J. PERKINS, attorney-at-law

and an active member of the Southern

California bar, came to the State in 1883,

and the following year located in practice in

San Bernardino. He was born in the Empire

State in 1856, but his father, F. J. Perkins, moved

with his family from New York to Illinois in

the fall of that year, and purchased a farm, on

which they settled. In 1877 young Perkins

started out in railroad business as an employe

in the operating department of the Denver &
Rio Grande Railroad. At that time train

robberies on the western frontier were much

more frequent than now, and assaults by des-

peradoes upon trains supposed to carry valuable

treasures were not uncommon. Mr. Perkins

had some thrilling experiences with this lawless

class. While serving as conductor on that line,

he was shot at four different times in one year;

and on one occasion observing that the train

was not properly controlled, he went forward to

the engine and found the engineer and fireman

both dead in the cab, having been shot while at

their post of duty by men in ambush. He also

filled the position of traveling auditor during his

connection with the Denver & Rio Grande

Company. Deciding to make the legal profes-

sion his life-work, Mr. Perkins entered Wiscon-

sin University at Madison and graduated in the

law department of that institution in 1882.

Soon after graduating he married Miss Edith

Collins, of Rochelle, Illinois. In 1883 he came

to the Pacific coast, as one of the attorneys for

the Northern Pacific Railroad, under theVillard

management, and when that magnate lost con-

trol Mr. Perkins was succeeded by a friend of

the new management. He visited the most

desirable points on this coast before selecting

San Bernardino as his choice, and since settling

here has devoted his attention to mining and

commercial law, making a specialty of the

former, and has been connected on one side or

the other with nearly every important mining

suit tried in this part of the State during the

last five years. He is an active, energetic

man, and is an indefatigable worker in any

cause he undertakes. In addition to his law

practice, Mr. Perkins has been instrumental

to a large extent in developing the grand arte-

sian water supply of the San Bernardino valley,

having sunk many of the hundreds of fine, flow-

ing wells in -that county. Mr. Perkins is a

member of the San Bernardino County Bar As-

sociation.

?OHN HARRISON, senior partner of the

grocery firm of Harrison & Pace, was born

in Hoboken, New Jersey, November 21,

1845, and is the youngest of three sons of

Parker and Mrs. Agnes Harrison, nee Mc-

Murray. He was educated in New York city,

and at an early age became associated with an

elder brother in the grocery business. On

March 4, 1880, he married Miss Emma M.

Bangerter, a native of New York, who was born

on the day Abraham Lincoln was first elected

President, in November, 1860. They came to

California on their wedding tour and remained.

Before coming to San Bernardino, Mr. Harrison

was engaged in business in Los Angeles County.

September 14, 1887, he formed a partnership

with Milton A. Pace, and purchased the grocery

business of A. Thorp, who had three months

previously bought the stock from John Kane, the
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founder of the house. At first the partners,

with the assistance of one man, transacted the

business, but it has steadily increased in volume

until they now employ four men besides them-

selves and three teams to handle their extensive

retail trade, which is one of the largest in South-

ern California. They carry a heavy slock of

the best grades of staple and fancy groceries,

which are purchased at the lowest wholesale

prices, and are sold on a small margin of profit.

Three children, two sons and a daughter, have

been born to Mr. and Mrs. Harrison, the latter

of whom is deceased. The sons are nine and

one year old, respectively. Mr. Harrison's

father, a farmer by occupation, died in 1884, at

the advanced age of eighty-four years. His

wife died several years earlier.

ILLIAM McDONALI), proprietor of

McDonald's furniture and undertaking

establishment, San Bernardino, the old-

est in San Bernardino County, was born in

Ireland, in 1826. His parents emigrated to the

United States before his recollection, and settled

in Philadelphia, where his father engaged in

cabinet-making. The son studied architecture

and followed contracting and building during

the early years of his business career, before and

after coming to the Pacific coast. Up to 1851

his life was passed in the East and South. In

the fall of that year he crossed the plains to

Salt Lake, Utah, and there took a contract to

build a mill, on which he made enough

money to bring him on through to California

the following autumn. San Bernardino was his

home for the first five years after arriving in that

State, although he carried on the business of

contracting and building in Los Angeles and

vicinity, being the pioneer in that business in

Southern California. Early in the '50s good

mechanics were not to be found, and even very

indifferent workmen he paid as high as $7 per

day. In 1857 Mr. McDonald moved down to

Los Angeles, and ir the spring of 1860 went

up to San Francisco and spent some six months

traveling through the finest valleys of that part

of California. Believing then, as now, that the

San Bernardino valley is the choicest portion of

the Pacific slope, he returned and permanently

settled here in the fall of the same year. In

1866 he opened the first futniture store in the

city, and, subsequently associating undertaking

with it, he designed and built the first hearse

ever used in Southern California, which he still

has in his possession, though its use has been

superseded by two elegant hearses manufactured

by Cunningham & Sons of Rochester, New
York. Mr. McDonald's furniture warerooms

and repository for funeral goods are some 300

feet in depth and embrace half an acre of floor

room. He makes a specialty of the undertaking

feature of his business, and keeps in stock a

large assortment of tuneral goods of the best

Eastern and Northern manufactories. As an

embalmer Mr. McDonald has won a reputation

extending across the continent, and has numer-

ous highly commendatory letters from under-

takers in the East, testifying to his success in

embalming bodies for transcontinental ship-

ment. In 1854 Mr. McDonald bought the lot

and erected the house in which he and his fam-

ily now reside, in McDonald's Place, between C
and D streets and Third and Fourth.

Mrs. McDonald, formerly Miss Mayer, is a

native of Staffordshire, England, and a relative

of the Mayers of that city, famous as pottery

manufacturers. She came to America when a

child of eight years. Mr. and Mrs. McDonald
have nine living children, five sons and four

daughters, all save one born at their present

homestead, and all but one residents of San

Bernardino valley. Two of the sous are asso-

ciated with their father in business. In early

times Mr. McDonald was politically opposed to

the old Mormons of this valley, and his out-

spoken expression of opinions and free and

independent action in upholding his convictions,

which he held to be the right of every Ameri-

can citizen, created no little antagonism of feel

-

I ing against him on the part of the followers of
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Joe Smith and Brigham Young. The Mormon

colonists not only refused to sell him any of what

they considered desirable town lots, but he had

the courage of his convictions, and his faith in

the final triumph of the principles he advocated

aud upheld, never wavered. He has lived to

enjoy the realization of his hopes.

HOMAS L. McFARLANE, one of the

oldest and most expert miners on the

Pacific coast, was born in Allegheny City,

Pennsylvania, in January, 1840. Meeting with

financial reverses by which he lost his property,

Mr. McFarlane's father moved with his family

to Iowa when Thomas was four years of age.

He died in that State some twelve years ago.

In 1859 Mr. McFarlane drove six yoke of oxen

across the plains for a company who were

freighting for the United States Government

from Fort Leavenworth to Salt Lake. The

train was composed of thirty wagons and thirty-

six men, and the company received an average

ol fifty cents per pound for transportation. On

reaching Salt Lake, Mr. McFarlane and seven

comrades bought a team and came through to

California that fall, reaching Placerville late in

September. The same autumn he came down

to Kern County, where he had two brothers

engaged in farming, and joining them he pur-

sued the same vocation for two years. In the

fall of 1861 he came to San Bernardino County

and spent the winter in Holcomb valley. This

was the season of the great flood, and the low

lands of the San Bernardino valley were entirely

inundated, forming a continuous lake of water

many miles in extent. In the spring of 1862

Mr. McFarlane returned to the Kern river

country and went into the mines, where he and

his three comrades took out $1,600 apiece in

six weeks. In 1863 and 1864, he and his

brothers built what is known as the McFarlane

toll road, which extended from the Kern river

to the Tulare valley, a distance of about forty

miles of mountain road. They kept the road

until 1870, when a lack of travel, owing to a

change of outlet by way of Los Angeles to the

seaboard, they were compelled to surrender

their charter and lost their investment. In

February, 1870, he and his brother started for

Ivenpagh, their total capital being §450.

After reaching their destination and prospecting

until they were about worn out and disheart-

ened, the subject of this sketch accidentally

ran on to an uncovered ledge of rich silver ore,

and hence was the first discoverer of that now

famous mine from which several million of

dollars have since been taken. He and his

brother incorporated as the Ivenpagh Min-

ing Company, which was afterward reincorpo-

rated as the Ivenpagh Consolidated Mining

Company: this firm has taken out nearly two

million dollars. Mr. McFarlane still owns

valuable mining property there. His brother,

A. J. McFarlane, was the discoverer of the

Long Tom gold mine in Kern County, which

has been very productive. There were four of

them interested in it, and after working it

profitably for a time they sold it for $20,000.

In 1876 Mr. McFarlane started into the livery

business in San Bernardino. He has also tried

merchandising and dealing in real estate, but

his chief success has been in mining.

In 1878 he married Miss Seely, daughter of

David Seely, one of the early pioneers of San

Bernardino valley, and they have resided in the

city 'ever since. Their homestead comprises

nearly an acre of land on Sixth street between

L and D streets. They have two children, a

son and a daughter.

—^€(l»^
fTEWART MONTGOMERY WALL, a

California pioneer of 1852, was born in

Virginia in 1834, and moved with his

parents to southwestern Missouri when a lad

five years of age and there resided until he

came to the Pacific coast. During the gold

excitement of 1850, his father, William Wall,

came via Santa Fe and Yuma with his two
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oldest sons to California and spent a year in the

mines up about Auburn in search of the coveted

yellow dust. In 1851 the old gentleman

returned to Missouri and the following spring

started for the Golden State with the rest of

his family, including Stewart, coming this time

across the plains by the northern route. He
settled in Merced County, and engaged in farm-

ing and dealing in live stock. In 1865, he

removed with his family to San Bernardino

County, where he passed the remainder of his

life, he having died some twelve years ago. In

1857 the subject of this article went back to

Missouri, remaining until the fall of 1859.

After spending several years in traveling

through Arizona, Nevada and Montana, he

settled permanently in San Bernardino County

in 1865. Mr. Wall has served five terms as

marshal of the city, and in 1880-'81-'82-'83

was deputy county recorder for three years. In

September, 1885, he was appointed county

license collector by the board of supervisors,

which office he has filled with ability and satis-

faction to the present time. His license col-

lecting amount on an average to about §5,500

each quarter.

Mr. Wall married Miss McCoy, the daughter

of an early settler in California. Like many
of the brave men who traversed the wilds of the

desert and the Sierras in search of the hidden

riches of the mines, Mr. Wall passed through

thrilling experiences with savage red men, one

of which is published in this work as narrated

by him on page 414.

fDWIN CHIDSEY SEYMOUR, Sheriff

of San Bernardino County, wa6 born in

Otsego County, New York, in 1845. His

father, also a native of the Empire State, was a

cabinet-maker by trade, and moved to northern

Pennsylvania when Edwin was a lad of seven

years. Here he grew up to manhood and learned

the trade of cabinet-maker with his father. Upon
the breaking out of the war of the Rebellion he

responded to his country's call, entering the army
as a member of the Seventy-sixth Pennsylvania

Infantry, and remained four years and nearly

three months, chiefly in the Army of the James,

closing his service with the campaign of North
Carolina and the surrender of the Johnston

army. Returning home, he engaged in the

lumber and milling business in western New
York, which, together with contracting and

building, has been his principal occupation

ever since. Since 1881 Mr. Seymour was elected

a member of the Board of Supervisors of Che-

mung County, New York, and resigned the office

the following year and came to California, chiefly

on account of his wife's health. Settling first

in Riverside, he erected a large number of build-

ings that year in that charming place. In

March, 1883, he removed to San Bernardino

and has been a resident of the city since that

time. He served as deputy sheriff under Cap-

tain Gill in 1884-'85, and in the fall of 1888
was elected Sheriff of San Bernardino County,
beating one of the most popular Democrats in

the county. Sheriff Seymour has demonstrated

his eminent fitness for the position by the en-

viable record he has made since assuming the

duties of the office, and which has won for him
the hearty commendations of the people of the

county regardless of political affiliations. In

politics Mr. Seymour is an active and zealous

Republican, ever ready to advocate and defeud

the principles of the party. He is also promi-

nently identified with fraternal organizations.

Having joined the Independent Order of Odd
Fellows as a member of Genesee Lodge in Roch-

ester, New York, in 1868, he passed all the chairs

in the local lodge and was a member of the Grand
Lodge in 1870; is a member of Token Lodge,

No. 146, and of Morse Encampment; also San

Bernardino Canton of Patriarchs Militant. He
is a member atid has been Commander of Corn-

man Post, No. 57, Grand Army of the Repub-

lic, and is now Inspector of the Seventh District

;

is a member of Meridian Lodge of the Ancient

Order of United Workmen, and a Select Knight

of San Bernardino Legion in that order. He is
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one of the organizers of the San Bernardino

Loan and Building Association, and is serving

in his third term as its president, being elected

without a dissenting vote. He is president of

the Valley Land and Water Association, a

director in the San Bernardino Fruit Packing

Company, and in the " Fines Index Publishing

Company." Mr. Seymour is quite extensively

interested in orange and raisin grape culture in

Etiwanda.

In June, 1866, just prior to his twenty-first

birthday, Mr. Seymour was joined in marriage

with Martha M. Goddard, a New York lady.

Four children, two of each sex, constitute their

family.

§AN BEEN A RDI NO ARTIFICIAL
STONE AND IMPROVEMENT COM-
PANY was organized in March, 1887,

with a capital stock of $250,000, divided into

2,500 shares. John C. King was elected presi-

dent; A. M. Murphy, vice-president; M. Da-

venport, secretary, and Malcom Macdonald, man-

ager. The purpose of the organization is to

construct sewers, sidewalks and tunnels, and to

do a general contracting business. Their prin-

cipal office is on E street, near Third street, in

San Bernardino. Under Mr. Macdonald's effi-

cient management the volume of business

transacted by the company has been large, and

has extended to the principal cities and towns

of Southern California. Among their principal

contracts may be mentioned the sewer systems

of San Diego, Riverside and San Bernardino,

besides the manufacture of artificial stone trim-

mings for numerous large buildings, including

the Stewart hotel. The business done in San

Diego alone within the past few years aggre-

gates nearly $300,000. Mr. Macdonald has been

contracting for forty years, and in his present

line of business fifteen years. When sixteen

years of age he started to learn ship-building,

and, after completing the trade, carried it on

seventeen years, during which time he modeled

and drafted twenty-feven ships, besides parts of

numerous others. He carried on the business

in Nova Scotia, New Brunswick and Boston.

He came to the Pacific coast in February, 1868,

and has ever since been engaged in general con-

tract work. Before immigrating to this coabt,

he furnished the stone work for the provincial

building in Halifax, the cathedral in Harbor

Grace, the St. James Episcopal cathedral in

Portland, Maine, and also manufactured grind-

stones for many mills in the New England

States. These stones came from the quarry

owned by him and his brother at Port Phillips,

Nova Scotia. At the time an impost duty of

twenty per cent, ad valorem was placed on this

class of foreign merchandise by the United

States Government. The firm of M. & P. Mac-

donald was one of the heaviest in that province,

owning and employing in their trade with the

United States five vessels. The labor of first-

class quarrymen cost them about $8 per month

in that country. The effect of the tariff was to

completely paralyze their business, and they

were compelled to close down and sell their ves-

sels. Mr. Macdonald says it cost him a fortune

to learn the value of the United States tariff in

the protection of home industry; hence he is

a strong protective tariff man from the Ameri-

can standpoint, and js thoroughly Americanized.

Malcom Macdonald was born in Cumberland

County, Nova Scotia, May 9, 1833. He left

home and became self-supporting at sixteen

j<ears of age. He married in July, 1859, and

he and his estimable wife have a family of four

children, three daughters and one son: John

Monroe Macdonald, aged twenty-oue years, who

is studying for the medical profession.

fH.
PIERSON, M. D., residing at Mission

San Bernardino, is a native of New En-

a gland, and came from a Puritan family

on his father's side, and an English Quaker fam-

ily on his mother's side. He is a son of Henry

Pierson, a direct descendent of Abram Pierson,
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tirst president of Yale College, whose ancestors

landed on Long Island in 1632. The subject of

this sketch resided several years in Europe en-

gaged in the study of medicine, and in 1861 he

came back to America, and in 1866 went to Lake

Superior as physician and surgeon for the An-

glo-American Copper & Lead Mining Company.

In 1867 he went to Arizona as surgeon for the

Vulture Gold Mining Company, and remained

there until 1882. He was married in 1870.

In 1882 his health having failed somewhat he

determined to discontinue the practice of his

profession and try rural life. Accordingly he

purchased a fine tract of 265 acres of land in

Mission San Bernardino, on which he has over

1,000 orange trees, ten acres of peach trees,

five acres of pears and other deciduous fruits.

Here, surrounded by his family, the Doctor is

leading a quiet life, looking after the education

of his children and the interests of his farm.

fEORGE JORDAN, proprietor of the

largest jewelry house in San Bernardino

County, has been in the business in Cali-

fornia twenty-three years. Born in Germany
forty-eight years ago, he emigrated to the United

States when a youth of fifteen, and after stop-

ping for a time in New York, went south into

Georgia, where he remained during the late

civil war. After the close of the conflict he re-

turned to his native land and spent two years

in business in Europe. Recrossing the Atlantic,

he came directly to the Pacific coast and opened

a jewelry store in San Francisco, where he car-

ried on business for twenty-one years. Having

faith in the grand future of Southern California

and wishing to identify himself with its march

of progress, Mr. Jordan closed out his business

in San Francisco, and in May, 1888, opened his

present store in the Ruffen block, San Bernard-

ino, with an extensive and elegant stock of

goods, his purpose being to embrace in variety

and quality everything required or sought after

in the line of jewelry, diamonds, watches, clocks

and optical goods, thus supplying purchasers

with an assortment equal to any to be (bund in

the larger cities. Having a thoroughly prac-

tical knowledge of the details of the different

branches of his business, and giving the closest

personal attention to every department, Mr.

Jordan commands a large and prosperous trade,

which extends throughout San Bernardino

and adjacent connties. He designs and makes

to order everything in the line of diamond

work, society emblems, jewels, medals, etc., and

has a well earned reputation as one of the most

skillful and painstaking watchmakers i:i the

State.

Notwithstanding the temporary business de-

pression which has prevailed in this section of

the State for the past year or two, as the reac-

tionary result of the speculative boom, Mr.

Jordan still has undiminished faith in the great

future of Southern California, possessing as it

does such a multitudinous number and unpar-

alleled richness of resources. He is a gentleman

of tine business qual ideations, and an affability

and sincerity of manner which wins and retains

the esteem of his fellows.

tUCIAN D. CRANDALL, senior partner

of the tinn of L. D. Crandall & Co., pro-

prietors of one of the largest retail grocery

houses in San Bernardino, is a native son, born

in that city in 1857. As he grew to manhood

he had a strong desire to visit other portions of

the continent, and, wishing to combine business

with travel, he joined his brother, W. N. Crandall,

when about eighteen years old, in railroad con-

tracting, and they were engaged in that business

in Utah, Nevada, Colorado, New Mexico, Idaho,

Montana and the Dominion of Canada and the

Northwest Territory about eight years. Two
years of this time they were on the north shore

of Lake Superior, where sleighs were in use as

a mode of conveyance four months of the year.

While there they were associated with M. D.

Hammond, under the firm title of Hammond &
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Crandall, and employed a large force of men

and teams. They wound np their contracting

business in 1884, and Mr. Crandall spent nearly

a year in and about Montreal, Canada. Re-

turning to San Bernardino the latter part of

1885, he soon after embarked in the grocery

trade as a partner with W. A. Boren as succes-

sor to H. J. Begg9. He subsequently purchased

Mr. Boren's interest, and after conducting the

business alone for about a year took in H. Will-

iams, his present partner, the firm assuming its

present style. They carry an excellent stock of

tine staple and fancy goods, and their trade ex-

tends throughout San Bernardino County and

as far east as Arizona. The business has steadily

increased in volume since the house was first

opened and now reaches about $50,000 a year.

In 1887 Mr. Crandall married MissCbipman,

a native of Utah. He was one of the organizers

of and is a stockholder and director in the First

National Bank of San Bernardino; he also

owns several valuable pieces of property in the

city.

His father, L. D. Crandall, Sr., died in Sanlt

Saint Marie, Canada, in 1884. His mother,

formerly Mary Wixom, daughter of early Cali-

fornia pioneers, still resides in this city.

§ON HENRY MONTAGUE WILLIS,

San Bernardino, was born in Baltimore,

Maryland, September 21. 1831. His an-

cestors were among the tirst English settlers of

the colony of Virginia and Maryland prior to

the Revolution. His father, Mr. Henry H.

Willis, was a captain in the merchant marine,

with whom the subject of this memoir made a

nnmber of voyages before he was twelve years

of age, alternating between school and the sea.

At the age of twelve he adopted a seafaring

life, and during six years' sailing the briny deep

he visited the ports of the Mediterranean, En-

gland, France, Ireland, Rio Janeiro, Montevideo,

Buenos Ayres, Pernambuco and Valparaiso, and

rose by successive steps to full seaman, and

finally to officer of the vessel. While in Rio

Janeiro in 1848 as second mate of the bark

Helen M. Fiedler, a fleet of clippers arrived with

the tirst passengers for the gold fields of Cali-

fornia. This was the firs' intelligence received

of the discoovery of gold. One of the ships of

this fleet being disabled, his vessel was char-

tered to carry a portion of her passengers to

California; and loading with such cargo as was

most appropriate for the market of San Fran-

cisco, the bark started on her voyage. June 28,

1849, the vessel anchored in San Francisco har-

bor, having touched only at Valparaiso for sup-

plies. Soon after his arrival the young mariner

purchased an interest in the pilot-boat Eclipse,

and with his associates ran her up the Sacra-

mento river with a cargo of freight and passen-

gers; but being attacked by the chills and fever

Mr. Willis abandoned this enterprise and took a

position of tirst mate on the bark which had

borne him to this coast, that was now char-

tered for Oregon. They reached Portland in

about twenty days, took on a load of lumber,

and on the return trip the captain, his father,

fell ill, and the whole command devolved upon

him, and he anchored the vessel safely in the

bay and discharged her cargo in San Francisco

in February, 1850. His father died in San

Francisco in May of that year.

Being seized with the gold fever young Willis

started for the Mokeluinne Hill mines, via

Stockton. The rainy season came on and the

floods carried away his dams and filled up his

diggings, and he returned to Stockton, where he

engaged in painting until prostrated with ty-

phoid fever, from which he was restored through

the tender nursing of his mother. To recover

his somewhat depleted exchequer Mr. Willis

invested all his means in the town of Pacific

City, on Baker's bay, Washington, then Oregon

Territory. The speculation proved disastrous,

and having little to do but hunt and fish, he

and his partner, C. W. C. Russell, explored

Shoal Water bay, and discovered the oyster beds

which have made that bay famous. Securing

enough of the bivalves to till sixteen sacks, they
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employed Indians to carry them across the port-

age to Baker's bay and shipped them thence

to San Francisco. So eagerly were they sought

after that a vessel was immediately chartered

and sent to Shoal Water bay for a cargo of oys-

ters. Thus these sixteen sacks laid the founda-

tion for the oyster trade between that bay and

Sail Francisco. Business demanding his atten-

tion in San Francisco, Mr. Willis left the oyster

enterprise to be conducted by Mr. Russell.

From this time, 1851, until 1854, Judge Willis

remained in the Pacific metropolis engaged in

the dry-goods business on Sacramento street.

Being fond of study he prepared himself, unas-

sisted, during these years, for college and the

study of law. In 1854, in company with his

friend, Hinton Rowan Helper, who was studying

with a similar purpose, he left for the East,

—

he to enter college, and Helper to publish his

first book, "The Land of Gold." Until January

1, 1856. Judge Willis studied law at the college

of Chapel Hill, North Carolina, under the tutor-

age of Judge Battel, of the Supreme Court, as-

sisted by Hon. Sam. F. Phillips, and on the

above date was admitted to the liar of the Su-

preme Court of the State. After spending six

months in the law office of Chauncy Shaefer in

New York city, studying the codes the young

barrister returned to San Francisco, arriving in

June, just after the hanging of Casey and Cora

by the vigilance committee.

Having already ashieved more than a local

reputation as a writer for the press, and having

received a tempting offer as the chronicler of a

three years' cruising expedition in the South

Seas, he was undecided whether to make litera-

ture or law his life-work, when he was appointed

Prosecuting Attorney of San Francisco in the

fall of 1856. He accepted, and the decisive step

was taken. However he continued contributing

articles to the columns of the Evening Bulletin

for a number of years. He filled the office of

prosecuting attorney until his removal to San

Bernardino in 1858 to attend to some litigation

growing out of the purchase of some land in the

county, in which his mother was interested.

While attending to this business he became en-

gaged in farming and fruit-growing. January

1, 1861, Judge Willis married Miss Amelia,

daughter of Jerome M. Benson, an old citizen

of the county. The same year he was chosen

District Attorney of San Bernardino County,

which office he resigned after holding for a few-

months. He rapidly rose to prominence in his

profession and was employed in the courts of

the county, involving land title or water rights.

He won the first water suit in the county, known

as the " Cram right," thereby fixing a prece-

dent and securing prosperity to the settlers in

that part of the county. In 1872 he took his

seat on the bench as County Judge and filled

that position continuously for eight years with

marked ability and satisfaction to his constitu-

ents. The new State constitution abolished

the office of county judge, and upon retiring

from the bench Judge Willis resumed his posi-

tion at the head of the San Bernardino County

bar, and his large law practice. In the fall of

1886 he was elected Superior Judge, and honor-

ably discharged the duties of that office from

January, 188?, to January, 1889. Since retir-

ing from the bench he has continued in active

law practice as the senior partner of the firm of

Willis & Cole.

In 1868 he began to improve what is known

as the Willis homestead in old San Bernardino,

and being confident that artesian water could be

obtained in this valley, he imported the first

tools and sank the first well in thecounty. Not

being successful on his farm, the tools were

brought into San Bernardino, and soon pure

liquid streams were flowing from wells bored by

them within the city limits. He made another

trial on his farm and was rewarded by an abun-

dant flow of water at the depth of 410 feet.

Over 1,500 fruit trees, citrus and deciduous, and

12,000 grape-vines, mostly planted by his own

hand, were set out on his place, which, under

careful cultivation and irrigated by the ever-

flowing artesian streams, were prosperous and

bearing many years before he disposed of the

place in May, 1887. He also sold several pieces
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of city property that year, hut still retains a

number, including the elegant dwelling he

erected on Seventh street, between E and F

streets, which he and his six children occupy,

the wife and mother having died in August,

1889. His children are: Matilda, wife of Charles

H. Condee; Amy, Carrie, wife of Chas. E.

Paine, Birmingham, Alabama; Bessie, Jennie,

Louisa and Heury M. Willis. He has buried

four sons.

Judge Willis was one of the few to establish

Odd Fellowship in the county, by organizing

San Bernardino Lodge, No. 146, and he is also

a member of other fraternal orders. He has al-

ways taken an active interest in pioneer matters,

was a member of the State Pioneer Association

when in San Francisco, and is a prominent mem-

ber and corresponding secretary of the San

Bernardino Society of Pioneers. In ante-bellum

times, Judge Willis was politically a Douglas

Democrat; during the war he was a stanch

Union man, and since the war has resumed his

old party affiliations. He is noted for his socia-

ble, affable manners and his generous hospital-

ity to his friends.

fOLONEL JOHN FEUDGE was born in

Waterford, Ireland, November 3, 1824.

His parents came to the United States

immediately after the inauguration of President

John Quincy Adams. The subject of this

sketch was first engaged assisting his father,

who kept a market garden in the suburbs of

New York city. When about sixteen years of

age he was apprenticed and learned printing and

stereotyping. He had worked some time, before

becoming an apprentice, at type casting, by the

old hand-mold method, and also as composing

room devil, fly-boy, and wrapper-writer in the

offices of the two great commercial papers of

that day, the Courier and Enquirer, and

Journal of Commerce, both on Wall street,

the presses then being turned by hand-crank.

General James Watson Webb was editor of the

former and "old Tom'' Snowden business

manager, two very prominent personages in

those days; David Hale and Hallack being

the editors and proprietors of the Journal.

The first printing-office entered by the subject

of this sketch was the book and job office of

Scatchard & Adams, 38 Gold street, New York.

This office was in the days of the old hand

presses—before the introduction of the power

press—the largest in the city, probably in the

country. The firm was broken up by the sudden

disappearance of Mr. Adams, whose remains

having been cut.up and packed in a box, were

discovered by the carman who hauled the box

to the wharf for shipment to a southern port, to

which it was consigned or directed. In the

trial which ensued, on which our subject was

subpoenaed as a witness, the murderer was

found to be a professional teacher of penman-

ship and book-keeping, and brother of Colonel

Colt, of patent fire-arms celebrity.

At the beginning of the year 1851, Messrs.

John and Henry Beach, of the New York Sun,

in connection with P. T. Barnum, commenced

the publication of the New York Illustrated

Jy~ew8, the first illustrated paper published in the

United States. Like its London prototype the

chief engravings were full-page folios, and, in

printing from the originals, the green box-wood

warping, they cracked and split when submitted

to the pressure of the press, thereby greatly

disfiguring the publication. As yet electrotyp-

ing had not been introduced, nor had paper as

a substitute for plaster in stereotyping, and to

successfully cast a quarto page plaster mold

was a very difficult matter, and a folio entirely

out of the question The publishers of the

Illustrated JVews having been informed by the

subject of this sketch that he was the inventor

of a new method by which the largest page

could be successfully and quickly cast, they at

once awarded him the contract, at four dollar;

a page. Thereafter (from the third number),

during its existence, the publication was entirely

unmarred by any defect of the character here

described. The new method was a complete
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success Going West shortly after the suspen-

sion of the Illustrated News, he visited the

tract of 4,300 acres of land purchased by a

New York colony, of which he was a member.

This land lay in Mitchell and Howard counties,

Iowa. After disposing of his interest in these

lands to parties in Dubuque, he returned East

and immediately went to Texas, where, at the

outbreak of the Southern rebellion, he was en-

gaged in merchandising, in the town of San

Antonio. In the summer of 1861 he was a

Union refugee from Texas. Because of his

unswerving loyalty to the American flag and

uncompromising fidelity to the Union, he was

obliged to flee, after the deposition of the

Union governor, General Sam Houston. Being

harassed and threatened by the secessionists and

the ordinances of the secession convention, he

was forced to abandon and sacrifice his busin

and property.

By the friendly assistance, as well as the official

interposition in his behalf of the French con-

sul, F. Gilbean, of San Antonio, he was enabled

to make his escape in a small coaster, by run-

ning the blockade in the night, out of Sabine

pass, a United States frigate standing off and

on in the roadstead, in the Mexican gulf, block-

ad »g the harbor. On his arrival North, after

ville. East Tennessee, June 5, 18(35. Commis-

sioned Indian agent by President Johnson, for

the Colorado river Indians, Arizona, 1865. At

the close of Johnson's administration he settled

in San Bernardino, California. He owns and

occupies a ranch of about 100 acres in the Warm
Springs and Central districts, two miles east of

town.

He was married in Nadiville, Tennessee, at

the close of the war, to Miss Susan Kenifeck

of Cincinnati, Ohio. They have four children,

viz: Henry E., who is United States Railroad

Mail Agent to Oceanside; Teresa, John B. and

Mary Ellen. He is a member of Cornman

Post, No. 27, G. A. R., of San Bernardino, and

also of the order of Good Templars

'•/••

many delays and dangers (twice being stopped
j

and searched by secessionists in Berwick's Bay,

Louisiana, and again at Clarksville, Tennessee),

he joined the Union army, as a citizen, at

Louisville, Kentucky, in the Army of the Ohio,

commanded by General Buell.and was assigned

the duty of forage master, under the Chief
j

Quartermaster, Captain Alvan Gillem. After

the campaign of Corinth, and by the invitation
i

of Colonel Gillem, he recruited for the First
|

Regiment, Middle Tennessee Infantry (after-
i

ward known as the Tenth), and served respect-

ively as Captain and Lieutenant Colonel; com-
j

missions dated 1862 and 1863; was attached
|

to the Fourteenth Army Corps; participated in

nearly all the military operations in Tennessee
j

till the close of the war; was honorably mustered |

out and discharged from the service, at Knox- !

R. J. A. MACK, of Redlands, is a native

of Syracuse, New York, born June 24,

1842. He received his education in the

schools of Syracuse and Fulton, New Yoik,

and commenced the study of medicine with

Dr. Townsend, of Syracuse; he also attended and

graduated at the college at Geneva. He began

practice at Syracuse, afterward continuing at

Rochester, and later at Lyons, New York-

Thence he removed to Chicago, where he at-

tended Bennett Medical College (Eclectic), grad-

uating in 1876. He practiced in Chicago until

1886, when he removed to California, and on

the 9th of November of that year settled in

Redlands; being one of the Chicago colony

who located here. He conducted the Prospect

House a year and a half, practicing also at the

time. He then built his present handsome

residence, on a tract of one and a half acres

which he purchased. He has 40,000 orange

seed bed stock, 2,000 of last year's buds and

6.000 of this year's buds, on his home place.

He also has ten acres of land in the Crafton

district, part of which is already planted to

oranges, and the remainder will be in 1890.

Dr. Mack was married November 26, 1876,

to Annetta Bishop, a native of New York city.
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They have three children living, viz.: John A.,

Jr.; Roy A. and Raymond. One is deceased,

Grace, aged seven years.

Dr. Mack is a member of ihe A. O. U. W.,

of Lyons, and K. G. R., of Illinois. He is ;m

active worker for the improvement of Red-

lands, and his own property interests in that

vicinity. The Doctor is now out of practice,

for the present, and is devoting his attention to

business affairs connected mainly with orange

culture.

'"£ ' »« • !

;R. I1YLAND W. RICE, deceased, was

born in "Wilmington, Delaware, in 1850.

His literary education received at Claveric

University, and his medical education at Hahn-

emann, Philadelphia. At the latter place the

first honors of his class were bestowed upon

him, by which he was appointed to practice two

years in the college hospital. After this he

went to Aurora, Illinois, and then, his health

failing, he came to San Bernardino. Here he

began to practice as the pioneer homeopathist

in the city. He was a man who possessed

much personal magnetism and was a general

favorite with all. He was elected to the office

of Public Administrator of the county with 600

votes ahead of his ticket. He belonged to the

Bepublican party, and was a member of the

Masonic fraternity. He also belonged to the

Knights of Pythias, and was the author of the

burial service of this order. While in Illinois

he was Grand Chancellor for two terms, of the

two years each, and then Past Grand Chancel-

lor. He established the order in San Bernard-

ino in 1878.

Dr. Rice was married in 1875, in Wilming-

ton, Illinois, to Miss Mary P. Waterman,

daughter of His Excellency, Robert W. Water-

man, now Governor of California.

Dr. Rice died July 28, 1884, while in the

prime of life. He was a profound student, and

by his ability, honesty and integrity, had made

a lar^e circle of friends, and his funeral was

attended by almost the entire county of San

Bernardino.

f|

S. TAYLOR.—Among those who have

| contributed largely to the success and

s^ 9 advancement of Redlands, none should

receive more credit for untiring energy in the

past than the gentleman whose name heads this

sketch. He was a native of Canada, born at

London, Ontario, October 8, 1854, his parents

being John and Jane (Barter) Taylor, both of

whom were born in England, the father being a

contractor and builder. Our subject was reared

and educated at his native place, and on arriv-

ing at a suitable age, commenced, as his first

employment, clerking in a dry-goods store.

After that he was connected with the bakery

business for two years. In 1880 he left Can-

ada, locating at Los Angeles. After two years

there, he came to Redlands, and engaged in the

business of manufacturing cement piping. He
has supplied nearly all of the large sizes o

pipe used by Judson & Brown in their enter-

prise hereabouts, nearly forty miles in all. The

pipe of his manufacture is the best to be found

in the market, and is so rated. He also supplies

pipe for San Bernardino, Riverside, Colton, etc.

He built the large two-story brick business

structure known as the Taylor block, completing

it in July, 1888, and in the same year erected

three brick residences, building on a two-and-a-

half-acre tract in Redlands. When he came

here he bought ten acres in Redlands, which he

afterward sold, and which is now subdivided

into lots. He has a fine piece of property in

Lngonia Park, embracing two and a half acres

planted to oranges and grapes, and otherwise

improved with a two story house. He also has

seven and three-quarters acres of land on the

hill in Redlands, all of which is planted in

oranges. Among his other property is seven

acres of slightly improved land, on the Barton

tract, and eight lots in Allen's addition to San

Bernardino, which has an artesian well. Be-
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sides the real estate interests noted, Mr. Taylor

owns the well-known Hidden Treasure gold

mine, on Old Baldy, which he operates in con-

nection with the Criterion.

Mr. Taylor was married in Kedlands, in

January, 1886, to Mrs. Mary Jane Scammel, of

Brantford, Ontario. They have three children,

viz.: Minnie, Ethel and Sidney James.

Mr. Taylor is a man of great push and energy,

and one of those public-spirited citizens so neces-

sary to the progress of any community.

—#s^-#

—

§ON. JOHN M. MORRIS was born near

Cincinnati in 1825. His father, Isaac

Morris, was born in New Jersey. He
was a farmer by occupation, and had a family

of eight children, of which the subject of this

sketch was the youngest. When he was a boy,

instead of going to college, he helped to clear

away the forests and make a farm in Ohio. In

March, 1855, he went to Kansas and settled on

a farm in Riley County. He lived there for

twenty years. While in the "Sunflower" State

he had the honor of representing Riley County

in the Legislature 1871-'72. He was also

County Assessor one term and County Treasurer

twice.

In 1848, while in Cincinnati, he married

Miss Helen Milson, a native of Baltimore,

whose mother came to Cincinnati at an early

day.

In 1874 he sold out his interests in Kansas

and came to San Bernardino County, where he

purchased forty acres of land two and one-half

miles from the city, on the Base Line. This

property he has highly improved, and, with his

son, has been in the nursery business for

several years. They have a choice variety of

fruit and ornamental trees. His fruit-stand

at the horticultural exhibition in Los Angeles

was much admired and took first premium.

His fruit ranch is one of the finest in the

county, comprising citrus and deciduous fruits;

also a fine vineyard of raisin grapes. His

home is surrounded with a great variety of

ornamental shrubs and flowers. Over 100 va-

rieties of roses and trailing vines on verandas

and buildings make it a lovely home in this

lovely land.

Judge Morris has nine children living; four

married. Both he and his wife are members
of the Congregational Church.

fTEPHEN R. MAGEE, M. D. Among
the representative orange groves and vine-

yards of Arlington in Riverside, mention

should be made of that owned by D. Magee.
The improvements on this place were com-
menced by Mrs. Magee in August, 1875. It

was then a wild and barren plain. Mrs. Ma^ee
in that year preceded the Doctor to California

and located on a forty-acre tract, on what is now
the corner of Center and Palm avenues. She
caused a small cottage to be erected, in which
herself and children were domiciled, and then

at once commenced the planting of ornamental

trees and shrubbery and flowers, and as soon as

the ground could be cleared, entered into horti-

cultural pursuits by planting citrus and decidu-

ous trees and vines. The Doctor arrived in 1876
and found that his energetic wife had made rapid

progress. He entered heartily into the improve-

ments, and soon laid the foundation to one of

the finest properties in the colony. He found

his acreage more than he could devote the pro-

per care and cultivation desired and later sold

off all but twenty acres. He has now sixteen

acres in oranges, about equally divided in seed-

lings and budded fruit, and four acres in vine-

yard, devoted to Muscat raisin grapes. Both
the Doctor and his wife are thorough horticul-

turists, and as illustrative of their success in

orange-growing it is noted that in 1886, 200

Mediterranean sweet orange trees yielded four

and one-half boxes per tree. The character of

this fruit was of the highest standard and sold

for $10 per tree, giving a return of over $750

per acre. The remaining trees in his grove
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produced equally well, considering the age of

the trees. His vineyard in 1888 yielded him

$125 per acre. The improvements upon his

place are of the highest order. His residence

is a large two-story building of modern design

and finish, well ordered and complete in all the

appointments that constitute a modern home of

comfort and luxury; well-kept grounds, orna-

mental trees and floral plants', and to the beauty

and comfort of his home.

The subject of this sketch was born in Mifflin

County, Pennsylvania, September 1, 1820. His

lather, Thomas Magee, was a native of that

State. His mother, nee Charity Mathews, was

a native of the Isle of Guernsey. In 1832 his

father moved to Ohio and located in Cambridge,

Guernsey County. He was a farmer by occupa-

tion and Dr. Magee was reared to that calling

until eighteen years of age, receiving the advan-

tages of a common-school education. At that

time he entered upon his medical studies under

the tutorship of Dr. McCnllough. a prominent

physician of Reynoldsburg, Franklin County.

After some three years of study he proceeded

to Philadelphia and entered the Rush Medical

Colllege, where he completed his medical edu-

cation and graduated in 1843. He then re-

turned to Ohio and entered upon the practice of

his profession in Harrison County.

In October, 1844, Dr. Magee was united in

marriage with Miss Jean K. Thompson, a nati ve of

Steubenville, Ohio. Her father, Robert Thomp-

son, was a native of Ireland, who located in Ohio

in early youth and there married Miss Elizabeth

Kelley. The Doctor continued his professional

life until 1861. In that year he was elected upon

the Republican ticket as the Sheriff of the

county and held the office for the next four

years. He was prominent in politics, and a

strong Union man, and did not allow his official

position to debar him from rendering military

service to his country. He was the Quarter-

master Sergeant of the One Hundred and

Seventieth Regiment National Guard of Ohio,

and in 1864, upon a special call for troops from

the general Government, was mustered into the

United States service and served his term of

enlistment in the Department of Washington

and in the Shenandoah valley, and participated

in the defense of Washington against Early's

troops, and the pursuit of his army through the

valley. Upon his discharge from the service the

Doctor returned to his Ohio home and resumed

his official duties. In 1866 he located in

Steubenville, Ohio, and engaged in coal-mining.

He was also the agent of the Cleveland &
Pittsburg Railroad Company at that place, until

1876, when he came to Riverside.

Dr. Magee has been a strong supporter of

schools and churches, and has contributed liber-

ally toward their establishment in Riverside.

He is a trustee and the clerk of the Arlington

school district, and a consistent member of the

Episcopal Church. In political matters he has

been a Republican from the organization of that

party in 1856. He is a member of Riverside

Chapter, No. 67, Royal Arch Masons, and also of

Riverside Post, No. 118, G. A. R. He has six

children living, viz.: Mary R., now Mrs. James

A. Crawford, of San Bernardino; Thomas A.;

Anna B., now Mrs. R. K. Cunningham, of San

Bernardino; Jessie; Robert T., who married

Mrs. Cora Cotton, of Riverside, and Lucy A.

Thomas A. Magee, the Doctor's eldest 6on, is

associated with him in his horticultural pursuits

on the home place.

#^§@-®I^

fOHN HOSKING, the son of James and

Jane Hosking, is a native of Cornwall,

England, born February 22, 1839, and there

reared a miner. He emigrated to California in

August, 1867, coming by the way of the Isth-

mus of Panama. He first worked in the mines

in Tuolnmne County, then in Amador County

mines. In 1870 he was appointed foreman of

the original Amador mines. In 1873 the Sierra

Bnttes Gold Mining Company appointed him

foreman of the Plumas Eureka Mines In 1883

he was appointed superintendent of the said

mines, which position he now holds.
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He was married to Catherine H., the daughter

of Richard and Mary Floyd, August 22, 1863.

Six children have been born to them: Richard

Floyd, born in England, February 4, 1866; Ada,

born in England, February 10, 1868; Mary

Jane, born February 27, 1872, at Amador City,

died in July, 1872; John Ward, born at Eureka

Mills, September 5, 1874, died December 16,

1877; James Earnest, born November 19, 1876,

at Eureka Mills; Nettie Johns, born August 8,

1878. Mr. Hosking is a Past Grand of Mo-

hawk Lodge, I. O. O. F., No. 292, situate at

Johnsville; he is also a member of the Royal

St. George, located at Johnsville.

In 1882 he bought twenty acres of land at

Redlands, from Jndson & Brown, and had it

planted the following year as follows: live acres

to orange trees and fifteen to raisin grapes. In

1887 he built a fine residence on his property

and made other improvements. The family

moved to Redlands, March 31, 1888. Mr.

Hosking has achieved a high degree of success

in his chosen calling, in which he is considered

a thorough expert. He planned lnuch of the

new machinery now used at Eureka, such as

pumping machinery, tramways, etc.

jg^ENRY J. RUDISILL.—Among the men

f||j who for years were prominently associated

=f5A5 with the leading enterprises and industries

that gave to Riverside that prominence in the

history of Southern California that is un-

equaled, and spread before the people in the

marts of the world, her unrivaled productions

that induced immigration and brought an un-

ceasing flow of wealth to the beautiful valley,

none is more worthy of mention than the sub-

ject of this sketch. Mr. Rudisill came to River-

side in February, 1875. In the same year the

Riverside Land and Irrigating Company was

organized and at once assumed control of the

affairs at Riverside, securing by purchase the

land and water rights of the Southern Califor-

nia Colony Association and other incorporations

or associations connected with the valley. Mr.

Rudisill was one of the original incorporators

and a resident director and secretary of the com-

pany, and in the years that followed was one of

the most prominent officers of the company in

carrying out the improvements inaugurated.

In 1876 he purchased sixty-five acres of land

at the head of Magnolia avenue, just south of

Indiana avenue, and entered largely into horti-

cultural pursuits, which he conducted until the

sale of his lands in 1889. During that time

he was one of the strongest supporters and pro-

moters of citrus fruit cultivation in Riverside.

He placed his time and means at the disposal

of any project that would show to the world the

varied and wonderful productions of the colony.

Together with a few associates, of whom he was

the leading spirit, he organized the first citrus

fair ever held in the world. The exhibit was

made at the residence of G. W. Garcelon, in

Riverside, in the spring of 1878. This proved

the value of such exhibits, and he entered

heartily into the work for the erection of a suit-

able building in which to hold future fairs, and

as a result the Citrus Fair Association was or-

ganized, the pavilion erected, and citrus fairs

became the leading exhibitions of the fruit in-

dustries of Southern California and the State.

During all the succeeding years there was no

one more ready with time and money in aiding

and establishing the means for a successful dis-

play of Riverside products than Mr. Rudisill.

In 1885 he was a commissioner with Mr.

James Bettner to the World's Fair at New Or-

leans, at which the citrus fruits of Riverside

won a well deserved victory, and was crowned

with the highest honors, viz.: three gold and

one silver mr-dals awarded, in competition with

the citrus fruit growing districts of the State

of California, the United States and the world.

This victory was due in no small degree to the

unceasing and well directed efforts of Mr. Rud-

isill. He was also one of the original incor-

porators of the Riverside Improvement Com-

pany, and the secretary of the company during

the years in which its greatest works were
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accomplished, viz.: the completion of the splen-

did system of water supply for domestic use

from artesian wells. In fact there has been no

public enterprise of real worth and merit es-

tablished in Riverside during the years of his

residence that has not received his support and

encouragement.

Mr. Rudisill is a native of Ohio, dating his

birth in Fairfield County in 1827. His par-

ents moved to Fort Wayue, Indiana, in his

infancy, and there he was reared and schooled.

He was given the advantages of a good educa-

tion, closing his studies in the Asbury Uni-

versity at Greencastle, Indiana. He perfected

himself in civil engineering, and before reach-

ing his majority was County Surveyor of his

county. He turned his attention to railroad

construction, and for the five years preceding

1862 was in the employ of the Pittsburg,

Fort Wayne & Chicago Railroad. He then en-

tered into manufacturing, and for some three

years had charge of large woolen mills in Fort

"Wayne.

In 1865 he was elected Auditor of Allen

County, overcoming a Democratic majority of

2,800, and was successively re-elected until he

had held that office for nine years. During

this time he was engaged in railroad enter-

prises and was a director of the Fort Wayne,

Jackson & Saginaw Railroad, and secretary of

the Indiana Company. In 1875 he determined

to seek a home on the Pacific coast, and with

that in view established his residence in River-

side.

He is a man of broad and liberal views,

well trained in business and sound in his

principles. He has been a successful man and

a desirable acquisition to the city and colony of

Riverside. He is and has been ever since the

organization of the party a Republican. He
was married in 1857 to Miss Elizabeth Evans,

a native of Defiance, Ohio, who is still living.

There is but one child living from this marriage,

Henry T., who married Miss Ida M. Burnett,

a native of Massachusetts. Mr. Rudisill's par-

ents, Henry and Elizabeth (Johns) Rudisill,

were natives of Pennsylvania. His father was

a manufacturer and was prominent is establish-

ing manufacturing industries in the West until

his death at Fort Wayne in 1858.

A. SHAY, of San Bernardino, was

born in Maine, May 1, 1812, but
1

reared principally in Nova Scotia. He
the cooper's and carpenter's trades.

When a young man he went to New Orleans,

where he was successful for three years. See-

ing then a specimen of gold from California, in

1849, he at once set out for the gold fields, com-

ing by water and the Isthmus of Panama. He
worked in the mines for a time and made and

lost a great deal of money—lost heavily by the

floods in the upper country. Then he carried

on a large sheep ranch at City creek for a num-

ber of years, and he lived also for some time in

Los Angeles County, and finally he came to San

Bernardino County, where he has dealt to a

considerable extent in lands and has engaged in

the rearing of live-stock and in fruit culture.

In 1852 he married Eliza E. Gosey, a native

of Arkansas, and they have five children: John,

Thomas,William, Henry and Mary. The mother

died several years ago. Mr. Shay has given all

his children a comfortable home and a good

start in life.

fOSEPH JARVIS, M. D., a well-known

citizen of Riverside, is a native of England,

born in Oxford, in 1842. His parents,

Jonathan and Eliza (Allen) Jarvis, were also

natives of that country. The subject of this

sketch was reared in his native place until

eighteen months of age. His parents then emi-

grated to Canada, locating in Oxford County.

There he graduated at the Ingersoll High

School, and in 1862 entered upon his medical

studies. In 1864 he went to New York city

and spent the next two years in medical study
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in the Bellevue Hospital Medical College and

in the hospital. He then returned to Canada

and entered the medical department of the Vic-

toria College in Toronto. After graduating at

that institution he visited his native country

and entered the St. Thomas Hospital, in Lon

don, for the purpose of perfecting himself in

his surgical studies, and was granted an honor-

ary degree by the St. Thomas College. In 1867

he returned to Canada and established himself

in the practice of his profession at Ingersoll,

Oxford County, and then in 1869 moved to

Kingston, and there continued his practice, tak-

ing a prominent and leading position in the

medical circles of that city.

In 1877, desirous of a more genial climate, Dr.

Jarvis sought a residence on the Pacific coast,

and during that year established his home in

Riverside. Upon his arrival he purchased a

twenty-acre tract on Adams street, west of Mag-

nolia avenue, and entered upon horticultural

pursuits. Since that time he has increased his

real-estate interests, and is now the owner of

227 acres of land in the colony, located within

rive miles of the city, and also a fifteen-acre

tract of vineyard just south of the city limits.

All of his lands are so located as to be irrigated

from the Riverside water system, and a large

portion of them are under cultivation. He is

one of the leading and most successful horti-

culturists of Riverside. Taking his lands in a

wild and uncultivated state, he has by his energy

and perseverance brought them to a high state

of cultivation, and very productive in resources.

He has fifty-five acres in orange groves, the

most of which is in seedlings, but is each year

increasing his orange planting by putting in

Washington Navels, Mediterranean Sweets, St.

Michaels, etc. Fifty acres are devoted to apri-

cots, and twelve acres to other varieties of

deciduous fruits. He also has forty acres of

vines, producing raisin grapes of the Muscat

variety. The Doctor has been notably successful

in his deciduous fruit growing, and by curing

and marketing his fruits himself has found an

ample profit in an industry that many of the

fruit-growers of Riverside long since abandoned.

The products of his vineyard are also cured,

packed and marketed in the same manner. As
an illustration of his success, it is noted that

one of his ten-acre vineyards, eight years old,

in 1888 produced a crop that marketed lor over

$300 per acre; ten acres of his budded orange

trees of the same age brought over $280 per

acre. Dr. Jarvis has not confined himself

to horticultural pursuits alone, but he has been

one of the most active business men in River-

side: has been identified with nearly every en-

terprise of any magnitude established in the

colony, and is one of the most enterprising and

public-spirited citizens of Riverside. He is one

of the original incorporators and a director of

the Riverside Water Company, and formerly

held the office of president of the company, and

has recently been again elected president of the

same company; also a director of the Riverside

Land Company; incorporator and vice president

of the Riverside & Arlington Railway. He is

also one of the original incorporators and a

director in the Hall's Addition Railroad Com-
pany, Hall's Addition Water Company, River-

side Canal Company, and the South San Ber-

nardino Land Company, and vice president of

the Rubidoux Hotel Association. His exten-

sive business operations have not been confined

to Riverside, but have extended to other por-

tions of Southern California. One of his enter-

prises in San Diego County is worthy of note.

In 1882 he was an incorporator and vice presi-

dent of the ElCajon Land Company. After the

sale of a few hundred acres of the lands of the

company, the Doctor purchased the balance

—

about 30,000 acres—and from 1883 to 1887 was

the president and general manager of the com-

pany, during which time the projected improve-

ments were carried out and the lands sold. He is

a man of broad views, great executive ability, and

sound business principles. These, combined

with his straightforward and honest dealings,

have insured him a successful business career

and gained him the respect and esteem of the

community.
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He is a prominent member of the Masonic

fraternity, and is affiliated with the Lodge,

Chapter and Commandery of Riverside. He is

also a member of Cataraqui Lodge, No. 10, I.

O. (). F., of Kingston, Canada. He is a sup-

porter of churches and schools, and is a member

of the congregation of the Presbyterian Church

at Arlington. Dr. Jarvis married in 1868,

wedding Miss Mary Amelia Schell, daughter of

Daniel Schell (whose history appears in this

volume), and they have had nine children, viz.:

Francis Joseph, Bertha L., Carl, Clarence E..

Edith L., Frank, Howard, Beatrice and Helen.

Francis Joseph and Carl are deceased.

—#*€iKDf^-
H^ENRY F. MACY, M. D., deceased, was

SI) born in Stark County, Ohio, in 1826. He

nHf was reared to farm life, and had in early

life the advantages of a common-school educa-

tion. His father, Matthew Macy, was a native

of Nantucket, Massachusetts, and a descendant

from one of the oldest families of that island.

His mother, nee Patience Austin, was a native

of Rhode Island. Dr. Macy was reared in the

pioneer days of Starke County, when educa-

tional facilities were comparatively limited, but

he secured a good education, and after arriving

at manhood entered upon the study of medicine,

graduated at a medical college, and commenced

the practice of his profession. In 1850 he came

to California and spent some three years in the

mining district. Returning East he settled in

Kansas, locating in Hiawatha, Brown County.

In that county, in 1859, he married Miss Re-

becca J. Dorland, a native of Ohio. Dr. Macy

was in the practice of his profession in Kansas

for many years, and was also engaged as a

druggist, and largely interested in the lumber

business, taking a leading part in the various in-

dustries of that new country. Being an ardent

Republican and a strong Union man, he took a

leading part in the trouble preceding the war

of the Rebellion, as a Free-State man, and dur-

ing that war was a strong supporter of the ad-

ministration and war measures. He was also

prominent in the Odd Fellows order, being for

more than forty years a member of that organ-

ization, both subordinate lodge and encamp-

ment.

In 1886 Dr. Macy decided to seek the genial

climate of Southern California, and chose River-

side for his residence. Upou his arrival he

purchased the ten-acre tract upon the southwest

corner of Bandini and Cypress avenues, and took

up his residence upon the same, engaging in

horticultural pursuits. He died at his new
home in 1888, and though but a short time a

resident of Riverside, his manly qualities,

straightforward, consistent course of life gained

him many warm friends, by whom he was re-

spected and esteemed through life and who sin-

cerely mourned his death. He left his widow

and two daughters,—-Mary and Helen.

Mrs. Macy assumes the care of their home
and the rearing of her daughters. She is be-

coming well versed in horticultural pursuits, as

her orchards and vineyards well attest. Seven

acres of her land is in oranges, one-half seed-

lings and the remainder in Washington Navels

and Malta Bloods. These were planted by

John A. Simms in 1881, and are now coming

into bearing. Three acres are in raisin grapes.

The implements on the place are first-class in

every respect. The substantial aud well or-

dered cottage residence was erected under her

supervision, and in it she has combined the

conveniences and luxuries of a modern home.

§EROY S. DYAR.—Among the pioneers of

Ontario and representative men of that

beautiful colony, mention should be made

of Leroy S. Dyar, who was born in Franklin

County, Maine, in 1833. His father was Colonel

Joseph Dyar, a well known agriculturist of that

county. His mother was Mary S. Gay. Both

of his parents were natives of that State. Mr.

Dyar was reared and schooled in his native

place, closing his studies in the high school and
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academy. He was reared as a farmer. In 1858

he decided to try his fortune on the Pacific

coast, and came by steamer to San Francisco.

After a short stay in that city he proceeded to

Yuba river and engaged in mining until the next

year. He then located in Salem, Oregon, and

was employed in farming and teaching until

1863, when he established himself in mercantile

pursuits in Salem, under the firm name of N.

O. Parrish & Co. In 1864 he was appointed

Postmaster at Salem, and held that office until

1868. He was engaged in various enterprises

in Salem until 1871, when he accepted a position

in the Indian Department as superintendent of

schools of mechanical and agricultural instruc-

tion, and was stationed on the Yakima Indian

Reservation until the fall of that year, when he

went to the Grand Ronde Reservation as com-

missary in charge. In the spring of 1872 he

was appointed Indian agent of the Klamath

Reservation, located at Klamath lake.

It was this reservation that the notorious

Modoc Chief, Captain Jack, and his band had

left two years before and were then at war with

the United States troops among the famous lava

beds. Mr. Dyar tilled the position admirably,

and so conducted the affairs of the reservation

as to prevent any further dissatisfaction among

the Indians and also to prevent their aiding

Captain Jack or his associates. His ability was

soon recognized by the department, and he was

appointed a member of the peace commission

which was to treat with the rebellious Modocs

for a return to their reservation. This com-

mission was composed of General Can by, Dr.

Thomas, Colonel Meacham and himself. The
history of the massacre of General Canby and Dr.

Thomas, and the miraculous escape of Mr. Dyar

and Colonel Meacham—the latter severely

wounded—is an oft-told chapter in the history

of our Indian wars. Mr. Dyar never had any

confidence in the plan of meeting the In-

dian chiefs, for he had no confidence in them,

and he protested strongly against the members
of the commission uselessly exposing their lives

to the murderous savages. He warned them

that they were going the road to sure death, and

that he should of course accompany them and

share their fate. Nothing could change them

in their belief of the honesty of Captain Jack.

They met the chiefs, who had secreted arms at

the place of meeting, or had them concealed

upon their persons. The conference was but a

short time in session before Mr. Dyar saw what

he believed conclusive evidence that a massacre

was intended. He managed upon some slight

pretext to get outside of the circle composed of

the members and the chiefs, and did not again

take the place reserved for him. This saved his

life, for upon the first outbreak he was enabled

to run toward the encampment of troops. He
was tired upon and pursued, but before he could

be overtaken relief from the camp met him.

Mr. Dyar remained in charge of his reserva-

tion until 1877, and then engaged in stock

raising until 1882, when ill health compelled

him to seek a southern climate. In that year

he came to San Bernardino County, and being

pleased with the location and future prospects

of the Ontario colony, in December, 1882, pur-

chased a twenty-acre tract on the corner of San

Antonio avenue and Fourth street. The next

spring he came to reside upon his purchase, and

at once commenced its improvement. The first

orchard set out in the colony was by Mr. Dyar

early in the spring of 1883. Since his arrival

in Ontario he has been identified with many of

its improvements and has been engaged in deal-

ing in real estate and improving places. His

present residence is a neat cottage with well

ordered grounds upon a villa lot on the west

side of Euclid avenue, between Third and Fonrth

streets. In its varied horticultural and floral

productions this is one of the finest places in

Ontario. He is a thorough and practical horti-

culturist, and makes a success of whatever he

touches in this line. Among his real-estate

interests in Ontario are ten acres between

Seventh and Eighth streets, in lemons, now in

bearing, seven acres on San Antonio avenue and

Twenty-second street, in Washington navel

oranges, and some twenty acres of unimproved
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land. He is a firm advocate of Ontario and its

wonderful resources, and has done much toward

advancing the interests of the community in

which he resides. A strong supporter of

churches and schools, he is a memher of the

Methodist Church and a trustee in the same.

He is also president of the hoard of regents of

the Chaffey College. He has for many years

heen a member of the Odd Fellows organiza-

tion, and is a charter member and Past Grand

of Olive Lodge, No. 18, of Salem, Oregon.

Mr Dyar has been twice married. His first

marriage, in 1854, was to Mary J., daughter of

Luther and Mar? (Bartlett) Tubbs. She died

in 1857, leaving one child, Charles Herbert,

who married Miss Annie M. Ryan. Mr. Dyar's

second marriage was in 1863, when he was

united with Miss Mary T. Gleason, daughter of

Ryal and Rebecca (Tyler) Gleason, of Maine.

They have one child,—Helen L.

fOLONEL HENRY W. ROBINSON, for

nearly a quarter of a century, has been

identified with Southern California, and

for the past seventeen years has been a resident

of Riverside, and associated with its growth

and progress. He was born in Chelsea, En-

gland, in 1840. In 1850 his parents emigrated

to the United States and located in Brooklyn,

New York, where he attended the public schools

until thirteen years of age and then engaged as

clerk in a drug store in New York city. He
was attentive to his duties and acquired a prac-

tical knowledge of the business, but his naturally

roving disposition prompted him to seek a

different life, and in 1859 lie enlisted in the

Third Regiment of United States Artillery.

The breaking out of the civil war in 1861 found

Mr. Robinson well trained in the practical

duties of a soldier's life, and he was honorably

discharged from the regular army, to enable

him to accept a Lieutenant's commission in the

New York Volunteers. His military knowledge

made him a valuable acquisition to the State

troops, and he was appointed Aid-de Camp
on the Staff of General Seymour. He served in

the Army of the Potomac, Department of the

South, and in Florida, until 1864, and was then

appointed and commissioned Lieutenant-Colonel

in the Fourth Regiment United States Veteran

Volunteers, and he also received the rank of Col-

onel by brevet, for gallant services during the

war. He continued his army service until after

the close of the war, and was not discharged until

September, 1866.

Immediately after his discharge, which oc-

curred at Columbus, Ohio, he fitted out for an

overland trip to California. He started from

St. Joe, Missouri, in the fall of that year,

and came via the southern route to California

and located in Los Angeles County, in the

spring of 1867. His first year was devoted to

farming upon rented land. In 1868 he entered

into a contract with the United States Govern-

ment for carrying the mail in Los Angeles

County to Inyo County, and established a stage

line upon a route over 240 miles in extent. He
conducted that enterprise for eight years, and

had one of the best equipped stage lines in South-

ern California. He also had contracts for carry-

ing the United States mail from Spadra through

Chino, Rincon and Riverside to San Bernardino,

and also from Pomona to Temescal. He placed

an efficient stage service upon these lines. In

1874 he established his residence and head-

quarters in Riverside. The previous year he

had purchased the block bounded by Main aDd

Orange and Fifth and Sixth streets, and upon

this he located his stage station and established

a livery stable, the first stable opened in River-

side. Colonel Robinson, in addition to his busi-

ness, also engaged in horticultural pursuits,

planting three blocks in Riverside with lemon

and orange trees, and in later years was largely

interested in land operations in East Riverside.

In 1882 he purchased eighty acres from the

railroad company and entered 160 acres under

the homestead act. Sixty acres of that land he

sold to the East Riverside Land Company. The

remainder he is now devoting to general farming.
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In 1880 or 1881, Mr. Robinson sold out his

stage lines and equipments to W. A. Hayt &
Son, and then devoted himself to dealing in

lands and other enterprises, and was also engaged

in building up his block and inducing emigration

to Riverside. He has been a prominent supporter

of the many public enterprises that have aided

in developing the resources of Riverside and

placing them before the world. He was a stock-

holder in the Citrus Fair Association, and was

one of the original promoters of the Riverside

Presi, the first newspaper published in River-

side; and also one of the proprietors of the

Valley Echo.

He is a member of Evergreen Lodge, No.

239, F. & A. M., and Keystone Chapter, No.

57, Royal Arch Masons, and also of Riverside

Post, No. 118, G. A. R., of which he is Quar-

termaster. Politically he is a sound Republican.

Colonel Robiuson has made a success in his

various enterprises and has retired on an ample

fortune from the more active business pursuits

and settled down in his pleasant home on Orange

street, for the quiet enjoyment of life. In 1881

Colonel Robinson was married to Mrs. Eliza A.

Bryan, a native of Indiana. The presence of

that amiable lady seems to render the comforts

and happiness of his home complete.

—#^€@»^-
fLONZO D. HAIGHT, who is one of the

earlier settlers of Riverside, has been

identified with the growth of the colony

since April, 1876. At that time he purchased

a Government claim for forty acres of land

located on Palm avenue, about two and a half

miles south of Riverside, and commenced its

improvement. Later he was compelled to pur-

chase the same land from the Southern Pacific

Railroad Company, it being claimed under their

land grants from the Government. At first

Mr. Haight planted largely of deciduous fruits

and vines, but as experience showed the value

of citrus fruits he replaced his deciduous trees

with orange trees. He now 1:

S3
ine orange

grove of twenty-five acres in extent, about eight

acres of which are in good bearing, having been

planted in 1877-'78. The remainder of his

trees vary in age from two to ten years. Mr.

Haight is a thorough horticulturist, and has

been successful in producing and building up

one of the finest groves of his section. The

building improvements on his place are first-

class. His residence is a substantial two-story

hcuse of modern design and finish, and has been

built and fitted with all the conveniences that

characterize a well-ordered house, and has not

spared expense in adding to its comforts.

Spacious grounds adorned with ornamental trees,

palms, floral productions, and commodious out-

buildings, attest the successful citizen.

The subject of this sketch was born in Steuben

County, New York, in 1834, and was reared and

schooled in his native place until 1855. In that

year he sought the western country, and was

engaged as a surveyor in western Michigan,

and also in teaching school in Ottawa, Illinois.

In 1857 he continued his westward march and

located in Linn County, Kansas. He was a

resident of that State during the border war

preceding the Rebellion, and was prominent

among the Free-State men. During the war he

was a member of the Kansas State militia, un-

der General Joe Lane and others. He was

engaged in mercantile pursuits and other enter-

prises in Linn County, and was prominent in

the official organization of his county, holding

at various times the office of County Surveyor,

County Clerk and Clerk of the District Court.

In 1864 he returned to Michigan, and for the

next four years conducted a mercantile business

at Manchester. He then went to Florida and

spent the time until 1871 in orange-growing

and business pursuits. In the latter year he

located in McDowell County, North Carolina,

and there established himself in general mer-

chandise business, which he conducted until he

came to California, in 1876. His long residence

in Riverside has made him well known. He
is a progressive citizen, of the class that build

up and advance the interests of the community
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in which they reside. He is a supporter of the

Univerealist Church, and a member of Ever-

green Lodge, No. 259, F. & A. M., and River-

side Chapter, No. 67, R. A. M. In political

matters he is a Republican, and was a stanch

Union man and a supporter of the Government

during the dark days of the civil war.

Mr. Haight was married in 1862 to Miss

Betsey A. Green, a native of New York. Her

father, Nelson Green, is now a resident of

Riverside. He was a prominent and well-

known man in the early days of Michigan; was

a member of the Constitutional Convention in

1850 that revised the constitution of that State;

later was a member of the Assembly and Senate

in the Legislature of Michigan, and before re-

moving to that State he was a member of the

Assembly cf the State of New York.

Mr. and Mrs. Haight are the \ arents of five

children, viz.: Edward M.,' Bertha E., Jessie

M., Nellie and Ralph W. Mr. Haight's parents,

Peter and Ada (Crawford) Haight, were natives

of New York. His father was a veteran of the

war of 1812-'14, and was a farmer by occupa-

tion, and reared his son in that calling.

~|. ] .( %

fK.
HENDERSON, a young and enter-

prising horticulturist on Base Line, five

Q miles east of San Bernardino, was born

in Benton County. Iowa, August 18, 1858. His

father, Robert H. Henderson, of Indiana, was

for fourteen years successfully engaged in farm-

ing in Iowa. In 1875 he came to California

and first bought ten acres of land in Riverside

and put it out in fruit. It cost him $100 per

acre, and after eight years he sold it for $9,600.

He had one of the best vineyards in the State,

which at three years from planting netted him

$341 per acre. He afterward moved to San

Jose, where he died in October, 1888. He had

a family of ten children, of which the subject of

this sketch is tl e seventh. He had the advan-

tage of a good common-school education, and

came with his father to Riverside, California,

in April, 1875. He subsequently bought land

in Redlands, which he sold after two years. In

1882 he bought the land on which he now lives

on Base Line. Mr. Henderson was united in

marriage to Miss Lulie Annabel, in 1878, at

Riverside. This lady was born in Jackson,

Michigan, and is a daughter of Ira Annabel.

They have two bright little children, Earle and

Claude. Both he and his wife are members of

the Congregational Church.

fOHN B. CRAWFORD is one of the pio-

neers of California, dating his first arrival

on the Pacific coast early in 1849. His

first visit to Southern California was also in

that year. Mr. Crawford was born in York

Township, County of Peal, Canada, in 1826.

His parents, James and Eliza (Beatty) Craw-

ford, were natives of Ireland, who emigrated to

Canada in 1810. His mother was a daughter

of Rev. John Beatty, a well-known pioneer of

the Methodist Church. She is now eighty-five

years of age and a resident of Riverside. His

father was a prominent business man of York,

owning and conducting lumber mills and woolen

factories. Mr. Crawford was reared and

schooled in his native place, ending his studies

by a course at the Victoria College at Coburg,

Ontario. He then went to Montreal and was

engaged in the hardware business until 1847.

In that year he emigrated to the United

States and located in New Orleans. In 1848

the gold fever swept over the country and he

decided to seek his fortunes in the new El

Dorado of the West. In December, of that

year, he left New Orleans and proceeded to the

Isthmus of Panama. Crossing that he embarked

on board the steamer " California " for San

Francisco. This was the pioneer steamer of

the Pacific Mail Steamship Company, and the

first ever placed on the route from Panama to

San Francisco. Her first voyage upon a

route and in a service that afterward became

historical, ended in San Francisco, February 28,
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1849. San Francisco was then a hamlet, built

mostly of board shanties and canvas tents. Mr.

Crawford was limited in means but had a small

stock of personal clothing which he proceeded

to sell, establishing this "store " by setting up

an old crockery crate upon one of the main

thoroughfares, and displayed his stock to the

public view. His stock was soon disposed of

and he then decided to try his fortunes in the

mines. His first efforts were at Murphy's

diggings on the Tuolumne river, and later in

other sections. In the fall of that year he

decided to embark in a stock speculation. Ac-

cordingly he came to Southern California, and

making his headquarters at San Diego pur-

chased a band of mules. These he wintered at

Ensenada, and the next spring drove them

overland to the northern counties. This was a

fortunate venture. His animals, that cost him

$20 a head in Southern California, sold in the

mines at $200 to $500 per head. He then

returned to his mining occupations and con-

ducted them until 1853. In that year he estab-

lished a store on the north fork of the Yuba

river, and was engaged in mercantile pursuits

until 1855. His six years upon the Pacific

coast had not been without profit, and he

decided to return to his home. Upon his

arrival in Canada he entered into mercantile

pursuits, establishing dry-goods stores at Brant-

ford, and later at Ingersoll and Dnndas. He
conducted these enterprises until 1875. In

that year he made his second trip to California,

deciding to establish his home and pass the

remainder of his life in its genial climate. After

visiting many sections of the State he settled

upon Riverside as affording all the requisites

of soil, climate and water. His energy and

personal efforts would do the rest in building

up a model home. How well he has succeeded

the present record will show. Mr. Crawford

has a forty-acre tract, located on Magnolia

avenue, at the corner of Adams street, nearly

all of which is in oranges, comprising budded

trees of the most approved varieties, such as

Washington Navels and Mediterranean Sweets.

He also has a family orchard of deciduous

fruits, in which he has nearly every variety of

fruit grown in this section. His residence is a

model in beauty and comfort. It is a fine two-

story edifice of modern architectural design and

finish, and in it has combined the comforts and

luxuries of a well-ordered home; nor has he neg-

lected his surroundings. His spacious grounds,

bordered by trim cypress hedges, abound in

ornamental trees, palms, and flowering plants.

This home is fast approaching a realization of

his dreams of a dozen years ago. Nature does

much for mankind in Southern California, but

results, such as Mr. Crawford has attained, have

required years of energetic and well-directed

labor. In 1875 his tract was a wild and deso-

late waste. He ejected his little cottage, the

first built in the Arlington district, planted a

few ornamental trees, and, with his family,

established his residence and went to work. In

1876 he sowed his lands to grain. It was a

failure, and the next year he started in horti-

cultural pursuits. His experience was that of

many early horticulturists of the colony—their

mistakes were many and cost years of labor and

valuable time in correcting. Acres of compara-

tively valueless or non-producing deciduous

trees had to be rooted out and their place sup-

plied by the orange tree, As late as 1887 he

destroyed 700 lemon trees, ten years old, that

were non-paying, and supplied their places with

budded orange trees. Experience is the best

of teachers, and he is making no mistakes at

this date. Mr. Crawford has not confined his

efforts entirely to his home place. In 1875 he

purchased a ten-acre tract four and a half miles

east of his home, and during the ten years before

selling it built up one of the representative groves

of that section. He has also been interested in

real estate in San Diego County, acerage and

busiuess property in Elsinore and Perris, erect-

ing blocks, stores, etc; nor has he withheld his

support and encouragement to the many public

enterprises that have been such important

factors in building up Riverside and giving her

that standing and position she so justly occupies
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in Southern California. He is a stockholder in

the Riverside Water Company and was for two

years vice president, and for four years a

director of the same.

Mr. Crawford has during his years of

residence ranked high in the estimation of the

community as a good citizen and a kind neigh-

bor. He has for many years been a member of

the Presbyterian Church and a former trustee of

the Arlington Presbyterian Church. In politics

he is a Republican, but has for years been a

strong supporter of the Prohibition principles

and party.

In 1856 Mr. Crawford married Miss Annie

P. Schooley, a native of Canada. Her mother,

Julia A. Higson, was born at Glens Falls, New
York. This union was blessed with four children,

viz.: Jennie E., J. Harry, Stanley A. and Vic-

toria Ina. Jennie married J. J. Evans, of

Riverside; Harry married Miss Lucy A.Hume,

and is now residing at Perris, San Diego

County; Stanley is engaged with his father in

conducting the affairs of the home place; Vic-

toria is also a member of her father's house-

hold.

tENRY RABEL, deceased, formerly pro-

prietor of the celebrated springs which

bear his name, and which are now the

property of his widow, was born near Hanover,

Germany, on August 2, 1826. In 1845 he

emigrated with his parents to America, and

settled in Lebanon, Illinois, where his father

and mother both died within a year. After

their decease Henry went to St. Louis, Missouri,

and on October 8, 1849, he married Miss Eliza-

beth Holadway, a native of Tennessee, a de-

scendant of Scotch ancestry on her father's side,

and English on her mother's. Early in May,

1850, Mr. Rabel and his young wife started

from their home in Missouri to cross the plains

to California, as part of a train comprising a

hundred families, nearly all of whom came

with ox teams, though Mr. Rabel had horie

teams. The trip was a trying one to Mrs.

Rabel, as their eldest child, a daughter, was

born en route, at Fort Laramie. They reached

Salt Lake on September 17. Having lost one

of their horses, and being advised that an at-

tempt to continue their journey over the Sierra

Nevada mountains so late in the season would

be attended with great risk, Mr. and Mrs. Rabel

stopped in the Salt Lake valley, and remained

there eighteen months, during which time they

both worked hard to try to get a start in life.

While there they at times suffered of privation,

being unable to obtain some of the necessities

of life, for though they had money to buy pro-

visions with they were not to be had at any

price. On leaving the valley in the spring of

1852, they were fitted out with three pairs of

oxen, a thousand pounds of flour, and an abund-

ance of other provisions. They crossed the

crest of the Sierras July 10, and a few days

later arrived at Shingle Springs—now Placer-

ville. There they found friends in Mr. Chase

and family, whom they had known in the East:

and Mrs. Rabel says she never was happier than

when they reached their destination after being

so long on the way. Mr. Rabel procured em-

ployment with a mill and lumber company at

Diamond Spring under contract for a year

for which he was to receive $3,000, but the

company was not successful financially, and

he lost about half his wages. At the end of the

year Mr. Rabel tried his fortune at mining a

year, in which he was very successful, averag-

ing $25 to $30 a day. On leaving the mines

he engaged in the live- stock business several

years, in which he also made money. In the

spring of 1857 they came to Southern Califor-

nia, arriving in San Bernardino about the first

of July. Mr. Rabel bought forty acres adjoin-

ing Rabel Springs, of Messrs. Rich & Hanks,

the Mormon leaders, who had purchased the

Lugo Ranch, erected a house on it and occu-

pied it with his family that same year, they

being the first to settle in that neighborhood.

A year or two later he bought the eighty acres

on which the springs are situated, from Mr.



HISTORY OF SAN BERNARDINO COUNTY.

Copewood, and devoted the remainder of his

active Fife to fanning and stock-raising. About

1870 Mr. Rabel purchased 888 acres of land

in the San Jacinto valley, for a stock range,

and the family lived on it for a year and a half,

then returned to Rabel Springs. He bought

106 acres three miles from the city of Santa

Ana, and two years later he removed the fam-

ily upon it and they resided there some eight

or ten years, he buying some more land in that

vicinity in the meantime. This homestead Mr.

Rabel improved from a wild state, converting it

into a fine farm. At the suggestion of an East-

ern physician who had received great benefit

from the use of the water, Mr. Rabel began to

improve Rabel Springs, erecting the first bath-

houses in 1882. The following year he built a

two-story hotel of eleven rooms at the Springs,

and he and his family occupied and conducted

it as a public house for the entertainment of

persons visiting and wishing to retriain for a

time at the springs, until a short time before

his death. Early in the eighties he made a visit

to his old home in Illinois, and while there had

a severe spell of sickness, from the effects of

which he never fully recovered, and in the spring

of 1885 he became so ill that Mrs. Rabel took

him to Los Angeles, where the best medical

skill was employed; but he gradually failed, and

on the 8th of July, 1885, he passed away, sin-

cerely mourned by the community of which he

had so long been a highly respected citizen-

Mr. Rabel was a man of unquestioned honor

and integrity of character, and noted for his

generosity and kindness of heart. The widow

and six of their seven children survived hiin,

one of whom has since died. Their youngest

child, a son, had previously been killed by the

kick of a mule. The five living children are

all married and settled in this part of California.

The names in the order of their ages are as fol-

lows: .Mary M., now Mrs. Webster; Emily

R., Mrs. Carter; Isabella A., Mrs. T. J. Wil-

son; Frederick H., Timothy D., deceased,

Hiram D., and S. J., deceased.

Mr. and Mrs. Rabel, by industry and econ-

omy, had accumulated a valuable estate. Be-

sides assisting the children to start in life, the

widow has several pieces of very valuable prop-

erty, including two farms in the new county of

Orange, near Santa Ana, one of eighty-nine acres,

and the other 106 acres, and also the Rabel

Springs property, 100 acres. These springs are

situated at the terminus of the motor railroad,

about five miles north of east from San Ber-

nardino, and are a remarkable series of large

springs of warm and cold water in close prox-

imity—in the space of a few square yards—dis-

charging a volume of water sufficient to form a

good-sized creek or arroyo as clear as crystal,

and, as the chemical analysis shows, holding in

solution, magnesia, iron and other mineral and
medicinal salts in such proportions as to render

the water very valuable as a remedial agent for

bathing and other uses in a great many diseases

both chronic and acute. The temperature of

the waters as they boil up from the surface of

the earth ranges from about 55° to 120° Fah-

renheit, and in such quantity as to be prac-

tically inexhaustible. A year or two after Mr.
Rabel's death, the hotel was destroyed by fire,

but Mrs. Rabel has erected a large wooden
building, which is used for a dancing, amuse-

ment and refreshment hall, and besides a large

swimming pool there are a number of bath

houses into which flow both hot and cold water,

and which are furnished with apparatus for tub,

shower and mud baths, the temperature of

which can be regulated to suit the desire of the

bather. The country and scenery about the

springs is almost matchless in beauty; the soil

very fertile and productive, with the pure

mountain air descending from snow-covered,

cloud-kissed peaks on the north and east, and

the ocean breezes, fragrant with briny breath

from the west, render the climate well nigh

ideal in perfection—the invalid's sanitarium.

With the additional investment of a few thou-

sand dollars in buildings and other improve-

ments, Rabel Springs may become one of the

most attractive and best sanitary resorts on the

continent. Mrs. Rabel is desirous of disposing
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of the property to some person or persons who

will develop its possibilities. She resides in her

comfortable cottage home in San Bernardino.

fUDLEY R. DICKEY, M. D., is a Cali-

fornia pioneer of 1850, and the longest in

the medical practice of all physicians in

San Bernardino Comity. He is a Buckeye by

nativity, born in Washington County, Ohio,

January 11, 1829. His paternal grandtather,

who had been a soldier in the Revolutionary

war, settled in Athens County in that State

soon alter +he birth of our republic, and there

the Doctor's father, Thomas Dickey, was born.

He moved from Washington County and settled

in Fairfield, Jefferson County, Iowa, in 1836,

when that State was a part of Wisconsin Terri-

tory. Dr. Dickey was educated in the schools of

Iowa; studied medicine and graduated from Mc-

Dowell Medical College, University ot Missouri,

in 1849. His father having come to California

the previous year, the Doctor started from Fair-

field in the spring of 1850 to cross the plains,

and arrived at Hangtown in July of that year.

From there he went to Oskaloosa bar, on the

middle fork of the American river, where he

joined his father in some mining interests. In

the spring of 1851, he went to Rough and

Ready mine near Shasta City; that summer he

went to Monterey, and in the fall came down

to Los Angeles, reaching there in October,

1851. He settled in El Monte and there di-

vided his time between the practice of his pro-

fession and farming until October, 1855, when

he located in San Bernardino, which has been

his home ever since. The first two years of

his practice here was largely among the Mor-

mon settlers, a majority of whom returned to

Salt Lake in 1857 in obedience to a summons

from Brigham Young. Since settling in San

Bernardino Dr. Dickey has alternated the prac-

tice of medicine with other lines of business.

He has considerable land interests; owns a

ranch three and a half miles east of the city on

City creek, and owns a half interest in what is

known as the Harrison ranch, of 113 acres,

about six miles north of the city and a mile

from Arrow-head springs. This place is in

the warm or thermal belt, and is admirably

adapted to the cultivation of semi-tropic and

small fruits. Bananas flourish and bear with-

out extra attention, and the Doctor and Mr.

Harrison are trying the experiment of growing

pineapples, with promise of success. A portion

of the place is being cultivated to strawberries,

and ripe fruit is picked from the vines every

month of the year. Mr. Harrison reports that

there has been but one killing frost there in

twelve years.

During the war of the Rebellion Dr. Dickey

was an ultra Union man, and to his shrewd tac-

tics and timely action more than any other man's,

perhaps, was due the averting of a bloody civil

war on the Pacific coast, by exposing and

thwarting the plot laid by the Knights of the

Golden Circle for precipitating an outbreak on

the 9th of May, 1862, the avowed purpose of

which was to rob and pillage all Union men and

turn over the property to the authorities of the

Sonthern Confederacy. Dr. Dickey and a few

loyal men who possessed the courage of their

convictions averted this calamity by a timely

effort and at considerable expense, especially in

the Doctor'6 case, as the expose cost him be-

tween $400 and $500. His radical loyal senti-

ments and active interest in behalf of the Union

cause came near costing him his life, as a des-

perado named Henry watched his house six

nights for the purpose of assassinating him.

This Dr. Dickey learned afterward from a

friend of Henry, who advised the latter to de-

sist from committing the bloody deed. Henry

was afterward killed while resisting his arrest

by the sheriff for some crime of which lie had

been guilty. During the early part of the war

of the Rebellion Dr. Dickey was employed by

contract as assistant surgeon for the troops sent

down to San Bernardino to avert the threatened

outbreak. He was relieved by the arrival of

Dr. Prentis, the regular army surgeon.
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Dr. Dickey married Miss Crandall in El

Monte in 1854. Her father, J. W. Crandall,

cune to California and settled in San Diego in

1851. Four children, three sons and a daugh-

ter, comprise the Doctor's and Mrs. Dickey's

family. Their eldest son, Dr. Clarence Dickey,

is a practicing physician in company with his

father, having been graduated M. D. from

Jefferson Medical College, Philadelphia, Penn-

sylvania, in 1886. He is now filling the office

of county physician. The subject of this

sketch expects to retire from active practice

the coming year and take life easier. He is a

fancier of tine horses, and owns a number of

promising thoroughbred colts. In 1887 Dr.

Dickey built the elegant brick residence the

family occupies on Fifth street between B and C
streets. It is one of the finest dwellings in

San Bernardino.

^€Sk¥

fOHN ABERDEIN established his resi-

dence in Riverside in 1880, and in 1881

purchased the block between Fifth and

Sixth and Lime and Lemon streets. His block

contained two and one-half acres, and was devoid

of any horticultural or building improvements.

Mr. Aberdein immediately commenced the

planting of citrus and deciduous fruit trees and

the erection of his residence, and has now one of

the representative homes of Riverside. His

orange grove contains the choicest varieties of

budded fruits, Washington Navels, Mediterra-

nean Sweets and Malta Bloods. He also has a

variety of deciduous fruits for family use. A
well-arranged two-story residence and suitable

out-buildings, surrounded by ornamental trees

and beautiful flowering plants, render his home
one of the most pleasant and attractive charac-

ter. Mr. Aberdein is a native of Scotland, born

near Aberdeen, in 1821. His parents were

John and Mary (Leighton) Aberdein, natives of

Scotland. His father was a farmer by occupa-

tion and reared his son to that calling, giving

him the advantage of a good education in the

public schools. Mr. Aberdein also devoted

considerable attention to landscape gardening.

In 1853 he decided to try his fortunes in the

new world and emigrated to the United States,

locating in Knox County, Illinois, where he was

engaged as a book-keeper and clerk in a mer-

cantile business until 1861. In that year he

responded to the call of his adopted country

and entered the military service as a private in

Company C, Forty-second Illinois Volunteer

Infantry, under the command of Captain Wal-

worth, Colonel Webb commanding the regiment.

Mr. Aberdein's good conduct and soldierly

qualities gained him promotion to the non-

commissioned staff, and he was made a Sergeant.

He participated in many of the hard-fought

battles of the West, among them the battles of

Corinth, Island No. 10, Nashville and Stone

river. In the latter engagement he was se-

verely wounded, being struck no less than four

times. His wounds were of a serious character

and disabled him for further service, and in the

spring of 1863 he was honorably discharged.

He then returned to Knox County and was

employed in the drug business until 1864. In

that year he was elected clerk of the Circuit

Court of Knox County, and held that important

office for four years. He then engaged in mer-

cantile pursuits until he came to California in

1880.

He has belonged to the Republican party

ever since he cast his first vote in this country.

He is a member of Riverside Post, No. 118,

G. A. R. In 1868 Mr. Abirhin wa unite! in

marriage with Miss Candace M. Johnson, a

native of Ohio. Of their four children only

two are living, viz.: Blanche and Genevieve.

-i ' i'g-3"

tSHMAN P. COMBS is one of the well-

known business men of Riverside. He is

in the real-estate and insurance business,

and has one of the best established agencies in

Riverside, representing some of the strongest

insurance companies issuing policies on the Pa-
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cific coast. Mr. Combs came to Riverside in

1S76 find was first employed among the orange

groves as a horticulturist in prunirg, etc. In

1877 he started a nursery business on Mulberry

street between Seventh and Eighth streets. The

next year he purchased a two and one-half acre

block between Vine and Mulberry, and First

and Second streets, and in the same year erected

a cottage and planted his land to oranges. Mr.

Combs has, since his arrival, been engaged in

horticultural pursuits, in addition to his other

business enterprises, and has been one of the

most successful orange growers in the colony.

His two and one-half acres between Mulberry

and Lime and Thirteenth and Fourteenth stieets

is in budded orange trees, of "Washington Navel

and Mediterranean Sweet varieties. As illus-

trating uhat may be done in the orange culture

in Riverside under intelligent care and cultiva-

tion, it is worthy to note that in 1887 these

two and one-half acres gave a yield that sold for

$1,800, an average of over $700 per acre. The

trees at that time were nine or ten years old.

Mr. Combs is a native of Canada and dates

his birth in "Wentworth county, in 1829. His

father, John Combs, was a native of Pennsyl-

vania; his mother, Sarah (Cowell) Combs, was

alto from that State, and both were descended

Itobi old Cob nial families. Mr. Combs was

reared to farm life, receiving such an education

as could be obtained in the public schools. At

the age of eighteen years he learned the carpen-

ter's trade, and when he reached his majority

he engaged as a carpenter and builder and a

farmer until 1871. In that year he entered

into mercantile pursuits in Hamilton, Went-

worth County, and conducted the same until he

came to California in 1876. Mr. Combs is an

enterprising and progressive citizen, and has

always been a strong supporter of the public

enterprises that have built up the city of River-

side. He was one of the incorporators of the

Riverside and Arlington Railway. In his real-

estate dealings he has done much to attract a

desirable class of settlers to the colony. He is

a consistent member of the Methodist Church

and a steward in the society. Politically he is

a Republican, but is a firm supporter of the

Prohibition movement and has served as a del-

egate to the conventions of that party. He is

a notary public, having been appointed to the

office in April, 1889. He has a large circle of

warm friends in Riverside, as well as in the

county. In 1856 he was united in marriage to

Miss Susan J. Inglehart, a native of the county

in which Mr. Combs was born.

#*3s^—

~

fHARLES C. WAINWRIGHT, M D.,

Coroner of San Bernardino County and

City Health Officer, was born in Ohio, in

1851, and educated in Cincinnati. He came

to California first in 1870, and spent about

three years in teaching school, after which he

went back East and completed his course in

medicine, graduating at Cincinnati Medical

College, May 9, 1876. He returned to Califor-

nia the same year and has practiced his profession

in the State ever since. He settled in San

Bernardino in 1882, and in 1884 was elected

coroner on the Republican ticket; was re-elected

in 1886, and again in 1888—a most satisfactory

indorsement of his efficiency as a public officer.

During the five years of his official service

as coroner, Dr. "Wainwright has held inquests

over a number of notable cases, of which the

most celebrated and sensational, perhaps, ever

occurring in San Bernardino, was that of Katie

Handorff Springer, a bride of one week, who

was murdered in a hotel at Colton in January,

1887, by her husband. Springer first struck

her in the eye with a hammer, and then cut her

throat with a pocket-knife! Subsequent inves-

tigation developed the fact that he had purchased

the hammer at a hardware store in Los Angeles,

and had sawed off the handle, so he could carry

it unobserved in his short-overcoat pocket. He
was a saloonkeeper in Lodi, California. Miss

Handorff was an estimable young lady, highly

respected in the community where she resided.

They had been married a week and from out-
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ward indications seemed happy. They eatne

down from San Francisco by the way of San

Pedro and Los Angeles to Colton the day be ore

the homicide occurred. After killing his wife

he placed some articles of her wearing apparel

in the middle of the room and attempted to set

the building on fire, but failed for some cause.

He left the hotel at eleven o'clock that night

and visited a Chinese place, where he washed

and combed his hair, using a hand glass to

arrange his toilet. He was seen and identified

next mornii.g at the Santa Fe depot about

four o'clock, after which no further trace

or clue could be obtained of him. The

details of the horrible crime were pub-

lished throughout the country; large rewards

were offered for his apprehension and arrest and

a very vigilant search was made, but every

effort proved futile, though several persons were

arrested in various parts of the country, but all

turned out to be cases of mistaken identity.

Thus the case remained wrapped in unfathom-

able mystery. On the day President Harrison

was elected, in November, 1888, Coroner Wain-

wright was notified that the remains of a dead

man had been found in a canon on Little mount-

ain, about two miles north of San Bernardino,

by two citizens while out hunting. The next

day Dr. Wainwright summoned a jury and the

necessary assistants, and proceeding to the

place found the remains as reported. The

body had wasted away, but the clothing was

intact and well preserved. A pistol lay by the

side of the skeleton, the rings worn on his

fingers were unmolested, as was the watch he

carried, and the hand glass. With much labor

and care the history of these articles was traced

one by one, the clothing was identified and

other facts developed, resulting in the positive

identification of the dead man as the wife-slayer

Springer, who had committed suicide by shoot-

ing himself through the brain in that lonely and

unfrequented canon twenty-two months before.

In addition to his official duties and a pros-

perous private medical practice, Dr. Wain-

wright has devoted considerable attention to

mining matters; owns an interest in mines at

Twenty-nine Palms, and also has a fourth

interest in a gold mine of high-grade ore in

Santa Clara County, California.

He married Miss Galleron, a native of Cali-

fornia, of French parentage. They reside in

their pretty home on the corner of Seventh and

D streets.

fRANK HINCKLEY, one of the most suc-

cessful horticulturists in San Bernardino

valley, is a native of Rhode Island. His

father, E. B. Hinckley, was an architect and

builder. He early came to California, where lie

died in 1880. The subject of this sketch was

graduated at the Polytechnic Institute at Troy,

New York, in civil engineering, and almost

immediately after came to California. His first

work as a civil engineer was on the fortifications

in San Francisco. He next worked on the

Northern Pacific Railroad. He followed engi-

neering for a period of ten years, and has since

given his attention to farming and fruit cult-

ure, having been thus engaged in Alameda,

Santa Clara and Monterey counties. Six years

ago he purchased sixty acres where he now
liver. He has one of the finest residences in

the valley, and no finer fruit orchard can be

found in Southern California.

The following statement was made by Mr.

Hinckley to the Board of Trade of San Bernard-

ino County: "My seedling orchard, ten year6

old, yielded an average of three and one-third

boxes to the tree, from which I realized $1.75

per box, net, on the tree the season just past.

My budded trees, five years old, yielded two

boxes to the tree, and sold for $2.50 and $3.00

per box on the tree, net. I have three seedling

trees, twenty years old, which yielded between

9,000 and 10,000 oranges, and brought $1.75

per box on the tree, net."

Frank Hinckley is well and favorably known

all over San Bernardino County, and stands at

the head in fruit culture. Every one riding
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from San Bernardino to Redlands on the motor

road, which passes his premises, remarks:

" What a nice residence and tine orchards and

grounds!" If they should have occasion to stop

off for a brief hour or two they would be most

hospitably and agreeably entertained by Mr.

Hinckley and his excellent wife.

He was married in 1870 to Miss Sarah C.

Meek, daughter of William Meek, who crossed

the plains in 1846 and brought the first grafted

trees that were ever brought to the coast. He
watered them on the way across the plains, and

thus kept them alive during the long journey.

It is said that he owns the finest fruit ranch in

the State of California, located in Alameda

County. Mr. and Mrs. Hinckley have a large

family, ten children in all. The oldest one is

attending college at Berkeley. Socially Mr.

Hinckley is a member of the Masonic fraternity

and affiliates with the lodge in San Francisco.

As a citizen no man in the county stands higher

than Mr. Hinckley, and it is saying only what

is just and right that he has honored the avoca-

tion he has chosen.

iATTHEW GAGE.—Perhaps no part of

the United States, or the world, abounds

in men of larger mental grasp, more

daring enterprise and greater executive ability

than does Southern California; men who pos-

sess the genius to conceive and the courage to

undertake and carry forward to completion gi-

gantic schemes which advance the welfare of

whole communities and are so far-reaching in

their effects that their benefits cannot be com-

puted. Among the first of this class of public

benefactors ranks Matthew Gage, the founder

and constructor of the great irrigating canal and

water system which bears his name. Born in

Ireland forty-six years ago his last birthday, he

immigrated to America in his boyhood, and re-

sided for many years in Canada, where lie at-

tended school and learned the trade of making

watches and jewelry, which he pursued while

there and after coming to the United Slates up

to the past few years. Mr. Gage came to Riv-

erside, San Bernardino County, in March, 1881,

and during that year took up a section of land

under the desert-land act, on the plain above

the canals of the Riverside colony and eastward

from the settlement. All the visible water

supply having been previously appropriated, he

began to cast about to obtain a sufficiency of

this liquid monarch to enable him to improve

his arid land, which was considered valueless

without it. He gave much thought and time

to the subject of developing water from some

unknown source, not only for his own tract, but

for the thousands of fertile but barren acres

lying about it. He first bought some old water-

rights in the Santa Aua river; then, conceiving

the idea of developing a sufficient flow of water

for irrigating on an extensive scale by means of

artesian welh, he purchased a large tract of bot-

tom land along that stream, about two miles

southeast of the city of San Bernardino, and

began sinking wells. Although practically

without moneyed capital, he also commenced in

1882 the construction of the great canal, the

cost of which would eventually reach hundreds

of thousands of dollars. Hence Mr. Gage was

compelled, through his own personal efforts, to

create the values which enabled him to carry

forward his great work as it progressed step by

step. The task was herculean. Obstacles nu-

merous and varied were met and overcome which

would have discouraged and crushed men of

less persistent energy and fertility of resource.

Not the least of the difficulties he had to con-

tend with was the determined opposition of

jealous, narrow-minded people, who were unable

to comprehend the magnitude of the importance

of his grand enterprise. The first section of

twelve miles of the canal were completed in

little more than a year. Despite all impedi-

ments the work of construction advanced to

completion without the sale of a dollar of stock

or an acre of land. The canal is twenty-two

miles in length and includes sixteen tunnels,

besides aqueducts and flumes, which are built
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with a capacity to carry 4,500 miner's inches of

water. The cost of the work up to date—April,

1890—is $1,400,000. The Gage water sys-

tem covers 12,000 acres of choice citrus fruit

lands, which prior to the inauguration of his

enterprise was a drug at $1.25 per acre, but

which is now selling, with water right, for $300

to $500 an acre unimproved. Water rights

have been sold for about 4,000 acres of this

land, 3,000 acres of which have been planted to

oranges and lemons. With a view to interest

moneyed men and secure the investment of capi-

tal in still further carrying out his ideal, Mr.

Gage twice visited Europe during the past two

years, and succeeded in associating with himself

a number of wealthy Englishmen in a company

known as the Riverside Trust Company, of

London, incorporated under the laws of Great

Britain, for the purpose of the further develop-

ment of the property connected with and belong

ing to the Gage caual and land system, which is

now worth several millions of dollars. This com-

pany is composed of some of the most prominent

people financially and socially in Great Britain.

Mr. Gage is managing director of the company

and has the entire active charge of its business,

ably assisted by his brother, Robert Gage, as

general superintendent, and his brother-in-law,

William Irving, as chief engineer. The com-

pany, which has its working office in Riverside,

and its financial office in London, is investing a

large sum of money in enlarging the water sup-

ply and putting in a system of steel distributing

pipes costing $75,000 to $100,000, which con-

vey it to every ten-acre tract of their land,

known as Arlington Hights, together with the

constuction of streets and avenues, and other

extensive improvements of an ornamental and

useful character. They are building one main

avenue, which has been named in honor of

England's reigning sovereign- -Victoria. This

magnificent street is to connect with Magnolia

avenue, and will be about twelve miles in length,

and when finished according to design will be

one of the most elegant rural drives in the

world. Mr. Gage has had opportunity to dis-

pose of his property and retire with an ample

fortune, but declined, preferring to place it in

its present shape, and devote his talent and

energies for years to come to the perfecting and

expansion of his grand ideal. Besides his large

interests in the company, of which he is the

directing head, he owns thirty acres of bearing

orange grove in Riverside, where he and his

family reside. Mr. Gage married Miss Jane
Gibson in Canada, the land of her birth. Their

family consists of seven living children. Though
but just at the meridian of life, Mr. Gage has

accomplished alone and unaided a work which
for magnitude of achievement and beneficent

results to society, is equaled by the life-work of

but few men ; and he deserves to live many years

to contemplate with satisfaction his struggles

and enjoy his triumph.

fOSEPH HANCOCK, a rancher near San

Bernardino, was born near Cleveland, Ohio,

in 1822, and is the son of Solomon and

Alta (Adams) Hancock, natives of Massachu-

setts and Vermont respectively. His father

was born in 1793, and his mother in 1795, and

were of English descent. The great-grandfather

of the subject of this sketch was one of the

signers of the Declaration of Independence.

His paternal great-grandmother was the daugh-

ter of General Ward. Solomon Hancock was a

frontiersman in the " Buckeye State," a farmer,

but in his early days tpent much time in hunt-

ing deer and wild turkey, with which the country

abounded. His father, Thomas Hancock, en-

tered the Revolutionary war at the age of four-

teen years. When the subject of this sketch

was a lad of ten years his father moved to Clay

County, Missouri, where he lived for three years.

There they had some pretty " tough times."

Mr. Hancock gave his shoes to another b)y

while he rode on the back of an ox to get along.

This was in 1833. Four years later his father

moved with his family to Adams County, Illi-

nois, where he lived for three years, and then
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moved to Hancock County. Illinois, and re-

mained there nine years. In 1846 he left Illi-

nois for Council Bluffs, Iowa, where he lived

until 1851, when he set out for the Utah country.

While crossing the Missouri, Mr. Hancock

and his wife and two children narrowly escaped

drowning. He had just been assisting to " ferry

across" several familes successfully, but in

crossing this time a large tree came floating

down stream. Captain Day insisted on trying

to pass before the tree should arrive; but Mr.

Hancock negatively shook his head and inti-

mated to him that they had better slacken and

let the tree pass first. The Captain called,

" Row ahead !
" Of course the boatmen obeyed,

and the consequence was the tree caught the

boat in the middle, and in spite of all the row-

ing it pushed them down stream a half or three-

quarters of a mile. In the meantime some of

the men had got out of the boat, mounted the

floating tree and chopped some branches loose

just as they had neared a large whirlpool. On

the bank some 150 men, women and children,

came running with ropes, expecting every mo-

ment that those in the river would be pushed

into the whirlpool and drowned; but the party

freed themselves from the tree barely in time to

6ave their lives. On approaching the shore, a

rope was thrown to them, by the aid of which,

and by rowing, they succeeded in reaching the

proper landing. Mrs. Hancock got out of the

wagon with both her children in her arms, ex-

pecting they would be drowned in the whirlpool.

The dog jumped into the wagon and whined and

howled, realizing the danger as clearly as any

person.

In the spring of 1854, when coming from

Utah to California, Mr. Hancock lay sick with

the chills and fever in his wagon. The oxen

were exhausted for want of water. They were

crossing the desert between Salt Lake and Bit-

ter Springs. Some wagons in the train had not

a drop of water. Mr. and Mrs. Hancock had a

very small quantity, and Mr. Hancock lay in

the wagon with a burning fever, while his wife

walked and drove the oxen. An old friend, Mr.

Thorn, came to the wagon and asked, " Mrs.

Hancock, can you spare me a little water? my
children have been crying for water for hours,

and we have not a drop, and God only knows

when we will reach it." She replied. " Mr.

Thorn, we have just one pint of water left, and

Mr. Hancock has a burning fever, but refuses

to drink; he says we must keep it for our three

little ones; but I will divide with yon." She

did; and he mentioned it very often after they

reached San Bernardino, where water was plen-

tiful. Mr. and Mrs. Hancock found their dog

by the roadside dead for want of water; she

found her sister and another girl lying under a

bush almost choked for want of water. Her

brother Samuel, who was afterward killed in

the mountains of San Bernardino by a bear, left

the train in search of water, but before he re-

turned to them a shower of rain fell, and every

available thing that would hold water was put

out to catch the drops; but it was a very light

shower. When Samuel came and passed along

to each wagon, he gave them a drink, and told

them that water as not far distant; and they

were all consequently overjoyed. They reached

the Bitter Springs after dark.

The Indians were very troublesome in the

desert; and after the party reached San Bernard-

ino, Mrs. Hancock's youngest brother, Nephi,

with two other men, were killed by Indians in

the mountains of the Mojave. Her brother

Samuel used to take his gun and visit the place

very often. On his last visit there he was killed

by a bear within a half mile of the place where

his brother met his death! It is difficult for

Eastern people to realize the sufferings expe-

rienced by the pioneers in settling California.

In crossing the plains the party had much

trouble also in crossing the Platte and Elkhorn

rivers. They made grass bridges for the more

shallow streams, and in many instances the

men made bridges by locking their hands to-

gether and carrying the women across. Buffalo

were plentiful, but the Indians gave them con-

siderable trouble. One man was lost for several

days, which gave the rest greater anxiety. They
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finally reached the Salt Lake country, where they

tarried two and one-half years. They were seven

months on the way from Council Bluffs to Salt

Lake. In 1854 they started for California and

were four months on the way. The first land

bought by Mr. Hancock in San Bernardino

County was five acres, and they camped for a

time just southwest of the city, on Mount Ver-

non avenue. He then purchased fifty- six acres

of unimproved land just south of Base Line, on

which he has put out a fine orchard, built a neat

residence and good farm buildings, and has lived

there ever since.

Before leaving Hancock County, Illinois, he

was married to Harriet Brook, daughter of Sam-

uel Brook, of Pennsylvania. His wife died at-

Council Bluffs in 1847, and in the fall of 1848

Mr. Hancock married Mi6s Nancy Bemis,

daughter of Alvin Bemis, by whom he has seven

children : Alvin B., who married Elizabeth Nish

;

Elenorah, now Mrs. George Miller; Solomon,

who married Eudora Hainmack; Jerusha, now
Mrs. Charles Tyler; Lucina, wife of George

Lord, Jr.; Foster, who married Kate Mapstead,

and Joseph, yet at home with his parents. Since

he has been identified with this county, Mr.

Hancock has been eminently successful and has

made a pleasant home. He is ever mindful of

the past, its hardships and adventures. He has

in his possession the board they used as a table

from Council Bluffs to Salt Lake, and from the

latter place to California. He has the tires of

a wayon which brought them across the plains,

"also a hub of the same wagon. His wile burned

another hub of this wagon to make a cup of tea

for a sister who was visiting them a year or two

ago. Another relic of interest is a powder horn

used in the war of 1812, and an old rifle. On the

fourth of July and other days of demonstrations

and parades, Mr. Hancock creates quite a lively

interest with his covered wagon representing pio-

neer days, with the old tires tied on the side,

and with the hub and the old log chain used for

a lock, etc. Any one who enjoys listening to

incidents of early days can be royally entertained

bv Mr. Hancock and his faithful wife, who has

been a noble, brave and loving sharer with him
in his life-work.

—#^«»-^-
§ON. JOHN LLOYD CAMPBELL, Judge

of the Superior Court in and for San Ber-

nardino County, was born in Equality,

Gallatin County, Illinois, in 1855. His father,

Hon. John Lewis Campbell, was connected with

the banking business in Shawneetown, and with

iron and salt manufacture in Southern Illinois

for many years. In 1857 he moved to Sioux

City, Iowa, and was there elected County Judge.

When the war of the Rebellion broke out, he

moved back to Illinois and enlisted in the Third

Illinois Cavalry, of which he was made Major.

In 1863, while placing his pickets near Jack-

son, Mississippi, he was shot in the side, shoul-

der and face by a squad of Confederate soldiers

and supposed to be fatally wounded; but, by

the exercise of his extraordinary will aided by

great tenacity of life, he partially recovered and

lived until 1875, though always suffering from

the effects of his wounds, which finally induced

the paralysis which terminated his life. After

the war he was appointed Postmaster at Olney,

Illinois, by President Lincoln, which office he

held until his death, in 1875.

After graduating from the high school of his

native State the subject of this memoir entered

Hanover College, Indiana, but was called home
at the end of his first college year by the death

of his father, and did not return. He attended

Columbia College Law School, New York, and

was graduated therefrom in the spring of 1878.

Coming to California, he settled in San Ber-

nardino in 1879, and entered into a law part-

nership with Colonel A. B. Paris, which was

terminated at the end of the year by Mr. Camp-

bell's returning to the East. He located in St.

Paul, Minnesota, where he practiced his profes-

sion three years. In 1883 he came back to San

Bernardino at the request of Judge J. A. Gib-

son and formed a partnership with that gentle-

man. In 1884 Mr. Campbell was candidate on
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the Republican ticket for District Attorney, and

his law partner ran for Superior Judge, both

being elected. During his term of office the

law allowed him an assistant, but he did the

work alone with the exception of occasional as-

sistance; and the last year—1886—tried thirty-

two felony cases, convicting thirty of them.

He was renominated for the office on the first

ballot, receiving 132 out of 140 votes in the

convention, but was defeated at the election by

Colonel Paris, his first law partner, that being

a year of general Democratic success in the

county. Continuing practice alone until the

fall of 1888, Judge Campbell was then nomi-

nated and elected Superior Judge for the term

of six years, and took his seat on the bench

January 7, 1889, being thirty-three years of age

and one of the youngest judges in the State.

On May 17, 1888, Judge Campbell married

Miss Hattie Muscott, daughter of one of the

leading horticulturists of the Mount Vernon

district. She is a native of Iowa and has lived

on the Pacific coast seven years. Judge and

Mrs. Campbell, together with his aged mother,

reside in their pretty home at Urbita, just out-

side the city limits, which he purchased at the

cost of $8,000. The Judge is much in love

with the country and climate of Southern Coli-

fornia, and is thoroughly loyal to the State of

his adoption.

„ ,
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fAMES E. MACK, Public Administrator of

San Bernardino County, was born in Bos-

ton, Massachusetts, in November, 1848,

and resided there until twelve years of age. At

the breaking out of the war in 1861 he enlisted

in the Fourteenth Massachusetts Infantry, serv-

ing ninety days as drummer boy. On the ex-

piration of his term he re-enlisted in the Twen-

ty-seventh Massachusetts Infantry for three

years, but his mother prevented him being mus-

tered in. In the fervor of his youthful patriot-

ism he determined to try again, and enlisted in

the United States Naval Marine Corps, but was

again prevented from entering the service by

maternal interference. In March, 1865, he

entered Mount Pleasant Institute at Amherst,

Massachusetts; in September, 1867, he entered

Trinity College, Hartford, Connecticut, remain-

ing two years, when he left school and started

out to engage in the battle of life. Possessing

an innate love of travel, Mr. Mack gratified his

desire to rove by visiting many of the principal

places in the New England, Middle and West-

ern States, during which time he was employed

at various vocations, and learned three different

trades, namely: shirt-cutting, butter-tub mak-

ing, and making ladies' hats and bonnet frames.

He could apply himself with equal facility to

"either of these trades, and when in a section of

the country where neither availed him he turned

his attention to farming or some other business

with true Yankee ingenuity.

In 1875 he came to California and for a time

worked in a saw-mill in El Dorado County,

then went to San Francisco, but, not being able

to obtain employment at his trade, went to Ari-

zona in February, 1876. Was engaged for a

time in the restaurant business at Yuma, then

taught Government school at Camp McDowell,

then came to San Bernardino in January, 1877.

He first engaged in farming here, then spent a

year in the mines. In 1881-'82 he carrried on

a general store in El Dorado canon, Nevada;

upon returning to San Bernardino County, he

was foreman of the Colton Cannery for one

year and then accepted the position of Assistant

Postmaster in the postoffice, which position he

filled three years, when, failing in health from

excessive work and close confinement, he was

compelled to resign. In the fall of 1885, Mr.

Mack laid off and founded the town of Perris,

five miles below the San Bernardino County line

in San Diego County, on the California South-

ern Railroad. He built a depot and dug a well,

and the railroad company put in a side-track

and a water tank, moving them from Pinicate,

a mile and a half below. Mr. Mack named the

new town in honor of Mr. Fred T. Perris, the

chief engineer of the Santa Fe Railway system
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in California; and that portion of the San Ja-

cinto plains in the vicinity took the name of the

town and is known as Perris Valley. The town

consisted of 160 acres, to which two additions

have since been made. There are now 160

voters in that district. Mr. Mack disponed of

all his town lots, but he and his partner, T. H.

Paler, have considerable laud interersts in Per-

ris valley.

In July, 1887, Mr. Mack in company with

others incorporated the Citrus Water Works,

who own 7,000 acres of choice land in the val-

ley of the Gila river, near Gila Bend in Mari-

copa County, Arizona. They have constructed

a canal over nineteen miles in length, with a

capacity of 20,000 inches of water with which

to irrigate their tract. An actual test shows

the land to be well adapted to the production of

raisin grapes and deciduous fruits. Mr. Mack
was one of the projectors of the Mentone and

Great Bear valley toll road, which, when com-

pleted, will be an improvement of immense

value to San Bernardino County, as Bear valley

is destined to become one of the greatest sum-

mer resorts on the Pacific coast, when it is

rendered accessible by a good wagon road. Six

stockholders comprise the company, of which

Mr. Mack is president and his partner, Mr. Pal-

mer, is secretary. It is estimated that from

$12,000 to $14,000, of which several thousand

is already paid in, will complete the road. Con-

siderable work has been done on this end of the

road, and the project only awaits sufficient capi-

tal to be pushed to completion.

Mr. Mack is a pronounced Republican and a

zealous worker in behalf of the party, but has

preferred to see his friends, rather than himself,

elected to office. But at the urgent request of

the local party leaders, he became a candidate

for the office of Public Administrator; in the

fall of 1888 he was nominated by 103 of the 120

votes in the convention, and was elected by 625

majority to the office in which he is now serv-

ing with great efficiency. He takes an active

interest in military matters; is special aid-de-

camp to the department commander of the

G. A. R., and Commander of the W. R. Corn-

man Post of San Bernardino, and is First Lieu-

tenant and Quartermaster of the Ninth Regi-

ment National Guard of California. He is a

member of the Ancient Order of United Work-

men, has passed through all the local official

chairs, and is Grand Lieutenant Commander of

the Select Knights of the order for California.

Mr. Mack was married to Emma L. Sargeant,

a native of Maine, in the city of Boston, in Oc-

tober, 1874. Four children, two boys and two

girls, comprise their family. The youngest son

and daughter, twins, were born February 12,

1889.

Messrs. Mack and Palmer are among the

leading and most active in the general insur-

ance business in this city, representing a num-

ber of strong companies, whose aggregate capi-

tal is $30,000,000.

fOHN CALYIN CHRISTY, one of the

leading members of the San Bernardino

Bar, and Court Commissioner of the

County, was born in Armstrong County, Penn-

sylvania, January 1, 1839. He was educated

in his native State, attending college from 1855

to 1859. Coming west to Illinois, in 1859, he

located in the southern part of the State, known

as Egypt, read law during 1859-'60. and in the

spring of 1861 was admitted to the bar. He
soon afterward entered the army as a member

of Company B, Eighteenth Illinois Volunteer

Infantry, and served nearly four years, two

years of the time as a scout and sharpshooter.

He participated in eleven hard- fought battles.

Then, being mustered out of service, he re-

turned to Pennsylvania, and commenced the

practice of law, having been married December

13, 1864, to Miss Patterson, whose childhood's

home was just eightly rods from his own, and

who had been bis p'aymate and associate from

infancy.

His health being somewhat impaired, Mr.

Christy moved to Washington, Iowa, and a few
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months later to Wooster, Ohio, and practiced

his profession about two years in that place,

then removed to Lincoln, Nebraska, where he

entered into a law partnership with Hon. James

A. Caldwell, an eminent lawyer and a distin-

guished figure in the history of that State. In

October, 1886, Mr. Christy came to California,

and settled in San Bernardino. A few months

after engaging practice here he was appointed

Court Commissioner of San Bernardino County,

which office he still fills with ability. The

function of his office is to hear and decide by

the code such civil cases as require an account-

ing, and are referred to him by the Superior

Courts. He is also authorized to perform all

duties of a notary public. In addition to his

official labors he enjoys a prosperous private

law practice. Notwithstanding the fact that

Mr. Christy was noted in earlier days for his

physical prowess and as an expert in the art of

hunting and fishing, he is an affable and com-

panionable gentleman, and a worthy represent-

ative of the old Quaker stock from which he is

descended. His ancestors were among the early

settlers of Pennsylvania, his father having been

born in Beaver County, in 1800, and died in

Armstrong County, at the ripe age of eighty-

seven. His widow still lives upon the old

homestead.

fOHN J. WHITNEY, proprietor of the

City Planing Mill and lumber yard, and

one of the principal munufacturers in San

Bernardino County, was a native of Elmira,

New York, and was born in 1843. He inher-

ited a talent for mechanics from his father, and

being a contractor and practical builder and the

owner and operator of a large planing mill in

Elmira, afforded him ample means of exercising

and developing his innate tendencies. In 1862,

in his nineteenth year, he enlisted in the army

as a member of the Fifth New York Heavy

Artillery; served till the close of the war, and,

participated in many a hotly contested battle,

and received three slight gunshot wounds.

After returning home he turned his attention

to lumber milling and building, and during the

ten years he conducted it did one of the largest

contracting and building businesses in Elmira.

Late in 1881 he came to California, partly for

his health and partly on account of the superior

business inducements offered him. Reaching

Riverside the last of December, he worked a

few days for wages, then took the contract to

build the large Riverside Pavilion. Subse-

quently he located in San Bernardino and was

connected with W. J. Linville, on D street, in

a planing mill. In July, 1886, he and another

gentleman leased the City Mill, situated on F
6treet between Fourth and Fifth streets. At

the end of a month his partner sold out to Mr.

II. H. Linville, and two weeks later the mill

was destroyed by fire, thus ending the partner-

ship. The mill was rebuilt by W. G. Wright,

and Mr. Whitney leased the job department in

January, 1887, and in July of that year he

bought the property. On April 13, 1889, the

mill was again burned, with a loss of part of

the machinery. Releasing the ground for a

term of years Mr. Whitney rebuilt the mill

and fitted it up with the latest improvements in

machinery for all kinds of house-building work,

and also erected a large store house, which he

keeps well filled with sash and moldings (of

his own manufacture), doors, glass and o.her

building material. He has invested in the

buildings, machinery and manufactured stock

over $8,000. He also opened a lumber yard in

1888 in the rear of the mill between Fourth

and Fifth and F and E streets, in which he car-

ries a general assortment of lumber for house

building. Being a thorough master of every

branch and detail of his business, Mr. Whitney

is enabled to carry it on at the minimum of ex-

pense and to understand and satisfy the wants

of his customers in every case; hence he has a

satisfactory and prosperous business.

He owns a fine homestead of fifteen acres on

the Base Line, north of the city, which is occu-

pied with a bearing vineyard and orchard; also
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liR6 a joint interest in fifty acres of land about

eight miles west of San Bernardino, twenty

acres of which is planted to raisin grapes and

thirty to orange trees. He also owns a 135-

acre tract of land seven miles from the city,

which is to be planted to a raisin vineyard.

Mr. Whitney married Miss Burdick, near El-

mira, New York. They have had eight children'

four of whom are deceased. In October, 1882'

he returned to Elinira and brought his family

here, after having tested California and its cli-

mate six months—a step which he never re-

gretted. Mr. Whitney is a lover of music and

has been a vocal leader in a church choir and

on public occasions in San Bernardino for a

number of years.

«HARLES CAMMILLUS COOLEY is a

Southern Californian by birth, a son of

George and Ellen Cooley, well-known pio-

neers in this county. He was born March 5,

1861. His first real-estate purchase was thirty

acres in Washington district, which he improved

and lives on at present. He is a young and en-

terprising farmer and bids fair to honor himself

and his calling. October 31, 1886, he was mar-

ried to Miss Nettie Crandel, of Warm creek

district, a daughter of Milen Crandel, one of

the first settlers in this county.

"*' • * *'P '
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fEORGE EDMUND OTIS, a leading mem-
ber of the Southern California bar, is a

descendant of one of the oldest New Eng-

land families, his ancestors having emigrated

from . Somersetshire, England, about 1630.

That he springs from a cultured family is evi-

denced in the fact that his paternal great-grand-

father was one of the early graduates of Harvard

University, as far back as 1752, and his father

was a graduate of the same institution ninety

years later. His mother was a direct descend-

ant of Judge Sewall, who is associated in history

with the hanging of the witches in the seven-

teenth century. Mr. Otis was born in 1846, in

the city of Boston, and was educated at the

New England metropolis, graduating at Harvard

University with the degree of LL. B., in 1869,

at the age of twenty two years, notwithstanding

his educational studies had been interrupted by

a term of service in the Union army, which he

entered during the closing year of the war, a

youth of seventeen, as a member of the Sixth

Massachusetts Infantry, and remained until the

end of his period of enlistment. After graduat-

ing, Mr. Otis spent a year and a half perfecting

his law studies in the office of Hon. Richard H.

Dana, Jr., a leader of the Suffolk County bar,

and well known as the author of Dana's Whea-
ton's International Law, and " Two Years Be-

fore the Mast." Upon motion of Mr. Dana,

Mr. Otis was admitted to practice at the Massa-

chusetts bar in 1872. Opening a law office in

the city of Boston, he conducted a successful

legal business in the " Hub" until 1875, when
he decided to cast his lot in the Golden State,

and crossed the continent, landing in San Fran-

cisco. After spending a few weeks looking

over the situation on the Pacific coast, Mr. Otis

commenced the practice of his profession in

California in the city of San Bernardino, and

entered into a copartnership with W. J. Curtis,

which continued about eighteen months, ter-

minating with Mr. Otis' return to San Francisco.

Here he established and maintained a large and

lucrative legal business for seven years. Then,

upon the death of Judge Saterwhite, who had

succeeded him as a law partner with Mr. Curtis,

the latter gentleman requested him to return to

San Bernardino and resume their former busi-

ness relations. Mr. Otis consented to do so,

and removed down in the spring of 1885. The
firm of Curtis & Otis at once assumed a promi-

nent position in the bar of Southern California,

and they have for years been connected on one

side or the other with nearly every important

civil case in the higher courts of San Bernardino

and contiguous counties. Since deciding to

settle permanently in this county, Mr. Otis se-
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lected Eedlands as the future home for himself

and family, and has just completed the erection

of one of the most elegant dwellings in that

charming .young city of orange groves. His

place, appropriately named ' Alderbrook," from

the spreading alders which border the old Mill

creek zanja running through his grounds, em-

braces some forty acres, beautifully laid out and

partially planted to ornamental trees and shrub-

bery, and an orange grove just coining into

bearing.

Besides attending to his extensive law prac-

tice Mr. Otis has found additional scope for the

exercise of his active mind and energies in loyal

and effective labors for the advancement and

growth of the county and city. In 1888 he

built the Otis block on Fourth street, between

D and E streets, one of the finest brick business

blocks in the city of San Bernardino, The same

year he erected the First National Bank block

in Redlands, one of the first, and one of the best

brick buildings erected in that thriving town.

He also built the brick block on State street

known as the Otis building, occupied by the

Motor Railroad offices in Redlands. He organ-

ized the Monte Vista Land and Water Com-

pany, the Redlands Land Company, and the

Terracina Hotel Company. These companies

have extensive holdings of the choice citrus fruit

lands in that popular orange district, on which

they have expended large sums of money for

improvements. Mr. Otis was also one of the

prime movers in organizing and constructing

the San Bernardino and Redlands Motor Road,

and is a director in the company.

In politics he is a pronounced Republican

and a member of the central committee; and

while he has been a zealous supporter of the

party he has never been an aspirant for office.

He is a member of the San Francisco Bar As-

sociation, the San Francisco Harvard Club, and

the California Historical Society, and within

the past year has been elected a member of the

American Bar Association. In his mental com-

position Mr. Otis is a typical son of New En-

gland, possessing that quick perceptive and re-

ceptive intellect, acute reasoning powers and

characteristic energy which have made the

" Yankee " famous the world over. He is a

gentleman of polish and superior scholastic

attainments both in and outside of his profes-

sion. He married Katharine, daughter of Hon.

Alexander Johnson, formerly Chief Justice of

the Court of Appeals of New York, and subse-

quently a Judge on the United States Circuit

Bench in the Empire State.

-^€B-^
SICHARD H. STETSON, Tax Collector of

San Bernardino County, was born in the

suburbsof Boston, Massachusetts, in 1856.

His father, James H. Stetson, was a direct

descendant of Cornet Stetson, who settled on the

place where he was born in 1634. His mother

was Miss Phebe C. Nickerson, great-grand-

daughter of Sir Thomas Nickerson, and

was born and reared at Chatham, on Cape Cod.

Richard enjoyed the educational advantages of

the schools of Boston. On reaching manhood

he came direct to California, locating in San

Bernardino in March, 1877. He was em-

ployed as clerk in the office of a lumber com-

pany^for about three years, and from that time

until he was elected to his present office, was

engaged in the hotel and livery business in part-

nership with his brother-in-law, John A. Cole,

under the firm name of Cole & Stetson. At

one time they owned and conducted three hotels

and two livery stables. The hotels were the

Trans-Continental, at Colton; the Railroad Ho-

tel, at Daggett, and the railroad hotel and eating

house at the Needles. Their livery stables were

in San Bernardino and Colton. They did a

successful and profitable business, netting some-

times $3,300 in four months. On being elected

to the office of Tax Collector in 1886, Mr. Stet-

son sold out his business interests. He re-

ceived the largest number of votes of all can-

didates on the Republican ticket, there being 431

majority. Being renominated in 1888, he was

re-elected by a majority of over 700 votes, the
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largest of all candidates on the ticket save one.

On qualifying for the duties of his office the

bond required and executed was for $120,000.

The tax collections of San Bernardino County

steadily increase, aggregating in the fiscal year

of 1888-'89, $270,323.68, the sum total collected

and turned into the office, as shown by the

books. The total number of assessments in

1889, in the county, is 13,129, the amount col-

lected on same being $326,066.28. During

the busy season from four to eight assistants

are required to discharge the labors of the office.

The records of 1889 fill ten volumes of 200 pages

each.

Mr. Stetson married Miss Cole, a native of

California, and daughter of James A. Cole, an

early settler in this State. They have resided

for nearly six years in Colton, where they have

a fine homestead. Mr. Stetson owns an eighty-

acre tract of choice land in the heart of the dis-

trict of Old San Bernardino.

-~^MH§*-

fAMES STEWART, a prominent citizen

near San Bernardino, was born in Indiana

County, Pennsylvania, in 1837, the young-

est of seven sons of Archie Stewart. He left

his native State at the age of eighteen, for Ne-

braska, where he homesteaded and proved upon
160 acres of Government land, and to this added

eighty acres more. He was in Omaha when
there were but twelve houses in the place. He
sold out his interest in Nebraska and operated

on the plains with headquarters at St. Joe,

Leavenworth, then at Denver, and later at Salt

Lake City, Georgetown, Colorado, and Idaho.

He began as a stage driver and finished as a

paymaster and superintendent of the Northern

Overland Stage Line. Then the projection of

the railroads put an end to stage routes and

he resigned. He then came to California and

staged from Los Angelos to Prescott, Arizona,

and on different lines to the Colorado river.

After this he had charge of a line from Tuc-

son to Tombstone, Arizona, and from Mineral

Park, Arizona, to Pioclie, Nevada, and other

mail routes. He was in the stage business

thirty years, and has seen as much of the real,

practical side of human life, perhaps, as any

other man in Southern California. He can

tell some thrilling incidents of fording streams

and rafting miners across, the burning of sta-

tions by the Indians, and of lives lust by

their savage cruelty.

He was married in 1882, in Arizona, to Miss

E. A. Holbrook, who was born in Boston and

reared in San Francisco. He owns a fine ranch

of 227 acres in Washington district, which he

purchased twenty years ago for $5,000, and is

giving his whole time and attention to raising

and training horses.

^"

fOHN HENRY STEWART, one of the

most prominent citizens of San Bernardino,

was born of Scotch parents in Williams-

town, Massachusetts, April 28, 1823. His

father, Samuel Stewart, removed his family to

Oswego County, New York, when John Henry
was but two years old, and his childhood and

youth were passed there. At an early age he

learned the trade of house carpentering and

joining, which he followed for many years.

Being the oldest in a family of eight children

and his father not enjoying good health, a

large share of the support of the family fell

on his shoulders,—a burden which proved too

heavy for his youthful years; so he came
westward to Illinois, and worked at his trade

in Rockford. In 1846 he returned to New
York State, and was there married to Miss

Charlotte Woodworth, in September of that

year, and returned with his wife to Rockford,

Illinois. In 1850 failing health induced him

to come to California. In 1852 he returned

to Rockford for his family, and on their

arrival they settled at Sntterville, Sacramento

County, where he engaged in the freighting

business, and also worked at his trade, re-

ceiving $16 a day. In 1855 he removed to
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Cloverdale, Sonoma County, bought 400 acres

of laud and engaged in stock-raising. A year

later he was stricken down with a severe and

protracted illness, which resulted in a perma-

nent muscular paralysis of his lower limbs, and

he was never again able to walk without the

aid of crutches or canes. In 1857 Mrs. Stew-

art died, leaving two sons, Clarence and Richard,

who are respected citizens of the county, the

former a resident of Riverside and the latter of

San Bernardino.

In December, 1857, Mr. Stewart was joined

in marriage with Miss Martha D. Kenfield, a

native of Worcester County, Massachusetts,

and an old friend of Mr. Stewart's, who, in

spite of the opposition of her relatives, whose

friendship she thereby sacrificed, was willing to

assume a double responsibility of feet to the

lame and mother to the orphans. With the

loyalty of noble womanhood, she performed the

voluntary task of wifely devotion to her crip-

pled husband for nearly twenty-eight of the

best years of her life.

In 1858 they moved to Petaluma, selling

their property in Cloverdale, and in 1865 they

exchanged their property in Petal uma for a

block of land in San Bernardino, situated a little

west of the business portion of the town,

bounded by Second, Third, D and E streets. In

1867 Mr. Stewart erected the first brick build-

ing in San Bernardino, on the corner of Third

and D streets, now known as the Meyerstein

corner. In 1872 he built the three stores next

west of that. In 1878 he erected another block

of three stores. For some time previous to the

accident which caused his death Mr. Stewart

had contemplated building a fine hotel which

should be a credit to the city; he had drawn the

plans, and be'gan the ioundation for it on the

site of the present Stewart Hotel, expecting to

push forward the work in 1885. On February

14, of that year, he was thrown from his car-

riage, receiving a compound fracture of the

thigh, too close to the body to admit of ampu-

tation. After eighteen weeks of untold suffer-

ing, death came tu his relief, on June 22, 1885.

Mr. Stewart was ever one of the foremost

workers for the advancement of every worthy

enterprise benefiting the county, the merits of

which his discriminating judgment never failed

to discover and appreciate. As an instance of

his wise foresight: He was one of the project-

ors of the Silk Center Association of Southern

California, organized in November, 1869, for

the purpose of colonization and promotion of

raw-silk-producing industry, the intention being

to cultivate the variety of mulberry tree suitable

for silk-worm food by irrigation. An arrange-

ment was made to purchase land, a preliminary

survey was made for a canal, and some work

done on it in the spring of 1870, but the death

of Louis Prevost, the president of the company,

suspended the work. In September of that

year the first settlement of Riverside was made

under the name of Jurupa, and the Silk ('enter

Association was merged into the Southern Cali-

fornia Colony Association about the middle of

that month. The principal stockholders of this

new association were: C. N. Felton, Henry

Hamilton, M. W. Childs, J. H. Stewart, Dudley

Pine, W. J. Linville, J. W. North, Dr. J. P.

Greves and Dr. K. D. Shugart. Mr. North

was elected president, and Mr. Stewart, treas-

urer of the company. The enterprise has suc-

ceeded in transforming the once arid lands of

Jurupa and Rubidoux ranches into a veritable

Eden of floral beauty. The name Jurupa was

changed to Riverside in Dece'mber, 1870. I n

1877 Mr. Stewart sold his stock and retired from

the association. While acquiring the ample

fortune which he made and which he left his

family, appraised at $90,000, but worth much

more, he, by his generous assistance, enabled

many a struggling fellow- man to attain a com-

fortable prosperity which they could not other-

wise have secured. He was possessed of extra-

ordinary business tact and judgment; was noted

for his public spirit and hospitality; was strong

and constant in his friendship, tender in sympa-

thy, broad and comprehensive in mental grasp,

and in energy indomitable.

The hotel he was preparing to erect wa3 built
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by others after his death and bears his name.

His will divided his large estate equally between

his widow and two sons. At the time of his

second marriage his estate was worth but $10,-

000, and he gave half of that to his sons to aid

them in starting in life; so that nearly all his

property was accumulated after he became a

cripple, with the help of his noble wife, whose

loyalty never faltered through more than a

quarter of a century of devotion to him in his

abiding illness.

fAPTAIN WILLIAM A. ROGERS, of

Redlands, is a native of Lincoln County,

Maine. Since leaving the sea Captain

Rogers has given his attention to the cultivation

of his oranges and vineyards and the improve-

ment of his home in Redlands, on Colton

avenue.

fEORGE COOLEY, President of the Board

of Supervisors of San Bernardino Count}',

is one of the pioneers in this valley. As

a farmer he has been eminently successful. An
Englishman by birth, and a sailor by occupa-

tion, he brought with him to America the push

and determination characteristic of his country-

men, and a practical knowledge of human na-

ture gained by his experiences as a sailor on

the "high seas." He was born in Kent, Eng-

land, in 1831, and served four years' apprentice-

ship as a sailor. May 11, 1853, when eleven

miles north of Monte Christo, in the West
India Islands, aboard the ship Camillus, Mr.

Cooley was married to Miss Ellen Tolputt, also

of English birth. June 5, 1853, they landed

safe in New Orleans.

The following is copied from a diary kept by

Mr. Cooley: "June 6, started for St. Louis;

arrived June 13; left for Keokuk the 14th and

arrived the 15th; left for Kanesville, June 21,

arrived there July 16; left tor Utah, July 18,

and arrived there October 16; lay over there

three and one-half years, and had much trouble

and annoyance from the Mormons; started from

Nephi City, March 6, 1857, and arrived in San

Bernardino valley May 11, 1857, and camped
on the bank of the Santa Ana river."

The following is a list of the name6 of the

party known as the English colony: Jamts
Singleton, Captain Isaac Bessant, J. Rebbeek,

W. Watts, W. Witby, A. Hunt, H. Goodsell, J.

Witworth, Sydney Mee and George Cooley. At
Santa Clara they were joined by a Mr. Williams

with his family in a wagon. Mr. Williams ha I

lived among the Indians and understood their

language, and he conversed and treated with

them, and thus the colonists got through safely,

although threatened by the Mormons.
Mr. Cooley first purchased 200 acres of land

on the Santa Ana river at $3.50 per acre, and
in 1862 he bought seventy acres where he now
lives in Washington school district.

, He has

added to this from time to time until he now
owns one of the finest ranches in Southern

California, embracing an area of 400 acres, all

in cultivation except some washed land near

the river. Mr. and Mrs. Cooley have raised a

very large family, sixteen in all, three of whom
are now dead, viz.: Anna, who married William

L. Miller, and died at the age of twenty three;

George M., who is a leading hardware dealer in

San Bernardino; John, who has been one of the

most successful dairymen in the valley; Ed.

M., who is a successful ranchman; Louisa,

Charles Cammillus, named for the ship Cammil-
lus and Charles R. Day, her captain, on which

ship Mr. and Mrs. Cooley were married; Fred-

erick, Ellen, Fannie, Frank, William A., Vic-

toria, who died in infancy; Geneva, also died

young; Rosa, Scott and Norman H. Mr.

Cooley belongs to the Democratic party. For

seven years he has held the office of Supervisor,

and for the last three years has been president

of the board. His integrity and ability as an

officer is unquestioned, and he has the confi-

dence and respect not only of his own party

but of all parties, and when elected to his present
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office ran ahead of his ticket. For twelve years

before being elected supervisor he was road

overseer in his district, and is perhaps as well

acquainted with the affairs of San Bernardino

County as any man within her borders. He
has a fine residence two miles south of Colton,

where, with the faithful partner of his youth,

he is spending the evening of life.

fETER J. FILANC, residing three miles

south of San Bernardino, is one of the

oldest and most prosperous pioneers in the

valley. He was born in the southern part of

France, November 4, 1820, the oldest of a fam-

ily of three children. When a young man lie

went to Africa, and for nine years engaged in

the slave trade on the east and west coasts. In

1845 he sailed from Maca to China and took

slaves, then from China to Salem, Massachusetts.

He followed the sea for fifteen years. In 1848

he sailed from New York to New Orleans, and

thence to St. Louis, from St. Louis to Council

Bluffs by steamer, and there wintered. In the

spring of 1849 he crossed by ox team to Salt

Lake City, where he wintered, and the next

spring started across the plains to California.

Their train consisted of fifty-two wagons, under

Captain Foote. They had a very prosperous

journey, and in September, 1852, they all arrived

safely in San Bernardino, when there was but

one building (the fort) in the place. His first

purchase of land was 225 acres, where he has

since been engaged as a general farmer and

stock-raiser. He owned at one time 1,000 or

more acres of land and kept several thousand

fine sheep and cattle. Pie paid $5 per acre for

his land and built the first house, an adobe, in

the valley. For some years he was successfully

engaged in the mercantile business in San

Bernardino. At the present time he is carrying

on the dairy business. In 1859 he married

Miss Elizabeth Luyhan, a native of Los Angeles.

She was the daughter of Joseph and Mary
Luyhan, the former born in Spain, and the lat-

ter in California. Her father was one of the

first settlers in Los Angeles, having crossed the

plains at a very early day, and one time was a

general. He died in 1881, having had a family

of ten children. Mr. and Mrs. Filanc have

reared three children: Lorrsa, now Mrs. S. Lam-

ber , of San Francisco; Enneas; and Peter, who

still resides with his parents. Both Mr. and Mrs.

Filanc are members of the Catholic Church in

San Bernardino. Politically Mr. Filanc affiliates

with the Democratic party, and as a citizen,

commands the confidence and respect of his

fellow-citizens.

~6^' '

§LVA A. WARREN, a citizen of Colton,

was born in Oakland County, Michigan,

July 21, 1836. His father, Z. J. Warren,

a pioneer of Oakland County, Michigan, was

born in New Jersey, August 31, 1801, and was

lor thirty years a teacher in the public schools.

He also took a leading part in political matters,

and held some important public offices. He
moved from Michigan to Indiana, and from

there to Illinois; then to Missouri; then to

Iowa, and in 1852 he crossed the plains to

California by ox team. He stopped in Nevada

and Utah for seven years and reached California

December 24, 1859. His wife, Cornelia A.

Pardee, was a native of New York. They had

but two children, the subject of this sketch and

a daughter. Our subject was married January

29, 1865, to Miss Betsey Parks, born in York-

shire, England, April 20, 1845. Her parents

came to America when she was but four years

of age. This union was blessed with seven

children, viz.: Ellenor and Mary E., twins, the

oldest of whom died September 27, 1866; the

youngest is now the wife of Charles F. Green;

Olive Susan, Celeena M., Alva P., Christina

I. and Charlotte G. Mr. Warren is an assayer

by profession, and has traveled extensively

through many States and Territories, but since

liis marriage has settled down to farming. He
owns land in different parts of San Bernardino
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County, and is giving his attention to general

farming and stock-raising. He lives on a ranch

of 160 acres located one and one-half miles east

of south of Colton. He has taken a leading

part in in the educational interests of his dis-

trict, and ha* been a trustee for fifteen years.

In 18S8 he received the nomination of the

Democratic party for tax collector, but was

defeated. He is a public-spirited man, and is

ever ready to help along any enterprise which

has for its object the good of the community.

He is an honest and upright, citizen, and has

many friends.

fB.
GLOVER, of Redlands, was born in

Benton County, Missouri, June 29, 1842.

° His father. Rev. M. W. Glover, was born

near Louisville, Kentucky, and was for many

years a traveling preacher in the Methodist

Episcopal Church South. He married Miss

Elizabeth Osborn, also born near Louisville, and

they subsequently moved to Benton County,

Missouri. In 1850 he came to California

and worked in the quartz mines in Amador

County. In 1855 he went back to Missouri,

and in the autumn of the same year brought his

family, via the Isthmus, to California. In this

same year he joined the Pacific Conference, and

was assigned to Macedonia Circuit, in Sonoma

County, and traveled that circuit three years.

He was then sent to a circuit in Mendocino

County, and was there three years. In 1868 he

was sent as a missionary to San Bernardino,

where he remained four years. He was then

sent to Los Angeles for one year and then back

to San Bernardino for two years. His next

and last appointment was in San Luis Obispo,

where he built a church, and, one year after,

took a superannuated relation, on account of

declining health. He died April 7, 1877, five

years later, having spent the best part of his life

as an active, earnest, itinerant minister of the

Gospel. The subject of this sketch was thirteen

years old when he came to California with his

parents. At the age of sixteen years he began

learning tiie blacksmith trade, and served an

apprenticeship of two years, and having earned

a little money he went to school for a year in

Sonoma County, at Pleasant Hill School. He
then worked for wages on a farm until he was

twenty-one years of age. At this time he mar-

ried Miss Elizabeth A. McGuire, a native also

of Missouri, a daughter of Cornelius McGuire,

who crossed the plains to California when she

was but seven years of age. After his marriage

Mr. Glover rented land in Sonoma County for

two years, and then went to Mendocino County,

and from there to San Bernardino County in

1869 where he pre empted 160 acres of land,

located in Ligonia. Here he endured all

the hardships and privations of pioneer life.

For the first three years during the summer
months he had to haul water three miles that he

used. Amid all these discouragements, how-

ever, he was not discouraged, and to-day he has

a home surrounded by all the comforts of life,

and is highly esteemed by all who know him.

He joined the Methodist Episcopal Church

South in 1855, and has ever since been an

earnest worker in the cause of Christianity. He
has held all the offices in a church that a layman

can hold, and is at present class-leader and

steward of the church. He was superintendent

of the Sunday-school in San Bernardino for a

period of nine years. He belongs to the Demo-
cratic party, but at the same time is a strong

advocate of the temperance cause. Mr. and

Mrs. Glover have had four children born to

them, viz.: Ida M., Virginia L., Edwin M., and

Anna K., who died in infancy.

—^ .g
. i..t ; ..
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tICHARD STEWART, the youngest son

of John H. Stewart, was born in Rock-

ford, Illinois, June 2, 1850; came with

his parents to California in 1852, and to San

Bernardino County in 1865, where he has resided

ever since. His principal occupation has been

stock-raisins; and farming. His ranch of seven-
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ty-t\vo acres, situated two miles east of San

Bernardino on the Harlem & Rabel Springs

Motor Kail way, is one of the finest agricultural

tracts in the country, being especially adapted

for allalfa and grazing. It is valued at $14,-

000. He owns a number of choice pieces of

city property, including 115 feet fronting on

Third street between F and G streets, on a part

of which he erected, in 1887, the tine two-story

block occupied by the Grand Kapids Furniture

Company, the first pressed-brick front built in

San Bernardino. He also owns 200 feet front-

ing on Third street between G and H streets,

on which his dwelling is located. He and ii is

brother Clarence own ninety-six feet directly

south of the Stewart Hotel, fronting on E street.

He also has 160 acres of superior farming land

in Rincon, supplied with water by artesian

wells. He is a stockholder in the Stewart

Hotel.

In 1876 he was joined in wedlock with Miss

Alice M. Abels, a native of California, born

December 11, 1858. Of the six children born

to them the living are: Norman Guy, born Oc-

tober 27, 1877; Lottie Mabel, August 13, 1879;

Wallace Clarence, April 12, 1883; John Sam-

uel, May 30, 1885, and Benjamin Richard,

March 13, 1887. Lillian was born July 7, 1881,

and died September 30, 1883.

Clarence Stewart married a sister of Mrs.

Richard Stewart and resides in Riverside, as

do the parents of their wives, Mr. and Mrs.

Abels. The subject of this memoir in not en-

gaged in any active business, except looking

after his estate, but contemplates resuming stock

farming.

PW.
CAVE, senior member of the firm of

Cave & Reeves, proprietors of the Red-
9 lands livery stable, was born in Texas, in

1860, and has lived in San Bernardino County

ever since he was two years of age. His par-

ents, John P. and Lucy Ann (Barnett) Cave,

were both natives of Kentucky. They had a

family of eight children. His father tirst moved

his family to Missouri, and in 1850 lett them

there and crossed the plains by ox team to Cali-

fornia, where he remained two years, at the end

of which time he went back to his family in

Missouri. Here he remained three years, and

then moved to Texas, where for seven years he

woiked at the carpenter trade. In 1862 he

crossed the plains via the southern route to

California, and was five months on the road.

On his arrival he traded his wagon and ox team

for twenty acres of land one mile east of San

Bernardino. He lived on this land until 1868,

and in the meantime gave considerable attention

to placer-mining. He was the discoverer of the

claim known as Texas Point. In 1868 he

traded for a part of the Carpenter ranch in

Crafton, which he improved and still owns.

The subject of this sketch engaged in mining

for some three years, and two years ago went

into the livery business. At this time he is

part owner of the ranch purchased by his father,

and is superintending the ranch as well as at-

tending to the livery business. In 1882 he was

married to Miss Bertie Barrett, of Missouri, and

they have one child— a son—Oscar. Mr. Cave

is a member of the I. O. O. F., Redlands Lodge,

No. 341. At the time the city government was

organized he was elected one of the trustees

which office he still fills. He is an intelligent

and enthusiastic supporter of the Democratic

party.

^€@:®»^

C. BOGART, one of the lead in

practitioners of dentistry in San Bernard-

ino County, is a native of Pennsylvania,

born in October, 1852. His parents being what

are termed Pennsylvania Germans, spoke and

taught their children the language of the father-

land as the sole medium of communication in

the family. His mother died in his childhood

and he became self-supporting from the age of

fifteen years. Soon after attaining his majority

he went to Illinois and began the study of dent-
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istry in Macomb; and after completing the

study of the profession and a short titne of

practice in that State, he went to Minnesota in

1876, and married Miss Smith, of Joliet, Illi-

nois, in 1879. During the five succeeding years

of his residence in Minnesota Dr. Bogart en-

joyed a flourishing professional business. In

1881 he removed to New Mexico. Not being

pleased with that country, after a brief stay

they came to California and settled in San

Bernardino, where the Doctor has been actively

engaged in his profession ever since, save about

eighteen months. His fine dental practice ex-

tends throughout this valley and to the remote

parts of the county.

Dr. Bogart possesses a business and specu-

lative turn of mind, which he has indulged

quite extensively and successfully, dealing in

real estate and in building enterprises. In 1888

he built the two-story brick block that bears his

name and in which his office is situated, adjoin-

ing the court-house yard on the east. It has

fifty-two and one-half feet frontage on Court

street and is 115 feet in depth; the first floor

is divided into two fine stores, and the second

story is devoted to offices. He has also im-

proved several other pieces of city and suburban

property.

Dr. Bogart is recognized as one of San Ber-

nardino's most enterprising and public-spirited

citizens. In politics he is a Republican, the

only member of his family on either side who is

not a Democrat.

ilLTON CANTERBURY, M. D., of

Redlands, was born in Greenup County,

Kentucky. His father, Reuben Canter-

bury, a farmer, was born in North Carolina.

The name originated in Kent County, England,

from the estate of a man by that name, and for

whom the city of Canterbury was named.

Reuben Canterbury married Miss Elizabeth Ly-

caas, a native of Kentucky. The union was

blessed with thirteen children, of whom the

subject of this sketch is the eighth. He first

attended the common schools of his native

county and afterward attended a short time the

college at Marietta, Ohio. From there he went

to Missouri and took a course at Mariou Col-

lege. He then attended the Medical College of

Ohio, and graduated in 1863 from the Univer-

sity of Iowa. After his graduation he prac-

ticed medicine for two years in Brown County,

Illinois. In 1865 [he went to Corvallis, Ben-

ton County, Oregon, where he practiced four

years, and then practiced one year at Dallas,

Polk County, Oregon. From the latter place

he moved to California, where he has been a

practicing physician most of the time for ten

years. On account of declining health he

bought a ranch of 160 acres, six miles north-

east of San Bernardino, on which he lived until

January 1. 1889, when he established the drug

store in Redlands. He is now located in the

Young Men's Christian Association building on

State street, and is giving his whole attention

to the drug business. Dr. Canterbury was

married in 1845 to Sarah Wood, of Zanesville,

Ohio, and they have had ten children, five of

whom are still living, viz.: James Cyrus Can-

terbury, the oldest, who is a Baptist minister at

Highlands; Lawrence A. is a machinist; Fant-

ley W. and Milton F. are both ranchmen; Avis

E. is the widow of James P. Ashby, and for

five successive years has been a teacher in the

public schools at Colton, California. Dr. Can-

terbury is an Odd Fellow and a Good Templar.

He is a Prohibitionist and a member of the

Methodist Episcopal Church South

fROF. C. N. ANDREWS, of Redlands,

was born in Guernsey County, Ohio, in

1852. His father, Robert Andrews, crossed

the plains to California with an ox team in

1857. They were on the plains at the time of

the Mountain Meadow massacre, and were five

months and ten days from Boonville to Sacra-

mento. He purchased a farm in Sonoma County,
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in 1859, and is still living on it. He had a

family of four sons and one daughter. The

subject of this sketch received his early train-

ing in the common schools of Sonoma County,

is a graduate of several prominent institutions

of learning and the holder of four diplomas.

He taught school in Sonoma County for seven

years. He was principal of the Santa Ana

schools for a period of three years; instructor

in Heald's Business College two years, and

principal of the Riverside schools three years.

Then he was superintendent of the schools in

San Diego one year, when, his health failing,

he resigned. He was president of the board of

education at San Diego. He came to Redlands

in 1877 and engaged in the lumber and

carriage business with his brother, Howard,

under the firm name of Andrews Brothers. At

the present time he is a member of the board

of education of San Bernardino County, and a

member of the Redlands city council. His

residence is on Palm avenue, where he owns

twenty acres of fine orange land. The business

house is on the corner of Orange 6treet and

Park avenue, where they carry a line of car-

riages and buggies and do a general lumber

business. Prof. Andrews was married in Los

Angeles in 1883, to Miss Jennie E. Davis, of

Petaluina, Sonoma County, California. She was

educated in Petaluma and San Francisco, and

taught for several years. She was one of the

assistant teachers in the Riverside schools when

Prof. Andrews was the principal, and was after-

ward vice-principal in the San Diego schools.

SAAC NEWTON HOAG, a prominent citi-

zen of Redlands, was born in Macedon,

Wayne County, New York, March 3, 1822.

His paternal ancestors belonged to the Society

of Friends for generations back, and had uni-

formly been farmers. He lived and worked on

a farm until he was eighteen years of age and

had the advantages of a very primitive common-

school education. His father died when he was

eighteen years of age, and one year later the

Macedon Academy was organized, and Isaac

was one of the first students at this institution.

From this time until 1849 he taught school

winters and attended the academy and studied

law summers. January 1, 1849, he graduated

in law, having previously graduated at the acad-

emy, and received a diploma to practice law in

all of the courts of New York, and the same

day he determined to seek his fortune in the

gold fields of California. He landed in San

Francisco on the last day of June, following,

having crossed the Isthmus and having been

ninety-nine days in the passage from Panama

to San Francisco, on the British barque Colony.

This barque carried 100 passengers, who paid

$100 each for their passage and board. They

were becalmed about thirty days and were for

that length of time on the short allowance of one

small cracker and a pint of water a day. After

landing at San Francisco Mr. Hoag and his

friends went directly to the mines, and July 4,

1849, he dug his first gold from Horse Shoe

Bar on the American river. In about three

months he returned from the mines to Sacra-

mento, having accumulated about $2,000 in

gold dust. During the winter of 1849-'50 he

engaged in the mercantile business in Sacra-

mento. In the spring of 1850 he put a steam

ferry-boat on the Sacramento river, crossing

from the city to Yolo County, and took up his

residence in Washington, Yolo County. Dur-

ing the summer of 1850, thousands of cattle

and horses were driven across the plains, and as

the best pastures to be found were in the coun-

try west of the Sacramento river, large numbers

crossed the ferry at Sacramento. For the

months of August, September and October, of

that year the receipts of the ferry were over

$27,000. In the spring of 1851 he was offered

$40,000 for the ferry property and accepted

the proposition, but a hitch occurred and the

transfer was never completed.

Mr. Hoag was married in San Francisco, in

January, 1853, to Georgie J. Jennings, whose

mother and brother had preceded them to Cali-
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fornia. Miss Jennings came to the State in

special charge and under the protection of

Adams & Company's Express.

Envious eyes were watching the success of

the ferry business, and applications to the

board of supervisors for opposition ferries, and

suits in court followed one after another, and

finally resort was had to the Legislature for

amendments to the ferry law, proved successful,

an opposition ferry was established, and the

property greatly reduced in value. The ques-

tion assumed a political aspect and ended in a

special franchise for a bridge. The Kridge was

built and there was no longer use for a ferry.

The property became comparatively valueless

and Mr. Hoag again became a poor man, all

his accumulations having been expended in

better equipments, boats, etc, and in defense of

the franchise. Not disheartened he gathered

up the odds and ends, and seeing that California

was rapidly coming to the front as an agricult-

ural country, especially a grain-growing conn-

try, he formed a partnership with his brother,

B. H. Hoag, to import agricultural machinery.

Over $5,000 was invested, mostly in threshing-

machines, as a starter. Contrary to instructions

the shipper placed them all in one vessel. Off

Rio Janeiro the vessel was found to be on fire,

put into port, and arrived one year behind time

with the machinery badly damaged. Had they

arrived on time a splendid profit would have

been realized as they would have been ahead of

all other importations of that character and

were in great demand. These circumstances

are mentioned, not so much as personal inci-

dents in the life of an early Californian as to

illustrate the ups and downs of an active busi-

ness man in the early history of the State. Mr.

Hoag always took a lively interest in the poli-

tics of the State and nation, though he was

never, in the common acceptation of the term,

a politician. He was an old-line Whig, but

when that party went out of existence he joined

the anti-Lecompton Democrats and supported

Stephen A. Douglas for the Presidency. Yolo

County had always been a stronghold of the

fire-eating Southern Democracy. They had held

all the offices and represented the county in

every Legislature up to 1861. That year the

Douglas Democrats and the Republicans put

Mr. Hoag forward for the Legislature. He was

elected and carried most of the county officers

into office with him. The Legislature of 1861-

'62 stood by the general Government in pre-

paring for and sustaining the war against the

Rebellion, and Mr. Hoag was one of the most

active members in this relation. The party

elected for County Judge for Yolo County

having become disqualified, Governor Stanford

appointed Mr. Hoag to iill the vacancy. He held

that office for one succeeding term, also greatly

to the satisfaction of the people of the county.

In the spring of 1862 Mr. Hoag was elected

Secretary of the State Agricultural Society,

which office he held for ten years. During his

incumbency of that office he drew and secured

the passage of the law making the society a

State institution, the directors being under the

law appointed and commisssioned by the Gov-

ernor. He was also the author of the law under

which all the district societies are organized and

conducted. Perhaps no laws ever passed by the

Legislature have had so important a bearing on

the industrial interests of the State, both in the

development of her resources and in calling the

attention of the world to thein. While in this

office in the year 1870 the Pacific Rural Press,

at the suggestion of Mr. Hoag, was established

at San Francisco by Dewey & Co., and Mr. Hoag

became the leading agricultural editor of it,

which position he filled for four years, until the

duties of agricultural editor of the Sacramento

Record-Union, which position he had in the

meantime accepted, became so arduous he had

to resign one position or the other. No sooner

had he resigned the editorship of the Rural

Press, however, than both the Chronicle and the

Bulletin of San Francisco sought his services

to write the leading agricultural articles for

those papers. He accepted the proposition of

the Bulletin and wrote for that paper for about

two years, still holding his position on the Rec-
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ord- Union. AVhen the management of the

Record-Union was changed and William H.

Mills left it to become land agent for the Cen-

tral Pacific Railroad, Mr. Hoag also severed his

connection with the paper. It should be stated

here that one of the most important positions

held in the State by Mr. Hoag was secretary of

the State Anti-debris Association. When this

association was organized in 1881 to check the

damage being done to the farming countries

along the rivers of the Sacramento and San Joa-

quin valleys, Mr. Hoag was selected as secretary

and actuary of the association, and it was due

largely to his efforts and influence that public

opinion underwent so great a change upon the

rights of the hydraulic miners to empty their de-

bris into these rivers and their tributaries. His

field for action in this direction was with the press

and the political conventions of the counties and

the State; also in accumulating testimony for the

cases being conducted against them in the State

and Federal courts. The leading attorney for

the Anti-debris Association was George Cad-

wallader, now deceased. When in May, 1883,

Mr. Hoag resigned this secretaryship to accept

the office of Commissioner of Immigration of

the Southern and Central Pacific Railroad com-

panies, both political parties had by resolutions

in their State conventions declared against the

continuance of hydraulic mining, and the State

and Federal courts had issued restraining orders

to protect the valleys against hydraulic mining.

During all these years of active public life Mr.

Hoag was the owner and manager of a farm on

the Sacramento river, overseeing personally

many agricultural experiments of great interest

to the farmers of the State. Among other

things he had experimented with silk culture

and fully demonstrated and published his con-

clusions to the world, that, while the climate, of

many portions of the State is well adapted to

the success of this industry, it cannot be made

a financial success while labor costs so much,

and we have to compete with the cheap labor

and low civilization of other parts of the world

engaged in it. As intimated above, in 1883

Mr. Hoag received an important commission as

immigration agent for those companies, and in

May of that year opened an office in Chicago, and

for nearly three years labored actively, and the

result shows how effectively to convince the peo-

ple of the eastern slope that California is the best

State in the Union for people to make homes in

and in which to engage in the various kinds of

business. During a long and very active life

Mr. Hoag had never been able to completely

throw off a complication of diseases, contracted

by too close confinement and too great applica-

tion while a student. These diseases were an

affection or dormant state of the liver, an affec-

tion of the throat and neuralgia. Upon his re-

tnrn from Chicago he determined to locate in

Southern California and selected Redlands as his

preference. He came here three years ago last

June and at once set himself to work to discover

the needs of the East San Bernardino valley and

to put forces at work to develop her resources.

The first need, in his mind, was a railroad, and

he never ceased talking and working railroad

until he was a member of a meeting of public-

spirited citizens and capitalists at which it was

determined to build the present railroad, and its

name was fixed upon and articles of incorpora-

tion inaugurated. The next need was to unlock

and distribute the waters of the Bear valley

reservoir, and he brought to bear influences that

induced certain obstinate water and land own-

ers to close contracts with the Bear valley com-

pany, whereby the company secured control of

the main distributing ditches through which to

convey their water to the lands of the valley.

The next need was people to occupy and improve

the uncultivated lands of the valley, and he se-

cured the location here of the Chicago colony,

whereby the ownership of 440 acres of land in

the center of the valley was transferred from one

man to over forty men and families, and water

in cement pipes was conducted to the highest

point of each separate ownership. In connec-

tion with other parties he had obtained an inter-

est in the Crafton tract of about 1,600 acres,

east and adjoining Redlands proper. This land
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had but about halt' water enough to cover it.

He induced the owner, Mr. Cralts, to purchase

of the Bear valley company water enough to

irrigate the whole tract, and was then instru-

mental in the organization of a water com-

pany to distribute water over this tract and

all the higher portions of Redlands, which up

to that time had no way to get water up on

them. The Sylvan boulevard, a beautiful drive

through the entire valley, along one of the most

beautiful streams in the State, is of his creation.

This stream and boulevard is now one of the

most attractive features of East San Bernardino

valley and in time is destined to become one of

the finest drives and promenades in the world.

Mr. Hoag was one of the organizers of the Red-

lands, Lagonia & Crafton Domestic Water Com-

pany, and is a director of the company at the

present time. He is also, by appointment of the

Governor, a director of the Twenty-eighth Dis-

trict Agricultural Society, embracing San Ber-

nardino County. Of his private enterprises it

may not be proper to state particularly, but suf-

fice it to say he is owner of some of the finest

properties in the valley and has a residence on

Lagonia Heights very seldom excelled for beauty

of location and immediate surroundings in any

county. Mr. Hoag mentions with emphasis

that the one thing he came to Southern Califor-

nia for he has succeeded in obtaining, good

health. He is now sixty-seven years of age and

says the climate of the East San Bernardino val-

ley has almost completely restored his health.

He is a stronger man now than when forty

years old.

tEV.
CHARLES A. KINGSBURY, of

Redlands, was born in Newton, Massa-

chusetts, in 1839, the third of a family of

five children. His father, Isaac Kingsbury, was

a market gardener for a period of fifty years.

The subjectof this sketch was educated at Will-

iams College, and also graduated at the Union

Theological Seminary, in New York city, in

1867. After his graduation he filled two pas-

torates in the Congregational Church. In 1875

he married Miss Mary Augusta Donaldson, a

native of New York city. They have one

son: Homer Penfield Donaldson Kingsbury.

Mr. Kingsbury came to California in 1889 on

account of failing health, and has located in

Redlands, on what is known as Redlands

Heights. He has a most beautiful residence,

commanding one of the finest views in South-

ern California, overlooking the whole San

Bernardino valley.

tj.

WATERS, Redlands.—A more im-

portant name cannot be mentioned in

* connection with the history of Redlands

than that of Mr. R. J. Waters. Indeed, he is

recognized as the father of the city. He built

the first brick business block in the place, and

has built and caused to be built by far the

greater number of business houses in the place

at this time. His first block was erected on

the corner of State and Orange streets, in March,

1887. Mr. Waters came to California in 1886,

an invalid, and located the Chicago Colony,

of which he was president. He bought 500

acres of land of W. F. Somers, and laid it out

as that part of Redlands known as the Chicago

Colony. Mr. Waters is president of the Red-

lands Street Railway Company, which is now
operating about eight miles of road. He is

now preparing plans for the building of an

opera house on the corner of Citrus and Orange

avenues. He is interested in the syndicate

who propose taking Bear valley water some

forty miles to irrigate 100,000 acres of land in

San Jacinto valley. He was the first president

of the Redland News Company, which formed

the Citrograph. He formed and was secretary

of the Redlands Hotel Association, which built

the Windsor Hotel. He is also a director in

the Bear Valley Land and Water Company,

the Redlands Orange Grove and Water Com-

pany, and the Crafton Water Company, besides
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being interested in nearly every other enter-

prise in the city. Mr. Waters was the first

city attorney of Red lands, and has worked as

hard and as faithfully for the interests of this

enterprising city as any citizen within her

limits. He was born in Vermont, reared in

Massachusetts, and educated at Franklin Insti-

tute, and subsequently professor of Latin and

mathematics for three years in that institu-

tion. He then went to Chicago and studied

law with Judge Waterman, and practiced there

for twenty-one years, until he was obliged to

leave that rigid climate 011 account of nis

health. If we are to judge of his delicate

health, however, by the amount of work he has

done since he became a citizen of the "Golden

State," we would pronounce him sound and

robust and good for at least half a century yet

to come.

fA.
BALL, of Redlands, is a native of

Vermont, born April 5, 1832. His
9 father, Orange Ball, moved to Ashta-

bula County, Ohio, in 1840, where he farmed

until his death, which occurred in December,

1873. The subject of this sketch was reared

in the "Buckeye" State, and io 1854 left his

native State to be gone only three months.

He went to Jefferson County, Wisconsin,

where he engaged in farming. Then he took

rive months to drive with wagons to Silver

City, Nevada, where he mined and teamed

until 1864, when he went to Sonoma County,

California, and engaged in the dairy business

for three years. He was married in Wiscon

sin in 1858, to Miss Jennie McElroy, of

Clarkson Center, New York, and they have had

eight children, five of whom are still living,

viz.: Edith, now Mrs. McCrary; Eftie died at

at the age of four years; Edison died at the

age of two years; Forest, Frank died at the

age of four: Lewis, Grace and Jennie. Mr.

Ball has been a resident of the county since

November 12, 1869. He was a citizen of
|

Riverside from 1873 to 1879. After this he

ran a farm three miles east of San Bernard-

ino, on Base Line, until 1886, when he moved

to Redlands and engaged in the hotel busi-

ness, keeping the Pioneer House. He now
runs a saloon and billiard hall. Last spring

he took up a ranch of 160 acres on Santa Ana
river, on Bear valley trail. He also owns prop-

erty in Redlands, all of which is devoted to

oranges. Politically Mr. Ball is a Republican.

He is an I. O. O. F„ Riverside Lodge, No. 282.

*>&Ntf

ILLIAM CRAIG, M. D., Redlands,

was born in Pennsylvania, January 2,

1818. His father, Samuel Craig, was a

tanner and farmer, and moved to Clark County,

Ohio, in 1819. Our subject attended the com-

mon schools of Clark County, and in 1848 grad-

uated at the Starling Medical College, at Co-

lumbus, Ohio. He then practiced medicine

in Shelby county three years, and in Auglaize

County three years. The five years following

this he practiced in Winchester, Indiana, where

he also carried on a drug business. Then he

went to Muncie, Indiana, where he engaged in

the drug business and practiced medicine for

ten years. Then he successfully engaged in tie

baking powder business for some two years. In

October, 1870, he moved to California, and was

one of the first settlers in Riverside, where he

pre-empted eighty acres of land and plowed the

first furrow ever plowed there. He also built

the first hotel in Riverside, and carried on the

hotel business for about seven years, or until his

hotel was burned. He, having previously pur-

chased 108 acres of fine land three miles east

of Redlands, has a magnificent country residence

and as fine a vineyard as there is in the valley;

also, 500 orange trees in full bearing. Dr. Craig

has been twice married; first at Muncie, Indiana,

March, 30, 1838, to Joanna Moore. In six

months she died, and in 1846, he married Char-

lotte Mooes, also a native of the "Keystone"

State. By her he has reared three children:
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Scipio, Mary E. and Joanna. He was made a

Mason in 1849, and is also a Knight Templar.

At three different places he has been Worshipful

Master of a Masonic lodge. lie was a charter

member of Evergreen Lodge, No. 259, with

which he still affiliates. Dr. Craig has been

an active member of and an earnest worker in

the Presbyterian Church. He first joined the

church in 1848, and has held all the different

offices in the church at various times and places,

and has been an elder since 1854. Dr. Craig

is an honored and highly respected citizen, and

one whose character is beyond reproach, and no

name in this work is more worthy of mention

than his.

PF.
GARNER, residing on Mount Vernon

avenue, San Bernardino, was born near

o Quincy, Illinois, March 5, 1835. His

parents were George and Elizabeth Garner. His

father moved to Nauvoo, Illinois, at an early

day, and remained there
w
one year when he

crossed the plains to Utah, where he spent one

winter. Frank was fifteen years of age when

they left the Missouri river, and he drove an

ox team all the way to California. While cross-

ing the Missouri river on a ferry-boat, the team

which he afterward drove became frightened

and jumped off the boat into the water, and

swam across safely with the yoke on. They left

St. Joe with a train of sixty wagons in the

spring of 1850, but many died on the way of

cholera. The train being so long they divided

it into six divisions of ten wagons each, and

took turns leading. The ten wagons that led

one day fell behind the next. George Garner

was captain of ten wagons, and one day he was

to lead he told his men to follow, and do hard

driving, and by that means they would leave the

rest behind, which they did, and got to the end

of the journey just two weeks in advance of the

rest. They lost two of their number by cholera

and had some trouble with the Indians. Mr.

Garner had a family of eight children. For

awhile after their arrival they lived in the fort

at San Bernardino, and then Mr. Garner took up

Government land, which he farmed fifteen years.

He then purchased 100 acres on Base Line. In

1853 the subject of this sketch went to San Jose"

valley, and was in the northern mines for some

time; and also farmed and ran a thresher. In

1855 he came back here and was married to

Miss Amanda Thompkins. She was the daugh-

ter of Thomas Tompkins, who came to San

Francisco from Steuben County, New York, on

the steamer Brooklyn, the first that ever sailed.

He then went to Utah, and then as a Mormon
missionary he went to the Tahiti islands. After

this lie moved to the San Jose valley, where he

farmed on an extensive scale lor several years.

He then removed to San Bernardino County,

where he died.

Mr. and Mrs. Garner have reared eight chil-

dren: Frank, who is a stock-dealer in Aniz;

Jane, now Mrs. George Evans; Levina, wife of

Harry Hagan; Charley, Addison, Lewis, Jessie

and Arena. Mr. Garner has been one of the

successful men of San Bernardino, and is now
retired from active business, in his comfortable

home on Mount Vernon avenue.

—*&$&&

fit
B. F. WATROUS.—No man in Red-

lands is more worthy of mention in a

work of this kind than is B. F. Watrons,

M. D. He came to Redlands with $350, with

which he bought a team and went to work. He
had previously contracted for ten acres of land

for $1,000, and had paid $250 down. He began

improving it the second year and put up a $400

house. He afterward bought ten acres more for

$1,500 and borrowed money for the first pay-

ment. In five years he had bought and paid

for thirty-one acres in Redlands and twenty in

San Diego County. Since then he has bought

and sold in this and also in San Diego County,

and is recognized as one of Redlands' most

enterprising and prosperous citizens. He was

born in Cortland County, New York. He re-
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ceived his literary education at Homer Academy

and his medical education at the Pennsylvania

University, from which latter institution he was

graduated in 1870. Heat once commenced the

practice of medicine in Ithaca, where he re-

mained six years; he then went to Rochester,

where he remained two years. Then he went

to Broadhead, Wisconsin, and from that place

came to California. Dr. Watrous was Second

Sergeant in the Seventy-sixth Regiment New
York Volunteers, and rendered his country

good service at the battles of Fredericksburg,

South Mountain, Antietam, Bull Run and the

Wilderness. Since coming to California he has

given up his profession, and has given his entire

time and attention to horticulture and to mak-

ing a home in the beautiful, healthful and en-

terprising city of Redlands.

—&m®fr$h~

fEORGE H. CRAFTS, a rancher near Red-

lands, was born in New York city in 1844,

and came to California with his father in

1861. His father, Myron H. Crafts, was born

in Whately, Massachusetts, in 1816, and estab-

lished the first temperance grocery in New-

York city. He also had a large meat-curing

house there, but was burnt out in 1844, and

then went to Jackson, Michigan, where he

started a soap and candle factory. He next

went to Windsor, where he farmed for a while,

and then went to Detroit and accepted a position

as cashier in C. & A. Ives' bank. From there

he came to California and purchased 480 acres

of land in what is known now as Crafton, a

most beautiful and productive country, four

miles east of Redlands. Here, for a number of

years, he engaged extensively in raising grain

and hogs, and later gave considerable attention

to fruit culture. At his death he owned 1,840

acres of land in a tract, which was named Craf-

ton, for him. He was one of the true pioneers,

and was widely and favorably known. At one

time he was elected County Judge by the Repub-

lican party, but the opposite party, having

things somewhat in their own hands, never

made him out a certificate. He never contested

the matter, and so never served. He died Sep-

tember, 1886, aged seventy years. The subject

of this sketch entered the army, enlisting in

Company D, Eighth California Volunteers, and

served nine months. He then went to Arizona

and worked for the Government two years in the

quartermaster's department and then went to

Cornell University, taking the course through

the sophomore year, when he came back to

California and married Miss Joanna Craig,

daughter of Dr. William Craig, and has been a

horticulturist ever since. He owns a fine ranch

of 700 acres, three miles east of Redlands, on

which he has recently erected a neat and com-

modious brick residence. Mr. and Mrs. Crafts

have two children, Herbert and Mary. Mr.

Crafts is identified with the I. O. O. F., the

G. A. R., and the K. of P.

*S«*«-S«

[WSRAEL BEAL was born thirty-five miles

f| west of Richmond,Virginia, April 10, 1849.

^ His parents, Oliver and Elvira (Myes) Beal,

were both natives of Virginia. His father died

during the war, and his mother is still living, at

a good old age, having reared a family of eleven

children, nine of whom are still living. The

subject of this sketch came to California via the

Panama route in 1865, and worked for a mining

company in Kern County for three years. He
then went to Nevada and Arizona and mined,

and then came back to California and worked

for M. H. Crafts two years, and afterward

rented land for two years. In 1877 he bought

twenty acres in Lugonia; next he purchased

seventeen and one-half adjoining this, and then

ten acres in Redlands. The Redlands property

has since been traded for twenty acres adjoin-

ing the original purchase. Mr. Beal has built

a good house, improved his land and is one of

the leading horticulturists in his neighborhood.

In December, 1870, he was married to Miss

Martha Embers, a native of California, and lias
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had seven children: Oliver, Anna, who died in

childhood; Newton, Harry, Clarence, who died

in infancy, Charles A. and Morris. Mr. and

Mrs. Beal are both members of the Congrega-

tional Church. Mr. Beal is an industrious man

and a good citizen. He has made a good home

and reared a respectable family, and although

he was born a slave and the color of his skin is

dark, no man in Redlands is more worthy of

respect than Israel Beal.

fG.
JUDSON.—About 1881-'82

& Brown secured 1,500 acres of land on

° the sloping hillsides south of the Mill

creek zanja, surveyed and platted the same into

five, ten and twenty-acre lots, with wide avenues

traversing the whole plat. This enterprise was

regarded as an experiment from the fact that

the red soil of the slope had never been tested

as to its adaptability to horticultural pursuits.

With plenty of water and good cultivation the

doubt as to the value of the land was soon re-

moved and the success of the colony enterprise

was assured. Thus encouraged the projectors

enlarged their possessions by additional pur-

chases, until they had between three and four

thousand acres in their colony, which, on account

of the color of the soil, they named Redlands.

This was the fourth city incorporated within

San Bernardino County. November 26, 1888,

the citizens, in accordance with the general

laws of the State, voted as follows on incorpo-

ration: whole number of votes cast, 283; for

incorporation, 216. Officers elected were:

Trustees, E. G. Judson, ,f. B. Glover, B. W.
Cave, C. N. Andrews. H. H. Sinclair; Clerk,

L. W. Clark; Marshal, W. C. Brumagim; Treas-

urer, F. P. Morrison.

Mr. Judson was born in Bridgeport, Con-

necticut, and was educated there and at Amherst.

He fyst went into the book business in New
York city, where he was afterward for a num-
ber of years, a dealer in stocks, broker-

age, etc., on Wall street. In 1876 he came

to California, and Redlands is the result

of his coming. He is a man of marked abil-

ity, and but for his indefatigable labors,

Redlands would not be what it is to-day. He
has been instrumental in organizing nearly all

the water companies in the place, full descrip-

tions of which will be seen elsewhere in this

work.

Mr. F. E. Brown was born in New Haven,

Connecticut, graduated at the Sheffield Scien-

tific School of Yale College, and came to Cali-

fornia in 1877. He was the engineer of the

Redlands Water System and the discoverer of

Bear valley as a reservoir; and more to him

than any one else is California indebted forthat

great reservoir. The Bear valley dam was

built by him, He has been one of the foremost

citizens of Redlands, and in connection with Mr.

E. G. Judson he has projected and built up

that lively colony.

JH T. ROBERDS—[The following sketch is

Wj$L in Mr. Roberds' own language:]

^t^° " I was born in Monroe County, State

of Mississippi, April 9, 1837. My father, John

Roberds, was born in Franklin County, Georgia,

in August, 1800. My mother, Martha T. Ro-

berds, was born in Madison County, Alabama,

May 16, 1817. My father died in San Ber-

nardino, October 15, 1878, being seventy-eight

years of age. He was in the Black Hawk war,

and learned to speak the Choctaw and Chicka-

saw languages. My mother still lives in San

Bernardino.

" Early in the spring of 1846, when a boy

nine years of age, I left Mississippi with my
parents and family, there being six small chil-

dren. I traveled into Missouri with a small

party of emigrants with ox teams, through In-

dependence, Missouri; crossed the Missipsippi

river at what was called at that time the Iron

Banks; traveled on to the lead mines in Mis-

souri. Here we enlarged our party with more

emigrants. From thereon the log cabins began
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to get very scattering, and in a few days' travel

we bid farewell to civilization.

" The next place of any note we came to was

the Osage river: no whites but a few Indians.

I do not remember the name of the tribe. Here

we took our wagons to pieces and ferried them

over with great difficulty, in a small boat, the

river being about one mile wide. We hired the

Indians to swim onr cattle over. This they did

by crowding them off in the river, jumping in

after them, catching the hind ones by the tails,

whooping and yelling after them. We traveled

on for several days and then got in with another

party of emigrants, the noted Donner party, who

afterward perished in the snow in the Sierra

Nevada mountain?. We continued on by the

old emigrant road, turning southward and

wintering with si.ch old mountaineers as John

Brown, Sr., Reuben Herrin, James Waters, Sr.,

John Pizle, B-riggs and Burris, Matthew Kan-

kade, and his two sous John and Andrew, etc.

" The next place of any note we came to was

a river. Here we found the Cheyenne Indian

village, and a large village it was. They did

not want us to go on farther. They claimed

that we were destroying the buffalo. About

this time there came a little Frenchman into our

camp by the name of Reshaw. He was an In-

dian trader and could talk with them. He said

that we had to make the Indians a feast or they

would not let us leave, and might massacre the

whole party. Then all hands turned in to make

the feast, consisting of mush and coffee, which

almost stripped the train of bread-stuff. When
the kettles of mush and coffee were set in a row,

the Indians came up singing and dancing their

war dance. They ate, danced and sang, all at

the same time. The next day we yoked up our

oxen and started on our jonrney, and the first

thing we knew the Indians had taken down their

lodges and were on the move with us. I could

look back for miles and see them coming. They

traveled with us for three days, and when we

would camp they would camp a little ways off,

and then they would come into our camp and

try to trade moccasins and various kinds of skins

for bread and cloth; but when we yoked up the

fourth morning they did not follow. We were

very glad they stopped, for we were constantly

uneasy, as they might do us harm, being very

bold and saucy. We traveled on some distance,

don't remember how far, and came to a creek by

the name of Fountain Cabouy. We traveled

on for a few days and came to Fort Pueblo on

the Arkansas river; here we fixed camp for the

winter, making log cabins to live in. We had

been there but a few weeks when a lot of Mexi-

can war soldiers came and wintered with us.

Here we could trade oxen for corn with the

mountaineers. We had a very hard winter.

The hunters and trappers are what we call

mountaineers. The spring of 1847 I moved

with my parents on to some rich bottom land,

about ten miles below, with the intention of

raising a crop. The country was alive with

deer, antelope, and other game. I could see big

droves of antelope crossing the bottom every

day, going to the river to water. We were now

ten miles from anybody, in a wild country, so

we moved back up to Fort Pueblo, where we

felt safe, and could work for breadstuff, as we

had been living on nothing but meat for several

weeks. In the fall of 1847 we moved up to

another fort, called Hardscrabble. Here the

mountaineers had raised plenty of corn andpump-

kins, which they were very liberal with. Next

came about 300 Cheyenne warriors through the

fort, going to fight the mountain Utes. The

men watched them fight from the top of the

fort with a spy-glass. Several were killed on

both sides. Later in the fall we moved about

three miles to another fort, which belonged to

Matthy Kancade, he going off with his stock,

and my father taking care of the fort during the

winter. Here we had plenty, Kankade fre-

quently coming in with black-tailed bucks and

mountain sheep. From the top of the fort we

could see Pike's Peak.

" In the spring of 1848 several of the mount-

aineers began to prepare to go to California,

hearing that gold had been discovered there,

and we, seeing that there would be but few
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left started with thera. We started in company

with about twelve wagons, the mountaineers

having about 200 head of stock. We traveled

on for several days and came to a creek, where

we stopped and dried buffalo meat for about one

week, the plains being black with buffalo. We
traveled on a few days and came to a river. We
took off a wagon box, covered it with buffalo

hides to keep the water out, unloaded the wag-

ons and taking them to pieces ferried every-

thing over in the wagon-box. We kept on the

old emigrant road, stopping a few days at Inde-

pendence Rock. We then came to a stream

called the Big Sandy: here we stayed a few weeks

to trade with emigrants. My father traded a

yoke of oxen that had brought us all the way

from the Mississippi, to get clothing for his chil-

dren, as my mother had patched as long as she

could find anything to patch with. I will say

here, that if there ever was a pioneer woman,

my mother is one, for she'' almost raised her

family up on the road traveling.

" The next place of any note we came to was

Fort Bridger, where was the Snake Indian vil-

lage. From here we crossed the mountains into

Salt Lake, made log cabins and fixed the best we

could for the winter. In the spring of 1849

we were not able to fit out a team to go farther.

So we went to work to raise a crop, which we
did. We now had something to trade on, got

trore oxen, and early in the spring of 1850 we

started with the first train that left Salt Lake,

going the northern route to California; we had

two teams, my father driving one and myself

the other. Next we came to the Humboldt

river, and traveled down that river to the sinks,

and found the Indians very troublesome.

" We rested up for a few days, getting ready

to cross the big desert, from the sinks to the

Truckee river. After being on the desert awhile,

I saw great destruction among stock and wagons,

there being carcasses of horses and mules for

miles, but our train got across all right. We
traveled on without much interest, and came to

a valley called Carson valley. Here my father,

with two other families, stopped for three or |

four weeks, while the rest of the train kept the

road for California. The emigrants from the

States now began to catch up with us. They

had nothing much to eat and we let them have

grub until we could not spare any more. We
yoked our oxen and begau to travel the Sierra

Nevada mountain. While on our way to the

top of the mountain lots of men came to us for

grub. They always got something, if it was

only a pan of milk. They were mostly on foot,

their teams having given out and died on the

road. From the top of the mountain we soon

reached places where we could buy. We ar-

rived in California in the last of July, 1850, at

Diamond Springs, close to Hangtown. My
father, uncle and I, dug the spring and gave it

the name of Diamond Spring, the cause of the

name being the very white and pearly quartz

rock glittering like diamonds. Here we con-

cluded to stay, as there seemed to be plenty of

gold diggings everywhere, and as winter came
on quite a big towu was built up, which is Dia-

mond Spring to-day. In the spring of 1851

we moved to Coon Hollow, close to Hangtown.
Early in January, 1852, I move to Suisun val-

ley and went through Sacramento just after it

burned down. We started early in the spring

of 1857 for Southern California, having a good

time hunting on the road, as there was plenty

of game; and arrived in San Bernardino June

25, 1857, I being then twenty years of age.

January 23, 1859, I married Miss Harriet Be-

mis, of San Bernardino, with whom I have lived

happy ever since, having raised a large family,

consisting of eight boys and four girls. I lost

one girl when thirteen years old: the rest are all

living in this valley, two married and the re-

maining nine at home."

The names of Mr. Roberds' children are:

William, Rosel, Nellie, who married J. W.
Smith; Harriet, who died at the age of thirteen

years; John T., Frances G., now the wife of

Farley King; Albert F. George R., Alvin N.,

Walter, Birdie M. and Eli. Mr. Roberds has a

fine ranch of about 100 acres on Ninth street,

one and one-half miles northwest of San Ber-
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nardino, and has been very successful as a

general fanner and stock-dealer. He has seen

a good deal of the world and is one of the pio-

neers of the valley.

fW.
LADD, of Red lands, first came to

California in 1851. He shipped his

° horses and wagons from near Detroit,

Michigan, to Chicago, and then to Missouri.

April 9, 1851, they staited from St. Joseph,

Missouri, across the plains, and on August 11,

of the same year, they arrived in Virginia City.

Mr. Ladd mined until 1852, when he went back

to Michigan by way of Panama. He worked

at blacksmithing and the wagon. maker's trade at

Dearborn, Michigan, from 1852 until 1859, and

on April 9, of the latter year, he again started

from St. Joseph, Missouii, across the plains for

the " Golden State," this time with oxen, and

arrived at Virginia City, August 14, having

made the trip in just three days less time than

he had made the first trip with horses in 1851.

He mined from August to February and then

worked as a millwright for five years in the

Eureka Mills. He then engaged as contractor,

sinking shafts and making tunnels for about

four years. At this time he lost all he had and

went back to the Eureka mills, where he.worked

for fifteen years for a mining company. In

1882 he came to Redlands and purchased twenty

acres of land, for which he paid $1,500, on

which he built the third house in the place.

He at once put this land out to oranges and

to-day has one of the finest and most beautifully

located orchards and home in all the val-

ley. His residence is located on the corner of

Grant and Brookside avenue. The slope of his

land is such that irrigation is complete. Start-

ing at the southeast corner he runs water along

the east side to the northeast corner, and thence

along the north side to the northwest corner, and

from that point to the southwest corner, where

he is met by a stream flowing from the south-

east corner, thus making the circuit complete,

and he can sleep while the life-giving stream is

flowing to the roots of his oranges, lemons and

vines, knowing that everything is being done

with the regularity of clock-work. Mr. Ladd

is a Canadian by birth. He was born four

miles east of Wallaceville, Ontario, February

19, 1826. His parents, Orrin and Lucinda

(Youngs) Ladd, were natives, respectively, of

Vermont and Canada. They moved to Mich-

igan in 1839, where Mr. Ladd worked as a

mechanic until his death in March, 1886, at the

age of eighty-three. His wife died in 1872.

They had a family of five children, of which

the subject of this sketch was the eldest. He
has been twice married. His present wife was

Miss Mary Quillin, to whom he was married

February 10, 1857. She is the daughter of

David and Hannah (Molton) Quillin, natives,

respectively, of Pennsylvania and England, who

were married in Canada, and subsequently

moved to Michigan. Her father died at the

age of eighty-nine years, and the was but ten

years old when her mother died. Mr. and Mrs.

Ladd have had born to them a family of three

girls, the oldest of whom, Cordelia, is now Mrs.

J. S. Gould; Annie J. died in infancy, and

Annie V. is now attending college.

„,, .——
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^AVID MOREY, one of the pioneers of

Redlands, was born in Perry County,

Pennsylvania, in 1824. His father, Jacob

Morey, moved to Delaware County, Ohio, at an

early day, and took a farm out of the woods.

He died there at the age of ninety years. His

mother, Barbara (Jacobs) Morey, is still living,

at the advanced age of ninety-two years. The

subject of this sketch left home at the age of

fourteen to learn the cabinet trade. He worked

at this trade in Marysville, and in 1842 went

to Indianapolis, where he remained until 1845.

He then went to Lexington, Kentucky, and in

1850 started from St. Louis across the plains

to California. They left Independence, Mis-

souri, Mav 10, 1850, and were on the way four
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months to Nevada City, California. Mr. Morey,

like many others, engaged in mining from 1850

to 1858. He then went to Scottsburg, Oregon,

where he worked at the cabinet trade and ship-

joining on river steamers. Then he went to Co-

lumbia river and helped built steamers. After

this he came back to the Cascades and built the

steamer "Iris;" then to Puget Sound, to Vic-

toria, and finished the steamer " Alexandria," for

William Moore. He then went to Umpqua river

and built the steam saw-mill and the schooners,

" William F. Brown," " Pacific " and " Mary
Cleveland." In 1870 he went to San Francisco,

and from there to Watsonville, where he engaged

in the gunsmith business for ten years. About

this time he invented the "straw-burner," and

sold the right of the Pacific coast for $5,000.

The right was infringed, and he had to defend

it, which cost him a great deal of money. His

next invention was the hay and grain elevator.

This invention broke him up financially. He
also invented the Ball Laster, for shoemaking,

and in 1880 he left and went to Plumas County,

where he located on a hydraulic mining claim.

He next went to the Plumas and Eureka quartz

mines and worked at millwrighting for about

two years. In 1882 he came to Redlands and

purchased ten acres of land. He soon bought

ten acres more with borrowed money and set it

out to oranges. His excellent wife has done as

much as he or more in making and beautifying

their grounds and orchards. She spaded the

ground to grow the young orange trees, with

her own hands. She planted the first trees in

Redlands: 1,900 the first year; the next year

she had a bed 24 x 6 feet, and had 21,500 seed

lings. This stock she sold, and with the pro-

ceeds bought ten acres of land with ten shares

of water on it. The next year she planted

40,000 trees. She now has 38,000 of nursery

stock, three years old. She also sold trees and

paid for grading a ten-acre lot, and $1,000 for

the improvement of the same. She now has

on hand 16,500 nursery stock, which she donates

to the Congregational church. Mrs. Morey is

of French origin. Her maiden name was Sarah

Jane DeForest, and she was a native of New
York. Her parents, John and Elizabeth (Van
Wormeth) DeForest, were French and German
respectively. Her father died when she was
quite young, and she went with friends to Ore-

gon, where she was married to Mr. Morey in

1870. Mrs. Morey's enterprise and labor in

helping to make their beautiful but as yet hum-
ble home, is known far and wide, and the fact

is recognized that she has done as much as

anyone in Redlands toward the cultivation of

oranges and the beautifying of orchards and
grounds.

f
AMU EL J. HAYES, residing in Redlands,

on Cypress avenue, was born in Litchfield

County, Connecticut, June 20, 1826. His
father, Gaylord Hayes, was a second cousin to

ex-President Rutherford B. Hayes. When
Samuel was a lad of seven his father removed
to La Salle County, Illinois, where he en»ao-ed

in stock-raising until his death, which occurred

in 1838, when Samuel was but twelve. His
mother died in 1842, and he had to provide and
care for his three younger brothers and sister.

In 1850 he crossed the plains to California,

where he mined for six months and then re-

turned to Illinois, rented land, borrowed $25 at

two per cent, a month, with which he bought a

stove and cooking outfit, and went to keeping

"bach," and rented land for twenty-seven years,

and then commenced buying land for a farm.

It was the general opinion of those acquainted

with Mr. Hayes, and those who had worked with

him, that he could do more work in a day than

any other man in the county. He averaged

sixteen hours work out of twenty-four for fifteen

years, at which time he owned a farm of 410
acres, and for twelve years had averaged $8 per

per day. He has served his town as super-

visor, assessor, collector, school and township

treasurer, and as commissioner of highways and

avenues, lie was very successful as a stock-
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raiser, and still owns a tine farm of 280 acres

in La Salle County, Illinois.

He was married in 1854 to Miss Sophia

Cummings, of Deer Park, Illinois, formerly

from Massachusetts, and they have reared a

family of three children. Mr. Hayes has

crossed from Illinois to California seven times,

the third, a pleasure trip, was in the fall of

1882, when on coming to Redlands he was so

well pleased with the location that he bought

five acres of unimproved land, where he has

erected a very comfortable and neat residence,

bringing his doors, windows, blinds, stair-rail-

ing, etc., and a carpenter, with him from Illinois.

Here in his beautiful home, in this beautiful

city, after an active life of business care, Mr.

Hayes will spend the residue of his days look-

ing after the interests of his fruits and taking

care of his grounds.

JPSIRAM C. KELLER, one of the successful

SB) auc' entel
'P

r ' sing farmers near the Base

*iQl Line, was born at Pisgah, Iowa, in 1849.

His father, Nathan Keller, was born in North

Carolina and resided in Pennsylvania, and had

a family of ten children. He died in Pisgah,

Iowa, while crossing the plains to Salt Lake.

The subject of this sketch was married in 1873

to Miss Sadie Sparkes, the daughter of George

W. Sparkes, one of the pioneers of this valley,

and a well and favorably known citizen. Mr.

and Mrs. Keller have an interesting little fam-

ily, consisting of Nettie, Drusilla, Cassie Leu

Anna and Lela Malinda. Socially Mr. Keller

is an I. O. O. F., Token Lodge, No. 290, San

Bernardino, and politically au enthusiastic sup-

porter of the Democratic party.

<-6B^

ilLLIAM STONES was born in Oldham,

England, February 13, 1815. He sailed

from Liverpool November 8, 1840, for

America, and was blown back by a storm. The

16th of the same month they again sailed

for America and landed safe in New Orleans

January 3, 1841. He remained there ten days

and then went to St. Louis, where he dug stone

coal for eight or nine years. In April, 1850,

he set out with others for California by ox

teams, and were eight months on the road.

Twenty-six of their number died on the way of

cholera. They had sixty-four wagons, divided

into ten sections, and 150 souls to start out with.

Mr. Stones mined in the northern part of the

State for five or six years and was very success-

ful. In 1856 he came to San Bernardino

County and bought lands in Central district,

where he has ranched it ever since. He was

married December 15, 1833, in England, to

Sarah Fitten, who bore him five sons and one

daughter: William H., James E., Roni M., Hi-

ram N., John T., and Mary, who married James

Cass and died in lone valley. Mrs. Stones died

in 1855, and Mr. Stones married Mrs. Charlotte

Parker. Mr. Stones has lived many years in

the world and is a man highly respected and

beloved by all who know him.

—.g . lMl .
g
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mEY " E ' L- baldridge was b°rn jn

fl™ Adams County, Ohio, February 9, 1821.

**$^ His father, Rev. William Baldridge, was

born in Pennsylvania, in 1760. He served in

the Revolutionary war at the age of sixteen

years, and for many years after its close was an

active minister in the United Presbyterian

Church. He graduated from college in 1790,

was licensed to preach in 1792, was ordained in

1793, and died October 31, 1830. The subject

of this biographical sketch was educated at

Miami University and subsequently studied

theology at Oxford. He was ordained January

10, 1851, at Centerville, Michigan, by the

United Presbyterian Church. He served as

pastor of the Associate Reformed church in

Centerville, Michigan, for seven years. In 1857

he was sent as a missionary to Leavenworth,

Kansas. Here he organized a United Presby-
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terian church and was settled as pastor until

1874; then served as chaplain in the Kansas

State prison for about two years. June 3, 1876,

he was commissioned Chaplain in the United

States army, and continued in this position

until 1884, when he was retired. At the time

of his retirement he was stationed at Angel

Island, California. Mr. Baldridge was married

July 27, 1859, at Goshen, Indiana, to Miss

Sarah M. Gil more, a daughter of John and Har-

riet (Crane) Gilmore. They have two children,

viz.: Mary II., now Mrs. Lieutenant It. H. R.

Loughborough, who is in the regular army and

stationed at Port Missoula, Montana; John G.,

who is still at home. In 1884 Mr. Baldridge

bought a nice little fruit ranch in Highland dis-

trict, which he has improved and where he at

present resides, retired from active work, except

such as is necessary to keep things in order on

the ranch. Politically he is a strong advocate

of the principles of the Prohibition party and

by his voice and vote is doing all he can in favor

of the temperance cause.

fOHN BOTTOMS was born in Yorkshire,

England, in 1812, and came to America in

1840; he landed at New Orleans, and from

there went to Nauvoo, Illinois, where he was a

member of the Mormon Church. He remained

there until 1845, when he went to Cincinnati

and worked in a bucket factory for about three

years. In 1848 he went to Council Bluffs and

remained there until 1852. He then went to

Salt Lake City and remained there until 1858,

when became to California. During this time

he had had prolonged trouble with the Mormons

and concluded to stand their arbitrary treatment

no longer: hence he crossed the plains to Cali-

fornia. He worked in Los Angeles County for

awhile and then came to San Bernardino Coun-

ty, where he purchased a ranch, on which he

has resided ever since.

He was married in Cincinnati, in 1847, to

Miss Althea Ugle, a native of that city, of Ger-

man descent. Mr. Bottoms is one of the first

settlers in this valley, has been an honest and

upright citizen, and is respected by all who

know him.

1&*

ANFORD ATWOOD was born in Con-

necticut in 1823. His parents were Mor-

mons and moved to Nauvoo, Illinois, at

an early day, and from thence to Council Bluffs,

Iowa, where in 1850 Mr. Atwood married Miss

Jane Garner, of Hancock County, Illinois. She

was the daughter of George and Elizabeth (Hed-

rick) Garner, natives respectively of North Caro-

lina and Indiana. They had six children. Mrs.

Garner died in Illinois at the age of thirty-two,

and Mr. Garner married Lydia Hill. In 1836

he went to Council Bluffs, where he remained

nearly two years, and then came to California,

in 1852, by ox team. He bought land on Lytle

creek, where the woolen mill now stands, and

was there for twenty years. He then sold out

and went to Salt Lake, where he was killed by

a runaway team August 31, 1877. After our

subject's marriage he lived at Council Bluffs

ten years, where he was engaged in farming and

stock-raising. May 1, 1860, he left Council

Bluffs, crossing the plains to California, and ar-

rived in San Bernardino December 1 of the

same year. Here he bought land, which he held

two years and then sold. He then bought 100

acres of land in Warm creek district, where lie

now lives, built a comfortable residence and has

done a good dairying business, also stock-rais-

ing and general farming for several years. They

have reared a family of eight children, viz.: Ev-

eline, now Mrs. John Lett; Ernestine, now the

widow of Mack Van Lennen; Arnold, who mar-

ried Miss Alice Fredericks; Ann, now the wife

of William Banford; Emma, now Mrs. John

Shay; Ida, wife of Win. Benson; Sarah, wife of

George Holiday, and Lizzie, an accomplished

young lady, still at home. Mr. and Mrs. At-

wood have labored hand in hand for many

years. They have endured the hardships of
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pioneer life and have reared a large and respect-

able family and made a pleasant and comfort-

able home. They are worthy of mention in

a work of this kind as true pioneers.

^^
tNDREW LYTLE, deceased, was born in

Mifflin County, Pennsylvania, in 1812-

His parents moved to Akron, Ohio, when

he was a 6mall boy. At the age of twenty-one

years he went back to Pennsylvania and mar-

ried Hannah Hull. This lady was the daughter

of Abner and Martha (Skinner) Hull, natives

respectively of Pennsylvania and Connecticut.

In 1834, two years after his marriage, he moved

to Portage County, Ohio. Next he moved to

Bidwell County, Missouri, and two years later

to Nauvoo, Illinois. From the latter place he

removed to Salt Lake, where he remained sev-

eral years. In 1850 he came to California and

was one of the first settlers at San Bernardino,

lie was a blacksmith by trade and followed that

business for several years. He owned some fine

land and was very successful. At one time he

was mayor of San Bernardino, and has held

various offices of public trust.

Hehad eight children : Olive, now Mrs. Amasa

Mariam; Serena E., now Mrs. Lacy Stilson;

Heber John, who married Sarah McCrary; La

Fayette, married Sophronia Parker; Mariette,

wife of Harley Swarthout; Charles Loran, Ly-

man Melvin and Orissa. Mr. Lytle died in

1870. and his widow resides at the old home on

Third street near the Santa Fe depot, in San

Bernardino.

—#^€@:®I^
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,BNER McCRARY is a native of Union

County, Illinois, born in 1835. His par-

ents, John and Mary (Kellar) McCrary,

natives of North Carolina and South Carolina

respectively, moved to Hancock County in 1844.

Next they moved to Washville, Iowa, and in

1846 to Council Bluffs, where they remained five

years. In 1851 he moved to Utah, where he

remained two years, and June 5, 1854, came to

California, and bought forty acres of land three

miles northeast of San Bernardino, where he

now lives. Mr. McCrary has dealt some in

buying and selling land, and has to-day a

fine farm devoted to general farm products,

fruit and vegetables. He is one of the pio-

neers who have borne the burden and heat of

the day. He walked every step of the way

from Utah to this county, not shirking a

single duty on the way, and he has carried out

these principles every day of his life since; he

is an earnest worker and an honest citizen. In

1859 he married Miss Emma Lane, of Bowling

Green, Kentucky, daughter of David and Lu-

cinda Lane, both born in 1805. Mr. Lane died

in Indiana, and Mrs. Lane still lives, at a ripe

old age. She is well preserved, physically and

mentally. Mr. and Mrs. McCrary have reared

five children: Emeline, now Mrs. B. J. Rob-

ertson; Laura, wife of J. M. Jones; Mary L.,

wife of E. M. Cooley; Abner, who married

Miss Catherine Van Lennen, and Martha, now

Mrs. John Burrows.

fOHN COOLEY was born in Utah, in March,

1857, while his parents were on their way

California. His father, George Cooley,

is widely and favorably known throughout this

county. He arrived in this valley May 11, 1857,

and kept a night school for a long time. The

subject of this sketch is an entirely self-made

man, his education being such as he could pick

up, as it were, on the way; but by personal ob-

servation and extensive reading he has surpassed

many who have bad the best educational ad-

vantages. As a business man he has been em-

inently successful. He was engaged in the

dairy buisness for eleven years and then sold

out to Governor Waterman. He had leased

500 acres, and carried everything that there was

any profit in. Four years ago he retired from

the dairy business, having made the time he
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followed it more clear money perhaps than

any other man in the county. During the

whole period of eleven years he lost only sev-

enty days. Alter his retirement he took a

pleasure trip to the Sandwich Islands, where he

remained three months. His popularity and

ability as a citizen is shown by the fact that he

was deputy sheriff under John A. Cole in

1887-'88. He belongs to the Democratic party.

In March, 1882, he bought ninety-five acres of

land between Third and Sixth streets, just east

of the city of San Bernardino, and has recently

sold thirty acres of it, at §450 per acre. On
the part retained he has built a fine residence,

where he, with his family, is extracting as much
pleasure from life, perhaps, as any man living.

November 3, 1877, he was married to Miss

Julia Miller, of San Bernardino. Her father,

Joshua Miller, was a native of Tennessee and

came to California in 1861. Her mother, Eliz-

abeth (Anderson) Miller, was a native of Indi-

ana. Mr. and Mrs. Cooley have an interesting

family of five children, viz.: Edna, Georgia,

John A., Marcus and Albert M.

ILLIAM A. HARRIS, attorney-at-law

and a member of the firm of Harris &
Gregg, was born in 1854, in Tennessee.

He was educated in the schools of that State;

studied law in Memphis with Colonel George

Gautt and W. W. McDowell, both distinguished

members ot the Tennessee bar, and was admitted

to practice at the remarkably early age of nine-

teen. On attaining his majority, after two years

of practice in his own State, he came to Califor-

nia, and located in San Bernardino in 1875, and

has practiced his profession here ever since, ex-

cepting two years spent in Leadville, Colorado,

where he combined mining and law practice.

In 1877 he was elected District Attorney of

San Bernardino County and served with distinc-

tion. Soon after coming here he formed a law

partnership with Hon. John W. Satterwhite,

which continued some years; afterward he was

associated with C. W. Allen several years, and

in 1886 the present partnership was formed

with Hon. F. W. Gregg, who had recently been

on the bench in Arizona.

The firm of Harris & Gregg is one of the

strongest in legal attainments and ability in

Southern California; and their law practice,

among the largest and most lucrative in San

Bernardino County, is steadily growing. Mr.

Harris is noted among his brethren at the bar

for his forensic eloquence, and as a successful

trial lawyer before a jury. He has been profes-

sionally connected with some of the most cele-

brated cases tried in this part of the State. Of
this class was the Marlette case,—the People

versus Mattie Pennman,—the defendant having

killed Alfred Sullivan, a dancing teacher, in

San Bernardino. The homicide and the trial

created great interest and excitement in the

community, and was widely published and dis-

cussed by the newspapers. Mr. Harris was the

attorney for the defense. The woman was

acquitted by an exceptionally intelligent jury

against a strong public sentiment. Harris and

Gregg were also attorneys for defense in a noted

mining case—Doe versus Oro Grande Mining
Company—tried in the winter of 1888-'89,

forty-six days being consumed in the trial. The
amount involved was $330,000, claimed by the

plaintiff; the verdict was for $25,000. On
appeal the case was reversed by the Supreme
Court, and a complete victory gained by defend-

ants. The firm of Harris & Gregg was retained,

in 1889, by the San Bernardino Board of Trade

in the case brought by that organization before

the Inter-State Commerce Commission charging

the Transcontinental Railroad Association with

unlawful discrimination against San Bernardino.

A number of the most eminent lawyers of the

East were retained by the association as oppos-

ing counsel. This case is of national import-

ance, as establishing a precedent. In 1886 Mr.

Harris was presented by the United States Gov-

ernment, under authority of an act of Con-

gress, with an elegant gold medal, elaborately

embellished and appropriately inscribed, as a
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reward for life-saving from the Pacific ocean

during that year. The medal bears the date of

August 2, 1886. It is highly prized by its

owner as a memento.

Mr. Harris has taken an active and efficient

part in local politics, and is one of the most elo-

quent Democratic stump speakers in Southern

California. In spite of the pressure of profes-

sional labor, he has given considerable thought

to the importance of the fruit productions of

San Bernardino County, and has delivered pub-

lic addresses on that subject on several occasions.

He married an Ohio lady, Miss Nettie Allen,

in San Bernardino. He is a member of the

State and County Bar Associations.

JBjEUBEN J. ANDERSON was born in

Wx Smithfield, Madison County, New York;

*«i^ he passed his youth and early manhood

like most boys, and in the spring of 1853 came

by water to California. He landed at San Fran-

cisco May 5, 1853, and followed mining for

three years. He subsequently purchased 160

acres of land five miles from San Jose\ and here

farmed for two years. He then sold out and

bought a place a mile west of Haywards, and

remained on it until 1856, when he removed to

San Bernardino County. He bought land near

town, on which he kept stock. In the winter

of 1862 he lost heavily by the high waters

which flooded the district. In 1870 he bought

seventy-eight acres where he now lives, two and

one-half miles east of San Bernardino. After

being washed out, however, in 1862, he followed

teaming in Arizona, Utah, Montana and Idaho,

for a period of ten years. He lived for several

years in San Bernardino, where he owned several

lots and was a partner in a large saw-mill, which

was destroyed by fire in 1872. In March, 1861,

he married Miss Louisa Button, daughter of M.

E. Button, one of the pioneers of this county,

by whom he had one child: Mariette. His wife

died in 1868, and Mr. Anderson was again

married October 4, 1869, to Miss Lizzie Ma-

tin's, a native of Iowa. She died August 4,

1871, and on May 2, 1872, Mr. Anderson mar-

ried hersister, Elvira Mathis, who was born at

Payson, Utah, a daughter of John and Sarah

Ann (Dawdle) Mathis, natives of Lawrence

County, Alabama. By this latter marriage he

has six children, four boys and two girls: Fran-

cis Marion, Annie Louise, William Wesley,

Clarence James, Ernest Ingersoll and Lizzie.

fOSEPH THORN, deceased, was a pioneer

of 1854. He was born in New York State,

December, 22, 1811. His parents were

Richard and Mary Ann (Armstrong) Thorn,

the former a native of New York, the latter

of England. Mr. Thorn was a blacksmith by

trade. He was married at Niles, New York,

June 19, 1836, to Lorana Camp, daughter of

Jonah and Barbara (Keith) Camp, from near

New Haven, Connecticut. About seven years

after his marriage he moved with his wife and

four children to Hancock County, Illinois,

where he lived five years. He then moved to

Council Bluffs and staid one year, when he

joined the Mormons and went to Salt Lake.

He soon got sick of them, however, and went

back to Iowa where he remained six years. He

then moved to California, starting from Iowa

in 1853. He spent one winter in Salt Lake,

and in June, 1854, arrived in San Bernardino.

In February he went to Stockton with stock,

came back the same year, and bought fifty acres

of land where the Santa Fe Railroad tracks

are now located, which was nearly all wild

and unimproved He bought land also on

Warm creek, and dealt considerably in stock

and engaged in farming. He was an energetic

and enterprising man and gave each of his

children a good farm. He had served as Super-

visor and was a Mason in good standing. He
died May 20, 1887, leaving a widow and four

children, viz.: Joseph Camp, Helen Loran, wife

of Michael Mulvaney; Orissa A., wife of John

Osborn; Susan, wife of Hardin Patterson. His
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widow, Mrs. Lorana Thorn, is still living, at the

advanced age of seventy-five years, well pre-

served mentally and physically. Her recol-

lections of the journey from New York State

to California are vivid still. She has endured

with patience the hardships of pioneer life and

worked to make a home, and has lived to see

all her children well settled in life. She resides

comfortably in her neat residence on Third

street, San Bernardino.

fOSHUA S. BEAM, a native of North Car-

olina, was born in 1826, the seventh of a

family of twelve children. His parents,

Peter and Ann (Long) Beam, were both born,

reared, lived and died in North Carolina. John

T. Beam, a weaver by trade, one of the ances-

tors, came from Germany and worked seven

years for a man who paid his passage to America.

The subject of this sketch went to Arkansas in

the spring of 1850 with his brother-in-law. In

April, 1852, he started to cross the plains with

an ox team, and arrived in California in Sep-

tember of the same year. After his arrival on

the coast he worked in the mines and quartz-

mills for two years. He spent five years in

Mariposa County. In 1857 he moved to Mon-

terey County and remained five or six years.

In the fall of 1863 he came to San Bernardino

County and purchased twenty-five acres where

henow lives. He has made several additions

to his original purchase, and now owns a fine

farm just east of the city, on which he has

erected a very commodious two-story house,

containing some fifteen or twenty rooms. He
raised alfalfa, etc., for fifteen years, but has

recently turned his attention to the dairy busi-

ness. "While in Monterey County, in 1859, he

was married to Miss Ellen R. Craw, born in

Pennsylvania, the daughter of Edward Craw,

one of the pioneers of this county. Mr. and

Mrs. Beam have nine children: Peter E,
George A., Martha A., wife of Robert Sparks;

Joshua F., Jane, Ida May, Rufus and Lee, twins,

and Carrie. Mr. Beam takes a lively interest

in educational matters, and has been officially

connected with the school interests of his

district for several years. Pie is also a member
of the official board of the Methodist Epiocopal

Church South.

#^-^8"£#

fOSEPH CAMP THORN, residing four

miles east of San Bernardino on the Base

Line, is one of the pioneers of this county.

He was born in New York, January 2, 1839,

the son of Joseph and Lorana (Camp) Thorn.

When the subject of this sketch was three

years of age his father moved to Nauvoo, Illi-

nois. The next year he removed to Council

Bluffs, Iowa, and the following year he moved

to Salt Lake. Our subject was then eight years

old and he drove an ox team all the way from

Council Bluffs to Salt Lake. Mr. Thorn lived

at Salt Lake for ten days and, disgusted with

the Mormon religion, went back to Iowa; then

came on, in 1854, to California. The subject of

this sketch, then a lad of fourteen, drove his

ox team from Salt Lake to San Bernardino.

While on the journey he stood a regular herd

and guard tower with the men. After his

arrival here he worked at various occupations,

and in 1858 was married to Miss Mary H.

Dickson, born in Iowa. Her parents, David and

Nancy (Stevens) Dickson, natives of Canada,

crossed the plains in 1853, losing a man and

nearly all their stock by Indians, and located at

San Bernardino. At one time Mr. Dickson

owned the block where the Stewart Hotel now
stands, and other valuable property. He died

in April, 1886, while on a visit East. Mrs.

Dickson died in 1880. They had reared a family

of eight children, four of whom are still living,

Mr. and Mrs. Thorn have nine children, viz.:

Mary L., Nancy L., Joseph Camp, Hiram A.,

Helen Meneta, Walter W., John A., Hattie L.

and Henrietta L. Socially Mr. Thorn is an I.

O. O. F., subordinate lodge No. 282, River-

side; Morse Encampment, No. 54; San Ber-
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nardino Canton, No. 17; Magnolia Lodge

(Rebekab), No. 94. Mrs. Thorn and her daugh-

ter, Minnie, also belong to the last named lodge.

As a business man Mr. Thorn has been very

successful, and as a citizen he enjoys the con-

fidence and respect of bis neighbors.

fAMES MONROE WEST, living two and

one-half miles east of San Bernardino, on

Third street, is a pioneer of 1856. His

native State is Alabama. He was born in Dal-

las County, October 23, 1825, and is the son of

Simon and Nancy (Thompson) West, natives re-

spectively of Tennessee and Nortli Carolina.

The father was born August 19, 1797, and the

mother April 3, 1799. Simon West moved with

his family to Mississippi in 1839, and died there

in January, 1884. The mother is still living in

Itawamba County, Mississippi. They had ten

children, of whom the subject of this sketch is

the second. He was married in Mississippi,

December 30, 1847, to Miss Adaline Weeks,

who was born and reared in Marion County,

Alabama, a daughter of Jephtha Weeks, a farm-

er and mechanic. He started to make the trip

across the plains in 1856, and died in August

of that year in Utah, of smallpox. Besides

our subject and his family there were four other

families that started at the same time. They

left their homes in Mississippi on February 21,

1856, and arrived in Salt Lake on July 19 of

the same year. Before reaching Salt Lake Mr.

West's oldest son, a boy of seven years, fell out

of a wagon and was run over by his uncle's

wagon and almost killed. His uncle found a

large blue bead in the road near where the acci-

dent occurred, and it was put on a string and

given the boy as a plaything. He had not

played with it many days, however, until he

took the small-pox, supposed to have been con-

veyed to him by the blue bead, and all of the

party had it in a light form except Mr. Weeks,

who died, as before stated.

September 8, 1856, they set out for Califor-

nia, and November 8, of the same year, they

reached San Bernardino. They were delayed

just ten days by a man purposely misdirecting

them, having heard that it was a party that bad

the small-pox, and he afterward made a boast

of it. After his arrival here Mr. West bought

the land where he now lives, in partnership with

his old neighbor, Mr. G. W. Sparkes. Mr. and

Mrs. West have reared a family of nine chil-

dren: Samuel M., Simon J., Sarah Jane, now

Mrs. W. II. Mee; Martha Allen, who died at

the age of seventeen years, five months and two

days; James Monroe, Nancy Abigail, now Mrs.

Charles A. Moore; Mary Elizabeth, wife of

Frank Yager; Thomas Jefferson, now on the

police force of San Bernardino, and George

Washington.

Politically Mr. West affiliates with the Dem-
ocratic party. He was nominated by his party

for the office of superintendent of schools some

years ago, which fact is mentioned to show the

high regard his brethren had for him by bring-

ing him forward for such a responsible position.

In his vocation he has met with good success.

He owns a farm well improved and productive.

He is practically retired from active labor, and

with the wife of his youth is enjoying the bless-

ings which come only to those who have led in-

dustrious and temperate lives.

fAMUEL E. FITZHUGH is a native of

New Madrid County, Missouri, born Feb-

ruary 7, 1822, a son of Samuel E. and

Margaret (Ruddle) Fitzhugh, natives respect-

ively of Maryland and Missouri, and of Irish

origin. John Ruddle was a soldier in the war

of 1812. The subject of this sketch is the

third in a family of nine children. Hie father

moved from Missouri to Kentucky in 1833,

where the family grew up. Mr. Fitzhugh was

married in St. Louis, in 1845, to Caroline Mc-

Kee, a native of Pennsylvania, but reared in

Kentucky. She is the daughter of David and

Eliza (Dehaven) McKee, both born in Pennsyl-
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vania, of Irish parentage. Subsequent to hi9

marriage Mr. Fitzhugh moved to Texas, where

he lived for live years. When the war came on

he enlisted in the Eighteenth Texas Volunteer

Cavalry, Company C, Colonel Darnell's regi-

ment, and served in the Confederate army for a

period of four years. After the war he joined

his family in Texas and soon set out for Ari-

zona, where he tarried two years, and then came

to California. They arrived here in March, 1866,

and he at once bought twenty acres, where he

has since lived, three miles east of San Ber-

nardino, for which he paid $15 per acre. It

is now highly improved and worth at least

$300 per acre. He hauled the lumber in his

house from the mountains, a distance of twelve

miles. For eighteen years he followed teaming

on the mountains. He was the father of eight

children, five of whom are still living, viz.:

Charles E., the oldest, is engaged in the cattle

business in Arizona; Caroline, now Mrs. Fred

Kable, of Santa Ana; A. J., wife of John Pop-

pet, of San Bernardino; Mary A., wife of Will-

iam Morton, and Allen J. Mr. Fitzhugh and

wife are both members of the Christian Church,

of San Bernardino. Politically he is an intelli-

gent supporter of the Democratic party.

^. .P , ;,,; . ?,,.^,

§ON. JOHN M. JAMES, a native of Can-

non County, Tennessee, born in 1816.

His father, William James, was a native

of North Carolina, and died May 20, 1840.

His mother, Clara (Smith) James, was born in

Suffolk, Virginia. His great-grandfather was

one of Lord Baltimore's colonists in Maryland,

and his grandfather emigrated to North Caro-

lina. Our subject is the next to the youngest

of a family of seven children. He was married

March 14, 1837, to Elizabeth LeMay, of North

Carolina. She was of French origin. Two
years after his marriage he moved to Arkansas,

where in 1842 his wife died. February 8,

1846, he married Miss M. H. Johnson, of Mis-

souri, and by her had eight children. She died

in 1883, and in 1885 he again entered the mar-

riage relation, choosing this time Mrs. Disa

A. Francis, who comes from a prominent family

in Virginia. On April 17, 1852, Mr. James
left Arkansas for California, and after a slow

and tedious journey of seven months his ox

teams brought him in safety to Los Angeles

County, where he lived until 1857, near El

Monte. He worked there as a millwright and

carpenter, then moved to San Bernardino, and
was for several years engaged in lumbering from

the mountains. He hauled lumber to Los An-
geles, a distance of seventy miles, and sold it

for $42.50 per thousand feet. He paid $15 per

thousand feet for hauling it from the mountains.

In 1867 he was elected to the Legislature on the

Democratic ticket, and represented the county

in that body during the term of 1867-68; he
is now retired from active service and lives qui-

etly in his new home one and one-half miles

northeast of San Bernardino city.

fAMES B. SUMMONS, Jr., is one of the

early pioneers of Riverside, having located

in the colony in 1870. He is a native of

Cincinnati, Ohio, born in 1845. His grand-

father, Captain John B. Summons, was a prom-
inent and well-known citizen of Cincinnati, an

owner of river steamers carrying the mail, and
commander of same. He was a member of the

city council of that city for more than twenty-

five years. He was a Kentuckian by birth,

who in his early manhood settled in Cincinnati.

Mr. Summons was reared and educated in Cin-

cinnati until 1861, receiving his education in

the public schools and in Professor Herron's

Seminary. He was then sent to New York,

and entered upon a course of study in commer-
cial college. In 1862, although but seventeen

years of age, his patriotic and ambitious spirit

impelled him to respond to the call of his

country, for defense, and he enlisted in Com-
pany C, One Hundred and Thirty second New
York Volunteer Infantry, in New York city,
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September 9, 1862. To do this he ran away

from school and assumed the name J. B.

Lovell, so as to avoid the pursuit of his

guardian. His manly qualities and soldierly

bearing soon gained him promotion, and he

rose to a position on the non-commissioned

staff as R. G. G. and Sergeant-Major of the regi-

ment, and later, in 1864, as acting
t
aid-de-camp

on the staff of acting Brigadier-General P. J.

Classen, commanding in the district of Norfolk

and Suffolk. Mr. Summons' service was mostly

in North Carolina. He belonged to the Twenty-

third Army Corps, and was with General Sher-

man's array in southeastern Virginia. He par-

ticipated in the battles of Blackwater, and in

many of the engagements; also at Newbern,

and later at Goldsboro, Kingston, Raleigh, Little

Washington and Batchelor's Creek. The latter

is memorable as one of the hottest and most

obstinately fought engagements he ever parti-

cipated in. There were less than 600 Union

t-oops against nearly 15,000 Confederates.

Despite the immense odds the Union troops

held their position for nearly six hours, and cut

their way through the Confederate forces and

made good their retreat. Their losses were

severe, and but a remnant of the brave band

escaped.

Mr. Summons was mustered out of service

at the close of the war, in Salisbury, North

Carolina. He then returned to New York and

soon after went to Falls Tillage, Connecticut,

and there engaged in agricultural pursuits, and

also in the market business. In 1867 he lo-

cated at Glens Falls, New York, and engaged

in auction and commission business under the

firm name of Staples & Summons. In the

latter part of 1869 he established himself in

mercantile pursuits, in Fredericksburg, Vir

ginia. This proved a disastrous undertaking.

The feeling at that time in the South was strong

and bitter against Northern men, or " Yankees,"

as they were styled, and Mr. Summons' strong

Union sentiments, which he did not palliate or

deny, coupled with his being a veteran of the

late war, made him a special mark for persecu-

tion. Their enmity was so persistent and pro-

nounced that he was compelled, in order to save

himself from violence and possible death, to

seek safety in the North. He was compelled to

abandon his stock of goods, and was financially

ruined. He then proceeded to Washington and

besought the aid of the general Government in

redressing his wrongs. Failing in that, he came,

November 30, 1870, to California, with J. W.
North and family, and located in Riverside. At

that time there were scarcely a dozen persons in

the colony, and the contemplated improvements

had not been inaugurated. Without means for

the purchase of colony lands, had he so desired,

Mr. Summons sought land upon the Govern-

ment tract, and took up 120 acres about three

miles south of Riverside. This proved to be

railroad land, and at a later date he purchased

from the Southern Pacific Railroad Company,

at $30 per acre. He erected a cabin on his

tract and sought the means of support for his

family, and was engaged in such labor as he

could secure in Riverside, and later engaged as

a clerk in stores. During this time he was en-

gaged in horticultural pursuits upon his land

to the extent of his limited time and means.

In 1879 he established the well-known Arling-

ton nurseries upon his land, and was conduct-

ing them until 1889. In 1S82 he sold eighty

acres of his land to O. T. Dyar and Dr. Gill,

receiving $15,000, less $500 taken out by O.

T. Dyar, for commision, as the purchase price.

This enabled him to carry forward his im-

provements upon the balance in a ranch more

rapid and substantial manner. He how has

thirty-six acres located on Palm avenue, between

Central and Sahara avenues, all under cultiva-

tion and productive in yield. Many of his

trees are young and not in full bearing, but

his older trees, which are seedlings, produce a

wonderful crop. As an illustration of what he

is doing in orange-growing, it is worthy of

note that in 1888 he gathered from eighty- four

seedling trees, ten years old, from the planting,

25,000 pounds of fruit, which sold for two

cents per pound, bringing him the sum of
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$500. The improvements upon his place, con-

sisting of a fine two-story residence of modern

design, and well ordered outbuildings, are first-

class in every respect, and attest the success

that has crowned his efforts in Riverside.

He is well and favorably known in the com-

munity, and his earnest efforts have ever been

extended in aiding in the growth and prosper-

ity of his section. In political matters, Mr.

Summons is a stanch Republican. He was

clerk of the first election ever held in Riverside,

in 1872, and cast the first Republican vote polled

at that election. It is worthy of mention also,

that the first United States flag ever hoisted in

the Riverside colony was the banner he flung

to the breeze from the staff erected over his

little cabin on December 1, 1870. This was in

honor of the naming of Riverside, and was the

old soldier's baptismal ceremony, well fitted to

the man and to the occasion. He is a member
of (Jornman Post, No. 57, G. A. R., San Ber-

nardino, and is an aid-de-camp on the staff of

the Department Commander. He is also a con-

sistent member of the Congregational Church.

In 1865 Mr. Summons married Miss Harriet

E. Tibbits, daughter of Luther C. Tibbits, a

well-known pioneer of Riverside. She died in

1875, leaving one child, Daisy, who met a sad

death by drowning in the Santa Ana river in

1876. In 1878 Mr. Summons wedded Miss

Lydia M. D. Wilbur, daughter of John Wil-

bur, of Riverside. He has five children by

this marriage, Clara T., Frank J., Oliver W.
L., Albert B. and Lilly A. The fourth child,

John W., died in 1885, at the age of six months.

fAPTAIN JOSEPH S. GARCIA.—There

is no man in Ontario who is better

known or more respected than Captain

Joseph S. Garcia. He is a California pioneer

of the days of 1849, and has for the past twenty

years been identified with the agricultural and

horticultural interests of Cucamonga, Etiwanda

and Ontario. No history of San Bernardino

County would be complete without a more

than passing mention of Captain Garcia. He
was born on the island of Fayal in 1823. His

parents were subjects of Portugal and natives

of that island. His youth was spent in ac-

quiring an education until fourteen years of

age, and he was then apprenticed, to Captain

James Woolley, of the ship Louisa of Lynn,

Massachusetts, to learn the calling of a mariner

or seaman. His first experience was on a whal-

ing voyage, and later in various freighting

voyages to different ports of the world. The
subject of this sketch was a straightforward,

manly youth and an apt scholar, speaking flu-

ently four different languages, viz.: Portuguese,

Spanish, English and French. He made rapid

progress, and in 1847 was a second officer, and

two years later rose to be chief officer of some
of the famous packet ships of that day. In

1849 he was chief officer of the large clipper

ship " Mary Ellen," bound from Boston to San

Francisco, and upon his arrival at the latter

port he decided to try life in the new El Do-

rado of the West. He made his home in San

Francisco and in 1850 bought an interest in

the schooner " S. D. Bailey " and was placed in

command of the vessel in the coasting trade.

During the next eighteen years Captain Garcia

was actively employed as owner, master, etc.,

of vessels employed in deep water and coast-

ing voyages from the port of San Francisco.

He was well and favorably known in that city.

In 1869 he was induced by the Cucamonga
vineyard owners to take charge of that planta-

tion, and he took up his residence at that

place. In 1871 he purchased a 400-acre tract

and engaged in wine-making until 1874, when
he sold out to I. W. Hellman, I. M. Hellman,

J. G. Downey and B. Dreyfus, for the sum of

$45,000, and now it is worth about half a million

dollars. He then purchased several claims of

Government land and water rights from settlers

and built upon and improved the place, and

devoted it chiefly to the raising of cattle and

sheep. In 1881 he sold this interest to the

Ohaffey brothers (George and Win. B.) and they
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named it Etiwanda. Captain Garcia lived in

Cucamonga a year and then bonded 6,500 acres

of Cucamonga lands, then owned by a San

Francisco company comprising John Archibald,

Dr. Henry Gibbons, Sr., Captain Matthew

Turner and others, with half the water flowing

from San Antonio creek or canon, for $65,000,

to Chaffey brothers. It is now called Ontario.

In 1883 the Captain moved to Ontario, his

present home, which is a forty-acre tract on the

east side of Euclid avenue, between Seventeenth

and Eighteenth streets. Since that time he has

devoted himself to improving his lands. At this

writing he has twenty acres in fruits, classed

as follows: live acres in Washington Navel

oranges, four to five years old ; six acres in French

prunes and nine acres in peaches, apricots,

apples, pears and other deciduous fruits; twenty

acres of his land is devoted to hay and grain.

Captain Garcia has always taken a deep in-

terest in the success of the Ontario colony, and

has been a liberal supporter of all enterprises

that tended to advance the welfare of the com-

munity in which he resides. His straightfor-

ward, manly course of life has endeared him in

the hearts of a large circle of friends. He is a

strong supporter of schools and churches and is

a trustee in the First Presbyterian Church of

Ontario and was for many years a school trustee

in the Cucamonga district. In political matters

he is a Republican and has served many times

as a delegate in the county conventions, and as

a member of the Society of California Pioneers,

and also of Phoenix Lodge, F. &. A. M., of San

Bernardino.

In 1861 Captain Garcia was united in mar-

riage with Miss Elizabeth L. Ford, a native of

Vermont, and the daughter of Caleb Ford, a

prominent family of that State.

.
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SAAC W. WHITAKEF. is the pioneer of

Ontario. In January, 1883, Mr. Whitaker

was a resident of San Francisco, broken in

health, and it became a matter of absolute ne-

cessity that he seek a mild climate. He decided

to try Southern California, and on the 11th

day of that month himself and his brave wife

pitched their tent upon the land which he has

since occupied. The colony lands had been

surveyed and work was in progress in grading

avenues and piping water, but Mr. and Mrs.

Whitaker were the first settlers to occupy the

lands. All about them was a barren waste.

Not a tree and scarcely a plant was in sight. It

almost disheartening, but with courage

undaunted and a firm belief in the future they

went to work to build up a home. Their eyes

were soon gladdened by a sight of other settlers,

and it seemed but a short time before they ac-

tually had neighbors. A little shanty succeeded

the tent for a residence, and then a barn was

built and occupied as a home, and it was not

until 1885 that Mr. Whitaker's neat and comfort-

able cottage residence was built and occupied.

During these years he was engaged in clearing

his land and planting trees and vines, and soon

he found his desert bidding fair to become a

veritable garden of Eden. Mr. Whitaker has

planted a large variety of deciduous trees and

vines, but this year he is raising a nursery stock

of Washington Navel trees which will take the

place of his vineyards. His place is under a

high state of cultivation, and its varied products

find ready market. It is a source of attraction

to visitors, not only for its beauty but also be-

cause it is the pioneer fruit orchard of the beau-

tiful and productive Ontario.

Mr. Whitaker is a native of Kennebec County,

Maine, dating his birth in 1841. He is the son

of James and Dorcas (Mitchell) Whitaker. His

father was a well-known farmer of that county,

and for over forty years was a Justice of the

Peace in his township. The subject of this

sketch was educated in the schools of his native

place and reared to farm life. In 1862 he en-

tered the service of his country as a private in

Company G, Twenty-fourth Maine Volunteers,

and served in the Department of the Gulf. He
was engaged in the siege of Port Hudson, and

after that was on garrison duty at Vicksburg
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until the expiration of his term of service in

1863, when he was honorably discharged and

returned to his home. In 1864 he came by

steamer to California and located in Santa Clara

County, and there engaged in farming and hor-

ticultural pursuits until 1872. In that year he

moved to San Francisco, where he engaged in

various occupations, among which was that of a

hotel keeper, until failing health compelled his

leaving for his present residence.

Mr. Whitaker has never lost his faith in the

future prosperity of Ontario, and has always been

ready to aid in all movements tending to place

its varied resources before the world. He is an

energetic and progressive citizen, and is entitled

to the respect and esteem of the community

which his consistent course of life has given

him. He is a membpr of Ontario Post, No. 124,

G. A. R., and also of Central Lodge, No. 45,

F. & A. M., of China, Maine.

In 1862 Mr. Whitaker married Miss Deborah

Grafton, a native of Maine. She died in 1870,

leaving one child, Fannie E., now Mrs. Charles

Goodrich, of Skowhegan, Maine. In 1882 he

was united in marriage with Mrs. Hettie Swart,

[nee Hill), a native of Elmira, New York.

(BENEZER GRIFFIN BROWN ("Judge

L
Brown," as he is familiarly known) is one

of Riverside's well-known pioneers. He
was one of the original members of the Southern

California Colony Association, and with the late

Dr. Greves visited the lands now occupied by

the city June, 1870, the first members of the

association on the grounds. From the very first

he was the strongest advocate in demanding the

purchase by the association of these lands. His

persistency was of little avail at first, but he was

in earnest, and when Judge North, the presi-

dent of the company, refused to act in accordance

with his wishes, the judge returned to his home
in Iowa and set about forming another colony

association, with the express view of purchas-

ing the Riverside lands. This move hastened

the actions of the old association, and in Sep-

tember, 1870, the purchase was made and the

colony established. That being the result de-

sired by the Judge, he abandoned all further

proceedings, never intending or desiring a rival

to Riverside. He then settled hia affairs in

Iowa, and in May, 1871, established himself

and family in the new colony. He located upon

Government land in sections 13 and 24, secur-

ing 104 acres lying one-half mile north and east

of the Riverside town site on Colton avenue. His

means were limited, but he commenced his new
life and pursuits with that indomitable energy

and perseverance so characteristic of the man,

and which not even the fifty years that had con-

stituted a life's struggle could abate. His little

cabin 12x16 feet was erected; his ground

cleared, and horticultural pursuits entered upon,

and early in 1872 he planted vines and trees.

He also planted seeds and started his nursery

stock for an extended citrus-tree planting. He
was successful in his enterprise and gradually

increased his stock of this world's goods. His

orange-groves gradually extended their area. His

little cabin gave way to extended improvements,

and from its site sprang his present home, the

well-known " Anchorage." The Judge has a

magnificent orange-grove of twenty acres, about

one-half of which is devoted to seedling oranges,

and the balance to budded fruit of the Washing-

ton Navel and Mediterranean Sweet varieties.

He has also a large variety of deciduous fruits.

The balance of 100 acres of land is utilized in

general farming operations, and will soon be

planted to oranges. The " Anchorage " that

forms his home is a retreat for invalids and

tourists seeking Riverside as a health or pleas-

ure resort. It is a fine, two and three story

building, affording accommodations for thirty

guests, well ordered and complete in its appoint-

ments, surrounded by ornamental trees and

floral productions. The grounds are unusually

attractive, being fitted with appliances for out-

door sports, such as tennis, croquet and ten-pins;

with a charming flower garden, lawns, rustic

bridge, summer-house and awnings, great pep-
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per trees with hammocks and easy chairs, form-

ing altogether an ideal Southern California

home, a beautiful monument to the Judge's

labor, perseverance, taste and skill, and well de-

serves the name he has bestowed upon it. He
is a man of most genial manners and cultivated

taste, and has always been a devoted and self-

sacrificing husband and father. The genial host

and hostess seem to have but one object in life,

and that is the comfort, the health and the

pleasure of their guests. Mr. Brown is a na-

tive of Franklin County, Maine, born in 1821.

He was reared as a farmer. His educational

facilities were good and he closed his school-days

by graduating at the Maine Wesleyan Seminary

at Beadfield, in 1842. Upon reaching his ma-

jority he went to New York and spent the next

six years as a clerk in the mercantile establish-

ments of Elmira and Rochester, and then estab-

lished a general merchandise business in Elmira,

which he conducted ior some years. He then

moved to Iowa and established himself as a

grain-dealer at Cedar Bapids, and in the ware-

house business, under the firm name of S. C.

Bearer & Co. In the fall of 1863 he closed out

his business at Cedar Eapids and located at

Belle Flain, Benton County, and was there

engaged in mercantile life until he came to

California in 1871. Judge Brown has always

been one of the strongest supporters of Eiver-

side enterprises and industries, and is veil

known, respected and esteemed. For many
years he has been a consistent member of the

Episcopal Church and a senior warden of the

same. In politics he is a straight Eepnblican

and has been an adherent of the party since

1856. In 1874 he was appointed Justice of the

Eeace, and was twice re-elected to the same

position, holding the office until 1880. In 1850

Judge Brown was married to Miss Sarah Van
Wickle, a native of New York, but a descendant

of an old family of New Jersey. Though highly

connected socially and drawing about her always

the choicest people, she yet shared bravely in

the trials of pioneer life, and was in every truest

sense a " help-meet." There were three chil-

dren born to this marriage, two of whom are

still living, viz.: Settie C. and Lyman V. W.
His oldest daughter, Catherine L., married S. S.

Sweet, of Belle Flain, Iowa. She died in 1872.

Judge Brown's parents were Isaac and Sophia

(Clifford) Brown, both natives of New Hamp-
shire.

fHOMAS HOLMES is a well-known resi-

dent of Ontario, San Bernardino County.

He has for the past thirty years been

identified with the mining, mercantile, agricult-

ural and horticultural industries of the Pacific

coast. A review of his life is of interest. Mr.

Holmes was born in Lancashire England,

in 1834. His parents, James and Hannah

(Mort) Holmes, were natives of that place. In

1844 his father emigrated to the United States

and settled in Putnam County, Illinois, where

he engaged in farming and stock-growing. The

subject of this sketch received the benefits of a

common school education and became practi-

cally versed in the duties of a farmer. When
twenty years of age he started in life for him-

self, and spent the next five years in farm labor

and other occupations.

In the spring of 1859 he started on an over-

land trip for California. After undergoing the

usual hardships and labor attending a trip of

that character, he arrived in August of that year

and located in El Dorado County. His first

occupation was in the placer mines of that sec-

tion. He followed the calling of a miner in

the various counties of California until 1868.

In that year he entered Nevada and located

in Elko County. There he combined cattle-

raising with his mining enterprises, aud also

established a general merchandise store at

Truckee, under the firm name of Jones &
Holmes. The various enterprises were con-

ducted for several years. He was also engaged

with the Central Pacific Eailroad in the con-

struction of bridges, buildings, etc. During

the latter portion of his residence in Nevada,
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Mr. Holmes devoted the most of his attention

to the stock business.

In the spring of 1884, he decided to seek a

more genial climate, and he came to Ontario and

located upon a twenty-acre tract on the east side

of Euclid avenue, between Fourth and Fifth

streets. This tract he had purchased in 1883.

Immediately upon his arrival he commenced his

improvements and heartily entered into horti-

cultural pursuits. He also purchased the ten

acres adjoining his land on the east. He has

been eminently successful in his fruit-growing.

His lands now present a fine appearance and are

justly classed as among the representative groves

of Ontario. He has ten acres in Washington

Navel trees, planted in 1884, and ten acres in

raisin grapes of the Muscat variety. His east

ten acres is devoted to deciduous fruits, com-

prising about seve'i and one-half acres in French

prunes and two and one-half in pears. Every-

thing about this model ranch denotes the prac-

tical care and attention of the thorough horti-

culturist. He has applied to this, his latest

venture, the same energy and sound business

principles that secured his success in other

enterprises, and justly deserves the magnificent

results achieved.

He is a public-spirited citizen and has done

much to advance the interests of Ontario. In

political matters he has always been a stanch

Republican, and though not an office-seeker has

taken a part in the councils of the party, and for

years filled positions of trust and honor. He
was the Postmaster at Carlin, Nevada, from

1870 to 1884; from 1876 to 1880 he was the

County Commissioner of Elko County, and also

road supervisor and school trustee of his dis-

trict for years, and many times was a delegate

to both State and county conventions. He has

served as a delegate in the conventions of San

Bernardino County, is at present a member of

the Board of Supervisors, and is a member of

the County Central Committee. Mr. Holmes

is a member of the following orders: Elko

Lodge, No. 15, F. & A. M., of Elko, Nevada,

and Brooklyn Lodge, No. 46, I. O. O. F., of

Red Dog, Nevada County, California. In 1S77

Mr. Holmes was united in marriage with Mrs.

Marcia W. Barney, a native of Maine, and a

daughter of Hon. George Whitney, of Pittsfield,

of the same State. Bernice, her daughter, is

the only child.
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fEORGE LORD, President of the Society

of California Pioneers of San Bernardino

County, and a representative of the best

type of " Forty-niners," is a native of New York

city, and was born June 27, 1800, and conse-

quently was eighty-nine years old his last birth-

day. His father, George Lord, was a sea cap-

tain, who died of yellow fever at quarantine in

New York harbor, having contracted the disease

in the West Indies, whence his vessel had just

returned. The subject of this memoir being

left self-dependent when quite young, early

developed that remarkable decision of character

and equipoise which have characterized him in

later life. At the age of twenty-eight he left the

Empire State and went south, largely for the

improvement of his health, which had been

somewhat undermined by close application to

mercantile pursuits. Stopping for a time in

Louisville, Kentucky, he was there made an

Odd Fellow, being inducted into the order by

Past Master Wildy, who was sent over from

England to establish Odd Fellowship in the

United States. Mr. Lord joined Boone Lodge,

No. 1, in 1833, and is one of the oldest living

members of the order. On leaving Louisville

he spent about three years in St. Louis, when,

not finding the climate agreeable, he returned

North and lived a number of years in Richland

and Knox counties, in Ohio, engaged in mer-

chandising. In 1846 he went to Iowa, contin-

uing there in the mercantile business until 1848,

when he lost everything by fire. The excite-

ment over the discovery of gold in California,

reaching fever heat the following spring, Mr.

Lord purchased four yoke of oxen, and fitting

out with a wagon-load of supplies

—

including
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eight pairs of moccasins, seven pairs of which

lie wore out footing it across the plains—he

started in April, 1849, for the golden £1 Dorado,

via Green River and Fort Hall route. On the

way he saw numerous bands of Indians from

different tribes, among them a company of

Sioux warriors, whom he thought the finest

body of men, physically, that he ever saw.

Reaching Bear valley, California, September 8,

1849, he did his first mining in Steep Hollow.

He spent fourteen months in search for the yel-

low dust, and was successful above the majority,

taking out "an ounce" a day and upwards,

though the enormous cost of living reduced the

net savings to a much smaller sum, He and

his companions paid as high as $3 a pound for

butter, brought around Cape Horn; potatoes

were $3 per pound; onions $3 per pound; and

vinegar $16 a gallon. On one occasion he had

a friend to dine with him, and having onions,

fried potatoes, beefsteak and bread as the

bill of fare, the dinner for the two, exclusive

of bread, cost $8. They occasionally indulged

in a newspaper from " the States," which would

be a month old on reaching the camp, for which

they paid a dollar a copy.

Varying fortune rewarded their labor in the

mines: while prospecting on the Yuba river,

near where Downieville now is, they struck it

rich, and in one day he and his chum took out

of a pocket seven pounds and five ounces of

gold dust, and in a week they had taken out

$5,000. In 1851 Mr. Lord left for San Francisco

with $5,000 in gold dust, on his return trip

home. The Pacific coast metropolis was then

a rude country town, containing only one brick-

house. On arriving there the steamer had sailed

;

so he took passage on a sailing vessel, and

crossed the Isthmus by the then new Nicaragua

route, experiencing much delay and difficulty

in crossing. He returned to Iowa, expecting to

remain, but the Hawkeve State had lost its

charms for him, and as soon as he could dispose

of his interests there he prepared to move to

California. While in Iowa, in 1851, Mr. Lord

married Miss Arabella Singleton, a native of

England, who came to America when entering

her teens. Again crossing the plains, Mr. and

Mrs. Lord reached San Bernardino valley in the

summer of 1852. The Mormon colony had

come the previous year and purchased and set-

tled upon the Lugo ranch, in which was com-

prised the site of the city of San Bernardino.

Mr. Lord had intended to go on up to Santa

Clara valley and settle in or near San Jose; but,

finding abundant pasturage in this valley, he

sought and obtained permission from the presi-

dent of the colony to turn out his jaded teams

for a few weeks to recruit. With his candid,

outspoken nature, the Mormons soon learned

that he was not in sympathy with their religion,

and he was warned, at first gently, and after-

ward sternly, that his gentile presence was not

congenial to them, and that he " had better

move on." Mr. Lord is not made of the sort

of human clay that is driven or intimidated, and

this presumption on his rights as an American

citizen aroused a spirit of resentment, and he

determined to remain in the San Bernardino

valley. After trying in vain to purchase land

from the Mormon leaders, he went outside of

their possessions—Lugo ranch—and settled on

a 140-acre tract, four miles north of the present

city limits, on Lytle creek, which he improved,

and which was the home of himself and family

from January 3, 1853, till 1886, when he sold

it and moved into the city, getting for his ranch

ar.d water right $30,000. After locating on

what he supposed to be Government land, en-

tirely free from any encumbrances, he was still

persecuted and annoyed by pretended prior

claimants. Acting upon the advice of his wife,

to effect a peaceable settlement rather than

resort to force to vindicate his rights, he paid

the claims of two of the pretenders in gold

coin. The third one came after he had paid

for and obtained his title from the Government,

and, forbearance ceasing to be a virtue, Mr.

Lord informed him that his demands would be

settled with powder and lead if he persisted.

Mr. White did not press his claim.

Mr. Lord was the first to demonstrate the
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successful culture of the raisin grape—Mus-

cat—in this valley, early in the '60's, and took

the first prize ever offered in Los Angeles

County fur the finest box of raisins: a $5 gold

piece, it created quite a seusation, and he sup-

plied thousands of Muscat cuttings to people of

San Bernardino and adjacent counties. Up to

the time of the civil war, Mr. Lord had al-

ways affiliated with the Democratic party, but

when the old flag was fired upon and the life of

the nation threatened he at once joined the lie-

publican ranks and stood firmly for the Union.

He still marches in the ranks of the party of

Lincoln and Grant, Sherman, Garfield and Har-

rison. At the solicitations of his friends he

has twice been a candidate for the Legislature,

but was beaten both times by his Democratic

opponent. Mr. Lord was one of the organizers

of the Society of California Pioneers of San

Bernardino County, and is now serving his

second term as its president. He has been an

active and prominent member of the Masonic

order for sixty years, having joined the order

in 1828. He has filled all the chairs of the

local lodges in the Master's and Eoyal Arch

degrees, except secretary» On his eighty third

birthday, his Masonic brethren presented him

with an elegant gold watch and chain, as one of

the numerous tokens of their fraternal regard

for him. In Odd Fellowship he has been hon-

ored with every office in the local lodge. He
is a veritable patriarch in these two orders of

which he has been a zealous and honored mem-
ber for more than a generation.

Mr. and Mrs. Lord are the parents of two

sous and a daughter, the latter deceased. The

sons, George Lord, Jr., and Joseph S., are both

men of families, and reside in the immediate

vicinity of the city of San Bernardino. Their

father started each of them in life with a fine

homestead. Mr. and Mrs. Lord reside happily

in their pretty cottage home on D street, where,

and on an adjoining street, they own several

other nice pieces of improved property, the

z
-ents of which furnish them a comfortable in-

come. Mr. Lord, though in his ninetieth year,

is remarkably well preserved, physically and

mentally. Few men of sixty-five have as much
vigor and activity of mind and body as he now
possesses. Notwithstanding his meagre early

educational advantages, he is a well-informed

man; he is endowed with a natural gift for

extemporaneous speaking; ready in thought

happy in illustration and expression, he never

fails to entertain his auditors. He has always

led a temperate life, using neither alcoholic

liquors nor tobacco. Kindness of heart is a

prominent trait of his character. Unswerving
in his adherence to his convictions, his con-

science is his guide, and to do right his re-

ligion.

t^iMr*

fEORGE W. GARCELON is one of River-

side's pioneer settlers, and ranks among
the leading practical horticulturists of

the county. He was bom in .New Brunswick,

in 1832, and reared and schooled in his native

place until twenty years of age. In starting

in life on his own account he decided to estab-

lish himself in the United States. In 1852 he

located in Lewiston, Maine, and was there em-
ployed as clerk in the drug business. His close

attention and studies enabled him to master his

calling, and he became skilled as a druggist and

chemist, and in 1856 he established himself in

business as a druggist in that city. He mar-

ried in that city, in 1858, Miss Mary Tobie,

daughter of Edward P. Tobie, a well-known cit-

zen of Lewiston, who for more than thirty years

held the position of town and city clerk.

Mr. Garcelon was successful in his business

pursuits, and conducted them until 1872. In

that year he sought a home in California, and

located at Riverside. Soon after his arrival

he purchased a two-and-one-half acre block be-

tween Vine and Mulberry and Sixth and Seventh

streets and entered upon horticultural pursuits.

He also purchased a twenty-acre tract on Brock-

ton avenue, at the corner of Bandini avenue.

Mr. Garcelon entered heartily into his new call-
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iiig, growing his own nursery stock and planting

citrus and deciduous trees. His experience was

that of all pioneers in the fruit-growing of

Riverside. Many of his deciduous trees in later

years were uprooted and replaced by orange and

lemon trees. He now has one of the finest

groves in the colony. He also had unbounded

faith in citrus fruit-growing in Riverside, and

fpent time and money in advancing the in-

dustry.

The history of the citrus fairs of the world

dates its first effort in the spring of 1877.

when the orange groves of Riverside submit-

ted their products to the inspection of the

horticultural world in the parlor of Mr. Garce-

lon's modest home. It was the birth of the

Citrus Fair Association, with such men as Mr.

Garcelon, A. S. White, H. J. Rudisill and other

public-spirited citizens as its chief promoters.

Mr. Garcelon early saw the possibilities of the

lemon-growing industry. The great problem

to be solved was the proper curing and pre-

serving to enable the producers to successfully

compete with the foreign lemons imported into

the country. He spent years in study and

experimental research, and after ten years of

time and labor his efforts have been rewarded

by success, and he has added another source of

untold wealth to the citrus-fruit growers of

Southern California. He has erected a storage

warehouse and lemon-curing establishment of a

capacity of 3,000 boxes on the corner of Brock-

ton and Bandini avenues. His process and

means of curing are not known to the public,

but it is worthy of note that his lemons, in

1889, after nine or ten months storage in his

establishment, were perfect, and were valued in

the San Francisco market at $10 per box—$2

more per box than first-class foreign lemons

commanded.

Mr. Garcelon has not allowed his horticultural

industries to lessen his interest in other indus-

tries that have built up the city and colony, and

meritorious enterprises have found a liberal

supporter in him. In political matters he is a

stanch Republican. Although never an office-

seeker his ability and worth has commanded

attention. In 1888 he was prevailed upon to

submit hitnselt as a candidate for Supervisor

from his district, and was elected for four years.

He is a member of the Board of Trade, and in

1886 was one of Riverside's representatives to

the Chicago Fair. A strong supporter of

schools and churches, he has for many years

been a member and trustee of the Congrega-

tional Church. He is a member of Riverside

Chapter, No. 68, Royal Arch Masons, and Riv-

erside Commandery, No. 28, Knights Templar.

—£h9l®WH^~-

fRRIN BACKrJS, a horticulturist and

business man of Riverside, was born in

Columbus, Ohio, March 16, 1822. His

father, Andrew Backus, and mother, Bathsheba

(King) Backus, were natives of Massachusetts,

and representatives of old colonial families.

Andrew Backus was a soldier of the war of

1812-'14; he enlisted twice, first under Captain

Chase, again under Captain Greenleaf Pratt;

he received 160 acres of land and a pension,

by act of Congress. Mrs. Hannah Alden, the

mother of Andrew Backus and grandmother of

Orrin Backus, was sixth in lineal descent from

John Alden, of Mayflower pilgrims. Andrew

Backus emigrated to Columbus, Ohio, in 1816,

one of the pioneers and first to engage in the

manufacture of furniture.

Orrin Backus received a good schooling, com-

pleting his studies at the Granville College, of

Ohio. His young manhood, aside from secur-

ing his education, was spent in assisting his

father in his business. In 1846 he was appoint-

ed assistant clerk and visitor guide in the Ohio

Penitentiary at Columbus. He remained on

duty during two cholera seasons, when about

113 prisoners and three physicians died. In

1850 he and his brother, Lafayette, engaged in

mercantile pursuits in the grocery business in

Columbus, Ohio. In 1862 to 1865, during the

Rebellion, was captain in charge of the steamer

Diadem, and was employed on the Ohio and
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Mississippi and its tributaries by the United

States Government in the transportation of

troops, commissary stores and munitions of war,

and it was one of danger and hardship. He

took part in military expeditions, and ran the

gauntlet of Rebel batteries, on the Tennessee,

Yazoo, Mississippi, and up Red river with General

A. J. Smith's Sixteenth and Seventeenth Army
Corps, with Colonel Gilbert's Twenty-seventh

Iowa Regiment. The steamer Diadem was the

flag-ship, post of honor and danger, taking the

lead of thirty-five transports from Vicksburg.

At the close of the war he resigned his posi-

tion and returned to Columbus to his family

and business, with his brother. In 1867 he

located in Cleveland and engaged in the whole-

sale and retail jewelry trade until 1874. He
was then elected secretary and treasurer of the

Cleveland Boiler Plate Company, where there

were 200 men employed. In 1876 he was

elected secretary and treasurer of the Atchison

Bridge Company, the office being in Cleveland.

June 16, 1854, Mr. Orrin Backus was mar-

ried to Miss Ella V. McGaw, of Fairfield, Iowa.

In 1879 his wife's ill health decided him to re-

tire from business and to accompany her to a

more genial climate, seeking a restoration of her

health; but the changes only gave temporary

relief. She died February 4, 1882, in Cleve-

land.

December 4, of the same year, Mr. Backus

started with his son, W. H. Backus, and family

for Riverside, California, where they located and

bought an orange grove of thirteen acres, and

engaged in horticulture, and they have one of

the representative orange groves and raisin vine-

yards of his section; also bought a ten-acre

ranch on Magnolia avenue. W. H. Backus cures

and packs his raisin crop.

Mr. Backus is one of the original incorpo-

rators of the Riverside Bauking Company, and

has been a director of the bank since its organ-

ization in 1885; he was Iso an incorporator

and director of the First National Bank of San

Bernardino. He owns a one-fifth interest in a

large stock ranch, Las Penisquitas, about 7,000

acres. Politically he has been a stanch Repub-

lican since the party organization in 1856. He
is a member of Arlington Presbyterian Church,

and served some years as one of its trustees.

He is also a member of the I. O. O. F. and Cap-
ital Encampment, Columbus, Ohio. His wife

and three children have died. His son, W. H.
Backus, married Miss Ida J. Cronenberg in

1881; they live in Riverside, and have two chil-

dren, a son and daughter.

S
' i 'O

fOSEPH HOLMES, one of the representa-

tive horticulturists of Ontario and progress-

ive citizens of San Bernardino Couuty,
came to California in 1883 and located in the

Ontario colony as one of its early settlers, and
has ever since taken a leading part in building

up his chosen section and advancing its inter-

ests. His home is on the corner of Fourth
street and Campus avenue, where he has erected

a substantial two-story residence, well furnished

and fitted with modern conveniences. He has

surrouuded his home with ornamental trees and
rich floral plants. His twenty-acre tract is lo-

cated between Third and Fourth streets and east

of Campus avenue. Upon this tract he has, for

the past six years, been engaged in horticultural

pursuits. He has now twelve acres in oranges,

also a choice variety of lemons, and a family

orchard of deciduous fruits. Seven acres are

devoted to vineyard, producing raisin grapes of

the Muscat variety. All af his trees and vines

have a remarkably fine growth and attest the

intelligent care bestowed upon them.

Mr. Holmes is a native of Trenton, New Jer-

sey, and dates his birth November, 1819. His
parents, Samuel and Hannah (Jackson) Holmes,

were natives of England. His father came to

the United States in 1816, and his mother in

1800. When Mr. Holmes was about six years

old his parents located at Kensington, near Phi-

ladelphia, and there he was reared and schooled

for the next ten years. In 1835 the family

moved to Illinois and settled in Putnam County,
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and engaged in farming. The subject of this

sketch remained with his parents, engaging in

farming, until 1846. In that year he married

Miss Avis F. Taber, who was born in Massa-

chusetts May 21, 1825. Her parents, Benjamin

and Merab (Folger) Taber, were also natives of

that State. After his ms.rri}<ge Mr. Holmes

started in life for himself and located in the

town of Henry, Marshall County, where he fol-

lowed the occupation of a farmer until 1868.

He then moved to Lodi, Iroquois County, where

he resided until he moved to his present resi-

dence. In whatever section Mr. Holmes has

resided he has always gained the respect and

esteem of the community, and has been called

upon to fill positions of honor and trust. In

his Illinois home he was twice elected as super-

visor of his township, and was also twice elected

as assessor and commissioner of roads. In On-

tario he is a stockholder in the Ontario Water

Company, and one of its former directors. He
is now one of the regents of the Chaffey College.

He has for years been a consistent member of

the Swedenborgian church. In political matters

he is a straightforward Eepubliean and may al-

ways be found taking a deep interest in his party

and allied with its best elements. Of the chil-

dren born to Mr. and Mrs. Holmes but five are

living, viz.: Sarah T., now Mrs. Stephen P.

Weaver; Mary, Joseph H., who married Miss

Angelica Veder; Avie M. and Samuel J. Jo-

seph A. Holmes is a resident of Phoenix, Ari-

zona, where he is engaged in the milling busi-

ness. The rest of the children are residents of

Ontario.

fOHN BROWN, Sr., was born in Worcester,

Massachusetts, in 1817, and when but a

boy came to St. Louis, Missouri, with his

parents, where they died. He began rafting on

the Mississippi and then went to New Orleans,

and thence by ship to Galveston, suffering a

shipwreck on his route. He returned to Fort

Leavenworth by the Bed River route. Was at

the battle of San Jacinto, and first saw Santa

Ana when taken prisoner. Bemained two years

at Fort Leavenworth; and then went to the

Rocky Mountains and for fourteen years hunted

and trapped from the headwaters of the Colum-

bia and Yellowstone, along the mountain

streams southward so far as the Comanche

country in northern Texas, in company with the

following named mountaineers: James Waters,

V. J. Herring, Kit Carson and others. Was
engaged sometimes with the fur companies and

at other times as a fur trapper among the Kio-

was, Arapahoes, Cheyennes, Apaches, Utes,

Mandans, Reese River, Sioux, Crows, etc., and

helped to build several forts. During this

period of his life he had many encounters with

bears and Indians, with hairbreadth escapes,

which, if properly written, would make a book

full}' as interesting as Kit Carson's travels or

Irving's Captain Booneville.

When the gold fever reached the mountain-

eers in 1849, Messrs. Brown, Waters, Lupton

and White joined one of the emigrant trains

bound for the source of the world's excitement,

arriving at Sutter's Fort, September 1, 1849, and

first beginning to mine on the Calaveras river.

In November Mr. Brown moved to Monterey,

California, and passed the winter; and with

Messrs. Waters and Godey opened the St. John's

hotel and livery stable at the Mission of San

Juan. Was twice elected Justice of the Peace.

His health becoming impaired he was advised

by Dr. Ord and other physicians to go south.

In April, 1852, he went to San Francisco,

boarded the schooner " Lydia," Captain Haley

commander, and after a week's voyage down the

coa6t, landed with his family at San Pedro.

After two weeks' search he decided on San Ber-

nardino as his place of residence, arriving here

in May, over thirty-five years ago. At this

point there was then but a small fort erected as

a protection against Indians. The town and

valley furnished pasturage for thousands of

cattle and horses owned by the Lugo family.

North of town was one vast wheat-field. In

1853 Mr. Brown moved to the Yucipa ranch
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and began stock-raising. At that time Los

Angeles County extended on the east to the Col-

orado river, and the site of Los Angeles, then

but a village, was the county seat; and all busi-

ness of a legal character had to be transacted

there, sixty miles distant. Experiencing this

great inconvenience, Mr. Brown was the first to

propose a division of the county; and lor this

purpose recommended Captain Jefferson Hunt

as a proper person to represent the people in

the eastern section at the Legislature, which

passed an act dividing Los Angeles County and

organizing San Bernardino County. By said

act Mr. Brown, Isaac Williams, H.G.Sherwood

and David Seely were constituted a board to

designate election precincts, appoint inspectors,

receive returns and issue certificates of election.

According to the act the election took place in

June, 1853. The business of the county was

done by a court of sessions, consisting of the

county judge, Andrew Lytle and John Brown,

justices of the peace.

In 1854 Mr. Brown discovered the first gold

in Bear valley, and in 1856 moved to San Ber-

nardino from Yucipa, where he had been a res-

ident for some time. In 1861, seeing the diffi-

culty of an outlet from his adopted town to

southern Utah and Arizona Territory, he pro-

cured a charter from the Legislature for a right

to construct a wagon road through the Cajon

pass, now occupied by the Santa Fe railroad;

and he soon had a way open for the traveling

public, bound to the various mining camps

north of the mountains, furnishing thereby a

gateway to San Bernardino until the completion

of the Santo Fe railroad. In 1862 he went to

Fort Mojave and established a ferry across the

Colorado and was instrumental in getting troops

stationed at Cape Cady to protect the mail.

When a donation was required to connect San

Bernardino with the outside world, Mr. Brown

headed the list with $100. Again, when $100,-

000 was required to build the Southern Pacific

road to San Bernardino, he headed the list

with $4,000, and asked for ninety-nine others

to do the same; but as $25,000 was all that

;vas subscribed, the road was located through

Col ton.

In 1875 he assisted in procuring mail service

to Bear and Holcomb valleys; and during the

winter of 1873-'74 he delivered the mail to

those mining camps when the snow was two to

three feet deep.

Mr. Brown has taken an active part in the

political field. Ever since 1860 he has been a

stanch Republican. In that year, in company
with six others, he organized the Republican

party in his section, under circumstances not

the most flattering, and after a vigorous canvass

carried the district for Lincoln. Since 1876 he

has lived in comparative retirement, having

raised and educated a large number of children,

all of whom are highly esteemed citizens.

-—^€B-£#
iISS ANNA L. FULLER, of Azusa, is

the daughter of Harrison Fuller, of

Azusa, Los Angeles County. She is a

native of Maryland, from whence her parents

moved to Iowa, and from thence to California

in 1883. Miss Fuller took an interest in music

from earliest childhood, and studied it whilst

yet in her teens, under excellent teachers in

Philadelphia and New York. She was first

sopranoatSt. Stephen's church in Philadelphia,

three years, which position she resigned in 1886,

to go abroad to study music. In Florence,

Italy, she studied under Vannucini; in London,

under Randegger (oratorio), and in Berlin, with

Mine. Artot. At present she is the favorite

pupil of the eminent operatic singer and teacher,

Mine. La Grange, of Paris, who prophesies for

her a brilliant future in opera. Miss Fuller,

when a mere child, showed the mimetic faculty

in connection with her strong liking for music.

Good judges who have heard her discover in

her singing a flavor of Materna, the great

German dramatic soprano. Miss Fuller sang in

concert, in Berlin and London, with success last

year, winning the commendation of the severest

critics" of those great centers of art. She has
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a pure, magnificent soprano voice, of great

power, the developing of which has been under

some of the best masters in Europe.

She is now devoting herself, under the guid-

ance of La Grange, exclusively to preparation

for her appearance in grand opera, and expects

to make her debut in the opera of Aida, in the

near future. Her friends have every reason to

expect that she will achieve a brilliant success.

fEORGE L. HISOM, County Clerk of San

Bernardino County, came into the office in

January, 1883, as a deputy under W. F.

Holcomb, and in the fall of 1886 was elected

on the Republican ticket, as Mr. Holcomb's

successor, and assumed the duties of office in

January, 1887. His obliging and affable nature

and his previous training made Mr. Hisom a

very popular and efficient officer, and in the fall

of 1888 he was re-elected as his own successor

by 600 votes majority; consequently he is serv-

ing his second term, since January, 1889.

Mr. Hisom is a Pennslyvanian by birth, but

passed his childhood and school days in Elmira,

New York. In 1875 he came to California, a

youth of seventeen years; since that time he

lias made his home in San Bernardino County.

He was employed from 1880 to 1883, as a

member of the engineering corps which was

surveying and locating the California South-

ern Roilroad from Barstow to San Diego, un-

der Fred T. Perris, as assistant engineer.

Few men in San Bernardino County are as

well informed upon the county, its resources

and people as Mr. Hisom, who is one of its

intellgent and progressive citizens.

SAAC W. HAZELETT, M. D., one of the

longest in practice in San Bernardino, and a

leading member of the medical profession in

this county, was born in Cincinnati, Ohio, Octo-

ber 6, 1855; was reared from infancy till seven-

teen years of age at Zanesville, Ohio, and re-

ceived his early education in the public schools

of that city and in the Ohio Wesleyau Uni-

versity. He prosecuted his medical studies in

Jefferson Medical College, Philadelphia, Penn-

sylvania, graduating therefrom in March, 1879,

having been resident house physician in the hos-

pital for a year previous. After graduation he

spent two years in the hospital, eight months of

the time in the Philadelphia Marine Hospital.

Locating in Wilmington, Delaware, Dr. Haze-

lett soon attained a very large practice, suffi-

cient to have earned a competent fortune in

a few years; but overwork and exposure in

that trying climate induced hemorrhage of

the lungs, and after six severe attacks, in

wlmh he came near losing his life, he aban-

doned his prosperous business and left the city

to seek a more congenial climate. After

spending a few months in Philadelphia, and

suffering from further hemorrhages, he started

for California. Arriving here he visited the

principal points in the southern part of the

State, practiced three months in Los Angeles,

was compelled to leave on account of the moist-

ure; finally he selected San Bernardino as the

best location for him, and settled here in Au-
gust, 1883. His health rapidly improving, he

has been actively engaged in his profession

ever since, and now he and his partner, Dr.

J. N. Bayliss, do a practice among the largest

in this connty. His lung trouble has been

fully arrested, and he enjoys good physical

health.

Dr. Hazelett was instrumental in bringing

Dr. Bayliss to this coast from the East, and

their partnership dates from the latter's arrival,

over three years ago. Dr. Bayliss was educated

for his profession in the University of Pennsyl-

vania, and after spending a year in St. Mary's

Hospital, came directly to Safc Bernandino.

They are both members of the Southern Cali-

fornia and San Bernardino County Medical

societies. Dr. Hazelett is also a member of the

State Medical Society.

He married Miss Irwin, in Philadelphia, her
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native city. Of their three children, two sons

and a daughter, the latter only survives, and is

now nine years of age.

#?-3-£#

fAPTAIN NELSON GREEN GILL, Post-

master of San Bernardino, came to Cali-

fornia from Toulon, Illinois, in March,

1849, with a team composed of lour oxen and

two cows. He came by way of St. Joseph,

Fort Laramie, Fort Hall and Lassen's cut-off,

with a train composed of twenty two wagons.

They brought with them a ferry-boat, which

they used in crossing the North Platte and

Green rivers, afterward selling it for $100.

They arrived in Sacramento valley, September

26, 1849. Leaving his ox teams at Bidwell's

ranch, Captain Gill started for the mines on

Feather river. After he had been in the mines

a few months, provisions ran short, and he and

a fellow miner started with their oxen and

wagon for Sacramento to lay in a supply. The

Sacramento river was swollen to a flood, and,

becoming involved in the flood, they lost their

wagon and oxen, and Mr. Gill's companion lost

his life. Three months elapsed before Mr.

Gill got back to camp; he had lost everything

he started with, including $600 in gold. Not

being successful at mining and being troubled

with scurvy, as were many others, he, accom-

panied by a mining companion, started for Los

Angeles, walking to Marysville on foot. They

took a row boat to Sacramento, thence, by

steamer, to San Francisco; then, not having

money enough to buy two tickets, they walked

all the wa}T
, 500 miles, to Los Angeles, arriving

in November, 1850. He and his friend rented

twenty acres of land about twenty miles from

Los Angeles, from John Reed, sowed ten acres

of it to wheat and ten to barley during the

winter of 1850-'51. They had an extraordinary

crop, the yield being 400 bushels of clean wheat

and about the same quantity of barley. This

wheat was ground in John Rowland's mill and

hauled to Los Angeles and sold; it was prob-

ably the first wheat grown in California for

market. Mr. Gill then returned to the mines

and spent the years 1852-'53 mining with in-

different success. Returning to Los Angeles

he engaged in herding stock and shipping Mis-

sion grapes (the only variety then known here)

to San Francisco. Returning to mining he

spent some two or three years on Feather and

Trinity rivers, and in 1857, went East, via Ari-

zona and Texas, driving a six-mule team for the

overland mail company, and reaching home in

January, 1858.

In August, 1861, he entered the Union army

as a private in the Thirty third Illinois Infantry,

known as the "Normal" Regiment, being com-

posed largely of students from the State Nor-

mal School. He served four years in the army

and rose by successive promotions to Captain,

having command of a company nearly two years

before being mustered out. After the war he

settled in Holly Springs, Mississippi, where he

took an active part in politics, and filled a num-

ber of important local offices. He was first

appointed Postmaster by President Grant;

subsequently was appointed by the Governor,

President of the Board of Supervisors; and

was twice elected to the Mississippi Legislature,

serving four years in that body. Fearless in

advocating his political convictions and enter-

ing into each campaign with a will and energy

that brooked no defeat, Captain Gill was recog-

nized as a power in that State. In 1879 he

removed to Kansas, settling near Emporia;

while there he was a delegate to the county

convention two years, also a delegate to the

convention that organized the State Farmers'

Alliance, and elected first vice-president of the

Alliance. In the spring of 1882, he removed

to California and settled at Ontario, San Ber-

nardino County, his being the first family in

that place. He plowed the ground and planted

out seventy-three acres of raisin grapes and

oranges and they are now bearing. In 1884,

he was elected Sheriff of that county and served

two years. In March, 1886, he bought twenty-

two acres on the north border of the city,
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which he still owns, besides being interested in

several other pieces of property. June 18,

1889, he was appointed by President Harrison

to his present position, and took charge of the

postoffice August 1, 1889.

Captain Gill has been twice married. His

first wife, Miss Whitford, was quite renowned

as an educator, having founded and made a great

success of the freedmen's school at Holly Springs,

which under her administration grew till it had

as high as 250 pupils in attendance, requiring

a number of assistant instructors. She was the

mother of one son by Captain Gill, who now

resides in San Bernardino County. The Cap-

tain's present wife was Miss Winnie Whitford,

born and reared on the border of Chautauqua

lake, New York. Two children, a daughter and

son, constitute their family. Captain Gill was

also born in New York, in 1830. He is a gen-

tleman noted for his social qualities, and his

inherent force of character adapts him for a

leader amon" his fellows.

fOLONEL WILLIAM R. TOLLES, Presi-

dent of the San Bernardino Board of Trade

and one of the most enterprising and

public-spirited citizens of the county, was born

in Litchfield County, Connecticut, in 1823.

His father was one of the original settlers of

the famous "Western Reserve" in northern

Ohio, having moved there and settled in Geau-

ga County in 1837; there William passed his

youth, excepting five or six winters which he

spent in the South for the benefit of his health.

He was in Arkansas when the Legislature of

that State declared its secession from the Union,

and he was a passenger on the last river steamer

coming northward that was not intercepted.

On reaching home he enlisted as a member of

the Forty-first Ohio Volunteer Infantry, as Cap-

tain of a company. In 1862 he returned, and

aided in recruiting a regiment of 1,180 men in

three weeks, and was commissioned its Lieu-

tenant-Colonel, it being the One Hundred and

Fifth Ohio Infantry. Colonel Hall, his superior,

died about three months after the regiment was

organized, and Colonel Tolles was promoted to

the command of the regiment, and tilled the po-

sition until his broken health compelled him to

resign in the early part of 1865. He went to

Ohio, remaining until the spring of 1867. when

he went to Michigan, and in company with a

brother, engaged in the lumber business till

1872. The following spring he came to Cali-

fornia almost a complete physical wreck. He
came directly to Los Angeles and spent several

months prospecting over that and other counties

of Southern California, choosing San Bernardino

as the most desirable as a permanent home for

climatic and other reasons: he located on a sol-

dier's homestead of 160 acres, in what is now

Redlands. He stuck the first stake "and made

the first improvements on that now valuable and

popular locality, which up to that time had

been used as a cattle range. In the fall of 1873

he built a house, and, January 8, 1874, moved

into it. The location was named Lugonia, in

memory of the Lugo brothers, the former own-

ers of the grant of which it was a part.

Having read the best Spanish authorities on

orange culture in Europe, he was convinced that

they could be raised at Lugonia, and, notwith-

standing the prevailing opinion to the contrary,

sent to San Francisco for a barrel of rotten

oranges, cleaned and planted the seeds in June,

1874. The seventh year from the seed, these

seedling trees bore a partial crop, and the eighth

year a full crop. He planted fifty acres of his

land, dividing it equally between oranges and

lemons, deciduous fruits and raisin grapes. In

May, 1874, his residence and all it contained

was destroyed by tire, which was a severe loss to

him at the time, as he was not financially fore-

handed, for, although he owned a farm in Michi-

gan, it yielded little or no revenue then. He
cultivated the land between the rows of young

fruit trees to vegetables, from which he realized

$50 per acre. In 1878 his nursery stock of

peach and apricot trees was large enough, so
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he planted ten acres of orchard, and in 1881 he

received $100 per acre for the fruit crop on

these tree-; and the same year he grew and

harvested nearly 9,000 pounds of sweet potatoes

between the trees on the ten acres, which lie

sold at from three to five cents per pound.

While improving his ranch, he, with others,

succeeded in purchasing 1,500 acres of land,

subdivided it and sold some of it to settlers for

$25 per acre, which, now with its improvements,

is worth $1,000 per acre. In 1882, Colonel

Tolles sold his ranch for $250 per acre. He and

his family spent one summer on the terrace

north of Colton, and have since resided in San

Bernardino. In the summer of 1887 they

made a tour up the coast to Alaska, which they

enjoyed much. Besides several ten acre tracts

which he has in Lugonia, he is a joint owner in

seventy acres of very choice land at Old San

Bernardino.

Colonel Tolles has been thrice married. His

first wife was the only child of Richard and

Lucinda Beach. No issue now living. His

second wife was Miss Hitchcock, an Ohio lady,

whose father was one of the pioneers of the

Western Reserve, settling in Burton, Geauga

County, Ohio, was a lawyer by profession and

for twenty-two years a Supreme Judge of the

State. Her brother, Professor L. Hitchcock,

was formerly president of Hudson College.

Another brother, Reuben Hitchcock, a noted

lawyer, was many years attorney for the Pitts-

burgh & Fort Wayne Railroad; and still another,

Peter, was State Senator and Representative of

Geauga County, Ohio, for several years, and a

director of the public Institution for Feeble-

minded Children, at Columbus, Ohio. She left

two children. The Colonel's present wife was

Miss Fisk, a native of New York, whom he

married in Iowa, but whose home from the age

of six had been near Kalamazoo. Michigan.

They have one daughter, residing with her par-

ents. Colonel Tolles was one of the organizers

and principal promoters of the San Bernardino

Board of Trade, and is now president of that

body, whose laudable object is to encourage and

advance by every honorable means the growth

and prosperity of San Bernardino County.

-. .g . I..I .
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tLBERT E. PHELAN, M. D., one of the

leading physicians of San Bernardino

County, and a representative of the pro-

gressive school of medicine, was born in Mont-

real thirty-two years ago; he was graduated at

the University of Bishop's College in that city in

1886, and the following year was graduated at

the College of Physicians and Surgeons in Que-

bec, having had charge during theyearsl886-'87

of the Western Hospital as house surgeon. He
came to San Bernardino in September, 1887,

and immediately settled in practice, forming a

partnership with Dr. C. G. Campbell, a promi-

nent old physician of the city, which continued

until Dr. Campbell retired from practice, when

Dr. Phelan succeeded to the large professional

business of the firm. In January, 1887, Dr. G.

B. Rowell came on from Montreal, at Dr.

Phelan's solicitation, and upon his arrival the

present partnership of Phelan & Rowell was

formed. This enterprising firm enjoys an ex-

tensive and lucrative private practice among the

best families of the city and vicinity. The

major portion of the surgical work of the county

is done by this firm.

They are examining surgeons for the following

lite insurance companies: the New York Life,

the Union Central of Cincinnati, the Bankers'

Alliance of Los Angeles, the Bankers' and Mer-

chants' of San Francisco, the Mutual Reserve

Fund of New York, and the Pacific Mutual of

San Francisco. They are also examining sur-

geons for the societies: Ancient Order of United

Workmen, Knights of Pythias, Independent

Order of Foresters, Royal Arcanum, and the

Brotherhood of Locomotive Engineers. Dr.

Rowell is the local surgeon for the Santa Fe

Railroad Company. They are both members of

the San Bernardino County Medical Society,

and of the Southern California Medical Society.

Dr. Rowell was graduated at McGill University,
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Montreal, in 1884; the College of Physicians

and Surgeons, Quebec, in 1885; and at the

Royal College of Surgeons, London, England, in

1886. He practiced in Montreal until starting

for California. Besides his general practice he

devotes special attention to the treatment of the

eye and ear.

Both in the full vigor of manhood and edu-

cationally equipped for their chosen profession,

they have a future of great promise before them.

**•<&<**

5ILL1AM JESSE CURTIS, attorney at

law in San Bernardino, is the oldest son

of Hon. I. C. Curtis and Mrs. Lucy

M. Curtis. His father was for many years a

prominent, member of the bar of Marion

County, Iowa, and represented that county for

several terms in the State Legislature. His

mother is the daughter of Jesse L. Holman,

one of the judges of the Supreme Court of the

State of Indiana, and a sister of Hon. William

S. Holman, now a distinguished member of

Congress from that State. Mr. Curtis was

born at Aurora, Indiana, on the 2d day of

August, 1838. In 1844, he moved with his

parents, to the then Territory of Iowa, and

settled in Marion County, near the present city

of Pella. The Central University of Iowa was

afterward located at Bella, and Mr. Curtis at-

tended that institution for several terms. He

read law in his father's office and was admitted

to the bar in 1863, and immediately became a

partner with his father in the practice of his

profession.

In 1861 he married Miss Frances S. Cowles,

a daughter of Leonard H. Cowles, of Delaware,

Ohio. In 1864 he crossed the plains with ox

and mule teams, came to California and settled

in San Bernardino, where he has resided ever

since. The first few years after his arrival in

California, he devoted to teaching school.

After this he engaged in farming for several

years, but as a practical farmer he was a signal

failure, though he still insists that he knows

how a farm should be conducted. During all

these years Mr. Curtis cherished the idea of at

some time returning to his chosen profession

—

the practice of law—but, owing to his financial

condition and to the small amount of legal

business in this county at that time, and to the

further iact that there were more than a suffi-

cient number of old and experienced lawyers

then in practice in the county to attend to all

the business therein, he hesitated to enter the

race with these gentlemen who had already es-

tablished reputations as safe and reliable law-

yers. He decided, however, during the latter

part of the year 1871, to again practice law,

and on the 1st day of January, 1872, in con-

nection with Judge A. D. Boren, he opened a

law office in the city of San Bernardino.

Clients came slowly, but his business grad-

ually grew. In 1873 he was elected District

Attorney of San Bernardino County, and was

re-elected in 1875. After the expiration of his

second term as District Attorney, he formed a

partnership with Hon. H. C. Rolfe, which con-

tinued until September, 1879, when Mr. Rolfe

was elected Superior Judge. On the 1st day

of October, 1879, Mr. Curtis formed a partner-

ship with Hon. John W. Satterwhite, which

continued until October, 1884, when Mr. Sat-

terwhite retired from practice on account of

ill health, and shortly after died. Mr. Curtis

continued the business alone until February,

1885, when, finding that he had a larger prac-

tice than he could well attend to, he entered

into partnership with George E. Otis, Esq., and

this firm is one of the most prominent and re-

liable in Southern California. Mr. Curtis has

been connected with most of the important liti-

gation that has arisen in San Bernardino

County during the last ten years. He is a

director of the First National Bank of San

Bernardino, and vice president of the San Ber-

nardino and Redlands Railroad Company. He
has always taken an interest in educational mat-

ters, and has served as a member of the City

Board of Examination and chairman of the City

Board of Education.
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He has a modest but pleasant home in the

city of San Bernardino, and enjoys the respect

and confidence of those who know him best.

PENJAMIN B. HARRIS, attorney at law,

City Clerk of San Bernardino, and treas-

urer of the Society of California Pioneers

of San Bernardino County, was born in Hanover

County, Virginia, in 1824. When seventeen

years of age he went to Nashville, Tennessee,

and was there educated, graduating at Nash-

ville University in 1845; studied law in a pri-

vate office in that State, and was admitted to the

bar of Tennessee. In 1847 lie went to Panola

County, Texas, expecting to remain there per-

manently, but the climate being malarious he

suffered with liver troubles, which necessi-

tated a change in his purposes. After the

discovery of gold in California, he resolved to

emigrate to the new El Dorado, and in March,

1849, started with a pack mule train of fifty-

two men, to cross the plains, coming by the way

of old El Paso, Chihuahua, Santa Cruz, Mexico,

through Tucson and Yuma, Arizona. They had

some trouble with the Apache Indians, who
dogged their trail for days, and with whom they

had a bloodless skirmish or two; the Indians

knowing the superiority of the emigrants' fire-

arms, kept out of range of their guns. On
crossing the Colorado river, where Yuma is now

situated, they found it swollen by the melting

mountain snows, to the width of 1500 feet, and

it was found necessary to improvise a ferry-

boat in which to bring over their party, together

with the baggage and supplies. This was done

by appropriating the body of an abandoned

wagon, making it water-tight by caulking the

cracks with strips secured by tearing their

shirts, and then pouring in melted beef tallow,

which hardened by the cool water, making the

joints impervious to water. This was probably

the first ferry established on the Colorado river.

Mr. Harris arrived in Mariposa, September 29,

1849, and on the 13th of December of that

year, he voted for the adoption of the first State

constitution of California. He remained in the

mining camps about three years, mining, and,

incidentally, practicing law. His efforts in hunt-

ing gold were only moderately successful, but

he fully recovered his health.

In September, 1852, he opened a law office in

Mariposa, and thereafter devoted his entire

time and attention to the practice. While there

he was professionally associated with the noted

case of Biddle Boggs, lessee of General John C.

Fremont, versus the Mercer Mining Company,

in which 48,000 acres of mining land were in-

volved. Fremont claimed the lands as a grant

from the Government, and brought suit to dis-

possess the miners. The litigation begun in

1854, and went through the State courts with

varying success and adverse results, and was

finally disposed of by a decision in the United

States Supreme Court, in Fremont's favor, dur-

ing the war. In 1861 Mr. Harris returned

East. All his friends there had joined their

fortunes with the seceding States at the opening

of the civil war, and, having an interest in his

father's estate, which consisted in slaves, he too

espoused the cause and spent four years in the

Confederate army, rising to the rank of First

Lieutenant. After the close of the hostilities,

he leased the property of the Union University,

a Baptist institution, at Murfreesboro, Tennes-

see, which had suspended during the war, and

selecting a corps of professors from different re-

ligious sects, revived the school as a non sec-

tarian institution. It grew rapidly in popularity

and patronage for three years, when, at the so-

licitation of the Baptist people, he surrendered

the lease, and, in the spring of 1870 returned

to California.

Before leaving " the States " he was married,

in the early part of 1870, in Independence,

Missouri, to Miss Bettie E. Clark. They came

direct to San Bernardino, where they have re-

mained ever since, Mr. Harris being engaged in

active practice of the law, excepting two years

lidl - pi-nt in ranching. Sixteen years of

that time he has been in the service of the city
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in an official capacity, thirteen years as a mem-

ber of the Board of Trustees and City Attor-

ney, and three years as City Clerk, to which

position he was both elected and appointed in

1886, and is still filling the office.

Besides their homestead, embracing two acres

on the corner of Second and G streets, which he

bought in 1872, Major H. owns a fruit ranch

with 4,000 raisin grape-vines, English walnuts,

and deciduous fruit trees on it. He has also

fallen heir to some thousands of dollars from

the estate of his brother, T. O. Harris, of Nash-

ville, Tennessee, who died April 1, 1889. He

was a prominent character in that State, dis-

tinguished as a financier, and noted for his

benevolence and public-spirited enterprise. He

amassed and distributed several fortunes.

Major and Mrs. Harris have had seven children,

six of whom survive—three girls and three boys.

Mr. Harris is treasurer of the Society of Califor-

nia Pioneers of San Bernardino County, and

president of the Old Boys' Hunting Club; he

is also a member of the Society of the Blue

and the Gray. He is a cultivated and compan-

ionable gentleman, prolific in entertaining anec-

dote and reminiscence of "Forty-nine."

~£^M*^—

tARRISON H. GUTHRIE, M. D., has

been in the active practice of his profes-

sion in San Bernardino since November,

1881. He came to California from St. Charles,

Minnesota, where eighteen years of arduous

labor and exposure in that rigorous climate had

seriously impaired his naturally delicate consti-

tution He was born in Preston County, West

Virginia, in April, 1832, and is the son of a

house carpenter, who was also a Virginian.

The Doctor was left motherless when nine days

old, and was taken and reared by his maternal

grandparents in Maryland. Being of an active

mental temperament, he advanced rapidly in

his studies, and began teaching in the State of

Pennsylvania, in his fifteenth year. At the age

of twenty-one, after teaching a number of terms

there and in Maryland, he came west to Illinois,

and spent ten years in and about Rockford,

where he taught ten terms, thus earning the

means with which to obtain his medical educa-

tion. He prosecuted his studies while teaching

and during vacations, and had more than com-

pleted the required course of reading, but had

not graduated when the war of the Rebellion

broke out. In June, 1862, he enlisted as a

private in the Sixty-seventh Volunteer Infantry,

and did mostly post duty until honorably dis-

charged, September 27, 1862. Going from

camp to Rush College, Chicago, he graduated

M. D. in the spring of 1863, and immediately

entered the Chicago Hospital, then used as a

military hospital, was made hospital steward

and officiated as assistant surgeon, having

charge of three wards. He entered the hospi-

tal under contract, at the solicitation of Dr.

McVickar, surgeon in charge, who had formed

a warm friendship for the young doctor, and

received only the pay of a private soldier.

At the end of six months he resigned and

established himself in practice at St. Charles,

Minnesota. While located there he was active

in various local matters pertaining to the best

interest and progress of the city; served seven

years as a member of the Board of Education;

was one of the organizers of the local post of

the Grand Army of the Republic, being com-

mander for two years, and surgeon one year,

of the post. When about to move away, the

citizens gave him a reception and presented

him with a beautiful silver water pitcher, the

mayor of the city making the presentation

speech, in which he eulogized Dr. Guthrie

highly for his integrity of character and zealous

labors in behalf of the welfare of the city.

On reaching California he settled in San

Bernardiuo, where has enjoyed a prosperous

practice, and fully recovered his health. The

years of pedagogical work in earlier life devel-

oped a taste for books, scientific study and re-

search, especially in the line of geology and

mineralogy, on which science he has, at the so-

licitation of prominent educators, given lectures
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on several occasions before assemblages of

teachers; and has also executed a large hand-

painted geological map, illustrating the strata

of the earth's surface; a work of much labor

and merit. He has a fine library of standard

scientific, historical and religious works. The

Doctor is a member of the San Bernardino

County Medical Society and the Southern Cali-

fornia Medical Society.

He has been twice married. His first wife

was Miss Mary E. Hovey, whom he married in

Illinois. At her death she left one child, a

daughter, who graduated in 1889 from the Illi-

nois State Normal School with the honors of

her class of twenty-nine. Dr. Guthrie's pres-

ent wife was Miss Mattie L. Smith, a native of

Michigan. They have had two son6: one is

dead. Art S. Guthrie, a bright young man of

twenty, is an abstracter in the office of the

Wozencraft Abstract Co. He is the Left Gen-

eral Guide of the Ninth Infantry Regiment,

National Guard of California.

~2h;-,

tDONIRAM JUDSON TWOGOOD is

one of the original founders and members
of the Southern California Colony Associa-

tion, and among the pioneer settlers in Riverside.

Mr. Twogood is a native of Onondaga County,

New York, dating his birth in 1831. He was

reared to farm labor and educated in the public

schools. In 1855 he emigrated to the great

West and located in Benton County, Iowa. He
was among the pioneers of that county, and was

prominent in developing its agricultural and

other resources. He engaged in farming until

the war of the Rebellion roused his patriotism

and he abandoned his quiet life and entered the

military service of the United States. He en-

listed as a Sergeant in Company I, Sixth Iowa Cav-

alry, in 1862. At that time the Indian outbreaks

in the northwest required the strong arm of the

military in suppressing them and protecting

the settlers. His regiment was among the troops

sent on that duty, and he participated in the

hard campaigns that followed. He served his

full term of enlistment, and was honorably dis-

charged in 1865. After his discharge he re-

turned to his Iowa home and late in the year

established his residence in Belle Plain. There

he, in partnership with his brothers, established

a business under the firm name of Twogood
Bros., dealers in agricultural implements, grain

dealers, and general commission merchants. In

1866 he was united in marriage with Miss Alice

Coddington, a native of Michigan. He was

successful in his business pursuits, and in 1870

became interested in the scheme of founding a

model colony in Southern California. He joined

the association and visited the lands selected in

Riverside. Being much pleased with the loca-

tion, and having a strong faith in the future of

the Riverside colony, he decided to establish

his home among them. In June, 1871, he

moved his family to Riverside and purchased, in

connection with his brother, D. C. Twogood, a

twenty-acre tract on Prospect avenue. He im-

mediately commenced the clearing and preparing

of his lands, and in 1872 entered heartily into

horticultural pursuits, planting largely with

walnuts and almonds. At that early day experi-

ence alone could decide what would prove the

most profitable of horticultural enterprises, and

many mistakes were made and time and labor

lost in settling the question. Nothing daunted,

he corrected his errors by rooting out his decidu-

ous trees and planting oranges. He was a

thorough and successful horticulturist, and soon

had one of the model orange-groves of Southern

California. As illustrative of his success in

orange-growing, and showing what a mine of

wealth lies hidden in the soil of Riverside, it is

worthy of note that his original orange-grove

of fourteen acres in 1888 produced a crop that

was sold on the trees for $10,000. Six acres of

this was in seedling trees fifteen years old from

the planting; six acres in budded trees ten years

old, and the remainder in trees three or four

years old. The twelve acres of older trees in

1886 produced a crop that sold for $9,000.

Mr. Tvvogood's residence is on Fourteenth street,
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at which point he has a five-acre tract. Upon

this lie has erected a model home,—a two-story

residence of architectural beauty and finish, in

which he has combined the comforts and lux-

uries that characterize a modern home. The

well ordered grounds abounding in beautiful

lawns, ornamental trees and rare floral plants,

attest the culture and refinement of the occu-

pants. His acres contain a fine orange grove and

a large variety of deciduous fruits. He is suc-

cessful in his enterprises and ranks among
Eiverside's wealthy citizens. He has not con-

fined himself exclusively to horticultural pur-

suits. His well-trained business qualities have

been exercised in the successful prosecution of

various enterprises that have built up Riverside

and vicinity. He was one of the founders of

East Riverside, and an original incorporator of

the East Riverside Land Company, and the East

Riverside Water Company. He is a director in

both these, and treasurer of the land company.

He is also a member of the firm of Twogood &
Herrick, general managersof thelatter company.

Mr. Twogood has always taken a great inter-

est in the growth and prosperity of Riverside

and in the establishment and support of schools

and churches. He is a member of the Baptist

Church and a trustee of the same. He was a

member of the first Board of City Trustees, and

prominent in establishing the municipal gov-

ernment. In political matters he is a Repub-

lican. He is a member of Riverside Post, No.

118, G. A. R. He has a family of two chil-

dren, living, viz.: Louie M. and Fred W. Mr.

Twogood's parents were natives of* New York,

and representatives of old families in that State.

His father, Simeon Twogood, spent his life in

agricultural pursuits. Mr. Twogood's mother,

before marriage, was Miss Harriet Hoag.

- t̂ .-y,^ <-^^,

§ENRY GOODCELL, Jr., attorney at law,

and secretary of the San Bernardino Bar

Association, was born in Dover, England,

and was forty years of age in November, 1888.

When a child of four years he emigrated with

his parents to the United States, and came to San

Bernardino when nine years old; hence he has

resided here thirty-two years. He graduated

from the California State Normal school in 1873,

the first graduate of that institution from San

Bernardino County. When entering the school

he expected to pursue the profession of teaching,

but after completing the course, upon the advice

of a very dear friend and fellow-student, and

after more mature reflection, he decided to enter

the profession of the law After graduating he

was engaged in teaching for two years. In the

fall of 1873 he was elected County Superintend-

ent of schools, and he not only continued teach-

ing while discharging the duties of that office,

but also carried on his law studies with such

facility and thoroughness that at the end of two

years, early in 1875, he was admitted to prac-

tice.

Soon after his admission to the bar, Mr. Good-

cell was joined in marriage with Miss Minnie

A. Bennett, of El Dorado County, the student

friend belore mentioned. He commenced the

practice of law in August, 1875, as a partner

with Colonel A. B. Paris. This relation was

dissolved a year later by Mr. Goodcell accepting

the position of deputy clerk, his duties being

limited to Clerk of the Courts. Retiring from

this olKce at the end of eighteen months, he

resumed his profession in the capacity of assist-

ant District Attorney; and upon the resignation

a year after of the District Attorney, he filled

that office by appointment, until the end of the

term for which his predecessor was elected.

Mr. Goodcell enjoys a prosperous legal busi-

ness, his preference being for the civil practice;

and in this branch causes in equity are his

choice. He possesses a judicial type of mind, and

in examining the legal points of a case inclines

more to the comprehensive, impartial analysis

of a judge on the bench, than to the warped

and one-sided view of the lawyer seeking the

strong points in a client's favor. Upon the

resignation of Judge Gibson from the office of

Judge of the Superior Court of San Bernardino
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County, upon the occasion of his appointment

as Supreme Court Commissioner, in the early

part of 1889, Mr. Goodcell was indorsed by a

large majority of the bar of San Bernardino

County for the appointment as Gibson's succes-

sor to the Superior Bench, but Governor Water-

man did not act upon the recommendation of

this majority, but appointed Judge Rowell, an

able man, for the place.

While not a radical politician, Mr. Godcell

has been for fifteen years actively allied with the

Democratic party, much of the time a member
of the county central committee, and was for

years its secretary.

In 1886 Mrs. Goodcell died, leaving him with

a family of three sons, exceptionally bright,

promising lads, ranging then from nine to five

years of age. In July, 1889, Mr. Goodcell

married Miss Mary H. Bennett, a sister of his

first wife. Both were formerly teachers and

ladies of superior accomplishments. Mr. Good-

cell's home has ever been a favorite resort for

members of the pedagogical profession, it being

pervaded by an atmosphere of culture congenial

to them.

PHOMAS JONATHAN WILSON, the

oldest in active pedagogical work of all

teachers in San Bernardino County, is a

native of Union County, Kentucky, and was

born February 7, 1845. At the age of eleven

years he moved with his parents to Sedalia,

Missouri, in which State he was educated for

the purpose of teaching. He taught two years

in Texas, and at the instigation of his father,

studied medicine, nearly completing the course,

and did some practice, sufficient to satisfy him-
self that the duties of the school-room were more
congenial to his taste than dealing out powders
and pills. Meeting with an accident in Texas
which brought on a hemorrhage of the lungs,

he came to California, hoping to benefit his

health, and settled in San Bernardino. He began
teaching his first school in this State, in Sep-

tember, 1867, and has taught in San Bernardino

County every year since. Two of these years,

from 1880 to 1882, he was principal of the

schools of Colton. He is an ardent lover of his

vocation, and enters into the labors of the

school-room with a spirit and enthusiasm which

ensure successful results. He has served six

years as a member of the County Board of Ed-

ucation, one year as chairman of the board. He is

a zealous advocate and defender of our public

school system ; and when occasion requires he has

eloquently championed the cause of this mighty

motor of civilization and progress with both

tongue and pen.

Mr. Wilson was appointed chief deputy as-

sessor of San Bernardino County, and has tilled

that position for ten consecutive years, perform-

ing the work of that office during school vaca-

tions. His duties involve the active labors of

the assessor's office, including book-keeping,

drafting, etc., in which long experience has

made him proficient. For twenty years he has

been an occasional contributor to the columns

of the current press, and is a racy and enter-

taining writer. He has also delivered public

addresses on numerous occasions; his oratorical

efforts are characterized by clearness and direct-

ness of thought, and smoothness and terseness

of expression which both instruct and entertain

his auditors. He has taken an active interest

in fraternal orders, both beneficiary and secret.

Was one of the founders of the Central Labor

Union of San Bernardino County, June 15, 1887,

which now numbers about 1,300 members;

was its presiding officer for five terms. He is

also a member of the Knights of Labor, and has

been statistician of local assembly No. 8,482

for six consecutive years; is now Worthy Fore-

man of District No. 140, embracing the coun-

ties of Southern California. He is serving his

eighth consecutive year as secretary of Phoenix

Lodge, No. 178, F. & A. M., and is serving his

sixth consecutive year as High Priest of Key-

stone Chapter, No. 56, Royal Arch Masons. He
served seven consecutive years as recorder of*

St. Bernard Commandery, No. 23, Knights



UI8T0RT OF SAN BERNARDINO COUNTY.

Templar: is now Generalissimo. He is also

serving as Worthy Patron of Silver Wave

Chapter, No. 75, Order of the Eastern Star.

He was for rive consecutive years a member of

the committee on by-laws of the Grand Chap-

ter of the State of California: vide the annual

reports of that body.

In politics Mr. Wilson is a Democrat, and

lias taken an active part in local party matters;

served two years as secretary and treasurer of

the county central committee, and made a num-

ber of speeches during the presidential cam-

paign of 1888.

On July 4, 1871, he married Isabel A.,

youngest daughter of the late Henry Rabel; six

children, lour sons and two daughters comprise

their family. They reside on their homestead

of 480 acres, twenty-three miles east of the

city, atthebasfi of the San Bernardino mount-

ains, 3,500 feet above the sea, where they enjoy

the perpetual luxury of mountain air and en-

chanting landscape. Among the attractions of

this country home are a fine library of standard

works, and a collection of choice mineral speci-

mens and sea-shells. A large portion of their

place is under cultivation and is devoted chiefly

to grain and stock raising, though Mr. Wilson

is turning his attention to the growing of decid-

uous fruits.

tLBERT S. WHITE, a Riverside horticult-

urist, was born in Belfast, Maine, in 1840,

and was schooled and reared in his native

place. At the close of his school days he lo-

cated In New York, and his first entry into

business life was in mercantile pursuits. He
became associated with Captain George W. Gil-

christ in the ship-chandlery business. His keen

business tact and energetic management ren-

dered him valuable, and under the firm name of

Gilchrist, White & Co. their house became one

of the best known in the city and stood at the

head of establishments in their line of business.

In the spring of 1875 Mr. White was prostrated

by a severe attack of pneumonia, and, failing to

rally from its effects, his physician recommend-

ed a warmer climate and advocated a trip to

southern Europe, but Mr. White preferred Cali-

fornia. In January, 1886, he crossed the con-

tinent and visited many well-known resorts of

the Pacific coast in a vain search for health.

Finding no relief from the coast climate, he de-

cided to try the interior with its higher altitude

ryei climate. With this view he visited

Southern California. In Riverside he found the

long-sought fountain of health and passed the

winter there, gaining rapidly in health and

strength. Convinced that he could live in no

other climate, before going East in the spring,

he purchased forty acres of land about four miles

south of Riverside, on what is now the beautiful

Magnolia avenue, then but a dry plain. At that

date Riverside was but a small settlement of

300 people.

Closing out his business in New York during

the summer, he returned to Riverside in the fall

of 1886 and entered with his customary zeal

into the improvement of his ranch, bringing

from the East the choicest variety of fruit trees

and vines, and became at once a typical "River-

sider." Of an enthusiastic and energetic tem-

perament, he threw himself into every enter-

prise tending to advance and build up the

interests of Riverside, his chosen section.

Bringing to his new calling a mind trained

to reasoning and studying in order to secure

the best results from whatever enterprise he

engaged in, be soon became an expert horticult-

urist and rapidly built up one of the most

productive horticultural industries in the col-

ony. At this writing he has an orange grove

of forty acres in extent, ten acres of which

is in Washington Navels. This grove gives

a yield that brings from the sale of the fruit

from $300 to $600 per acre, according to the

age of the trees. He is an enthusiast in orange

growing and firm in the belief that Riverside

ranks second fco no place in the world for a

successful prosecution of that industry.

Together with H. J. Rudisill he organized
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in Riverside the first citrus fair ever held in

the world, which proved snch a success that

he went to work to raise funds for a suitable

building in which to hold future fairs. The

Citrus Fair Association and the erection of

the pavilion was the result of those labors;

and in all succeeding fairs Mr. White has been

a leading spirit, devoting time and money to

their advancement and success. Among the

many prominent works that Mr. White has

been connected with were the building of the

Presbyterian church and the Arlington school-

Louse; the founding of the Library Associa-

tion; the organization of the Citizens' Water

Company and its successor, the Riverside

Water Company, serving as a director on each

board, as also being vice-president of the River-

side Land Company. When the State Board

of Horticulture was organized, Mr. White was

appointed by Governor Perkins to represent

Southern California on the board, which posi-

tion he held for two years, until the election

of Governor Stoneman. He was one of the

original incorporators and a director of the

Riverside and Arlington Railroad Company,

also of the Riverside Railroad Company. In

1887 he was one of the promoters and incor-

porators of the Riverside Improvement Corn-

pan}', and was president of the company dur-

ing the time that it developed and piped the

domestic water supply of the city and valley,

which was done at an outlay of over $200,000;

he is still at the head of that corporation.

He is also president and principal owner of

the Riverside Heights Water Company and a

director of the Loring Opera House Company.

He is a trustee of the Riverside Library Asso-

ciation and a director and member of the

Board of Trade. He has recently been elected

a member of the city board of trustees.

In politics Mr. White is an earnest Repub-

lican and has been prominent in efforts to

secure the nomination and election of good

men for office in San Bernardino County. He
is always found allied with the best elements

of his party and has no political ambition;

the only political position he ever held was

representing Riverside on the county board of

supervisors, having been elected to that office

in 1884 for a four years' term. He is an

earnest worker in the ranks of his party and

is vice-president of the County Central Com-
mittee He is a strong supporter of schools

and churches, and is a member and trustee of

the Universalist church of Riverside. He has

never failed in his great faith in the future

growth and prosperity of Riverside, therefore,

several years ago, he purchased a tract of land

above the canal adjoining the city on the east

This tract has been subdivided, a very perfect

system of piped water connected with it, and it

is now known as White's addition, one of the

most desirable portions of the city for resi-

dences or business, as the freight depot, several

packing houses, etc., are already located there.

In 1887 Mr. White associated himself with F.

A. Miller and entered largely into real estate and

insurance hirsiness, but this has not prevented him
from being, in the present as in the past, one of

Riverside's most public-spirited citizens. His

long residence and the leading part he has taken

in the business interests of Riverside has gained

for him a large circle of friends and acquaint-

ances, and he is universally respected and es-

teemed. Although a great admirer of the

female sex, hej-emaius unmarried, a hale, hearty

bachelor, upon whom " female arts are lavished

in vaiu." —£^H§*

§ON. FREDERIC W. GREGG, of the law

firm of Harris & Gregg, is a Green

Mountain boy, born in Vermont, thirty-

two years ago; was educated in Dartmouth

College, celebrated as the alma mater of emi-

nent men of action, men who have led in the

fields of law and politics and commerce, where

a combination of mental and and physical vigor

are the motive power of success. Graduating

from Dartmouth in the class of 1878, Mr. Gregg

studied law in the office of Hon. Frank Plum-
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ley, United States District Attorney for Ver-

mont, and at the Columbia Law School. In

June, 1881, he came West and opened a law

ofHce in Tucson, Arizona. In March, 1882, he

was appointed United States Commissioner for

the First Judicial District of Arizona, which

office he filled for three years. In November,

1882, he was elected a member of the Board of

School Trustees of Tucson. He ran for district

attorney of that county in 1884 on the Republi-

can ticket and was defeated by a few votes. In

March, 1885, upon the petition of the bar of

the county, Mr. Gregg was appointed County

Judge of Pima County, and at the expiration

of the term of two years was elected to tEe

office as his own successor, receiving a larger

vote than any other candidate on the county

ticket. In the summer of 1887 he removed

to San Bernardino and entered into partnership

with -William A. Harris, which still continues.

Harris & Gregg are both gentlemen of fine

legal attainments and exceptional ability, and

already occupy a prominent position in the

bar of Southern California. Their legal busi-

ness is one of the largest in San Bernardino

County. Judge Gregg is a scholarly, polished

gentleman, whose affable manners win the

friendship and esteem of all with whom he

comes in contact.

fr$&&-^

fALVIN LOGAN THOMAS, a rancher,

two and a half miles southeast of San

Bernardino, was born in Bledsoe County,

Tennessee, January 5, 1837. His father, E. H.

Thomas, was a native of Kentucky, and his

mother, Edna (Zinn) Thomas, was born in South

Carolina. His parents moved to Jackson County,

Missouri, when the subject of this sketch was

but four years old. From there the removed to

McDonald County, where they remained until

1852, when they crossed the plains by ox team

to Oregon. When they got to Utah, however,

they found it was too late in the season, so they

changed their original plan and came by the

southern route to California. They arrived in

San Bernardino County December 25, 1852.

Here Mr. Thomas remained, a true and trusted

citizen, until his death in 1874. He had a fam-

ily of seven children, of whom the subject of

this sketch is the third. He received a good

common-6chool education, and in 1866 was

married to Miss Salome Wells, who was born

in Iowa, the daughter of Otho and Salome

(Stewart) Wells. Her father was born in Vir-

ginia; her mother in Ohio, and they had eight

children. Mr. Wells was murdered in Western

Texas in 1875. Mr. and Mrs. Thomas have

four children: Dell, now Mrs. John Black-

burn; Adeline, now Mrs. Mason Binkley;

Eva and Alzada. Politically Mr. Thomas

affiliates with the Democratic party, and for ten

years has faithfully filled the office of deputy

assessor. He held this office previous to this,

in 1868, and at one time was constable. So-

cially he is an I. O. O. F., Token Lodge, No.

396, San Bernardino.

ILLIAM LLOYD GARRISON
SOULE, Auditor of San Bernardino

County, and founder of the mining

town of Calico, is a lineal descendant from Pur-

itan stock, and was born in the State of Maine,

in July, 1836. He was reared from early child-

hood in Massachusetts, and started to learr the

printer's trade in Boston at the age of fourteen.

He came with his parents to Kansas in 1854,

and set the first stickful of type ever set within

the boundary of that State, on the Herald of
Freedom, established at that time in Lawrence.

Being like his illustrious namesake, an uncom-

promising enemy of slavery, and an active par-

ticipant with John Brown and other champions

in the five years' struggle which made Kansas a

free State, besides being born and bred an

Abolitionist, the son of a man who had worked

shoulder to shoulder with Garrison, Greeley and

Gerrit Smith in the anti-slavery cause, he had,

as a journeyman printer, traveled quite extens-
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ively in the South and had personally witnessed

the blighting effects of human slavery.

In 1859 Mr. Soule took a quartz mill to Col-

orado, which he set up and run for two years.

Returning to Kansas in 1861 he served as city

marshal at Lawrence until that city was de-

stroyed by Quantrell and the rebel guerrillas, in

1863. Soon after that event he entered the

army and served throughout the time, a portion

of the time as superintendent of the quarter-

master's department under quartermaster Ran-

kin, in the Department of the Cumberland, in

Kentucky, Tennessee, Georgia and Alabama,

with Sherman's command. On retiring from

the army he returned to Colorado, and wa's for

a time connected with the editorial staff of the

Colorado Farmer, and while there he collected

the matter and wrote part of the work entitled

" The Black Hills and Big Horn Country," a

twelve-mo. volume of about 500 pages, pub-

lished by Robert Strahorn. During the years

intervening between 1873 and 1879 Mr. Soule

tilled the offices of Justice of the Peace and

Postmaster in Ouray and Gunnison counties re-

spectively. Was the first Justice of the Peace

in Ouray County: served as Postmaster at Irwin,

Gunnison County, two years.

In December, 1879, taking the advice of his

physicians, he came to California, for the benefit

of his health. After spending the winter in

San Diego, and finding his health improved, he

was seized with the prospecting fever, and,

starting out, finally located on the site of Cal-

ico, where he erected the first building, opened

the first store and founded and named the town

in 1881. He was the first Postmaster and the

first Justice of the Peace in the place, is still a

joint partner in a general 6tore in Calico, and

also has some mining interests there. His

partner, Mr. Stacy, is his successor as Postmas-

ter. He has considered San Bernardino his

home for the past three years. He was elected

Auditor of San Bernardino County on the Re-

publican ticket in the fall of 1888, and assumed

the duties of office January 1, 1889.

Mr. Soule married Miss Wagner, daughter of

Judge Wagner, deceased. She is a native of the

Pacific slope. Her parents came from Illinois.

Mr. Soule's only brother, Captain Silas Soule,

of the First Colorado Regiment, was assassin-

ated in Denver while Provost Marshal; was

also a radical Abolitionist and possessed the

courage of his convictions. When Dr. Charles

Day was in jail in St. Joseph, Missouri, for as-

sisting slaves to run away, he went to the jail,

and as a raw Irishman got permission to visit

the jail, and notified Day of an attempt to

rescue him that night. About ten o'clock at

night he again went to the jail in company
with the subject of this sketch and several

other friends, who claimed to have just ar-

rested him (Silas) for some crime committed,

and wished him locked up for the night. The
jailor opened the door and was at once dis-

armed, the keys taken from him, Day released

and the other prisoners locked up securely. Day
was taken across the Missouri river in a skiff,

and by wagon to Lawrence. They were pursued

several miles into Kansas, but, having the fleet-

est horses, escaped.

After John Brown's capture at Harper's

Ferry and incarceration in prison, Silas Soule

went to the prison and, feigning the drunken

Irishman, succeeded in getting locked up for

the night, and, while confined in the prison that

night investigated the situation of Brown and

his other friends with a view of planning then-

escape; but, finding no hope of being able to

release them, he sobered up and was set free

next morning without his identity or his inten-

tions being even suspected by the authorities.

fEORGE W. SUTTONFIELD was born at

Fort Wayne, Indiana, February 14, 1825.

His father, Colonel William Suttonfield,

a native of Virginia, was in the regular army,

under General Harrison, in the Black Hawk war.

He built the first house in Fort Wayne and

lived there until his death, which occurred in

1841. His wife, Laura (Taylor) Suttonfield,
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was a native of Connecticut. They had six

children, of whom the subject of this sketch was

the fourth. He attended "Wabash College at

Crawfordsville, Indiana, for four years, and in

1849 came to California. He started from Fort

Smith, Arkansas, in April, and in October of

the same year arrived in San Francisco. Mr.

Snttonfield can tell some interesting stories of

how they had to eat dried pumpkins and beans

for many days a.t a time. Their train was a

wealthy one from the South. They haa eome

very line stock, but lost heavily and arrived on

the coast with almost nothing. Many of them

were afoot and out of jrovisions. At one time

all that Mr. Snttonfield had was but a pint of

green coffee. He crossed the Colorado Desert

afoot and followed a trail to San Diego. From
there he went to San Francisco on a coal bark,

and did'nt have a cent of money when he got

there. He knocked around all day and got very

hungry. At last he bargained to work for a

restaurant keeper at $1 a day, digging and wheel-

ing a bank of earth into the bay. He played a

few games of cards and won $16. At night he

unloaded vessels at $2 per hour. The boarding-

house man, seeing that he was industrious and

honest, started him in business. He sold pies,

cakes and coffee on the corner of Clay and Ports-

mouth Square, and took in from $40 to $50 per

day. He then sold out his coffee stand on

credit and went to the mines. Here, the first

day, he took on' $86. He continued in the

mines for about three years, when he went to

Mariposa County, and went into the stock busi-

ness. This was from 1856 to 1861. In 1862

he went to Stockton, where he engaged in the

livery business for a time, and subsequently went

to Arizona and engaged in the stock business

for seven years. In 1882 he came to San Ber-

nardino and engaged in the livery business,

from which he has recently retired and at present

he is operating gold quartz-mines, 100 miles

east of San Bernardino.

Mr. Snttonfield was married June 1, 1851, to

Mrs. Sa-ah Smith. This was the first recorded

marriage in Mariposa County. The union re-

sulted in five children, and in 1870 the mother

died. Ten years later Mr. Suttonfield married

Sarah Chadwick. They now live on Mount
Vernon avenue, southwest of the city two miles.

While in Mariposa County, our subject was

judge of the first election held in the county.

September 28, 1866, he organized the Pioneer

Society at San Bernardino, with twenty-two

members. He is in the truest sense a pioneer

and a highly respected citizen.

-^•«®i^
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fOHN BOYD, a well-known citizen of Kiv-

erside, though not a pioneer, has been a

resident of the city since 1876, and there

are few men who have been more closely iden-

tified with the real interest and improvements

of the city than John Boyd. He arrived at a

time when the first named commodity at least

was needed and appreciated. He erected a sub-

stantial building on Main street, and entered

into business; and as the demands of the city

increased he was ever to the front with his

improvements. The present magnificent Boyd
block, with its frontage of 111 J feet on Main

street, is one of the results of his enterprise.

He erected spacious warehouses and store-rooms

on Eighth street and Pachappa avenue, and es-

tablished a commission and storage business.

This was in 1885, and in 1887 he formed a

partnership with Frank B. DeVine, purchased

the first packing business of the German Fruit

Company, and under the firm name of Boyd

& DeVine combined the two enterprises and

founded one of the most substantial and largest

business establishments in the county. Mr.

Boyd is a self-made man, one who started in life

handicapped with obstacles which when not pur-

sued with his rugged energy and perseverance

would be deemed insurmountable. The few and

brief fact6 gathered regarding his life before his

advent in Riverside are as follows:

He was born in Montreal, in 1833. His

father was an Indian trader, having his stations

scattered along the Canadian shores of the great
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lakes of the northwest. From his early boy-

hood Mr. Boyd was the companion of his father,

sharing in the hardships and dangers of a bor-

der life, gathering such learning as could be

gathered from an occasional attendance at the

pioneer schools, established in the half-civilized

settlements that preceded the westward march

of the Canadian empire. This life did not turn

him out as the graceful and accomplished

scholar of classics; but it did better: it early

taught him the stern relations and obstacles to

be encountered in life. Through his associa-

tion with his father and his trading operations,

Mr. Boyd became a quick, shrewd trader, with

thoroughly trained business principles; straight-

forward, honest dealing has ever been his policy.

In 1859 Mr. Boyd came by steamer route to the

Pacific coast, and established himself in British

Columbia. He found that country rich in

natural resources, and for the next sixteen years

was engaged in trading, establishing large sta-

tions in the interior,—stock-growing and mining

enterprises. There he found full scope for his

well-known characteristics, and became one of

the best known traders on the frontier. He was

successful in a business point of view, but the

hardships and exposures incident to years of

frontier life told upon his strong constitution,

and he found himself compelled to seek civilized

life and a milder climate. In 1875 he closed

his affairs in British Columbia and sought a

home in California.

He spent nearly a year in visiting various

sections of the State, and finally decided to cast

his fortunes with Riverside. He is a public-

spirited and liberal man, has been earnest in

hiB support of Riverside enterprises, and was

one of the incorporators. He was the treasurer

of the Riverside Gas and Electric Light Com-
pany, and a liberal contributor to the Citrus

Fair Association, Bavilion Building, Odd Fel-

lows Hall, and other public improvements. He
is a member of Riverside Lodge, No. 282, I. O.

O. F. Politically he casts his influence and

support with the Democratic party.

In 1879 Mr. Boyd was united in marriage

with Miss Margaret Burman, a native of Mary-

land. They have no children.

H^ON. BYRON WATERS.—Not a few of

Wm the persons who have so stamped their

sM individuality upon their age and shaped

the great events of their time that their names

are inseparably interwoven in history, and whose

lives and deeds stand out as milestones making

the march of the world's progress, are self-made

men. These characters, by their inherent

strength, indomitable will, resistless energy and

persistent industry, surmount obstacles and

overcome opposition that would dishearten and

crush lesser spirits and rise to the summit of

human attainment. In this struggling with

adversity are developed a power of mind and

fertility of resource which make them intellect-

ual athletes in the arena of personal endeavor

and enable them to outstrip their fellows reared

amid more favorable surroundings. To this

class belongs the subject of this memoir.

He was born at Canton, Cherokee County,

Georgia, in June, 1849; and in his veins is

mingled the best blood of the empire States of

the North and the South, his father having been

a native of New York and his mother of Geor-

gia. While yet in his 'teens young Waters ex-

perienced the horrors incident to the most gigan-

tic civil war of modern times, and felt the devas-

tating effects of Sherman's victorious invading

army on his memorable march to the sea. In

1867 Mr Waters came to California and lived

for a time with his uncle, the late James Waters,

Sr., on his ranch in Old San Bernardino. Decid-

ing to enter the legal profession, he commenced

the study of law in April, 1869, in the office of

Judge II. C. Rolfe, and subsequently continued

his studies with Judge H. M. Willis. He rapid-

ly acquired legal knowledge, and was admitted

to practice in the courts of California in Jan-

uary, 1871, and so thorough had been his prep-

aration that he at once took a high rank in his

profession, which position he has maintained
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with increasing honors and distinction as the

years pass. The distinctive features of Mr.

Waters' professional character which have won

for him enviable success and placed him in the

front ranks as a member of the Pacific coast

bar, are his peculiar faculty to perceive at a

glance and grasp those cardinal points and con-

trolling elements in a legal problem upon which

depends the issue in controversy; the thoiough

mastery of his case in all its details before en-

tering the court-room ; his sound legal judgment;

his habit of sharply contesting every legal point,

for he is a forensic fighter; and his conscientious

devotion to the interests of his client. Though

not a great orator in the popular sense, he is a

fluent, lucid and forcible speaker, carrying con-

viction by the clear-cut logic of his arguments.

As a counselor he has few equals and no supe-

riors. Mr. Waters is an inveterate worker,

performing more labor at the desk and in the

court-room than most men could execute or

endure. His practice is one of the largest and

most lucrative in the State.

Though not an aspirant for political honors,

his superior ability received early recognition in

San Bernardino County by his election to the

General Assembly in 1877, where from the

opening of the session he was the recognized

leader of the Democratic side of the House, and

before its close stood at the head of that legisla-

tive body. The State reputation, which he there

gained for talent and unquestioned official integ-

rity, made him the popular candidate for dele-

gate at large to the Constitutional Convention,

to which he was chosen the year following, re-

ceiving the largest vote of all. Though one of

the youngest members of that body of Califor-

nia's most eminent men, Mr. Waters thorough

knowledge of constitutional law, his exceptional

powers as a debater and his intuitive forecast of

the future growth and requirements of this great

commonwealth, have given him a commanding

position in the convention. His strenuous ad-

herence to and advocacy of his opinions tempor-

arily cost him some of his popularity, but time

and the subsequent workings of the constitu-

tional provisions which he sternly opposed have

demonstrated that he was right. In 1881 Mr.

Waters organized the Farmers' Exchange Bank

of San Bernardino, now one of the leading finan-

cial institutions of Southern California, and was

for several years its president, managed its

affairs with the same marked success that lias

characterized his career as a lawyer. Retiring

from the bank to resume his profession, his legal

business lias been steadily on the increase, both

in volume and importance, until lie is one of the

hardest-worked men in the California bar. In

1886 the Democratic party selected him as their

candidate of the State ticket for Supreme Judge,

for which office he was beaten by a small ma-

jority. Mr. Waters' scrupulous honesty in all

relations in life and his professional courtesy

have won for him the highest respect and esteem

of the people of the State and his brethren of

the bar. Although one of the ablest and most

successful men of his profession, he is modest

and unpretentious in manner, entirely free from

ostentation, candid, practical, self-poised and of

strong individuality; a man who possesses the

courage of his convictions and defends his opin-

ions fearlessly; he is a stern and persistent

opponent, but a kind and magnanimous con-

queror and a true and constant friend.

In 1873 Mr. Waters was married to Miss

Louisa Brown, a native of San Bernardino,

California, and a most estimable lady. They

have a bright and interesting family, who share

with them their elegant home two miles south

of the city of San Bernardino.

E. BUTTON, a rancher near San Ber-

nardino, was born in Onondaga County,
' New York, and moved to Ohio when

lie was twenty-three years old and engaged in

farming. There, in 1834, he was married to Miss

Mary Bittles, also from York State, the daughter

of Thomas and Ann (Spence) Bittles, both na-

tives of Ireland. They had six children, and

moved to Geauga County, Ohio, when Mary



HIS'lORY OF SAN BERNARDINO COUNTY.

was seventeen years of age, where he engaged in

farming until his death, which occurred in

1889. Mr. Button lived two years at Salt Lake,

where he stopped on his way to the Golden

State. He left Salt Lake in March, 1850, and

arrived here in June of the same year. When
he first came he purchased fitty acres of land

and some city lots. He sold out after four

years and subsequently purchased fifteen acres

where he now resides, three miles southeast of

San Bernardino. He has had ten children, viz.:

James, who died at the age of twenty-three;

Jetsan, now fifly-two years of age, and married

to Ellen Taylor; Louisa, died at the age of

twenty-five, the wife of Bcuben Anderson;

Samuel, died young; Charles, who now lives

with his parents and has charge of the ranch;

the rest of the children died in infancy. Mr.

Button is a Mason, and belongs to the Demo-
cratic party. He and his faithful wife are now

among the oldest people in the county.

fAMES H. ROE, a member of the firm of

Holmes, Roe & Pierson, the publishers of

the Riverside Daily Press and Weekly

Horticulturist, is classed among the pioneers

of Riverside, and for the sixteen years preced-

ing this writing has been prominently connected

with the interests and industries of the colony.

The brief facts gathered relating to his life are

of interest: He was born in Birmingham,

England, in 1843, his parents being the Rev.

Charles Hill, a native of the north of Ireland,

and Mary (Steadman) Roe, a native of England.

His father emigrated with his family to the

United States in 1851, and located in Boone

County, Illinois, where he was engaged in his

ministerial duties until the breaking out of the

civil war, when he entered the United States

service as a chaplain, and later was the superin-

tendent of the Freedmen's Aid Commission,

having jurisdiction of the affairs of that associ-

ation in the southwest. He was a sincere

Christian, a philanthropif t and able orator, and

visited England delivering lectures, and obtain-

ing aid for the suffering freedmen of the South.

Mr. Roe was reared and schooled in Boone

County until 1859, when he entered the Uni-

versity of Chicago and was diligently pursuing

his course of study in that institution when

the breaking out of the war induced him to

abandon his college studies and tender his aid.

In 1862 he accompanied his father, who was

chaplain of the Fifty-sixth Regiment Illinois

Infantry, to the field, and participated in the

campaign of the Shenandoah valley under Gen-

eral Banks, and later was at the siege and sur-

render of Harper's Ferry. This closed his

military career until 1864. In this year he was

commissioned as a lieutenant in Company D,

One Hundred and Thirty-fourth Regiment

Illinois Volunteers, and served with his com-

mand in Kentucky and Missouri. At the ex-

piration of his term of service he was honorably

discharged. He then re-entered the Chicago

University and completed his college studies,

graduating in 1865. He sought employment

and accepted a position as clerk in a drug store

in that city, and the next year—1866—estab-

lished a drug store in Marshalltown, Iowa, under

the firm name of Mabie & Roe, which he con-

ducted until 1868, when he moved to Belle

Plain, Iowa, and engaged in the drug business

under the firm name of Roe & Co. In 1873 he

decided to try life in Southern California, and

located in Riverside, where he purchased a

twenty-acre tract of land on the corner of Cen-

tral and Riverside avenues, and established

himself as a horticulturist, planting oranges,

grapes and a large variety of deciduous fruits.

Although successful in horticultural pursuits

he sought other avenues in which to employ

his talents, and in 1874 he engaged in teaching

in the public schools of Riverside, and the next

year taught the old Spanishtown school in the

Trujillo school district. In 1876 he decided to

engage in his old business, and he established a

drug store in Riverside, the pioneer drug store

of the colony, and successfully conducted the

same for the next ten years, during which time
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he also engaged in newspaper enterprises, and

in 1878 also published the Riverside Weekly

Press, which paper lie afterward sold to L. M.

Holt in 1880. Early in 1886 he sold his drug

store, the well-known City Pharmacy, to J. C.

Hai'dman, and the same year bought the Valley

Echo, and conducted it as editor until 1887,

when the paper was consolidated with the Press

and Horticulturist, and the firm of Holmes,

Koe & Pierson was formed. For the year pre-

ceding that consolidation the Echo had been

issued by Roe & Pierson.

Mr. Roe is city editor of the Daily Press

and of the Weekly Horticulturist, a history of

which papers will be found elsewhere in this

volume. He is an educated gentleman and an

able writer, with sound practical knowledge of

life, trained business principles, and is success-

ful in his newspaper enterprises, as in other

industries. He has ever taken the greatest

interest in the schools and churches; for years

he served as school trustee, and in 1884 was the

clerk of the board. He is a member of the

Baptist Church, and has for many years been a

deacon and the treasurer of the society. Polit-

ically he is a straight Republican, but never an

aspirant for political honors.

Mr. Roe was married in 1870 at Marshall-

town to Miss Vina Price, a native of Illinois,

daughter of the well-known pioneer, Owen Price,

of Iowa. They have had two children: Robert

P. and Mary Edna.

fAVID O. WILDER, proprietor of the Pio-

neer Meat Market, the largest and best ap-

pointed market in the city of Riverside.

The liberal patronage and support his enter-

prise receives from the community, is well

merited, for he is a thorough master of his

business, and prompt in meeting the demands

of his customers. Mr. Wilder is one of the

earlier settlers of Riverside, who came to Cali-

fornia in 1874, and after a year spent in Bakers-

field established himself in Riverside. Upon

his arrival he purchased land and engaged in

horticultural pursuits, and also established a bee

ranch at Temescal, which he conducted for a

year or two. He was also for some years in

the employ of the Riverside Land and Irrigation

Company, in constructing ditches and opening

avenues upon their land. In 1879 he engaged

in work for Thomas Stone, in the Pioneer Meat

Market. He was employed by Mr. Stone until

1883: during that time he mastered the details

of the business, and in the latter year became,

by purchase, the proprietor of the market, which

he has since conducted. Mr. Wilder in his

horticultural pursuits improved a ten-acre lot

about three miles south of Riverside, by plant-

ing it with raisin grape-vines, which he sold in

1888 to C. T. Rouse. He was also interested

in city property, and was formerly the owner of

the lot upon which the Castleman block now
stands, and has now a desirable residence prop-

erty on Seventh, between Orange and Lemon

Mr. Wilder was born in Winnebago County,

Illinois, in 1852. His father, Chauncey Wilder,

was a native of Vermont, and an early 6ettler

in Illinois, where he engaged in farming; his

mother, Mary E. (Hurlbert) Wilder, was born

in New York. Mr. Wilder was reared on his

father's farm until fourteen years of age. The
death of both his parents in 1866 left him an

orphan, and dependent upon his own exertions

for support, which he obtained by farm labor-

He remained in his native county until 1874, and

then struck out for the Golden State, and located

in Bakersfield, and a year later came to River-

side. During his years of residence in the

colony, he has thoroughly identified himself

with the interests of Riverside and her people.

He has grown with the city and colony, in-

creased in worldly goods, and has proven a

desirable acquisition to the community. He is

a member of Snnnyside Lodge, No. 112, Knights

of Pythias, and the Uniform Bank of the same,

also a member of Riverside Lodge, No. 282, I.

O. O. P.

Mr. Wilder was united in marriage with
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Miss Belle Robb, a native of California. Her

father, Harvey Robb, came to the State in 1852.

From this marriage there are two children,

Cbauncey H. and Lois Isabelle.

-x--..

JPS H. SINCLAIR. Redlands, was born in

W|h Brooklyn, New York, in 1858. He at-

^rtft|
a tended the public schools of that city,

and afterward went to Cornell University, and

was a member of the class ot'1880. Subsequent

to this he practiced law in New York city for two

years. Then he engaged in the shipping busi

ness for awhile. His health failing he came to

California, and has since given his attention to

his fine orange orchard in Lugonia. He is a

member of the city council of Redlands, and

was a member of the first board. He is also a

member of the executive committee of the

Board of Trade. He is secretary of the Lugonia

Water Company, also of the Sunnyside Ditch

Company. He is secretary and director of the

Redlands Fruit Growers' Association. In his

early life he followed the sea for three years,

from the age of fifteen to eighteen years, and

was made second mate. In 1882 he was mar-

ried to Agnes Rowley, of New York city. Mr.

Sinclair has the largest and oldest orange orchard

in the valley, and is still enlarging its borders.

fERRY D. COVER is one of Riverside's

early settlers, and has been associated with

her various industries for the past fifteen

years. He is a native of Richland County,

Ohio, dating his birth in 1843. His parents

were Daniel Cover, a native of Frederick County,

Maryland, and Lydia Cover, nee Stevenson.

Mr. Cover was reared to agricultural pursuits

on his father's farm until 1862. He then

volunteered in the service of his country and en

listed as a private soldier in Company D, Eighty-

seventh Ohio Volunteers. His regiment was

sent East, and after some time in camp at Balti-

more, was placed on duty at Harper's Ferry.

During Lee's invasion of Maryland, in 1862, he

was on duty at various forts on the Potomac

river. At the surrender of the Union forces at

Harper's Ferry, his regiment was so unfortunate

as to be included in the surrendered troops. He
was then paroled, and in October, 1862, his term

of service having expired, was discharged the

service. The next year he decided to seek the

Pacific coast, and he came overland with a drove

of horses belonging to Samuel Crine. Upon

his arrival in California he located in San Fran-

cisco, where he stopped for nearly a year. He
then went to the mining districts of Nevada and

Montana, and was for about four years engaged

in mining and other enterprises. In Montana,

he was with his brother, Thomas W. Cover, at

Alder's Gulch. He was one of the pioneers of

Bozeman, and was engaged in building the

first house ever erected at that place. In 1868

Mr. Cover settled at Fort Scott, Kansas, and

for the next four years he was engaged in mer-

cantile pursuits. In 1872 he established him-

self in Chicago, and was there engaged in the

grocery business until 1874. At that time the

health of his wife became so impaired that a

complete change of climate was necessary, and

he decided to make his home in Southern Cali-

fornia, and in the spring of that year he came

to Riverside. Upon his arrival here he pur-

chased a twenty-acre tract of wild, uncultivated

land on Jnrupa avenue, two miles south of

Riverside and entered into horticultural pur-

suits Mr. Cover was a successful horticultur-

ist and built up the orange groves upon his

land. In 1882 he sold ten acres of his tract,

and in 1886 sold the balance and established his

residence on the corner of Orange and Eighth

streets. In 1885 he entered into the drug busi-

ness on Main street in partnership with J. D.

Sebrell, under the name of Sebrell & Cover.

He was in that business until April, 1889, when

Mr. Sebrell purchased his interest. He was

also engaged in real-estate deding and other

enterprises. He was one of the incorporators

and the president of the Eighth Street Improve-
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merit Company, and was at the head of that

company during the time the magnificent Ar-

lington Hotel, one of the company's improve-

ments, was erected. He was a member of the

well-known firm of Stewart, Chamberlain &
Cover, and was an incorporator and president

of the Mound City Land and Water Company.

This company purchased 500 acres of land and

founded Mound City, perfecting a fine irriga-

tion system by piping water from Bear valley,

built a $30,000 hotel, etc. Mr. Cover is quite

largely interested in improving lands, planting

orange groves, etc., at Mound City. He has a

firm faith in the future wealth of the city of his

creation. He is also the owner of valuable

business property in Riverside, and never fails

in his support of Riverside enterprises. His

snpport of churches and schools is well-known.

He is a member of the Methodist Church, and

was for many years a school trustee of the Ar-

lington district. In politics he is a Republican,

and has been called upon many times to serve

as a delegate in county conventions. Of the

fraternal societies, he is a member of Riverside

Lodge, No. 282, I. O. O. F. Mr. Cover has

been twice married: His first marriage was in

1869, when he wedded Miss Mary E. Fowler, a

native of Indiana, the daughter of Colonel A.

Fowler, a well-known citizen of that State, and

a veteran of the Mexican and civil wars. She

died in 1877. In 1882 he married Miss Julia

E. Fowler, a sister of his deceased wife. Mr.

Cover is the father of two children, viz. : Charles

A. and Grace E.

Jj^ARVEY HEWITT, residing three miles

Wm\ northwest of Redlands, was born in Cleve-

Wi land, Ohio, in 1859. His father, Isaac L.

Hewitt, was a native of New York, and for

fifteen years was senior member of the firm of

Hewitt & Schofield, petroleum commission.

At one time he owned a line of steamers on

Lake Erie. He is now retired from active life.

He had five children, the subject of our sketch

being the fourth. He was educated at the Poly-

technic Institute at Brooklyn, New York. He
was connected with the Chicago, Milwaukee &
St. Paul Railroad, on the engineer corps, for

two years. He came to Lugonia in 1881 and

purchased 240 acres of land, 100 of which he

now has under cultivation. At present he is

deputy surveyor of San Bernardino County.

< >< >

ALTER FREMONT CROW, one of

the young and enterprising horticult-

urists of San Bernardino County, living

Line, six miles east of the city, was

born in Maine, July 19, 1856, the son of Lo-

renzo and Harriet (Currier) Grow. His father

was born in Hartland, Windsor County, Ver-

mont, March 11, 1806. His parents were Sam-

uel and Jerusha (Stowell) Grow; the former

was a native of Fitzwilliam, New Hampshire,

and the latter of Pomfret, Connecticut. Their

ancestors were owners of large tracts of land

and were of English origin. Lorenzo Grow

was the third of a family of seven children.

He was educated at the common schools of

Vermont and Maine. While a boy he worked

in a saw-mill at Queechy Falls, Vermont, and

later went to Penobscot County, Maine, where

he engaged in the lumber business, at which he

continued eight years. Then he went to farm-

ing and sheep-raising in Kennebec County, at

which he continued for fifteen years. In 1865

he moved to Monroe County, Iowa, and bought

a quarter section of land in Lincoln Township,

also town property in Onawa City, which he

still owns. Mr. Grow farmed in Iowa until

1883 when he left the farm iu charge of his

son, "Wallace D. Grow, and came to California

to spend the evening of his life with the wife

of his youth.

He was married in December 8, 1838, to

Miss Harriet Currier, of Windsor, Kennebec

County, Maine, born May 13, 1820. She was

the daughter of Charles and Mary (Baker) Cur-

rier, both of Maine. The subject of this sketch
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is one of a family of live children. The oldest

son, Charles Currier Grow, entered the army in

the Thirty-second Regiment Maine Volunteers,

was in Banks' Expedition, and was killed in the

battle of Cane Crossing. He was First Lieu-

tenant at the time of his death. The second

son is Samuel Lorenzo; the third child, Mary

Frances, married Arthur Newell, of LaGrange,

Illinois; Walter Fremont and Wallace Dayton

are twins. Mr. Grow owns a tine ranch of 160

acres in Highlands and is doing a rushing busi-

ness in fruit and vines and nursery stock. He
was married in Iowa, in 1880, to Miss Carrie E.

Burroughs.

#^-63^#

tUCAS HOAGLAND, a rancher near San

Bernardino, was born in Michigan in 1837.

His father, Abraham, and his mother,

Margaret (Quick) Hoagland, were born in the

old country. They moved to Michigan in 1824,

where Mr. Hoagland worked at his trade, that

of a blacksmith. He was Captain of the militia

that serenaded General Lafayette, and moved to

Hancock County, Illinois, in 1845. After a

short sojourn there he moved to Council Bluffs,

where he spent one winter, and then moved to

Salt Lake, where he died in 1879. The subject

of this sketch was the oldest of seven children.

He enlisted in the Mexican war from Fort

Leavenworth, Kansas, in 1846, in Company B,

Iowa Volunteers, and was discharged at Los An-
geles, in 1847. He then went back to Salt

Lake and remained until 1849, when he came

with ox team to California. For two years he

ran a pack team in El Dorado County. In

1852 he came back here and bought forty acres,

which he kept eight years. He then sold it and

went back to Salt Lake and teamed in Montana
for six years. In 1870 he came back to San

Bernardino County, and now owns a fine ranch

of sixty acres three miles southeast of the city,

all well improved and in good condition. March

1, 1848, he married Miss Rachel Hale, of Mas-

sachusests, and had one child, Olive. In 1851

his wife died and in 1862 he was again united

in marriage to Miss Harriet Wamford, from

Cambridge, England. This union was blessed

with six children: Emily, now Mrs. William

Aldrich; Luther, Monroe, Truman, Earnest and

Maudie. Mr. Hoagland is a true pioneer and

has had a varied experience. He is in favor of

every enterprise that has for its object the up-

building of the county and community in which

fHARLES W. FLEMING, editor and pro-

prietor of the Phamix, one of Riverside's

enterprising journals, was born iu Cum-
berland County, Pennsylvania, in 1858. He
started in life's work when about fifteen years

of age, as an apprentice in a printing office at

Mt. Holly Springs, and served an apprentice-

ship of three years. When eighteen years of

age he struck out for the great West, locating

in Lincoln, Nebraska. He then established

himself at his trade, and was engaged with the

State Journal Company for some eight years.

In 1885 he resumed his westward march, and in

April of that year came to Riverside. He
worked as a journeyman on the Riverside Press

for some months, and then established the Com-
mercial Job Office, which he conducted until

1887, and then sold to the Enterprise Company.
During the next year Mr. Fleming was engaged

in real estate and insurance business. In June,

1888, the Tribune Publishing Company was

incorporated, and the publication of the River-

side Daily Tribune started, with Mr. Fleming

as business manager. The publication of that

paper was suspended, December 30, 1888, and

later he bought the presses, type, etc., and en-

gaged in job printing, and June 1, 1889, issued

the first number of the Phoenix, a weekly

paper. He is the editor and proprietor of the

paper, and also proprietor of the Phoenix Job

Printing-office. Mr. Fleming has spent his

life in printing and publishing enterprises, and

is thoroughly a master of his calling. His
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paper is independent>nd outspoken, but, like its

proprietor, may always be found supporting

Riverside's interests. He is a member of the

Board of Trade, and for the first year of its

organization was secretary of the board. Polit-

ically he is a stanch Republican, and a member

of Sunnyside Lodge, No. 112, Knights of

Pythias; also a member and Recorder of River-

side Division, No. 30, Uniform Rank, of the

same order, and District Deputy Grand Chan,

cellor of the State for his section.

In 1882 Mr. Fleming wedded Miss Edith

Roberts, a native of Nebraska. Her father,

John Roberts, is a well-known pioneer of Otoe

County, Nebraska, and is now a resident of Long

Beach, Los Angeles County, California. The

only child from this marriage is a daughter,

named Cecile. Mr. Fleming's parents, Isaac

and Susan (Sheffield) Fleming, were natives of

Pennsylvania. His father died in Nebraska, in

1885: his mother is now a resident of River-

side, California. He is one of a family of thir-

teen children, eleven of whom are grown to

manhood and womanhood.

#^€B-^#

§EWIS DECK, of Redlands, is a native of

the " Keystone" State. His father, Henry

Deck, was one of the pioneers of Wauke-

sha County, Wisconsin, and had a family of

nine children, of whom our subject is the old-

est. He left home at the age of fifteen, and

went to New York, and from there by the Pan-

ama route to California, in 1857. He had the

measles while on board the vessel, and when he

got on land had not money enough to buy his

dinner. He first worked in the vegetable gar-

dens at Marysville, for $20 a month. After

this he mined in both quartz and placer mines

from 1862 to 1883, all along the coast, but

principally in Nevada, and some in Mexico.

No man in Southern California, perhaps, has

had a more varied experience, nor can they give

a fuller history of early mining days than he.

He made and lost many fortunes, but in 1883

gave up mining and turned his attention to

horticulture. He is a true pioneer and has an

extended knowledge of the world.

**^r

§MOS W. BEMIS, living two and one-half

miles west of San Bernardino, on Fifth

street, is one of the early and successful

pioneers of this county. He was born in Jeffer-

son County, New York, and is a son of Alvin

Bemis, who with his family removed to Ohio

when Amos was eight years of age. In 1844

he removed to Lee County, Iowa, where he died

in 1847. The family lived in Lee County three

years after Mr. Bemis' death, and in 1851 the

mother, seven sons and three daughters, started

for California. Amos being the eldest the

others naturally looked to him, and on his

shoulders rested the greater responsibility. They

spent two winters in Ogden, Utah. In 1853 he

married Mies Julia McCullough, a native of

New York State. Her father, Levi McCullough,

moved from Erie County, New York, to Mich-

igan, in 1836. He was therefore a pioneer of

that State, and was a citizen of Jackson when

it could boast of one store, one mill and a few

small houses. In 1846 he left there for Iowa.

At this time the Mexican war came on and he

entered the service as a volunteer and served

until the close. He then joined his family in

Iowa, and almost immediately set out for Ogden,

Utah, arriving there in 1852, and there it was

that Mr. Bemis met and married his daughter.

They started across the plains March 20, 1853,

and June 5, of the same year, they arrived in

San Bernardino County. He first bought ten

acres of land; he now owns a fine farm of 200

acres. For twenty-five years he engaged in

stock-raising, but recently he gives more atten-

tion to general farming. He has built an ex-

cellent residence on Fifth street, and has a fine

orchard of semi-tropical frnits;he began opera-

tions here by camping out one entire summer.

The dity of San Bernardino was then only a

miserable little fort. They had some tough
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times at the start, and with bears and Indians

all around life was uncertain. Two of his broth-

ers thus met their death; Samuel Bemis, his

older brother, was killed by the bears while

searching for a younger brother, Nephi Bemis,

who had been killed by the Indians. Could those

of the present day who come to this magnificent

country,with its fruitful fields and pleasantgroves

and commodious residences, know but one-half

the dangers and privations, labors and hardships

endured by the pioneers, surely they would

more fully appreciate their advantages and show

more respect, as well as give more glory to the

frontiersman who had the nerve and push to

develop so thoroughly the resources of the

country.

Mr. Bemis has been eminently successful,

and his excellent wife has been a close sympa-

thizer to rejoice with him in prosperity, and to

labor, cheer and comfort him when Fortune hid

her face. They have brought up seven children,

namely: Frances, now Mrs. Milo Brooks; Amos
Henry, Levi, Irvine, Wilson, George and Loran.

B|SON. WILLIAM A. CONN, of San Ber-

W§S nardino, is one of those strong individual-

^tM ities in the pioneer history of California,

who by his force of character and intellect

stamped his impress upon the early civilization

of the Golden State. Though a number of the

first years of his residence on the Pacific coast

were passed in the northern part of the State, at

San Francisco, yet for a third of a century

Southern California has had the benefits of his

public-spirited patriotism, his business attain-

ments and his generous philanthropy.

Mr. Conn was born in 1814, on the West
India Islands, where his father had settled some

years previously to engage in shipping and

mercantile business, and was a large property

owner there. Four years after the birth of the

subject of this memoir, he came with his family

to the United States and resided several years

in the city of Baltimore. Deciding to seek a

home in the then new West, he started with his

family for Pittsburg, he and his wife traveling

on horseback and the children in a Pennsylvania

" schooner " wagon. On reaching the " Smoke
City " the family and their belongings shipped

on board a keel-boat down the Ohio river for

Cincinnati, their final destination being St.

Louis. They stopped about a year in-the Ohio
metropolis, then started for St. Louis, but Mr.
Coon was diverted from his purpose by the per-

suasion of a friend who induced him to settle in

the young State of Illinois, in the then promis-

ing town of Kaskaskia, which was thought to be
a place of great promise, and destined to become
the important distributing center of the South-

west. Mr. Conn, who had been a seafaring man
and captain of a vessel in earlier life, bought a

farm near Chester, Illinois, on which he died in

1826. Two years after his decease the widow
removed with her children to Jacksonville, Illi-

nois, and it was there the subject of this memoir
began his business career, which continued for

many years in Meredosia, Illinois, in St. Louis,

and on the Illinois and Mississippi rivers, and
consisted of general merchandising, packing
pork and afterward shipping on the rivers be-

fore named. In 1848 he made a business trip

to England and Ireland, and while there read

the account of the discovery of gold in Califor-

nia, in a London newspaper. In the latter part of

1850, and the early part of 1851, Mr. Conn made
shipments of merchandise and produce to San
Francisco, and in the spring of the latter year

started for California, via the Isthmus of Panama,
landing from the steamer Northerner in San
Francisco on May 5, 1851. The first year

or two were chiefly spent in disposing of his

merchandise in San Francisco, where hereinained

until 1857, still contemplating returning East

across the plains. In the spring of that j-ear he

first came to San Bernardino, and early in Jan-

uary, 1858, he bought of the Mormon leaders,

Amasa Limon, Charles C. Rich and Ebenezer

Hanks, the unsold portion of the Rancho San

Bernardino, which originally comprised eight

leagues. His purchase consisted of something
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over 8,000 acres, and was made for himself and

two partners under the firm title of Conn, Tucker

& Allen. Many of the Mormons had returned

to Salt Lake the previous summer in obedience

to the command of Brigham Young. San Ber-

nardino has been Mr. Conn's ostensible residence

ever since that time. He sold off these lands

from time to time, to actual settlers chiefly, many

of the purchasers being poor men with families,

some of whom still remain to remember and

thank Mr. Conn with feelings of deep gratitude,

as their benefactor who made prices and terms

so easy as to assist them in securing a home-

stead which has yielded them a living, and in

not a few cases a competency. These lands were

sold according to the Mormon plats and maps,

save abont 300 acres, which Mr. Conn still owns.

His services have Deen called into requisition by

the people in an official capacity, as well as in his

private business. In 1858 he was elected to

the General Assembly and served in the sessions

of 1858-'59. In 1867 he was elected State Sena-

tor, and filled that office till 1871. Senator

Conn has, from both circumstances and taste,

been associated with the most distinguished

people of the Pacific coast, many of whom are

his warm personal friends, and greatly enjoy

intercourse with the ripe intellect and warm
social nature of this typical gentleman.

WILLIAM TOBY NOYES was born Aug-

u;-t 22, 1836, in Durham, Cumberland

County, Maine. His parents, John

Henry and Sarah Webb (Toby) Noyes, were

natives respectively of England and "Wales.

His father was a politician, and was elected

as the first clerk of Pawnel, and was a pro-

found student and a strong advocate of the

temperance cause. He died at the residence

of his son William, in California, in 1880, at

the age of seventy-six. Mr. Noyes came

to California by water in 1863, and landed

in San Francisco in May of that year. He
had previously (in 1861) made a trip to

Cuba, where he worked at the carpenter's

trade for one year. He also spent some time

building, etc., in Virginia City, and in 1865

went back to San Francisco and worked for the

Government for one year. Then he went to

East Oakland, where he engaged in building and

conti acting for fourteen years. From there he

went to Tucson, Arizona, and contracted for

about one year. From the latter place he moved

to San Bernardino County, and bought 120 acres

of land in Highlands, in partnership with Will-

iam H. Randall, and has given his attention to

fruit and vine culture ever since. He was mar-

ried in March, 1861, to Miss Harriet Randall, of

Pawnel, Maine, and they have one child, a

daughter—Mis6 Jennie. Mr. Noyes' influence

as a politician is strongly in favor of the Prohi-

bition party. He has been in California twenty-

six years, and has never tasted a glass of whisky

or beer. In 1888 he received the nomination

of his party for the office of sheriff of San Ber-

nardino Connty. He is at present Justice of

the Peace for Highlands district. He is an

Odd Fellow, and affiliates with the Orion Lodge,

No. 189, East Oakland, of which lodge he was

a charter member.

#5^sB-~£#

fc^ENRY A. WESTBROOK is one of Riv-

fign erside's earlier settlers and ranks as one of

^M her most successful business men and hor-

ticulturists. Mr. Westbrook dates his birth in

Bradford County, Pennsylvania, June 20, 1848.

His father, Benjamin Westbrook, was a native

of New Jei6ey, who in his young manhood lo-

cated in Pennsylvania and there married Miss

Lucy I. Nichols, a native of that State. He

was a carpenter and builder by occupation. Mr.

Westbrook was reared in his native village

until eight years old, and then placed on a farm

until the age of seventeen, during which time

he obtained such an education as the winter

terms of the public schools afforded. He then

abandoned farming occupation, and returned to

his father, and under his tutorship became



UISTORY OF SAN BERNARDINO COUNTY.

skilled as a carpenter and builder. In 1869, he

struck out for the West and located in Clinton,

Iowa, working at his trade as a journeyman,

and later went to Belle Plain, Iowa, and there

established himself as a contractor and builder.

In 1872 he went to Chicago, and was there act-

ively engaged as a contractor and builder for

two and a half years, during the rebuilding of

that city. In 1875 his health failed him and he

was compelled to suspend his operations.

He then returned to Belle Plain, deciding

to seek a home ou the Pacific coast. In 1876

he came to California and located in Riverside,

and upon his arrival he established himself as a

builder, and later also devoted his attention to

horticultural pursuits. Success has crowned his

efforts. He is a thorough mechanic, well

schooled in his calling, and possessed of sound

business principles. He came to Riverside with

but little or no capital, and his manly conduct,

honest and straightforward dealing soon secured

the patronage and support of the community,

and for many years he has been identified with

the building industries of that city and colony,

and gained a well-earned competency. At this

writing he is still occupied as a contractor and

builder, having his place of business on Main

street, corner Sixth street. He is also the owner

of a twenty-acre tract on the east side of Orange

street, south of Russell street. This tract attests

his success as a horticulturist. It is thoroughly

improved and under a high state of cultivation.

His fine orange grove contains 320 seedlings,

and 800 budded trees of Washington Navel,

Australian Navel, St. Michael Malta Blood and

other approved varieties; also 100 lemon trees,

Lisbon variety. His vineyard of raisin grapes

is four acres in extent. He also has two acres

in alfalfa, which under his admirable system of

irrigation yields six crops a year, giving an ag-

gregate of nine tons per acre. His trees were

planted in the years intervening between 1877

and 1880 and are now many of them in good

bearing, rendering profitable crops. Mr. West-

brook has always been a progressive citizen and

a strong supporter of such public enterprises as

would tend to build up Riverside. He is a

stockholder and director of the Riverside Water
Company. In political matters he is a Repub-

lican, has served several terms as a delegate in

county conventions and may always be found

supporting the best elements of his party.

Mr. Westbrook was married in 1871, wedding
Miss Jane E. McDowell, a native of Gettysburg,

Ohio. Her parents, Robert and Sarah (Camp-
bell) McDowell, are natives of Pennsylvania,

and were among the earlier settlers of Darke
County, Ohio. Her father is one of the pio-

neers of Riverside. From the marriage of Mr.
and Mrs. Westbrook there are two children,

Lucy Ada and Lova.

fROF. CHARLES RUSSELL PAINE, of

Redlands, is a native of Massachusetts,

born in Barnstable September 9, 1839, a

son of John and Lucy (Crowell) Paine. He is

one of a family of six children. He was grad-

uated at Amherst college, and has taught in

Maine, Rhode Island, Ohio, Indiana and Cali-

fornia, fie came to this latter State in 1870
and taught school in Riverside. He also taught

the first school in Colton. In 1873 he estab-

lished a private school in San Bernardino and

in 1876 was elected County Superintendent of

Schools. He subsequently served as principal

of the city schools two terms. Prof. Paine

and his father-in-law, Dr. Craig, came to Cali-

fornia to raise fruit in Riverside. They drove

from Los Angeles and took up eighty acres of

barren land, on which they built rude houses, and
then went back to Los Angeles for their fami-

lies, and theirs were the first families to live on

the lower plain. The Professor tells an amus-
ing incident which occurred just as they were

crossing the Santa Ana river, how that his

brother-in-law, Scipio Craig, now editor of the

Citrograph, fell out of the wagon into the water.

Also, how later he and Scipio had raised a crop

of corn on the island in the river, and when it

was almost ready to gather the Mexican ca'tle
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invaded the corn and barley, and they could only

go in with wagons and haul off as much as they

could, and let the cattle destroy the rest. The

Professor can tell many interesting stories of

pioneer life, which, could they all be written,

would make in themselves a whole volume. In

1877 he purchased 186 acres located in Crafton,

and has since given his attention to his large

fruit interests. He was married in 1863 at

Muncie, Indiana, to Miss Mary E. Craig, a

daughter of Dr. Craig, who is well known here.

—^4(§»-£#—-

TLLIAM A. HAYT.—There is no man

more deserving of mention among the

representative citizens of Riverside than

the gentleman whose name heads this sketch;

nor is there a man in the community who has

done more to promote the growth of the city

than he. He is always alive to its interests,

and his name is generally the first among the

subscribers to any enterprise that is conducive

to the welfare and prosperity of the commun-

ity. Such facts as have been gathered regard-

ing his life are of interest.

Mr. Hayt was born in Putnam County, New
York, in 1832. His father, Harry Hayt, was a

native of that State and a descendant of an old

colonial family. He was a farmer, miller and

merchant, well and favorably known in Putnam

County. The subject of this sketch received a

good common-school education until the age of

fourteen years. At this age his speculative and

trading disposition rendered the humdrum life

on a farm insupportable, and he entered the

store of his brother as a clerk. In 1852 his

father died, and the next year, upon reaching

his majority, Mr. Hayt purchased from his

father's estate the mills, store, and other enter-

prises, and was successfully conducting them

when the floods of 1855 swept away his dams

and flumes and wrecked his mills. The losses

were more than he could support and he was

compelled to suspend his business. Nothing

daunted he started anew in life, and seeking the

great West, he located at Hastings, Minnesota,

where he established himself in the lumber

business.

He remained in that plaee until 1859, and

then determined to seek his fortune on the Pa-

cific coast. He started from St. Paul for his

trip across the plains, driving his own team.

Crossing the plains in those days was fraught

with dangers and hardships, but he successfully

overcame all obstacles, and August 15, 1859,

found him in Sacramento. He sp'ent that fall

and winter in San Francisco and Folsom, dealing

in mining properties. In the spring of 1860

he took a stock of goods to Nevada and en-

gaged in mercantile pursuits. This was too

quiet, however, for his speculative temperament,

and he engaged in prospecting and developing

mines, and was at one time secretary and super-

intendent of the well-known Overman mine.

He made fortunes quickly and as rapidly lost

them in disastrous ventures. In 1864 he re-

turned to his native place and settled in more

quiet pursuits, but he was not satisfied, and in

1868 he returned to California, and spent a year

in the commission business with Mr. E. Cald-

well, in San Francisco. He then returned East

and for several years engaged as a contractor in

Patterson. In 1876 he returned to the Pacific

coast and devoted the next three years in pros-

ecuting mining interests in California and Ne-

vada. Tiring of his pursuit of the fickle

goddess of wealth in the mines, in October,

1879, he came to Southern California and

located in Riverside. At that time he was

blessed with but little of this world's goods,

but he had an unlimited capital in energy and

ambition. His first business operation was the

opening of a meat market on the west side of

Main street, where the Hayt block now stands.

This business was condncted in partnership with

his son Charlie P. Hayt, under the firm name

of Hayt & Son. The next spring the. firm en-

tered into the livery business, on the corner of

Market and Eighth streets. Their stock in

trade was limited to three horses and two wag-
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ons. From this small beginning Mr. Hayt and

his son built up one of the most extensive livery

enterprises in San Bernardino County. In 1887

Mr. Hayt found his other enterprises demanding

so much a tention that he retired from the livery

business. In 1888, in connection with J. H. D.

Cox, he established the commission house of

Hayt & Cox, and has since been an extensive

dealer in flour, grain, coal, lime, etc. Mr. Hayt

has acquired some of the most valuable busi-

ness property in Riverside and has been noted

for the class of buildings he has erected. In 1882

he built the Hayt Block, on the corner of Sev-

enth and Main streets, and in 1885 enlarged the

same. He has been identified with the various

corporations that have made the improvements

so valuable to Riverside. He is an original

incorporator and president of the Riverside

Railway Company; director of Riversidelleights

Water Company; president of Riverside Gas and

Electric Light Company, and was the prime

mover and promoter of that enterprise; he is also

an incorporator and treasurer of the Riverside

Building Association.

Politically he is a stanch Republican. In

1884 he was elected a member of the Board of

City Trustees, and has held the position since

that date. He is a charter member of Sunny-

side Lodge, No. 112, K. of P., and also a mem-
ber of Evergreen Lodge, No. 259, F. & A. M.,

of Riverside. He is a member and warden of

the Episcopal Church. Mr. Hayt has been very

successful in his business enterprises in River-

side, and ranks among the wealthiest residents

of the city. It can be truthfully said that he

never knowingly wronged a human being, and

his kindly nature and genial temperament is

shown in every act of his life. He is well wor-

thy of the respect and esteem awarded him by the

community in which he is so well known. Mr.

Hayt has been twice married; his first marriage

was in 1853, when he wedded Miss Mary E.

Pugsley, a native of New York. She died in

1877, leaving one child, Charles P., a sketch of

whom is included in this volume. Mr. Hayt's

second marriage was in 1878, when he was

united to Miss Julia A. Cox. There are

children by the latter union.

H|EV. BERRY EDMISTON, of Riverside,

f||^ located there in 1878. He first resided

^i\ on the Government tract at the head of

Magnolia avenue, on Palm avenue. In the

spring of 1880 he purchased a ten-acre tract on

the west side of Bandini avenue, about thre3

miles south of Riverside. Upon this tract lis

erected his cottage residence and devoted him-

self to horticultural pursuits. He has now thr33

acres in budded orange trees of the Washington

Navel variety, two acres in apricots and about

four acres in raisin grapes. In 1881 he pur-

chased a ten-acre tract adjoining him, on the

south and west of which is bottom land, being

mostly devoted to raising alfalfa, but he has on

that tract about two acres of deciduous fruits,

such as peaches, pears, apples, etc. In 1888 he

purchased ten acres located on the Government

tract, about a half mile south of his home place,

which is now in alfalfa. Mr. Edraiston came to

California broken in health, after long and ar-

duous labors in the educational institutions, and

the ministry of the Methodist and Swedenborg-

ian Churches. Upon a partial recovery of his

health lie commenced his labors in Riverside,

and in 1885 established the new church society

of the Swedenborgian faith; and through his

efforts, mainly, their chapel was built on Cen-

tral avenue. He was the first officiating min-

ister of that society in Riverside and has been

the pastor of the Church since its organization.

He is an educated gentleman, a good citizen,

and a sincere Christian, and his consistent

course in life has gained him the respect and

esteem of a large circle of friends and acquaint-

ances in the community.

Mr. Edmiston was born in Loncoln County,

Tennessee, in 1831. His parents, James and

Jane (Edmiston) Edmiston, were natives of

South Carolina. He had the usual experience

in the common schools of Indiana and Illinois,
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and the hard labor of pioneer farming until he

reached his majority. He then spent three or

four years in school, and at twenty-five years of

age he entered the ministry in the Methodist

Church. In 1861 he married Miss Ednah Lee,

a native of New Hampshire. Himself and wife

soon after their marriage entered upon their

studies at Adrian College, Michigan, and grad-

uated at that institution in 1866, after which he

continued his ministerial labors in Michigan

and at Pittsburg. In 1868 he was appointed

principal of the Morristown Academy of Mor-

ristown, Indiana, and later, having changed his

doctrinal views, accepted the pastorship of the

Swedenborgian Church at Henry, Illinois. Mr.

Edmiston was engaged in his labors until his

failing health admonished him to seek rest and

a more congenial climate, and in 1878 he came

to California, locating in Riverside.

Mr. and Mrs. Edmiston have three children:

Joseph L., Charles H. and Loyd II. Mrs. Ed-

miston's parents, Joseph and Maria Lee, were

among the early settlers of Michigan. Mrs.

Edmiston is an educated and accomplished lady

and has for many years of her life been con-

nected with the educational circles, as a teacher,

in the various places in the East where she has

resided.

ATTHEW CLEGHORN, a farmer of

San Bernardino County, was born in

Knox County, Kentucky, in 1829, a son

of Rev. Lorenzo D. Cleghorn, who was a native

of Virginia and a minister of the Christian

Church. His mother, Mary (McLain) Cleghorn,

was of Scotch parentage. They had five chil-

dren, of whom our subject, was the second. He
left home at the age of twelve years and subse-

quently entered the Mexican war. He enlisted

in the Sixteenth Kentucky Volunteers, but was

afterward attached to the Eleventh. He carried

the express for eight months from Vera Cruz

to the city of Mexico and thence to Lulusa. On
account of sickness he was sent to the Marine

Hospital in New York in 1848. After the close

of the war he traveled over parts of Ohio, Indi-

ana, Louisiana, Iowa and Oregon, and while in

the " Hoosier " State he met and married a lady

who has since been the companion of his life,

Miss Serena Hendry, a native of that State and

a daughter of Isaac Hendry. After his marriage

he moved to Iowa and thence to Oregon, where

he remained until 1860. He came then to Cali-

fornia, first settling at Watsonville in Monterey

County, where he remained three years. In 1863

he came to San Bernardino County and located

on the farm where he now resides. He arrived

here December 25, 1864, and homesteaded 160

acres of land, which cost $16. For several years

he was engaged successfully in the livery busi-

ness. He is now one of the leading stock-rais-

ers in the valley, owning some thoroughbred

stock, the Glencoe, of Kentucky, being the prin-

cipal. He has a magnificent residence four

miles east of San Bernardino on Base Line,

which commands an imposing view of the fer-

tile valley and the surrounding mountains. He
owns valuable property in various parts of the

county and is a man of considerable wealth and

influence.

fOHN C. HARDMAN, proprietor of the

City Pharmacy of Riverside, which is the

pioneer drug-store in the city, was first

established in 1876 by James H. Roe. Mr.

Hardman purchased the business in January,

1886, and immediately increased the stock and

enlarged his business until the City Pharmacy

ranks as the leading establishment of its char-

acter in the city. In addition to a complete and

varied stock of drugs and medicines, he is a large

dealer in toilet articles, perfumery, fancy goods,

wall paper, paints, oils, etc. He is a skillful

druggist and chemist, with years of experience,

and employs none but able assistants; conse-

quently his store has a reputation for accuracy

and dispatch in the preparation of prescriptions

that is unexcelled. Mr. Hardman is a gentle-
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man of genial and courteous manners, and is

favored with a large patronage, which he justly

merits.

The subject of this sketch dates his birth in

Coshocton County, Ohio, in 1852; eight years

later his parents moved to Vermillion County,

Illinois, where he was reared and given the ad-

vantages of a good schooling. At the age of

twenty years he commenced life in his profes-

sion as a clerk in a drug store in Fairmont.

The next year he went to Robinson, Crawford

County, and entered the employ of A. R. Slnrt

& Co., the leading drug store of the county.

His abilities and sound business principles were

appreciated and the establishment was placed

under his charge. He continued in that employ

until 1878, and then went to Texas and located

in Navarro County, where he engaged in the

drug business until 1885. In December of that

year he came to Riverside, and the next month

established himself in his present business. Mr.

Hardman has gained a large circle of friends

and stands high in the business and social cir-

cles of Riverside. He is a member of the Meth-

odist Church and is also a member of the

Sunnyside Lodge, No. 112, Knights of Pythias.

In Texas, in 1887, he married Miss Ardilla O.

Vance, daughter of John T. Vance, of Paris,

Illinois. Mr. Hardman's father, Samuel Hard-

man, was a native of Ohio and a descendant of

one of the oldest families in the State.

fOHN C. RALPHS, of San Bernardino, was

born in Utah in 1852, while his parents

were on their way to California. His father,

Richard Ralphs, and his mother, Mary (Newal)

Ralphs, were both born in England. His father

was a potter and also a bricklayer by trade, and

made the brick for the Los Angeles jail, also

that in the old Workman property, after coming

to California. He wintered once in Salt Lake

City, and in 1852 he crossed the plains by ox

team to California, and bought seven acres of

land, on which he built a cabin: this was before

the land was surveyed. He then bought fifty -

seven acres in American District; then forty

acres more in the same district, and engaged

extensively in general farming and stock-rais-

ing. He next bought 135 acres adjoining the

original fifty-seven acres, and several lots. He
had [a family of eight children, live boys and

three girls, one of whom died on the way to

California. He died September 15, 1874, and

his wife April 22, 1887.

John C. Ralphs, the subject of this sketch,

received but a limited education, and made a

hand on the farm from the time he was ten

years old. He first bought a claim on the

Santa Ana river, remained there fifteen years

and then lost the claim. Then he bought twelve

acres in American District, and has since added

100 acres to the original twelve acres. Seven

years ago he built a fine residence on Mill

street and Mount Vernon avenue, southeast of

San Bernardino city.

In 1882 he was married to Miss Eunice Rob-

erts, daughter of John Roberts, a pioneer of

this valley. They have seven children, viz.:

Mary Angel ine, Martha, Richard, George, Ida

Belle, Charles B. and John. Mr. Ralphs has

made his own way in the world and is highly

respected by all who know him.

#^«§i^#—

-

,EUBEN L. DeWITT, of San Bernardino,

born in Switzerland County, Indiana,

October 19, 1815, the son of John and

Jane (Potter) DeWitt, natives of Indiana and

New York respectively. His grandmother,

Elizabeth Sheridan, was an aunt of the late

General Sheridan. He was left an orphan at

the age of fourteen years. For several years he

traveled around in different counties of Illinois

and Iowa. In 1851 he crjssed the plains to

Salt Lake City, where he spent two years, and

from there came to San Bernardino County,

where he has lived ever since. His first pur-

chase of real estate was sixty acres where he

now lives, at $11 per acre. At one time he
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owned some very valuable property in San Ber-

nardino.

In 1846, while in Hancock County, Illinois,

he married Charlotte Huntsman, of Mahoning

County, Ohio, daughter ol John and Deborah

Huntsman, who were first cousins. Mr. and

Mrs. DeWitt have had fifteen children, eigbt of

whom survive: John A., Sarah, who married

Mark Thomas, had only one child, and died at

the age of twenty- three; Melisse, now Mrs.

Thomas Long, of Garden Grove; Almira, wife

of Hiram Potts, had two children, twins, and

died at the age of twenty-one; Reuben Las

Vegas, bom in New, Mexico, while they were

en route to California, died at the age of thirty

years; Martin, who accidentally shot himself at

the age of sixteen; Andrew Jackson, Alfaretta,

wife of Joseph Kelley; Caroline, now Mrs.

George Lathrop; Polly Ann, wife of George

Knights; James Monroe and Salina. The edu-

cational advantages of Mr. DeWitt were such

as were afforded by the common schools of In-

diana when he was of school age, and those who
know anything of those times know that they

were exceedingly limited. His principal study

has been the Bible.

-gO 'i -3»-

§D. S. ALKIRE is the well-known and

popular City Clerk and Assessor of Riv-

erside, a position he ably fills with credit

to himself and hono to that enterprising

city. Mr. Alkire is a native of Pickaway Conn
ty. Ohio, born at Mount Sterling in 1837. His

father, William A. Alkire, was a native of Ken-

tucky and a descendant of an old colonial family

of Virginia. He was a carpenter by trade, but

was engaged also in fanning. Mr. Alkire's

mother, Hannah (Osborne) Alkire, was a native

of Ohio, and died when the subject of this

sketch was hut four years old.

He was reared in his native place, and his lot

from early childhood was one of labor. At the

age of eleven he really commenced life on his

own account and depended upon his own exer-

tions for support and schooling. It was a rough

school for a boy, but he developed those manly

traits of his character which have in after years

secured his success in business pursuits and en-

abled him to wage the battle of life, gaining

victories where his more favoted competitors

suffered defeat. Mr. Alkire's first essay in sup-

porting himself was in learning the shoemaker's

trade. A hard master forced him to abandon

that, and he engaged in work for the farmers of

his town until sixteen years old. He then

learned the carpenter's trade, and with his

brother worked in Putnam Connfry until 1880.

In that year he located in Jasper County, Indi-

ana. The war of the Rebellion in 1861 aroused

his patriotic spirit, and he abandoned his occu-

pations and consecrated himself to the service

of his country. In that year he enlisted as a

private in Company K, Eighteenth Indiana

VeteranVolunteer Infantry. Mr. Alkire proved

a gallant and faithful soldier. He rose through

the successive non-commissioned grade to be

the Orderly Sergeant of his company. His

service in the field ended July 21, 1864, when

he was so severely wounded at the battle of

Deep Bottom, Virginia, as to cause the loss of

his left leg, and render him a cripple for life.

His army life was one of hard campaigns and

severely hard-fought battles, commencing in

Missouri and ending in Virginia. He was en-

gaged in the battles of Pea Ridge, Arkansas,

March 6, 7, and 8, 1862; Cotton Plant, Arkan-

sas, June, 1863, where the Confederates hoisted

the black flag with the motto, '-We take no prison-

ers;" the siege of Vicksburg, Department of the

Gulf, and in the service on the Rio Grande, and

finally under General Butler's command in the

Army of the James. In March, 1865, Mr-

Alkire was honorably discharged from the mili-

tary service, and returned to Indiana, crippled

in limb and broken in health. The veteran of

the war was undaunted by the prospect before

him.

He located in Brookston, White County, and

was for nearly twenty years connected with

various interests and industries of that section,
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as a druggist, merchant, farmer, painter and

photographer. He resided in Chicago from

1866 to 1869. In 1882 he decided to seek a

home on the Pacific coast, and coming to Cali-

fornia he chose Riverside as his place of resi-

dence. His manly qualities and straightforward

and consistent course of life gained for hiin the

respect and esteem of the community, and in

1886 he was elected City Clerk and Assessor of

Riverside. He proved to he the right man in

the right place, and in 1888 he was re-elected

by a majority that well attested his popularity.

In political matters he is a stanch Republican,

and has proved himself an earnest worker in

the ranks of his party as a delegate to county

conventions, etc. He is a member of the Riv-

erside Post, No. 118, G. A. R.

In 1863 Mr. Alkire was united in marriage

with Miss Rebecca A. Little, a native of Indi-

ana. There are two children from this marriage:

Carrie C. and Charles O. Both are members of

their father's household. At this writing Charles

O. Alkire is the Deputy City Clerk of Riverside.

Was again elected by a majority of 1,056 out of

an entire vote of 1,073.

tBERDEEN KEITH.—Among the repie-

sentative men of Riverside who have been

prominently connected with its horticult-

ural and other industries, is the subject of this

sketch. His long residence in Riverside, and

association with the financial interests of the

city, as well as San Bernardino County, are well

known, and render such facts as are given re-

garding his life of interest in the annals of

Riverside. Mr. Keith is a native of Massachu-

setts, dating his birth in Middletown, March
19, 1821. His lather, Isaac Keith, was of

Scotch descent, and inherited, as well as trans-

mitted to his children, many of the well-known

and admired characteristics of that hardy race.

He died when the subject of this sketch was
three years of age. The family then established

their residence in Brockton, Massachusetts,

where Mr. Keith was reared. He received the

advantages of an attendance in the common
schools until fourteen years of age, and was

then placed at work in a nail factory, where he

was employed for the next three years. He then

spent a season in a seafaring life. Not suited

with that he returned to Brockton and entered

an apprenticeship at the trade of a boot and

shoe maker. He worked as a journeyman in

that calling until 1856. In that year he estab-

lished himself in business as a boot and shoe

manufacturer, under the firm name of Keith &
Packard. His limited capital, under his sound

business principles and energetic prosecution of

his business, gradually increased and enabled

him to enlarge his industry and establishment,

and he became one of the leading manufacturers

of the city. This business was successfully

conducted for more than twenty years. In the

spring of 1876 Mr. Keith came to Riverside

and purchased sixty acres of wild and unculti-

vated land in Brockton Square, and in October

of that year established his residence on the

west side of Brockton avenue, about two miles

south of Riverside. The next year he com-

menced horticultural pursuits, planting large

areas of citrus fruits and deciduous trees, wal-

nuts, grapes, etc. His capital and energy soon

produced desirable results, and he established

some of the finest groves in Brockton Square.

His home place (the only lands he now owns in

Brockton Square) is twenty acres in extent, and

is nearly all devoted to oranges. His groves

rank among the best in Riverside and attest the

value of his sound and practical methods of

horticulture. A large share of his trees are

budded fruit, mostly Washington Navels, but

he also has Mediterranean Sweets, Malta Bloods

and seedlings. The improvements upon this

model place are first-class in every respect.

His beautiful two-story residence, erected in

1887, is of modern design and finish, well ap-

pointed and provided with the conveniences and

luxuries of an agreeable and pleasant home. He
has added much to the beauty and comfort of

his home by the well kept grounds surrounding
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his residence He has spared no expense that

would tend to add to its attractions, and here

may be seen some of the rarest and choicest

ornamental trees and floral productions to be

found in the colony. Mr. Keith has ever been

a strong supporter of any enterprise that tends

to build up Riverside and advance the inter-

ests of the community. He is a member of

the board of trustees of the Riverside Water

Company, and was for years a director of the

same, and also a large stockholder in the River-

side and Arlington Railway. He was one of

the original incorporators of the Riverside

Banking Company, and has been the president

since their organization. Has been a stock-

holder and a director in the First National

Bank of San Bernardino. In April, 1890, he

was chosen one of the trustees of the city of

Riverside, and elected president of the board.

He is a man well schooled in business, and of

sound business principles, straightforward and

prompt in his dealings, and well merits the

confidence and esteem awarded him by the com-

munity in which he resides. Since the organ-

ization of the Republican party in 1856, Mr.

Keith has been a supporter of their principles,

and may always be found allied with the best

elements.

Mr. Keith was married in 1842, to Miss

Mary H. Packard, a native of Massachusetts,

and has only one child living from this mar-

riage, his son, Walter E., who married Miss

Ianthe Merritt, a native of England, and has

one child, Clara M. He is a resident of River-

side.

;R. CLARK W. SYLVESTER one of

Riverside's wealthy and most esteemed

citizens, was born in Lawrence, Massa

chusetts, in 1850, son of Sewell and Mary J.

(Foster) Sylvester, both natives of Maine. The
father was an iron founder by trade, and although

a hard-working man, with nothing but his daily

labor to depend upon for the manintenance of

his family, he was possessed with the innate

sense of honor and the principles of a gentleman.

He toiled assiduously and took upon himself

liabilities to give a good education to his son,

who, during vacations, worked respectively in

a grocery, paint shop, machine shop and iron

foundry, and even during his terms of study

often supported himself by such work as he

could find to do during spare hours. His col-

lege course he never quite finished, for at the

age of twenty-one he became imbued with the

conviction that the expenses attendant upon his

course of studies and his graduation was more

than his father, whose health had recently suf-

fered, could bear, and that his father, in reality,

was more in need of assistance than able to

give it.

JDr. Sylvester being a youth of studious hab-

its and of an ambitious disposition, mastered

the leading branches of study in the high

schools of North and South Andover, Massachu-

setts, then entered the Maine State Academy, in

Lewiston, Maine, after which he passed through,

a course of study in the Nichols Latin School and

Lewiston, Maine, and then graduated from the

New Hampton Institute, New Hampton, New
Hampshire, and prepared himself for Darts-

mouth College, but being unable to carry out

this design he entered the Bates College, at

Lewiston. Later he obtained employment in

the dental establishment of Dr. J. H. Kidder,

of Lawrence, Massachusetts, and commenced

the study of dentistry, which he continued

through the most complete course, graduating

from the medical and dental department of the

Harvard University, in Boston. He remained

in Lawrence, Massachusetts, for twelve years,

the first five as student, and the remaining

seven as practitioner. During all this time he

supported his aged parents and wife and chil-

dren. After his father's death a load of liabili-

ties devolved upon him, not at all compulsory,

but according to his sense of honor he felt

bound to pay. Fortune had never smiled upon

him, and in 1883 he became somewhat discour-

aged with his prospects of attaining fame and
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fortune in a country which was old and built

up, and offered such a narrow field for the at-

tainment of wealth, where no capital existed

but a supply of brains and energy. Accordingly

he set out to California with his wife and fam-

ily. October 3, 1883, he arrived at Riverside,

landing without friends or money. Never

daunted he commenced action and opened up a

dental parlor, where he practiced his profession

for about two years. He was possessed of a nat-

ural insight and good judgment, and made ad-

ditions to his small worldly store through judi-

cious investments and operations in real estate.

His straightforward and honorable dealings

gained him the confidence and esteem of the

community. His indefatigable energy and

sound business principles and shrewdness, ren-

dered him a valuable acquisition in promoting

the various enterprises established by the capital-

ists of Riverside. As early as 1884 he associated

himself with W. A. Hayt in real estate operations

under the firm name of Hayt & Sylvester, and

for years they dealt extensively in real estate.

They were the sole agents of the South River-

side Land and Water Company; for the Diebold

Safe and Lock Company, and conducted a large

fire and life insurance business. Among the

most important of their operations was their

association with Mr. A. S. White in subdividing,

grading avenues, and perfecting a complete

water system upon 102 acres of land known as

White's Addition, and placing the same upon

the market. Mr. Sylvester was one of the orig-

inal incorporators of the Riverside Heights

Water Company, and is secretary, treasurer and

superintendent of the same, and the Riverside

Railway Company, of which he is still a director

and vice-president. He was also the real pro-

moter and among the first incorporators of the

Riverside Land and Building Association, of

which he is a director and secretary. In March,

1888, he became proprietor of the Riverside

Harness Company, and June 1, 1889, entered

into the grocery business in partnership with

James H. Fountain, under the firm name of

Fountain & Sylvester, which well-known busi-

ness house is one of the leading enterprises of

the city. Politically he is a Republican, and

takes an earnest interest in the affairs of the

party, serving as a delegate to many of the con-

ventions. He is a member of Sunnyside Lodge,

No. 112, Knights of Pythias, and also of the

Uniform Rank of that order, of which he has

held the highest offices in the county, and is now
District Deputy Grand Chancellor.

In 1877, Dr. Sylvester was married to Miss

Mary Abbie Davis, a native of Lawrence, Mass

achusetts. He justly attributes much of his

success in life to the co-operation and encour-

agement received from his estimable wife. They

have three bright children, namely: Millard S.,

Mabel N. and Wesley D.

tEVERDAY J. P1ERSON, junior member
and business manager .of the well-known

firm of Holmes & Pierson, the editors and

proprietors of the Riverside Daily Press and

Weekly Iloiticulturist, of Riverside, is a native

of Licking County, Ohio, and was born in 1848.

AVhen a child his parents moved to Springfield,

Illinois, and thence in 1857 to Poweshiek

County, Iowa. He was engaged in his attend-

ance in the public schools until fifteen years of

age, and then apprenticed to the printers' trade

at Montezuma, Iowa. After serving his ap-

prenticeship, he commenced his travels as a

journeyman, and was engaged on the Chicago

Tribune, and also several job offices in Chicago

and St. Louis. In 1866 his roving disposition

prompted him to enter the United States mili-

tary service, and he enlisted in the Fifth United

States Cavalry. The next two years was spent

with his regiment on the Pacific coast and in

the Territories, being stationed in Idaho, Mon-
tana, Oregon and California, his first advent in

Southern California in 1868, at which time he

was the hospital steward of Drum Barracks at

Wilmington. In 1869 he was honorably dis-

charged from the service, and after some months

working at his trade in San Francisco, Sacra-
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mento and Marysville, returned to his home in

Iowa.

Shortly after his arrival there he established

the Malcolm Gazette, which he later consoli-

dated with the Montezuma Republican, and for

the next three years conducted one of the most

successful newspaper enterprises of that section.

In 1873 he located at Des Moines, Iowa, and

was engaged as one of the editors and publish-

ers of the Iowa State Journal, until 1876. In

that year he went to Denver, Colorado, and es-

tablished a job printing office, and also estab-

lished and published the Colorado Law Re-

porter. Mr. Pierson spent about eight years in

that city, and while there was identified with

many of the enterprises and speculative "booms"

so intimately connected with the building of that

wonderful city. He experienced the usual suc-

cessess and also reverses, and in 1884 decided to

seek a home in Southern California. In that

year he came to Los Angeles, and a year later

located in Riverside. After a year in the latter

place, he purchased from J. H. Eoe a one-half

interest in the Valley Echo, and was engaged

in the publication of that paper until December,

1888, when the firm of Holmes, Roe & Pierson

was formed, and he assumed the position of

business manager in the publication of River-

side's leading paper. Mr. Pierson is not only a

practical printer, well versed in the details of

his calling, but is a first-class business man as

well, and much of the success of the enterprise

is justly attributed to his able management. In

political matters he is a Republican, and stanch

in his support of the principles of that party.

He is a consistent member of the Methodist

Episcopal Church, and steward of the same. He
is also a member and secretary of the Young
Men's Christian Association of Riverside, and

of the fraternal societies; he is also a member of

the Masonic order and United Workmen.

Mr. Pierson was married in 1871, wedding

Miss Louise P. Marshall, a native of Illinois,

and their children are: Perley C, Ethel and Roy
M. Mrs. Pierson's parents were Jephtha H. and

Mary M. (Condit) Pierson. His father was a

native of New Jersey, and an early settler in

the Western States, and engaged in mercantile

pursuits. He was a veteran of the war of the

Rebellion, having served with distinction in the

Twenty eighth Regiment, Iowa Volunteers.

Mr. Pierson's mother was born and reared in

New York.

fAMES M. DRAKE is one of Riverside's

representative and well-known business

men, and has for years been the treasurer

of the city, which responsible and important

office he fills with honor and credit to himself

and the municipality whose interests he so ably

guards. Although not a pioneer of Riverside,

her history would be incomplete without a fit-

ting mention of Mr. Drake's eight or ten years'

association with her interests.

He is a native of Louisville, Kentucky, and

dates his birth April 12, 1837. His parents

were Charles and Mahala J. (Jeter) Drake. His

father was a native of Virginia, a descendant of

one of the old colonial families. Mr. Drake was

reared in Louisville until the age of twelve years.

At that time the death of his mother occurred

and his father then moved to Marshall, Clark

County, Illinois. After a residence of four

years in that place the family moved to Nash-

ville, Tennessee. Mr. Drake terminated his

school days in the public schools of that city

and then returned to Louisville and started in

life by learning the trade of an upholsterer and

house-furnisher. He then established himself

in Shelbyville, Kentucky, where he remained

until early in 1858, when he established an

upholstering and house-furnishing business in

Huntsville, Alabama. He was successfully

conducting his enterprise when the secession

movement and the formation of the Confederate

government plunged his State into the civil war.

Mr. Drake was not a secessionist, nor did he

believe that success would ever crown the efforts

of the Southern leaders in disrupting the Union

of the States, but he was a Southern man by
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birth and his fortunes were cast with his State.

He was too manly to shirk the issue, and too

brave to shrink from the support of his people

upon the field of battle. He felt compelled to

enter the war, and in 1862 he entered the Con-

federate army in Ward's Battery as a Corporal.

He was distinguished for his gallant service and

was promoted and received a Lieutenant's com-

mission. He served faithfully throughout the

war and was engaged in many of the hard-fought

battles. His battery was for a long time serv-

ing in the Army of the Tennessee under General

Johnston, and later in the Department of Mo-

bile, and participated in the battles of Resaca,

Marietta, Kenesaw, Peach-Tree creek, Corinth,

Jonesboro, Atlanta, Shelby, and many others.

The close of the war terminated his service,

and in May, 1865, he returned to his home in

Alabama. His business was destroyed and he

was financially ruined. He accepted the situ-

ation and went bravely to work in building up

and establishing a new era in the South. He
employed himself asaclerk in mercantile houses,

ar.d then in business on his own account. In

1872 he moved to Scottsboro, and engaged in

the hotel business as the proprietor of the well-

known Harris Hotel. He spent nearly ten years

in that business, and in 1881 decided to seek a

home in California. In that year he came to

Riverside, and in February, 1882, established

himself in business as a bookseller and stationer

on Main street. This was the first bookstore

ever opened in Riverside. He started in busi-

ness with limited resources, but he met a much
needed want of the community, and his straight-

forward and honest dealing gained him their

patronage and support, and he gradually in-

creased and enlarged his business until at this

writing he is at the head of the largest book-

selling and stationery establishment—with but

one exception—in San Bernardino County. In

June, 1888, Mr. Cundiff entered into partner-

ship with Mr. Drake, under the firm name of

Drake & Cundiff, since which time the business

has been conducted by these gentlemen. Mr.

Drake has not confined himself exclusively

to mercantile pursuits. He is the owner of

eighty-seven acres of land, six miles east of

Riverside, near Box Springs, and has been en-

gaged in agricultural and horticultural pursuits.

His lands are capable of irrigation from the

Bear valley water system, and it is only a ques-

tion of time when the increasing demand for

orange lands will render it a very valuable

property. His residence in the city is located

on Tenth street, Franklin Square. He has taken

a deep interest in the growth and prosperity of

the city, and has ever been a willing and liberal

contributor to enterprises that have tended to

secure those results. In politics he is, nation-

ally, a Democrat, but locally, an independent.

In 1886 he was elected City Treasurer. The
confidence he inspired and the satisfaction he

afforded the community by his honest adminis-

tion of the affairs of the office, is best attested

by the round majority by which he was re-

elected in 1888; was re-elected April 14, 1890.

Mr. Drake is a member of the following frater-

nal societies of Riverside: Lodge No. 282, and
Encampment No. 73, I. O. O. F., Sunnyside

Lodge No. 112, Knights of Pythias, and the

uniform rank of the same order, and also a mem-
ber of the Knights of Honor. He has for many
years been a consistent member of the Meth-
odist Church.

February 4, 1859, Mr. Drake married Miss
Maria A. Jones, a native of Alabama. There
is but one child living from this union,—John
R., who is a resident of Riverside, engaged in

ranching upon lands at Box Springs. The fourth

child, Eugene C, was known in Riverside. He
died in that city August 12, 1888, at the age of

twenty-two years.

^ONALD W. McLEOD is one of the prom-

inent and well-known citizens of River-

side and has been identified with many of

the leading public enterprises of the colony for

the decade of years preceding 1890. Mr. McLeod

is a native of Nova Scotia, born at Scotsburn,



614 HISTORY OF SAN BERNARDINO COUNTY.

Pictou Count)', November 18, 1841. His par-

ents, Duncan R. and Annie (Fraser) McLeod,

were of Scotch descent. Mr. McLeod was reared

upon his father's farm, and early in life became

familiar with the practical duties of farm life.

He was given the advantages of a good educa-

tion, and at nineteen years of age graduated at

the Provincial Normal School at Truro. He
then- engaged in teaching, and later entered the

Dalhousie University at Halifax. Yonng and

ambitious he entered heartily upon his college

course, but over-work and a too close application

to his studies resulted in physical prostration,

and in 1863 his ill health compelled an aban-

donment of his university studies. He then

decided to try his fortunes in the United States,

and in that year located in New York city,

where he entered into mercantile life; but again

his health gave way, and he became convinced

that not only a change of occupation bnt also a

complete change of climate was necessary. In

1867 he came to the Pacific coast and located

in San Francisco, and for the next seven years

was associated with and held a position of re-

sponsibility and trust in the American Tract

Society, and the California Bible Society.

In 1874 Mr. McLeod returned East, and at

Fort Wayne, Indiana, married Miss Elizabeth

M. Evans, a native of that State. She is the

daughter of William Rush Evans, of Kendall-

ville, Indiana, and is a niece of S. C. Evans, a

prominent and well-known citizen of Riverside.

In 1875 Mr. McLeod decided to seek a resi-

dence in Southern California. In 1880 he pur-

chased a twenty-acre tract on Arlington avenue,

about three miles south of Riverside village,

and engaged in horticultural pursuits. He has

been noticeably successful in that enterprise,

having one of the representative orange groves

of Riverside. He has fifteen acres in budded

orange trees and four acres in raisin grapes.

His trees and vines are remarkable for their

magnificent proportions and prolific yield, and

his orange grove, when it reaches its full bear-

ing, is destined to be one of the most profitable

in the colony. Mr. McLeod has built up a

beautiful and comfortable home, surrounded

with shade and ornamental trees and flowers,

which leaves little to be desired in completing

a model California home. Nor has he neglected

the practical improvements, as his well ordered

outbuildings, packing house, etc., sufficiently

attest. He is a thoroughly trained business

man as well as a sucessful horticulturist.

In 1880 he was appointed secretary of the Riv-

erside Land and Irrigating Company, and held

the position until August, 1882, when sickness

compelled his resignation. June 4, 1887, he

was again appointed to the position and has

held the office since that date. He is also a

director of the company and is a director and

secretary of the Riverside Land Company.

Mr. McLeod has throughout his life been a

consistent Christian. He is a member and an

elder of the Presbyterian Church of Arlington,

and in 1883 and 1888 was sent as a delegate

from the Los Angeles presbytery to the General

Assembly of the Presbyterian Church of the

United States. In political matters he is a sound

Republican and has taken his share of work in

the ranks of his party as a delegate to county

conventions, etc. He is a member of Templar

Lodge, No. 17, I. O. O. F., of San Francisco.

As a public-spirited citizen, a kind neighbor,

and an honest man, he well merits the respect

and esteem awarded him, and is a desirable ac-

quisition to Riverside.

**

fAMUEL C. PINE, for over thirty years

has been a resident, and identified with

the varied interests, of San Bernardino

County. He is now engaged in general farm-

ing operations upon 160 acres of productive

land located in Chino Township, Chino school

district, four miles south and east of Chino.

In 1867 Mr. Pine purchased a squatter's claim

to this land, which was then in its wild and un-

cultivated state. He spent years in litigation

with grant claimants, bnt finally secured his

Government patent. The first year of his oc
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cupancy he devoted his attention to stock-grow-

ing, but later commenced a system of general

farming that has been successful and remuner-

ative. He has a vineyard of ten acres of raisin

grapes of the Muscat variety; also several va-

rieties of table grapes; ten acres of orchard

which produces a fine variety of peaches, ap-

ples, plums, apricots, pears, figs, prunes, nectar-

ines, etc. His soil and climate eeem well

adapted to the successful growing of deciduous

fruits. The remainder of his lands is devoted

to hav, grain and stock. Of the latter he raises

good grade stock of cattle and Norman draft

horses. He is a successful farmer and an il-

lustration of what energy and enterprise, com-

bined with sound sense and business habits will

do when applied to the lands of Rincon valley.

Mr. Pine can well be styled a pioneer of San Ber-

nardino County, and a brief review of his life

is of interest. He dates his birth in St. Law-

rence County, New York, July 30, 1825. His

great-grandfather, Joseph Pine, was a native of

Italy who emigrated to the Massachusetts colo-

nies before the Revolutionary war. He was

one of the thirteen patriots that fired the first

volley at the historic battle of Lexington, and

later was commissioned as an officer in the con-

tinental army, and served gallantly throughout

the years of the Revolutionary war. Mr. Pine's

father, Joseph Pine, was a native of Boston,

Massachusetts, but in early life located in New
York, and for nearly forty years was connected

with the educational interests of that State as a

teacher and professor in various colleges. He
married Miss Delia Winna, a native of that

State. In 1833 the parents of the subject of

this sketch moved to Ohio and located in what

is now Lake County, and there engaged in farm-

ing. Mr. Pine was reared to that calling. In

1847 he went to Quiucy, Illinois, and engaged

in the lumber business until 1850. In that

year he fitted out a train and crossed the plains

to the South pass of the Rocky mountains in

Wyoming Territory. There he established a

trading station and also engaged in stock-grow-

ing. Mr. Pine spent about eight years in the

mountains as a trader, stock-raiser and miner.

In 1858 he came to San Bernardino County,

and located about fifteen miles east of the

county seat, where he engaged in stock business.

In 1861-'62 he built a lumber mill in Little

Bear valley, twenty-five miles northeast of San

Bernardino. This was the pioneer mill of that

section. He was engaged in that enterprise

until 1865 and then settled on Little creek in

the dairy business, after which he spent a year

on the Jurupa ranch in stock business, and
thence to his present residence.

Mr. Pine's long residence and varied inter-

ests, have gained him a large circle of friends

and acquaintances in the county, by whom he

is respected and esteemed. He is a member of

San Bernardino Lodge, No. 146, I. O. O. F.

In politics he is a consistent Republican. He
has for years held the position of school trustee

of his district. In Utah, in 1855, Mr. Pine

married Miss Jane Morrison, a native of Buf-

falo, New York,' the daughter of John and

Ellen Morrison. From this union there are five

children, viz.: Samuel, who married Miss Bea-

trice Gregory ; Edward, who married Miss El-

len Walkinshaw; Edwin, Myron and Dudley.

Samuel and Edwin are residents of San Diego

County, and the other children are residing in

San Bernardino County.

tLEXANDER KEIR, Jr., a farmer near

San Bernardino, is a Scotchman, and was

born in Glasgow. His father, Alexander

Keir, Sr., was a coal miner, and was born in

Scotland, in 1815. His mother, Marion (Kingj

Keir, was born in Scotland in 1814. They came

to this country in 1848 and stopped at St. Louis.

They had eight children, the subject of this

sketch being the third. The oldest, William,

was scalded to death in Scotland; one sister,

Elizabeth, died of cholera in St. Louis, in 1849;

the youngest sister, Espy, was bitten by a snake.

In 1850 Mr. Keir crossed the plains with an ox

team and cows from Salt Lake, in a train con-
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sisting of ten wagons, which was called the

" Scotch train." They tarried two years at Ce-

dar City, 250 miles south of Salt Lake, and left

there September 15, 1853, for California, where

they arrived November 15, of the same year.

Mr. Keir took up a piece of what he thought

was Government land in Los Angeles County,

but was obliged to surrender it later to Mr.

Workman. In 1854 he came to San Bernardino

County and bought twelve acres on Base Line,

one mile east of San Bernardino, at $15.50 per

acre. He now owns a fine tract of 100 acres,

devoted to fruit, vegetables and general farm

products; he also owns a valuable property on

Third and D streets, and his father owns val-

uable property on Second street, Santa Monica.

Mr. Keir was married in 1869, to Miss Mary

Parrish, a native of Iowa, the daughter of Ezra

Parrish, of New York State. They have seven

children: William, Mary, Sherman, John King,

Frank, Robert and Ida Gertrude. Mr. Keir is

an active worker in the interests of the Demo-

cratic party. He is enthusiastic and methodi-

cal, and generally brings his man through.

Socially he is a Mason and an I O. O. F.

fRANK PETCHNER is one of Riverside's

pioneer settlers. He arrived in Riversidfe

in December, 1870. and has ever since been

identified with her interests and enterprises.

Mr. Petchner had spent many years in frontier

life in the Territories, and had been engaged in

mercantile and miningenterprises, and had made

and lost fortunes; but when he located at Riv-

erside he was without means, and dependent

lor the support of his family upon such labor as

could be obtained. He was a blacksmith and

opened a blacksmith shop on the corner of Sixth

and Main streets; he also bought a block of land

bounded by Sixth and Seventh and Almond and

Chestnut streets; and later purchased other lots

on Market street. The first brick residence in

the city was built by Mr. Petchner in 1875, on

his block of land. The first year or two he

worked at any labor that offered, as there was

not a demand sufficient to occupy his time at

his trade. He also improved his land by the

planting of citrus and deciduous fruit trees. In

1874 he entered into partnership with Samuel

Alder, and established a carriage-making and

blacksmith shop on Main street. This enter-

prise was a success, and, under the able manage-

ment of these gentlemen, became one of the

leading industries of the colony. Mr. Petch-

ner was engaged in that business until 1884,

when sickness compelled a retirement from labor

and active business pursuits. Since that time

he has been engaged in the care of his real-estate

interests and horticultural pursuits. He has

made many building improvements in the city,

and is the owner of a fine residence on Market

street, and also several cottages. He has been

a very liberal man in supporting the various

public enterprises of Riverside. Upon the or-

ganization of the Citrus Fair Association, Mr.

Petchner and his partner donated to that organ-

ganization the valuable lot on the corner of

Seventh and Main streets, upon which now
stands the Loring Opera House block, and also

was a large contributor toward the Y. M. C. A.

building. He is a member of Riverside Lodge,

No. 282, 1. 0. O. F., and Star Encampment, No.

73, of the same order; he is also a member of

Riverside Post, No. 118, G. A. R., and the Vet-

eran Association of Colorado.

The few facts gathered regarding the life of

Mr. Petchner are of interest and forcibly illus-

trate those traits of industry and honesty, his

characteristics, so well known to his circle of

friends and acquaintances. He was born in

Saxony, Germany, in 1839. His parents were

Gotleib and Rosanna (Eichler) Petchner, both

natives of that country. His father was a me-

chanic, a brick mason by trade, and reared his

children to labor. Mr. Petchner was given the

advantages of a schooling in the public schools

until fourteen years of age, and then appren-

ticed to a blacksmith. The death of his father

in 1855, left him entirely dependent upon him-

self and in 1856 he determined to seek the
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new world. In that year he came to the United

States, and shortly after landing in New York

proceeded to Pittsburg. There he readily found

employment at his trade, and also devoted his

attention to mechanical engineering, and later

was employed as an assistant engineer on the

Mississippi river steamers. In the spring of

1860 he found himself at St. Joseph, Missouri,

and decided to try his fortunes in the mines of

Colorado. He accordingly went to Pike's Peak

and spent the summer in mining, after which he

located in Denver and worked at his trade. In

1861 he entered the military service of the

United States as a private of the First Colorado

Battery, and served his term of enlistment, re-

ceiving an honorable discharge. In 1863 he

continued his westward march and located in

Virginia City, Montana. There he estab-

lished a bakery and confectionery store, and a

bakery in Helena, and also engaged in mining

enterprises. He was among the pioneer busi-

ness men in those cities, and was successful in

adding by thousands to his world's goods. It

was in the day of high prices. Mr. Petchner

states that he has paid $150 a sack for flour, and

other necessaries of life in proportion. This was

in the winter of 1865-'66. In the spring of

1866 he went to Fort Banton and purchased

$20,000 worth of flour at $25 per sack and

shipped it to his city. It was a year of high

water, and steamer after steamer dumped its

cargo of general merchandise in the Territory.

Flour fell to $5 per sack and even lower, and

he was financially ruined. Nothing daunted,

he closed up his business, meeting all obliga-

tions, and in 1868 located at Green River, Wyo-
ming, and there established himself at his trade.

He sold that in the summer of 1870, and decid-

ing to try his fortunes in Southern California

he came via Salt Lake City, overland to San

Bernardino, and thence to Riverside.

Mr. Petchner married , iu 1863, Miss Annie

O'Connor, a native of Ireland. She died in

1878, leaving four children, viz.: Carrie,Charles,

William and Louis. His second marriage took

place in 1883. when he married Mrs. Mary

Murphy. There are no children by this mar-

riage, but Mrs. Petchner has one son livin^ from
her former marriage: Thomas Murphy, who is

a member of Mr. Petchner's household.

fAMES BOYD, a pioneer of Riverside, came
to the colony in 1872, all his worldly goods
consisting of a farm team of four horses,

four cows, a lot of chickens and a few household
effects, and eight dollars in cash; but he had
a reserve capital of health, energy, intelligence

and a determination to succeed. He secured a
squatter's claim to seventy-three acres of land
about two miles north of Riverside, and later

an adjoining tract of eighty acres, upon which
he camped with his family, his only shelter being
a shanty 10x10, devoid of protection from the
scorching sun and sand storms. Their modest
cook stove was in the open air, and all the cooking
was done in the morning to avoid the heat of
the mid-day sun. Their mid day repast was
served cold, but the necessary heatiug of tea

coffee and even edibles, was accomplished by
setting the receptacles containing them upon
the fireless stove in the open air; it was rare

indeed, that the fierce rays of the sun had not
generated heat, that the storage qualities of that

old stove rendered sufficient to brino- water
nearly to the boiling point. Mr. Boyd planted

the seed of the eucalyptus, surrounding his home
with those trees. Their growth seems marvel-

ous; careful measurement taken in 1889 showed
one of these trees, seventeen years old from the

seed, nearly 150 feet in height and eleven feet

four inches in circumference, measured four feet

from its base. In the spring of 1873 Mr. Boyd
commenced the planting of nursery stock, citrus

trees, deciduous fruit trees and ;rape-

large portion of his land is devoted to general

farming and stock-growing; he also engaged in

jobbing work, teaming, etc. He entered heart-

ily into public improvements, road building,

etc. He served for a term or more as road

master, and during that time the first two and a
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half miles of the famous Magnolia avenue was

laid out, graded and trees planted by him, and

the commencement of an enterprise established

that has resulted in forming one of the most

beautiful and extended avenues to be found on

the .Pacific coast. At this writing(1889)Mr.Boyd

has twenty-five acres in oranges, the trees planted

varying in age from one to sixteen years; and

ten acres of vineyard, producing raisin grapes of

the Muscatel variety. He now has a nursery

stock of 30,000 orange trees, from which he

will put in a large acreage of the most approved

varieties of citrus fruits. He has devoted study

and research to his horticultural pursuits, and

has been successful in producing the best results.

His vineyard, which has been in bearing for

many years, brings him mii income of $200 an

acre, net, on the average; he used to cure, pack

and market his raisins himself.

Politically Mr. Boyd is a Republican in na-

tional affairs, but a decided independent in local

matters. He is a strong advocate of home pro-

tection for labor as well as products, and was

one of the first in Riverside to oppose the im-

portation and employment of Chinese. He is

a temperance man from principle and practice,

and strong in his support of the temperance

movement. He belongs to the Citrus Fair

Association and Board of Trade, and helped to

build the first Odd Fellows' hall in Riverside.

A brief resume of Mr. Boyd's life befoiehis

advent into Riverside may be of interest. He
was born near Glasgow, Scotland, in 1838; his

parents, John and Jane (Wright) Boyd, were na-

tives of that country. Mr. Boyd was reared and

schooled in his native place until eighteen years

of age. He then went to London, and tor the

next two years was engaged in mercantile pur-

suits. In 1858 he decided to try life in the

colonies, and in that year settled in New Zea-

land. Finding it a desirable country for ener-

getic and industrious people, he induced his

parents to join him, and they established their

residence there in 1862. Mr. Boyd spent

nearly eight years there, engaged in farming

and stock-growing, aud while there, in 1866, he

was married to Miss Catherine Mclntyre, a na-

tive of Scotland. He finally came to the United

States, embarking in December, 1866, for Cali-

fornia, and arriving in San Francisco in January,

1867. Shortly after his arrival he located in San

Mateo County, near Redwood City, and engaged

in lumbering; later he rented lands and engaged

in farming. In 1870 he packed his goods in

his wagons and started southward, arriving in

Los Angeles County in December, 1870. He
located at Downey, where he purchased land and

established himself as a farmer. That enter-

prise was a failnre, and he decided upon a further

move; accordingly, in 1872, he came to River-

side.

Mr. and Mrs. Boyd are the parents of six

bright children, that are the chiet pride and joy

of their lives. Their names are: Jennie R.,

John D., Katie M., Hugh J., Bessie A. and

William Wallace, five of them being born in

Riverside; the eldest being born in Los Angeles

County, not being able to walk when she came

to Riverside.

fDWARD LESTER was born at Coving-

ton, Kentucky, in 1829. His parents,

Joseph and Elizabeth (Holmes) Lester,

were natives of Yorkshire, England. They came

to the United States in 1818 and settled in In-

diana and later located in Covington. There

his father was engaged in building, and later as

an employe in the first cotton factory that was

ever erected west of the Alleghany mountains.

In 1830 Mr. Lester's parents settled in Hamil-

ton County, Ohio, and engaged in agricultural

pursuits. There the subject of this sektch was

reared and schooled. His schooling was such

as could be obtained in the common schools of

that date, and from early life he was inured to

the hard labor of an Ohio farm.

In 1852 Mr. Lester decided to try his fortune

in the El Dorado of the West, aud in the spring

of that year he went to New Orleans, thence to

Brownsville, Texas, and across Mexico to Ma-
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zatlan, and from there via sail-vessel to San

Francisco. From San Francisco he proceeded

at once to the mining districts. Not meeting

with success in that calling, he turned to farm

work and was for some years engaged in Marin,

Yolo and Sonoma counties. In 1855 he went

to South America and located at Lima, Peru,

and there established the first American brick-

yard in that country. He successfully conduct-

ed his enterprise until 1858. In that year he

returned to the United States and located in

Lavaca County, Texas, where he engaged in

the farming business. In 1859, while on a visit

to his old home in Ohio, he married Miss Ellen

Clegg, a native of England, the daughter of

Joseph Clegg, a well-known resident of Hamil-

ton County, Ohio. Mr. Lester continued his

farming operations in Texas until 1861. He
was a strong Union man, and upon the break-

ing out of the war of the Rebellion and the se-

ceding of the State of Texas from the Union he

was subjected to many persecutions. To such

an extent was this continued that he was finally

compelled to sell his farm and seek refuge in

Mexico. From there he slowly worked his way

out, with his family, to California. He finally

succeeded in reaching Guaymas, where he pur-

chased an open boat and came up the Gulf to

the mouth of the Colorado river. From thence

he came by steamer to Yuma. There he paid

his fare on an ox wagon and wended his way
across the desert to the " promised land," Los

Angeles County. Stripped almost entirely of

this world's goods, he commenced to live anew.

After about three years' farming upon rented

lands of the San Pasqual ranch, San Gabriel

valley, he moved, in I860, to San Luis Obispo

County, and for nearly ten years was success-

fully engaged in stock-raising and general farm-

ing. In 1875 he returned to Southern Califor-

nia and located in San Bernardino County.

Upon his arrival he purchased 245 acres of pro-

ductive land in the Chino judicial township,

about five miles east of Chino. He has since

been engaged in general farming. His fine farm

now comprises nearly 600 acres and is one of the

most productive in that section. Thoroughly

versed in the stock business, he has devoted

most of his attention to that calling, raising

good graded horses, cattle and hogs for market

purposes. His fine orchard and vineyard, for

family use mainly, attest the fact that he is well

versed in horticultural pursuits.

Mr. Lester is a strong believer in the future

growth and prosperity of Southern California,

and he is an illustration of what may be done

by one who is possessed of sound sense, energy

and a strict attention to business. He came as

a refugee from the Southern Confederacy with

nothing but the manly qualities so character-

istic of the man as his capital. His broad acres,

well stocked, rich harvests, well ordered home,

etc., is the result, and better still is the uni-

versal respect and esteem he has gained from a

large circle of friends and acquaintances. Mr.

Lester is a Republican and takes an earnest in-

terest in the success and welfare of his party.

In San Luis Obispo he took an active part,

and attended many of the conventions as a del-

egate. Mr. Lester's wife was his companion

and the sharer of his varying fortunes for many
years. She was accidentally killed in 1880,

leaving five children, viz.: Joseph O, a resident

of San Diego County; Annie E., now Mrs.

Max Dietrich, of the same county; William L.,

George H. and Agnes M. In 1881 Mr. Lester

was again united in marriage with Miss Mary
Taylor, a native of Delaware County, New York.

fTEPHEN SQUIRE.—The history of Riv-

erside's business enterprises could not be

considered complete without mention of

the well-known undertaking establishment con-

ducted by the gentleman whose name heads

this sketch. His undertaking parlors and ware-

rooms are located at Perine block, Eighth street,

and are the most complete in their appointments

of all in the city. His enterprise is character-

ized by having the best to be obtained, among

which is a $2,500 hearse of the latest and most
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approved style, and a large variety of caskets,

metallic, natural and stained wood, cloth, velvet,

silk and satin covered, etc. Mr. Squire is also

agent of the Col ton Marble Company and the

Pacific Marble and Granite Company of Los

Angeles, and a dealer in foreign and American

granite and marble monuments, tombstones,

mantels, statuary, etc. He established his busi-

ness in 1887, and through his sound business

principles, genial manner and well-known prac-

tical knowledge of embalming and other details

of his profession has secured the confidence and

patronage of the community. Although not a

jicneer of Eiverside, his ten years' association

with her enterprises during her growth from a

hamlet of a few hundreds to a city of thou-

sands entitle him to a place in the annals of

the colony.

Mr. Squire is a native of England, dating

his birth in Lincolnshire, in January, 1839.

His parents were poor, and he was early in

life taught to labor for his support. When
but thirteen years of age he was apprenticed

to a miller and baker. His facilities for ob-

taining an education were extremely limited,

but to his credit be it said, that he educated

himself by reading and attending night schools,

and upon reaching manhood excelltd many of

his more favored competitors. Mr. Squire re-

mained in his native country until 1861 and

then sought his fortune in London. His in-

telligence, fine physique and manly bearing

enabled him to secure a position upon the

Metropolitan police force of that city. He
remained in that service for six years, and in

1867 returned to his home in Lincolnshire

and established himself in business. Long con-

tinned ill health and consequent financial em-

barrassments finally induced him to close his

business affairs and seek a more congenial

climate. With that in view he came to South-

ern California and decided to locate in River-

side. Upon his arrival his broken health was

restored and he labored in various occupa-

tions, horticultural pursuits, etc., and finally

engaged as an assistant in the undertaking

establishment of E. P. Moody, where he re-

mained until 1887, when he established his

business in the Hayt block, and after several

months, during which he was increasing and

enlarging his business, moved to his present

location. At the last annual meeting of the

Southern California Undertakers' Association he

was unanimously elected vice president of that

association. Mr. Squire has acquired his suc-

cess in Eiverside by industry and diligent work.

His reputation for reliability and integrity is

well established and he well merits the esteem

accorded him by a large circle of friends. He
is a consistent member of the Episcopal Church.

He is a stanch Prohibitionist in principle, in

politics, and a prominent worker in all the tem-

perance orders in the city. Of the fraternal

societies of Riverside he is a member of the

Masonic order, I. O. O. F., Knights of Pythias,-

and Independent Order of Foresters.

In May, 1889, Mr. Squire married Mrs. Ma-

rion Jerrolds, nee Mingo. She is a native of

Devonshire, England. Mrs. Squire has two

children,—Annie and Robert Jerrolds.—from

her former marriage, who are members of Mr.

Squire's household.

H*#-

«HOMAS THORNTON" COOK, a citizen

of San Bernardino County, was born near

Nashville, Tennessee, March 29, 1830

His parents, James and Rhoda (Falkner) Cook,

were both from Georgia and moved to Tennes-

see soon after their marriage. They had a fam-

ily of twelve children, of whom our subject is

the eleventh. His first experience in business

for himself was a journey across the plains to

California in 1851. He stopped for two years

in Oregon, and then came on to California, in

1853, and mined in the northern part of the

State for seven years. In 1860 he went to Vir-

ginia City, where he spent one year, and then

went to Idaho and Montana, where he mined

for about thirteen years. In 1874 he went to

Arizona and mined for one year. Then, in 1875,
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he came to Sm Bernardino County and has been

one of her favored citizens since. In 1876 lie

married Mrs. Amanda Weaver, of Indiana, a

daughter of Joseph Applegate, who died a sol-

dier in the Mexican war. By her first husband

she had five boys, Warren, Augustus, Abraham,

Henry and William. Both Mr. and Mrs. Cook

are members of the Congregational Church and

active workers in the Sunday school. Mr. Cook

is an intelligent supporter of the Prohibition

party and commands the respect and confidence

of all who know him.

«^_ ,. . -J. .y. y. ._
§MOS STILES, retired, San Bernardino,

was born in Kennebec, Maine, in 1823.

His father, Israel Stiles, a farmer, moved

to the northern part of New Brunswick. In

1843 the subject of this sketch went to Ohio,

where he remained four years, and then re-

turned to New Brunswick, where he remained

until 1849. He was married in Nova Scotia,

in 1849, to Miss Rebecca O'Brien, and soon

after his marriage he moved to Utah, where he

lived four years. In 1860 he left with teams

for California, and arrived in San Bernardino in

December of the same year. Here he bought

land and engaged in general farming and stock-

raising, in which he has continued until quite

recently. He is now practically retired and

enjoying the labor of his hands. He has reared

four children, viz.: Rebecca, now Mrs. Ephraim

Beardsley; Edward, William E., and Rose, wife

of Eli Sparks.

Mr. Stiles is a man of education. He at-

tended the Academy at Farmington, Ohio, and

taught school for several terms. Religiously,

he is a Free-thinker or Agnostic.

§ORACE SAUNDERS, oneof the represent-

ative orange-growers ot Riverside, owns
a ten-acre tract on Colton avenue, on

the corner of Russell street, about one mile

north of the business center of Riverside. This
grove was planted with seedling oranges as early

as 1872 by its then owner, W. P Russell, and
later many of the seedlings were replaced by

budded trees. The grove now contains 800
seedlings and 400 budded orange trees, besides

a small variety of deciduous fruits for family

use. Mr. Saunders purchased the place in 1880,

and has since conducted its cultivation. He has

made many improvements and secured a success

in his horticultural industry, his orange grove

justly ranking among the finest and most pro-

ductive in the valley. His orange trees occupy

eight acres, and the crop of 1888-'89 sold on
the trees for $3,675; this is a yield of over $150
per acre. Crop of 1889-'90 sold on the trees

for $4,550. Everything about his place is char-

acterized by a prolific yield. A magnificent

grape-vine of the Catawba variety, sixteen years

old, gives a yield of over 300 pounds of grapes

a year. Although he has one of the best loca-

tions in Riverside,, with rich, deep soil, and
admirable irrigation, much of his success must
be justly attributed to the watchful attention

and care he bestows upon his trees, and to his

systematic cultivation and fertilization. His
life has been spent in business pursuits, and he

came to Riverside with a mind well trained to

the practical affairs of life and business enter-

prises. He entered horticulture as a business,

conducted it as a business, bestowing upon it

the same research, 6tudy and principles that he

had to his previous enterprises, and the result

has been success to the fullest degree.

Mr. Saunders was born in Moorcstown, Bur-
lington County, New Jersey, July 2, 1832. In

1838 his father moved to Illinois, locating in

Wabash County; his death occurred in Edwards
County three years later, and the widowed
mother returned to their old home with her

family. There the subject of this sketch was

reared and schooled until 1849. He then went

to Philadelphia and entered into the mercantile

business as a clerk and book-keeper. From
1853 to 1855 he was located at Altoona, Penn-

sylvania, and in the latter year moved to Mis-
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souri, establishing himself in general merchan-

dise business in Springfield, in which he was

engaged in August, 1861; the war being then

in progress caused a financial depression in the

border State, and he decided to seek other local-

ities; accoidingly he went to Leavenworth,

Kansas, and established a wholesale and retail

dry-goods store, which be succesffully conducted

until 1881, when he came to California and took

up his residence in Riverside.

He is an enterprising and progressive citizen,

deeply interested in the growth and prosperity

of his chosen section and a desirable acquisition

to any community. He is a member of the

Presbyterian Church at Arlington and a strong

supporter of churches of all denominations. In

political matters lie is a strong Republican, and

never faltered in his Unionism and feality to

the war party in the darkest days of the Rebell-

ion. Mr. Saunders married Miss Hannah S.

Buck, a native of Philadelphia.

fROWBRIDGE & MAYNARD.—Among
the business firms of Riverside, there is

none more worthy of mention in the his-

tory of the enterprise of that city than that of

Trowbridge & Maynard, the popular booksel-

lers and stationers. The firm is composed of

Charles C. Trowbridge and Duff G. Maynard.

These young men from boyhood have been

brought up and schooled in the business in

which they are now established, and for years

were trusted employes of the largest stationery

house in San Francisco. In March, 1888, they

established their business in Riverside, first

opening their store on Eighth street, east of

Main, and in February, 1889, moved to their

present commodious store in the Cunningham

block, corner of Eighth and Main streets, where

the,y greatly enlarged and increased their busi-

ness, until they now have an establishment that

is not excelled in the character and variety of

the stock and appointments by any in the

county. 1'esides dealing in everything pertain-

ing to books and stationery, they devote their

attention to fancy goods. They have the agency

for the celebrated Kan-Koo Company of Los

Angeles, and thus present to their patrons a

complete and varied stock of Japanese goods.

They also have the agency for the Mexican

phosphate and sulphuret fertilizers, and Wheeler

& Wilson sewing-machines. They are enter-

prising and progressive, well trained in busi-

ness, and their dealings are characterized by a

liberality and honesty which have gained them

both the patronage and esteem of the com-

munity.

Charles C. Trowbridge, the head of the firm

of Trowbridge & Maynard, was born in Detroit,

Michigan, in 1864, and was reared and schooled

in that city until 1876, when he came to San

Francisco. The first live years in that city was

spent in the University College and Trinity

School, and at the age of seventeen years he en-

tered into mercantile pursuits in the well-known

house of Cunningham, Curtis & Welch, and re-

mained in their employ until lie came to River-

side in the fall of 1887, and the next spring

entered into the present business. Mr. Trow-

bridge promptly identified himself with River-

side's interests and people, and is liberal in

supporting such enterprises as will advance the

city in her march of prosperity. He is a first-

class business man, and by his able management

has placed the firm of Trowbridge & Maynard

in the ranks of the leading and substantial firms

of Riverside, and his courteous and genial man-

ner has gained him a large circle of friends.

In 1888 he was appointed Deputy County

Clerk; politically, he is a Republican. In 1889

Mr. Trowbridge was united in marriage with

Miss Edith S. Sharp, the daughter of William

Sharp, a prominent and well-known capitalist

of San Francisco.

Duff G. Maynard, of the firm of Trowbridge

& Maynard, is a native of California, dating his

birth in San Francisco in 1865. His parents

were Lafayette and Mary E. (Green) Maynard,

natives of Virginia and representatives of some

of the oldest families of that State. His father
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was an officer in the United States navy, and

participated in the Mexican war, after which lie

resigned from the service and located in San

Francisco as a capitalist and real-estate dealer.

He died in that city in 1874. The subject of

this sketch was reared in San Francisco and

educated in, and closing his studies by graduat-

ing at, Trinity School in 1880. He then en-

tered into mercantile life as a clerk in the book

and stationery house of Cunningham, Curtis &
"Welch. His natural abilities and strict atten-

tion to business enabled him to advance rapidly,

and he was promoted to higher grades of serv-

ice until he was placed at the head of one of

the important departments of the establishment.

Mr. Maynard continued in that employ until

1888, when he came to Riverside and entered

into his present business with his friend and

associate, Mr. Trowbridge. He has been suc-

cessful in his enterprise, and is destined to take

a lead in the business and social circles of River-

side. His straightforward business principles,

manly bearing and genial temperament have

gained him the sincere friendship of his associ-

ates. In political matters he is a supporter of

the Republican party, and is also a member of

the Episcopal Church of Riverside, being" Junior

Warden of the same. _

tLBERT E. PAYNE came to California in

August, 1883, and located upon a ten-acre

tract in Ontario, San Bernardino County,

which he purchased in 1882. Immediately upon

his arrival he engaged in horticultural pursuits,

and in September of the same year established

a general merchandise store on the west side of

Euclid avenue. This was the first store estab-

lished in the Ontario colony, and the pioneer

store of the now thriving city of Ontario. Mr.

Payne conducted his store and horticultural

industry until October, 1886, when he sold

out both interests and located in Chino Town-

ship, in the Chino School District. There he

purchased the Gates ranch, located about four

miles southeast, devoting himself to agricultural

and horticultural pursuits. He now has thirty

acres of his land in prunes and apples, and he

finds the soil and climate so well adapted to

these productions that he is raising nursery

stock, and in the near future will devote at

least 100 acres of hip land to these fruits. In

his general fanning he is raising grain, hay

and stock.

Mr. Payne is a native of England, born in

Chatham, Rent County, in 1841. His parents

George and Amelia (Husted) Payne, emigrated

to the United States in 1851, and located ii

Cleveland, Ohio, where his father engaged in

hotel-keeping. The subject of this sketch, when

seventeen years old, entered as an apprentice

the machine shops of the Cleveland, Columbus

& Cincinnati Railroad. After serving an ap-

prenticeship of three years he engaged as an as-

sistant engineer on the lakes, and at his trade

in Cleveland. In 1868 he went to Franklin,

Venango County, Pennsylvania, and was en-

gaged in well-boring for oil, which occupation

he followed for about three years. He then

established himself in the coal business in

Cleveland until 1873, when he entered more

extensively into prospecting for oil in Clarion

and Warren counties, and was successfully em-

ployed for the next ten years, always having an

interest in the enterprise.

In 1883 his wife's failing health admonished

him to seek the more congenial climate of Cal-

ifornia. He is a firm believer in Southern Cali-

fornia and has real estate interests in Los

Angeles and other sections. In political matters

he is a Republican, and in 1884 was appointed

Postmaster of Ontario, which office he held un-

til the Democratic administration—July, 1886.

He is a school trustee of his district and takes

a deep interest in the welfare of the public

schools. He is a charter member of Ontario

Lodge, No. 231, A. O. U. W. He has for many
years been a consistent member of the Disci-

ples' Church. Although not a pioneer of the

county, Mr. Payne was one of the early settlers

of the Ontario colony, and was one of its strong-
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est supporters, and well known as one of its

representative men. He has a large circle of

friends in Ontario, as well as in his present sec-

tion. His straightforward course of life and

dealing with his fellow-men entitle him to the

respect awarded him.

In 1864 he married Miss Mary Sheppard, a

native of Cleveland, Ohio; she is the daughter

of William and Mary (Jacksoi.) Sheppard. Her

father was a native of Manchester, England, and

a prominent merchant of Cleveland, Ohio. Her*

mother was born in Boston. From the mar-

riage of Mr. and Mrs. Payne there are three

children, viz.: William E., Oliver T. and Marie

I., all of whom are members of their father's

household.

ISOMER P. MOORE was born in the town

WW) of Hamden, Connecticut, in 1832. His

**M parents were Orrin and Hainel (Hayes)

Moore, both natives of New England. His

father was a farmer, and Mr. Moore was reared

to that calling. In 1857 he started for the

great West, and located in Rice county, Min

nesotp, where he took up Government land and

engaged in farming. In 1862 Mr. Moore

responded to the call of his country for soldiers,

and enlisted in Company A, Seventh Minne-

sota Volunteer Infantry. The Indian outbreak

soon after rendered troops necessary in north-

western Minnesota and Dakota, and his regi-

ment was sent in that direction. He partici-

pated in that campaign until the attendant hard-

ships so impaired his health that he was granted

a furlough. Upon the expiration of his leave

of absence he was detailed as a hospital stew-

ard, and placed on duty in the military hospital

of Hartford and New Haven, Connecticut. He
remained in that service until he was finally so

broken in health that he was discharged in 1864.

He remained in Connecticut, and upon a restor-

ation of health entered into business in Hart-

ford, as a flour, grain and hay dealer. He con-

tinued his mercantile pursuits until 1874. In

that year he came to Riverside, and purchased

a twenty-acre tract of land on the north side of

Bandini avenue, about one-half mile west of

Brockton avenue. He spent two years in River-

side, clearing and improving his tract, and then

returned to Connecticut, where he was engaged

in business pursuits until 1880. In that year

he established his permanent residence upon hi?

land, and has since devoted himself to horticul-

ture. Mr. Moore has a rich and prospective

tract, and has each year advanced his improve-

ments until at this date he has one of the rep-

resentative groves of the colony. Ten acres

are devoted to oranges, eight acres are in bud-

ded fruit, and two acres in seedlings. He has

also a line vineyard of three acres in extent,

which yearly produces a large crop of raisin

grapes. A noticeable production upon his farm

are his apricots, of which he has 160 trees in

good bearing, which in the years of 1888 and

1889 gave an average yield of $400 per acre.

He has a large and choice variety of deciduous

fruits and berries for table use. Everything

about Mr. Moore's groves and vineyards be-

speak the thorough horticulturist, and he is

justly entitled to the magnificent return he se-

cures. Mr. Moore is a good neighbor, an ex-

cellent citizen, «nd a credit to any community.

For years he has been a constant member of the

Methodist church, and a trustee of the church

in Riverside. He is a member of Riverside

Post, No. 118, G . A. R. In politics he is a

life-long Republican.

In 1861 Mr. Moore wedded Miss Jennie R.

Ridley, a native of Connecticut. No children

have blessed this union.

|||ENJAMIN H. MILLIKEN, senior raem-

Wgk member of the firm of Milliken & Jaqnes,

*?jF proprietors of the Riverside Paint Store,

one of the leading business houses in the city.

The subject of this sketch was born in McCracken

County, Kentucky, in 1847. His father, Jndge

John Milliken, was a native of North Carolina,
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who came to Kentucky in his youth, and was

reared in that State. He there married Miss

Harriet L. Hord. He was a lawyer by profes-

sion, and prominent in political and judicial

circles. He lost his life in the cause of the

South, meeting his death in 1861, while serving

as a quartermaster in the Confederate army.

Mr. Milliken was reared and schooled in his

native place, and, like his father, was loyal to the

sunny South and her cause. At the commence

meat of the war his youth prompted his

enlisting in her armies, but it did not deter him

from devoting himself to the service of the Con

federacy as a volunteer aid and scout. Upon

one of his visits to Paducah he was captured by

the Federal troops, tried as a spy and condemned

to be shot. The defective evidence upon which

he was condemned and his youth enlisted the

justice and sympathy of General Halleck, and

he set aside the sentence and ordered his release

from confinement. Mr. Milliken then rejoined

the Confederate army and participated in the

battle of Shiloh and other engagements, being

employed in the army operations on the Missis-

sippi and Tennessee rivers. At the close of

the war he accepted the position and returned

to Paducah, and there entered into mercantile

pursuits, and later into manufacturing enter-

prises, establishing flour-mills, etc. He was

successful in his undertaking and was actively

engaged in business in that place for some

twenty years. In 1886 he decided to seek a

home on the Pacific coast, and in June of that

year located in Riverside, first entering into

horticultural pursuits upon a twenty-acre tract

west of the city, planting budded orange trees

and lemons. He also invested in residence and

business property in the city. In January, 1887,

in connection with George H. Jaques, he es-

tablished himself in mercantile life, and opened

the Riverside Paint Store on Eighth street, near

the corner of Orange street, and has since con-

ducted the enterprise. Mr. Milliken is a thor-

ough business man, prompt and straight in his

dealings, and has secured a liberal patronage

from the community. Politically he is a Demo-

crat, and a strong supporter of his party. He
is a member of the executive commiitee of the

Democratic county central committee, and has

taken a leading part in the conventions and

councils of the party.

In 1870 Mr. Milliken married Miss Mary B.

Wells, a native of Kentucky. She is the daugh-

ter of William and Mary (Porter) Wells. From
this marriage there are five children living, viz.:

Louis R., Mary L., Carrie G., William Horace

and Lillian Hord.

fENTON M. SLAUGHTER is one of the

well known and prominent men of San

Bernardino County. A brief review of his

life is one of interest in the annals of Southern

California. Mr. Slaughter was born January

10, 1826, a descendant from an old colonial

family of Virginia, who emigrated from Eng-

land in 1616. His father, Robin Lewis Slaugh-

ter, was born in Cnlpeper County, Virginia,

April 25, 1779, the son of Robin and Ann
Slaughter. October 25, 1803, he married Miss

Elizabeth Gillem, a native of Rockbridge County,

Virginia. He died in 1834, leaving a family of

eleven children for his widow to care for. In

1835, when the subject of this sketch was nine

years old, his mother moved the family to Mis-

souri and located in Callaway County, and in

1842 settled in St. Louis. Previous to this date

Mr. Slaughter had spent his time in agricult-

ural pursuits, receiving at the same time such

schooling as was afforded by thecommon schools.

Upon the arrival of the family in St. Louis,

he entered the shops of McMurray & Dorman,

to learn the trade of mechanical engineer, and

after serving an apprenticeship was employed as

an engineer upon river steamers between St.

Louis and New Orleans. Upon the first call

for volunteers for the Mexican war in 1846,

Mr. Slaughter abandoned his work and enlisted

for a year's service in Company B, Second Reg-

iment Missouri Mounted Volunteers, Captain

John C. Dent commanding the company, and
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Colonel Sterling Price commanding the regi-

ment. He served his full term of enlistment

and was discharged at Santa Fe, New Mexico,

in 1847. During his wild and arduous service

his command was engaged principally in sup-

pressing the Indian outbreaks in New Mexico.

He participated in the battles of Taos and the

Canadian Fork of the Red River with the Navajo

Indians. In the latter engagement he was taken

prisoner and held by his captors for twenty-two

days. The Indians had by that time somewhat

relaxed their watchfulness, and one dark night

Mr. Slaughter secured a mule and fled. His

wild ride did not terminate until "he reached

Albuquerque, 125 miles from his place of es-

cape. In 1847, shortly before his discharge, he

was wounded in a skirmish with the Indians at

Sevedas Ranch in the valley of the Rio Grande.

At the termination of his military service,

Mr. Slaughter returned to St. Louis and there

resumed his calling as an engineer until 1849.

He then came overland to California and spent

a year in El Dorado County in mining, return-

ing by the Panama route and New Orleans to

St. Louis. In the spring of 1851 Mr. Slaugh-

ter started upon his second overland trip to

California, and again located in El Dorado

County. While there he was the engineer of the

tirst steam saw-mill ever erected in the Sierra Ne-

vada mountains. He also engaged in mining.

In March, 1853, he went to Mariposa County,

and in the fall of that year entered the employ of

General Beal, Superintendent of Indian Affairs

of California, and was located at the San Joaquin

River Reservation, and also at the Tejon Reser-

vation in Los Angeles County. Not suited with

this occupation, in 1854 became to Los Angeles

and worked at his trade, and soon after engaged

in wool-growing on the Bnente Ranch in the

San Gabriel valley, with John Rowland. Mr.

Slaughter was for many years largely engaged

in the wool and sheep business in Los Angeles

and Sau Bernardino counties, and was one of

the tirst to introduce the thoroughbred Spanish

and French Merino stock that tended so much
toward building up that industry in Southern

California. He also, in 1854, established the

first blacksmith shop ever opened in San Gabriel,

and the same was conducted by him for many
years. Mr. Slaughter was successful in his en-

terprises, and in 1868 he purchased the Buena

Vista, of Rayinondo Yorba Ranch, of Rincon,

San Bernardino County, and transferred his

herds to these tine grazing lands. In 1882 he

sold off his sheep and closed out his stock busi-

ness and rented most of his lands. Three years

later he sold off his ranch lands, reserving the

old homestead place and 1,000 acres of land.

This tine ranch is located in the Chino School

District, four miles 60uth of Chino, and consti-

tutes one of the model farms of the county.

Mr. Slaughter is engaged in general farming

in its broadest sense. He is a thorough agri-

culturist, horticulturist and stock-grower, and

aims for the highest in each branch. The stock

of the ranch is of the best. He raises no other.

His cattle, comprising about tifty head, are

thoroughbred Durham stock, and among the

tine horses are to be found the well known "Joe

Hamilton," " Exile," " Bob Mason," " Peri,"

" Pinole," " Dublin Boy," " Poyle," " Fandan-

go," and many others. He is the pioneer in

the thoroughbred stock business in San Ber-

nardino County. Upon his ranch is a vineyard

of forty acres in extent, containing the most ap-

proved varieties of wine grapes. The products

of his vineyards are cared for by himself. In

1887 he built a winery with a capacity of over

20,000 gallons, and manufactures wine with a

success that is well attested by the fact that his

wines find a ready market at remunerative

prices. His hay and grain-raising is chiefly

confined to such as is needed for home consump-

tion. Aside from his general farming and

stock business, Mr. Slaughter has been connected

with other important interests in the county.

He is a public-spirited and progressive man,

taking a great interest, and often a lead, in en-

terprises that will build up Southern California.

In politics he is a stanch Democrat, and though

of Southern birth and family he was a strong

Union man and supporter of the Government
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during the war of the Rebellion. He is promi-

nent in the councils of his party, and has for

years been chosen as a delegate to county and

State conventions. In 1870 he was elected

member of the Assembly from San Bernardino

County, a.id served in the State Legislature of

1871-'72 with credit and distinction to both

himself and his constituents. In 1885 Mr.

Slaughter was appointed by Governor Stonemau

as Supervisor of District No. 2, San Bernardino

County, vice E. H. Gates, deceased. So well

did he meet the requirements of the office that

his party in 1886 placed him in nomination to

succeed himself. His district and county is

strongly Republican, but party feeling weighed

as nothing against his popularity and sterling

qualities, and he was elected by a good round

majority. In 1873 he was appointed Postmaster

of Rincon, and held the office until he resigned.

A strong supporter of schools, he has for years

been a school trustee of his district. He is a

member of the Masonic fraternity and affiliated

with the lodge at San Bernardino; he is also a

member of California Pioneers and "Veterans of

the Mexican war.

In December, 1860, Mr. Slaughter was mar-

ried to Miss Dolores Alvarado, a daughter of

Francisco and Jnana Maria (Abila) de Alvarado,

of San Gabriel, and they have had nine children,

viz.: Senovia, now.Mrs. Louis Meredith, of Po-

mona; Florisa, Julia, Robert F., Joseph J., Do-

lores B., Fenton, Lorinda and Floren P.

#^€B-£#

•HOMAS P. DRINKWATER.—There is

probably no section of Southern Califor-

nia that can produce such thorough horti-

culturists as the Riverside colony, and it is

noticeable that some of the most proficient of

those are men who have spent their previous

lives in the counting-house or factories of the

East; men who have had no previous opportun-

ity of studying the marvels to be found in

nature's horticultural productions; but it is

equally noticeable that such men have been

ranked to pursuits that have called for skilled

labor or mental work. Some of the finest

work in horticulture of this date is being done

by that class of men. The subject of this

sketch is a fair example of that class, who came

to Riverside in 1879, and first located on Ban-

d : ni avenue and purchased seven and one-half

acres of land, which he improved and planted

in orange trees. This place he sold in 1882, to

M. S. Rowell; he then purchased from B. W.
Handy, nine acres on Cypress avenue, and later,

the ten acres adjoining this on the south. There

were but inferior improvements on these places,

but Mr. Drinkwater raised nursery stock for

new trees, budded the old trees, fertilized the

soil, thoroughly cultivated and irrigated, and in

a few years produced some of the finest groves

in this section. In 1886 he sold the south ten

acres to H. Jaracki. It is now owned by D. P.

Chapman and J. S. Koethen. In 1887 he sold

the balance of his land, after which he engaged

in horticultural pursuits for others, in the plant-

ing, care, etc., of their orange groves. His skill

and well-known ability readily found employ-

ment, and he often has as much as 200 acres

of orange groves under his care. In March,

1889, he purchased thirty-one acres of land on

Bandini avenue, one-half mile west of Brock-

ton avenue; this purchase was from C. Flentje.

There are six acres of this in oranges, three

acres in grapes, and the balance in alfalfa; about

twenty-five acres is bottom land, and has a

water- right from Spring brook; the upland is

watered from the Riverside water system.

Mr. Drinkwater was born in Penobscot Coun-

ty, Maine, in 1851. His father, Isaac Drinkwa-

ter, is a native of Massachusetss, and is a veteran

of the war of the Rebellion. Mr. Drinkwater's

mother, Betsey Waterman, is a native of Plym-

outh, Massachusetts. When seven years of

age his parents moved to Brockton, Massachu-

setts, and there he received his schooling, and

also learned the trade of shoemaker from his

father. He learned the mason and bricklayer's

trade, at which he worked for about three years.

Mr. Drinkwater was engaged in the manufacture
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of boots and shoes in the factories of Brockton,

and also established a shop in that city, which

he conducted until his emigration to California.

He married Miss Mary F. Brickford, a native

of Massachusetts. There are three children

from this marriage, all born in Riverside, whose

names are: Mary S., Alfred T. and George H.

Mr. Drinkwater is a member of Evergreen

Lodge, No. 259, F. & A. M., of Riverside, and

a supporter of the Universalist Church. In

political matters he is a stanch Republican.

tOBERT S. CROMBIE, the senior member

of the well-known firm of Crombie &
Crombie, wholesale and retail grocers, of

Riverside, came here in 1886, and in October of

that year entered into mercantile pursuits, estab-

lishing his present business under the firm name

of Newberry & Crombie, with Mr. J. R. New-

berry as his partner. This firm continued until

March, 1888, when his brother, Mr. G. M.

Crombie, bought the interest of Mr. Newberry,

and the firm of Crombie & Crombie was formed.

The business was enlarged and extended and a

branch house established by the firm in Arling-

ton. Mr. Crombie is at the head of one of the

most substantial business houses in Riverside,

which will compare favorably with any business

enterprise of its character in the county. His

success is not the result of chance or specula-

tion, but has been secured by a strict attention

to the wants of the community and a prompt

supplying of them with first-class goods at rea-

sonable prices.

The subject of this sketch was born in Rich-

mond, province of Quebec, Canada, in 1860,

the son of William and Mary J. (Montgomery)

Crombie. His father was a native of Scotland,

his mother of Ireland. Mr. Crombie was

reared upon his father's farm, but given the ben-

efit of a good education, graduating from the

St. Francis College of Richmond in 1879. In

that year he came to the United States and was

first located in Dakota, where he was for a

year or more employed in Government surveys,

after which he engaged in the In nber business

at Larimore, Dakota, until 1883. He then went

to Mexico, and was prospecting and' mining, and

later entered the employ of the Mexican Na-

tional Railroad Company. In 1886 he returned

to his old home, and after a brief stay returned

to the Pacific coast and located in Riverside and

established himself in his present business.

Mr. Crombie's interests are fully identified

with Riverside and her people, and he is a sup-

porter of her enterprises. He is the owner of

his residence on the east side of Orange street,

between Thirteenth and Fourteenth streets, and

also residence and business lots and store at

Arlington. He is a member of the Episcopal

Church, and united with the society at River-

side. Politically he is a Republican. Mr.

Crombie married in 1888, wedding Miss Ella

E. Guilder, a native of Wisconsin.

fOHN B. TAYS is one of the early set-

tlers and enterprising and progressive cit-

izens of Ontario. He is the owner of

forty acres of land in that colony and has for

years been building up the horticultural in-

dustries of his section. His place is located

on the south side of Thirteenth street, east of

Euclid avenue. Mr. Tays purchased this land

in 1883 and immediately commenced its im-

provement, planting trees and vines. He is

justly ranked among the pioneer horticultur-

ists of Ontario, and has produced one of the

representative places of his section. He now
has twenty acres in citrus fruits, of which

fifteen acres are in oranges of the Washington

Navel and. Mediterranean Sweet varieties; five

acres are in lemons. His fine vineyards con-

tain twenty acres,—fourteen acres being devot-

ed to wine grapes of the Zinfandel, Berger

and Riesling varieties, and six acres to Mus-

cat raisin grapes. There are also 400 olive

trees upon his laud, three years old. The
products of his vineyards are cared for upon



HISTORY OF SAN BERNARDINO COUNTT.

the ranch. He dries, packs and ships his

raisins, and to dispose of his wine grapes lias

bnilt a well-ordered and complete winery for

distilling the brandies necessary to fortify his

sweet wines. He is successful in this indus-

try and his products find a ready sale at good

prices. A neat and comfortable cottage resi

dence, suitable outbuildings, etc., attest the

well-ordered home. Mr. Tays has also been

identified with building up the town of On-

tario. Among his improvements in that respect

was the improvements on the villa lot on the

corner of D and Euclid avenues, where he lived

for the first three years of his residence in On-

tario colony. He has ever been a public-

spirited citizen and a strong supporter of

schools and churches, notably so in donating

the lot upon which stands the Methodist church-

No enterprise is started in the colony that has

the merit of advancing the interests of the com-

munity that does not find a supporter in Mr.

Tays. The subject of this sketch is a native of

Nova Scotia, dating his birth in 1842. He was

reared and schooled in his native place until

twenty years old, and then started in life by

crossing the continent to British Columbia,

where he engaged in mining in the Cariboo

and Koolama districts until 1869. He then

came to the United States and spent the next

two years in the mining districts of Montana,

after which, in 1872, he went to Texas and lo-

cated at El Paso, where he spent several years

as a miner, stock-grower, hotel-keeper, etc. The

years of 1881 and 1882 he passed in Mexico,

engaged in mercantile pursuits and packing sup-

plies. His enterprises there proved successful

and in 1883 he concluded to seek a more desir-

able occupation and place of residence, and

therefore chose the Ontario colony. In 1878

Mr. Tays married Mrs. Amelia St. Vrain, a

native of Illinois. No children have blessed

this union, but Mr. and Mrs Tays are rearing

two children,—Amelia and Mary Roman,—the

daughters of a brother of Mrs. Tays. Most

people, in visiting Ontario, are struck with the

to-called gravity car upon the Euclid avenue

line, whereby the mules or horses are trans-

ported from the^heights to the lower terminus of

the road. This effective and labor saving ar-

rangement is the invention of Mr. Tays.

-<• 3 ' '!»§*—

SUTHER 0. TIBBETS was born in South

Berwick, York County, Maine, June 26,

1820. His father, James Tibbets, was a

native of the same State and a farmer by occu r

pation. The subject of this sketch was educated

in the public schools and reared a farmer until

seventeen years of age. He then located in

Portsmouth, New Hampshire, first engaging as

a clerk in mercantile houses, and later estab-

lished a general merchandise store at Great

Falls, New Hampshire, which enterprise he

conducted until 1844, when he sold out the es-

tablishment to his brother. It is worthy of

mention that the mercantile house he estab-

lished nearly half a century ago is still in

existence, conducted by his brother and descend-

ants, under the firm name of E. A. Tibbets & Son.

Mr. Tibbets continued his mercantile pursuits,

establishing himself in Portsmouth, and later

transferring the scene of his operations to Bos-

ton, Massachusetts, where he opened a whole-

sale grocery business. He remained there un-

til 1852, and then seeking a broader field of

operations located in New York. The next ten

years were spent in a large wholesale grocery

business. In 1862 he entered into produce and

grain dealing, and became one of the heaviest

grain operators in the city. At that time the

war was in active prosecution; bread-stuffs and

cereals were being "cornered," and the Govern-

ment as well as other consumers was a special

mark for the greed of the speculators. Mr.

Tibbets declined to enter into "rings," and

especially did he decline to combine against his

cuuntry in meeting the provision supply for her

immense armies. This excited the enmity of

his rivals, and through the manipulations of

the Produce Exchange in its rulings upon his

contracts, etc., he lost a fortune and became se-
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riously crippled financially. In 1866 he left

New York city and took up his residence in

Glens Falls, New York, and the next year

moved to Virginia and located at Fredericks-

burg. There he entered into the general mer-

chandise business. The late war had terribly

embittered the Southern people against the

Northern men, and Mr. Tibbets became a mark

for their persecutions. His strong Union sen-

timents were never hidden, nor did he stek to

palliate or excuse any action of the Government

in its prosecution of the war. lie was not that

sort of a man. The consequence was that he

was compelled to leave that country in order to

save his life. In doing this he sacrificed his

all. He then went to Washington, thinking

the strong arm of the general Government

would extend its protection and something

might be saved from the wreck of his business.

His call was in vain, and in 1870 he gathered

his scanty means together and sought a home on

the Pacific coast. Upon reaching California he

located in Riverside and established his residence

upon sections 31 and 32, and bought a claim for

160 acres on section 34. This tract is now the

location of Arlington on Center avenue, west

of Magnolia avenue, well known as Tibbet's

tract, or Tibbet's station. Later he sold the

northern eighty acres and purchased sixty acres

on section 32, one and one-fourth miles west of

his home place on Magnolia avenue. For many

years Mr. Tibbets devoted his' land to general

farming and stock-raising, engaging in horti-

cultural pursuits only to the extent of planting

a fine family orchard and vineyard. In alfalfa

growing he has led the colony, having each

year nearly 100 acres devoted to that product.

During the years of 1887 and 1888, the demand

for villa and town lots induced Mr. Tibbets to

subdivide and plat his eighty-acre tract. Broad

avenues were laid out. Parks reserved, and the

land placed on the market. Many of the lots

were sold and improvements made, until the

depression in the real-estate market caused him

to suspend further sale until the demand was

more marked. He has some of the choicest

land, located in one of the most desirable spots

in Riverside colony, and the near future is des-

tined to see them occupied by beautiful and

pleasant homes. Mr. Tibbets has been identi-

fied with Riverside from the foundation of the

colony in 1870, and has been a supporter of any

enterprise that tended to build up his section.

The establishment of schools and churches found

a liberal contributor in him, as in fact, did any

enterprise that would, in his opinion, add to the

welfare of the community.

Mr. Tibbets has been twice married. In

1848 he married Miss Johanna Twombly, a na-

tive of Maine. She died in 1858. leaving four

children, but two of whom are now living, viz.:

Frank J., a resident of Washington, District of

Columbia, and Luther C, who resides in New
York city. One of his daughters, Harriet E.,

married Mr. James B. Summons, a well known

pioneer resident of Riverside, and died in 1875.

Mr. Tibbets was again married in 1863 to Mrs.

Eliza M. Lovell, a native of Ohio. No chil-

dren have been born from thi6 marriage.

go.

i
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fOHN HALL, M. D., was born near Leeds,

Yorkshire County, England, in 1819. He
was reared and schooled in his native place,

and early in life learned the printer's trade. In

1845 he came to the United States and located

in La Fayette County, Wisconsin, and, after a

visit to New Orleans, was there engaged in the

lead mines as a 6inelter. In 1848 he went to

Canada, where he engaged in work at his trade

as a printer in Toronto. He also entered upon

the study of medicine in the Toronto School of

Medicine. In 1857 he returned to the United

States and entered the Western Homeopathic

College at Cleveland, Ohio. He graduated at

that institution in 1858, and in the same year

married Miss Dorothea Stahl, a native of Darke

County, Ohio. Mrs. Hall was educated as a

physician and graduated at the Homeopathic

College in the same class with Dr. Hall. The

Doctor and his wife then located at Cincinnati,
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Ohio, and entered upon the practice of their

profession. In 1860 they removed to New
York city, and there continued their calling

until 1873. In that year they came to Califor-

nia and located in Piverside. Upon his ar-

rival, Dr. Hall bought a claim for forty-one

acres of Government land about one and one-

half miles south and east of Riverside, located

upon what is now known as Hall's addition to

Riverside, while Mrs. Hall continued to practice

medicine for a time in the new colony, and then

gave her energies in other directions. He gave

up the practice of his profession and engaged <d

horticultural pursuits. Among his first labors

was the planting of two acres of raisin grapes.

He was a pioneer in raisin growing and curing,

an industry that has since assumed the position

of the second horticultural industry in the River-

side colony. The Doctor became a thorough

practical horticulturist and devoted much atten-

tion to experimenting in order to secure the best

results from citrus and deciduous fruits. He
raised nursery stock, including a large variety

of fruits, such as were presumed to be adapted

to the soil and climate of Riverside. Much
time and labor were lost in the growth of de-

ciduous trees that eventually proved valueless

and were replaced by others. His orchards and

vineyards are now among the most varied in

their productions in Riverside, and their prolific

yield well attests the intelligent care the Doctor

bestows upon them. The Doctor has led a

quiet life in Riverside, but he has been alive to

its interests, and such enterprises as have been

inaugurated for the development and improve-

ment of the colony have received his support

and co-operation. He is a member of the Uni-

versalist Church and also of the order of Good
Templars. In political matters he is a strong

supporter of the Prohibition party.

Priestley Hall is the only son of Dr. John

Hall (whose sketch precedes this). He is well

known as one of the most enterprising and pro-

gressive of Riverside's citizens. A brief men-

tion of li is life and association with the enter-

prises that have placed Riverside in the ranks

of the leading cities of Southern California is

of interest. Mr. Hall was born in Cincinnati,

Ohio, in 1859. In 1860 his father located in

New York, and the subject of this sketch re-

ceived the benefits of an education in the public

schools of that city until fourteen years of age.

In 1873 he accompanied his parents to River-

side, where he completed his schooling and was

engaged in horticultural pursuits with his father.

In 1879 Mr. Hall purchased 140 acres of un-

cultivated land lying east of the homestead tract

of his father. For several years he engaged in

general farming upon this land. In the fall of

1886 citizens and others were seeking land in

his direction, and he subdivided a twenty-acre

tract. This found ready sale, and in the spring

of 1887 forty acres more were placed upon the

market. He then platted his whole tract and a

portion of the old homestead of his father, and

formed Hall's addition to Riverside. With his

characteristic energy he graded broad avenues,

laid out parks, and planted thousands of orna-

mental trees. The Gage canal being by this

time so far completed as to furnish water, Mr.

Hall, in September, 1887, incorporated the

Hall's Addition Water Company, of which he

was made president and manager, and which

office he still holds. A liberal expenditure of

money was made; a main pipe was laid troin

their reservoir near the Gage canal, two and

one-half miles to the lands of the addition, and

branch lines laid through the principal avenues,

forming a thorough and complete water supply

for domestic and irrigation purposes. The

capital stock of the company was $100,000, and

over $40,000 was expended in perfecting their

admirable water system. In June, 1887, Mr.

Hall incorporated the Hall's Addition Railroad

Company. He has been the president aud

general manager of the company since its or-

ganization. This company built and equipped

about one and a half miles of the street railway

leading from the corner of Main and Tenth

streets, in Riverside, to a central location in

Hall's addition. Mr. Hall has thus placed

within rapid and easy communication of the
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business center of the city an addition to River-

side that for residence and horticultural purposes

is unequaled. The soil and climate is well ad-

apted for orange-growing, the water supply is

complete and ample, the lands are elevated and

thoroughly drained, while the location for scenic

beauty is unequaled by any in the valley.

Mr. Hall is thoroughly schooled in horticult-

ural pursuits, and was for years engaged as an

assistant engineer under C. C. Miller, in the

construction of the Gage canal. He has been

reared from boyhood in the colony, and has a

large circle of friends. He is an energetic and

straightforward "business man, honest and liberal

in his transactions, and well merits the success

he has acquired in life. He is a consistent

member of the Universalist Church. In poli-

tics, he is a Prohibitionist. He is prominent

in Masonic circles, and is a member of Ever-

green Lodge, No. 259, F. & A. M., River-

side Chapter, No. 67, R. A. M., and Riverside

Commandery, No. 28, Knights Templar.

;R. CHARLES W. PACKARD is a well-

known early settler of the Riverside col-

ony and has for many years been identified

with the horticultural interests that have made

Riverside so well known. He came to this

colony in 1876 and located at Bandini avenue,

about one-half mile west of Brockton avenue;

his twenty acres formed a portion of the Brock-

ton Square. At that time but few improve-

ments had been made in that section, but the

Doctor entered heartily into clearing and plant-

ing his lands. He was one of the first to foresee

the future profits in orange-growing, and planted

fully ten acres of his tract with seedling oranges:

the balance he devoted to grapes and deciduous

fruits, which at a later date he replaced with

oranges. He was successful as a horticulturist

and established one of the finest groves in the

colony. In 1882 he sold eight acres from the

eastern portion of his tract. He is now the

owner of twelve acres which, with the exception

of a small portion planted with deciduous fruits

for family use, is devoted to orange culture.

He has a representative grove under a high

state of cultivation and prolific in yield. Dr.

Packard is a native of New England, dating his

birth in Abington, Plymouth County, Massa-

chusetts, in 1846. In addition to his horticult-

ural pursuits the Doctor lias been in the prac-

tice of his profession during nearly all his years

in Riverside. In 1886 he transferred his dental

parlors to the city, and now has well-appointed

rooms and office in Castleman's block, corner of

Main and Eighth streets. He is one of the pio-

neer dentists of the colony, a master of his call-

ing, and thoroughly practiced and skilled in his

work. These qualities, together with his genial

temperament and honest business dealings, have

secured him not only a liberal patronage, but

the esteem of a large circle of friends and ac-

quaintances. His interests are identified with

Riverside, and he is always found supporting

such public enterprises as advance her welfare.

In politics he is a Republican. He is a consis-

tent member of the Congregational Church and

also a member of the Masonic fraternity, still

retaining his membership in the Paul Revere

Lodge, of Brockton. The Doctor was married

in 1876 to Miss Sarah Delano, of Fair Haven,

Massachusetts. Her father, Captain Jabez

Delano, was a well-known resident of that place.

The two children from that marriage are: Ella

D. and an infant daughter.

^-feKr^r

fDWARD J. DAVIS, born in Devizes,

Wiltshire County, England, in 1844, son

of Robert and Sarah (MacVittie) Davis,

natives of that country. The subject of this

sketch was reared and given the advantages of a

common-school education in his native place,

and when fifteen years of age was apprenticed

to the trade of a carpenter and builder. He
served a seven years' apprenticeship and entered

life as a journeyman, a thorough master of his

calling in all its details, and established himself
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in London. He was also employed on the Gov-

ernment work at Woolwich, and later on the

Paris Exposition building in 1868. In the

same year he came to the United States, and

after a short stay in New York located in St.

Louis and was there engaged in contracting and

building until 1872. In the same year he came

to California and located in Riverside, was one

of the pioneer carpenters and builders of the

colony. In 1873 he purchased the block bound-

ed by Main, Orange, Ninth and Tenth streets,

and established his residence there and entered

into an active career as a carpenter and builder.

Many of the pioneer business blocks were erected

by Mr. Davis, among which was the building

of the first brick block in the city, occupied by

merchants, B. D. Burt & Brothers. For many

years he conducted his business as a builder,

and also engaged in horticultural pursuits upon

his block and in the nursery business. He was

successful in his pursuits, and invested quite

largely in business property and is now the

owner of valuable property on Main street. In

1887 he erected the well-known Powell block

on the east side of Main street, between Ninth

and Tenth streets, one of the finest buildings in

Riverside. The Rowell hotel occupies nearly

the whole of the block, being an imposing three-

story brick structure with a frontage of 123 feet

on Main street and 100 feet on Ninth street: the

lower story is occupied by spacious stores, four

in number, and the large office of the hotel,

dining room, kitchens, etc. The upper floor,

besides the parlors, contain eighty-four rooms,

with ample accommodations for 200 guests. It

is one of the best appointed hotels in the city,

and a credit to Riverside. Mr. Davis is owner

of the block and is also the proprietor of the

hotel, which he is conducting with G. V. Frazier

as manager. Among his business property is

145 feet frontage on the east side of Main, be-

tween Eighth and Ninth streets, upon which he

has several well-ordered stores. He has also

real-estate interests in West Riverside and other

locations. Mr. Davis is a pioneer of this place,

coming to the colony in less than two years

from its being founded. He has grown up with

the city and has been one of the most active and

successful business men, prompt to conceive and

quick to act. The various public enterprises

that have built up the city and developed the

resources of the colony have always received a

hearty support from him. He has been an active

worker in the ranks of the Democratic party,

never aspiring to political honors, but seeking

to secure the best men for office. He is a mem-

ber and senior warden of the Episcopal Church

of Riverside and was prominent in establishing

that church in the city. He is a member of the

Masonic fraternity and affiliated with the lodge,

chapter and commandery, and also member of

Riverside Lodge, No. 282, I. O. O. F., and

Sunnyside Lodge, No. 112, Knights of Pythias.

In 1876 Mr. Davis married Miss Grace Cun-

ningham, a native of Nova Scotia. From this

marriage there are two sous, George Robert

and Edward Percy.

§M. HOLT was born August 9, 1840, in

the town of Sylvan, Washtenaw County,

° Michigan, near where now stands the

town of Chelsea. His parents, natives of Con-

necticut, emigrated to Michigan while this was

still a Territory. In 1852 the father died at

Hillsdale, leaving five children. From the age

of fourteen the subject of this sketch depended

upon his own resources for maintenance and

education. Attending the Hillsdale College

from 1856 to 1859, he then went to Iowa,

where he learned the printing business in the

office of the Eagle, Vinton, Iowa. In 1860 he

was married to Miss Libbie J. Graves. Spend-

ing three years in teaching he was elected in

1863 Superintendent of Schools of Yinton

County, having under his charge over 100

schools during his incumbency in 1864 and

1865.

In 1866 he established the Dallas County

Gazette at Adele, Iowa, which he published for

one year; then, selling out here, he removed to
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Boone, Iowa, purchased the Index, changed its

name to the Standard, and published it for

some little time, retiring in the spring of 1868.

He was now elected a delegate to the Republi-

can National Convention which placed General

Grant in nomination for his first Presidential

term.

In 1869 Mr. Holt came to financial wreck, in

the endeavor to publish a Prohibition news-

paper in Marshalltown, Iowa; and in December

of that year he removed to California, and locat-

ing at Sacramento began work at his trade.

During the years 1872-'73 he was associate

editor of the Russian Hive?' Flag, a Republican

organ published at llealdsburg, Sonoma County.

Prior to coming to California Mr. Holt had be-

come an enthusiast on the subject of orange

culture, thanks to conversations held with

President Welsh of the Iowa State Agricultural

College, who had brought his interest in this

matter from Florida, whose United States Sena-

tor he had been during the reconstruction

period.

In the fall of 1871 Mr. Holt learned of the

founding, by a former Iowa acquaintance, of the

town of Riverside, San Bernardino County.

Accordingly he went thither in January, 1872,

and spent four weeks in Southern California.

This was about six months after the first irrigat-

ing stream had reached Riverside, and people

considered as dear land at §20 per acre, includ-

ing water-right ! At this time Mr. Holt visited

the principal orange-growers of Los Angeles

County, and gained all the information possible

from the leading horticulturists of that time.

Returning to Healdsbuig, he organized a com-

pany with a capital stock of $50,000 for the

purpose of planting an orange orchard in South-

ern California. The stock was all taken soon,

and Mr. Holt was made president of the com-

pany; but, the stockholders considering him too

enthusiastic, they elected a superintendent to

proceed to Southern California to buy the land

for the orchard. This, by the way, was located

four miles northeast of Anaheim, and this is to-

day one of the largest orchards of that section.

In 1873 Mr. Holt left the newspaper business

and settled in Los Angeles, where he was made
secretary of the Los Angeles Immigration and

Land Co operative Association. This company

laid out the settlement of Artesia, in Los An-
geles County, in the fall of 1874, and by the

following spring had sold over $75,000 worth of

land there, subsequently buying other 2,700

acres, and laying out and placing on the

market the tract where now stands the town

of Pomona. The financial panic which fol-

lowed the failure of the Bank of California,

in 1875, closed all the banks in Southern Cali-

fornia, and nearly all in the States, and this

association's operations were brought to a close,

with the bankruptcy of the stockholders, nearly

all of whom had been considered solid men.

In 1875 Mr. Holt was elected superintendent

and manager of a company formed at Los An-
geles to plant a large orange orchard at Pomona,

where he lived for two years, learning while in

charge of the orchard the practical part of

orange culture, which he had previously studied

from a theoretical standpoint. In the spring of

1877 he issued a call to the fruit-growers of

Southern California to meet in Los Angeles, to

organize a horticultural society. A large meet-

ing was held, with the result that the Southern

California Horticultural Society was incorpor-

ated, with J. de Barth Shorb as president; L. M.

Holt, secretary; and Thomas A. Garey, Dr. O.

H. Congar, Colonel J. Barbury, T. C. Severance

and Milton Thomas, with the officers previously

named, as the board of directors. This society

held monthly meetings to discuss horticultural

questions, particularly orange culture; and in

1876 it appointed a committee, consisting of

its president, secretary, and several of its prom-

inent members, to visit all sections of Southern

California and report upon diseases of the

orange and insect pests. The orchards were

found in a very healthy condition, and no insect

pests of a serious nature were discovered, with

the exception of the red scale, which had gained

a foothold in the orchard of L. J. Rose, of San

Gabriel valley. At that time these insects
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were not considered a serious matter, and it

was little thought that it would within the next

ten years destroy millions of dollars' worth of

property, and threaten to entirely destroy the

orange culture in Los Angeles County. In

1876 the society established the Southern Cali-

fornia Horticulturist, a monthly publication,

of which Mr. Holt was made editor. In the

fall of that year, after the Horticulturist had

been published some three or four months, the

society found that the work was extending so as

to need the entire time of its secretary, and Mr
Holt resigned the position of manager of the

orchard at Pomona, and returned to Los An-

geles, and up to the fall of 1879 devoted his

entire time to building up the Horticultural

Society and its monthly periodical. During this

time the society held annual fairs, in the fall of

the year for the exhibition of agricultural and

horticultural products, together with other arti-

cles usually found in the pavilion department of

agricultural fairs. The society secured a fine

lot on Temple street, with a frontage of 200

feet, on which they erected a pavilion for fair

purposes. The depressed condition of trade,

and the hard times which prevailed from the

inception of this society up to the fall of 1879,

made it impossible to carry on the work success-

fully, the society became involved, and they lost

their property for the want of less than $5,000,

which it was impossible for them to raise from

the fruit-growers of Southern California, or the

business men of Los Angeles, and the pavilion

the next year was torn down, the material going

into residences. The land alone which the soci-

ety lost for the want of that assistance, is to-day

worth nearly $100,000. The society's publica-

tion, the Southern California Horticulturist,

was turned over to private parties, its name was

changed, and the publication is now known as

the Rural Californian.

During the latter part of December, 1879,

Mr. Holt, having retired from the Horticultural

Society, which soon afterward ceased to exist,

moved to Riverside, and bought the Riverside

Press, a newspaper which had been established

there a short time previous, taking possession of

the same with the first issue in January, 1880;

this paper he soon after changed into the Press

and Horticulturist, and made it the recognized

horticultural paper of Southern California. It

soon obtained a large circulation, and was

devoted principally to building up the interior

valley of Southern California, located in San

Bernardino County, becoming recognized au-

thority in land and water matters, as well as fruit.

In 1884 Mr. Holt issued a call for a State

irrigation convention to be held in Riverside in

May of that year. This convention was largely

attended by people interested in developing the

irrigation resources of the State, and an execu-

tive committee appointed by this convention

worked for many months to remodel the laws

relating to irrigation matters. The second con-

vention was held in Fresno in the fall of that

year, and the third convention was afterward

held in San Francisco. The executive commit-

tee went belore the Legislature during the ses-

sion of 1884 and 1885, with several bills for the

improvement of the irrigation laws, among them

being one for the formation of irrigation dis-

tricts. They failed in their work, and after

holding their third convention in San Francisco,

an extra session of the Legislature was called,

which resulted in such disastrous failure for the

cause in the summer of 1886. Afterward this

same bill for the formation of irrigation dis-

tricts was taken up by Mr. Wright, member of

the Legislature, during the session of 1887; it

was somewhat changed by him, and became the

law as it stands at present.

For several years Mr. Holt saw the necesMty

of advertising Southern California in the Eastern

States, and frequently advocated sending a cit-

rus fair back to some of the Eastern cities. In

the spring of 1886 he opened negotiations with

the officials of the Southern Pacific Railroad

Company, to see if they would carry to Chicago

material for a citrus fair He desired twelve

car loads of material, fruit and trees, together

with sixteen men to take charge of the same, to

be sent to Chicago by the railroad company



DISTORT OF SAN BERNARDINO COUNTY.

free of charge; they finally replied to him, that

their company would take six car-loads of freight,

and eight of the men, free of charge to Chicago,

if the Santa Fe would take the other half, to

which proposition the Santa Fe officials readily

consented. Mr. Holt then associated with him,

J. E. Clark, of Pasadena, and C. Z. Culver, of

Orange, and a Mr. Rust, who ngreed to assume

the responsibility of conducting the fair in Chi-

cago; fruit-growers responded with fruit and

trees, and other product.-, and early in March

the managers were in Chicago with a large ex-

hibit, which was put up in Battery D Armory,

on Michigan avenue, and opened to the public.

This building was 140 by 160 feet in size, and

it was full of exhibits, which constituted the

finest eitrns fair ever held up to tnat time on

the American Continent. Several car-loads of

orange and lemon trees, in fruit and in bloom,

were placed on exhibition, together with hun-

dreds of boxes of the choicest varieties of oranges

and lemons, and other products of Southern

California. This fair was kept open five weeks,

during which time it was estimated that it was

attended by 75,000 people from all parts of the

great northwest. The great boom of Southern

California during the years 1886 and 1887 was

the result of three causes; the Chicago citrus

fair, the completion of the Santa Fe system to

Southern California, and the rate war, which had

a run of several weeks at the same time the cit-

rus fair was in progress in Chicago.

The business connected with the publication

of the Press and Horticulturist made it neces-

sary foi the publisher to establish, in 1886, a

tri- weekly edition of his paper, and this was

changed to a daily a few months later.

Owing to an accident in July, 1888, in which

Mr. Holt had his hip broken and was laid up

for several weeks, he sold his paper, on Septem-

ber 1st of that year; but a few months later he

bought the San Bernardino Daily Times, which

in February, 1889, was consolidated with the

Daily Index, under the name of the Daily

Times-Index, which is published by a company,

of which Mr. Holt is managing editor.

Mr. Holt is recognized as an anthority on his

special topics. He is a firm believer in the

natural virtues and advantages of Southern

California, and a devoted and enthusiastic

worker for his faith. He is full of energy,

earnest, patient, and indomitable, and to him is

due much of the advancement and enterprise

manifested in the development of the citrus-

fruit industries in Southern California.

§ON. ELMER WALLACE HOLMES is

the accomplished editor of the Riverside

Daily Press and Weekly Press and Hor-

ticulturist. He has been identified with the

growth and prosperity of Riverside since 1875,

and it is safe to say that there are few men in the

community who have done more to advance the

horticultural and other industries of that city,

and show to the world its possible resources and

productions of Us prolific lands than Mr.

Holmes. The subject of this sketch came to

Riverside, broken in health and seeking a de-

sirable home and quiet pursuits. He early saw

the possibilities of horticultural enterprises in

Riverside, and in July of that year, purchased

a twenty-five acre tract in Brockton Square, at

what is now the corner of Brockton and Jnrupa

avenues. There were scarcely any improve-

ments in that locality at that early date, but

Mr. Holmes commenced his horticultural pur-

suits by planting his land with orange and

lemon trees, and a large variety of deciduous

fruits. He was also one of the earliest to grow

the raisin grape. He has proved himself a

practical and successful horticulturist, and now

has one of the finest orange groves in Riverside.

In 1882 he sold off a portion of his land, re-

serving some seventeen acres as his home. Mr.

Holmes has devoted both time and money, not

only in producing some of the best results in

orange growing, but in placing those results

before the world. He was one of the original

members of the Riverside Citrus Fair Associa-

tion, and was a delegate accompanying the
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Riverside portion of the Southern California

exhibit to the Chicago fair in the spring of

1886, and performed a similar service for the

county at New York in 1890. lie has always

taken the greatest interest in the growth and

prosperity of his chosen city, and has been

repeatedly called upon to hold positions of honor

and trust. Since 1880 he has been a member

of the board of school trustees, and was chair-

man of the board for many years. At present

he is the efficient clerk of the board. In this

connection it is but just to state that to the

strong advocacy and untiring efforts of Mr.

Holmes more than to any other man in the

community, is due the erection of the magnifi-

cent high-school building, which, being one of

the of the best in the entire State, may well be

the boast and pride of Riverside. He has, since

1884, been a member of the board of city trus-

tees, and president of the board since 1888. He
was one of the founders of the Riverside Library

Association, and has been a trustee of the same

since its organization, and is now clerk of the

board of library trustees. In political matters

he is a Republican, and has taken a lead as a

worker in the ranks of his party is a member

to both State and county conventions. In

1888 he was nominated by his party as their

candidate for the Assembly from the Seventy-

ninth Assembly District, and was elected by a

majority that fully proved his personal popular-

ity. In Riverside, where he is best known, his

majority was thirty-seven over the majority se-

cured by the head of the ticket upon which he

was elected. As a legislator Mr. Holmes did

not disappoint his constituents. He was a mem-
ber of several important committees, and de-

voted himself earnestly to his work. Among
his labors, mention should be made of his intro-

duction and management to a successful passage

of the act that gives to the State the present

admirable county horticultural law. Mr. Holmes

is a member of the following societies of River-

side: Riverside Lodge, No. 282, I. O. O. F.;

Evergreen Lodge, No. 259, F. & A. M., and

Riverside Post, No. 118, G. A. R. In Septem-

ber, 1887, he became identified with the news-

paper interests of San Bernardino County as

the editor of the San Bernardino Index, which

after a time he relinquished to attend to the

care of his maturing orchard.

In the fall of 1888 he again took up news-

paper work, and, associated with R. J. Pierson,

and J. H. Roe, purchased the two leading

dailies and the two principal weeklies of the city,

and consolidating them lias since published

them as the Daily Press and the Weekly Press

and Horticulturist.

As the editor in-chief he has placed these

journals in the ranks of the leading newspapers

of Southern California.

The few facts gathered regarding the life of

Mr. Holmes previous to his association with

the Riverside colony are of interest. He was

born in Plymouth County, Massachusetts, De-

cember 8, 1841. His youth, until the age of

thirteen years, was spent in the public schools.

At that time the death of his father occurred,

leaving his mother and five children dependent

upon themselves for a living. Mr. Holmes was

the eldest of the children. He left his studies

and sought work that he might aid his wid-

owed mother in the support of the family.

This he did by obtaining work in a printing

office, and from that day became a man in all bu;

years. The remaining portion of his boyhood

was spent in unceasing labor. He became a

thorough and skilled workman in the printer's

trade, and followed that occupation until 1862,

when he felt it his duty to enlist as a soldier.

He entered the United States military service as

a private in the Thirty-fifth Regiment of Massa-

chusetts Volunteer Infantry. His regiment was

attached to General Reno's Brigade, Second

Division of the Ninth Army Corps, and took

part in the Maryland campaign, participating

in the battles of South Mountain and Antietam.

In the fall of 1862 Mr. Holmes was compelled

to leave the field on account of sickness, brought

on by over-exertion, but returned to his com-

mand after the battle of Fredericksburg. He
served until the fall of 1863, when another
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hemorrhage of the lungs so incapacitated him

that lie accepted a discharge from the service.

He returned to his home, and, after a year's

rest, his health being restored, he again enlisted

for the war. Entering the artillery service in

the fall of 1864, he was assigned to the Sixth

Massachusetts Battery. His strict attention to

his duties and soldierly qualities soon gained

recognition, and he rose through the successive

non-com missioned grades to be First Sergeant

of the battery, and after holding that responsi-

ble position for some months, was in June, 1865,

promoted to a lieutenancy, and discbarged as

such at the close of the war. After his dis-

charge he returned to Massachusetts and was

employed as foreman in the office of the Nor-

folk Register, at Randolph, which paper he

subsequently purchased and conducted as its

editor and proprietor until 1869. In that year

he returned to Brockton and entered into part-

nership with A. T. Jones, in the publication of

the Brockton Gazette, in connection with which

he conducted a large job-printing business. Mr.

Holmes was successfully engaged in that busi-

ness until completely broken in health, which

compelled him to abandon it and seek rest and

a change of climate. In 1875 he came to Cali-

fornia and established his residence in River-

side. In 1864 Mr. Holmes married Miss Ruth

C. Nickerson, of Harwich, Massachusetts. She

died in January, 1868, leaving one child, Elmer

Elwood, who is now in the United States postal

service and a resident of Los Angeles. Mr.

Holmes' second marriage was in 1871, when he

married Miss Alice E. Odell, a native of Ran-

dolph, Massachusetts. From this marriage

there are two daughters—Anne Lucia and Alice

Bertha, the latter a native of his adopted State.

tLFRED PIDDINGTON was born in

Warwickshire, England, in 1829. He is

the son of George and Elizabeth (Fifield)

Piddington, both natives of England. Mr. Pid

dington was at a very early age (when twelve

years old) apprenticed to a trade, and was al-

most entirely deprived of the advantages of a

schooling, but he schooled himself to a certain

extent. His early life was one of severe toil

and he became a man in thought and action at

an age that more favored youths devote to boy-

idi occupations. In 1854 he emigrated to

Toronto. There he commenced work as a book-

binder, a trade he had taken up as an amateur.

His strong will and determination to succeed

soon enabled him to become a practical work-

man, and in 1859 he started a small business of

his own as a bookseller and binder. This he

gradually increased by his sound business prin-

ciples, coupled with his untiring energy, until

he gradually rose to be the sole proprietor of

one of the largest book establishments in To-

ronto. These years of close application to busi-

ness pursuits had so impaired his health that, in

1883, Mr. Piddington recognized the absolute

necessity of suspending his labors and seeking

a southern climate. In that year he came to

California, visiting many places in search of

health. He finally visited Ontario, and so

pleased was he with its climate, soil, etc., that

he purchased a thirty- acre tract on the corner

of Euclid Avenue and Sixth street. In 1884

he commenced improving the lands, planting

trees and vines. Some three or four acres he

planted in oranges; ten acres in vines, and the

remainder in prunes and other deciduous fruits.

Finding the cares attendant upon the proper

cultivation of such a place more than he was

willing to devote to horticulture, in 1887 he

sold that place, and the same year erected his

present comfortable home. This home is upon

a comfortable villa trac^ corner of Euclid

avenue and First street, and is one of the most

desirable and beautiful residence properties in

Ontario. His two-story house is of pleasing

architectural design and fitted with the conven-

iences and luxuries of a modern home. Orna-

mental trees and rich floral productions add

beanty and comfort to the place, while his

grounds of one and one-half acres in extent

provide a large variety of citrus and deciduous
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fruits for family use. He is a believer in On-

tario, and has considerable real-estate interests

there, besides his home. He is a member of the

Masonic fraternity and also of Ontario Lodge,

No. 345, I. O. O. F. Mr. Piddington was mar-

ried in Toronto, 1858, to Miss Jane Burns, a

native of Ireland, but of Scotch descent. She

came to Canada in her childhood, in 1840. Her

parents were James and Eliza (McAdams)

Burns. By this marriage there are the follow-

ing children, all residents of Ontario: Eliza J.,

now Mrs. Oliver Holmes; Alfred A., Martha

and Willie W.

fAPTAIN C. C. MILLER is one of the

early settlers of Riverside and has for fif-

teen years been identified with its growth

and improvement. He is a native of Oneida

County, New York, dating his birth in 1824

His parents were Chauncy and Alice (Reney)

Miller, both natives of that county. His grand-

father, Grant Miller, was a pioneer of Oneida

County, settling there in the days of the colo-

nies, and built the first house erected in his

section. Captain Miller was but four years of

age when the death of his father occurred. His

mother then married Judge Aaron Bnrley.

The subject of this sketch received the advan-

tages of a good education. He was in attend-

ance upon the public schools in New York until

nearly twenty years of age, and then went to

Ohio, joining the family, who had preceded him

two years before. There he entered the Ober

lin College, and after two years' study in that

institution, entered the Cleveland University

and graduated in 1852. He made civil engin-

eering a specialty in the college course and

started in life in that calling as his profession,

devoting himself to railroad construction, and

was employed for the next two years on the Illi-

nois Central and Atlantic & Ohio railroads. In

1854 he located at Tomah, Wisconsin, in Mon-
roe County, and was for the next ten years en-

gaged in the construction of many of the

railroads in that State and in Minnesota, and

ranked among the leading engineers in locating

and constructing the Milwaukee & St. Paul,

and Chicago & Northwestern railroads. He also

established himself as a land surveyor. Mr.

Miller was one of the early settlers of Monroe

County and was prominently identified with

the building up and growth of his section. In

1864 he entered the military service of the

United States, receiving a commission as Captain

in the Forty-ninth Wisconsin Volunteer In-

fantry. His regiment was assigned to duty in

southwest Missouri, under General Dodge. There

Captain Miller's professional knowledge and skill

was called into action and he was appointed

chief engineer of the district. He served until

after the close of the war, being honorably

discharged from the service in November, 1865.

After his discharge he returned to civil pursuits

and engaged in constructing the West Michigan

& St. Paul Railroad, as assistant chief engineer,

and later was the chief engineer in locating and

constructing the Wabasha & Lake Superior

Railroad. In 1874 the ill health of his wife

made it necessary that he seek a milder climate,

and he brought his family to Southern

California. He established his residence in

Los Angeles, and in June of that year came to

Riverside valley, as the engineer and superin-

tendent of the El Sobrante de San Jacinto

Ranch, and later was engaged in the construc-

tion of the upper canal of the Riverside water

system. In October of 1874 he brought his

family to Riverside and the next year purchased

the block between Main and Orange and Sixth

and Seventh streets, and established his home.

Captain Miller entered heartily into horticulture

and the building up of the town. His beauti-

ful grounds and desirable location induced him

to open his residence as a hotel, and " Glenwood

Cottage" and its genial host soon became noted

among the traveling public. He was compelled

to enlarge his building to meet the demands of

his ever increasing guests. Year after year he

added to his cottage and from that sprang the

noted Glenwood Hotel, of Riverside, during this
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time Captain Miller did not neglect his profes-

sional duties as an engineer, but was engaged in

many of the large enterprises of Southern Cali-

fornia and Arizona, and was the engineer-in-

chief in the construction of some of the most

noted canals and irrigation systems in the

country, among which is the Gage canal of

Riverside. He was also interested in real-estate

dealings and other interests that have tended to

build up the section. In 1881 he retired from

the management of the Glenwood, selling the

property to his son, Frank A. Miller. There

is no man in Riverside better or more favorably

known to the general public and to Riverside

than Captain Miller; nor is there one who has the

respect and esteem of a larger circle of friends

and acquaintances. He is prominent in Masonic

circles, being a member of Evergreen Lodge,

No. 259, F. & A. M., Riverside Chapter No.

67, R. A. M. and Riverside Commandery No.

28, Knights Templar. He is also a member
and the Post Commander of Riverside Post,

No. 118, G. A. R. Politically he is a stanch

Republican, and has been a strong supporter of

that party ever since its organization in 1856.

Captain Miller was married in 1852 to Miss Mary
Clark, daughter of Dr. Clark, a prominent

physician of Lorain County, Ohio. They have
four children living, viz.: Emma, Frank A.,

Alice and Edward S. Emma is now the wife

of Mr. G.O. Newman, a prominent citizen and

engineer of Riverside; Frank A. married Miss
Belle Hardenberg; Alice is now Mrs. Frank
W. Richardson; Edward E. married Miss

Hopkins. All the children are residents of

Riverside.

fHOMAS BENTON HUTCHINGS, re-

siding five miles east of San Bernardino,

on Base Line, was born in Ray County,

Missouri, in 1852. His parents, llovey and

Amanda (McQniston) Hutchings, had a family

of five children, of whom the subject of this

sketch is the youngest. His mother died when

he was but six weeks old, and his father married

a second time and had six children by his last

marriage. He was a farmer, owning several

farms, also a dry-goods merchant and owner of a

large saw-mill, but lost nearly all of his prop-

erty by the late war. He made a trip to Cali-

fornia as early as 1849 and mined for two years,

and then returned to Missouri. In 1865 he

crossed the plains with his family. Thomas
Benton Hutchings, then a lad of fourteen, drove

an ox team all the way from the Missouri river

to California, and though but a boy he paid very

close attention to what took place on that mem-
orable journey. They crossed the Missouri

river at Plattsmouth and traveled on the south

side of Platte river until within three miles of

Denver. At that time there were a number of

forts—one at Fort Laramie, Fort Junction, etc.,

—and soldiers were stationed at each. They

were some 400 miles apart and the Indians

were troublesome. The train crossed the Platte

river eighty miles north of Denver, and con-

tinued the journey through the Black Hills to

Utah. There they lay over on the public

square for three days. Then being rested they

continued south through the Mormon settle-

ment and camped out at various times for two

or three weeks. They had no serious trouble

in camp until they got to Muddy river. At
Virgin river they camped ten days to recruit

their stock, and then began the journey across

the American Desert. They traveled two days

and two nights and hauled water a distance of

seventy miles. After crossing the desert they

hired the Indians to take charge of the stock,

which was to be returned next morning at day-

light. Early the next morning they started to

cross the next desert. They reached Las Vergas

at night and stayed there three days. They then

came to Mofano river, then to Cajon Pass, and

camped at Cucamonga ranch one day (the last

day of September). They reached El Monte, in

Los Angeles County, October 2. They had a

good deal of sickness on the journey and buried

two children on the way. The train consisted

of eleven wagons. The father of the subject
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of this sketch had two ox teams and two horse

teams. He was beaten by Indians at Anaheim

who mistook him for another man, and he went

insane from the effect of his wounds. He died

in Napa in 1878.

Our subject came from Los Angeles County

in 1888 to San Bernardino, where he bought

and took charge of the American Feed and

Livery Stables, which occupied his attention for

two years. lie still owns valuable property in

San Bernardino, and has recently bought the

residence property on Base Line, where he now

lives, at a cost of $5,000. Here he has one-half

acre of oranges, _one acre of Muscat grapes,

three- fourths of an acre of alfalfa and the re-

mainder in deciduous fruits.

Mr. Hutchings was married in 1883 to Miss

Mary Shay, a native of California, daughter of

"W. A. Shay, one of the earliest pioneers of

California, and has two children: Eliza B. and

Clayton W.

4&4ss&'e&

fLARENCE STEWART, a well-known

business man of Riverside, is a native of

Rockford, Illinois, dating his birth in 1848.

In 1849 his father, John N. Stewart, came to

California and engaged in mining. In 1851 he

returned East, and the next year brought his

family to the State and located in Sacramento

for about three years, and then moved to Sono-

ma County, where he engaged in fanning until

he came with his family to San Bernardino in

1865. The subject of this sketch was reared in

California and schooled in her public schools.

Shortly after his arrival in San Bernardino he

went to Arizona and was there employed by

Indian Agent George W. Beihy as his deputy

on the La Paz Reservation. He spent a year in

that territory and then returned to San Ber-

nardino and learned the trade of a wagon-maker,

after which he spent a winter in Wickenberg,

Arizona, and in 1869 established himself on the

old Jurnpa ranch, about one and one-half miles

west of the present site of Riverside. He pur-

chased fifty-five acres of that ranch and en-

gaged in agricultural pursuits and stock-growing.

Mr. Stewart has a fine orchard of deciduous

fruit, forty acres in extent, upon his ranch that

in 1888 yielded over 250 tons of green fruit;

also a large vineyard of raisin grapes. A large

portion of his land is of a character that renders

artificial irrigation unnecessary.

For nearly a quarter of a century Mr. Stewart

has been a resident of San Bernardino, and has

been engaged in many of the enterprises that

have built up Riverside and other sections. In

1885 he established his residence in Riverside

and entered into real-estate operations under

the firm name of Stewart & Kingston. At a

later date the firm established themselves in

the carriage business. In 1887 Mr. Stewart

purchased the interest of his partner and greatly

enlarged his operations, establishing a branch

house in San Bernardino. He was successful

in building up one of the largest business in-

dustries in the county, and in September, 1888,

sold his San Bernardino establishment to Mont-

gomery, Grant & Co., and in November of the

same year sold his Riverside works to Thayer

& Peters.

He conducted a large business under the firm

name of Stewart, Chamberlin & Cover. He
was an original incorporator and secretary of

the Eighth Street Improvement Company, and

was an incorporator and the treasurer of the

Mound City Land and Water Company. He is

also vice-president of the Stewart Hotel Asso-

ciation of San Bernardino, and was the principal

promoter of that enterprise. He is also con-

nected with banking interests and a stockholder

in the Farmers' Exchange Bank of San Ber-

nardino.

Mr. Stewart is well-known throughout the

country, and his various enterprises have al-

ways been characterized by sound business

principles and straightforward dealing that have

gained for him the confidence and respect of the

community. In political affairs he is a sup-

porter of the Republican party and an earnest

worker, but not an aspirant for political honors.
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In 1886 he was appointed a notary public, and

has held the office since that date. He is a

member of the Independent Order of Odd Fel

lows and affiliated with the lodge in Riverside,

and Encampment and Canton of San Bernard-

ino, and is also a member of Sunnyside Lodge,

No. 112, Knights of Pythias, of Eiverside. He

is a supporter of the religious denominations,

and is a member and steward of the Methodist

Church.

In 1872 Mr. Stewart was united in marriage

with Miss Rachel C. Abies, the daughter of

Benjamin and Maria (Pulley) Abies, well-known

residents of Riverside. From this marriage

there are two children : Mary Estella and Henry

B. Mr. Stewart's parents, John H. and Char-

lotte (Tucker) Stewart, were natives of Massa-

chusetts. His father was a pioneer of California,

well known in San Bernardino County and also

in Northern California. He died at San Ber-

nardino in May, 1884. Mr. Stewart's mother

is now a resident of that city, as is also his

brother, Richard Stewart.

S-x -2—
fLEXANDER McCRARY was born in

Ross County, Ohio, in 1825, son of Alex-

auder and Mary (Summers) McCrary. His

father was a native of South Carolina and his

mother of Kentucky. Mr. McCrary spent his

youth upon a farm, receiving such an education as

thecommon schools afforded and was early inured

to the hard labor of pioneer farming. His natural

mechanical tastes and ideas prompted his taking

up a trade, and at the age of twenty-one years

he started out in life as a carpenter, and later

as a bridge builder and millwright. In 1856

he moved to Iowa and located in Muscatine

County, engaging in farming and also as a car-

penter and builder. In 1866 he continued his

pioneer life by locating in Cherokee County,

Kansas, and was engaged in railroad con-

struction and various other enterprises until

1874. In that year he continued his westward

march and located in Los Angeles County, Cal-

ifornia, where he was employed by the Southern

Pacific Railroad Company in bridge building,

etc. In August, 1875, he moved to Riverside,

and first located on a twenty-acre tract on the

north side of Center street one-half mile east of

Magnolia avenue, on the Government tract, and

commenced horticultural pursuits. At that com-

paratively early date in tree planting in the Riv-

erside colony, no guide was given as to what

would finally result in profit and he, like scores

of others, lost both time and labor in planting

a large variety of deciduous trees and vines,

and in 1882 dug most of them out and put in

citrus fruit trees. Mr. McCrary sold that place

in 1886, and moved to a five-acre tract on Cy-

press avenue one mile south of Riverside, where

he built a comfortable cottage residence and es-

tablished himself in one of the pleasantest homes

in that section. His present lands comprise two

and a half acres of oranges, and about the same

acreage in raisin grapes, which under his intelli-

gent care and cultivation yield him a handsome

profit. He is also engaged in contracting, house

moving, etc. Mr. McCrary is a hale and hearty

man, fast approaching his " three score and ten "

years in age. He is enthusiastic in regard to

Riverside and its wonderful climate; and boasts

that for ten years neither he nor any member of

his family has needed the services of a physi-

cian. His long residence has made him well

known to the people of Riverside, and his suc-

cess in life and his pursuits are the result of

his untiring energy and straightforward deal-

ings.

For more than fifty years, he has been

a consistent member of the Methodist Church,

and a strong supporter of the same. In

politics he is a Republican, uniting with that

party upon its organization in 1856.

In 1848 Mr. McCrary married Mrs. Martha

Slater, a native of Pennsylvania. There are

now five children living, from this marriage,

viz.: Mary, now Mrs. James Rogers, of Duarte,

Los Angeles County; William H., who married

Miss Edith Ball; Isaac A., who married Miss

Laura Graves, residing at Monrovia, Los An-
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geles Count}'; John, who married Miss Julia

Push, and Letta, now Mrs. Jacob Mann.

jflj^ENRY JARECKI, a prominent business

flM) man and manufacturer of Erie, Pennsyl-

=frf/(S vania, has been induced by the genial cli-

mate of Southern California to select Riverside

as his residence. He came to Riverside in 1885

and purchased a ten-acre orange grove on the

west side of Brockton avenue, about one mile

south of the business center of the town, upon

which lie erected a two-story residence of mod-

ern design and finish. There he has since re-

sided with his family, receiving great benefit

from the health-giving air and pure water for

which Riverside is so noted. His leisure hours

are devoted to directing the care and cultivation

to be bestowed upon his fine orange grove and

beautiful grounds. He has one of the finest

groves and residence properties in the colony.

fEORGE D. CUNNINGHAM is one of the

enterprising and representative business

men of Riverside who have made that

city second in enterprise to none in San Bernard-

ino County. He has been associated with her

leading business enterprises and building in-

dustries since 1876, during which time the

small hamlet of a few hundreds has grown to a

city of thousands. He was born in Nova Scotia

in 1853. His parents were Herbert R. and

Eleanor (McGregor) Cunningham. He was

reared and schooled in his native place until

sixteen years of age, and then came to the

United States and located at West Amesbury,

now Merrimac, Massachusetts; there he entered

into an apprenticeship at the carriage and wagon

makers' trade. A close attention to business

for four or five years resulted in making him a

skilled workman, and a master of the practical

details of the business. He then returned to

his home in Nova Scotia, where he resided un-

til 1876. In that year he decided to

himself on the Pacific coast, and came to Riv-

erside. Upon his arrival he engaged in mercan-

tile life as a clerk with JR. F. Cunningham in

the general merchandise business. After a few

months in that employ he established himself

in business as a carriage manufacturer and dealer

in agricultural implements on Eighth street.

He was a master of his business and soon gained

the confidence and support of the community.

As his business increased he entered heartily

in improving and building up the city. In

1883 he built the well-known Cunningham

block on the corner of Main and Eighth streets.

This was the second two-story brick business

block erected in Riverside. During that same

year a disastrous fire destroyed his carriage

works, etc., but he never lost his faith either in

himself or in the future of his chosen city, and

after a few months of commission work in the

sale of carriages for Eastern manufacturers, he

established a furniture business in his block on

Main street two doors south of Eighth street,

under the firm name of Cunningham & Kelley.

This partnership continued until 1886, when

he bought out the interests of his partner, and

conducted the business alone. In 1887 he

moved his warehouse to the Hoyt block, and

conducted his greatly enlarged business until

May, 1888, when he sold out to W. S. Sweatt

& Co. In September of that year he formed a

partnership with Mr. A. A. Wood, under the

firm name of Wood & Cunningham, aud entered

into the hardware and crockery business, which

he has since conducted. This well-known firm

has one of the largest and most substantial

business enterprises in Riverside. Their ex-

tensive stock of hardware, crockery, tinware,

gas fixtures, lamps, etc.. is one of the most

varied and complete in the county, occupying

a double store in the Cunningham block, and

also a large wareroom on Eighth street. Nearly

fourteen years ago Mr. Cunningham ca^t his

fortunes with Riverside. He has been a suc-

cessful man, and gained a well deserved com-

petency. This has been done by sound business
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principles, combined with a straightforward

honest dealing that not only gained him the

support and patronage of the community, but

their respect and esteem as well. He has always

been a liberal supporter of enterprises that

would build up the city and advance the welfare

of the public. He is a director and one of the

original incorporators of the Riverside Build-

ing and Loan Association. In politics he is a

Republican, and his interest in the success of

that party has made him a delegate and worker

in many of the conventions. He is a charter

member of Evergreen Lodge, No. 259, F. & A.

M.; also a member of Riverside Chapter, No.

67, R. A. M., and Riverside Commandery, No.

28, Knights Templar. He is a member of

Sunnyside Lodge, No. 112. Knights of Pythias,

and of the Uniform Rank of that order.

Mr. Cunningham was married in 1879, in

Riverside, wedding Miss Susan E. Handy, the

daughter of Captain B. JB. Handy, a well-known

resident of that city. The following are the

names of the four children from this marriage:

Bessie C, Jack, Eleanor and Marian.

fOSEPH DAVID GILBERT, Sb., a promi-

nent farmer near San Bernardino, is a na-

tive of Cattaraugus County, New Fork,

born in 1827. His grandfather ran away from

London, England, and was a soldier in the

French and Indian war, also in the Revolution.

His father, Truman Gilbert, married Rebecca

Fay, a native of England, and immediately after

his marriage he moved to the Western Reserve

in Ohio, where he remained until 1842, when

he moved to the Mississippi river, and from

there to Montana, where he died in 1882. The

subject of this sketch kept a ferry at Montrose,

across the Mississippi river, for some two years.

In 1850. he started across the plains to Califor-

nia. He tarried in Salt Lake City one year.

There were twenty-two men and five women in

the company, and they had five ox teams and

fourteen horse teams. They took turns guard-

ing their stock at night and their rule was to

travel from 6 o'clock a. m. to 6 o'clock p. m. each

day. They left Springville March 14, 1850, and

arrived here May 31, of the same year. He
arrived here when there was but one house in

San Bernardino, and worked on some twenty-

three adobe buildings. He has dealt consider-

ably in land. Where his neat residence stands

to-day on his well improved and fruitful farm,

there stood at the time he bought it but a single

cottonwood tree to break the monotony of the

barren plain.

He was married at Provo, Utah, January 1,

1S54, to Margaret M. Barney, a native of Illi-

nois. Her father, Charles Barney, was from

Vermont, and died in the Utah valley. They

have five children, viz.: Joseph D., Jr., Ellen,

now Mrs. Frank Mecham; Emmernie, now Mrs.

Oscar Weece; Anna B. and Hattie. Mr. Gilbert

is a straight-out Republican and an intelligent

worker for his party's interests.

tLFRED A. WOOD, the senior partner of

the well-known firm of Wood & Cunning-

ham, proprietors of the leading hardware

establishment of Riverside, is a native of Cali-

fornia, dating his birth in Sonoma County in

September. 1859. His father, William B. Wood,

came to the State in 1850, and spent many years

of his life in Sonoma and Monterey counties,

and later, in Riverside, he was a business man

and engaged in mercantile life. The subject of

this sketch was reared and schooled in Castro-

ville, Monterey County, and after his attendance

in the public schools entered the State Normal

School at San Jose, and after a four-years course

graduated at that institution in 1880. He then

joined his father at Duncan's Mills, Sonoma

County, and was there engaged in business pur-

suits and teaching until his health became im-

paired, and he sought the milder climate of

Southern California. He first located at San

Diego County, in 1881, and was employed a6 a

teacher in the public schools in Ballena, and
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then as a clerk in the postoffice at San Diego,

after which he entered the employ of the South-

ern Pacific Railroad Company as a clerk, and

finally engaged in mercantile pursuits with

Rockfellow & Co., of San Diego. In 1883 he

came to Riverside, and entered into his present

business with his father, under the firm name

of W. B. Wood & Son. The business was es-

tablished by his father and W. W. Carr in 1882,

under the firm name of Wood & Carr. In 1887

Mr. Wood's father retired from the firm, and he

conducted the business alone until May, 1888

the firm of Wood & Tibbott Bros, was then

formed and conducted the enterprise until Sep

tember of that year, when Mr. George D. Cun

ningham purchased the interests of Tibbott Bros,

and the firm of Wood & Cunningham was estab-

lished. Mr. Wood is one of Riverside's leading

business men, and is at the head of one of the

largest hardware and crockery houses in the

county. The reputation of this firm for relia-

bility and integrity is well established, and its

success is in no small degree attributable to his

able management. He is a believer in the

prosperous future that awaits Southern Cali-

fornia, and has real-estate interests in various

sections of San Bernardino and San Diego coun-

ties. He has also been a supporter of the vari-

ous public enterprises that have built up his

chosen city. He is a member of Sunnyside

Lodge, No. 112, and Uniform Rank Knights of

Pythias, and is the Captain of the latter organi-

zation. Politically he is a Republican.

Mr. Wood was married in San Diego in 1881,

wedding Miss Etta Choate, a native of Placer

County, California. Her father, Daniel Choate,

is a well-known pioneer of the State, and is now
a resident of San Diego.

fETER K. KLINEFELTER.—Among the

noticeable fine residence property and

orange groves of Brockton Square of River-

side is the " Bijou," owned by Mr. Klinefelter,

and is located on the west side of Brockton ave-

nue, two miles south of the city, in the best

improved section of the Riverside colony. He
is the owner of twenty acres at that point, the

ten acres bordering on the avenue he pur-

chased from Mr. J. A. Simms in 1881. Upon
this tract Mr. Klinefelter has his home, con-

sisting of a neat cottage residence, surrounded

by a fine growth of ornamental trees, palms

and floral productions, forming one of the most

comfortable and beautiful California homes to

be imagined. His orange grove is seven acres

in extent, principally of seedling trees that are

eleven years old from the planting. In addition

he has a large variety of diciduous fruits for

table use, also two and one-half acres of alfalfa;

the other ten acres he purchased from William

R. Russell; this tract is cultivated to the grow-

ing of raisin grapes. Mr. Klinefelter is also the

owner, in partnership with his brother, Samuel

K. Klinefelter, of twenty acres of land on Ru-
bidoux avenue, Brockton Square. Upon this

tract there are thirteen acres of orange trees,

two-thirds seedlings and balance in budded

fruit, two acres of Lisbon lemons, and about five

acres of olive trees. The product of his olive

orchard is converted into oil and placed on the

market, under the firm name of Klinefelter

Brothers; it finds a ready sale at remunerative

prices. Mr. Klinefelter is a thorough horticult-

urist and a practical business man, who has

made a success in his enterprises in Riverside.

He is a strong supporter of such enterprises as

in his judgment tend to build up the city and

develop the resources of the valley. He is a

stockholder of the Riverside and Arlington

Railway, Riverside Gas and Electric Light

companies, Citrus Fair Association, and other

companies incorporated for the improvement of

Riverside. He is a prominent Mason, being a

member of Evergreen Lodge, No. 259, F. & A.

M., and Riverside Chapter, No. 67, R. A. M.,

and Riverside Commandery, No. 28, Knights

Templar; also a member of Riverside Post, No.

118, G. A. R. In political matters he is a Re-

publican.

Mr. Klinefelter was born in Richland County,
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Ohio, in 1842. His parents were Joseph and

Elizabeth Klinefelter, who were natives of Penn-

sylvania. In 1857 his father moved to Kansas,

and settled in Boone County, where he engaged

in agricultural pursuits until his death in 1858.

Mr. Klinefelter was reared as a farmer, and fol-

lowed that occupation until March, 1862. At

that time he entered the military service of his

country as a private of Company C, Seventh

Regiment of Kansas Cavalry. He served N\th

his regiment until honorably discharged in Oc-

tober, 1865, and during that time participated

in many of the hard-fought battles and severe

campaigns of the Western army, commencing

at Corinth and ending with the suppression of

the guerrilla forces in Missouri. After his dis-

charge from the service he returned to Kansas,

and the next winter located in the South Park

country, in Colorado, and in 1876, to Leadville.

Mr. Klinefelter spent many years in that country

in mining pursuits, as a prospecter, superin-

tendent and manager in devoloping mines. In

1881, desirous of a more genial climate, he es-

tablished his home in Riverside. In the same

year he married Miss Mabel Chance, a native of

Ohio. There are no children living from this

marriage.
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fEORGE M. SKINNER, was born inEaston,

Massachusetts, in 1833, son of Harrison

G-. O. Skinner, a native of Massachusetts,

and now a resident of Riverside. His mother,

Betsey Holmes, was also a native of Massachu-

setts. Mr. Skinner was reared and schooled in

his native place, and given the advantage of a

common-school education until seventeen years

of age. He then located in Brockton, Mas-

sachusetts, working in the boot and shoe manu-

factories until 1863. In that year he responded

to the call of his country for troops, and en-

listed in Company F, Fifty-Eighth Massachu-

setts Volunteer Infantry. His attention to duty

and soldierly bearing was soon recognized, and

he was promoted to be Sergeant. Mr. Skinner

served gallantly throughout the war, and was

not discharged from the service until August,

1865. During his service he participated in

some of the most arduous campaigns and the

hardest-fought battles that are chronicled in our

history. His regiment was attached to the

Ninth Army Corps, under the command of

General Burnside, in the Army of the Potomac.

He was engaged in the battles of the Wilder-

ness, Spottsylvania, North Anna, South Anna,

Cold Harbor, and the siege of Petersburg, mine

explosion in front of Petersburg. He was

wounded and compelled to leave the field, and

did not return to duty until the fall of 1864:

from that time he was actively engaged in the

siege until the spring of 1865. His regiment

was a portion of those troops detailed to capture

Fort Mahone: in that charge Mr. Skinner was

again wounded and taken prisoner by the Con-

federate troops, and was held a prisoner until

the surrender of Lee's army at Appomattox.

After his discharge from the service he returned

to Brockton and resumed his work in the manu-

facture of boots and shoes, and later established

himself in business. In 1879 the subject of

this sketch came to California and located iu

Riverside. In February of that year he pur-

chased a ten-acre tract on Brockton avenue in

Brockton Square, about two miles south of

Riverside, and has since devoted himself to

horticultural pursuits. This place was at the

time of his purchase partially improved, but

he has made many improvements in tree plant-

ing, taking up deciduous trees and replacing

them with orange trees.

#^-»3-^

iELLSFORD E. WEST.—Among the

horticultural industries well worthy of

mention is that of Mr. West, conducted

upon a twenty-acre tract, located on the west

side of Magnolia avenue, between Jackson and

Van Buren, about six miles south of Riverside.

»Mr. West came to this place in 1884, and in

July of the next year purchased his present
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home, and entered upon horticultural pursuits.

The place was planted with trees and vines and

partially improved in buildings. He com-

menced a thorough cultivation and fertilization,

and added to that a vigorous pruning system-

atically applied, that has produced wonderful

results, and to-day his groves and vineyards

rank second to none in that section. He is a

thorough business man, having been trained to

business pursuits in his boyhood, and spent

years of his manhood in mercantile life. In his

new calling, which he took up in Riverside, he

applied the same intelligent care, study and

research that he had applied to previons pur-

suits, and the results were the same. As an

illustration of what he has done, with a grove

that is young and by no means in full bearing,

and also to show the rapid increase in yield that

he has secured, it is noted that his ten acres of

orange trees, ten years old from the seed and

six years from the bud in 1889, and composed

of two-thirds budded fruit and one-third seed-

lings, gave the following returns: in 1886, the

yield was 200 boxes: in 1887, 800 boxes; in

1888, 1,500 boxes, which netted him $2,000.

The crops of 1889 is estimated to be 2,500

boxes, netting from $3,000 to $3,500; six

acres of raisin grapes in 1888 yielded $900, the

same in 1889 gave $1,200. Four acres of

apricots in 1888 gave a yield producing $450.

These trees are being uprooted and replaced

with orange.

Mr. West is a native of Nova Scotia, dating

his birth in Halifax, 1851. His father, Au-

gustus W. West, is a prominent business man,

merchant and banker of that city, and is largely

engaged in the West India trade. Mr. West

was reared in Halifax, receiving the advantages

of a thorough classical and business education,

and then engaged with his father in mercantile

pursuits. In 1877 he was received as a partner

in the old established firm of J. T. & A. W.
West, and continued in active business life until

1884. His failing health then demanded a

change of business labors, and the seeking of

a more genial climate, and in that year he came

to Riverside and soon after entered upon his

present occupation. He has other interests in

Southern California, among which is a 120-acre

ranch in San Diego County, about ten miles

from Escondido. Mr. West is an enterprising

and progressive citizen, and one who promptly

identifies himself with the interests of Riverside

and its people, and already has a large circle of

friends in the community. He is a consistent

member of the Episcopal Church. Mr. West
has a pleasant and happy home; he married in

1878, wedding JVJiss Sadie Coleman, a native of

Cleveland, Ohio. They have three children:

Ina Mabel, Ernest W. and Marguerita R.

fDWARD M. COOLEY was born in San

Bernardino County, California, November

23, 1859. His father, George Cooley,

president of the board of supervisors, taught

night school for some two or three years. Our
subject's educational advantages were limited.

He received his principal schooling at a log

school-house about six miles from his home. He
now owns a fine ranch of sixty acres, and has

been very successful as a general farmer and

stock- raiser. He was married March 4, 1882,

to Miss Mary McCrary, daughter of Abner Mc-

Crary, a sketch of whose life appears elsewhere

in this work. They have two bright children,

Maud and Lester. Politically Mr. Cooley is a

Democrat, and has received the nomination of

his party for some of the district offices. He is

an energetic, industrious and enterprising young
man and bids fair to make an enviable record in

the calling he has chosen for a life work.

—^mzm^—
fAPTAIN JAMES W. SAYWARD, one

of Riverside's well-known and respect-

ed citizens, has for nearly forty years been

identifed with the interests of California and the

Pacific coast. The main incidents of his event-

ful life, herewith britfly given, are of interest.
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Captain Sayward is a descendant from an old

colonial family of New England. His fore-

father. Henry Sayward, emigrated to the Massa-

chusetts colonies in 1637. His father, William

Sayward, was a native of Maine, and a resident

of Thomaston. Captain Sayward was born in

that town, October 1, 1815. His mother, Mary

Elizabeth (Robinson) Sayward, was the daugh-

ter of Captain Moses Robinson, a veteran of the

Revolutionary war. The subject of this sketch

was reared and schooled in his native place, and

early in life commenced battling for himself.

At seventeen years of age his school days were

over, and he worked as a ship carpenter in the

summer seasons, and followed a seafaring life

in the winter months. Reared in such a school

of labor, he in early life became the self-reliant

and energetic man that he has been throughout

his subsequent career. The Captain became a

master in his profession in his young manhood,

and engaged in seafaring life on the Atlantic

until 1850. In that year he came to California

and engaged in mining until 1852, when he

returned East and built the bark W. T. Say-

ward, and in 1854 brought the vessel around

Cape Horn to San Francisco, as her owner and

master. Soon after his arrival in San Francisco

he sold his vessel and embarked in the lumber

business at Port Ludlow, on Pnget's Sound. He

was engaged in that enterprise for about two

years and then returned to San Francisco-

Captain Sayward was a resident of that city

in 1856, and was a member of the vigilance

police, No. 505, that established law and order,

and made life and property safe. He was then

appointed on the police force of that city with

the rank of Captain of the force. In 1857 he

accepted employment under the light-house

board of the United States, and superintended

the construction of the light-house at Cape

Flattery. Upon the completion of that work

he returned to San Francisco and was immedi-

ately re-enlisted as a captain on the police force,

a position he held until he resigned in 1860,

that he might resume his seafaring life. In

that year he took command of the brig Sheet-

Anchor, and was engaged in the coasting trade

until 1866, when he commanded the ship

Aquila, on a voyage to Liverpool. This proved

a disastrous voyage for the Captain. After

discharging his cargo in Liverpool, he loaded

essel with nic for New York. He
compelled to put back to the port of Glasgow

Scotland, for repairs, and restow the cargo,

and many delays occurred; and it was not un-

til December that he was fairly on his way

across the stormy Atlantic. His vessel was

destined never to reach her port. In January,

1867, she encountered a three days' fearful gale

on the Atlantic. The Captain and his crew

battled with the elements for days; their ves-

sel was dismasted, boats swept away, ami she

was in a sinking condition. Amidst this the

Captain was so unfortunate as to receive a

fracture of his leg. As hope was nearly aban-

doned, the bark Victoria, Captain S. Hews,

finally hove in sight and eventually succeeded

in rescuing the crew from the ill-fated vessel,

and landing them at Baltimore. The Captain

then decided to abandon his seafaring life and

returned to California. Upon his return he

located at St. Helena, Napa County, and was

for many years engaged in horticultural and

viticultural pursuits. In 1881 he came to San

Bernardino County, and located at Temescal,

where he engaged in ranching until 1887; in

that year he purchased from O. T. Dyer a

ten -acre orange orchard, on the north side of

Bandini avenue, one and one-half miles south

of Riverside, and has since been engaged in

orange-growing. His grove was planted in

1878, by T. R. Gundiff, and is now i-: good

bearing. About three-fourths of his trees are

budded to Washington Navels and Mediter-

ranean sweets, the remainder in seedlings.

The Captain is a thorough horticulturist and

his grove shows marked care and cultivation.

A neat cottage residence surrounded by floral

productions afford him a pleasant home. Cap-

tain Sayward takes an interest in all matters

that affect the welfare of his chosen section.

He is a Republican in politics, voted the Har-
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ris'on ticket three different times, and lias always

been a worker in the ranks of that party

as a member of county conventions and the

county central committee. He has for years

heen a prominent member of the Masonic fra-

ternity, and has lor nearly forty years been a

life member of Aurora Lodge, No. 50, of

Rockland, Maine, and is also a member of

Riverside Chapter, No. 67, R. A. M., and

Riverside Commandery, No. 28, Knight Tem-

plars He has been a member of the Calvin istic

Baptist Church for over fifty years.

In 1841 Captain Sayward married Miss Mary

E. Butler, a native of Rockland, Maine. She

died in 1887. No children were born by that

marriage; but he has reared and educated two

adopted children that bear his name, viz. : Liz-

zie, formerly Margaret Livingston, of Scotland,

who is now Mrs. Joseph A. Sayward, of Victo-

ria, British Columbia, and Louisa Dickinson,

now a member of his family.

H^ON. JAMES ALEXANDER GIBSON,
WW\ a member of the Supreme Court Commis-

si^ sion of the State of California, was born

August 21, 1852, in the city of Boston, and is a

worthy representative of the best mental product

of the Athens of America, and an honor to the

bar of Southern California. His father, Thomas

Gibson, was of Scotch-Irish descent, and a

machinist by trade. He left his native land

when a youth to accept a clerkship with his

uncle at St. John, New Brunswick, then a

prominent merchant there, where he remained

for some time before coining to the United

States. His wife, Judge Gibson's mother, was

born of English-Irish parents, in Ireland. When
the war of the Rebellion broke out his father

responded to the call of his adopted country, and

was assigned to General N. P. Banks' command,
and during the disastrous Red River expedition

was mortally wounded. The snbject of this

memoir was thrown upon his own resources at

an early age, and his school advantages were

limited to the common schools of Massachu-

setts. But, born with a dominant thirst for

knowledge, the lack of educational opportunities

only served to stimulate the boy's insatiable

appetite for learning, and he eagerly devoured

the contents of every accessible book on literary

and scientific subjects, especially works upon

astronomy and navigation. He started to learn

the printer's trade in the office from which

William Lloyd Garrison and Senator Sargent of

California graduated; but having reached the

romantic period of youth, and possessing a long-

ing desire to become a navigator and explorer,

the monotony of the composing-room became

unendurable to the adventure loving youth, and

he left the office before completing the trade. A
natural fondness for study and for intellectual

pursuits gave the active, ambitious young mind

also a bent toward the legal profession; and

while struggling with the problem whether to

choose a seafaring life, with an innate longing

to wrest from nature her secrets in unknown
seas and lands, or strive for forensic and judi

cial honors, older heads, friends of his father,

interposed and advised him to learn a trade and

study mechanical engineering and thus master a

tangible and permanent business. Yielding to

their counsel young Gibson sought and obtained

a position with the Walworth Manufacturing

Company, one of the largest firms in New
England, and remained with them until he be-

came an expert mechanical draughtsman, and

also a practical mechanic at the lathe. How-
ever, on reaching maturer years and thought,

he decided to enter the profession of law and

shaped his studies to that end. First crossino-

the continent to California he located in Colton,

San Bernardino County, and studied in the office

of Mr. William Gregory, formerly from the city

of Philadelphia, now a prominent member of

the bar at Portland, Oregon. In June, 1879,

Mr. Gibson was admitted to the bar and com-

menced practice in San Bernardino as a partner

with Major H. S. Gregory. He subsequently

formed a law partnership with Hon. Byron

Waters, and still later with Hon. John L. Camp-
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bell, presenc Superior Judge. In 1884 he was

elected on the Republican ticket to the Superior

Bench of San Bernardino County, and filled that

office with distinguished ability for over four

years, until he resigned to accept the judicial

position of Supreme Court Commissioner, to

which he was appointed by the Supieme Court

on May 16, 1889, for the term of four years.

Though perhaps the youngest man to occupy so

exalted a judicial position in the history of the

State, Judge Gibson has already fully demon-

strated his eminent fitness in botli natural and

acquired qualifications for the high office. Be-

ing a zealous student and an indefatigable

worker, he has compensated Uy personal effort

for the lack of a university education. In addi-

tion to his extraordinary legal attainments he is

also a fine literary scholar and gentleman of

broad general culture. He is of a philosophical

type of mind, and his written opinions are lucid

and logical analyses of the questions at issue,

dealing with the philosophy and equity of the

law in its applications to the cases under ad-

judication rather than with superficial inter-

pretations or technicalities. His citations from
the books are limited to a few well-selected cases

that, are plainly analagous to the one under con-

sideration. In addition to these high mental

qualities, Judge Gibson possesses an inherent

love of justice, forming a combination which

admirably adapts him for most successful labor

on the bench. He has also served efficiently

in the National Guard of California as Major
and Assistant Adjutant General and as Engineer

Officer on the First Brigade staff.

In 1882 Judge Gibson united in wedlock

with Miss Sarah Waterman, of Colton, a native

of Missouri, born near St. Joseph, in which city

her father, now of Arizona, was formerly a

prominent merchant. Mrs. Gibson was edu-

cated at the Western Female Seminary at Ox-
ford, Ohio, and was a model of her sex. She
was ever a living inspiration to her fond hus-

band, encouraging him at every step in his ris-

ing and honorable career by her wifely devotion

and stimulating words of love. She suffered

for a year with bronchitis, and in spite of every

effort human knowledge and medical skill could

devise to stay its progress, on December 2,

1889, she passed away, buoyed with the Chris-

tian's hope that she entertained from her youth,

leaving her sorrowing husband and two bright,

lovely children,- Mary W., aged seven years, and

James A. Gibson, five years of age, both of

whom were born in the county of San Bernard-

ino. Thus was the measure of their domestic

bliss ruthlessly cut short in the noontide of its

realization by the untimely removal of the noble

wife and mother.

MSAAC V. GILBERT located in Riverside in

fl 1881, seeking a desirable place of residence

^ and safe investment of his capital. He pur-

chased seven acres of land on Jurupa avenue, in

Brockton square, from E. W. Holmes. Upon this

tract lie erected a substantial cottage residence,

suitable outbuildings etc., and also added beauty

and comfort to bis home by laying out roads,

walks and lawns, and planting ornamental tiees

and floral plants. He has produced a beautiful

and worthy specimen of a California home. His

orange grove, of three and one-half acres, is

composed mostly of seedling trees, about seven-

teen years of age. They are some of the finest

to be found in that section, and give a yield of

$450 per acre, under the intelligent care and

fertilization lie has given them. He has also a

large variety of deciduous fruits, such as apples,

quince, peach, prune, plum, etc., and also a large

variety of table grapes. He has made his home

a model of beauty and productivness. In 1885

Mr. Gilbert and others projected the establirh-

ment of a national bank in Riverside, and was

one of the original incorporators of one of the

soundest banking institutions in San Bernardino

County. He was its first president and held

that position for three years. Since then he has

been on the board of directors, and auditor

of the bank. He is a member of the First

Presbyterian Church of Arlington and Treasurer
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of the same. In politics he is a Republican,

and has taken a high stand in the financial and

social circles of Riverside, and gained the re-

spect and esteem of his associates.

Mr. Gilbert was born in Troy, New York, in

1826. When eleven years of age his parents

moved to Illinois and located in Knox County.

His father, Charles Gilbert, was a native of

Hartford, Connecticut, and previous to settling

in the West had been engaged in mercantile

pursuits. There he engaged in farming, and

Isaac was reared to that calling upon his

father's farm, near Galesburg. He received a

good education, closing his studies by a term in

Knox College. Mr. Gilbert spent his life, pre-

vious to coming to California, in agricultural

pursuits in Illinois, and was very successful in

his enterprise. In 1848 he wedded Miss Han-

nah Brown, a native of New Jersey. The three

children from this marriage are: Mary, now Mrs.

Orland Chandler, of San Bernardino; Sarah E.,

now Mrs. C. O. Perine, of Riverside, and Mat-

tie, who married Alonzo D. Haight, a fruit

packer and shipper of Redlands, San Bernard-

ino County.

SAAC BESSANT, a farmer of San Bernard-

ino County, was born in Barclay, England in

1816. He was married there in 1844 to

Miss Mary A. Mitchell, and in 1853 they sailed

from Liverpool and after a voyage of forty-two

days landed in New Orleans. They went by

steamer to St. Louis, and at the end of six weeks

to Keokuk, Iowa. Here Mr. Bessant worked

at brick-making and burning lime, etc. He
then bought a team and went by land, 300 miles,

to Council Bluffs, where he arrived July 4, 1853,

and from that place crossed the plains to Utah,

where he arrived October 22, 1853. March 5,

1857, they left Utah for the " Golden State,"

where, in San Bernardino County, he has oper-

ated as a successful farmer and dealer in lands,

and stock-raising. With others he has endured

the hardships of the early days, and has made a

home for himself, and given his children, most

of whom are married and well settled in life in

this valley, a good start in life. His children

are Stephen, James and John; these three were

born in England; Joseph and Iram, both born

in Utah; and Sarah, born in California, now
Mrs. George Cooley, of San Bernardino. Mr.

Bessant built a new residence on Base Line a

year ago, and had only just moved into it when,

September 22, 1888, death took from him the

partner of his youth. Ue is now well along on

the shady side of the hill of life.

—^-€(ISD^^

—

fOHN BESSANT, one of the enterprising

farmers on Ba^e Line, three miles east of

San Bernardino city, has a line ranch and a

neat residence in Warm Spring district, where,

with his family, he is enjoying the pleasures of

life as much, perhaps, as any man in the valley.

By birth he is an Englishman. His father,

Isaac Bessant, came to America at an early day

and crossed the plains to California in 1853,

when our subject was but two years of age.

His boyhood was spent in hard work; hence his

educational advantages were not of the best.

May 1, 1869, he married Miss Melissa McCrary,

a native of Salt Lake City. She was the daugh-

ter of John McCrary, who came to California

when she was a babe but eight months old.

They have two children: Lena L. and Mary E.

Politically he affiliates with the Democratic

party and has held various township offices.

Socially he is a member of the K. of P., Valley

Lodge, No. 27.

^'&-^

fAMES BESSANT was born in England,

November 5, 1847, and is a son of Isaac

Bessant, a well-known pioneer of this valley.

Our subject had to endure the hardships of the

early days, but at this time he has for his labors

and industry a pleasant home on Base Line, two

and one half-miles northeast of San Bernardino.
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He has recently built a neat residence and with

his family is enjoying the comforts of life. He

was married December 25, 1874, to Miss Elsie

Cline, born at El Monte. Los Angeles County,

in February, 1856. She is a daughter of Henry

Cline, a well-known pioneer of this county. This

union was blessed with seven children, viz.:

Sarah, Walter, Jodie, William, Rosa, Martha

and Susan. Mr. Bessant is an active and en-

thusiastic worker in the interests of the Dem-

ocratic party.

HgyENRY A. PULS.—Among the older set-

flf|) tiers and well-known residents of Riverside

^U is the subject of this sketch. Mr. Puis

came to Riverside in 1876, seeking a home, and

in the same year purchased a ten-acre tract on

Bandini avenue, about one-half mile west of

Brockton avenue, and commenced his horticult-

ural pursuits. In 1878 he purchased five acres

adjoining his original tract. His was the first

house built in this locality, and he may well be

called a pioneer of that section of the eolony_

He has each year added to his improvements,

taking up many of the deciduous trees first

planted and replaced them with citrus fruits.

He has now orange groves and vineyards that

he has just reasons to be proud of. His eight

acres of orange trees are some of the first in the

colony, and these trees that are in bearing are

remarkably prolific in yield. In 1889 the

orange crop on five acres of his orchard sold on

the trees for §4,262. Four acres of his land

are in Bartlett pears that give satisfactory re-

turn. Two acre- are devoted to raisin grapes.

Mr. Puis is not devoting all his attention to his

home place, for he is the owner of a thirty- acre

tract one-half mile west of the North Cuca-

monga Railroad station. He is rapidly improv-

ing this land, and is raising a nursery stock,

which will be sufficient to plant the whole

acreage in choice budded fruit, and has a fine

vineyard of fifteen acres on the place that give

a large yield of raisin grapes. Mr. Puis has

been identified with the growth and building

up of Riverside, and in addition to his horti-

cultural industries was from 1876 to 1883 en-

gaged as a carpenter and builder.

Mr. Puis is a native of Prussia born in 1846.

In 1851 his parents, Gotleib and Yetta Puis,

emigrated to the United States and located in

Chicago. There he received his education and

learned his trade, being apprenticed at the age

of seventeen years. He worked as a journey-

man in Chicago until 1871, and then spent

about two years at Little Rock, Arkansas. Re-

turning to Illinois he located at Evanston, near

Chicago, and was there engaged as a builder

until he came to Riverside.

In 1875 he married Miss Mary Eliza Hnse,

a native of Maine; she is a daughter of Abel

W. Hnse, now a resident of Riverside. From

the marriage of Mr. and Mrs. Puis there is one

child, Winnie Inez, who was born in Riverside.

Mr. Puis has ever taken a deep interest in the

prosperity and progress of this place. He is a

director and member of the Board of Trade,

and prominent in the Independent Order of Odd
Fellows, being a member of the lodge and en-

campment, and a charter member of the last-

named. In politics he is a stanch Republican.

fHOMAS R. CUNDIFF came to Califor-

nia in 1874, and the next year located in

Riverside. Upon his arrival he sought

work as a nurseryman, and first worked for Mr.

Carleton, and then Mr. Russell. He soon be-

came familiar with horticultural pursuits, and

purchasing a team and wagon engaged in im-

proving and planting orchards and orange grove

lands for non-residents. He worked for several

years at this, and some of the now finest fruit

groves in the colony were those he planted in

the early days, among which may be noted the

groves of Peter Suman and Henry Jaracki, on

Brockton avenue.

In 1875 Mr. Cundiff bought twenty acres in

Brockton square, on the south side of Bandini
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avenue, and this he partially improved and

then sold to Aberdeen Kieth, and in 1877 pur-

chased a twenty-acre tract on the north side of

Bandini avenue. Upon that land he commenced

his horticultural pursuits upon his own account,

planting a large variety of citrus and deciduous

trees and also raisin grapes. In latter years he

corrected his mistake by rooting out his decid-

uous trees and vines and planting oranges. In

1882 he sold the east ten acres of his tract to

George Bryant. This tine place is now owned

by Captain J. W. Sayward. The remaining ten

acres Mr. Cundiff reserved for his home, and

erected upon it a neat cottage residence and

comfortable out-buildings. He is destined to

have one of the most productive places in

Brockton square. Nearly all of his land is in

budded orange trees at this writing. Some six

acres is giving a fair yield, and trees are coming

into bearing every year. His grove shows the

care and attention of a thorough horticulturist.

Mr. Cundiff is a native of Missouri, dating

his birth in 1852. He was reared and schooled

in Farmington, Missouri, until he came to Cal-

ifornia, in 1874. His parents were Richard and

Agnes (Blue) Cundiff. His father is a native

of Kentucky, and his mother of Tennessee.

In 1882 Mr. Cundiff was united in marriage

with Miss Anna Finch, the daughter of William

Finch, a well-known resident of Riverside.

From this marriage there are four children:

Florence A., Grace A., Harry T. and Bert N.

Mr. Cundiff s long residence has made him well

known in the Riverside colony, and his consist-

ent course of life and sterling qualities have

won him a large circle of friends. In political

matters he is a conservative Democrat.

—- . ,g
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fE.
OWEN, a pioneer of 1849, residing

on the corner of Olive and Eureka streets,

° Redlands, was born in Sheffield, Ohio.

March 16, 1840, he left Ohio for California,

shipping his horses and wagons to Chicago. At

St. Joe, Missouri, he traded his horses for oxen.

He left Iowa Point, May 10, 1849, with a com-

pany consisting of 100 wagons, and September

10 of the same year they arrived in the Sacra-

mento valley with eighty-three wagons, under

Captain Dorland. Mr. Owen can tell some in-

teresting incidents of the journey across the

plains, and of his experiences as a miner in the

early days. For several year? he engaged in

buying and selling cattle and in the butcher

business in Placer and Shasta counties. After

this he again went to mining. In 1851 he went

into the mercantile business at French Gulch,

Shasta County, and lost heavily. He then went

to the mines. After leaving the mines he fol-

lowed the cattle business for twenty years, and

at the end of that time went to farming in Napa
valley, where he remained five years. In 1873 he

came to San Bernardino County and purchased

thirty acres of land on Base Line and A streets,

which he improved and afterward sold, and pur-

chased twenty-five acres in Redlands. Here he

has a most beautiful orange orchard of fourteen

acres, which is beginning to yield a handsome

income, and here he expects to spend the rest

of his days. He has been twice married, but

has no children, except an adopted daughter,

who is an artist and a teacher in the public

schools.

fOHN DOWN came to Riverside in 1874,

his only capital being his trade as brick-

layer, combined with an energetic disposi-

tion and a willingness to labor. He purchased

block 2, range 7, on Main street, between Second

and Third streets, planting the same in oranges.

The same year he commenced work for Mr. E.

M. Sheldon, who had started the pioneer brick-

yards on the west side of Bnena Vista avenue,

north of town, and two years later he entered

into partnership under the firm name of Sheldon

& Down. The brick-yards were gradually in-

creased to meet the growing demands, and con-

ducted by that firm until 1886, when Mr.

Sheldon retired and Mr. Alguire came into the
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firm under the firm name of Down & Alguire,

since which time they have conducted a brick-

making and building business. In 1882 Mr-

Down, in addition to his business in Riverside)

established and conducted a brick-yard at San

Jacinto for four years. He is now the owner of

nearly 100 acres of land, located about one mile

north of Riverside. The brick-yards are upon

his land and are admirably located both for sup-

plying the home demand and for shipping by

railroad, as his lands have a frontage on the

California Central Railroad (Santa Fe system)

of nearly one-fourth of a mile, enabling him to

put on side-tracks to the brick kilns.

He is a thorough agriculturist, as is well

attested by his orange grove and vineyard upon

a thirty-five-acre tract on the west side of

Orange street about one mile north of the city.

At this writing Mr. Down is laying out beauti-

ful grounds, planting ornamental trees and floral

productions upon a portion of his lands on the

west side of Buena Vista avenue, upon which he

will erect his residence in the near future. He
has also business property in Riverside, among

which is twenty-five feet frontage of the sub-

stantial Cosmopolitan block, corner of Eighth

and Orange, which is owned by the firm. Mr.

Down has been prominently connected with the

building interests of Riverside, and it may be

truthfully said that there is not a brick building

in Riverside of any magnitude erected within

the past ten years, that he and his associates in

business has not had the contract for the brick

and mason work. Mr. Down was born in Eng-

land, near Plymouth, in 1849, his parents being

John and Johanna (Roberts) Down, also natives

of that country. Early in life, when but

thirteen years of age, he was apprenticed to the

mason's and stone cutter's trade, and worked at

the calling near his native place until 1870. In

that year he came to the United States and

located in Cleveland, Ohio, where he remained

until 1872, when he removed to Colorado, living

in Black Hawk and Central City, where, in

addition to his trade, he worked as a miner, but

not meeting with the desired success he contin-

ued his westward march. In 1874 he came

to Riverside, where, with the exception of about

four years spent in San Jacinto, he has since

resided. He is a progressive and public-spirited

citizen, and a ready supporter of all enterprises

that tend to build up his chosen city. He is a

stockholder in the Riverside Gas Company,

Loring Opera House Association and other in-

corporations. He has for many years been a

consistent member of the Methodist Church, and

also a member of Evergreen Lodge, No. 259,

I. O. O. F., of Riverside. Politically he has

for years been a Republican, but is a strong

supporter of the Prohibition party and its prin-

ciples. In 1880 Mr. Down was married with

Miss Lois Sheldon, the only daughter of E. M.
Sheldon, his former partner in business. The
only child born from this marriage was Gracie,

who died in 1886 at the age of five years and

six months.

R. WILLIAM H. BALL.—Among the

noticeable fine orange groves of Riverside

is that owned by the above named gentle-

man. His grove, of twenty acres in extent, is

situated on the southeast corner of Cypress and

Bandini avenues, about one and one-half miles

south of the business centre of Riverside. Dr.

Ball purchased the land in 1875, and the next

spring commenced its improvement, first plant-

ing 800 seedling orange trees and the balance

to deciduous fruits: the last named he has since

replaced with citrus fruits. At. this writing

his orange grove comprises 1,150 seedlings and

800 budded trees of the Mediterranean Sweets,

Washington Navel, Malta Blood, and Dnroi

varieties, besides his citrus fruits and grapes

for family use: his fine groves show the care and

attention of a thorough horticulturist, and his

success is attested by the fact that his thirteen-

year-old trees, seedlings, in 1888 yield §300

per acre net. The other trees are of various

ages and not in full bearing, but their propor-

tionate yield is even larger than that above
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given. The Doctor took this land when in its

comparatively wild state, and has just cause to

be proud of the results of his year's labor.

Dr. Ball also owns twenty acres of land about

three miles south of his home place, located in

section 32, south of Jurnpa avenue. This

land was purchased in 1890, and will in 1891

be planted with raisin grape vines, for which it

is well adapted.

Mr. Ball is a native of Henry County, Ken-

tucky, and dates his birth in 1828. His father,

William D. Ball, was a native of Virginia, and

was a descendant from an old colonial family.

He came in his young manhood to Kentucky,

and there he married Miss Barbara Hall, also

a native of that State. Dr. Ball was reared

and schooled in his native state, and at the age

of twenty-three years commenced his medical

studies in the Kentucky School of Medicine, at

Louisville, and graduated from the med-

ical department of the Transylvania University

at Lexington, Kentucky, in 1856. After his

graduation, he entered on the practice of his pro-

fession in Trimble County, Kentucky, where he

continued until 1859. He then moved to In-

diana, and spent two years in Tippecanoe

County, and finally located at Brookston, White

County, where he was in successful practice

for over twenty years. Dr. Ball took a leading

part, both professionally and socially, in the

community in which he spent so many years of

his life, but his failing health compelled an entire

change of climate, and in 1880 decided to

make Riverside his permanent home. He was

for years a member of the County Medical

School in his Indiana home, and is now a

member of the San Bernardino Medical Asso-

ciation. The Doctor, although not a pioneer in

residence, has for nearly fifteen years been

identified with Riverside and its interests, and

is well known to the community, among which

he has a large circle of friends.

In 1857 Dr. Ball married Miss Martha

Kennedy, a native of Indiana. She died in

1869. There are four children living from

this marriage, viz.: Victor, who married Miss

Alice Shigley; Fernando W., Clement L. and

Seymour 0. His second marriage was in 1871,

when he was wedded to Miss Maria Babcock,

a native of Massachusetts. No children have

been born from this marriage.

fOSEPH H. KELLY, of Mission District,

San Bernardino County, is known far and

wide as the most extensive dealer and

trainer of horses in the county. He has a fine

ranch of 100 acres, on which he has recently

built a neat and comfortable residence. For

the past ten years he has given his entire at-

tention to horses, and at present has about fifty

head, some of them as well bred as any in the

State. Last spring he sold a pair of trotters

for $6,000. Mr. Kelly is a native of Quincy,

Illinois, and came to California in 1861. In

the spring of 1862 he went to Holcomb valley,

where he followed mining and teaming for a

nnmber of years. Fourteen years ago he was

married, and bought the ranch on which he at

present resides.

«|-*HfSH

fDWIN HART.—Among the leading hor-

ticulturists of Riverside colony none are

more deserving of mention than the sub-

ject of this sketch. Mr. Hart is a native of

Cortland County, New York, born in 1835, and

reared and received his education in his native

place. At the age of eighteen years he started

for the great West, and located in Beloit, Wis-

consin. His boyhood days, when not attending

school, were spent in his father's store, and was

somewhat schooled in mercantile life, but upon

his advent in Wisconsin he engaged in farming.

He spent eight years in that State, and in 1862

moved to Iowa, and settled near Belle Plain in

Tama County. Mr. Hart settled down to farm

life, but the war of the Rebellion, then raging,

appealed so strongly to his patriotism that he

entered the United States military service as a
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private in the Sixth Regiment of Iowa Cavalry.

The Indian outbreak of the Northwest was then

at its height, and his command sent him in

that direction. lie participated in the Indian

wars and campaigns that followed, and served

faithfully, discharging his duties in a soldierly

manner, and was promoted to he Sergeant. It

was not until the fall of 1865 that he received

his honorable discharge from the service. After

this he spent a year in Wisconsin, and in

1866 returned to Iowa and continued his farm-

ing operations until 1873. In that year he

came to California and settled in Riverside.

Upon his arrival he purchased from L. C.

"Waite a squatter's right to an eighty-acre tract

of Government land, three miles south of River-

side. Forty acres of this land, at that time,

had been plowed, but no attempt had been made

in tree planting; the balance was as it came

from nature's hand. Mr. Hart took possession

of this land and engaged in horticultural pur-

suits and general farming, which he successfully

conducted for years. He now owns forty acres

of land, fifteen acres of which are devoted to

raism-gro wintr, three acres in lemons, and the

balance, except that occupied by his residence,

out-buildings and extensive grounds, is pro-

ducing oranges. He is a first-class horticult-

urist, and conducts his enterprise on sound

business principles. He packs and markets his

fruits and raisin 3
, and his name upon a fruit

package is considered by dealers as a guarantee

of a first class article. The building improve-

ments upon his model ranch denote a successful

citizen, and his fine two-story residence is a

model of convenience and comfort, beautiful in

architectural design and imposing in appearance.

His spacious and well ordered grounds abound

in shade and ornamental trees, rich floral plants

and grassy lawns that add much to the beauty

and comfort of his California home. A com-

modious fruit-packing house, substantial stables

and outbuildings have also been erected. Mr.

Hart has been a supporter of Riverside enter-

prises, a stockholder in the Citrus Fair Asso-

ciation, Arlington Riverside Railway, and other

incorporations. In politics he is a supporter of

the Republican party. He is a consistent

member of the First Congregational Church of

Riverside, and also a member of Riverside Post,

No. 118, Grand Army of the Republic.

Mr. Hart was twice married: his first marriage

was with Miss Ruth Emma Woodward in 1865.

She died nine years later, leaving two children:

Effie D. and Mary L. His second marriage

was in 1884, when he wedded Miss Anna
Woodward: no children have been born from

this marriage. His parents, Samuel and Sarah

S. (Potter) Hart, were natives of New York.

His father was engaged in mercantile life, and

was well known in the business circles of Cort-

land County.

fAMUEL C. EVANS, one of the most

prominent men of Riverside, and who has

spent over fifteen years of an active busi-

ness life in conducting some of the largest busi-

ness enterprises in the colony, one of which is

the Riverside Land and Irrigation Company,

came to Riverside in 1874 and purchased a half

interest in nearly 10,000 acres of land, known

as the Hartshorn tract; the land is now known

as the Arlington part of Riverside and Arling-

ton Heights. Captain W. T. Sayward, of San

Francisco, was the owner of the other half.

These gentlemen in the same year commenced

the construction of what is known as the lower

canal, for the irrigation of their lands lying in

the valley, and also the Temescal or Tin Com-

pany's tract, which they had purchased, after

spending large sums of money and meeting a

strong opposition from the Southern California

Colony Association, whose lands occupied the

valley north of theirs. In April, 1875, the River-

side Land and Irrigation Company was organ-

ized. Mr. Evans was the prime mover in this

enterprise, and in July, 1876, was elected presi-

dent of the company, a position he has retained

since that date. The company under his man-

agement purchased the lands and water right of
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the Southern California Colony Association, in-

cluding the water right of Warm creek and the

eutire canal system. This gave Mr. Evans the

control of the entire water system of the River-

side valley, and he extended the main canals

6ome twenty miles, and bought thousands of

acres of rich and fertile lands under the irriga-

tion system.

Mr. Evai:s has also been a leader in other

public enterprises. He is president of the

Riverside Land Company, a director of the

Riverside Water Company, president of the

Riverside & Arlington Railway, president of

the Loring Opera House Company, and a lead-

ing stockholder of the Riverside Gas and Elec-

tric Light Company and other incorporations.

There has been but few really meritorious pub-

lic enterprises established in the colony that be

has not been identified with, and more often

the real projector of them. He is a man of

wonderful business talents, trained by years of

business pursuits in the East, where he was the

keenest business man in the county. He is a

man of broad views, accustomed to business

enterprises of large magnitude, quick to con-

ceive and prompt to act; has proven a desirable

acquisition to Riverside and Southern Califor-

nia. It is to such men and their capital that

Southern California to-day stands indebted for

the proud prominence she has assumed upon

the Pacilic coast; their brains, energy and capi-

tal have made possible the wonderful develop-

ment of the past decade of years, developments

that have shown the resources of Southern Cali-

fornia as excluding any other section of the

known world. Mr. Evans has not confined him-

self to business enterprises alone, but has de-

voted his attention to horticultural pursuits,

and is at this writing one of the largest and

most successful horticulturists and viticulturists

in Southern California. The well-known Evans

rancho, with its 160 acres all under a high state

of cultivation, is one of the resnlts of his labors;

125 acres of this tract is in orange groves, and

thirty-five acres in vineyards. This magnifi-

cent property has been built up by Mr. Evans

for his lour sons, and is divided into tracts of

forty acres each and deeded to them. He is

also owner of other improved property, among
which is the well-known Rudisill tract, and the

fine twenty-acre orange grove in Arlington.

His success in orange-growing is noticeable,

and in some cases seems marvelous. He leaves

nothing undone that tends to secure the most

profitable results. The yield from his orange

groves gives him from $300 to $1,000 gross

per acre. As an illustration of what can bo

done in his favored locality, and under his sys-

tematic and intelligent care and cultivation, the

following is given: One of his ten-acre groves

in 1888 is producing Washington navel oranges,

from seedling trees that were budded wdien four

years old. The trees are now in fine bearing,

and the crop in that year averaged $500 per

acre net for the whole ten acres! His raisin

crop in 1889 netted him $100 per acre for the

thirty-five acres. Mr. Evans has taken the

same prominence in the social circles of River-

side, as in business circles. He is a member
and strong supporter of the Presbyterian church

of Arlington, a charter member of Riverside

Lodge, No. 282, 1. O. O. F., and also a member
of the F. & A. M. Politically he is a sound

Republican, never an office-seeker, but a liberal

contributor in supporting the best element of

his party.

A brief resume of Mr. Evans' life previous

to his advent in Riverside is of interest. He
was born in Fort Defiance, Williams County,

Ohio, in 1823. His father, Dr. John Evans,

was a native of Bourbon County, Kentucky,

and was prominent in professional and business

circles in Ohio and Indiana, as a physician,

merchant, trader, and large real-estate dealer.

Mr. Evans spent his early life in attending the

public schools of his native county. In 1840

his father moved to Fort Wayne, Indiana, and

there continued his business operations until

his death, two years later. The death of his

father threw the management of his business

affairs upon Mr. Evans, as the acting executor

of the estate. Although but nineteen years of
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age, lie had received a good education, and he

rapidly advanced in business talents that be-

came such a marked character of his after life.

In 1845 lie entered into mercantile life with his

brother in Fort Wayne, which was conducted

for the next three years with varying success,

but not such as he desired. In June, 1848,

Mr. Evans closed his business at Fort Wayne,

and located in New York, and for several years

was engaged as an agent for some of the largest

mercantile houses of that city. In 1855 he

again embarked in business under the firm

name of S. C. Evans & Co. Mr. Evans was

the manager of the business, and in 1860 be-

came the sole proprietor, and also established a

branch in Kendallville, Indiana. In 1865 he

sold out his mercantile establishments and pur-

chased a controlling interest in the Merchants'

National Bank of Fort Wayne, and in 1866

was elected president of the bank. Pie con-

ducted the affairs of that bank for the next ten

years, being one of the soundest and best con-

ducted institutions in the State, and under his

able management regularly declared and paid

an eight per cent, dividend to its stockholders,

free of a three per cent. tax. He was also

prominent in other enterprises, and largely in-

terested in real estate. He was one of the pro-

jectors of the Fort Wayne, Jackson & Saginaw

Railroad, and was the contractor and builder of

fifty-two miles of the road-bed in Indiana, a

work involving nearly $500,000. When Mr.

Evans became interested in Riverside, he closed

up the affairs of his bank, of which he owned

all the capital stock, surrendered his charter,

transferred his capital to the Pacific coast, and

established his residence in the colony.

Mr. Evans has a family consisting of a wife

and four children. He has been twice married;

the first, in 1845, was his union with Miss Anna
Almira Forsyth, of Maumee City, Ohio. She

died in 1861, leaving two sons: John, who
married Miss Jennie. Crawford, and Robert R.,

both residents of. Riverside. His second mar-

riage was in 1865, when he wedded Mrs.

Minerva C. Dawson, nee Catlin, a native of

Vermont. There are also two sons by this

marriage: Samuel C. Jr., and Pliny T. Both

are graduates of the University of the Pacific,

and are now engaged with their father in busi-

ness pursuits.

#^€B-^

fAPTAIN JAMES PUBLICOVER, one of

the early settlers of Riverside, who has

for the fourteen years preceding 1889,

been identified with her horticultural and build-

ing industries. Upon his arrival in Riverside,

in 1875, he purchased a ten-acre tract at the

foot of Main street, on the south side of Four-

teenth street, and engaged in horticulture, plant-

ing citrus and deciduous fruits, grapes, etc. He
also established himself in business as a painter,

and in 1878 opened a paint-shop on Main street,

and conducted the enterprise for three or four

years. He was successful in his operations

and built up one of the valuable groves of the

colony, but in 1886 the increasing demand for

desirable villa and town lots induced him to sub-

divide his tract. He extended Main and Orange

streets, and opened for building some of the

most desirable lots in Riverside, his tract is

known as Victoria Place. The Captain is now
occupying about five acres of his original tract;

the remainder has been sold and many pleasant

homes added to Riverside. He has been a strong

supporter of all enterprises that have built up

the city, and was one of the original stockholders

of the Odd Fellows' Hall Association, and other

incorporations that have directed their attention

to building. Mr. Publicover is a strong sup-

porter of schools and churches, and was one of

the first trustees of the Baptist Church in Riv-

erside, and prominent in establishing that so-

ciety in the city. In political affairs he is a

stanch supporter of the Republican party. Cap-

tain Publicover is well known to the people of

Riverside, and his life among them has been

such as to gain their confidence and esteem.

Mr. Publicover was born in Cape Canso,

Guysboro County, Nova Scotia, in 1827. His
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father, Captain Peter Publicover, was a nativ.e

of Nova Scotia, tmt of Prussian descent. He

was a farmer and seafaring man, owning and

commanding vessels in coasting and in deep-

water trade.

The subject of this sketcli received a fair

education and followed in the footsteps of his

father. He became a practical farmer and a

thorough seaman, and upon reaching his ma-

jority was placed in command of a coasting

vessel; and as he became more experienced en-

gaged in foreign voyages to various parts of the

world. Nearly thirty years of his life was spent

as a master. In 1868 he established himself in

mercantile business, but three years later found

him again on the seas pursuing his old calling.

In 1875 he returned from the seafaring life, and

decided to seek a home in the Golden State, and

selected Riverside as the place best adapted to

his purpose.

In 1863 the Captain was united in marriage

with Miss Henrietta Kennedy, a native of Port

Hilford, Guysboro County, Nova Scotia. They

have but one child, Anita.

HLLIAftl FINCH.—Among the promi-

nent and well-known horticulturists of

Riverside is the subject of this sketch.

A brief resume of his life is as follows: Mr.

Finch dates his birth in Rensselaer County,

New York, in 1821. He was reared and schooled

at his native place near the city of Albany, and

followed the occupation of his father, which was

that of a farmer. His parents, Cyrenius and

Minerva (North) Finch, were both natives of

New York. In 1850 Mr. Finch started for the

great West, and was among the pioneer settlers

of Minnesota. He first located in Ramsay

County; thence wentto Hennepin County, near

Fort Snelling, where he was engaged in agri-

cultural pursuits and stock-raising. He was a

representative man of his section, and took a

leading part in building up and developing the

resources of his county, and was prominent in

its government, holding positions of honor and

trust, serving as the County Commissioner, and

as a member of the Board of Supervisors.

In 1876 Mr. Finch decided to seek the genial

climate of the Pacific coast, and in that year he

came to Riverside and remained until the fol-

lowing summer; during that time he purchased

a twenty-acre tract on Bandini avenue, at the

corner of Cypress avenue, and commenced his

preparations for engaging in horticultural pur-

suits. He returned East in 1877, and the next

year brought his family to Riverside and estab-

lished himself upon his land. He is a man of

practical knowledge and industrious habits.

Mr. Finch entered heartily into his new calling,

and combined study and research with his ex-

periments in horticulture. His mistake he

discovered early, and promptly corrected, and

he soon had one af the most productive groves

and vineyards in the colony. At this writing

he has a ten-acre orange grove in good bearing.

The treesare mostly seedlings, but he has a fine

variety of budded trees also, comprising Wash-

ington Navels, Mediterranean Sweets, and St.

Nicholas. As illustrating the success that at-

tends orange-growing in Riverside, when con-

ducted with the intelligent care and attention

such as he devotes to it, we note the following

facts as regards the yield f^om his orange groves:

His ten acres planted in 1867, 600 seedling

trees and the remainder budded, when from six

to eight years old commenced to give a con-

siderable yield, and from that time have given

an increasing yield of an average from one box

per year from one tree. The balance of his land

is producing deciduous fruits, raisin grapes,

alfalfa, etc., but is being rapidly planted with

young orange trees.

Politically Mr. Finch is a Republican, and

has been a strong supporter of that party since

its organization in 1856. He is a consistent

member of the Universalist Church, and is presi-

dent of the board of trustees of his church in

Riverside.

Mr. Finch has been twice married, first in

1844, to Miss Angeline Kelsey, a native of New
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York. She died in 1879, leaving seven children.

His second marriage was in 1881, when he

wedded Miss Phebe Kelsey, a sister of his first

wife. No children have been born by this mar-

riage. The names of Mr. Finch's children are:

Emma, Frances, Helen, Cornelia, Charles W.,

Myron and Anna. Helen is the wife of Will-

iam L. Tanner, of Minneapolis, Minnesota.

Cornelia married Dr. Quincey A. Low, of Wa-

basha, Minnesota; Anna is the wife of Thomas

R. Cundiff, a sketch of whom will be found in

this volume. Charles W. married Miss Berta

Battles, who is the street superintendent of Riv-

erside; Myron married Miss Flora Pryne, who

is residing in Minnesota.

JILLIAM R. RUSSELL, one of the ear-

liest settlers of Riverside and for many

years a leading horticulturist of the

colony, is a native of Holt County, Missouri,

born in 1840, son of John and Margaret (Oiler)

Russell, the former a descendant of a prominent

Southern family and a native of Kentucky, who

early in life settled in Ohio and was there mar-

ried, his wife being a native of Virginia. In

1840 he moved to Missouri and settled in the

county where the subject of this sketch was

born. When William was fourteen years of

age, his father crossed the plains for Califor-

nia, locating in Solano County, where he en-

gaged in stock-farming and the dairy business.

Henry, a brother of William, had preceded

the family to this State in 1846; he came as

a member of Fremont's command and partic-

ipated in the Mexican war; he died in Solano

County in 1862. Mr. Russell was raised as a

farmer and stock-grower, being associated with

his father in that enterprise until 1869, when

he returned East and for the next five years

was engaged in various occupations in the

Western states. Returning to California he

sought a desirable place to locate; and in 1875

he came to Riverside, purchasing upon his

arrival a ten-acre tract in Brockton square,

and entered into horticultural pursuits. He
fully improved that place and sold it for a

good price in 1881. He then bought twenty

acres on Arlington avenue, three miles south

of Riverside, where he established one of the

finest, orange groves and vineyards in the col-

ony, built a fine residence, etc. He sold that

place in 1889 to J. H. Dole and established

his residence in the city.

His long residence in Riverside and connec-

tions with her industries has made him well

and favorably known. Politically he has always

been a stanch Republican and a strong supporter

of the Union during the days of the civil war.

He is a member of the Independent Order of

Odd Fellows and affiliates with the Riverside

lodge. He was married in 1881 to Miss Mag-

gie Hays, a native of Indiana. Their children

are: Nellie N., Ralph R. and Killie, all natives

of Riverside.

fr*^r

fUSTIN E. KEITH, owner of the repre-

sentative orange properties of Brockton

Square, in the Riverside colony lands. His

tract is located on Bandini avenue, about one-

half mile west of Brockton avenue. At that

point he purchased ten acres of cultivated land

in 1877 and commenced its improvement, which

he has steadily advanced since that date. Upon

his arrival in Riverside, in that year, he estab-

lished himself at his trade of boot and shoe maker

and, in addition to his horticultural pursuits,

worked at that calling. He is an energetic and

industrious man and has made a success in his

pursuits. His early efforts in horticulture

entailed the loss of time and labor, for many of

the deciduous trees put in did not prove

sufficiently remunerative in their products.

His orange grove now contains about six acres,

three and a half of which is in seedlings, about

fifteen years old from the seed. These trees

are very productive and give an average yield
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of $350 per acre. He has also a vineyard of

two and a half acres, producing raisin grapes

that give a yield of $150 per acre.

Mr. Keith is a native of Plymouth County,

Massachusetts, and dates his birth in 1837.

His parents, Nahum and Maria (Pratt) Keith,

were both natives of that State and descendants

from old families of colonial times. He was

reared in Middleboro, and at an early age learned

the trade of boot and shoe maker, after which he

followed that calling as a journeyman, estab

lishing himself in the business, which he con-

ducted for some twelve years previous to com-

ing to California in 1877. He is a thorough

mechanic, not only at his trade, but is a good

amateur carpenter, as many of the improvements

in his comfortable cottage home are the work

of his own hands." He is a good neighbor, a

desirable member of the community and a strong

supporter of schools and churches and other

organizations that tend to increase the welfare

of his chosen section. On political matters he

is a stanch Republican.

In 1858 Mr. Keith was united in marriage

with Miss Frances Dean, a native of Middleboro,

Massachusetts. The three children from this

marriage are: Edward R., Lizzie M. and Anna
F. Lizzie M. is married to Harry F. Skinner,

a resident of Riverside.

-^
fTTLEY PAPINEAU, manufacturer and

dealer in harness, saddles, buggy robes,

etc., and proprietor of one of the leading

business establishments of Riverside. His pro-

ducts are well known in the county and his

trade mark " O. P." is a sufficient guarantee for

first-class material and workmanship. The

subject of this sketch is a native of England,

dating his birth in London, in 1846. The first

ten years of his life was spent in that city and

at Canterbury in attending school. In 1856 he

went to Australia and joined his father, who

had preceded him to that country in 1852. His

father located in Sydney, and there Mr. Papin-

eau engaged in schooling until the summer of

1858, when he removed with his parents to

Melbourne, Victoria, and attended school there

until seventeen years of age. He was then ap-

prenticed at the harness and saddlers' trade, and

after serving his apprenticeship worked as a

journeyman in that city until 1874.

In that year he emigrated to the United

States, and upon his arrival in California located

in Stockton. The next year he decided to seek

a home in Southern California, and came to Los

Angeles, where he obtained employment at his

trade with Bell & Green, and later was manager

of a well-known harness shop of William M.
Osborne. In 1882, seeking a desirable location

in which to establish himself in business, he

came to Riverside, and in February ol that year

opened a harness establishment on Main street,

between Ninth and Tenth streets. May 1, 1890,

he removed to the new store on Eighth street,

in the Daily Press building, and Mr. Papineau,

by the excellent character of his work and

materials and liberal dealing soon secured a

large patronage. Mr. Papineau is well known
in Riverside and throughout the county as well

as in Los Angeles. He is a thorough mechanic

and first-class business man, and by his industry

has built up a profitable trade. He is a pro-

gressive citizen and has proven a desirable ac-

quisition to the business aud social circles of

Riverside. Mr. Papineau is a strong supporter

of schools and churches and has for years been

junior warden of All Saints' Episcopal Church

of Riverside. He is also prominent in the fra-

ternal societies, being a member of Evergreen

Lodge, No. 259, F. & A. M., also a member of

the lodge, encampment and canton, I. O. O. F.,

and also a member of the Rebekah degree lodge

of the same order. In political matters lie is

a supporter of the Republican party.

Mr. Papineau is the owner of a pleasant resi-

dence on the corner of High and Ninth streets.

He was married in 1880, wedding Miss Mary

Hunt, the daughter of John and Mary (Rudd)

Hunt, well-known residents of Los Angeles.

Her parents are both natives of England.
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From the marriage of Mr. and Mrs. Papinean

there are three children living, viz.: Lou A.,

Alice H. and Glen. The first child died in 1884,

at the age of two and one-half years. The par-

ents of Mr. Papinean, John and Elizabeth

(Richardson) Pajineau, are of English birth.

His father spent many years in business pursuits

in Australia, but he is now a resident of River-

side.

#^€B-£#

§AVID G. PARKER, D. D. S., a popular

dentist of Riverside and well known in

professional circles of that city, is a native

of Alabama, where he was born in 1850, his

parents being Peter and Nancy (Blacksliear)

Parker; the former a Northern man by birth, a

descendant of the old colonial families of Mass-

achusetts, by occupation a planter; the latter of

German descent, the arrival of whose forefathers

in this country antedates the Revolutionary

period. When the Doctor was a mere lad his

parents moved to Mississippi, settling in Clarke

County, where he received his education, closing

his studies at the Marshall College in Marshall,

Texas, at the age of eighteen years. He then

learned telegraphing and accepted the position

of telegrapher and station master on the Mobile

& Ohio Railroad at De Soto, Mississippi, where

he remained for several years; during his spare

time he educated himself and devoted much

attention to the study of dentistry. He is pos-

sessed of untiring energy and perseverance,

characteristic of. and undoubtedly inherited

from, his New England ancestry; and, being de-

termined to educate himself in a profession

that he had chosen as a life occupation, he

sought the schools of the North, and in 1880

went to Indiana and entered the Indiana Dental

College at Indianapolis. He graduated with

honor from that institution in 1882 and received

his diploma as Doctor of Dental Surgery. He
then established himself in the practice of his

profession at Opelousas, Louisiana, where he re-

mained until 1887. His failing health prompted

him to seek his home in a more desirable climate

:

accordingly he came to California and located at

Fallbrook, San Diego County. He resided in that

place until the fall of 1888 and then established his

residence at Ri vereide. He came to that city with

the reputation of a skillful and educated dentist,

and established his office in the Hamilton block

on Main street, between Eighth and Ninth

streets. He is a gentleman of kindly, genial

disposition and courteous in manner, and at this

writing is fast gaining a lucrative practice.

Dr. Parker has cast his fortunes with River-

side and is building up a comfortable and pleas-

ant home on Cridge street in Hall's Addition.

In 1879 the Doctor was married to Miss Lulu

D. Blacksliear, a native of Alabama. They

have three children, namely: Ashton J., Theo-

dore K. and Mary Lulu.

*4*

fHARLES F. PACKARD.—Among the

well-known residents of Brockton square

in Riverside is the above mentioned gen-

tleman. He is the owner of twelve acres of

land located on the east side of Bandini avenue,

about two and a half miles south of the busi-

ness center of Riverside. This land was pur-

chased by him in 1876 and its improvement

and cultivation carried on by his direction until

March, 1881, when he established his residence

upon it. The first planting of trees was largely

of deciduous fruits, but he has in later years

caused most of those to be removed and re-

placed by citrus fruits. He has three acres of

old trees that are in good bearing; the balance

of his land, except about two acres in vineyard,

is in budded trees, of the Washington Navel and

Mediterranean Sweet varieties. Since 1881 Mr.

Packard has personally attended to the care and

cultivation of his orchards, and has also been

engaged in the nursery business, furnishing

some of the most approved nursery stock in

the valley. He is a successful horticulturist,

and is rapidly building up one of the repre-

sentative orange groves of his section.
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Mr. Packard is a uative of Plymouth County,

Massachusetts, dating his birth in 1850. His

father, Lewis Packard, was a boot and shoe

maker by trade, and as soon as his school days

were over young Packard was put to work at

that trade. He worked for many years in the

shoe manufactories of Brockton, Massachusetts.

In 1881 he decided to seek Riverside as a per-

manent residence, since which date he has de-

voted himself to horticulture. He is independent

in politics, but is a stiong supporter of all

measures of public interest that will build up

and improve the Riverside colony.

The only family Mr. Packard has is his wife.

She was formerly Miss Mary J. Dunbar, and is

a native of Massachusetts.

&&&># ~

PARNABAS TIBBALS, owner of a tine

orange grove in Brockton square, on the

south side of Bandini avenue, about two

miles south of Riverside, purchased this place in

August, 1887, and immediately commenced his

horticultural pursuits At this writing his land,

consisting of ten acres, is all in orange trees,

except a few deciduous trees and table grapes.

About one-half of his trees are seedlings, and

the rest Washington Navels. He has spent much
labor in pruning, fertilizing and cultivating,

since buying th^ place, and has now a very pro-

ductive grove. The improvements on the place

consist of a commodious two-story residence

surrounded with ornamental trees and flowers,

and substantial outbildings.

Mr. Tibbals was born near Rochester, Monroe

County, New York, in 1824. He was the son

of Lewis and Betsey (King) Tibbals. His father

was born in Cayuga County, New York, and his

mother was a native of Suffield, Massachusetts.

In 1826 Mr. Tibbals' parents moved to Michigan,

and located on what afterward became the

township of Avon, Oakland County. They were,

among the earliest pioneers of that suction, the

country at that date being wild and uninhabited

except by roving tribes of Indians. The sub-

ject of this sketch spent his early youth and

young manhood in hard labor upon their pioneer

farm, deprived of all schooling except such as

could be obtained in the pioneer schools of that

date. He remained on the old homestead farm

until his marriage, in 1852, and then started in

farming on his own account. Mr. Tibbals was

engaged in agricultural pursuits until 1884.

He then established his residence in Ypsilanti,

where he remained until moving to Riverside in

1887. Although not an old resident of River-

side, Mr. Tibbals is a progressive and public-

spirited citizen, and a firm believer in the future

wealth and prosperity that await the thorough

horticulturist of the colony, and any enterprise

that will tend to advance the interests of his

section tinds a ready supporter in him. He is

a desirable acquisition of the Baptist Church and

also a member of the Masonic fraternity, retain-

ing his membership in Ypsilanti Lodge, No. 44,

F. & A. M., of Ypsilanti, Michigan. In po-

litical matters he is a straight Republican.

Mr. Tibbals' first marriage was in 1852, when

he wedded Miss lsabelle S. Dewey. She died

in 1869, leaving no children. In 1872 he mar-

ried Miss Jennie Pardee, a native of Michigan,

the daughter of Daniel T. and Juliana (Bab-

cock) Pardee. Her father was a native of Penn-

sylvania, and her mother of Ohio. Mr. and

Mrs. Tibbals have two children: Jennie Isabella

and Grace Edith. Mr. Tibbals' father died in

1876, at the age of ninety years; his mother

died in 1868, at the age ot seventy-six years.

-, , ,vg-| A, |-S>, - ,„

fRANK B. De VINE.—No history of Riv-

erside purporting to record her growth and

prosperity can lay claim to real value and

interest that does not award the merit to her

mercantile enterprises, and the men who have

conducted them. Most prominent in this record

would be the names of Boyd & DeVine, com-

mission merchants and jobbers, whose establish-

ment is located on the corner of Eighth street

and Pachappa avenue. This is one of the most
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important wholesale and commission houses in

the city, dealing extensively in groceries, grain,

honey, etc. They are also large fruit and raisin

packers, placing their products on the markets

under the celebrated " Sunbeam " brand. Their

packing business was first estahlished by the

German Fruit Company, who sold out their

interest to Boyd & DeVine in May, 1887.

The few brief facts gathered regarding Mr.

DeVine'scareer previous to locating in Riverside

are of interest. He was born and reared in

Rochester, New York, dating his birth in 1848,

had the advantages of a good schooling, and

graduated at the high school of that city with

honor. He then entered into mercantile life as

a clerk and book-keeper, in the well-known

establishment of Burke, FitzSimons, Hone &
Co., of his native city. In 1870 he went to New
York city, and for the next twelve years was

engaged in mercantile pursuits, holding respon-

sible positions in some of the largest business

houses in the city. He was for many years

connected with the firm of Wright, Bliss &
Falyan. In 1882 Mr. DeVine came to South-

ern California and located at Los Angeles, and

the-e associated himself with the German Fruit

Company, and was a director of that company.

In 1885 he established a branch office in River-

side, and controlled its affairs as general man-

ager. He was successful, and established a good

business, which he conducted until 1887. In

that year he formed a partnership with John

Boyd, a well-known pioneer citizen of Riverside,

and under the firm name of Boyd & DeVine

established his present business. Mr. DeVine

has been the active member of the firm, and the

manager of the business. The success that has

been attained by the firm is in no small degree

attributable to his keen foresight. Mr. DeVine

promptly identified himself with Riverside and

her people, and is liberal in the support of her

public institutions and enterprises. He isa mem-

ber of the Catholic Church, and has taken an

active part in establishing that church in Riv-

erside. Is political maters he is a Democrat,

not an office-seeker, but always ready to work for

his party and principles. He is a member of the

Democratic county central committee, and has

been a delegate in many of the conventions.

Mr. DeVine is residing with his family on

Twelfth street, where he has one of the most

pleasant homes in the city. He has been twice

married, first wedding in 1876, Miss Annie

Moran, a native of Savannah, Georgia. She

died in 1877, leaving one child, Annie. His

second marriage was in 1887, when he was united

with Miss Vinie Collier, a native of Paterson,

New Jersey.
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fANIEL SCHELL, Riverside, was born

near Toronto, Province of Ontario, Can-

ada, in 1815, a son of Henry and Mary

(Moyer) Schell, both natives of New York,

although of German descent. Grandfather

John Christian Schell, a prominent citizen of

Herkimer County in the colonial days and

during the Revolutionary war, was a soldier in

the war of the Revolution and lost his life in

battle. He built a block house in Herkimer

County as a refuge from the Indians: during

the war it was attacked by Tories and Indians,

and his two children, the father of the subject

of this sketch and his twin brother Mark, were

captured and carried off to Canada. It was not

till long after the close of the wrar that they

were returned to the widowed mother. In

1797 Daniel Schell's father and mother moved

to Canada, and there spent the remainder of

their days. Mr. Schell was reared as a farmer,

at the same time receiving a fair education in

the public schools. Before reaching his major-

ity he learned the carpenter's trade, and estab-

lished himself in life as a carpenter and builder,

also engaging in farming, which vocations he

followed for over twenty years, and then engaged

in mercantile pursuits. In 1880 he decided to

seek a home in a less rigorous climate than

Canada, and with that in view came to the

Pacific coast, settling in Riverside. Upon his

arrival he established his residence on a twenty-
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acre tract, on the corner of Adams and Cali-

fornia avenues, since which time lie has been

actively engaged in horticultural pursuits, devot-

ing his attention to oranges and deciduous

fruits. He packs and markets his products

himself, and with his well-trained business

principles secures good results and profits.

Despite the three score and ten years that have

passed over his head Mr. Schell is still a hale,

hearty man, of bright mental faculties, with a

mind richly stored with reminiscences of an

active and well-spent life. He still gives his

horticultural pursuits his personal attention and

achieved a decided success in that calling. He
attends not only to his own land, but to adjoin-

ing tracts that belong to absent members of his

family.

Mr. Schell was married in 1838 to Miss Eliza

Mercer, a native of Canada. The children from

this marriage are: Samuel M., a physician, re-

siding in Hamilton, Ohio; Francis H., also a

physician, resident of Cincinnati, Ohio; Charles

H., resident of Cafion City, Colorado; Mary A.,

wife of Dr. Joseph Jarvis of Riverside; Hattie,

now Mrs. W. B. Chafhe, residents of Australia;

Emma A., wife of W. J. Waddingham, of On-

tario; Eliza M., a member of her father's house-

hold ; the third child, Martha, married Dr. L.

F. Crawford; both are now deceased; they left

one child, Clara, who is a member of Mr.

Schell's household. The sixth child, Ellen,

died in 1879, at the age of twenty-six years.

fAMES W. WATERS, deceased, a noted

mountaineer, trapper, hunter, and guide of

the Rocky mountains, was born near Brain-

ard's Bridge, in Rensselaer County, New York,

June 20, 1813.

In 1835 he started out, a young man twenty-

two years of age, with his rifle in hand, bound

for the Rocky mountains and the great West, to

begin his career. For nine years he hunted and

trapped from the head waters of the Columbia

and Yellowstone ftvers along the mountain

ranges as far south as Texas, accompanied by

such noted hunters as Kit Carson, the Sublettes,

Major Fitzpatrick, the celebrated Bents, Old

Bill Williams, John Brown, Sr., Alexander

Godey, V. J. Herring, and Joseph Bridger, all

famous in frontier life for deeds of daring. He
trapped the beaver throughout the country of

the Arapahoes, Cheyennes, Utes, Sioux, Crows,

Blackfeet, Comanches, Snakes, Apaches and

other tribes, and had many interesting and ex-

citing experiences. On one occasion, while he

and old Bill Williams were hunting on the Big

Bottom near the Rio de las Animas for three

days and nights, they were besieged by the

Apaches. Mr. Waters was severely wounded

by a shot in his side. He cut out the bullet on

the other side of his body with his butcher

knife. After holding the bloodthirsty savages

at bay for three days without food he and Will-

iams escaped by riding their horses over a bluff

ten feet in height and traveling forty miles be-

fore camping. Notwithstanding Mr. Waters

suffered greatly from his wound, his comrade

bolstered him up with blankets around his sad-

dle, and they reached Bent's Fort in five days'

ride. On another occasion, over 800 Ute and

Apache Indians surrounded Mr. Waters, Mr.

Brown and sixteen other hunters, who by the

most daring bravery repulsed their assailants.

Such was the adventurous life he led until

1844, when he came across the plains with a

pack train to Southern California, by way of the

Cajon Pass, chartered a small sail-boat at San

Pedro and went into Lower California, and re-

turned with a cargo of abelone shells, which he

packed on mules across the Rocky mountains,

2,000 miles, and exchanged with the Indians

for beaver skins and buffalo robes. These he

sent to St. Louis, Missouri, thus obtaining the

means to purchase supplies while trapping and

hunting.

About this time John C. Fremont desired

him to act as guide for his expedition across the

mountains; but as winter was approaching and

the snow on the mountains was likely to be-

come too deep to cross in safety, Mr. Wateis
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declined to go. Mr. Fremont went on, and a

number of his company perished. Fremont's

name has gone into history as the great " Path-

finder" of the Rocky mountains, when in fact

the paths had been found by such frountiersmen

as Waters, Brown, Godey and other hunters,

who showed them to Fremont and he traveled

them.

For some time after the gold-mining excite-

ment of 1848-'49 set in, Mr. Waters remained

on Green river, exchanging fresh horses for

animals that had become exhausted by con-

tinued travel across the plains. In September,

1849, he came to California by the Southern

route, through the Cajon Pass, to avoid the

probability of being snow-bound in the Sierra

Nevada Mountains further north. He .served

as guide for a company of 140 New Yorkers on

thib trip. Continuing in the live-stock business,

he bought 900 head of sheep from Isaac Will-

iams and Victor Prudonne, and drove them to

Merced river, where he sold them for $16 a

head. He then purchased a herd of cattle and

kept them at the Las Bolsas ranch at the junc-

tion of Merced and San Diego rivers. At San

Joaquin Mi.-sion in Monterey County, he met

his old friends, S. Brown and Godey, and with

them opened the St. James Hotel.

In 1856 he came to San Bernardino, and was

there joined in marriage with Miss Louisa

Margetson, a most estimable lady, who was born

in England, October 5, 1837, and died in Old San

Bernardino, February 28, 1879, his old friend

Brown, being justice of the peace, performed the

ceremony. From that time Mr. Waters has

been a permanent resident of this county. The
year following his marriage he purchased the

Yucipa Rancho, and subsequently bought an

interest in the Rancho San Bernardino. From
the day he settled in the county to the day of

his death he was loyal to its interest and exerted

a wide influence in its affairs by his active

energy and public spirit. He was a member of

the Board of Supervisors of San Bernardino

County during the years 1866-67, 1868-'69,

1874-'75, 1880-'81; and his official career was

characterized by his high administrative abil-

ity and unquestioned honesty. He enjoyed
fair health up to within a few weeks before his

death, but long before had retired from active

business. He died September 20, 1889, at his

home in San Bernardino, surrounded by his

sorrowing family.

S
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fJ.
WA1TE is a native of Walworth

County, Wisconsin, and came to Cali-

" fornia in 1876, locating at Riverside,

where he remained until 1879. In March,

1882, he came to Redlands and worked as fore-

man for Judson & Brown. It was he who
planted the first orange trees in Redlands, and

he has planted and raised more orange trees

than any other man in the place. He owns

several lots in the city and the finest nursery

stock in the whole valley. His property has all

been secured by planting and caring for trees

for other parties, and taking lots and lands in

payment. He is a thorough horticulturist.

In August, 1889, Mr. Waite married Miss

.

Catherine E. Jones, of Bureau County, Illinois,

but, at the time of her marriage, a teacher in

the public schools of Crafton. She was edu-

cated at the high school of Tiskilwa and gradu-

ated at the Northwestern Normal School.

fAMUEL R. LANGWORTHY is one of

the most progressive and energetic real-

estate and insurance men of Riverside.

He established his office and business in May,

1888, at a time when the " boomers " were rap-

idly retiring from the field of real estate in dis-

gust. He is not a " boomer," but is a wide-

awake, energetic business man, confining himself

to legitimate straightforward dealings, and his

success in business and the rapid extension

of his operations are a sufficient proof that

bona-tide real-estate transactions can always be

consummated in Riverside,when based upon their
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real value. It is to his efforts that many desir-

able but cheap cottage homes are springing into

existence on the east side of Riverside, and are

being placed with in the means of an industrious

labor element that is seeking a residence in the

city and valley. By a system of monthly pay-

ments but little exceeding fair rental for the

property, he has made it possible for the poor

to obtain comfortable homes.

Mr. Langworthy is a native of Ulster County,

New York, and dates his birth in 1859. His

parents, John S. and Emma (Fordham) Lang-

worthy, were natives of that State. His father,

Major John S. Langworthy, was a prominent

merchant of Ulster County. At the outbreak

of the civil war in 1861 he promptly offered

his services to the Government, and was ap-

pointed and commissioned as a paymaster in

the United States army. At the close of the

war he was discharged from the military service

and appointed Deputy Comptroller of Currency

in the United States Treasury at Washington.

He then brought his family to that city, and

there the snbject of this sketch was reared and

schooled, closing his studies in the Emerson

University. During his university course he

devoted much attention to mechanical and civil

engineering, and in 1879 he went to Colorado,

and was for a year or more employed as a civil

engineer, after which he located in Chicago

and entered into business pursuits as a dealer

in drug specialties. He was also at one time

connected with the well-known publishing firm

of Belford, Clarke & Co., of that city.

In 1886 Mr. Langworthy came to California

and located in Riverside. Upon his arrival he

established himself as an engineer and land

surveyor, and was for the next two years em-

ployed in his profession in various sections of

San Bernardino and Los Angeles counties. In

the fall of 1888 he established his present busi-

ness and has 6ince conducted it. Mr. Lang-

worthy is an educated and practical business

man, prompt and reliable in all his dealings,

and is justly considered as a desirable acqnisi

tion to Riverside. In politics he is a Republi-

can. In May, 1889, he was commissioned by

the Governor as Notary Public. He is a mem-
ber of Riverside Lodge, No. 282, I. O. O. F.,

and Lieutenant in Company C, Ninth Regiment,

National Guards of California.

Mr. Langworthy was married, in 1884, to

Miss Agusta Cox, a native of Canada. Their

only child is a daughter, Amie.

fAVID D. BANTA is the business mana-

ger and principal owner of the Riverside

Mills. This mill was built by the River-

side Mill Company, Walker & Banta, in May,

1887, and conducted by that firm until the

death of Mr. Walker in 1888, since which time

Mr. Banta has had the sole management of the

enterprise. The Riverside Mills ranks as one

of the leading industries of the city, being 106

x 40 feet, and is fitted with the most improved

machinery for the manufacture of doors, sash,

moldings and all class of work required in build-

ing and interior finishing. Mr. Banta, a skilled

workman of years of experience, is one of the

largest employers of skilled labor in the city,

engaging some fifteen men, most of whom are

mechanics. The machinery of his works is run

by steam, requiring an engine of thirty-horse-

power.

Mr Banta was born in Bergen County, New
Jersey, in 1859, and was reared and schooled in

his native place until eighteen years of age. He

then went to New York city and entered upon

an apprenticeship at the carpenter and builder's

trade. After serving as an apprentice for four

years he engaged as a journeyman, working in

that city. He spent nearly six years in New

York city and then started Westward, and was

engaged as a carpenter and builder in Chicago,

and later in Kansas City. In 1883 he came to

California, and after six months in San Fran-

cisco located in Stockton, and was there em-

ployed as a foreman by the firm of P. A. Buell

& Co., and later as their book-keeper. In Feb-

ruary, 1887, he came to Southern California and
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located in Riverside, and in May of that year

established his present business. In addition

to his mechanical abilities he is a thorough

trained business man, and much of the success

of the enterprise is due to his management of its

affairs. Mr. Banta identifies himself thorough-

ly with Riverside and her interests, and can

always be counted upon as supporting public

enterprises that add to the prosperity of the

city. In political affairs he is an ardent sup-

porter of the Republican party. He is a con-

sistent member of the Methodist Church, and

is also a member of Truth Lodge, No. 52, I. O.

O. F., of Stockton.

In December, 1885, Mr. Banta married Miss

Emma Stults, a native of Ohio. She is a step-

daughter of his late partner, A. E. Walker.

There has been born from this union one child:

Clare W.

fM.
GODDARD, one of the leading busi-

ness men of the city of Colton, is at the

° head, and is the general manager, of the

well-known house of James Lee & Company,

wholesale dealers in flour, provisions, grain, etc.

It is one of the largest business enterprises of

Colton, occupying a large brick store and ware-

house west of the railroad depot in that city.

The building is 160 x 50 feet in dimensions and

is the largest warehouse in the county. The

firm of James Lee & Company was established

in 1885, composed of James Lee and the subject

of this sketch as partners. They, in addition

to the present business, were engaged also in

banking. The death of Mr. Lee occurred in

October, 1886, but the business was continued

under the same name, with Mr. Goddard as

senior, and M. A. flebbard as junior partner.

The banking house was sold soon after Mr.

Lee's death and incorporated as the First Na-

tional Bank of Colton.

Mr. Goddard has taken an important part in

the business enterprises that have tended to

build up Colton. He is the City Treasurer and

has held that office since the incorporation of

the city, and is a stockholder in many of the

enterprises that have made public improvements

in the city. He is the president of the Her-

mosa Cemetery Association, and has taken a

prominent and leading part in political affairs.

He is a first-class business man of enterprise

and public spirit.

Mr. Goddard was born in New York in 1854.

His father, William M. Goddard, was a native of

that State, a carpenter by occupation, but during

the childhood of the subject of this sketch he

moved to Knox County, Illinois, and there en-

gaged in farming. Mr. Goddard was educated

in the public schools until seventeen years of

age. He then started in life for himself, and

first became a telegraph operator, and was for

some four years in the employ of the Chicago,

Burlington & Qnincy Railroad Company, after

which he established himself in mercantile pur-

suits, and conducted a large grocery business,

until 1882. In that year he came to California,

locating in Riverside, and was there engaged by

J. R. Newberry & Co. in their grocery and com-

mission business.

In 1875 Mr. Goddard was united in marriage

with Miss Margaret A. Lee, the daughter of his

late partner, James Lee. Bessie L. is their

only child.

fRANK T. NELSON.—Among the enter-

prising and progressive citizens, and suc-

cessful horticulturists that are doing so

much toward building up and placing before

the world the horticultural interests and indus-

tries of Riverside and San Bernardino County,

mention should be made of the above named

gentleman. Mr. Nelson came to San Ber-

nardino County in 1863, and located at Red-

lands. There he purchased a twenty-acre tract

of uncultivated land and commenced its im-

provement. He planted the tract with or-

ange trees, and made one of the repre-

sentative groves of that section. He sold the
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tract at a good price in 1887, and in the 6ame

year came to Riverside and invested in lands.

He is the owner of thirty acres of land on the

west side of Bandini avenue, upon which he

has his residence; six acres of the land is

in orange trees, five or six years old; the balance

is bottom land, which is principally devoted to

alfalfa. This bottom land has a water-right of

some twenty-five inches from Spring Brook.

He has also a ten-acre tract on the west side of

Cypress avenue, which is one of the finest

orange groves in the section. There are six

acres of seedling oranges upon that tract, the

trees are sixteen years old, and under his skill-

ful care and cultivation are giving good re-

turns, giving a yield that net him $500 per

acre. Four acres are in budded fruit that are

varying age and not in full bearing. He is a

thoroughly practical man, and in his orange

growing spares no labor or expense in cultiva-

tion and fertilization, that his experience and

business principles teaches him will give a good

return.

Mr. Nelson was born in Iroquois County,

Illinois, in 1861. His parents were Olaf P.

and Frederika Nelson, natives of Sweden. At

the age of seven years Mr. Nelson went to

Newton County, Indiana, and' there entered the

family of William Russell, a well-known resi-

dent of Riverside. He was reared to the oc-

cupation of a farmer and stock-grower, receiv-

ing the advantages of a good common-school

education. He became well versed in his call-

ing, and rem lined in that county until he came

to Redlands in 1883. Although he had been a

resident of Riverside but a comparatively short

time, he is well known in his neighborhood,

and has gained the respect of his associates.

He is a consistent member of the Methodist

Church. In political matters he is a supporter

of the Prohibition party.

In 1888 Mr. Nelson was united in marriage

with Miss Nellie Mills, a native of New York.

There is one child from this union—Annie

Laura. Mrs. Nelson's parents are William

and Cordelia (Warren) Mills. Her father is a

native of New Hampshire, and her mother was
born in New York. They are now residents of

Riverside. Mr. Nelson's mother, brother,

Charles V., and sister, Melvina, now Mrs.

William E. White, are also residents of River-

side. His sister Mary, who married Mr. John
Wilson, and Louisa, now Mrs. John Peterson,

are residents of Indiana.

~£-**«

ILES SHOEMAKER is the owner of

a twenty-acre tract on the east side of

Riverside avenue, about two and a half

miles south of Riverside. He purchased land

in 1882 from Mrs. Hattie S. Travers, and in

the same year commenced making improvements

upon the place by planting citrus and deciduous

fruits and vines. About live acres of his land

lies east of the upper canal, and is not suscepti-

ble of irrigation from the Riverside water sys-

tem. Upon this elevated portion he has erected

his cottage residence and out- buildings. The
balance of his land—fifteen acres— is all under

cultivation. He has an orange grove of ten

acres, the trees ranging in age from seven years

to those planted in 1889. He has some of the

finest trees to be found in his section, and has

used great care in their pruning, fertilization

and cultivation from their first planting. His

vineyard of three and one-half acres has also

received its share of his attention, and has been

remarkably prolific in its yield. In 1888 this

three and one-half acres and two and one-half

acres of vines grown among his orange trees,

produced a crop that sold for $1,100. In the

same year his oranges brought him $790. In

1886 his raisin and orange crop sold for $2,200.

He is a practical and successful horticulturist

and is destined to have one of the most pro-

ductive groves in Riverside. He has grown the

greater portion of the nursery stock used in his

orange-growing, and at this writing (1889) has

a fine nursery stock with which to increase the

area of his groves. All the improvements

upon his place have been made since his pur-
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chase in 1882. The subject of this sketch was

horn in Delaware County, Indiana, in 1849.

His parents, John and Maria (Meyers) Shoe-

maker, were natives of Pennsylvania, and were

among the early settlers of his native county.

Mr. Shoemaker was reared and schooled in his

native place, and early in life inured to farm

labors. He followed that occupation until he

came to California and established himself in

his present pursuits. In 1873 lie married Miss

Amanda S. Carpenter. From this union there

are two children: Carson and Susie. Mr.

Shoemaker is an energetic and practical man,

and his efforts in orange-growing have been

successful; noticeably so, considering the age of

his trees. Such men are always a desirable

acquisition to the community. In politics he

is a Republican, sound in his principles and

conservative in action. He has the well mer-

ited respect of his neighbors and associates.

jARSHALL F. PRICE, M. D.—Among
the prominent physicians of Colton, and

of San Bernardino County, mention

should be made of the subject of this sketch.

Dr. Price was born in Portage County, Ohio,

in 1834. His father, Dr. George Price, was a

native of Pennsylvania, but was reared and edu-

cated in Ohio. Dr. Price remained in his na-

tive State until fourteen years old; his parents

then moved to Illinois and settled in Knox

County. He was given a good education, and

in his young manhood he entered upon the

study of medicine.

In 1861, when the war of the Rebellion broke

out, he was pursuing his medical studies in

Philadelphia, and early in 1862 he passed an

examination before the Pennsylvania State

Medical Board, and was commissioned an As-

sistant Surgeon, and assigned to the First Reg-

iment Pennsylvania Light Artillery for duty.

His regiment was assigned with the historic

Army of the Potomac. In April, 1863, he

was promoted to a full Surgeon's position with

the rank of Major, and served with the First

Army Corps until September of that year,

when he found himself so broken in health as

to be unfit for field service. He accordingly re-

signed his commission, aud went north seeking

a restoration of health. As soon as he had so

far recovered as to be able to enter upon hospital

service, he again tendered himself to the Gov-

ernment, and was appointed Acting Assistant

Surgeon, and placed on duty in the military

hospitals in the department of Washington.

There he served his nation until long after the

close of the war, not receiving his discharge

until November, 1865. The Doctor's military

record is highly creditable, and one of which

his friends are justly proud. At his country's

call he abandoned the students' chair, and

passed the Military Medical Board, showing

his ability as a physician and surgeon, and

promptly entered upon his duties in the field.

His strict attention to duty, and recognized

skill as a surgeon, coupled with his gallant

bearing and soldierly qualities as displayed

upon a dozen battle-fields, gained him promotion,

and he rose to a more responsible position in

the medical department of the First Corps.

He participated in the severest compaigns and

hardest-fought battles of the war, among which

was the memorable peninsular campaign with

its bloody fields of Williamsburg, Mechanics-

ville, Fair Oaks, Seven Pines, and the terrible

" Seven days' " battle terminating with Malvern

Hill. Then came the second Bull Run and the

Maryland campaign, with the battles of South

mountain and Antietain, the terrible slaughter

at Fredericksburg, the battle of Chancellorsville

and the thrice bloody field but glorious victory

at Gettysburg. All these, with their terrible

sickening slaughter, all the months of lingering

camp life in pestilential swamps aud morasses,

the days and nights of weary march amid the

heat, cold, chilling sleet, and drenching rain,

—

all these did the Doctor, with thousands of

others, encounter. The Doctor was a victim to

the poisonous malaria of the Chickahominy

swamps; his disease became chronic and made
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life a burden; still he never gave np until it

was utterly impossible for him to do further

duty. When he left the field, he devoted years

to the sick and suffering that tilled our military

hospitals. To this day, and for the past quarter

of a century, he has carried the seeds of disease,

and undergone the consequent sufferings attend-

ant upon that peninsular campaign in the Chick-

ahominy swamps of Virginia. At the close of

the war the Doctor returned to civil life and en-

gaged in the practice of medicine in Nashville,

Tennessee, and thence a few monthslater went to

Topeka, Kansas. He remained there until 1873,

when he entered the Northwestern University

in Chicago and graduated from the medical de-

partment of that institution. In 1878 Dr.

Price again entered the United States military

service as Acting Assistant Surgeon, and was

assigned to duty at various posts in Texas, New
Mexico and Arizona, and participated in the

Indian warfare under General Grierson. In

1882 he resigned his position and established

himself in Yuma. He held the position of

Territorial Prison Surgeon from 1882 to 1884,

and was the quarantine officer at that point for

both the State of California and the United

States, and surgeon for the Southern Pacific

Railroad. April 1, 1885, the Doctor located in

Colton, and commenced his medical practice in

that city.

He is a gentleman of culture and refinement,

genial and courteous in manner. He is en-

gaged in a successful and lucrative practice,

and enjoys the confidence and esteem of the

community. He has not confined himself to

his profession, but has taken a deep interest in

the building up and prosperity of Colton. He
assisted in the organization of the Colton Build-

ing and Loan Association and has been its pres-

ident since its inception. He still retains his

position as surgeon for the Southern Pacific

Eailroad Company. He is a member of the

San Bernardino County, Southern California

and State Medical societies, and was president

of the Southern California Society in 1888, and

in 1887-'88 was president of the county society.

He has also been city health officer ever since

that office was created by law in 1889.

Dr. Price is a charter member, and was the

first commander, of Colton Post, No. 130, and

is at present the medical director of the depart-

ment, Grand Army of the Republic, also a

charter member and Past Chancellor of Colton

Lodge, No. 137, Knights of Pythias. He is a

member of the California Commandery of the

military order of the Loyal Legion of the

United States, and president of the Southern

California Association of that order.

Dr. Price was married in 1865, wedding

Miss Olivia Tingle, of Washington, District

of Columbia. She died in 1871, leaving no

children. His second marriage was in union

with Mrs. Martha Moad, nee Martin, |n 1887.

She is a native of Illinois, and the widow of

Dr. John N. Moad, a dentist by profession and

former resident of Oakland. There are two

children living from Mrs. Price's former mar-

riage,—Pauline L. and Marshall F.; both have

been adopted by the Doctor and bear his name.

fENECA La RUE, one of the horticultur-

ists of the Riverside colony, came to Riv-

erside in 1876 and located on Arlington

avenue, where he purchased a claim of forty

acres of Government land for which he event-

nally secured a patent. Immediately upon his

purchase he commenced his horticultural pur-

suits, first planting a vineyard and some decid-

uous fruits as well as oranges, but later his

experience led him to uproot the deciduous

trees and replace thein with citrus fruits. His

orange grove is about twenty-two acres in extent;

fifteen acres, being above the canal, is not irri-

gable. The older trees are seedlings, but the

greater part of his trees are budded, and vary

in age from those planted in 1878 to trees

planted a year ago. Mr. La Rue has engaged

somewhat in raising nursery stock, from which

he has made selections to stock his own orchards.

His groves contain a fine class of trees with sub-
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stantial bodies well pruned. He has ju6t reason

to be proud of his success. In 1888 his bearing

trees produced a crop that brought over $300

per acre. The improvements on his place which

constitutes his home are first-class, consisting of a

snbtantial and well arranged two-story residence,

commodious out-buildings, etc. He has added

much to the comfort and beauty of his home by

hedges, ornamental trees and floral productions.

Mr. La Rue is not a stranger to the Pacific

coast, his first residence in California having

been as early as 1850. He was born in Indiana

in 1831, a son of Berrian H. and Mary (Nye)

La Rue, the former a native of New Jersey and

the latter of Massachusetts. Seneca La Rne

was raised to farming. In 1850 he came to

this State and located in the mining districts of

El Dorado County. The following seven years

he spent in mining, then returned to his native

place, where he resumed his farming operations

and led the life of an agriculturist until 1875,

when he returned to California and located in

Mariposa County. He again entered into min-

ing operations, but not suited with that life he

came to Riverside in 1876 and established his

present residence and occupation. He is one of

the enterprising and progressive citizens, and has

been identified with building interests in River-

side besides his orange culture. He is well and

favorably known in the community and has a

large circle of friends. He is a member of the

Universalist Church. In political matters he

is a consistent Republican.

In 1858 Mr. La Rue married Miss Samantha

Leach, a native of Indiana. They have eight

children, namely: Jennie E., now Mrs. A. G.

Simms, of Redlands; Sarah G-., now Mrs. O.

Styles, of Riverside; Sapronia A., Mary Olive,

Scott W., Dwight Berry, Rexford and Irene.

—-. .g . :..! . ;

(EORUE H. DOLE.—Among the notice-

» ably fine residences in the Arlington dis-

l trict of Riverside, is that owned by George

Dole. It is located upon his twenty acre

tract on the north side of Arlington avenue, three

miles 3onth of Riverside. His two-story resi-

dence is of modern design and finish and is

complete in its appointments. It is surround-

ed by well-ordered grounds abounding in orna-

mental trees, rich floral productions and

beautiful lawns. Mr. Dole has sought Riverside

as a desirable place of residence in which to

rear his children and afford them the advantages

of schools, churches, etc., while he devotes him-

self to horticultural pursuits. His orange grove

is ten acres in extent, and with the exception of

about 100 trees, is planted with Washington

Navels. They were planted in 1883 and at later

dates. He also has ten acres of vineyard, pro-

ducing a large yield of raisin grapes of the

Muscat variety. His grove and vineyard were

planted by W. R. Russell, the former owner,

and are well known among the representative

places of Riverside.

The subject of this sketch was born in the

Hawaiian Islands in 1842, and reared there.

His father was the Rev. Daniel Dole, a native of

Skowhegan, Maine, who early in life entered the

ministry of the Congregational Church. He
married Miss Emily Ballard, of the same State,

and in 1841 entered the missionary service of this

society and located on the Hawaiian Islands,

where he was engaged in his labors as a mission-

ary until 1878. Mr. Dole's early life was spent

injobtaining his education. He then engaged in

literary and other occupations, and was for some

time connected with the leading journals of

Honolulu as associate editor. Later he devoted

himself to agriculture and horticulture, and

was for many years employed as manager of

some of the large plantations of the Islands.

In 1867 he married Miss Clara M. Rowell, and

as children were born in his family he decided

to seek a more desirable place for their education,

and in March, 1889, he established his present

residence. Mrs. Dole is also a native of the Ha-

waiian Islands. Her father, the Rev. G. B. Row-

ell, was a native of New Hampshire, and spent

many years of his life in missionary service. Mr.

and Mrs. Dole have twelve children, all born on
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the Islands, viz.: Walter S., William Herbert,

Marion F., Clara M., Charles S., Emily C, Al-

fred R., Norman, Wilfred H. Ethelbert G., San-

ford B., and Kenneth L. His eldest son, Walter,

is attending the Cornell University, of the

class of 1892; Herbert is in mercantile life in

New York; the other children are members of

their father's household.

Mr. Dole is a desirable acquisition to the

community of Riverside. He is a thorough

business man and well versed in agricultural

and horticultural pursuits, and is destined to

take a leading part in these industries. He has

for many years been a consistent member of the

Congregational Church; he is also a member of

the Masonic fraternity and affiliated with Ha-

waiian Lodge, No. 21, F. & A. M., of Honolulu.

TLLIAM B. SAWYER, M. D., occu-

pies a prominent position in the medi-

cal circles of Riverside, and has for

many years been well-known in the business

and social circles of the city. Dr. Sawyer is a

native of New England, born in Hampshire

County, Massachusetts in 1854. His father,

Edmund H. Sawyer, was a descendant of an

old colonial family whose first advent in the

New world was in the days of the Puritans; he

was a manufacturer and prominent citizen of

Hampshire County, a member of the Assembly

and Senate of his State, at the head of banking

institutions, and a trustee of Williston Seminary,

Amherst College and other public institutions.

His mother, Sarah J. Hinckley, was a direct

descendant of Elder William Brewster, the

minister of the " Mayflower," from whom the

Doctor is named. The father gave his son all

the facilities afforded in obtaining a thorough

education from Williston Seminary at East

Hampton, and at Amherst College. He grad-

uated at that institution in 1875, after which he

entered upon his medical studies at Harvard

University, and graduated in the medical de-

partment in 1879. He spent about a year in

the practice of his profession in his native place,

and then moved westward, locating in Kansas

City, Missouri. He built up a successful prac-

tice, but failing health compelled him to try a

milder climate.

In 1882 he decided to seek a home on the

Pacific coast, and in December of that year lo-

cated at Los Angeles. As his partially restored

health permitted, he engaged in the practice of

his profession, and from the first took a leading

position in the medical circles of that city.

In 1883 he was elected vice-president of the Los

Angeles Medical Society. His continued ill-

health prevented the prosecution of this calling

there, and he decided to try some other place

and occupation. In February. 1884, he came to

Riverside, and shortly afterward purchased the

dairy of P. Gallagher, which he established on

leased lands on the Jurupa ranch. For nearly

two years the Doctor engaged in the dairy busi-

ness and agricultural pursuits. In April, 1886,

he again entered a professional life and estab-

lished his office in Riverside, and since that time

has devoted himself to the practice of medicine

and surgery.

Dr. Sawyer is a writer of no mean order, and

has found time to bring his literary talents to the

aid of Riverside's interest. In 1887 he established

the Southern California Monthly. His abili-

ties as an editor were well displayed in that

journal, but the enterprise was not well sup-

ported, and after a few months' publication was

suspended. He was also a stockholder and a

director of the Tribune Publishing Company,

and was for some time editor-in-chief of the

Daily Tribune. In 1887 Dr. Sawyer was a

member of the board of health, and health officer

of the city. In political matters he has always

been a supporter of the Republican party, a

worker in its ranks and identified with its best

elements. Although not an early pioneer of

Riverside, the Doctor has been identified with

the city and colony during the years of its great-

est growth and prosperity. He is a progressive

and public-spirited citizen and has heartily sup-

ported the various public enterprises that have
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placed his chosen city high in the ranks of the

cities of Southern California.

In 1888 the subject of this sketch was united

in marriage with Miss Emma J. Nichols, a na-

tive of Massachusetts. They have five children:

Edmund H., Henry A., William B., Emma M.

and Adele A.

-#** W^^~

fUDGE WILLIAM W. NOLAND, River-

side's well-kuown City Recorder and the*

impartial Judge of her municipal court, was

born in Anderson, Madison County, Indiana,

June 25, 1825. He is a descendant of represent-

ative Southern families. His father, Brazelton

Noland, was a native of Kentucky. He was one

of the earliest pioneers of Madison County, In-

diana, locating there in 1821. Judge Noland's

mother was a native of North Carolina. Her

name before marriage was Nancy Russell. The

subject of this sketch was reared in the pioneer

days of his native place, schooled in the log-

cabin school-house by the itinerant teacher of

that day, and taught the practical realities of

life by labor on the pioneer farm of his father.

Upon reaching his majority he engaged in farm-

ing upon his own account, and later was ap-

pointed railroad and express agent at Anderson.

Judge Noland took a prominent part in the

affairs of his county politically and otherwise,

and in 1862 was elected as County Treasurer of

Madison County. He held that responsible

position until 1867, and upon his retirement

from office wa6 appointed as express agent of

Anderson. In 1870 he moved to Indianapolis,

and there, in partnership with John H. Batty,

engaged in real-estate and abstract business.

He continued that business for about eight years

and then established himself in the tobacco

trade. In 1880 he decided to seek a home in

California, and in December of that year, came

to Riverside. The next spring he established

his home on the east side of Orange street, just

north of the city limits, at which point he pur-

chased a five-acre tract and engaged in horti-

cultural pursuits. In this enterprise, as in

others, he has scored a success. His land is all

in oranges, three acres in seedlings and the re-

mainder in budded fruit. His three acres of

seedlings in the season of 1888-'89 produced a

crop which sold on the trees for $1,150. The

Judge, from his first arrival in Riverside, has

been one of her leading men.

In political matters he is a Democrat, but is

liberal and conservative in his views. In 1883,

upon the organization of the municipal govern-

ment he was elected City Marshall and Tax

Collector, and re-elected to the same offices in

1884. In June, 1886, he was appointed by the

Board of City Trustees City Recorder, vice

Judge Conway, and in the fall of that year was

elected to the same position. His administra-

tion of the affairs of his important office gave

such satisfaction that he was re-elected in 1888

by a majority that was a flattering testimonial

of the confidence and esteem reposed in the

Judge by a community that is largely composed

of his opponents in political matters. Judge

Noland has for years been a consistent member

of the Christian Church. He is also a member

of the Independent Order of Odd Fellows, and

is affiliated with Philoxenian Lodge and Marion

Encampment of Indianapolis, Indiana. The

Judge's family comprises his wife and three

children, all of whom are residents of Riverside.

In 1844 he was married to Miss Anna McClan-

ahan, a native of Logan County, Ohio. Her

father, James McClanahan, was a native of

New York. The names of the children are:

Emma J., now Mrs. C. T Rice; Clara J., now the

wife of Jacob Van de Grift, the well-known post-

master of Riverside, and Thomas E., who mar-

ried Miss Helen Condon, a native of Maine.

****

§A. SPRECHER, M. D., formerly a prac-

ticing physician of Cincinnati, Ohio, and

° now the proprietor of the well known
" Colton Pharmacy," which is located in the

center of the city, has been a resident of Colton
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6ince 1884. The Doctor has found time to

identity himself with and aid in the business

and public enterprises which wrought the won-

derful change in the city of Colton during the

five years antedating 1889. His drug Btore,

the Colton Pharmacy, is one of the most com-

plete in the city, and a credit to any commu-

nity, for Dr. Sprecher is a thorough master of

his profession, a skillful druggist and chemist.

He has been prominent in building up the city

in which he has large real-estate interests.

Aside from his residence and business property

lie owns quite a number of cottage residences.

He has also 640 acres of ranch land in Riche

cation, three and a half miles southeast of Col-

ton, and property in Pern's and other places.

The Doctor was born in Chambersburg, Penn-

sylvania, in 1844. While a mere lad his par-

ents moved to Ohio and settled in Clark County,

where he was reared and schooled. His edu-

cational facilities were of the best, and he

entered as a student in the Wittenberg Col-

lege at Springfield, Ohio, of which his father

was president. In January, 1863, he cast aside

his books and devoted himself to his country as

a private soldier in the Seventeenth Ohio Bat-

tery; after a few months in the service he was

promoted to hospital steward and served faith-

fully until theclose of the war and peace was once

more proclaimed. During his service he took

partin hard campaigns, siegesand hotly con tested

battles, among which were the siege of Vicks-

burg, Red River Expedition, Port Hudson, Ar-

kansas Post, siege of Mobile and assault and cap-

true of Fort Blakeley. The Doctor received his

honorable discharge in 1865. He then returned

to his studies and upon completing his class-

ical course entered upon the study of medi-

cine, and graduated from the Ohio Medieal

College in Cincinnati, after which he engaged

in the practice of his profession, and for the

ten years or more preceding 1880 was a prac-

ticing physician in Pittsburg, Pennsylvania.

In 1881 he came to California and located in

Oakland, and in 1884 he came to Colton. The

Doctor is well known in the professional and

business circles of the county. He is a mem-
ber of San Bernardino County Medical Asso-

ciation, Southern California Medical Associa-

tion and the California State Medical Society.

He is a Republican in politics, a member of the

County Central Committee and a worker in the

ranks of his party. He is a member of Colton

Post, No. 130, Grand Army of the Repubic,

and is a Past Commander in the order of Knights

of Pythias.

Dr. Sprecher was married in 1883 to Miss

Lizzie F. Bashford, the daughter of Governor

Coles Bashford, formerly Governor of Wiscon-

sin, and later Attorney General of Arizona, at

the organization of the Territory. Dr. Sprech-

er's father is the Rev. Samuel Sprecher, D. D.,

LL. D., a native of Maryland and a noted di-

vine, well known in the Eastern and Middle

States. He was for more than thirty years the

president of the Wittenberg College of Spring-

field, Ohio, and at this writing (1889) is presi-

dent of the San Diego College of Letters. He
came to Southern California in 1886, and has

since resided in San Diego. Luther M. Sprecher,

a prominent attorney and Justice of the Peace

of Colton, is a brother of Dr. Sprecher. The
Rev. Dr. S. P. Sprecher, of Cleveland, Ohio, is

another brother.

«,, •
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fAMUEL K. KLINEFELTER is the

junior member of the firm of Hayt &
Klinefelter, the proprietors of the well-

known Fashion Livery Stables of Riverside.

Mr. Klinefelter was born in Richland County,

Ohio, June 10, 1845. His parents, Joseph and

Elizabeth Klinefelter, were natives of Pennsyl-

vania and were among the early settlers of the

county in which he was born. He was reared

in his native place until twelve years of age.

In 1857 his father moved to Brown County,

Kansas, and was there engaged in farming oc-

cupations until his death in 1858. Mr. Kline-

felter was brought up to farm life. In March,

1862, although less than seventeen years of age,
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he enlisted in the military service of his country

as a private in Company C, Seventh Regiment

of Kansas Cavalry, and was for more than three

years engaged in that memorable struggle, the

warof the Rebellion. His regiment was attached

to the Sixteenth Army Corps or the Army of

the Tennessee, and participated in some of the

severest campaigns and hardest-fought battles

of the war. He was engaged at luka, Corinth,

Oxford, Holly Springs and many other battles,

and also took part in many of the cavalry raids

which his branch of the service was called upon

to execute. After his honorable discharge from

the service in October, 1865, he returned to his

home in Kansas and was for some years engaged

in conducting the farming operations upon the

old homestead.

In 1870 he came to California and located at

Gait, Sacramento County, and there engaged in

stock business. He was extensively engaged in

dealing in cattle and horses. In 1871 he drove

his stock to Monterey County and later took

fifty head of milch cows to Nevada and estab-

lished a dairy in Washoe valley, and was among

the first to establish a regular milk business in

Virginia City. In 1873 he sold out his dairy

business, returned to Monterey County and es-

tablished a hotel at Soledail, which he conducted

for the next two years. He then located at

Placerville, El Dorado County, and opened a

meat market. In 1876 he went to Colusa and

was for several years engaged in various pur-

suits. He opened a market at that place, and

was also engaged in supplying the markets of

Sacramento and other places with beef cattle

from Oregon and Northern California. In part-

nership with Thomas Hales he conducted the

well-known Colusa House and Eureka Hotel.

In 1881 Mr. Klinefelter came to Southern Cali-

fornia and after a brief stay in Riverside located

in Los Angeles, where he formed a partnership

with Theodore A. Gardner, and conducted a

confec ionery store oil Main street, near Spring,

until 1883. In that year he established his

residence in Riverside as a member of the firm

of J. R Newberry & Co., fruit packers, carriage

dealers and horticulturists. Mr. Klinefelter

superintended the extensive horticultural enter-

prises of the firm, and among the operations

planted 200 acres of vineyard and thirty acres of

pears at Rincon. In 1885 he sold out his interests

in the firm and in connection with his brother, P.

K. Klinefelter, purchased a twenty-acre tract of

land in Brockton Square, on Rubidoux avenue,

and engaged in horticultural pursuits. In 1887

he formed a partnership with Charles P. Hayt,

and since that date has been engaged in the

livery business. Mr. Klinefelter is an enter-

prising citizen and a thorough business man, and

is well known in Riverside, where he has a large

circle of friends. In political matters he is a

straight Republican and a snpporter of the best

elements of that party.

#^^#
tLFRED B. MINER, one of the leading

and representative business men of Col-

ton, and as the president of the Colton

Packing Company is at the head of one of the

most important industries of that city. Mr.

Miner is a native of Michigan, dating his birth

in Genesee County in 1842. His father, Philo

Miner, was reared in Genesee County, New
York, and was an early settler in Michigan, and

engaged in farming. Mr. Miner was reared to

farm life, and given a fair education in the pub-

lic schools. He was an energetic and thorough

worker, but he was never intended for a farmer;

as soon as he reached his majority he struck

out in life, locating in Chicago. There he

engaged in business pursuits, and was for the

next ten years employed by the well-known

firm of Tyler, Graham & Co., as a traveling

agent and salesman. In 1876 he was pros-

trated by sickness and compelled to abandon

his labor. The next eighteen months was spent

by Mr. Miner in seeking a restoration of his

health. Failing in that, he decided to seek the

milder climate of the Pacific coast, and in 1877

he came to California and located at San Jose.

His first occupation in that city was as a clerk
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in a grocery store, but his business talents soon

gained him recognition in business circles, and

lie obtained a position with the San Jose Fruit

Packing Company, first as clerk and later as

their general agent and salesman. He was also

agent for Speckles & Co., of San Francisco, and

later agent for the American Sugar Refinery of

Steele & Co. Mr. Miner became thoroughly

versed in the practical details of the fruit busi-

ness, and sought for an opening where his

energy and business tact could be applied to his

own advantage. The San Jose Fruit Company

had established a branch of their enterprise at

Colton in 1881, built and fitted a packing-house

and cannery, and started in business. This had

not proven a success, affording neither profit to

the company nor satisfaction to the people of

Col ton.

Mr. Miner saw his chance here, and in 1886

came to Colton, organized and incorporated the

Colton Packing Company, with himself as

president and general manager, and Mr. "Wilson

Hays, formerly superintendent of the San Jose

Fruit Company, as secretary and treasurer.

The enterprise, as conducted under the able

management of Mr. Miner, became a success,

and afforded to the fruit-growers of Colton and

vicinity not only a substantial home market for

their products, but added greatly to the wealth

and business industry of the city. Mr. Miner

is an energetic and progressive citizen, and has

not confined himself to individual enterprises.

He is president of the Colton City Water Com-
pany, and was one of the real projectors of that

enterprise, which has added so much to the

health and wealth of the city by furnishing an

ample supply of pure water for domestic use.

In political matters he is a Republican, never

seeking political honors, but always a worker in

aiding the best elements of his party.

In 1863 Mr. Miner was united in marriage

with Miss Eliza J. Abbot, the daughter of Hon.

Joshua R. Abbot, the well-known United States

Senator from Michigan. There is but one child

by this marriage, Frank A. Miner, who is

associated with his father in the Colton Pack

ing Company. Harrold M. Nelson is well

known as a member of Mr. Miner's family.

Although not adopted, he has from his boyhood

been reared and educated by Mr. Miner, and

given that place in the bosom of his family that

would be accorded a son and heir. Mr. Miner's

father was a native of Connecticut, descended

from an old family of that State, who date their

ancestry back to colonial times. He went to

New York in his youth or young manhood,

and there married Alice Brainard, a native of

Rush, New York. The Brainard family were

also from Connecticut.

fELSON SLEPPY, successor to the firm

of Sleppy & Bullis, is one of the repre-

sentative business men of Colton. He is

at the head of one of the largest hardware es-

tablishments in that city and the pioneer in the

business in Colton, having established his store

in 1882. He conducted the establishment alone

until 1888, when he formed a partnership with

William S. Bullis, now the mayor of Colton,

and the business was conducted under the firm

name of Sleppy & Bullis, with Mr. Sleppy as

the chief and managing partner, until February

5, 1890.

The subject of this sketch dates his birth in

Luzerne County, Pennsylvania, in 1845. His

parents, George and Amelia (Kremer) Sleppy,

were both natives of that State. His father

was a carpenter and builder, and at twelve years

of age Mr. Sleppy commenced his apprenticeship

at that trade under his father. He was quick

to learn and naturally a mechanic, and at the

age of seventeen was a skilled workman. He
started in life on his own account, and the next

five years were spent in working at his trade in

the Western States. In 1867 he commenced his

journey across the continent with California as

his objective point. He spent two years in

Colorado, New Mexico and Arizona, in carpen-

ter work, prospecting, mining, etc., and it was

not until 1869 that he reached San Bernardino.
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His first year in that city was spent in working

at his trade. He then accepted the position as

clerk in the drug store and postoffice under Dr.

J. C. Peacock. He continued in that position

until 1875, and entered (he hardware business

under the firm name of Enrich & Sleppy. In

1876 he bought out his partner and transferred

the business to Lake Port, where lie remained

two years, and then transferred the scene of his

operations to San Diego. He conducted a hard-

ware business in that city until 1882, when he

established himself in Colton. He has been one

of the leaders in public enterprise in Colton and

the county. He was interested in the old Gas

Light Company in San Bernardino, a stock-

holder in the Colton Land and Improvement

Company, the Building and Loan Association,

and one of the prime movers in establishing the

Colton Water Company. In political matters

he is a strong supporter of the Republican

party, in which he takes an active interest. He
has for several years been a member of the

Republican County Central Committee and is

president of the Republican club of Colton.

He is a member of Colton Lodo-e, No. 137,

Knights of Pythias. He has real-estate inter-

ests in the city consisting of residence and busi-

ness lots. His twenty years' residence in San

Bernardino County has made him well known,

and his consistent life and straightforward deal-

ings have given him the confidence of the com-

munity.

He was married in San Bernardino, in 1871,

to Miss Mary A. Stoddard, the daughter of

Sheldon Stoddard, a well-known pioneer of the

county. Mrs. Sleppy is a native of San Ber-

nardino County. Mr. and Mrs. Sleppy have

three children by this marriage, namely: John
Sheldon, Mabel Eva and Walter.

fHARLES P. HAYT is the senior partner

of the firm of Hayt & Klinefelter, pro-

prietors of the well known Fashion Stables

of Riverside. These stables are located on the

corner of Main and Seventh streets. Their

stock of horses, carriages, etc., are not excelled

by ary in Riverside, or even by any in the

county. Of the seventy-five horses owned by

the firm, thirty-five or forty are used in their

livery business. They are the proprietors of

the City Cab and Hack Service in Riverside.

Mr. Hayt is among the well-known business

men of the city. He came to Riverside in Oc-

tober, 1879, without capital other than good,

sound business principles, untiring energy and

industrious habits. In connection with his

father, W. A. Hayt, he started a meat market

on Main street and successfully conducted the

same until the next year. He then purchased

the old adobe livery stable on the corner of

Market and Eighth streets. He was also as-

sociated with his father in this enterprise.

Their stock at that time consisted of three

Cayuse horses and two wagons, but their energy

and business principles won the day, and they

rapidly increased their stock and business until

they led all competitors and built up one of the

largest livery enterprises in Riverside. In

1880 they purchased from H. W. Robinson Iris

stage and express line from Riverside to Colton,

and conducted that enterprise, carrying the

United States mails and Wells-Fargo's Express,

and affording transportation for the large pas-

senger traffic until the advent of the railroads

caused a withdrawal of the stage lines. In

1886 they moved their stables to the present

site, occupying a building 55x150 feet. In

1887 W. A. Hayt retired from the business,

and in June of that year Mr. Hayt received

S. K. Klinefelter into the firm. During Mr.

Hayt's ten years' residence in Riverside he has

been uniformly successful in his business pur-

suits, and his dealings have been of that honor-

able, straightforward character that ever gains

the confidence and esteem of his associates.

He was one of the first directors of the River-

side Railway Company, and has been a sub-

scriber to many of the enterprises that have

tended to build up his chosen city. He is a

supporter of the Congregational Church, and a
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member of Riverside Lodge, No. 282, I. 0. O.

F., and Sunnyside Lodge, K. of P. In politics

he is a Republican. Mr. Hayt is a native of

Putnam County, New York, and dates his birth

October 15, 1854. His parents were William

A. and Mary Evalyn Hayt, a sketch of whom
appears in this volume. His boyhood until

twelve years of age was spent in schooling, and

until about sixteen years of age he was given

the benefits of a good education in the common
and high schools. He then engaged in the

butcher's business in Patterson until he reached

his majority in 1876, when he accompanied his

father to California, and was engaged in various

pursuits, mining enterprises, stock business

etc., in northern California and Nevada, until

1879, when he located in Riverside. In 1884

Mr. Hayt was united in marriage with Miss

Minnie M. Morey, a native of Illinois. Her
father, General A. B. Morey, is a veteran of the

civil war, and a well-known resident of that

State. Mr. and Mrs. Hayt have one child

—

William A.

—$&mmk-&—
[AVID A. CORRELL is the proprietor of

the well known Blue Front Grocery Store,

one of the pioneer establishments of the

city. He is also one of the oldest grocers now
in business in Riverside, having been identified

with the trade since 1883. Mr. Correll came

to Riverside in 1882. His capital was limited,

and although broken in health he was possessed

of an unlimited stock of energy and well-trained

business principles.

He first engaged as a laborer with the River-

side Land and Irrigation Company, and remained

in that employ until the next year, when he 6e

cured a position in the grocery store of Freder

ick & Love. The Blue Front store was at tha

time under the management of those gentlemen

In 1885 Mr. Correll bought the interest of Mr
McDonald, of the firm of McDonald & Metcalf,

and commenced business on his own account

on Main street, where the Oppenheimer block

now stands. This establishment was sold to

Fountain & Thrall the next and then

Metcalf & Correll bought the Blue Front store.

The business was conducted by that firm until

July, 1887, when Mr. Correll purchased the

interests of his partner, and has since conducted

the business alone. He largely increased his

stock and took the lead in the grocery business

of the city. The Blue Front, although deserv-

edly popular before, became doubly so under

his management. This was nob achieved with-

out painstaking effort and an intelligent atten-

tion to business. He is of pleasing manners,

genial disposition, prompt and reliable in busi-

ness, understands the wants of the community

and promptly meets them. Both himself and

his establishment are justly entitled to the cor-

dial support and patronage they receive. His

fortunes are cast with Riverside, and he is never

fourd wanting in a liberal support of her enter-

prises. In addition to his mercantile business

he finds time for horticultural pursuits. He is

the owner of the block bounded by Mulberry,

Lime, Fourth and Fifth streets, upon which he

has his residence and a fine orange grove. He
also has a ten acre tract at East Riverside,

which he has planted with orange trees and

grape vines. Mr. Correll is a native of Ohio,

and was born in Fremont, Sandusky County, in

1845. The first ten years of his life was spent

in his native county, after which the family

moved to Christian County, Illinois. Mr. Cor-

rell was, from his early boyhood, brought up to

labor, and deprived of many of the advantages

in schooling that more favored youths received,

but his ambitious disposition and studious

habits enabled him to correct many of the de-

fects of his early education, and he became an

intelligent and well-read man, thoroughly versed

in the practical affairs of life.

He continued his farm labors until the break-

ing out of the civil war, and, although but sev-

enteen years of age, promptly volunteered his

services and entered the military service as a

private soldier i:i the Sixty-eighth Regiment of

Illinois Infantry. His regiment was assigned
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to duty in the Army of the Potomac, but the

arduous campaign so broke down his constitu-

tion that a severe illness resulted and rendered

him unlit tor further military duty. In 1863

he received an honorable discharge and returned

to Illinois. There he in a measure regained

his health, anJ in the spring of 1864 again en-

tered the service of his country in the One

Hundred and Forty-fifth Regiment of Illinois

Volunteers. He was promptly promoted to a

Sergeant's position, and when his regiment was

assigned to duty in the Department of Missouri,

was for many months detailed in detached serv-

ice on escort duty. Here again Mr. Correll

was a sufferer from disease, and after months of

suffering was again discharged in January,

1865.

As soon as his ill health and shattered con-

stitution would permit he bravely sought the

means of support, and, locating in Quincy, Ill-

inois, entered into business pursuits as an agent

for leading lightning-rod firms. He was em-

ployed in that business for the next seven years,

and then located at Bement, where he estab-

lished himself in the same business, first in

partnership with Cole Brothers, and later on

his own account. His continued ill-health

greatly hampered him in his business enter-

prise, and finally compelled his retirement and

the seeking of an entire change of climate an

absolute necessity. In 1882 he decided to seek

a home in Southern California, and located in

Riverside. Mr. Correll is a self-made man in

every respect, and has successfully fought life's

battles and achieved his successes by his own

unaided efforts. He sacrificed his health in his

young manhood in the service of his stricken

country, and the seeds of disease gathered from

the field and march of campaigns in war times

have brought forth their harvest in later life.

All honor be his! The history of a nation's

life is embodied in the history of her war vet-

erans.

Mr. Correll is a member of Sunnyside Lodge,

No. 112, Knights of Pythias, of Riverside, and

of Riverside Lodge, No. 118, G. A. R. In

political matters he has, during his whole life,

been a strong supporter of the Republican party.

In 1870 Mr. Correll married Miss Naomi
Harshburger, a native of Illinois. This union

has been blessed with two children: Laura May
and William G.

fDWARD HELLER.—Among the repre-

sentative orange groves of that section

of Riverside colony known as Brockton

square mention should be made of the one

owned by Mr. Heller. His residence and land,

ten acres in extent, is located on the south side

of Rubidoux avenue, about half a mile west of

Brockton avenue. Five acres of his tract iB in

oranges, about twelve years old from the seed;

the balance, or three acres, is in budded trees

of the Washington Navel and Mediterranean

Sweet varieties; one acre of his land is devoted

to raisin grapes, and one acre to alfalfa. At

this writing Mr. Heller has resided on the place

less than two years, but during that time he has

shown that he is a practical horticulturist. His

system of pruning and budding are unequaled,

and are producing the best of results. Every-

thing about the place, the neat cottage residence,

suitable out-buildings, well ordered grounds,

etc., denote the pleasant and comfortable Cali-

fornia home.

Mr. Heller was born in Haynau, Province of

Schlesien, Prussia, in 1824. His parents, Ben-

jamin and Caroline (Sturm) Heller, were natives

of Saxony. Mr. Heller was reared and schooled

in his native place, and early in life apprenticed

as a furrier. Upon the expiration of his ap-

)renticeship he worked journeyman in

Dresden, Hamburg, and other places until 1849.

He then decided to try his fortunes in the New
World, and in that year came to the United

States. He first located in Michigan, and later

in New York, where he remained until 1852,

and then went to Boston, Massachusetts, where

he established himself in business at his trade

until 1857. In that year he moved to Illinois
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and located in Freeport, where he opened a hat,

cap, and fur store, which he conducted for over

thirty years. He was scccessful in Iris business,

and ranked among the prominent and substan-

tial merchants of that section. He was one of

the original incorporators and a director of the

well-known German Insurance Company of

Freeport for over fitteen years.

In political matters he has been a Republican

from the organization of the party in 1856, and

was a Union man and a strong supporter of the

war measures during the Rebellion. In 1888,

desirous of a more genial climate, he came to

California and chose his present home for his

future residence. He has entered heartily into

his horticultural pursuits, and is destined to

achieve the success in that he has won in other

occupations.

In 1854 Mr. Heller married Miss Mary A.

Schottle, a native of New Jersey. She is the

daughter of Charles and Catherine (Putz) Schot-

tle, natives of Baden. The children by thit

marriage are: Emma, William, Antoinette, Ed-

mund and Mamie.

I S S E. C. D Y E R, Cashier Riverside

Banking Company, was born in Illinois,

taught school before engaging in the

banking business, about fifteen years ago, first

in that State and for the past twelve years in

Riverside. She is a lady of culture, possesses

remarkable force of character and extraordinary

business powers.

fOSEPH HEAP is one of the representa-

tive mechanics of Riverside, and is the

proprietor of a blacksmith shop on the

south 6ide of Eighth street, between Main and
Market streets. He is a native of England, and

dates his birth in Manchester, in 1848. His
parents, William and Hannah (Ward) Heap,
are both natives of that country. In 1848 or

early in 1849 his father emigrated with the

family to the United States, and located at

Council Bluffs, Missouri. The next year he

moved to Salt Lake, where he remained until

1852. In that year he brought his family to

San Bernardino County, and settled down to

agricultural pursuits near the town of San

Bernardino, where he has since resided. Mr.

Heap was reared upon his father's farm, and

hard labor was his lot from early boyhood.

His schooling was such as he could obtain in

the common schools for a short term each year.

At the age of seventeen years he started in life

upon his own account, and was engaged in

rough manual labor, in teaming, lumbering, and

working in the mills. When twenty-two years

of age he commenced work at the blacksmith

trade, with Stephen Jefferson, of San Bernardino.

He was naturally a good mechanic, and by his

industry and close attention he soon became a

skilled workman and an expert in horse-shoeing.

In 1876 his attention was directed to River-

side as a desirable locality, and he sought work in

the colony. He worked at his trade in the town

for a year, and was then employed by Governor

Waterman, at Cook's canon, until 1878, when
he again established his residence at Riverside.

After working a year for Petchner & Alder, he

opened a shop on Main street, under the firm

name of Masters & Heap. He conducted that

business for two or three years, and then sold

out and worked at his trade as a journeyman,

in the shop of Mr. Parker until 1885, when he

opened his present establishment. Mr. Heap's

long residence in the county has made him well

and favorably known. He is a thorough me-

chanic, and skilled in his calling. His honest

work and straightforward dealings has gained

him a well deserved patronage and enabled him
to establish his family in a pleasant home,

surround them with the comforts of life, aud

secure to his children the advantages of a good

education. He is the owner of the business

property occupied by his shops, and a well

ordered home on the corner of Orange and

Sixth streets. He is a good citizen, a kind
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neighbor and a desirable acquisition to any

community. In 1868 Mr. Heap married Miss

Mary Schyff, daughter of John EL and Gertrude

Schyff, pioneers of San Bernardino County.

From this marriage there are five children, viz.:

May B., Gertrude, Harry "W., Dora B. and

Cyrel Irving.

&Gfr&

fOHN WASSON, of Chino, is most widely

known as an editor, but this accomplish-

ment has been rather an incident than a

design in his career. He was born in "Wayne

County, Ohio, August 20, 1833, on a farm.

He received such education as the very common

country schools afforded. Attendance on school

was secondary to farm work in summer, and to

some extent in winter. He was dissatisfied

with farm life, but was notably a good worker

with all farming implements. At the age of

nineteen he went to California; spent 1852-'53

in the mines of El Dorado County. Sickness

induced him to return to Ohio in November,

1853, where he remained till late in 1854,

when he went to Henry County, Illinois, and

remained there till May, 1862. These eight

years were mostly employed in all sorts of

farming and unskilled labor in summer, and

teaching school in winter, with several months

of clerkships in the county clerk's and treas-

urer's offices.

He at an early age took active part in polit-

ical discussions, and ardently supported Douglas

for the presidency in 1860, and in all of his

many addresses in that campaign warned the

Buchanan and Southern Democracy that if

Lincoln were elected and war ensued, the

Douglas men would vigorously support Lincoln's

administration. He always determined to get

back to California, and, although possessed of

too much of a roaming spirit, wherever he was

and however well doing, his heart was always

set on California for a home. In May, 1862,

he crossed the plains, intending to go into the

Solomon river mines, in Idaho, but because of

the loss of part of the team by Indians, he

brought up in the Powder and Burnt River

mines in Oregon, and put in a hard winter

(1862-'63) prospecting in the deep snows. The

latter part of 1863 was spent in a prospecting

tour through the Idaho mines, until the heavy

snows drove him out of the mountains, when he

turned his steps to Nevada, which he reached

overland through Utah. To show the incidents

of such a life, he found himself about out of

money when he reached Schell creek, an over-

land home stage station in western Utah. The

proprietor was a young Mormon who wanted

to go to Salt Lake City to get married. Was-

son was offered one doljar a day to take charge

of this station for one month, and this meant

preparing meals at all hours, day and night,

making beds, sweeping the house, washing table

and some bed " linen." But the job was taken,

done well, and double wages offered to remain

another month; but by correspondence he had

secured the office of chief clerk in the office of

the assessor of internal revenue for Nevada, at

six dollars per day. To this place was soon

added an assessorship of Ormsby County. He
served in both capacities and charged for each

service on the days devoted to each.

For over ten years he has written for various

papers east and west of the Rocky Mountains,

and his brother Joseph being a writer and print-

er, they, with a Mr. Harding, established the

Owyhee Avalanche, in Idaho, in August, 1865,

and continued it till November, 1867. During

this " episode " he cooked for the firm, procured

the supplies, cut the wood, carried the water,

washed the dishes, mostly edited the paper,

" rolled" the forms, kept, the books, carried the

papers on Saturday, made the collections, paid

the bills, etc. The enormous snows of winter

were too severe for his invalid brother, and so

the paper was disposed of, and six months were

spent in visiting the old States and looking

around.

In June, 1868, he and his brother established

and published the Argent, at Winnemucca,

Nevada. Although immediately designed as a
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campaign paper, it was in the plan to make it

permanent, but lie was chosen secretary of the

State Senate, which led to its abandonment.

Governor Blaisdel appointed him one of the

County Commissioners to organize Elko Coun-

ty, and after this work was fairly done, in 1869,

he, with his brother, drifted to Oakland, Cali-

fornia, where they bought a half-interest in the

DailyNews, and he became chief editor and

financial manager of it; but it was soon seen to

be a financial failure, and was given up early in

1870, when he went to Arizona and spent seven

months in company with Governor A. P. K.

Safford (who was afforded military escorts), in

prospecting the various settled and many un-

settled portions of that Apache-afiiicted land.

His friends in Congress (Senator Stewart,

Congressmen McCormick and Fiteh) pushed a

bill through establishing Arizona as a United

States surveying district, and secured his ap-

pointment in July, 1870, as Surveyor General,

which office he held three full terms, and would

have rounded out sixteen years in that position

but for the assassination of President Garfield.

His record in this office was not surpassed for

efficiency and uprightness by any similiar offi-

cial in the service, especially in examining and

reporting upon land claims originating under

the laws and customs of Spain and Mexico.

Not one of his decisions has been set aside by

superior tribunals.

In October, 1870, he established the Arizona

Citizen, and published it for seven years and one

month. A great many unfaithful civil and mili-

tary officials will testify to the fairness of the

paper under his editorship. In 1872 he was ap-

pointed alternate commissioner on the Centen-

nial Commission, and participated in nearly every

meetingof that body up to its closingonein 1879.

July 2, 1874, he and Miss Harriet N. Bolton,

a native of Augusta, Maine, were married; she

was a teacher, having taught four years in

Stockton, this State. She became much attached

to California, and so a return here in 1882 was

agreeable to both, still retaining interests in

Arizona real estate, cattle and mines.

Owing to a lameness that became unendur-

able on hard sidewalks, he reluctantly left Oak-

land after a residence there of four years; spent

a year in closing up his Arizona business, and

leaving there in August, 1887, he became a gen-

eral agent of Richard Gird, which place he still

occupies. As incidental to this agency he edits

and manages the Chino Valley Champion,

which is recognized as a good model of news-

paper work. Against his will he was appointed

first Postmaster here by the Cleveland adminis-

tration, which removed him for his expressed

opinions. A change in the incumbency being

necessary he was reappointed in November,

1889, and still holds the office. Also against

his will he was elected one of the two Justices

of the Peace for Chino Township in 1888. It

is due him to say that excepting the office of

County Commissioner of Elko County, Nevada,

and Centennial Commissioner, he did not seek

any office until after his friends induced him to

do so. He is altogether too independent to be

a successful politician, but has a decided ten-

dency to public affairs.

P
RADFORD MORSE is the well-known

City Marshal of Riverside. He is a native

of Plymouth County, Massachusetts, dat-

ing his birth in Middleboro, May 4, 1848. He
was reared and schooled in his native place,

closing his studies in the Pratt Free High

School. He then located in Brockton, Massa-

chusetts, and was employed in the shoe manu-

factories for many years, becoming expert in his

business, and was employed as a cutter in the

manufactory of C. R. Ford. During his life in

Brockton, Mr. Morse was prominent in the

military circles of the State. He was for eleven

years a member of the National Guard of Mas-

sachusetts. He first enlisted as a private, and

rose through the successive non-commissioned

grades to a lieutenancy after four years' service,

and three years later was commissioned as Cap-

tain of Company I, First Regiment of Massa-
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chusetts Infantry, holding that position four

years, until, in 1881, Mr. Morse decided to seek

a residence on the Pacific coast. He came to

California, and in March of that year located in

Riverside. Upon his arrival he purchased a ten-

acre tract in Brockton square, of William Ran-

dall, which he held until the next year, when

he sold out and purchased a seven-acre tract on

Jurupa avenue, and entered into horticultural

pursuits. He sold that place in 1887 and pur-

chased a ten-acre tract east of Riverside, which

he has planted with Washington Navel orange

trees. He is thorough in his horticultural

enterprises and has set his tract with well

selected stock from his own nursery, and is

destined to have one of the representative groves

of his section. His residence at this writing

is on Mulberry street, between Second and

Third streets.

Mr. Morse is a progressive citizen and has

taken a deep interest in the progress of his

chosen city. He was a member of the County

Board of Horticulture in 1889, and in 1887 was

a director of the Riverside Water Company.

September 28, 1886, the Board of City Trustees

appointed Mr. Morse City Marshal and Tax

Collector of Riverside. He conducted the affairs

of his office so creditably and satisfactorily that

in the spring of 1888 he was re-elected to the

position and has filled the office since that date,

being again re-elected April, 1890. He is also

a member of the Riverside Board of Health

In political matters he is a Republican and in

whatever community he has resided he has

always taken a working part in the ranks of his

party. He has, since 1884, been a member of

the Republican County Committee, and since

1888 on the executive board of the same. He
has also served as a delegate in several of the

county conventions. Mr. Morse is a member
of the Riverside Lodge, No. 282, I.O.O.F., and

also Sunnyside Lodge, No. 112, K. of P., and

Division No. 30, Uniform Rank, Knights of

Pythias, holding a lieutenant's commission in

the latter order. He is a supporter of the Con-

gregational Church.

In 1871 the subject of this sketch married

Miss Ella A. Keith, daughter of Gilman P.

Keith, of Plymouth County, Massachusetts.

Mr. Morse's parents were Captain Levi Morse

and Sally (Tinkham) Morse, both natives of

Massachusetts and representatives of old col-

onial families.

—#?«*^
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1LLIAM FRANCIS HOLCOMB, a

member of the Society of California

Pioneers of San Bernardino County,

and the discoverer of gold in the valley which

bears his name, was born in Indiana in 1831,

but his parents moved to Will County, Illinois,

in his infancy, where they lived till he was

eight years old. They then went, in 1839,

to Iowa and located in Portland, Van Buren

County Iowa. His father having died, his

mother moved with her family in 1845 up into

Wapello County and took up a piece of Gov-

ernment land. The same year his oldest

brother, Stephen Holcomb, went to Oregon,

where he still resides near the city of Portland.

Stephen achieved considerable celebrity as an

Indian scout in the employ of the Govern-

ment oxit on that then wild frontier.

After eleven years' residence in the Hawkeye

State, the subject of this memoir left Ottuinwa,

Iowa, on the 5th of May, 1850, for California,

In crossing the plains his company narrowly

escaped a conflict with the Indians several

times, but experienced nothing more serious

than slight skirmishes. They came via Fort

Laramie, Green river and Sublette's cut off.

In crossing Green river, the ferry-boat sank

and Mr. Holcomb's wagon and the entire

contents, including his boots, which he had

taken off to assist in getting their cattle

across, were lost. Securing a mule to pack

their little remaining luggage, he and a com-

panion proceeded on their perilous journey,

Mr. Holcomb being barefooted, and he never

put his feet in shoes or any other footwear

from that time (July) until the next Decern-
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ber. About seventy-five miles from Salt Lake

they sold their mule for $50 and continued on

with only such things as they could carry.

Their sufferings from hunger and fatigue were

at times almost beyond human endurance or

belief. On one occasion, when near the sink

of the Humboldt river, for six days and nights

they had no other food but rosebuds, and for

three days of the time were without even

those!

As they were starting to cross the fifty-five

mile desert from the Humboldt to the Carson

river in this famishing condition, they met

with a piece of good fortune which seemed

like a special provideuce. One morning lying

square in the middle of the trail they found

a large sack filled with provisions, including

coffee and several substantial edibles prepared

and put np in a tempting style by loving hands

for some member of the last preceding emi-

grant train. Opening the sack, Mr. Holcomb

and his comrade took out a quantity of such

articles as they deemed best for their use,

then tied it up and left it with the remain-

der of its contents for the next hungry traveler.

On reaching Carson river they found plenty

of food and water, but were so uttterly ex-

hausted and weak that their stomachs loathed

food, and, sinking dowu half unconscious upon

the side of the trail, they slept until suffi-

ciently rested to begin to take nourishment in

6mall quantities.

Remaining at Carson river until their strength

was pretty fully recovered, they resumed their

journey, reaching Hangtown—now Placerville

—on August 28, 1850. Mr. Holcomb spent ten

years in the mines in that part of the State, and

although he did a great deal of hard work he

only met with moderate success, making little

more than current expenses. He first visited

San Bernardino in February, 1860, a horse and

a gun comprising his wordly possessions at that

time. He and his partner went on up into the

mountains east of the city, prospecting in Bear

valley and beyond, and while there he explored

a small valley on the headwaters of the Mojave

river, and discovered a gold mine, which for a

time created considerable excitement and was

quite extensively worked, there being 1,500

people or more in the valley in 1861. The

richest portion of the placer diggings was soon

worked out, and the excitement subsided; it is

reported, however, that the mines are about to

be re-opened.

In 1863-'64 Mr. Holcomb spent a year in

Arizona, during which he obtained a small in-

terest in the Vulture mines, which he subse-

quently sold for $500. On returning from

Arizona he settled in San Bernardino, which

has been his home ever since. In 1880 he

purchased the place of fourteen acres on the

corner of I street and the Base Line road, where

•he and his family now reside, paying $1,400 for

it. He has erected a frame dwelling and planted

about half the land to deciduous fruit trees, now

in bearing. He has refused $14,000 for the

property.

In 1872 Mr. Holcomb was elected County

Assessor on the Republican ticket, and was re-

elected, serving in that office eight years. On

retiring he spent seven months in Arizona as

superintendent of a mining ditch for the Tomb-

stone Mill and Mining Company. In 1882 he

was nominated and elected County Clerk by a

majority of about 240 votes over A. F. McKen-

ney, then holding the office and a very popular

man. Mr. Holcomb was the first Republican

clerk ever elected in San Bernardino County.

He was re elected as his own successor by a

much larger majority over J. H. Boyd as the

Democratic candidate. During his first term as

County Clerk Mr. Holcomb served also as ex-

officio County liecorder, County Auditor, Clerk

of the Board of Supervisors and Clerk of the

Board of Equalization. At the close of this term

the clerk's office was segregated from the others.

In 1860 Mr. Holcomb married Miss Stewart

in San Bernardino, a native of Illinois. They

have a family of five sons and two daughters,

all but two married and living in San Bernard-

ino, and all have homes presented to them by

their father. Even the two minor children are
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thus provided for. Mr. Holcomb is justly proud

of his family; and few men are as well satisfied

with the results of a laborious life, or review

tLe retrospect with as much pleasure. He has

for many years enjoyed the reputation of being

one of the most successful hunters on the Pacific

coast, and has probably captured more grizzlies

than any other man in California. And, a6 he

has retired from active business and still loves

the sport, he spends a portion of every season

with "old boys" in the mountains hunting and

fishing. Mr. Holcomb is a member of the

Society of California Pioneers of San Bernardino

County and of the "Old Boys' Hunting Club."

Having won the prize over about fifty compet-

itors in a Christmas hunt in 1888, the Old Boys'

club presented him with a beautifully designed

and engraved silver cup, which he values highly

as a keepsake.

#^-^-£#

fEORGE W. PRESCOTT, of San Bernard-

ino, Master Mechanic of the Southern Cal-

ifornia Railroad, and one of the most

expert mechanical engineers in this country, was

born in New Hampshire fifty-one years ago. At

the early age of seven years he was left without

father or mother, and at thirteen he left his na-

tive State and started out to fight the battle of

life alone and unaided. Going west as far as

Ohio, he spent the next five years in the old city

of Chillicothe, where, following the natural

bent of his mind, he studied the business of

machinist, and when just past his eighteenth

birthday he took charge of a locomotive engine.

In 1856 he went to Columbus, Kentucky, and

commenced building the Mobile & Ohio Rail-

road. On Januaryl5, 1857, he unloaded from the

steamer J. C. Swan the first locomotive engine

that ever passed over that road, and set it up

and run it over the line. He put tip all the

engines and cars for that road till the spring of

1861.

On May 3, of that year, the war of the Re-

bellion having broken out, and Mr. Prescott's

New England blood and patriotism allying

him to the cause of the Union, he resigned his

position and went North, notwithstanding he

was offered $500 a month by the Superintend-

ent of the Mobile & Ohio Railroad if he would

remain and take charge of the machinery of the

line. On June 15, of that year, he began to

run an engine on the Chicago Milwaukee &
St. Paul Railroad, and was connected with that

company in various capacities of responsibility

in the operating department and shops until

1869. In that year he superintended the laying

of the track between Winona, Shaska and La

Crosse. At the solicitation of W. B. Strong,

Mr. Prescott entered the employof the Chicago,

Burlington &Quincy Railroad in 1871 as Super-

intendent of wrecks on the Iowa Division. In

1873 he accepted the position of fuel agent on the

Michigan Central Railroad. During the three

years of his connection with that road he also filled

the positions of train-dispatcher and assistant

superintendent without the title. In 1876 he

accepted the position of mechanical superintend-

ent of the locomotive and car department of the

Chicago & Grand Trunk Railroad, tendered

him by Charles G. Peck, and continued in that

capacity until 1881. He then resigued and

was connected with the Chicago Eire & Spring

Works two years. For six years thereafter he

was mechanical superintendent of the St. Louis,

Arkansas & Texas Railroad, with headquarters

at St. Louis.

Mr. Prescott received the appointment, May

7, 1889, as master mechanic of the California

Southern and California Central lines, consol-

idated in November of that year into the South-

ern California Railway, and forming the Cali-

fornia division of the great Santa Fe system.

Advanced ideas and improved methods have

been introduced by Mr. Prescott in operating

the mechanical department of the railway, which

have resulted in materially increasing the scope

and volume of work performed, while the cost

of that department has been reduced, thus dem-

onstrating his remarkable qualifications and

adaptation for the position he so ably fills.
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On August 23, 1856, Mr. Prescott married

Miss McFarland, a native of Cliillicothe, Ohio,

her paternal grandfather having been the first

settler in that (Ross) county. Mr. and Mrs.

Prescott have but one child, a son.

-£** 3—

—

fAMES T. O'PRY, one of the representative

and enterprising merchants of Colton, has

a well equipped general merchandise store,

centrally located on Front street opposite the

Southern Pacific Railroad depot. Captain O'Pry

came to Colton in February, 1888, after years

spent in active business pursuits in New Orleans,

and in the next month established himself in

mercantile pursuits. He also purchased a five-

acre tract of orange land from the Colton Water

Company and commenced horticultural indus-

tries by planting it with budded orange trees;

and he is also interested in real estate in Colton,

Glendora and other places. He is a popular

man, straightforward in his dealings, and has

gained a liberal support and patronage from the

Colton community. Captain O'Pry is a native

of Georgia, dating his birth in 1849. His par-

ents, James and Nancy E. (Brown) O'Pry, are

also natives of that State. During the days of

his infancy his parents moved to New Orleans,

and he was reared and schooled in that city.

Early in life, in his boyhood days, he was schooled

in mercantile life, but when twenty years of age

chose steamboating as his calling, and entered

upon a three years' apprenticeship as a pilot.

He was ambitious and quick to learn, and rose

rapidly in his profession until he was licensed

as a master, and was then placed in command of

various steamers on the Mississippi river. As
he accumulated means he became an owner of

steamers, and became one of the prominent fig-

ures in steamboat circles in New Orleans.

Among the well-known and popular boats that

he owned and commanded were the Oriole, Isa-

bel, Alvin, Sunbeam, Daisy, and later the steam-

ers Martha and Neptune. He incorporated and

was the president of the New Orleans and Gulf

Transportation Company. He was also the pres-

ident of and owned a controlling interest in the

New Orleans and Perriaux P.eouff Transporta-

tion Company. A man of sound practical

knowledge, keen business instincts, prompt and

straightforward in his dealings, Captain O'Pry
successfully inaugurated and conducted some of

the soundest transportation enterprises of New
Orleans. Years of active business pursuits

finally so undermined his health that it became

imperative that he seek a change of climate and

comparative rest, and in 1888 he came to South-

ern California, and locating in Colton established

his present occupation.

He is at this writing (1889) still largely in-

terested in transportation companies in New
Orleans, and is also president of the Western
and Southern Steamboatmen's Association of that

city. In politics he is a supporter of the Dem-
ocratic party. He is a member of Colton Lodge
No. 37, Knights of Pythias, and Colton Lodge,

No. 255, A. O. U. W. He also retains his

memberships with the Pickwick and Commer-
cial clubs of New Orleans. The Captain, in

1872, married Miss Isabel Kouns, a native of

Ohio, the daughter of Captain John Kouns, a

well-known resident of that State. The three

children from that marriage are: Alvin, Hattie

Belle and James T.

§P. CHAPMAN.—Among the well-known

and representative orange groves in the
* Riverside colony tract is the five acres

owned by the above-named gentleman. This

grove is located on the west side of Cypress

avenue, north of Bandini avenue, about one mile

south of the business center of Riverside.

About four acres of his land is in oranges, seed-

ling and Washington Navel trees twelve years

of age, and other budded trees of Washington

Navel, Mediterranean Sweet and St. Michael

varieties, varying in age from one to six years.

He has one acre in vineyard, which produced in

1888 over $200 worth of fruit. Mr. Chapman
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is a thorough horticulturist, and is reaping a

rich reward for his labor. It is doubtful

whether any finer oranges are produced in the

colony than those grown upon his place. He

purchased the land in 1887, since which time

he has erected a substantial residence of at-

tractive appearance, and also suitable out-build-

ings. He has one of the most desirable homes

in his section.

The subject of this sketch was born in Tol-

land County, Connecticut, in 1836. His parents,

Simon C. and Jerusha (McKnight) Chapman,

were also natives of that State. He was reared

and schooled in his native place until eighteen

years of age, and then went to Georgia, and

was there engaged in mercantile life for the

next four years, after which he resided in New

York until 1861. In that year he located in

Whiteside County, Illinois, where he established

himself in mercantile business. The war of

the Kebellion called him to the service of his

country, and in 1862 he enlisted in the Ninety-

third Illinois Volunteer Infantry as a private.

His close attention to military duties insured

his promotion to Corporal and then Sergeant.

He served in the Western army under Generals

Sherman and McPherson until wounded at the

battle of Champion Hill. His wounds neces-

sitated his discharge and closed his military

career. He then returned to his home in

Connecticut and engaged in business. In 1864

he was elected to the Legislature from Ellington

Township, and took a leading part in the legis-

lation of his State and in the support of war

measures.

In 1865 Mr. Chapman moved to Pittsburg,

Pennsylvania, where for more than twenty years

he was the trusted general agent of the JEtna

Life Insurance Company, of Hartford, Connect-

icut. He successfully conducted the business

of that company until 1887, when he moved to

his present home in Kiverside. He is a pro-

gressive citizen and promptly identified himself

with the best elements of the community in

which he resides. In political matters he is a

Republican. He has for years been a member

of and a deacon in the Congregational Church.

He is a member of Patterson Post, No. 88, G.

A. R., of Allegheny City, Pennsylvania.

Mr. Chapman was united in marriage with

Miss Carrie Olmsted, of Hartford, Connecticut.

The names of their children are: Louise C,

Emily S., Maud M., Anna M. O. and Mildred.

-#*€

fEORGE A. WILBUR, an enterprising citi-

zen of Chino, is the founder and sole pro-

prietor of the Chino Store, opened to the

public in February, 1888, since which time he

has conducted one of the most prosperous enter-

prises in that section. His large and commodi-

ous store is well appointed in all respects, and

is well stocked with a choice selection of goods.

He deals in provisions, groceries, dry goods and

everything in the general merchandise line, fur-

nishing goods, boots and shoes, crockery, tin-

ware, hardware, cigars, tobacco, etc. He is

thoroughly competent in his business, and justly

merits the liberal patronage bestowed upon him

by the residents of Chino and vicinity. He is

also Wells, Fargo & Co.'s Express agent, and

the Postmaster of Chino. Mr. Wilbur is a

native of California, dating his birth in 1865,

near Redwood City, San Mateo County. His

parents, John and Hannah W. (Pratt) Wilbur,

are natives of Massachusetts. They came to

California in 1864 and located in San Mateo

County, where they resided until 1874, and

then moved to Riverside, where they have since

resided. The subject of this sketch was reared

and schooled in that enterprising colony, be-

coming a practical horticulturist in his youth.

When eighteen years of age he entered into

mercantile life as a clerk in his brother's 6tore

at Riverside, and in 1885 engaged in business

under the firm name of Wilbur Brothers. He
continued that business until 1887, and then

located in Los Angeles, where he engaged in

the real-estate business under the firm name of

George A. Wilbur & Co. He was one of the

founders and incorporators of the Los Angeles
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Real Estate and Stock Exchange. Mr. Wilbur

continued his business in Los Angeles until he

established his present enterprise. In addition

to his mercantile operations he is also engaged

in horticultural pursuits upon a ten-acre tract

in Chino, upon which he has a choice variety of

walnuts, prunes, pears, and other deciduous

fruits. He is confident that citrus fruits can

be successfully and profitably cultivated in that

section, and is devoting considerable attention

toward establishing that fact. Politically Mr.

Wilbur is a Democrat, but is liberal and con-

servative in his views. He is a member of

Sunnyside Lodge, No. 112, K. of P., of River-

side. He is an energetic and progressive citi-

zen, and a supporter of any enterprise that will

develop the resources of his section.

A man of sound business principles and

straightforward in his dealings, he has gained

the respect of his associates and of the com-

munity.

September 15, 1887, Mr. Wilbur married

Miss Minnie Saunders, a native of Utah. There

is one child from this marriage, viz.: Hazel

Elsie.

,BRAHAM A. SULCER, M. L>., a success-

ful physician of Riverside, during the few

of his residence there, has taken a

pre-eminence in the medical circles of that city

that strongly attests not only his skill as a

physician and 6urgeon, but the respect and

esteem awarded him by the community. He
was born in Butler County, Ohio, in 1839, his

parents being Henry and Catherine (Van Horn)

Sulcer, the former a native of Virginia, who

spent his life in pioneer farming in Ohio and

Indiana, dying in Arnold County; the latter,

born in Kentucky, was a descendant of one of

the most prominent families of that State.

When A. A. Sulcer, the subject of this sketch,

was a year old his parents removed to Indiana,

settling in Carroll County, where he passed Ins

boyhood and young manhood on a farm. In

1850 he located in Vermilion County, Illinois,

and there entered upon a course of medical

studies under the tutorship of Dr. John Mc-
Elroy, a prominent physician of that county,

and later the Surgeon of the One Hundred
and Twenty-fifth Regiment Illinois Volunteers.

Dr. Sulcer continued his studies until 1862,

when he threw aside books, abandoned his life's

project, and offered his services to his country.

He enlisted in Company G, One Hundred and

Twenty-fifth Regiment Illinois Volunteer In-

fantry, and was promoted to be Sergeant. His
command was assigned to the Army of the

Cumberland, and he participated in the battles

of Champion Hills, Chattanooga, and others.

After serving a year in the ranks his abilities

were demanded in the Medical Department, and

he was promoted to be Hospital Steward and

placed on duty in the Field Hospital Corps.

His efficiency and skill were noted and promo-
tion offered. In 1864 he went before the Illi-

nois State Medical Board of Chicago, and

passed their examination with honor, was com-
missioned as Assistant Surgeon, and assigned

to duty in the Department of the Gulf. Dr.

Sulcer continued his services until the close of

the war, receiving his honorable discharge June
20, 1865. He then returned to his studies and

entered the Rush Medical College of Chicago,

graduating from that institution in 1866, when
he established himself in the practice of his

profession in Vermilion County. For the next

twenty years the Doctor was engaged in a suc-

cessful practice, and made his residence in Dan-
ville, that county, where he took a prominent
stand, professionally, politically and socially.

In political matters he is a sound Republican,

an eminent worker in the ranks of his party,

but not an aspirant for political honors. He
was a member and president of the Board of

Trustees of Danville, and was besought to

accept other positions of honor and trust. In

1886 he decided to seek a residence upon the

Pacific coast, located in Riverside, and estab-

lished his office in the Oppenheim block. His
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residence is on Almond street, between Tenth

and Eleventh.

Dr. Sulcer has interested himself in real

estate dealings and horticultural pursuits, pur-

chasing a ten-acre tract of land on Iowa avenue

in the Whitney tract. Upon this he planted

Washington Navel orange trees in 1888. Dr.

Sulcer is a member of Riverside Post, No. 118,

G. A. R., and is prominent in other fraternal

societies. He is a member of lodge, chapter

and commanderj of the Masonic order, and was

for many years Master of his lodge in Dan-

ville. He is also a member of ihe Methodist

Church. The Doctor was married in 1870 to

Miss Mary J. Durham, a native of Illinois.

They have two children—Cullen Bryant and

Henry Durham.

&***

fRED. T. FERRIS, chief engineer and su-

perintendent of construction and bridges

of the California system of the Atchison,

Topeka & Santa Fe Railway Company's lines,

and resident at San Bernardino, was born in

England fifty-three years ago. He went to

Australia in his youth, and was educated for

his profession of civil engineer in the city of

Melbourne. Coming to America in 1853, he

did a large amount of professional work on

the Pacific coast for the United States Gov-

ernment and the State of California, in the

capacity of Deputy United States Surveyor, and

Mineral Surveyor. His first railroad work in

this country was done in the '60s on the

Union Pacific, under Samuel B. Reed, during

its construction. Mr. Perris settled perma-

nently in San Bernardino in 1874, and has been

actively and prominently identified with South-

ern California and San Bernardino County in

both a professional and official capacity for fif-

teen years. He has served San Bernardino as

City Engineer, and the county as County Sur-

veyor, and is now (1889), a member of the City

Board of Trustees. When the question of se-

curing a railroad into this valley and city was

agitating the public mind, Mr. Perris was cho-

sen at a mass meeting of the citizens a delegate

to go to San Diego and meet G. B. Wilbur and

L. G. Pratt, of Boston, and representing Eastern

capitalists in railroad matters, to learn their in-

tentions, and invite their attention to this part

of the State. The result of his mission was a

visit of those gentlemen to San Bernardino and

an investigation of the city and valley, which

was the inceptive step to securing the present

fine railroad facilities.

Over nine years ago Mr. Perris entered the

employ of the California Central Railroad

Company and built its entire lines, embracing

264 -j^j- miles of road; he also built the Califor-

nia Southern Railroad from Barstow to San

Bernardino, 210 -^ miles, besides building and

equipping the large shops at San Bernardino,

and the shops at other points on their roads.

Since the completion of the line, he has had

charge of the entire California sub-system of the

Santa Fe", of which these lines are a part. The

excellent condition of these roads and their

equipments comprising this system, demon-

strate beyond question Mr. Perris' superior

qualifications for the position he occupies and

the faithful discharge of its great responsibili-

ties. He is an active and zealous worker and

thorough master of the situation.

„, •
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fOHN CONGREVE, one of the well-known

business men of Riverside and San Ber-

nardino County, with which he has been

identified for many years, is the general mana-

ger of the Riverside branch of the Pioneer

Lumber and Mill Company, one of the largest

and best known lumber enterprises in Southern

California. The Riverside branch was estab-

lished in January, 1886, under the firm name

of William H. Perry Lumber and Mill Com-

pany, and continued until January 1, 1887. The

present company was then organized with M.

A. Murphy as president, and S. H. Moot, sec-

retary, and at that time Mr. Congreve took
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charge of the Riverside yards as manager. Mr.

Congreve is a well trained business man, who

came to Southern California more than thirty

years ago, after a long business career in the

Eastern States, and ever since his arrival has

been connected with the lumber interests of

Southern California. There are few, if any,

men in that business that are better qualified to

meet the growing demands of the trade than he.

The few facts obtained of his earlier life are of

interest. Mr. Congreve was born in Waterford

County, Ireland, January 3, 1827. His parents

were in indigent circumstances, and from early

boyhood he was dependent upon himself for

support and education. Atiifteen years of age,

when more favored youths were pursuing their

school studies, he started in life as a boy before

the mast, in a seafaring life, following that occu-

pation for the next seven years. By his attention

to his duties and quick intelligence, he mas-

tered the details of his calling and rose to a po-

sition among the subordinate officers of his ves-

sel. In 1849 he found himself in the Southern

States, and he located first in Florida, engaged

in steamboating on Tampa bay, and thence to

Charleston, South Carolina, in 1852, and there

engaged in mercantile pursuits. He was suc-

cessful, and in the years that followed ranked

among the solid merchants of the city. The
war of the Rebellion, that was inaugurated in

that city in 1861, found him conducting a pros-

perous and profitable business, but the block-

ading of the Southern ports that soon followed

produced a general stagnation, and eventually

broke up his business, and left him financially

ruined.

Mr. Congreve, though a strong opponent of

the secession movement, and a Union man, was

compelled to take a part in the stirring events

of that date. He was a .member of the Mont-

gomery Guards, and when they were called out

at the commencement of hostilities, shouldered

his musket and appeared for duty. His com-

mand was stationed at Cummings Point, on

Morris Island, and he saw the first gun fired

upon Fort Sumter, April 12, 1861, the report

of which inaugurated one of the greatest civil

wars of modern times, and at the sound of which
hundreds of thousands of America's most gal-

lant sons rushed to a combat that did not end
until more than four years later. Mr. Con-
greve's strong Union sentiments were known,
and he was subjected to many annoyances, and
almost persecutions, made with an object of

compelling him to enter the Confederate service.

He escaped entering the ranks, but was em-
ployed in a civil capacity with the sutler's de-

partment of the army. In 1864 he managed to

secure a position, which his former seafaring

life had fitted him for, upon a blockade runner,

bound for Nassau. The voyage was successfully

accomplished, and from that port he proceeded

to New York, and there engaged in mercantile

pursuits until 1868.

In that year he came to California and lo-

cated in Los Angeles, and soon after entered the

employ of J. G. Jackson & Co., in establishing

the first lumber yard ever opened in that city.

In 1875 he was the agent for Perry & Wood-
worth, and established a lumber yard at Spadra,

and had charge until 1875, when he established

the Col ton yard for the same firm. Mr. Con-

greve was the first business man locating in that

city, and established the first business conducted

at that point. A year or so later he returned to

Los Angeles, and with the exception of the

time spent in an extended tour through the

Eastern States and Europe, was engaged in the

lumber business in that city until coming to

Riverside in 1887. He did not come as a

stranger, the old colonists of Riverside had

known him for years. As the railroad had ad-

vanced in the direction of their colony, he had

followed with the lumber to meet their increas-

ing demands, and his arrival in their midst,

with the well-stocked yards of the Pioneer

Company, was hailed with pleasure, and con-

sidered by all as a most desirable acquisition to

the city. Mr. Congreve promptly identified

himself with Riverside and her interests. In

political matters he is a Republican. He is a

member of Evergreen Lodge, No. 259, F. & A.
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M., of Riverside, and still retains his member-

ship with Solomon Lodge, No. 1, of Charleston,

South Carolina, the oldest chartered lodge in

the United States, having received its charter

in 1735.

fMIL ROSENTHAL, a well-known citizen

of Riverside, is a pioneer of that colony,

and since 1872 has been one of the lead-

ing business men of the city. Mr. Rosenthal

is a native of Germany, born in 1845. At the

age of twenty years he started in life, casting

his fortunes with the New World. In 1865

he came to the United States, and located in

New York; was employed in business pursuits

for the next four years. He then crossed the

continent, and established himself in San Fran-

cisco, but later came to Los Angeles, and

thence, in 1872, to Riverside, where the rich

and populous city now stands; there being then

but a straggling hamlet. Mr. Rosenthal early

saw what would be the result when the rich and

prolific soil of the valley should be brought

under cultivation. He established a general

merchandise store, the pioneer store of the val-

ley, on the west side of Main street, near the

corner of Eighth, under the firm name of Lyon

& Rosenthal. Their business increased with

the growth of the colony, and they erected the

Lyon block, on the corner of Main and Eighth

streets, which the firm occupied. This firm

took the lead in mercantile enterprises, and re-

tained it throughout. Mr. Lyon died in 1882,

and Mr. Rosenthal conducted the business

nntil 1886, when he sold out to Frankenheimer

& Lightner. During his years of mercantile

operations, he had also conducted an extensive

insurance business, and upon his retirement

from merchandising, he formed a partnership

with J. T. Jarvis, under the firm name of Rosen-

thal & Jarvis, establishing a real estate and

insurance business. This enterprise, under his

successful management, ranked as the leading

real-estate firm in Riverside. Mr. Rosenthal

was the prime mover in the business, and was

one of the largest operators in Southern Cali-

fornia; the placing upon the market and the

sale of the lands of many additions to River-

side were entrusted to him. In public improve-

ments and enterprises he has taken an active

part; among the incorporations that have

added so much to the building up of the city,

and with which his name is associated as a

stockholder, are the Citrus Fair Association,

Riverside & Arlington Railway, Riverside

Gas and Electric Light Company, Rubidoux

Hotel Company, and others. He is a director

of the Riverside Land and Irrigation Company.

Besides his extensive business pursuits, he has

for years been engaged in horticultural enter-

prises, and placing upon the market some of the

finest groves in the colony. His home place,

of ten acres, is one of the representative orange

groves of the city. It is located on Pine street,

corner of Eleventh, where he has a beautiful

residence. The orange trees of his grove are of

budded fruit, planted in 1881 and 1882, and his

success as an orange grower is best attested by

stating the fact that his orange crop of 1889

sold for $3,000.

Mr. Rosenthal is well known throughout the

city and county. His years of association with

the leading business men have been character-

ized by honesty and integrity, and have gained

him a large circle of friends. In political mat-

ters he is a Republican. In 1886 he was ap-

pointed a Notary Public, and has since retained

the office. He is a member of Evergreen

Lodge, No. 259, F. & A. M., and also of

Riverside Chapter, No. 67, Royal Arch Masons.

-^&msm*f—
fOHN A. SIMMS, one of the early settlers

of the Riverside colony, ranks among the

leading horticulturists and nursery men of

Southern California. He came to Riverside in

1875, without capital other than young and

vigorous manhood, energetic disposition and

industrious habits. Having been reared in ag-
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ricultural pursuits, he sought work among the

orchardists and found employment with Mr. P.

S. Kussell, one of the pioneer nurserymen of

the city. He was employed with him for the

next three years, and during that time became

skilled in the business, and in 1878 established

a nursery in Brockton square, upon a ten acre

tract which he had purchased. This place is

now (1889) owned by P. S. Klinefelter. He
was successful in his nursery enterprise, and

also improved his land, planting orange groves,

vineyard, etc. He sold that land in 1880, but

continued his nursery business, known as the

Simms Nursery, upon other lands, until 1887.

In that year he formed a partnership with L.

C. Waite, and under the firm name of Waite &
Sirams established the Sweet Stock Nurseries,

of Riverside. This is one of the largest nurs-

ery enterprises in Southern California. The

years of experience which both Messrs. Waite

and Simms have had in Riverside, combined

with their well-known sound business princi-

ples, has made their business one of the most

successful in the State. Their nursery stock in

Riverside alone occupies twenty acres, contain-

ing 120,000 trees that will be ready for the

market in 1890. They produce nothing but the

best, and of the most successful and approved

varieties, seventy-five per cent, of their stock

being Washington Navels. The character of

their stock can not be excelled, if equaled,

by any on the Pacific coast. Their reputation

for integrity and straightforward dealing is un-

impeachable. Mr. Simms is a native of Henry

County, Kentucky. He was born iu 1851.

His father, Albert D. Simms, was a farmer by

occupation, 'and Mr. Sirams was reared to that

calling. He received a good common-school

education, and entered upon life's stage upon

his own account, a trained agriculturist.

In 1875 he decided to seek his fortune in a

new country, and came to California and located

in Riverside, and entered upon his successful

career as a horticulturist. Since the establish-

ment of the Sweet Stock Nurseries, he has had

the immediate supervision of the planting, bud-

ding, cultivation, etc., of the stock. The credit

for producing the finest trees in the county

is largely due to his untiring and intelligent

efforts. Mr. Simms is a strong supporter of

Riverside enterprises, and a liberal subscriber to

the Citrus Fair Association, Loring Opera

House Company, etc. Politically he is a straight

Republican. He is member of the Sunnyside

Lodge, No. 112, Knights of Pythias, and also

of the Uniform Rank of the same order. He
has been a successful raan

4
and won not only a

fair competency, but his consistent and manly

course in life has gained him the respect of the

community.

He married, in 1879, Miss Jennie Patton,

the only daughter of James Patton, a well-

known pioneer of Riverside. The only child

from that marriage was born in 1881, and died

in 1887.

fEORGE J. CHARLESWORTH, M. D.,

one of the prominent professional men of

Riverside, who is a Canadian by birth,

dating that event at Chatham, Kent County,

Ontario, in 1858. His parents, George and

Ann (Scott) Charlesworth, were natives of

Yorkshire, England, who emigrated to Canada

about 1833. His father was a prominent civil

engineer, employed in the engineer department

in the construction of the Great Western Rail-

way and other works. Dr. Charlesworth was

given the advantages of a good schooling,

closing his classical studies in Toronto. At

the age of twenty years, he entered upon his

medical studies at the Trinity University, at

Toronto, and graduated from the medical de-

partment of that institution in 1883. In that

year he went to England, and entered the hos-

pitals of London for study and surgery prac-

tice. He devoted a year to that, and entered

the Royal College of Physicians of Edinburgh,

Scotland. He graduated and received his

diploma from that college in 1885. In the

summer of that year he returned to Canada,
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and entered upon the practice of his profession.

After some months 6pent in Canada, Dr.

Charlesworth decided to try his fortunes in the

United States, and located at Lexington, Ne-

braska. There he soon gained a successful and

lucrative practice, but his failing health admon-

ished hitn of the necessity of seeking a more

congenial climate, and in May, 1888, he came

to Southern California and established his

residence in Riverside. Upon his arrival the

Doctor opened his office iu the Dyer block, on

Main street. His constantly increasing prac-

tice well attests his skill as a physician and

surgeon, and his popularity as a citizen. He

is a thoroughly educated gentleman, and a grad-

uate of the higher schools of medicine and

surgery in Canada and Great Britain, and well

merits the confidence given him by the com-

munity. He is a member of the Episcopal

Church, of Riverside, and also a member of

the Masonic order, affiliating with the Thistle

Lodge, of Lexington, Nebraska. The Doctor

was married in 1885, wedding Miss Alice Brad-

berry, a native of Canada. There are two

bright children from this marriage: Edith and

Frederick.

fOHN SUVERKRUP, senior partner of the

firm of Suverkrup & Hook, manufacturers

of and dealers in lumber at San Bernardino,

has been sixteen years on the Pacific coast and

twelve years in San Bernardino County. Prior

to locating here he was engaged in the grocery

business in Sacramento; and after settling in

San Bernardino he for a time devoted his atten-

tion to farming. In 1887 he and liis partner,

John Hook, built the mill known as the Suver-

krup & Hook mill, on the mountains north of

the city, which has a cutting capacity of 20,-

000 feet of lumber per day, and giving employ-

ment to eighteen or twenty men. The firm

owns two sections of choice timber on the moun-

tain, consisting of yellow, black and sugar pine,

and cedar, which will require fourteen years to

manufacture into lumber at the present rate of

cutting, 800,000 to 1,000,000 feet a year. They

own and conduct a lumber-yard in San Bernard-

ino for the purpose of handling the lumber cut

by their mill exclusively, and in which they

carry a stock of 500,000 to 600,000 feet of lum-

ber. The product of the mill is transported

down the mountain into the valley on heavy

wagons drawn by six mule teams, which haul

2,000 to 3,000 feet at a load. This lumber, con-

sisting of everything in the line of building

material, finds a market in San Bernardino

County. The firm is doing a prosperous busi-

ness and has about $17,000 invested in the mill

and teams, besides the land, which is worth

about $10 an acre, or $12,800.

Mr. Suverkrup is a native of Germany, where

he was born thirty-eight years ago. He immi-

grated to the United States eighteen years ago

and spent two years in the city of Brooklyn,

New York.

fHOMAS D. NICHOLS, M. D.—Among
the leading physicians of Riverside, men-

tion should be made of the subject of this

sketch. Dr. Nichols was born in Marshall

County, Mississippi, in 1840. His parents

were Asa and Priscilla O. (Duty) Nichols, both

descendants of Southern California. His father

was a planter by occupation, and gave his son

the advantages of a good education. In 1859

Dr. Nichols entered upon a college course in

the Florence Wesleyan University. The seces-

sion movement and the establishment of the

Southern Confederacy, aroused his patriotism,

aud his love for the South and her institutions

induced him to abandon his studies, and in the

winter of 1860-'61, he entered the military

service of his State, and upon the commence-

ment of the civil war promptly enlisted in the

Confederate army; from that time until the sur-

render of Johnston's army at Greensboro, North

Carolina, in 1865, Dr. Nichols never faltered

in his loyalty to his Southern home and country.
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Upon his entry in the army, he was assigned to

duty with the medical department as field hos-

pital steward, and participated in the memor-

able compaigns and battles of the Southern

armies under Generals A. S. Johnston, Bragg,

Beauregard and Joseph E. Johnston. During his

five years of service he applied himself to the

study of medicine, and at the same time was

in attendance in the field hospitals and had

charge of patients suffering from diseases and

wounds incident to camp and battie-field. The

experience was of incalculable service, and the

close of the war found Dr. Nichols an educated

and skillful physician and surgeon. The down-

fall of the Confederacy, and suspension of hos-

tilities was accepted by Dr. Nichols as the dawn

of a Dew era for the South, and he returned to

civil life, strong in his determination to aid in

restoring peace and prosperity so essential to

her existence. He located in White County,

Arkansas, and entered upon a successful prac-

tice of his profession. He also engaged in es-

tablishing enterprises tending to advance the

welfare of the people and establish good gov-

ernment: to that end he took a leading part in

political matters, and was for five years the

Mayor of Judsonia. In 1875 he moved to Lo-

gan County, Arkansas, and there built up a

successful and lucrative practice. In 1878 Dr.

Nichols entered the medical department of the

University of Louisville, and graduated from

that institution with high honors: as a special

mark of his ability and distinction gained in

his studies he was awarded a certificate of honor,

as one of ten (in a class of seventy) who had

graduated highest in the degree of Doctor of

Medicine. He then returned to his practice in

Logan County, and continued the same until

1887, when he decided to establish himself in

California. In that year he came to Riverside,

where he has since resided. In August, 1888,

he associated himself with Dr. A. A. Sulze and

established his office in the Oppenheiiner block

on Main street; he is also devoting some atten-

tion to horticultural pursuits, and is the owner

of a ten-acre lot on the Castleman tract, east of

the city, upon which he is growing raisin grapes

and citrus fruits. Dr. Nichols' experience and

skill as a physician and surgeon is recognized

by the community, and he has a constantly in-

creasing patronage. He takes a deep interest

in Riverside's enterprises, and is a supporter of

her institutions and industries. In political

matters he is a consistent Democrat, and a

strong supporter of the Christian religion, hav-

ing for years been a member of the Methodist

Church.

The Doctor married, in 1886, Miss Aurilla E-

Cheek, a native of North Carolina. The fol-

lowing named children have been born from

this marriage: Minnie B., Alfred O., John E.,

Arthur D., Sue A., Ethel C, Paul S. and

Nellie C. Minnie B. married Samuel Laser,

and is now a resident of Clarksville, Arkansas.

The other children are members of the Doctor's

household.

tENRY H. SCOTT, M. D., of Riverside,

is one of those successful men to be found

in the various walks of life who may be

truthfully said to be self-made—-men who from

boyhood start in life with a fixed object in view;

and with strong determination to reach the goal,

they develop those valuable characteristics

—

energy, perseverance, and a determined mind,

that enable them to overcome all obstacles and

render them intelligent, quick to conceive, and

prompt to act—characteristics especially valu-

able to the skilled physician and surgeon.

The subject of this sketch was born in On-

tario, Oxford County, Canada West, in 1836.

His father, Dr. Thomas Scott, was a native of

England and a pioneer of that section of Canada.

Dr Scott passed his boyhood, until ten years of

age, as other youths in attendance at the public

school. He was then placed as a " boy of all

work" in a drug store. Not much time was

left him for idleness or play, even had he

been disposed to avail himself of it. He was

ambitious, of studious habits, and bound to
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learn. His spare moments were devoted to

study, and he became in time a skillful druggist

and chemist, whose services were valuable to

employers, and he secured a lucrative position

in New York. He entered earnestly upon a

course of medical study, and after years of read-

ing returned to Canada and entered the Victoria

College (now Trinity College) at Toronto. He
graduated with high honors from that college

in 1859, and then established himself as a prac-

ticing physician at Ingersoll, in his native coun-

ty. For more than a quarter of a century Dr.

Scott pursued a successful professional career in

that county. He was one of the leading phy-

sicians of the section, and was for many years

the assistant surgeon of the Great Western Rail-

road; but the labors and exposures attendant

upon his practice finally undermined his health,

and it became necessary that he should seek a

home in a more genial climate. With that ob-

ject in view he came to Southern California in

1887 and located in Riverside, establishing his

office in the Hamilton Block. Dr. Scott has

fixed his residence on Orange 6treet near Four-

teenth street, and has also purchased ten acres

of land in the Wilbur tract, upon which he is

engaging in horticultural pursuits.

He is a skillful physician and surgeon and a

gentleman in the fullest sense of the word, and

is conceded by all to be a desirable acquisition

to the professional circles of Riverside. He
has for years been prominent in fraternal socie-

ties, and is a member of the Masonic order,

Independent Order of Odd Fellows, Ancient

Order of United Workmen, Chosen Friends,

and Ancient Order of Foresters.

The Doctor married Miss Lydia Ann Walker,

a native of Canada. His children are named
Annie Louise and Florence Mildred.

- — '^'K<'= »-

fEORGE R. THAYER, the senior member
of the firm of Thayer & Peters, proprietors

of the Riverside Carriage Company, came

to Riverside in 1879. He first located at No.

386 Magnolia avenue, about five miles south ot

Riverside, and devoted himself to horticultural

pursuits and also purchased a twenty-acre tract

about one mile south of his home place, which

he planted with orange trees and raisin grapee.

He sold that twenty-acre tract to George Craw-

ford in 1883. In addition to his horticultural

interests he sought other means of occupying

his business talents, and in 1886 accepted the

agency of Porter Brothers & Company, of Los

Angeles and San Francisco, in their fruit pack-

ing enterprise in Riverside. In 1887 he sold

his orange grove on Magnolia avenue, and in

November of that year purchased the Riverside

Carriage Works, and in partnership with Will-

iam L. Peters established the firm of Thayer

& Peters. His business house is located on the

south side of Eighth street, between Main and

Orange streets, where the firm have extensive

warerooms and well-appointed repa ; r shops. He
is at the head of one of the largest establish-

ments of its character in San Bernardino Coun-

ty, having branch houses in San Bernardino

and Redlands. The firm have the agency of

some of the most noted carriage works of the

East, among which are the Columbus Buggy
Company, Mitchell Wagon Company, Bain

Wagon Company, Watertown Spring Wagon
Company, and the Hiram W. Davis Company.

Among other agricultural implements and ma-

chinery are to be found the well-known Standard

mowers and rakes. Considerable manufactur-

ing is done by this firm, but by far the largest

portion of their stock is imported from the East.

Mr. Thayer is keenly alive to the business

demands of Riverside and the county, and has

built up a large trade. He is a director and

stockholder of the Colton Marble and Lime
Company, and a liberal supporter of other en-

terprises that have built up Riverside and

vicinity.

Mr. Thayer is a native of Weymouth, Massa-

chusetts, dating his birth in 1840. His father,

Nicholas Thayer, was a native of Maine. Mr.

Thayer was reared and schooled in his native

place, and early in life engaged in mechanical
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pursuits in the shoe factories of his city. Early

in 1862 he entered the military service of his

country as a private in Company H, Thirty-

fifth Massachusetts "Volunteer Infantry. He
participated in the Maryland campaign with the

Army of the Potomac, and was engaged in the

battles of South Mountain and Antietam. In

the latter battle he was wounded, and was for

some months in the military hospitals. His

wounds and ill health unfitted him for further

military service, and in 1863 he received an

honorable discharge. Mr. Thayer then returned

to his home, and for the next twelve years was

engaged in the boot and shoe manufactories,

most of the time as foreman in charge of one

of the several departments. In 1875 he es-

tablished himself in the manufacture of the

Gaff & Feiehman compressed yeast, and built

up a large trade in that industry, which he

conducted until 1879, when he established him-

self in Riverside.

He is a member of the Masonic fraternity,

and also a member of Riverside Lodge, No. 282,

I O. O. F., and Star Encampment, No. 75, of

the same order. He retains his membership in

the Grand Army of the Republic, and is affili-

ated with Reynolds Post, No. 58, of Weymouth,

Massachusetts. Politically he is a stanch Re-

publican. In 1863 Mr. Thayer was united in

marriage with Miss Sarah E. Spear, a native of

Thomaston, Maine.

&^&^

SP.
MORRISON, President of the First

National Bank of Redlands, is a " native

° son of the Golden West," being born in

the city of San Francisco. His father, A. L.

Morrison, came from Ohio in 1854, and was a

successful business man for many years. The
subject of this sketch came to Redlands in 1882.

He had considerable money, and being pleased

with the location, and believing that there was

a bright future for the place, he bought forty

acres of land and put out 300 orange trees the

first year. The improvements he has since

made on this place can be better appreciated

by a visit than by any written description, how-

ever elaborate. No one should visit Redlands

without a drive around Mr. Morrison's home,

and no one will go away without remarking

that it is the most beautiful place in the valley.

His place is supplied with water from Redlands

Company and also Rear Valley certificates. Mr.

Morrison established the bank in 1886. The
officers are: president, F. P. Morrison; cashier,

J. W. Wilson; vice president, A. T. Park.

The directors are Frank Hinckley, G. A. Cook,

George A. Crafts, H. L. Drew and J. S. Ed-

wards. Mr. Morrison is treasurer of the city

council.

f|DGAR JAMES FERRELL, one of San

. Bernardino County's most enterprising

*t and successful business men, was born in

Iowa in 1858, and passed the first sixteen years

of his life in the Hawkeye State. In June,

1874, he came to California, and the first six

years after his arrival worked at the printer's

trade in San Bernardino. Deciding to change

his vocation, he entered the employ of W. R.

Wiggins as a salesman in his grocery. At the

close of two years Mr. Ferrell purchased the

business in 1884, and for four years did an ex-

ceptionally thriving and prosperous business.

He made a specialty of handling none but first-

class goods and built up a trade which probably

ranked the largest in the county at that time.

In the fall of 1888 he sold out and remained

out of business for about six months, then

opened his present fine store at 108 and 110 D
street. Pursuing his former excellent business

methods Mr. Ferrell is rapidly regaining his

very large patronage so worthily won at the old

store. His store is a model of neatness and

order, and with none but the best grades of goods,

both staple and fancy, in stock, and, gentle-

manly treatment always assured to his patrons,

his is one of the most attractive business houses

in the city. His goods are sold for cash or

thirty days' time, and he com mands a large share
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of the most desirable trade of the city and

county. Mr. Ferrell has a fondness for rural

life and is an admirer of fine stock, which taste

he gratifies in the owership of a beautiful ranch

of thirty-five acres a short distance south of San

Bernardino, and which is admirably adapted to

grazing and deciduous fruits and berries, for

which he has been offered $17,500. Three fine

artesian wells furnish an abundant water supply

for the place. Mr. Ferrell and his amiable wife

reside out on their rancho, enjoying the rare

luxury of country Hie in the beautiful San Ber-

nardino valley. Mrs. Ferrell is a native of

California and the daughter of the late Richard

Varley, from Lancashire, England, and a prom-

inent contractor and builder in San Bernardino.

.-.,? .
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(ARLOS C. SHERMAN, M. D., is one

of Riverside's prominent and successful

jysicians. Although not a pioneer, he

been a resident of the city during the

years of her greatest growth and prosperity,

and the position he has occupied in her pro-

fessional and social circles well entitles him

to mention in the annals of the city.

Dr. Sherman is a native of New York, and

was born in Washington County, in 1847. In

1852 his parents moved to Michigan and settled

in Eaton County. His father was a farmer by

occupation and in this world's goods was a poor

man. Dr. Sherman was reared on the farm of*

his father, and from his early boyhood schooled

to hard labor. His education was such as could

be obtained in attendance at the district schools

in the winter months; he was quick to learn

and ambitious and advanced rapidly in his

studies. Upon the breaking out of the civil

war his patriotism was aroused and he endeav-

ored to enter the military service. Upon his

repeated trials at enlistment he was rejected on

account of his age, but finally, in 1863, when

but a boy of sixteen years, he succeeded in his

ardent desires and was mustered in as a private

of Company C, Sixth Regiment of Michigan

Heavy Artillery. His regiment was assigned

to duty in the Department of the Gulf. The

Doctor was faithful in his service, which was

continued until he was prostrated by disease,

and rendered unfit for further military duty.

In 1864 he was honorably discharged and re-

turned to his home. As soon as he had recovered

his health, he abandoned the farm and com-

menced work as a carpenter; he made rapid

progress iu that trade and spent the next ten

years as a carpenter and builder. During that

time he was securing an education, devoting all

his spare time to study. His natural inclination

led him into medical studies, and in 1874 he

commenced a course of study in the Hahnemann

Medical College at Chicago. After some years

of study he entered upon the practice of medi-

cine in Ingham County, Michigan. He was

successful in his practice, but not satisfied he

again entered the Hahnemann College and

graduated from that institution in 1884, after

which he returned to his practice and continued

it until 1886. In that year he decided to seek

a home in California, and in August located iu

Riverside. Upon his arrival he associated him-

self with Dr. Way, and entered a successful pro-

fessional life. At a later date he moved his

office to the Oppenheimer block. In 1887 he

purchased a ten-acre tract at Rial to and has

devoted some attention to horticulture. Among
his improvements in that land are five acres of

oranges and five acres of raisin grapes. He is

also the owner of business and residence lots in

Riverside. The Doctor's success in life is cred-

itable and commends him to the respect and

esteem of his associates. He is self-made and

self-educated; a mau of untiring energy, devot-

ing many years of his manhood to study, that

he might attain a position in the professional

world that the result has shown he is so well

fitted to adorn. Besides his unquestioned pro-

fessional skill he is a gentleman of kind and

genial disposition and courteous manner, that

gain him sincere friends in whatever community

his lut is cast. It is safe to say that Dr. Sher-

man will always be found identified with the
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best interests, professional, social and political,

of Riverside. He is a member of the Methodist

Church of Riverside. In politics he is a con-

sistent Republican, of the fraternal societies and

is a prominent member in the Odd Fellows lodge.

He is a member of Riverside Lodge, No. 282, Star

Encampment, No. 73, and Canton Sherman, No.

25, of Riverside. He is a charter member and

was prominent in establishing the canton which

bears his name. He is also a member of Riv-

erside Post, No. 118, Grand Army of the Re-

public. Dr. Sherman married in 1884, wedding

Miss Ida Moulton, a native of Michigan. No
children have blessed this union.

#*<»•**

fAPTAIN LYMAN C. WAITE is one of

the pioneers of Riverside. His associa-

tion with the foundation of the colony, the

establishment of schools, churches, horticultural

industries, banking, and other incorporations,

commenced in the infancy of the colony, and

his various enterprises, both public and private,

have been conducted by that sound sense, trained

business principles, and honest, straightforward

dealings that are characteristic of the man. The

facts obtained for a brief review of his life are

of interest. Captain Waite was born in Wal-

worth County, Wisconsin, in 1844. His parents,

Sydney and Parmelia (Barker) Waite, were

natives of western New York. They were

pioneers of Wisconsin, having established

themselves in that State as early as 1836 or

1837. His father was a farmer by occupation,

and during Captain Waite's boyhood was a

resident of Sheboygan Falls, Fond du Lac and

Appleton. The subject of this sketch was

reared to farm life, and being of a studious dis-

position was given the best advantages the

public schools afforded in securing an educa-

tion. In 1860 he entered upon a course of

study in the Lawrence University at Appleton.

The war of the Rebellion and the call upon

the nation's sons to rally to the support of the

old flag, and preserve our country from seces-

sion rule, enlisted the patriotic sympathy of

young Waite, and he abandoned his college

studies and promptly entered the service of his

stricken nation. In 1862 he enlisted as a pri-

vate in Company D, Twenty-first Regiment

Wisconsin Volunteers, commanded by Colonel

Benjamin J. Sweet. Captain Waite's military

life and actions were highly creditable and hon-

orable, and form one of the many distinguished

personal histories of that memorable war. Al-

though but eighteen years of age, he entered

heartily into the contest; his attention to duty,

soldierly bearing and conspicuous bravery upon

the held of battle gained him rapid promotion,

and he rose through the successive non-com-

missioned grades to a Lieutenancy, and then

won his Captain's commission. His regiment

was attached to the First Brigade, First Divis-

ion of the Fourteenth Army Corps, in the Army
of the Cumberland, and took a prominent part

in the severest campaigns and hardest fought

battles of the Southwest, under the command
of such gallant Generals as Grant, Sherman.

Thomas, Rosecrans and Buell. Captain Waite,

during his military service, was engaged in no

less than forty-two battles and skirmishes,

among which were the battles of Perryville,

Stone River, Chattanooga, Murfreesboro, Chick-

amauga, Lookout Mountain, Missionary Ridge,

Atlanta, and many others that are recorded in

the history of the nation, terminating with

Sherman's march to the sea and the final battle

of his array at Bentonville, North Carolina.

The history of his regiment forms a bloody

chapter in the annals of the war. Their losses

in action were noticeably severe. One year after

their entry into the service the regiment mus-

tered but forty-two men for duty, and was com-

manded by a captain! His own company could

muster only five enlisted men and two officers!

The last two were on detached service, or it is

doubtful if they would have been mustered

among the living. At the close of the war

Captain Waite received an honorable discharge,

and returned to his home in Wisconsin.

He then re-entered the Lawrence University
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and completed his educational course of study,

graduating three years later. He was then

engaged as a teacher in the public schools. In

1869 he located in Belle Plain, Iowa, and was

principal of the graded schools of that town.

In 1870 he entered the law office of Clark &
Tewksbery, and in October of the same year

was admitted to the bar at Toledo, Tama County.

After a few weeks of practice in his profession,

he decided to seek a home in California, and on

December 8, 1870, he came to the Kiverside

colony. His capital was nothing; he had only

$50 in money, but he was possessed of a ripe

scholarship, sound practical knowledge, and an

unbounded stock of energy and perseverance.

In January he was admitted to the bar of San

Bernardino County, and opened an office in

Riverside. He was the first Justice of the

Peace elected in the colony, and held the first

notarial appointment made for Riverside. He
held these offices for four years. In 1872 and

1873 he taught the public school in Riverside;

he also during these years engaged in horti-

cultural pursuits, and laid the foundation for

the wealth he has since acquired. He first pur-

chased a ten-acre tract (No. 25), and in 1872

established his first nursery, the pioneer nursery

industry of the colony. In 1874 he purchased

the fifteen acres on the north and east of his

tract. He fully improved his lands, planting

largely in orange trees. In 1876 he sold twelve

and one-half acres of his land to Dr. Shugart,

and in 1883 sold the balance of his original

twenty-five acres. In May, 1884, Captain Waite

purchased the two-and-one- half-acre block be-

tween Mulberry and Lime and First and Second

streets, and erected his cottage home. This

block of land is planted in oranges, and under

his skillful care and attention is one of the most

pruductive in Riverside, giving an average yield

of $1,200 per year, and increasing with the age

of his trees. But it is as a nurseryman that

Captain Waite has gained his greatest laurels

in the horticultural field. He has devoted years

of study and research in that calling, and has

produced some of the finest trees in the world.

The Sweet Stock Nurseries, Waite & Simms,

proprietors, were established in 1887, and at

this writing (1889) contain 60,000 budded

trees and 60,000 seedlings. The character of

these trees is unexcelled, if equaled, by any

in the State. The nursery occupies twenty

acres of land east of Riverside, that is owned

by Captain Waite. He also has a forty-acre

tract at Highland, with a nursery stock of 50,-

000 trees. This is one of the finest and most

valuable young orange groves in San Bernardino

County. He is bound to make it the repre-

sentative and model grove of the State. Al-

though but two years old in 1889, it is valued

by would-be purchasers at $1,000 per acre, and

this, too, not for speculative purposes, but as an

investment in the orange-growirg industry.

Captain Waite has not confined his talents to

horticultural pursuits alone, but is identified

with many of the leading business enterprises

that have had such an effect in developing the

resources and building up Riverside and the

country. He is an original incorporator and

president of the North Pork Water Company,

with a capital stock of $400,000; vice-president

and original incorporator of the First National

Bank of Riverside; vice-president of the East

Riverside Water Company; formerly a director

of Riverside Water Company, and of the Orange

Growers' Association, and associated with other

incorporations of lesser note as a subscriber and

stockholder. He has for years been one of the

active business men of Riverside, ever ready

with his support in any enterprise that redounds

to the credit of his chosen city. Riverside is

indebted to the efforts of such men as Captain

Waite for the prominence she has assumed in

Southern California, and he is well deserving

of the competency he has honestly gained. Cap-

tain Waite is a member of Riverside Post, No.

118, O. A. R.

The first marriage ceremony ever enacted in

Riverside was by the Rev. 1. W. Atherton, as

the officiating clergyman, April 5, 1872. The

bride and groom were Miss Lillian M. Shugart,

the only daughter of Dr. K. D. Shugart, and
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Captain AVaite. From this marriage four chil-

dren have been born, three of whom are living,

viz.: Marion P., Charles E. and Lillian Martha.

The first child, Lyman S., died in 1876, at the

age of two years and eight months.

TLLIAM STUDABECKER was born in

Allen County, Indiana, in 1851; he is

the son of David and Elizabeth (Wilt)

Studabecker. His father was a native of Penn-

sylvania and his mother of Maine. When Mr.

Studabecker was two years of age his father

moved the family to Van Wert County, Ohio, and

there engaged in farming until his death in

1858. The subject of this sketch was reared to

the labor attending a life upon a farm, and after

tlie age of ten years was deprived of any school-

ing facilities; at twenty years of age he learned

the shoemaker's trade and followed that calling

until 1873. In that year he came to California

and located at Gait, Sacramento County Here

Mr. Studabecker worked at his trade and other

occupations until 1876, and then came to San

Luis Obispo, where he remained until 1881, and

then located at Santa Barbara, where he was em-

ployed by Emerson & Co., in their boot and shoe

store until 1883, when lie came to San Ber-

nardino County. Shortly after his arrival in

the county he settled in Riverside, and in part-

nership with his brother, John A. Studabecker,

commenced the publication of the Valley Echo.

They sold out this journal in April, 1884, and

Mr. Studabecker then went to Los Angeles and

established the Commercial Printing House,

which he conducted until sickness compelled

him to suspend his business labors. In May,

1885 he sold out his business and returned to

Riverside, and after a partial recovery of his

health again entered the newspaper business, in

connection with his old paper, the Valley Echo,

with which he was associated until its sale in

January, 1886. October 13, 1886, Mr. Studa-

becker took charge of the publication of the

Daily Enterprise, and conducted the same until

January, 1887, when he purchased the paper

and printing office and has since conducted its

publication as the sole proprietor.

Mr. Studabecker is a self-educated and self-

made man; one who has acquired a practical

knowledge that has enabled him to engage in

pursuits of life above that of his trade. He
belongs to the Democratic party, but is conserv-

ative and liberal in his views. He is a member
of Chorro Lodge, No. 168, I. O. O. F., of San

Luis Obispo. February, 1888, he married Miss

Claudina L. Wood, daughter of Thomas J.

Wood (a sketch of whom appears in this vol-

ume). They have but one child, Hale A.

fAMES FLEMING, a prominent lumber

manufacturer and dealer at San Bernardino,

came from Canada to San Bernardino Coun-

ty, California, in June, 1880, with the intention

of spending a year on the Pacific coast and then

returning to the British Dominions; but, beini-

highly pleased with the country and climate and

favorably impressed with the prospective future

of Southern California, he has passed ten pleas-

ant and prosperous years in the county for which

he has formed such an attachment, and has ac-

quired such extensive business and property

interests that his permanent residence is assured.

For several years after his arrival he was engaged

in various vocations, a portion of the time as

salesman in a store. In 1886 he started in the

milling and lumber business with his uncle, W.
S. Lapraix, and upon the accidental death of the

latter in May, 1887, by injury received at the

mill in the mountains, Mr. Fleming assumed

entire control of the business as executor and

principal legatee of his uncle's estate, and has

carried it on ever since. This estate owns 1,700

acres of timber on the mountains north of the

city, where their saw-mill is located, which Mr.

Fleming estimates will require ten to twelve

years to exhaust at the present rate of consump-

tion: 600,000 to 1,000,000 feet per annum. Mr.

Fleming's lumber yard is situated on the corner
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of E and Fourth streets in San Bernardino,

where the product of the mill is kept in stock

and sold, the chief market being San Bernardino

County, though some of it is shipped to San

Diego and Los Angeles counties. The timber,

which consists of mountain and sugar pine and

cedar, is cut into all classes of building lumber,

of which about 500,000 feet is kept in stock

in the yard. The cost of the lumber cut at the

mill is $5 to $6 per 1,000 feet; and the cost of

freighting down from the mountains to the city,

a distance of some fourteen miles, is $6.50 to $8

per 1,000 feet. This hauling is done by large

six-horse (or mule) teams, on immense lumber

wagons, which carry from 3,000 to 4,000 feet

at a load. Mr. Fleming's uncle, Mr. Lapraix,

was one of the pioneers in developing the mount-

ain-lumber business, and was one of the build-

ers of the mountain toll-road, and a stockholder

in it at the time of his death. Mr. Fleming

was born in Canada in 1857, and resided there

until he came to California. He is recognized

as one of the representative and successful busi-

ness men of the county. Besides his extensive

milling and lumber interests, he owns a fine

tract of very choice citrus fruit land in High-

lands of great value.

^M3^-»^=i

fOSEPH E. SHIELDS, of Riverside, was

born in Cook County, Illinois, in 1853.

His parents were James and Honore

(Ward) Shields. His father was a native of

Indiana and his mother of New York. In

1855 his father came with his family to Cali-

fornia and located iu Sierra County. He was

a civil engineer by occupation and engaged in

mining enterprises. At a later day he moved

to Yuba County, where he engaged in farming,

and in 1861 settled at Marysville. Mr. Shields

was reared and schooled in that city, graduating

at the high school. After graduating he en-

gaged in work on his father's ranch, which was

located in Yuba County. In 1875 he established

a meat market and livery stable near Marysville

and conducted them until 1876. For the next

four years Mr. Shields was engaged in various

pursuits until he entered the service of the Cen-

tral Pacific Railroad Company. He entered that

employ as a laborer, but his abilities and strict

attention to his work soon gained him promotion

and he was given positions of trust and respons-

ibility. He was for many years a clerk in the

shipping department. In 1885 his health com-

pelled him to seek some other occupation and he

came to San Bernardino County and located at

Riverside. He first opened a meat market and

was in that business until 1887. He then be-

came associated with the Riverside Daily En-
terprise as a reporter, and later, in the same

connection with the Riverside Chronicle. In

June, 1888, he accepted the position as editor

of the Riverside Enterprise, and has held that

position to the present time. Mr. Shields is an

enterprising, self made man, and has risen to his

various positions by his own exertions. In po-

litical matters he is a Republican, and has

always taken a deep interest in the political

questions of the day. He is a member of Ori-

ental Lodge, No. 45, I. O. O. F., of Marysville,

and of Red Cloud Tribe, No. 4, 1. O. R. M.,of

Sacramento. In 1879 he married Miss Josie

Labadie, a native of California. Her father,

Anthony P. N. Labadie, was a native of Canada.

They have three children: Edward E., Elsie T.

and Mabel.

ILLIAM J. GUTHRIE, one of San Ber-

nardino's brightest and most successful

business men, was born in Detroit,

Michigan, and was there brought up and edu-

cated, and started out in life as an employe in

a mercantile agency, where he obtained a

thorough knowledge of business customs and

methods. His connection with that branch of

business continued for years, during which time

he rose from a reporter to joint partner in the

McKillop Mercantile Agency. In 1878 he

came to California and spent a year in the Ohio
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valley, Ventura County, when he was made su-

perintendent of the Dunn Mercantile Agency at

Denver, Colorado. At the end of two years he

resigned that position to return to Ventura

County and engage in private business. A year

later, in 1882, he came to San Bernardino, and,

in partnership with a Mr. Gilbert, opened a

grocery and crockery store combined. In 1884

they closed out the grocery feature and Mr.

Gilbert retired from the firm, leaving Mr. Guth-

rie sole proprietor of the crockery business,

which he conducted prosperously until Novem-

ber, 1889, and then sold out, retiring tempo-

rarily from active business. His was the only

exclusively crockery-house in the city, and he

carried a large stock of high grade and common
wares, in which he had a line trade. Mr. Guth-

rie owns 160 acres of valuable land, on the

Colton terrace, on which is an eight-acre orange

grove just coming into bearing. He has scarcely

reached the high noon of life, and, with his ac-

tive mental temperament and his superior busi-

ness training, a future of bright promise awaits

him.

^+3-^-

fAMES PORTER GREVES, M. D., de-

ceased, was familiarly known as the " Father

of Riverside," and well he deserved the

title. He was the real founder of the Colony

Association, the first to visit and select the

land, and the first to occupy them, camping

upon the desert plain now occupied by the city

of Riverside, September 19, 1870. For nearly

twenty years his life and life's efforts were inti-

mately interwoven with the history of Riverside

and the colony. No man in the community was

better known or more universally respected and

esteemed than he. His death was sincerely

mourned and left many an aching heart among
his old friends and associates. Dr. Greves was

born in Skaneateles, Onondaga County, New
York, September 6, 1810. When a youth he

was apprenticed to a printer in Utica, New York,

and served four years. In 1828 he began the

study of medicine under the tutorship of Dr.

Batchelor, a well-known physician of that city,

and at the age of twenty-one graduated from the

Fairfield Medical College, and commenced the

practice of his profession. In 1833 he marred
Miss Helen Sandford, a native of Ovid, New
York, and moved to Marshall, Michigan; there

he followed his profession until the summer of

1845, when he removed to Milwaukee, and fol-

lowed his profession there until 1859; then he

went to St. Louis. Late in the fall he went to

New Orleans, and spent the winter of 1859-'60;

thence to Baton Rouge, with his brother, Sam-

uel P. Greves, a lawyer, where he remained

until June, 1860; thence to New York city.

He remained there until March, 1862, when he

went to Beaufort, South Carolina, in the employ

of the Government, having charge of the sick

of the colored race, until August of the same

year, when his health failed, and he returned to

New York. His health not improving, he sailed,

in October, via Nicaragua route, to San Fran-

cisco, and went thence to Virginia City; in

January, 1863, to Reese river, and stayed there

until April, 1864. During his residence in

Nevada the Doctor was engaged in mining en-

terprises and compiled one of the most valuable

abstracts of titles of mines of the Reese river

district ever published. His health being much
improved he returned to New York, and lived

there until he located in Washington, in 1867.

From there he went to Knoxville, Tennessee, in

1869, where he was engaged as the general

agent of the Equitable Life Insurance Company,

of New York. During all this time he was in

pursuit of health.

On leaving New York, he and Judge J. W.
North conceived the idea of a colony in South-

ern California. He spent the winter of 1869-'70

in Marshall, Michigan, where he got up an ex-

cursion trip to California in April, 1870, com-

posed of nearly 100 persons. Judge North, Dr.

Sandford Eastman and wife, E. G. Brown, A.

J. Twogood and Dr. Greves proceeded direct to

Los Angeles and explored that region for a suit-

able location of a colony. Not being satisfied,
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E. G. Brown and Dr. Graves visited the present

site of Riverside, and being pleased, induced

Judge North also to examine it. This was the

24th of June, 1870. Negotiations were com-

menced for the purchase of about 8,000 acres of

land from T. W. Cover and others, and was con-

cluded September 13, 1870, and on the 19th of

the same month Judge North and Dr. G-reves

arrived on the ground, and camped in theopen air

west of the present location of Burt Bros.' store.

Having found the long-sought for health

rescrt, the Doctor turned his attention to fruit-

growing, and was one of the first to enter into

horticultural pursuits. He purchased and occu-

pied a two and one- half acre tract on Orange

street, between Tenth and Eleventh streets, and

also fifteen acres of land two miles south of

town. He was successful in his enterprise and

the sale of his lands eventually secured him a

modest competency. He was the secretary of

the Southern California Colony Association for

the first five years of its existence, and was

identified personally with the establishment of

the colony, survey aud sale of the lands, and

perfecting its admirable system of irrigation.

He was the first Postmaster ever appointed in

Riverside, receiving his appointment in Sep-

tember, 1871. He filled that office until De-

cember, 1881. For eleven years, from 1875 to

1886, he was Notary Public. He was also a mem-
ber of the first Board of City Trustees elected in

the city. In political matters he was a strong

Republican.

The Doctor conducted his business enter-

prises until 1887, and was then compelled on

account of ill health to retire from active pur-

suits. His life was always characterized by

public spirit and liberality, ever foremost in

anything for the public welfare—ready to spend

and be spent for the public good. In private

he ever lent a helping hand to the poor and

needy, " never letting his right hand know what

his left hand did;" and if such actions can be

accounted as laying up " treasures above," then

to-day he is rich indeed. In his private life he

was singularly free from animosity. No matter

how he had been treated he had no ill-feeling in

the matter. It was his nature to speak kindly

to every one. Dr. Greves died in Riverside,

September 25, 1889. He left a wife and two

sons,—James S. and Lewis S. Greves, who are

established in business New York city, and two

sisters,—Mrs. A. McCallum and Mrs. Clark,

who reside in Marshall, Michigan, and one

brother, Samuel P. Greves, of Baton Rouge,

Louisiana, to mourn his death.

fETER SUMAN, one of the most success-

ful horticulturists of Riverside, came to

this place in December, 1880, and estab-

lished his residence on Vine street, between

Second and Third streets, purchasing the two

and one-half acre block. In the spring of 1881

he bought a ten-acre tract on the west side of

Brockton avenue, about a mile south of the busi-

ness center of Riverside, and since that date

has devoted himself to horticultural pursuits.

In 1885 he erected a substantial and well-or-

dered cottage residence upon this place, and

has since occupied it with his family. His

orange grove is a noticeably fine one and well

worthy of mention as a representative place.

He has four acres of seedling orange trees,

nineteen years old, and from twenty- two to

twenty-five feet in height, with strong body and

spreading branches, trees forming a head nearly

twenty feet in diameter. As an illustration of

the yield from these four acres, the amounts re-

ceived from the sale of oranges during the past

four years is given: In 1885, $1,300; in 1886,

$900; in 1887, $1,350, and in 1888, $1,400.

This is an average of over $300 per acre for a

series of years. In addition to his seedlings

there are 230 Mediterranean Sweets, 150 Wash-

ington Navels and 60 Australian Navels and St.

Michaels in his grove,— all remarkably fine

trees, but varying in age from two years old to

those in good bearing. He also has lemon and

deciduous fruit trees, such as are required for

family ii6e.
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Mr. Suman makes orange-growing a study,

constantly experimenting in budding, prun-

ing, fertilizing, etc, and rarely makes a mis-

take; but his success is a matter of comment in

horticultural circles. He brought to his new

calling as an orange-grower sound business

principles and habits of inquiry and research

acquired by a long and varied business in the

East. These, with a natural love of horticult-

ure, have insured his success.

Mr. Suman was born in Madison County, In-

diana, October 29, 1832. His father, John

Suman, was a native of Maryland, aDd was

among the early settlers of Indiana. His

mother was Elizabeth Van Matre, a native of

Ohio. Mr. Suman was reared and schooled in

his native place until nineteen years of age;

then located in Delaware County, and for the

next twenty years was actively engaged as a

farmer, mill owner and merchant. In 1870 he

retired from his active business pursuits and

established his residence in the town of Dale-

ville, in the same county. He was prominently

connected with the interests of that section,

holding a directorship in many incorporated en-

terprises, and was also trustee in town and dis-

trict councils In 1880, desirous of a more

genial climate, he visited Southern California

and selected Riverside for his future residence.

Mr. Suman has for many years been a mem-
ber of the Church of the United Brethren in

Christ. In political matters he is a Democrat,

but is conservative and liberal in his views. He
is a strong supporter of the Prohibition move-

ment. Mr. Suman wedded Miss May J. Pugs-

ley, a native of Delaware County, Indiana, born

in 1854. The only child living from this mar-

riage is their daughter Ida Belle.

&&&-&

fTIS T. DYER.—No historical work claim-

ing to be a true record of the growth and

prosperity of Riverside for the decade of

years preceding 1890, and claiming to record the

establishment of many enterprises, industries

and incorporations that have been the leading

factor in placing her in the ranks of the leading

cities and colonies of Southern California, could

be considered as anything but glaringly incom-

plete without a more than passing mention of

the gentleman whose name heads this sketch.

His association and connection with Riverside's

leading enterprises form an interesting chapter

in the annals of the city and county. Mr. Dyer's

life, since Riverside received its first impetus,

has been closely interwoven with every import-

ant enterprise or movement that tended to bene-

fit the city and add to the welfare and prosperity

of the community. The few facts obtained re-

lating to his life and successful career are of

interest. He was born in Portage, Genesee

County, New York, in 18M. His parents were

Leman W. and Philena (Green) Dyer. His

father was a native of the Green Mountain

State, and was a mechanic, a marble and granite

worker by calling. When the subject of this

sketch was four years of age his father moved

to New London, Connecticut, and it was there

where young Dj>er received his early education,

in the public schools. In the winter of 1857-

'58, his father becoming dissatisfied with his

success in the East, moved to Illinois, where he

located in Stark County. The family were

commencing to get settled and accustomed to

their new home, and everything progressing in

an even tenor, when the father, in obedience to

the Divine will, departed this earthly sphere,

leaving a wife and six children,—three boys and

three girls. Mr. Dyer then abandoned all pros-

pect of further schooling and engaged as an

apprentice at the blacksmith's trade. He toiled

arduously and advanced rapidly in mastering

the details of his calling. Then came the clouds

of war and the call of his stricken country for

the aid of her patriotic sons in saving a nation's

honor. The call was not in vain. Thousands

abandoned their quiet and peaceful pursuits and

offered their lives,— should the Goddess of

Battle so decree,— as a sacrifice that the glori-

ous Union might be preserved, and but one flag

wave over the nation. Mr. Dyer was one of
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those volunteers. In 1863 he enlisted for mili-

tary service in the One Hundred and Thirty-

ninth Illinois Volunteer Infantry, and served

his term of 100 days, after which he re-enlisted

in Company B, Thirty-third Regiment Illinois

Volunteer Infantry, under command of Captain

C. J. Gill (now a prominent physician of River-

side), and later under Captain N. G. Gill. He
fought faithfully for his country and was en-

gaged in several of the severely contested battles

which chronicled signal victory for the cause of

the Union, besides a number of minor engage-

ments. His regiment was assigned to duty in

the Department of the Gulf, under command of

Generals Canby and A. J. Smith, and partici-

pated in the siege of Mobile and the capture of

Fort Blakeley,—the last battle of the great war.

At the close of the war in 1865 he was honor-

ably discharged and returned to Illinois. He
first established himself in business at his trade

in Toulon. His health had been greatly im-

paired during his army service, and he was un-

able to undergo severe manual labor. He there-

fore sought other occupations and established a

hardware store at Wyoming, Stark County, Illi-

nois. In 1869 he entered the banking-house of

A. B. Miner & Co., as a clerk. Of a quick and

active mind, bold to conceive and prompt to

execute, he seemed born for a banker. He rose

rapidly from clerk to cashier, and from cashier

to general manager. In 1876 he organized the

Farmers' Bank of Wyoming, which he conducted

until his severe labors had so broken his health

that it became an absolute necessity that he sus-

pend his efforts and seek a change of climate.

His banking experience in Illinois was one of

unqualified success, and the institutions under

his admirable management ranked as second to

none in the county. In 1880 he came to the

Pacific slope, and after considerable search for a

desirable place to open up a banking business,

he settled upon Riverside as the most eligible

location, and opened up the Dyer Bros.' Bank,

with a capital of $30,000. In this enterprise

he was associated with his brother, W. II. Dyer.

In 1885, desiring to enlarge his operations, he

sought the support of the Riverside capitalists.

It was promptly accorded, and the Riverside

Banking Company whs organized. (A history

of this company is included in this volume.)

Mr. Dyer was elected a director of the bank and

promptly placed at the head of its affairs as

general manager. . The bank, under his manage-

ment ranks as the soundest moneyed institu-

tion in San Bernardino County. He is also an

original incorporator and director of the First

National Bank of San Bernardino. Mr. Dyer

was one of the first movers in the incorporation

of the city, during the time when the discussion

as to the advisability of incorporating was rife,

and he was foremost in the organization of the

Citizens' Water Company, which never ceased

its endeavors for two years to arbitrate the

differences between the old Irrigation Company

and the people, and he wa6 afterward elected a

member of the board of directors of the River-

side Water Company which succeeded the old

Irrigation Company in interests. He was

elected treasurer of the water company, and was

instrumental in placing its bonds and conduct-

ing its financial affairs. He was also chosen to

represent the water company on the board of

directors of the Riverside Land Company. He
was one of. the original incorporators of the

Riverside & Arlington Railway and the Califor-

nia Marble and Building Stone Company, and

was one of the first to place the products of the

Slover Mountain marble quarries before the peo-

ple of the Pacific coast, and add another source

of wealth to San Bernardino County. Politically

he is a strong Republican, and may always be

found allied with the best elements of that party.

In religious worship, Mr. Dyer is a Baptist. He

is a hearty supporter and advocate of churches

of the different Christian denominations, and

has for a number of years been superintendent

of the Baptist Sunday-6chool and a trustee of

the church. He is a strong supporter of the

fraternal societies, and is a member of the

Masonic lodge, chapter and commandery of

Riverside, also the Odd Fellows lodge and en-

campment, lodge and Uniform Rank Knights
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of Pythias, and Riverside Post, No. 118, G. A. R.

Mr. Dyer has large real-estate interests in River-

side and other sections of the county. His

different tracts at this writing, under successful

cultivation in the valley, will aggregate 160

acres, about equally divided between oranges,

grapes and deciduous fruits. His residence,

which is on Main street, between Eleventh and

Twelfth streets, in the second block below the

bank building, is a model of neatness and beauty.

A passerby cannot but be struck by the care and

taste displayed in the trimming and arrange-

ment of the thick cypress hedges which sur-

round the house. His home, embowered in

orange trees and adorned with all the beauty

which the combined powers of nature and art

can devise, looks the embodiment of comfort

and domestic felicity. Mr. Dyer's family con-

sisting of his estimable wife, nee Miss Mary

Weed, whom he married in Neponset, Illinois,

in 1870, and four children, viz.: Fannie E.,

Leman W., Gracie G. and Mary J.

^€B-^#
HOMAS JEFFERSON WOOD is one of

the earliest pioneers of Riverside and has

been identified with Riverside city and

colony since, and even before, the first soil

was turned, or the first nail was driven in

the building improvements. In 1870 Mr.

Wood was living near San Bernardino, en-

gaged in farming, and also at his trade as a car-

penter and builder. In September of that year

at the solicitation of Judge North and Dr.

Greves he came to the lands now occupied by

Riverside and erected the first building ever

built upon the Riverside colony lands. This

building was the office of the Southern Cali-

fornia Colony Association and was occupied by

Judge North, the president, and Dr. Greves,

the secretary, of the association. Mr. Wood
was made acquainted with the projects of the

colony association, and early saw the possibili-

ties of the future and became a warm supporter

of the scheme. He purchased a block of land

between Sixth and Vine and Mulberry streets.

Upon this block, at the corner of Seventh and

Vine streets, he built his residence. This was

the first home established in Riverside. Octo-

ber 28, 1870, Mr. Wood installed his family in

his new home. Mrs. Wood was the first white

woman to reside in Riverside and her advent

was not allowed to pass without a fitting recep-

tion. Welcoming speeches were made and a

cordial reception extended by the gentlemen

present, among whom was the Rev. Mr. Higbie,

who indulged in depicting the glorious future

that, awaited the colony, saying, " within fifteen

years the iron-horse will be plowing through

the valley, and Riverside will be furnishing the

Eastern States with oranges." How little of

those present realized what wonderful changes

were to be wrought, even in less time than

predicted by Mr. Higbie. Mr. Wood from the

very first took a deep interest in the growth

and prosperity of his chosen colony. He was

engaged in building and there were few of the

first cottages erected that were not the work of

his hands. He identified himself with all en-

terprises that tended to establish the colony on

a 6ound basis and advance the welfare of the

settlers. He was the first school trustee of the

district, receiving his appointment from the

board of supervisors of the county, and at the

first election held was unanimously elected to

succeed himself in that responsible position.

He was the principal mover in establishing the

first school and erecting the first school-house

in Riverside, and contributed liberally toward

the establishing of churches, etc. Mr. Wood
was energetic and progressive and fully im-

proved his land, planting some of the first orna-

mental trees in Riverside and also citrus and

deciduous fruit trees and vines. A thoroughly

practical man, of sound business principles, he

was employed by the colony association as a

foreman, and superintendent in the construction

of the canals by which the colony lands were

irrigated. A large portion of what is known

as the upper canal was constructed under his

supervision. Mr. Wood kept pace with the
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advance of Eiverside, and has done much

toward building up the city. Among the most

noticeable of his buildings is the Wood block, a

fine three-6tory brick building 46 x 72 feet, on the

east side of Orange street, near the corner of

Eighth street, which is one of the most sub-

stantial buildings in the city, erected in 1887;

two commodious and well ordered stores,

20 x 40 feet, occupying the lower story, between

which is a broad entrance and stairway to the

upper stories, which are arranged with well

lighted rooms for offices and lodgers. Upon

the south side of the building are broad porti

cos extending the whole length of the block,

that give to the inmates the advantages of the

outdoor air without descending to the ground

floor. Just north of this block, Mr. Wood has

his residence, which is a substantial one-and-a-

half story brick cottage, surrounded by well

ordered grounds.

Mr. Wood was born in Spartansburg, South

Carolina, February 20, 1830. His parents were

Captain Coleman C. and Clarissa (Boinar) Wood,

both natives of that State, and descendants of

old colonial families. His father was a veteran

of the war of 1812. His mother was a daugh-

ter of Rev. Thomas Bomar, a prominent divine,

well known throughout South Carolina. Mr.

Wood's father was a planter by occupation and

largely engaged in agricultural pursuits. In

1844 he moved his family to Georgia and set-

tled in Cass County, about eighty miles north

of Atlanta, where he resided until 1848, and

then located in Poinsett County, Arkansas, and

later to Greene County in the same State, where

he resided until his death, in 1857. He was

largely engaged in farming, stock-raising and

land speculations. Mr. Wood was raised to

agricultural pursuits, and also learned the trade

of a carpenter. In 1850, when twenty years of

age, he started in life on his own account. He

left the parental roof and spent the next five

years in various places in Texas, Louisiana and

Mississippi. Jn 1855 he decided to seek his

fortunes in the El Dorado of the West (Cali-

fornia), and in May of that year left Westport,

now Kansas City, Missonri, with a party of

forty-one others, for a trip across the plains.

With the exception of several skirmishes with

roving bands of Indians, the monotony of the

long journey was only relieved by the labors

and hardships incident to the overland trip of

that day. In September, 1850, Mr. Wood ar-

rived in Colusa County, where he spent a year

in mining and other occupations and then, in

connection with Thomas Etzler, took up, or lo-

cated upon 160 acres of land, of the Thomas

O. Larkin grant. The grant was confirmed, but

Mr. Wood could not conform to the demands

of Mr. Larkin. He therefore abandoned his

improvements and located at Red Bluff, Tehama

County, and there entered the hotel business,

and was at one time the proprietor of the well-

known and famous old Eagle Hotel. He also

established himself in the dairy business and

other enterprises. He was successful in some

of his industries and unfortunate in others, and

in 1860 he gathered his little capital together

and went to Mendocino County, and there es-

tablished himself in the stock business. In

1864 the mining excitement in Eastern Oregon

was at its height, and Mr. Wood sought his

fortune in that section. He followed the life

of a miner for about a year and was successful

in his operations. He then established a hotel

at Marysville, near Canon City, investing nearly

all his capital in that enterprise. In June,

1865, a flood occurred throughout that cou"try;

his hotel &nd property were swept away, and he

was financially ruined, having lost everything

buta few hundred dollars that he had on his

person. Mr. Wood then made quite an exten-

sive prospecting trip through Washington Ter-

ritory, hut not suited with his discoveries he

came to San Francisco, and in the fall of 1865,

located in Santa Clara County, working at his

trade and other pursuits until December, 1866.

He then came to San Bernardino County and lo-

cated upon a farm about one and one-half miles

north of the court-house. He resided there

until he established himself in Riverside.

In October, 1868, Mr. Wood married Miss
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Susan Rhyne, a native of Virginia. She is the

daughter of Isaac and Phcebe (Nesbitt) Rhyne,

also natives of that State. From this marriage

there are three children, viz.: Claudina L., now

Mrs. William Studabecker, of Riverside; Min-

nie B and J. Shirley.

Mr. Wood is well known in the community

with which he has been so prominently identi-

fied. His straightforward and consistent course

of life has gained him a large circle of warm

friends. In political affairs he is a consistent

Democrat, and takes a deep interest in the suc-

cess of his party and principles. As a worker

in its ranks he has often served as a delegate to

conventions, and as a member of the county

central committee. In the years of 1882-'83

and 1884 he served as deputy sheriff of the

county. In 1886 he was appointed as deputy

assessor, a position that he now holds. He is

a member, and Past Grand of Riverside Lodge,

No. 282, I. O. O. F., and Star Encampment,

No. 73. of the same order and was the Noble

Grand and delegate to the Grand Lodge of the

State in 1884. lie is a consistent member of the

Baptist Church, and has been a trustee of the

same since it6 first establishment in Riverside.

fDWIN CALDWELL, of Riverside, was

born in Putnam County, New Yoik, Sep-

tember 13, 1824. His father, Absalom

Caldwell, was a native of that State, and a

farmer by occupation. Mr. Caldwell was reared

upon his father's farm, and educated in the

public schools. In 1846, deciding to seek his

home in the great west, he went to Wisconsin,

and located in Washington County, establishing

his residence in the town of West Bend.

There, in partnership with his brother, he

built saw and flour mills, and was prominent in

building up the pioneer industries of that sec-

tion.

The California gold fever claimed him as a

victim, and in 1849 he joined the army of gold

seekers, and crossed the plains. Upon his ar-

rival in California he located in the mining dis-

tricts, and for a year or more endured the

hardships and discomforts of a miner's life.

In 1851, having met with moderate success,

he returned via the Isthmus route to his Wis-

consin home, and engaged in his old pursuits

In 1856 he sold out his business interests in

Wisconsin, and transferred the scene of his

operations to St. Paul, Minnesota. There he

engaged in a brokerage and commission business.

The year 1861- again found Mr. Caldwell seeking

the Pacific coast, and in that year he located

at Gold Hill, Nevada, and again engaged in

mining. While there he was superintendent

of the famous Yellow Jacket mine, which dur-

ing his 8uperintendency advanced from $25

per foot to $2,700 per foot. In 1864 he re-

signed his position, and came to California,

first residing at Petaluma, and later in Oak-

land and San Francisco. During the next four

or five years he was interested in developing

mines and dealing in mining properties in

White Pine, Eureka and other points in Nevada.

He was, also, in the years 1868 and '69 engaged

in the commission and produce business in San

Francisco. In the early years of the Riverside

colony Mr. Caldwell became interested. He
was a firm believer in the future of Sonthern

California, and in 1871 he visited Riverside

and purchased a twenty-acre tract on the north

side of First street, just east of Orange street.

In 1873 he erected a cottage upon the land and

a residence for his family. He was at that

time engaged with his mining enterprises in

Nevada, but he directed the planting and im-

provement of his lands, planting orange trees

and a large variety of deciduous fruits. In

1878 he established his permanent residence

in Riverside, and gave his personal attention

to his horticultural interests. He corrected his

previous mistakes by uprooting his deciduous

trees, and planting orange trees. In 1882 he

sold the south ten acres of his tract to J. J.

Hewitt, and purchased ten acres on the west

side of Orange street, which he made his

home. He planted that tract in oianges and
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grapes, and has erected one of the pleasantest

and most comfortable homes to be found in

.Riverside. He has not confined his enterprise

entirely to Riverside, but is interested in real

estate in other sections of the county. He is

a part owner of the well-known Waters ranch,

at Old San Bernardino, upon which he is plant-

ing an orange grove of over fifty acres in ex-

tent. Mr. Caldwell is an enterprising and

public-spirited citizen, and has, during his

residence contributed in no small degree to those

public enterprises that have made Riverside so

prominent, and enabled her to gain an enviable

position in the ranks of the leading cities and

colonies of Southern California. He has

proved a desirable acquisition to the commu-

nity, He is a consistent member of the Con-

gregational Church, and is president of the

board of trustees of the society in Riverside.

In political matters he is a Republican.

In 1852 Mr. Caldwell married Miss Martha

A. Hayt, a native of New York. There are

two children from this marriage: William A.,

who is a resident of Washington Territory, and

Albert A., who at .this writing (1889) is a

6tudent in the California State University at

Berkeley.

iRS. CAIRA R. WILKES.—In noting

the remarkable growth and prosperity

of the Riverside colony, and collecting

the data upon which to base the proper repre-

sentation of the magnificent industries estab

lished and successes achieved by the represent-

ative people in the various enterprises that are

to be embodied in the history of the county, a

manifest injustice would be done to the lady

whose name heads this sketch were not a

proper mention made of her interests, her long

years of individual efforts, and her successes in

horticultural enterprises, that have added so

much to the growth and prosperity of the col-

ony. Mrs. Wilkes came to Riverside in the

fall of 1876. She was possessed of capital,

practical knowledge of horticultural pursuits

in the East, and a wonderful fund of energy and

ambition. Upon her arrival she purchased

forty-five acres of land on Magnolia avenue,

just below Adams street, about five miles south

of the city. The lands thus secured were wild

and uncultivated, but Mrs. Wilkes, with her

characteristic energy, set about having them

cleared and prepared for tree-planting. She

personally supervised and directed all improve-

ments. Many of the trees first planted, par-

ticularly of deciduous fruits, proved non-pro-

ducing or not profitable, and they were uprooted

and citrus fruits took their place. As the years

passed she continued her efforts and soon had

some of the finest orange groves in the colony.

The twenty acres on the west side of the avenue,

after being fully improved, were sold to Mr.

McNabb, in 1886. Mrs. Wilkes then trans-

ferred her residence to the twenty-five-acre tract

on the east side of the avenue. Then she

caused to be erected a comfortable and comnio-

dions two-story residence, complete in all its

appointments and furnishings. This home she

has surrounded with magnificent ornamental

trees, waving palms and rich floral productions.

She is one of the most successful florists in the

colony, and devotes much attention to cultivat-

ing rare and choice flowers. In the cultivation

of palms she has achieved a wonderful success.

Her beautiful home is situated an eighth of a

mile from the avenue, and the winding drive-

way leading to her residence grounds is bordered

on each side with rows of palm trees that are

magnificent in size and perfect in their propor-

tions. The success she has reached in growing

and proportioning her palms is wholly due to

her practical-sense way of cultivating and trim-

ming them. She is no less successful in orange-

growing, and nearly the whole of her twenty-

five-acre tract is devoted to that fruit, the trees

being almost exclusively budded fruit of the

most approved variety. Mrs. Wilkes is a

native of New York, but previous to comiug to

California had spent most of her life in Canada,

and was for many years a resident of Brantford,
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where she conducted the agricultural interests

of her ninety-acre farm. She is a lady of

culture and refinement, well versed in the prac-

tical affairs of life, and possessed of undoubted

sound business qualifications. She has gained

a success in her many enterprises of which she

may be justly proud.

fOHN ALBERT COLE, a prominent citi-

zen of San Bernardino County, is the fourth

of a family of nine children of James A.

Cole. He was born while his parents were en

route to California, in April, 1858, and hence

has always considered himself a native son of

the '-Golden State." His father was a native of

Illinois, where he was born March 8, 1828. He
married Miss Kelly in Little Rock, Arkansas,

her native city, and settled in Columbus, Ohio,

which was their home for a number of years.

He was a farmer and horticulturist by occupa-

tion, and on arriving in Callifornia in 1858

located on the farm in Old San Bernardino,

where he passed the rest of his life, and died in

July, 1887. His widow still resides o;i the old

homestead, which consists of fifty-eight acres,

valued at $37,000. Fourteen acres of the place

is devoted to the production ot English walnuts,

the trees being twenty years old. Three hun-

dred sacks of walnuts, weighing eighty-live

pouuds each, were sold as the product of the

orchard in 1888.

The subject of this memoir has been a life-

long resident of San Bernardino County, and

has divided his attention betwee.n horticulture,

hotel-keeping and the livery business, in which

he has been very successful. On November 19,

1885, he joined in marriage with Miss Nettie

Waters, second daughter of the late James W.

Waters, Sr. In the fall of 1886 Mr. Cole was

elected Sheriff of San Bernardino County, on

the Democratic ticket, and assumed the duty of

the office January 1, 1887, which he filled with

ability for two years. He was renominated by

the party as his own successor, but, 1888 being

a year of Republican victories, he was defeated

by Mr. Seymour, the present sheriff, by 136

votes, though he ran over 500 votes ahead of

his ticket. Mr. Cole owns a twenty-acre grove

of six-year-old orange trees in Old San Ber-

nardino, of the choicest budded varieties, which

yielded this past season 1,000 boxes of fruit, it

being the second crop from the orchard. He
also has some valuable city property in San

Bernardino.

Mr. Cole is a gentleman of fine business

qualifications, and highly esteemed for his in-

tegrity of character and affability of manners.

He is a member of Token Lodge, No. 290, 1. O.

O. F., and of Colton Lodge, No. 37, Knights of

Pythias.

#^-6B-%¥

,ENJAM1N FRANK ALLEN.—The sub-

ject of this sketch is among the early

settlers of Riverside, and ranks as one of

the successful horticulturists of the colony. Mr.

Allen is a native of New England, dating his

birth in Aroostook County, Maine, in 1844.

His parents were John and Joanna (Ramsdell)

Allen, both natives of that State. His father

was one of the pioneers of that section and one

of the wealthiest agriculturists in the county.

He died in Riverside in 1886, at the advanced

age of eighty-seven years.

Mr. Allen was reared to farm life and given

the benefits of a common-school education. Soon

after reaching his majority he established him-

self on a farm of his own and engaged in that

occupation until 1869. In that year he came

to California and located in San Mateo County,

where he was engaged for a year or more as a

stage driver between Redwood city and Sears-

ville. He then returned to Maine and entered

into mercantile pursuits at Presque Isle, in his

native county. Ill-health and financial diffi-

culties compelled a suspension of his business,

and in 1876 he again sought the Pacific coast.

This time he came broken in health and with

limited means. Upon his arrival he located in
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Riverside and entered upon horticultural pur-

suits upon a rented place, but sickness caused

him to abandon that enterprise and seek other

means of support, and in 1878 he established a

laundry, the first ever opened in Riverside.

He also built him a cottage residence on Ninth

6treet, between Vine and Mulberry streets, and

engaged in horticultural pursuits upon that

block. In 1880 he sold his city block and es-

tablished his present residence on Colton avenue,

just north of the city limits. At that point he has

fifteen acres, nearly all of which are in oranges,

but three acres being in budded fruit and the

balance in seedlings. The grove, except two

and one-half acres of young trees, was planted

in 1873 and 1874 by P. S. Russell. Ten acres

of orange grove is in good bearing, and during

the three years preceding 1889 gave an average

yield of nearly $400 per acre. Among his trees

are 105 lemon trees of the Eureka variety, the

product of these is cured and packed by Mr.

Allen, and his success in lemon curing is best

shown by noting the fact that the yield from

his 105 trees in 1888-'89 brought him $550.

He is also the owner of the block between Maine

and Market, Third and Fourth streets, which is

planted in oranges. His wife is the owner of

a ten-acre tract on the south side of Russell

street, adjoining his home place on the north-

west. Upon that tract Mr. Allen has been en-

gaged in raisin-growing. He is a thorough

horticulturist, and a successful one, and a firm

believer in the profitable future that awaits the

orange-growers of Riverside, and in the value

of lands adapted to orange cultivation. He has

a beautiful home, consisting of a well-ordered

two-story residence, surrounded by his groves,

ornamental trees and floral productions. During

the days of the real-estate " boom " Mr. Allen

was induced to sell his orange grove at what

was considered a big price, and entered into

real-estate operations; but when the smoke of

battle had drifted past, and values had settled

down to paying investments, he bought back

his old home, and such was his knowledge

of its real worth, and his faith in the future

that he readily paid a large advance over his

selling price a year before.

Mr. Allen is well known to the people of

Riverside as an enterprising and public-spirited

citizen, one who during his years of residence

has been a supporter of Riverside's interests

and the people; such men are always <a desir-

able acquisition to the community. Mr. Allen is

a charter member of Evergreen Lodge, No. 259,

F. & A. M., also a member of Riverside Chapter

No. 67, Knight Templar. In politics he is a

consistent Republican. March 29, 1875, Mr.

Allen was united in marriage with Miss Louise

E. Averill, a native of Maine. They have two

children: Florence G. and Beulah F.

fAMUEL ALDER is one of the pioneer

mechanics of Riverside, having established

the first carriage-making, and general

blacksmithing ever founded in the city. No his-

tory of the manufacturing and business enter-

prises of Riverside could be considered complete

without a mention of Mr. Alder, and his associa-

tion with the building up of the city and colony.

The subject of this sketch was born in Wilt-

shire, England, in 1845, son of Samuel and Ann

(Chivers) Alder, both being natives of that

county. His father was a weaver by occupation

and the family were dependent upon his wages

alone for support. The children were put at

labor early in life, and at the age of twelve

years, when a mere child, Mr. Alder was ap-

prenticed at the trade of wagon-maker. He

served a six years' apprenticeship, and then

worked as a journeyman for a year. Realizing

the disadvantages the workmen of the old coun-

try were laboring under, he decided to try his

fortune in the new world, and in 1864 embarked

for New York. Soon after his arrival in that

city he struck out for the great West. His first

stop was in Wisconsin; not satisfied, he contin-

ued his westward march; securing a position as

teamster, he joined an emigrant train and drove

a team across the plains to Salt Lake City.
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There he obtained employment at his trade and

remained in that city until 1867. In that year

he came to California and located in Sacramento.

The next two years were spent by Mr. Alder at

hig trade in that city, in Petalnma and Vaca-

ville. In the fall of 1869 he came to Southern

California and located in San Bernardino, and

the next year, in partnership with Joseph Bright,

established a carriage and blacksmith shop on

Third street. He conducted that enterprise

until 1874. At that time the Riverside colony

wasattracting attention, and Mr. Alder, believing

in the future prosperity of the colony, decided

to cast his fortunes with the Riversiders. He
sold out his interests to his partner and came to

Riverside, and in partnership with Frank Petch-

ner, the pioneer blacksmith of the colony, es-

tablished carriage-making and general black-

smithing works on Main street, at the corner of

Seventh street. His partnership with Mr.

Petchner continued for ten years, until 1884;

since that time he has conducted the business

alone. Mr. Alder, during his business here, has

been one of the most enterprising and public-

spirited men of Riverside. Both himself and

partner were liberal contributors to the pioneer

enterprises that proved important factors in

placing Riverside in the position she occupies,

in the ranks of the progressive cities of Southern

California. Himself and partner donated to the

Citrus Fair Association a hundred-foot lot on

the corner of Main and Seventh streets, one of

the most valuable lots in the city. Mr. Alder

was also a large contributor in the erection of

the Young Men's Christian Association building.

It is well understood that an appeal to him is

never in vain, where aid is required in advanc-

ing the interests and welfare of his chosen city.

He has been a successful man in his business,

and by his industry and straightforward dealing

has gained a modest competency. Among his

real-estate interests is his business lot on Main

street, between Sixth and Eighth, and residence

block of two and a half acres, between Main and

Orange, Second and Third streets. This block

he has under a fine state of cultivation, and dis-

plays his love of horticulture by producing some
of the choicest fruits in the city, Mr. Alder

takes an interest in the political affairs of his

city and county, and is allied with the Repub-

lican party.

Mr. Alder married in 1870, wedding Mrs.

Margaret Scott [nee Schyff). She is the daugh-

ter of John H. and Gertrude Schyff, natives of

Holland. They are residents of San Bernardino,

where they have lived for more than a quarter

of a century. From this marriage there are six

children: John H., Samuel R. Rebecca P.,

Flora M., Grace and Lucile. There are also

two children living from Mrs. Alder's first mar-

riage, viz.: William Edward and Nora.

RS. ELLEN WOODS CRAFTS MEA-
CHAM.—This lady, who, with her hus-

band and family, occupies as a residence

one of the old landmarks of the county (the well-

known Crafton Retreat), is a native of Jackson,

Michigan, and daughter of Myron Harwood
and Miranda (Capen) Crafts. Her father, who
was born in Whately, the family-seat, was a

man of great force of character. He came to

San Bernardino County when the country was

new, locating at the place which took his name,

and left the impress of his character indelibly

upon the community. His unusual business

ability, while securing for him ample means and

property, could have enabled him to accumulate

a much vaster fortune had his inclinations run

more to hoarding. He established his home at

the place which took the name of " Crafton

Retreat," a spot of great natural beauty, which

has been rather enhanced than detracted from

by the hand of man. He had a clear foresight

of the great future which was in store for the

community of his adopted home, and his judg-

ment was verified even before his death, which

occurred in this county. He was one of the

early members of the Republican party, and

during the war stood manfully by his convic-

tions, though he and a Mr. Robbins at that
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time cast the only Eepublican votes in the

county.

His daughter, Mrs. Meacbani, with whose

name this sketch commences, was nine years

old when her parents removed from Jackson

to "Windsor, Michigan, nine miles from Lan-

sing, and there her mother died. After this

sad event she went to live with her maternal

grandmother, Mrs. Leonard Woods. After she

had been there two years, she went to Olivet,

Michigan, to attend college, and there received

the advantage of a three-years course of study.

She then went to Troy, New York, to live

with Mrs. Eliza Stewart, a sister of her grand-

father and wife of Philo P. Stewart, one of

the founders of Oberlin College. For a time

she attended the high school in Troy, then went

to a young ladies' boarding school at Danbury,

New York, meantime making her home in

Brooklyn with Mrs. Douglas Putnam, her

mother's sister. In 18.65 she left boarding

school, and came to California to join her

father. After a time here she went to Los

Angeles, where she taught public school one

year. During the two years following she

kept house for her father, and during that time

was married, on the 10th of January, 1869,

to David Meacham, a sketch of whom will

follow this article.

When they left Crafton they removed to San

Bernardino, and from there, in 1870, to River-

side, where they were among the first settlers,

and where Mr. Meacham built the first house.

Their oldest child, Myron Putnam Meacham,

was born at Crafton, October 22, 1869, and

their second child, born November 12, 1871,

was the tirst boy born in Riverside. They

speculated in land there, and at one time owned

300 acres right in the heart of Riverside.

From there they went again to San Bernardino,

and built a residence near the present site of

the Stewart House. There their third child,

Kate Capen Meacham, was born, June 8, 1876.

After one year at San Bernardino they returned

to Riverside, and while there the fourth and

youngest child, Sarah Rachel Crafts Meacham,
|

was born, December 4, 1883. From there they

removed to Los Angeles, and during the great

boom there Mrs. Meacham sold real estate

with success. They resided in Los Angeles

about five years, and since that time have been

living at the "Crafton Retreat," which became

the property of Mrs. Meacham upon the parti-

tion of the Crafts estate.

The "Crafton Retreat," a view of which ap-

pears in this volume, occupies a position of

great vantage, from the point of view of the

lover of the beautiful in Srctnery. Lying at the

base of the foot-hills, with the snow-capped

mountain peaks standing seemingly but a little

above and beyond, while the splendid zanja

(the origin of which is ascribed by tradition to

the Mission fathers) flows and leaps through

the shady grove on the place, its cool, clear waters

completely nullifying the effects of the hottest

midsummer sun for those who have the pleas-

ure of idling by its banks. This favored spot,

with no other attractions, would well deserve its

title of "Retreat," that name suggestive of

needed rest. But when to these advantages,

are added those of being surrounded by orange

grove and orchard, bearing the various tempt-

ing fruits and nuts of favored California, while

broad driveways wind in and out about the

place and lead as well to the main highways of

travel, it is readily to be understood why so

many come to this haven of rest to secure the

benefits of nature's recuperation. The hills

above give a splendid view of the noble valley

beneath, while among them canons make their

tortuous ways, affording at once a desirable place

to visit for a change or in pursuit of game,

there quite abundant. At this writing, much

time and attention is being given to increasing

the beauties and comforts of the place by Mr.

and Mrs. Meacham. The latter, who has an

active and brilliant mind, is one of the stanch-

est friends of her sex, and an able advocate of

its ennoblement. She is fully alive to the ques-

tions of the day, as well as its needs. She was

graduated in the first Chautanqna class of

3,000 in 1881, securing the splendid aver-
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age of ninety-seven per cent, on a four-years'

course.

David Meacham was born in Genesee

County, New York, May 3, 1835, and was

reared at Geneseo, learning the carpenter's trade.

In 1858 he came to California, crossing the

plains with General Harney, shortly after the

Mountain Meadow Massacre. He helped to

gather up the bones of the murdered emigrants,

and assisted in building the monument erected

by the Government on the scene. Arriving in

California, he located at Bloomfield, Sonoma
County, where he followed his trade five years.

In 1863 he came to San Bernandino, and here

followed the building trade. He rode to River-

side on the first load of lumber ever hauled

there, and, as before stated, built the first house

there. He has resided in this State all of the

time since 1858, except one year he spent in

Virginia City, Nevada, where he went in 1869,

and there followed mining principally, but also

did some work at his trade.

Mr. Meacham is a man of excellent qualities

of character, unassuming in manner, fair and

honorable in business matters.

—^m»>H^-
,ILO EUGENE DAVIS, of San Ber-

nardino, was born in the city of Cleve-

land, Ohio, in 1841. His father, Asa
M. Davis, was a Vermont Yankee, and married

a French lady by the name of Salinas. When
Eugene was a lad of twelve years, they moved

from Ohio to Nebraska, then a wild frontier

territory, and settled in Beatrice, which place

Mr. Davis laid out and named. Their nearest

neighbor lived thirty miles distant, and the city

of Omaha was then but a mere hamlet. Mr.
Davis died years ago upon the homestead he

then founded, and, being a distinguished Mason.

was buried there with high Masonic honors.

After graduating from Eastman's Business Col-

lege in Chicago, and a year's experience in a

mercantile house in that city, the subject of this

memoir commenced railroading as an employe

of the Lake Shore Company. At eighteen years

of age he was running a passenger train as

conductor on the Milwaukee & St. Paul Bail-

road. Drifting into the construction depart-

ment, he was employed on construction for the

Sioux City & Pacific, now a branch of the Chi-

cago & Northwestern Railroad, for several years.

In 1861 Mr. Davis enlisted in the Union army
under the call for three months' volunteers, and

served as a member of the Eleventh Wisconsin

Infantry until broken health compelled him to

resign in 1863. He served in the capacity of a

sharpshooter a portion of the time. At the

battle of Pea Ridge he was General Sigel's

orderly, where he was slightly wounded; and

was also wounded in the May charge upon

Vicksburg.

Mr. Davis came to California, landing at San

Francisco, in 1880, for the restoration of his

health, being such a sufferer from catarrh that

he was obliged to sleep in a reclining position.

After traveling over the coast from Alaska

southward, he became connected with the Cali-

fornia Southern Railroad in the capacity of

conductor nominally, but actually as superin-

tendent of construction on that line, continuing

from the time the first rail was laid until the

road was completed, after which he ran a train

over the road for years as conductor. Marrying

in 1885, he resigned his position, and bought

five acres of land on South E street, just outside

the city limits of San Bernardino, upon which

he built their present residence and otherwise

improved, planting most of the tract to choice

varieties of deciduous fruits, from which he now
receives a fine income. Three-fourths of an

acre of strawberries pays the expenses of culti-

vating and taking care of the entire place. Two
fine artesian wells furnish sufficient water, with

strong pressure, for all purposes on the place.

In 1886 Mr. Davis opened a furniture store in

San Bernardino with a stock of $5,000 to $6,000.

At first his sales ranged from $300 to $400 a

month, but his trade grew rapidly, and during

the boom two years later the monthly transac-

tions ran up as high as $19,000, and averaged
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$12,000 a month for some time. He sold out

the business in December, 1889.

Mr. Davis is a prominent member of the

Masonic order, having taken all the degrees up

to the thirty-third. He was Captain General

of the San Bernardino Commandery Knights

Templar during the triennial conclave held at

Chicago in 1880.

Mrs. Davis was formerly Miss Darlington, of

San Diego County, and a native of Illinois-

Mr. and Mrs. Davis have one child.

fACOB POLHEMUS. deceased, was one of

the pioneers of Colton, who located in that

thriving city when the only buildings in

the place were a saloon and eatingrhonse, and

the Pioneer Lumber Yard office. This was in

1875. He was a carpenter and builder by oc-

cupation, and was employed in the erection of

the pioneer buildings of Colton. He built the

first store opened in the town for Hathaway &
Davenport, and many other well-known old,

time buildings. In 1877 Mr. Polhemus pur-

chased lots on the corner of Eighth and I streets

and built his residence and shop upon them.

This location, as the city enlarged, became valu-

able as a business center, and in 1886 he erected

the well-known Polhemus block, a fine two-

story edifice devoted to business and office pur-

poses. This block was the first brick business

block erected in the city. He was one of the

leaders in building up the city, and a liberal and

6trong supporter of Colton enterprises. He was

one of the stockholders and original incorpora-

tors of the Colton Building and Loan Asso-

ciation that has done so much to encourage im-

provement in the city. In his enterprise in

Colton he was successful, and secured a modest

but well deserved competency. His business

was always characterized by a manly and

straightforward dealing that secured him hosts

of friends and gained him the respect of the

community. He was a man of sound business

principles and keen foresight, and early saw the

fortune that awaited Colton, and was prompt to

invest his capital and energy in the city.

The subject of this sketch was born in New
Jersey in 1822. His parents, Theodorus and

Leah (Cooper) Polhemus, were natives of that

State, and were descendants of old colonial fami-

lies from Holland. Mr. Polhemus was reared

and educated in his native State, and early in life

learned the trade of carpenter and builder, and

for more than twenty years was engaged in that

occupation in Jersey City, New Jersey. In

1871 he decided to establish himself in Califor-

nia. His first location, after arriving in the

State, was at San Francisco. A few months

later he came to Southern California and locat-

ed at San Diego, and a year later to Los Angeles,

and thence to San Bernardino, where he re-

mained until 1875, when he established himself

in Colton. He died December 12, 1889, of la

grippe. Folitically, Mr. Polhemus was a Re-

publican, having been a supporter of that party

since its organization in 1856. He was strong

and liberal in his support of churches and schools,

being a prominent member of the Baptist

Church and treasurer of the society in Colton.

Mr. Polhemus was twice married. His first

marriage was his union with Miss Jane Tier,

in 1843. She died in 1870, leaving three chil-

dren: Lizzie, now the wife of Frank D. Sweet-

ser, of San Francisco; George, a resident of

Plainfield, New Jersey, and William, a resident

of Colton. His second marriage was in 1879,

when he wedded Mrs. Lucretia Bent, formerly

Mrs. Spring, nee Ford. There are no children

by this marriage. Mrs. Polhemus, whose

maiden name was Ford, first married Heinan

Spring; he lost his life in the service of his

country, meeting death upon the battle-field

dnring the war of the Rebellion, when a mem-
ber of the Twenty-ninth Wisconsin Volunteers.

She had three children (sons) by her first

marriage: De Los A., who at the age of seven-

teen enlisted in the same regiment with his

father, served through the war, married and

settled in Savannah, Georgia; Adolphus, a resi-
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dent of Colton, and Byron, residing in Mi

waukce, Wisconsin.

fEORGE W. SPARKES, living two and

a half miles southeast of San Bernardino,

came to California in June, 1857. He

was born April 19, 1819, in Monroe County,

Mississippi, a son of Aaron and Mary (Stipson)

Sparkes. His father, a native of South Caro-

lina, moved to Mississippi in an early day, and

died there when George was sixteen years of

age. His mother was a native of Virginia.

He was married in that State, August 26, 1842,

to Miss Lorena Roberds, a native of Alabama,

who was principally reared in Mississippi.

Her parents were Thomas and Annie (Nix)

Roberds, of Alabama. Four years after his

marriage Mr. Sparkes started to California

with teams across the plains, wintered at Fort

Pueblo, and in the spring of 1847 started for

Salt Lake City. Remaining there until 1850,

he came on with others, comprising his wife

and three children, Joim Roberds, wife and

seven children, and Mr. Jackson, wife and three

children, and completed their journey at Dia-

mond Spring, building the first house at that

point and naming the place. There they spent

the winter of 1851, while Mr. Sparkes kept a

boarding-house. He next went to Snisnn val-

ley, where he remained about a year and a half;

then he went to Russian river, and from that

point came to San Bernardino, arriving here

June 26, 1857, and has ever since been a resi-

dent of this count}'. The first land he pur-

chased was 168 acres, in partnership with James

M. West, and he has since added forty acres.

Besides, he owns eight sections (5,120 acres) in

San Diego County, used as a stock ranch and

superintended by his sons, who raise horse6,

cattle, sheep, hogs, barley, wheat, etc.

Mr. Sparkes has borne the burdens and

endured the hardships of pioneer life, and his

wife has been faithful as a sharer in his failures

and sorrows, and has also enjoyed with him his

successes. They have reared seven children,

viz.: AVilliam, who is on the San Diego ranch;

George Frank is the next; Harriet, now Mrs.

Thomas Carter; Eli; Bethsaida, now the wife

of Hiram Kellar; Cyrus and Robert. Mr. and

Mrs. Sparkes are both members of the Church

of Latter-Day Saints in San Bernardino, active

and zealous.

fHE GLENWOOD OF RIVERSIDE.—
This hotel is one of the best known in

R'verside, San Bernardino County, and

deserves having the reputation of being one of

the best conducted hotels in Southern Califor-

nia. The Glenwood was erected in 1875 as the

cottage residence of C. C. Miller, and about

1877 was first opened to the public by Captain

Miller, then known as the Glenwood Cottage.

It was a success from the first, and the constant

and increasing patronage necessitated frequent

and extensive additions, until at this writing it

has first-class accommodations for 100 to 150

guests, having eighty large and well ventilated

sleeping rooms, parlors, reception rooms, dining

hall, billiard room, etc. The hotel is beautifully

located in the heart of the city. The building

and grounds occupy nearly a block (two and

one-half acres) of land, upon which are citrus

and deciduous fruits, magnificent shade and

ornamental trees, and extensive lawn abounding

in beautiful floral productions. It is a charm-

ing home, and well calculated to gladden the

heart of the traveler. Frank A. Miller pur-

chased the hotel from his father, Captain Miller,

in 1880, and it has since been conducted under

his auspices, with Mr. Frank W. Richardson as

its manager.

Frank W. Richardson, the genial manager of

the Hotel Glenwood of Riverside, is a man who

knows how to keep a hotel, and any mention of

Riverside purporting to note her deserving and

representative institutions and citizens, would

be very incomplete without mention of the

Glenwood and its manager. Mr. Richardson
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is a native of the old Bay State, and a descend-

ant of New England parents. He dates his

birth in Berkshire County, Massachusetts, in

1852. His father, Henry W. Richardson, is a

native of that State; his mother, Susan (Mason)

Richardson, was born in Vermont. The subject

of this sketch was given the opportunities of

obtaining a thorough education. Energetic and

quick to learn, he graduated from the high

school and then entered upon a course of classi-

cal study at Greylock Hall in South Williams-

town. Closing his studies, he entered life at

mechanical labor in the manufacture of shoe

bindings, and later rose to the position 8f book-

keeper for the Freeman Manufacturing Com-

pany of North Adams, where lie remained until

1876. In that year he came to California and

located in Riverside, was employed by C. C.

Miller, and la fer by G. O. Newman in civil

engineering and surveying. In 1879 he was

employed in the Nevada State geological sur-

vey, under Professor Clarence King, after which

he returned to Riverside and engaged as a clerk

and book-keeper in the grocery store of Frank

A. Miller, and the next year entered his present

occupation as manager of the Glen wood. In

1885 Mr. Richardson married Miss Alice R.

Miller, the daughter of C. C. Miller, a sketch

of whom will be found in this book. This lady

was before her marriage associated with her

brother, F. A. Miller, in conducting the Glen-

wood, and Mr. Richardson attributes his success

in the management of the hotel in no small de-

gree to the intelligent aid and encouragement

he has received from hi', devoted wife. The

subject of this sketch has for the three years

preceding 1889 been closely identified with

Riverside and her people. His intelligence,

genial manners, honesty of purpose and action,

made him a general favorite, and his friends are

legion. He is a sound Republican in politics,

and is a member of the Republican County

Central Committee, and takes an active part as

a delegate to conventions, etc. He is promi-

nent in the fraternal societies; is a member of

lodge, chapter and commandery of the Masonic

order, and a member of the lodge, encampment

and canton of the Independent Order of Odd
Fellows, and Sunnyside Lodge, Knights of

Pythias. He is also a consistent member of the

Congregational Church. Mr. and Mrs. Rich-

ardson have one boy, Stanley M.

fUGENE B. WAITE, one of the enter-

prising young men of Redlands, has been

a resident of the Golden State since 1882,

and owns a fruit ranch on Cajon avenue and

Palm street. He was born in Walworth County,

Wisconsin, in December, 1860. His parents,

Russell and Adaline (Herrick) Waite, were

from Genesee County, New York. His father

was successfully engaged in farming and stock-

raising in Wisconsin for over thirty years. He
is now retired from business and resides on the

corner of Seventh and E streets. Our subject

fir6t went into the nursery business in Redlands

with his brother, but has since sold his interest

and given his attention to mining and pros-

pecting in Alaska and Aleutian Islands.

¥-&-

PELDEN D. BURT.—The subject of this

sketch is one of the pioneer merchants of

Riverside, and is the senior member of

the firm of B. D. Burt & Brother. This is now

the oldest mercantile firm in the city, having

been established in 1875, and been continuously

in business since that time. The first brick

block erected in Riverside was that occupied by

Mr. Burt, on the corner of Main and Eighth

streets. For many years he conducted a general

mercantile business, but in the later years, has

confined his business to dry goods, clothing,

boots and shoes, etc. Mr. Burt's partner in his

business is his brother, Benjamin Franklin

Burt, and it is safe to say that there is no busi-

ness firm whose standing is higher in the com-

munity than B. D. Burt & Brother, nor is there

one that has inspired more confidence or gained
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a heartier support than this firm. The brothers

are well known, and their years of dealing has

been 'characterized by honest, straightforward

business principles. Their word has ever been

as good as the strongest bond; their name is

synonymous with integrity and stability for

years before the advent of banking institutions

in Riverside. They were made the custodians of

the funds of their customers, and even now their

books show a large list of depositors.

The subject of this sketch was born in Orange

County, New York, in 1823. In his youth his

parents moved to Chemung, and later to Steu-

ben County. Mr. Burt was reared to fann life,

and educated in the common schools until sev-

enteen years of age; he then entered into mer-

cantile life as a clerk. He remained in his

native State until 1849. The gold fever then

claimed him as a victim, and he started in the

spring of that year, via the Isthmus route, for

the El Dorado of the "West. He left New York

March 3, but it was not until the 8th of June

that he arrived in San Francisco, having been

compelled to seek the port of Callao, after cross-

ing the Isthmus, in order to secure a vessel to

San Francisco. Soon after his arrival in that

city he struck out for the mines, and located in

Placer County. He spent one season in the

mines, and then engaged in business in Sacra-

mento. With the exception of a visit to the

East in 1852, Mr. Burt has spent twenty-five

years in the northern counties of the State,

principally in Placer, Nevada and Napa coun-

ties, during which time he was engaged in

mercantile enterprises and other industries.

He is well and favorably known throughout the

mining districts. In 1875 he decided to seek

a home in Southern California, and selected

Riverside as combining the most desirable lands

of any locality he could find. He was a firm

believer in the future of Riverside, and has al-

ways been hearty and liberal in the support of

the many enterprises that have tended to build

up his chosen city. He is the vice-president

of the Riverside Land and Irrigation Company.

One of the incorporators of the Riverside Fruit

Company, and the president and manager of

the company from 1883 to 1885. He was one

of the projectors of the Riverside Public Hall

Association. In the establishing of the muni-

cipal government of Riverside Mr. Burt took a

prominent part, and was the first city treasurer

elected in the city. In political matters he is

a straight Republican, and has taken an active

interest in the affairs of his party in whatever

community he has been, serving in county and

State conventions. He was for several years

the Postmaster of North Bloointield, Nevada

County, and in 1873 was chosen as the Repub-

lican candidate for the Legislature of the coun-

ty. He is a member of Riverside Lodge, No.

282, and Star Encampment, No. 73, I. O. O. F.,

of Riverside.

Mr. Burt married, in 1853, Miss Irene M.

Badger, a native of Boone County, New York.

There are no children from this marriage.

I||i ILLIAM
P. RUSSELL—This well

R known pioneer of Riverside is one of

r-ffsrl the leading horticulturists of the colony,

and has for the past eighteen years been iden-

tified with the growth and progress of the

city, and has held a prominent position in

her municipal government since the incorpo-

ration in 1884. He is a native of White

County, Indiana, dating his birth in 1849.

His father, William Russell, was also a native

of that State. Mr. Rusaell was reared as a

fanner, and educated in the public schools of

his native county. In 1869, when twenty years

of age, he struck out in life upon his own

account, and his first move was for the Pacific

coast. Upon his arrival in California he came

to San Bernardino County and located in Tia

Juana valley, and there, in partnership with

his uncle, P. S. Russell, entered into the nurs-

ery business. Upon the founding of the Riv-

erside colony, in 1870, he was induced to visit

the lands, and upon an inspection he became

satisfied that a prosperous future awaited the
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orange-grower in the Riverside valley, and the

next year, in February', 1871, he purchased a

twenty-acre tract on the east side of Spanish-

town avenue, now Orange street, and on the

north of Russell street. This street was given

his name in honor of his being the pioneer

in improving that section. He commenced

his preparations at once for horticultural in-

dustries, clearing his lands and perfecting his

irrigation system. He established himself in

the nursery business, the pioneer of that en-

terprise. In 1872 his uncle joined him and

they conducted a large nursery business for the

next six or seven years. At the same time

he fully improved his land, planting citrus and

deciduous fruits, grapes, etc. Many of his

first ventures in horticulture, however, proved

unprofitable, and such mistakes were corrected

by uprooting and replacing with citrus fruits.

At this writing (1889), Mr. Russell is the

owner of and occupies nine and a half acres of

his original tract, which is devoted to orange-

growing. He has one of the finest groves to be

found in the county. A large portion of his

trees are seedlings, sixteen years old; the re-

mainder are budded fruit, mostly Mediterranean

Sweets. There is no branch of horticulture as

required in the Riverside valley in which he is

not practically experienced, and the results he

has obtained in orange growing are worthy of

mention, showing as they do the profits to be

obtained from that industry in the Riverside

colony. From six acres of orange grove, 960

trees, planted in 1872, 250 trees of which were

budded on four year-old stock, and the remain-

der seedlings, he sold his crops as follows: in

1886, for $3,000 gross; in 1887, $1,960 gross

(more than one-fourth of his crop in that year

were blown off and plowed under); in 1888 the

crop sold at the packing-house for $3,650. This

is a creditable showing, averaging, as it docs,

nearly $500 per acre for a series of years, and

sufficiently attests Mr. Russell's skill as a horti-

culturist.

Mr. Russell has been a strong supporter of

Riverside enterprises. He has been a director

in the Riverside Water Company for several

years. In political matters he is a Democrat,

but liberal in his views. In 1884 he was elected

one of the city trustees, which office of honor

and trust he has so creditably filled that his sup-

porters seem bound to continue his term indefi-

nitely. He still holds the office, having been

twice re-elected. He is a member of Sunnyside

Lodge, No. 112, Knights of Pythias, of River-

side. He married, in 1878, Miss Ida Moody,

the daughter of John H. Moody, of Oakland,

formerly of San Francisco.

flMEON COOK, of Redlands, is a native

of Richmond, Cheshire County, New
Hampshire, born April 14,1821; his par-

ents being Simeon, Sr., and Rachel (Holman)

Cook. Both parents came of old New England

families, and the father of our subject went with

his parents from Billingham, Massachusetts, to

New Hampshire, when he was but three years of

age. He was born December 8, 1770, and died

March 18, 1859. Our subject's mother was the

daughter of Elijah Holman, who lived on the

line between Winchester and Richmond, New
Hampshire, and before her marriage to Simeon

Cook, Sr., was the widow of Ebenezer Barnes.

She died March 18, 1839. Simeon Cook, whose

name heads this sketch, spent his early boy-

hood days on the farm at his native place. He
attended public schools at Richmond, and pri-

vate schools at Winchester and Swansea, after

which he attended the Academy at Amherst.

When twenty years old he went to Boston, where

he was engaged for seven months as a clerk in the

grocery store of Robert Cummings. He next

went to Waltham, where for a year he was in a

general store with Robert Cummings, in Old

Rumford Hall. From there he returned to

Boston, and engaged in the grocery business on

Chambers street at the head of Poplar, in part-

nership with a nephew. After three years

there he sold out to his partner and went back

to Richmond, where he conducted an old-fash-
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ioned country store for some eight or ten years.

He then disposed of that business and engaged

in manufacturing hogsheads for the Cuban mar-

ket. He originated this business at Richmond,

New Hampshire, then removed to Ashburnham,

Massachusetts., and next to Keene, New Hamp-
shire. At the two latter places he was in part-

nership with his brother George; and in 1856

they established another factory at Troy, New
York. In 1859 he commenced making trips to

Canada, buying staves for the cooperage estab-

lishments of the firm, but after a year lie com-

menced manufacturing lumber in Canada, as well

as carrying on his other business there, and set-

tled down at Ingersoll, Ontario. lie resided

there until 1881, when he wound up his business

interests in Canada, and removed to California.

He was at Riverside from May until Christmas,

1881, and then removed to Redlands. Here he

helped finish up the Prospect House, the first

hotel, and when it was finished he carried it on

for about a year. He then commenced improv-

ing the place where he now resides, one of the

most desirable tracts about Redlands. There are

twenty acres on the place, and of this amount

six acres are in Muscat raisin grapes. Some five

acres are devoted to oranges, about equally di-

vided between Washington Navels and seedlings,

and nearly all the trees are in bearing. The re-

mainder of the trees in his orchard are divided

about as follows: lemons, 75; apricots, 250, and

peaches, 30; a few nectarines and Bartlett pears.

About an acre and a half is devoted to alfalfa.

Mr. Cook has set about improving his place in

a systematic manner, and it shows the results of

much care and labor.

Mr. Cook was married to Miss Ellen Mur-
dock. He has six children, viz.: Silas P., a

clergyman of the Congregational Church, at

Northfield, Massachusetts, and connected with

Moody's schools there; Leroy, who resides at

Worcester, Massachusetts, and is a draughtsman

in the Washburn-Moen wire- works; he is a

graduate of the school of Technology at

Worcester; Clara Josephine, wife of Her-

bert Aldrich, who is connected with his

father in an insurance establishment at Keene,

New Hampshire (firm of Herman C. Aldrich

& Son); Charles Sumner, who is professor in

the Northwestern University at Evanston, Illi-

nois, and was formerly a tutor at Hanover, where

he finished his education; William and Frank,

who reside witli their parents.

Mr. Cook is a Republican politically. He is

an active, enterprising man, and takes a com-

mendable interest in the welfare of the com-

munity.

#?<€B-£#

AVID H. WIXOM, the tenth of a family

of twelve children of Nathan J. and Betsy

(Hadlock) Wixom, was born in 1848 in

Council Bluffs, Iowa. In 1850 his parents

started with their family, consisting then of ten

children, to cross the plains to California. They

loaded three ox teams and one horse team with

their effects, and brought fifty cows, ten head of

horses and a small flock of sheep over as far as

Salt Lake, where they spent the winter, and

there their eleventh child, Charles W. Wixom,
was born. In the spring of 1852 they resumed

their journey to the Golden State, and settled

in Monterey County, near San Juan Mission,

and lived there two years, Mrs. Wixom and her

daughters carrying on the dairy business with

their cows, making butter and cheese, which

they sold at very high prices, to go to the mines.

They also kept a public-house for the entertain-

ment of travelers. Mr. Wixom devoted his

attention to mining. In the spring of 1854

they removed to Los Angeles and two years later

came to San Bernardino, and settled on a half

bluck of land they purchased on the corner of

Ninth and F streets. In 1857 Mr. Wixom sold

out and took his family to Salt Lake, but re-

turned to San Bernardino in August, 1858,

having been gone ten months. He bought two

acres between Sixth and Seventh on D street,

and they lived there several years, then sold and

bought two acres on the northwest corner of

Third and D streets, where the First National
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Bank is now situated. There the family resided

at the time of Mr. Wixom's death, which oc-

curred July 29, 1867. He was a farmer by

occupation, and after coining to Southern Cali-

fornia devoted his attention mainly to that pur-

suit. He and Mrs. Wixom were both born in

New York State, he in 1806, and she in 1811.

They both came to Ohio in childhood, his par-

ents settling at Columbus, and hers near Ports-

mouth, at which place they were married in

November, 1827. The widow resides in San

Bernardino, and is quite active for a lady of her

advanced age. Their lineal descendants now
number 168 souls, more than 100 of whom are

living. Their children, in the order of their

ages were named as follows: Reuben, Clarissa

J., now Mrs. Ferguson; Mary A., now Mrs.

Crandall, widow of L. D. Crandall; Willard A.,

Elizabeth, Mrs. R. Mathews, deceased; Julia,

deceased; Jasper, Eliza, widow of Charles Pur-

cell; Cynthia, now Mrs. Payne, of San Diego;

David H., Charles W. and Chauncy, deceased.

David H., the subject of this sketch, in

former years engaged in teaming and farming.

In December, 1866, he married Mary A.

Stuchbnry, a native of Australia; he came to

California in 1858. In 1882 he was elected

City Marshal of San Bernardino, was re-elected

in 1883, and declined to be a candidate for the

office the next year.

During his second official term Marshal

Wixom arrested William R. McDowell, the

murderer of Maggie O'Brien, on information

of McDowell's wife, who was cognizant of the

crime when committed, and revealed it to Mr.

Wixom on the plea that her own life was threat-

ened by her husband. He was a gambler by

occupation. McDowell was convicted and

hanged, and his wife committed suicide some

time after his execution.

In 1884 Mr. Wixom was a candidate for

Sheriff on the Democratic ticket, and though

the county ticket was carried by the Republicans

by several hundred majority he was only beaten

forty-nine votes.

In 1886 Mr. Wixom erected their fine house

on the southeast corner of D and Fifth streets.

The lot, which is 105x128 feet, cost him

$3,000, and the house cost $3,500. He also

owns the brick block known as the Wixom
block, on Third and D streets, save the portion

sold to the First National Bank. There are

three stores on the first floor, and the second

story is devoted to offices. Mr. and Mrs. Wix-

om are the parents of five children, four liv-

ing. Their two daughters are married. For

two years past Mr. Wixom has served as Dep-

uty Assessor of San Bernardino County.

—&G@B®H&—
JpgENTON O. JOHNSON, one of Redlands'

f]|^ best known and highly respected citizens,

W^ is a native of Connecticut, born at Bethle-

hem, April 20, 1855. His parents were David

and Sophia (Stone) Johnson, both of whom came

of old Connecticut families, and the father a

merchant. B. O. Johnson was but two years

of age when his parents removed to the South.

They resided at various places throughout the

Southern country, among them New Orleans,

Matamoras, Brownsville, etc., and the outbreak

of the civil war found the elder Johnson carry-

ing on the dry-goods business. In 1863 the

family left the South and returned to Connec-

ticut, trade being much interfered with on

account of the war. They located at Middle-

bury, whence they afterward removed to West

Haven. At the last named place and at

New Haven, the subject of this sketch was

educated. He commenced his business career

as a drug clerk with Dr. Shepherd, at West

Haven, with whom he continued for five years;

then went in business for himself at Deep River,

Connecticut. There he remained until 1883,

when he came to California, locating at Red-

lands. He followed ranching two years, but

then gave it up to resume mercantile life. He
purchased the store formerly conducted by

George A. Cook, in Lugonia, and was in busi-

ness there until February, 1889, when he sold
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out to V L. Mitchell, with whose establishment

he is now connected.

He was married at West Haven, Connecticut,

September 14, 1880, to Miss Minnie R. Brown,

sister of F. E. Brown, of Redlands. They have

two children, viz.: Hazel and Walter.

Mr. Johnson has built two residences, which

are a credit to Redlands. The first one is now

the property of R. J. Waters. Mr. Johnson's

present residence was built in 1888, and he

moved into it in June of that year. It is a

very handsome and well constructed building,

and occupying, as it does, the most command-

ing site in Redlands, presents a striking and

beautiful appearance from almost any point of

view in the city.

Mr. Johnson is a member of Annawan Lodge,

No. 115, F. & A. M., West Haven, Connecti-

cut, and of Burning Busli Chapter, R. A. M.,

of Essex, Connecticut. He also belongs to

Webb Lodge, I. O. O. F., Deep River, Connect-

icut. In politics he is a Republican. He is a

member of the Congregational Church.

§ARRY G. CRAFTS, one of Redlands' most

enterprising horticulturists, was born in

Jackson, Michigan, in 1853. His father,

Myron H. Crafts, was the first settler in Crafton,

California, which place was named after him.

The subject of this sketch is extensively en-

gaged in farming and fruit-raising, and live6

four miles west of Redlands.

&$&#
H|>ENRY A. KELLER is a "native son of

WM\ the Golden West," born in Santa Clara,

3sfl| Santa Clara County, in 1859. At fourteen

years of age he entered a telegraph office as

messenger boy, with the purpose of learning

telegraphy. At sixteen he was in the Agent's

office as operator, and when eighteen years old

was train dispatcher on the Central Pacific Rail-

road. Later he was in the employ of the Oregon

Railway and Navigation Company; and for six-

teen months was train-dispatcher for the Atchi-

son, Topeka & Santa Fe Railway Company at

San Bernardino. He has filled that difficult

and responsible position nine years altogether.

In May, 1888, Mr. Keller was appointed chief

deputy tax-collector of San Bernardino County

by Mr. Stetson, and is now serving his second

term in that capacity. He has charge of the

official correspondence chiefly, and does a large

share of the book-keeping.

Mr. Keller married Miss Willard, a Sacra-

mento lady, the present year—1889. His par-

ents were natives of Germany, and immigrated

to America to escape the revolutionary troubles

of 1848. His father, who was born in 1828,

now resides in Idaho; his mother died about

eighteen years ago.

fOHN E. CUTTER, of the firm of Twogood

& Cutter, nurserymen, Riverside, was born

in Webster, Androscoggin County, Maine,

in 1844. His parents were Dr. Benoni Cutter,

born in New Hampshire, and Olive S. (Drink-

water) Cutter, a native of Maine. The death of

his mother occurred in 1847, and of his father

in 1851; and he was then reared nnder the care

of his grandfather and step-mother. His boy-

hood and youth were spent upon the farm and

in the schools. In 1862 he entered the mili-

tary service of his country as a private of the

Twenty-third Regiment of Maine Volunteers,

and served for nine months in the defense of

Washington. He was honorably discharged at

the expiration of hie term of enlistment, re-en-

listed in the Twenty-ninth Volunteer Infantry,

and shared in all its campaigns and battles.

After hard service he was promoted to be Cor-

poral, |and then Sergeant. His regiment was

assigned to duty in the Nineteenth Army Corps

in the Department of the Gulf, and took part

in the Red river campaign, and, with the Twen-

ty-ninth Wisconsin, built the dam at Alexandria

that saved Admiral Porter's fleet. The regi-
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ment (with most of the corpsj was then ordered

north and joined General Phil. Sheridan's army
in the Shenandoah valley and participated in

the battles of Opeqnan, Fisher's Hill and Cedar
creek. Mr. Cutter remained in the service un-

til the close of the war, and after his discharge

returned to Maine. He then entered the Wes-
leyan Seminary and Female College at Kent's

Hill, and spent two years in study in that insti-

tution. After graduating he engaged as a

teacher in the public schools until 1870. In

that year he emigrated west and located in

Murray County, Minnesota. There he home-

steaded land and occupied himself as a teacher

fur over two years, and then returned to Maine,

and was engaged as a teacher and principal of

academies until 1878. He then decided to es-

tablish himself on the Pacific coast, and in

March of that year came to California and lo-

cated in Riverside. He continued his calling

as a teacher and was principal of the Riverside

Grammar School for a year., and later elsewhere.

He also engaged in horticultural pursuits, hav-

ing in 1879 purchased an eight-acre tract on

Cypress avenue formerly owned by Dr. Emory.

The improvement of this place had been com-

menced with orange trees, to which he added

vineyard and other planting. Mr. Cutter soon

became an expert in horticultural industries,

and writer on the same, contributing papers to

the societies of his own State and also to the

American Horticultural Society. In 1885 he

associated himself with Messrs. John Edwards

and Twogood Brothers, under the firm name of

Twogood, Edwards & Cutter, and entered

largely into the nursery business. They estab-

lished nurseries east of Riverside, and also

imported trees from Florida. In 1888 Mr.

Cutter sold his orange grove on Cypress avenue

and purchased unimproved lands, some of which

he has planted. Among these is a ten-acre

tract in orange trees, about one mile east of

Riverside railroad station, under the Gage canal

system; he has also properties in Palm valley

and at Long'Beach, and an interest in a ten-acre

lot one-half mile south of the city. His resi-

dence is on Prospect avenue, where he has a

half-acre tract.

Mr. Cutter is well known in Riverside as an

energetic and progressive man, taking a deep

interest in the growth and prosperity of the

colony. His interest in schools and churches is

well attested by his support of the same. He
is a member of the Methodist Church, and of

the board of education in the city of River-

side. He is a member of Riverside Post, No.

118, G. A. R. In political matters he is an

independent, of Republican antecedents. In

1877 Mr. Cutter was united in wedlock with

Miss Annie L. Dinsmore, a native of Maine.

She is well known as a teacher in Riverside and

elsewhere in the county. They have one child

:

Charlotte M.

No apology need be offered for giving here

an excellent specimen of Mr. Cutter's poetic

ability and good humor:

POEM OF WELCOME.

BY J. E. CUTTER.

Delivered before the American Horticultural Society at

its session in Riverside in February, 1888.

What strange invasion pours down the glen,

And whence such troops of frozen-bearded men ?

Say, watchman, ho!—way up in the Cajon!

Who may they be, and whither are they bo'ne?

"Seven days aud nights they've fled the blizzard's wrath,

And west-sou'- west have kept the hopeful path:

So far they came it seemed too like a sin

To bar the pass; and so I let them in."

Right, worthy watchman. These our luck shall share;

Bui keep old Zero t'other side with care.

So, friends, you're welcome each to what may suit.

Now doff your furs and have a little fruit.

Old Bacchus, wiser than our modern day,

Hand-squeezed his grapes and sucked their juice away;

Nor still nor saccharometer had he,

And never got his wine by chemistry.

But Bacchus' bowl and chemists' fizzing tun

Have here no place. Beneath the kindly sun

In sweet profusion down the laced lines

We dry the fruitage of our sheeny vines.

The orange? Yes, it rules the vale no doubt.

Just cut transverse and turn it inside out.

The cost you'd know? You've nothing, gents, to pay.

Put in your bills and taste. There, that's the way

!
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THE ABORIGINES.

fHE valleys of California, on the arrival of

the Spaniards, were found to be densely

populated with Indians, the tribal charac-

teristics varying in relation to the different

sections, yet with strong general similarities.

Some of the dialects were commonly understood

by various tribes, while others were completely

isolated by lack of a common medium of com-

munication. They had many liquid sounds,

and even the gutturals were so softened as to

be agreeable to the ear.

The government was in the hands of the

chiefs, each captain commanding his own lodge;

this command was hereditary. Laws in general

were made as required, with the exception of

some few standing ones. Robbery and thieving

were unknown among them, and murder, which

was of rare occurrence, was punished by shoot-

ing to death with arrows. This form of exe-

cution was practiced as a penalty for certain

offenses against morality, which they held

in as deep abhorrence as does our civiliza-

tion. Intermarriage between kindred was for-

bidden; a husband had the right to put to

death his wife, if adulterous; party quarrels

were decided by the chieftains, on the testimony

produced; and there was no appeal from their

decision. Whipping was never resorted to for

a punishment; restitution for damages sus-

tained was made in money, food, and skins.

Their money was shell-beads, flat, and about

one-third of an inch in diameter. Chiefs had

one to three wives, at inclination; their subjects,

only one. The men wore no clothing; the wo-

men of the interior wore a short waist-skirt of

deerskin, while those of the coast wore otter-

skin. Rabbit-skin coverlets were used for bed-

ding. The women wore earrings, the men
passing a piece of reed or cane through the ear-

lobe. The earrings of the women were made

of four long pieces of whale's tooth, ground

smooth and round, about eignt inches in length,

hung with hawk's feathers, swung from a ring

of abelone shell. Their necklaces were very

large and heavy, and consisted of their money

beads, or other beads made of a dark greenish-

black serpentine, and of pieces of whale's tooth,

ground round and pierced. They used brace-

lets of very small shell beads, worn on both

wrists. The shell beads were usually made of

Haliotis and Trivialola. Most of the shells re-

quired for use were obtained at Santa Catalina,

which, as well as the islands opposite Santa

Barbara, abound in these shells at the present

time. The serpentine used in making beads,

ollas, and large rings was also obtained at Santa

Catalina.

After the birth of a chi'd, it and the mother

were subjected to processes of purification, coin-

prising steaming, fasting, etc. Funeral ob-

servances were marked by bowlings and wailings

of dirge-like charcter. The body was kept

until signs of decay appeared. Its disposal was

by inhumation. If the deceased was the head

of a family, or a favorite son, his hut, and all
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his goods and chattels were burned, save only,

perhaps, some article with which to make a

feast at the end of twelve months. In some in-

stances, gravestones were erected. They had

"shamans" or medicine men, rain-makers, etc.

Nearly all the tribes between the Pacific ocean

and the Rocky mountains had more or less

knowledge of plants, insects, or other material

substances, which enabled them to produce sep-

ticaemia in persons or animals wounded by

them. That the shamans prepared arrow poison,

there is no doubt. The medicine men were es-

teemed as wizards or seers; for they not only

cured disease, but also caused or created illness,

poisoned people, brought rain at need, consulted

the Great Spirit, and received his answers,

changed themselves into the forms of divers

animals, and foretold coming events. They

pretended to know not only poisons which de-

stroyed life if taken, but also others whose con-

tact alone was fatal; again some that were

instantaneous and others which took effect only

after weeks or months subsequent to their ad-

ministration. Rheumatism was the principal

ailment; syphilis was unknown until introduced

by the Spaniards. Toothache seldom troubled

them. Rheumatism was treated by the appli-

cation of rows of small blisters to the affected

parts; the blisters were made from the fur off

the dry stalks of nettles, rolled up, compressed,

applied with saliva, and fired, it burning like

punk upon the skin. They employed sweatings,

and bedding in hot ashes, for lumbago; fever

was treated by the administration of wild to-

bacco, mixed with lime of shells, as bolus, to

produce vomiting, besides the administration

of other herbs, and manipulation somewhat like

massage. Local inflammation was scarified with

pieces of sharp flint, to draw as much blood as

possible from the part. Paralysis, stagnation

of the blood, etc., was treated by whipping for

a long time the affected part with bunches of

nettles, and by producing drunkenness with the

juice of thorn-apple. Shell lime was well known,

but none made from limestone. For an emetic,

lime was given as a bolus, mixed with wild to-

bacco. Snake-bites were cured by the application

to the wound of ashes and herbs, wi*h the in-

ternal remedy of the fine dust found at the

bottom of ants' nests. To prevent the hair

from splitting, red clay was applied, covering

it all over for twenty-four hours. For baldness,

chilicotes (a small wild bean, of a bright scarlet

color) were burnt to charcoal, and applied

morning and evening. They had few games,

and these were of a gambling order; football

was played by children, or by the swift of foot,

and the spectators bet on the result. They had

many legends and traditions on various subjects,

some of which were very ingenious, and even

poetical. Many of these Indians developed,

under the instructions of the padres and other

contact with the Spaniards, faculties of a sur-

prising order.

THE EARLY SPANISH EXPLORATIONS

AND MISSION SETTLEMENTS. SAN GABRIEL.

The first white man who ever saw, if he did

not tread, the soil of Los Angeles County, was

Juan Rodriguez Cabrillo, a Portuguese naviga-

tor in the service of Spain, who in 1542 sailed

up the coast of California. Leaving San Diego

bay on October 3, three days later he discovered

the islands of San Clemente and Santa Catalina,

and a few days after, he was at San Pedro bay,

which he named " The Bay of Smokes or Fires,"

from what he saw thereabouts. He described

this as a good port, with good surrounding

plains, groves, and valleys. On October 9 he

anchored in Santa Monica bay, and the next

day sailed on, northward; but before the conclu-

sion of the voyage he died, and was buried on

the island of San Miguel. The expedition was

continued as far north as latitude 42.

In 1603 came sailing hither Sebastian Viz-

cayno, who staid at San Diego bay from No-

vember 10 to 20, and then went to San Pedro,

which he named for the Bishop of Alexandria.

At that time, Catalina Island had a large

Indian population, who lived with some degree

of comfort.
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As it is not known positively whether Cabrillo

or Vizcayno actually set foot on the soil here,

the credit of that achievement must be given to

Gaspar de Portola and his party, who arrived

within the present limits of this county on July

30, 1769.

Partly to guard against the encroachments of

the Russians, on the north, and the possible at-

tempted occupation of it by the English, the

Spanish Government had at last decided to

occupy Alta California, and so instructed the

viceroy, who put the management of the mat-

ter into the hands of Don Jose de Galvez, the

Visitador-General. This official, from the penin-

sula of Baja California, arranged for two expedi-

tions to go to Monterey, one by sea, the other

by land. Accordingly, the two detachments

duly set out, and in July they were united at

San Diego, whence, leaving Padre Serra to

found a mission, Portola pushed on by land,

northward, to re-discover, if possible, the bay of

Monterey, described by Vizcayno, 166 years

earlier. Following the shore, they turned inland

at about the present town of San-Juan-by-the-

Sea, and came along the way where now is the

Santa Fe Railway. On July 28 they passed the

Santa Ana river, which they named Rio Jesus

de lo8 Temblores, from several sharp shocks of

earthquake felt there. They came on the first

day of August, to the place where now stands

the city of Los Angeles. The next day was the

feast of the chuich dedicated to " Nuestra Sefiora

Reina de Los Angeles " (Our Lady of the An-

gels), and accordingly mass was celebrated, and

the place named in her honor. Such was the

origin of the name of the present city. On
August 3 Portola continued his journey in

search of Monterey bay (which he then failed to

find, it may be remarked, enpassant). In 1771

two of the projected missions, San Diego and

Monterey, had been established, and on the re-

ception of the news in Mexico, it was immedi-

ately determined that five more than the three

originally contemplated should be established

at once. A re-enforcement of missionaries was

sent to Monterey, and on June 7, Friars Angel

Somera and Pedro Benito Cambon, chosen by

President Serra for the San Gabriel mission,

sailed for San Diego, whence, after some delays

the party, comprising twenty persons, set out

for San Gabriel. Instead of stopping at the

Santa Ana (Rio Jesus de los Temblores), as at

first intended, they went on twenty-five miles

farther, to a spot near an Indian village called

Sibag-na, whose inhabitants received them with

most hostile demonstrations, which were pres-

ently checked in what seemed to them a mirac-

ulous manner. For no sooner did the Indians

behold a banner on which was painted the Vir-

gin Mary—a Dolorosa—than they threw down

their weapons and ran to lay their ornaments

at the feet of her whom they called a " beauti-

ful queen," while the women brought nuts and

seeds in offering to her. On September 8,

1771, the cross was raised, and the formal cere-

monies performed which solemnly founded the

mission of San Gabriel Arcangel. The Indians

had willingly assisted in building the houses and

stockades for the mission, being perfectly friend-

ly and pacific in their behavior. But the out-

rageous conduct of the soldiers, here as else-

where, provoked the savages to retaliation, and

brought on a conflict which kept the Indians

aloof from the mission for a long time there-

after. The first Indiau child baptized here re-

ceived the rite on November 27, being, strangely

enough, a son of the chief killed in the first

combat. The first attempts at farming here

were not successful, the first year's crop being

drowned; but the second yielded heavily, and at

the end of the second year this mission had also

a very considerable increase of cattle. About

1775 the mission was removed to another site

not far away, which was much more desirable.

In 1797 the present stone church was begun,

although it was not finished until after 1800.

In 1774, and again in 1776, San Gabriel was

visited by " the Spanish Pathfinder," Captain

Juan Bautista Anza. The second time he

brought with him over 200 immigrants for the

northern district, who, with their stock, made

sad inroads upon the resources of the mission.
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In 1777 the abuses of the soldiery caused an

uprising of the Indians, which, the fathers said,

was subdued by a sight of the image of the

Virgin. Here as elsewhere in the province,

there was not a little friction caused by dis-

agreements between the clergy and the military.

In 1785 there was an Indian revolt, promoted

by a woman, which was promptly subdued, how-

ever. In 1806 there came to this mission from

San Fernando Father Jose Maria Zalvidea,

whose wise administration brought it to its

highest degree of prosperity. He it was who

planted large vineyards, orchards, and gardens;

built a mill and a dam, a fence, and other mate-

rial improvements. He remodeled, too, the sys

tern of administration, and revised, so to speak,

the code of morals. System, order, method,

—

such were the forces he brought to bear upon

his nock: and he taught them various industries

that added vastly to their comfort and the wealth

of the mission. At this period San Gabriel had

dependent ranchos at San Pasqual, Santa Anita,

Azusa, San Francisquito, Cucamonga, San x\nto-

nio, San Bernardino, San Gorgonio, Yucaipa,

J urn pa, Guapa, Rincon, Chino, San Jose, Ybar-

ras, Puente, Mission Vieja, Serranos, Rosa

Castillo, Coyotes, Jaboneria, Las Bolsas, Ala-

mitos, and Cerritos. In 1830 occurred at San

Gabriel the trial of Henry D. Fitch, of San Diego,

for "scandalizing the church" ty eloping with

the Senorita Josefa Carrillo; this was a cause

celebre,a.nd the penance imposed for the offense

was that Fitch should give a bell of at least fifty

pounds weight to the church at Los Angeles.

In 1830 or 1831 the minister at San Gabriel

bought a brig to trade with South America and

Mexico; and in 1831 he encouraged live Amer-

cans to build at San Pedro a schooner for the

hunting of sea-otter. The general statistics of

San Gabriel inisssion for its period of existence,

of sixty-three years, are as follows: Total num-

ber of baptisms, 7,854, of which 4,355 were In-

dian adults, 2,459 Indian children, and 1 adult

and 1,039 children of gente de rason, that is,

Spaniards and their descendants. Total of marri-

ages, 1,955 of which 241 were gente de rason.

Total deaths, 5,656, Indian adults being 2,896,

Indian children 2,363, adults 211, and children

186, of gente de rason. The annual average

was eighty-eight; the annual average death rate,

7.61 per cent of the population. The largest

population was 1,701 in 1817. The males were

in excess, notably after 1803. The proportion

of children varied from one-eighth per cent, at

first to one-tenth per cent at the last. The

largest number of cattle was 26,300 in 1828; of

horses, 2,400 in 1827; mules, 205 in 1814;

asses, 6 in 1794; sheep, 15,000 in 1829; goats,

1,380 in 1785; swine, 300 in 1802; also in

1822; all kinds, 40,360 animals in 1830. The

total product of wheat was 225,942 bushels;

yield, 16-fold; barley, for eleven years only,

1,250 bushels, yield, 10-fold; maize, 154,820,

yield, 145-fold; beans, 14,467 bushels, yield,

28-fold. In the year 1834, at the time of

secularization, there were 163,579 vines, in four

vineyards, and 2,333 fruit trees. After the

initiatory movement toward the secularization

of this mission in 1834, there was no further

keeping of statistics.

SAN FERNANDO MISSION.

The mission of San Fernando was the second

established within the present limits of Los

Angeles County. It was founded September 8,

1797, at a place called by the natives Achois

Comihavit, on land claimed as a private ranch.

It was dedicated to San Fernando, King of Spain.

The church, of adobes with a tile roof, was con-

secrated in December, 1806. The earthquake

of December, 1812, somewhat damaged the

bnilding. From 1816 to 1818 a large number

of neophites deserted. The greatest population

was 1,080 in 1819, after which it began to

decline. This mission was never nearly so im-

portant as that of San Gabriel, and its history

is therefore much shorter. San Fernando was

secularized in 1834, with other missions, when

Lieutenant Antonio del Valle was commissioned

to its charge. In 1840 there were still about

400 Indians in the ex-mission community. At

one period of its history there were nearly one
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and a half miles of buildings connected with

this mission, in its various branches of industry.

The church building, whose ruins are still

standing, measured 45 x 150 feet within its walls.

The total number of baptisms at this mission

was 2,839, 1,415 being Indian adults, 1,367

Indian children, 57 children de razon. The

marriages were 849, 15 being de razon. Of

2,028 deaths, 1,036 were Indian adults, 965

Indian children, 12 white adults and 15 white

children. The sexes were nearly equal; chil-

dren from one-fourth to one-third. The largest

number of cattle was 12,800 in 1819; horses,

1,320 in 1820; mules, 340 in 1812; sheep, 7,800

in 1819; goats, 600 in 1816; swine, 250 in

1814; all kinds, 21,745 in 1819. The total

product of wheat was 119.000 bushels; yield,

nineteen-fold; barley, for only six years, 3,070

bushels, fonrteen-fold; maize, 27,070 bushels,

eiglity-three-fold; beans, 3,624 bushels, fourteen-

fold. The mission had 32,000 vines and 1,600

fruit trees in the year 1835.

In 1846 the California Legislature authorized

Governor Pio Pico to sell at auction the secu-

larized mission estates, devoting the proceeds

to the maintenance of the priests, the expenses

of public worship, and the surplus, if any, to

distribution among the Indians. Before this

decree was carried into effect, an order from

Mexico arrived, suspending the sale of all mis-

sion property. Of the several missions that

had already been sold, the title of San Fernando,

sold to Celis for $14,000, was ultimately con-

firmed by the United States Land Commission;

but the Supreme Court decided, in the case of

San Gabriel, after American occupation, that

Pico had no right to make the sale.

THE CITY OF LOS ANGELES,

FROM THE FOUNDING UNTIL THE MEXICAN WAR.

On August 26, 1781, Felipe de Neve, Gov-

ernor of the Californias, acting on the regula-

tions of 1779 tor the government of that province,

issued a proclamation containing instructions

for the foundation of the pueblo of Nuestra

Sefiora de Los Angeles, with additional partic-

ulars for the survey and the distribution of lots.

The site selected was on the bench of land

where now stands that portion of the city called

•' Sonoratown," overlooking the river Purciun-

cula, then changed to Los Angeles. Here,

on September 4, 1781, with very little ceremony,

was founded the pueblo of Los Angeles. The
founders of the pueblo, who had been enlisted

in Sinaloa, were as follows: 1. Jose de Lara, a

Spaniard, fifty years old; had an Indian wife

and three children. 2. Jose Antonio Navarro,

a meztizo, forty-two years old, with a mulatto

wife and three children. 3. Basilio Rosas, an

Indian, sixty-eight years old, with a mulatto

wife and six children. 4. Antonio Mesa, a

negro, thirty-eight years old, with a wife and

two children. 5. Antonio Felix Villavicencio,

a Spaniard, thirty years old, with a wife and

one child. 6. Jose Vanegas, an Indian, twenty-

eight years old, with an Indian wife and one

child. 7. Alejandro Rosas, an Indian, nineteen

years old, with an Indian wife. 8. Pablo Rod-

riguez, an Indian, twenty-five years old, with

an Indian wife and one child. 9. Manuel Ca-

mero, a mulatto, thirty years old,with a mulatto

wife. 10. Luis Quintero, a negro, fifty-five

years old, with a mulatto wife and live children.

11. Jose Moreno, a mulatto, twenty-two years

old, with a mulatto wife. Thus the original

founders of Los Angeles consisted of eleven

families, comprising forty-four persons. Ex-

clusive of their children, there were two Span-

iards, nine Indians, on emeztizo, eight mulattoes,

and two negroes,—certainly a " rather mixed "

community. Not one of them could write, and

only one had a trade; Navarro was a tailor.

Poor in purse, poor in learning and poor in

blood, they were from the very scum of Mexico.

They had been engaged as colonists at $10 per

month for ten years, with daily ratious of one

real (12^ cents) per day for the same period.

Two of the original recruits had deserted before

reaching the country, and three of the "found-

ers," Lara, Mesa and Quintero, were sent away

in 1782 as "useless to the town and to them-

selves." But the rest went to work pluckily
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enough, and the Government soon had satisfac-

tory reports of their progress. An irrigating

ditch was constructed, and mud-rooted huts of

palisades, which were shortly replaced by adobe

honses; a few public buildings had been erected

also, and an adobe church was in progress. The

moving cause for the founding of Los Angeles

was its intended use as an agricultural colony,

to help supply the northern establishments.

From " An Historical Sketch of Los Angeles

County," by Colonel J. J. Warner, is taken

the following description of the place in 1831,

the date of the author's arrival: "For the

center of the town, a parallelogram, 100 varas

(a vara is 33^ inches) long and 75 varas wide,

was laid out as a public square. Twelve house

lots fronting on the square occupied three sides

of it, and one-half of the remaining side of 75

varas was destined for public buildings, and

the other half as a vacant space. The location

of the public square would nearly correspond

to the following lines: The southeast corner

of Upper Main and Marchessault streets for the

southern or southeastern corner; the east line of

Upper Main street for the above-named corner 100

varas in a northerly direction for the east line

of the square; and the northern line of Mar-

chessault street for the southern line of the

square. The present plaza was first used for

a cemetery. At a short distance from the

public square, on the alluvial bottom of the

river, easily irrigable, were laid out thirty

fields of 40,000 square varas each, separated

by narrow lanes."

The municipal government devised for these

settlers was a compound ot political and mil-

itary power, the latter predominating largely.

The municipal power was vested in an alcalde,

appointed by the governor, or by the military

commander of the district. The absence of

municipal records for the first half century

after the founding of Los Angeles warrants

the presumption that the local officers exercised

but little authority during that time. The

system adopted by the government for the

foimatiou of pueblos and the granting of build-

ing lots and farming lands within the limits of

a pueblo did not require a record of the grant.

After the allotment of house lots and fields to

the original twelve settlers, only uine of whom
received land grants, no record appears to have

been kept of either house lots or fanning lands

until 1836. The settler who erected a house

upon a lot, or cultivated and fenced a field,

assigned to him, did not become vested with

the title of ownership to either; but, if he left

either species of property in a condition of

abandonment, it became subject to denounce-

ment and acquisition by another. In September,

1786, Ensign Jose Argtiello, of the Spanish

army, was commissioned by Governor Fages to

survey the pueblo and put the settlers in pos-

session of their lands. This formality was duly

exercised with regard to nine of the settlers,

none of whom could sign the documents with

other signature than a cross. Being recruited

from the soldiers who had served out their time,

the pueblo grew quite rapidly in the next four

years, increasing from nine to twenty-eight

families, or a tot«l of 141 souls. In 1790 the

large stock numbered 2,980 head; the small

stock 438; and that year's crop amounted to

4,500 bushels. Events were rare for the next

ten years. In 1800 the white population was

315, chiefly increased by the maturity of chil-

dren and the advent of retired soldiers. The

horses and cattle now numbered 12,500; sheep,

1,700; the year's crop was 4,600 bushels, mostly

maize. There is no record of any town official

for the first nine years of the nineteenth cen-

tury. In 1810 the population was 365, and

moreover, some fifty people had been recruited

from the town for soldiers for the presidios.

Deliberate slaughter had diminished the large

stock abont one-half; the sheep were still less

than 2,000; the crops of wheat and maize va-

ried from 4,500 to 6,000 bushels. The increase

of vices was becoming alarming. In 1810 there

was a.quarrel between the pueblo and the mis-

sion of San Gabriel, chiefly caused by the wTater

question. During the decade closing in 1820 the

popi ilation varied as follows: 1811, 354; 1815,
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478; 1818, 586; 1820, 650, including the out-

lying ranchos. In 1817 there were 53,186

vines planted in the city. In August, 1814,

was laid the corner-s one of the present church

on the plaza, on which nothing further was done

for seven years. The citizens contributed cattle

toward the building fund, and the priests of the

various missions gave seven barrels of brandy.

By 1821 the church was built as high as the

window arches, and it was completed and dedi-

cated December 8. 1822.

There was a very destructive flood in April,

1815, in which month occurred the ratification

by the Angelenos of the Federal Constitution

of the Mexican Republic.

The first school here was kept by Maximo

Pifla, a retired soldier, who received $140 a

year for his services.

In the year 1818, the "Year of the Insur-

gents," there were captured from the force of

the invading Bouchard, at a battle between his

troop and the Spania*4s, at Monterey, two pris-

oners, one of whom, Joseph Chapman, was

afterward the builder of the mill at the San

Gabriel mission, and an assistant on the church

at Los Angeles. During the great alarm of

Bouchard's appearance on the coast, Los An-

geles raised a company of men who went to

Santa Barbara, and took part in the action at

Ortega's Ranch. From 1820 to 1830, the

municipal authorities were making strenuous

efforts to eradicate the vices which had strength-

ened in the community, and they rigorously

enforced the penalties for offences against law

and order, and morality. There exists no com-

plete list of the town officers for this decade.

In the autumn of 1827 Duhaut-Cilley, the

first foreign visitor, came to Los Angeles. He
found eighty-two houses, built of adobe, and

roofed with asphaltum, in the midst of culti-

vated gardens, on alluvial land. In his account

he noted the inability of the authorities to keep

the peace and preserve order. It was during

this year that Don Juan Bandini introduced

in the provisional legislature a proposition to

change the name of the town to Villa Victoria

dc la Reina de Los Angeles, and make it a city

and the capital of California. The matter was

submitted to the national Government, but no

action was thereby taken upon it. In 1829 the

debt of the city council was $49. The tax on

wine and brandy was $339, and on vines $158;
the expenditures for the year amounted to

$642. In 1830 the population was 1,000 white

people, and 200 or 300 Indians.

In 1830 Manuel Victoria was appointed Gov-

ernor to succeed Echeandia, and his arbitrary

and illegal dispositions soon fomented a revo-

lution in Southern California, whose citizens

now comprised many people of intelligence and

culture, as well as of a free and independent

spirit. The outbreak was headed by such men
as Carrillo, Bandini, Stearns, and Pio Pico,

whose brother, Andres Pico, was one of the citi-

zens unlawfully imprisoned by Victoria. Is-

suing a proclamation against the governor, they

organized as a military body and set out from

San Diego northward to depose him. The An-

gelefios joined them with great enthusiasm, and

some 150 revolutionists marched out of Los

Angeles on December 5. Meanwhile, Victoria

had reached San Fernando with about thirty

men, on his way to subdue his refractory sub-

jects, the full extent of whose insubordination

was not known to him until late on December

4, so that it was with a very insufficient force he

set out to meet them the next morning. The

two bodies met at the Cahuenga Pass, some

twelve miles west of the city, and an encounter

ensued, in which Romualdo Pacheco, of the gov-

ernor's party, and Jose Maria Avila, of the revo-

lutionists, were killed. Victoria was wounded

and captured, and one or two soldiers wounded,

in a struggle of not over three minutes' dura-

tion. Four days later Victoria surrendered his

office to Echeandia at San Gabriel, and soou

after went to Mexico.

The legislature, which met at Los Angeles,

January 1, 1832, chose Pio Pico as Governor,

but the town council and Echeandia refused to

recognize him, and Pico decided not to attempt

to retain the office. On March 7, 1835, about
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fifty Sonorans, who had lately come to Califor-

nia, marched from Los Nietos to Los Angeles,

took possession of the town hall, and caused the

alcalde to assemhle the town council, to whom
they proposed to remove Governor Figueroa,

who, they claimed, had exceeded his powers-

Pablo de la Portilla, who had commanded at

the action of Cahuenga Pass, was proposed to

succeed Figueroa, but it was understood that

the ultimate purpose was to make Governor

Jose Maria Hijar, who had brought these people

to Los Angeles as colonists, under a commission

from the vice-president to assume the gover-

norship of California. This power President

Santa Ana had revoked between Hijar's de-

parture from Mexico and his arrival in Califor-

nia. The town council replied that it had no

authority to act in such a matter, and expressed

disapproval of the revolution; whereupon, after

deliberation, the leaders informed the council,

that, inconsequence of this disapprobation, they

had decided to abandon the project, give over

the instigators, and trust to the mercy of the

authorities.

By a decree of the Mexican Congress dated

May 23, 1835, Los Angeles was made a city,

and the capital of California, as proclaimed by

Governor Gutierrez, January, 1836. But the

citizens did not provide even temporary build-

ings for the occupancy of the government

officials, and so the capital always remained at

Monterey. As far back as this period and this

year, the subject of State division was enter-

tained, and also, in this year, the legislature at

Monterey issued a decree tantamount to a dec-

laration of independence from Mexico. The

same legislature temporarily divided the State

into two cantons, one including Monterey, San

Jose, and San Francisco; and the other Los An-

geles, San Diego, and Santa Barbara. This ar-

rangement was thwarted by opposition from the

southern district. Extra sessions were held of

the town councils at Los Angeles and San Diego,

which rejected the project advanced at Mon-

terey; and Santa Barbara also forwarded expres-

sions of disapproval, but later withdrew, de-

claring an intention to remain neutral, although

her citizens gave Alvarado, the " Monterey Gov-

ernor," welcome and support when he reached

there late in the year with a small army. There

was much resolving and counter-resolviDg, and

interchange of messages, but at last Alvarado

marched into Los Angeles on January 23, 1837,

and fairly imposed terms upon the malcontents.

Nevertheless, both here and at San Diego, op-

position brooded, with frequent outbreaks, until

finally news came from Mexico that California

had been made a department, with Alvarado as

Governor ad interim, by virtue of his position

as first member of the legislature.

In February, 1831, arrived at Los Angeles

the Wolfskill party, whose leader, William

Wolfskill, and others of its members, had no

small share in the occurrences of early days.

On December 5, 1831, arrived some members

of the Jedediah S. Smith party, among them

that favorite pioneer and picturesque figure, J.

J. Warner.

In April, 1832, came Ewing Young, with

some seventy men, eight or ten of whom re-

mained in Los Angeles.

At this period, 1835, there was much law-

lessness in and about Los Angeles, and the con-

ditions in this respect led to the organization,

on April 7, 1836, in direct consequence of an

adulterous murder, of the first vigilance com-

mittee in California.

In 1838 Ygnacio Coronel, the father of Don
Antonio F. Coronel, aided by his wife and

daughter, opened a primary school in Los An-
geles.

In 1840 Los Angeles had a population of

1,100. There was an epidemic of sensational

crimes this year, in which also occurred the

arrest and exile, by order of Alvarado, of about

fifty Americans. Isaac Graham, who had been

a loyal and most useful friend to the Governor,

who owed to this man his present prominence,

was among the Americans who were conducted

in chains to Mexico and treated with cruel and

shameful severity. After finally obtaining their

release, owinir to the intervention of the British
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Government, some of whose subjects were

among them, a number of these men found

their way again to Los Angeles about a year

later.

In the '40's, American immigration began to

be quite extensive.

On October 19, 1842, Commodore Jones, of

the United States Navy, who had heard that

there was war between his own country and

Mexico, captured the fort at Monterey; but,

learning his mistake, he hauled down the Am-
erican flag two days later, and saluted the Mexi-

can colors.

In the meanwhile, Micheltorena, the newly-

arrived Governor of California, had hastened to

fortify Los Angeles, on hearing of Jones' exploit.

Three months later Jones visited Micheltorena

at Los Angeles, and quite occupied the position

of the guest "whom the king delighted to

honor."

Remaining in Los Angeles the first half of

1843, Micheltorena became daily more unpopu-

lar, mainly on account of the misbehavior of

his "convict battalion." The disaffection grew

until open revolt began at Monterey, in Novem-

ber, 1844, followed by a general uprising

throughout California. Micheltorena, having

secured the not disinterested support of about

twenty Americans, marched toward Los Angeles

where the American residents had organized a

company for their own protection, under the

captaincy of William Workman. The Califor-

niaus had a force of about 400 men. On Feb-

ruary 20, 1845, the two armies came moderately

close together, and bombarded each other all the

afternoon with bloodless results. The next day

Micheltorena was abandoned by his foreign

allies, and he then surrendered, ceding the gov-

ernorship to Pio Pico, and promising to return

to Mexico. His captors looked to it that he

promptly fulfilled his agreement.

With Pio Pico as Governor, and a majority

of the legislature southern men, Los Angeles

remained the capital of California during the

year and a half that California was still under

Mexican rule; and on March 2 the legislature

met in that city. There were still local disturb-

ances, but of a nature to be adjusted without

great difficulty.

In 1842 gold was discovered on the San Fran-

cisquito Rancho, thirty-five miles west of Los

Angeles. Investigation showed that it was

placer gold, and a number of people, mostly

Sonorans used to mining, remained at these

mines, which they worked with fair success un-

til the party returned to Sonora in 1846. While

work was continued they took out $6,000 or

$8,000 per year.

In 1845 the town council appointed a com-

mittee to name the streets and number the

houses. The population was now 1,250.

The annals of Los Angeles prior to the Mex-

ican war close in 1846 with the meeting in

that city of the provincial legislature, to which

Pio Pico communicated that the Mexican Pres-

ident had appointed him constitutional Gov-

ernor of the Californias. Before that body and

a large concourse of citizens and officials, on

April 18, he took the oath and delivered his in-

augural address.

THE WAR WITH MEXICO, 1846-'47.

The beginning of the Mexican war in Cali-

fornia found John C. Fremont in charge of an

exploring expedition in the Upper Sacramento

valley, en route to Oregon, whence he was

hastily recalled by Lieutenant A. H. Gillespie,

a special messenger from Washington. In

June, 1846, the American settlers captured the

town of Sonoma, and raised the famous "Bear

Flag." On July 7, Commodore Sloat, of the

United States Navy, raised the flag of the

United States at Monterey, proclaiming that

California thenceforth would be a portion of the

United States. On July 15, Commodore Stock-

ton arrived from Honolulu, on the ship Con-

gress, and on the 23d assumed command of all

the United States forces on land. On the same

day he perfected an arrangement with Fremont

by which 160 members of the Bear-Flag revo-

lution were received as a battalion of volunteers,

and Fremont made Major. On the 26th the
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ship Cyane, commanded by Captain Dupont,

was sent to San Diego, with the Fremont bat-

talion on board.

On July 16, Governor Pico convened the

Legislature in special session at Los Angeles,

where little was done save initiating the forma-

tion of an army, encampment being made near.

On August 6, Stockton readied San Pedro,

landed a force, raised the flag, and prepared to

inarch inland. After some attempt at negotia-

tions, Governor Pico and General Castro, com-

manding the Los Angeles force, decided that as

a successful defense was impossible with the

elements available, it was better to abandon the

field. The legislature, approving Pico's proposi-

tions, adjourned sine die on August 10, and that

night both Pico and Castro left the country,

though not together. Pico, after some time

spent in concealment, escaped into Mexico, re-

jecting Fremont's proposition to convoke the

legislature and go through the form of turning

the country over to the United States, on as-

surance ot security. Pico did not return to

California until about the middle of July, 1848.

Stockton commenced his inarch to Los An-

geles August 11. His cannon were drawn by

the sailors and by oxen. Just outside the town

he was joined by Fremont, from San Diego,

and at four o'clock on the 13th the army entered

California's capital, with band playing, and

raised the flag of its country with all due cere

monies. The people appeared to feel more

curiosity than hostility. Stockton mounted a

few guns on the hill, and issued to the people a

proclamation announcing ttiat the country now

belonged to the United States, and that it would

be governed for a time by military law. He
assured them of the safety of their lives and

their property, and invited them to choose their

i wn civil officers, ordering an election of local

officers to be held in the several towns and dis-

tricts on September 15. Then organizing a

garrison under command of Lieutenant Gilles-

pie, and forwarding to Washington by the

famous scout, Kit Carson, a full report of his

doings, he embarked at San Pedro for Monterey,

while Fremont marched overland to the Sacra-

mento valley.

Gillespie may have been a good soldier, but

he was not fitted for a ruler. As soon as he

was left in charge, he began to issue decrees

which interfered needlessly with the old customs

of this conservative people; he also made arbi-

trary and unwarranted arrests, and otherwise

offended by arrogant and high handed behavior.

The citizens, originally well-disposed, developed

under such treatment a natural resentment and

irritation. Shortly after the Mexican Indepen-

dence day, September 16, a party of celebrators,

in a drunken frolic, made an attack, which was

easily dispersed, on the barracks of the Ameri-

cans. Gillespie, bent on finding objects for

punishment, caused the arrest of a number of

Californians who were on parole, and who,

moreover, were at home and asleep when the

disorder mentioned took place, although he was

warned that he would stir up to rebellion the

whole population. Among the men thus un-

warrantably put under restraint were General

Andres Pico, one of the most popular men in

the country; Don Jose Carrillo, ex-deputy to

the Mexican Congress, and ex-Captain Jose

Maria Flores. As had been predicted, the

whole Mexican population at once arose in

arms and seized such Americans as had not

been able to enter the barracks. Gillespie, be-

coming alarmed, released his prisoners, when

the Californians freed theirs also. But those

Californians whose liberty had been outraged

were naturally furious at their seizure and the

attempt to hold them responsible for the acts of

a few drunken vagabonds; and as Gillespie had

violated the promise of personal liberty made

them when they gave their parole, they refused

to be bound by it longer.

Within a day some 400 men had collected;

they went into camp near the river, choosing

Flores for commander. They were badly off for

fire-arms and ammunition, but every man had

his lance and his sword. On the day after the

outbreak, a proclamation was issued, reciting

the wrongs which had been inflicted, appealing
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to Mexican patriotism and threatening ven-

geance.

Benito D. Wilson, who had been put in com-

mand of twenty Americans to protect the San

Bernardino frontier, heard at the Jurupa Ran-

cho of the revolt at Los Angeles, and, going to

the Chino Kancho of Isaac Williams, where

they were disappointed by finding no powder,

they were there besieged by some fifty Cali-

fornians under Barelas, who had excited the

original uprising at Los Angeles; he was joined

here by about twenty other Mexicans from

around San Bernardino. The Americans took

refuge in a large adobe ranch house, having few

openings, and fairly well protected by an as-

phaltum roof, a ditch, and an adobe fence. At

daylight on September 27, the Californians made

a rush for the house, this being accompanied

by a discharge of fire-arms from either party.

Many of the riders were thrown at the ditch,

and one was killed by a rifle-ball. Several

Americans were seriously wounded. The as-

sailants reached the wall and fired the roof, de-

manding the surrender of the Americans, under

promise of protection as prisoners of war.

The terms were accepted, the fire was extin-

guished, and the victors, with their captives,

moved toward Los Angeles. The commander

kept faith with his prisoners, in spite of in-

cendiary urging from violent partisans, and

they were turned over to General Flores, who

subsequently exchanged them.

Meanwhile, Gillespie and his men were posted

on Fort Hill, having there some guns, the his-

tory of whose mounting is not a little stirring.

J. W. Marshall, of gold-discovery fame, had

been transferred to Los Angeles from the com-

pany left at San Diego. He early discovered

the trouble iinpending from the arbitrary con-

duct of Gillespie, and he also found that the

Californians had in reserve a brass six-pound

cannon which had not been unearthed when Stock-

ton made requisition for all the arms and weapons

in the vicinity. Gillespie ridiculed these sug-

gestions, yet Marshall's foresight in strength-

ening the gates of the American quarters

undoubtedly saved the Americans from a gen-

eral massacre, when the Californians tried to

storm them. Repulsed here, the Mexicans,

having gathered a force of 500 men, prepared

for a siege.

A hill in front of the American quarters com-

manded a view of the court-yard and buildings,

so that by mounting a gun on the hill, the en-

emy would have the Americans at their mercy.

And with a gun the Mexicans were presently

seen to be moving up the hill, and the gun was

the brass six-pounder, at whose existence Gilles-

pie had scouted. Marshall, whose office as chief

carpenter, seems to have by no means exhausted

his resources, at once hastened to make avail-

able two or three old cannon lying spiked and

useless in the court-yard. Others quickly fash-

ioned cartridges for these guns, and then the

Americans sallied from their citadel and made

a run for the top of the hill, hoping to distance

the Californians, who, ignorant of the move-

ment against them, were climbing more leis-

urely from another direction. If the Californians

should reach the top first, the Americans would

be just in position to be mowed down by the

six-pounder. Neither party could see the other,

and the Americans could only strain every nerve

to be first at the summit; which they did to

such good purpose that when they at last stag-

gered to the very top, they saw the Mexicans

still at some distance. Planting the gun, they

trained it upon the enemy, who were forced to

a speedy retreat by its discharge. To guard

against further attack, the position on the hill

was held, a guard placed over the guns, and

sentries were posted about the eminence. After

the return of Barelas with the captured Ameri-

cans, Flores sent B. D. Wilson to Gillespie to

say that the Americans might retire to San

Fedro unmolested, if they would abandon the

city. Gillespie accepted the offer, and on Sep-

tember 29 marched out with all the honors of

war, drums beating and colors flying, and tak-

ing with him the four cannon.
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THE BATTLE OF DOMIKGUEZ KANCHO.

On October 6, Captain Mervin reached San

Pedro, immediately landing 350 men, who,

joined by Gillespie's men, began the march to

Los Angeles, taking neither cannon from the

ship, nor horses. In the afternoon they ex-

changed a few shots with a body of some fifty

mounted Californians under Jose Antonio Car-

rillo. At night the Americans occupied the

buildings of the Domingnez Rancho. Before

midnight Carrillo was joined by Flores, who

brought the brass six-pounder and sixty more

men; he returned the next morning to Los An-

geles, leaving the gun and forty of his men
with Carrillo, whom he instructed to harass the

Americans as much as possible, without risking

a general engagement. Carrillo divided his

men into three bodies, about forty on either

flank, and ten with the gun in the center. The

American force also, which was composed of

marines and seamen, was in three divisions, a

solid square in the center, with Gillespie's men

in skirmishing parties on the right and the left.

As the Americans advanced, the cannon was

discharged upon them, and then dragged rap-

idly away after the Mexicans, by ropes attached

to the ridei-6' saddles; when at a safe distance,

a halt was made to reload. At first the gun did

no harm, but as the Mexicans became more

expert at loading, they killed six Americans,

and wounded as many. No one was hurt of

the Californians. The Americans behaved brave

ly, but Mervin, realizing that foot-soldiers could

never overtake cavalry and flying artillery, re-

treated, and re-embarked at San Pedro. De-

tachments of Mexicans were stationed at ranchos

in the vicinity, to keep watch upon the Amer-

icans.

Summoned by Flores, the Legislature met

and re-organized at Los Angeles, October 26,

appointing Flores to the united offices of Gov-

ernor and Commander-in-Chief, made vacant

by the flight of Pico and Castro.

Stockton, being informed of the state of af-

fairs in the South, sailed in the Congress for

San Pedro, where he arrived October 23, to

learn of Mervin's defeat the day before. The
horses had all been driven away from this sec-

tion, rendering it impossible for Stockton to

convey his provisions to Los Angeles by march.

Moreover, Carrillo so maneuvred his 400 men
as to make them appear to be more than 2,000.

Hence, Stockton decided to attack Los Angeles

by way of San Diego, for which port he sailed

the first of November. While engaged in prepar-

ing for the impending struggle he.was advised of

the overland approach of General Kearny, of the

United States array, with an armed force, to

meet whom he sent Lieutenant Gillespie with a

detachment.

On December 6 was fought the battle of San

Pasqual, between Kearny's force and that of

General Andres Pico. Kearny had eighteen

men killed, three mortally wounded, sixteen

badly wounded, and one missing. On hearing

of the battle Stockton sent a force to the assist-

ance of Kearny, who reached San Diego De-

cember 12. On December 29 Stockton left

San Diego for Los Angeles, he being Com-
mander-in-Chief, with Kearny in command of

the division.

Progressing by slow stages, the array was met

on the way by emissaries from Flores, pro-

posing a truce, pending confirmation of a report

that peace had been declared between the United

States and Mexico. At first refusing to hear of

aught but an unconditional surrender, Stockton

at last consented to issue a proclamation offering

amnesty to all but Flores, on condition that he

should be given up as a prisoner. Moving

from Los Coyotes Rancho on January 8, 1847,

Stockton turned aside from the most direct

route to Los ^Angeles, owing to information

given him, and went to the upper ford, Paso de

Bartolo. 'The Mexicans, finding that the Amer-

icans knew of their presence at the lower ford,

hastily marched to the upper, where Flores

ported his men, nearly 500 strong, shortly be-

fore the appearance of the Americans. His

men were so placed as to command most ad-

vantageously the situation, and the ford was

dominated by two nine-pound cannon. The
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Americans approached the ford in broken files-

They drove before them the detachments of the

enemy sent across to harass them, and the

Mexicans took up a position several hundred

yards back from the river, opening fire from

their two guns without effect, probably owing

to the poor quality of the powder of the Mexi-

cans, which was home-made. In a few moments

the passage of the whole force was effected,

with only one man killed and one wounded.

Taking tactical position upon the bank, the

American artillery opened upon the Mexicans,

and with such precision that in an hour and

twenty minutes from the start across the river,

the Mexican guns were silenced. The Mexi-

cans now retreated, now charged, and now at-

tempted flank movements; but the Americans

checked them at every turn; and at last, owing

mainly to the superior artillery skill of the

Americans, the Mexicans retreated and retired

from the field, thus ending the second battle of

the Mexicau war in Los Angeles County. The

engagement had lasted something less than two

hours. The Americans had two men killed and

eight wounded, of whom one died the next day.

The Mexicans had the same number killed.

The Americans now went into camp, while

the Mexicans returned to Canada de los Ali os,

near the main road to Los Angeles, where they

posted themselves favorably to await the ap-

proach of the American army.

At nine o'clock the next morning, January

9, 1847, the Americans resumed the march for

Los Angeles, turning from the main road to

the open plains as soon as they learned the

position of the Mexicans, who at noon ap-

proached, firing their cannon, to which the

Americans replied. By four o'clock this long

range artillery duel, together with two charges

by the Mexicans, had resulted in the killing of

one, and the wounding of several Mexicans, and

the wounding of five Americans.^ Then the

Mexicans, realizing that they were unable to

cope with the Americans, retired, and the bat-

tle of the Mesa was ended. The next morning,

the 10th, Stockton's army entered Los Angeles,

the city having sent a flag of truce to ask for

kind treatment, promising submission.

A strong detachment, with artillery, was

posted on the hill, and the American flag was

raised over the old quarters. The next day

Stockton issued a proclamation congratulating

his officers and men on their triumphs, and on

once more taking possession of the city of Los

Angeles.

THE CAPITULATION OF CAHUENGA.

Commander Commodore Stockton, by virtue

of his rank and his position as conqueror of the

country, was now Governor of California and

Commander-in-Chief. Between him and Fre-

mont there had been made an agreement that

the latter should become Governor of California,

on the subjugation of the Mexicans. Mean-

while, Kearny had been sent from Santa Fe" to

conquer California, and establish a civil gov-

ernment; but, after his disaster at San Pasqual,

from which he was virtually rescued by Stock-

ton, he could hardly make, at least at once,

pretensions to the commandership. These

causes had led to a feeling of rivalry, if not a

stronger sentiment, from both men toward

Stockton.

Fremont, on his way south, arrived in San

Fernando on the night of January 11, there

receiving a letter from Kearny, informing him

of the occupation of Los Angeles, and the de-

feat of the Mexicans. He at once sent Jesus

Pico, his firm adherent and a man of influence

among the Mexicans, to a camp of the Mexican

army at the Verdugo Rancho; Pico urged his

countrymen to t reat with his friend Fremont,

instead of with Stockton, the conqueror of the

the country. The Mexicans were convened to

a final council, wherein it was decided to follow

Pico's advice. Flores was present at this coun-

cil, and the same night, resolving to go to Mex-

ico, he turned ever the command to Andres

Pico. Two representatives were sent to Fre-

mont, who received them, and then marched his

main battalion to the Cahuenga Rancho, whither

the Mexican camp was removed also; and where,
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on Jatmary 13, 1847, General John C. Fremont

signed a treaty with a pretended arm}7
, of whose

utter defeat he had knowledge for almost forty-

eight hours. The docnment signed on this

occasion was by Fremont forwarded to Kearny

at Los Angeles. On January 14, Fremont

marched with his battalion to the city. Not

knowing the true circumstances, Stockton wrote

in his report to the government, on January

15: "Not being able to negotiate with me, and

having lost the battles of the 8th and 9th, the

Californians met Fremont on the 12th instant,

on his way here, who, not knowing what had

occurred, entered into the capitnlation with them

which I now send you; and although I refused

to do it myself, I thought best to approve it."

OTHER PKOCEEDINGS.

On January 14, Stockton tendered to Fremont

and Major Russell their respective commissions

as Governor and Secretary of State. By this

time Kearny was disputing Stockton's right to

organize a civil government, and on the 16th he

ordered Stockton to show his authority from

the Government, or else take no further action

in the matter of a civil organization. Stockton

.declined to obey this order, on the ground that

the conquest had been completed, and the civil

government put in operation before his arrival.

He also suspended Kearny from the command

of troops conferred on him at San Diego, as he

had a right to do, so far as concerned sailors

and marines. Kearny then ordered Fremont

to make no changes in his battalion, but Fre-

mont declined to obey this order, stating that

he had received his appointment from Stockton,

and that on his arrival at Los Angeles, Kearny

had recognized Stockton as the commander.

Kearny privately offered to make Fremont Gov-

ernor if he would espouse Kearny's cause, but

Fremont declined; and Kearny, rinding his au-

thority ignored on all sides, and having no

troops with which to enforce his orders, started

on the 18th with his dragoons for San Diego.

On January 22, Commodore W. B. Shubrick

arrived to succeed Stockton as commander of the

Pacific squadron; and in consequence of orders

received on February 12 from Washington, he

issued on March 1, a circular in which Kearny

was announced to be Governor, and Lieutenant-

Colonel Cook Military Commandant of the

Southern District; the headquarters was fixed

at Los Angeles, and Monterey was named as the

capital. Fremont was ordered to deliver in per-

son at Monterey all documents appertaining to

the government of California; and it was on this

occasion that he made his famous ride. Accom-

panied by his faithful friend Jesus Pico, and a

servant, he rode from Los Angeles to Monterey,

a distance of about 400 miles, March 22-25,

and back again by the 29th, traveling over 800

miles in eight and a half days, and keeping the

saddle continuously for about 100 hours.

Colonel R. B. Mason arrived at Los Angeles

from Monterey on April 7, as inspector of troops,

and to settle any accounts against the Govern-

ment. The great friction between him and

Fremont led to preparations for a duel, which

was prevented only by Kearny's positive orders.

On May 9, 1847, Kearny returned to Los

Angeles, accompanied by two companies of the

New York Volunteers, with their organizer and

commander, Colonel Jonathan D. Stevenson,

who succeeded to the commandership of the

Sonthern District, on Cook's resignation. Kearny

returned to Monterey, whence he went East,

taking Fremont with him under military orders,

when followed the court martial which is a detail

of national history.

Lieutenant-Colonel Cook arrived from San Luis

Rey March 23, 1847, with the dragoons and four

companies of the Mormon battalion, the latter

of whom were at once set to building a fort on

the hill which had already seen so many notable

occurrences.

On July 4, 1847, the Mexicans heard for the

first time the Declaration of Independence, which

Stephen C. Foster translated into Spanish.

In July, 1S48, Pio Pico returned to San

Gabriel; as he had uo passport, he was, after

certain deliberations, imprisoned for a short

time at Los Angeles, but was released August
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8, on receipt of the news of the treaty of Guada-

lupe Hidalgo, which put an end to the war with

Mexico, and gave California to the United States.

It was the policy of the American Govern-

ment, after obtaining possession of California,

to make as few changes as possible in the meth-

ods of ruling the people, to which they had

been accustomed for generations. Thus, after

the treaty of peace had become operative, the

laws of Mexico were retained in full force, and

under them were appointed civil officers, having

exactly the same titles and the same functions

as formerly. The natural good temper of the

people favored a speedy and complete reconcilia-

tion, the American officers were pleased with

their material surroundings, and they soon found

themselves welcome and happy among the Span-

ish element. Social and sporting diversions of

mutual interest were organized, and the affilia-

tion was complete.

The first year the city was ruled by the re-

stored Ayuntamiento (town council), which had

closed its sessions at the notes of war; and in

December, 1847, the people elected a new ay-

untamiento, to take office the following January.

But the gentlemen elected to the offices of first

and second alcalde ceded their rights, on the

expression of the wish of Colonel Mason, then

military governor of California, that the civil

offices throughout the territory should thence-

forth be filled, at least in part, by Americans.

Accordingly, Stephen C. Foster and Jose Vi-

cente Guerrero were appointed respectively first

and second alcalde of Los Angeles, the other

offices being filled by the parties elected by the

people.

The newly-elected alcaldes were instructed

to make no grants of land, but to attend only to

criminal and civil business and current munici-

pal affairs. The new corps displayed superior

skill in the business of the office, which was of

a various and often difficult nature. The ir-

rigation system had long been a source of per-

plexity to the officers, and inconvenience and

losses to the people. Foster's administration

put it in a condition that was not disturbed until

the great freshet of 1861-'62. This civic-mil-

itary rule lasted from January, 1848, to May
21, 1849; on the 17th of that month, under an

order of Major Graham, Los Angeles ceased to

be a military station of the United States. In

December, 1848, by order of Governor Mason,

Mr. Foster had called an election under Mexican

law, for an ayuntamiento to replace that then in

office; but as no attention was paid to the notice

the officers were instructed to hold over until

such time as the people should be willing to

hold an election; and in May, 1849, a new
ayuntamiento was elected and inaugurated ac-

cordingly.

The discovery of the gold mines in 1848

carried away many of the native population;

created a new demand for the horses and cattle

which the rancheros could so abundantly supply

;

brought a multitude of immigrants from Sonora,

as well as from the United States; and kept,

those who did not leave Los Angeles in a state of

continual exaltation and excitement. During

the summer of 1849 and the winter and spring

of 1850, Los Angeles was a thoroughfare of

travel. No one could be induced to stop long,

as every one was bent on reaching, as soon as

possible, the northern El Dorado. Many of

the immigrants reached this point almost desti-

tute, but such were generously aided by the

Lugo family at San Bernardino, by Isaac Will-

iams at Chino, by Rowland and by Workman
at La Puente,—in fact, by Californian liberality

everywhere.

ANNALS 1849—1889.

On April 4, 1850, an act of the Legislature

incorporated Los Angeles as a city. The munic-

ipal government was organized July 3. The

personnel was as follows: Mayor, A. P. Hodges;

Common Council, David W. Alexander, Alex-

ander Bell, Manuel Requena, John Temple,

Morris L. Goodman, Cristobal Agnilar, Julian

Chavez; Recorder, John G. IN ichols; Treasurer,

Francisco Figueroa; Assessor, Antonio F. Cor-

onel; Marshal, Samuel Whiting; Attorney, Ben-

jamin Hayes.
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The first county election held in this county

was on April 1, 1850; 377 votes were cast in

the county. The officers chosen were: Judge,

Agustin Olvera; Clerk, Benjamin Davis Wil-

son; Attorney, Benjamin Hayes; Surveyor,

J. R. Conway; Treasurer, Martin Gartias; As-

sessor, Antonio F. Coronel; Recorder, Ygnacio

del Valle; Sheriff, George T. Burrill; Coroner,

Charles D. Cullen, who failed to qualify, so that

A. P. Hodges was appointed in his stead. Jon

athan R. Scott, who had been a prominent law-

yer in Missouri, and who was in the front legal

rank in Los Angeles, was the first justice of the

peace, taking the position in order to further

the county organization; he soon left the office,

and was succeeded by J. S. Mallard.

The first drug store was put up in 1850, by

Dr. Osborne, who came to California in 1847

with Stevenson's regiment; the second was that

of Downey & McFarland. in 1851.

The first daguerreotypes were made by Dr.

Osborne and Moses Searles, August 9, 1851.

In this year the first political procession (Pierce)

was organized by Nordholt, Leek and Goller,

three German citizens. They had transparen-

cies and the padre's little brass cannon, of his-

toric record: in attempting to fire the gun,

" George the baker " was badly burned.

The first barber was in 1852, an ex-slave,

named Peter Biggs. He had been sold to an

officer at Fort Leavenworth, and, left on Califor-

nia territory at the close of the war, his free-

dom was necessarily recognized.

Los Angeles County was the first in the State

to enjoy two competing transcontinental rail-

roads, a pleasure in which it still has a profit-

able monopoly to the exclusion of the rest of the

State. Railroad surveys were early made, dat-

ing from 1853, when Lieutenant Williamson,

under the military escort of Lieutenant (now

ex-Governor) Stoneman^nade one; but the first

railroad did not come until 1869. The Southern

Pacific came in 1887, and the Santa Fe system

in 1885.

In 1861 a bill was introduced into the Senate

of the California Legislature authorizing the

board of supervisors of Los Angeles County to

subscribe $150,000 toward the construction of

a railroad between Los Angeles and San Pedro,

and two years later an act for the construction

of the road passed both houses; still no practi-

cal measures were taken save the holding of a

railroad meeting in 1864, and as nothing came

of this it could not be deemed very practical.

The Los Angeles News of February 27, 1866,

notes that two remonstrances were then in cir-

culation in the county against railroad bills in-

troduced into the Legislature by the Hon.

Phineas Banning. In the session of 1867-'68

the bill passed both houses, and the movement

then became practical. On March 4, 1868,

John G. Downey, Dr. J. S. Griffin and John

King, as directors of the Los Angeles & San

Pedro Railroad, filed a petition with the board

of supervisors, asking the board to call an elec-

tion upon the question of authorizing the county

to subscribe $150,000 to the capital stock of the

company. This and a subsequent petition were

both granted, and when the election was held it

resulted as follows: In the city, for the rail-

road, 297; against it, 245. The vote of both

city and county was, for the road, 700; against

it, 672,—a bare majority of twenty-eight for

the road. Ground was broken at Wilmington,

September 19, 1868, and the last rail was laid

in Los Angeles, October 26, 1869. The board

of directors of the road were Phineas Banning,

O. W. Childs, John G. Downey, B. D. Wilson,

John S. Griffin, Matthew Kellar. E. E. Hewitt,

then editor of the Wilmington Journal, was

elected superintendent. The iron rails were

shipped from England. The good effects of the

road were felt at once, as appears from the fol-

lowing paragraph from the News of September

22, 1868: "Under the influence of a certain

prospect of a railroad from this city to the sea-

coast, thereby making it a seaport city, the

price of real estate has advanced very ma-

terially." This was three months after the

ground had been broken. Immediately after

the election on March 27, the News had said,

prophetically: "Railroad connection with the
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seacoast will, iti a few years, extend itself to a

connection with the Southern Pacific & Atlantic

Railroad, placing us upon the great transcon-

tinental thoroughfare, and bringing among us

the surplus population and capital of the East-

ern States, and developing by their science and

energy our varied resources."

The railroad campaign of 1868 was but tame

in comparison with that which followed in

1872; and, strange to say, some of the very

parties who were not only convinced of the

benefits of the short line of twenty-three miles,

but materially helped by it, were among the

most active opponents of the building of the

transcontinental road. On April 4, 1870, the

Legislature passed an act authorizing the dif-

ferent counties of the State, through their re-

spective boards of supervisors, to aid in the

construction of railroads in those counties which

might elect to do so, authorizing the donation

for railroad building of five per cent, of the

total assessment. During this year and 1871

and 1872 this question entered strongly into

the movements of the political parties and their

The Southern Pacific, just incorporated, was

building its line up the San Joaquin valley, and

it was a question whether it would come direct

to Los Angeles on its march overland. Its line

through the Tehachepi Pass was known, but

from there two diverging lines had been sur-

veyed: one southward through the Soledad Pass,

with heavy grades and through costly tunnels to

Los Angeles, the other over an almost level

plain to the Needles, along the thirty-fifth paral-

lel. It did seem inconsistent that Los Angeles,

then but an "adobe town," should want the

company to pay all the great expense of build-

ing and equipping the road to this point, that

should afterward share in the profits. The Los

Angeles delegation in the Legislature realized

the danger to their section, whose development

might be delayed for years by mismanagement
at this juncture. The two important matters

for their adjustment were: to have Los Angeles

County exempt from the repeal of the subsidy

law, and afterwards as private citizens, with the

best interests of their community at heart, to

secure the benefits of such exemption. Subse-

quent events proved that, had the delegation

been less friendly to the railroad, Los Angeles

might possibly have been without one until the

present time. However, the necessary measures

were taken, and satisfactory terms were made
with the Southern Pacific. Committees were

appointed and ordinances were drawn up for the

city and county, being passed by the council

and the board of supervisors, which empowered
the county to donate its bonds in aid of the

construction of a railroad within its borders, to

an amount not to exceed five per cent, upon the

total of the last assessment, which was $10,-

700,000 for 1872, on which five per cent, was

$355,000. From this sum was to be deducted

the $150,000 before issued in county bonds to

the Los Angeles & San Pedro Railroad, leaving

$385,000 in bonds given by the county. For

this sum the Southern Pacific agreed to build

fifty miles of its main trunk line through the

county, and a branch line to Anaheim; and the

county also agreed to sell to the Southern Pa-

cific its stock in the other line. On September

7 the supervisors passed an ordinance asking

for a subsidy as large as that asked for the

Southern Pacific, for the Los Angeles & San

Diego Company, which claimed that their route

was the most practical one to Anaheim, and

which promised to build an intersection with

the Texas Pacific Railroad, then managed by the

famous "Tom " Scott. Although this was during

the memorable Presidential campaign of Grant

and Greeley, so absorbing was the railroad

question in Los Angeles that the local issue

assumed greater importance than the national

one, and the railroads were the subject most

discussed by the people. The campaign was

one of the hottest ever known here. The elec-

tion, which was held November 5, 1872, re-

sulted as follows: For the Southern Pacific

subsidy, 1,896 votes; against the same, 724.

For the San Diego road, ninety-nine; against

the same, twenty-nine; that there be no road at
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all, twenty-six. The Southern Pacific had a

clear majority over all of 1,018.

The city donated sixty acres of land for

depot purposes. "Work was begun at the ini-

tial point in the city, and continued east to

Spadra, and north to San Fernando, to which

points the firsc trains were run April 4, 1874.

Work on the Anaheim branch was begun in

the winter of 1873-'74, and the first train ran

into Anaheim, January 7, 1875. In July,

1875, a gang of 1,500 meu began work on

both ends of the San Fernando tunnel, which

was completed in September, 1876. It is 6,940

feet long, and cost originally $2,500,000. It is

twenty-seven miles from Los Angeles. The

golden spike—the last in the road connecting

Los Angeles with San Francisco—was driven

September 8, 1877, in the Soledad cafion. The

mayors of San Francisco and Los Angeles were

present, with the officials of the company, and

a great number of spectators from both places.

The festivities were closed by a ball and ban-

quet at Los Angeles that evening.

In 1875 Hon. John P. Jones built the Los

Angeles & Independence Railroad, from Los

Angeles to Santa Monica, whose length is

about eighteen miles. Its cost was about $375,-

000. It was subsequently transferred to the

Southern Pacific.

By virtue of a contract with the Southern

Pacific, the Santa Fe ran its trains into Los

Angeles city from Colton, over the track of the

other line, beginning November 29, 1885, and

continuing until the completion of its own

track from San Bernardino. This road was

built in March and April, 1887, from San Ber-

nardino along the foothills to a junction with the

Los Angeles & San Gabriel Valley Railroad

at the San Gabriel river. Regular trains began

running on this road on June 1 of that year.

It is owned by the California Central, a local

company. Branch roads of this system were

built in 1888 to Ballona Harbor and Redondo

Beach, and also to Orange, connecting with

another branch running from San Bernardino

to San Diego.

In 1884, was commenced the construction of

the Los Angeles & San Gabriel Valley Rail-

road, by a corporation headed by Hon. J. F.

Crank, of Pasadena. Its completion to Pasa-

dena was celebrated by an excursion, Septem-

ber 17, 1885. In 1887 it was extended to the

San Gabriel river, and the same year it was

transferred to the Santa Fe system.

In 1889 the Los Angeles & Pacific Railway

was completed to Santa Monica. Its chief pro-

moters were M. L. Wicks and R. C. Shaw. It

runs from the northwest part of the city towards

the Cahuenga pass, and thence along the Santa

Monica mountains to the city of that name. It

is standard gauge.

The first locomotive built in Los Angeles was

put up at the Baker Iron Works in 1889, for

the Los Angeles & Pacific Railroad. It was

designed by Fred. L. Baker, and it was named

the " Providencia." It weighed fifteen tons.

The first bricks were made in 1852, by

Captain Jesse D. Hunter. From the first kiln

was built the house at the corner of Main and

Third streets; from the second, burned in 185 3

the new jail.

The first English-speaking school in Los

Angeles was taught by Rev. Dr. Hicks in

1850.

The first American child native of Los An-

geles was John Greggs Nichols, born April

15, 1851.

The first newspaper, called the Los Angeles

Star, was established in May, 1851.

On November 12, some unknown assassins

made an unsuccessful attempt to murder Judge

Benjamin Hayes in the door of his office on

Main street.

On August 16, 1852, the United States Land

Commission met at Los Angeles to settle

private land claims.

In this year "spirit rappings " caused much
excitement at San Gabriel.

In 1863 Henry Hancock made the first sur-

vey of the city, when the thirty-five-acre lots

were surveyed and donated to actual settlers.

In 1853, Lieutenant Williamson briefly sur-
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veyed Southern California for a railroad route,

under the military escort of Lieutenant (now

General and ex-Governor) Stoneman.

In 1853, the town contained three dry goods

stores.

From 1850 to 1853, the Indian tribes of the

Mohave desert gave much trouble by stealing

live-stock and murdering ranchers.

The rising of Antonio Garra, chief of Agua
Caliente, in the fall of 1851, spread through

Los Angeles fears of a general insurrection from

Tulare to San Diego. Regulars and volunteers

were accordingly mustered to guard against the

danger, and when this soon passed away these

organizations still existed. The regulars and

San Diego volunteers were under Captain

George Fitzgeiald. The Los Angeles volun-

teers were commanded by General J. H. Bean;

Myron Norton, Colonel and chief of staff, S.

Bolivar Cox and B. S. Eaton, corporals; Hon.

A. C. Rolfe, William Nordholt and many who
are dead, were in this service. The exposed

position of this region for a long time there-

after, in the Kern river and Mohave wars, and

other troubles, kept officers of the United States

army here and not seldom in active service.

Among these gentlemen who possessed the

regard of the people were: Colonel B. Beall,

Majors Edward H. Fitzgerald and George H.

Blake, Captains Davidson and Lovell, and Win-
field Scott Hancock.

In the spring of 1850 the resident population

of the city scarcely exceeded 2,500, which had

increased in January, 1853, to about 3,000, in-

cluding 300 from the United States, and amonu-

these a large proportion of families. On those

days of disorder, the peaceful slumber of these

citizens were guarded by the voluntary police of

100 men, under Dr. A. W. Hope, as chief.

Among the lieutenants and privates were, in

July, 1851, Messrs. Alexander, Olvera, S. C.

Foster, Ogier, Brent, Joseph Yancey, Wheeler,

J. G. Downey, Nichols, F. L. Guirado, Kellar,

Hayes, and Juan Sepul veda. Later on, the streets

were often enlivened by the martial tread of the

military companies required from time to time.

In February, 1854, Samuel C. Foy started

his saddlery—the first to make any kind of

harness.

The first hospital, "The Los Angeles Infirm-

ary for the Sick," was opened May 31, 1858, at

the house of Don Cristobal Aguilar, by the Sis-

ters of Charity. These ladies had come to Los

Angeles in 1855, from their mother-house at

St. Joseph's, Emmetsburg, Maryland; they sub-

sequently erected in the upper part of the city

an extensive hospital of brick, with surround-

ding garden and orchard.

In 1854, Los Angeles boasted of 4,000 in-

habitants. In that year, the first Masonic

lodge received its charter, and also the first

hive of bees was received, it having been pur-

chased by O. W. Childs, for $150, in San Fran-

cisco. During this year, a tannery was opened;

an Odd Fellows lodge was organized, and bull

fighting was legally prohibited.

During 1854 there was no police force, and

the average number of violent deaths in the

city was not less than one a day. Although

mostly of low-class Mexicans and Indians many
murders occurred of persons in the higher

walks of life. In August the supervisors ap-

propriated $1,000 for the opening of a wagon-

road over the mountains between the San

Fernando Mission and the San Francisco

Rancho. The 22nd of February, 1855, was

celebrated by the City Guards, Captain W. W.
Twist, and their first anniversary ball was

given in May. Ringgold's Light Artillery was

organized on June 7, of that year. The Los

Angeles Rangers was an older body; the Legis-

lature of 1854 had appropriated $4,000 for their

equipment. They celebrated their first anni-

versary on August 6, of that year. They had

always proved efficient. In March, 1855, there

was great excitement over the Kern river

mines, for which destination the steamers from

San Francisco brought many passengers. In

April, Alexander Banning and W. T. B. San-

ford sent out fifteen ten-mule teams, with 60,000

pounds of assorted merchandise for Salt Lake.

In this year Abel Stearns and John R. Scott
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built a brick flouring-mill. Several festival

days were celebrated by public demonstrations.

Abel Stearns and J. E. Scott built the first

flouring mill in 1855.

In 1856 vigilance committees were formed

at Los Angeles and San Gabriel.

In 1856, took place the first legalized hang-

ing.

The year 1857 witnessed the erection of some

improved buildings, and the founding of the

Anaheim colony. Sheriff Barton and his party

were murdered by Flores and his band near

Santa Ana.

In March, 1857, a rifle company was

formed, under Captain Twist; and in May the

French infantry corps, 105 strong, Captain C.

A. Faralle.

The news of the massacre at Mountain Mead-

ows in September caused much excitement in

Los Angeles, where a mass meeting was called

to investigate the facts, and resolutions were

passed condemning the Mormons. Another

public meeting in December protested against

the sale of arms to the Mormons, and censured

Los Angeles merchants for shipping arms and

ammunition to Salt Lake.

On February 25, 1858, a flre originating on

Los Angeles street destroyed $30,000 to

$50,000 worth of property. In March were

begun regular terms of the United States Dis-

trict Court. In June the Surveyor-General of

California made a demand on the county re-

corder for all public records of Los Angeles

County pertaining to its history under Spanish

and Mexican rule. There was felt some local

indignation tbat the official was obliged to

accede to the demand, and remit the records to

San Francisco. On October 7, salutes of can-

non were fired to celebrate the arrival of the

pioneer semi-weekly overland stage, twenty days

out from the Missouri river. This year wit-

nested a rise in real estate, the arrival of several

bodies of American soldiery, bound for inland

points, and various depredations and murders

committed by neighboring tribes of Indians.

The number of voters in the city was now 600.

In 1859 was issued the first United States

patent to a citizen of Los Angeles, it being to

Don Manuel Dominguez for the San Pedro

Rancho.

In February, 1859, the contract for the con-

struction of a city hall and market-house was

let to John Temple for $30,000. Work was

begun in March and finished in September on

the edifice still known as "the court-house."

The City Council borrowed $200,000 for mak-

ing improvements. In this year were erected

thirty-one brick buildings, including the Arcadia

block, and two stories of the Temple block.

Trade with Utah was active this year, one

month witnessing the departure of sixty wagons

for Salt Lake. On April 19 a contract was let

for the construction of a telegraph line between

Los Angeles and San Jose". There were now
eleven attorneys and seven physicians resident

in the city. The voting population was 1,020.

This was a year of " hard times." In 1860

there was considerable emigration from this

county to Texas, owing to the difficulty which

white laborers experienced in procuring work,

as most of the vineyardists employed Indians

and Chinamen. In July, General Fremont,

visiting Los Angeles, was greeted with a salute

of fifteen guns. On October 8, the first tele-

graph message to Los Angeles was received by

the mayor, Henry Melius. In November the

city was visited by Lady Franklin, widow of

Sir John Franklin.

In 1860 the population was 4,500; and the

first telegraph line was constructed.

On Christmas eve, 1861, began a rain which

lasted without intermission till January 17,

1862, on which day, at three o'clock p. m., fell

tremendous torrents of water, accompanied by

heavy thunder and lightning. At Los Angeles,

comparatively little damage was done by this

flood; the city dam was broken, some adobe

houses fell, and travel was impeded, besides the

inconvenience occasioned by the delay of the

arrival of the "Brother Jonathan" at San Pedro.

At El Monte the river made a new channel,

manacing the town of Lexington; but the dan-
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ger was averted by the energy of the inhabi-

tants. On the Santa Ana, thirty miles above

Anaheim, the flood destroyed the thriving new

Mexican settlement of Agna Mansa (Gentle

Water). There was no loss of life, but every

sign of former culture was obliterated by the

waste of sand which the waters spread over the

whole valley, and 500 souls were turned out

homeless on the surrounding hills. The rains

extended to the Mohave and San Diego rivers.

In May, 1861, a grand Union demonstration

took place here. Phineas Banning presented a

national banner to the Union Club on behalf

of the citizens, and a company of volunteers

was raised, to form a part of the 5,000 ordered

from California. In October the regular troops

were concentrated at San Pedro to embark for

the East on a Panama steamer. A subscription

of $100 per month was raised by the citizens,

to receive from the East daily war dispatches.

In January, 1862, three steamers at one time

were unloading troops at San Pedro, where at

one time were encamped 4,000 men. There

were also other encampments in the county. In

November, small-pox broke out among the Los

Angeles Indians, and spread rapidly. There

was also an epidemic of measles.

During the first months of 1863, the small-

pox raged to such an extent among the Indians

as to carry off a majority of them in the city,

besides a great number in other portions of the

county. Many Mexicans, chiefly of the lower

order, perished also, before the epidemic sub-

sided, •' for want of further material to work

upon." July 4 was not celebrated in the city

this year, but at Camp Ballona harbor. On
July 31 a detachment of troops from Drum
barracks encamped in the city to afford pro-

tection to the Unionists. In September oc-

curred a great exodus of miners to the Colorado

river, many prospectors from the upper country

passing through Los Angeles to the mines at

La Paz. On November 9, J. J. Warner, who

had been appointed Deputy Provost Marshal

for Los Angeles began the enrollment prepara-

tory to the draft. On December 25, Captain

B. R. West issued from Drum barracks an

order notifying all persons on Catalina Island

to leave before February 1, 1864. Companies
of soldiers were stationed in Los Angeles all

this year to preserve the peace. The Utali

trade continued good, notwithstanding the war.

In 1864 there was another small-pox epidemic.

In February reports of fresh strikes in the

mines occasioned another rush of miners to the

Colorado. In May J. F. Bilderbeck was ar-

rested for disloyalty, in consequence of strong

language he had used in speaking of the Fort

Pillow massacre. The Fourth of July was not

celebrated this year. In September the troops

were withdrawn from Catalina Island, and about

the same time Fort Tejon was abandoned.

Union rallies and processions were held in Oc-

tober and November. Business was dull, and

times exceedingly hard, this year.

In 1865 many large Mexican land grants

were subdivided. On April 19 there was a

large public funeral procession in respect to the

death of President Lincoln. Business was sus-

pended, and all parties joined in observing the

day. The Fourth of July was enthusiastically

celebrated this year. There was much sporadic

disease during the summer. Business prospects

were better, and fine orchards were planted, and

vineyards enlarged and improved in every

direction.

In 1866 the Salt Lake trade became extensive,

reaching as far as Bannock, Idaho, 450 miles

beyond Salt Lake, or over 1,200 miles from Los

Angeles. Goods were shipped with teams over-

land all the way to Helena, Montana, a distance

of about 1,400 miles.

On June 13, 1867, a Are on Los Angeles

street destroyed $64,000 worth of property.

On July 1 a brass band was organized. The

Fourth was not celebrated here this year On
August, 10-11, the Mexican citizens held a great

celebration of the anniversary of the conclusion

of the Mexican war, and of the surrender of

the city of Mexico into the hands of the Lib-

erals. Trade was exceedingly brisk this year

with Utah, Montana, and Arizona. Of the
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Los Angeles of this time, Major Ben. C. Tru-

man gives the following unflattering picture:

"Crooked, nnpaved streets; land lean; adobe

houses with asphaltum roofs; with here and

there an indolent native hugging himself in-

side a blanket, or burying his head in the in-

side of a watermelon,—were then the notable

features of this quondam Mexican town."

In 1867 were established gas-works and a

castor-oil mill. In 1868, the Los Angeles City

Water Company obtained a franchise; and the

first railroad was built, it being twenty-two

miles long, and uniting the city with the har-

bor at San Pedro. The same year, the first tire

company was organized, and entered upon its

duties at once.

In 1867 the city was first lighted with gas;

and this year also. Dr. Griffin and Hon. B. D.

Wilson, by means of a ditch costing some $15,-

000, brought the water of the Arroyo Seco out

upon the lands of the San Pasqual Rancho.

On January 20, 1868, D. Marchessanlt,

mayor of the city, committed suicide by shoot-

ing, whilst in his office. This year the third

survey of the city was made by George Hassen;

the Los Angeles & San Pedro Railroad was in-

corporated, the county owning the stock; work

was begun by the Canal & Reservoir Com-

pany upon a canal and reservoir, which long

supplied the Union Ice Works; the City Water

Company was organized; the first bank was or-

ganized by Alvinza Hayward and John G.

Downey, under the firm name of Hayward &
Co., with a capital of $100,000; and, later in

the year, was organized the banking-house of

Hellman, Temple & Co. The new Masonic

Hall was dedicated September 29. A severe

form of typho-malarial fever ravaged the city

in the autumn. Fioin this year the real growth

of the city may be dated. Writing in 1876,

Benjamin Hays describes it as follows: "At

this time, the fall of 1868, there was no three-

story building in the town, while the only two-

story business houses were the old Lafayette,

the older portion of the Bella Union, with the

stores of Barrows and Childs on Los Angeles

street, Stearns' block, Bell's block, a portion of

the Lanfranco building, I he older portion of the

United States Hotel, Allen's corner, the court-

house, with the part of Temple block facing it,

and a two-story adobe where Temple's bank now

stands. The portion of Downey block facing tow-

ard the Temple bank had a few one-story adobe

rooms, with a wide gateway in the middle open-

ing into a corral. This gateway had connected

with it somewhat of a tragic history, as upon

the cross-bar above, five desperados were hanged

at one time by the Vigilance Committee. The

Round-house (an old landmark on Main street;

Y. H. A.) was then upon the outskirts of the

town. Captain Clark's house was fairly in the

country, but little of the property around being

even fenced in. The hills above town and across

the river, now dotted with houses, were then

bleak and bare. East Los Angeles had not yet

even been dreamed of."

In 1869 there was a great demand for houses

and an unprecedented advance in real estate;

but, although building and improvements were

going on with vigor and rapidity, a financial de-

pression still existed. In the early part of the

year, small-pox raged in the Mexican quarter.

On October 24, the French Benevolent Society,

with much ceremony, laid the corner-stone of

their proposed hospital. On October 26, an ex-

cursion of two trains carried 1,500 people free

uver the newly completed road to Wilmington.

In February, 1870, there was a veritable epi-

demic of fires, which destroyed many stores

and other buildings. The various fraternal

oroanizations were now celebrating their respect-

ive festivals with considerable regularity, and

many improvements were talked of, including

street railways. There was a large amount of

freighting to the Owens river country. There

were now circulated petitions and protests,

memorializing the Legislature on the question

of the division of Los Angeles County on the

line of the San Gabriel river, to create the new

county of Anaheim on the east side. The mayor

and the town council were arrested this year,

owing to exciting rumors that they had issued
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scrip unlawfully; but the rumors proved un-

founded. To facilitate the compilation of a di-

rectory, the buildings in the business portion of

the city were ordered to be numbered. Liquor

was regularly retailed at this time at 110 differ-

ent places in the city, and for months drunken-

ness and shooting were rampant, particularly

among the Indians of the town. "Nigger al-

ley," now Upper Los Angeles street, was one of

the vilest resorts imaginable.

In March, 1871, an ice machine was put in

operation, its product retailing at four cents per

pound. In May, triweekly mails were estab-

lished between Los Angeles and San Bernardino.

The Do\vney block was erected this year. In

October occurred the great Chinese massacre.

On October 31, was inaugurated the fair of

of the Southern District Agricultural Society,

which continued to hold these fairs with great

success for several years after.

August 5, 1872, was celebrated by the Chinese

all over the world as the day of lamentation for

their countrymen who were lynched in Los An-

geles the preceding year. Four priests came

from San Francisco to conduct the public cere-

monies held at Los Angeles. On October 26

was held the last bull-tight at Los Angeles.

On October 29 a fire, originating in the ex-

plosion of a coal-oil lamp, destroyed Packard &
Company's distillery on the east bank of the

river, occasioning a loss of about $60,000.

The first woolen-mill was established in 1872;

and the next year the public library was founded.

In 1874 the first t'ruit-drying establishment

was erected, it being on an extensive scale. In

1875 a broom factory and an artificial stone

works began operations. In the spring of this

year the " Forest Grove Association " planted

the first extensive tract of eucalyptus or blue-

gum for timber.

In 1874 the Spring and Sixth street horse

railroad (the first here) was completed. The Sun-

day law began to be enforced. It was estimated

that at least $300,000 was expended in the erec-

tion of business houses this year. In September

the Eagle flouring-mills, which had cost some

$40,000 eight or nine years before, were

destroyed by fire. The population of the city

was now estimated at 11,000.

In 1875 were erected the Roman Catholic

cathedral and many other buildings, amounting

in total value to $260,000. Considerable

property was destroyed by tires. In December

a movement was on foot among the merchants

to have the steamers of Goodall, Nelson & Per-

kins stop at Santa Monica. Also an effort was

made by the citizens to have work resumed on

the Los Angeles & Independence Railroad,

building from Los Angeles by way af Cajon

pass to Independence. The population was now
estimated at 11,000.

During 1876 the city was still rapidly im-

proving. In June anti-Chinese meetings were

the order of the day. In this the Centennial

year, the Fourth of July was celebrated with

incomparably more pomp and noise than usual.

This was the greatest celebration of American

Independence ever held in the city. Phineas

Banning was the president of the day, James J.

Ayers, poet, and James G. Eastman, orator.

General Andres Pico and Manuel Requena died

this year. December 28 the Eagle Mills were

burned a second time.

On August 4, 1877. Hon. Benjamin Hayes,

formerly Judge of the district, died. He had

lived in Los Angeles County twenty-seven years,

and had contributed invaluable matter to its his-

torical records, both by his own writings from

reminiscences, and by his habit of carefully

preserving all historical scraps, data and clip-

pings.

In January, 1878, a fight between squatters

and natives at the Ranchito resulted in the kill-

ing of two Mexicans. In February the I. O.

O. F. hall was dedicated. There also was built

the grand pavilion of the Southern California

Horticultural Society, the first fair in which

was held in October of this year. Building

was now going on with more animation than

ever before. An area of 18,000 acres of land

in the San Fernando valley was burned over

in September. In this month a large sum was
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raised by the Angelefios for the yellow-fever

sufferers of Memphis.

In 1879 defalcations were found in the ac-

counts of two city treasurers, Melius and But-

ler; and of tax collector Carrillo. The defi-

ciencies amounted to over $17,000. This year

was marked by several notable aniversary cele-

brations, and by extensive fires in the mountain

forests. Vigorous measures were adopted for

the renovation of Chinatown. In this year E.

J. C. Kewen, a notable citizen, soldier, orator

and lawyer, died.

During 1880 General B. F. Butler, of Massa-

chusetts, visited Los Angeles. In this year

occurred in the county jail a notable suicide,

that of Samuel R. Koyle, an old defaulting tax

collector from Georgia, who was arrested here,

shooting himself while he was held pending

the arrival of the requisition papers.

September 5, 1881, was the centennial anni-

versary of the founding of the city of Los An-

geles. It was celebrated with a grand proces-

sion which recpiired twenty minutes to pass a

given point. Business generally was suspended,

and the people gave themselves over to a

holiday. Main street was decorated with fes-

toons bearing the dates 1781— 1881. General

George Stoneman, afterward Governor of Cal-

ifornia, was grand marshal of the day. A prom-

inent feature of the procession was an old-time

Mexican cart, drawn by oxen, and containing

two Mexican women, one aged 103, and the

other 117 years. In this month was held in

the Temple street pavilion, the horticultural

fair, with a very large attendance. On the 27th

the obsequies of the late President Garfield were

observed by a large procession and literary ex-

ercises.

On January 10, 1882, was burned the Espe-

ranza block, opposite the court-house, on Main

street, with the store it contained, a total loss of

$75,000. This year was begun the construction

of the Nadeau block, the first four-story build-

ing in the city, also the Normal School build-

ing. The Magnetic Observatory of the United

States was now removed here from Madison,

Wisconsin. This spring there was a strong

political agitation relative to the enforcement of

the Sunday law, particularly as concerned the

closing of saloons; this question almost mo-

nopolized the courts, to the exclusion of other

business, with great expense to the tax-payers.

This item also figured in the political campaign

of that year, resulting in the election of the

Democratic candidates throughout the State, by

an immense majority, and in the elimination of

the Sunday-law from the statute-books, by the

next Legislature.

In this year was tried in the Superior Court

of Los Angeles the remarkable case of Josiah V.

Smith, for the murder of his son, prompted, he

claimed, by a command from Heaven I

On January 20, 1883, occurred the terrible

railroad accident of the Tehachepi pass, in

which over twenty lost their lives. It was

about three o'clock in the morning, and very

dark, when the passenger train bound for Los

Angeles stopped at the station of Tehachepi,

which is just west of the summit of the Sierra

Nevada mountains. A very strong, cold wind

was blowing down the mountain pass; the en-

gine was detached for the purpose of making a

necessary change; the conductor went into the

office to make his report; and the brakeman left

the train, to escort a passenger to the station.

It is supposed that the brakes had been set

insecurely, or not set at all. When the con-

ductor came back to where the train should have

been, the train was gone, and he saw two or

three miles down the track a great light which

proved to be the missing cars burning! It was

supposed that the hard wind that usually pre-

vails at Tehachepi pass had started the train

down the heavy grade, and before the passengers

had suspected that aught was wrong, they had

attained a terrible velocity, and in rounding a

curve had leaped the track into a ravine, where,

massed in a crushed heap, they had been ignited

from the lamps and stove-fires. The surviving

passengers crawled out of the debris, and

rescued whom they could. Among those thus

saved was ex-Governor Downey, but his noble
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wife, who was of an old native family named

Guirado, wa< st completely consumed that no

identification of her remains was possible. The

dead and wounded were brought to Los Angeles,

where a few of the twenty-two corpses were

identified by relatives and friends, while the

others were buried in Evergreen Cemetery.

If July and August of this year Los Angeles

was visited by numerous delegations of Knights

Templar, en route to attend the triennial con-

clave at San Francisco.

On January 9, 1884, Charles Whitehead,

editor of the Republican, a daily evening paper,

was shot, while in his office, by T. S. Harris,

the ex-foreman of the paper. Harris was con-

victed and sentenced to imprisonment at San

Queutin, but was pardoned by Governor Stone-

man in less than a year. On February 18, after

several days of heavy rain, the river rose rapidly,

swept away a number of houses, drowned several

people, and destroyed considerable property. On
May 24, Mile. Rhea, appearing in " The School

for Scandal," dedicated the first theater or opera

house in the city, which was built by O. W.
Childs. This year was commenced the large

and fine Sisters' Hospital on Beandry Park Hill.

Also, the city council built substantial bridges

across the river at First and at Aliso streets. The

presidential campaign was particularly lively in

Los Angeles. Four parties, Republicans, Demo-
crats, Prohibitionists, and Greenbackers, were

in the field with full tickets, strongly organized.

For the first time since the formation of the

county in 1850, the Republicans were able to

elect a majority of the officers. In December
the municipal election was overwhelmingly

Republican.

This year the city purchased from G. J.

Griffith his fractional interest in the title to the

water of the river, paying $50,000; now also,

Yguacio Sepulveda resigned his position as

superior judge, and removed to the city of*

Mexico. The population of the city this year

was estimated at 31,000. The year 1885 had a

notable necrological record: on March 8, Phineas

Banning died in San Francisco, and on the 12th,

he was buried in the Los Angeles Rosedale

Cemetery; on the 20th, were hanged two sen-

tenced murderers, the first legal executions in

many years in this county; on April 15, died

Henry Stassforth, a well-known citizen; and on

the 19th, Andres Uriswalter, who left a very

large estate, which caused considerable litigation.

On June 5, died at the age of fifty-six, a noted

pioneer, Dr. Vincent Gelcich; and on the 27th,

ColonelJ. F. Godfrey, a soldier and an attorney

at law, aged forty-five years; on August 17,

Daniel Mooney, a welKknown character, was shot

and killed near Santa Monica; on September 2,

died, aged fifty-six, J. E. Hollenbeck, a noted

pioneer and capitalist; and on the 18th, Colonel

E. S. Blasdel died at Florence; on October 9,

occurred the remarkable disappearance of Miss

Lizzie Parker from the house of Mrs. Vantrees;

and on the 13th, died Al F. Scheffelin, one of

the discoverers of the famous Tombstone mine

of Arizona. In this year occurred also a number
of sensational criminal cases, including the suit

of Louise C. Perkins against E. J. Baldwin for

breach of promise, which came to trial in Febru-

ary, 1886, judgment being rendered for plaint-

iff in the sum of $75,000. This was set aside

as excessive, and the defendant finally compro-

mised by paying the plaintiff $12,000. On
April 21, ground was broken for the Second

Street Cable Railway, whose cars began running

in October. In the month of May Senator John
Sherman, and in August, Sir Arthur Sullivan,

of literary fame, visited Los Angeles. During
the summer was built the first city hall on

Second street. On September 16 an excursion

celebrated the completion of the Los Angeles

& San Gabriel Valley Railroad to Pasadena.

On October 1, Charles E. Miles, who was im-

mediately succeeded in office by Frank A. Gib-

son, was arrested for embezzlement of $12,000
of the public funds; he was subsequently dis-

charged from custody on repaying the money in

court.

The year 1886 opened with a strong advance

in real estate, and the sales during the year

amounted to $28,204,759. On January 19, the
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river overflowed all that portion of the city lying

between Wilmington street and the bluff on the

east side, drowning a number of poople, and

destroying a vast deal of property. So exten-

sively were the levees washed away and the rail-

roads washed out, that for about a week the city

was without railroad communication. On the

day of the flood, Martin Aguirre saved the lives

of twenty persons, mostly children, by going to

them on horseback, having in one instance a

narrow escape with his own life.

In September the Republican State Conven-

tion was held in Los Angeles for the first time.

At the county election the offices were divided

nearly evenly between the Democrats and the

Republicans.

In November, another murderer was ex-

ecuted.

The year 1887 opened eventfully. Several

large excursion trains arrived from the East.

On January 14, Lorena, the daughter of Dr. T.

C. Gale, was ruu over by a train on Alameda

street, receiving injuries from which she died

three' days later. On the 14th, died Remi

Nadeau, who built the Nadeau block. On the

21st, George Robertson, arrested for arson, in-

flicted upon himself such injuries as caused his

death in a few hours. On the 23d, Samuel

Keefer, a hotel man at Monrovia, committed

suicide.

On the 29th Presideut Cleveland signed the

bill appropriating $150,000 for the erection of

a Federal building in Los Angeles. The oil

well, No. 6, at Puente, gave out on the 31st,

the first flow of oil in the district. During

this month was founded the town of Clear-

water, on the lands of the co-operative colony,

who had bought from the Cerritos rancho.

On February 4, passed the Legislature a

bill providing for two superior judges, making

a total of four. On the 3d had been laid the

corner-stone of the Baptist College. On the

7th, A. W. Hutton and W. P. Gardner were

appointed superior judges, and the same day a

banquet was given at the Nadeau House, to

Brigadier-General Nelson A. Miles, in honor of

his transfer of the headquarters of the Depart-

ment of Arizona from that territory to this

city. On the 14th, the barkentine St. Louis,

and the ship Kennebec, 2,000 tons burden, were

wrecked at San Pedro. This month the sale

was announced of the Los Angeles & San

Gabriel Railroad to the Atchison, Topeka &
Santa Fe Company. A grand excursion to

Ballona marked the completion of the road to

that place; the postoffice was removed from the

Oxarart block to the Hellman building on Main,

opposite Arcadia street.

On March 1, was opened the Woman's Home,

on Fourth street, an enterprise partially self-

supporting, and partially supported from the

proceeds of an annual flower festival, held since

1885, for the benefit of self-sustaining women

and girls. During this month the celebrated

apostle of American phrenology, Professor O.

S. Fowler, appeared in Los Angeles for the

last time. Other noted visitors were Mon-

seigneur Capel and Charles Dudley Warner.

On the 26th it was discovered that E. Ham-

mond, the county tax-collector, had absconded

to British Columbia with $12,000 of the public

money.

On April 1 was witnessed the rare spectacle

of 500 men standing in line all night long

on Court street, awaiting their turn to buy

lots in the new town boom, the sale of which

commenced the next morning at nine o'clock.

Places in this line sold for as high as $150.

The Real Estate Exchange, that ran about a

year, was incorporated in this month. On the

12th, the annual flower festival was opened in

Hazard's pavilion. Mrs. E. A. Cox was killed

by the cars at the Downey street crossing.

Hon. J. F. Crank and Herman Silver paid the

city $10,000 cash for a double-track cable-road

franchise, which was transferred to a Chicago

syndicate two years later. The University

Bank opened its doors on the 18th.

On May 2, Erskine M. Ross was appointed

Judge of the new United States District

Court of Southern California. On the 11th,

Grettie Rozelle threw a cupful of vitriol in the



HISTORY OF LOS ANGELES COUNTY. 751

face of C. R. Petrie, a locomotive engineer, who

finally recovered. The woman was acquitted,

hut her husband, who was not present at the

commission of the crime, was sentenced to nine

years in State prison. Dr. J. S. Baker, City

Health Officer, died of heart disease on the

15th. The McLaughlin steam dummy line of

cars was completed from Second street to the

Cahuenga valley on the 18th. During this

month the National Opera Troupe of 300 peo-

ple performed at the pavilion.

On June 1, Santa Fe trains began running

overland to San Bernardino. On the 6th, ex-

Mayor E. F. Spence donated $50,000 for the

establishment of an astronomical observatory on

Wilson's Peak. Two brothers, named Hutch-

inson, killed in Tejunga Canon a grizzly bear

cub weighing 700 pounds.

In July, Judge W. A. Cheney, of the Supe-

rior Court, sustained the prohibition ordinance

of Pasadena city. Catalina Island was sold by

the Lick estate to George R. Shatto.

In the earlier half of August two wife-

murders were committed in the city. The

corner-stone of the new Turnverein Hall was

laid on the 14th. The Downey street depot

was burned on the 24th. The old Trinity

Methodist Episcopal Church South was burned

on the 29th.

On the night of October 7 a barn near

Compton was burned, and the next day there

were found in the ashes the charred remains

of a human being, the teeth of which were

identified as those of Dr. Charles N. Harlan.

The crime was charged upon Miss Hattie Wolf-

steen, with whom Harlan had been connected,

and she was tried, but was acquitted. On the

21st, the Chinese residents celebrated their tri-

ennial festival with a great programme, includ-

ing a magnificent street parade. Cardinal Gib-

bons, of the Roman Catholic Church, visited

the city on the 24th. The corner-stone of the

Los Angeles College was laid on the 26th.

The Santa Fe depot was burned on the 28th,

the burning with it of an oil train preventing

its extinguishment. The division of water oc-

casioned trouble jbetween the Azusa and Covina

neighborhoods in this month. Both parties

sent armed forces into the San Gabriel canon, but

the interposition of the courts averted serious

trouble.

November, 1, 1887, the California Bank

opened. On the 21st the first vestibuled train

arrived from Boston. This month there was a

coal famine, which lasted several weeks. Gen-

eral Franklin, of the Soldiers' Home Commis-

sion, examined the proposed sites for a homo
hereabouts, and selected the present place near

Santa Monica. The Republicans and the Dem-
ocrats agreed upon a joint ticket of fifteen free-

holders to draft a new city charter.

December 18, 1887, witnessed many casual-

ties; on the 3d there were ninety- eight horses

consumed in the livery stable of Nicolas Covarr-

ubias, destroyed by tire; the 14th, a high wind

blew down a hotel at La Canada, killing 0De

woman, and seriously injuring various other

persons; the large hotel at North Cucamonga,

was totally demolished; the upper story of a

building at Ontario was blown off; the new
hotel at Lordsburg, in process of construction,

was destroyed, at a loss of $20,000; and many
buildings were blown down in Los Angeles and

Pasadena. This wind blew from the east, and

its highest velocity in Los Angeles was forty-

six miles per hour.

In January, 1888, a destructive tire was in

Los Angeles; ground was broken for the new
city hall on Fort street; Los Angeles street

was opened from Arcadia to Alameda streets;

and Mr. and Mrs. Hitchcock were murdered at

Garden Grove, by a German named Anscbiag,

who was tried, convicted and sentenced to be

hung in Los Angeles.

In February, 1888, Booth and Barrett ap-

peared at the Opera House.

In March, 1888, a destructive fire occurred,

and in the same month N. R. Vail, of Los An-

geles, was drowned at Redondo Beach.

In May the'Deinocratic State Convention was

held in Los Angeles; the proposed new charter

was defeated.
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In August the coast line of the Santa Fe

system opened between Los Angeles and San

Diego.

In September the Sovereign Grand Lodge of

the World, I. O. O. F., met at Los Angeles. The

PosToftice was removed from Main street to

Fort, between Sixth and Seventh.

On October 20 was adopted a new charter

which increased the city wards from five to nine,

providing for a salaried councilman from each

ward. This charter had been framed by a non-

partisan board of freeholders, and it was con-

firmed by the Legislature. The presidential

campaign was now very active, both political

parties holding numberless meetings, proces-

sions, etc.

On November 5 was held the National elec-

tion. This month Brigadier General Miles was

transferred to San Francisco, being succeded in

the Department of Arizona in Los Angeles by

General B. H. Grierson.

In December, at the municipal election, the

Democrats elected the mayor and a majority of

the com cil. As a result of the introduction of

a bill in Congress by General William Van-

dever, representative from the Sixth Congress-

ional District, looking to a division of the State,

a large mass meeting was held in Los Angeles,

which passed resolutions favoring the creation

of the State of "South California," and an ex-

tensive committee was elected to take charge of

the campaign on that question.

SPANISH LAND GRANTS.

As early as 1784 Governor Pedro Fages

granted to Manuel Nieto and Juan Maria Ver-

dugo the temporary occupancy of the lands

which they desired.

In August, 1802, the following ranchos in

Los Angeles County were mentioned: Nieto,

Domingnez, the two Verdugos and Felix. The

Simi was held by Luis Pena and Diego Pica,

and Las Virgenes by Miguel Ortega. The

Conejo was granted in 1802 or 1803 to Jose

Polanco and Ygnacio Rodriguez. Warner says

in his "Sketch:" "Subsequent to the establish-

ment of the missions, and before the close of

that century, the Spanish Government, acting

through the commanding officer of California,

did at different periods of time grant four large

tracts of land lying in this county to four indi-

viduals. The area of these tracts was from ten

to twenty, or more, square leagues each. They

were granted to the following persons who had

come to California as soldiers and who had been

discharged or retired from active service on

account of their age or other causes. The Nietos

tract, embracing all the land between the Santa

Ana and San Gabriel rivers, and from the sea to

and including some of the hill lands on its

northeastern frontier, was granted by Governor

Pedro Fages to Manuel Nieto in 1784. The

San Rafael tract, lying on the left bank of the

Los Angeles river, and extending to the Arroyo

Seco, was granted by Governor Pedro Fages,

October 20, 1784, and the grant was reaffirmed

by Governor Borica January 12, 1798, to Jose

Maria Verdngo. The San Pedro tract, lying

along the ocean, and the estuary of San Pedro,

was granted to Juan Jose Domingnez by Pablo

Vicento Sola, December 31, 1822. There is

mnch circumstantial testimony tending to show

that both the Yorba and Dominguez grants

were made during the past century. Antonio

Maria Lugo, a prominent citizen of Los Angeles,

giving testimony in the district court in that

city in 1857, said that his age was seventy-six

years; that he remembered the pueblo of Los

Angeles as early as 1785; that he had known

the Verdngo or San Rafael Rancho since 1790;

that Verdngo had had his Rancho since 1784,

and that it, the 'San Rafael,' was the third

oldest rancho in the county—the Nietos and the

Dominguez being the oldest. Governor Borica

in 1798 issued to Jose Maria Verdugo a new or

confirmatory grant of San Rafael, which had

been granted to Verdugo by Governor Fages in

1784: so it is probable that the first title papers

for San Pedro had disappeared or were not pre-

sented to the United States Land Commission

for California. Don Manuel Dominguez, one

of the present proprietors of the San Pedro
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ranch, states positively that the grant of that

tract was made in 1784." In 1852 an act of

Congress created a commission for the purpose

of settling private land claims in California.

The board organized in Los Angeles of that

year, and was composed of Iiiland Hall, after-

ward Governor of Vermont, Harry I. Thornton

and Thompson Campbell. This board was in

existence several years, and it heard and decided

a great many contests.

PIONEERS.

Joseph Chapman, captured at Monterey in

1818, came to Los Angeles in 1821.

James McKinly, a native of Scotland, arrived

at Los Angeles in 1824, being then twenty-one

years of age; he kept a store for a time on

Commercial street. He afterward went to

Monterey.

John Temple, one of the most prominent of

pioneers, reached Los Angeles County about

1827, and in partnership with George Rice

. opened the first general merchandise store in the

town, on the site where the Downey block now

stands. About 1830 he erected the nucleus of

what is now the Downey block, which was at

first of adobe, but later of brick. Dissolving

partneiship about 1831, he continued the busi-

ness alone until 1846; later he leased a mint in

the city of Mexico for ten years, and for this he

refused an offer of $1,000,000. In 1859 he

built the old court-house, between Main and

Spring streets, for $30,000, under contract with

the city. This was at first intended for a

market house. John Temple married Rafaela

Cota; on May 30, 1866, he died at San Fran-

cisco, aged seventy years.

George Rice, a native of New England, came

to Los Angeles about 1827, from the Sandwich

Islands; for a time the partner of John Temple,

he was afterward in independent business on

Main street. In 1830 he married one of the

Lopez family, and he went East about 1835.

He is reported to be dead.

J. D. Leandry, from Italy, settled in Los

Angeles about 1827 and opened a store near the

plaza, on "Nigger alley;" he afterward resided

on the San Pedro rancho. and in 1842 he died

on the rancho Los Coyotes.

Jesse Ferguson, an American, came to the

town from New Mexico, about 1828, by way

of the Gila river, in company with R. Laughlin

and N. M. Pry or. He managed a store on Main

street for William G. Dana, of Santa Barbara.

He married in Los Angeles a Miss liandon, and

about 1835 he went to Lower California, where

he died a few years later.

Richard Laughlin, coming here as a trapper

in 1828, went on to Lower California, then

returned here, and worked at his trade as a

carpenter, occasionally as a hunter. Then he

started a vineyard on Alameda street, married

a native Mexican, and had several children.

He died about 1855.

Nathaniel M\ Pryor, who came here with

Ferguson and Laughlin, worked alternately as

a silversmith and an otter-hunter, and for a

time he was a warehouse keeper for Abel

Stearns at San Pedro. He married one of the

Sepulveda family in Loi Angeles, purchased a

large amount of property, and left a number

of descendants when he died in May, 1850.

Isaac Williams, a native of Pennsylvania,

came to California in 1832; he owned the Chino

Rancho, on which he died September 13, 1856.

His brother, Hiram, lived at San Timoteo, San

Bernardino County.

Moses Carson, a brother of the celebrated

scout, Kit Carson, came to Los Angeles in March,

1832, and for a time followed trapping for a

living. He became connected with the ware-

house at San Pedro, but finally removed to Rus-

sian River.

Lemuel Carpenter, of Missouri, came to this

county in 1832 or 1833, by way of Sonora, in

company with Chard, Paulding, Ward, and

others. He established a soap factory on the

right bank of the San Gabriel river, not far

from the present road to Los Nietos. He sub-

sequently purchased the Santa Gertrudes Ran-

cho, on which he resided until his death by

suicide, November 6, 1859.
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William Chard, mentioned in the last para-

graph, did here an extensive business as a

butcher, and also as a 6awyer of lumber. He
removed in' later years to Sacramento valley.

Jacob P. Leese, an American, came to Los

Angeles from New Mexico in the winter of

1833, and remained about two years, entering

into bnsiness with William Keith and Hugh
Reid. Then he went to Monterey and estab-

lished a house, afterward erecting the first build-

ing at Yerba Bnena, now San Francisco, in

which he opened a store. He was the second

white settler at that place, and for many years

he was prominent as the leading business man

at that point. In April, 1837, he married a

sister of General M. G. Vallejo, and in 1841 he

removed to Sonoma.

James Johnson, an Englishman, came by

water from Sonora to Los Angeles in 1833, with

a cargo of Mexican and Chinese goods. Shortly

afterward he purchased the San Pedro Rancho,

where he was for a number of years an exten-

sive cattle dealer. Then he removed to Los

Angeles and engaged in the warehouse and for-

warding business between that town and San

Pedro. He died prior to 1862.

Hugh Reid (or Hugo Perfecto Reid), a native

of Scotland, came to Los Angeles in 1835, and

he was a merchant here in company with Will-

iam Keith and Jacob P. Leese. He had for-

merly lived in Sonora, whence he had come to

Los Angeles to wed his betrothed, a beautiful

Mexican girl. Finding that she had just jilted

him to marry a Spanish officer, his disposition

was so soured that he retired in his chagrin to

San Gabriel, where he married an Indian woman.

He was a man of studious tastes, and he entered

deeply into the study of the aborigines. His

notes on these subjects are the most valuable

guide possessed by the ethnological student of

to-day, insomuch as regards these races. At
one time Hugo Reid owned the Sania Anita

Rancho, and other large property, most of which

came to him with his Indian wife. He was a

very conspicuous figure in the early history of

Los Angeles; he was a member of the first State

Constitutional Convention of 1849. He died

at Los Angeles, December 12, 1852.

William Keith, an American, was a physician

who came from Sonora about 1835 and entered

into partnership with Reid & L'jese in the mer-

cantile business. He afterward returned to

Sonora, then came here again about 1849, and

then went to the gold-mining regions.

L. Victor Prudhomme, a Frenchman, arrived

in Los Angeles in 1835. He was a cabinet-

maker and cooper. He married a native lady

named Tapia, who was at one time part owner

of the Cucamonga Rancho. He died in May,

1871.

Henry Melius, a native of Boston, Massachu-

setts, came to this coast in the brig Pilgrim,

made famous by Richard Henry Dara in his

li Two Years Before the Mast." Melius settled

here, married a Mexican lady, and was found to

be a prominent citizen, on the return of his old

comrade, Mr. Dana, twenty-four years later,

taking the writer on memorable drives to view

the well-remembered scenes of " hide-droghing

ti.tnes." Mr. Melius was elected mayor of Los

Angeles in 1860, and he died while still the in-

cumbent of that office, in December of that

year.

Isaac Graham, a native of Tennessee, went in

early life to New Mexico. He reached Los An-

geles in company with Henry Naile about 1835,

and remained until the following year, when he

removed to the " Natividad," Monterey County,

and there (according to Mr. Wilson) established

a small distillery in a tule hut, which soon be-

came a nuisance, oving to the disreputable

character of those who frequented it.

Charles Hall, a native of Massachusetts, came

to Los Angeles prior to 1836. He became a

merchant, but failed, and was subsequently in

the employ of John Temple.

John Marsh, a physician, came to Los An-

geles about 1836, and for some years after his

arrival he practiced medicine here, but later he

located on a rancho near Mount Diablo, where

he was subsequently murdered.

John Reed, a native of either Missouri or
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North Carolina, came to Los Angeles from 1837

to 1841. While jet in New Mexico he married

a daughter of John Rowland, and on his arrival

in this county he engaged in ranching at La

Puente. He enlisted in the American army in

1846, and took part in all the battles fought on

the march between San Diego and Los Angeles.

He died at La Puente, July 11, 1874, aged fifty-

six years.

William Wittle may have arrived in Los An-

geles as early as 1810, as, in 1835 he signed a

petition to the Ayuntamiento for a town lot,

stating that he had been in the country twenty-

five years; but Mr. J. J. Warner says he never

knew him.

Francis Melius, of Salem, Massachusetts, fol-

lowed his brother Henry to Los Angeles, coming

in the employ of Boston merchants, landing at

Santa Barbara, January 5, 1839. He was for

some years (1850-'56) in partnership with

David W. Alexander in the mercantile line.

He married Miss Adelaida Johnson, who sur-

vived him when he died in Los Angeles, Sep-

tember 19, 1863, leaving seven children.

John Rowland came in the fall of 1841 as the

leader of a party from New Mexico. He had

been a partner of William Workman at Santa

Fe, and he was subsequently with him as joint

owner of the Puente Rancho, where he died

October 14, 1873, aged eighty-two years.

Benjamin Davis Wilson, one of the most

prominent citizens of this county from 1841 to

1878, was born in JNashville, Tennessee. After

many years of trading and trapping in Arkan-

sas, Missouri, and New Mexico, he came to

California in the fall of 1841, in company with

William Workman, John Rowland, William

Gordon, William Wright and others, bringing

a stock of goods, and a band of sheep that they

had driven with them for a food supply. In

1845 Mr. Wilson raised a company to assist in

the defense of Los Angeles against Micheltor-

ena, and was one of the two embassadors who,

under a flag of truce, succeeded in winning

Micheltorena's American allies over to Gover-

nor Pico, with the result of Micheltorena aban-

doning hostilities and embarking at San Pedro
soon after. Mr. Wilson adhered stanchly to

his American affiliations during the war with

Mexico, and, after the American occupation, he

aided, perhaps more than any other man in

Southern California, in restoring peace and good

feeling between the two races. During this

time he had been heavily engaged in merchan-

dising, and also in cattle raising, and he became
very wealthy. At different periods he was

elected to various offices,—county clerk, mayor,

Indian agent, also State Senator for two terms.

He died March 11, 1878, on his Lake Vineyard

Rancho, in San Gabriel valley.

Abel Stearns, a native of Salem, Massachu-

setts, after spending considerable time in Mex-
ico, settled in Los Angeles, where he was during

his lifetime one of the most prominent citizens

and notable characters. Abel Stearns was really

the first white man who ever mined for gold in

California, he having sent to the United States

mint gold from his diggings near the Mission

San Fernando, ten years before Marshall's dis-

covery in 1848.

He became very wealthy, was a member of

the Constitutional Convention of 1849, and of

the State Legislatures of 1851 and 1861. He
married Dona Arcadia, one of the daughters of

Don Juan Bandini, and this lady is still living

in Los Angeles, having married Colonel R. S.

Baker, some years after the death of " Don
Abel."

Michael White, born in England in 1801,

emigrated to Lower California in 1817, and

commanded a vessel for some years. He became

wealthy, and settled in Los Angeles, where he

lost his wealth. He is long since deceased.

Juan Domingo (in Dutch Johann Groningen,

in English John Sunday), a Hollander by birth,

was a carpenter on the brig Danube, which was

wrecked in San Pedro harbor in 1829. He be-

came a resident of Los Angeles, married Miss

Felis, planted a vineyard on Alameda street, and

lived there until he died, December 18, 1858,

leaving a large family and many friends.

Samuel Prentiss, a native of Rhode Island,
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was a sailor on the Danube, after whose wreck

he lived in this county, spending his time in

hunting and fishing. He died about 1865,

on the island of Santa Catalina, where he was

buried.

Ewing Young, a native of Tennessee, was a

trapper in New Mexico. In 1828-'29 be vis-

ited California, and trapped around the Tulare

lake and the San Joaquin river and its tributa-

ries. Returning to New Mexico about 1830,

be fitted out the Wolfskill party, with which he

came to Los Angeles. In 1836 he settled in

Oregon, where he dealt in live-stock, and became

very wealthy. He died about forty years since.

John Rhea, a native of North Carolina, emi-

grated in 1828-'29 to New Mexico, whence he

came to Los Angeles with the Wolfskill party.

He kept a saloon, grocery, and billiard-room

here. He eventually returned East.

John Ward, who was born in Richmond,

Virginia, in 1765, took part in the battle of New
Orleans. He went to Santa Fe in the first

wagon train to that point, was in Los Angeles

in 1832-'33, and then returned to Missouri. In

1843 he came back to Los Angeles in the first

eastern carriage ever seen in this part of the

country; in 1846 he went to Chihuahua, whence

he returned in 1849 to Los Angeles, where he

died in 1859.

Joseph Paulding, a native of Maryland, en-

tered California from New Mexico by way of

Gila river in the winter of 1832-'33. He was

a carpenter, and he made, of > mahogany wood,

the first two billard-tables ever made in Califor-

nia. He died in Los Angeles, June 2, 1860.

William Workman, born in England in 1800,

arrived in Los Angeles with John Rowland's

party in 1831. He became a partner in the

banking business with F. P. F. Temple, from

1868 to 1875-'76, and when that enterprise

failed in 1876 the matter so preyed upon his

mind that he committed suicide on May 17, of

that year.

F. P. F. Temple, a native of Massachusetts,

arrived in Los Angeles by the water route in

1841, and engaged in business with his brother,

Jobn Temple, then a leading merchant of the

city. He subsequently established a stock

rancho near Fort Tejon, disposing of it to be-

come a banker at Los Angeles, in partnership

with I. W. Hellmau and William Workman.

He died at his rancho on April 30, 1880. He
was a man of keen integrity, high principles,

and very charitable.

Henry Dalton, English, resided in Los An-

geles prior to 1845, and was a merchant there

at the time of the American occupation. He
was the owner of the Azuza Rancho. He has

been dead some years.

David W. Alexander, an Irishman by birth,

came to Los Angeles from Mexico about 1841

or '42. He ranched at the Rincon Rancho, San

Bernardino County, for a time, and then kept a

store in Los Angeles. He was elected sheriff

of the county on September 5, 1855, serving

that term, and he again filled that office in

1876 and 1877. He is dead since some years.

Alexander Bell, born in Pennsylvania, came

to Los Angeles in 1842, being forty-one years

old. Two years later he married Dona Nieves

Guirado. They had no children, but are said

to have sustained the relation of padrinos

(god-parents) to more children than any other

couple in California. Until 1854, Mr. Bell was

engaged in mercantile pursuits; he built the

block of buildings known as Bell's block, front-

ing on Los Angeles and Aliso streets, which is

still standing. During the war with Mexico,

he served as captain of a company. He died in

Los Angeles July 24, 1871.

Jose Mascarel, born in France, arrived in

1844 in Los Angeles, where he has ever since

resided. He has served a number of terms in

the common council, and in 1865 he was elected

mayor of the city. He has erected several fine

blocks of buildings in the city.

Of the original command of General Kearny,

Lieutenant Warner was killed by Indians in

1849, at Goose Lake, in the northern part of the

State. Captain W. H. Emory is Major-General

of the United States army. Lieutenant Stone-

man has served one term as Governor of Cali-
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fornia, and, after having been for some time on

on the retired list with the rank of Brevet Major-

Genera], he has lately, at his own desire, re-

sumed office in the army. He lives in Los

Angeles.

Lieutenant J. B. Davidson is Brevet Briga-

dier-General. Major Thomas Swords, Quarter-

master, is retired. Captain A. J. Smith became

a General, but resigned after the civil war.

Captain Turner resigned after the Mexican

war. Dr. John S. Griffin resigned in 1854 and

now lives in Los Angeles.

Captain Turner resigned after the Mexican

war, and became a partner in the banking house

of Lucas, Turner & Co., in San Francisco,—the

same house with which General Sherman was

connected. James R. Barton, Alexander Bell,

Daniel Sexton and John Reed were of the vol-

unteers with Kearny. Sexton resides in the

city of San Bernardino. John Reed, First Ser-

geant of Captain Hensley's company under

Fremont, died July 13, 1875, aged fitty-seven

years, at his farm at Puente, this county. His

wife, the only daughter of John Rowland, sur-

vives him. John Carl Eschrich, a native of

Germany, and a member of Stevenson's regi-

ment, familiarly known to the Californians as

" Don Carlos," died June 10, 1874. aged fifty-

two years. Don Miguel de Pedrorena died

March 30, 1850, in San Diego County. Don

Santiago E. Arguello died in 1859, at his Rancho

La Punta, in San Diego County. Andra Wein-

shank, born in Bavaria, a soldier who served

out of California, was at Vera Cruz and at all

the battles on Scott's line. He died in this city

P'ebruary 16, 1874, aged fifty-four years. Eli-

jah T. Moulton, of the Fremont battalion,

resides in Los Angeles. Of the privates of

Company C, First Dragoons, resident in the city

are: George Washington Whitehorn, born at

Pennington, New York, 1821; William Burden

Dunne, Cork, 1818; in the county, Michael Hal-

pil, born at Limerick, 1823.

The " Veterans of the Mexican War" were

organized into a society at Los Angeles, Sep-

tember 27, 1873, with the officers as follows:

—

President, General George H. Stoneman, born

in New York; Vice-Presidents, Peter Thomp-
son (since dead), New York, and W. Todd,

Illinois; Secretary, J. D. Dunlap, New Hamp-
shire; Treasurer, G. W. Whitehorn, New York;

Marshal, Captain William Turner, Isle of

Wight; Executive Committee, Fenton M.

Slaughter, Virginia; Dr. William B. Dunne,

Ireland; George W.Cole, Illinois; G. W. White-

horn, New York; Robert T. Johnson, Tennessee.

There were eighty-three members, counting

from almost every State in the Union, and from

many foreign countries. A large number of

these are since dead.

Of the other actors not yet accounted for in

the scenes on the stage of early days in Califor-

nia, some are lost to sight entirely; A. A. Boyle

died February 9, 1871, aged fifty-four years;

John Rowland, August 13, 1873, aged eighty-

two years; Don Jose Sepnlveda, died in Mexico,

April 17, 1875, aged seventy-one years; Don

Andres Pico died February 14, 1876, aged

sixty-six years; his brother, Pio Pico, still lives

on a rancho near Los Angeles, age ninety years

(to be completed May 5, 1890); Don Manuel

Requena, born in Yucatan, died in Los Angeles

June 27, 1876, aged seventy-four; Isaac Will-

iams, born in Pennsylvania, died September 13,

1856, at his Chino Rancho. aged fifty-seven

years, having lived in California since 1832;

Louis Vignsdied January 17, 1862, aged ninety-

one years; Don Ygnacio Avila died September

25, 1858, at the same age; Don Julio Verdugo

died recently, aged about ninety years; Don
Agustin Machado died May 17, 1865, at

seventy-seven years old; Don Ygnacio Palo-

mares died November 25, 1864, aged fifty-three

years. He was one of a company that in 1839

received a grant of the La Ballona Rancho, the

others being Felipe Talamantes, Tomas Tala-

mantes and Ygnacio Machado. John Goller

died Jnly 7, 1874.

The first three families who permanently set-

tled in the city in 1850 were those of J. G.

Nichols, J. S. Mallard and Lewis Granger.

Stephen C. Foster was bora in Maine in
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1820. He arrived in Los Angeles with the

Mormon battalion of Missouri Volunteers,

March 16, 1847. On January 1, 1848, Colonel

R. B. Mason appointed him Alcalde of the city,

and in this capacity and that of interpreter he

served until May 17, 1849. Mr. Foster has

been at different times Mayor, Prefect, and State

Senator. He being an accomplished Spanish

scholar, his services were valuable in many

ways in the community when a large proportion

of the people spoke only that language, and

when the archives and laws were wholly re-

corded in Spanish. Mr. Foster still lives, and

his intimate acquaintance with public affairs

and his wonderfully retentive memory make

liim a perfect cyclopaedia of information regard-

ing persons and events in the past in this sec-

tion. Mr. Foster married one of the daughters

of Antonio Maria Lugo.

William Wolfskill was born near Richmond,

Kentucky, in 1'798, of German lineage. In

1831, after many adventures during the years

that he had lived in the Southwest, he arrived

in Los Angeles at the head of an expedition

from New Mexico. Many of his companions

settled in different parts of California, married

Mexican or Spanish wives, and had families.

They nearly all became large landowners. Mr.

Wolfskill, after some experience with a steamer

which he built for the purpose of otter-hunting,

directed his attention to the cultivation of citrus

and other fruits. This industry with stock-

raising, he followed with great success until his

death, at the age of fifty-eight, in 1862. He

left three living children. He was a man of

great enterprise and force of character.

Phineas Banning was born in Oak Hill, Dela-

ware, September 19, 1831, descended from early

colonial settlers who figured prominently in the

Revolution. He came to Los Angeles in 1852,

and almost at once, in company with George

Alexander, engaged in the business of lighter-

ing, staging and freighting at San Pedro and

between that and other points. He founded

and named Wilmington, was the chief projector

and builder of the Los Angeles & Wilmington

Railway, and its sole manager until its sale to

the Southern Pacific Company. To his efforts

were largely due the appropriations by Con-

gress for the improvement of San Pedro harbor,

the construction of its breakwater, and the

dredging of its bar. In early days, when the

Vigilantes and Rangers were about the only

protection to life and property, General Banning

was a firm friend to these bodies, and aided

them in their work of ridding the country of

thieves and outlaws. His military title came

from his command of the First Brigade of the

California State Militia, of which he was

Brigadier-General. He was enterprising, en-

lightened, liberal, generous and public-spirited.

He died in San Francisco, March 8, 1885, sur-

vived by his second wife, his two daughters

and three sons.

Matthew Keller was born in Ireland in 1811,

and after living some time in Mexico he came

to California in 1849 or 1850. He spent some

time in the mines, but devoted himself mainly

to wine-making, and was for many years a pro-

ducer of grape wine and brandy on a large

scale. He was a good French and Spanish

scholar, and he gave to the public through the

press the information which he drew from

foreign sources by these means. He was a man

of tireless energy up to the end of his life. On

April 11, 1881, he died from heart disease,

leaving one son and three daughters.

JAMES WESLEY POTTS.

James Wesley Potts is a native of Tennessee.

He arrived in Los Angeles in September, 1852,

having driven an ox team over the plains from

Georgetown, Texas, he walking the whole way.

The town was then but an adobe village of some

4,000 inhabitants, mostly Mexicans and Span-

iards. Mr. Potts was first employed in hauling

dirt on the streets with a hand-cart, the only

vehicle then used for that purpose. Then lie

became a fruit- seller, first from a basket, then

from a stall, and in this business he flourished.

After spending a short time at the mines, he

began to raise vegetables at Los Angeles, and
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his sweet potatoes were the first raised here.

From mercantile pursuits he realized some

$6,000, which he lost as a result of his out-

spoken expression of Union sentiments during

the civil war. Recovering, however, his invest-

ments in real estate were worth in 1878 $150,-

000. Meeting with reverses that year, he lost

all this, and fell heavily into debt, moreover.

All of his debts he has since repaid, dollar for

dollar, although many of them were outlawed.

Mr. Potts has been largely instrumental in for-

warding various water improvements and sewer

arrangements, and it may be said that scarcely

a question of local public moment has come up

that he has not figured more or less prominently

in its solution. lie is a man of great force of

character, and never succumbs to discourage-

ment. He has always been a strong believer in

and advocate of the future of Southern Califor-

nia, and of Los Angeles as a city; and in 1876,

when this valley was generally regarded as fit

for a stock range only, he published his opinion,

and reasons therefor, that it was capable of sup-

porting 1,000,000 people. Besides his shrewd

business advice, Mr. Potts has been useful to

the community in other ways: he has always

been a prime mover in religious and moral

movements. He was one of the first organizers

of the church and Sunday-school in Los An-

geles. He has always contributed largely by

his influence, by his backing, and by his own
pecuniary contributions, to the establishment

and maintenance of such institutions. His

gifts of charity have been numerous, and the

worthy poor were never turned empty-handed

from his door. Only the old citizens of Los

Angeles can realize how useful this one man
has been to the church, to the schools, to good

municipal government, and to local material

improvement and prosperity during his long

residence in Los Angeles County.

ANTONIO FRANCO CORONEL.

Don Antonio's father, Don Ygnacio F.

Coronel, was many years ago a resident of the

city of Mexico and an officer under General,

afterward Emperor, Yturbide. In 1834 he

came with his family to California. His chil-

dren were: Josefa, who married Matias Sabichi;

Antonio F., the subject of this sketch; Macaela;

Soledad, who married Jose M. Yndart; Rosa;

Manuel F, still living; Maria Antonio, who
married Alex. Godey, and Ygnacio, Jr. All

are deceased except the two brothers, Antonio
and Manuel. Mr. Coronel, the father, was an

educated man and gave his children a good
education. He established the first school in

Los Angeles under the Lancastrian system.

He died in 1862. Antonio was born October

21, 1817, in the city of Mexico, and came with

his father to California in 1834. In 1838 he

was appointed Assistant Secretary of Tribunals

of the city of Los Angeles. In 1843 he was
made Judge of First Instance (Peace). In

1844 General Micheltorena appointed him
Captain and Inspector of the Southern Missions.

In 1845 he was made commissioner to treat for

peace between Micheltorena and his opposers,

Juan Baptista Alvarado and Jose Castro, com-
manders of the revolutionary forces. In 1846,

in consequence of the American invasion, he

was called into actual service as Captain. After

the battle of October 8, 1846, at the San Pedro

or Dominguez Rancho, he was given charge of

the American flag captured there, for him to

carry as a trophy to Mexico, but on account of

meeting Kearny, the American General, at the

Colorado river, he was forced to abandon all

hope of personally taking the flag, and he sent

it secretly with Felipe Castillo. Subsequently

he was named Aid-de-Camp of the Command-
ing General, and took part in the battles of the

of the 8th and 9th at Bartolo pass and

the Mesa. In 1847 and 1848 he was a mem-
ber of the body of magistrates having in

charge the regulation of irrigation. He was

county assessor in 1850 and 1851, and in 1853

was elected mayor of the city. He was a mem-
ber of the city council with the exception of

two years, from 1854 till 1866, when he was

elected State Treasurer for four years. Mr.

Coronel has also been a supervisor, a member



HISTORY OF LOS ANGELES COUNTY.

of the State Horticultural Society, and presi-

dent of the Spanish-American Benevolent

Society. Both he and Mrs. Coronel are active

members of the Historical Society of Southern

California, and both take a keen interest in

local historical matters. They have probably

one of the most complete private collections of

Spanish, Mexican, and Indian curios in Cali-

fornia. When the notorious claim of Liman

tour came before the United States courts, in

1857, Mr. Coronel was sent in private to the

city of Mexico to examine the archives there,

and gather testimony, etc., which his knowl-

edge of the Spanish language and acquaintance

with public men in that capital enabled him to

do very efficiently. He found abundant evi-

dence to prove that Limantour's alleged title

was forged and that his claims were utterly

fraudulent. His labors were facilitated by

President Conionfort and other high officials.

He obtained much valuable evidence proving

that it was forged and fraudulent. This evi-

dence was laid before the United States Court,

and the claim was rejected finally, and thus

the titles to thousands of homes in San Fran-

cisco were cleared of the cloud that, like a pall,

hung over them. Only those who were cog-

nizant at the time of the excitement that was

stirred up throughout California by this case

can appreciate how intense the excitement was.

Limantonr maintained his colossal pretensions

with the utmost vigor and by the most un-

scrupulous means. He brought witnesses from

Mexico to swear to the genuineness of his

grant, though it was afterward clearly proved

to have been forged. Mr. Coronel's services

in helping to lay bare this great fraud were of

the utmost importance. Mrs. Helen Hunt

Jackson has borne warm testimony in the Cen-

tury magazine and elsewhere of both Mr. and

Mrs. Coronel, in behalf of the defenseless Mis-

sion Indians of Southern California. Mr.

Coronel furnished Mrs. Jackson the materials

of her story of " Ramona," and visited with her

the various places where she located her story,

and aided her in acquiring knowledge of the

customs and traditions of the people, whereby

she could give it in the proper coloring. When
Mrs. Jackson first thought of writing " Ra-

mona," she wished to take Mr. Coronel's place

as a typical Mexican home; but as Mrs. Del

Valle's house was more suited to that purpose,

it was decided—with the consent of Mrs. Del

Valle—that Cannitos become the home of

Ramona, only the plot is laid many, many

years before the Del Valle family lived there.

While the work was going through the press,

she had the proofs sent to him for correction

of episodeu in which he took part. He also

gave her the materials of another and more

dramatic story, based on real life herein South-

ern California, the beautiful heroine of which

" Nacha," was well known by some of the best

of the old Spanish families. If Mrs. Jackson

had lived, she was to have worked them up as

a companion story of " Ramona." He also gave

her the data of her account of Father Junipero,

the founder of the California Missions. And
he took the lead in getting up the celebration

or solemnization of the centennial of the death

of that eminent prelate. In 1873 Mr. Coronel

married Dona Mariana Williamson. In 1887

Mr. and Mrs. Coronel visited the city of Mexico,

and expected to have taken an extended East-

ern trip; but as Don Antonio was taken seri-

ously ill in Mexico, the latter portion of their

tour was reluctantly given up. Since their

return to Los Angeles he has entirely recovered

his health. They have lately built themselves

a modern, commodious and beautiful home.

For many years Mr. Coronel, a-! a politician,

was influential in the party to which he be-

longed; but latterly he has withdrawn from

active participation in political affairs. He is

liberal in his ideas. He judges people by their

personal qualities rather than by their nation-

ality or by their political or religious creed.

THE COLORED PEOPLE.

A not unpicturesque element in the hist >ry of

this county has been supplied by the presence

of the colored people. They have figured from
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the beginning. Two of the founders of the

city—Mesa and Quintero—were negroes.

Thomas Fisher, a negro, was captured from

Bouchard's privateers, in 1818. There were,

no doubt, others in pre-American days. Under

the Mexican constitution slavery was positively

forbidden, and California came into the Union

with free soil. Between the time of American

occupation and the admission of the State,

slavery was practiced to a slight degree. Thus,

early in 1850, Dr. T. Earl and Colonel Thoin

brought to Los Angeles from the Southern

States a number of slaves, whom they purposed

to work in the mines. On their arrival, two of

these asserted their freedom, upon which one

wa6 beaten and the other shot at, but they both

ran away. One J. H. Purdy was at the time

acting as a police officer and .marshal, and in dis

charge of his duty, he made complaint against

the parties who assaulted the negroes. The

result was that he was given forty-eight hour B

in which to leave the town, and he was obliged

to go, the authorities being powerless to protect

him. The remainder of the slaves were finally

taken up to the mines, but the white miners

stampeded them; they all ran away, and their

owners were\)ut even the cost of bringing them

here. Says Warner's "Historical Sketch:"

" In the spring of 1850, probably three or four

colored persons were in the city. In 1875 they

numbered about 175 eonls, many of whom hold

good property, acquired by their industry. They

are farmers, mechanics, or some one or other

useful occupation, and remarkable for good

habits. They count some seventy-five voters.

Robert Owen, familiarly called by Americans,

' Uncle Bob.' came from Texas in December,

1853, with ' Aunt Winnie,' his wife, two

daughters, and son, Charley Owen. They sur-

vive him. He was a shrewd man of business,

energetic and honorable in his dealings; made

money by Government contracts and general

trade. He died, well esteemed by white and

colored, August 18, 1865, aged fifty-nine years.

Of the Society of Mexican Veterans are five

colored men: George Diggs, George Smith,

Lewis G. Green, Paul Rushmore, and Peter

Byus. The last named was born in Henrico

County, Virginia, in 1810, and served with

Colonel Jack Hayes, General Z. Taylor, and

Captain John Long. He was at the battle of

Monterey. Rushmore was born in 1829, in

Georgia; he served on Taylor's line. He drove

the team of Colonel John Ward and James
Douglass through from Chihuahua to Los

Angeles. Smith and Diggs, the first born in

New York, the second in the District of Colum-

bia, both served in the ship Columbus, Commo-
dore Biddle and Captain Selfridge. Green

was born inNorth Carolina, in 1827; was a

seaman on the Portsmouth, Captain John B.

Montgomery; and in the navy nine years and

eight months, on the store-ship Erie, the Cyane,

Constitution, Pennsylvania, and Vermont."

Green died about 1865, having been for several

years janitor of the court-house.

PHYSICAL FEATURES.

TOPOGRAPHY.

The topography of Los Angeles County

might be likened to a terraced mountain, upon

which are three grand benches or planes,

slightly inclined, the foot of the lower being

washed by the ocean. From the northern

boundary rises the Sierra Nevada, which, less

high here than farther north, yet attains an ele-

vation of 7,000 feet. The first grand terrace

is Antelope valley, which has a general eleva-

tion of 2,000 feet, and which is about fifty miles

long east and west, by some thirty miles wide

north and south. This valley was undoubtedly

at one time an inland lake, whose waters held

in solution the borax and soda that are depos-

ited in considerable quantity on its soil. Por-

tions of it have a dense growth of yucca and

cactus. The western part is very fertile. The

valley is shut in from the Mohave desert on

the east by the Lovejoy Buttes, a low line of

hills. On the south is the Sierra Madre, a high

range of mountains which traverse the county

east and west, some 6,000 feet high. This

rano-e is called by many local names, as San
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Fernando, San Gabriel, or San Bernardino.

Their geological formation and general config-

uration show them to be of the same range,

though less high, as the Sierra Nevada. " Old

Baldy," one of their peaks, paitly in Los An-

geles County, is about 9,000 feet high, and has

snow on its summit during the rainy season.

South of the Sierra Mad re is the second of the

great terraces, with an elevation of 500 to 1,000

feet. The vicinity of the mountains and the

elevation above the range of ocean fogs, give

this a particularly fine climate. Three spurs of

hills from the mountains enclose and divide it

into three grand valleys. On the west are the

Santa Susana hills; on the east the Pnente hills;

while the San Ilafael spur cuts it in two, leaving

the San Fernando valley on the west and the

San Gabriel valley on the east. On the south-

ern range of this grand middle terrace is a range

of hills, quite low, east of Los Angeles city,

but attaining a respectable eminence in the

west, where they are known as the Santa Monica

mountains, which constitute the southern bor-

der of the San Fernando valley. The lowest

terrace, which runs down to the sea, is also

divided into valleys. The northern one is

known as the Santa Monica valley, and it is

triangular, the base lying about ten miles along

the ocean front, while the apex is about fifteen

miles east, among the Los Angeles hills. North-

ward is the San Fernando valley, while on the

south between it and the Los Angeles valley is

at first a low divide which culminates in the

Palos Verdes hills of the San Pedro peninsula.

The Los Angeles valley is a plain about forty

miles long and twenty miles wide, extending

into Orange County. Santa Catalina Island,

thirty-five to forty miles southwest of Los

Angeles, is twenty-three miles long, and two to

four wide, and it is almost in two sections, a

depression only thirty feet high connecting

them. The general altitude is 3,000 feet. Nice

little harbors are found around the island,

and upon it are wells of good water, mineral

springs, beautiful valleys, etc. Wild goats are

still found here, and fish abound along the shore,

as well as many natural curiosities. The island

is eighteen miles from shore, and is the prop-

erty of an English syndicate, thnt as yet has

devoted it only to the purpose of a popular

summer resort.

Several different sections are denominated as

valleys, having separate names. The Pomona

valley is that portion of the San Bernardino

valley lying within the eastern boundary of Los

Ano-eles County. The Cahnenga valley is that

part of the Santa Monica valley lying immedi-

ately sheltered by the hills of the Cahnenga

pass. The Los Angeles river rises about twelve

miles east of northwest of the city, and

flows easterly thither, turning thence to the

south. The remaining waters, after supplying

the irrigating ditches, sink inside the city limits.

In time of high water the stream flows farther,

joining the old San Gabriel river seven miles

from the ocean. Its ancient course to the sea

was via the Cienega and La Ballona. The San

Gabriel river has two principal sources in the

Sierra Madre, the north fork and the south fork.

The former rises in township 2 north, range

12 west, and flows easterly through three town-

ships into range 9 west, where it forms a junc-

tion with the other branch, fl6wing south

through three townships from its source in

township 3 north, range 9 west; thence its main

channel is south to the ocean. Draining a great

mountain area, its stream is longer and larger^

and also more constant, than the Los Angeles

river. Numerous other streams exist in the

county, which, though quite small and appar-

ently insignificant, are nevertheless contributors

to the worth of the land.

The coast line of Los Angeles County ex-

hibits two large indentations, geographically

described as bays, and designated on the map

as those of Santa Monica and San Pedro. The

latter has for years ranked as the leading port

of California, outside of San Francisco, and

with the completion of the harbor improve-

ments, contemplated and now in progress, its

possibilities will be greatly augmented. The

inner bay of San Pedro, better known as Wil-



HISTORY OF LOS ANGELES COUNTY.

mington slough, with an area of between 1,100

and 1,200 acres, had a narrow entrance at La

Goleta, between the mainland and Rattlesnake

island. From this island to Dead Man's island,

about one and one-fourth miles, the bay of San

Pedro had but little depth, except in a narrow

channel near to and north of Dead Man's

island. Timms' point, one-half mile from Dead

Man's island, was the nearest mainland.

AGRICULTURE.

In this county are many varieties of soil,

some of which are not duplicated in any other

portion of the United States. In the low lands

the soil is, as a rule, a rich alluvium, supposed

to be the deposits of streams during ages long

past. The lightness or heaviness of this al-

luvial soil depends on the preponderance of

sand or clay. In some places the " moist land "

contains a good deal of alkali. Such land is

generally considered unfit for cultivation. Prac-

tical tests have, however, demonstrated that

much of what is called alkali land is really

susceptible of cultivation, and will, if properly

handled, produce prolific crops of vegetables,

cereals and deciduous fruits. It can be

reclaimed by drainage. Apples and pears that

took the first premium at the New Orleans

Exposition were raised on strong alkali soil

near Long Beach, and the yield per acre of

such fruits was very large. Many valleys far-

ther above the sea level contain similar kinds

of alluvium, aud also in some localities a darker

6oil known as adobe, which is composed largely

of decomposed vegetable matter. This is the

heaviest soil of all, and in wet weather the mud
it makes is so tenacious as to produce a powerful

strain on the boots and morals of pedestrians

naturally averse to indulgence in profanity, in

the summer it becomes baked to an almost rocky

hardness, and cracks open, some so wide as to be

suggestive of earthquakes. Many dwellings

and a few mission buildings still remain, made
of sun-dried bricks from this soil, relics of an

earlier and a cruder civilization. For these the

soil was mixed with straw, molded in blocks,

and dried in the sun. Buildings thus construct-

ed will stand a century if unrazed. This soil is

excellent for grains and cereals of various kinds,

although not adapted for general fruit-raisim*.

Some of the finest crops of wheat, barley aud

oats are grown on just such land. On the mesa
or uplands is still another kind of soil. It con-

sists largely of detritus or sediment washed

down from the mountains, mixed with vegetable

accumulations. This is good soil for fruit-

growing, but not adapted for cereals. It may
readily be supposed that with such a variety of

soil and climate Los Angeles County's products

are of many varieties. Almost everything

which man could wish for in the way of food

products is raised here more or less abundantly,

according to the attention given to their cultiva-

tion. In moist land seventy-five and even 100

bushels of corn may be raised to the acre. The
table-land, which has water twelve to thirty feet

below the surface, is just the thing for citrus

fruits. There are to-day in the county more

than 800,000 bearing orange trees; 2,000,000

grape-vines, and 20,000 English walnut trees.

To plant orange and lemon trees, and cultivate

them for about five years, cos^s about $200 an

acre. Land costs, say, $150. After the fifth year,

land can proluca $350 per acra. Of alfalfa six

or eight crops a year can be raised, averaging

one and a half to two tons per acre at each

cutting. The farmer can also raise two crops of

potatoes a year, worth $200 an acre. Also peas

and cabbages in the winter, and cucumbers on

the same ground in summer. These are a but

few of the many facts that could be given on this

subject. The constant ripening of fruits and

maturing of vegetables in this county, as shown

by the wares in the city market, astonishes per-

sons unfamiliar with the peculiar nature of the

soil and climate. Fruits and vegetables are ma-

turing every month in the year. Green peas

are in the market nearly all the year, and so are

new potatoes, cabbages, carrots, salsify, aspara-

gus, cauliflower, turnips, onions, beets and rad-

ishes. Cucumbers, squashes pumpkins aud

melons are in from June to December, so that
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every month of the year is productive of " the

fatness of the land " for the benefit of the dwell-

ers therein. Of citrus fruits Southern California

is the natural home, both soil and climate being

admirably adapted to the culture of oranges,

lemons, limes, etc. Some of the finest and

largest of these fruits are produced in Los An-

geles County. The localities most favorable for

them are the smaller valleys of the " foot-hills
"

region, sheltered from the trade winds, and ex-

posed to intense heat, with a very dry atmos-

phere during a large portion of the year. The

crop requires thorough irrigation and a great

deal of care and labor, but with all this outlay

it is very profitable. The orange industry of

the country is immense, as is also that of grape-

raising and raisin-making, and both are steadily

increasing in magnitude. The grape crop is

next in importance to the orange crop. There

are in the county over 16, 000 acres planted to

grapes, the fruit comprising every variety pro-

duced in Southern California.

Of the 103 proprietors of town farms in Los

Angeles in 1848, eight were foreigners: Abel

Stearns, Louis Bonchet, Louis Vignes, Juan

Domingo, Miguel M. Pryor, William Wolfskill,

Louis Lemoreau, Joseph Snooks,—an English-

man, a German, three French, three "Yankees,"

—so has the city ever been cosmopolitan. Un-

der the sound policy adopted at the beginning

for the disposition of pueblo lands, the natural

course of business, and family changes, the pro-

prietorship of real property is much altered.

Many citizens of Spanish origin retain good

agricultural tracts. Within the patent of the

city are 17,752 acres. The increase of culture of

trees, fruit and ornamental, is remarkable. In

1847 there were set out probably 200 young

walnut trees. The almond was unknown. San

Fernando and San Gabriel had a few olives.

Long before 1840 the Californians had had the

ficr, apricot, peach, pear and quince. Plums

were introduced by O. W. Childs. In 1855

were first planted by William Wolfskill seeds of

the sweet almond, which were brought from the

Mediterranean by II. F. Teschemaker of San

Francisco. In 1850 there was one pepper tree,

lofty and wide-branching over the adobe house

of an old lady living near the hills, a short dis-

tance north of the plaza; its seed had come

from a tree in the court of the Mission of San

Luis Rey. On the last day of January, 1851,

John Temple planted a row of these trees, which

have been cut down by the vandal utilitarian,

in front of his Main street store. Now the city

is everywhere adorned with this beautiful tree.

All the oranges in 1850 were from the Mission

orchard of San Gabriel and the gardens of Louis

Vignes and William Wolfskill. On June 7,

1851, Mr. Vignes offered for sale his "desirable

property, El Aliso," so called from the superb

sycamore tree, ages old, that shaded his cellars.

He said. "There are two orange gardens that

yield from 5,000 to 6,000 oranges in the sea-

son." It is credibly stated that he was the first

to plant the orange in this city, bringing young

trees from San Gabriel, in 1834. He had 400 peach

trees, beside apricots, pears, apples, figs, and

walnuts; and he added in his description: "The

vineyard, with 40,000 vines, 32,000 now bear-

ing grapes, will yield 1,000 barrels of wine per

annum, the quality of which is well known to

be superior." This pioneer planter, a native of

France, had come to Los Angeles by way of the

Sandwich Islands in 1831. One man after an-

other planted oranges, until, in January, 1876,

there were 36,700 bearing orange trees, and

6,900 bearing lime and lemon trees. The ship-

ment of this fruit grew rapidly into a regular

business.

In 1851 there were 104 vineyards, exclusive

of that of San Gabriel, all but twenty within

the limits of the city. The San Gabriel vine-

yard, neglected since 1834, was now in decay.

In Spanish and Mexican times, this had been

called the "mother vineyard," from its supply-

ing all the original cuttings; it is said to have

had at once 50,000 vines. In 1851 grapes, in

crates or boxes, brought twenty cents per

pound at San Francisco, eighty cents at Stock-

ton. Through 1852 this price continued, and

the shipment continued for some years, gener-
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ally witli profit. Very little wine was then

shipped; in 1851 nut over 1.000 gallons. Soon

the northern counties began to put into market

grapes almost as good as the southern, and

gradually the manufacture of wine was estab-

lished. Wolfskill had at an early date shipped

a little wine, but his aim was to turn his grapes

into brandy. Louis Wilhart, in 1849 and 1850,

made white wine which was considered in flavor

and quality next to that of Vignes, from whose

cellars came a brand perhaps not excelled in the

world. He had in 1857 some then over twenty

years old; perhaps some of the same the army

so relished in 1847. Among the first manu-

facturers for the general market was Vincent

Hoover, with his father, Dr. Juan Leonce

Hoover; first at the Clayton vineyard, which

from its situation on the bench produced a

superior grape; then from that vineyard known

as of Don Jose Serrano; some of the vines in

which are stated to be over 100 years old. This

was from 1850 to about 1855. The cultivation

of the grape about this time took a new im-

pulse. At San Gabriel, William M. Stockton

had an extensive nursery of grape-vines and

fruit trees. In 1855 Joseph Hoover entered

very successfully into wine-making at the Fos-

ter vineyard. On April 14, 1855, Jean Louis

Sansevaine purchased for $42,000 the vineyard

property, cellars, etc., of his uncle, Louis Vignes

(and it may be said that this was the first large

land sale within the city). In 1855, Mr. Sanse-

vaine, who had resided here since 1853, shipped

his first wine to San Francisco. In 1856 he

made the first shipment from this county to

New York, thereby becoming the pioneer of

this business. Says Matthew Kellar: "Accord-

ing to the books of the great forwarding house

of P. Banning at San Pedro, the amount

shipped to San Francisco, in 1857, was 21,000

boxes of grapes, averaging forty-five pounds

each, and 250,000 gallons of wine." In 1856

Los Angeles yielded only 7,200 cases of wine;

in 1860 it had increased to 66,000 cases. In

1861 shipments of wine were made to New
York and Boston by B. D. Wilson and J. L-

Sansevaine; they are the fathers of the wine
interest. The Sunny Slope plantation, unex-

excelled for its vintage, its oranges, almonds and

walnuts, was established by L. J. Rose in 1861.

In December, 1859, the wine producers were:

Matthew Kellar, Sansevaine Brothers, Frohling

& Co., B D. Wilson, Stevens & Fell, Dr. Par°

rott, Dr. Thomas J. White, Laborie, Messer,

Earnhardt, Delong, Santa Ana precinct, Henry
Dalton, P. Serres, Joseph Huber,Sr.; RicardoVe-

jar, Barrows, Ballerino, Dr. Hoover, Louis Wil-

hart, Trabuc, Clement and Jose Serrano. The
total manufacture of winein 1859 was about 250,-

000 gallons. In 1875 the grape-vines of the

county vere 4,500,000i The largest vineyard

now in the State, next to Senator Stanford's in

Tehama County (which is the largest in the

world), is the Nadeau vineyard, which covers

an area of over 2,000 acres. It is three or four

years old, and it lies between Los Angeles and

Anaheim. The first year's yield from this im-

mense tract was sent to the still, and it turned

out 45,000 gallons of brandy, which Mr. Na-

deau warehoused, paying the government $40,-

500. The three next largest vineyards are at

or near San Gabriel, owned respectively by

'•Lucky" Baldwin, who has upwards of 1,000

acres in Mission and other vines; Stern & Rose

(Sunny Slope vineyard), over 1,000 acres of

many varieties; J k De Barth Shorb (San Gabriel

Wine Company), about 1,500 acres of Missions,

Zinfandels, Mataros, Burgers and other varieties.

These parties have as extensive and costly wine-

ries as many of the leading producers of France,

and they make and age almost all kinds of dry

and sweet wines and brandies. These three

wine-makers have European experts in all the

different branches, including "cellar-keepers,"

and their wineries are like parlors, while the

processes of picking, crushing, fermenting,

blending and aging are as perfect as it seems

possible to make them. They, as well as Koh-

ler and Frohling have houses in New York,

and they send there nothing but wices and

brandies that can be absolutely depended upon

as pure and excellent. Such is the development
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that has been attained in this, one of the model

industries of the early Mission Fathers.

Until recent years, stock-raising was the chief

industry in Los Angeles County, as well as

other portions of Southern California, these

having been long known as the •' cow counties."

The lands were believed to be unfit for anything

but stock ranches, and consequently immense

herds of cattle and sheep roamed in the valleys,

and browsed among the foothills. Notwith-

standing the great agricultural development,

stock-raising continues to be carried on in the

county extensively and successfully, especially

the raising of fine stock, including thorough-

bred horses, which compete with the best animals

raised in Kentucky. Cultivated feed has now

taken the place of wild hay. Alfalfa especially

is a most valuable adjunct to the stock or dairy

farm, as it facilitates the keeping of a large

number of animals on a small space of ground.

In 1870 a few cashmere goats were brought to

Los Angeles County by F. Bonshard. Pie had

500 or 600 head, of various grades. For sev-

eral years thereafter he and J. F. Pleasants

were the only parties engaged in raising these

animals, but now a number of parties are keep-

ing all grades of these goats, from the lowest

up to thoroughbreds. Mr. Pleasants has 300

to 500 thoroughbreds whose wool is worth from

twenty-five to forty cents per pound. A good

thoroughbred goat is generally worth about $50.

Those first brought into the county cost $150

each.

LUTHER HAEVEY TITUS

was born at Hamburg, Erie County, New York,

October 9, 1822. His father, who was a native

of New York State, was of English ancestry on

the paternal side, and Holland Dutch on the

maternal side. His mother, whose maiden

name was Carey, was of Puritan extraction:

her father, whose ancestry was Scotch, was in

the Revolutionary army, in which he suffered

great hardships, having been crippled by having

his feet frozen. Mr. Titus remembers him very

well.

Mr. Titus lived in the vicinity of his birth-

place till 1840, when he went to Rockford, Illi-

nois, and from thence to the Galena lead mines,

where he remained four years, when he bought

a farm of 120 acres, paying for it from his

monthly wages. In 1845 he returned to his

native town. In 1849 lie started for California,

sailing from New York to Galveston. Pro-

ceeding from thence via Houston and Austin to

El Paso and Dofla Ana, he crossed the Rio

Grande at the old copper mines, where he met

David S. Terry, then a young man, who was

also on his way to California. Titus and party

of fifteen came on to the Gila river, where on

account of a big canon and the difficulty of

crossing, etc., and the hostility of the Indians,

all but three of the party went back. These

three, consisting of Titus, Tupper and Salsbury,

who were not easily diverted, then nor after-

wards, from the accomplishment of their aims,

resolved to push on through the Apache coun-

try to California, though it was a very hazard-

ous undertaking. They found a way to cross

the river, and by ceaseless watchfulness, by

doubling back on their track when in the bush

or cane along the river, to throw the Indians off

their trail, and by making no fires when they

camped at night, they at last eluded the savages

and reached the country of the friendly Pimo
Indians, who treated them well, and from whom
they purchased supplies. Here they learned

that a party of Americans was ahead of them,

and they hurried on to overtake them. One
evening, about sunset, they camped in the cane

on the Gila. Mr. Titus had suffered greatly

from the heat, and he was obliged to wear a

mask, as his face was burnt and sor< Bei

short of provisions, and attempting to shoot a

rabbit, his gun kicked so badly as to knock him

over; but he did not mind that, a6 he got his

rabbit. Before reaching the Colorado river

they overtook the party of twenty-eight Ameri-

cans, of whom Dr. James B. Winston, after

wards for many years a resident of Los Angeles,

was the head.

With this party they crossed the Colorado at

Fort Yuma, in a Government wagon box, which
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the Indians used as a substitute for a ferry-boat.

For this service aud for swimming their ani-

mals across, they paid the Indians with blan-

kets.

Expecting trouble with the Yuma Indians,

they had prepared their arms for whatever

might tu'-n up, Titus filling his flask full of

powder. Being without matches, he kindled a

fire one day by taking cotton from his coat and

gathering dry grass, and putting powder in

them, he snapped a cap, and then, kneeling

down, blowed it into a flame, when his powder-

flask exploded, raising him off the ground and

nearly stopping his breath. However, the acci-

dent did not prove fatal, though it was some

time before he entirely recovered from its

effects. The party, including Mr. Titus, Dr.

Winston and others, arrived in San Diego, Au-

gust 13, 1849. Mr. Titus staid there about a

month. While there a soldier picked the grains

of powder out of his face with the point of a

knife. Taking the steamer Oregon, he arrived

in San Francisco September 13, and from there

he went to Stockton and Moqnelumne Hill,

where he mined awhile, and then went to Cal-

averas, where he and his partner, Salsbury,

made about three and one-half ounces of gold

per day, till they worked out their claim, when

they returned to San Francisco. From there

Mr. Titus went to making shingles, which were

then worth $32 a thousand, in the redwoods

just north of the Golden Gate. While at work

there he caught several salmon which he sold

in San Francisco for $5 each. Deer were also

verj plenty, and in two consecutive days he

shot ten, and sold them for $18 each.

In February, 1850, he went to Feather river,

and he and others undertook to turn Deer

creek; but he sold out for $600, and went out

prospecting in the mountains on the old "Emi-

grant Trail." At one place they found wagons,

dead mules, etc., and also the body of a man
with one arm gone, probably eaten by wild ani-

mals. He then took up the Sacramento valley,

and crossed the river below Shasta. After

prospecting above Shasta, he returned down the

valley to Marysville with what was then called

the "Trinity fever," where he was some days

out of his head; but he was carefully nursed

by a friend, an Englishman, to whom he thinks

he owes his life. From thence he went to San

Francisco, and as soon as he was able took a

bailing vessel for Panama, and home, where he

arrived in the latter part of 1851.

In 1869 Mr. Titus came again to California,

and to Los Angeles, where he concluded to

settle, as he was at once greatly pleased with

the country, and he has never since had occa-

sion to change his favorable opinion. He went

home, and the next year, with his daughter and

her husband, Captain J. C. Newton, he came

back to Los Angeles County, where they have

made their home ever since. They went on to

a place which he bought, near the Mission San

Gabriel, and engaged in citrus fruit culture on

an extensive scale, and with great success. Mr.

Titus also devoted some attention to raising

grapes and to breeding fine horses. He brought

in 1870 from the East the stallion " Echo," sired

by liysdick's Hambletonian, one of the best

horses ever brought to this coast. "Echo" is

the sire of many fast and game trotters.

Mr. Titus is a man of great force of character,

fertile in resources, and whatever he undertakes

he is very apt to carry through. Finding that

water was exceedingly valuable in Southern

California, he devised a machine for molding

cement canals for economizing its use, the canal

being formed on the ground where used; thiiSj

in an inexpensive manner, making a limited

quantity of water irrigate three or four times as

much land as when run in ditches in the soil.

He invented and patented a ladder on wheels,

for picking fruit; also a three-notch board for

planting trees; both of these are now in general

use in Los Angeles and adjoining counties. He
has lately invented an ingenious hand-shears for

cutting and picking fruit with the same hand.

Mr. Titus was the first to use iu Los Angeles

County a portable apparatus for spraying fruit

trees infested with pests.

Mr. Titus married Maria Benedict in 1845.
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Two daughters resulted from this marriage

:

Mary II., wife of Captain J. C. Newton, and

Clara It. Titus; the latter is now a sister of

the order of "the Immaculate Heart of Mary,"

known as " Sister Clara," and is a teacher in the

Cathedral school of the city of Los Angeles.

The family remained on their San Gabriel

orchard about seventeen years. Mr. Titus sold

his orange crop from sixty-five acres in 1887,

for $15,000, on the trees. During that year he

sold his place, consisting of 230 acres, most of

which was highly improved.

ile has since planted a new place north of the

old one. This is mostly planted to peaches for

shipping East by cold storage. He has set out

2,500 trees of the Salway variety, and 1,000

Honey Clings. He also has besides some olive,

pear and apple trees.

Mr. Titus, during his twenty years of resi-

dence in Los Angeles County, has done much

to develop its resources and capacities in many

directions. Indeed he is universally accounted

to be one of Los Angeles' most useful citizens.

Being a man of the strictest probity and honor,

he is held in the highest estimation by all who

know him.
CAPTAIN J. C. NEWTON

was born in Erie County, New York, October

26, 1839. He lived in the vicinity of his native

place during his boyhood. He enlisted as a

private in the One Hundred and Sixteenth

Regiment New York Infantry, August 9, 1862.

Whilst in the service he was appointed Second

Lieutenant on the unanimous vote of his com-

pany; and afterward he was promoted to the

Captaincy. He served in the Department of the

Gulf under General Banks; was at the siege of

Port Hudson and in the actions at Sabine Cross-

Roads, Pleasant Hill, Munznra Plains, etc.

Afterward he served under Sheridan in the

Shenandoah valley.

In 1866, May 15, he married Miss Mary H.,

daughter of L. H. Titus. In 1870 they moved

to Los Angeles County, where they have made

their home ever since. They have two daugh-

ters, both born in California: Clara Drysdale

and Mary Titus Newton. In 1883 Captain

Newton made a somewhat extended visit East,

and while there was elected Supervisor of Erie

County, New York, and served a regular term,

the board consisting of fifty members.

Captain Newton, who is now, with his family,

a resident of the city of Los Angeles, is one of

the directors of the Sixth District Agricultural

Society, of which he was one term (1887) the

president.

MINERAL.

No full, systematic geological survey of

Southern California, or of Los Angeles County

has yet been made; but it is known that many

of the most useful minerals, stone and earths,

are to be found in the county, often in paying

quantities. Highly crystalline limestone is being

quarried three and a half miles from Fernando

station. Twelve miles west from Fernando

good sandstone is quarried. Asphaltum is ob-

tained in a number of localities northeast of the

San Eernando tunnel. Silver and lead ore have

been mined in the Silver Mountain mining

district twenty-two miles north of Newhall,

and silver in very rich ores in the San Gabriel

canon. Gold was found in this county in 1843,

—

which was five years before the famous Marshall

discovery, that started so great a rush of immi-

gration to this State. It has for some time

been mined profitably at the Casteca placer

diggings, forty miles northwest of Los Angeles.

This precious metal has also been found in

paying quantities in various other parts of the

county.

Besides many substances which are of special

interest to the chemist and the mineralogist,

from the scientific standpoint, the following is a

list of the useful substances, properly classed as

mineral products, found in the county: gold,

silver, copper, coal, asphaltnm, graphite, iron,

limestone, tin, building stone, clay, mineral

paint, gypsum, borate of lime, silica, kaolin, pe-

troleum, borax, epsom salts, nitrate of soda and

salt. Near Lang's station, in the northern part

of the county, there is a large deposit of chrome

iron, free from sulphur, which is considered
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valuable for the manufacture of paint. Large

deposits of malachite, or carbonate of copper,

have been found in the San Fernando mountains

and along the Arroyo Seco. Gypsum exists

within twenty miles of Los Angeles. The

varieties known as alabaster and selenite are

found. This mineral is said to be very useful

in reclaiming alkali land. The water which

flows from the San Fernando tunnel contains,

by analysis, 30.6 per cent, of gypsum. A salt

lake, fed by salt springs, is located near the sea,

between San Pedro and Santa Monica, and can

be utilized in the manufacture of salt of excel-

lent quality. Clay for brick is plentiful. Large

tracts of the lowlands abound in soda. There

is a ledge of sulphide of antimony seven miles

west ot Los Angeles. There are deposits of

mineral paint of several colors on the seashore

near Santa Monica.

EARTHQUAKES.

No permanent or serious damage has been

done by earthquakes in this county since De-

cember 8, 1812, when occurred the great catas-

trophe at San Juan Capistrano, when, by the

falling in of the tower and tiled roof, over thirty

people were killed. There were moderate shocks

in July, 1855; on April 14, May 2, and Sep-

tember 20, during the year 1856; and one on

the morning of January 9, 1857. This last

was the most severe for a long time. The first

shock was succeeded by others during the day,

and for three successive days. The same vibra-

tions were felt also throughout the other counties

of Southern California, and in many of the

northern counties as well. It was more severe

at Fort Tejon than at any other point. This

was the greatest earthquake since that of 1812.

Mr. H. D. Barrows wrote in the San Francisco

Bulletin of January 28, as follows:

" The great earthquake felt here on the morn-

ing of the 9th instant was rather more extensive

in its operations than we at first anticipated; it

did some appalling execution in various places.

In the vicinity of Fort Tejon, 100 miles north

of Los Angeles, the effects were most violent.

The ground opened in places from thirty to

forty miles, and from ten to twenty feet wide.

The line of disruption runs nearly northwest

and southeast, in an almost straight line, passing

near Elizabeth Lake. The ground appears to

have opened in the form of a ridge, and then to

have fallen back, leaving the earth pulverized

and loose about twelve feet wide generally, so

that in many places it is almost impossible to

pass. An eye witness saw large trees broken

off near the ground; he saw cattle roll down
steep hillside^; and he himself had to hold on to

a post in order to stand up. The people in

the fort were unceremoniously honored with a

shower of plastering and a general tumbling

down of walls and chimneys; and it seems provi-

dential that none of them were killed. He
judged that it would take months to repair the

buildings at the fort. The officers and men
are now camping out in tents. Quartermaster

Wakeman reports the time of the shock at 27

minutes before 9 o'clock, which agrees very

well with the time as reported here. The mo-

tion was preceded there and accompanied here

by a heavy rumbling report. At the Reserva-

tion much damage was done, but I have not

heard the particulars. There are no signs of

aught being thrown up from the openings at

the Tejon. It is supposed that though the

causes of these disturbances may be subterra-

nean fires primarily, the secondary and immedi-

ate causes are the escape or explosion of gases

generated by those fires. This we conclude

from the entire absence of all kinds of volcanic

matter, although the disruptions of the earth,

and the force that caused them, in the move-

ment of the earth on the 9th instant, were tre-

mendous. We had at Los Angeles five or six

shocks during the same day and night, and

within about eight days' time we had twenty

shocks,—some violent, some light. Since that

time we have had none to speak of."

In 1868 there was a heavy shake, and another

in 1872. In May, 1877, there was a series of

shocks during one night and the succeeding

day, some violent enough to crack plaster on the
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walls, and break the glass on a clock swinging

out from the wall where it was hung.

LOS ANGELES CITY.

It is impossible at present to state the exact

population of Los Angeles, city or county. This

can be known only when the official census of

1890 shall be completed. Various recent esti-

mates of the city's population, based on direct-

ories and school statistics, range from 70,000 to

90,000, the correct figure probably coming mid-

way between these.* According to the census

of 1880 the population then was only 12,000.

During the ensuing three years, the influx was

steady, but by no means rapid. Early in 1884,

began a tolerably lively increase, and from that

period down to the present (summer of 1889),

the growth has been very rapid. In five years

Los Angeles advanced from a comparatively

obscure county-seat to the proud position of the

second city on the Pacific coast. Indeed, it is

the fourth American city west of the Missouri

river. The following statement from the Fed-

eral census of 1880 to the present shows the

phenomenal growth of Los Angeles for this

period: 1880, 11,311; 1884, 28,285; 1885,

32,528; 1886, 45,000; 1887, 65,000. Increase

of 1887 over 1880, over 474 1-2 percent. These

figures give only the resident population, with-

out including the thousands of visitors who

yearly come here for health or pleasure. The

city has an area of nearly thirty-six square miles,

and hence has capacity for containing a popula-

tion of at least 100,000. Within the year 1888

a vast deal of building was done, including

many commodious and elegant business blocks,

which would be creditable to any city in the

United States.

While Los Angeles does not pose as a manu-

facturing city, it contains nearly 600 manfact-

uring establishments, with a prospect of a

large increase in the number during the ensuing

year. Among the manufacturing industries

* Since the above wa9 put in type, it has been semi-

officially announced that the Federal census of 1890 gives

the city about 50,000 population.

now in operation are nine iron foundries, with

several hundred employes; three flour and feed

mills, turning out about 500 barrels of flour

daily; a dozen planing mills, employing from

twenty to sixty men each; several brick kilns,

turning out an aggregate of 250,000 brick

daily; several factories for the manufacture of

iron irrigating pipes, employing several hun-

dred men; several carriage and wagon factories

;

cigar factories employing 150 men; 6ix soap

factories, with about fifty employes; six granite

works employing a large number of stone cut-

ters; one extensive pottery; one establishment

for the manufacture of terra cotta and pressed

ornamental brick, there being only two other

such manufactories west of the Rocky moun-

tains. There is an ice factory and a cracker

factory; there are two establishments for the

production of soda and mineral waters; there

are two broom factories; an establishment for

pulling wool from sheepskins by steam; a hair

factory, where hair and moss are prepared for

mattress makers and upholsterers; several

mattress factories; several very large furniture

factories; also two breweries, that consume

annually 300 bales of hops and 20,000 sacks of

barley; several wineries and brandy stills; one

woolen mill; canneries and fruit crystallizing

works; eight candy factories, one very extensive;

one wholesale ice-cream factory; two vinegar

and pickle works; several cooper shops; several

tinware manufacturing establishments; fac-

tories for making boxes for packing oranges and

ether fruits; shirt factories; coffee and spice

mills; a bone dust factory; jewelry works;

electric works; straw works; lithographic

works; hat factories; tanneries; fruit-drying

establishments and a pork-packing cold-storage

company, with a capital of $300,000. The

car and locomotive repair shops of the Southern

Pacific Company are located at Los Angeles;

and there are also car shops, where are made

the cars for street railways. Los Angeles is

the center of wholesale trade for Southern Cali-

fornia, and also Arizona. The completion of

the Los Angeles & Utah Railway would open
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up a great additional extent of tributary terri-

tory. Manufacturing has already been largely

stimulated by the cheapening of fuel; and

when the petroleum pipe lines now in course

of construction are completed, a large increase

in this line of business is sure to ensue. It

should be mentioned as a fact pertaining to the

wholesale trade that the total receipts at the

custom house at the port of Los Angeles

(San Pedro) for the fiscal year ending July 1,

1888, were $139,330.79. The retail trade of

the city is also very large, and it is steadily in-

creasing. The business of raising and peddling

vegetables is largely pursued by Chinese in the

vicinity of the city. Within the city limits

there are hundreds of this race engaged in the

laundry business, the laundries running every

day in the year, save on certain periodical fes-

tival days, occurring at long intervals. Their

butchers deal principally in pork, which is the

Chinaman's chief meat. The merchants deal

in Chinese specialties, and also do a private

banking business. The restaurants of the

Chinese are little patronized by whites. The

opium joint is a typical Chinese institution.

Los Angeles is now one of the most perfectly

paved cities in the United States. Within the

last three years most of the business streets

and many, nearly all the fine residence streets,

have been paved with asphaltum rock, elastic,

smooth, and durable. The sidewalks are of

artificial stone, beautifully and substantially

laid.

The new court house, to cost over $1,000,-

000, is in process of construction. The new

city hall building, lately completed, is an im-

posing and artistic structure.

The amount of business done by Wells,

Fargo & Company's express affords some indi-

cation of the growth and activity of Los An-

geles. The books of the company show a

steady increase from 1885 to and including

1888. During 1888 the company employed, in

the city, forty-four men; used eleven wagons in

the daily delivery; and handled 6,833,011

pounds of freight.

The city and the surrounding towns in the

county are well provided with telegraph ai,d

telephone lines. The Telephone Exchange
of Los Angeles was organized in 1882, with

seven subscribers, and the patronage has

steadily increased until there are now 1,050

telephones in use in the city, and some 200

more in the smaller towns of the county,

every one of which is connected with the city

by telephone. The Western Union Telegraph

Company reports a great extension of its wires,

and claims that the telegraphic facilities at Los

Angeles are superior to those of any other city

of its size in the United States.

On December 31, 1882, the city was lighted

for the first time with that crowning glory of

modern inventions, the electric light. The en-

terprise had met with great opposition, not

only from the gas companies, but from many

people who predicted all manner of detriments

and dangers to result from its use. But finally

all opposition was overcome, and on New

Year's eve the raidiance from seven masts

bathed the city in the electric glory. Los

Angeles is now lighted wholly by this system,

the lights being of that sort known as Brush

lights, being placed on masts situated at such

distances apart as may be determined by the

city council, ranging from 2,500 feet to over

a mile apart. The city ha- two circuits, which

contain thirty-one miles of wire. On these

mast circuits are fifteen masts 150 feet high,

each with lamps comprising 9,000 candle

power. The other masts, with these, aggre-

gate 216,000 candle power, in the city's

municipally paid lighting. There are three

other circuits for private lamps. The first

runs till midnight, for hotels, saloons, restau-

rants, etc. Two others, known as " merchant

"

circuits, run till 9 o'clock on week days, except

Saturdays, when they are continued until 10:30

p. m. On these three circuits there are at

present 175 lamps of 2,000 candle power each.

The city pays $19,000 per annum for its light-

ing, and the store lights costs $3.50 and $5 per

week. Previous to the use of the present sys-
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tern, but a small portion was lighted by gas, in

the official area of 36 square miles in the city.

To cover about five-eighths of a mile square

cost $9,000 per annum, as against the present

cost of a little more than $20,000 for the illu-

mination of nearly twenty square miles.

The headquarters of the city police are at the

city hall; but there is a branch station, and also

a small jail, in East Los Angeles. The force

consists of seventy-four members, as follows:

chief; captain of detectives; four detectives;

captain of police; secretary of police; two police

sergeants; ten mounted officers; fifty foot

officers; two drivers of patrol wagon; a matron,

and a police surgeon.

Prior to February 1, 1886, the fire depart-

ment was composed of volunteers; since that

date, it has been under pay. During 1888

about $70,000 was expended in the purchase of

four new engines, hose and carts, and in the

erection of new buildings. In 1886 there were

required but two engines, one hook and ladder

company, five hose carts, 3,200 feet of hose,

and a force of thirty-two men. Each of the

present engine houses is provided with a tele-

phone, and also a fire alarm gong of the Rich-

mond Fire Alarm System.

The Public Library Association of Los

Angeles was organized in December, 1872,

and the library was transferred to the city in

April, 1878. It is supported by a levy not to

exceed five cents on each $100 of all real and

personal property in the city, and by quarterly

dues of $1 from each subscribing member.

The reading rooms supply twenty-seven daily

papers; thirty-two weeklies; twenty-two month-

lies; three quarterlies; there were 5,748 vol-

umes in the library on June 1, 1888; during

the year 913 were added; the book loan for the

year was 17,071. The library and free reading

room are open from 9 a. m. to 9:30 p. m. daily,

except Sundays, and from 1 p. m. to 6 p. m. on

Sundays.

The city is only tolerably well provided with

public parks at present. It has the little old

"Plaza" on North Main street, opposite the

old Roman Catholic church of Our Lady of the

Angels; and the Sixth Street Park, which is a

small but attractive enclosure, set with semi-

tropical trees, plants, and flowers. Diagonally

across from this park is the building occupied

as military headquarters for the Department of

Arizona, surrounding which are extensive and

beautiful grounds open to the public. Elysian

Park is a large body of very hilly land, as yet

wholly unimproved. East Los Angeles Park

also is a park as yet only in prospect. In the

western part of the city
;
near Eleventh street, is

Westlake Park, of thirty-five acres, and on Boyle

Heights in the Brooklyn tract, is another small

space, called Prospect Park.

Los Angeles is by no means behind the age

in the matter of cemeteries, of which there are

five in the city. The Roman Catholic cemetery

is beautifully located on Buena Vista street, on

an elevation overlooking the old " Spanish-

town,"—now becoming modernized very rapid-

ly. The City Cemetery is on Castelar street,

on the hill. The Hebrew burying ground is on

Reservoir street, in the northeastern part of the

city. All these three are old grave-yards, and,

as they are near the central part of the city, they

will probably be closed ere long. Chief among

the new places of sepulture is the Evergreen

Cemetery, on Aliso avenue. The Rosedale is

on West Washington street. At this pantheon

is the first crematory in the United States west

of the Rocky mountains. It was bnilt by the

Los Angeles Crematory Society, under the

supervision of an expert who came hither for

that purpose. The first incineration, which

took place in June, 1887, was of the body of the

wife of Dr. O. B. Bird, a prominent physician

of the city. Although the body had been

regularly interred a few months previous, the

cremation was a complete success, and this

initiatory working of the new system here at-

tracted much attention. H. Sinsabaugh, a

prominent member of the Methodist Episcopal

Church, is president of the Cremation Society,

and Dr. William Le Moyne Wills, Professor of

Anatomy in the Medical College of the Univer-
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sity of Southern California, is secretary. Dr.

Wills, who is a prominent surgeon, inherits his

enthusiasm for cremation, his grandfather, Dr.

F. Julius Le Moyne, having constructed at his

own expense the first cremation furnace in the

United States.

THE WATER SUPPLY.

One of the first concerns of the founders of

Los Angeles city was of course to dig an irri-

gating ditch. A temporary dam called the

" Toma," was made of sand and willow poles

across the river just north of what is now the

Buena Vista street bridge, and the water was

taken from the river. Though it was frequently

washed out by freshets, it was as often renewed,

and thus kept up for many years. In 1781 the

city dug a main irrigatirg ditch, which has ever

since been known as the Zanja Madre, and lies

along the eastern side of the Sonoratown Bluff.

Laterals were extended from this.

Thenceforward, until a modern period, various

contracts were let for irrigating ditches and

water supply, some of which were fulfilled, some

partially carried out and some not executed

at all. We have not space here to enumerate

the particulars. As is usual in municipal mat-

ters, especially in a mongrel population, much
of these works was unless or nearly so. At

present, however, Los Angeles is well supplied

by good mountain water, both for irrigating

purposes and domestic use.

In 1838 the first primary school was estab-

lished in Los Angeles. The teacher was Ensign

Guadalupe Medina. After a term lasting five

and a half months, Medina was called to the

army. The attendance averaged 103 pupils,

whose progress and proficiency in their studies

was gratifying. The city had appropriated §500

for expenses, and had purchased the necessary

furniture at San Gabriel. Shortly after this,

Don Ygnacio Coronel, aided by his wife and

daughter, Josefa, opened here a school which

was very successful. The first proposition for

the establishment of a college came from Rev.

Antonio Jimenez, May 18, 1850, in his applica-

tion for a grant of town land for that purpose.

About the same time Rev. Dr. Wicks, Presby-

terian, seconded by John G. Nichols, opened
the pioneer English school. In January, 1853,

there were four schools, two of them teaching

English. The oldest school-houses were built

one on Bath, and the other on Spring street,

under the supervision of Trustees J. G.Nichols
and John O. Wheeler. At San Gabriel, J. F.

Burns and Cesar C. Twitchell were teachers in

1856; Dr. John S. Griffin was elected super-

intendent of common schools, with Francis

Melius, AgustinOlvera, and William A. Wallace

as school commissioners. William McKee and

Mrs. Thomas Foster taught for some time.

Mrs. Hoyt had a school in 1857, and two years

later her daughter, Miss Mary E. Hoyt, taught,

as did Miss Anna McArthur. The first organ-

ization of a high school wa6 made in 1873,

Professor A. G. Brown being the first principal,

and the iext, Dr. W. T. Lucky, then city super-

intendent of schools. The first-class was grad-

uated in 1875, consisting of five young women
and two young men. Throughout the history

of the school, boys and girls have shared the

same classes, and the first prizes for scholarship

have been won indifferently by the two sexes.

The number of graduates has gradually increased

for from one year to another, but with fluctua-

tions, the largest number, twenty-six, having

been reached by the class of 1885. From 1873

until 1882 the high school occupied a part of

the wooden building that formerly stood on the

site of the new county court-house. Then, on

account of pressure in the lower grades, it was

moved to rooms in the State Normal building,

where it remained for. three years, until, the

normal school having grown so as to require the

whole building, the high school moved to rooms

in the Sixth street building, where it now is. Tlie

city superintendent of schools continued to act

as principal of the high school until 1881, Dr.

Lucky being succeeded in 1876 by C. H. Kim-

ball, and that gentleman, in 1880, by Mrs. C. B.
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stones. The following year L. D. Smith was

made principal, and then superintendent. F. H
Clark was elected principal in 1884. The course

of study of this school in 1884 was arranged to

provide the requisite preparation for any of the

departments of the University of California, to

which institution many of the graduates here

have gone. It is the aim of the school to main-

tain a course of instruction everywhere practical,

and adapted both to those who become students

at college and those who at once enter business

or home life.

The Normal School at Los Angeles was

established as a branch of the mammoth school

at San Jose, by the Legislature of 1881. The

6iim of $50,000 was appropriated for a build-

ing, and the trustees, instructed to select a site,

in the next year chose the "Bellevue Terrace

Orange Grove," of live and a half acres, on the

corner of Charity and Fifth streets. The build-

ing was finished for occupancy, and the school

opened August 29, 1882, with sixty-one pupils

and three teachers. The principal teacher was

C. J. Flatt; preceptress, Emma L. Hawks; as-

sistant, J. W. Eedway. Charles EL Allen, also

principal at San Jose, was principal. The num-

ber of pupils increased to 126 during the school

year of 1882-'83. In 1883 a separate principal

was appointed for this school, the trustees

selecting Ira More, who had taught for some

years in the main school at San Jose, having

formerly been principal of the Minnesota State

Normal School. The attendance is increasing

each year, it being now more than 300. The

first class, numbering twenty-two, was graduated

in 1884, since when two classes a year have

gone out, the whole number of graduates now

being 240, nearly all of whom are actively

engaged in teaching, and making a good record.

A school of 150 pupils, comprising the first

five grades of the public schools, is attached to

the normal as a practice school for the senior

classes, where the young teacher is trained in

exactly the work he is required to do in the

public schools, for which he thus goes out

thoroughly fitted. A later appropriation of

$10,000 by the Legislature put this building in

excellent condition for its work. The ground

has been graded; retaining walls were put in;

trees, shrubbery and hedges planted, and much
done to make the school an attractive feature of

the city.

St. Vincent's College is a chartered institu-

tion, conducted by the priests of St. Vincent's

parish. The course of studies is commercial,

scientific and classical, comprising all the

branches usually taught in colleges. The mod-

em languages, French, Spanish and German,

receive special attention. The college build-

ings are commodious and well equipped. There

are good accommodations for boarding pupils

in the institution.

The Cathedral School is a parochial school

for both sexes, organized in 1880. It is con-

ducted by the Sisters of the Sacred Heart, in a

fine new building. A boarding-school for young

ladies is connected with this institution, whose

average attendance is about 300.

Ellis College ; s in the western part of the

city, being surrounded by well-kept grounds,

with a fine view of mountain and valley scenery.

The course of study comprises thorough train-

ing in the various English branches, ancient

and modern languages, music, painting and

oratory. The preparatory department is graded

to cover a period of five years. The art de-

partment is a strong feature.

The University of Southern California, a

very successful and important institution of

learning, was established in 1879, owing to the

energy and offices of Revs. A. M. Hough and

M. M. Bovard, and Dr. J. P. Widney, Hon. E.

F. Spence, Hon. R. M. Widney and G. D.

Compton. The corner-stone of the building

was laid on October 4 of that year, by Bishops

Simpson and Wiley. This institution has re-

ceived many valuable donations of land and

money, including lands worth $20,000, from

Mrs. Sarah E. Tansey; a deed of trust for lands

worth about $200,000, from Chaffee Brothers,

of Ontario; lands worth $300,000 and a build-

ing, from Hon. C. Maclay; property worth
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$100,000, from the owners of the Escondido

rancho; some $200,000 worth of city property

at San Diego; from Judge Widney, property

worth about $400,000; $40,000 worth of land

from Rev. A. C. Hazard, of Downey City;

$70,000 worth of property from Hon. E. F.

Spence. and divers other considerable donations.

Educational work was first begun in October,

1885, in the original building; a new one, com-

pleted in 1886, cost some $37,000, mostly

donated. This is 100 feet square, with a total

floor area of nearly one acre. The total valua-

tion of University property is nearly $1,000,-

000. The tducational course consists, first, in

an academic course in each of the several col-

leges, designed to furnish education to the

masses. The college course is intended to fit

students for the pursuit of the ordinary pro-

fessions and the higher departments of business

and general educational work. The post-grad

uate course will be under the supervision of a

faculty comprising the president of the Univer-

sity and the deans of each college. Thus stu-

dents desiring to make a specialty of any de-

partment of science will be enabled to continue

their studies under as many different instructors

and in as many different institutions as they

may deem advisable, in order to perfect them in

that specialty, returning to the University to

pass their final examination and apply for their

diploma. The Chaffee College of Agriculture

of the University is located at Ontario; the Col-

lege of Medicine is in Los Angeles city; the

Maclay College of Theology is at San Fer-

nando; the Freeman College of Applied

Sciences is in course of erection at Inglewood;

the Spence Observatory is to be erected on

Wilson's Peak. There are also branch estab-

lishments at Tulare City and Escondido. Rev.

M. M. Bovard is the present president.

The Los Angeles College is a non-sectarian,

Christian school, for the higher education of

girls and young women. It was opened Sep-

tember 2, 1885, under the management of its

president, D. W. Hanna. It has a daily attend-

ance of over 200 pupils, with eighteen teachers.

Two courses of study are here followed; the

literary course may be completed in four years.

There are further special courses.

The Los Angeles Baptist University was

opened in the fall of 1887. Its building is a

handsome structure, which cost $25,000. Its

total enrollment has been 225, and the attend-

ance in 1889 has been 107. The grounds are

finely improved, and the institution has $100,-

000 worth of property, and out of debt. The

curriculum is full and comprehensive, com-

prising classical and scientifie courses, besides

musical and art branches. The president is

Rev. J. H. Reider.

The Occidental University is in Boyle Heights,

it being a boarding and day school for both boys

and girls. Rev. S. H. Weller is the president.

IKA MORE,

Principal of the State Normal School at Los

Angeles, was born in Parsonsfield, York County,

Maine, May 20, 1829. He is of early New
England stock, his great-grandfather, John

More, who lost his life fighting the Indians in

the war of 1756, being one of the early settlers

of Scarboro, Maine. His grandfather, also,

John More, was the first settler of Parsonsfield,

and served in the Revolutionary army about

Boston from before Bunker Hill until the Brit-

ish were driven out; and afterward served in

New York. The young lad Ira was early in-

ured to hard work in the flinty New England

fields, a training which afterward did him

excellent service; for both father and mother

died before he was twelve, and the property left

him being soon squandered by incompetent

management on the part of those having it in

charge, he found himself truly in a "parlous

state, shepherd." However, with a courage born

of blissful ignorance, not knowing the certain

dangers and the hard struggle of life, nor the

laws of " natural selection " and " survival of

the fittest," he faced the situation as well as he

could, and took up the work which his hands

found to do.

He went to Massachusetts in the early spring
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of 1847, and graduated at the State Normal

School at Bridgewater, at Christmas, 1849;

afterward taught in the same school, and in

Hingham, Milton and Newburyport; graduated

in the scientific department of Yale College in

1855; was elected first assistant of the Chicago

High School in 1856, and helped to organize

that institution, taking special charge of the

city Normal School which was placed in connec-

tion with it. Mindful of his duty to his native

place, he returned to his early home for a wife,

marrying Lucy C. Drew, April 16, 1857. They

are still walking the " long path " together. In

1857 Mr. More was elected to the mathematical

department of the State Normal University at

Bloomington, Illinois. In the summer of 1861

he enlisted in the Thirty-third Regiment Illinois

Infantry; saw three years of hard service, the

siege and capture of Vicksburg being one of

the campaigns. Resigned a6 Captain of Com-

pany G, in the summer of 1864, broken in

health by the malaria of the Western Louisiana

bayous; removing to Minnesota in the spring

of 1865, he was Professor of Mathematics in

the University of Minnesota at Minneapolis,

in 1867-'69. In the latter year he was elected

principal of the Minnesota State Normal School

at St. Cloud. Migrated to California in 1875;

was principal of the San Diego public schools,

1875-'76; taught in the State Normal School

at San Jose, 1876-'83, since which time he has

been principal of the State Normal School at

Los Angeles.

Few men still in the work have so long a

public-school record. Of the thirty nine years

since he began teaching, thirty have been devoted

to the school-room; and of these, twenty-five

years have been given to normal-school work.

A frank, outspoken manner, and a fearlessness

in putting down factious opposition, have some-

times made him enemies, who have, however,

usually become friends on knowing him better.

He is growing old in the comfortable belief

that the world is growing better, and that 'the

position and treatment a man receives in this

life, are on the average, as good as he deserves.

CHURCHES.

The Roman Catholic Church has in Los

Angeles four edifices, with a fifth in process of

construction. The Church of Our Lady of the

Angels, at the Plaza on Main street, was built

in 1821-'25, for the special use of the Spanish

soldiers. In 1841 the building was greatly

improved, and in 1862 it was frescoed and

ornamented, and the grounds were laid out and

planted. By 1870 the membership of this

parish had so increased that the Cathedral was

erected from it. The seating capacity is about

600. The parish is presided over by Rev.

Peter Verdaguer, assisted by Revs. P. Groghan

and J. Genier.

The Cathedral of Saint Vibiana was built

in 1871-'76, being opened for public service

on April 9, Palm Sunday, of the latter year;

the formal dedication, conducted by Archbishop

Alemany, took place on the 30th of that month.

This church is 80x160 feet, with a seating

capacity of 3,000. The style of architecture is

similar to that of Puerto de San Miguel,

at Barcelona, Spain. The decorations are fine.

The erection of this edifice is due mainly to the

energies of Dr. Amat, Bishop Mora, and Father

Verdaguer. The parish is now a very large

one; its rector is the Very Rev. J. Adam, as-

sisted by Revs. M. Liebarne, P. Garvin and A.

J. Allen. Right Rev. Francis Mora is the

Bishop of the diocese.

The Church of St. Vincent de Paul was

established in 1887, under the administration of

Father A. J. Meyer, the present rector. The

building is 46x110 feet, and the tower is 120

feet high. More than a hundred families wor-

ship here.

St. Joseph's Church, German, was erected in

1889. It is 32x70 feet, and is two stories in

height, being ultimately designed for a school

building, on the completion of a new church

near by. About 300 families worship at this

temple, services having been inaugurated last

January. Rev. Joseph Florian Bartsch is the

pastor.

The Church of the Sacred Heart, East Los
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Angeles, is not yet completed. This parish was

organized about the middle of 1888, by Rev
P. Harnett, whose flock comprises about 180

families.

RIGHT EEV. FRANCIS MORA,

Bishop of the Diocese of Monterey and Los

Angeles, was born in the city of Vich, in Cata-

lonia, a province of Spain, November 25, 1827,

and was thus by birth a fellow-countryman of

many of the most energetic missionaries in

California, Texas and Florida. It was therefore

natural that a taste for foreign missions should

early have been awakened in him. Although at

the early age of three years he lost his parents,

he was cared for by devoted servants of the

church, and in early youth devoted himself to

the service of God in the sanctuary and to the

studies of Latin, philosophy and theology in

the Episcopal Seminary of Vich, in Spain.

In 1854 Bishop Amat went to Spain in order

to obtain assistants in ministerial work here.

In response to his appeal at Vich, young Fran-

cis offered his services, and, without waiting to

receive priestly orders, accompanied the Bishop

across the Atlantic. After remaining in the

State of Missouri for a time to familiarize him-

self with the English language, he came on to

California in 1855, and March 19, 1856, at Santa

Barbara, he was ordained to the priesthood by

Bishop Amat and placed in charge of the Mon
terey parish. Subsequently he was rector of

the parishes at San Juan Bautista, Pajaro Vale

and San Luis Obispo.

In 1862 the parish of Los Angeles was de

prived of its Vicar General by the death of

Father Bias Raho, and the next year Father

Mora was chosen by Bishop Amat to be the

rector of the pro-cathedral of Los Angeles, and

July 25, 1866, Vicar-General of the diocese.

Afterward, when the Bishop required the serv-

ices of a coadjutor, he selected Rev. Mora for

the see of Mosynopolis, May 20, 1873.

On the 12th of May, 1878, Dr. Amat died,

and Bishop Mora at once succeeded him, as he

had been appointed coadjutor with the right of

succession. He has followed the steps of his

illustrious predecessor, and under his fostering

care young Levites have been educated in differ-

ent colleges of Europe or in the seminaries of

the United States, and brought here to work in

Christ's vineyard. At his invitation the Sisters

of St. Joseph opened an academy at San Diego,

and last year a parochial school in St. Vincent's

parish in this city. He invited also last year

the Dominican Sisters, who opened a convent

at Anaheim. Under his energetic zeal new
parishes have been formed here in Los Angeles

and throughout the whole diocese. He is a

man that never spares himself, but he is at the

service of those who call upon him from morn-

ing till night.

Some years ago, as he was going to administer

confirmation to the Indians, he met with a

painful accident that put his life in great dan-

ger, and he felt the effects of it for two years

afterward. His voyage to Europe in 1886 en-

abled him to recover his forces, so that nowa-

day* he is in full vigor.

On May 4, 1859, Rev. William E. Boardmau

formed an organization under the name of" First

Protestant Society," with a constitution declar-

ing that its members " unite for the purpose of

supporting Protestant worship here;" the sign-

ers were Isaac S. K. Ogier, William McKee, A.

J. King, C. Sims, Charles S. Adams, William

S. Morrow, D. McLaren, Thomas Foster, Will-

iam H. Shore and N. A. Potter. In 1864 this

society built the church located on the corner of

Temple and New High streets, and shortly after

they reorganized under the title of the Stint

Athanasius Episcopal Church, to which associa-

tion the edifice was transferred.

Early in 1857, there being no Episcopalian cler-

gyman in the vicinity of Los Angeles, the Right

Rev. William Ingraham Kip, Bishop of Califor-

nia, authorized and licensed Dr. Matthew Carter

to act as " Lay reader " for the district. The first

services were held in the rooms of the Mechanics'

Institute, Sunday evening, July 19, 1857, Dr.

Carter reading the sevices, and Rev. Dr. Smith,

at that time president of Princeton College, New
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Jersey, preaching the sermon. The church,

organized August 23, 1857, under the name of

St. Luke's, for some years held services in a

rented building.

Worship was continued in the old building

until Christinas day, 1883, when services were

begun in the new church on Olive street, the

old church having been sold to the county,

which still uses it for offices. In 1884 the

name of the society was changed to "St. rani's

Church;" it now comprises about 500 communi-

cants. The pastors of this church have been:

Elias Birdsall, J. J. Talbot, H. H. Messenger,

C. F. Loop, J. B. Gray, William H. Hill; and

tince 1880, Elias Birdsall. In East Los Angeles

and Boyle Heights, Episcopal Churches have

been established as offshoots of St. Paul's; and

at least three missions have been under its

supervision. There are the Ellis avenue and

Alpine branches of the St. Paul's Sunday-school

and the St. Barnabas mission at Vernondale,

The first Methodist sermon in Los Angeles

was preached by Rev. J. W. Brier, June, 1850,

at the residence cf John G. Nichols, an adobe

where the court-house now stands. Mr. Brier

had come to California in 1849, by the Salt Lake

route. At Death valley, on the desert, he had to

put his wife and two children on an ox, and he

traveled on foot, thus entering Los Angeles. In

1853 Bev. Adam Bland was sent by the Cal-

ifornia Conference to this, the '• Southern Cali-

fornia Mission." At this time, Mr. Bland and

J. W. Potts constituted the entire membership.

In those early days the meetings were held in

the court-house. The church edifice of this

society, when erected on Fort street, cost $18,000,

but afterward $14,000 was spent on improve-

ments. On account of the rise in real estate,

the property, in October, 1888, was valued at

$75,000. The membership has varied greatly

on account of spasmodic impulses of immigra-

tion and the formation of separate churches, but

the number at present is about 1,400. The

Methodist Episcopal denomination has also vari-

ous other congregations in Los Angeles: Grace

Church, with some 200 members, and a local

habitation valued at some $25,000; the Main

Street Church, organized as a theater in 1885,

now owning property worth some $2,000; the

University Church, which is more especially

for the accommodation of the teachers and

students of that institution; Vincent Church,

with a seating capacity of about 800, was or-

ganized May, 1889; Bellevne Avenue Church,

organized in 1887, which now has property val-

ued at $6,500 and some 180 members; the

Central Avenue Church, organized in 1888,

whose edifice is not yet finished; the Asbury

Church in East Los Angeles, which has about

260 members; Boyle Heights Church, whose

membership since four years past, has increased

from eighteen to 150; the German Church,

which, when organized in 1876, had nine mem-
bers, now has 130, with property worth $6,000;

the Los Angeles German Methodist Episcopal

Mission, with three ''appointments;" the Swed-

ish Church, organized in 1887 with thirteen

members, now comprising forty-seven, and

being in such a flourishing condition as to con-

template* the speedy erection of a church

building. Such are the institutions which have

grown out of the first assemblage of those of

this faith in Los Angeles. As early as 1871-'72,

ministers of the Methodist Church South,

began to preach in Los Angeles and vicinity.

At first the meetings were held in private houses

and in the old county court-house, and later, in

a rented hall on Main street. In 1873 this sect

effected a permanent organization, Rev. A. M.

Campbell being the first pastor. In 1875 the

first church building of this society, the original

"Trinity " Church, was erected on Spring street,

between First and Second streets. This old

church was sold later, and in 1885 was built

the present handsome edifice, costing $50,000,

while the organ cost $4,000. In the same year

the Bellevue Avenue Church was organized

from this congregation, and since then three

other new churches have been organized from

the congregation and under the auspices of

Trinity, two of these having been beautiful and

commodious houses of worship. The Pasadena
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congregation worships in a rented hall. Some
325 souls remain as the congregation of the

main old society of Trinity, and this number is

steadily increasing.

The German Evangelical Association was

organized in 1884; it now contains about sev-

enty-five members, and has a church building,

erected in 1885, with a fine parsonage.

An African Methodist Episcopal Church

formerly existed in Los Angeles. The colored

people of this denomination first held services

at the house of Robert Owen (" Uncle Bob")

in 1854. In 1869 a church was organized and

a building erected. The first members of this

congregation were Mrs. Winnie Owen (•' Aunt
Winnie "), Mrs. B. Mason and Miss Alice Cole,

man. The Wesley Chapel (colored) was organ-

ized August 24, 1888, with twenty three

members and eighteen probationers; now there

are fifty-six members and seventeen probation-

ers. Services are held in a hall on Los Angeles

street; Rev. F. H. Tubbs (white) has been the

pastor of this body from its beginning.

In November, 1854, the first Presbyterian

service was held by Rev. James Woods, in a

little carpenter shop on Main street, where the

Pico House now stands. The first permanent

organization of the First Presbyterian Church

was in March, 1855. In the old adobe building

on Spring street, Mr. Woods held regular serv-

ices for one year; when organized there were

just twelve members. Mr. H. I). Barrows

furnished music with his flute, and there was

singing. This church assisted in the erection

of the old St. Athanasius Church on Temple and

New High streets, and held services therein for

some years, when they were refunded the money
contributed for its erection, and the building

became the exclusive property of the Episco-

palian congregation. In 1888 this church had

some 800 members, of whom about 100 went

to form Immanuel Church soon after; but new
members are constantly joining. The house

of worship is a fine, large edifice on the corner

of Fort and Second streets.

The First United Presbyteriau Church was

organized April 26, 1883, with fifteen members;
now it has about seventy. The house and

parsonage are worth about $800.

The Boyle Heights Presbyterian Church was

organized May 3, 1885, with eighteen members;
it now has 130, and the church edifice, built

in that year, cost $3,500, exclusive of the

donated lots.

The Second Presbyterian Church in East Los

Angeles, was organized some six years since,

and it now has some 150 members. It has a

building 45 x50 feet.

Bethany Presbyterian Church has increased

from thirty-one to seventy-eight members since

its organization, December 28, 1887. It has a

building with a seating capacity of 250 in the

main room, and fifty in the infant-class room.

In April, 1865, when Los Angeles was visited

by Rev. J. H. Warren, D. D., from the Ameri-

can Home Missionary Society, there was not in

the city a Protestant minister, Sunday-school,

nor house of worship. There had been here

ministers of all denominations, except Congre-

gationalists, but they had all gone away. At
the instance of this society, Rev. Alexander

Parker began services of the Congregational

Church in Los Angeles on July 7, 1866, preach-

ing in the court-house. In May, 1867, a lot

was bought, and on July 27, 1867, a church was

organized with six members. The building, dedi-

cated in the same year, was erected on New High
street. Several church buildings were success-

ively built and sold by this society, until the

erection of the present fine edifice, which cost

some $72,000, and whose seating capacity is

near 1,500.

The Second or Park Congregational Church

was organized June, 1884, as a mission Sunday-

school, the church proper coming into existence

the following October. The first organized

congregation was in a tent. In 1886 a

building, costing $700, was erected. In 1888

the present building, which is only a wing of

the church to be constructed in the future,

was occupied. The cost of the main building

is to be $10,000.
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The Third Congregational Church was or-

ganized in 1884, after a series of meetings

held in the neighborhood for several months.

The membership has increased from sixteen

to thirty. The building, whose seating capacity

is 350, was erected in 1883, at a cost of $3,500,

on the corner of Railroad and North Main

streets.

The East Los Angeles Congregational Church

was organized March 20, 1887, with thirty-two

members, the list having grown now to some

200. The church edifice cost some $10,000;

it was dedicated March 11, 1888. Added

to it, at a cost of $2,100, is a gymnasium

and reading room, in which is the headquarters

of the "Phillips Club," an association of

young men which is named for the pastor.

This is said to be the most flourishing church

in that beautiful suburb. The society lias no

debt, moreover.

The Vernon Congregational Church, south of

the city, with a memben-hip of about eighty,

has a building which cost some $4,000. This

society was first started as a Sunday-school.

The West End Congregational is a small

society in the west of the city.

The Baptist denomination was represented in

Los Angeles County as early as 1853, the first

services being held at El Monte by Rev. Free-

man. In Los Angeles, the first services of this

church were held in a small building on Spring

street. The First Baptist Church was estabr

lished in 1874, under the ministration of Rev.

William Hobbs, having eleven members. There

ate now 320, besides a goodly number which

has gone to form the Parker Chapel. The First

Church owns a handsome building which cost

$25,000.

The Central Baptist Church was established

in 1885 with eighteen members. It now has

340, and an edifice which seats 800 to 900.

In 1886 was established a Sunday-school at

Parker Chapel, the which rapidly grew into a

congregation, so that in January, 1889, a church

was organized, then having fifty members, and

now being much stronger. The church build-

ing, 40 x 70 feet, was built in 1887 as a mission

chapel.

The East Los Angeles Baptist Church was

organized in 1885, and the next year it built a

church which will seat 450. There are now

120 members in this society.

The Swedish Baptist Church was organized

May 13, 1887, with thirty members, now in-

creased to seventy-three. The congregation

worships in the First Baptist church.

Trinity Church, First German Lutheran, was

established in 1882, the congregation having

increased from eight families to 240 souls, with

180 communicants. Pending the erection of a

handsome new church, the German school-house

is used for service.

A Second Baptist Church (colored) exists in

the southern part of East Los Angeles.

The First English Lutheran Church was or-

ganized as a mission in 1887, being supported

by the Woman's Board of the General Synod.

It is now half self-sustaining, and will soon be

entirely so. The membership has grown from

twenty-three to 125. The cost of the lot and

building was $26,000.

There is a Swedish Lutheran Church in Los

Angeles.

Religious services of the Christian denotnina

tion (Disciples of Christ) were first held in Los

Angeles in October, 1874, and continued at

intervals until February, 1875, when a church

organized with twenty-seven members. The

roll has now grown to between 500 and 600,

including two missions. The house of worship

is on Temple street.

The first meetings of Unitarians in Los An-

geles were held at the residence of T. E. Sever-

ance, in March, 1877. The organization of

the church was perfected in May of the same

year. Services after this were first held in the

Opera House and in Armory Hall. In June,

1889, was occupied the new church edifice, on

Seventh street, costing between $25,000 and

$30,000, being mostly a donation from Dr. Eli

Fay, D. D., Ph. D., the minister of this congre-

gation since 1885.
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The German Evangelical Friedenskirche was

organized in the summer of 1887. About fifty

families now belong to this congregation. The

church building is a neat frame structure,

erected in 1887.

The Seventh-Day Adventist Church has about

eighty members in Los Angeles, and it lias also

churches at Pasadena, Norwalk and Santa Ana.

The Reorganized Church of Latter-Day

Saints was organized in Los Angeles in the

autumn of 1882, with about a dozen members;

it now has some eighty. Worship is held in a

hall rented by the society.

Congregation B'n li B'rith was organized in

1882, under the pastorate of A. W. Edelman,

who continned as Rabbi up to 1886, when the

"reformed service" Was introduced. The syn-

agogue was built in 1873, being dedicated on

August 8 of that year. It is a fine brick struct-

ure, but the trustees have in contemplation

the erection of a handsomer building, on ground

already secured for that purpose. The congre-

gation has a very large membership, and it is

constantly growing. The Sunday-school also

has a large attendance. Connected with the

congregation is a benevolent society managed

by the ladies, as well as one by gentlemen; also

a society of ladies who assist largely in furnish-

ing and beautifying the synagogue.

Los Angeles contains forty-four church or-

ganizations, of twelve different denominations,

besides a few representatives of other faiths,

as Spiritualism, Mohammedanism, Buddhism,

Parseeism Confucianism, etc., and also an or-

ganization auxiliary to the National Secular

Union.

BET. A. M. HOUGH

was born in Greene Count}', New York, June

4, 1830. He lived in his native State till 1864.

He received his education at the New York
Conference Seminary in Schoharie County. He
joined the New York Annual Conference, Meth
odist Episcopal Church, in 1851. In 1864 Mr.

Hough went to Montana Territory as Superin-

tendent of Missions, remaining there four years,

and established the Methodist Episcopal Church

in that Territory. In 1868. on account of the

failing health of his wife, he came with his

family to California, driving his own team from

Montana to Los Angeles, where he arrived

November 22 of that year. He stopped at the

Lafayette Hotel, now the St, Elmo. Amongst
others, he remembers meeting then, Mr. J.

B. DuBois, who was about starting the Repub-

lican newspaper; Dr. J. J. Talbot, rector of the

Episcopal Church, efc, etc.

The Sunday after his arrival the brick church

of the Methodists on Fort street (now Broad-

way,' between Third and Fourth), was dedicated.

He says the streets in that part of town were

scarcely defined at that time, and he took a path

that led diagonally from about the corner of

First street to the church, which still stands

beside the larger church bnilt since by the

Methodists, and now occupied by them. He
thinks there were 4,000 or 5,000 people in this

city them Rev. Adam Bland was presiding

elder, and Rev. Mr. Hendon was pastor of the

local church. Dr. Thomas, of the " Methodist

Book Concern " on this coast, conducted the

dedicatory exercises of the day. Dr. Thomas

was afterward killed with General Canby by the

Modoc Indians. In June, 1869, the health of

the pastor, Rev. Copland, failing, Mr. Hough
took charge of the church, and remained in

charge two and a half years.

Going to San Francisco, he served two years

as pastor of the Central Methodist Episcopal

Church of that city, during which time their

present beautiful and commodious church edifice

was built. He then went to Sacramento and

occupied the pulpit as pastor of the Sixth street

church of that city for two years, until the

California Annual Conference was divided in

1875, when he became a presiding elder in the

Southern California Conference. In this capac-

ity he served four years. In 1880 he repre-

sented his conference in the General Conference,

which met at Cincinnati. About five years ago,

on account of impaired health and also the

delicate health of his wife, Mr. Hough retired
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from the regular itinerant ministry to the

superanuated relation, but the demand of his

brethren made upon him for pulpit services

still exceeds his ability to supply.

Mr. Hough has been closely identified with

the establishment of the University of Southern

California and with the denominational school

interests of this section from the first. After

he retired from the regular work of the ministry

he engaged in business in Los Angeles and

showed such a knowledge of affairs, coupled with

tact and business ability, that he has accumu-

lated a competency and is recognized as one of

the solid conservative business men of the city.

In 1854 Mr. Hough married Miss Anna

Gould, a native of New York and sister of Jay

Gould. They have no children. Mr. Hough

is a man of great intellectual force; of independ-

ent and clear-cut views, and yet of kindly,

gentle manners, broad charity, pnre life and

conversation; and as a sequence of the posses-

sion of these cardinal qualities he exerts a wide

influence for good in the community in which

he has so long resided.

FRATERNAL ORGANIZATIONS.

The list of secret societies in Los Angeles is

as follows, the Masonic order having the largest

number of lodges:

Masonic.—Coeur de Lion Commandery, No.

9, K. T.; Los Angeles Council, No. 11, R. &
S. M.; Signet Chapter, No. 57, R. A. M.; Los

Angeles Lodge, No. 42, F. & A. M.; Pentalpha

Lodge, No. 202, F. & A. M.; Southern Califor-

nia Lodge, No. 278, F. & A> M.; Sunset Lodge,

No. 281, F. & A. M.; Acacia Chapter, No. 21,

O. E. S.; King Solomon Lodge of Perfection,

No. 4, A. & A. S. Rite; Robert Bruce Chapter,

Rose Croix, No. 6, A. & A. S. Rite; Hughes

de Payens Council Knights Kadosh, No. 3, A.

& A. S. Rite. The Masonic Board of Relief

dispenses large sums of money in charity. The

membership is very large, and an assessment is

levied on each member for the relief of distressed

brethren and their families.

Odd Fellows.—Golden Rule Lodge, No. 160;

Los Angeles Lodge, No. 35; Good Will Lodge,

No. 323; East Side Lodge, No. 325; Orange

Grove Encampment, No. 31; Canton Orion, No.

12, Patriarchs Militant; Arbor Vita± Rebekah

Degree Lodge, No. 83; Eureka Rebekah Degree

Lodge; South Star Degree Lodge.

Knights of Pythias.—Olive Lodge, No. 26;

Tri-color, No. 96; La Fraternite, No. 79;

Gauntlet, No. 129; Samson, No. 148; Magnolia

Division, No. 21. U. R ; Los Angeles Division,

No. 25, U. R.; Castle Guard Division, No. 12,

U. R.

A. O. U. W.—Los Angeles Lodge, No. 55;

Southern California Lodge, No. 191; East Los

Angeles Lodge, No. 230; Fellowship Lodge,

No. 294; Select Knights, California Legion,

No. 1; Los Angeles Legion, No. 6; Pacific Le-

gion, No. 16; Germania Lodge, No. 260; St.

Elmo Lodge.

Independent Order of Red Men.— Massasoit

Tribe, No. 59.

American Legion of Honor. — Good Will

Council, No. 629; Safety Council, No. 664.

G. A. R.—Frank Bartlett Post, No. 6; Stan-

ton Post, No. 55; Gelcich Post. No. 106; John

A. Logan Post, No. 139.

Sons of Veterans.—Nathaniel Lyon Camp,

No. 1; John C. Fremont Camp, No. 14.

O. U. A. M.—Los Angeles Council; Israel

Putnam Degree Council; Daughters of Liberty;

Martha Washington Council.

Knights of Honor.—Los Angeles Lodge, No.

2,925.

Native Sons of the Golden West.—Los An-

geles Parlor, No. 45; Ramona Parlor, No. 109.

Native Daughters of the Golden West.—La

Esperanza, No. 24.

Independent Order of B'nai B'rith.—Semi-

Tropical Council, No. 341; Orange, No. 224.

Ancient Order of Hibernians.

United Friends of the Pacific.—Orange Coun-

cil, No. 26.

Order of Chosen Friends.—Guardian Coun-

cil, No. 90.

Order of the Golden Cross.

The Historical Society of Southern California,
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with headquarters in Los Angeles, has been in

existence some six years. The original pro-

moter of this society is Noah Levering, Esq ,

who in 1883 canvassed among his friends and

obtained a list of persons who agreed to become

members. At the first meeting there were

present only Judge N. Levering, Colonel J. J.

Warner, John B. Niles, General John Mans-

field, and H. N. Rust, of Pasadena. The con-

stitution of this society declares its objects to

be: "The collection and preservation of all

material which can have any bearing on the

history of the Pacific coast in general and South-

ern California in particular; the discussion of

historical, literary or scientific subjects, and the

reading of papers thereon; and the trial of such

scientific experiments as shall be determined by

the society."

The Illinois Association was organized in

October, 1885, being originally composed of

former residents of Illinois. After a time its

entertainments became so popular that the

doors were thrown open to other parties. The

organization was incorporated in the spring of

1889. The membership now numbers several

hundred. The weekly entertainments comprise

musical and literary exercises.

There is also a flourishing Iowa Association.

The Young Men's Christian Association has

long been doing a practical work among the

young men of the city, and its membership and

influence have steadily increased. It now has

over 400 members, including many prominent

business men of the community. During the

past year a new building was erected by this

society, which is a credit to the organization

and an ornament to the city.

The Woman's Christian Temperance Union

was first organized, as to its Southern California

representation, in the spring of 1883, by Miss

Frances E. Willard. Five others came into

existence that same year, and the six were

represented at a convention held in 1884 for

county organization. These charter unions were

at Los Angeles, Pasadena, Orange, Tustin, Po-

mona and Westminster. In five years the

number of unions in the county has increased

to thirty-six, with an aggregate membership of

nearly 1,000. Moreover, there are sixteen chil-

dren's organizations, numbering over 1,500

juvenile members. In the county there are at

least 1,700 boys under fifteen years of age who
are pledged against the use of tobacco in any

form. Eight of these unions report no saloon

in their community. The organization is well

officered* and its executive administration is

excellent.

The Flower Festival Society is a unique or-

ganization. In the month of April, every year,

it holds a festival of a week's duration, at which

the display and the decorations are entirely of

the flowers grown in Los Angeles County. The

exhibits are large and handsome, and these fes-

tivals are very popular. The lady managers

realize large sums of money, which are devoted

to the maintenance of the Woman's Home and

the Woman's Exchange. For the former they

have built a large, handsome building, contain-

ing accommodations for seventy, where working

girls and women can have a respectable home at

a moderate price.

Among other institutions of a charitable

character in Los Angeles are: The Young
Women's Christian Temperance Union; the

Associated Charities of Los Angeles, for the

prevention of pauperism, the promotion of

thrift and the relief of the worthy poor; Los

Angeles Orphans' Home; Ladies' Benevolent

Society; Unione e Frattelanza Garibaldina;

Order of Good Templars; Sons of Temperance;

Ladies' Aid Society; Ladies' Missionary Society;

Arion Band of Little Missionaries; the Los An-

geles County Hospital; Los Angeles Infirmary

(conducted by the Sisters of Charity); St. Paul's

Hospital; Southern Pacific Railroad Hospital-

Santa Fe Railroad Hospital; French Hospital-

and two Orphans' Homes, one non-sectarian, the

other Roman Catholic. There is also a Society

for the Prevention of Cruelty to Animals.

The Grand Division Brotherhood of Railway

Conductors was organized in Los Angeles, No-
vember 13, 1888, with 104 charter members
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consisting of railway conductors on the various

lines centering in Los Angoles; but its geo-

graphical scope is the whole of North America.

Already auxiliary associations are organized in

some twenty other important railroad centers of

the United States, and the total membership is

already 2,700. The first grand annual conven-

tion was held on September 16, 1889, in Los

Angeles. None are eligible to membership but

conductors who have served as such for three

years. The chief mission of this fraternity is

the use of all honorable means in its power to

prevent the hiring by railway companies of men

for brakesmen who lack the qualifications neces-

sary to make respectable, competent and intelli-

gent conductors.

The Rifleros de Los Angeles, Pantaleon Zava-

leta, Captain, were established March, 1873; the

Los Angeles Guard, September 8, 1874, Captain

James Bartlett. The Eagle Corps was organ-

ized June 9, 1881. Its first officers were: W.
H. H. Russell, Captain; Hamlet R. Brown,

First Lieutenant; E. G. Barclay, Second Lieu-

tenant. In the spring of 1883 the discipline of

this company grew lax; some of the members

regaided the enlistment as boys' play, others

were guilty of non-attendance, ineligibility and

drunkenness. For these causes thirty-three

members were court-martialed and dishonorably

discharged from the service; notwithstanding

which the company grew large enough to be

divided, and accordingly in 1884 a second com-

pany was organized. The first became Company

A; the second, Company C; the San Diego City

Guards were made Company B, and the whole

was organized into the Seventh Battalion, N.

G. C The following were the officers: W. H.

H. Russell, Major commanding; A. M. Green,

Captain and Adjutant; Cyrus Willard, First

Lieutenant and Quartermaster; C. N. Wilson,

First Lieutenant and Commissary; J. D. Gil-

christ, First Lieutenant and Inspector of Rifle

Practice; T. M. Flotts, First Lieutenant and

Ordnance Officer; Dr. J. Ilannon, Major and

Surgeon; Rev. P. W. Dorsey, Captain and

Chaplain. The National Guard of California

consists of 4,417 officers and men, all told.

There are fifty companies, of which Southern

California has seven. Two years since the State

appropriated $70,000 lor the maintenance of the

Guard, and $46,000 more for uniforming the

men. The United States appropriates about

$60,000 annually for the arming of the National

Guard of the differeut States, and of this Cali-

fornia receives about $12,000 for the purchase

of arms. Los Angeles is the headquarters of

the First Brigade, N. G. C, consisting at

present of seven companies, each of which re-

ceives an annual allowance of about $1,750, or

for the present force, $12,250 per annum. This

money goes direct to the several companies, and

is disbursed for rent of armory and other ex-

penses. The First Brigade consists of one

Brigadier-General, with fourteen staff officers;

one Colonel, with thirteen staff officers; one

Lieutenant-Colonel, one Major, twenty-one com-

pany officers, and 430 men. Brigadier-General

E. P. Johnson is in command.

BENCH AND BAR.

The United States Land Commission ap-

pointed by act of Congress to pass upon the

validity of Spanish and Mexican land grants in

California brought here some of the ablest legal

talent in the United States. The fees iD these

cases were large, and many fortunes were

founded upon these claims, as the lawyers in

not a few cases bargained for half the lands

contingent upon confirmation. The following

were the earlier lawyers, who arrived in the

order mentioned: Don Manuel C. Rojo, 1849;

Russell Sackett, 1849; Lewis Granger, 1850;

Benjamin Hayes, February 3, 1850; Jonathan

R. Scott, March, 1850. The last four, as well

as Mr. Hartman, were overland emigrants.

Law books were very scarce. A brief passage

in " Kent's Commentaries," that was found

somewhere in town, decided au interesting case

between a rich Peruvian passenger and a liberal

French sea captain, some time in March, before

Alcalde Stearns. The captain lost, but he com-

forted his attorney, Scott, with a $1,000 fee, all in
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$5 gold pieces, as it happened. In 1850 came

also William G. Dryden and J. Lancaster Brent,

the latter bringing a good library; in 1851, I.

K. S. Ogier; in 1852, Myron Norton, James

H. Lander, Charles E. Carr, Ezra Drown, Co-

lumbus Sims, Kimball H. Diminick, Henry

Hancock, Laac Hartman; in 1853, Samuel R.

Campbell; in 1854, Cameron E. Thorn and

James H. AVatson (" Colonel Jack Watson "); in

1856, E. J. C. Kewen and W. W. Hamlin; in

1858, Alfred B. Chapman; in 1861, Volney E.

Howard; in 1865, Andrew J. Glassell and

James G. Howard, who arrived on the same

steamer from San Francisco, November 27. In

1859, Myer J. Newman was admitted to the

bar in September, and Andrew J. King in Oc-

tober. Other attorneys prior to 1860 were:

Hon. S. E. Reynolds (afterward district judge

of San Francisco); Joseph R. Gkchell (in April,

1858. appointed district attorney); A. Thomas

and William E. Pickett. Casanueva & Jones

advertised December 13, 1851, this being Will-

iam Claude Jones, well known in Missouri.

Scott & Hayes were partners from March, 1850,

until April, 1852; then Scott & Granger; after-

ward Scott & Lander. Ygnacio Sepulveda was

admitted to the bar September 6, 1862. Be-

tween 1852 and 1860, the land questions before

the Commissioners and the United States Dis

trict Court brought, almost as residents, many
distinguished lawyers—II. W. Halleck, A. C.

Peachy, F. Billings, C. B. Strode, William

Carey Jones, P. W. Tompkins, Gregory Yale,

John H. Saunders, H. P. Hepburn, and many

others. Kimball H. Dimmick had been a cap-

tain in Colonel Stevenson's regiment, and he

was a member of the Constitutional Convention

of 1849. J. Lancaster Brent stood high as a

lawyer and a statesman. He now resides in

Louisiana, near New Orleans, and represented

a part of that State at the late Democratic Na-

tional Convention at St. Louis. Lewis C. Gran-

ger came from Ohio to Los Angeles; he was a

refined, gentle, polite man, a college graduate,

a fine lawyer, kind and generous. In 1857 he

removed from Los Angeles to Oroville, Butte

County, where he still resides, ripe in age and

full of merited honors. Of the early firms of

attorneys practicing before the commission,

William Carey Jones, a son-in-law of Thomas
II. Benton, only remained a short time,

but returned to Washington; "Pat" Tomp-
kins, of Tompkins & Strode, born of the poorest

of parents in Kentucky, was self-educated, a man
of eccentric character, of great ability, and a

most humorous wit; he remained in California

but a few years, and died many years ago; Jon-

athan R. Scott was a man of great physical

strength, almost a giant, but greater mentally

than in body; at the bar he was a tornado; he

died in the '60s. Charles Edward Carr was a

Louisianian, a scholarly man, good, jovial, and

generous, believing strongly in the code of

honor; he left Los Angeles in 1854. I. S. K.

Ogier was a South Carolinian; in 1854 he was

appointed Judge of the United States District

Court of the Southern District of California;

he died in San Bernardino County about 1864.

His widow, a relative of ex-Senator Guinn, still

lives in Los Angeles. Myron Norton was a

New Yorker and a graduate of Harvard, who

the day after his graduation joined the army

and served in Scott's line in Mexico, afterward

joining the Stevenson California Regiment, with

which he came to California. He was chairman

of the judiciary committee of the first Con-

stitutional Convention of this State, and Judge

of the Superior Court of San Francisco, and in

1855 he was judge of Los Angeles County. The

same year he was the Democratic nominee for

the Supreme Court Bench, but, this being the

Know-Nothing "off-year," he was defeated;

this ended his political career. He died in Los

Angeles in 1887. General Ezra Drown came

here in 1853 from Iowa, where he had been

brigadier general of militia. He and his wife

and children were passengers on the ill-fated

steamer Independence, which was burned oft'

the coast of Lower California in 1853, on which

occasion his wife was drowned, pushed by a

human brute from the support on which her hus-

band had placed her. Drown was a scholarly,
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able and most eloquent advocate. He died here

in the '60s.

THK LOS ANGELES BAB ASSOCIATION.

The object of this organization, as stated in

the constitution and by-laws, is as follows:

" The association is established to maintain the

honor and dignity of the profession of the law;

to increase its usefulness in promoting the

due administration of justice; to cultivate social

intercourse among its members, and when

deemed necessary or advisable to procure and

maintain a library for their use." Any attor-

ney in good standing who has been admitted

to practice before the Supreme Court of the

State of California is eligible to become a mem-

ber by paying the regular admission fee of $20,

and signing the constitution of the association.

The officers are elected by ballot at the annual

election holden on the first Tuesday in June of

each year; and these are president, senior vice-

president, junior vice-president, recording

secretary, corresponding secretary, treasurer,

live trustees, and a committee on admission, to

consist of seven members. The first regular

meeting of the association was held on the first

Tuesday in June, 1888, and the constitution

provides for monthly meetings to' be held on the

first Tuesday of every month. The association

was organized with fifty charter members, em-

bracing the leading attorneys of Los Angeles.

The first officers of the association, all of whom
were re-elected in June, 1889, were as follows:

President, Albert M. Stephens; Senior Vice

President, John D. Bicknell; Junior Vice

President, Anson Brunson; Treasurer, Robert

N. Bulla; Recording Secretary, James A.

Anderson, Jr.; Corresponding Secretary, C. W.
Pendleton; Trustees, John H. Haynes, H. T.

Lee, J. A. Anderson, John S. Chapman,

Stephen M. White. Committee on admission,

J. A. Graves, W. F. Fitzgerald, R. H. F
Variel, H. A. Barclay, Julius Broussean, F. H.

Howard, B. W. Lee. Committee on the amend-

ment of the law, Stephen M. White, W. P.

Wade, James H. Shankland, John S. Chapman,

J. M. Damron. Judiciary committee, James

A. Anderson, George H. Smith, Walter Van
Dyke, Anson Brunson. Committee on griev-

ances, William F. Fitzgerald, John D. Bicknell,

J. A. Graves, John Haynes, George J. Denis.

Committee on legal education, Lucien Shaw,

F. H. Howard, John R. Scott, Bradner W.
Lee, Samuel Minor. Committee on invitation

and reception, G. Wiley Wells, George S. Pat-

ton, Shirley C. Ward, J. D. Bethune, R. F.

Del Valle. The Law Library of Los Angeles

was established in 1886 as a private enterprise

intended for the benefit of the shareholders,

hut open to subscriptions. The shares are $100

each and about 100 are taken by eighty mem-
bers. The library contains $10,000 worth of

books, including all the State Reports but four,

which are to be supplied in the near future.

The Library is,, situated^ in the Law Building.

The monthly dues are $1 for each member,

and they are enough to cover current expenses.

The present officers are: James A. Anderson, F.

H. Howard, Richard Dunnegan, Lucien Shaw,

Albert M. Stephens, Trustees; Albert M.

Stephens, President; and H. H. C. Horton,

Secretary.

CRIMES.

Los Angeles is not without a record of crimes

dark and bloody. After the first spell of the

gold fever from 1848 to 1850 a large number

of people were drawn here by the good times.

The wine, fruit and cattle of Los Angeles found

a market in the mines, and money and gold-

dust were plentiful. Men from every quarter

of the globe, mostly unaccustomed to prosper-

ity, and freed from the restraints of home sur-

roundings, plunged into excesses of every kind.

Gambling, drinking, fighting and other disor-

ders ran riot, and crime flourished. This era of

crime, common to all new countries, and some-

times recurring in older communities, at last

ran its course.

In 1851 there came from the north a party

of thirty rough men, under the command of

one Irving, ostensibly bound for Arizona. They
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threatened to hang two grandsons of Jose Maria

Lugo, then in jail charged with a murder com-

mitted in Cajon pass, Lugo having refused their

previous offer to rescue the young men for a

certain sum. They were prevented from carry-

ing out their plans by the timely arrival of a

military party. About the last of May, this

precious gang, then reduced to sixteen, left for

Mexico, but while they were endeavoring to

kidnap some of the Lugo family near San Ber-

nardino, all but one man were slain by Indians,

in a ravine west of Timoteo valley.

On October 26, 1854, Felipe Alvitre, a half-

breed Indian, was arrested for the murder of

James Ellington, at El Monte, and he was

hanged January 12, 1855.

On November 8, 1854, Mrs. Cassin, wife of

a merchant, was murdered in her own door by

a Mexican, who then was pursued and killed in

the suburbs.

From a pamphlet by Ben. C. Truman is

taken the following account of early lawless-

ness at Los Angeles: " Shortly after the cap-

ture and death of Joaquin Murrietta, Luis

Bulvia, one of his lieutenants, came to Los

Angeles County, bringing with him a remnant

of Murrietta's gang. Here they were joined

by Atanacio Moreno, a bankrupt merchant, who
in the reorganization of the party was elected

captain, Senati being a member of the same.

Society in Los Angeles was in a most disorgan-

ized condition. It had been found necessary

to equip a company of rangers, who, upon oc-

casions, took the law into their own hands,

and were always ready to assist in the arrest

of malefactors or put down disturbances. In

1854 a party of lewd women, who had but

lately arrived from San Francisco, signalized

the opening of an elegantly fitted-up bagnio

by a grand ball, to which certain men were in-

vited. While the revelry was at. its height,

Moreno, with his gang, numbering eighteen

men, swooped down upon the scene of the fes-

tivities, surrounded the house, and demanded

unconditional surrender. Certain of the party

were detailed, who entered the ball-room, and

relieved every man and woman of all the valu-

ables they had about them. Leaving, they

went to the house of a then resident of Los An-
geles, recently deceased, and robbed it in the

most thorough and systematic manner; after

which they committed an outrage too horrible

for recital. A perfect reign of terror existed.

Citizens were under arms; the rangers were
scouring the country, but outrages seemed to

multiply. But a short time alter the event

just narrated the same band made another raid

upon Los Angeles, robbed several houses, and

carried off a nnmber of Mexican girls.

During one of their forages a deputy city

marshal was assassinated by Senati. A price

was set upon his head; $1,500 was offered for

his delivery at the jail yard, alive or dead. The
jailor was awakened one night by a demand
for admission. Opening his doors, he found

Moreno with an ox cart containing the dead

bodies of Bulvia and Senati. Moreno claimed

that he had been captured by Bulvia's gang,

and that he managed at once to free himself

and compass the death of the men whose

bodies were in the cart. Bulvia and Senati

were identified by the women who had been

so cruelly outraged, as members of the party

by whom the offense was committed. The re-

ward offered for the delivery of Senati's body

was paid to Moreno. For a few days he was

the lion of the town, and lived royally upon his

blood-money. He happened one day to step

into the jewelry store of Charles Ducoinmnn,

who then did business on Commercial street

below his present stand, and offered a watch for

sale. Mr. Ducommun at once recognized it

as the watch taken from the husband of the

woman above alluded to, at the time of the

assassination. Mr. Ducommun asked Moreno

to wait until he stepped out for the money to

complete the purchase. Instead of looking for

money Mr. Ducommun made a straight track

for the headquarters of the rangers, and in-

formed Captain Hope, who was then in com-

mand, of the facts above stated. William

Getman at once arrested Moreno. He was
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tried, convicted of robbery, and sent to the

State Prison for fourteen years. It afterward

transpired that he had killed Bulvia and Senati

in the most treacherous manner. He and Sen-

ati were left alone in camp, all the other mem-
bers of the gang having left on a scout. While

Senati was cleaning his saddle, Moreno blew

his brains out, supposing he could get his body

into town and obtain the reward before any of

their companions returned. Bulvia had not,

however, gotten out of the sound of the shot

which killed Senati. He returned to camp and

asked the meaning of it. Moreno told him

that Senati's pistol had gone oft' accidentally.

Bulvia inquired where Senati was, and was told

that he was sleeping. Distrusting Moreno, he

stooped to raise Senati's blanket from his face,

when Moreno completed his murderous work by

plunging a sword blade through his heart! The

bodies of Senati and Bulvia were buried on

Mariposa Hill, where they were disinterred in

1886 when excavations were made for the pres-

ent county jail. Their bones were carted to the

city's dumping grounds.

On October 13, 1854, one David Brown

killed Pinckney Clifford in this city, the

act causing great excitement. A public meet-

ing on the next day was appeased only by the

mayor's promise that if the law should fail, he

would resign and help to punish the murderer.

Brown was tried November 30. The District

Court, Benjamin Hayes, Judge, sentenced him

to be executed on January 12,1855. The same

day had been fixed by that court for the execu-

tion of Felipe Alvitre for the murder of James

Ellington at El Monte. Brown's counsel, J. R.

Scott and J. A. Watson, had obtained a stay of

execution from the Supreme Court. Public ex-

pectation waited for it, but a like stay did not

come for the wretched, friendless Alvitre. This

still more inflamed the native Californian and

Mexican portion of the population. The fatal

day arrived, and with it a gathering at the

county jail of a great multitude of all classes.

Meanwhile, the mayor had resigned. Sheriff

Barton posted within the jail yard an armed

guard of forty men. Alvitre was hung—the

the rope broke, he fell to the ground.

" Arriba! arriba! " (Up! up!) was the cry

from outside; and all was instantly adjusted

and the law's sentence carried into effect.

Words fail to describe the demeanor then of

that mass of eager, angry men. Suspense was

soon over. Persuaded by personal friends, the

odds against him seeming too greit, Sheriff

Barton withdrew the guard. The gate was

crushed with heavy timbers, blacksmiths were

procured, and the iron doors were forced.

Within the next hour Brown was dragged from

his cell to a corral across the street, where,

amidst the shouts of the people he uttered some

incoherent observations, but quickly was hung

from a beam of the corral gate. Another cell

held a third person condemned for a later day,

but him the crowd did not molest. He was

finally allowed a new trial, by the Supreme

Court, and at Santa Barbara he was acquitted.

It was stated that a week after the lynching an

order of the Supreme Court in favor of Alvitre,

was received, it having been delayed by various

causes.

On May 30, 1856, Nicholas Graham was

hung for the murder of Joseph Brooks in the

previous January. A large crowd attended, but

there was no disturbance, as he confessed from

the scaffold his crime.

In 1856 crime had increased to such a degree

that a vigilance committee was organized, with

Myron Norton as chairman, and H. N. Alexan-

der, secretary. They expelled a great many

people, some of whom returned later, and be-

came very pretentious folk in Los Angeles.

On January 22, 1857, came the band of

Pancho, Daniel and Juan Flores. Through the

day they plundered the stores of Miguel Kra-

zewsky, Henry, Charles and Manuel Garcia, fin-

ishing their work by the cruel murder of the

German merchant, George W. Pflugardt.

Sheriff James R. Barton, on the night of the

22d, left the city with a party consisting of

William H. Little, Charles K. Baker, Charles

F. Daley, Alfred Hardy, and Frank Alexander.
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Within fifteen miles of Sau Juan on the San

Joaquin Rancho, the next morning, Little and

Baker advanced a few hundred yards in pursuit

of a man in view on horseback. The bandits,

eight in number, sallied out from behind a

hillock, killed the two men, and then attacked

Barton's party. After a short conflict Barton

and Daley were killed, the other two escaping

only through the swiftness of their horses, and

bringing the news to Los Angeles, where five

companies, French, German and Americans, and

two of native Californians, were organized;

also one at El Monte and one at San Bernardino.

A company of United States infantry came from

Fort Tejon; and at San Diego, under a warrant

issued by the district judge, Captain H. S.

Burton placed at the disposal of the sheriff

thirty of his mounted artillerymen. These

companies scoured the country. One body, under

James Thompson, was sent toward the Tehunga,

with 6ome of the infantrymen, who were sta

tioned near Simi pass as a lookout. Two of

the soldiers, hidden behind the rocks, captured

a man who had come for water, mounted on a

poor horse, unarmed, and only a little dried

beef tied to his saddle. He gave his name as

Sanchez, said he belonged to San Fernando

Mission, was out hunting horses, and would

now go no farther. Taken into camp, Pancho

Johnson recognized him as Juan Flores. In

accordance with a vote of the mass of the peo-

ple, he was executed on February 14, 1857, on

the top of Fort Hill, in the presence of almost

the entire population. In January, 1858,

Sheriff Murphy found Pancho Daniel concealed

in a haystack near San Jose, and he was jailed

in Los Angeles. His case came before the

District Court, and great delay ensued, owing

chiefly to the challenging of successive venires

of jurors, the case at last being transferred to

Santa Barbara County. On November 30, at

about 6:30 a. m., as Richard Mitchell, the jailer,

was on his way to Market, he was stopped and

made deliver over the keys of the jail. A piece

of artillery was planted so as to bear upon the

jail door, and a large number of men inarched

from a neighboring corral. The door was
opened, and Pancho Daniel was summoned to

come forth, which he did with coolness and

resignation. At 7:20 he was hung in the jail-

yard. The body was delivered to his wife.

A coroner's jury examined a number of wit-

nesses, and rendered a verdict that he " came to

his death by being hanged by some persons to

jury unknown."

On September 27, 1857, at the Montgomery
saloon, Thomas King and Lafayette King quar-

reled over a game of cards, and as the other

was leaving the house, Thomas King stabbed

him to the heart. He was arrested, tried, con-

victed of willful murder, and, on February 16,

1858 hung at the same time as Leonardo Lo-

pez, for the murder of Pflugardt.

Late in the evening of March 30, 1857, James

P. Johnson, of El Monte, entered the saloon of

Henry Wagner, at Los Angeles, evidently bent

on making a disturbance. He was at last per-

suaded to leave, but returned and shot Wagner
dead. After a long and tedious trial he was

convicted, and he suffered death at Los Angeles,

October 3, 1857.

About the time Sheriff Barton and party were

murdered, the citizens of El Monte hanged four

Mexican desperadoes, and the Angelefios went

further, in hanging eleven Mexicans, for con-

nection with criminal acts.

On January 7, 1858, Sheriff William C.

Getman was killed by a maniac, who was in turn

shot by citizens.

A noted Mexican desperado named Alvitre,

was hanged by a mob at El Monte, April 28,

1861, for the murder of his wife. On October

17, of the same year, Francisco Cota was hanged

by a mob for the murder of Mr. Leek that

morning.

On January 24, 1862, Ciriaco Arza was

hanged for the murder of Frank Riley, an Irish

peddler, the previous May.

On November 17, 1862, John Rains, of Cuca-

monga was murdered near the Azusa Rancho.

A Mexican named Cerradel, who had been sen-

tenced to ten years in San Quentin, was hung
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by citizens on Banning's ferry-boat at Wilming-

ton, while being taken as a prisoner to the

steamer Senator.

On November 21, 1863, "Boston" Dame-

wood, Chase, Wood and two Mexicans, all of

the criminal class, were taken from the jail and

hanged by citizens on Spring street. On De-

cember 17, of that year, Charles Wilkins was

hanged by the vigilance committee for the tnur

der of John Sauford near Fort Tejon.

In January, 1864, Edward Newman was

killed near San Bernardino, and one of his sup-

posed murderers was killed by a posse on the

Santa Ana river. Another Mexican, supposed

to have shared also in the killing of Newman,

was hanged in June for the murder of a fellow-

countryman.

On April 23, 1865, Robert Parker, a carpen-

ter, was called to his door and shot down by

paities then unknown. Later on a Mexican

was found guilty of this, and sentenced to ten

years' imprisonment. On July 5, of this year,

occurred one of the most desperate and sanguin-

ary affrays ever witnessed in Los Angeles. On
the night of July 4,at a ball at the Bella Union,

now the St. Charles Hotel, Under-Sheriff A. J.

King had some difficulty with one Robert Carl-

isle, who cut him severely. About noon on the

next day, as the stages were leaving for the

steamers, and as the hotel and express office were

both crowded with people, Frank and Houston

King, brothers of the under-sheriff, entered

the bar-room of the hotel, and with pistols at-

tacked Carlisle, who defended himself in like

manner. Shot succeeded shot with great rapid-

ity, and soon Houston King fell, disabled by a

ball from Carlisle's pistol. His brother contin-

ued the fight unaided. The people fled panic-

stricken. A stray ball killed a stage-horse at the

door. A bystander was shot down accidentally,

and some eight or ten had their clothes pierced

by the leaden hail. At last the combatants

reached the sidewalk, where Frank King seized

his antagonist and beat him over the head with

the revolver till it was useless. So far, King

was uninjured, but Carlisle was fairly riddled

with balls. With a last effort the latter broke

away, staggered into the doorway, leaned pain-

fully against the casing, raised his pistol in

both hands, and fired his last shot. Frank King

fell, shot through the heart. Carlisle died three

hours later. Houston King finally recovered,

was tried for the murder of Carlise, and was

acquitted.

In July, 1865, George Williams and Cyrus

Kimball, of San Diego, were on their way to

Los Angeles with their families, and encamped

for the night by the Santa Ana river. About

sunrise in the morning, while the women and

children were at some little distance from the

camp, seven American cut-throats (the leader

being Jack O'Brien) rode up and deliberately

shot the two men dead. When the women came

up to see what occasioned the firing, they found

their husbands dead, and were ordered by the

assassins, under pain of death, to hand over all

the money of the party. This they did, and

the scoundrels left, having secured over $3,000.

They never were captured.

In 1869, Horace Bell, formerly a ranger, was

indicted for murder in the second degree for

killing a Mexican. The principal witness dying

before the case came to trial, a nolle prosequi

was entered.

On October 31, 1870, a quarrel between Po-

liceman Joseph F. Dye and City Marshal War-

ren led to a shooting affray upon the public

street between the two, in which Warren was

killed and several spectators more or less

wounded. Dye was tried and acquitted.

The notorious Chinese massacre occurred on

October 24, 1871. For two or three days pre-

vious, two Chinese factions had been quarreling

over the possession of a woman of their race.

Both sides purchased arms and ammunition and

fortified themselves on either side of Negro

alley, and exchanged shots. On the 23d, four

of the combatants were arrested, and after a

preliminary hearing, were released on bail. On
the next morning the tight was renewed, and

several officers and citizens interfered to preserve

the peace. Officer Bilderrain and two citizens
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were wounded, one fatally, presumably by stray

shots. The news of Robert Thompson's death

spread like wild-fire, and brought together a

large crowd, composed mainly of the lower class

of Mexicans and the scum of the foreigners.

The more they talked and drank, the more ex-

cited they became, and when an unlucky China-

man put his head outside a shanty, he was in-

stantly seized. The mob, now fairly thirsting

for blood, dragged him to the corner of Temple

and New High streets, and strung him up to a

gateway. The rope broke, and the poor wretch

fell to the ground, begging for mercy from his

Christian persecutors. In vain. He was again

strung up and his life choked out. The fury of

the mob was but whetted by this taste of blood,

and they returned to Chinatown for fresh vic-

tims. Torches were applied, but this with

caution, from fear of a general conflagration.

Then hose was laid, and efforts made to flood

the Chinamen out. Excited individuals, more

forward than the others, climbed upon the house-

tops and shot through various openings into the

rooms below. Wherever a miserable Chinese

could be forced out, he was at once hurried away

and hanged. Five were suspended in a row to

an awning on the corner of Los Angeles and

Commercial streets; and three more were hung

on the gateway before-mentioned. To the

crime of murder was added that of theft. The

stores of Chinatown were looted. The knife,

rope and pistol were in active use for more than

three hours; the dead bodies of eighteen Chinese,

one of them a child, were to be counted. The

authorities endeavored in vain to quell the mob.

Efforts were made by such citizens as R. M.

Widney, H. T. Hazard, H. C. Austin, and others,

and they were successful in saving several more

Chinese from murder. The excitement finally

wore itself out. An inquest was held, lasting

several days, and a few of the mob were im-

prisoned in San Quentin for a short time,

although the leaders escaped punishment. It

is said that more than one citizen of Los An-

geles who to-day make great pretentions helped

that night to murder the Chinese and violate

order. The United States Government paid a

heavy indemnity to the Chinese empire for its

slain citizens.

In 1871, two brothers named Bilderbeck,

were murdered in Tejunga cafion, and David

Stephenson was shot by a posse in Lower Cali-

fornia in resisting arrest for this crime.

In June, 1874, a Mexican named Gordo was

hanged at Puente for a murderous attempt upon

"William Turner, a storekeeper.

The most noted criminal associated with Los

Angeles County was Tiburcio Vazques, the out-

law. This man was born in 1837 in Monterey

County. He early became a highwayman, rob-

bing stages, stealing horses, and even commit-

ting murders without number. After the awful

tragedy of Tres Finos he came to Los Angeles

County. On April 16. 1874, at the head of a

band of robbers, he visited the rancho of Alex-

ander Repetto, at the Arroyo Seco, and tying

Repetto to a tree compelled him, on pain of

instant death, to sign a check on Temple &
Workman's bank at Los Angeles for $800. A
nephew of Repetto was then dispatched to Los

Angeles to cash the check, being warned that at

the first symptom of treachery his uncle would

be killed. The boy's manner excited suspicion

at the bank, and its officers detained him until

he told why the money was needed so urgently.

Sheriff Rowland at once organized a posse and

started for the place, but the boy, by hard riding

across country, reached home ahead of them,

paid the ransom, and released his uncle. The

robbers fled, and, when not more than 1,000

yards ahead of the officers, they robbed John

Osborne and Charles Miles of Los Angeles,

whom they met on the road, and then made

good their escape. This was the last exploit of

Vazquez, plans for whose arrest had long been

quietly laid by Sheriff William R. Rowland.

Again and again the game had escaped him, but

he was to be at last successful. Early in May

he learned that Vazquez was making his head-

quarters at the house of "Greek George," about

ten miles due west of Los Angeles, toward Santa

Monica, and near the Cahuenga pass. The
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house, built in the form of an L, of adobe, was

at the foot of a mountain, the foot of the letter

toward the range, and the shank extending

south. Behind the house ran a comparatively

disused road, leading from San Vicente through

La Brea Rancho to Los Angeles. In front of

the house a small bunch of willows surrounded

a spring, and beyond these a vast rolling plain

stretched westward and southward to the ocean.

A window in the north end of the building

afforded an outlook over the plain for many

miles toward Los Angeles. Other windows in

like manner commanded the other points of

the compass. The middle section of the shank

was used as a dining-room, and a small room in

the southern extremity, as a kitchen. It was

well known that Vazquez had in Los Angeles

confederates, who kept him well informed as to

all plans for his capture. Therefore the utmost

secrecy was necessary. The morning of Thurs-

day, May 15, was determined on for making the

attack, and the preceding day the horses for the

sheriff's party were taken, one by one, to a ren-

dezvous. It was decided that, to disarm sus-

picion, Sheriff Rowland should remain in Los

Angeles, and the attacking force was placed

under the command of the under-sheriff, Albert

Johnson. The other members were Major H.

M. Mitchell (attorney at law of Los Angeles);

J. S. Bryant (city constable); W. E. Rogers (of

the Palace saloon); B. F. Hartley (chief of

police); George A. Beers (special correspondent

of the San Francisco Chronicle), and two others,

all armed with shot-guns loaded with slugs, and

with rifles and revolvers. At 1:30 a. m. they

started, and by 4 o'clock they reached Major

Mitchell's bee-ranch, not far from the house of

Greek George, where Mr. Johnson left part of

his companions, while with the reat he climbed

the mountains to reconnoiter. At first a heavy

fog obscured all objects, but as this lifted, they

could discern a horse, answering in description

to that usually ridden by the bandit, which was

picketed near the house. Twice a man resem-

bling Vazquez issued from the house and led this

horse to the spring, then back to his picket.

Soon a second man, believed to be the bandit's

lieutenant, Chavez, went in pursuit of another

horse, and then Mr. Johnson prepared for action.

His two companions, Mitchell and Smith, went

in pursuit of the man last seen, while he re-

turned to the bee-ranch, marshaled his forces,

and prepared to attack the house. Fortunately

at this moment a high box-wagon drove up. the

canon from the direction of Greek George's

house. In it were two natives, and into it the

sheriffs party at once clambered, taking with

them one of the men. They commanded the

driver to turn his horses and drive back as close

as possible to George's house, promising to

shoot him dead at the least sign of treachery,

lie obeyed his instructions and soon the house

was surrounded. As the party advanced upon

the door leading into the dining-room it was

partially opened by a woman, who, as she caught

sight of them, slammed it shut, with an excla-

mation of affright They burst it in just in

time to see Vazquez spring from the table

where he had been eating, through the narrow

kitchen window, in the end of the house facing

south. As he went through an officer fired on

him with a Henry rifle, and as he rushed for

his horse shot after shot showed him the hope-

less of escape. Throwing up his hands, he

advanced toward the party and surrendered,

saying in Spanish: " Boys, you have done well;

I have been a damned fool, but it is all my own

fault. I'm gone up."

The man Mitchell and Smith had gone after

was taken, and still another was arrested. A
large number of arms was found in the house,

all of the latest pattern and finest workmanship.

Greek George was arrested in Los Angeles.

Vazquez was conveyed to the city and placed in

jail. Here he received the best of medical

treatment, and, as his injuries were only flesh-

wounds, he soon recovered. Much maudlin

sympathy was expended on him by weak-headed

women while he remained in Los Angeles jail.

His last victim, Mr. Repetto, called to see him.

After the usual salutation, Repetto said: "I

have called, Senor, to say that so far as I am



HISTORY OF LOS ANGELES COUNT Y.

concerned you can settle that little account with

God Almighty. I have no hard feelings against

you,—none whatever." Vazquez returned his

thanks in the most impressive manner, and be-

gan to speak of repayment, when Repetto in-

terrupted him, saying: "I do not expect to be

repaid. I gave it to you to save further trouble;

but I beg of you, if you ever resume operations,

not to repeat your visit to my house." "Ah,
Senor," replied Vazquez, " if I am so unfortu-

nate as to suffer conviction, and am compelled

to undergo a short term of imprisonment, I will

take the earliest opportunity to reimburse you.

Senor Repetto, I am a gentleman, with the heart

of a gentleman," this with the most impres-

sive gesture, and laying his hand upon his heart.

He was taken to San Jose, tried for murder,

found guilty, and was there hanged on March

19, 1875. Several others of the band were cap-

tured and sent to San Quentin; some were shot

by officers, and the whole band was thoroughly

broken up.

On October 10, 1877, Victor Fonck was shot

in the leg by C. M. Waller, keeper of the Land

Company's bath-house at Santa Monica. He
died two days later from the effects of the wound.

At the time of the shooting, Fonck was erecting

a private bath house on the beach, in defiance

of warnings not to do so, and "Waller claimed

that, in doing the shooting, he was acting on

instructions from H. Parker, agent of the land

company. Waller was found guilty of involun-

tary homicide, and was sentenced to one year in

the penitentiary. Parker, found guilty of mur-

der in the second degree, was sentenced to ten

years in the penitentiary. This had such an

effect on himself and his young wife that they

both died broken-hearted before the sentence

could be carried into effect.

In February of 1883, occurred a cause

celebre in the criminal records of Los An-

geles. Maggie O'Brien, a young Irish girl of

Los Angeles, had aroused the jealousy of the

wife of William McDowell. She had left her

home, ostensibly to visit friends, and, after she

had been absent some weeks, not having been

seen by the parties for whose house she pro-

fessed to be starting. Rose, the wife of McDow-
ell, presented herself to the authorities with the

story that her husband, having summoned Miss
O'Brien to Colton, had murdered her, and had
thrown the body into aD arroyo. Notwithstand-

ing the absence of motive for the crime on the

part of McDowell, who was fond of Maggie,

and of various circumstances tending to prove

that not he, but his wife, was the guilty party,

McDowell was convicted of the crime, and he

was hanged at San Bernardino, March 28, 1884.

In this year also occurred the murder of

Henry Amadon, a locomotive engineer, by his

wife and her accomplices.

MEDICAL.

The Southern California Medical Society was

organized in Los Angeles, June 8, 1888. For

several years the physicians of this part of the

State had felt that a district society embracing the

leading medical men of the section would promote

the best interests of the profession, and would

in many ways benefit the community. Reso-

lutions laid before the Los Angeles County

Medical Society led to the assembling of rep-

resentatives from San Diego, San Bernardino,

Los Angeles, Kern and San Luis Obispo coun-

ties. The society then organized has indicated

its character and aims in the following articles

of its constitution: "The objects of this so-

ciety shall be the advancement of medical

knowledge, the elevation of professional char-

acter, the encouragement of social intercourse

and harmony among the members of the pro-

fession. * * * To entitle a person to mem-
bership he must be a graduate of a regular

medical college; he must hold a registered

certificate from the State Board of Medical

Examiners, and be of good moral and pro-

fessional reputation and be a member of the

County Medical Society, in case one exists in

his county." The society now numbers 112

members, and is growing rapidly. The present

president is Dr. W. N. Smart, of San Diego.

Regular meetings are held semi-annually, the



HISTORY OF LOS ANGELES COUNT T.

first Wednesday of June and December. The

second meeting was held in San Bernardino;

the third, in San Diego; the fourth, in Pasadena.

On all these occasions, many valuable papers

were presented, and instructive cases reported.

The following are the sections represented by

the committees at the regular meetings: Prac-

tice of Medicine; Materia Medica and Thera-

peutics; Obstetrics; Surgery, General and

Special; Gynecology; Diseases of Mind and

Nervous System; Opthalmology and Otology;

Skin and Venereal Diseases.

The Los Angeles County Medical Society was

organized January 31, 1871. The original

membership consisted of Doctors William F.

Edgar, Russell F. Hayes, Henry S. Orme, J. P.

Widney, John S. Grffin, Joseph Kurtz, L. L.

Dorr and H. H. Rose. At present the organi-

zation has about seventy-five members, most of

whom have joined since 18S4, tip to which

time accessions were not rapid nor numerous.

The aims of the society are, in the main, similar

to those of the Southern California Medical

Society. Its meetings, held the first Friday of

every month, have exercises in which the read-

ing of papers and discussion by the members

are leading features. Dr. J. S. Griffin was the

first president.

The Los Angeles flomceopathic Society was

organized February 6, 1885, with Dr. A. S.

Shorb a* the first president. This was the first

physician of that school to settle and practice in

Los Angeles. At the present time, there are

more than thirty of this branch of medical

science in active practice . here, representing

most of the best-known colleges. The society

has regular monthly meetings, is actively en-

gaged in its field of work, and it is a source

of great benefit to its members.

The Southern California Odontological So-

ciety was organized November 19, 1885, with

Dr. J. S. Crawford, one of the prime movers in

its organization, as president. No city of equal

population in America contains more prac-

titioners of a high rank in the dental profes-

sion than does Los Angeles. To tnantain this

high standard, and to keep in the vanguard of

progress in the profession, was the end to

which this society was instituted, as appears

in the by-laws: "The objects of this society

shall be the discovery and promulgation of sci-

entific truth relating to dentistry and oral sur-

gery, and the promotion of the highest excellence

in the art and science connected herewith."

The society numbers about twenty active mem-

bers, all practitioners in good standing. The

organization is harmonious, and it is doing a

good work for the advancement of dental

science.

DK. RICHARD 8. DEN,

the Nestor of the medical fraternity of Los An-

geles County, was born in Garandara, County

Kilkenny, Ireland, in 1821, and is the eldest

surviving son of a truly noble family, whose

pronounced views upon the Christian creed no

member ever swerved from.

The Dens are of Franco-Norman and Anglo-

Norman descent, and arrived in Ireland in the

retinue of King Henry II., A. D. 1171. Their

accession to power is a matter of history, and

their deeds of valor and goodness will be handed

down to futurity. The impregnable religious

belief of the family, their loyalty to the English

crown, and their adhesion to the unfortunate

King Charles I., led to the confiscation of all

their estates by Cromwell, who bestowed them

upon his ruthless soldiers; but, despite of this

monstrous injustice, of the infamous penal laws

for ages in existence, and of the galling acts of

unscrupulous officials, they still held fast to

their cherished principles, and by counsel, pre-

cept and example continued to do infinite good.

Legends, for which the Irish people are famed,

are to this day narrated at many firesides of the

conscientious victories of the Dens. Although

the latter branch of the family tasted of the

bitter cup of adversity, they lost not one parti-

cle of their faith or honor.

After receiving his preliminary education in

Dublin, the subject of this sketch entered the

City Infirmary and Leper Hospital of Water-

ford, at that time in charge of Drs. Mackesy and
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Burkitt, two eminent practitioners, remaining

there for six years during the summer sessions.

Dr. Mackesy, who afterward became president of

the Royal College of Surgeons of Ireland, was a

warm personal friend of young Den, who in

after years felt a desire to return home for the

purpose of seeing his mother, his sisters, and

his old friend, and of presenting to the latter

in person some little souvenir of the warm

place in his heart that well remembered him.

In December, 1839, having completed the regular

courses of instruction and practice of midwifery

in Dublin, R. S. Den passed his examination,

and afterward received his first qualifications as

obstetrician; and in April, 1840, at a public

examination of the students of the first-class,

held at the original School of Anatomy, Medi-

cine and Surgery, in Dublin, the first certificate

was awarded him in the three branches of his

profession. Continuing to pursue his studies,

and having attained his majority, he, in August,

1842, received his final qualifications. Then

his friend, Sir John Pirie, Bart., Lord Mayor of

London, and an eminent ship owner and ship-

broker, desired to place him on one of his largest

vessels going to the East Indies, which, how-

ever, would not sail for some time; but Dr.

Den, desiring an immediate position, sought for

and obtained the appointment as surgeon of the

fine ship Glenswilly, of Glasgow, which left

London dock August 29, 1842, bound for India,

with special passengers for Melbourne, Austra-

lia. Some of these passengers (who were men

of wealth and influence, leaving England with

their familes, retainers and servants for the

purpose of settling down in a new couutry), at

first sight of the young doctor before starting

thought him unfit for the responsible position;

but, on learning from the Lord Mayor of the

high honors received by him at his examination,

and of the length of time he had devoted to his

studies, they raised no further objection. Dur-

ing the voyage they had every reason to be sat-

isfied with his services; and when they landed,

December 3, 1842, at Melbourne, where the

ship remained some weeks, the passengers were

all in the best of health, and they were profuse

in their thanks, and did everything in their

power to persuade the Doctor to remain in the

antipodes; but, this not suiting his inclinations,

he remained aboard the ship, at Port Phillip,

the harbor of Melbourne; and while there Dr.

Den was informed by the authorities of the

port that he was the only ship surgeon who for

a long period had landed his passengers in good

health and without a single death having oc-

curred during the voyage.

After touching at Sydney and remaining

there about a month, the vessel set sail, but her

course was changed from India to Valparaiso,

and arrived safely there. Stopping a few weeks

at Valparaiso, the vessel came on to Mazatlan,

arriving there July 23, 1843; and while in that

port the Doctor received news of his brother,

who was living at Santa Barbara, California,

and from whom he had not heard for many
years. Hailing this intelligence with delight,

he determined to start for his brother's home.

Accordingly, resigning his position as surgeon

of the Glenswilly, he took passage on the first

vessel bound for California, the bark Clarita,

Captain Walter commanding, and Don Eulogio

de Celis (whose family still reside in Los An-

geles) acting as supercargo. Arriving at San

Pedro August 21, he took passage on the ship

California, in command of Captain Arthur,

with W. D. M. Howard as assistant supercargo,

and arrived at Santa Barbara September 1, 1843,

at the age of twenty-two years.

After paying his brother a short visit his in-

tentions were to return home; but months

passed without any vessel touching these then

almost unknown shores, and the longer he re-

mained the more he became attached to the

country; so he was prevailed upon by the court-

eous, kind-hearted and hospitable residents to

cast his lot among them, his professional serv-

ices being in demand by them. During the

winter of 1843-'44, while visiting Los Angeles,

whither he had been called to perform some

difficult operations, a petition signed by all the

|
leadino- people, native and foreign, was presented
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to him, inviting him to remain among them

and practice his profession. In reply, he stated

that he had not made up his mind to stay in

the country; but if he should remain he would

reside at Los Angeles. Pie then returned to

Santa Barbara on professional business, and

shortly afterward went to Monterey, the seat of

government, to arrange some minor official

matters. In the meantime he received several

letters from his kind friends in Los Angeles

reminding him of their invitation, and, con-

cluding to accept it, he returned to Los Angeles

the latter part of July, 1844, and remained

until the breaking out of the gold excitement.

From the Medical Directory of 1878, the

following paragraph is taken: " It is of record

that Dr. R. S. Den, in obedience to the laws of

Mexico relating to foreigners, did present his

diplomas as physician and surgeon to the Gov-

ernment of the country March 14, 1844, and

that he received special license to practice from

said government."

In 1846-47, during the Mexican war, he

acted as Chief Physician and Surgeon of the

Mexican forces located in Southern California.

Among the American prisoners confined in

Los Angeles, he treated Don Benito Wilson and

party, and Thomas O. Larkin, the only Ameri-

can consul ever appointed in California while

under Mexican or Spanish rule. Becoming

surety for Larkin, he secured his removal to

more healthful quarters and attended him

through his illness. Governor Flores, com-

mander-in-chief of the military forces in the

Californias, despite the reports to the contrary,

Dr. Den insists was very considerate and

humane to the prisouers. In behalf of those

who were wounded, he sent an urgent request

to Captain Gillespie, in command of the Ameri-

can forces, for the services of a physican, and

Captain Gillespie sent this request to Dr. Den,

asking him to comply with it, which he did.

The Doctor urged their removal to town, where

they could have proper care. Flores not only

readily consented to this, but he also acted on

any suggestion offered by Dr. Den that would

alleviate the condition of the prisoners. It may

also be mentioned in this connection that Don

Luis Vignes, long since dead, who was the

pioneer of the French colony of Los Angeles,

and who planted the extensive " Aliso Vine-

yard," which also is a thing of the past, fur-

nished comfortable quarters for Mr. Larkin, and

did much for the wounded American prisoners.

Don Luis had a high adobe wall around his

dwelling-houses, cellars, etc. During the war

the wives and children of certain residents used

to seek and receive hospitable shelter within

Don Luis's capacious castle.

Throughout those stirring times Dr. Den
assiduously and untiringly ministered to the

wants of suffering humanity, irrespective of

nationality, and he was loved and respected by

all the god people. He permitted no prejudice

to overcome his zeal for his chosen profession,

the benefits of which, in a crisis like this, he

held it was his duty to bestow on all alike.

Consequently he remained neutral during this

time, when a bitter feeling existed between the

Americans and Californians, the latter of whom
believed they were being stripped of their rights

by the former.

In 1848 Dr. Den organized, at his own ex-

pense, a prospecting party, and started north

for Sullivan's Diggings, near what is now An-

gel's Camp, in Calaveras County. The party

mined with varying success during that and the

following year (1849), when the Doctor, per-

ceiving that his professional services were

needed on account of the prevalence of inter-

mittent and malarial fevers in that district, dis-

charged his men and entered into the practice

of medicine. He did this not so much for

pecuniary gain as to relieve the sufferings of

his fellow- men, a man's purse forming no in-

ducement for his services, for he treated all

alike, whether they had money or not. Never-

theless, it may be recorded that in one day he

was paid over $1,000 for medical attendance.

At that time gold dust was the medium of ex-

change, being valued at the mines at $5 to $6

per ounce, but was worth in San Francisco $14,
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the rate at which the Doctor received it. After

a few months' practice in the mines, he went to

San Francisco, and while there lie was one of

the seven original organizers of the Society of

California Pioneers. They met in 1850 at the

office of William D. M. Howard (who was at

one time also a resident of Los Angeles), on

Montgomery street in that city. Soon after-

ward the Doctor returned to Los Angeles.

In 1854 he went again to Santa Barbara

County, where he was engaged some twelve

years in looking after the interests of his San

Marcos rancho of eight leagues, which was

stocked with cattle. About the year 1859 he

made a conditional sale of this ranch and stock,

intending to visit his old home and purchase a

place which his ancestors had held for over 450

years before the confiscation; but the sale fell

through, and later, during the great drought in

California, he lost almost all his stock, over

2,000 head of horned cattle, so that he was

forced to indefinitely postpone the trip.

In January, 1866, he moved to Los Angeles,

where he has ever since lived, practicing his

profession.

Dr. Den is averse to becoming involved in

any litigation except where his principles are at

stake, preferring to relinquish his material in-

terests rather than have his good name sullied

by coining in contact with certain minions of

the law. His faith in mankind has resulted in

the loss of considerable property, brought about

by fraud and false testimony, which his sense of

right revolts against, as all those who have ob-

tained wealth by such means have always been

scorned by him.

The Doctor ranks among his patients some

of the leading men and women of California,

both of the past and of the present, and from

the period of his arrival in this country has

highly distinguished himself as a physician, as

a surgeon and as an obstetrician, and all who
know him well speak in the highest praise of

his many noble qualities. Honor, integrity and

lofty-minded strength of purpose, with a scru-

pulous regard for the true ethics of his pro-

fession, are qualities he possesses and holds

dearer than anything else upon this earth. Al-

though in his sixty-eighth year, the highly pre-

served state of his health visibly indicates a

long life.

Many of the Spanish people in old times, and
some even now, have such faith in Dr. Den's

skill that their oft-expressed confideLce in him
has crystallized into this proverb: Despues da

Bios, Doctor Don Ricardo (After Cod, Dr. Don
Richard). The pleasant relations that have ex-

isted between Dr. Den and the people of the

country, and the trust they have reposed in

him, is fully appreciated. Indeed he cherishes

with genuine pride, as he well may, the esteem

and kindly regard in which he has been held by

the good people of this community during the

many years that he has lived in Southern Cali-

fornia. His learning and skill, his high sense

of professional hom>r, and his kindly nature,

have combined to give him a warm place in the

hearts of the old Californians. They fully be-

lieve that as a physician he has been the means

of saving hundreds of lives; and only those

who are familiar with the affectionate way in

which the respectable Spanish people speak of

" Don Ricardo," can appreciate how strong is

their friendship for him.

dr. h . s. ORMK,

ex-President of the State Board of Health of

California, was born in Milledgeville, Georgia,

March 25, 1837. He grdauated as A. B. at

Oglethorpe University in 1858, and attended

his first course of Medical lectures at the Uni-

versity of Virginia. He afterward graduated

as M. D. in the medical department of the

University of New York, in 1861. In 1868

he came to California, arriving at Los Angeles

July 4, of that year, and has been actively

engaged in the practice of medicine ever since.

Dr. Orme has filled many official positions in

both medical and Masonic societies during his

residence in Los Angeles. He has been pres-

ident of the Los Angeles Medical Society, the

California State Medical Society; is now a
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member of the American Climatological Asso-

ciation, Medico-Legal Society of New York,

American Public Health Association, and has

aUo been Vice-President, and is now an active

member of the American Medical Association,

and is a Professor of Hygiene in the Univer

sity of Southern California. Of local Masonic

1 odies, he has been a past officer of the Blue

Lodge, Chapter, Council and Commandery, and

also Grand Master of Occidental Consistory of

Los Angeles A. A. Scottish Rite, Thirty-Sec-

ond Degree, of the State. He is now Past

Grand High Priest of the Chapter, Eoyal Arch

Masons of California; Past Grand Master of the

Grand Council, Eoyal and Select Masteis; Past

Grand Commander of Giand Commandery

Knights Templar, an officer of the General

Grand Council, Royal and Select Masters, and

of the General Grand Chapter Royal Arch Ma-

sons, u. s. a.

Doctor Orme married Mary C. Van de Graatf

in 1873, and has one son, Hal McAllister, born

March 4, 1879. Dr. Orme is a genial, cultured

and popular gentleman, a good citizen in all

relations in life, whether public or private;

and he is skillful in his profession, in which he

takes a genuine pride. Dr. Orme has written

various valuable papers on the climate and

diseases of Southern California; as also other

important papers, for the State Medical Society

and State Board of Health, on leprosy.

THE PRESS.

Los Angeles Comity has its due share of

worthy newspapers and periodicals; and, like all

intelligent, enterprising communities, its high-

ways are strewn with the graves of dead jour-

nals and the wrecked hopes and fortunes of

ambitious but mistaken journalists. The fol-

lowing is a list of the periodicals of the county,

perished and surviving, published in the county

since 1850:

The Los Angeles Star was established in

1851, its first number appearing May 17, of

that year, printed in English and Spanish, ap-

pearing weekly. John A. Lewis and John Mc-

Elroy were the publishers. It underwent various

changes of partnership and owners up to 1864,

when it was purchased by General Banning, who

removed the plant to AVilmington, where it was

used for the publication of the Journal. In

1868 the Star- was again established at Los

Angeles, published and edited by Mr. II.

Hamilton. From that time it suffered many

changes of editors, management, and political

affiliation, and probably no other journal in the

county could show on its rolls so many names

which were notable in the history of the county,

and not a few of them over wider territory.

The Star ceased publication early in 1879.

The Southern Californian, published weekly,

was founded by C. N. Richards & Co. The first

number appeared July 20, 1854, William Butts,

editor. After various changes, it was finally

discontinued in 1857, and the following year its

plant was used to publish the Southern Vine-

yard.

El Clamor Publico, a Spanish publication,

was established in 1855, by Francisco P. Rami-

lez, making its first appearance on June 18 or

19, and continuing as a weekly until December

31, 1859, when for lack of support, it suspended.

The materials of the office were transferred to

the Los Angeles JVews.

The Southern Vineyard was established on

March 20, 1858, as a four-page weekly, 22 x 30

inches in size. It was devoted to general news,

and appeared every Saturday morning. In De-

cember of this year it became a semi-weekly, 20 x

26 inches, issued Tuesday and Friday mornings.

It continued under the management of its

founder, Mr. J. J. Warner, until June8, 1860,

when the plant was transferred to the Los An-

geles JYews.

The Christian Church, a monthly paper,

devoted to religious subjects, made its appear-

ance April 10, 1859. published by William

Money. It was printed in Spanish and English,

at the office of El Clamor. Receiving little

support, it issued but a few numbers before it

was discontinued.

The semi-weekly Southern Neios, independ-
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ent, issued every Wednesday and Friday, was

established in 1860, by C. R. Conway and

Alonzo Waite. The sheet was enlarged in six

months and again in thirteen months. On
October 8, 1862, the paper was styled the

Los Angeles Semi- Weekly News, and so contin-

ued until January 12, 1863. It was frequently

enlarged and modified between this and the

early part of 1873, when it finally suspended.

The Amiyo del Pueblo, printed in the Spanish

language, made its appearance November 15,

1861, published by Jose E. Gonzales & Co. It

was a weekly, and in politics independent. In

May, 1862, it announced its suspension for want

of adequate support.

The Los Angeles Chronicle, a German weekly

journal, published by F. G. Walther, was first

issued May 19, 1869. It continued until August,

1870, when it stopped publication for lack of

support.

It may as well be here stated that while it

appears that more newspaper ventures prove

abortive than any other class of business under-

takings, they are so conspicuous that they are

more likely to be noted, and thus made to ap-

pear more numerous when in reality they are

not.

The Evening Republican was founded in June,

1876, by W. W. Creighton. It was continued

with various modifications, until September,

1878, when the daily was discontinued for lack

of support, the weekly continuing until January,

1879, when it also ceased publication.

The School-Master was established in 1876,

edited by Dr. W. T. Lucky, at that time super-

intendent of the city schools. It was the organ

of the public schools of the county, and was a

very valuable publication for those interested in

educational matters. The death of Dr. Lucky

caused the paper to be discontinued after a few

months.

The Southern California Horticulturist was

first issued in September, 1877, by the Southern

California Horticultural Society, L. M. Holt,

editor. This was a monthly periodical in pam-

phlet form, 6x9 inches, devoted to the interests

of horticulture and agriculture in Southern

California. It was sent free to all members
of the society and to others on subscription.

After January, 1880, it was issued by another

management, in enlarged form, as Semi-Tropic

Californiaand Southern California Horticult-

urist, devoted to the same interests as formerly.

Its contributors numbered several able writers.

It was succeeded by the Rural Californiun.

The Los Angeles Daily Commercial, estab-

lished by W. II. Gould, was first issued March

6, 1879. It was Republican in politics, and ic

was devoted to the development and interests

of the Pacific coast. D. M. Berry was its editor.

Its publication was discontinued some years

since.

The Daily and Weekly Journal was started

in 1879 by J. C. Littlefield, the first issue being

June 23. At the close of tue political campaign,

in September of that season, Mr. Littlefield with-

drew, and the Journal was conducted until its

publication ceased, by Mr. Hewitt, as editor

and proprietor. It was Republican in politics.

The Weekly Rescue was an eight-page sheet,

devoted to temperance, current literature and

general news, being the official organ of the

Grand Lodge of the Good Templars of the State,

and published under the direction of its execu-

tive committee. It was printed at different

times in Sacramento, San Francisco and Los

Angeles. While it was issued here, Messrs.

Yarnell&Caystile, then publishing the Mirror,

printed it by contract for three years, beginning

November 1, 1877.

The following are the periodicals published

in this county in the year of 1889:

The Los Angeles Evening Express enjoys

the distinction of seniority, and it is, with one

exception, the oldest daily newspaper published

in Southern California. It was founded and

first published by an association of practical

printers comprising Jesse Yarnell, George Yar-

nell, George A. Tiffany, J. W. Painter and

Miguel Verelo. The first number appeared

March 27, 1871, and consisted of four pages,

six columns to the page. In March, 1875, it
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was purchased by James J. Ayers and Joseph

D. Lynch, who enlarged and otherwise improved

it. The following year Mr. Lynch retired from

the Express, and Mr. Ayers continued in editor-

ial charge and practical management of the paper

until his appointment as State Printer by Gov-

ernor Stoneman in 1882, when he removed to

Sacramento. Mr. Lynch now resumed respons-

ible charge of the Express, which he published

in connection with the Herald, in the same

building and on the same press, but with a sep-

aiate editorial and local staff. In 1884 this

journal was sold to H. Z. Osborne and E. R.

Cleveland, with whom, as editor and manager

and city editor, respectively, it was first printed

on August 18 of that year, and under whose

administration it has ever since continued, in

August, 1886, these gentlemen organized the

Evening Express Company as a corporate body,

to facilitate business, and transferred the news-

paper property to that company. The paper

has for some time enjoyed a steadily increasing

prosperity, well known throughout Southern

California, and it is one of the most influential

of the State. It has a splendid plant of modern

presses and material, and a book and job

printing establishment equal to any in the State

outside of San Francisco. The company has

aho acquired in perpetuity the exclusive fran-

chise of the Associated Press, the greatest

newsgathering association of the world, for all

its despatches. The paper is now a handsome

eight-page issue, with three daily editions.

The Los Angeles Herald, the oldest morning

daily in Southern California, was founded by C.

A. Storke, its fir6t appearance being October 3,

1873. Some two years later it was sold to J.

M. Bassett, and shortly afterward to Joseph D.

Lynch, formerly editor of the San Diego World,

who had been in the newspaper business from

boyhood, and who had been attached to the staff

of various leading eastern papers. He alone

edited and owned the Herald until the fall of

1886, when he sold a half interest to Colonel

James J. Ayers, who since " the days of '49 "

had been engaged in newspaper work in this

State, having been connected with several

notable journalistic enterprises, and who was

the founder of the Call in San Francisco.

Thus this journal has proceeded with perhaps

fewer changes than any other in Southern

California. At all times it has been a clean,

conservative newspaper, Democratic in the true

Jeffersonian and Jacksonian sense. As a con-

servative advocate, the managers take great

pride in building up what is good in the com-

munity, and in consistently extending the fame

of the merits of the section. The Herald is

now an eight-page journal, containing all the

important news, given in prompt and readable

style.

On February 1, 1873, appeared the first

number of the Weekly Mirror, a diminutive

sheet of three columns to the page, 10 x 13

inches. It was published and distributed free

every Saturday, by Yarnell & Caystyle, who

embarked in journalism with $500 worth of

second-hand job printing material, which they

had purchased on credit, their primary purpose

being to do job printing. The little paper

flourished far more than other such enterprises

of ambitious beginning. On March 1, 1873,

the proprietors, having taken a new partner,

announced in a double-leaded editorial that,

having abandoned the idea of publishing the

smallest paper in California, they would set no

bounds to the Mirrors growth. During the year

that followed, it underwent repeated enlarge-

ments and changes of personnel, some of the

original founders always continuing in the firm,

however, and by 1882 it was the largest paper

published up to that time in Southern California.

Its fifth enlargement took place in July, 1882,—
six months after the Daily Times was started,

—

when the Mirror was made a double sheet of

eight large pages. After the Times was started

in 1881, the Mirror became practically the

weekly edition of that paper, but retaining its

original name, as being the older journal. In

May, 1888, it was changed to its present shape,

—twelve pages of six columns each. Unlike

the Times, it is not a partisan paper, although
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it aims to give all the current political news.

The Mirror's specialty is the development and

advancement of Los Angeles and Southern

California.

On December 4, 1881, was started the Los

Angeles Times, as a seven-column folio. The

projectors were Cole &, Gardiner. With the first

issue retired Mr. Gardiner, and on January 1,

1882, Mr. Cole also, leaving the Times in the

hands of the proprietors of the Mirror, Yarnell,

Caystile & Mathes, who continued this publica-

tion they had bought, as a Republican morning

journal. It grew and waxed strong from the

outset, as no other Republican paper had been

able to do in Los Angeles. After several en-

largements, a share in the paper was bought by

Colonel H. G. Otis, who became the editor of

the Times and the Mirror. Various changes

successively ensued, in the make-up of the paper

and in its administration, until, in October, 1884,

the Times-Mirror Company was incorporated

with a capital stock of $40,000, which was in-

creased to $60,000, two years later, for the pur-

pose of erecting the Times building. In April,

1886, the Times-Mirror Company was reorgan-

ized, Albert McFarland and William A. Spald-

ing, both practical printers, coming into the con-

cern, the former becoming vice-president, and

the latter secretary of the company. Mr. Mc-

Farland has since been succeeded by another

partner, but the other members still continue

the administration. The Times is a standard

seven column quarto, 35 x 47 inches.

The first number of the Los Angeles Daily

Tribune was published on Monday, October 4,

1886, by H. T. Payne and Edward Records as

publishers and proprietors. It was then a seven-

column, four-page paper. With the advent of

the Tribune were introduced some features new

to Los Angeles journalism, as the publication

of a paper every day in the year, including

Sundays and holidays. The new venture was

well received, and enlargements and further im-

provements speedily followed. Able talent was

employed in each department of the paper, the

aim being to make it a newsy sheet without

its becoming sensational. The policy of the

Tribune is thus set forth in its own language:

" Politically it is stalwartly Republican, and

labors for the interests and principles of that

party, irrespective of the feelings of any one man
or set of men. Locally it has given a faithful and

pure reflection of the news of the day, without

any sensational attempt to ridicule or blacken the

character of even the most humble citizen. Edi-

torially it has fairly, honestly and manfully dis-

cussed the issues of the day without fear or favor,

awarding to Csesar that which is Ciesar's, * * *

honestly laboring for the honest rights of the

people, and the best interests of the city and

the whole of Southern California. Its course

has been honorable, open, and upright." Gen-

eral H. H. Boyce is at present editor-in-chief

and general manager of the Tribune, and Ed.

Gill managing editor.

'i he Surf California Post, the only daily Ger-

man newspaper published in California south of

San Francisco, was established as a weekly in

1874, by Conrad Jacoby, its present editor and

proprietor. The weekly enjoys a prosperous

career, having a large circulation among the

German population in Southern California. In

1887 the daily made its appearance, and has

been published ever since, as an afternoon

paper. It is a four-page, eight-column sheet,

26x40 inches. Its weekly edition is the same

size, with a supplement added. The daily has

a general circulation among the Germans, nearly

1,100, in Los Angeles, and its advertising col-

umns are liberally patronized by the business

men.

La Cronica, a Spanish newspaper, was founded

in 1872, by M. S. Arevalo, a native of Mexico:

B. F. Teodoli, a native of Rome, Italy, and B.

F. Ramirez, a native of Los Angeles. Mr.

Teodoli was a practical printer and a thorough

business man, clear-headed and energetic. Mr.

Arevalo was a musician, and of the artistic

temperament. Mr. Ramirez was a lawyer, and

a gentleman of fine education, but timid and

retiring in character, so much so that his per-

sonal courage was not equal to the vigor of his
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writings, a circumstance which shortly led to

his retiring from the paper, when he was suc-

ceeded by a congenial associate, Eidogio F. de

Celis, a native of Los Angeles, with a European

education. Combating with difficulties appar-

ently insuperable, this paper has come to be the

most influential paper printed in Spanish in

California. It is the respected organ of the

If ispano-American population where that race

is still numerous and important. In 1S80, Mr.

Arevalo organized the La Cronica Publishing

Company, a joint-stock association, limited to

100 shares of $100 each, which were all taken

by the most influential citizens of Los Angeles

and the State. Soon afterward, Mr. Teodoli

withdrew from the company, which, after a

time, leased the newspaper to Miguel J. Varela

and Pastor de Celis, a brother of the original

editor, who had also retired. Next, the Cronica

passed into the hands of the Cardona Brothers;

then E. F. de Celis again assumed the manage-

ment, with S. A. Cardona and Thomas W. Tem-
ple, the latter of whom is now sole proprietor.

I? Union Nouvelle was founded in 1879; it

has been edited from the start by Mr. P. Genee,

the present editor and proprietor. It is a large

four-page, eight-column sheet, 36x42 inches;

it is taken by most of the 3,500 population

of Los Angeles.

Le Progres was established in 1883 by a cor-

poration of the same name, whose object was to

have in Los Angeles a true representative of

the French population. Its founders and stock-

holders are among the leading and most influ-

ential members of the French element in Los

Angeles. The first editor was Dr. Pigne du
Puytren, who resigned the position in some-

thing over a year, when Georges Le Mesnager
succeeded to it, and he in turn resigned, to at-

tend to private interests. Since then, the

paper has been in charge of the directors' com-

mittee. Felix Viole is now editor, and Thomas
Laughlin, Jr., is manager. Le Progres is issued

every Saturday. It is independent in politics;

and it enjoys a liberal advertising patronage.

The Porcupine is a weekly news and story

paper, which was started by Major Horace Bell,

November 11, 1882, heading the sheet with

the motto:

"For the cause that needs

For the wrongs that lack resistance,

And the good that I can do "

On September, 22, 1888, Major Bell retired

from the editorship in favor of his son, Charles

A. Bell, the present editor and proprietor of

the Porcupine.

The Cactus, the only weekly illustrated paper

in Los Angeles, was established by Carl Browne,

its first number appearing February 11, 1883.

It is a quarto, four-column sheet, whose princi-

pal feature is its cartoons. It has passed

through several local campaigns.

The Court Journal is a three-column folio,

published on the morning of every week-day in

the year, and devoted to recording the daily

proceedings of the courts of Los Angeles

County, thus making a convenient and valuable

accessory to the office of every member of the

bar, who are its chief patrons. It was first

issued April 6, 1888, and its brief existence has

been a varied one, as it has several times changed

hands, and twice suspended publication. It is

now considered a permanent fixture of the

city, being pretty generally supported by the

lawyers.

Los Angeles Life is a weekly journal, pub-

lished on Saturdays, and devoted to gossip,

criticism, literature, music, the drama, etc., and

it is non-political. It first appeared in Los

Angeles on December 8, 1888, under the title

of the Critic. J. M. Shawhan was the proprie-

tor, and he had, previous to its removal, con-

ducted the paper in Pasadena for about eight

months. On February 1, 1889, Mr. Shawhan

transferred the business and good will of the

Critic to Gilbert McClurg and L. Montgomery

Mather, who changed the name to the Los

Angeles Life. Mr. Mather afterward became

sole proprietor. The paper has a good circula-

tion, and is in a prosperous condition.

The Social World was established by Mr.

Ward in 1886. It was then an eight-column,



HISTORY OF LOS ANGELES COUNTY.

four-page paper, devuted to social, dramatic and

personal matters. Under another management

in 1887 it was made an eight-page, five column

quarto, and much improved. In February,

1889, it was sold to the present owners, one of

whom, W. H. Kennedy, has the management.

The paper is published every Saturday. It is

steadily growing in public favor and patronage

The Commercial Bulletin was permanently

established in January, 1887, as an advertising

sheet. Its projectors were Fred W. Beau de

Zart and John G. Hunsicker. The first few

numbers bore the name The Weekly Directory,

but the owners saw the necessity in future for

a trade journal to represent the jobbing and

manufacturing interests of Southern California,

and so changed the name to the present form.

That the paper has been successful is evinced

by its well-rilled columns and the advertisements

of many of the largest wholesale, manufacturing

and jobbing houses in the world. The sub-

scription list extends through the southern

counties of California, Arizona, part of New
Mexico, and to El Paso, Texas. Fred AY. Beau

de Zart still conducts the editorial department.

The Exponent, published every Saturday in

East Los Angeles, is a four-page, seven-column

paper, 24x36 inches. It was established July

28, 1888. In politics it is Independent Repub-

lican, but it is devoted chiefly to local and

family matters. The proprietors have erected

a publishing house, equipped with steam presses

and a neat book and job office. These gentle-

men, Charles A. Gardner and L. S. Akerman,

are both practical newspaper men of many
years' experience.

In September, 1877, the Rural Californian,

then called the Southern California Horticult-

urist, was established in Los Angeles. Two
years later, George E. Kice, the present editor,

bought and consolidated this and several other

publications more or less devoted to agriculture,

naming the new paper the Rural Californian..

There was an interregnum of his work from

1886 to 1889, when Mr. Rice resumed the

editorial chair. The Rural is a neatly printed

illustrated monthly journal of forty-eight broad

double-column pages, bound in an illuminated

cover. It is devoted to the discussion ol topics

relating to the farm, the orchard, and the home.

It has a large list of readers, not only in South-

ern California, but throughout the State, and

also in the East.

The Pacific Coast Poultry Journal, C. 0.

Cummings, editor, was first issued in May,

1889. It started out as an illustrated monthly

journal, in magazine form, with imperial quarto

page of three columns.

The Southern California Christian Advocate

was founded by its present editor and publisher.

Rev. F. H. Bodkin. It began issue March 1,

1886, having superseded a district quarterly

issued by Rev. R. W. C. Farnsworth, A. M.,

of the Los Angeles District Methodist Episcopal

Church. For nine months it was issued as a

medium four-page monthly, under the super-

vision of the Los Angeles Preachers' Meeting.

In November, 1886, its field was enlarged, its

name changed to its present title, and it was

made a sixteen-page semi-monthly, with a local

advisory committee, which raised a subsidy of

$500 to aid the editor and publisher in the

work. Since then the paper has been again

enlarged, and additional subsidies provided.

At the session of Conference held in Pasadena,

September 13, 1888, the Advocate was made

the Conference organ, thus raising it from the

character of a local concern to that of an official

paper. The present editor was unanimously

elected by the Conference, and, as is usual, he

was appointed to the work by the Bishop. The

publication committee was enlarged to embrace

representative men of the entire Conference,

and another subsidy raised. The subscription

list has grown with reasonable rapidity, and

numbers 1,500 or 1,600. The paper bids fair

to be self-supporting in another year. It is

entirely managed by the editor, who has fre-

quently issued large editions of ten or twelve

pages.

The Los Angeles Churchman, first issued in

January, 1888, by Rev. Thomas W. Haskins,
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itri present editor and proprietor, is a monthly

magazine of some twenty pages of three columns

each. It is devoted to "the interests of the

church in Los Angeles and Southern California."

It embraces articles on various religious and

Sunday-school topics. Its circulation is about

500 copies.

The Southern California Baptist was first

issued February, 1887, with Rev. W. B. Wright

as editor. It started as a weekly of sixteen

pages ot four columns each. After the first

three numbers were issued, Rev. G S. Bailey,

CD., assumed the editorship, which he retained

until June 15, 1889. The paper has received

a liberal support and has prospered from the

beginning, its influence extending beyond the

limits of the section. In February, 1889, its

name was changed to the California Baptist.

The Pentecost was first issued in 1885 as a

quarterly publication. The following year it

was changed to a monthly, and since the mid-

dle of 1887 it has been issued semi-monthly.

No advertisements are inserted in this paper,

which is a four-page sheet of four columns to

the page. The paper and plant, including a

job printing ofhce, is the property of the "Holi-

ness Band" societies of Southern California

and Arizona; its editing and publishing is done

by L. A. Clark and W. C. Brand.

The Southern California Practitioner, a

monthly medical journal, was established in

January, 1886, its editors and founders being

J. P. Widney, A. M., M. D., Dean of the Col-

lege of Medicine of the University of Southern

California; Joseph Kurtz, M. D., Professor of

Clinical Surgery; and Walter Lindley, Pro

lessor of Obstetrics in the same college. These

gentlemen have remained in charge of the jour-

nal, having associated with them Frank L.

Hay nes, M. D., Professor of Gynecology in the

college. The Practitioner, while treating of all

matters pertaining to the science of medicine

and surgery, has mapped out for itself as a

specialty one particular field, viz.: the careful

investigation of the climatic peculiarities and

climatic laws of Southern California, and of that

great inland plateau which embraces Arizona,

New Mexico, and the elevated portion of the

interior of Mexico; the effect which these

climatic peculiarities may have upon race types,

race development, and race diseases; the local

changes which through human agency— such as

irrigation, drainage, cultivation, planting or

clearing of timber—may be produced in climate;

the question of race habits, of food, drink and

manner of life; the physiological and patholog-

ical effects of the crossing of bloods; and all of

these questions as affecting the Anglo-Teuton

in taking up his abode in this, to him, new

uliniate. This is a new, a broad, and a hitherto

un worked field; and the Practitioner hopes to

add somewhat to the stock of human knowledge

in this direction, and to help toward the solution

of these problems. It will also endeavor to

present the salient features of various sections

of this now widely-known climatic belt, so that

physicians in the Eastern States and abroad,

who may be recommending a change of climate

to invalids or persons of delicate constitutions,

may have accurate information upon which to

base a selection. In carrying ont the plan of

work thus outlined, the Practitioner, which is

the pioneer in the field, has hardly issued a

number without some valuable climatic article;

and it has become standard authority through-

out the continent in this new line of climatic

and disease study.

The Pomona Times was established in 1882

by Messrs. Short & Morton. In December,

1883, the first number of the Pomona Weekly

Courier was issued, with John H. Lee as editor

and publisher. On April 1, 1884, the two

papers were consolidated, under the name of

the Times-Courier, with J. H. Lee and W. D.

Morton as editors. In April, 1886, Lee &
Sumner began the publication of the Daily

Times, the first daily issued in Pomona, and

the only one to the present writing. The

Times-Courier is continued as the weekly edi-

tion. Both papers are independent in politics,

but strong in support of all industries and in-

that tend to develop the resources of
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Los Angeles County, and especially the beauti-

ful San Jose valley and the city of Pomona.

The Pomona Progress was established in Jan-

uary, 1885, the first issue appearing on the 31st

of that month. It was then owned and man-

aged by E. E. Stowell. Pomona was then a

hamlet of about 1,500 people, and the Progress,

with its superiority of material and style, was

an innovation on the rural journalism that the

town had had hitherto, and it soon made for

itself a prominent place in the eastern part of

the county. In January, 1886, the plant and

business of tiie Pomona Telegram was added to

that of the Progress, which continued, through

various managements, to be a handsome and

successful paper.

BANKS.

Banks are the thermometer alike of the trade

and the wealth of the community or common-
wealth in which they are situated. Measuring

Los Angeles by this standard, there are few

cities of its size in the United States, or even in

the world, upon as substantial a financial basis;

for there are none, perhaps, of equal population,

which have a larger number of thoroughly solid

banking institutions. The aggregate working

capital of the ekven banking houses of the city

runs into millions of dollars, while the combined

wealth of the gentlemen officially connected

with them probably exceeds $30,000,000. The

first National Bank was organized in 1875 as

the Commercial State Bank, with a capital stock

of $177,100. The first officers were: T. F.

Patrick, formerly of Chicago, president; Edward

F. Spence, cashier. In October, 1880, the bank

was nationalized, and it became the First Na-

tional Bank of Los Angeles. It was now or-

ganized on a capital of $100,000 stock, and

$50,000 surplus. J. E. Hollenbeck became

president, Mr. Patrick having died some time

before. On the death of Mr. Hollenbeck, Mr.

E. F. Spence was elected president, and he still

tills that position. J. M. Elliott b<-ing the pres-

ent cashier. Saving the year 1887, the business

of this bank has steadily increased ever since its

opening. It does the largest exchange business

in the city, drawing direct on all the principal

cities of the East and Europe. It has open ac-

counts with about 4,000 depositors. It is also

a United States depository. Its present capital

stock is $200,000, with a reserve fund of $50,000,
and undivided profits of about $190,000. The
aggregate wealth of the directors is estimated at

$4,000,000. The management has always been

conservative. The bank has always paid mod-
erate dividends.

The Los Angeles County Bank, the second

oldest bank in Los Angeles, was organized under
the laws of the State, opening its doors for

business in July, 1874, with a capital stock of

$300,000. The first four years of its existence,

it did both a commercial and a savings business;

but since 1878 it has been a commercial bank
only, the capital stock being reduced to $100,000.
The first officers were: J. S. Slauson, president-

J. M. Griffith, vice-president; J. M. Elliott

cashier. The policy of this house has been

conservative, and its career prosperous. It has

paid large dividends and its stock is worth 100
per cent, premium. The deposits now aggre-

gate $500,000, and its capital and surplus

$220,000. It does a large exchange business,

drawing on all the principal cities of the United

States, Europe, China and Japan. The present

officers are: John E. Plater, president, and
George E. Stewart, cashier.

The Los Angeles National Bank, opened for

business June 12, 1883, was organized in May
of that year, having a capital stock of $100,000
paid in. The officers, who, like the board of di-

rectors, are the same as at starting, are: George

H. Bonebrake, president; John Bryson, Sr.,

vice-president, and F. C. Howes, cashier. This

bank has now $500,000 capital stock, $50,000

surplus, and it has paid about $130,000 in

dividends to its stockholders. Its deposits

average fully $2,000,000; it is a United States

depository.

The Southern California National Bank was

organized in July, 1886, and was opened the

August following. The first officers were: II.
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H. Boyce, president; L. N. Breed, vice-president;

W. F. Bosbyshell, cashier. On January 1, 1888,

an accumulated surplus of $10,000 was added

to the capital; the capital stock was increased

on May 1, 1888, to $200,000, the increase

being readily taken. At the same time a

dividend of 16 per cent, was declared to the

old stockholders. On December 31, 1888,

after repeated increase, another dividend of

4 per cent, was declared. During that month

the stock sold as high as 117. This bank-

now has $200,000 capital stock paid in, and

a surplus, undivided profits, of $22,000. Its

thirty-eight stockholders represent an aggre-

gate capital of over $7,000,000. The present

officers are: L. N. Breed, president; W. F. Bos-

byshell, vice- president; C. N. Flint, cashier.

The University Bank was incorporated in

March, 1887, opening its doors on April 18,

with a capital stock of $100,000, to which has

been added an earned surplus of $20,000, and

undivided profits of $37,717.22. This bank was

established originally in the interest of the Uni-

versity of Southern California, to provide a safe

depository for and profitable employment of the

increasing funds of that institution, too large

to be safely handled by any other method than

a regular banking system. The bank does, more-

over, a regular commercial banking business,

drawing directly upon Chicago and New York,

and through its correspondents on the principal

European cities. It has also introduced a new

banking feature, in the way of first mortgage

bonds, issued and for sale by it. These are

secured by a first mortgage on over three times

their face value on improved real estate, which

bonds are issued to the bank as trustee to secure

the payment of the bonds to the bearer, the

mortgage security being wholly independent of

the solvency of the bank, as the failure of the

bank would leave the holder of the bond secured

by the borrower's first mortgage on his prop-

erty.

The California Bank was incorporated Au-

gust 7, 1887, and opened for business November

1, 1887. Its subscribed capital stock is $500,-

000; paid up, $300,000; and its surplus $20,000.

There has been no material change in its man-

agement since it commenced business. H. G.

Newhall is president, H. C. Witmer vice-presi-

dent, and T. J. Weldon, cashier. This was the

last bank to join the Los Angeles Clearing

House, being No. 8.

The East Side Bank was organized as a State

Bank under the laws of California, and opened

on April 1, 1887, with an authorized capital of

$100,000, of which $50,000 was paid up. This

bank draws exchange direct upon San Francisco

and the principal Eastern cities. From the first,

it has done a profitable business, and since the

first six months of its existence it has paid five

per cent, semi annual dividends to its stock-

holders. Its average deposits are about $100,-

000. The officers are: William Vickrey,

president; Thomas Merideth, vice-president;

Uri Embody, cashier

The Security Savings Bank and Trust Com-

pany of Los Angeles was organized January 11,

1889, nnder the State law of California, to do

the business of a savings bank and trust com-

pany, with an authorized capital of $200,000.

This bank lends money on real estate, and

pays interest on deposits. J. F. Sartori is its

cashier.

COLONEL JAMES CLINTON ROBINSON,

a prominent business man of Los Ageles, was

born at Birkenhead, on the Mersey, just oppo-

site Liverpool, in 1848. At the age of thirteen

he became an apprentice of George Francis

Train, who was the pioneer of English tramway

locomotion. With such a tutor, and himself

possessed of an unusual amount of natnral abil-

ity, he soon acquired a knowledge of the busi-

ness which paved the way to his subsequent

career. After serving seven years at Birken-

head young Robinson came to America, where

he devoted himself so assiduously to his profes-

sion that his health failed him and he was

obliged to return to his native country, arriving

there in 1870. A year was spent in Liverpool

gathering tramway experience, another in Dnb-
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lin, and two in Cork, where he gained the repu-

tation of being "full of invention and endless

resources which he zealously applied to the inter-

est of his chosen enterprise."

In 1875 Mr. Robinson, at the age of twenty-

seven, was elected general manager of the

Bristol system of street railroads. Taking this

position when the system was hardly begun, hav-

ing but two miles of completed tramway, he

developed it, during the seven years of his man-

agement, into one of the most successful and

extensive systems in England. Upon retiring

from this position to take that of a more lucra-

tive one, he received the most complimentary

and substantial testimonials from the board of

directors of that company, from the citizens of

Bristol and the staff.

In 1883 he was chosen, out of more than

fifty applicants, as general manager and secre-

tary of the Edinburg Street Tramway Company.

Here he found no small difficulties to overcome.

Up to the time of his taking charge the line had

not been a paying one. There was great dis-

satisfaction among the stockholders and disaf-

fection among the officials. But by his charac-

teristic tact and firmness he soon brought order

out of chaos, and finally succeeded in placing

the system in a most satisfactory condition. The

directors at the last meeting of Mr. Robinson's

administration of that enterprise took occasion

to express in the highest terms their apprecia-

tion of his valuable services. While in Edin-

burg he prepared and read before the Royal

Scottish Society of Arts, of which he was a

member, an exhaustive paper on tramways, giv-

ing a detailed account and argument in support

of the cable system.

In May, 1883, he was elected to the position

of general manager of the Cable Corporation

of London. Upon taking the position as man-

ager of the cable system in the metropolis of the

world, his first work was to complete and equip

the Highgate Hill Cable Tramway, " which line

was opened with so much eclat by the Lord

Mayor " on the 29th day of April, 1884. To

James Clifton Robinson, the subject of our

sketch, belongs the honor of opening the first

cable road in Europe, for which he received the

most complimentary testimonials from the com-
pany, the citizens of that great city, and from

the press.

After completing this line Mr. Robinson took

up the profession of " consulting and organizing

manager of tramways," and was frequently

called upon to give evidence on new schemes

before committees from both Houses of Parlia-

ment. This work and that of securing several

valuable patent rights, occupied all his time

until 1888, when he again visited the United

States with a view to disposing of his patent

rights and make a tour of the country. While

in Chicago, in November, 1889, he was tendered

the position of general manager of the Los

Angeles Cable Railroad, which position he ac-

cepted and soon came to assume charge. Amid
many discouragements he has achieved the honor

of putting into successful operation one of the

most perfect cable railway systems that can be

found in any city in the world. Having achieved

the same brilliant success here which crowned

his efforts in Great Britain and Europe, Mr.

Robinson may be classed among the most suc-

cessful tramway men of the world.

The final completion and successful opening

of the Los Angeles Gable Railway System has

inaugurated a new era of prosperity for Los

Angeles. It comes almost in the form of a

benefaction, and Colonel Robinson, as the active

head and intellectual force which controls and

regulates the ponderous enterprise, is esteemed

and regarded as the practical benefactor.

Colonel Robinson, aside from his perfect

knowledge of his profession, is a man of wide

information and broad views. He has been an

extensive traveler, a critical observer of men and

things, his keen judgment of human nature

and his versatile tact in handling, and, if

needs be, in controlling men, make him

popular in the community, and with his numer-

ous employes: and the high esteem in which he

is held has been practically and most suitably

I manifested by the public banquets that have
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been given in his honor by the citizens of Los

Angeles, and also subsequently by his employes.

He is a man of the moment, genial in his man-

ner, a fluent and eloquent public speaker, and,

withal, a gentleman of whom Southern Califor-

nia in general and Los Angeles city in particu-

lar may be justly proud to claim as a citizen.

OTHER TOWN'S.

In 1855 Don Antonio Maria Lugo, owner of the

San Antonio liancho, of nearly 30,000 acres, lying

between Los Angeles city and the San Gabriel

river, finally granted to him in 1838, partitioned

the same—reserving a homestead for himself

—

amonff his sons, Jose Maria, Felipe, Jose* del

Carmen, Vicente and Jose Antonio, and his

daughters, Dona Vicenta Perez, Dona Maria

Antonia Yorba, and Dona Merced Foster. In

1860 Dona Merced Foster and Don Vicente

Lugo sold their respective portions to parties

who immediately resorted to subdivision and

sale in small lots. The first deed is from Isaac

Heiman to David Ward, dated June 21, 1865;

followed by other sales in 1865 and 1866. Be-

fore this, John G. Downey had begun the sub-

division of the Santa Gertrudes Rancho lying

along the San Gabriel river, and containing

22,000 acres. These two tracts, wi h their set-

tlements, have long been known as Downey

City, twelve miles southeast from Los Angeles,

a town with a newspaper, business houses, and

intelligent and contented farmers; and Los

Nietos, which in 1836 had a settlement of 200

persons, subsequently dispersed, but which has

at the present a large population of farming

people of good habits and antecedents. This

district, with all the river land, up to El Monte,

is pre-eminently the " corn country."

Whittier is a town twelve miles east of Los

Angeles, lying at an elevation of about 1,500

feet. It was founded by a body of Quakers

from Illinois and Iowa, who own a large portion

of land adjacent to the settlement. All kind

of fruit and grain known to Southern California

can be raised here. There is in the nucleus a

commodious Friends' meeting-house, a public

school, a prospective college, to be under the

control of Friends, and the Branch State Re-

form School, now in process of erection.

Santa Fe Springs is a neat village, with a

Methodist P^piscopal Church, a school-house, etc.

This place, under the name of Fulton Wells, be-

came quite famous on account of its iron-sul-

phur wells, of which there are here half-a-dozen

whose water is rich in medicinal virtues. This

town is twelve miles from Los Angeles, and

connected therewith by the San Diego branch

of the California Central Railway.

Norwalk, in this township, is a flourishing

village, seventeen miles from Los Angeles, on

the Santa Ana branch of the Southern Pacific

Railway. There are here extensive fields of

corn and alfalfa, and numerous artesian wells,

for irrigating purposes, and thoroughbred stock

is extensively and profitably raised. Near this

place Dr. C. J. Sketchly in the fall of 1882

established the first ostrich farm in North

America, bringing some twenty-live birds direct

from the Cape of Good Hope. Since then

several other such farms have been started in

various districts of the State.

San Gabriel is a very old town, clustered

around the nucleus formed by the ancient mis-

sion. It lies nine miles from Los Angeles, on

the Southern Pacific Railway. This place has

long been noted for its salubrious climate and

aged people. One mile from here is the famous

" Sunny Slope " vineyard, lately sold to an

English company for $750,000.

Alhambra is a beautiful little town, having a

handsome hotel, a bank, a school-house, several

churches, and fine orchards of almost every

variety of fruits—oranges, lemons, lime?, guavas,

plums, pears, nectarines, apricots, etc., etc.

Lamanda Park has for its nucleus the station

nearest to the Sierra Madre Villa, a noted hotel

for tourists. Near this point is Kinneyloa, the

far-famed rancho of Hon. Abbott Kinney, con-

taining one of the largest orange orchards in

California.

Sierra Madre, often called "the model colony."

is a scion of the renowned Santa Anita Rancho,
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belonging to "Lucky " Baldwin. In February,

1881, Mr. N. C. Carter purchased 1,100 acres

of this rancho, then in its wild state, and had

it at once surveyed into smaller tracts of twenty,

forty, and eighty acres, for the location of self-

sustaining and healthful homes. Fine water

was brought from the mountains, and conveyed

to the highest portion of every lot and building

site, the water- right going with the realty. The

next year a public school, a large hotel, and

many other buildings were erected, and the dis-

trict was rapidly settled up by a class of people

unusually refined, intelligent, and enterprising.

During the year 1886, the Santa Fe Railway

was completed to this point, the town hall was

built, at a cost of $5,000, and Mrs. R. E. Ross

erected and donated to the town a fine library

building.

ROBERT E. BOSS,

deceased, formerly a resident of Lassen County,

this State, was born in Clarke County, Ohio,

August 15, 1830, and came to California in

1850, locating in Nevada County, where he was

largely engaged in mining enterprises until

1858. He then returned East, and the next

spring came the second time to California, cross-

ing the plains with large droves of cattle and

horses. On arrival in this State with them, he

located in Long valley, Lassen County, where

he was for many years one of the most prom-

inent men and leading agriculturists of that

county. He was an intelligent and energetic

pioneer, and his strict integrity gave him hosts

of warm friends. In 1862 he married Miss

Elizabeth Banon, now one of the most enter-

prising and public-spirited residents of Sierra

Madre. She is the owner of a fine tract of

land, some twenty-eight acres in extent, located

on the south of Central avenue and west of

Markham avenue. Mr. Ross died in Lassen

County, March 31, 1884, and his widow, who
moved the same year to Los Angeles County,

brought his remains to Los Angeles and had

them buried in Evergreen cemetery; and as a

further tribute to his memory she erected in the

winter of 1885-'86, at Sierra Madre, the Ross

Memorial Library building, on Central avenue,

one of the largest, handsomest and best equippd

public library buildings in the county outside

of the city of Los Angeles. She donated three-

fourths of an acre of land upon which the

building stands, and also contributed nearly

$2,500 toward the building fund. Mrs. Ross

is a native of Nova Scotia, but in early life her

parents moved to the United States and located

in Boston, Massachusetts, where she was reared

and educated. Mr. and Mrs. Ross never had

any children of their own; their adopted daugh-

ter, Margaret, is now the wife of Eugene Stein-

burger, of Sierra Madre. The ranch which

Mrs. Ross now occupies is under a fine state of

cultivation, containing 1,200 apricot trees, 150

peach, 100 orange and about 100 other trees,

such as prunes, apples, figs, pears, lemons,

limes, etc. Her residence is a neat, substantial

cottage, and the outbuildings are trim and

tastefully arranged.

The settlers of El Monte, in 1851 were Ira,

W. Thompson, Samuel M. Heath, Dr. Obed
Macy, and his son, Oscar Macy, now of Los An-
geles; F. W. Gibson, Nicholas Smith, J. Co-

burn, J. Sheldon, Chisholm, and Mrs. John Row-
land, who now resides at Puente. In the years

1852-'53 came fifty-odd families, many among
them being among the names best known to old-

time Angelenos. Among others, was Thomas
A. Garey, since become the great authority on

horticulture in this county. The arrival of

these immigrants gave the first decided impulse

to agriculture in the county, encouraged busi-

ness in the city of Los Angeles, and produced

beneficial results lasting until the present time.

The people at El Monte are mostly from the

Southern States. They are principally engaged

in raising corn, hogs and cattle. This tract lies

along the San Gabriel river, twelve miles east

of the city. Adjoining El Monte on the east

lies La Puente Rancho, of 48,790 acres, granted

July 22, 1845, to John Rowland and William

Workman. Only a few miles farther eastward

is the fertile valley of San Jose, Los Nogales

Ranchito, about 500 acres, granted March 13,
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1840, to Jose de la Cruz Linares; and next, San

Jose de Palomares, of 22,720 acres, granted in

1837 to Ricardo Vejar, Ygnacio Palomares, and

Luis Arenas. This was a colony which John

Eowland gathered at Taos, Albuquerque, and

other pueblos of New Mexico, in 1841. It

formed a connected settlement for several miles

from Rowland's. A portion of these colonists,

under Don Lorenzo Trujillo, planted themselves

at Agua Mansa, on the Santa Ana river, six

miles south of San Bernardino, the rest in this

valley. Long alter 1850 were to be seen the

ruins of the great granaries of adobe which the

padres built in front of William Workman's

dwelling, to store the grain harvested on the

plains of La Puente. Mildew never affected the

wheat ot San Jose. Time has made many

changes since 1850, but it has well attested the

productiveness of this soil, upon which stand to-

day Pomona, Spadra, and other flourishing

towns and settlements. The original settlement

btill exists, though missing many whose kind-

ness memory cherishes— the Ybarras, Alvarados,

Martinez, and others.

Arcadia is a new town that was platted and

sold by H. Unruh, from the central portion of

E. J. Baldwin's Santa Anita possessions. It is

the scene of considerable activity. Much of the

land contiguous to the village has been sold for

fruit farms. Santa Anita settlement i6 two miles

farther westward.

Monrovia, two miles east of Arcadia, was

founded by W. N. Monroe, and it is a place of

wonderful growth. It is sixteen miles from

Los Angeles, lying close to the base of the

Sierra Madre mountains. It has an elevation

of 1,200 feet, and is especially commended as a

health resort. It contains Methodist Episcopal

and Baptist churches, a school-house that cost

$15,000, two lines of street railways, large hotels

under excellent management, two banks with

large capital, large business blocks, thriving

commercial enterpriser, and beautiful homes

surrounded by semi-tropical growth and pro-

ductive orchards.

Glendale, a pretty little town with churches,

school-houses, and other evidences of an intelli-

gent population, is about eight miles north of

Los Angeles, with which it is connected by a

' dummy " railway. In this village i6 one of

the largest peach orchards in California.

In West Glendale, adjoining the town of

Glendale, is a large ostrich farm, where the

young birds are hatched by incubators. There

is a large number of birds at this farm, and this

has proved a very profitable industry.

Newhall, thirty miles from Los Angeles, has

an elevation of 1,265 leet. The winters are

cooler than in the southern part of the county,

and the summers somewhat warmer. While

this region is not so well known as the southern

part, it is very healthful, particularly in cases

of lung trouble. The atmosphere is so dry that

large quantities of grapes are shipped thither

by rail to be sun-dried. Grapes are also success-

fully grown in this section, and it bids fair to

become a rich raisin-grape producing country.

Not far from Newhall are extensive deposits of

petroleum. The following is a sketch from a

report on this industry, which affords no little

information historical and practical, on this sub-

ject: " The first effort that promised success

toward the development of our petroleum de-

posits was made by a Pennsylvania company in

1862, headed by Tom Scott. This company

bored a hole on the Camulos Rancho in Ven-

tura County, and at 800 feet secured a quantity

of black oil, which they endeavored to refine in

a still erected near the spot; at this time illu-

minating oil was worth from $2.50 to $3 per

gallon in Los Angeles, and a chance for a hand-

some margin was excellent, but this operation

failed principally for the reason of lack of

knowledge of refining and the sudden drop in

price of oil in Pennsylvania. From this time

on until 1876 but little effort was made. What

oil was produced from tunnels and shallow wells

in small quantities found its way to the gas-

works or was used for a lubricator. In this

year the Star Oil Company commenced opera-

tions in the Pico canon, San Fernando district,

and was soon followed by R. McPherson and C.
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N. Felton. These operations were rewarded

handsomely, and the two companies soon after

consolidated under the name of the Pacific Coast

Oil Company. The year 1876 also saw the

organization of a company to operate in what is

known as the Sespe Oil Region, about thirty

miles west of San Fernando district, which was

composed of citizens of this city and known as

the Los Angeles Oil Company. They were

successful, and their first well produced for a

time 125 barrels of oil every twenty-four hours.

This well was lost some years later, through

ignorance, and the company ceased operations.

Owing to the lack of demand, the producing of

oil remained stagnant for a period of years np

to 1884. From that time until the present

much greater activity was displayed, and the

opening up of a new district in the Puente

Hills, twenty miles east of the city, still further

increased the vast field for development. The

immediate cause of this activity was the demand

for fuel oil. The organization in March, 1885,

of the Los Angeles Oil Burning and Supply

Company, for the purpose of introducing this

liquid fuel, both for manufacturing and domes-

tic purposes, sold in the first year 137,000 gal-

lons of the distilled product, which was used

solely for domestic purposes, through the me-

dium of their patent burners."

San Fernando, the town, was laid out by Hon.

Charles Maclay, in 1874. The village contains

a neat Methodist Church, a commodious public

school building, and a large three-story brick

hotel. This is the location of the Maclay Theo-

logical College of the University of Southern

California, whose building the Senator erected at

a cost to himself of $50,000, endowing the insti-

tution moreover witli $150,000. The establish-

ment, which is under the control of Southern

California Conference of the Methodist Episco-

pal Church, was occupied early in 1888. In

about the center of this township is the Mission

of San Fernando Rey, founded in 1797, in

honor of Ferdinand V., King of Aragon and

Castile. The old church building is now a pic-

turesque ruin, as are other buildings formerly

connected with the Mission, while some are yet

well preserved. The elevation here is 1,061

feet, the climate is delightful, and the situation

beautiful. The section is watered by artesian

wells and mountain streams. Wheat and barley

here never need artificial watering, but fruit

trees demand some irrigation. San Fernando

is forty minutes by rail from Los Angeles, and

there are several trains each way daily. The
Southern Pacific Railway, in going from San

Fernando to Newhall, passes through a tunnel

one and one-third miles long, being, with two
exceptions, the longest on the Western Conti-

nent. San Fernando Township was formerly a

rancho of nearly 125,000 acres, belonging to

General Andres Pico, who in 1846 sold it to

Kulogio de Celis for $14,000; in 1853 he re-

purchased one-half of it for $15,000. Since

1876 this rancho has been one immense wheat-

field, and although subdivided and belonging

in tracts of a few thousand acres, it has still re-

mained almost exclusively a wheat-producing

territory, some of the fields comprising not less

than 20,000 acres. These immense tracts are

fast being subdivided into small farms of five

to 160 acre6, which insures a more rapid devel-

opment of the county's products and a greater

diversity of products.

One of the most picturesque and prosperous

mountain resorts in Southern California is

Monte Vista, situated in a beautiful fertile val-

ley, between the Verdugo and the Sierra Madre
mountains, twenty miles north of Los Angeles,

and four miles east of Monte Vista Station, on

the Southern Pacific Ralway.

On the main transcontinental line of the

Santa Fe" Railway, and twenty-seven miles east

of Los Angeles, lies the town of Glendora. It

is built on a gentle southern slope at the foot

of the Sierra Madre, 700 to 900 feet above

the sea, near the head of the San Gabriel val-

ley, where it commands a very wide view. This

town was founded in 1887, by George Whit-

comb, a Chicago manufacturer, who came to

Southern California, like so many others, for

the health of himself and his family. There
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is here a stock water company, with a paid up

capital of $50,000, which has constructed two

large tunnels and two reservoirs of nearly 2,-

000,000 capacity, which supply through pipes

the water to the colony. Glendora's growth

has been prosperous and steady. The town has

seventy-two residence, business and public build-

ings, including a fine two-story school-house of

four rooms, which cost nearly $10,500; a twen-

ty-rooin hotel, which cost over $7,000; and

two churches. The altitude of this town places

it within the warm belt, and renders it almost

entirely free from frosts, and its distance from

the ocean exempts it from fogs. Thus the

climate is exceptionally mild, pleasant and

healthful. Extensive and costly borings for

petroleum are being carried on here.

Alosta, adjoining Glendora on the south, was

founded about the same time as that town, by

a corporate body known as the Alosta Land and

Water Company. The town plat consists of

eighty acres, traversed by the railway. A num-

ber of buildings was erected, including several

hotels, one costing nearly $16,000. The con

tignity of Glendora proved fatal to Alosta, and

many of its enterprises have been discontinued.

Azusa is situated on the transcontinental line

of the Santa Fe Railway, twenty-two miles east

of Los Angeles, and thirty miles from the Pa-

cific, near the east end of the San Gabriel val-

ley. The town is located on a gentle sloping

plateau, at an altitude of about 800 feet, near

the base of the Sierra Madre, and a mile directly

south of the mouth of the cafion through which

the San Gabriel river escapes from the embrace

of the mountain fastnesses and hastens to the

sea. Azusa was founded early in 1887 by a

company of Los Angeles capitalists, who bought

the site and laid out the town as an investment.

The streets lie with the points of the compass,

crossing each other at right angles, being from

60 to 100 feet wide; they have 1,600 feet of

excellent cement sidewalks, constructed at a

cost of $15,000; there are establishments rep-

resenting most essential branches of business,

and the town contains a school-house which

cost some $10,000, a good hotel, a city hall, a

public library, and three church buildings, ag-

gregating in cost nearly $10,000. The near

proximity of the San Gabriel river gives to

Azusa an abundant water supply, which is

piped through the town from a reservoir of

2,000,000 capacity. The principal streets of

the town are sewered, and this contributes to

the healthfulness promoted by the natural char-

acteristics of the place. Citrus and deciduous

fruits are here produced in large quantity.

Last season fifty car loads of oranges alone were

shipped hence. The potato crop is one of the

staple productions, and it is shipped extensively.

In the immediate vicinity of the town are grown

great quantities of strawberries, which are noted

for their superior quality.

Duarteis a settlement upon the southern foot-

hill slope of the Sierra Madre mountains, in the

San Gabriel valley, eighteen miles east of Los

Angeles, and 600 feet above the sea. It is so

named from Andres Duarte, a Mexican military

officer, who received from the Mexican govern-

ment, and settled on, some time in the '40s, a

grant of 4,000 acres, of which this is a part.

He built a fine adobe dwelling, planted a vine-

yard and orchard, and dug a water ditch to the

mouth of the San Gabriel caBon. He was not

a successful fanner, and he became involved in

debt, the Rancho Azusa de Duarte passing into

the hands of other parties. About 1872, the

then owners had a large portion of the rancho

surveyed, selling the forty-acre lots to settlers.

It was quickly demonstrated that the climate

and soil here were adapted to the growth of

citrus fruits, and many thousands of trees were

planted on the foot-hill lands within the next

few years. Duarte oranges and lemons now

stand at the head in quality and popularity of

the citrus fruits grown in the county. The area

in orchard and quantity of product has been

steadily increased until over 100 carloads of

oranges were shipped from Duarte last season,

beside those sold for local consumption. There

have been serious controversies over their re

spective water rights between the people of
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Duarte and those of neighboring districts, not-

ably Azusa; but these have all been adjusted,

and the water supply and distribution of Duarte

are now among the best in Southern California.

Here is the usual complement of shops and

6tores. The school-house cost some $5,000, and

the enrollment of pupils is 115. There is but

one church edifice in the district. Besides the

citrus fruits, considerable area is given in Duarte

to the deciduous varieties, chiefly, however, the

apricot, and the wine-grape. The apricot crop

of the district in 1889 was 7,500 tons. The

Duarte is not only one of the prettiest sections,

but also one of the most prosperous and fruitful

in Los Angeles County.

Lancaster, on the Southern Pacific Railway,

is a flourishing little place, supported by a pros-

perous agricultural and horticultural commun-

ity. It has especially thriven since, in 1884-

'85, certain Los Angeles capitalists have given

it =upport and attention.

Wilson's Trail was made by B. D. Wilson up

the Sierra Madre, the summit of which is Wil-

son's Peak. Midway up is a cabin called the

Half-way House, where Wilson in pioneer times

made the first shingles manufactured in the

county. The scenery along this route is ex-

tremely wild and picturesque. A company has

been organized to build a railroad up to the top

of this peak, 6,000 feet above the sea level. It

is probable that a very large sanitarium will be

erected here also. In an observatory on the

summit will be placed the largest telescope in

the world, for the mounting of which ex-Mayor

E. F. Spence, of Los Angeles, has contributed

$50,000.

Among the largest cities of Los Angeles

County is Pomona, thirty-three miles east of

Los Angeles, near the county boundary. The

altitude of the city is 860 feet, the valley grad-

ually rising to 2,000 feet, at the foot of the

mountains, whose ranges protect the quarter

equally from harsh sea winds and the unpleasant

dry winds and sandstorms of the desert. This

valley is believed to be one of the mildest and

most healthful in Southern California. The

Southern Pacific Railway ruus through the heart

of the city, and the Santa Fe through the north-

ern portion, thus giving passengers their choice

of routes. The soil of this valley is mostly a

gravelly loam, although there are many acres of

moist adobe land peculiar to it, which requires

little or no irrigation. The title to the lands of

Pomona is considered the best of all the present

town sites in the county. It is a part of the old

Rancho San Jose, from the portion of which

allotted to Ricardo Vejar and afterward sold by

him, the Pomona tract was parceled out—Vejar

being one of the original grantees under the

early Mexican rule. The town of Pomona was

founded by the long defunct corporation, the

Los Angeles Immigration and Land Co-operative

Association. The first sale made on the site was

that of a ten-acre lot near the depot. This is

now a flourishing city of 5,000 to 6,000 inhab-

itaats, with fine churches, school-houses, and all

the institutions demanded by a refined commun-

ity. The city has no debts, save a very small

item in connection with the Palomares school

district. The city was incorporated December

31, 1887. The water supply is provided by two

water companies, which convey water from ar-

tesian wells for domestic use, and from the

mountains for irrigation. San Antonio canon,

which is a favorite summer resort, is the source

of the irrigation supply, and so bountiful is its

yield that half of it is diverted to the Ontario

region, both sections being amply supplied.

Near Pomona are sixty or seventy artesian wells,

with an average flow of 200,000 gallons in

twenty-four hours.

San Pedro is the principal harbor of Los An-

geles County. It was often lively in 1840, as

it had been in mission times, with the trading

vessels engaged, with active competition, in the

purchase of hides and tallow. Francis Melius

gave a list of those on this coast, on August

22 of that year, as follows: Ships—California

(Captain Arthur), Alciope (Clapp), Monsoon

(Vincent), Alert (Phelps); barques— Index

(Scott), Clara (Walters); hermaphrodite brigs

—Leonidas (Stevens), Ayacucha (Dare) ; brigs

—



HISTORY OF LOS ANGELES COUNTY.

Juan Jose (Dunkin), Bolivar (Nye); schooners

—Fly (Wilson), California (Cooper), Nymph,

formerly Norse (Fitch), and two more expected.

The first steamer that ever visited San Pedro

was the Goldhnnter, a side- wheeler, in 1849; she

made the voyage from San Francisco to Mazat-

lan, touching at way ports. The next was the^

old Ohio. From 1844 to 1849, Temple & Alex-

ander had the only general store at San Ptdro,

and they carried on all the forwarding business.

The first four-wheel vehicle in this county, ex-

cept an old fashioned Spanish carriage belong-

ing to the mission priests, was a rockaway

carriage which this firm bought of Captain

Kane in 1849, paying $1,000 for the carriage

and two American horses. It created a sensa-

tion like that of the first Wilmington railway

car on October 26, 1868. Goods were forwarded

to Los Angeles, twenty-four miles, in carts, each

drawn by two yoke of oxen, yoked by the horns.

The regular train was ot ten of these California

carretas, which were modified by spoked and

tired wheels, imported fiom Boston, Freight

$1 per hundredweight. This style of transport-

ation continued until after 1850. The first stage

line was started by Alexanders & Banning in

1852; the next was by that man of iron, J. J.

Tomlinson, whose death came too early for the

public good; this particular sign of his enter-

prise being inaugurated June 7, 1867. In 1851

D. W. Alexander purchased at Sacramento ten

heavy freight wagons that had been sent in from

Salt Lake by Ben. Holladay; and in 1853 a

whole train of fourteen wagons and 168 mules,

that had come through from Chihuahua, for

which was paid $23,000. So ox carts were sup-

planted. Such antiquated methods could not

remain long after the management of trade fell

into the hands of such men as Douglass & Sand-

ford, John Goller, Don Jose Rubio, J. J. Tom-

linson, J. M. Griffith, A. W. Timms, A. F.

Hinchinan, D. W. Alexander, Phineas Banning

and a few other pioneers of public spirit and

enterprise in the county. General Banning lived

long enough to see passengers ride from the port

to Los Angeles in railway cars as fine as any in

the United States, where he had seen the trip

undertaken perforce in carts whose construction

was guiltless of iron; and he saw their number

grown from fifty persons to near 3,000 per

month. In 1858 old San Pedro was abandoned

and Wilmington became the real port for Los

Angeles' commerce. In the early days 500 tons

of freight would have been a fair average for

the trips both ways each month; now there is

as high as 15,000 tons afloat at one time, to say

naught of the enormous amount of produce w hich

the same vessels carry away on their departure.

In 1871, after several careful preliminary sur-

veys, the United States Government commenced

the work of improving Wilmington harbor; this

inner harbor then consisted of nearly 1,200

acres, and a narrow entrance from the outer bay

and Rattlesnake Island. From this island to

the rocky pile called Dead Man's Island, one

and a quarter miles, San Pedro bay was com-

paratively shallow, except in a narrow channel

near Dead Man's Island. Tirum's Point was

the nearest point to this channel on the main-

land. The improvements instituted comprised

a training wall from Rattlesnake to Dead Man's

Island, closing the old channel; and another wall

from Timin's Point to Dead Man's Island, estab-

lishing the channel between the latter wall and

the island. These walls form a channel 500 to

800 feet wide, connecting the outer with the

inner bay, so that lumber vessels and all but two

or three of the largest steamships coining to this

port can reach the wharf at San Pedro at high

tide. Vessels that can not reach the dock find

safe anchorage about two miles outside. Further

improvements at this harbor are greatly needed

and some are now in progress, carried on, not by

the government, but by railroad companies hav-

ing important interests there. Congress has

lately made an additional appropriation of

$500,000 for such improvements, however.

In the explosion of the little steamer, Ada
Hancock, April 29, 1863, near Wilmington,

among many people lost were, of the merchants:

William T. B. Sanford, Dr. Henry R. Miles,

Loeb Schlessinger; of the steamer Senator:
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Captain J. S. Bryant, Fred Keilin, Thomas

Workman; the young Albert S. Johnston, son

of the general of that name, and Miss Medora

Hereford, sister-in-law of B. D. Wilson, who

was so severely injured as to die a few days

after.

This harbor his several picturesque peninsu-

las and high points of land stretching into the

sea, and Dead Man's island, the most conspicu-

ous object in the bay. Twenty miles out is the

great summer resort, Santa Catalina.

Ever since the early settlement of California,

San Pedro has been a commercial point of more

or less importance. It is now second to San

Francisco only; for though the town itself is

small, compared with San Diego, it is the receiv-

ing and distributing point for Los Angeles and

the populous, rich and growing districts there-

abouts. Until 1873, the port was known as

San Pedro, but in that year Congress decided

that it should be called Wilmington, as nearly

all the business was transacted at this town, lo-

cated at the head of the inner bay. In 1882 an

act of Congress established the customs district

of Wilmington, with that town as the port of

entry, and Hueneme, San Buenaventura and

Santa Barbara as ports of delivery, neither of

these three places being in the same county as

Wilmington. Until the extension of the rail-

road to San Pedro, all the business of the port

had to be transacted by means of lighters, for

the conveyance of merchandise between vessels

and the landing places. The construction of

the railroad from here to Los Angels in 1869

gave fresh impetus to the development of ag-

ricultural resources in the county, as well as to

business generally in the city. In 1870 the

anchorage for vessels touching at this harbor

was nearly five miles from Wilmington, in San

Pedro bay, and about one mile from Dead Man's

island.

The village of Wilmington was laid out in

1858 by General Banning, and by him named

in honor of his native city, Wilmington, Dela-

ware. It flourished until the Southern Pacific

Railroad was completed to San Pedro, since

when it has not been able to compete with that

point.

Long Beach, on the coast southward from

Wilmington, is becoming a noted resort, and at

present it is especially advertised as the Meth-
odist camping-ground. The village is located

on a smooth plateau which slopes gently down
to the water. From any portion of the town a

charming view greets the eye. At low tide the

beach is hard, smooth and level for seven or

eight miles, constituting a perfect boulevard

upon which twenty teams can be driven abreast,

if upon a turnpike,their hoofs clatterii

Long Beach has an intelligent, refined class of

citizens, excellent public schools, four church

societies, no saloons, enterprising business men,

and a live newspaper.

Santa Monica is one of the most charming of

seaside resorts. It lies on a level plateau be-

tween which and the ocean there is a perpendic-

ular descent of about 100 feet. At the foot of

the bluff stretches a long line of beach, well

adapted to surf-bathing, and it is mainly this

delightful and invigorating pastime which

makes Santa Monica so popular. It is estima-

ted that during the bathing season 2,000 people

a day, on an average, visit this place, and on

Sundays a much larger number. The perma-

nent population of the town is about 1,500. A
branch of the Southern Pacific runs thither from

Los Angeles, and also the new Los Angeles Coun-

ty Railroad. The Santa Fe is expected to throw

a branch into the town sooi There are several

large hotels here, and several large bathing

houses on the beach. A wharf is shortly to be

built. The surroundings are exceedingly pic-

turesque. From almost any portion of the town

may be enjoyed a most delightful view of the

mountains, foothills, plain and ocean. Three

miles up the coast is the famous Santa Monica

canon. This town was founded in 1875, by

United States Senator John P. Jones and Col-

onel R. S. Baker.

One of the great institutions of Los Angeles

County is the National Soldiers' Home, located

about fifteen miles from the city and four miles
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from Santa Monica beach, with both of which

places it is in railway communication. When
the management appointed by the Government

to locate such an institution on the Pacific coast

visited Los Angeles, they were hospitably re-

ceived and entertained by the city council, board

of trade and others. They had visited and

inspected other counties in California, and had

received from some of them tempting offers;

yet it remained for Los Angeles to secure the

coveted prize. A tract of 300 acres, with a

sufficient water right (the water coming from

the mountains) and thirty acres additional for a

reservoir, were offered free; and an adjoining

tract of 300 acres was set aside for sale and

guaranteed to yield $100,000 in cash, to be ap-

plied to the improvement of the grounds. Con-

gress appropriated $190,000 for the erection of

buildings, and the work was speedily begun and

completed. There are four barracks, each 50 x

200 feet, affording quarters for 125 men; a res-

idence for the surgeon and other officials; an

imposing building of two stories with a lofty

tower, and with accommodations for 2,040 men.

The arrangement of this building is unique, the

kitchen being the second story, the pantries and

serving-rooms on the ground floor and the scul-

leries in the basement, all connected by five

elevators. The ground is a gentle slope toward

the south, and this building crowns the emi-

nence. Immediately in front is a large lawn,

with music pavilion and flagstaff. On either

hand are twenty-five barracks, so arranged as to

secure the maximum of sunlight, while the

porches are sheltered from the cool trade winds.

In a depression of thirty-five feet below the

general level of the slope are the boiler houses

and laundry, from which the other houses and

buildings are heated by steam, and to which

the sewage is conveyed to be removed by steam

pumps. A hospital in cruciform shape, 450 x 50

feet, with accommodations for about 500 patients,

occupies a conspicnous position. There are also

commissary and quartermaster's buildings, head-

quarters building, treasurers residence, memo-

rial building and guard-house. A side track

from the railroad runs to the laundry, boiler-

house and commissary buildings, and a grand

boulevard from Los Angeles to Santa Monica

will pass through the grounds. The reservoir

among the hills constitutes a charming little ar-

tificial lake.

Compton was laid out in 1869, and named in

honor of G. D. Compton, then the sole resident.

It is eleven miles south of Los Angeles, on the

Wilmington branch of the Southern Pacific

Railroad. The distinctive industry is the mak-

ing of butter and cheese. Although it is not

considered a first-class section for the production

of deciduous fruits, citrus fruits and many kinds

of deciduous fruits and berries are successfully

raised here.

From the evidence of the remains of aboriginal

implements, etc., it is clear that the Arroyo

Seco anciently flowed through a richly wooded

and populous region before entering the Los

Angeles river; and several Indian rancherias of

importance occupied the lands now covered by

Pasadena, Garvanza and Lincoln Park. The
first visit of white men to this territory was on

January 17, 1770, when Gaspar de PortoM, re-

turning southward with the first landward ex-

pedition sent out from Loreto in search of

Monterey, having missed the trail along the

coast, entered the San Fernando valley through

the Simi pass, and, crossing the Verdugo Hills,

mistook the Arroyo Seco, then a full stream'

being swollen by winter rains, for the Porci-

uncula, now the Los Angeles river. The natives

were friendly, hospitable, and ready to share

their primitive food-supplies with the strangers.

Ere long, this territory was traversed by a well-

broken trail connecting the parent missions of

Monterey and San Diego, which was called Ca-

inino del Rey (the King's road), and over which

were sent northward all the dispatches from

Mexico and Guatemala. In consideration of

her services as nurse and midwife, Eulalia Perez,

of the Mission San Gabriel, was granted three

and one half leagues of the mission lands; and

this grant comprised precisely the tract now in

question, then known as Rancho San Pascual,
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according to some, from the saint to whom was

6acred the day of the grant's making, but by

others said to have derived that title from the

name by which had been baptized its Indian

captain, at the old San Gabriel mission.

The removal of the San Gabriel Mission to

its present site greatly affected the destiny of

the San Pascual Indians. It was the wooded

slopes of the Arrovo Seco that furnished tim-

ber for the dwellings of Los Angeles. Here,

too, were lassoed the bears that were used in

the rude sports of primitive times.

A Mexican grant carried with it the obli-

gation to occupy and improve its territory; and,

as Eulalia Perez failed to comply with this

condition, it came about that presently Manuel

Garfias, a gay and popular soldier, received

from his friend, Governor Micheltorena, the

title to the Rancho San Pascual. This grantee

built among the spreading oaks of the Arroyo

Seco, a house of considerable pretensions for

that time, where he and his family dispensed

much rural hospitality for some years. Then

they suddenly departed for Mexico, and the im-

provements went to ruin, and nature had soon

effaced almost every trace of human occupancy.

In August, 1873, the California colony of In-

diana sent out from Indianapolis a committee

to select for the members of the society the most

favorable spot on which to establish a settle-

ment suitable for the cultivation of citrus and

other fruit. After a careful survey of many

locations in Los Angeles, San Diego and San

Bernardino counties, the association purchased

the interest of Dr. J. S. Griffin, consisting of

about 4,000 acres, in the Rancho San Pascual.

At a critical moment in the negotiations,

Thomas Croft laid down the required amount,

and, securing the property, he was for a brief

period the sole owner of the whole domain.

The original purchase comprehended beautiful

upland plains, wooded glens and sylvan open-

ings, as well as mountain lands upon the slopes

of the Sierra Madre, arroyo lots filled with

valuable timber, and a magnificent grove of

live-oaks, covering 400 acres, on the road to Los

Angeles, making a natural park entirely suited

for outdoor resorts and diversions. John H.

Baker and D. M. Berry, " the Caleb and Joshua"

of the California colony of Indiana, were present

on the bright winter morning of Jannary 27,

1874, when the twenty-seven incorporators met

for the selection of their individual homesteads.

Many of these were wealthy, while others had

brought but humble savings to secure a modest

home where there should be " summer all the

year round." Nearly all had a choice spot in

view, and it was an anxious moment when, the

lovely landscape at their feet, and the maps out-

spread, the bidding began. One of the wealth-

iest shareholders moved that the owners of

single shares be invited first to make their se-

lections; and such was the diversity of soil,

location and topography, that each of the

twenty-seven stockholders obtained his chosen

homestead without interfering with the choice

of his neighbors. The advantages of this site

were even greater than the selectors had sup-

posed at the time of its choosing; the elevation

of some 1,000 feet more than that of Los An-

geles, eight miles distant, was a sufficient guar-

anty of exemption from malaria; soil, drainage,

and an apparently inexhaustible water supply,

were all most satisfactory; game and fish were

abundant; the mountain barriers shut out the

north winds; the view was grand, what with

the perspective of mountain and valley, and the

blue Pacific, with Catalina island in the dis-

tance. Los Angeles was near enough at hand

for reliance; three miles eastward was the

Southern Pacific Railway station at San Gab-

riel Mission; close by were the enormous estates

of Sunny Slope and Santa Anita, with their

great orange groves and vineyards; the superb

orange groves of the Duarte also were near, and

Riverside with its rich yields, was not so very

far away. Prompt and energetic measures were

instituted for the utilization and development

of these manifold advantages. Homes were

reared, orange groves and orchards of diverse

fruits were planted, and many improvements of

common interest organized. The public schools,
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the pride of Pasadena, were begun in 1874, in

a private house, with only two pupils; in 1888

it was shown by official reports that Pasadena

had '• the best ventilated, the best lighted, and

the handsomest school-buildings of all towns of

i ts size in the United States " There was then

an enrollment of 1,354 pupils, and an instruct-

ional force of a superintendent, four principals,

three vice-principals, and seventeen teachers.

The school property is valued at $200,000.

There are also two private academies; here live

also many professional teachers of high repute

in music and the fine arts. Services of the

Presbyterian Church were at first held at the

bachelor quarters of Mr. Charles H. Watts; but

that gentleman's marriage and the birth of a

child necessitated the procuring of another place

of worship. Thus, the first church edifice was

erected in 1875-'76, costing, with its parsonage,

some ,$4,200. The Woman's Home and the

Foreign Missionary Society, organized in this

church, have been most useful institutions.

The first Methodist society was organized in

1875, and their chapel was dedicated January

7, 1887. Both these denominations have long

since outgrown their primitive temples. They,

with the other nine congregations of Pasadena,

are provided with handsome and commodious

places of worship. In March, 1880, Pasadena

held her first citrus fair, the display receiving

high praise from the hundreds of visitors. In

1881, at the annual fair of the Southern Cali-

fornia Horticultural Society, Pasadena took the

first premium for display and quality of citrus

fruits. It is a well-known fact that young

trees, growing on virgin soil, produce the very-

best exhibition fruit; but the San Gabriel orange

belt was the earliest known in American fruit

culture, and trees in the Mission garden sixty

years old, are still producing fruit of excellent

quality, thus attesting the superiority of the

soil of this district. A single tree in Pasadena,

eleven years old, yielded in one year 3,000 fair-

sized, well-flavored oranges. In 1880, Pasa-

dena was served with a triweekly stage and

mail; now this flourishing young city of 10,000

inhabitants has a service of almost hourly trains

over the Santa Fe railway, and a mail delivery

by carrier. Then the people depended wholly

upon Los Angeles; now the city contains two

magnificent hotels, of almost world-wide fame;

three banks, two daily newspapers, twenty miles

of horse car lines, running in every direction; a

manufacturing company which operates one of

the largest planing- mills in the State, a'ld a

brick yard producing 60,000 bricks daily.

The Indian name of this region was " Acu-

rangna," signifying l> where streams meet."

Dr. Elliott suggested the present name of Pasa-

dena,—an Algonquin word, meaning "Crown

of the Valley."

THE GREAT BOOM OF 1886-'87.

The great real-estate boom of Los Angeles in

1886-'87, is certainly the most wonderful thing

of its kind in the history of the Pacific slope.

Of course, nothing has excelled the great gold

boom of '49 and '50, but in real-estate booms

this is pre-eminent. There had been one, com-

paratively small, eleven years before. The years

1872-'74 witnessed a general improvement in

material matters. Immigration was steady,

crops and markets were good, and real estate

advanced in price. Its advancement marked it

as a good investment for local capital, and in

the winter of 1874-'75 a genuine boom began.

In 1875 also, immigration was large, and many

bought land at the high figures then ruling,

while others caught the fever and bought largely,

paying part cash and making agreements to

convey, or giving mortgages for the balance of

purchase price.

In the fall of 1875, with the failing of the

bank of Temple & Workman, the bubble burst

and the usual crisis followed. Men who had

bought on credit suddenly found the money

market stringent, and the four years that fol-

lowed were full of the efforts of these luckless

land-holders to extricate themselves,—complete

failure attending only too many of these strug-

gles. In 1876 there was a gradual diminution

in the number and value of real estate sales.
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In 1S77 and 1878 it was really unusual to find

a piece of property uninortaged. Then came a

period in which even the leaders could see no

value in real estate; new loans could not be ef-

fected; high rates of interest prevailed, and the

era of foreclosures began. In 1879 there was

no such thing as a market for unimproved

propeity, and even productive real estate could

not be sold for an amount on which it was ac-

tually yielding a liberal interest. During all

this period of depression people worked, econo-

mized, pushed new industries, and in 1880 the

output of products arrested the downward tend-

ency. The receipts for the crops of grain,

wool, wine, honey, and fruit and dairy products

distributed among the producing classes an

amount of capital, which was circulated with

good effect, paying off mortgages, securing new

loans, and making money easy.

The following is the story of the boom of

'87, as told by li. E. Brook: "Rail com-

munication with the north was opened in 1877,

but the boom did not really begin until 1881,

when the Southern Pacific, which had gone on

building east, met the Santa Fe at Deming.

Then land began to rise, but not rapidly. Peo-

ple did not yet realize the value of land. They

had no conception of what was coming. In 1882,

when the Southern Pacific was opened to New
Orleans, the population increased to about

15,000, and property began to stiffen in price.

Values in Los Angeles and vicinity rose abont

25 per cent, that year, the previous valuation

having been very low. People continued to

come, and in 1883 values doubled, while the

population had increased to 25,000. The prog-

ress continued through 1884 and into 1885.

The Santa Fe road was on the way to Los An-
geles, making another direct through road to

the East. The Santa Fe reached Los Angeles

in November, 1885, and after that it is difficult

to follow the course of the boom, so rapid and

immense was the advance. People poured in

by thousands, and prices of land climbed rap

idly. Everybody that could find an office went

into the real-estate business, either as agents or

speculators, or as operators. Tracts of land by

the scores were cut up into lots. Auctions,

accompanied by brass bands and free lunches,

drew their crowds. At private sales lines were

formed before daybreak in front of the seller's

office, for fear there would not be enough lots to

go around. As soon as a man sold out at a

profit, in nine cases out of ten he re-invested.

There was no lack of faith in the country. Some

of the new towns laid out in this period outside

of Los Angeles, contained in themselves and

their surroundings elements of solid worth,

which insured their permanent progress. Others

were merely founded on the credulity of the

public, and the general scramble for real estate,

whatever and wherever it was. The advances

in values of real estate were astonishing. The

best business property in Los Angeles, a corner

on Main street, could have been bought in 1860

for $300 the front foot, in 1870 for $500, in

1880 for $1,000. Now it is valued at $2,500.

For a lot on Main and Sixth, that was sold in 1883

for $20 a foot, $800 a foot was offered last year.

Acreage property rose in like proportion, and

meanwhile population continued to pour in.

As Los Angeles city property began to reach

prices which were then considered near the top

notch, the boom in outside property was started.

Great tracts of land were bought by speculators

and subdivided and sold in lots to suit purchas-

ers. Some of the speculators were men of

large capital, and some had next to none. They

took their chances of coming out ahead, and

nearly all of them did. New life was put in

many small places previously settled, and many

new enterprises were launched on land that had

never been touched. Some of the land, which

only a few years before could hardly have been

given away, but which has been shown, with

proper cultivation, to be among the best, was

bought at extremely low figures, but eligible

land soon began to rise, in response to the large

demand. Lands four miles outside the city

limits of Los Angeles, that were sold for $1 an

acre in 1868, rose to $1,000 an acre, in some

cases. Some of these lands were divided and
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sold without improvement, the work to be done

later; some were sold while improvements were

going on; some were improved, and then sold.

Water wa^ the first great necessity,—the first

subject to be broached by purchasers. Such

streams as exist were made use of at once:

ditches were dug and the water turned in with

branch ditches to the various tracts. Dams

were built in mountain gulches, and great

bodies of water stored. In some places artesian

belts were discovered and put under contribu-

tion. Some lands were bought by colonies from

the Atlantic States, and were improved by them.

When a tract was laid out as a town site, the

first thing usually done was to build a hotel.

Cement sidewalks, brick blocks, a pubic hall

and a street railway soon followed. A miniature

city appeared, like a scene conjured tip by

Aladdin's lamp, where a few months ago the

jack-rabbit sported and the coyote howled.

Such a scene of transformation had never before

been witnessed in the world. Old settlers, who

had declared that land was dear at $5 an acre,

looked aghast to see people tumbling over each

other to secure lots at $500 each. New arrivals

were charmed with the climate and surround-

ings, and determined to get a share of it before

the shares gave out. Most of the purchases

were made on the basis of one-third cash down,

the balance in installments on 6ix and twelve

months' time. Such was the state of affairs in

the spring of 1887. Dp to that time the course

of the boom, then some three years old, had

been accompanied by reasonable restrictions as

to future possibilities. The buyer had gener-

ally acquired some little idea of what he was

purchasing, and had exercised some judgment

in making his selections.

In the summer of that year a crowd of out-

side speculators settled down upon Los Angeles

like flies upon a bowl of sugar. Many of these

came from Kansas City, where they had been

through a school of real-estate speculation.

These men worked the excitement up to fever

heat. They rode a willing horse to death, and

crowded what would have been a good, solid

advance in prices for three years into as many

months. Land at a distance of thirty miles or

more from Los Angeles—land which was worth-

less for cultivation, and possessed no surround-

ings to make it valuable for any other purpose

—

was secured by the payment of a small instal-

ment, and under the excitement of glowing

advertisements, brass bands, and the promise of

immense improvements, lots were sold off like

hot cakes, by scores and hundreds, to persons

who in many cases had not even seen them, had

but a vague idea of their location, and no idea

at all of doing more with them than to sell

them at a high profit before their second pay-

ments became due. This was during the sum-

mer, when things are unusually quiet in Los

Angeles. The buyers were mostly our own

people. The great cry of the speculators was

that every one should buy as much as he or she

possibly could, to sell to the enormous crowd of

land-hungry Easterners who would pour in that

winter—the winter of 1887-88. As a conse-

quence every clerk and waiter and car-driver

and servant girl scrimped and saved to make a

first payment of one-third on a 50 x 100 lot in

"Southwest Boomville," or "East San Giaco-

mo," or " Rosenblatt," or '• Paraiso," or one of the

other hundred or more paper cities which sprang

up like mushrooms during the summer of 1887.

Most of these town sites were not very attract-

ive to look at, it is true, but that made small

difference, for very few buyers took the trouble

to visit them, and they looked remarkably pretty

on the lithographic views, with those grand old

mountains in the rear, and a still grander three-

story hotel in the foreground. From October,

1886, to May, 1887, the monthly real-estate

sales had been steadily rising from $2,215,600

to $8,163,327. In June of the latter year they

amounted to $11,500,000; in July to $12,000,-

000; in August to $11,500,000—a total of

$35,067,830 in three months, and these what

had always been the dullest months of the year,

with very few strangers within our gates. This

was the culmination of the boom. It had been

driven to death. Every one was loaded up with
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property and was a seller, at 33^ per cent,

protit, or just double what he had paid. When
there are nineteen sellers to one buyer, the re-

sult cannot long remain in doubt, whether the

commodity be wheat or mining stock, or real

estate. Natural causes produce their natural

effects, in this instance, as in all others since the

Creator established gravitation as the prime law

of the material universe. Sales began to fall

off. The brass bands ceased to exercise the

same charm as of old; the free lunch was

looked at askance, and the design of the (pro-

posed) $100,000 hotel was subjected to more

careful scrutiny. Some captious purchasers

even went so far as to demand information

about the town and its water supply, while it

is on record that one or two recent arrivals ex-

cited the scornful commiseration of the real-

estate agents by inquiring what was going to

support the town. In September, 1887, sales

had dropped nearly a couple of million dollars;

in October, to $8,120,486; and in November,

just when the real winter boom ought to have

been commencing, they went down to $5,819,-

646. Moreover, the Eastern visitors did not

begin to arrive in any such enormous numbers

as sanguine prophets had predicted. It is

probably well for them that they did not, for if

one-third the number had come that some wild-

eyed journalists had professed to expect, a vast

army would have been forced to camp al fresco.

It was also noted, with marked surprise and

considerable indignation, that those who did

come from the " ice-bound East " were disposed

to be hypercritical in their investigation of the

resources of 4t Rosenblatt," " Paraiso," and

other coming trade centers, and were not by

any means eager to exchange the proceeds of

the sale of their Eastern farms for a twenty-

five foot "business lot" in the paper towns.

Finally a great many became disgusted with the

muddy streets (since paved), the reckless

real-estate agents and the greedy lodging

house keepers with which the city was at that

time especially afflicted, and so left for other

places. The great real-estate boom of 1887

collapsed like a balloon, but the country and its

great resources and its enterprising people

still remained. A majority of the purchasers

made their second and third payments, or satis-

factorily adjusted their accounts, except, per-

haps, in a few cases where investments had

been made in " wild-cat " towns. Naturally,

the money market became tight, and while

many individuals failed, not a bank did. There

was an unusual number of cases of suicide and

insanity following the collapse, but even the

proportion of these was not so large as might

have been expected. The boom over, and spec-

ulation past, people began to resume legitimate

business. The city in 1887-'88 witnessed a

remarkable building boom, about $20,000,000

being invested in business blocks and resi-

dences during that period. A number of steam-

dummy roads were built into the country. Stand-

ard-gauge roads were built to Monrovia, Santa

Monica, Ballona and Redondo. Direct railroad

communication was opened with San Diego.

The great cable-road system began operation in

1889. In the country the fields, which had

been covered with town-site stakes, were re-

sowed, while greater areas than ever were

planted with vines and trees. Farms, vine-

yards, and orchards continued to yield bountiful

harvests, which brought profitable prices. The

oil wells increased in number. Los Angeles

County holds her own, and, although losing a

large and valuable slice in Orange County, she

is still an imperial county.

HENRY DWIGHT BAEKOWS

was born February 23, 1825, in Mansfield, Tol-

land County, Connecticut, near the Willimantic

river, which separates the town of Coventry

from Mansfield. His ancestry came from Eng-

land to Plymouth Colony, and afterward two

brothers by the name of Barrows moved from

Plymouth to Mansfield, where they settled.

From these two brothers, who seem to have

been a hardy stock, sprang a great number of

descendants, many of whom still remain in

Mansfield. The subject of this sketch says he
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counted over thirty heads of families of that

name in his native town in 1845. Indeed, it

was the most numerous family name in the

town at that time and for years afterward; he-

sides, many married and acquired other names,

and many also scattered throughout the United

States. His ancestors on his mother's side

were Binghams. Mr. Barrows' early years were

spent on a farm, and he received a good, thor-

ough English education in the common schools

and academies of Tolland County. He also

taught school several winters, commencing when

only seventeen years old. Early in life he

acquired a strong love for music, which he cul-

tivated as he had opportunity, learning to play

on any instrument, he could get hold of. He

took lessons on the organ of a Mr. Monds, an

English organist in Hartford, Connecticut. He

also became the leader of the local brass band

of his native town when he was only eighteen

years of age. He was fond of books and de-

voured all he could get hold of in the neigh-

borhood, which, however, was not very rich in

literature of any kind. He read through the

Bible and Shakespeare and Byron, including all

the prose writings of the latter. A stray copy

of Dr. Dick's "Christian Philosopher" he read

with delight, and he thinks to this day that it

is one of the best books that can be placed in a

boy's hands to enlarge his ideas of the worlds

around him. He went to New York in 1849

and engaged in clerking; and while there had a

touch of the California gold fever which pre-

vailed so generally that year. However, he

did not decide to go to the new El Dorado till

some years later. In 1850 he went to Boston,

where he lived something over two years, being

employed as book-keeper in the large jobbing

house of J. W. Blodgett & Co., on Pearl street.

This firm sold goods in every State in the Union

and in Canada, doing an immense business;

and the experience and discipline acquired here

were invaluable to him in after life. During

his residence in Boston he of course enjoyed

the lectures, music, etc., of that center of intel-

lectual activity. He says he retains today a

vivid recollection of Theodore Parker's preach-

ing, the Lowell Institute lectures, the concerts

of the Germanians, Jenny Lind, etc. In the

spring of 1852 he finally concluded to come to

California, and April 1 he left Boston for his

home in Connecticut to get ready for the trip,

and on the 26th of that month he sailed from

New York on the steamer Illinois, with a large

number of passengers. The hardships of cross-

ing the Isthmus at that time were great, the

railroad having been finished only a few miles

out from Aspinwall. the balance of the way

being made by row-boat up the Chagres river

to Gorgona, and from thence twenty-six miles

on mule-back or on foot to Panama. To a

Northern man the heat of all seasons seems

formidable on the Isthmus. Especially is this

true at Aspinwall, where the heat becomes

more oppressive on account of the excessive

humidity of the atmosphere. It used to be

said that it rained there all the time in the

"wet season" and twenty hours a day in the

"dry season." The connecting steamer of the

Illinois on the Pacific was the Golden Gate,

Captain Patterson, of the navy, commander.

About 1,700 passengers came up on this trip.

Soon after arriving in San Francisco, Mr. Bar-

rows started for the Northern Mines above

Shasta; but he worked only a short time at

mining, as (it being the month of J une) the dry

season had set in, and he returned down the

valley as far as Tehama, where, about five miles

back, he went to work on Thorn's creek for

Judge Hall, who had a contract to furnish Hall

& Crandall, the stage contractors, some 200

tons of hay. There were great numbers of deer

and antelopes roaming over the plains of the

Upper Sacramento valley at that time. One

day, as Mr. Barrows was walking along Thorn's

creek alone, a California lion jumped out from

a clump of bushes within a few feet of him and

made off out of sight in a few muscular bounds.

Coining down the Sacramento valley to Marys-

ville, where he made a brief stop, he arrived in

San Francisco the last day of July; and having

his system full of chills and fevers, then so
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prevalent in the neighborhood of Tehama, and

the contrast between the heat of the Sacramento

valley and the cold of San Francisco being so

very great, he found himself very ill with con-

gestive chills, from which he did not entirely

recover for nearly a year afterward. When he

first arrived in California he knew nothing

about the great differences in climate of the

different sections of the State. Having suffered

much, including an attack of Panama fever, in

coining through the tropics, he had an aspira-

tion for a cool climate, which he thought could

be found in going 500 miles north from San

Francisco; hut if, instead, he had come 500

miles south and kept near this coast he would

have found the blessed temperature he sought.

But he had then never heard of Los Angeles.

Finding that he could not get rid of the chills

in San Francisco, he went in August to San

Jose. There he staid about a year; and there

he met two men who were from this same town

from which he came. One of them, Captain

Julian Hanks, had come out to this coast many
years before, and had married at San Jose,

Lower California, and afterward moved to San

Jose, Upper California, where he was living

with his family at this time (1852). He had a

vineyard and orchard and also a flouring-mill

at his home place not far from the center of the

pueblo; and he also had a ranch about four

miles south of the town. Mr. Barrows went on

to this ranch and raised a crop of wheat and

barley. He says that the rains were very heavy

that winter, and that the house in which he

lived was for some time surrounded by water.

Flour was very dear, being worth 25 cents per

pound. James Lick (since the founder of the

magnificent Lick Observatory) was then build-

ing very deliberately, and finishing off some-

what elaborately, a tine flouring-mill just north

of San Jose, on Alviso creek, where he lived.

Citizens urged him to finish it whilst flour was

so scarce and high, and grind up some of the

wheat which was abundant, and thus benefit the

public as well as himself; but he gruffly replied

that he was building the mill for Lick and not

for the public. Among other eccentricities he
insisted on having mahogany railing for the
stairway of his flour-mill. Mr. Barrows, in

the fall of 1853, went to Jamestown in the

Southern mines, where he worked at mining
for awhile. Afterward he secured an engage-
ment as teacher of music at the Collegiate In-

stitute in Benicia, where he remained during
the greater part of 1854. While there, the
late William Wolfskill engaged him to teach a
private school in his family in Los Angeles,
whither he came in December, 1854. He has
made his home in Los Angeles ever since. He
taught four years, or until the latter part of
1858. During 1859 and 1860 he cultivated a
vineyard that is now owned by Mr. Beaudry, on
the east side of the river. In 1861 he was ap-
pointed United States Marshal for the Southern
District of California, by President Lincoln,
which office he held four years. In 1864 he
engaged in mercantile pursuits, in which he
continued about fifteen years. At present (1889)
he is in no regular business. He has been thrice

married and has three children living, all grown.
Mr. Barrows has made frequent visits to the

Atlantic States, once in 1857 by steamer, once
in 1860 by the Butterfield stage route, and
several times by rail. In 1875 he spent the
summer in the East with his family. He has
been a member of the city school board many
terms, and was county superintendent for one
term, and he has always taken a lively interest

in educational matters. He has been a frequent

writer for the local and other papers on economic
and social questions. Besides much that he has
written for the public press over his own name
during his long residence in Los Angeles, he
has said many things and made many argu-
ments that have been admitted into the editorial

columns of sundry journals at different periods.

For nearly ten years, from 1856 to 1866, he
was the regular paid Los Angeles correspondent
of the San Francisco Evening Bulletin. He
has enjoyed the respect and confidence of his

neighbors among whom he has lived so many
years. He has administered, first and last,
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several large estates, including those of William

Wolfskill, Captain Alex. Bell, and others. Was
appointed by the United States District Court

one of the commissioners to run the boundary

line between the "Providencia Rancho" and

that of the "ex-mission of San Fernando."

Also, by appointment of the Superior Court,

he was one of the commissioners that partitioned

the "San Pedro Rancho," which contained

about 25,000 acres. For the year 1888 he was

the president of the Historical Society of South-

ern California, of which he has been an active

member since its organization. In the publica-

tion of the society for 1887, Mr. Barrows ex-

plains the theory of rainfall, or of aqueous

precipitation generally, whether in the form of

rain, hail or snow, and also explains the cause

of California's wet and dry seasons. He has

written brief sketches of a considerable number

of the early pioneers of Los Angeles, many of

whom he knew personally.
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GENERAL REMARKS.

f
RANGE County is the youngest county in

California, and save San Diego County it is

the most southerly. By act of Legislature,

approved March 11, 1889, it was set apart from

Los Angeles County on August 1, 1889. This

county is about forty-four miles northwest and

southeast, by some twenty-two miles wide, the

greater extent having coastage throughout its

entire length.

The new county comprises an area of 861

square miles, or about 610,000 acres, of which

450,000 acres is excellent, indeed choice, agri-

cultural land, of which some 250,000 acres are

already under cultivation. The population of

the county is about 16,000.

In Orange County can be found soil of every

class and kind found in California, and here

may be cultivated every product to be grown in

semi-tropical regions.

The following-named are the old-time ranchos

comprised within the limits of Orange County:

Trabuco, Mision Vieja or La Paz, Nignel, San

Joaquin, Las Bolsas, La Bolsa Chica, one-half

each of Los Alain itos and Los Coyotes, San

Juan Cajon de Santa Ana, Cajon de Santa .Ana,

a small portion of La Brea and of La Habra,

Santiago de Santa Ana, Lomas de Santiago,

Canada de his Alisos, Boca de la Playa, and El

Sobrante. In Anaheim Township are the

ranchos: San Juan Cajon de Santa Ana, con-

taining 31.501.99 acres, confirmed to Juan Pa-

cihco Ontiveras; Rancho La Habra, of 6,698.57

acres, confirmed to Andres Pico, and a portion

of Los Coyotes. Westminster Township is com-

posed of the whole of Rancho Los Alamitos,

containing 28,027.11 acres. Santa Ana Town-

ship contains the Rancho San Joaquin, 48,803.-

16, confirmed to Jose Sepulveda; Santiago de

Santa Ana, 62,516.57 acres, granted to Bernardo

Yorba et al.: Lomas de Santiago, 47,226.61

acres, granted to Teodocia Yorba and Canon de

Santa Ana, of 13,328.53 acres, granted to Ber-

nardo Yorba. San Juan Township contains the

Trabuco, of 22,184.47 acres, the Potreros, three

in number of San Juan Capistrano, aggregating

1,167.76 acres, and the Mision Vieja or La Paz,

of 46,432.65 acres, all confirmed to Juan Fors-

ter; Canada de los Aliso, 10,568.81 acres,

granted to Jose Serrano; Niguel, 46,072 acres,

M. de Jesus Garcia et al.; Boca de la Playa,

6,607 acres, granted to Emidio Vejar; Mission

San Juan Capistrano, 44.56 acres, to the church;

Santa Margarita, 3,616 acres (a part only), Juan

Forster.

WATER.

A vast quantity of water for irrigating pur-

poses is furnished by the Santa Ana river, the

Santiago creek and numerous mountain streams.

What is not supplied to the tillable lands from

these sources is had from artesian wells. The

artesian belts cover a total area of about 50,-

000 acres, or about one-fifth of the land under

cultivation in the county. Flowing wells are
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obtained at a depth of from thirty-five to fifty

fget, at a cost of $100 to $1,000. There is in the

county considerable moist land which does not

require irrigation, which will yield, even in

the dryest seasons, large crops of corn, pota-

toes, alfalfa, garden vegetables, feed for dairy

stock, and superb pears and apples.

The chief source of water lor irrigating the

Santa Ana valley is the Santa Ana river, the

largest stream in Southern California. The

water supply of this section is highly favored

by the vast area and great elevation of the

mountain ranges drained by this stream, and

by the conformation of the surface with regard

to the bed-rock, by which is raised and made

available all the seepage and undercurrents of

the great upland basins. Thus is secured to

this valley an amount of water certain and suf-

ficient for all its needs, a supply not to be af-

fected by local diouths, nor by the diversion of

settlements farther up the river.

In 1877 was organized the Santa Ana Irriga-

tion Company, whose completed works consist

of more than seventy-five miles of ditches, pipes

and tunnels. Their main canal is ten feet wide

at the bottom, twenty- six feet at the top, and

six feet deep, with a carrying capacity of 6,000

inches of water. This canal, about eight miles

from its head, passes through a spur of hills in

two tunnels, 900 feet long, ten feet wide, and

seven feet high, and emerges at a point overlook-

ing the whole valley. Here it divides into two

branches, one of a capacity of 2,500 inches,

keeping on a higher level, while the other, of

3,500 inches, plunges fifty-six feet downward to

the level of the valley, to whose farthest limits

it reaches. This stream of water, in reaching

the lower grade, makes one of the finest water-

powers in the State.

RAILROADS.

The entire length of this count}' is traversed

by the main line of the Santa Fe system, con

necting Santa Ana with Lot Angeles and San

Diego, and another line of this system branches

i iu in Orange and follows the Santa Ana river,

connecting at Riverside with the main line from

San Diego to San Bernardino.

The Southern Pacific has a branch line con-

necting Santa Ana with Los Angeles; also, an-

other line which connects with the main system

at Los Angeles, skirting the foothills from Tus-

tin. It is fairly well amired that this company

designs extending its line to San Diego.

The Fairview Development Company has

completed a narrow-gauge road connecting

Fairview with Santa Ana, its objective point

being an ocean outlet at or near McFadden's

landing.

A standard-gauge road is being bnilt from

McFadden's landing (Newport Pier) to the city.

A considerable amount of the road-bed has been

graded, and it is expected that the road will be

completed within a few months,

RESOURCES.

Good unimproved land can be had for $30 to

$60 per acre, while improved land sells for from

$100 to $200, according to its location and the

improvements upon it.

In this section "boom times" affected the

farming interest, although less, perhaps, than

in many other districts; and there is now a

strong reaction again in favor of husbandry, as

against real-estate speculation. Small tracts are

growing in favor with the farmers and fruit-

growers, who are giving great attention to lots

of five or ten acres, well cultivated for the

products for which they are especially adapted.

"Walnut-growing is fast becoming one of the

leading features of horticulture in Orange

County. Walnuts have been planted over a

a great portion of the vineyards devastated by

the vine disease, and more of these trees than

of any other were planted out during the past

season. No less than 10,000 acres were planted

to walnut trees during 1889, and it is esti-

mated that 15,000 more acres will be planted

in 1890. Orange County contains many thou-

sands of acres particularly adapted for growing

these nuts, and, as there is an unlimited demand

for them at remunerative prices, it is safe to
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predict that this will soon become the banner

walnut-producing county of the State. Not

less than $50,000 worth of English walnuts from

Orange County were put upon the market dur-

ing the past season. Peanut-growing also is

assuming important proportions, at least $16,-

000 worth of peanuts having been shipped

hence this season.

Probably no other county has made large

shipments of oranges in proportion to her size,

than Orange County. It is estimated that about

45,000 boxes was this section's yield for this

season.

The ravages of the vine pest has done almost

incalculable damage to the grape industries for

several years past; yet even under these circum-

stances the county has had a revenue of $100,-

000 from wine and brandy; and if, as it is ex-

pected, the methods already adopted prevent a

recurrence of the blight, the shipments for

next year from the Santa Ana valley will, prob-

ably, include 200,000 boxes of first-class raisins.

While a great portion of the lands thus

devastated have been set to orange and walnut

trees, very many of the vineyards have been

replanted to 'vines. On these diseased vineyard

lands also were made extensive experiments

with the sugar beet, which, save in the vicinity

of Anaheim, showed most satisfactory proofs of

sugar and polarization. It is believed that a

refinery and crushing-house will soon be estab-

lished hereabouts by one of the sugar-beet

companies.

A newborn industry here is the shipment of

fresh vegetables to the markets of the Eastern

States during the months when such staples are

out of season there. The promoters of this en-

terprise, having secured favorable freights,

purpose to establish a regular system of such

shipments.

But agricultural products are not the only

natural resources and elements of wealth The

section is rich in minerals. Silver ore assaying

$16 per ton is found in the mountains. Good

seams of coal exist; and a vast deposit of Port-

land cement has been discovered. To exploit

this, there has been organized a company with

a capital of $300,000, one-third of which sum
is to be expended in a plant, where 1,000

hands will be given work. This branch of the

county's riches includes a mineral-paint mine,

whose product is deemed superior to the im-

ported article; and a gypsum mine, with grades

ranging from the purest alabaster to the ordinary

element, which after calcining becomes the plas-

ter of Paris of commerce. Natural gas also is

found within the county, and several geologists

assert that a large petroleum basin begins under
the outskirts of the city of Santa Ana.

SCHOOLS.

There are in Orange County thirty-four

school districts. The apportionment for the

last school year was $59,584.57 from the respect-

ive sources.

There are in the county 4,095 school census

children, for whose instruction are employed

sixty-eight teachers. Most of the districts

possess good buildings, with improved furniture

and appliances.

There are in Santa Ana three school build-

ings, accommodating about 720 pupils. The
largest building cost $30,000, and the other two

$9,000 and $6,000 respectively.

Orange has two good school-houses, costing

$8,500 and $7,800. There are here 392 school

census children.

Anaheim has two fine school buildings, cost-

ing $16,000 and $7,000. The number of cen-

sus children here is 546.

The Tustin school building cost about $12,-

000, and accommodates 267 pupils.

Most of the schools run nine to ten months

yearly.

WEALTH.

At the close of 1889, the books of the county

assessor showed the followiug figures for the

new county:

Number of acres 420,462

Value of real estate, other than city or town

lots $4,800,706

Value of improvements thereon 680,625

Value of city and town lots 1,827,169
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Value of personal properly, exclusive of money

and solvent credits 1,168,641

Total value after equalization by State Board.

.

8,646,024

Railway, Santa F<5 385,951

Railway, Southern Pacific 238,791

Total $18,268,269

Santa Ana is the county seat of Orange

County, and the other important cities and

towns are Anaheim, Orange, Tustin, and West-

minster.

The officials of Orange County are as follows:

Superior Judge, James W. Towner; Supervisors,

William H. Spurgecn, Jacob Ross, Sheldon

Littlefield, S. Armor, A. Guy Smith; District

Attorney, E. E. Edwards; Sheriff, R. T. Harris;

County Clerk, R. L. Wickham ; Recorder and

Auditor, George E. Foster; Treasurer, Dr. W.

B. Wall; School Superintendent, J. P. Greeley;

Tax Collector, F. C. Smythe; Deputy Revenue

Collector, Richard Melrose; Public Administra-

tor and Coroner, I. D. Mills; Engineer,—Wood.

The Orange County Medical Association was

organized in the spring of 1889, shortly after

the segregation of the county. It has fourteen

members. The president is J. M. Lacy, M. D.;

vice-president, J. R. Medlock, M. D.; secre-

tary, J. P. Boyd, M. D., and treasurer, W. B.

Wood, M. D.

SANTA ANA.

The Rancho Santiago de Santa Ana was

granted, under the old Spanish regime, in 1810,

to one of the Yorbas, the grant comprehending

about 62,000 acres. After the death of the

original grantee, the laud now occupied by the

town site of Santa Ana fell to the share of

Zenobia Yorba de Rowland, from whom it was

bought by Mr. W. H. Spurgeon, who had the

land surveyed and laid off in town lots in Oc-

tober, 1869. The growth of Santa Ana has

been slow, but 6teady, the town being built up

and supported by the resources of thesurround-

country, and being the trade center of one of

the finest agricultural and horticultural sections

of Southern California.

Santa Ana was first incorporated June 1,

1886, as a city of. the sixth class, and it was re-

incorporated, Angust, 1888, as a city of the fifth

class.

This city is situated on branch lines of two

great railways, the Santa Fe and the Southern

Pacific. It is thirty-three miles distant from

Los Angeles, forty from Riverside, forty-eight

from Colton, and twenty-five from San Juan

Capistrano; it is ninety miles from San Diego,

eighteen from Laguna, eighteen from Long

Beach, fourteen from Anaheim Landing, seven

from Anaheim, seven from Westminster, four

from Las Bolsas, nine from Newport Landing

(which is its seaport), five from Garden Grove,

three from Orange, and two miles due west from

Tustin City.

Thus, it will readily be perceived, Santa Ana
has superior advantages, both for residence and

business purposes, from its situation with regard

to the foregoing cities and towns, and from its

excellent railroad facilities.

The climate of the valley is inviting. Lying

about ten miles from the coast, it has a more

equable temperature and a drier atmosphere than

points immediately on the seaboard, while the

breeze Irom the Pacific prevents sultriness.

The mercury rarely reaches 90° in the shade dur-

ing the heated season, and very rarely falls to

within 10° of the freezing point.

Santa Ana is now the county-seat of Orange

County, with a population of some 5,000. The

assessed valuation of city property for 1889 was

$2,561,275. During the past year, there have

been erected two business blocks costing $35,-

000 and $45,000, one $20,000 residence, over a

dozen dwellings ratiging from $2,500 to $5,-

000, and a great number costing from $500 to

$1,000.

The city is well lighted, having both gas and

electricity systems.

There is a street railway system of about six

miles, and it also connects the city with Orange

and Tustin. The Orange and Santa Ana line

again connects with the Orange and El Modena

system, thus giving Santa Ana a continuous

line of about twelve miles of street railway.

There is a local telephone exchange, besides
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communication with Los Angeles and other

neigboring points.

Almost every line of business is well repre-

sented at Santa Ana. The merchants carry

good stocks, and sell at reasonable figures. The

following is a list of the business houses oper-

ating in the city at the beginning of 1890:

Six dry-goods shops, twelve grocery stores, two

men's t'urnishing-goods houses, six hardware

stores, five livery stables, four millinery stores:

two feed and grain shops, one steam roller

flouring-mill, three hotels, three restaurants,

two confectioneries, five drug stores, one bazaar,

eight saloons, five harness shops, two photo-

graph galleries, two merchant tailor shops, four

job printing houses, six newspapers (four week-

lies and two dailies), four cigar stands, two

news depots, one cigar factory, one hairdresser,

two musical instrument depots, one paint and oil

store, four bakeries, three shoe shops, nine real-

estate offices, three dental parlors, two packing

houses, four butcher shops, three clothing stores,

two gun stores, two undertaking parlors, three

banks, two abstract companies, three jewelry

6tores, one fruit and seed store, one hardware

and grocery store, one general merchandise store,

six blacksmith shops, one machine shop, six

lodging houses, one tin store, one oil and gas-

oline store, two second-hand furniture stores,

two sewing-machine offices, one marble works,

one employment offioe, two lumber yards, one

gas works, one Thompson & Houston electric

light works, three carpenter shops, four carriage

repositories, three furniture stores.

The oldest bank in Santa Ana is the Com-

mercial Bank, incorporated in April, 1882. Its

capital is $100,000, and its surplus $35,000.

D. Halladay is the president and Will K. James,

cashier. This house transacts a general bank-

ing business with foreign and domestic ex-

change and collections.

The First National Bank was organized in

May, 1886; it has a paid-in capital of $150,000.

Its president is William II. Spurgeon, and its

cashier, M. M. Crook shank.

The bank of the Orange County Savings,

Loan and Trust Company, has a capital stock

of $100,000. Its president is Carey R. Smith,

and its cashier C. F. Mansur.

Santa Ana Lodge, No. 124, F. & A. M., was

organized October 1, 1875.

Santa Ana Lodge, No. 236. I. O. O. F., was

organized October 30, 1875.

Santa Ana Lodge, 151, I. O. G. T., was or-

ganized January 19, 1878.

Santa Ana Lodge, No. 82, A. O. U. W., was

organized February 27, 1879.

These were the pioneers of the fraternal or-

ganizations, which are now represented by:

Santa Ana Lodge, No. 124, F. & A. M.;

Santa Ana Lodge, No. 236, I. O. O. F.; Laurel

Camp, No. 87, I. O. O. F.; Rebekah Degree,

I. O. O. F.; Santa Ana Lodge, No. 82, A. O.

U. W.; Santa Ana Lodge, No. 151, I. O G. T.

;

Women's Relief Corps, No. 17; Santa Ana
Lodge, No. 149, Knights of Pythias; Order of

Chosen Friends, Hesperian Council; Sons of

Veterans, McDowell Camp No. 2.; Carpenters'

Union, No. 282; Ladies' Benevolent Society of

Santa Ana; Y. M. C. A.; W. C. T. tl; Y.W.
C. T. U.; G. A. R., Sedgwick Post, No. 17.

The Methodist Church South was organized

at Santa Ana, at the residence of W. H. Tiche-

nal, December, 1869. A church edifice was

erected in 1876, and consecrated in October of

that year. It cost $2,000.

The Baptist Church was organized March,

1871. The church edifice costing $4,000, was

dedicated September, 1878.

The Methodist Episcopal Church was organ-

ized in 1874.

The United Presbyterian Church was organ-

ized June 22, 1876. Its edifice was built

August, 1877. It cost $2,800.

Such were the pioneer churches. It may

fairly be said that Santa Ana is now a city of

schools and churches. Almost every religious

denomination is represented, and most of them

own their own edifices.

At present there are in Santa Ana church

edifices of ownership and valuation, so far as

can be learned from the assessment lists, as fol-
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lows: United Presbyterian, $3,000; Presby-

terian, $5,000; Baptist, $5,000; Methodist

Episcopal, $8,500; Methodist Episcopal South,

$4,000; Adventist, $3,500; German Lutheran,

$3,000; Episcopal, $6,000; Roman Catholic,

$3,000; Christian, $6,000. The Congregation-

alists have no building.

Santa Ana has five newspapers: the Blade,

daily ar;d weekly; the Free Press, daily and

weekly; the Standard, weekly; the Herald,

weekly, and the Pilot, a Prohibitionist organ,

weekly.

George Ridgeley Bkoadbere, editor of the

Santa Ana Free Press, was born in New York

city and educated at Cam bridge University, En-

gland. He began the newspaper business as

war correspondent while serving in the naval

brigade in the Zulu war in Africa, and while

there he was severely wounded. In China he

did war correspondence for the London Daily

News. Returning to America, he was employed

on the New Orleans Picayune as reporter and

traveling correspondent in Louisiana and Texas;

next he was a traveling agent and correspondent

for the States of the great southwest for the St.

Louis Globe-Democrat; then he was on the

local force of the Kansas City Times, and then

going to Lawrence, Kansas, he took charge of

the local pages of the .Kansas Daily Tribune.

In 1881 he established the Mirror at Tonga-

woxie, Kansas, but losing his health he was

compelled to seek the high altitudes of New
Mexico, where he was for some time city editor

of the Albuquerque Journal; thence he came to

Los Angeles and worked on the Times and the

Express. As soon as it was settled beyond

dispute that Orange County was to be organ-

ized, he established the Free Press at Santa

Ana, the county seat, with Lester Osborn as

business manager. He recently bought out Mr.

Osborn and organized a stock company under

the name and title of the Free Press Publish-

ing Company, with Dr. R. F. Burgess as

treasurer. The paper, both daily ard weekly,

is published in the Opera House block, corner

of Fourth and Bush streets. Having had an

experience of sixteen years in journalism, Mr.

Broad here understands thoroughly what is nec-

essary to conduct a newspaper successfully.

He was married in Kansas, in 1880, to Miss

Margaret J. Sappenfield, and their children are

George Ridgley, Jr., Martin Ashley and Mar-

garet Case.

The Blade was originally started as the

Pacific Weekly Blade, at Santa Ana, then a

small town in Los Angeles County, in Sep-

tember, 1886, by A. J. Waterhouse and W. F.

X. Parker, both of whom had migrated from

Dakota. The paper was started as a Repub-

lican journal, and as Mr. Waterhouse proved

to be a man of more than ordinary ability

the Blade forged ahead rapidly, and soon became

the leading paper of the southeastern portion of

Los Angeles County. In a few months Mr.

Parker retired from the firm, and Mr. Water-

house continued as sole manager until January,

1888, when he failed. The coming of the

" boom " had encouraged him to start a daily,

called the Morning Blade, leading him into

other extravagances because of the flattering

patronage extended to the daily and the rapid

growth of the country. A suspension of the

weekly followed, but an association of printers,

with Joseph E. Tillotson as manager, carried

the daily on as an evening paper, and kept it

alive till June, 1889, when the material was sold

at auction by the assignee, and was purchased

by Victor Montgomery, a leading lawyer of

Santa Ana, then the county seat of Orange, a

new county formed out of Los Angeles County,

and he was assisted by other leading citizens in

the purchase of other mortgages resting on the

material. The paper was then changed from an

evening to a morning paper, and shortly after-

ward the Weekly Blade was resurrected, the

whole being under the immediate management

of W. R. Mcintosh. On March 6, 1890, the

Blade Publishing Company was incorporated,

with a capital stock of $25,000, and was organ-

ized with a board of directors composed of three

Republicans and three Democrats, the policy

of the paper to be independent in politics, and
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as purely local as it is possible to make it.

John Beatty, Jr., a leading merchant of Santa

Ana, is the president of the board, Judge 0. W.
Humphreys, treasurer, and H. A. Peabody, a

practical newspaper man, the secretary and

manager. The Morning Blade and the Weekly

Blads are recognized as the leading papers of

the county, and both have constantly increasing

circulation and advertising patronage.

Henry A. Peabody, manager of the Santa

Ana Blade, was born in Detroit, Michigan,

March 19, 1837; in 1847 he was a newsboy in

Cincinnati, Ohio; in March, 1857, as a jour-

neyman printer. He started from Columbia,

Missouri, for California, crossing the plains, and

arriving at Colusa, California, September 1,

1857, barefooted and without a coat to his back.

There he hired himself out to drive an ox team,

three yoke, to Petaluma, California, earning his

first money in the State. About September 20

he took work in the Democrat office at Santa

Rosa, California, and from that time followed

his trade at Santa Rosa and in San Francisco

till June, 1859, when he returned East with the

intention of completing his education and study-

ing law. The war of 1861 broke into his pre-

conceived plan, and he entered the Confederate

service, filling the positions of private, ordnance

sergeant, drill-master, sergeant major, lieutenant

and adjutant, and captain, passing through the

war, receiving but two wounds in the four years.

At the close of the war he returned to Califor-

nia penniless, and since then has steadily fol-

lowed the business of printing, during that time

being foreman of the Sonora Democrat, Vallejo

Daily Independent, Tulare Times, and the

State printing office, and associate proprietor of

the Sonoma Democrat, proprietor of the Men-

docino Democrat, and now, in 1890, he is

a member of the Blade Publishing Company
and manager of the Morning and Weekly

Blade, published at Santa Ana, Orange County,

California. He has a wife, two daughters

and two sons, and hopes to live twenty

or thirty years longer in the service of his

country.

There are in Santa Ana three fair hotels, one

of which cost $65,000.

The domestic water supply is, so far as re-

gards the central position of the city, derived

from Spurgeon's artesian well, which supplies

daily about 50.000 gallons, forced by a steam

pump into tanks, whence it is piped to about

100 subscribers. The rest of the city is sup-

plied from surface water, which is to be reached

by wells ten to twenty feet deep, although they

mostly penetrate to the second stratum, fifty

to sixty feet deep.

The city is expected to issue bonds for $50,-

000 for water-works at the next election.

The irrigating supply comes from the Santa

Ana Valley Irrigation Company.

The municipal government of Santa Ana is

in the hands of the following officials: Trustees.

John Avas, President, J. R. Congdon, A. Good-

win, C. E. Gronard, M. D. Halladay; Z. B.

West, City Attorney; E. Tedford, Clerk; Gee.

T. Insley, City Marshal; Geo. E. Freeman, Citj

Recorder; D. T. Brock, Assessor; Board of Ed-

ucation—Victor Montgomery, President; I. G.

Marks, J. A. Buckingham, 1. Chandler, D. W,
Swanner.

The postoffice of Santa Ana is of the second-

class, the postage receipts for 1889 being about

$7,400. Eight mails are received here daily.

The office employs three assistants and Walter

B. Tedford, Postmaster.

Following ia a report of the freight shipped

from Santa Ana during the first six months cf

1887:
POUNDS.

Oranges 5,000,000

Lemons 75,000

Limes 28,000

Poultry 45,000

Raisins 475,000

Wool 475,000

Honey 105,000

Eggs 150,000

Nursery Stock... 125,000

Beans 3,000

Corn 476,000

Potatoes 40,000

Oats 25,000

Apricots 3,000

Grape Cuttings. . 3,200

Total 10,480,800

The following are the exports through the

Cheese
Peanuts. .

.

Apples....
Tallow...
Hides ani I

Pop-corn. .

.

Butter
Walnuts . .

.

Lambs
Hogs
Cattle 2,200,000

General merchan-
dise 475,000
Other shipments. 375,000

POUNDS.
3,300
12,000

900
10,000

1,600

1,100

1,700

1,000

52,000
32il,"00
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Southern Pacific warehouse at Santa Ana, for

the first eleven months of 1889:

Oranges
Lemons
Miscellaneous . .

.

General merchan-
dise

Green fruit

Eggs
Honey
Wine

POUNDS.
790,000
63,000

695,000

1,939,220

211,000

4,280

3,060

42,000

POUNDS.
Grain 450,000

Coin 321,000

Hides 47,500

Lumber 168,000

Walnuts 3,820

Cabbages 279,000

Live-stock 125,000

Potatoes 226,000

Peanuts 5,000

Total 5,373,080

The exports of the Santa Fe are not obtain-

able, but it is fair to estimate that they would

equal those of the Southern Pacific.

The exports via McFadden's Landing over

the steamship company's line, as furnished by

the Santa Ana office, sums up a total of 1,180,-

400 pounds, about all of which consisted of corn,

barley, peanuts and wool.

By Wells, Fargo & Co's. express were ship-

ped from the Santa Ana office during the month

of November, 1889, the following articles of

produce: eggs, 3,470; live poultry, 9,762; fish,

8,580; game, 540, and butter, 1,400 pounds; a

total of 23,752 pounds, not including miscel-

laneous shipments of merchandise.

ANAHEIM

ranks as the oldest colony in California. In

the year 1857, several German residents of

San Francisco discussed among themselves a

project whose result was the purchase by fifty

persons of a tract of 1,165 acres of land, lying

some twenty-eight miles southeast of Los

Angeles, for which they paid $2 per acre,

including sufficient water privilege to insure

ample irrigation. Mr. George Hansen, of

Los Angeles, was the leader in this enterprise,

he choosing and buying the land, and laying it

out. There were fifty farm lots, of twenty

acres each, and fifty house-lots,with fourteen ad-

ditional village lots, reserved for school-houses

and other necessary public buildings. The

members of the company remained in San

Francisco, pursuing their respective avocations,

while the manager improved the colony's land

by means of hired labor. A main ditch was

dug, about seven miles long, to convey over the

whole area the irrigating water; and also there

were 450 miles of minor ditches, and twenty-

five miles of feeders. On each twenty-acre lot

were planted to vines eight acres, 1,000 to the

acre, and some fruit trees. Each lot was fenced

with willows, making five and one-quarter miles

of outside, and thirty-five miles of inside,

fencing.

At the end of three years all the lots had

been carefully cultivated, pruned and kept up;

all the assessments were paid, each stockholder

having expended $1,200. A division was now

made of the lots, also of a cash balance on hand,

sufficient to give over $100 to each shareholder.

Each member of the company had now acquired

at a cost of about $1,080, a farm lot of twenty

acres, with some fruit trees, and 8,000 bearing

vines, and also a town lot 200x150 feet.

Now came down from San Francisco, most of

the members of the Los Angeles Vineyard

Society, to take possession of conveniences, se-

cured by intelligent management and co-opera-

ation, for which, had they acted singly, they

must have expended far greater sums and waited

long, moreover. These men were mostly

mechanics; there was not a farmer among
them; yet, owing to the system and thorough-

ness of the arrangements, the following propo-

sitions in 1872, were truthfully made concern-

ing them:

" [1.] There was a struggle for some years,

but every one had abundance to eat, a good

school for his children, music and pleasant

social amusements, and each was his own
master.

"[2.] Only one of the original settlers has

moved away, and the sheriff has never issued

an execution in Anaheim.

" [3.] The property, which cost $1,080, is

now worth from $5,000 to $10,000.

"[4.] There are no poor in Anaheim."

In 1860 the Vineyard Society sold out to the

Anaheim Water Company; the same share-

holders formed the second company, and in

effect only the name was changed.
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Anaheim was incorporated as a city and duly

chartered February 10, 1870, but this charter

was revoked March 7, 1872, owing to a mis-

understanding among the officials.

An act of the Legislature, approved March

18, 1878, granted a town organization and again

incorporated Anaheim.

For many years the chief industry of Ana-

heim was wine-growing. Some idea of the

extent of this manufacture may be had from

the statement that one winery turned out in one

year 187,000 gallons of wine, and 15,000 gal-

lons of brandy, while there were some twenty

or thirty other vineyards producing many

thousands of gallons each, yearly. Within the

last few years this industry has been almost

paralyzed by the vine disease, which has almost

destroyed the vineyards. The railways report

that forty or fifty car-loads of wine are still sent

out annually; but this is old wine, that is to say,

wine stored from former harvests. It is con-

sidered, however, that the vine disease has spent

its force, and a portion of the vineyards are

being replanted, while others are being set to

oranges and walnuts. It is estimated that

some 4,000 acres will be planted to trees of

these two sorts in 1890.

The orange crop here is already considerable,

the output in 1888-'89 having been some 100

car-loads, and the export for 1889-'90is expected

to reach 150 car-loads, from which the growers

will realize $75,000 to $100,000.

Other products of this section are hay, grain,

all kinds of deciduous fruits, potatoes, petroleum,

brea (crude asphaltum), honey, wool, walnuts,

corn, dried fruit, fresh and cured meats, poultry,

butter and eggs, nursery stock, cattle and hogs,

cooperage, pampas plumes, and ostrich feathers.

These swell the freight tonnage of produce and

merchandise to about 2,000 000 pounds monthly,

and bring money into the town and the district.

The wool export goes out mostly from P'uller-

ton, the winter clip amounting to about twenty

car-loads. A new industry has been growing of

late, in the shipment of sheep on the hoof to

Kansas City and Chicago markets. Up to the

close of May, 1890, thirty-two car-loads of live

sheep had gone East, and enough orders were in

hand to complete 100 car-loads.

The ostrich farm was established in what is

known as Centralia district, six miles west of

Anaheim, the farm being stocked with twenty-

two ostriches imported direct from South Africa.

The youth of the birds militated against the

success of the enterprise at first, but that fault

became corrected with the lapse of time, and

when the eggs proved fertile the success of the

undertaking hecame assured. The constant de-

mand for ostrich feathers exceeding the supply

and the high grade of the yield insured here by

the unfailing supply of appropriate food, and

by the suitable surroundings, bid fair to render

this a most important and profitable industry.

The present population of Anaheim is about

1,300. Notwithstanding the year just passed

has been the dullest known in Southern Cali-

fornia for many years in business and real-estate

transactions, Anaheim has shown more marked

progress than during any other one year of her

history. There has been built: A two-story

brick export brewery, cost, $12,000; a three-

story brick academy, cost, 20,000; two two-

story brick blocks, costing $8,000 and $7,000

respectively; a one-story brick block, cost $4,-

000; the Methodist Church, cost $4,000; the

West Anaheim school-house, cost $7,000; a

packinghouse, cost $1,200; nine frame business

houses, aggregate cost $6,000; and twenty-two

residents of various cost, aggregating $30,000.

Anaheim has a popular and progressive set

of officials. The town has a good system of

sidewalks, and entensive water-works; it has

lately organized Wright irrigating district with

bonds of $50,000; it has a good opera house

that cost $16,000; a Roman Catholic Sisters'

College—St. Catherine's, costing $20,000; one

public school building that coit $12,000, and

another, $7,000, the two accommodating 400

pupils and occupying ten teachers; also a bank

with over $100,000 regular deposits. There

are in the city some eighty business houses,

representing almost every branch of trade, and
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all doing a good business. There is a commo-

dious new postoffice, also telegraph, telephone,

and express offices, one weekly and one semi-

weekly newspaper, a large brewery, a candy

factory, a brick and lumber yard, a pork-pack-

ing house, a sausage factory, two planing and

turning mills, two grist-mills and two bakeries,

besides the usual complement of grocery and

dry-goods shops, shoe and general merchandise

stores and mechanics' shops.

The Anaheim Gazette is, except the San

Diego Union, the oldest newspaper in Southern

California.

Northern, on the Santa Fe line, near Ana-

heim, is the station for the Buena Park Milk

Condensing Company, whose works have capac-

ity sufficient to use daily the milk from 3,000

cows. The supply comes from over a large

district, the radius reaching as far as Artesia.

The product of this manufactory finds sale

locally and in the neighboring mining districts.

It is expected that there will be large foreign

demand for this staple in the near future. At

the same factory is prepared canned coffee, to

be reduced for table use by the addition of

water.

On this tract, too, is being promoted the de-

velopment of an industry new to Southern Cal-

ifornia— the manufacture of molasses from

sorghum cane. Last year trial work was done

in this direction, with so much success that

eighty acres have been planted this year to the

cane. This promises to be an important indus-

try, as the climate here develops a much better

quality of cane than that grown east of the

Rocky mountains, and the samples of molasses

produced last year were greatly superior to the

imported grades now in our local markets.

In 1870 Messrs. A. B. Chapman and Andrew
Glassell purchased from the Yorba family sev-

eral thousand acres of land, which they divided

into small parcels and sold to actual settlers the

following year. Eight ten-acre blocks were

divided into town lots of 50x 150 feet each, and

outside of this nucleus were laid off ten-acre

farm lots, in their turn surrounded by lots of

forty acres each. At intervals of one-half mile,

throughout the whole tract, running from north

to south and from east to west, were surveyed

roads sixty feet wide.

The town, as a town, dates from about 1874.

The oldest orange trees were planted in 1871,

and bore in 1879 from the seed.

In the spring of 1873 many new settlers

arrived at Orange, planting numerous orchards

and vineyards; building a school-house, and

securing the establishment of a postoffise, then

named, with the town, Orange. In 1874 also

came many new people, who engaged largely in

the planting of citrus fruits. During this year

was built a Methodist church, costing about

$3,500, also a hotel, three stores, and a saloon,

the last soon being starved out.

During 1875, 1876 and 1877 were made some

improvements, but there was no immigration.

In 1878 the existing water supply proving in-

adequate, a new ditch company was formed, the

control remaining in the hands of those most

interested, and in 1878-'79 was completed a

new ditch, costing $60,000, of sufficient capac-

ity to supply the stockholders with abundant

water. Early in 1879 there were, by actual

count, 80,000 orange trees and 16,000 lemon

trees in this settlement. In 1880 these figures

had increased to 100,000 and 20,000 respect-

ively. The present acreage of oranges can not

be stated closely, as it is impossible to obtain

the figures; but it is necessarily large, since

this is one of the finest points in the orange

belt.

Orange is about three miles northeast of

Santa Ana, at the junction of a branch of the

Santa Fe with the main line, and also on the

line of the Southern Pacific. The town is in-

corporated as in the sixth class; it is well laid

out, having a plaza, with neat walks, lined with

flowers, and a central fountain. An ordinance

prohibits saloons inside the corporate limits.

The population is 1,500 to 2,000. There are

fine church buildings, the religious denomina-
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tions being represented by Methodists, Presby-

byterians, Christians, Baptists, and German

Lutherans. There is a postotiice with several

mails daily, and telegraph, telephone, and ex

press offices, two weekly newspapers, two job

offices; also a public library well supplied with

periodicals and newspapers, and 1,000 volumes.

There is here a bank doing a prosperous busi-

ness, one dry-goods shop, two general inerchan

dise stores, three drug stores, one confectionery,

one bakery, two hotels, two real-estate offices,

two fruit-p eking establishments, one furniture

store, one bookstore, two livery stables, one hard-

ware store, one tinshop, one shoe shop, three

blacksmith shops and two barber shops.

The water supply comes from the Santa Ana
river, through the canals of the Santa Ana
Valley Irrigation Company, which has about

seventy-five miles of distributing zanjas, with

some fifty miles of private lateral ditches. This

company's capital stock is $20,000, each share

costing $5. One share of water-right goes

with each acre, so that the enterprise purposes

to cover 20,000 acres, of which some 14,000 acres

are already water stocked. This company has

been operating since October, 1877.

The domestic water supply is from a company

having a private franchise from the corporation.

Anaheim Landing is situated in Westminster

township, about four and a half miles due west

from Westminster. This is a coast landing for

shipping purposes, with a good wharf and ware-

house on the inlet. The Anaheim Lighter Com-

pany was organized as an incorporation in 1864,

to ship the "produce and import the necessary

supplies of this section, and all needful privi-

leges were granted by the Legislature. Since

the railway reached Anaheim, the business of

that town with the Landing greatly diminished

and the through line of the Santa Fe yet further

affected the traffic by way of this port, yet a

considerable business is done there. The pop-

ulation at this point is about 200.

McFadden's Landing is about twelve miles

south of Santa Ana, and about a mile from the

old wharf at Newport Bay. Here is constructed

an " outside " wharf, 1,200 feet long, with

twenty-two feet of water at extreme low tide,

this being sufficient to accommodate all coast

vessels. This is the most substantial wharf on

the southern coast. Grading is vigorously in

progress for a railway very soon to be laid

between the wharf and Santa Ana. The wharf

(known as Newport Pier) and the line are owned

by the Newport Wharf and Lumber Company,

which does thereby a large lumber business.

Much of the traffic between Santa Ana valley

and San Francisco goes over this road. Newport

Beach, near this wharf, is a popular bathing re-

sort, 500 to 1,000 persons camping there during

the summer.

Fairview is a town located on the high mesa

lands between Santa Ana and Newport Landing.

This town was laid out about the time the

" boom " subsided, and it has been advancing,

notwithstanding the general business depression.

The Fairview Development Company's narrow-

gauge railway between this point and Santa Ana
is designed to extend some four miles farther to

Newport bay.

The water supply, both for irrigation and

domestic purposes, is supplied from artesian

wells, which flow a large volume of water. The

flow from some of these wells is very warm,

having a temperature of 90°, and it is highly

impregnated with mineral substances, considered

to possess valuable medicinal qualities. One or

two of these wells emit a combustible gas, which

has been utilized to a limited extent as fuel.

Fairview has a $12,000 hotel, a number of tine

store buildings, and numerous cottages and

residences ranging from $1,000 to $15,000 each.

Very few inferior buildings are in this town.

TUSTIN.

From the heirs of the Yorba estate, Messrs.

Bacon and Johnson bought a tract of land which

they sold in 1857, to Columbus Tustin and N.

O. Stafford, who, dividing the tract in 1868, had

each, 1,359 acres.

On his portion of the land, Mr. Tustin, in

1869, established the settlement of Tustin City,
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having surveyed a town site of about 100 acres,

in blocks 300 feet square, divided into lots 150

x 50 feet.

Settlers soon began to congregate here, pur-

chasing mostly small tracts of live to twenty

acres, and their improvements were so effectual

and valuable that Tustin to-day is one of the

richest and most beautiful spots in Orange

County. The homes are handsome and sub-

stantial, and the products numerous and remu-

nerative. Indeed, Tustin may justly be called

one of the garden spots of the county. This is

the terminus of the foothill line of the South-

ern Pacific Railway. The Tustin & Santa Ana

street-car line connects this town with the coun-

ty seat. The population is about 1,100; voters,

202.

Corn, barley, all kinds of vegetables and

many fruits, including bananas, flourish here.

Tobacco is raised in small quantities, for home

consumption. Alfalfa and peanuts are staple

productions. The orange crop for 1889 from

Tustin, is estimated at 150 car-loads.

Tustin has a $12,000 school building, a

Presbyterian and an Episcopalian church, and

the following fraternal societies: Tustin Lodge

No. 331, 1. O. O. F., and Tustin Lodge I. O. G. T.

WESTMINSTER.

The original township of Westminster was

composed of the whole of Rancho Los Alamitos,

containing 28,027.11 acres owned by the heirs

of Michael Reese, who bought under the fore-

closure of mortgage made by Abel Stearns, the

original grantee from the Mexican government.

This laDd is flat in the north and west, with

rolling and mesa land in the south and south-

west.

Westminster was started as a colony enter-

prise, in the autumn of 1871, by Rev. L. P.

Webber, who selected a tract of level land, com-

prising about 8,000 acres, afterwards enlarged

to 10,000 acres, between Anaheim and the ocean,

where he endeavored to assemble settlers who

would cooperate in church, school and social

matters. The original tract was soon sold,

mostly in farms of forty acres each. There are

four school districts: Westminster, Las Bolsas,

Garden Grove and Alamitos.

The water supply is the distinctive feature of

Westminster, which probably has more flowing

.wells than any other section of the United

States, of equal area. Every property-holder

owns and controls his own water supply. There

are in this district about 250 artesian wells,

which afford an abundance of cool, pure water,

sufficient for all purposes, including irrigation.

Water in quantities sufficient for irrigation can

be had at a depth of fifty to 200 feet. More-

over, the soil here is so damp that a large por-

tion of the land will grow fine crops without

irrigation.

The productive qualities of this land are

almost marvelous; corn reaches a yield of 125

bushels to the acre, and other products are in

proportion. The chief staples of produce are

corn, beets, potatoes, pumpkins, sorghum, al-

falfa, vegetables, and deciduous fruits; on the

higher lands of the colony are grown some fine

oranges. Dairying and stock-raising are profit-

able enterprises, and not a few Westminster

people follow these avocations

In the southern portion of this colony are the

celebrated peat lands.

This section is thickly populated, the land be-

ing owned mainly in small holdings. The col-

ony has a population of some 900; the central

settlement, about 450. The business houses

comprise two stores of groceries and general

merchandise, two blacksmith and wagon-makers'

shops, one hotel, one drug-store, one feed-yard,

and one saloon. There are three churches, and

a good school building, with two departments.

The town has a lodge of I. O. O. F., and a branch

of the W. C.T. U.

The stern Presbyterian stock that first settled

Westminster pledged themselves to grow no

grapes, that no inducement might exist to wine-

making amongst them; but outside influence

has so far modified matters that grapes are now

grown freely, and even a saloon is established

here.
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GARDEN GK0VE.

The town site of Garden Grove was selected

and laid out in 1877 by A. G. Cook and Con-

verse Howe. It is now a town of 350 to 400

population lying about four miles west of Santa

Ana; it is the trade center of a fine agricultural

district. The country around Garden Grove has

made greater advancement in the way of increase

in residence buildings during the past year

than any other settlement in the county, and

also there has been more land brought under

cultivation than in any corresponding section.

The chief products are corn, barley, fruits, cit-

rus and deciduous, vegetables, grapes, and wal-

nuts. Dairying, stock-raising, and the poultry

business are also carried on with profit. Garden

Grove has a postoffice with two daily mails, a

good church, a good school-house, one hotel, one

dry-goods and general merchandise store, one gro-

cery store, one shoe shop, and one blacksmith shop-

Gospel Swamp is a tract of about 4,000 acres

of damp land lying in the sontherly portion of

the Rancho Santa Ana. A portion of the east-

ern and of this tract is full of alkali; hence un-

fit for cultivation, but about four-fifths of the

tract is of marvelous fertility. Some of the

farms here have produced the enormous amount

of 118 bushels of shelled corn to the acre. The

Mormon Church here was organized in 1875.

San Juan Township comprises ten ranchos of

old Spanish granting, constituting one of the

most fertile valleys on this coast. Some of the

finest walnut orchards of the State are in this

section, which is efpecially adapted to the

growth of this nut, as well as oranges and

lemons. The scale bug, which so devastated

many of the citrus groves of Southern Califor-

nia, never infested the orange trees of this val-

ley. Here are produced abundant crops of

deciduous and citrus fruits, olives, potatoes,

corn, and garden vegetables. In the neighbor-

ing cafions are numerous bee ranches, whence

the apiarists ship yearly a large amount of

white-sage honey, the best in the market. Be-

sides the agricultural and horticultural interests

of this valley, the surrounding foothills and

mountains possess considerable merit as a stock

country, supporting large herds of sheep, horses,

and cattle, that bring extensive revenues to

their owners. Some idea of the products and

possibilities of this section may be formed from

the following partial statement of the shipments

from Capistrano station during the past season:

Beef cattle, 1,500 head; mutton sheep, 1,000

head; wool, 185,000 pounds; English walnuts,

176,250 pounds; honey, 46,000 pounds; mis-

cellaneous, 100,000 pounds.

The town or village of San J nan Capistrano

lies on the main line of the Santa Fe, some
twenty-seven miles south of Santa Ana, and two

miles from the Pacific ocean. This is the trade

center of a large scope of country. The Mexi-

can inhabitants, of which the population here

was mostly composed until very lately, is now
rapidly being replaced by Americans. This is

one of the oldest settlements on the Coast, the

mission here having been established in 1776.

The old Mission church and buildings at pres-

ent are, virtually, but a pile of ruins, having

fallen into decay since the partial destruction of

the edifice by earthquake, December 8, 1812.

Religious services are still held here, however,

and this venerable site is celebrated in song and

story.
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fESSE H. AENOLD.—Prominent among
those who have been most active in ad-

vancing the interests of Orange County,

stands the gentleman whose name heads this

sketch—the pioneer merchant of Orange. He
is a native of Howard County, Missouri, born

July 15, 1842, and son of John and Mar-

garet (Heard) Arnold. His father died in

Howard County, Missouri, January 30, 1870,

aged about seventy-four years; his mother died

at his residence in Orange, September 19, 1889,

aged eighty-seven years, three months and

twenty days. At the time of his mother's

death, Mr. Arnold wrote the following obituary,

which not only throws much light upon facts of

family history, but also brings out in a strong

light his own sense of appreciation of lofty

Christian endeavor:

" My mother, Margaret (Heard) Arnold, was

born near Lancaster, in Garrard County, Ken-

tucky, May 30, 1802. She was one of eight

children of John and Jane Heard, whose maiden

name was Stephenson, and who at the time of

her marriage to John Heard, was the widow of

William Wolfskill, of the same county and

State.

" My mother's mother, Jane Heard, became

a widow the second time, and soon emigrated

from Kentucky and settled in Boone County,

Missouri, in 1818, bringing with her eight chil-

dren by John Heard, and an only son by her

first husband, William Wolfskill. A few years

after her arrival in Missouri—which was then

an almost unbroken wilderness, inhabited by

wild animals and treacherous Indians, which

compelled the settlers to live for the most part

in defensive forts for protection—my mother

was married to Alfred Head, a surveyor and

son of a noted frontiersman, after whom one of

the principal Indian forts was named, viz.:

Head's Fort, Howard County, Missouri. By
him she had three children, now all living: Ex-

Lieutenant-Governor Lafayette Head, of Colo-

rado, now residing at Conejos, in that State;

Barthena M. Gray, of Calhcun, Missouri, and

Eliza J. Downing, of Virginia, Illinois.

"Alfred Head having died, after eleven years

of widowhood, my mother married my father,

John Arnold, July 1, 1841, in Howard County,

Missouri, whither he had emigrated from Mer-

cer County, Kentucky, even earlier than she

—

in 1811. My father was then a widower, hav-

ing lost his wife by death some years before.

Of this marriage I was the sole issue.

" My father was an expert rifleman, and his

skill was often in request as a scout and soldier

in repelling incursions of the hordes of sur-

rounding savages. For his services in the

Black Hawk war, for many years my mother

has drawn a small pension from the Govern-

ment.

" My mother was a prudent, plain, practical

kind-hearted woman, who recognized the seri-

ous obligations of life in all daily matters, and
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strove to discharge them with unshrinking and

conscientious fidelity. She was positive and

decided in her character, and when once her

opinion was founded, it was seldom changed by

argument.

"Early in life she chose the 'Pearl of Great

Price,' and for about sixty years, I think, had

lived a consistent Christian life. My first recol-

lections of her are associated with her teach-

ings of the divine Savior and an omnipotent

God. Her trust in the promises of His revealed

Word was always implicit and unquestioned.

Her faith was founded upon the Rock of Ages,

aud in its depth, completeness, simplicity and

intensity was absolutely sublime. Whatever is

best and most praiseworthy in the character and

lives of her four children is imbibed from her,

and is the reflection of her teachings and her

living example of practicing what she taught.

In her long, useful and eventful life, and in

every station and relation of it she has occu-

pied, she was ever the 'perfect woman, nobly

planned.' A dutiful child, a helpful daughter,

a faithful wife, a model mother, an earnest

Christian, is the honest and truthful tribute of

those who have known her. The grateful in-

cense of a useful life has been constantly diffused

all along her varied pathway. She hath ' sown

to the spirit, and of the spirit shall she reap

everlasting life.' What an answer to the argu-

ments of those who would destroy our belief

in God and our hope of heaven!"

Jesse H. Arnold, with whose name this

sketch commences, was reared and educated in

his native State. He took the full classical

course at the Missouri State University at

Columbia, and was graduated in the class of

1861. His diploma, dated July 4, of that year,

bears the signature of the faculty as follows:

B. B. Minor, President, and Professor of Moral

Philosophy and Political Economy; John H.

Lathrop, LL. D., Professor of Ancient Litera-

ture and History; George H. Mathews, Pro-

fessor of Ancient Languages and Literature;

Edward T. Fristoe, Professor of Mathematics

and Astronomy; J. G. Norwood, Professor of

Natural Science and Natural Philosophy; R. L.

Todd, Secretary of Board of Curators. Those

who took the full classical course with Mr.

Arnold were: Thomas L. Napton, valedictorian,

who became a brilliant and wealthy lawyer, and

who was for some time judge in Montana;

William S. Woods, who is a bank president of

Kansas City: Fred Conway, James J. Hitt and

William P. Jackman, of whom Mr. Arnold has

lost trace.

Judge J. H. Wright, of Arizona, and Hon.

John T. Heard (Mr. Arnold's cousin), a promi-

nent member of Congress from Missouri, were

also in the same class, but did not take the full

classical course.

Mr. Arnold had planned in early life to be-

come a lawyer, but the war coming on before

he had completed his literary education, he

went, after graduation, to California, where he

remained until 1866. While in this State he

clerked for John Arnold & Co. (whose principal

was his half-brother) for one year at Sacra-

mento. After this he went to Virginia City,

and took a position in the Empire Mill &
Mining Co., as book-keeper, under Mr. Lathrop

Dunn, superintendent. In 1866 he went back

to Missouri and married the lady of his choice,

Miss Elizabeth Cochran, a native of Boone

County, Missouri. After their marriage they

lived in Boone and Howard counties, and

farmed until 1875, when Mr. Arnold removed

to Colorado and went into business with Field

& Hill, commission and shipping merchants at

Pueblo, and remained with them as their busi-

ness moved to temporary terminal points along

the line of the Denver & Rio Grande Railroad,

till it was built to Fort Garland, when he left

them and went into business by himself at

Conejos, an old town and the county seat, and

which soon afterwards became a temporary

terminus of said railroad, and a lively business

town. There he remained until 1880, when he

again returned to California.

At Orange Mr. Arnold has been eminently

successful in the mercantile business. He has

taken an active part in all enterprises affecting
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the interests of that beautiful place. He is

vice-president of the Bank of Orange, and has

a large interest in the Orange, Santa Ana &
Tustin, and the Orange, McPherson & El Mo-

dena street car lines. He has all along recog-

nized the necessity of a good water supply to

protect the city in case of fire, and has strongly

agitated in favor of taking measures looking to

that end. It was with this idea that he took

stock in the Santiago Land and Water Company.

These are only cited as instances of his activity,

though many might be mentioned. But above

all, to Mr. Arnold the town of Orange and its

vicinity owe a debt of gratitude for the estab-

lishment of the Orange County College. This

was effected by purchasing by subscription the

Rochester Hotel and converting it into a college

building; and it is but just to say that had it

not been for Mr. Arnold's influence, energy and

enterprise, Orange would not to-day have had a

college in her midst.

He it was who first publicly suggested and

advocated the idea, in an elaborate and elo-

quent article published in the Orange Tribune

of June 16, 1888, addressed to " The People

of Orange and the Santa Ana valley," of which

editorial mention was made as follows: "The

paper of Mr. Jesse H. Arnold, which appears

elsewhere in this issue of the Tribune, presents

to the public of the Santa Ana valley the sug

gestion of a college of a high order of in-

struction to be known as Orange College, ap-

propriating the beautiful building and grounds

of the ' Rochester Hotel ' at Orange for the

purpose. Read Mr. Arnold's article: he states

the matter fully and eloquently." The article

was extensively read and copied by other news-

papers, and laid the foundation of a hope which

has already been largely realized.

Among the beautiful sentiments which per-

vade the article alluded to above, is one em-

bodied in these words: "Such an enterprise

cannot be paralleled for future good to our

race, and I would rather be a founder of such

or a promoter or instrument in establishing

such, than to be the hero Napoleon or a soldier

of the Old Guard which died but never surren-

dered."

Mr. Arnold is president of the Orange Pub-
lic Library Association and is a gentleman of

decided literary taste. A novel feature in his

business advertisements for years p ist has been

that he has written them in poetry.

Politically Mr. Arnold is a conservative Dem-
ocrat. He is a member of the Christian Church,

and takes an active part in the affairs of his

congregation. His daily walk, conversation

and honorable business habits show him to be a

true Christian gentleman at heart. He is a char-

ter member of Orange Lodge, No. 293, F. &. A.
M., having joined the order in Escurial Lodcre,

No. 7, at Virginia City, Nevada, in 1863.

Mr. and Mrs. Arnold have reared a family of

live children, whose names are as follows: Paul

and David Lafayette, their two sons, are attend-

ing the University of Southern California at

Los Angeles, where Paul will graduate with

honors on June 26 of this year (1890). Mar-
tha Margaret, having finished her education, is

at home with her parents, while Mary Elizabeth

and Alice Eugenia are attending the pnblic

school in Orange.

They are all intelligent, bright children,

healthy and strong in body and give promise of

being useful men and women, and such is the

earnest prayer of their parents.

tYSANDER TJTT, a retired merchant of

Tustin, is a " '49er." He was born in

Wythe County, Virginia, June 1, 1824.

His parents, John and Mary (Criger) Utt, were

both natives of the Old Dominion, had a family

of thirteen children, and moved to Jackson

County, Missouri, in 1840, where the father

died, in 1849. The subject of this sketch, the

third child in order of birth in the above family,

worked at farming until the year named, when

he came to California across the plains with an

ox team. In Mariposa County he followed min-

ing for two years, and then for twenty- three
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years he was engaged in teaming and farming

in Placer County. Two years ago he retired

from active business, and will spend the even-

ing of life on his fruit ranch near Tu6tin. He

has been very successful in his business pursuits,

and is widely and favorably known. Politically

he is true to the principles of the Democratic

party, and his genial disposition and cordiality

are such as only the true " Southern spirit" can

manifest.

In 1864 he married Miss Arvilla E. Piatt,

and they have one son, Charles E., who is now

his father's successor in the mercantile business

at the old stand at the corner of Fourth and D
streets in Tustin.

(R. R. F. BURGESS, of Santa Ana, was

born in Pittsfield, Massachusetts, in 1834,

and when he was quite young the family

removed to New York State, and three years

afterward to Michigan, locating in Washtenaw

County, where they remained about twelve

years. The father died in Montcalm County,

that State, when the subject of this sketch was

seventeen years of age, and the latter therefore

had to look after the welfare of the family. He
served three years in Company A, Twenty-first

Michigan Infantry, during the last war, going

out as a wagoner and having charge of an ord-

nance train; and afterward he had charge of a

foraging party until the close of the war. Re-

turning to Michigan, he studied dentistry, and

in 1866 began to practice his profession in

Ionia and subsequently in Muskegon, both in

Michigan. In 1871 he moved to Fort Scott,

Kansas, but in 1874, on account of the ill health

of his wife, he came to California. The first

three years here he practiced dentistry in Los

Angeles, and in 1878 came to Santa Ana and

bought land on East Fourth street. This he

soon sold off in town lots except the part on

which he erected a residence. He recently be-

came connected with the Santa Ana Free Press,

and is the treasurer of the company and principal

stockholder. Both himself and wife are mem-
bers of the Baptist Church, and are highly

respected by the community.

He was married in Michigan, in 1859, to

Miss Carrie E. Allured, a native of England.

&$&#

fW.
TOWNER, the subject of this sketch,

now Judge of the Superior Conrt of
9 Orange County, is a native of Essex

County, New York, born in 1823, in the town

of Willsboro. When he was fifteen years old

his father moved to St. Lawrence County, same

State. His education was only that of the

common school except one term, in 1841, at

the Malone Academy, Franklin County. In

1844, he and an older brother went to Cleve-

land, Ohio, where he remained until 1854, when

he went to West Union, Fayette County, Iowa,

remaining there until August, 1861, when he

entered the army, becomingCaptain of Company

F, Ninth Iowa Infantry Volunteers. At the

battle of Pea Ridge he was disabled by the loss

of his left eye. After his recovery he was com-

missioned by President Lincoln, Captain of

Company B, Second Regiment, Veteran Re-

serve Corps. This commission he held till

July, 1866.

Then he returned to Cleveland, Ohio, and in

1874 went to Madison County, New York,

where he resided until 1882. He then came to

Santa Ana. During these years his occupations

were, from seventeen to twenty-six, teaching

school winters and working by the day or month

summers; in 1849 he began preaching as a

Universalist, and continued thus until 1854,

when, his voice failing, he engaged in the

lumber and steam saw-mill business in Iowa,

till 1859, and was then admitted to the bar at

West Union; and since that time to the present,

excepting the five years he was in the military

service, he has practiced law. While in Cleve-

land, Ohio, he was Judge of the Municipal

Court two years. At the first election held here

in Orange County, July, 1889, he was chosen
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Judge of the Superior Court. He received the

nomination on a non-partisan ticket, having

two opponents, and in the election received 500

majority over both. As a lawyer he has had

practice in all the Courts of Iowa, Ohio, New
York and California, and in the United States

Circuit Courts in all these States but Iowa.

He was married in Ohio, in 1850, to C. A.

Sweet, of Lorain County, that State, and has had

three children: Arthur J., married, and living

at Santa Ana; Frederick E., died in 1876, and

Lillian S. married G. D. Allen, now of Kiver

side.

fRED C. SMYTHE, the first Assessor of

Orange County, was born in the city of

Los Angeles, near the old Pico Hotel, in

1857. His father, John Smythe, was a native

of the State ot New York, and of Irish ancestry,

while his mother, whose maiden name was Jo-

sephine Yorba, is a native of California and of

Spanish descent. The subject of this sketch,

the eldest of his parent's nine children, left

home to take care of himself at the age of eleven

years, taking as his first task that of waiting on

the table at Los Angeles. Afterward he entered

the printing office at Anaheim and set type on

what was then the Southern Califomian, but

is now the Anaheim Gazette. After this he

worked in the printing office in Los Angeles.

His health failing, he made a journey to Nevada

and Oregon, herding cattle in those States. Sub-

sequently he kept books for Kelley & Felez.

Returning to Anaheim, he began plowing and

soon entered a clerkship in A. Langenberger's

store; he next was employed on the Anaheim

Ditch; and it was while he was thus engaged

that he was elected Assessor for the town of

Anaheim, and about this time he was made

Deputy Sheriff of Los Angeles County, serving

in this capacity under Sheriffs A. T. Currier,

George E. Gard, J. C. Kays and Martin Aguirre,

until his election to the office of Assessor of

Orange County in July, 1889. During the full

period that he was deputy sheriff he served as

City Marshal of the city of Anaheim, also con-

stable; also two years as Deputy County As-

sessor under C. C. Mason, County Assessor of

Los Angeles County, and two terms as Special

School Assessor of Anaheim School District.

Politically Mr. Smythe is a stanch Republi-

can, and socially he is a member of the order of

Chosen Friends, being now a councilor of the

order. He is also president of the N. S. G. W.,

and Commander of the American Legion of

Honor. He is a gentleman well known through-

out California for his bravery and executive

ability, and has won for himself a host of friends

irrespective of party.

tOU[S SCHORN, President of the Olive

Milling Company, was born in Bavaria,

Germany, in 1839, came to the United

States in 1856, and engaged as clerk for a dry-

goods merchant in Alabama until 1861, when

he returned to the old country to visit his par-

ents. In 1864 he again sought the " land of the

free." After clerking three years in Pittsburg,

Pennsylvania, he spent one year in Kansas, and

then until 1882 he was successfully engaged in

the grocery and milling business in Texas.

Then he came to California and purchased forty

acres of land northwest of Anaheim, where he

now lives, and where he devotes his attention

to fruits and vines, and is very successful both

in horticulture and in the manufacture of wines

and brandies. He has since bought 160 acres

of highly improved land a half mile southwest

of the Southern Pacific depot in Anaheim,

devoted principally to oranges and deciduous

fruits. In 1887 the Olive Milling and Land

Improvement Company was organized, with a

paid up capital of $50,000. Those forming the

company were Mr. Schorn, Thomas Dillon, C.

Culvert and Washington Martin. For four

years prior to this organization Mr. Schorn and

Mr. Dillon had been carrying on the milling

business successfully. In the fall of 1889 the
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mill was totally destroyed by fire; but through

the energy and enterprising spirit of these men

it has been re-built and is now in full running

order, doing a business of over $2,500 per

month. The intention of the company is to

have a town at Olive, and with the railroad

facilities now promised and the beauty of the

location they have flattering prospects of suc-

cess.

Politically Mr. Schorn is identified with the

Democratic party, and though only recently a

citizen of this place he has made a host of

friends not only in his own party but in all

the others. At present he is also president of

the Anaheim Union Water Company.

He was married June 26, 1880, to Miss Min-

nie Stely, who died in 1885. They had two

daughters.

tEONARD PARKER, of Anaheim, was

bom in the town of Boston, New York,

March 1, 1818. His parents, Joel and

Annie ("Woodcock) Parker, were natives of Mas-

sachusetts. The senior Parker, by trade a car-

penter, was employed as a builder and contractor

in the city of Buffalo, New York, for many

years, and the subject of this sketch had very

little opportunity for getting an education. At

the age of twenty-one years he started out as a

farmer, and afterward learned the blacksmith

trade, his early life being a rugged one. He

walked five miles to work and then cradled

wheat for 50 cents a day, at the same time

paying $2 a bushel for corn ! In 1852 he moved

to McHenry County, Illinois, and bought out a

claim on the frontier, and this he improved and

cultivated for twenty years, being successfully

engaged in general farming and stock-iaising.

April 1, 1870, he came to California and bought

200 acres of unimproved land near Anaheim; it

was then almost completely covered with cactus

and sage brush. One can scarcely realize now,

as he beholds the beautiful flowers and the or-

chards of oranges, apricots and prunes full of

delicious fruit, that the land was once so wild

and bare. Surely, Mr. Parker has made the

" desert fertile and blossom as the rose." He
has to-day over 3,000 orange trees which yielded

last year (1889) over 5,000 boxes of fruit.

September 15, 1838, Mr. Parker married Miss

Kate Kennedy, a native of Montgomery County,

New York, and born in 1820, the daughter of

Abraham and Catherine (McGregor) Kennedy,

parents natives of Scotland. Mr. and Mrs.

Parker have reared a large family of children,

viz.: Joel B., of Orange; Anna L., wife of

Simeon Tucker; Walter M., in Texas; Mary A.,

wife of Owen Handy; Delia, now Mrs. R. A.

Brown; Eva L., wife of Arthur Lewis of Los

Angeles; Jesse R., of National City; Lydia,

wife of Captain O. S. Wood, of Anaheim; Er-

nest T., of Orange; and Kate, who died at the

age of sixteen years. Mr. and Mrs. Parker in

1888 celebrated their "golden wedding," and

were the recipients of many valuable presents.

They are remarkably well preserved, both in

mind and body, having been all their lives in

the practice of the principles of temperance,

which they advocated, but do not believe in

orthodoxy or Christianity.

^«!H^
fAMES W. LAYMAN, deceased, late of

Santa Ana, was born in Peoria, Illinois,

January 24, 1846. His parents, Martin

and Elizabeth Layman, were from the State of

New York, and had thirteen children, of whom

James was the eight!). He was educated at

Minneapolis, Minnesota, where his father had

moved when the son was seven years old. He
followed farming with his father in Minnesota

until 1871, when he came to California. His

first purchase here was a ranch near Newport,

where he lived four years. He then purchased

property on Main street in Santa Ana, which

he improved and converted into a beautiful

home. Subsequently he bought the Santa Ana

Hotel, of which he was the proprietor for eleven

years. The brick block on Fourth street, west
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of tlie First National Bank, stands as a monu-

ment to his enterprising spirit. Later he bought

property on the corner of Sixth and Birch streets,

where he erected a magnificent residence. He
was a very liberal and public-spirited man, aided

every enterprise both public and private, which

had for its object the good of the people, and in

his death Santa Ana lost one of her best citizens.

He was a member of the Masonic fraternity,

having joined the order in Minnesota, at the

age of nineteen years; and he was a charter

member of the Santa Ana Lodge of the same

order. Politically, he was a strong supporter

of the Republican party. His death occurred

October 19, 1889.

He was married in Minnesota, June 22, 1871,

to Miss Mary J. Moran, who was born in Can-

ada, and whose parents were John and Margaret

Moran, both Canadians, and among the first

settlers of Minnesota. Eight days after their

marriage Mr. and Mrs. Lyman started for the

Golden State. During their life together they

have had two children: Minnie M. and Per-

kins A.

fAREY R. SMITH, President of the

Savings Bank of Santa Ana, was born in

Strykersville, New York, in 1843. His

father, Rev. Dexter P. Smith, D. D.. was a

native of New York State, and his mother, nee

Hannah J. Borland, was a native of Vermont.

They moved to Iowa in 1845. Carey was ed-

ucated at the State University of Iowa, gradu-

ating in the normal department in 1860. He
then taught school until 1861, when he entered

the army, in Company F, First Iowa Volunteer

Cavalry, and served three years, most of the

time on detached service, his health failing.

After the war he returned to the University,

entered the collegiate department, and studied

a year, and then his failing health compelled

him to find a freer life. He owned and man-

aged a dairy farm for five years, thus recruiting

his physical powers to enable him to aim again

for his greatest ambition, namely, a university

education. Accordingly he returned to the

University, but at the end. of a year was again

compelled to desist, and he returned to the

dairy farm, engaging also in the breeding

of Holstein cattle until about six years ago,

when he became a resident of Santa Ana in the

best part of the Golden State. In the cattle

business he had some extraordinarily good

stock; he refused $5,000 for a single cow. His

knowledge of cattle was so thorough that he

was elected by the American Holstein Breeding

Association as an Inspector of the Advanced

Registry for the Coast, and has been re-elected

ever since. For two years he edited the West-

ern Stock Journal and Farmer at Iowa City.

After settling in California he entered the busi-

ness of law, money-lending and real estate, but

after a year his health compelled him to aban-

don the business. In 1889 the Savings Bank of

Santa Ana was organized, with Mr. Smith as

President, C. F. Mansur, Cashier, and Q. R.

Smith, assistant cashier. Mr. Smith is a

public-spirited man, having aided materially in

the growth and development of his adopted city.

Fifty shares of gas stock he virtually gave to

the county in order to have the plant located in

Santa Ana. He took an active part in favor of

county division and in securing railroads. He
was sent to Chicago as a representative of the

citrus fair in 1886.

fE.
SHARP, a retired capitalist of Santa

Ana, was born in East Tennessee, No-
° vember 17, 1809, a son of Joseph and

Sarah (Lamb) Sharp, who had but two children:

the subject of this sketch and a boy named

Prophet, who died in 1850. The parents died

in 1828, the father one day and the mother the

next. In 1830 Mr. Sharp went to Illinois,

where for several years lie followed farming in

Madison County; after this he went into the

mercantile business at Bunker Hill, Illinois,

and subsequently he moved to Litchfield, that
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State. In 1864 he came to California and spent

the first ten years in Sacramento County. In

1874 he came to Westminster, where he fol-

lowed farming two years; then he purchased

property in Santa Ana and built two houses.

Since then he has been in the real-estate busi-

ness until abont two years ago. lie also owns

property in Pomona. Mr. Sharp is a true

Christian gentleman, and has been an active

worker in the Baptist Church for over fifty-

four years.

He was married first in 1882, to Mary E.

Robinson, a native of -North Carolina, and a

daughter of Zachariah and Elizabeth Robinson.

By this marriage there was one child— Sallie

A., now the wife of William Kell, of Pomona.

Mrs. Sharp died June 12, 1873, and December

21, 1875, Mr. Sharp married Mrs. Clarissa M.

Trask, of Jefferson, Maine; her parents were

Alexander and Mary (Curtis) Trask, who had

ten children.

SILLIAM DRESSER, the proprietor of

extensive farms and a resident of Santa

Ana, was born in East Smithfield, Lon-

don, England, August 20, 1813. His parents,

Christopher and Mary Dresser, came to America

in 1824, landing at Montreal. Subsequently

they settled in northern New York, in 1833 in

Ohio, and in 1836 in Boone County, Illinois,

They had four children. His father was born

January 1, 1769, and died June 13, 1841; and

his mother, born June 25, 1772, died November

9, 1845. By trade his father was a " linen

draper," which in England corresponds with a

dry-goods merchant in the United States. Mr.

Dresser was educated at Alleghany College,

Meadville, Pennsylvania. Afterward he fol-

lowed forming in Boone County, Illinois, until

1850, when he came to California. He had in-

tended to come the previous year, but the

company which he was to join did not organize.

In April, 1850, he started with a Beloit, Wis-

consin, company. They arrived at Council

Bluffs May 10, passed the Humboldt desert on

the night of the 4th and 5th of July, and be-

tween Council Bluffs and Carson Vallev they

probably passed 30,000 immigrants. July 19

Mr. Dresser first saw the gold miners at work.

He arrived at Ringgold on the 20th, and was at

Kelsey's Diggings when they received the news

that California had been admitted to the Union.

Mr. Dresser is a farmer and rents land in

Tulare and Yolo counties, while he lives in the

genial climate of Southern California for his

health. He is probably the oldest Sunday-

school worker in the State now living. He
organized and conducted the first Sunday-

school outside the large towns; in Snisun

valley in March, 1851. He is a close Bible

student, and has in his possession a Bible

printed in England in 1608. He is practically

and theoretically a temperance man. As long ago

as 1827, when a boy in the State of New York,

he signed the first temperance pledge that was

ever seen in New York State, and he has faith-

fully kept it to this day. He signed a private

paper brought in the city of Plattsburgh from

Boston long before public pledges had been

published.

Mr. Dresner was first married in De Kalb

County, Illinois, July 29, 1838, to Miss Sarah

Jenks, daughter of Jacob and Mary Jenks.

She died May 23, 1854, and April 3, 1885,

Mr. Dresser married Mrs. M. E. M. Anthony.

Mr. Dresser's children are Albert, Charles,

William, Emma and Julia.

fR.
DRESSER, one of the pioneers of

Santa Ana, and a successful busi-

* ness man, was born in De Kalb Count}',

Illinois, in 1839. For his parentage see sketch

of William Dresser. He started out in life for

himself at the age of twenty-one as a farmer.

In 1861 he came to California, located first in

Sutter County, where he "held down a squat-

ter's claim " until 1870, when he came to

Southern California and located in Santa Ana,
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where he has since resided; and here he devotes

his attention mostly to agricultural pursuits.

His first purchase was that of 140 acres in the

northeast part of what is now Santa Ana, when

there were but two or three houses in the place,

and he has seen a lively city spring up around

him, and has added his share toward its growth

and development. Mr. Dresser is a quiet and

unassuming man and a true Christian gentleman

He is a Republican in his political sympathies

and also an able advocate of the principles of

temperance.

January 3, 1862, in California, he married

Mary E. Willock, by whom he had three chil-

dren: Clarence, Frank and Willie. She died

April 12, 1873, and Mr. Dresser wTas married

again February 9, 1875, in Illinois, to Frances

Mabie, whose parents were Peter and Eliza

(Chapel) Mabie. By this marriage there are

Albert, Arthur, Louis, Perry, Harry and Ernest.

D. HALLADAY, one of the members

of the city council of Santa Ana, was

' born in Vermont, May 8, 1830. His

parents, David and Nancy (Carpenter) Halla-

day, were both natives of Vermont and moved

to Michigan in 1843. They had eight children.

M. D., our subject, engaged in the lumber and

saw-mill business, and in 1874 came to Califor-

nia for his health; and so rapidly did he im-

prove that he determined to make this country

his home. He accordingly purchased thirty

acres of land within the town limits of Santa

Ana, which he improved, and for several years

had one of the best-paying vineyards in the

valley. In November, 1887, he built a very

tine residence on the corner of Chestnut avenue

and Halladay street. Most of his land has been

divided into town lots and sold. Mr. Halladay

is a member of the Baptist Church. He has

been school trustee three years, and is a member
of the city council.

He was married March 23, 1863, to Miss

Celia Halladay, daughter of William and Sebr-

na (Whitney) Halladay, and they have had four

sons, viz.: Daniel S., a graduate of Berkeley

College; William D., deputy surveyor of Los

Angeles County; Guy and Harlow.

tEOPOLD GOEPPER, proprietor of the

Brunswick Dining Parlors, Santa Ana, is a

native of the Buckeye State, and was born

October 10, 1856. His parents, Herman and

Magdalena, were both natives of Germany, and

came to America with their parents when quit ,

young. The subject of this sketch, the eldest

of their six children, left the common schools

at the age of thirteen years. He was brought

up on a farm and came with his father to Cali-

fornia in 1870, locating in Santa Clara County,

where they followed agricultural pursuits for

six years. Then they came to Santa Ana. At

the age of twenty-one years Mr. Goepper started

out in life for himself, and has by his own

efforts worked his way up to the position he

now holds as a business man. In 1877 he

began work as a waiter in the hotel kept by

James Layman in Santa Ana. Afterward he

was employed in the lumber-yard and then at

blacksmithing. In 1879 he went to San Jose

and, as times were dull, he went to work as

waiter in the Lick House, and next he was

night clerk in the St. James Hotel; next he

was employed as steward in the Ogle House,

the first hotel in Fresno. In 1880 he returned

to Santa Ana, and followed house painting,

with success, until 1887, when he went into

the real-estate business. After the boom was

over he kept a restaurant and bar, in com-

pany with his brother, and at that he was also

successful. Then, in January, 1889, he took

charge of the Richelieu restaurant, where he

supplied the hungry public with the necessaries

of life until he took charge of the Brunswick,

May 1, 1890, where he is now holding forth,

attentive to the wants, comfort and convenience

of the people. He has made for himself a good

name as a hotel man, and is really very popular.
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The Goepper tract of Santa Ana was laid out

by him and his father, and it is one of the best

additions of the city, being located between

Main and .Ross streets, east and west, and

bounded on the west by Seventeenth street.

Socially, Mr. Goepper is a member of Lodge

No. 82, A. O. U. W., in which he has passed all

the chairs. He was chosen representative to the

Grand Lodge in San Francisco in 1887, and he

is at present District Grand Deputy Master.

He is also a member of Santa Ana Lodge, No.

236, I. O. O. F.

November 23, 1887, he chose for his partner

through life Miss Fannie Russell, the accom-

plished daughter of George L. and Nancy

(Crowley) Russell, natives of Missouri, pioneers

of 1849 to the Golden State. Mr. Russell was

one of the first settlers in Santa Ana, building

the fourth house in the place.

fOHN H. GARNER, veterinary surgeon,

Santa Ana, was born in Ogden City, Utah,

June 26, 1850, the fourth son of John and

Olive (Rossen) Garner, the former a native of

North Carolina and the latter of Missouri. His

father was one of the pioneers who crossed the

plains to California in 1851 with ox teams, lo-

cating in San Bernardino, where he followed

farming for a period of twenty-eight years. He
died at the age of sixty-one years.

J. H., our subject, at the age of twenty-one

years started out in the world for himself. He
had previously, at the age of fourteen years,

mastered many of the principles of the pro-

fession which he has so successfully practiced

ever since. He was naturally a student, and at

the age of eighteen years he was a proficient

veterinary surgeon. At this time he was given

the responsible charge of race horses. He began

business by buying lame and diseased horses,

curing them and selling them at advanced fig-

ures. This he followed until 1870, when he

teamed for a year on the desert. After this he

put teams on the construction of the railroad to

Spadra, and ran the veterinary business along-

side. In 1878 he moved to Newport, where he

followed farming until he was washed out by

the floods. In 1884, with a sick family and

being $800 in debt, he moved to Santa Ana and

bargained for residence property on the corner of

Fourth and Ross streets, and also for other lots

on First and Parton streets, where he ran a " Sick

Horse Infirmary." Since that time Mr. Gar-

ner has worked up a lucrative practice, and his

skill in the profession is known far and wide.

He has served as inspector for diseased horses

in Los Angeles County, and at present holds

that position by appointment in Orange County.

He has discovered a remedy for lockjaw in

horses, which, though simple, deserves special

notice. Out of 168 cases treated, over two-

thirds were cured.

Of his more private life it may be said that

he was married November 6, 1870, to Miss

Nettie Ames, daughter of Ellis and Olive

Ames, the former a native of New York and

the latter of Massachusetts. They had fourteen -

children, and crossed the plains to California in

1851. Mr. and Mrs. Garner have had eight

children in all, four of whom are living, viz.:

John, Guy S., Albert and Ernest. The deceased

are: Olive, Ida, Maria and Robert.

fACOB ROSS, a prominent business man

of Orange County, was born in Clinton

County, Indiana, August 7, 1846. His

parents, Jacob and Elizabeth Ross, moved to

Illinois in 1851, where the father engaged in

the milling business and in farming until 1865,

when they with their family came overland to

California, being six months on the road. They

unloaded at Watsonville, November 25, 1865.

Mr. Ross, the father, prospected for a home in

Salinas valley till 1868, when he moved to

Southern California. He purchased the undi-

vided interest in the Spanish grant of 1,860

acres, which, however, was afterward cut down

to 1,073 acres. His purchase included the ter-
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ritory embraced in Santa Ana west of Main

street and north of First. He was the third

settler in the valley, and was a successful stock-

raiser and farmer until his death in 1870. The

subject of this sketch was the namesake and

}
7oungest living son of his father. lie was

eighteen years old when he came with the fam-

ily to California, and was engaged with his

father until the age of twenty-six, when he

married and commenced housekeeping and the

management of a farm of 160 acres adjoining

Santa Ana on the west, a gift to him from his

parents. The early days here were fraught

with difficulties and hardships of which no one

who has come in later has a practical knowledge.

They tried to carry on agricultural pursuits in

connection with stock-raising. The Spaniards

were not disposed to cultivate the soil, and

hence were opposed to the Americans settling

up the country as farmers. Accordingly they

gave much trouble by driving their herds close

to cultivated fields and leaving them to their

work of destruction. Mr. Ross had to corral

his stock to keep the Spaniards from killing it;

and had to guard his growing crops to keep

them from being destroyed at night. At one time

Mr. Ross had $4,000 worth of stock stolen

from him in one night. Thus an idea may be

gained of what it meant to be a pioneer.

After farming for six years on his quarter-

section, he became interested in politics, with

which he has ever since been more or less identi-

fied. He was proprietor and manager of the

Santa Ana Weekly Herald, having purchased

the Santa Ana Times, and he published the two

together. Afterward he sold out the paper

and served as justice of the peace two years

and as deputy assessor two years. He was then

chosen supervisor of Los Angeles County, on

the Democratic ticket, serving four years. As

a proof of his popularity, it can be said that he

overcame a Republican majority of 480 votes.

Before he took the office of supervisor he was

opposed to county division; but when he saw

how the Los Angeles County officials were dis-

posed to " bleed " the southern end of the

county, he favored a division and worked for it.

At the first election of officers for Orange

County, Mr. Ross was nominated by the non-

partisan convention at Santa Ana, and his nom-

ination was ratified by the Orange convention,

and the straight Republican convention failed

to nominate a man against him. Thus he was

elected Supervisor of the second district of

Orange County, which district includes the

fifth ward of Santa Ana. The Ross addition

to Santa Ana was laid out by him in 1877. Its

boundaries are from Ross street west to Olive

and from First street north to Hickey. It was

the largest and best addition to the city, con-

taining many beautiful residences. Mr. Ross

contributed liberally to the building of the

Brunswick Hotel, and has aided materially in

the growth and development of Santa Ana. He
was one of the original projectors of the great

water canals of the Santa Ana valley, which was

the mainspring to the wonderful development

and prosperity of Santa Ana and surrounding

country. Socially, he is a member of the Ma-

sonic fraternity and of the A. O. IT. W. He
is a cool, careful and practical man, winning for

himself hosts of friends even in opposing all

parties.

August 29, 1872, is the date of Mr. Ross'

marriage to Miss Mary C. Russell, daughter of

George L. and Nancy (Crowley) Russell, early

pioneers of the Golden State. The members of

the household are: George, Virgil, Etta Mil-

dred, Lorena (deceased), Albert Randolph,

Charles and Lecil.

^»,?.;,,f„?„^.

fOHN AVAS, President of the City Council

of Santa Ana, was born in Germany in

1843. His parents came to the United

States in 1845, settling in St. Clair County,

Illinois, and subsequently moved to Peoria

County, that State, where the father died in

1851. Afterward the mother married again and

moved to Washington, Tazewell County, Illi-

nois, twelve miles east of Peoria. Mr. Avas,
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the subject of this notice, remained with his

stepfather until he was fifteen years old, and

then hired himself out to a farmer for one jear,

at the end of which time he was to receive $60.

The next year he was hired by Asa Brown

(afterward his father-in law) for one year, for

$130. Then he rented land until August 4,

1862, when he entered Company B, Forty-

seventh Illinois Volunteer Infantry, for the

war. He was discharged in February, 1863,

on account of disability, and went to farming

again. In November, 1864, he married Miss

Ruth Brown, a daughter of his former employer.

In 1865 he rented land in Woodford County,

Illinois, and two years later purchased eighty

acres of railroad land for $1,250, paying cash

in hand $283; the rest of the purchase money

he made off the land. Afterward he bought

160 acres, at three different times. For a

period of twelve years he was engaged in

farming and stock-raising, and was very suc-

cessful. In 1882 he sold out his real estate

ana stock, etc., for $15,000, and came to Cali-

fornia. In Santa Ana he has made large in-

vestments, and is recognized as one of the best

financiers and most successful business men in

the city. The Richelieu Hotel, corner of Fourth

and Ross streets, is a monument to his efforts

in bringing up the west end of Santa Ana.

He also owns valuable residence and business

property in different parts of the city. He was

elected a member of the city council when it

was first organized, and he has been elected for

each term since, which fact shows how the citi-

zens regard his judgment. In April, 1889, he

was elected president of the board, which posi-

tion he now holds.

Mr. Avas lost his first wife in Illinois, Octo-

ber 4, 1880. While on a visit to Santa Ana in

1881, he formed the acquaintance of Miss Lucy

E. Moesser, whom he married October 2, 1881.

She is a daughter of J. H. and Lucy Moesser,

of Santa Ana, whose sketch appears elsewhere

in this work. The members of Mr. Avas'

household are: Maggie, Ruth, John and George.

Mr. Avas is a member of the Baptist Church,

and the president of its board of trustees. Po-

litically he affiliates with the Democratic party,

and has a host of friends not only in this, but

in all opposing parties.

His residence is on Fourth and Larue streets,

Santa Ana.

—#^€@;»-£#—

t
GOODWIN, one of the members of the

city council at Santa Ana, is a native of
9 the Golden State, being born in San

Joaquin County, June 24, 1854 His parents

were A. D. and Amantha (Brofee) Goodwin,

the former a native of New York State, and the

latter of Wisconsin. The senior Goodwin came

to California in 1852, and engaged in mining

for a time, and subsequently in agriculture, his

death occurring at Tustin, January 9, 1886.

The subject of this sketch, the eldest of his

parents' four children, was educated at the

Washington High School in Stockton, grad-

uating in 1873. He soon bought a ranch in

San Joaquin County, whereon he followed farm-

ing until 1883. In 1880, however, he came to

what is now Orange County and bought prop-

erty west of Santa Ana, on the Los Bolsas

tract, on which he erected a cheese factory and

carried on the business for six years. He then

became a citizen of Santa Ana. Here he pur-

chased seventeen and one-half acres on North

Main street, which he has laid out as the Good-

win addition to the city. The boundaries of it

are, on the north, Seventeenth street; east,

Wells and Shafer streets; south, Washington

avenue; and west, Main street. This addition

is laid out into lots, on which many beautiful

residences have been erected. Mr. Goodwin

also owns valuable business and residence prop-

erty in different parts of the city, and he has

interests also in both the First National and

the Savings banks. He has aided by his in-

fluence and means the various local enterprises.

April, 1889, he was elected as a member of the

council, and his good judgment in regard to
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municipal affairs lias made for him an enviable

reputation.

February 14, 1875, Mr. Goodwin married

Miss Catharine Villinger, a daughter of Levi

Villinger, a native of Germany and one of Cali-

fornia's pioneers. They have four children:

Jesse, Pearl, William and Florence.

^; , ,;,'?i^.

fHELDON LITTLEFIELD, Supervisor

from the third district of Orange County,

was born in Middlesex County, Massachu-

setts, in 1834, and was brought up on a farm.

At the age of seventeen years he went to Charles-

town same State, and clerked in a grocery for a

year. He then took what money he had saved

and went to Appleton Academy so long as his

money lasted. Then he taught school at Brook-

line, New Hampshire, and next returned to

Massachusetts and fur a time was engaged in

the manufacture of boots and shoes, and then

obtained a position for three years in a Charles-

town provision store; and by this time he had

saved money enough to bring himself to

California, a journey he had been contemplat-

ing for the last six years. Taking a steamer at

New York city May 21, 1855, he traveled on

the Northern Light to the Isthmus, and from

there to San Francisco on the Uncle Sam,

arriving June 12. Then he went by steamer up

the river to Marysville, arriving there the next

day, and before that night he had hired himself

out to work on a ranch in the harvest field.

After he had paid his hotel bill he had but fifty

cents left. The price paid for his labor was $3

a day and board. After the harvest was over he

took charge of stock for two months, and then

went to the mines, where he continued some

nine years. He kept books, clerked in a

store, cooked and took care of the mules. After

this he bought a mining claim and worked until

1864; then he was engaged in the mercantile

business three or four years. In 1863-'64 he

made two trips to Arizona, prospecting and

mining. Returning then to San Francisco, he

took the stage for Los Angeles and went thence

to El Dorado cafion, where he prospec ed

and mined with but little success. He then

went again to San Francisco and to the plaier

digging in Arizona, where he and his comrade
cut down the only cottonwood tree there, sawed
it into boards with a hand-saw and made a rocker

for separating the gold from the sand. After

about three months Mr. Littlefield came to Los

Angeles and wenton to the Santa Catalina island,

where he was interested in the mines. He then

went to San Francisco again and tried in vain

to get a position in a store. He then bought a

retail fruit store, in partnership with another

man, but this connection was of short duration,

and he next opened up a commission house,

under the firm name of Littlefield, Webb &
Co., and in this business he continued until

1887. Meanwhile the house became known far

and wide as a fair and square business firm.

Their first shipment received was from the late

O. W. Childs, of Los Angeles. In 1887 Mr.

Littlefield came to Anaheim and bought a fruit

ranch and a residence. Previous to this, how-

ever, he had purchased a tine ranch of 175 acres

three miles westof Anaheim. He was one of the

company who built the mill and Anaheim Hotel.

In 1888 he was elected a Supervisor of Los An-

geles County, and he is the present Supervisor

from the third district of Orange County. He
affiliates with the Republican party. In 1888

he was elected also a trustee of Anaheim for four

years by a large vote. As a business man he has

succeeded by his own efforts. In society relations

he is both a Free Mason and an Odd Fellow.

He was married in 1871 at San Francisco, to

Miss Nancy Southwood, a native of the Golden

State. Their children are: Sheldon A., Francis

T., Eva, Ellen, Joyce and Maud.

fEORGE P. BESSONETT, a prominent

business man of Santa Ana, was born in

Mississippi, July 21, 1850, and is the son

of Edwin and Sophia (Neil!) Bessonett, natives
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of Pennsylvania, and of French ancestry. The

father was a cotton planter, and the mother was

a teacher, from whom George received all of his

education. The latter started ont in the world

for himself at the age of fifteen years, at Brook-

haven, Mississippi, by clerking in a confec-

tionery store. Subsequently he carried on the

business in his own name. Quitting that place,

he went to Kansas City and learned the brick-

layer's trade, where he continued until 1872.

He then went to Denver and was employed

there a year and a half, and then in 1873 he

came on to San Francisco. In 1875 he moved

to Santa Ana, where he engaged as a contractor

and builder. Nearly all the brick houses in

that city were built by him. Two years ago he

went into the livery business in his brick block

at the corner of Fifth and West streets. Mr.

Bessonett is a public-spirited and an enterprising

man, taking a deep interest in the growth and

development of Santa Ana, and owning valua-

ble property in different parts of the city. His

residence, a beautiful structure, is on orange

avenue and Parton street. Politically he affili-

ates with the Democratic party. Recently he

received the nomination of Supervisor for Los

Angeles County. He is a member of the Ma-

sonic fraternity, and of the A. O. U. W.
August 7, 1870, he married Miss Annie E.

Briggs, of Mississippi. Their children are

named Edwin, Ida, Hattie, Georgie, Oscar,

Frank and Charley.

-

—
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fEORGE W. SPONABLE, horticulturist

at Fnllerton, was born in Eden, Seneca

County, Ohio, November 3, 1825. His

parents, Christopher and Sarah( Lawrence) Spon-

able, were natives respectively of New York and

Vermont, and of German and English origin.

George W., the third of his parents' eleven

children, started in business for himself in 1849,

by coming to California. His father had moved

in 1836 to McHenry County, Illinois, where he

was an extensive farmer until his death in 1854.

Mr. Spouable followed mining and lumbering in

California from 1849 to 1855, and then returned

to Illinois, where he followed farming until

1879. He then moved to Nuckolls Couuty,

Nebraska, and bought 480 acres of land, which

he cultivated until 1883, when he again made

his advent to the Golden State and bought a

fruit ranch a mile and a half northeast of Ana-

heim, and there he is spending the last years of

his life in the pleasures of horticulture.

Mr. Sponable fought for the Union three

years. Entering Company A, Ninety-fifth Illi-

nois Volunteer Infantry, as corporal, he was at

the battles of Vicksburg and Guntown, Mis-

sissippi, and in the expedition against Shreve-

port, etc. At Vicksburg he was wounded. He
was discharged as a Sergeant, at Springfield,

Illinois, in 1865. He is now a member of Mal-

vern Hill Post, No. 131, G. A. R., of which he

has been Quartermaster two years.

He has been married three times; first, in

Illinois, in 1857, to Miss Anna Washburn, a

native of New York State, by whom he had one

daughter, Georgiana, new Mrs. Ed. Deitz, of

Irving Park, Illinois. Mrs. Sponable died in

June, 1865, and in 1869 Mr. Sponable married

Miss Ella West, also from New York State.

She died in 1871, and Mr. Sponable was again

married in 1872, this time to Mrs. Sophia

Huntington, who was born in New York, the

daughter of Stephen Emery. By her first hu6-

husband she had two children: Emery and

Julia; the latter is the wife of Orson Knowlton,

of Anaheim.

tH.
GILMAN, superintendent of the Semi-

tropic Fruit Company at Anaheim, was

° born in New Hampshire, left home in

1862, to follow the sea, and in the next year he

ran away from the ship Wild Rover and for some

time traveled. He afterward worked seven years

at the tanner's trade, and then followed ranching

in Lake, Napa, and Sacramento counties. In

1872 the Semi-tropic Fruit Company was or-
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ganized by L. M. Hoult, R. H. Gilman, I. N.

Chapman and others. They have 106 acres,

most beautifully located and in a high state of

cultivation. There are twenty-five acres in

orange trees, ten acres in walnuts in bearing, and

the rest in young oranges and walnuts. Mr.

Gilman, who has been superintendent of the

company since its organization, has practically

demonstrated what can be done in a few years

with the rich soil in this part of Orange County.

He has also been practically interested in irriga-

tion, being president, vice president and director

of companies for this useful enterprise. He is

a worker.

->-:-

M. McFADDEN, a public-spirited

business man and rancher at Anaheim,
1 was born in Pittsburg, Pennsylvania)

February 19, 1840, and is a son of John and

Rachel (McCormac) McFadden, being the old-

est of eight children. He was educated at the

public schools, the People's Academy at West

Pitts, the Curry Normal Institute at Pitts, the

Beaver (Pennsylvania) Academy in 1860, and at

Bryant & Stratton's Commercial, at Louisville,

in 1861. After this he kept books for a year

in Jeffersonville, Indiana, and taught school in

Aberdeen, Ohio, and Pennsylvania. He came

to California in 1864, by way of the Isthmus,

landing at San Francisco, June 29, and within

nine days he was teaching school in Alameda

County. Here he continued four and a half

years, for one year being principal of the San

Leandro Grammar Schools, two years and a half

of the Alameda Grammar Schools, and one

year at Pleasanton. He came to Los Angeles

in December, 1868, and was for two terms

County Superintendent of schools in this

county. Altogether he was engaged in educa-

tional work twenty years. He bought a ranch

of forty-six acres, four mile? northeast of Ana-

heim, in 1869. This he improved while he was

at the same time teaching school. He was one

of the seven who organized the Canon Irriga-

tion Company, and completed the great canal

at an expense of $100,000, and was its secretary

for four years. He was appointed by Governor

Waterman as one of the commissioners to

perfect the the organization of Orange County.

Was nominated by the Democratic party for

the Legislature from the Seventy-eighth dis-

trict, but was defeated by Colonel Edwards. He
was a member of the Board of Education of

Los Angeles County two years, and its president

one year. In 1874 he built a school-house in

his district with his own money, undertaking to

wait until the district could reimburse him, and
he served as trustee until one year ago. Mr.
McFadden is Past Master of Lodge No. 207,
F. & A. M.; in the lodge he has held all the

offices except that of treasurer; is now Junior
Warden. In 1881 he was representative to

the Grand Lodge in San Francisco. He is also

a member of Magnolia Council, No. 94, O. C.

F. and Past Councilor.

He was married in December, 1866, to Sarah
J. Earl, a native of Ohio. Their six children

are: Carrie, wife of H. II. Ford, William E.,

Clarence, Tom, Ralph and Robbie.

~$5£~£g

tEV.
JONATHAN B. TOMBES, D. D.,

Anaheim, was born in Albany, New York,

attended Oberlin College three years,

and graduated at Madison University in 1845, in

the literary course. He also graduated in the

regular course in theology. In 1870 the de-

gree of D. D. was conferred upon him. He
was ordained to preach in 1848. For some

time he was pastor of the Fourth Baptist

Church at Richmond, Virginia; then had charge

of Meadville Academy. In 1859 he took

charge of Liberty Female College at Liberty,

Missouri; but in 1864, on account of the war,

wherein he was a true friend of the Union, he

left his family there and went East, lecturing

on the issues of the day. Soon after he was

called to take charge of the North Baptist

Church in Philadelphia, where he served as
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pastor for several years; next he was pastor of

the Berean Church at Carbondale, Pennsylvania.

Subsequently he edited and published a church

paper at Charleston, West Virginia, called the

Baptist Record; afterward took charge of Carl-

ton College for a term of five years. In April,

1875, he came to Southern California. Here,

near Anaheim, he is engaged as a horticultur-

ist and has a beautiful home and orange trees

and all other kinds of fruits and flowers. Still

he does some professional work. He was

mainly instrumental in organizing the Central

Baptist Church in Los Angeles and was its first

pastor. He continues to write articles for church

papers, which exhibit thorough scholarship in

divinity and collateral subjects.

He married Miss Mary A. McFadden, a

native of Pennsylvania, and they have two in-

teresting children, who are attending school.

"£ ' ** >

tOBERT PARKER, vineyardist near Ana-

heim, was born in Beverly Township,

Wentworth County, Canada, March 18,

1838, the third in a family of thirteen children

of Robert and Ann (Stalker) Parker. He was

brought up to steady work on a farm, with but

limited schooling. In 1868 he came to Cali-

fornia by steamer, followed mining a short

time and then bought aGovernment title to 500

acres of land in Mariposa County. In 1871 he

bought fifty-five acres where he now lives, a

mile and a half north of Anaheim, and for sev-

eral years he prospered in grape culture, until

recently, when the vines died, and he is now

devoting his attention to the cultivation of

oranges and walnuts. Mr. Parker is a man of

considerable experience and good judgment.

He is a member of Anaheim Lodge, No. 85,

A. O. U. W., and of the Presbyterian Church;

was one of the foremost in building the Presby-

terian house of worship at Fullerton. Politically

he is a zealous and able Prohibitionist, while

his wife is an active worker in the W. C. T. U.

at Fullerton, being now superintendent of the

department of juvenile work.

Mr. Parker was first married in 1863, to

Henrietta Patterson, a Canadian, by whom he

had five children: Robert F., Donald, George,

Mary M. (wife of Joseph Nichols of Santa Ana),

and Louisa, who was drowned at the beach in

1888. January 15, 1882, Mr. Parker married

Mrs. L. A. Keith, a native of the Indian Terri-

tory, born June 18, 1860. Her parents were

Ira W. Wyman and Elizabeth Dunn, the former

cf English and the latter of German descent.

Mr. Wyman met his death as a soldier in the

late war. Mrs. Parker, by her former husband,

H. P. Keith, had one son, named Minor L. By

the present marriage of Mr. and Mrs. Parker,

there are two children, Alice and Eleanor.

&4&&
tLEX. GARDINER, general farmer and

fruit-raiser near Fullerton, was born in

Glasgow, Scotland, in 1838, the fourth

son of William and Mary Gardiner, who came

to America in 1855, in a sailing vessel, landing

in New York; thence they immediately sailed

to Charleston, South Carolina, and thence they

proceeded to Knoxville, Tennessee, locating ten

miles south of Knoxville at Rockf'ord. William

Gardiner was a cotton spinner by trade.

The subject of this sketch served five years

as a machinist in Scotland, leaving school at

the age of twelve years. In 1869 he came

overland to California, starting from Knoxville,

Tennessee, September 21, 1869, and arrived at

Watsonville, this State, October 6. He hunted

along the coast for a home, and December 6

found him in Los Angeles. Directly he pur-

chased 160 acres two miles and a half north-

west of Anaheim, where he has since resided;

was one of the first settlers there, buying of

the Los Angeles and San Bernardino Land

Company. Out of a barren waste he has made

a fruitful farm, and as a general agriculturist

and horticulturist he has been successful.

Mrs. Gardiner, whose maiden name was Susan
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M. Reeder, was born in Blount County, Ten-

nessee, and her parents, Majors and Jane

(Williams) Reader, were natives of Virginia

and had ten children. Mr. and Mrs. Gardiner

were married in East Tennessee in 1864. Their

children are: Jennie, wife of Otto des Granges,

Jr.; Mary, Frank, John, James, Lilburn and

Alex. W.

^mzm^
§ON. ISAAC LYONS, residing three miles

northwest of Anaheim, was born in Eng-

land in 1847, and came to San Francisco

as a merchant in 1862. In 1868 he went to

Prescott, Arizona, and in 1875 to Yuma, where

he was engaged in the mercantile business for a

number of years, with signal success. In 1887

he was elected to the Legislature from Yuma
County by the Democratic party. Afterward

he served two years as director of the Terri-

torial penitentiary, his appointment to this

position being received in March while he was

yet in the Legislature. In 1883 he was elected

treasurer of Yuma County for two years, and

finally, in 1887, he came to California and

bought his present place, where it is his in-

tention to retire from active business life. He
is still a zealous and able Democrat, and in his

society relations he is a member of the Yuma
Lodge. A. O. U. W. He was married in Ari-

zona, in 1872, to Marcella Zegera, a native of

Mexico, and their children are: Joseph, Eva,

Louisa, Isabella and Edna.

^Mf,

fB.
STONE, orchardist near Fullerton and

a worthy citizen of the Golden State, be-

9 gan life in Pennsylvania, July 21, 1831,

the ninth in a family of eleven children of his

parents, Silas and Susanna (Ward) Stone, who

were from Vermont, and moved from Michigan

to Van Buren County, Iowa, in 1837. Novem-

ber 13, 1851, Mr. J. B. Stone started by a

steamer for California, but came part of the way

by sail vessel, landing in San Francisco March
8, 1852. After mining one year he began

farming in Alamada and Contra Costa counties.

After a time he came to Los Angeles County,

and in, 1868 bought land in what is now Orange

County, being one of the first purchasers from

the Los Angeles and San Bernardino Land
Company. He took 200 acres of wild land, on

which there was not a tree or shrub, from the

old Spanish adobe, Coyote, to Anaheim. He
immediately went to work, built a house and

began improvements, and, although for several

years he had to encounter "hard times," he

now has fine walnut and orange groves where

once the wild mustard waved in the breezes,

and he now feels richly paid for all his patient

labor and toil. He is a quiet, peaceable citi-

zen, a good neighbor, non-partisan, but a Re-

publican in his political sympathies.

Mr. Stone was married, March 6, 1855, in

Sacramento, to Annie Smith, who was born in

Alleghany County, Pennsylvania, the daughter

of William and Annie (Blackburn) Smith, na-

tives of England. The children in Mr. Stone's

family are Charles E., Emma A. (now Mrs.

George Gray), Tho:nas R., Beatrice (wife of W.
A. Barnes), Elnora and Roderick.

"
! '*« :

HEODORE REISER, President of the

City Council of Anaheim, was born in the

city of Lahr, Baden, Germany, September

7, 1829, and after receiving a good education he

began at the age of fourteen years to learn the

art of wine-making on the Rhine, and served

three years. He traveled and worked at his

trade in Switzerland, and at the age of nineteen

years he came to New York and worked at the

cooper's trade four years. In the spring of

1854 he came to San Francisco by steamer, and

was employed in a brewery three years. Next

he went to Tuolumne County and established a

brewery there, and remained there until Sep-

tember, 1860, when he came to Anaheim, being

one of the original settlers here in the German
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colony. He at once built a tine brick house, at

a cost of over $6,000, which is an ornament to

the place. He made the first wine and distilled

the first brandy ever made in Anaheim. This

business he carried on with wonderful success

until the death of the vineyards some two years

ago. To his energy, enterprise and public

spirit Anaheim is greatly indebted. By his

means and influence he has supported every en-

terprise which has had for its object the

upbuilding of the town; correspondingly his

fellow- citizens have recognized his merit by

electing him to nearly all of the important

offices of the municipalities. Two years ago he

contributed liberally to the building of the new

Hotel del Campo, which was built at a cost of

$40,000. He also built the music hall on Cen-

tre street, a structure worthy of any city. One

can read his social standing on his card, thus:

"Theodore Reiser, W. M. Anaheim Lodge, No.

207, F. & A. M.; Signet Chapter. No. 57, R. A.

M.; Los Angeles Council, No. 11, R. & S. M.;

Coeur de Lion Commaudery, No. 9, K. T.; Al

Malaikah Temple, A. A. O. N. M. S." In 1874

he was appointed Deputy Grand Lecturer for

the twenty-fourth Masonic district, and in

1875 he was reappointed for the twenty-eighth

district of California.

Mr. Reiser was married in San Francisco in

1857 to Adelheit Thiele, a native of Saxony,

Germany. They have no children, and are

living quietly in their beautiful home at the

corner of Olive and Santa Ana streets.

—

g
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HOMAS SPENCER, M. D., of Anaheim,

was born in Newcastle-on-Tyne, England',

in 1885, a son of Edward Spencer, who

was a dry-goods merchant. He came to the

United States in 1849, received a common-

school education at Burlington, Iowa, and in

1854 came overland to California and attended

the Toland Medical College, where he graduated

in 1861. He practiced his profession at Santa

Rosa, Sonoma County, until 1872, when he

bought land in Santa Barbara County. After

making his home there two years he returned

to Lucas County, Iowa, and bought a large stock

farm, which he still owns. He came again to

California in 1887, locating three and one-half

miles northwest of Anaheim, in what is known

as Orangethorpe. Here he has a beautiful

country residence and is practically retired from

business and professional life. He is a Repub-

lican in his political views. He has held some

responsible positions: was president of the

Lucas County (Iowa) Agricultural Society, and

secretary of that society four years; was a dele-

gate in 1868 from the Third District of Cali-

fornia to the Republican National Convention

at Chicago; Associate Judge in 1862 of Sonoma

County, etc. In the recent contests here he

took an active part in favor of county division,

and is one of the directors of the Anaheim ir-

rigation district.

The Doctor was married in San Francisco, in

1857, to Miss Mary Chambers, a native of Boston

;

their children have been: Homer T, deceased,

who for several years was city editor of the San

Francisco Examiner; Ida, now the wife of Mr.

B. F. McDaniels. Dr. Spencer was married

the second time, in Chariton, Iowa, to Miss

Mary C. Rogers, and by this marriage there are

the following children: Yirgil, Milton, Clarence,

Ethel, Edith, Howard and Horace.

tLEXANDER HENRY, farmer and stock-

raiser, near Anaheim, was born in Edin-

burg, Scotland in 1838, the son of Innes

and Jacobina (Nicholson) Henry. His father

had seven ch.ldren by his first marriage, and

eleven by the second: Alexander, who was a

member of the second family, joined the En-

glish navy in 1850, and was in service through-

out the Crimean war. He was at first errand

boj' and then ship's carpenter. After the war

he served six years at the shipwright's trade at

Leith. Next he joined the Sidney of Glasgow

and came to San Francisco in 1860, where he
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worked at his trade for seven years. Subse-

quently he came to Southern California and

purchased 200 acres of land, a mile and a quar-

ter west of Anaheim, where for several years he

was very successful in the cultivation of the

vine, and also in the manufacture of wines and

brandies; and since the death of the vines two

years ago, he has given his attention to general

farming, stock-raising and orange culture. In

his social relations he is a Free Mason and a

member of the A. O. IT. W.
He was married February 20, 1858, to Miss

Catharine Mason, a native of Scotland, whose

parents were John and Isabella (Simpson)

Mason. Mr. and Mrs. Henry's children are

Innes, John M. and Archibald.

fUDGE C. W. HUMPHREYS of Santa

Ana, was born in Mason County, Ken-

tucky, and is a son of Robert Humphreys.

Following is a history of the family as furnished

to the subject of this sketch by his father at the

age of eighty-eight years:

" Shortly after the close of the Revolu-

tionary war, four brothers, by the name of

Humphreys, with their families emigrated

from Tyrone County, Ireland, to Virginia,

to either Greenbriar or Monroe County.

Their names were Richard, John, Robert and

Samuel. My grandfather was Robert. His

sons were James, John, Robert; daughters,

Mollie, Nancy and Jane. John Humphreys

married Jane Ward and moved to (now) Mason

County, Kentucky, in 1792, in company with

Simon Kenton and other early pioneers of Ken-

tucky. He moved thence to what was then

known as Mad river valley, Ohio, in 1799, and

raised sons—James, Robert, Charles, Ward,

John, William, Henry, Andrew and Lewis;

daughters—Phoebe, Rebecca, and Betsey, who

died at the age of thirteen years. Father died

March 19, 1857, in his ninety-fourth year.

The other three brothers, originally from Ire-

land, are scattered far and wide with their

descendants. My grandfather Ward was raised

in Virginia, and of Irish descent. My grand-

mother's maiden name was Lockhart. They

had sons—William, John, James and Charles;

daughters— Hannah, Betsey, Phebe, and my
mother, Jane Humphreys. She died March,

1849. Grandfather Ward was killed at Point

Pleasant, October 1, 1847, in the battle fought

between troops commanded by General Lewis,

of the whites, and the Indian chief, Cornstalk.

He was buried on the battle-field and his grave

was unknown. His son, John, was stolen by In-

dians at the age of two years, and raised as one

of them. He fought, and was killed in a battle

against his own people and the Indians. He
had children—Rebecca, Sutaunney, and a son

whose English name was Ward. They emi-

grated many years ago with their tribe west of

the Mississippi river, and nothing further is

known of them. Joseph Waters, together with

his first wife (whose maiden name was Lans-

dale) and family, lived near Annapolis, Mary-

land; emigrated thence to Kentucky about

1792, and settled in Mason County, and had

sons—Richard, Samuel and William; daughters

—Elizabeth, Sally, Henrietta, Nancy, Polly,

Peggy and Harriet,—all now dead."

From the foregoing sketch the reader will

see that the lines of Judge Humphreys' ancestry

have been well kept, and of this he is justly

proud. His father was sheriff of Mason County,

Kentucky, for a period of sixteen years, and he

was a well known and highly respected citizen.

Judge Humphreys came to Santa Ana in 1874.

Here he was elected justice of the peace in

1875 and held the office until 1887: he now

holds his ninth commission as notary public,

the first of which was given him by Governor

Irwin. He was a pioneer real-estate man in

Santa Ana, and has done a large loan and insur-

ance business, conveyancing, however, being his

specialty. He married Cordelia Franklin, of

Mason County, Kentucky; and they have had

six children. The three living are Frank,

Hattie and Jennie, and the three deceased are

Charles, who died at the age of twenty-fivo
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years; Robert, who died at the age of nineteen

years, and George £., who died at the early age

of two and a half years.

PF.
E. KELLOGG, farmer and stock raiser

near Anaheim, was born in Morgan
° County, Illinois, April 31, 1822. His

parents, Elisha and Elizabeth (Derrick) Kel-

logg, were natives respectively of Massachusetts

and Connecticut, and of Scotch descent. They

settled first in western New York, where most

of the children were born. They emigrated to

Morgan County, Illinois, in pioneer times, where

Mr. Kellogg built the first house in the county.

Elisha Kellogg was a prominent politician in his

day, serving as county judge and sheriff of

Genesee County, New York. He died in Jo

Daviess County, Illinois, in 1844. The subject

of this sketch left Independence, Missouri, in

May, 1846, and came overland with teams to

California, arriving in Napa County in Novem-

ber, before gold was discovered. His journey

was a very tedious and trouble He

enlisted in Fremont's army and served six

months, being discharged at Mission San Ga-

briel, in April, 1848. He still receives a pen-

sion of $8 per month as a veteran of the Mexi-

can war. He is able to relate many thrilling

anecdotes of hardship and adventure. He and

three brothers came in '44 to the Rocky moun-

tains in search of a silver mine, and not finding

it they built Fort Laramie by contract. Once

he and a brother were attacked by Pawnee In-

dians, stripped of their clothes and robbed.

They had to eat walnuts and raw frogs, and

once he scorched the hair off his buffalo robe

and ate the hide! He became sick and exhaust-

ed; his brother got lost from him, but afterward

they met and were twenty-six days in reaching

the borders of civilization.

Mr. Kellogg followed mining for several years

after coming to this State, and afterward en-

gaged in other pursuits. He first pitched his

tent at Anaheim, May 21, 1869, and about that

time he purchased 640 acres of land two and a

half miles southwest of that point. He at once

built a house and began improving the place;

and ever since then he has been one of the most

successful farmers and stockmen in the valley.

Politically he affiliates with the Republican

party. While in Napa, he was coroner of the

city for a number of years, and he has held

other positions of trust and honor.

He was married September 5, 1854, in Napa
County, California, to Miss Mary O. Lillie, a

native of Illinois, and a daughter of Luther and

Orilla (Morgan) Lillie, natives of Connecticut,

who had eight children. Mr. Kellogg came to

California across the plains with her brother,

L. G. Lillie, in 1853, stopping in the Napa
valley August 25. The children of Mr. and

Mrs. Kellogg are: Henry Clay, Elizabeth, wife

of B. O. Clark; Erwin, Leonard, Jane, wife of

M. Evans; Edward, Lillie, Effie and Carrie.

I
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fACOB MAGGARD, residing near Ana-

heim, was born in Caldwell Comity, Ken-

tucky, August 12, 1815. His parents,

Jacob and Susan (Bright) Maggard, natives

respectively of Virginia and Tennessee, had ten

children, he being the fifth. At the age of

twenty years he started out in life for himself

by working by the day in Scotland County,

Missouri, whither his father had moved fifteen

years previously. He was reared principally in

Randolph County, Missouri. He continued in

his calling as a farmer, in which he was sue

cessful, until about twelve years ago, when he

came to California and purchased property in

Sonoma County. More recently he purchased

his present residence, where he will spend the

evening of his life. He and his wife have long

been earnest workers in the Cumberland Pres-

byterian Church, and are exemplary in their

conduct as Christians.

Mr. Maggard was married in Missouri, Feb-

ruary 11, 1841, to Elizabeth Myers, a native of

that State, and a daughter of Henry and Catha-
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rine Myers. Theirs was the first recorded mar-

riage in Scotland County. They have five

children: Irvine J., M. D., of Oxford, Kansas;

James A., M. D., of Denver, Colorado; Wil-

liam F., M. D., of Corning, California; Emma,
wife of Sidney Holman; and Sarah Frances,

deceased.

— ;; * ! 3 .

JI^ENBY AND CHARLES KUCHEL,
fejh editors and proprietors of the Anaheim

%$f Gazette, took charge of this paper in 1887.

They are the sons of Conrad Kuchel, a native

of Germany, and one of the earliest settlers of

Anaheim. For several years previous to his

arrival in Anaheim he was engaged in the busi-

ness of engineering in San Francisco. Henry

Kuchel, the senior editor of the Gazette, was

born in San Francisco, June 11, 1859. He re-

ceived a high-school education at the Anaheim

schools and, learned the printer's trade in the

office which he and his brother now own. He
subsequently worked for ten years on the prin-

cipal newspapers throughout the State. He has

spent his whole time as a printer and editor,

and the Gazette of to-day has for its editor one

of the most practical newspaper men in South-

ern California. Mr. Kuchel is still a young

man, and, having so thoroughly acquainted him-

self with journalism, it is but natural to predict

that he will in the future hold an enviable po-

sition among the prominent members of the

" art preservative of arts."

fG.
GREELEY, horticulturist, near Ana-

heim, was born in Belfast, Maine, in

° 1817. His parents, John and Mary

(Black) Greeley, natives respectively of New
Hampshire and Maine, and of English descent,

had seven children, of whom the subject of this

sketch was the second. At the age of twenty-

one he started out in life for himself, learning

the trade of carpenter at Searsport, Maine,

being employed in that business four years. He
subsequently took up land at Aroostook, and

followed timbering for about a year. Next he

worked at his trade for a time, building a hotel

at No. 11; worked two years longer in Boston,

and then on the barracks in New Orleans. In

the spring of 18— he went to New York State,

and was employed one summer. In September,

1849, he left Boston for California in the sail-

ship Harriet Rockwell, as the ship's carpenter.

Coming by way of Cape Horn, he landed in

San Francisco in February. The first two years

in this State he spent in the mines on the Tuol-

umne river, the next six years on the Feather

river, then traveled some through Oregon, and

in 1858 he settled in Oakland and worked at

his trade there for nine years. In 1869 he came

to Southern California and bought property near

Anaheim, where he has since lived, raising

grapes, oranges, etc. He owns an interest in

the Anaheim Union Water Works, and has been

very successful as a horticulturist.

He was married in the fall of 1860, in Oak-

land, to Mrs. Hannah B. Greeley, whose maiden

name was Strant. Mr. Greeley is a stanch Re-

publican in politics. His first vote was cast for

Harrison, and his last for the " grandson." Mr.

and Mrs. Greeley have no children, and are

spending the evening of life in the quiet retreat

of their beautiful suburban home.

IM CARROLL, proprietor of the Anaheim

Evergreen Nursery, was born in County

Cork, Ireland, March 25, 1840, the second

in a family of nir.e children, of Patrick and

Mary (Scandlau) Carroll, who moved to Aus-

tralia in 1855. He came to Santa Cruz, Cali-

fornia, in 1866, and worked at shipping lumber

two years. In 1868 he came to Anaheim and

bought fifty acres of land, his purchase being

the first outside of the town limits. He then

started the nursery business on a small scale,

and to-day he has the largest nursery in South-

ern California if not in the State. A few figures
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will be here submitted to show what a man of

pluck and energy can do: in the nursery stock

at this time there are 1.500,000 orange trees;

1,000,000 lemon trees, 4,000,000 gum trees,

1,000,000 deciduous fruit trees, besides palms,

pines, cypress and other kinds of fruit and orna-

mental trees. The nursery is located near the

Southern Pacific depot at Anaheim. In ad-

dition to this, Mr. Carroll has a young nursery

at Lc s Alamitos, and sixty acres in the Centralia

tract, besides other property. He has been

eminently successful in the work he has under-

taken, and eminently deserves the success, on

account ol his ir.duttry, enter} rise and shrewd

judgment.

Be was married May 27, 1878, to Lizzie

Doherty, frcm the north of Ireland. Her par-

ents were George and Maiy (Clemons) Doherty.

The children of Mr. and Mrs. Carroll are Joseph

M., George P., Mary and Timothy J.

<§&•&*£§•

ADISON B. BEAR, a farmer and

dairyman near Newport, was born in

Iiockinghajn County, Virginia, De-

cember 6, 1841, the fifth child in a family of

eight children of David and Maria (Anderson)

Bear. Was educated in Barrisonburg and also

worked upon his father's farm until he was

twenty-seven years of age, when he married

Miss Cornelia Firebaugh, of Rockbridge County,

Virginin, and a daughter of John and Ella (Mc-

Cutchen) Firebaugh. Mr. Bear then bought

120 acres of land four miles west of Barrison-

burg and managed a farm there four years;

selling out then, he came, in November. 1873,

to California, rented land two years and then

purchased the tract which he now occupies, half

a mile east of Newport. For some years past

he has been very successful in the dairy busi-

ness.

Politically he is an earnest and intelligent

supporter of the Democratic party. Be served

as a soldier in the Confederate army, was capt-

ured in the Wilderness May 10, 1864, and held

as a prisoner at Fort Delaware until the close

of the war. Be is a member of the Presbyte-

rian Church, in which for fourteen years he has

held the office of elder. Be has the following-

named children: Ernest C, Lena K., Irene E.

and David A.

—

^
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ILLIAM A. FIREBAUGB, farmer and

and stock-raiser near Newport, was born

in Rockbridge County, Virginia, No-

vember 24, 1848, a son of David and Margaret

(Hull) Firebaugh, both of Virginia. William,

the fourth in a family of eight children, received

but a limited education. In 1870 he went to

Cedar County, Virginia, and began business for

himself by renting land for two years. In 1872

he came to California and bought land, which

he subsequently improved and finally sold, when

he bought a ranch a half mile southwest of

Newport, and here he has been successfully en-

gaged in general farming and stock-raising to

the present time.

July 25, 1877, is the date of Mr. Firebaugh's

marriage to Fanny Jamison, of Texas, and the

daughter of J. B. and Jane (Ware) Jamison. Mr.

Jamison was a pioneer who crossed the plains

from Missouri to California by ox teams and fol-

lowed farming a number of years at El Monte.

Mr. and Mrs. Firebaugh have five children:

Larine, Gertrude, Lee, James and Roy.

«g *»<- S
-

§T. ARMSTRONG, of Newport, was born

in Augusta County, Virginia, in 1844.
4 His parents, Archibald and Betty (Mc-

Cutchan) Armstrong, were natives of the Old

Dominion, and the fourth generation born and

reared on the same farm. They had nine chil

dren. Their father died in 1853, and the sub-

ject of this sketch took charge of the home place

until 1864, when he entered Company A, First

Virginia Cavalry, C. S. A., and served until

1865. From the close of the war until 1867 he
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again had charge of the farm; he then sold out,

moved to Rockbridge County, Virginia, and

followed farming there until 1871, when he

came to California. On arriving here he first

rented land for some four years, and then bought

the ranch which he now occupies one mile east

of Newport. For several years he carried on

general farming and stock-raising, but recently

has turned his attention to dairying.

He was married in 1871 to Miss Mattie Fire-

baugh, also a native of Virginia, a daughter of

David and Margaret Firebaugh. Their four

children are: Minnie, now Mrs. Frank Baxter,

of Fullerton; Berta, Willie and Fannie.

jARQUIS L. SELLS, a farmer near

Westminster, was born in Wyandot

County, Ohio, September 6, 1845. His

parents, John and Mary (McKissen) Sells, were

natives respectively of Ohio and Virginia, and

had five children, three of whom are still living.

John Sells was a well-known attorney in Wyan-

dot County for a number of years, and died

November 19, 1886. Marquis worked on the

railroad as a trackman, and subsequently at-

tended school at New Hagerstown and Harlem

Springs. Then he taught school for some ten

years in Ohio and Missouri, and in May, 1871,

he came to California with two brothers and his

mother. He first rented land in Santa Barbara

County and afterward came to what is now

Orange County, purchasing a fine ranch one

mile south of Westminster, where he successfully

engaged as stock-raiser and general farmer.

fRANK A. GATES, general farmer and

fruit-raiser near Anaheim, was born in

Groton, Massachusetts, in 1836, a son of

I oring Gates, a well-known merchant inGroton,

Massachusetts, and Boston. Mr. Gates attended

the University at Hartford, Pennsylvania, and

at the age of eighteen years he went to Chicago,

where he was engaged in the wholesale clothing

business with his brother, James L. Gates, until

1859. He then went to Lawrence, Kansas, but,

finding all vegetation dried up and the prospacta

of business consequently poor, he returned to

Chicago and engaged with his cousin, Charles

A. Eaton, in trade in guns and sporting goods.

Next he conducted a hotel on the Union Pacific

railroad. He took a house on the train up the

North Platte to Julesburg station in Nebraska;

in the fall he moved it to Cheyenne, Wyoming,
and there ran a hotel until February, 1870, with

good success. His next move was to San Diego,

California, where he bought a team and drove t >

Anaheim, in May, 1870. Purchasing land a

mile and a half south of Anaheim, he planted

it in vines and all other kinds of standard fruits.

In 1877 he sold that place and bought where he

has since lived, three miles soutwestof Anaheim,

and there he has been a successful farmer and

fruit-raiser. He also owns valuable property

on Broadway in Anaheim.

In 1858 he married Miss Sarah A. Fitch, who
was born in Boston. Her father, Asa Fitch,

was a prominent mercantile man in Boston and

Chicago. The children of Mr. and Mrs. Gates

are; Frank S., Clara I. and James L.

..,;„;„

tNDER MILLS, deceased, was born May
6, 1814, in Massachusetts. At the age of

sixteen years he left home, and traveled

extensively in different States. In Missouri, in

1852, he married Miss Ruth A. Ripper, and

immediately started across the plains to Cali-

fornia, with an ox team. In this State he first

took up about 3,000 acres of Government land,

on which he herded cattle for twenty years with

considerable profit. In 1874, his health failing,

he came to Southern California and bought 320

acres in the Westminster colony. His children

were: Julia, wife of George McCormac; Maria,

deceased ; Amanda, deceased ; Jane, wife of James

Young; Abram, deceased; Frank and George II.

The two last mentioned, the only surviving sons,
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are now in possession of the Westminster farm.

George married Miss Eliza Barker, a native of

California, and they Lave a daughter named

Myrtie. The subject of this sketch died March

3, 1890, arid his wife had died previously, in

1872.

tLFRED BECKETT, a prominent citizen

of Westminster, Orange County, was born

in Ontario, Canada, June 7, 1830, a son

of Stephen and Anna (Taylor) Beckett, and the

sixth child in a family of nine. He received a

good common-school education, worked at the

mill and lumber business for several years and

also did some farming, and in 1877 came to

California and bought forty acres of land in

Westminster, which he has put under a high

state of cultivation. Politically he is an intel-

ligent supporter of the Republican party. Both

himself and wife are highly respected members

of social circles.

He was married January 3, 1856, to Miss

Mercy Ward, also a native of Ontario. Her

parents, Richard and Ruth (Hoag) Ward, were

from Dutchess County, New York. Mr. and

Mrs. Beckett have three children: Ruth;Hattie,

now Mrs. Everett B. Trefethen, of San Pedro,

California, and Susie, wife of Edwin McPherson,

of Hanford, California.

&*&<**

fOHN BECKETT, a prosperous citizen of

Westminster, was born in Ontario, Canada

June 2, 1819. His parents were Stephen

and Anna (Taylor) Beckett, natives respectively

of New Jersey and Canada, who had nine chil-

dren. The father was a miller by trade. John

worked at the lumber business in Pelham Town-

ship for several years, and in 1877 he moved to

California, arriving at Westminster July 1.

There he purchased forty acres of land, which

he has since improved, and being well down on

the >'shady side of the hill," he expects to spend

the remainder of his life in the quiet of his

lovely home, under the semi- tropic skies of

Southern California. Both himself and wife

are adherents of the church of the Friends,

earnest and consistent Christian people.

Mr. Beckett married, in 1850, Miss Susan

McMaster, who was born in County Sligo, Ire-

land, a daughter of William and Margaret

(Frazier) McMaster, of Scotch origin. They

have nine children, and came to Canada when

Mrs. Beckett was eleven years old.

PF.
TOWNSEND, a prosperous farmer

near Garden Grove, was born in Bow-
° doinham, Maine, in 1834, educated at

the high school there, and in 1855 left home to

take care of himself. For nine years he worked

in a wholesale boot and shoe store in Massachu-

setts, and from there, January 13, 1864, he

went to Chicago, Milwaukee, Sioux City and

other places; then to Omaha, and to Lawrence,

Douglas County, Kansas, where he worked on

a farm until 1866, teaching school during the

winter seasons. Then he went to Baxter Springs,

Cherokee County, Kansas, engaging in the manu-

facture and sale of boots and shoes for five

years; then he followed farming three years,

and in 1874 came across the plains with a mule

team to California. Here he first bought an

interest in a mining camp in San Bernardino

County, and spent one year with it. Subse-

quently he bought 160 acres at Garden Grove,

where he has made a fine farm and
%
on which he

has a beautiful residence. He has also recently

purchased 240 acres of peat land in the Bolsa

and Chico tract. This land is very productive.

The peat beds are from two to twenty feet deep,

and very rich. For this land Mr. Townsend

has refused $300 per acre. As a business man
Mr. Townsend has been eminently successful.

In his political sympathies he is a Prohibition-

ist and in favor of woman suffrage, and socially

he is a member of the Masonic fraternity.

December 5, 1869, is the date of his marriage
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to Miss Anna E., daughter of Captain Isaiah

Cooper, a veteran of the last war, who lost his

arm at the battle of Vicksburg. Mrs. Town-

send is a native of Illinois. The children are

Mabel A. and Ernest F.

|ERCY H. WALLING, of Garden Grove,

was born in Cuyahoga County, Ohio, in

His parents, James and Louisa

(Saxton) Walling, were natives of Vermont,

and early settlers of the Buckeye State. Their

fourth child, the subject of this sketch, went

with his parents in 1853 to Green County,

Wisconsin, where later he bought land and

engaged in stock-raising and farming until

1880, when he moved to Jewell County, Kansas,

and subsequently to Mitchell County, where he

was in the stock business until he came to Cali-

fornia in 1888. He has here erected a very

handsome residence at Garden Grove, where he

expects to spend the rest of his life taking care

of his fruits and vines. He also has good resi-

dence property in El Modena.

He was married in Wisconsin in 1871, to

Miss Emma, daughter of Harmon B. Stewart,

and a native of Wayne County, Ohio. Their

children are: Mabel, Bertha, Leon, Lester and

Frank. Politically Mr. Walling is a Republi-

can. He is an old veteran of the war, having

served four years in Company E. Thirteenth

Wisconsin Volunteers.

g
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|^ENRY STERLING PANKEY, a farmer

«MMft of the Los Bolsa tract iu Orange County,

=s4s was born in Tippah County, Mississippi,

in 1852, and reared principally in Tennessee.

His parents, Henry and Zilpah (Daniels) Pankey,

were natives of South Carolina The father

died when his son Henry was only a year old,

and the mother married Marion Clark four

years later. Being ill-treated by his stepfather,

Henry left him to live with William Burns, of !

Texas. Six months' schooling was all that Mr.

Pankey ever received. During the war he

suffered many privations and undertook many
disagreeable risks. He had to go twelve miles

to mill, sitting upon his sack of corn to keep

the soldiers from taking it. In March, 1869,

he started across the plains for California with

an ox team and a drove of cattle, and had to do

a great part of the traveling at night. He
carried water in pint bottles. From Fort Yuma
onward he had but 50 cents in money upon

which to travel. At Azusa he worked six

months in payment for a horse, and subsequently

worked for a man named Marion Taylor.

At this point it may be interesting to relate

what was probably the most remarkable inci-

dent in Mr. Pankey's life. He drove an ox

team across the plains for his stepfather, who

had so abused him. The last time he saw his

mother was at Pachee Pass. She and her hus-

band went to San Diego County and remained

there five months, and he went afterward to

Downey, where he died. Henry's mother, now

the second time a widow, had four children and

was in destitute circumstances. She advertised

for her son, who had left them on the plains,

not knowing, of course, that he was at Azusa,

and he did not know where she was. July 4

he went to a celebration at Downey, and hap-

pened to notice a saddle and a horse which he

recognized as belonging to Clark. This he

raced up, and by it found where his mother

was, and was able thus to save her from the

destitute circumstances into which she had been

thrown.

Mr. Pankey worked by the day, and by so

doing earned sufficient to pay for a small piece

of land near Downey, and in 1871 came to

Orange County. After residing one year at

Orange, he kept cattle for a year in Laguna

canon, and from there he went to Trabuca canon,

where he was the first settler and where he en-

tered the business of bee-keeping. Afterward he

followed farming two years at Newport, and then

kept bees again at Temescal some two years,

when he moved back to Newport and followed
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agriculture there three years. Then lie came to

New Hope district and bought twenty acres of

laud; but this he sold a year afterward and

bought eighty acres on the Los Bolsa tract,

where he now lives. Out of a barren waste he

has made a fine farm, and where the wild cactus

once stood loses now bloom. His beautiful

residence is a monument of his enterprise. In

his business as a general farmer he is very suc-

cessful, having built himself up from the lowest

financial round of the ladder to his present

enviable position. Socially he is a member of

the I. O. 0. F., and of the Reorganized Church

of the Latter-day Saints.

In 1872 he married Nancy E. Damron, a

native of Kaufman County, Texas. He was

a resident of California, and his children

are: Jeff. Vernon, who was killed at thirteen

years of age; Maggie Lee, Dora Jennie, Zilpah

Pearl, John Henry and Edgar.

~-..g . ],i£ .3..., .

fP.
JUSTICE, of Westminster, was born

in Pulaski County, Indiana, November
9

10, 1838. His parents, Jesse and Ma-

tilda Justice, were natives respectively of Penn-

sylvania and Ohio, and brought up ninechildren,

one having died early in life. They moved to

Texas when Perry, the subject of this sketch,

was fifteen years of age, that is, in 1853. In

1857 the former moved to San Bernardino

County, California, and engaged at work in the

pine forests. In 1859 he moved to Azusa and

lived there until 1888. In 1861 the subject of

this sketch started in business for himself by

taking up a claim, being one of the pioneers

who beat Henry Dalton & Co., plaintiffs, in a

suit against them. He followed farming until

1879. In 1883 he bought 6i'xty acres, where

he now lives, at Westminster, and is prospering

well in the business of general farming and

stock-raising. He is an active worker in the

cause of education, and has served his district a

number of years as trustee. Politically he affili-

ates with the Republican party.

In 1869 he married Martha A. Cotman, who
was born in San Diego County, a daughter of

John and Mary Cotman. Mr. and Mrs. Justice

have eight children: Clara, wife of Perry

Glines; Martha, Laura, Oliver P., Wiley Wells,

Jesse Albert, Roy Cleveland and Rhoda Viola.

- s=3Cfrf .|. cftc=:

AVID BRUSH, a farmer of Orange Coun-

ty, was born in Fulton County, Illinois,

October 12, 1848, a son of John and Mar-

tha (Faucet) Brush, both natives of Pennsylva-

nia. His father was one of the pioneers of San

Bernardino County in 1855, where he lived for

over twenty years. He crossed the plains to

California in 1854, with an ox team, being on

the road six months. He stopped at Salt Lake

eight months, to recruit stock and obtain sup-

plies. David, our subject, came to what is now

Orange County, fifteen years ago, and bought

forty acres of land at Newport, where he fol-

lowed farming for about seven years; he then

bought a fine ranch, where he now lives, eight

miles west of Santa Ana, and there he is a suc-

cessful and prosperous stock-raiser. He has seen

same of the rough and practical side of human

life, but his good sense has carried him safely

thus far, being a citizen whom everybody re-

spects. Politically he is an intelligent supporter

of the Republican party.

In 1882 he married Susan Beals, who was

born in Michigan, the daughter of Zephaniah

Warren Beals.

#^€s£^

fORR B. CHAFFEE, a resident of Garden

Grove, was born in Kane County, Illinois,

in 1841, a son of Eber and Anna (Davis)

Chaffee, natives of Vermont, and of English and

Scotch origin. His father was born in 1799,

and died in 1877, and his mother, born in 1803,

died in 1876. The subject of this sketch, the

first in their family of twelve children, born

in Illinois, was educated at Elgin Academy.
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Afterward lie taught school in Kane County,

and then engaged in the dairy business a num-

ber of years at Elgin. He came to California

in 1881; has made a beautiful home in Garden

Grove, and owns valuable property in Santa

Ana. He is a true Christian man and respected

by all who know him.

He was married in 1865 to Miss Lodona

Treadwell, who was born in Canada, but reared

in Kane County, Illinois, in which county her

father, J. Martin Treadwell, was a well-known

dairyman. By this marriage there were five

children: John M., deceased; George D., Ern-

est A., Fannie L., and Martin H., deceased.

Their mother died in June, 1881, and Mr.

Chaffee, in September, 1883, married Miss

Helen B. Will its, who was born at Delhi, Mich-

igan. Her parents were Walter W. and Char-

lotte (Bottsford) Willits. He was a miller by

trade, and had twelve children. One of hissons,

Edwin Willits, served two terms in Congress,

from Michigan, and is now in the Agricultural

Department at Washington. He also served as

president of the Michigan State Agricultural

College, near Lansing. Mrs. Chaffee was edu-

cated at Delhi and Ann Arbor, Michigan. Her
brothers and sisters are: Edwin, Lizzie, now
Mrs. Nichols, of Marysville, Michigan; Addie,

of Garden Grove, and Eugene, of Jackson,

Michigan. By Mr. Chaffee's last marriage there

is one child, Eugene Willits, born June 15,

1885.

--&4&m*&—
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LBERT JOHNSON CHAFFEE, of Gar-

den Grove, was born in Kane Couuty, Illi-

nois, in April, 1848. His parents, Eber

and Anna (Davis) Chaffee, emigrated from

Vermont to Illinois in 1840, locating upon a farm

twelve miles from Elgin, where he successfully

carried on farming and stock-raising until his

death in 1877, his wife having died a year pre-

vious. They had in all twelve children, of

whom nine are still living. Albert was educated

at Jennings Seminary, Aurora, Illinois. He

subsequently taught school in Kane County,
Illinois, and in Clinton County, Iowa. He has

been a citizen of the Golden State since 1881;
owns some valuable land on the Ocean View
road, besides his residence property in Garden
Grove. He is energetic, enterprising, public-

spirited and enjoys the confidence and respect

of his fellow-citizens.

In 1873 Mr. Chaffee married Miss Susan E.

Ambrose, who was born in Maine, the daugh-

ter of Rev. Samuel and Henrietta (Greeley)

Ambrose, also from New England. The
children of Mr. and Mrs. Chaffee are: Mettie

E., Edward A., Burns S. and Ralph A. Both

Mr. and Mrs. Chaffee are active members of

the Methodist Episcopal Church, and Mr.

Chaffee is a strong temperance Republican.

JCHARD ROBINSON, prosperous

•K farmer of Garden Grove, was born near

^}\ Ottawa, Canada, in 1827. His parents,

Isaac and Margaret (Moses) Robinson, were na-

tives of Ireland, moving to Canada in 1821.

The senior Robinson was a shoemaker by trade

and also owned a large farm. He died in

Canada in 1843, leaving a family of nine chil-

dren. Richard, the third in the family, re-

ceived a common-school education and entered

business when very young, having to help in

the maintenance of the family until 1852,

when he started for California by way of Cape

Horn on the bark Fanny Major. He landed

in San Francisco in September, 1852, and first

followed mining for eight months on the Yuba

river; then for six months he drove a truck

from San Francisco; then followed mining two

years in El Dorado County. Next he followed

farming two years in Sonoma County, and

again sought the mines. In May, 1858, he

he went to British Columbia and followed

mining there for a year and a half; then he

was engaged in mercantile business two and a

half years at Kempville, Canada. In 1862 he

came again to California, by way of the Isth-
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mus. Until 1872 he followed farming in

Sonoma County, and then three years near

Colusa City; next for two years he kept a col-

lege boarding house at Santa Rosa, and in this

lost money. He next went to Tulare County,

where he followed farming again for about six

years. His next and last move was to South-

ern California. At Garden Grove he has a

tine ranch and is very prosperous.

Mr. Robinson was married in the spring of

1854, in El Dorado County, to Lettie Bolton,

also a native of Canada, and a daughter of

Richard Bolton, a native of Iowa. The children

are: Isaac, Forest, "Wellington and Chester Ar-

lington (twins), Mina, Frank, Adda, Byron,

Porter (deceased) and Bertha. Mr. Robinson

has traveled a great deal and has seen many of

the hardest realities of life; but he retains a

sympathetic heart and gives a cordial welcome

to all his friends.

fEORGE HOUGH, a prominent citizen of

Garden Grove, Orange County, was bor"

February 5, 1855, in Lewis County, New
York. His parents were Burage and Mary

(Alexander) Hough, natives respectively of

Connecticut and New York. The father re-

moved with his family to He Kalb County,

Illinois, in 1837, and died there, at the age of

sixty-five years. Mr. George Hough, our sub-

ject, was the second in a family of twelve chil-

dren. He returned to New York State in 1838,

and was there married, in Lewis County, to

Miss Hester A., daughter of David and Folly

(Puffer) Tiffany. In 1842 Mr. Hough removed

again to De Kalb Connty, Illinois, where he

was a successful farmer until 1881, when he

came to California and bought a residence in

Garden Grove. In 1878 his wife died and

July 20, 1887, he married Mrs. Harriet Walker,

whose parents, Daniel aud Melissa (Peck) Hoag,

were natives of New York State. She had two

children by her former husband—Theodore and

Charles. Mr. Hough's children are: John J.

and Calvin, living, and the deceased are Daniel,

Albert, Clinton, Henry, Helen, Mary, Elizabeth

and Levantia. Mr. Hough is a sincere Christian

gentleman, and is enjoying the evening of life

in his quiet home at Garden Grove.

|B9S W. HEAD, M. D., of Garden Grove, was

Wm\ born in West Tennessee, in 1840. His

^M° parents, Dr. Horace and Mary (Brown)

Head, were natives respectively of Virginia

and Tennessee. He received his literary edu-

cation at Obion, Tennessee, and his medical

education at Nashville, and in 1866 began the

practice of his profession, in company with his

father. After sustaining this relation for ten

years, he came to California and bought land

near Garden Grove, where he has since given

most of his attention to stock-raising and

farming. In political matters the Doctor is a

zealous and able advocate of Democracy. He
was in the Confederate army four years, serv-

ing for a Hme as a Captain in the Ninth

Tennessee Regiment. Near Greensboro, North

Carolina, he received two wounds, and in 1865

surrendered to Sherman. In 1882-'84 Dr. Head

represented Los Angeles County in the Legisla-

ture, and was a faithful worker for the late

county division. Socially he is a Master

Mason.

He was married in August, 1869, to Miss

Maria Caldwell, a native of Tennessee and

daughter of Waller Caldwell, a wealthy planter.

They have an interesting family of seven chil-

dren, namely: Horace, now a student of the

State University; Percie, Flora, Maggie, Bessie,

Clare and Mary.

S*«3 '

fD.
CHAFFEE, M. D., of Garden Grove,

was born in Campton, Kane County, llli-

9 nois, November 5, 1843, and received his

literary education at the Methodist Seminary at

Mt. Morris, that State. His health failing, he
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came to California in 1875, and purchased a

ranch at Garden Grove, intending to give his

time to outdoor pursuits; but his love for study

still grew upon him, and, having in great meas-

ure regained his health, he went to San Francisco

and took a course at the Hahnemann Medical

College, where he graduated in 1887. 'Since

that time he has given his whole attention to

the practice of medicine at Garden Grove and

vicinity. He has built up a large and lucrative

practice, his professional ability being recog-

nized far and wide. He has a beautiful home

among the orange and cypress trees, where his

grounds are fragrant with the breath of roses.

Dr. Chaffee was married in Illinois, Septem-

ber 29, 1868, to Miss E. M. Bradley, of Dundee,

Illinois. Her father, W. S. Bradley, was a

pioneer of that State, a successful farmer, and

died in California in July, 1888. Both the

Doctor and Mrs. Chaffee are active members

of the Methodist Episcopal Church. Their

neat church building at Garden Grove stands

as a monument of their Christian zeal and

enterprise. The society was organized in 1879,

with the following named members: John D.

and Ellen Chaffee, A. G. and B. W. Cook,

J. H. Eice and wife, Father B. Kice and J.

Rice. Since its organization the church has

steadily grown in numbers and prosperity,

there now being enrolled over one hundred

communicants.

fOHN WARNER, dentist at Garden Grove,

was born in Otsego County, New York, in

1820. His parents, Zachariah and Laura

(Hale) Warner, were natives of Connecticut and

of English ancestry. John, the fifth in a fam-

ily of eight children, learned dentistry at Cin-

cinnati, first started in business in Keutucky in

1840, and from 1865 to 1877 he was at Leav-

enworth, Kansas, engaged in wholesale queens-

ware and plated-ware. In 1877 he came to

Oakland, this State, where he practiced dentistry

for seven years. Since coming to Garden Grove

he has practiced his profession to some extent,

but most of his attention is given to the cul-

tivation of his fruit and ornamental trees and

the beautifying of his home. Here he hopes to

spend the rest of his- life, free from the excite-

ment and worry of business. He is a member
of the F. & A. M. and I. O. O. F. He was in

early day a Whig, but is now an ardent Re-

publican.

Mr. Warner was married in 1853, in Estill

County, Kentucky, to Miss Harriet Wilber, a

native of the Empire State. Her parents were

Church and Hannah Seva (Gambel) Wilber,

natives of Barnard, Windsor County, Vermont,

and of English, Scotch and French descent.

They had ten children, and moved from New
York to Michigan when Mrs.Warner was but four

years old. They subsequently lived in Indiana

and other places in the West. The father died

in West Virginia, at the age of ninety years,

well preserved in body and mind; the mother

died some years previously. Mrs. Warner is an

earnest member of the Presbyterian Church.

ILLIAM LAMSON, a capitalist of

Garden Grove, was born at Mt. Vernon,

.New Hampshire, October 1, 1810, the

eldest of six children of John L. and Nancy

(Bradford) Lamson. At the age of twenty-one

years, after having been an industrious worker

for his father, he started out in life for himself,

his father taking him as far as he could in one

day, giving him $2 and telling him not to drink

or to gamble, and to do the best he could for

himself. With the $2 Mr. Lamson went about

halfway to Boston and hired out for one year,

at $10 per month. At the end of the year he

had saved $100, which he put out at interest,

and it is still drawing interest in some of his

mortgages! After his first year's work he en-

tered a glass factory, where he exhibited the

sterling qualities which have -characterized him

as a business man all through life. The super-

intendent of the glass works was a careless, in
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temperate man and wasted a great deal of ma-

terial. Mr. Lamson saw this, and when all the

other men had quit work he remained and gath-

ered up what was about to be wasted and put

things in order. The company, observing him

in the performance of these chores, appointed

him superintendent of the work at their next

meeting, and this position he held for seventeen

years. The next twenty-two years he was a

resident of Woodford County, Illinois, engaged

as gardener, in settling estates, buying tax titles,

making collections, etc. Twelve years ago he

came to California and bought 160 acres of land

at Garden Grove, where he now has a fine stock

and fruit farm. He has also interests in the

First National Bank and the Commercial Bank

at Santa Ana, and the bank of Anaheim. He

has been eminently successful in life, and he

says that his success is due to his observance of

the rule, " Keep out of debt."

He was married May 28, 1835, to Miss Sarah

Starrett, of New Boston, New Hampshire, and

their children were: William Bradford, George

S., Sarah Frances and Gustin W. Mrs. Lamson

died June 6, 1883. Mr. Lam6on is now eighty

years old, and well preserved in body and mind.

§ENRY STEPHENS, a farmer near West-

minster, was born in Monmouthshire, En-

gland, in July, 1827, and in 1851 came to

the United States. He traveled awhile in the

Eastern States, and in 1852 came to California,

by sail-vessel from New Orleans to the Isthmus,

across which he traveled by the Nicaragua route,

and thence to San Francisco, where he landed

in August, having been six months in coming.

After spending a year in the mines he returned

to the Southern States, purchased a number of

cattle and drove them across the plains, starting

from Clark County, Arkansas, and arriving in

California in September, 1854, aftera six-months

trip, by the way of the Evansville route. Sub-

sequently he mined two years near Sacramento,

disposed of his cattle, and for twelve years ran

a saw-mill in Calaveras County. He was then

a resident of Stockton for a year and a half, and

finally moved to Westminster, wh^re he bought

land, and has since lived there and bought other

tracts of land. He is one of Westminster's most

prosperous farmers. He was one of the partners

in the co-operative store at Westminster, and

has aided every enterprise wisely inaugurated.

In 1865 he married Miss Olive W. Shaw,

who was born in Warren County, Pennsylvania.

Her father, O. W. Shaw, was a cabinet-maker

by trade, and crossed the plains to this State in

1852. He served as a soldier in the last war

and helped build the Government barracks at

Wilmington, California. Mr. and Mrs. Ste-

phens are active members of the Congregational

Church, and highly respected as members of

society. Their four children are: Bessie, wife

Hansler Larter; Hiram Y., Lovisa and Etta;

Sadie, the fourth child, and Tiny, the sixth,

having both died in Westminster.

S
-
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fOHN HARRIS, of Westminster, was born

in Cornwall, England, in May. 1832, and

came to the United Sates in 1852. After

spending three and a half years in Pennsylvania

and Virginia, and one year in Missouri, he came

in 1859 to San Franciso, and was in the mines

for several years. Afterward he served as Su-

perintendent of the Pine Tree mines for John

C. Fremont. In 1874, his health failing, he

came to Westminster and purchased 160 acres

of land. For several years, in company with

his son, Richard T.,—now the sheriffof Orange

County,—he was in the general merchandise

business at Westminster; for some time past he

has been retired on account of delicate health.

He owns a stock-farm, and gives his attention

principally to raising horses. For many years

he has been a member of the Methodist Episco-

pal Church, and is recognized as a true Chris-

tian gentleman by all who know him.

The names of his children are: John, de-

ceased; John E., Arthur, Richard T., George
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W., deceased: Clara, wife of Jerome P'ulsome,

of Garden Grove; Eliza A., Frederick, at West-

minster; Ernest A., deceased; Albert E., Lora

and Joseph.

fEORGE H. CARLYLE, one of West-

minster's successful dairymen, was born in

Woodford County, Kentucky, March 23,

1827. His father moved to Saline County,

Missouri, in 1855, and followed farming there

until his death twelve years ago. He had nine

children. For several years George (or Henry,

as he was generally known) was connected with

the stage line under Ben. Holiday, from the

Missouri river to Fort Kearney and Salt Lake

City. After this he followed farming and the

dairy business at Independence, Missouri, until

lie came to California in 1887. Buying eighty

acres of land in the Westminster colony, he is

now raising fruits, tine Jersey cattle, and also

carrying on the dairy business. Politically Mr.

Carlyle is a Democrat, and religiously he is a

member of the Christian Church, of which for

several years he has been an elder, at Santa Ana.

In 1868 he married Amie Fackler, of Mis-

souri, and a daughter of Dr. J. M. Fackler, of

Kansas City. Their children are: Virgie, John,

Frankie, Lutie and George Fackler.

****

fYLVESTER LYMAN, deceased. Ameri-

can biography has always been considered

to be of the greatest interest, far outrank-

ing in this regard the same study in any other

country. The cause of this is the large pro-

portion of self made men in our population,

—

men who have plucked the flowers of success

from the thorns of difficulty. Mr. Lyman, the

subject of this memoir, illustrates this fact. He
was born at Westhampton, Blandford County,

Massachusetts, February 26, 1826. At the age

of fourteen years his father moved his family to

Shiawassee County, Michigan, where Mr. Ly-

man assisted in the farm work for some years;

then taught school. In 1852 he came to Cali-

fornia, across the plains, with a party of pioneers;

he was exposed to great dangers and endured

many hardships. The tirst ten years he spent

in mining in Sierra County, then in its golden

boom. When the " gold fever" broke out in

Arizona and on Fraser river, he went on a pros-

pecting tour to both places; being disappointed

with his trip, he returned to Santa Clara County,

California, and took charge of a grain rancho.

In 1864 he was married at Saratoga to Miss
Nettie Pollock, of Marysville, Union County,

Ohio. They had one daughter—Lutie, who,
with her mother, now reside on the old home.
In 1875 Mr. Lyman bought 160 acres of land

at Westminster, now in Orange County, out of

which he made a fine rancho and on which he
erected a beautiful residence. He owned land in

San Diego, also an interest in Arrow-head Hot
Springs, in San Bernardino County, where he
was manager at the time of his death, which
occurred March 11, 1889. In his home life

Mr. Lyman was kindness itself; very social and
hospitable. The needy always found a helping

friend in him. In his conduct he was strictly

honorable and upright, and as a citizen was
loved and respected by all.

fOSIAH McCOY, Justice of the Peace at

Westminster, was born in Washington

County, Pennsylvania, May 20, 1826. His

father was Colonel John McCoy, of Scotch an-

cestry; and his mother, whose maiden name
was Jane Bricc, was a daughter of Rev. John

Brice, of West Virginia. Tbey were among the

early settlers of Washington County, Pennsyl-

vania. In 1850 Josiah McCoy went to Mar-

shall County, Illinois, followed farming for a

number of years, and subsequently mercantile

business some five years at Henry, that county.

In December, 1873, he became a citizen of

California and a resident of the town of West-

minster, where he bought 120 acres of land.
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This he has put under a high state of cultiva-

tion, and is carrying on the dairy business and

stock-raising. He also owns valuable land near

Beaumont, in San Bernardino County. Politi-

cally he affiliates with the Republican party and

sympathizes with the Prohibition movement;

he is public-spirited, aiding in all good enter-

prises.

Mr. McCoy was first married in 1854, to Miss

Mary L. Noe, a native of New Jersey; their

children are: John J., now of Beaumont;

Carrie B., a teacher; Jessie A., a student at the

Normal School at Los Angeles; Chester M., of

Beaumont. Judge McCoy lost his first wife in

1865, and was married again April 23, 1868, at

Coshocton, Ohio, to Miss Martha L. Wells, a

native of Licking County, that State, and daugh-

ter of Chester and Polly (Case) Wells, natives

respectively of Chatham and Granby, Connecti-

cut. By the latter marriage the children are:

Hattie Wells, Mamie Sturges and Wells Brice.

Miss Hattie is attending Hanna College, and

Miss Mamie is a student at the Normal School

at Los Angeles. Mr. and Mrs. McCoy are

members of the Presbyterian Church, of which

he is an elder.

fr»T - 3

fOHN TURNER, of Westminster, was born

in Genesee County, New York, in 1818.

At the age of eighteen years he walked all

the way to Michigan, where he worked by the

day for a year, and then returned to New York.

There he married Miss Harriet Hopkins, whose

father, James Hopkins, was one of the wealthiest

farmers of Genesee County. Mr. Turner went

with his wife to Michigan and carved a farm

out of the dense forest. In 1852 he came to

this State, and for ten years followed dairying in

Amador County. In 1862 he moved to Carson

City, Nevada, and in 1866 to Healdsburg, So-

noma County, where he was engaged in stock-

raising and butchering for twenty years. In

1884 he came to Westminster, where he is

still engaged in dairying. He also runs a

stage to Anaheim once a day, carrying the Uni-

ted States mail. He has had three children:

George, Frank, who died at the age of fourteen

years, and Charles.

-^&mam*$—
ILLIAM T. RICHARDS, formerly a

cattle-dealer, but now retired and living

at Orange, was born in the State of New
York in 1833. His first employment in that

State was as an agriculturist, and then he was a

dairyman in Illinois, and later engaged in the

dry-goods and clothing trade at Elgin, that

State, for fifteen years. He came to California

ten years ago, resided at San Gabriel three years

and in Los Angeles one year; next he was en-

gaged in the cattle business in Texas until three

years ago, when he returned to California and

purchased the place where he now lives, where

he has erected a very neat and comfortable resi-

dence and expects to spend the remainder of his

days.

March 8, 1858, he married Miss Mary L.

DuBois, from Newburg, New York; her father

was William DuBois, a prosperous farmer in

Medina, Orleans County, that State. Mr. and

Mrs. Richards are active members of the Meth-

odist Episcopal Church, and worthy members of

the best society.

#^6hs#

fAPTAIN H. HALL, one of the prosper-

ous orange-growers of Santa Ana valley,

has been a citizen of the Golden State for

eighteen years. Born at Tiffin, Ohio, in 1838,

he was educated there and read law for several

years, which study was interrupted by his en-

listment in the army in Company H, Thirty-

second Iowa Volunteer Infantry. During his

service of three years he was commissioned Sec-

ond Lieutenant and First Lieutenant. At the

close of the war, being broken in health, he for

a number of years traveled as a commercial

agent. In 1876 he came to California and
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bought and improved a ranch one and a half

miles north east of Orange.

Socially Captain Hall is a member of the

Masonic fraternity, and also a charter member

of Gordon Granger Post, No. 138, G. A. E., of

which he was first Post Commander.

fUDGE S. M. CEADDICK, Justice of the

Peace and City Eecorder at Orange, was

born in Marion County, Iowa. In 1881

he went to Pierre, Dakota, and thence to Man-

kato, Minnesota, where he was engaged in the

book and stationery trade. In 1886 he went to

Chicago and engaged in the real-estate business

until, on account of the ill-health of his wife, he

had to seek a more genial climate. Coming to

Orange, he has since then, by his active busi-

ness habits and enterprising spirit, won the con-

fidence and respect of all the business men who

know him. He was one of the hardest workers

for the establishment of the Orange County

College. He it was who raised every dollar to

purchase the Eochester hotel for the college

building. He is also an active politician and

labored efficiently for the county division. He
is a prominent member of the Orange board of

industry, in which body he is chairman of the

committee on emigration and advertising.

He was married in Eacine, Wisconsin, June

6, 1887, to Miss Lizzie M. Eichards, a native of

Wisconsin, who died at Orange, March 6, 1890.

Mrs. Craddick excelled both in instrumental

and vocal music. She was admired and loved

by all for her many virtues.

fOSEPH BEACH, of Orange, was born in

Essex County, New York, August 20,

1816, and for twenty-six years after he ar-

rived at the age of manhood he followed agri-

cultural and mercantile pursuits. Then he was

a farmer in Calhoun County, Michigan, ten

years, until 1873, when he came to California.

Since then he has been engaged successfully in

the cultivation of a fruit farm in the Santa Ana
valley, until lately, being in his seventy-fourth

year, he has practically retired. Being one of

the first settlers of Orange, he is respected as a

pioneer, an honored citizen and a successful

horticulturist. He was united in marriage in

the State of New York, in 1837, with Miss

Eliza Austin, a native of Vermont and the

daughter of Sylvanus Austin. They have three

children: George H., a physician of Los An-
geles; Charles, of Orange; and Eliza J., now
Mrs. Henry Lockwood, also of Orange. Mr.

and Mrs. Beach celebrated their golden wedding

three years ago, and are still, after a loug and

tiresome journey, walking hand in hand down
the shady side of life happily together.

~-i^8iH^N#

—

ELCOME FOWLEE, proprietor of the

Palmyra Hotel, Orange, is one of the

pioneers of 1849, and a history of his

life since that time is full of interesting inci-

dents. He was born in Jackson County, Ten-

nessee, in 1818. His father, John P'owler, was

born in July, 1767, in Virginia, and died in

December, 1867, being therefore in his 101st

year. He had married Lncinda Usury and had

ten children. May 25, 1849, tlie subject of this

sketch left Atchison County, Missouri, with an

ox team for California and arrived in Sacra-

mento October 25. He immediately took a

load of goods to Grass valley, built the first log

house in that place and followed merchandising

and mining for a year. In 1854, having re-

turned to Missouri by way of the Isthmus, he

came again to California overland, with an ox

team, starting April 25 and arriving in Butte

County August 1, bringing also a drove of cattle

with him. He spent one winter herding them

at Woodland. From 1855 to 1867 he was en-

gaged in the cattle and dairy business, and in

farming at Vallejo. After this he raised sheep

and followed agriculture for six years in Mer-

ced County.' In 1872 he moved to Tulare
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County, where he was engaged in the live-stock

business and in farming until 1883, and he

pursued the same callings for five years in

Ventura County. In 1888 he came to Southern

California, and the next year purchased the

Palmyra Hotel, which he is now successfully

conducting. Politically he was always a Demo-

crat, until seven years ago, when he became an

enthusiastic Prohibitionist. For many years

he has held the office of deacon in the Christian

Church.

February 13, 1850, in Atchison County,

Missouri, he married Matilda Jane Jamison,

from Kentucky, and they have had nine child-

ren, named Frances, Maria, Lucinda, Mary,

Henry, James, Newton, Martha and Clara. All

of these are married except three.

—#^€d»^

—

fD.
SCHOLL, of Tustin, was born De-

cember 25, 1807, a son of Jacob P. and
9 Elizabeth Scholl, natives of Pennsyl-

vania. His father, a blacksmith by trade,

moved to New York in 1815, and died there in

1835; then the subject of this sketch, the

eldest of the nine children in his father's family,

returned to Pennsylvania and learned the mill-

iiiw business with his grandfather. In 1834 he

went again to New York State, married Miss

Lucy Rowell, a native of Massachusetts, and the

next year moved to Goshen, Indiana, where he

engaged in the furnace and machinery business

until 1849, when he crossed the plains to Cali-

fornia, returning again to Indiana in 1852.

After this he followed milling until 1861,when

he recrossed the plains to California with his

family, with horse teams. The first seven years

in this State he followed farming in Solano

County; then was a resident of San Francisco

eight years, in Vallejo seven years and finally

moved to Tustin, Orange County, where he has

6ince occupied a fine fruit ranch in the beautiful

Santa Ana valley. Politically Mr. Scholl is a

Democrat. He has seen many of the hardships

of pioneer life, but by industry and economy

he has succeeded far better than many who have

been more favored with opportunity.

Mr. and Mrs, Scholl have reared a family of

seven children: Amelia, wife of N. Vanderlip;

Maria, now Mrs. George Ellsworth; Fidelia,

wife of John W. Ballard; Orlando, a grocery-

man of Tustin. The others are now all deceased.

#^-6B->¥

fAMUEL ARMOR, a Supervisor of Orange

County from the fourth district, came to

California in 1874, and located on a fruit-

farm, giving what time he could spare from the

ranch to the carpenter trade. He subsequently

taught school in Orange for three and one-half

years; then clerked in a store, and five years ago

began the mercantile business in his own name.

He carries a full line of stationery, fancy articles

and boots and shoes. He has contributed to

the architectural beauty of Orange by erecting

a fine brick block on the corner of Chapman

street and the plaza, and has taken an active

part in building up the city.

He was born in New York State, graduated

at Oberlin college, Ohio, iu 1871, and married

Miss Alice L. Taylor, who was a graduate of

the same class. They both taught school for

two years at White Earth, Minnesota, on the

Indian reservation. After this they taught to-

gether in Dakota, and subsequently came to

California. Mr. Armor started in business

here with only $250 capital, and in five years

has increased it to $7,000. Although a success-

ful teacher, his qualifications seem to fit him

for business rather than for literary work. He
was elected Supervisor July 17, 1889.

fOHN H. KELLOM, of Tustin, was born in

Washington County, New York, in 1818,

a son of Isaac and Eliza (Healy) Kelloin.

He graduated at Williams College in 1842.

taught school four years in Georgia, studied

law two years at Auburn, New York, taught
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school jain until 1856, and then went to

Omaha, Nebraska, and enga in bankin

Two years afterward he was elected State Super-

intendent of schools for a term of two years;

he also served as United States Assessor; was

clerk of all the courts of Nebraska for four

years; was Postmaster at Omaha one year un-

der President Grant, etc. He next organized

the high school of Omaha, and was principal of

the same for three years. In 1880 he aban-

doned public life and came to California to live

retired. He owns one of the finest orange or-

chards in the Santa Ana valley, situated at

Tustin, from which he realized a profit of

$6,000 in 1889.

He was married at Syracuse, New York, in

1849, to Miss Harriet Newell, of Springfield,

Massachusetts, and they have but one child

—

Clara, now Mrs. William L. Adams, her hus-

band a prominent railroad man of Nebraska.

jj^ON. WILLIAM H. SPURGEON, founder

fjlj) ofthe city of Santa Ana, and the principal

"vM factor of its subsequent growth, is a native

of Henry County, Kentucky, born October 10,

1829, his parents being Granville and Levina

(Sibley) Spurgeon, the latter a native of Vir-

ginia, the former of Kentucky. The Spurgeons,

of English origin, chose for their first location

in this country, North Carolina. From those

of the family who afterward removed to Ken-

tucky, our subject springs. When he was but a

year old, the family removed to Indiana, and

ten years later they settled in Clark County,

northeast Missouri. When he was but twelve

years old his father put him in a dry-goods

store, so that he had the opportunity to learn

business methods at a very early age, which

served him in good stead in the later years. In

1852 he joined the tide of emigration directed

toward California, making the trip via New
Orleans, Havana and Panama. From New Or-

leans to the Isthmus he made the trip on the

steamer Philadelphia, and on the Pacific side
65

he was a passenger on the New Orleans. He
landed at San Francisco, but soon afterward

proceeded to Oregon, where he was engage 1 in

ranching during the summer of 1852, in the

Willamette valley. He spent the fall and

winter of that year in the Siskiyou mines, of

what is now Josephine County, on the Althans

creek. He mined in that region and through-

out southern Oregon until 1856, with fair suc-

cess. During the last two years of that time,

however, his attention was only partially di-

rected to mining, as he had charge of a trading

post for a part of the time just across the line

in California. For a portion of the time while

he was up there the natives were hostile, and

he put in one campaign against the Rogue

River Indians, in the commands of General Joe

Lane and Captain Williams.

In the spring of 1856 he started to go back

East, and while on the way arrived in San Fran-

cisco, during the reign of the vigilance com-

mittee, and saw Casey and Cora hung. After

two or three weeks at San Francisco, he re-

sumed his way eastward, and going back to

Missouri went into business at Athens, twenty-

five miles west of Alexandria. He was in

business either there or at the last named place

until the fall of 1863, when he sold out, and in

the following year returned to California. This

time he made the trip overland, via Council

Bluffs and South Pass, proceeding into Califor-

nia by the Reese river route. He had driven

thirty or forty mules and some horses across, and

during the winter of 1864- 1

65 he kept his stock

at the head of Napa valley. In 1866 he went

to Monterey County, and in the following year,

on account of his wife's ill health, he again re-

moved to Los Angeles, where, about the first of

January, 1868, death claimed his companion.

Her name was Martha Moreland, and he mar-

ried her in Missouri in 1860. Mr. Spurgeon

then went back East, and in the fall of 1869 he

ao-ain returned to California, locating at what is

now Santa Ana. His choice of location was

partially due to some conversation he had had

in Los Angeles, in 1867, with an engineer who
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had assisted in the partition of the rancho, and

spoke very favorably of the locality. Ten days'

looking around convinced him that what he had

heard of its advantages was correct: hence his

settlement here. He laid out the town of Santa

Ana, named it, and started in business on the

northeast corner of Fourth and West streets. In

1875 ho. erected a frame building on the corner

of Fourth and Sycamore streets, and moved into

it. In 1880 he moved that structure, and in

its place erected the handsome brick business

building known as the Spurgeon block, which

has a frontage of 137 feet on Fourth street, and

two^stories in height, and is a credit to the city.

In 1870 he was appointed Postmaster of

Santa Ana, and held the office until 1879. He
caused the location of the postofrice here, a box

in Anaheim having offered the only previous

mail facility for the community. The stage

line, running between Anaheim and San Diego,

left Santa Ana two miles to one side. He sub-

sidized the stage company, and built a road

from Santa Ana intersecting the old stage route

mentioned. He put in watering facilities in

front of his store, where the stage horses were

watered after they commenced running here,

and after the line commenced operating he

secured the location of the postoffice. In 1877,

while yet Postmaster, he was elected a Supervi-

sor of Los Angeles County. In 1887, being

about to retire from mercantile business, he

allowed his name to be put forward as a candidate

for Representative in the Legislature of Califor-

nia for the Seventy-eighth district. As a proof

of his popularity it may be stated in this con-

nection that, though he is a Democrat, he over-

came a Republican majority of about 360. In

the Assembly he served on the committees on

Irrigation, County and Township Government,

and Viticulture.

He took an active part in securing the parti-

tion and separate organization of Orange County,

with Santa Ana as the county seat, and at the

first election of the new county, held July 17,

1890, he was elected a Supervisor, and on or-

gan ization made president of the board.

He is a stockholder in the Santa Ana Valley

Irrigation Company, of which he was for five

years a director and three years its president. He
is a director of the Santa Ana Land and Im-

provement Company, and also of the Newport

Wharf and Lumber Company. He isadirector

and one of the incorporators of the Santa Ana &
Newport Railroad Company. H e is also President

of the First Natianal Bank of Santa Ana. There

has never been a movement giving promise of

material benefit for Santa Ana that has not had

the benefit of his assistance and encouragement

as an aider and leader. Truly the people of

Santa Ana may look upon him as a public bene-

factor, and his memory will live as long as the

city he founded exists.

Mr. Spurgeon's present wife, to whom he was

married in Santa Ana, April 17, 1872, was

formerly Miss Jennie English, a native of Mis-

souri. They have five children, viz.: Grace,

Lottie, Mary, W. H.,Jr., and Granville Robert.

|g|JVENRY YOUNT, of Tustin, was born in

|M\ Platte County, Missouri, December 11,

%$g 1845, his parents being Henry and Deb-

orah (Doherty) Yount,—the formers native of

Indiana and the latter of Pennsylvania,—who
moved to Missouri in 1832, locating upon a farm,

and there the senior Yount died in 1845, when

his son Henry was but two weeks old. His

mother subsequently married Abraham Van
Vranken. May 5, 1865, Mr. Yount started for

California with an ox team; and after arriving

he followed farming the first year in Santa

Clara County; then he was a wheat-raiser in

San Joaquin County four years; next he was

five years in Stanislaus County, and in 1872 he

came to Los Angeles County and continued

agricultural pursuits for one year at Compton,

and next he was engaged in wheat-farming

again in Tulare County. Returning to Comp-

ton, he remained there until 1881, when he

became a citizen of Santa Ana Valley, locating

at Tustin. He bought an improved property



IIISTOJir OF ORANGE COUNTY.

there, making a neat and comfortable home.

He has given his whole attention to horticulture

since his arrival here, and he has served the

people as Deputy Assessor for the years 1887-

'88-'89; is an active Republican.

In 1872 he married Miss Mary A. Wootten,

from Illinois. They have two children: Dora

E. and Frank. She died in Tulare County,

September 19, 1875, and in March, 1880, Mr.

Yount married Alice A. Troombly, from Kan-

sas, and by this marriage there are John H.,

Augusta, Charles E., Benjamin, deceased, and

Harriet.

^-m^
jjjjSS A. McKEE, of Santa Ana, was born in

Wm\ Friendship, Allegany County, New York.

*M Q At the age of seventeen years he entered

the army, enlisting in the Twenty-third New
York Volunteer Infantry, and served two years;

then for several years he was engaged in the

live-stock business in Kansas, and for a few

years in merchandising at Wichita; married in

Junction City, Kansas, in 1869, to Miss Jennie

Paxton, a native of the Buckeye State. She has

been a school-teacher; taught her first term in

her native State and subsequently in West Vir-

ginia, Illinois, Kansas and Texas. Mr. McKee
moved to Texas in 1874, and for a period of

fifteen years was successfully engaged in the

rearing of sheep. In 1888 he came to Califor-

nia and bought a residence near Santa Ana,

where he is now enjoying life and expects to

spend the remainder of his days. At present

he is a partner in a grocery store on Main

street, the firm name being McKee & Brackett.

g - *g -3

fT.
ADAMS, of Tustin, was born in Shelby

County, Tennessee, November, 1834. His

father, Peter Adams, was a native of

North Carolina, and moved to Texas in 1833,

back to Tennessee again, and in 1839 to Texas

the second time,where his children were brought

up. The subject of this sketch passed hi? youth

herding cattle, much of the time on horseback.

He served during the war in the Confederate

army, two years in James M. McCord's regi-

ment, and then until the close of the war, in

General Bankhead's brigade. Politically Mr.

Adams is a Democrat, well infor.ned upon

questions of political economy, local, State and

national. He has built a neat and comfortable

residence on his fine fruit ranch near Tustin,

mnd is giving his whole attention to the cultiva-

tion and improvement of his orange orchards.

He was married in Texas, October 25, 1865,

to Miss Elizabeth H. Downs, from Iowa. Her

father, Dr. E. M. Downs, came to California as

early as 1850, but returned. He died in Cali-

fornia in 1880. Mr. and Mrs. Adams have five

children: Henry M. and Annie D., now Mrs.

J. E. Gowen; Coodie, Edmund L. and Lela

Frances.

§W. PREBLE, of Tustin, is a pioneer of

1849. He was born in York, Maine, in

a 1826. Educated at Gorham Academy,

clerked for a short time in a carpet store in

Philadelphia, then followed the mercantile busi-

ness upon his own account for nearly three

years at Salmon Falls, New Hampshire, when

the gold excitement broke out, and he sold out,

and March 15, 1849, left his native land for

California, and after a voyage of four months

arrived in San Francisco, July 15 following.

For nearly three years he was engaged in

miuing, and was quite successful. In the spring

of 1852 he returned to his native land, and in

the winter of 1853 was married to Miss Abbie

L. Wilson, of Wells, Maine, and in March,

1853, returned with his wife to California and

located in Tomales, Marin County. There he

followed agriculture for about eight years, when

he moved to San Francisco, and in company

with two other gentlemen built a wharf and

engaged in the wood and hay business about

two years. He then moved to San Mateo
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County and engaged in agricultural pursuits

for about ten years, and in the fall of 1876

moved to his present home in Tustin, where he

purchased twenty acres of unimproved land,

which he has converted into one of the finest

and mo6t productive fruit ranches in Southern

California, realizing from the sale of oranges

alone between $3,000 and $4,000 per annum.

He is connected with some of the leading enter-

prises of Orange County, also with the Bank of

Tustin, the Grangers' Bank at San Francisco*

and is vice president of the First National Bank

of Santa Ana. As a business man his ability

is leccgnizcd. and as a citizen his worth is

acknowledged by all who know him. His resi-

dence exhibits a high order of taste.

SAKLAN FA1EBANKS, of Tustin, was

born in Worcester, Massachusetts, in 1840.

For twenty twoyears he was engaged in the

drug business, and in 1861 he entered the army

in the Fifteenth Massachusetts Volunteer Infan-

try; was acting Sergeant; was wounded at the

battle of Fair Oaks, Virginia, and discharged

for disability at Philadelphia, in 1862. In 1886

he became a citizen of California, where he has

since been eminently successful in the real-

estate business. In 1889 he built a drug store

at the corner of D and Fonrth streets in Tustin,

having bought out C. W. Smith & Co. of Santa

Ana. He was a charter member of G. A. B.

Post, No. 10, of Worcester, Massachusetts; he

now affiliates with Sedgwick Post, at Santa

Ana. He was also one of the charter members

of Tustin Lodge, No. 231, I. O. O. F.

In 1868 he married Miss Almira L. Lee,

from Elmira, New York.

-#** *#-
ULLIAM B. WALL, M. D., Santa Ana,

the first Treasurer of Orange County,

was born near Danville, Virginia, in

1890. His literary education he received at

the common schools in Mississippi, and hie

medical education at Jefferson Medical College

in Philadelphia, where he graduated in 1853.

He further attended lectures in New Orleans

in 1854, and began the practice of his pro-

fession in Mississippi, where he built up a fine

patronage; but on the breaking out of the war

he entered the Confederate army, in the Twenty-

third Mississippi Volunteer Infantry, and was

Surgeon for the regiment. He was elected

First Lieutenant, and subsequently Captain,

and served as Surgeon until the close of the

war, when he was surrendered under General

Joseph E. Johnston.

He then followed his profession in Missis-

sippi until 1875, when he came to California

and bought land near Tustin, on which he

planted orange trees and vines; and until the

blight struck the grape and the scale the orange,

Dr. Wall had the finest vineyard and orchard

in Southern California. The neatness of his

grounds and the fine quality of his fruits gave

evidence of a horticulturist possessing superior

knowledge and ability. Dr. Wall was elected

County Treasurer at the first election in Au-

gust, 1889, on the non-partisan ticket. He has

held also other official relations. Politically he

is an orthodox Democrat, and socially he is a

Freemason, and religiously a zealous member

of the Baptist Church. He is also secretary of

the Orange County Medical Association.

He was first married in 1844, and had one

daughter. In 1873 he married Mr6. Julia F.

Norman, from North Carolina, and by this

marriage there are two children—William and

Pearl.

W. HALESWORTH has been a resi-

dent of Santa Ana since March, 1872,
9 enjoying signal success in business

At first he was employed in Los An-

geles city, and in the fall of 1873 purchased

twenty acres of land where the city of Santa

Ana now stands, which he devoted to grape-
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vines and fruit-trees, until in 1884= lie began to

cut it up into city lots. "Halesworth's Addi-

tion" is bounded on the north by Washington

avenue, east by West street, south by Hales-

worth street, and west by Ross street. The

second addition which bears his name is bounded

on the north by the lands of the Spurgeon

heirs, east by West street, south by Washington

avenue, and west by Ross street. North and

south through the second addition runs Durant

street, named for Mrs. Ford, whose maiden

name was Durant. Halesworth street, running

east and west, connects Ross and West streets.

Mr. Halesworth's residence on Ross street cost

$10,000, and is tasteful in its architecture.

The gentleman whose name heads this sketch

was born in Fulton County, Illinois, October 7,

1851. His parents, Simon and Hannah (Rouse)

Halesworth, were both natives of England, who

came to the United States about 1846. For a

number of years he was engaged in the mer-

cantile business in Illinois. He was married in

California, September 4, 1881, to Miss Martha

Durant, a native of Wisconsin, and daughter of

John and Eliza Durant, natives of England.

Politically Mr. Halesworth is a Republican.

He was on the first United States Grand Jury

in the Southern District of California. Is a

public-spirited and enterprising man, liberal

and patriotic, especially zealous for the interests

of Santa Ana. He is a stockholder in the First

National Bank of that place, and is favorably

known as a successful business man.

fACOB ROSS, deceased, formerly a resident

of Santa Ana, was literally the first pioneer

in this place, coining here when the land

was owned by the Spaniards, and buying some

2,500 acres of the Santa Ana de Santiago rancho.

He also bought other lands near where the city

of Santa Ana now stands, and improved a farm

one mile west of the city, where Mrs. Ross now
lives. He crossed the plains to this coast with

wagons in 1865, and many were the hardships

he endured. In the early days here his

crops had to be guarded both day and night

against the roving herds of horses, cattle and
sheep belonging to the Spaniards. He was born

in Pennsylvania in 1823. At an early age he

went to Indiana, where he married Miss Eliza-

beth Thompson and resided sixteen years; then

he moved into Illinois, where he was a miller

until 1865, when he came to California, being

on the road about four mouths. He rented land

and farmed some three years in Monterey
County, and in 1878 came to Santa Ana. The
four children whom he brought up are the fol-

lowing: Jacob, now one of the Supervisors of

Orange County; Samuel and Josiah, prosperous

farmers; and Christiana, wife of Samuel T.

McNeil, of Santa Ana. Mr. Ross died here in

1870, aged fifty-seven years, after having been

for a long time a member of the United Brethren

Church, and highly respected by all who knew
him.

fESSE C. THOMPSON, a prominent resi-

dent of Westminster, was born in Clay

County, Missouri, February 17, 1829. His

parents, John B. and Hannah (Clark) Thompson
were natives of North Carolina, and had elevei.

children, five of whom lived to be grown. They

moved to Missouri in 1825, where the children

were educated in such schools as were common
in those times. In 1840 they moved to Andrew
County. In March, 1850, Jesse started, in

company with his brother Samuel, with an ox

team for California. His brother died on the

road, July 26. Jesse arrived in Placer ville on

August 31, stayed there but a short time, and

went to Sonoma County, where he followed

agriculture for the next fifteen years; then he

was engaged in the cattle and sheep business

in Mendocino County until 1885, when he

moved down to Long Beach and bought land of

the Cerritos colony. Afterward he moved to

Westminster and bought forty acres. Since

then he and his three sons have bought fifty-

seven acres of valuable peat land.
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Mr. Thompson was married in 1852, in So-

noma County, to Miss Margaret A. Cainron,

who was born in Illinois, June 15, 1836. Her

parents, John M. Camron, a native of Georgia,

and a Cumberland Presbyterian minister, and

Mary Orendorf Camron, a native of South Car-

olina. When Mrs. Thompson was one and one-

half years old they moved to Iowa. In April,

1849, they started for California, arriving in

October, having endured great hardships. The

children of Mr. and Mrs. Thompson are: Adelia

M., wife of E. J. Phelps, of Westminster;

Samuel C, who was married to Miss Clara E.

Carner, of Potter valley, Mendocino County,

Arthur O., Altimont J., who was married to

Miss Jennie E. Barbee, of Willits, Mendocino

County; Vienna A., wife of J. T. Blosser, of

Willits; May I., wife of D. G. Case, of West-

minster; Olive P., Jesse and Margaret, twins.

Mr. and Mrs. Thompson and all of their chil-

dren are members of the Presbyterian Church,

in which Mr. Thompson has been elder for

twenty-six years.

fULlUS A. CRANE, M. D., Santa Ana, is

of New England parentage, and was born

in Portage County, Ohio, January 21, 1846.

His father, Rev. Eber Crane, was a clergyman

of the Baptist denomination, born in Clinton,

Connecticut (on Long Island Sound), May 3,

1808, and died at Mount Pleasant, Iowa, April

4, 1884. He was educated at the academy in

South Reading, Massachusetts, and pursued his

professional studies at the Newton Theological

Institute, in the outskirts of Boston, at which

time-honored institution he was graduated Au-

gust 20, 1834. He was a zealous and life-long

Abolitionist, a coadjutor and personal friend

of William Lloya Garrison, and to the close of

his eventful and, at times, stormy life, always

and everywhere had " the courage of his con-

victions." Dr. Crane's mother, Nancy A.

(Knowlton) Crane, was born near the Green

mountains, Vermont, January 5, 1817, from

which State, while yet a child, her parents moved

to the Western Reserve in Ohio. She is a

woman of great force of character, strong in-

dividuality, beloved by her children and highly

esteemed and admired by all who know her.

Dr. Crane received his literary education at

Mount Pleasant, Iowa, after which he took up

the study of medicine in the city of Cleveland.

He was graduated from the Charity Hospital

Medical College (now the medical department

of the University of Wooster) in the spring of

1870, and on March 15, 1882, received the ad

eundem degree of M. D. from the Medical De-

partment of the Western Reserve University of

Cleveland. In the year 1873 he was appointed

first assistant physician in the Iowa (State)

Hospital for the Insane at Mount Pleasant,

occupying this position until January 1, 1875,

when he resigned on account of ill-health, his

resignation taking effect three months later,

while the medical staff of the hospital con-

sisted of four physicians, and his office required

that he discharge the duties of superintendent.

During the absence of that officer— a thing

not unusual—yet so well did he meet the obli-

gations and responsibilities of this high position

that, upon his retirement, the following letter

from Dr. Bassett, the medical superintendent,

followed him. The force and nature of this

document will be the better understood when it

is stated that this hospital is one of the largest

and most successful institutions of the kind in

the United States, and, indeed, is the one after

which the California Hospital at Stockton is

largely modeled:

Superintendent's Office,

Iowa Hospital foe the Insane.

Mount Pleasant, Iowa, April 1, 1875.

Dr. J. A. Crane, Mount Pleasant Iowa:

Dear Doctor:—As your resignation of the

office of First Assistant Physician in the hos-

pital takes effect to-day, I desire in this manner

to thank you for the valuable service you have

rendered to the hospital, and to myself as its ex-

ecutive officer. During the nearly eighteen

months of your engagement here, I feel that I
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am in no small degree indebted to yon for

whatever of success has attended its manage-
ment, and that I should be doing myself an

injustice did I not in this way testify to the

fidelity and ability which have characterized

your professional services in the hospital.

In whatever community your lot may be
cast, I trust you may meet with the encour-

agement and success you so well deserve.

If it is in my power to do you any service

at any future time, be assured it will give me
pleasure to do so.

Yours very truly,

H. M. Bassett,

Superintendent.

On June 2, 1875, Dr. Crane arrived in San

Francisco, visiting with friends there for a

number of weeks, after which he spent several

months in the unfrequented portions of Oregon

and northern California. Those halcyon days,

many hours of which were passed in wild camp

life up among the pines of the Coast Range,

or along the water courses of middle and

southern Oregon, engaged in hunting and fish-

ing; living, in brief, the out-door and desultory

life of a nomad, soon restored him to a degree

of bodily health and vigor, and toward the lat-

ter part of December he again found himself in

San Francisco. A few days later his face was

turned toward Southern California. Traveling

leisurely by the Coast-line stage, and stopping

at short intervals at places of historic interest

or to investigate the merits of growing towns

or promising valleys, by the middle of Jan-

uary, 1876, he had reached the then " cow

county " of Los Angeles. And here, influenced

more by a blind intuition or caprice than by

any force of reason or conviction, he determined

to remain. After passing through the vicissi-

tudes and somewhat rare and unique experi-

ences of early settlement here, at a time when

the best and fittest found the " picking " close,

he located in the sleepy little village of Santa

Ana, to engage in the practice of his profes-

sion. And here he has since remained.

Although by no means an enthusiast in his

profession, Dr. Crane has been prominently

identified witli the medical and surgical history

and life of the Santa Ana valley. For years

his drives often carried him, and not infre-

quently at night, thirty and forty miles Up into

the surrounding mountain canons or down the

coast, and not a few times over into San Diego

County. He was one of the chief promoters of

and contributed largely to the organization and

support of the Orange County Medical Associ-

ation. He is an honorary member of the Los

Angeles County Medical Society, and also a

member of the American Medical Association.

He has repeatedly served on the board of health

of the city of Santa Ana, and has twice been

chosm its health officer; was also, for a number

of years, correspondent for the city and valley

of the California State Board of Health.

He has always taken a hearty interest in all pub-

lic matters affecting the interests of Santa Ana,

and particularly anything looking to the pro-

motion of the new county of Orange. He had

much to do with bringing aLout the organization

of the Santa Ana Valley Immigration Associa-

tion, and was chairman of the committee to

supervise the preparation of the first immigra

tion pamphlet issued in the valley. In the fall

of 1885 he was placed in charge of the Santa

Ana exhibit of the Southern California Citrus

Fair held in Battery D Armory, Chicago,

remaining a number of weeks there assisting

in its arrangement and conduct. This elegant

and, withal, lavish exhibit of the fruits and

products of the coast did mere to mold public

sentiment East in our favor than, perhaps, any

other one factor. Dr. Crane for a time was

president of the Santa Ana Gas Company,

resigning on account of the press of other

engagements. Three additions to the city of

Santa Ana bear his name, while the character of

the improvements made by him, notably his

elegant residence at the corner of Ninth and

Spurgeon streets, indicates clearly his disposition

to do things thoroughly and well.

Dr. Crane was married October 17, 1882, to

Mary A., youngest daughter of Hon. 0. H. and

Mary J. Schenck, of Burlington, Iowa, and

formerly of Franklin, Ohio. He is a supporter
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of the First Presbyterian Church of Santa Ana,

of which Mrs. Crane is a charter member.

Politically he is a Republican, and since his res-

idence in Santa Ana has often represented his

party in the county and Congressional conven-

tions. While not so actively engaged in prac-

tice as in years gone by, yet he is still open to

professional engagements, though avoiding those

departments of medical work necessitating un-

due exposure or fatigue.

In conclusion, probably no one has watched

with keener interest the development of Santa

Ana, fr< m the straggling little hamlet of rude

and unpretentious homes and shops of years

gone by, looking out through vistas of wild

mustard and malva, into the active, struggling

and growing city of to-day. And surely, none

can pay a higher tribute to the indomitable

pluck. and energy of that little Spartan band of

half a dozen heroic souls, to whose calm, dispas-

sionate judgment and eternal vigilance—deaf to

the maligners of their good names and the

misinterpretations of their words and acts— this

consummation, so "devoutly to be wished," is

wholly and indisputably owing.

*-S*

fF.
MANSUR, cashier of the Orange

County Savings, Loan and Trust Com-
° pany at Santa Ana, was born in Barns-

ton, Ontario, Canada, July 8, 1S40. At the

age of fourteen years he came to the United

States and located at Randolph, Wisconsin,

upon a farm. During the war he enlisted in

the Eighth Wisconsin Volunteer Infantry, bet-

ter known as the " Live Eagle Regiment,"

because they carried a live eagle through the

war. After the war Mr. Mansur returned to

Wisconsin, followed farming two years, then

was a merchant a year or two in Canada, and in

1867 came to California. Here he was engaged

in the mercantile business for ten years at

Camptonville, during which time he was post-

master also at that place. In 1878 he came to

Santa Ana,- where he has since lived. He owns

several fine fruit farms near-the city, and other

valuable property. For several years he was a

director in the Santa Ana Valley Fruit Com-
pany, and made several trips to Chicago in its

interests, and is still its acting secretary. April

8, 1889, he organized the company of which he

is now the cashier, and August 1 opened for

business. Capital $100,000. Officers: Carey R.

Smith, President; I. N. Rafferty, Vice-presi-

dent; C. F. Mansur, Cashier. This company,

though in its infancy, shows that it is destined

to be one of the leading enterprises in the enter-

prising city of Santa Ana.

Mr. Mansur was married in Wisconsin, in

1861, to Miss C. L. Gale, from Vermont, just

before he entered the service of his country.

They have brought up a family of six children,

the eldest of whom is now a merchant in Chi-

cago.

^-6£^#

H. TITCHENAL, of Santa Ana, was

born in Harrison County, West Vir-

ginia, January 2, 1817, a son of John

R. and Rebecca (Harbertt) Titchenal, both na-

tives of West Virginia. His father, a black-

smith by trade, moved to Missouri in 1819, and

in 1833 to the vicinity of Fort Smith, Arkansas,

where he died January 16, 1831.

The second of his nine children, the subject

of this sketch, and a sister, are the only surviv-

ing members of the family. Mr. Titchenal was

brought up to the life of a stock-raiser. From

1835 to 1852 he followed his calling, and also

mercantile business, after 1849, in Texas. He
then came overland through Mexico to the Pa-

cific coast and then by sail to San Francisco,

landing July 9, 1852. After following mining

and teaming for awhile, he moved to San Juan,

in Monterey County; was a resident of Mariposa

County from 1855 to 1868, and March 4, 1869,

he started for Southern California, arriving at

Santa Ana November 9. He first bought two

lots and followed farming and teaming. In

1871 he bought thirty-six acres of land and
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erected the first dwelling-house in Santa Ana,

on lots No. 8 and 9. In 1881-86 he built the

Titchenal block, on Fourth street, at a cost of

about $16,000. The structure is a fine two-

story brick, with seventy-five feet frontage and

eight-five feet deep. As a business man Mr.

Titchenal has been very successful, and as a

citizen his record is beyond reproach. In

former years he was connected with the Meth-

odist Episcopal Church South, but of late years

he worships with the "Holiness" branch of the

church.

In 1838 he went from Arkansas on a visit to

his friends in Ohio, where he met and married

Miss Sarah Ann Dickason, January 29, 1839,

and they have had eleven children, only five of

whom are now living, namely: Susan E., now

Mrs. McHenry Morrison; John Jackson; Mar-

tha J., wife of N. T. Settle; David D., and

Samuel II., proprietor of the candy store in

Santa Ana.

*-•£<

[R. MOSES SPENCER JONES, the oldest

resident physician in Orange County, was

born in Clinton County, Illinois, in 1842,

a son of Charles Lee and Elizabeth Leek (Spen-

cer) Jones. His father, a native of Buckingham

County, Virginia, moved to Christian County,

Kentucky, in 1824, and thence in 1830 to Illi-

nois, where he died August 2, 1860.

Dr. Jones was educated at McKendree Col-

lege, at Lebanon, St. Clair County, Illinois, and

completed his education under private instruc-

tion in St. Louis. He took a special course

under the celebrated Dr. William Niehaus, in

ophthalmology and aural surgery, and subse-

quently a special course at New York city,

under the private instructions of Dr. D. B. St.

John Roosa. He received his diploma from

the St. Louis Medical College in 1869, and

began the practice of his profession in part-

nership with his old preceptor, Dr. Niehaus.

Within a year his health failed and he went to

Shreveport, Louisiana, and practiced there two

years, and then re-formed a partnership with

Dr. Niehaus at St. Louis; but failing health

again broke his relation and became to Califor-

nia, arriving January 26, 1874. He practiced

one year in Los Angeles, and in 1875 estab-

lished himself in Santa Ana. His specialty is

the treatment of diseases of the eye and ear.

While in Shreveport, Miss Cordelia J. Reier-

son, of Kaufman, Texas, came to him for

treatment for blindness, and was cured; and in

September, 1876, they were married. They had

two lovely children: Essie L. and George R.

In October, 1887, she died, and March 3, 1889,

the Doctor married her cousin, Venia Avera, of

Sherman, Texas.

_•-mm!->•..

fC.
HICKEY, of Santa Ana, is a native of

Knox County, Tennessee, and was an in-

9 fant when his father died. He was reared

by his step-father, who moved to Alabama about

1845. At the ageof fifteen years he left his step-

father, on account of cruel treatment, and started

for California. He traveled on foot through

Alabama, Mississippi, Louisiana and Texas. At

San Antonia he joined Dr. Edwards and others

who were starting to California with cattle, in

1854. After arriving in Los Angeles, Mr.

Hickey worked by the day for two months, and

then for seven years was engaged in the cattle

business in various parts of northern California.

In 1864-'65 he followed farming one year at

El Monte. In 1866 he was settling up his

cattle business in Fresno. In 1868 he bought a

large barn and cattle ranch in San Bernardino

County, and carried it on for seven years.

December 23, 1874, is the date of his arrival

at Santa Ana, when he at once entered the livery

business, which he successfully followed until

1884. His stables stood where now stands the

Brunswick Hotel. He sold the property for

$14,000, and he owns $12,000 stock in the hotel,

and he still also owns the Hickey livery barns, on

the corner of Fifth and Sycamore streets. In

1887 he built the Hickey block, on Fourth street,
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a fine brick structure, two stories high, fifty-

feet front by fifty feet in depth. He also owns
other valuable residence property and business

houses. His residence is on West and Hickey

streets. He has been prominently connected

with nearly every enterprise in Santa Ana, and

is a citizen respected by everybody.

In 1866 he married, in El Monte, Miss Julia

A. Johnston, who was born in the city of Chica-

go, the daughter of McAger Johnston, a native

of Tennessee, who came to California in 1852,

across the plains. He was a blacksmith, and

built the first shop in Los Angeles County out-

side of the city. He was killed January 5,

1855. Mr. and Mrs. Hickey have six children.

•$%gH&~

§R. J. S. GARDINER, Postmaster at Ana-

heim, was born in Maryville, Tennessee,

in 1841. His ancestors were from Scot-

laud formerly. He received his literary edu-

cation at the common schools of his native

county. In 1861 he entered the University of

Pennsylvania, and continued there during one

term. Then the war coming on in 1862, he en-

tered the Confederate army. He enlisted April

13, 1862, in Company I, Thirty-seventh Tennes-

see State Volunteer Infantry, and served until

September 4, 1864, when he was discharged on

account of disability. He then re-entered he

University and was graduated with the degree

of M. D., in 1865. In the fall of this year he

began the practice of medicine in Blount County,

Tennessee, and continued there until September

1, 1869, when he set out for California, and soon

after his arrival here he, with his brother,

bought 160 acres of land near Anaheim. In

1870 he began the practice of his profession and

continued at it until 1885, when he was appointed

Postmaster, which position he holds at this time.

October 31, 1876, he was married to Mrs. M. J.

Tarver, a native of Alabama, but principally

reared in Texas. She was the widow of Charles

Tarver, who. at one time was district attorney

for Bastrop County, Texas. She and her hus-

band crossed the plains in wagons in 1808. By
her first husband she had one daughter, Charles

Louise, now the wife of Victor Montgomery,

a prominent attorney at Santa Ana. Her union

with Dr. Gardiner has been blessed with two

daughters, Mary and Jessie, the latter of whom
died at the age of eight. Politically Dr. Gar-

diner is a strong supporter of the principles of

the Democratic party. Socially he is a promi-

nent Mason, and has been the secretary of the

Anaheim lodge for a period of nine consecutive

years. He is also an Odd Fellow, and P. M. of

the A. O. U. W. lodge, No. 85.

-gHMt-3*

§R. WILLIAM M. HIGGINS, pharmacist

on Central avenue, Anaheim, was born in

Monmouth County, New Jersey, June 18,

1826. He was educated at Princeton College,

at which he was graduated in 1845, with the

degree of A. B. He read medicine for a period

of two years, and February 22, 1849, started

for California on the bark St. Mary. He re-

mained in Rio Janeiro ten months, then went

aboard the ship William Brandt, bound for San

Francisco, at which place he arrived in July,

1850, having been ship's doctor during the voy

age. After his arrival in San Francisco he was

appointed apothecary and book-keeper in the

City Hospital, after which he engaged in mining

for a few years. Then in 1869 he moved to

Anaheim and established the drug store on the

corner of Center and Lemon streets, and has

ever 6ince given his attention to the drug busi-

ness. In December, 1870, he was appointed

Postmaster, which office he filled with great

acceptability for a continuous term of thirteen

years. He has been connected with the educa-

tional interests of the city for a number of years,

having been clerk of the district for six years,

and is now chairman of the school board.

He is a charter member of the Masonic lodge,

which was organized in 1869. He is also a

member of the I. O. O. F. fraternity, Anaheim
Lodge, No. 199. He was a charter member of
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the Abou Ben Adhem Lodge in San Francisco,

which lodge he had the honor of naming in

1863.

In 1858 he was married in San Francisco to

Miss Alice Boyle, a native of Lowell, Massachu-

setts, the daughter of Michael Boyle, an Irish-

man and a pioneer to this coast of '49. Miss

Alice Boyle was the first graduate of the Cooper

Medical College. She then practiced medicine

four years, and subsequently took a course at

Philadelphia in the Women's Medical College,

and was elected an honorary member of the

alumni. She was a woman of more than ordi-

nary ability, and had made an enviable reputa-

tion as a physician. Four years ago she became

paralyzed and has since been almost helpless.

Dr. and Mrs. Higgins have three children,

—

two daughters at home, and a son, Charles C,

a graduate of the California College of Phar-

macy, now a prominent druggist in San Fran-

- isco.

#?"6sB^#

fOSIAH ROSS, one of the first settlers of

ita Ana, was born in Clinton County,

Indiana, in 1844. His parents were Jacob

and Elizabeth (Thompson) Ross, a sketch of

whom appears elsewhere in this work. For a

number of years the subject of this sketch has

been a quiet but successful tiller of the soil on

his tine farm one mile west of Santa Ana. Most

of his attention has been given to horticulture,

and his well kept orchards show many varieties

of deciduous and semi-tropical fruits. He has

not cared to take an active part in political mat-

ters, but is a supporter in his quiet way of the

Democratic party. About eight years ago he

erected a fine conntry residence on Seventeenth

street, a mile north of Santa Ana.

He was married in Illinois, January 12, 1865,

to Sarah A. Prather, a native of that State.

Her parents were Uriah and Sarah (Ritter)

Prather, natives respectively of Kentucky and

Pennsylvania. Of their twelve children, all are

-iving except two, as follows: Uriah J., who

married Miss Hattie Maulsby, and is a success-

ful farmer near Santa Ana; Sarah Elizabeth,

William H., deceased; Eva Evalyn, Edward

Isaac, Christie Belle, George W., David Delmar,

Orma Rosanna, Edith Irene, deceased; Elva,

Olive and Ethel.

**#-

EORGE W. FORD, proprietor of the

mta Ana Nursery, is one of the first

settlers of the valley, arriving here in

1876, with only $10. The previous year he

had been working by the day in Santa Cruz

County. Two years later he purchased five

acres of land within the city limits, for $400,

and to this he has since added twenty-five acres

more, most of which he has cut up into city

lots and sold at good prices. In his nursery

may be seen all kinds of deciduous and semi-

tropical fruits and ornamental trees and shrubs.

He has recently erected a fine residence on Ross

street, in the northwestern part of the city,

which for convenience, comfort, beauty of loca-

tion and architectural fiuish would be an orna-

ment to any city.

Mr. Ford was born in Perry County, Illinois,

in 1848. His father, John Ford, was a native

of Kentucky, and one of the first settlers of

Illinois, moving there when it was a Territory.

By industry, economy and enterprise, Mr. Ford

had worked himself up in the world, and has

shown himself worthy of the confidence and

esteem of those with whom he has done busi-

ness. He is recognized as one of Santa Ana's

most industrious and enterprising citizens, and

is ready to help along any undertaking which

has for its object any public good.

fUDGE NATHAN BAKER, of Santa Ana,

was born in Muskingum 'County, Ohio,

March 10, 1817. His parents, Nathan and

Mary (Blizzard) Baker, both natives of Virginia,
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had three sons and two daughters. The subject

of this sketch, the youngest and only one living,

started west at the age of eighteen years, stop-

ping first in Washington County, Iowa, and

then in Lee County, same State, where he fol-

lowed farming until 1849. In 1850 he was

elected to the State Senate by that county, and

at the close of his first term he resigned in order

to come to California. He came by way of New
Orleans and the Isthmus, and arrived in San

Francisco, in May, 1851. The first three

months he spent in mining in Shasta County;

then was engaged upon a farm near Stock-

ton a year, and in the fall of 1853 bought a

stock of goods, the first ever taken to Visalia,

and there engaged in the mercantile business

until 1858, when he bought a ranch in that

valley; but this proved to be a bad investment,

for he lost all he had by the flood of 1861-'62.

Engaging then in public affairs, he was elected

County Judge of Tulare County. At the begin-

ning of the Rebellion he was the only Republi-

can officer in the county. After a four-years

term as Judge, he again engaged in ranching,

and again lost all he had by floods. He entered

mercantile business at Portersville, and contin-

ued in the 6ame from 1868 to 1878, when he

came to Santa Ana and bought land, which he

laid off into city lots and sold at " boom

"

prices. Some of the avenues and streets bear

his name. His residence is beautifully located

on Ross street, in the northwestern part of the

city. Having been very successful in his deals

here, and being now far down the shady side

of the hill of life, Judge Baker has retired from

active business, and is capable arid willing to

contribute reminiscences of pioneer days to the

historian. He was a Democrat until the break-

ing out of the war, since which time he has

been a stanch Republican.

Judge Baker was first married in 1840, to

Mary Colwell, a native of Ohio, and they had

four children, namely: Robert, Ellen, now Mrs.

R. C. Redd; Mary, wife of Captain H. Noble;

and Emma, wife of Lieutenant Hepburn. The
mother of these children died in the fall of 1849,

and in the fall of 1863 Judge Baker married

Mrs. L. P. Taylor, in Sacramento, California.

fH.
MOESSER, one of the early pioneers

of Southern California, who was a wan-

derer for many years over several States

of the Union, began life in the city of Pittsburg,

Pennsylvania, February 21, 1835. His father,

Frederick H. Moesser, was born in Hesse-

Darmstadt, town of Altheim, German}', and

was a dry-goods merchant, baker and butcher,

at different times. He moved with his family

—a wife and two children—to Ohio, where he

remained a few years; then he moved to Mis-

souri and subsequently to Nauvoo, Illinois. He
died at "Warsaw, Illinois, in 1853. His mother,

Magdalena (G-undel before marriage) Moesser,

was born in Pennsylvania.

Mr. Moesser, the subject ot this biographical

notice, left Nauvoo in July, 1846, leaving his

father there, whom he never saw but once after-

ward. April 1, 1886, after being in the West

forty years less three months, never having been

east of the Rocky mountains in all that time,

he re-crossed the plains to make his visit in the

East. Coming West the first time, he crossed

the Mississippi river: in a skiff and the State of

Iowa in a wagon, arriving on the west side of

Missouri river, the place was known as Winter

Quarters, where he remained over winter, suffer-

ing many hardships. In June, 1847, he with

others started for the great Salt Lake country,

with ox teams. Fort Bridger at that time was

the only house in Utah Territory. Bridger offered

to give $1,000 for the first bushel of wheat raised

in the Territory, where since then it has proved

to be one of the best wheat countries in the

United States. Mr. Moesser was in the second

company that ever entered the Salt Lake valley.

At that time buffaloes were so numerous on

the North Platte river that the caravan of the

party had many times to halt in order to allow

the large herds to pass out of the way, and fre-

quently kept two or three men ahead of the
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train driving the buffaloes out of the way. The

Indians at that time were peaceable, the whites

frequently camping near large camps of them,

and never were molested by them. Mr. Moesser

can relate many incidents of adventure which

are very interesting to the reader of modern

history and travel. For inttance, he drove two

yoke of oxen and one of cows from the Missouri

river to Salt Lake for one pound of flour a day,

and boarded himself. In 1848 he drove three

yoke of cattle, breaking prairie, for one pound

of flour per day and was boarded. In 1849,

when the California gold excitement occurred,

every article of supply was as plentiful as it had

been before scarce.

Early in June, 1847, they started for the Elk-

horn river, where they organized in companies

of ten, fifty and 100, with a captain over each.

Peregrine Sessions was captain of the fifty of

whom Mr. Moesser was one. After 556 wagons

had been ferried over the Elkhorn river on a

raft made of dry cottouwood timber, they started

up the Platte about July 4, and arrived in the

great Salt Lake valley in the latter part of Sep-

tember, 1847. In 1848, while they had to work

laboriously, they lived upon greens (a kind of

thistle) and roots. Once a week they had bread.

Mr. Moesser was compelled to work in his bare

feet, reserving his Indian moccasins for extra

occasions; and thus they raised their first crop.

He tarried in Salt Lake City about nine years,

and in Springville city, Utah County, two years.

During this time he was in several Indian raids

and two or three battles. In one of these bat-

tles eleven men were attacked by 150 warriors

at 10 o'clock at night. One man was wounded

and several head of stock were killed. In the

morning the company picked up 150 poisoned

arrows. Mr. Moesser was also in the United

States service, fighting Indians, for which he

received a land warrant, but no pay as yet.

The " Walker war"—so called from the name
of the Indian chief— caused the loss of more

lives and property than any other ever occur-

ring in Utah Territory. Mr. Moesser, with

about fifty picked men, all young, and ready

and willing to take scalps, left Salt Lake City

in the summer of 1852 or '53 and went south

as far as Manti, guarding small settlements.

Fourteen of the men were detailed to take 176

head of cattle and about fourteen head of horses

to Salt Lake City for safekeeping. The proceeds

of these cattle all went into the church fund,

never returning to their owners. During the

first three or four days they traveled day and

night, until they stopped at Seven-mile creek,

near a small town named Salt Creek, now Nephi.

They camped about 10 o'clock a. m., tired out

and sleepy. During the following night they

put their stock in a large corral, at a point

where a small town had been destroyed by fire

by the Indians. About 10 o'clock that night

a volley of guns and arrows from about 150

Indians broke upon the camp, mingled with the

terrible war-whoop, as of 1,000 devils. Never

can one of that party ever forget that night,

as the red savages charged within eleven steps

of the whites in a half circle, with orders

from their chief not to cease until they had

tomahawked every man! The whites, mostly

armed with the old flint-lock musket and

plenty of cartridges, lustily responded, bring-

ing the Indians to a halt; but still the arrows

and bullets fell around the campers like hail,

and the war-whoop continued as hellish as ever.

At the ond of an hour and a quarter—which

seemed a week—the reds ceased firing, think-

ing that the whites had been reinforced. The
fact was, seven of the whites, including Mr.

Moesser, were stationed at the southeastern

corner of their corral, while the other seven

were at the northwestern corner, so arranged

that they could shoot upon all sides of the

corral without moving from their places; this

indeed was the only safe plan. Several cattle

and a few horses were killed and one man
wounded. The Indians shot too high. But

the next morning revealed the fact that several

of the Indians had been killed or wounded,

as there were pools of blood here and there.

Mr. Moesser says he has never been since that

time so anxious to raise Indian scalps, and
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that that battle " took a good allowance of fight

out of him." It was indeed one of the hardest-

fought battles ever waged in Utah. The same

band of Indians attacked 150 men a short time

before that.

In 1859 he started out across the plains to

California, with ox teams, arriving in San Ber-

nardino County December 24, that year; and

since that time he has crossed between Califor-

nia and Utah eleven times, nine times driving

oxen and mules, and twice on the cars, and twice

across the continent. While in San Bernardino

County he teamed for a period of twelve years,

and owned a small farm south of Base Line.

He early crossed the plains. The first railroad

that he ever saw was the short line running

from Los Angeles to San Pedro, twenty-one

miles in length. In 1873 he moved into Santa

Ana valley and bought land near Newport,

known as the Gospel Swamp. For fourteen

years he managed this ranch, and three years

ago moved to the city of Santa Ana, where

he has retired from active business life. Since

settling there he has done his share toward

upbuilding the new county seat. A brick

block on Fourth street, between Main and

Sycamore streets, stands as a monument to his

enterprise. He also owns other business and

residence property in different parts of the city.

He is now vice-president of the Santa Ana Val-

ley Fruit Company. Mr. Moesser and Dr. R.

Cummings were the first to sell a part of a

town lot by the foot in the town of Santa Ana
on Fourth street. Some people said that they

were "robbing" the parties; but while they

sold at the rate of $1.50 per foot, to-day, ten

years after, the same ground is worth $200

per foot and even more!

As a politician Mr. Moesser has been rather

prominent. He was one of the Supervisors of

Los Angeles County, and served as clerk of the

school board at Newport for thirteen years. He
is a Republican in his political views. Is a mem-
ber of the A. O. U. W., Santa Ana Lodge, No.

82, and also of Santa Ana Lodge, No. 236,

I. 0. O. F., of which he was a charter member.

Mr. Moesser was married in Springville city,

Utah County, Utah Territory, August 17, 1856,

to Miss Lucy B. Clyde, a native of New York
State, the ceremony being performed by Bishop

Aaron Johnson, who had ten wives, and four of

these were his brother's daughters! To Mr.

and Mrs. Moesser have been born the follow-

ing named children: Henry A., Lucy E., wife

of John Avas; Cynthia L., wife of G. W. Page;

George E., Frederick A., Ulysses S., James W.,

and Clyde Earl, who died at the age of six years,

two months and two days.

—£&m»e§>—
fUDGE GEORGE E. FREEMAN, Recorder

for the city of Santa Ana, was born in Hal-

lowell, Maine, in 1829, and at the age of

twenty-one years left Ins home for California,

coming by steamer and landing in San Fran-

cisco November 16, 1851. For seventeen years

he engaged in mining and lumbering in El Do-

rado County. In 1869 he moved to Alameda

County, where he worked at contracting and

building for a number of years, and in 1877 lie

moved into the Santa Ana valley and followed

his trade there until about four years ago, since

which time he has been a citizen of the county

seat. He has held the office of Justice of the

Peace for eight years. In April, 1889, he was

elected Recorder of the city. He is a Republi-

can in his political principles, and he is a mem-
ber of the I. O. O. F., and of the A. O. U. W.

fOHN SHIRLEY, one of Santa Ana's most

respected citizens, is a native of Hancock

County, Ohio, born in 1835, and his par-

ents were Daniel and Annie (Crow) Shirley,

natives of Virginia. His father, a farmer and

blacksmith, moved to Jackson County, Iowa, in

1850, and died there in 1872. When a lad the

subject of this sketch drove an ox team across

the plains to this State, and for the first several

years here he followed mining at Placerville and
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other places till 1864, when he came with the

soldiers to Southern California and Arizona.

He enlisted in Company K, Seventh Regiment,

California Volunteer Infantry, and served two

years. He returned to Iowa and went to Clay

County, Nebraska, where he erected the first

good grain elevator in the county, and speculated

in land and grain for a period of seventeen years.

Having been very successful, and desiring a

more congenial climate, he sold out his interests

in Nebraska, in October, 1887, and came to the

Golden State, selecting Santa Ana as his home.

He bought a lot on Ross and Orchard streets,

where he erected a neat and commodious resi-

dence. He has held some important offices,

among which are those of justice of the peace

in Clay County, Nebraska, tor twelve years;

chairman of the council four terms; associate

judge with Judge Iveyser, 1861-'62. As an

evidence of his popularity, it may be stated

that he was nominated for County Judge of

Clay County, Nebraska, in 1887, even though

he was at the time in California. He has trav-

eled a great deal, crossing this continent eight

times. Since locating in Santa Ana he has been

engaged as a money broker.

He was married in Nebraska, in October,

1876, to Miss Mary V. Crow, a native of Vir-

ginia, and their children are John, Anna, Geor-

gia and Mamie. Mr. Shirley is a member of

the G. A. R , in Santa Ana, and also of the I.

O. O. F.

tj.

HOWE, M. D., of Santa Ana, was

born in Vermont in January, 1850. His
° father, Philip Howe, M. D., is still

living in this city. He moved to Illinois when
the subject of this sketch was only four years

old, locating in Macoupin County, where he re-

mained until 1863. He then made a three

months' trip across the plains to this State.

Dr. Howe graduated at the State Normal School

in San Francisco in 1870, and subsequently

taught school in several different counties in

this State, and at the same time prosecuted

medical studies. In 1873 he graduated at the

Medical College of the Pacific (now Cooper) at

San Francisco. He served for two years as

resident surgeon in the United States Marine

Hospital, San Francisco, and then he came to

Santa Ana. During the winter of 1880-'81

he took a post-graduate course in Chicago medi-

cal colleges and hospitals, and since then has

been one of Santa Ana's most successful practi-

tioners. His wife, whose maiden name was

Willella Earhart, and to whom he was married

in San Francisco in 1874, is a graduate of the

Hahnemann Medical College at Chicago, of

1886; and in 1888 -'89 she took a special post-

graduate course of instruction under the cele-

brated Dr. R. Ludlam, of Chicago, a specialist

for the diseases of women. Since living in

Santa Ana, Mrs. Willella Howe, M. D., has

built up a large and lucrative practice. In

this family there are two children, Lulu F. and

Ethel C. The Doctor has recently erected a

very tine, commodious residence at the corner

of Seventh and Bush streets. He has been a

member of the City Board of Health, and for

a year and a half was president of the city

council.

tT.
HARRIS, the first Sheriff of Orange

County, was born in Richmond, Virginia.
a His father, John Harris, a native of

Cornwall, England, moved from Virginia to

California in 1860, settling first in Mariposa

County, and then in Santa Clara County, where

the subject of this sketch clerked in a store

and received a good education. In 1876 he

located in Westminster, in the Santa Ana val-

ley. For six years he engaged in mercantile

business there, and also was assistant Postmas-

ter. At the first election of officers ever held

in the county of Orange, Mr. Harris was chosen

Sheriff by over 1,700 majority. His two depu-

ties are T. C. Hull and James Buckley.

Mr. Harris was married July 3, 1888, at
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"Westminster, to Miss Maria Larter, a native of

Canada, and they have one child, whose name
is Geraldine. Their residence is on the corner

of Third and Lowe streets, Santa Ana.

•
g
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WICKHAM, the first County Clerk of

the new county of Orange, was born in

* Hancock County, Ohio, January 31,

1855. He is by trade a printer, and by pro-

fession a teacher, and followed said avocations

alternately in Iowa, Dakota and Nebraska, from

1872 to 1887, when he came to California and

engaged in the real estate business at Santa

Ana, and resided at Garden Grove. When the

movement was revived for the organization of a

new county, he joined in with zeal and pushed

the matter along. He was appointed by Gov-

ernor Waterman one of the commissioners on

organization, and was by that body made its

secretary. That his services were appreciated

was evidenced by the large vote he received for

Clerk, receiving 1,714 to his opponent's 916 in

the first election, which was entirely non-parti-

san. He is a Republican in his political prin-

ciples, and an accommodating and popular

officer.

—#^€@~1©1^--

fROF. JOHN P. GREELEY, County Super-

intendent of Schools of Orange County,

was born in Swanville, Maine, in 1860.

Was educated in the common and high schools

of his native place. Graduated at the State

Normal School at Castine in 1883, standing

second in a class of forty-five. Before gradu-

ating he taught in his native town six years.

Had charge of the graded schools at Searsport

for two years, and in Belfast two years.

Prof. Greeley was elected Superintendent of

Schools of his native place for three successive

years, resigning when he came to California in

1884. Taught one year in San Joaquin County,

and the remainder of the time in Los Angeles

County. Was principal of the schools at Pla-

centia for four years. When Orange County

was formed he was elected as its first Superin-

tendent of Public Schools, being elected in

July, 1889, receiving the highest number of

votes of any candidate.

He was married July 7, 1889, to A. Evelyn

Earl, of Los Angeles city.

«,,
.
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fOEL RATHBURN CONGDON, late of

Santa Ana, was born in Norwich, Con-

necticut, in 1838, and crossed the plains

from Independence, Missouri, in 1854. He,

with his two brothers, George and Frank Cong-

don, and five others were on the road from May
5 to September 5. They had two wagons and

325 head of cattle. They stopped first in Yuba
County, where Joel took charge of his brother's

stock for about seven years. From 1861 to

1863 Mr. Congdon mined in San Bernardino

County; from 1864 to 1868 he was a farmer

near San Bernardino; next he purchased land at

San Juan, then in Los Angeles County, but now
in the southeastern part of Orange County.

Being the first American there, he bought of

the Mexicans. Subsequently a grant was float-

ing over his title and he had to purchase the

same land again. On this place he planted the

first walnut orchard in the southern part of

the county,—thirty-five acres in all. In Sep-

tember, 1887, he sold out to Major George H.

Bonebrake and moved to Santa Ana, where he

purchased $30,000 worth of city property. A
brick block on South and Spurgeon streets,

25 x 100 feet and two stories high, stands as a

monument to his enterprise; and he has also

erected a magnificent residence on Pine and

Cypress avenues, where, with his family, he is

enjoying the pleasures and comforts which he

well deserves. He took an active part in the

county division. His judgment in all matters

relating to Santa Ana and Orange County has

proven wise beyond question.

January 2, 1864, is the date of Mr. Congdon's
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marriage to Miss Mary Rouse, a native of Iowa,

whose parents immigrated from Salt Lake to

San Bernardino in 1858. Mr. Rouse was sub-

sequently killed by the Indians. Tbe children

of Mr. and Mrs. Congdon are as follows: Har-

riet, wife of Rodolphus Cook, of San Juan;

Sarah, wife of E. E. Cook, telegraph operator

for the Southern Pacific Railroad Company in

San Bernardino; Ella, May, Walter, Claude and

Grace.

^ •^

SAY BILLINGSLEY, attorney and coun-

selor at law, Santa Ana, is a native of

Washington County, Iowa, born Novem-

ber 10, 1854. At the age of sixteen years he

entered the State University of Iowa and gradu-

ated there in 1877 with the degree of Ph. B.

Two years afterward he graduated in the law

department of the same institution, and direct-

ly was admitted to practice in the State, Su-

preme and Federal courts, and he followed his

chosen profession at Vinton, that State, until

1886, when he came to Santa Ana, resumed

and still continues his professional practice, ap-

pearing for respondent in the first case from the

new county of Orange in the Supreme Court of

this State, and is at present of the law firm of

Billingsley & Cooke, of Santa Ana.

He was married February 22, 1882, to Miss

Eleanor A. Patterson, of Charles City, Iowa, a

daughter of ex-Senator J. CI. Patterson, of that

State. Mr. and Mrs. Billingsley have four in-

teresting children, whose names are William

Patterson, Helen May, Harlow E., Ray and

Carey Val.

IALTER B. TEDFORU, Postmaster at

Santa Ana, was born in Huntsville,

Randolph County, Missouri, July 9,

1854, and came to California in 1864 across the

plains with his father, being five or six months

on the road. After working upon his father's

ranch at Newport for about ten years he was

employed two years in the recorder's office in

Los Angeles, under C. E. Miles. He then

made a prospecting trip to Arizona, was fireman

on the railroad some months, in the recorder's

office in Los Angeles again, and in mercantile

business at Newport until August 16, 1887,

when he became a citizen of Santa Ana. Here

he served as assistant postmaster under Gran-

ville Spurgeon, and September 6, 1888, he was

appointed Postmaster by President Cleveland.

Since July 1, 1888, this has been a second-class

office. There are six daily mails in and out,

and the office employs three clerks. Mr. Ted-

ford has made his own way in the world, being

not afraid to work, and to-day he stands high in

the esteem of his fellow citizens.

He was married October 20, 1886, to Miss

Nellie F. Purrington, a native of Santa Rosa,

California, and they have two children: Lois

Eleanor and Clarence. Their residence is at

305 East Third street.

«< • »<«&» -

fE.
FOSTER, the Recorder and Auditor

of Orange County, was born in La Salle

• County, Illinois, in 1861, a son of Will-

iam Emory and Julia (Abbott) Foster, the

former a native of Columbus, Ohio, and the

latter of western New York. At the age of

eight years Mr. Foster with his parents came

to California, being among the passengers on

the first train over the Union Pacific railroad.

From Sacramento, which was then the terminus

of the road, the family came by boat to Santa

Barbara, and in December, 1877, they changed

their residence to the vicinity of Orange, in the

Santa Ana valley. Here Mr. Foster was em-

ployed upon his ranch in the raising of grapes

and oranges. He completed a course at the

Business College at Los Angeles, and at the

age of twenty-two years was appointed super-

intendent of the Santa Ana Valley Irrigation

Company's ditch, which position he filled for

four years. After this he was road overseer.
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In July, 1889, he was elected to his present

position, and while attending to its duties he is

a resident of Santa Ana, but he owns a residence

and orange orchard near Orange. He is yet a

very young man, but has held some office of

public trust ever since he attained his majority,

and well deserves the honor which the citizens

of Orange County have conferred upon him.

His first wife, whose maiden name was Hattie

E. Cook, died in 1885, and April 13, 1886, he

married Miss Cora L. Cook, a sister of his

iornier wife. Mr. Foster is a member of Santa

Ana Lodge, No. 241, of the Masonic fraternity;

a member of the order of Eastern Star, and is

also First Lieutenant and Ordnance Officer of

the Ninth Infantry, First Brigade, National

Guard of California.

——g
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fP.
BOYD, M. D., of Santa Ana, was born

in Buchanan, Virginia, in 1854, received

° his literary education at private schools,

taught a few terms, and in 1879 graduated at

the University of the City of New York. He
practiced his profession in Bedford County,

Virginia, until 1883, when he retnrned to Bu-

chanan and practiced as surgeon of the Rich-

mond & Alleghany railroad, until 1888, and

then he came to Santa Ana. He has given his

whole attention to his profession, and is there-

fore recognized as an honorable and scholarly

representative of the medical fraternity. At
the present time he is Secretary of the Orange

County Medical Association.

fOLONEL E. E. EDWARDS, District At-

torney for Orange County, is a gentleman

whose life history is more interesting to

the citizens of that county than that of almost

any other resident. He was born in Lawrence

County, Indiana, in 1835, attended one term at

Asbnry (now Depauw) University, at Green

castle, that State, and the law school at Albany,

New York, and was admitted to practice by the

Supreme Court. In 1858 he opened out in his

profession at Chariton, Iowa, in partnership

with James Baker. In 1860 he went to the

mines in Colorado, but soon the war broke out

and he enlisted and was commissioned Lieuten-

ant of Company B, Sixth Iowa Infantry; after-

ward he was appointed assistant provost-marshal

of Memphis, Tennessee, where he was on duty

from the summer of 1862 to the following

spring. Returning to Iowa he was appointed

assistant provost-marshal to enforce the draft

in Lucas County. He was then commissioned

Colonel of a regiment, which, however, was

never called into active service.

At the close of the war Colonel Edwards was

elected to the State Senate of Iowa. In 1878

he moved to Lincoln, Nebraska, where he was

for two years secretary of the board of trade.

In 1880 he came to the Golden State and en-

gaged in the real-estate business in Santa Ana.

In 1884 he was sent to the Legislature from the

Seventy-eighth district, and he it was who in-

troduced the bill for the organization of Orange

County and brought about its adoption by the

Assembly. In 1886 he was nominated by the

Republican party for the Senate, but was de-

feated by a small majority by Hon. L. J. Rose.

In 1888 he was re-elected to the Assembly from

the Seventy-eighth district and introduced the

bill for the organization of Orange County and

also the bill for the location of the Insane Asy-

lum in the southern part of the State; both

bills became laws. Altogether Colonel Edwards

introduced four bills, and they all became laws.

This " beats the record." At the extra session

of 1880 Colonel Edwards was Chairman of the

Committee on County and Township Govern-

ment, and acting Chairman of the Committee

on Irrigation, who reported a resolution for an

amendment to the State constitution enabling

the different counties of the State to make such

irrigation laws as they pleased. He has been

twice mayor and once city attorney of Chari-

ton, Iowa. He was nominated by the three

conventions for District Attorney of Orange
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County, and elected without opposition; and to

accept this honor lie resigned as Assemblyman.

Thus it will be seen that no man has worked

more assiduously for Orange County than Col-

onel Edwards.

He was married in Iowa, in 1863, to Miss

Sallie Leffler, a daughter of Colonel Isaac Loft-

ier, a Congressman from the Wheeling district,

West Virginia. The Colonel and his wife

have an interesting family of fonr children,

and their residence is on Fourth street, in the

beautiful county seat of Orange County.

—^€B-^

fG.
GARRISON, M. D., of Santa Ana,

was born in Swedesboro, New Jersey,
9 March 11, 1837, and completed his edu-

cation at Union College, New York, where he

graduated in 1859. In 1863 he was married,

and then took a medical course at the Uni-

versity of Pennsylvania, and graduated there

in 1865; but previous to this he was in the

army and had the practice in the hospital de-

partment of the Thirty-fourth New Jersey

Volunteers. After the war he practiced his

profession in Philadelphia four years, and then

four years at Kansas City, thirteen years at

Prairie Grove, Arkansas, and two years ago he

came to Santa Ana, where he has a large and

lucrative practice. He married Miss Annie R.

Howe in Philadelphia.

«E. GROUARD, member of the City

Council of Santa Ana, was born in the
9 city of Los Angeles in 1858. His father,

B. J. Grouard, came to California in 1850, and

about 1855 went to San Francisco, where he

was a contractor and builder for a number of

years. He subsequently moved back to Illi-

nois, and for some years farmed extensively

in Fulton County, and it was in that county

that the subject of this sketch received a high-

school education. He came to California agaiD

in 1878, with his father, and they together have

taken contracts and erected buildings, besides

manufacturing brick extensively. They bought

fifteen acres of fine land in the western part of

the State, where their brick yards are located.

Mr. Grouard resides in a neat brick house on

Olive and Sixth streets. He is one of Santa

Ana's enterprising and honored citizens, his

fellow townsmen recognizing his ability by

electing him to the office of Councilman, in

March, 1889. He is a Republican and a mem-
ber of the order of Odd Fellows.

He was married in November, 1887, to Miss

Charlotte Garnsey, a native of Santa Clara

County, California, and a daughter of one of

the early pioneers of that county.

h**«s*

fAMES L. WIGHTMAN,a retired capital-

ist in Santa Ann, was born in Scotland in

1821. His parents, James and Martha

Jane (Brown) Wightman, were both natives of

that country, and had seven children. The

subject of this sketch was the only one of the

family who ever came to the United States.

Landing in New York city in 1840, he at once

declared his intention to become a citizen of this

country. He was a resident of New Jersey ten

years, and in 1856 he moved to Shawnee Coun-

ty, Kansas, where he engaged in farming for

six years, when he took up arms in defense of

his country, entering Company G, Sixteenth

Kansas Cavalry, tie was mustered out as First

Lieutenant in 1865.

Returning to Kansas, he built an ore mill

in the Pottawattamie Reserve, but it was not

profitable, as it was in the Indian Territory.

After this he went to Topeka and worked at

his trade, that of a painter, for a short time,

when his health failed, and in 1870 he went to

Colorado and followed prospecting. There, in

June, 1870, he discovered and raised the first

colors of gold, working three years before the

Little Annie mine was found. In order to do

this he had to mortgage his home in To-
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peka fur every dollar it was worth, while

leaving his family therein. In 1870 Summit

district, Conejos County, Colorado, was formed,

and those who were engaged with Mr. Wight-

man in the district were Major French, William

Boren, Ephraim Baker, Sylvester Reese and

Jesus, a Mexican. Mr. Wightman was elected

Recorder of the mines district, and served three

years, when he deputed John P. Peterson. Mr.

Wightman was the only one of the original

six to hold out to the end. In 1874 Mr. Wight-

man received a medal at the iair in Denver, for

the best display of gold ore. He subsequently

sold his interest in the Little Annie mines for

$60,000.

Next he located the railroad and built a wagon

road from Silverton to Durango, a distance of

furtj'-thiee miles. This was a magnificent piece

of work and reflects great credit on the builder.

In 1880 he came to California and bought forty

acres of land a mile north of Santa Ana, which

he improved, and upon which he resided until

two years ago, when he bought a residence on

Sixth street, Santa Ana, and is now retired from

active business life; living happily with his

faithful companion in the evening of his life.

They have four children: Lottie S., now Mrs.

W. G. Fisher, of Topeka; James M., who died

at fifteen years of age; Mary J., who died at the

age of thirteen years, and Margaret A., the wife

of George B. Warner, of Santa Ana. Both Mr.

and Mrs. Wightman are members of the Baptist

Church, and Mr. Wightman is a Free Mason in

high standing. Asa citizen his record is be-

yond reproach; as a business man he has suc-

ceeded by his own efforts and perseverance,

having endured many hardships and privations.

* »« '
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§ENRY NEILL, a business man of Santa

Ana, was born in Burlington, Iowa, and

first came to California in 1863, engaging in

mercantile business in the north part of the State.

After that he went to Oregou and took the con-

tract to furnish stone for the court-house and

jail at Portland. Subsequently he returned to

Iowa and was engaged in merchandising at Red

Oak until 1875, when he came again to Califor-

nia and established himself in the livery bnsiness

at Orange. In 18— he went to Santa Ana, where

he has 6ince continued in the same bnsiness, on

Fourth and Spurgeon streets.

As a bnsiness man Mr. Neill has been emi-

nently successful. He has a fine residence on

Fourth street, as well as a magnificent brick

block on the same, 59 x 80 feet and two stories

high. He was the first man in Santa Ana to

subscribe for the street railway, and he also took

a prominent part in the establishment of the Gas

Company.

fAMSON EDWARDS, a retired fanner at

Westminster, was born in Cornwall. En-

gland, February 26, 1830, the fourth o*'

twelve children of his parents, William

and Elizabeth (Pierce) Edwards, who came to

America in 1847, and died in Erie, Pennsylva-

nia, with cholera. Having to make his own

way in the world, young Edwards started out

at 62-J
cents per day in the mines, at Pittsburg,

Pennsylvania; was there over two years. At

Birmingham he put down wells through the

quicksand, and made money enough to get away.

Then spent two and one-half years in the lead

mines of southwestern Wisconsin. He next

bought forty acres of unimproved land in Jo

Daviess County, Illinois, cultivated it about

six years, sold it, bought eighty acres east ot

that in the same county and followed farming

or eight years. In 1874 he came to Westmin-

ster, being, therefore, one of the early settlers

here. His first purchase was 200 acres; he now

owns over 400 acres of as fine land as there is

" out of doors " He has raised and has been

dealing in large herds of fine horses and cattle

with eminent success. He is a man of great

energy and enterprise, well calculated to make a

mark in the world as a financier and economist.

Politically he is a conservative Republican.
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In 1851 he married Miss Diana, daughter

of John and Jane (Curtis) Rogers, a native

of England. She was eight years old when

her parents came to America. Mr. and Mrs.

Edwards have had the following children:

Elizabeth, who died in 1870; John, William

J., Isabella, now Mrs. Frank U. Rogers, of

Santa Ana; Hester A., wife of Charles Bowlsby,

also of Santa Anna; Thomas M., a student at

the Orange County College.

£->^

fEORGE M. HOLADAY, a farmer in

Westminster colony, was born October 8,

1818, a son of Samuel and Dollie (Mecham)

Holaday: his father a native of Orange County,

North Carolina, and mother, of Guilford County,

same State; they moved to Indiana in 1812.

George M., the third in their family of eight

children, started out for himself in the world at

the age of twenty-one years. In 1842 he moved

to Henry County, Iowa, and from there to Keo-

kuk County, same State, where he remained until

1850. March 12, that year, he left St. Joseph,

Missouri, for California, with ox teams, and ar-

rived at Placerville June 12. After a sojourn

at the latter place until March, 1851, he went to

San Francisco and started thence with a company

to the new mines in the north; but about four

days after they started their vessel was wrecked

and they returned to San Francisco. Mr. Hola-

day then went to Sacramento, bought a wagon

and a yoke of cattle and went to the Trinity

river gold mines; but his success there was not

sufficient to justify his remaining, and he re-

turned to Sacramento and hired men to cut

and bale wild oats in Napa valley. He had 200

tons cut with an old-fashioned scythe, baled it

and shipped it across the Suisun bay and up

the river to Sacramento city, where he had a

half interest in a feed and sale stable, with

James Buckner, on J and Twelfth streets. What
hay they could not use they hauled to the mines

and sold.

In the fall of 1851 Mr. Holaday located a

ranch on the south side of the Sacramento river

six miles below Colusa,—a timber section which

he supposed to beGovernment land,—and hired

men to cut large quantities of wood, for which

he found a ready sale to steamers at $8 per

cord. In the fall of 1852 he was notified to

leave that place, as it was grant land. There

were then about 300 settlers improving it. One

of the owners, Dr. Stoddard, landed at Mr.

Holaday's place from San Francisco to take

possession, which was refused by the settlers,

over a hundred of whom immediately gathered

at that point and elected Mr. Holaday captain.

The first thing they determined to do was to get

the Doctor out. Mr. Holaday agreed to accom-

plish the task with a picked lot of men. They

marched two and two in a column until they

reached the house of John Fitch, where Dr.

Stoddard was, about midnight. Holaday placed

a guard of four men at each door and window

with instructions to allow no one to pass in or

out, took four true men, called up Mr. Fitch,

who knew his voice and arose and let them in,

not knowing his business. The Captain with

his men entered the room of Dr. Stoddard, who

at first began to show signs of fighting; but as

soon as he saw the situation he quietly gave

himself up, and Captain Holaday informed him

of his mission, assuring him that not even a

hair of his head should be touched. They took

him and his effects down to the river bank, " the

worst-scared man you ever saw;" and he begged

to be kept there until morning. Holaday took

a vote from the crowd, which determined that

he should be put over the river into Sutter

County,—in the midst of a dense thicket inhab-

ited only by wild beasts, even grizzly bears-

The vanquished Doctor hailed the steamer next

morning and returned to San Francisco, where

he reported the matter to the United States

Deputy Marshal. A man named Douglas was

sent up with injunction papers. On meeting

Captain Holaday they had an argument, wherein

all the blame was laid upon Holaday. He re-

ported to the grand jury at San Francisco, who

found a bill against Holaday, and Douglas was
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sent back witli four policemen to arrest the

indicted man. Holadaj was taken to San Fran-

cisco, excitement ran high and the newspapers

were sensational with the progress of the case.

The trial was postponed, matters cooled down,

Holaday went to trial, and he and Douglas be-

came good friends by this time, Douglas giving

him his own bed in the station house in which

to sleep, never offering to imprison him. Hola-

day's testimony was taken in court, but not that

of any other witnesses, and the court fined him
to the extent of the law, the result bjing a loss

to him of over $900. In the meantime, while

a prisoner, Mr. Holaday sold his ranch, the 400
cords of wood he had on hand, and all his stock,

and returned to the Atlantic States.

In June, 1853, he went back to Iowa and
bought 3,000 acres of land in Adair County,

Iowa, and followed farming and stock-raising

there until 1856; then until 1859 he was at

Fort Des Moines, and then until 1860 at Win-
terset, Madison County, Iowa, when he went to

Pike's Peak, on a mining expedition. In 1852
he came on to Salt Lake, remained there two
months, and then came to California; stopped

eight months in Sacramento, engaged in the

hotel business. October 8, 1863, he went to

Arizona Territory, ran a whisky mill and board-

ing house, engaged for three years in the whisky

trade at Prescott; in 1867 he went to Sjnoma

County and kept a bar and hotel there six

months; next in 1868 he moved to Orange

County, first renting a tract of land; next he

took up land in the Los Bolsas tract in 1872,

and for nine years followed farming there; and

finally he bought a ranch in the traut of the

Westminster colony.

Politically he is a Republican. In 1853 he

was County Judge of Adair County, Iowa, for

two years; at Fort Des Moines he was Justice

of the Peace in 1857-'58; he was also, while in

Arizona, a member of the House of Representa-

tives, aiding in the enactment of Territorial

laws; in 1864 he was Speaker of the House

pro tern. ; and here in Orange County he has

been Justice of the Peace several terms, also at

San Fernando three years, where he owns valu-

able property. He is a member of the Holiness

Church and an earnest Christian gentleman.

He has been a wanderer for many years, but is

now settled in a quiet home, where he expects

to spend the evening of life, free from the rush

and excitement of a public career, etc.

Mr. Holaday was married in 1868, in San

Francisco, to Mrs. Mary E. Finley, a native of

Missouri, and a daughter of Erwin Robinson
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tEWISJ. CARSON, the worthy assistant

in the postoffice of San Diego, and the

superintendentof carriers, was born at Mer-

rimac Iron Works, Phelps County, Missouri,

June 10, 1864, being the youngest in a family

of five children. His father was in the iron

business, formerly at Pilot Knob, Missouri. In

1877 they moved to Phillipsburg, Montana,

and in 1879 returned to Missouri. Lewis re-

ceived his preliminary education in common

schools, and in 1883 entered the School of

Mines, at Raleigh, Missouri, a branch of Co-

lumbia University. After sixteen months of

study he went to Butte, Montana, as assistant

assayer of the Lexington Mining Company.

In 1887 he went to his home in Missouri, and

on March 15, of the same year, started for San

Diego, and on the 27th of March entered the

employ of the Government as letter carrier at

San Diego, and October 1, 1888, for efficent serv-

ice was promoted to superintendent of carriers,

which position he now (December, 1889) holds.

He is unmarried and lives with his mother and

two brothers.

He is a member of the A. O. U. W. lodge

.No. 216, at Salem, Missouri.

§T. HEWITT is San Jacinto's pioneer

merchant. He was born in Litchfield,

9 Connecticut, January 21, 1829. His

father, Elijah W. Hewitt, was a native of Con-

necticut. His grandfather, Elijah Hewitt, came
to America from the north of England. His

maternal grandfather, George Prescott, was

also from the north of England. His mother,

Lucretia (Prescott) Hewitt, was a native of

Connecticut. She was married to Mr. Hewitt

in 1824, and had eleven children, of whom the

subject of this sketch was the second. He was

educated in Connecticut, and in the academy at

Auburn, New York, of which Professor Hop-
kins was president. At the close of his studies

he learned the carpenter's, and afterward the

millwright's trade, both of which were of great

service to him in after life. In 1851 he came
to San Francisco; from there he went to Sacra-

mento, and from there to the mines, where he
stayed for live years. He then served a cam-
paign with Walker in Nicaragua in 1856; then

he settled in Santa Rosa, Sonoma County,

where he did an extensive business for twenty

years as contractor, builder, and manufacturer

of lumber. He was also a dealer in planing-

mills and every kind of building material. His
health having become impaired, he sold out, and
June 20, 1878, came to San Diego County, and
after traveling all through Lower California and

San Diego County, he settled in San Jacinto.

Here he bought an undivided interest in 1,500

acres of land, and subsequently purchased 3,000

acres more, and commenced raising cattle and

opened a store. The building was adobe, 20x32,
on the corner of First and Hewitt streets, the

back of which and also the up- stairs he used as

a dwelling. The next year he built an addition,

also of adobe, and opened a hotel. The goods

for the store were brought by wagon from Los

Angeles. The San Jacinto Land Company was

formed. They platted 15,000 acres in town

and farm lots, and then the settlers began to

file in. His cattle raising business increased,

as well as his store business, and five years

after his arrival in the place he commenced the

construction of his large brick block for the

Palma Hotel and stores, two stories high and

164 feet front by 128 feet deep. The whole
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block is filled and run under his personal super-

vision. His stores are filled with all kiuds of

merchandise in all line& of goods, including

undertakers' goods. It is undoubtedly the

largest stock of general merchandise in the

county. He has two large warehouses, and

does b grain-buying and shipping business.

He does a very extensive business, his trade ex-

tending out thirty miles. He has twenty-five

men in his employ. He was one of the organ-

izers of the State Bank, bnt is not connected

with the institution now. He has a large livery

stable, where he keeps in the vicinity of forty

horses, and is sowing 2,000 acres of grain. He

still retains 200 acres of choice valley land, and

has 300 acres of timbered land in the mountains.

He is a man of large business capacity, and has

been a great factor in his town; and while he

has been wonderfully successful himself, he has

been very helpful to others.

,RS. JULIA J. STEWART was born in

Philadelphia in 1830, her parents being

John R. and Hannah E. (Howell)

Vodges. The former was a native of Philadel-

phia, a prominent lawyer and a trustee of Jeffer-

son Medical College. He and General Israel

Vodges were cousins. The mother was born in

Trenton, New Jersey, in 1794, and died at the

advanced age of eighty-nine years.

Julia, the Mibject of this sketch, was educated

in Philadelphia, and was a constant resident of

that city until she moved to Los Angeles, Cali-

fornia, in 1884. She removed to Spring valley,

San Diego County, that same year, and bought

the ranch on which she now resides. It con-

sisted of 320 acres. The property has a tine

residence on it, and has been improved since

1870. Mrs. Stewart has made many improve-

ments in the way of fine ranch buildings and

running water-pipes over it. On the place there

are 900 orange trees, 200 olive, 300 lemon, and

nearly every other variety of fruit, all in bear-

ing; also many ornamental shrubs and flowers.

The ranch is one of the oldest and best known
places in the valley; the railroad runs near it,

and Spring Valley station is within half a mile

of it. Mrs. Stewart has donated a school-house

site, and a nice school-house is in process of

erection.

Mrs. Stewart has been twice married, first to

William B. Duncan, grandson of General Dun-

can, a general of the war of 1812. They had

one daughter by this union—Julia, born in

1855 in Philadelphia, who married George

Wharton, had two children, and afterward died.

The children, Edith and Helen, are now with

their grandmother. In 1861 the subject of

this notice was married to Rev. Dr. Stewart, a

native of Dublin, Ireland. When quite young

he was taken by his parents to Jamaica, West

Indies. He was pastor of a church in Jamaica,

Newark and Philadelphia. During the war he

was Chaplain with Harlan's Cavalry. By this

union there were three daughters, viz.: Mary,

born in 1862, and married in 1879 to Frederick

Phillips, of Philadelphia; Hannah Vodges, born

n 1865, and married in 1887 to her cousin, W.,

B. Prentice, who was born of American parents

while abroad. He went to Washington Terri-

tory and took up 160 acres of government land,

remained one year, then went to Los Angeles

and engaged in the dry-goods business for him-

self. They make their home with Mrs. Stewart

at Spring Valley. The other daughter, Mil-

dred Maud, was born in 1868. Having poor

health, she was the cause of the family coming

to California. She died in Los Angeles in 1885.

Mrs. Stewart has eugaged quite heavily in San

Diego property, and among the rest owns the

Buckingham, on the corner of D and Second

streets.

&^&
fEORGE A. COOK, the pioneer merchant

of Lugonia and Redlands, also the first

Postmaster there, has been a citizen of the

Golden State since 1879. He came from the



" far East," being born in Litchfield County,

Connecticut. His father died when he was a

boy, and he had his own way to make in the

world. He began as a clerk in a store, then as

clerk on a steamer . from New York to New
Haven, and was subsequently agent for the

New York & Boston Express Company.

He came to California for his health, and be-

ing pleased with the mild climate determined

to make it his home. He bought ten acres of

barren land in Lugonia and put half of it in

oranges. His was the third house built in the

place. Two years later he started the first store,

which in a short time he moved to the corner

of Terrace and Orange streets. This store-room

was 10 x 1G feet, and he had to enlarge it three

times in three years. Two years ago he sold

the store and has since carried on the real-estate

business. He lives in a beautiful residence on

the Terrace, from which he has a most magnifi-

cent view of the whole valley. It is both in-

teresting and amusing to hear Mr. Cook tell

how the jack-rabbits used to destroy the young

trees, and how they got up a bounty, and offered

ten cents for every rabbit scalp ; and how, after

he had contributed liberally to the common
fund, and had brought in a dozen or more scalps

and claimed his ten cents bounty per scalp, it

was not paid. He laughs and says, " It remains

unpaid to this day."

",:,"-<

§N. BAILEY, a leading horticulturist near

Julian, was born in Shelby County, Ken-
9 tucky, in 1840, of Kentucky parents, and

of Virginian grandparents. Both his grandfa-

thers were Revolutionary soldiers. In his fa-

ther's family were six sons and three daughters.

On account of ill health he quit school in his

seventeenth year, and lived in Texas until 1808,

when he came to San Diego County. He was
married in Texas, in December, 1802, to Miss

Almira P., daughter of Harry Gray, a native of

Logan County, Texas. Her mother, whose

maiden name was Martha Randolph, was born

in Alabama and related to the historical Ran-
dolphs of Virginia. Mr. and Mrs. Bailey have

five children: Ella M., born in Harris County,

Texas, December, 1804; Harry R., born in San
Diego County, November 1808; Charles A., in

1871; Ethel N., January, 1879, and Lewis

Newton, May, 1884; the three last also in San

Diego County.

Mr. Bailey is president of the Cuyamaca
Horticultural Society, which took about all the

prizes at the horticultural fair at San Diego in

1889.

fOHN McCOLLOUGIL—One of the im-

portant interests of the great West has been

that of stock-raising, and among its success-

ful followers we would class Mr. John McCol-

lough, who was born in Jackson County, Mis-

souri, June 13, 1843, being the eldest in a fam-

ily of five children and only son, and his sisters

are still living. In 1845 his parents removed

to Texas, and his father went into the stock busi-

ness, and the son was brought up on the ranch.

In 1858 his father started for California, John

then being fifteen years of age. They joined a

company from Dallas County; the company

was composed of fifty-six wagons, and Mr.

McCollough, Sr.,with John Keener, drove across

2,300 head of cattle, losing about 400 head.

They started February 7 and arrived at Tulare

Lake, Tulare County, in November, where they

turned their cattle loose to graze. Mr. McCol-

lough then bought a ranch and began the rais-

ing and fattening of hogs, keeping about 1,000

head, closing out the cattle and hogs in 1801.

John McCollough took a ranch near the old

battle-ground on the Tulare river, and began

the raising of horses, cattle and hogs, com-

mencing in the fall of 1803, and continuing

with good success until 1807, when he sold out

and went to the Ash Springs, same county.

Mr. McCollough was married February 10,



1867, to Miss Mary E. Wilson, a native of

Missouri. He continued in the raising of stock

until 1871, when he sold out aud went to Den-

ton County, Texas, and there bought up droves

of cattle and drove them to Baxter Springs,

Kansas, the nearest shipping point. One year

he drove up 100 head, another 1,200. In 1875

he returned with his wife and one child to Los

Angeles County, and settled at Gospel Swamp,

about ten miles south of Santa Ana, where he

again carried on the business of raising and

fattening hogs continuing until the fall of 1883,

when he sold out and came to Oceanside, San

Diego County, and there bought town property

and erected the first hotel and stable in the

city; lie has also built two brick stores, and

owns other improved property, all of which is

well leased, and Mr. McCollough now resides on

his ranch of 160 acres, near the town, where he

carries on general farming.
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